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STATE BAR COURT 

REVIEW DEPARTMENT 

In the Matter of 

Laura Beth Salant 

A Petitioner for Reinstatement 

No. 95-R-16159 

Filed March 22, 1999 

SUMMARY 

1 

After her criminal conviction for applying and sitting for the California Bar Examination for herfonner 
husband, petitioner was disbarred in 1989. She filed for reinstatement in 1995, and the hearing judge 
recommended that her petition for reinstatement be granted. (Hon. Carlos E. Velarde, Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar sought review contending that petitioner failed to establish her rehabilitation and present 
moral fitness to practice law. According to the State Bar, petitioner's failure to timely comply with California 
Rules of Court, rule 955 in accordance with the Supreme Court's 1989 disbarment order and her conduct, 
representations, and testimony regarding her efforts to remain free from contact with her former husband 
negated her claims of rehabilitation and moral fitness. The review department rejected the State Bar's 
contentions and recommended that petitioner's petition for reinstatement be granted. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

[1 a, b] 2504 
2510 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

Russell G. Weiner 

R. Gerald Markle 

HEADNOTES 

Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
Reinstatement Granted 

Petitioner's failure to comply timely with the provisions of rule 955, California Rules of Court, was 
not, in itself, grounds for denying petition for reinstatement. Essentially, petitioner followed the 
suggestion of her former counsel in the disbarment proceeding to allow him ( counsel) to take ;::are 
of the filing of the required affidavit of compliance with rule 9 5 5. Petitioner's former counsel did 
not follow through and petitioner did not com ply with the rule until about eight months after filing her 

Editor's note: The summary, headnoles and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Depanment, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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(Review Dept. 1999) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 1 

petition for reinstatement. The bearing judge expressed "some reservations" about petitioner's 
testimony concerning her belated compliance with rule 955, yet chose to resolve the issue in her 
favor. The review department upheld the hearing judge's decision. In doing so, the department 
noted, as did the hearingjudge, that at the time of her disbarment, petitioner had no clients, co-counsel 
or pending cases and was not obligated to return any client property covered by the rule. 

(2 a, b] 165 
2504 
2510 

Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
Reinstatement Granted 

A close reading of the hearingjudge' s conclusion that petitioner had proven rehabilitation, together 
with several adverse findings of petitioner's actions regarding her fonner husband led the review 
department to support the judge's positive recommendation. Regarding petitioner's testimony about 
the restraining orders she attempted to obtain in the State Bar Court against her former husband, 
the judge found it eithernegligent or intentionally misleading. However, he did not specify at which 
end of that wide range petitioner's testimony rested. Certainly, if petitioner's understanding of 
restraining orders was simply careless, no adverse conclusions were justified. • The review 
department found no basis for a conclusion of dishonesty on petitioner's part regarding the status 
of the restraining orders. The review department also drew no adverse moral conclusions from 
petitioner's frequent litigation in the State Bar Court over a protective order. Petitioner had a right 
of reasonable access to this court to seek judicial remedies. Her contact of mem hers of the Board 
of Governors and senior State Bar staff was also within her rights and she did not pursue 
inappropriate means to influence judicial decisions. The review department also concluded that 
petitioner disclosed adequate facts about the matter in her communications. 

[3 a, bj 139 
165 
193 

Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
Constitutional Issues 

none 

199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
2504 Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
2510 Reinstatement Granted 

The hearingjudge' s discussion of his concerns over petitioner's actions in terms of according her 
a "reasonable doubt" made review somewhat difficult. It is clear that in a disciplinary proceeding, 
where the State Bar has the burden of proving charges by clear and convincing evidence, the 
accused is entitled to the exercise of reasonable doubts. However, in a reinstatement proceeding, 
where the petitioner unquestionably has the burden of presenting clear and convincing evidence of 
her qualifications, petitioner can not be given the benefit ofreasonable doubts. However, by reading 
the decision in its entirety, the review department construed the hearingjudge's decision finding 
reasonable doubts in favor of petitioner to not invoke the normal meaning of the term "reasonable 
doubt" as used in this area of law, but rather, such narrow doubt that would be acceptable in a 
satisfactory showing for reinstatement. 

Additional Analysis 
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OPINION: 

STOVlTZ, J.: 

In 1989 the Supreme Court disbarred petitioner, 
Laura Beth Salant, after her criminal conviction 
based upon her "deceitful acts ... of exceptional 
gravity" in 1985 in applying and sitting for the Califor­
nia Bar Examination in place of her then husband, 
Morgan Lamb (M. Lamb). (In re Lamb ( 1989) 49 
Cal.3d 239.) Both the majority and dissent acknowl­
edged mitigating circumstances which evoked 
sympathy for petitioner and that she had shown 
remorse and presented evidence of integrity. 

In 199 5 petitioner sought reinstatement. In this 
proceeding, she must show by clear and convincing 
evidence that she has present learning and ability in 
the general law, that she has passed the professional 
responsibility examination, that she is rehabilitated 
and is of present good moral character. (Cal. Rules 
of Ct., rule 9 51 ( f).) The hearingjudge filed a 40 page 
decision finding in petitioner's favor on all issues but 
not without several concerns about litigation steps she 
took and testimony she recently gave, which testi­
mony the judge deemed to be incredible. Before us, 
there is no dispute that petitioner passed the required 
professional responsibility examination and is learned 
in the general law. The State Bar's Office of Chief 
Trial Counsel (State Bar) contends that petitioner is 
not rehabilitated and is presently morally unfit to 
practice. 

On our independent review, we conclude that 
petitioner has proven convincingly her rehabilitation. 
Her work experience as a paralegal for the Internal 
Revenue Service for the past eight years has placed 
her in many stressful situations and she· has per­
formed in an outstanding manner. Her character 
witnesses are most laudatory on her behalf. She has 
overcome serious health problems and performed 
positive community service. The evidence of every 
mental hea Ith professional who evaluated her, includ­
ing one who acted as the Court's independent 
examiner, has also been uniformly favorable. Al• 
though the hearingjudge had some doubts about some 
actions or positions petitioner took during these pro­
ceedings, the judge resolved those concerns in 
petitioner's favor. We agree with the hearingjudge 
and will recommend her reinstatement. 
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I. DISCUSSION. 

In our view, it is unnecessary to recount in detail 
the grave misconduct which led to petitioner' sdisbar­
ment. It is fully recited in In re Lamb, supra. 49 
Cal.3datpp. 242-243. 

We focus on the evidence adduced in the rein­
statement petition, evaluating it in light of the 
misconduct which led to petitioner's disbarment. 
(Hippard v. State Bar ( 1989) 49 Cal.3d 1084, 1092 .) 
In that connection, we note that petitioner's miscon­
duct arose from uniquely stressful situations and 
occurred over a very short time. As the Supreme 
Court majority stated in part in discussing the factual 
background of petitioner's misconduct, "The 
confluence of emotional and physical stress caused 
petitioner to conclude that her only hope for her 
unborn child was to accede to her husband's pleas 
that she take the July 1985 exam in his place." (In re 
Lamb, supra, 49 Cal. 3d at p. 243.) 

A. Leaming and Legal Ability. 

Without dispute, petitioner satisfied in March 
1996 the requirement that she pass a professional 
responsibility examination. 

Petitioner's employment history since disbar• 
ment shows her present learning in the law and aids 
herrehabilitative showing. In 1990 petitioner became 
a paralegal for the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). 
Her work entails analysis and research of legal and 
factual issues, preparation of cases for trial, genera­
tion of related correspondence and court documents, 
and drafting of motions, briefs, stipulations and other 
litigation documents. She is her office's liaison with 
the bankruptcy court and she has trained others on 
legal issues involving litigation, bankruptcy, writs of 
entry, and compromises. Her paralegal work in• 
volves liens, levies, community property issues, 
privileges and claim priorities. She has taken numer­
ous courses on a wide variety of legal subjects 
pertinent to her work. We adopt the hearingjudge' s 
findings, not disputed by the State Bar, that petitioner 
has demonstrated requisite learning and ability in the 
law. 
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B. Favorable Evidence of Rehabilitation. 

There is also no dispute that petitioner has 
performed her IRS job in an outstanding manner, 
discharging sensitive responsibilities. She has re­
ceived several outstanding performance awards and 
evaluations. California attorneys who supervise her 
work have been laudatory about her achievements. 
Her superiors have almost always evaluated her as 
outstanding. Because of her performance, she has 
received cash awards and has been·given access to 
thelRS'smost sensitivedatabaseoftaxpayerrecords. 
Thirteen attorneys who supervise or formerly super­
vised petitioner's work for the IRS, or were familiar 
with it, provided most favorable character evidence 
on her behalf. These Witnesses were familiar with 
the facts surrounding her disbarment. Many of them 
had read the Supreme Court's opinion in In re Lamb, 
supra, yet were most laudatory of petitioner's work, 
her ethical standards and present moral character. 
Several of these witnesses signed declarations of a 
detailed nature rarely seen in these proceedings. 
They each concluded that petitioner's disbarment 
had arisen from a very stressful situation, that peti­
tioner has been confronted by stress in her IRS work 
but had handled it rriost appropriately and that she 
would not likely repeat her misconduct. 

Two of the declarations from senior IRS or 
Department of Justice attorneys are especially note­
worthy. Gregory A. Roth, an Assistant United States 
Attorney in the Tax Division for the Central District 
of California, has been a California attorney since 
1982 and has known petitioner since January 19~0 
when she had started IRS paralegal work. Roth had 
frequent work and social contacts with her. Roth's 
five-page declaration stated that petitioner had al­
ways been open about her misconduct, she understood 
fully its gravity and impropriety and had expressed 
genuine remorse for its nature, "not merely the 
consequences to her from the misconduct." Roth 

I. Herben stated. " During . . . ! 995. [petitioner] had been 
assigned a Ta\: Court case. which ultimatelycamctomcfortrial. 
She recommended to me that the case go to trial because she did 
not bdic\·c the taxpayer· s story. 1 viewed the case differently. 
anirtricd to convince (petitioner] tha1 she should acccpl the 
ta.\:paycr'~ story and settle lhe case. (Petitioner] stood her 
ground. d.:sprte the pressure I placed· upon her. The-iaxpayer 

INTHEMATTEROFSALANT 
(Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. I 

described the stressful, conflict-laden work petitioner 
performed ably and that she showed determination to 
take the moral "high road" at the IRS. Roth stated 
that at the IRS, petitioner always pursued vigorously 
"'doingtherightthing' in each case, whether it meant 
concession by the IRS or lengthy legal research by 
her to develop the case for litigation." Roth opined 
that petitioner consistently demonstrated extremely 
high ethical and moral standards. Roth's very favor­
able and detailed opinion as to how well petitioner 
handled pressure is especially significant. Roth held 
petitioner in such high esteem that he would trust her 
as his attorney and recommend her to others as an 
attorney worthy of trust. Roth testified in these 
proceedings consistently with his declaration. 

Donna Herbert, a senior attorney in the Office of 
IRS Chief Counsel, also testified in support of peti­
tioner and had previously filed a three-page declaration. 
Herbert knew petitioner since 1990 and had read the 
Supreme Court's opinion in In re Lamb, supra. 
Herbert concluded that petitioner has the highest 
moral and eth.ica1 standards. Her declaration is 
especially noteworthy for its revelation of how peti­
tioner resisted the pressure which Herbert placed on 
her to take action in a case, which action petitioner 
deemed unwarranted. 1 

The record convincingly establishes that peti­
tionerdemonstrated significant remorse for her earlier 
misconduct. She made no excuse for it even though 
her acute concern for her health and that of her 
unborn child atthe time were well-established factors 
cited both by the majority and dissent in/n re Lamb, 
supra. 

A significant factor at the time of petitioner's 
earlier misconduct was her diabetic condition. The 
record contains undisputed evidence that petitioner's 
diabetes is under control. 

in question ultimately engaged an attorney to represent her and 
the case was later senled. However, I was particularly 

. impressed with the strength of (petitioner"s] convictions in 
this case. ! admit that I was attempting to strong-amt her into 
settling (as attorney~ ar.: prone to do). and she did not 
succumb_·· 
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We agree with the hearing judge's findings that 
show that petitioner has engaged in community ser­
vice activities and we find them to aid her rehabilitative 
showing. These have involved numerous projects in 
connection with her daughter's school, Girl Scout 
activities and service as president of a community 
group seeking to establish a park where dogs can 
exercise without leash controls.· 

In sum, petitioner's character evidence was 
uniformly favorable and extensive; coming from about 
30 declarants, several of whom also testified below. 
These references were reasonably familiar with the 
facts surrounding petitioner's disbarment. They had 
known petitioner for from one to eight years although 
some of the witnesses were social friends or family 
members. It is of course settled that character 
evidence, no matter how favorable, is not itself 
determinative of rehabilitation. (E.g., Hippard v. 
State Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d at p. 1095.) However, 
the strength and weight which should be accorded the 
many detailed references, especially by government 
attorneys, makes petitioner's showing strongly posi­
tive. 

Finally, the evidence of petitioner's psychologi­
cal condition was uniformly favorable. Petitioner has 
undertaken significant treatment with several thera­
pists over the years. We do not believe it necessary 
to discuss this evidence in great detail, but we note the 
opinions of the two experts who observed petitioner 
most recently. 

Joan Mandell, a licensed clinical social worker, 
who treated petitioner for at least 15 months from 
January 1996 through the date of the hearings be low, 
concluded that petitioner suffered from no mental 
health problems of any concern. Further, Mandell 
described that petitioner's sustained psychological 
achievement offered ''most convincing proof of her 

2. Mandell had been licensed since 1973. For 14 years.she had 
worked in the Depanment of Psychiatry at Harbor UCLA 
Medical Center and had served as a supervisor-administrator 
at a regional child guidance clinic. Since 1992. Mandell had been 
in full-time private practice. Seventy percent of her practice 
wa.\ with children. Her area of expertise was in child physical 
and sexual abuse victimii.ation. Mandell served on custody 
e\ alua1 ion panels for two branches of the Los Angeles Count)' 
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capacity to sustain the meaningful rehabilitation she 
has achieved." 

Petitioner also agreed to examination by an 
independentpsychologist, Dr. Susan Gustlin-Glasser, 
who evaluated petitioner at the State Bar Court's 
own behest. Responding to specific questions posed 
by the hearing judge, Dr. Gostlin-Glasser reported 
that petitioner's rehabilitation had occurred and that 
it was unlikely that she would again engage in the type 
ofbehaviorthat resulted in her disbarment. The State 
Bar offered no expert evidence to the contrary and 
there is no expert evidence that petitioner has taken 
any inappropriate actions resulting from stress.3 

C. Concerns Posed by the State Bar. 

The State Bar points to several concerns to 
support its position that petitioner has not made the 
required showing for reinstatement. 

(la] First it points to petitioner's most untimely 
compliance with rule 95 5, California Rules of Court. 

(1 b] Petitioner was required to comply with the 
provisions of rule 955, California Rules of Court, 
shortly after her 1989 disbarment. Essentially, peti­
tioner followed the suggestion of her former counsel 
in the disbarment proceeding to allow him ( counsel) 
to take care of the filing of the required affidavit of 
compliance with rule 955. However, petitioner's 
fonner counsel did not follow through. It is undis­
puted that petitioner did not com ply unti I May 1996, 
about eight months after filing lier petition for rein­
statement. The hearing judge expressed "some 
reservations" about petitioner's testimony concern­
ing her belated comp! iance with rule 95 5, yet chose to 
resolve the issue in her favor. After observing all 
witnesses testify, including petitioner, the hearing 
judge concluded that he had reservations about 

Superior Couns. She treated adults with various relationship 
problems. 

3. The State. Bar" s significant concern as to whether petitioner 
has handled appropriately stress caused by her former 
husband· s involvement in 1hcsc proceedings or in her recent life 
and the c,perts' opinions will be discussed. post. 
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petitioner's testimony that she first learned about rule 
955's duties in May 1996. The judge also had 
reservations about her testimony that she would not 
have attempted to delegate the filing of her own 
affidavit of compliance with rule 955 if she had 
understood the rule's duties. We uphold the hearing 
judge's decision that did not deem adverse to peti­
tionerthat she chose to delegate rule 95 5 compliance. 
In doing so, we note, as did the hearing judge, that at 
the time of her disbarment, petitioner had no clients, 
co-counsel or pending cases and was not obligated to 
return any client property covered by the rule. We 
agree. with the hearing judge's conclusion that 
petitioner's failure to comply timely with rule 95 5 is 
not, in itself, a ground for denial of petitioner's 
reinstatement. 

[2aJ The hearing judge devoted nearly ten pages 
ofhis decision to whether petitioner's conduct, repre­
sentations and testimony surrounding her efforts to be 
ostensibly free of contact with her ex-husband, M. 
Lamb, were inconsistent with rehabilitation. We may 
summarize the judge's findings as follows: 

Petitioner had no contact with M. Lamb since 
1993, other than atthetaking ofhisdeposition in these 
proceedings before trial. M. Lamb had committed 
violent acts toward petitioner until 1989. In her 
testimony at trial, petitioner stated M. Lamb had not 
been violent to her since 1989, although he had 
threatened violence against their daughter. In her 
closing trial brief, she suggests that M. Lamb had 
been violent to her after 1989 but concedes that M. 
Lamb could always contact her through her sister to 
arrange visitation of their daughter. 

In the nearly one year period between Septem­
ber 21, I 995, and October 7, 1996, petitioner filed 
seven motions and two petitions for interlocutory 
review in this proceeding seeking State Bar Court 
protection against M. Lamb. 

Petitioner's first such motion was a request that 
certain information in this public proceeding not be 
disclosed without certain steps taken and that parts of 
the petition and its anachments be sealed. On 
October 17, 1995, a State Bar Court judge sealed 
certa'in parts of the petition and anachments. 

INTHEMATIEROFSALANT 
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• · In support of her request, petitioner stated in a 
declaration under penalty of perjury that she had 
"sought and obtained" a court restraining order for 
protection againstM. Lamb. However, the Superior 
Court to which she referred had never entered a 
written order. At most, petitioner testified that 
sometime between I 986 and 1988 there were two 
"oral" orders. Petitioner conceded that she realized 
at trial of this proceeding that, to be effective, a 
restraining order had to be written. 

The hearing judge found petitioner's testimony 
on this subject not to be credible, concluding that she 
was, at best, negligent or at worst, intentionally 
misleading to secure relief from the State Bar Court. 

In August 1996, petitioner sought to expand the 
October 1995 State Bar Court order. The hearing 
judge denied it, concluding that it was overly broad in 
referring to pre-1989 conduct and that it was incon­
sistent with the showing needed by a petitioner for 
reinstatement. 

• We denied petitioner's interlocutory appeal of the 
hearingjudge' sorder allowing discovery to be reopened 
by the State Bar to take the deposition of M. Lamb. 

Three weeks later, petitioner filed under seal an 
amended motion to gain added protective relief. It 
was denied and petitioner appealed to us. We denied 
relief. Petitioner filed a second amended motion to 
expand the protective order as well as a motion to 
strike the State Bar's anticipated response to it. The 
latter motion was also denied. 

The hearing judge also denied petitioner's Sep­
tember 1996 request that the State Bar provide 
security for her at M. Lamb's deposition. 

In September 1996, petitioner filed a request to 
exclude from the courtroom at trial two witnesses, 
one of which was M. Lamb. 

On September 2 7, 1996, the State Bar moved to 
continue the trial on the grounds that petitioner de­
layed in providing her witness list and that the numerous 
motions petition~r had recently filed had impeded the 
State Bar's trial preparation. The State Bar's motion . . 

was granted. 
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In October 1996, petitioner wrote to State Sena~ 
tor Cathie Wright, in whose district petitioner resided, 
and Member of the State Bar Board of Governors 
Leon Goldin. Petitioner sought their help in obtaining 
a protective order from the State Bar Court. She 
wrote that she was a victim of domestic violence and 
that if abuse returns, it would be the State Bar's fault. 
She also represented that she had tried to get the State 
Bar Court to issue a protective order to help ensure 
that her husband cannot get information from the 
case ''to directly find me or my daughter .... The State 
Bar OPPOSES the protective order. So far, the State 
Bar Court has adopted the State Bar's position." 
Petitioner did not include in this letter that the State 
Bar Court had granted a limited protective order and 
that she was seeking an amended order. 

Finally, the hearing judge found that petitioner 
engaged in extensive efforts to contact the superiors 
of counsel for the State Bar, including the Chief Trial 
Counsel and the President of the State Bar, in an 
attempt to influence them to intervene in the protec­
tive order matter. 

With regard to petitioner's preparation of mo­
tions, she told the court's independent psychological 
evaluator, Dr. Gusti in-Glasser, that she sought advice 
from her attorney before filing any documents to 
ensure that they were "legally appropriate". The 
Court found that petitioner was in pro per until 
October 1996 and that petitioner personally prepared 
all motions and appeals up to that time. From those 
facts, the hearing judge concluded that petitioner 
failed to accept responsibi I ity for her acts and sought 
to blame others. 

The hearingj udge also concluded that petitioner 
only told part of the truth as it met her needs. He 
questioned petitioner's lack of professional ism and 
lack of credibility regarding these motions. He 
described petitioner's preoccupation with M. Lamb 
manifested in the many time-consuming motions filed 
with the State Bar Court as unwarranted and seri­
ouslycalling into question petitioner's judgment. 

Notwithstanding the several concerns of the 
hearingjudge set forth above. and regarding her lack 
of compliance with rule 955. the hearing judge gave 
petitioner the benefit of reasonable doubts and rec-
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om mended her reinstatement. He did so based on the 
unique nature of the matter leading to disbarment and 
the totality of petitioner's rehabilitative showing, in­
cluding the significant passage of time since her 
misconduct, her positive psychological therapy, her 
"exceptional employment evidence", her good char­
acter and community service record and her good 
health. 

Concerning the expert evidence of petitioner's 
reaction to M. Lamb, Mandell testified that petitioner's 
fear of him was normal and appropriate. Mandell 
opined that things can occur which can stir up old 
feelings in people who have been apart for a very long 
time. According to Mandell, this reinstatement pro­
ceeding could be such a trigger. The Court's 
independent expert, Gustlin-Glasser, reported that 
although petitioner was preoccupied at times with 
concerns about M. Lamb, this concern was not 
"obsessional." Petitioner was not found to show 
signs of disturbed thought processes and petitioner's 
strong feelings regarding privacy and safety regard­
ing M. Lamb were not dysfunctional. 

We agree with. the hearing judge's ultimate 
findings and his conclusions that petitioner has made 
a satisfactory showing for reinstatement. [3a] How­
ever, the hearingjudge's discussion of his concerns 
over petitioner's actions regarding M. Lamb in terms 
of according her a "reasonable doubt" has made our 
review somewhat difficult. 

f3b] It is clear that in a disciplinary proceeding, 
where the State Bar has the burden of proving 
charges by clear and convincing evidence, the ac­
cused is entitled to the exercise of reasonable doubts. 
(E.g., Young v. State Bar (1990) 50 Cal.3d 1204, 
1216; In re Aquino ( 1989) 49 Cal.3d 1122, 1130.) 
However, in a reinstatement proceeding, where the 
petitioner unquestionably has the burden of present­
ing clear and convincingevidence ofher qua! ifications, 
we cannot give petitioner the benefit of reasonable 
doubts. (Cf. In re Menna {1995) 11 Cal.4th 975, 
986.) However, we do not consider that the experi­
enced hearing judge was attempting to revise the 
standards in reinstatement cases. To the contrary, his 
decision cites his explicit awareness of the law that a 
very high t-iurden is borne by a petitioner seeking 
reinstatement. Thus, by reading the decision in its 
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entirety, we construe the hearing judge's decision 
finding reasonable doubts in favor of petitioner on the 
M. Lamb issues to not invoke the normal meaning of 
the term "reasonable doubt" as used in this area of 
law, but rather, such narrow doubt that would be 
acceptable in a satisfactory showing for reinstate­
ment. 

[lb] A close reading of the hearing judge's 
conclusion that petitioner has proven rehabilitation, 
together with several adverse findings of petitioner's 
actions regarding M. Lamb, lead us to support the 
judge's positive recommendation. Regarding 
petitioner's testimony about the restraining orders, 
the judge found it either negligent or intentionally 
misleading. However, he did not specify at which end 
of that wide range petitioner's testimony rested. 
Certainly, if petitioner's understanding of restraining 
orders was simply careless, no adverse conclusions 
are justified .. We find no basis for a conclusion of 
dishonesty on petitioner's part regarding the status of 
the restraining orders. We also draw no adverse 
moral conclusions from petitioner·• s frequent litigation 
in this court over a protective order. Petitioner had a 
right ofreasonable access to this court to seek judicial 
remedies. Her contact of members of the Board of 
Governors and senior State Bar staff was also within 
her rights and she did not pursue inappropriate means 
to influence judicialdecisions. We also conclude that 
petitioner disclosed adequate facts about the matter 
in her communications. 

We further hold unmerited the State Bar's claim 
that petitioner withhe Id facts from her application for 
reinstatement. The hearing judge did not conclude 
otherwise. We conclude that petitioner's disclosures 
were consistent with rehabilitative aims. (See 
Calaway v. State Bar (1986) 41 Cal.3d 743, 749.) 

II. CONCLUSION AND 
RECOMMENDATION. 

In over l I years since her very serious bot 
unique misconduct, petitioner has amassed a most 
impressive record of employment, outstanding char­
acter evidence and psychological rehabilitation. All 
witnesses agree as to her most positive future. The 
expert psychological evidence is uncontradicted and 
anomeys who engage in the enforcement of the tax 
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and criminal laws have been especially impressive in 
their support for petitioner's high moral character and 
ability to resist inappropriate pressure. Although 
petitioner has shown. herself very guarded over M. 
Lamb's possible intrusion into her life, nothing has 
been shown that is contrary to the very high showing 
required for reinstatement. 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that 
the petition of Laura Beth Salant for reinstatement be 
granted, subject to her paying the required fees and 
taking the required oath. 

We concur: 

OBRIEN, P.J. 
NORIAN, J. 
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OPINION: 

STOVlTZ, J.: 

Respondent, Michael J. Moriarty, asks that we 
review the recommendation of a State Bar Court 
hearing judge that he be disbarred from the practice 
of law. Respondent was admitted to practice law in 
1972 and has no prior record of discipline. 

The hearing judge's disbarment recommenda• 
tion rests on findings of fact that in six matters, 
respondent committed wide.ranging and serious pro­
fessional misconduct over a six.year period. His 
misconduct involved failure to properly manage his 
trust account, overreaching a disabled client of mod­
est means by unilaterally taking $9,000 as his attorney 
fees, repeated disobedience of court orders resulting 
in several mistrials of a civil jury trial due to 
respondent's false and misleading statements to the 
jury, using means inconsistent with truth in seeking a 
continuance of another civil trial and his falsification 
in a civil action of six proofs of service coupled with 
his encouragement of an action from a· corrupt 
motive. Our review of the record shows that 
respondent's offenses were surrounded by I ittle evi­
dence in mitigation but significant evidence in 
aggravation. Respondent's repeated acts of deceit 
stained severely the honest administration of justice. 
In the circumstances, the hearingjudge' s recommen~ 
tlation of his disbarment is warranted. 

I. FACTS. 

A. Smith Matter. 

I. Key Findings. 

Respondent represented Timothy Smith in 1985 
against the makers of a brand of baking soda which 
allegedly caused serious injury to Smith when he used 
it to relieve indigestion. The action was tried to a 
deadlocked jury in San Francisco Superior Court. 
After a mistrial was declared, Judge Carlos Bea was 
assigned the case for retrial which was calendared 
for 199 I. Judge Bea bifurcated the retrial into 
causation and liability phases: Smith won a unani­
mous jury verdict on the first phase that the baking 
soda caused Smith's injury. Judge Bea calendared 
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the next phase to start before the same jury in January 
1992. It was to decide whether the baking soda was 
defective in design or warning. !fit was so found, the 
jury was nextto decide whether such defect or failure 
to warn caused injury. 

At request of counsel for the defendant baking 
soda company, Judge Bea made several oral rulings 
admonishing respondent not to discuss in the jury's 
presence any medical condition allegedly caused by 
the product in other users except for the stomach 
condition at issue. Judge Bea also admonished 
respondent not to state to the jury other factors such 
as death arising from ingested baking soda, the 
alleged withholding ofinformationfrom government 
officials regarding deaths from causes other than the 
type of injury suffered by respondent and directed 
him not to mention punitive damages. 

However, in respondent's. opening statement 
and again while questioning a witness, in January 
1992, respondent violated Judge Bea's order in sev­
eral respects. As examples, the hearingjudge found 
that respondent claimed to have letters referring to 
the baking soda catisirig other ailments, such as heart 
failure and sudden .or immediate death following 
stomach rupture. · At the civil retrial, respondent 
admitted that he had no evidence in the letters that 
stomach rupture was the cause of death. 

Judge Bea admonished respondent not to men­
tion cases involving defendants unrelated to the 
current one. Despite this, while questioning the 
defendant's chief executive, respondent referred to a 
recorded statement in an unrelated case as though it 
were a deposition in the present case. The hearing 
judge also found that respondent continued to ask 
argumentative questions of the defendant's witnesses 
despite Judge Bea's admonitions. 

In January l 992, concluding that a fair trial was 
not possible and noting respondent's repeated acts of 
prejudicial misconduct, Judge Bea declared a mistrial, 
dismissing the jury. One week later, respondent 
moved for Judge Bea's recusal. Because respondent 
did not want another San Franciscojudge to decide 
"the recusal motion, it was ultimately referred by the 
Judicial Council to a judge of the Alameda County 
Superior Court who denied the motion. 
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In May 1992, another jwywas impaneled to hear 
the second phase of the retrial but, on the day of 
respondent's opening statement, Judge Bea declared 
another mistrial. Leading up to this ruling were 
respondent's reference in opening statement to let­
ters that had not been admitted in evidence and his 
inaccurate paraphrase of one letter. The hearing 
judge also found that, in violation of Judge Bea's 
rulings, respondent had continued to state to the jury 
that deaths and injuries were caused by baking soda 
when those instances had nothing to do with the 
circumstances involved in the case on retrial. 

The next day, May 21, 1992, a third jury was 
impaneled. This jury rendered a special verdict for 
the defense. The resultingjudgrnent was affirmed by 
the court of appeal in April 1995. 

During the various trial proceedings in theSmith 
case, sanctions were imposed on respondent exceed­
ing $43,000. The hearingjudge found the following as 
to those sanctions: 

In November 1991, during the first phase of trial, 
respondent was sanctioned $750 following a con­
tempt adjudication. Respondent had elicited an opinion 
from a doctor who was deemed not competentto give 
such an opinion after respondent had been admon­
ished by Judge Bea more than ten times not to elicit 
such an opinion. 

In May 1992, after the first mistrial of the second 
phase of the retrial, Judge Bea imposed sanctions on 
respondent of $28,778.50. This order was taken 
under Code of Civil Procedure section 128.5 and was 
based on Judge Bea's finding that respondent's 
conduct was in bad faith and solely to harass the 
defendant. Judge Bea made an identical detennina­
tion after the second mistrial and imposed sanctions 
on respondent of $12,339.24. 

Finally, Judge Bea fined respondent $1,250 in 
June 1992 on a contempt adjudication based on 

I. Unless noted otherwise. all rcfcrcm:cs to sections arc to the 
pro\'isions of the Business and Professions Code. 
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respondent's contemptuous conduct on five occa­
sions during the second phase of trial. 

From the foregoing findings, the hearingjudge in 
this disciplinary proceeding concluded that respon­
dent failed to maintain the respect due to the courts 
(Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6068 (b))1 by violating or 
ignoring court orders applying to his case presenta­
tion. The judgealsoconcludedthat respondent violated 
section 6068(d) and rule 5-200(B)2 (using means 
inconsistent with truth) in misleading the jury as to a 
deposition in the case, and in misleading the jury in 
other respects. Noting that the latter conclusions 
were duplicative, the hearingjudge assigned no added 
weight to the duplication for discipline reasons. 

Finally, the hearing judge concluded that there 
was no clear and convincing evidence that respon­
dent engaged in acts of moral twpitude in this matter 
beeause of his noncompliance with Judge Bea's 
orders. The hearingjudge could not find sufficient 
proof of required bad faith to support a moral turpi­
tude conclusion. 

2. Discussion. 

Respondent levies several attacks on the hearing 
judge's findings and the proceedings which led to 
them. The State Bar disputes respondent's charges 
and supports the findings and conclusions of his 
culpability. 

Respondent argues at length that the record 
contains insufficient and inaccurate evidence of Judge 
Bea's orders which respondent violated. We agree 
with the State Bar'srefutationofrespondent'sclaim. 
The record contains ample evidence of Judge Bea's 
orders as well as of respondent's conduct. At best, 
respondent's attack on the record is not a quarrel with 
what is in evidence but is his attempt to explain his 
remarks in a more favorable light. 

2. Unless noted otherwise. all references to rules are 10 the 
pro\'isions of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the State 
Bar. 
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Respondent argues that the hearing judge im­
properly relied on "a collateral estoppel theory and/or 
'great deference to the civil court's rulings'." Ac­
knowledging that the hearing judge did not rely on a 
collateral estoppel theory to find respondent culpable 
of misconduct arising out of the sanction and con­
tempt orders, respondent contends that the hearing 
judge was obligated to review the State Bar's evi­
dence, including the various reporter's transcripts, to 
determine whether any of respondent's conduct was 
a cause for discipline. The State Bar opposes this 
argument and we agree with this opposition. 
Respondent's argument is unsupported by any rel­
evant legal authority and is without merit. 

The hearing judge discussed carefully the doc­
trine of collateral estoppel, refusing to apply it to the 
sanctions ordered under Code of Civil Procedure 
section 128.5. She did give deference to Judge Bea's 
final orders which were affirmed on appeal. The 
hearing judge's decision was correct. (In the Matter 
of Respondent X (Review. Dept. 1997} 3 Cal. State, 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 5 92, 605 [ cited by the hearing judge J.) · 

Respondent also attacks the notice of disciplin­
ary charges as insufficient. However, his. discussion 
is both general and diffuse and we determine that the 
charges adequately placed respondent on notice as to 
what offenses he was being called on to defend. 

We need not discuss at length respondent's last 
attack on the findings that Judge Bea's sanctions 
order constituted reversible error under the dee is ion 
in Trans-Action Commercial Investors, Ltd. v. 
Firmaterr, inc (1997) 60 Cal.App.4th 352. The 
State Bar disputes that Trans-Action supports 
respondent's position. We agree and note that at oral 
argument, respondent so conceded. 

Reviewing the record independently (e.g., in re 
Morse ( 1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 207), we have deter­
mined that the findings and conclusions of the hearing 
j udgc are not only fully warranted but that the appro­
priate conclusions are even more serious than those 
drawn by the judge. The judge refused to conclude 
that respondent committed moral turpitude, since she 
detennined that there was no clear and convincing 
proof that he acted in bad faith. However, that 
determination covers only part of the charges in this 
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count, The hearing judge properly concluded that 
respondent committed several acts of dishonesty, 
discussed ante. Those same conclusions also war­
rant our conclusion that respondent committed moral 
turpitude. 

B. Middleton Matter. 

J. Key Findings. 

Prior to January 1992, respondent represented 
Margery Middleton in a legal malpractice action 
pending in the Humboldt County Superior Court. As 
respondent was preparing for trial in this matter, he 
realized he would also be in trial in the Smith case, 
discussed ante. However, he believed thattheSmith 
case would conclude before the scheduled startofthe 
Middleton case. Trial in Middleton was set for 
January 27, 1992 and on January l 5, the Smith case 
mistried. Six days later, respondent moved to dis­
qualify the trial judge in Smith. The matter was 
ultimately referred to the state Judicial Council which 
assigned the disqualification motion to the Alameda 
County Superior Court· 

In the meantime, respondent sought a continu­
ance of trial in the Middleton matter. In a declaration 
to support his continuance request filed in January 
1992, respondent stated that he would be unavailable 
for trial as he had been "ordered to be available in the 
Judicial Council" with regard to his motion in the 
Smith case. The hearing judge found inaccurate 
respondent's statement to the Humboldt County 
Superior Court that he had been ordered to be 
available in the Judicial Council in that no hearing or 
other proceeding had been set by the Judicial Council. 
On the basis of her finding, the hearing judge con­
cluded that respondent failed to use means consistent 
with the truth and thus violated section 6068 ( d) and 
rule 5-200. Since she concluded that respondent did 
not intend to mislead the court, she found respondent 
not culpable of an act of moral turpitude by his making 
of a false statement. 

In this matter, the hearingjudge also found that 
respondent's associate attorney, John Daniel, told the 
superior court·in May 1992 that the Middleton case 
was settled when it was not. Daniel testified below 
that respondent told him to so advise the superior 
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court. The superior court placed the matter on its 
dismissal calendar. Respondent filed an opposition in 
which he stated in a declaration that opposing counsel 
apparently informed the court that the case had 
settled and was "at a loss to understand how [ oppos­
ing counsel] believed the case had settled .... " The 
superior court dismissed the case and respondent 
appealed, urging that the dismissal was through ne­
glect and extrinsic fraud. The Court of Appeal 
concluded that respondent "dropped the ball" but 
remanded the case as no settlement had been reached. 
Upon remand, the trial court issued a new dismissal 
order. 

After finding that neither Daniel nor respondent 
were credible, the hearing judge concluded that 
respondent did not engage in moral turpitude in 
accusing opposing counsel of misrepresenting that 
the case had been dismissed. However, the hearing 
judge found that respondent was responsible for: 
prosecuting the Middleton case, the misrepresenta­
tion made by his associate and the false accusation 
against opposing counsel. The hearing judge con­
cluded that respondent's gross neglect and 
inattentiveness to investigate when it appeared that 
someone had misrepresented to the court that the 
case had been settled constituted a violation of 
section 6068 (d) and rule 5-200 [failure to use only 
means consistent with the truth]. 

2. Discussion. 

At trial and on review, respondent contends that 
he understood the Judicial Council procedure on his 
motion to disqualify in the Smith case to require that 
he be available to appear before the Council. How­
ever, respondent was unable to point to any statute, 
rule, decision or order as authority for his claimed 
belief that he was obligated to appear or that the 
Counci I would even hold a hearing. He also contends 
that the hearing judge's conclusions of culpability 
were erroneous because such violations require a 
finding of specific intent to mislead. The State Bar 
urges us to find, on an independent review of the 
record, that respondent did have an intent to mislead 
the court. It points to the many efforts respondent 
made to continue the Middleton case in order to have 
time to work on the Smith case. 
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[ 1] Our duty to independently review the record 
is settled. (See In re Morse, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 
207.) At the same time, we must give great weight 
to the hearing judge's determination that turns on 
credibility to be assigned to witness testimony. (In 
the Matter of Sawyer (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 765, 770; In the Matter of 
Sampson (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 119, 124.) We are reluctant, therefore, to 
ascribe to respondent a specific intent to deceive 
when the hearingjudge who considered respondent's 
testimony and that of other witnesses found none. 
This does not exonerate respondent from moral 
turpitude charges as to his false statement regarding 
the Judicial Council proceedings on his motion to 
disqualify the trial judge inSmith. The hearingjudge' s 
findings must be read to find culpability by respondent's 
gross negligence, as simple neglect would not be 
sufficient for a statutory violation. (E.g.,Call v. State 
Bar-(1955)45Cal.2d 104, 109.) Gross'negligenceis 
a well-established basis for finding an act of moral 
turpitude. (See Simmons v. State Bar ( 1970) 2 Cal.3d 
719, 729; In the Matter of Rubens (Review Dept. 
1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 468, 4 78.) The 
hearing judge did not explain why she declined to use 
respondent's gross neglect to support a conclusion 
that he engaged in moral turpitude. On our indepen­
dent review of the record, we so conclude and 
reverse the hearing judge's detennination that no 
moral turpitude was involved in respondent's false 
statement to the superior court. Accordingly, we 
deem the findings of section 6068 (d) and rule 5-200 
violations to be essentially duplicative of the moral 
turpitude findings and we therefore assign no weight 
to them for disciplinary purposes. 

[2] For the same reasons, we also find that 
respondent engaged in moral turpitude by gross 
neglect by peremptorily accusing opposing counsel of 
misrepresenting to the superior court that the 
Middleton case had been settled. As to this aspect 
of the Middleton case, the hearing judge expressly 
found respondent to have acted in a grossly neg I igent 
manner in concluding that he violated section 6068( d) 
and rule 5-200. Inexplicably, the hearing judge 
declined to apply that gross neglect finding to con­
elude that respondent was culpable of moral turpitude 
as proscribed by section 6106. As in the first aspect of 
this matter, the moral turpitude finding is duplicative 
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of the finding of violation of section 6068( d) and rule 
5-200 and we disregard the latter findings for pur­
poses of degree of discipline. Accordingly, we need 
not decide respondent's claim whether violations of 
6068 (d) and rule 5-200 must rest on findings of 
specific intent to deceive. 

C. Alexander Matter 

The hearingjudge found no culpability and rec­
ommended dismissal of this count. On review, the 
State Bar does not contest the dismissal. Since our 
review is independent ( see ante), we summarize the 
matter very briefly. In about summer 1992, Brenda 
Alexander contacted respondent about representing 
her in a medical malpractice case. Respondent 
agreed to evaluate the case but did not yet agree to 
represent Alexander. A doctor to whom respondent 
referred the case for evaluation reported it was not 
viable. It is undisputed that respondent never filed 
suit. Alexander testified ihat respondent told her he 
was taking the case. Respondent. testified to the 
contrary. 

The hearing judge gave specific reasons for 
discrediting Alexander's testimony and concluded 
that there was no clear and convincing evidence 
supporting the charges that respondent either failed to 
act competently or improperly withdrew from em­
ployment. Moreover the hearing judge found that 
respondent's office manager contacted Alexander 
about picking up her papers about the case so she 
could choose other counsel. 

We adopt the hearingjudge's decision dismiss­
ing this matter. 

D. McKinley Matter. 

1. Key Findings. 

This matter arises from respondent's undisputed 
failuretotimelypaya medical lien. Respondent urges 
that th is was a technical v io lat ion which shou Id not be 
weighed in assessing discipline. Based on our review 
of the record, we must disagree with respondent and 
agree with the State Bar which seeks to uphold the 
hearingjudge's findings. 
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In 1991, respondent was counsel for members of 
the McKinley family in a personal injury case. A 
signed lien ran in favor of a medical provider, East 
Bay Orthopedic, Group (East Bay). 

In about January 1992, the case settled for a total 
of $6,200. Respondent took his 1/3 attorney fee and 
paid the rest, $4,133, to the McKinleys. He did not 
pay East Bay. When East Bay contacted respondent 
twice in 1992,itgotnoanswerfromhim. In February 
1993, East Bay sought help from the State Bar. It 
contacted respondent. Respondent pulled his closed 
file, discovered the lien had not been paid, and in 
October 1993, respondent paid the lien of$870 from 
his own funds and never asked for repayment from 
the McKinleys. 

The hearing judge found that: respondent vio­
lated rule3-l 10(A) by recklessly failing to honorthe 
medical Hen until 20 months after he had received the 
settlement proceeds and also violated "technically" 
rules4-1 0O(A) and4-100(B)( 1) bynothavingintrust 
the $870 and by not promptly paying it.-

2. Discussion. 

Neither party cites any decisions supporting the 
hearing judge's findings. We have not held every 
untimely failure to pay a medical liendisciplinable. In 
In the Matter of Riley (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 91, 113-114, we declined to find 
the attorney culpable of a wilful violation of rule 3 -
1 I0(A) as to ex.press contractual liens. There the 
record showed that the attorney negligently mis­
placed his records of those liens and there was no 
evidence of repeated or reckless conduct. In con­
trast, we concluded that Riley recklessly failed to 
perform services competently as to statutory liens. 
(Id. at pp. 111-112). 

In the case before us, East Bay called this matter 
to respondent's attention twice over a period· of 
several months and was finally required to seek the 
State Bar's aid before respondent took sufficient 
effons to research the matter and resolve it. Conse­
quently, respondent's actions were reckless. 
Moreover, the more common way in which failure to 
properly handle TT'edical liens is addressed is by 
finding the trust account rules to be wilfully violated 
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by fai lingto maintain in trust the requisite funds. (E.g., 
In the Matter of Sampson, supra, 3_ Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 119, 127-128; In the Matter of Respondent 
P (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 622, 
63 3.) As we noted in Sampson, the failure to pay an 
outstanding medical lien can violate rule 4-100 (B) 
even if the attorney acted in good faith. That the 
hearingjudge focused on rule 3-110 (A) in this count 
rather than the trust account rules did not show that 
respondent's offense was merely technical. 

E. Client Trust Account charges. 

1. Key Findings. 

This count concerns respondent's misuse of his 
trust account at Pacific Bank in 1992 and 1993. 
Respondent also had a general (non-trust) account at 
this bank. In 1992 and 1993, respondent made six 
transfers from the general to the trust account. Two 
of the transfers were large, $16,000 on June 2, 1992, 
and$ 12,000 on April 19, 1993. Respondent had no 
explanation for any of the six transfers. 

Moreover, between March and July 1992, 
respondent's trust account balance fell below zero at 
several times. Yet respondent still wrote checks on 
the account. Examples of these negative balances 
were: $-370.37 on March 31, 1992 and $-1,558 on 
June 23, 1992. 

Between February 1992 and June 1993, respon­
dent made several payments from the trust account 
on various business and personal loans. These 
payments were made from trust because a bank 
officer, unaware of the special nature of an attorney 
trust account, chose to make payments from 
respondent's trust account rather than from his other 
account. Some of these unauthorized uses of the trust 
account were reversed by the bank but the practice 
continued after respondent's accountant had caught 
the errors in earlier months. 

The hearing judge concluded that although re­
spondent was not culpable of commingling trust and 
personal funds because of the bank's error, he did 
wilfully violate rule 4• I 00 (A) by failure to properly 
maintain and supervise his trust account over several 
months, es pee ial ly by his large, unexplained transfers 
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from the general account. No clear and convincing 
evidence was presented that respondent had wilfully 
violated any subdivision of 4-100 (B) as in the amended 
charges. But, citing Giovanazzi v. State Bar ( 1980) 
28 Cal.3d 465, the hearing judge concluded that 
respondent's gross mismanagement of his trust ac­
count amounted to moral turpitude under section 
6106. 

2. Discussion. 

Respondent argues broadly that the rule 4-100 
(A) and section 6106 charges are not supported. 
However, his attack on the evidence extends only to 
disputing the March 31, 1992, invasion by the bank of 
his trust account to make a loan payment. The State 
Bar agrees that respondent should not be held respon­
sible for his bank's action in debiting a particular 
account, but correctly points out that the hearing 
judge's findings are supported because of the other 
acts of trust account mismanagement far beyond the 
March 31 loan debit, which are unexplained • by 
respondent's evidence. Also, respondent's argu­
ment that no client was injured as a basis for 
undercuttingculpabi lity shows a complete m isunder­
standing of decades of Supreme Court precedent as 
to the important prophylactic nature of rule4-l 00 (A) 
and its predecessor rules, 8-101 and rule 9. (Among 
many cases, see Arm v. State Bar ( 1990) 50 Cal.3d 
763, 776-777; Silver v. State Bar (1974) 13 Cal.3d 
134, 144-145;Peckv. StateBar(l932)2l7 Cal. 47, 
51.) 

F. Oei Matter. 

1. Key Findings. 

In this matter, the hearing judge found miscon­
duct in two main ethical areas: 1) respondent forged 
another's signature on six proofs of service, then 
represented that the signature was true; and 2) 
respondent failed to dismiss an unjust action. The 
findings arose out of am ed ical malpractice action by 
the Oeis against UCSF Medical Center concerning 
complications surrounding the birth of the Oeis' 
fourth chi Id. Respondent represented the Oeis in th is 
case in 1994. During discovery, respondent was 
obligated 1n provide an expert witness list by July 
1994. When defense counsel did not receive the list, 
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he asked respondent to dismiss the case. Respondent 
faxed defense counsel a copy of the list he claimed 
had been served on July 26. 

The list bore a proof of service signed by one 
Dasmann. Respondent also filed five more docu­
ments in the case with proofs of service bearing 
Dasmann'sname. These were signed between June 
14 and September 6, 1994. 

Skeptical defense counsel deposed Dasmann 
who testified that she worked for respondent for only 
one month in May-June 1994, not in July, and she did 
not sign the proof of service attached to the witness 
list. When defense counsel pressed for dismissal of 
the case, respondent stated to the court that his 
daughter had signed Dasmann's name to the six 
proofs. 

The State Bar's documents expert opined that 
respondent signed Dasmann' s name to all six proofs. 
Respondent denies this but ,cannot say who signed 
four of the six proofs. Below, respondent contended 
his daughter signed two of them. The hearing judge 
gave specific reasons for discrediting the testimony 
ofrespondent's daughter and-found respondent did 
sign Dasmann' s name to al 1 six proofs .. The hearing. 
judge concluded that respondent did not serve the 
expert witness I ist by July 26, falsely represented that 
he had done so and falsely represented to the State 
Bar Court that his daughter had signed two proofs of 
service. 

In the medical malpractice action, respondent 
propounded no discovery, took no depositions and did 
not timely disclose an expert witness. Yet he failed 
to dismiss the suit in its entirety and even refiled the 
identical suit naming his clients as guardians for the 
infant. The superior court sanctioned respondent 
$350 for failing to appear at a hearing as to why the 
case should not be dismissed. Also, the court sanc­
tioned respondent' sclients$3,000 forfailingtodismiss 
the case. Two other sanction orders were filed, one 
against respondent and one jointly against respondent 
and his clients. The sanctions remain unpaid. 

As noted. the hearing judge found that respon­
dent had forged Dasmann' s name to all six proofs. 
Respondent ,,.·as found culpable of"serious" acts of 
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moral turpitude (section 6106) as well as wilfully 
violating section 6068(d) and rule S-200 [using means 
inconsistent with truth and misleading the court]. 

As to the sanctions order charge, the hearing 
judge found that respondent violated section 6103 
[failure to obey court order] as to the two orders 
imposing sanctions against respondent. The hearing 
judge also found a violation of section 6068(g) [ en­
couraging an action from any corrupt motive of 
passion or interest] by refiling the Oei 's lawsuit with 
no substantive changes. 

2. Discussion. 

As to the proofs of service, respondent now 
concedes that the proofs were forged, by someone 
whom he does not know. He admits he must bear 
responsibilityfor failure to adequately supervise sub­
ordinates. He accepts no other responsibility and 
reargues the points which the hearingjudge resolved 
against him. Specifically, respondent complains that 
the hearing judge devalued the testimony of his 
daughter and over-valued the testimony of the State 
Bar's questioned ·· documents expert. As to the 
attempt to keep an unprosecuted cause of action 
alive, _respondent argues that the case was always 
viable, based on his good-faith belief and his research. 
He also alleges that the medical malpractice defense 
bar is responsible for disciplinary charges here as it 
was opposing respondent who is known to support his 
clients to the utmost. The State Bar supports all of the 
hearingjudge' s findings, noting that respondent failed 
to challenge the handwriting expert's methodology 
and conclusions. It also supports the conclusions of 
respondent's violation of section 6068 {g) on the 
ground that since he did no discovery, took no depo­
sitions and failed to respond to defense discovery, he 
could not have had any good-faith belief that his 
client's case was viable. 

(3] We adopt the hearing judge's findings and 
conclusions in this matter. The judge correctly gave 
weight to the testimony of the questioned documents 
expert who gave specific reasons for his qualified 
positive opinion that respondent, not Dasmann, signed 
Dasmann's name to the relevant proofs of service. 
Respondent had ample opportunity to challenge the 
methodology of the State Bar's expert but failed to 
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timely do so. His belated attack on the expert's 
analysis is unavailing. Respondent is also confused as 
to the role of the hearing judge. While he correctly 
states that the judge should give him the benefit of all 
reasonable doubts, the judge was not required to 
devalue evidence she found stronger than 
respondent's on this issue. (Cf. In the Matter of 
Fandey (Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 767, 775.) The judge evaluated the case fairly 
and properly in reaching her findings. 

Respondent'sdefensetothechargesofviolation 
of section 6068(g) are also without merit. Respon­
dent offered no proof of any tangible steps to move 
the case along. The evidence shows that his only 
expert doubted that the defendant health care provid­
ers were responsible for any damages to his client. 

G. Giannini Matter. 

1. Key Findings. 

In 1988, the Gianninis hired respondent for legal 
action against an insurer. An agent of the insurer had 
covered the cost of premiums on extra insurance 
policies for the Gianninis by "stripping" the value of 
their underlying insurance policy. This rendered the 
basic policy of the Gianninis much less valuable. As 
Mr. Giannini was disabled, the diluted disability fea­
ture of his insurance was a serious threat to his 
security. When the Gianninis were unable to get the 
insurer to rescind what its agent had done, they hired 
respondent Respondent accepted the Giannini's 
case under a 33% contingent fee contract. In 1990, 
respondent was able to get relief for the Gianninis 
both by the insurer's restoration of some of the value 
of the underlying policy and by a $9,000 cash pay­
ment. 

When the insurer senled the matter and paid the 
$9,000, respondent decided on his own to keep the 
entire $9,000 as his legal fees. Respondent's reason 
for doing this was that the value of the insurance 
policy restored was high enough so that he earned the 
entire $9,000. Respondent did not tell the Gianninis 
that he had received the $9,000 payment. The clients 
learned about this in 1994 from their new insurance 
agent who told them that they were entitled to keep 
some of the $9,000. Also in 1994, new counsel 
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consulted by the Gianninis wrote to respondent about 
the matter. After much delay, respondent confinned 
only that he had kept the entire amount. After fee 
dispute arbitration, the clients were awarded most of 
the $9,000 ($6,000 plus $1,878 and costs). 

The hearing judge found that there was "great 
room for dispute" over the value of what respondent 
recovered for the Gianninis. Accordingly, the hearing 
judge concluded that the only proper course for 
respondent was to give the clients a timely, complete 
accounting and settlement statement and keep the 
money in trust if any dispute needed resolution. Since 
he did not do this, the hearingjudge concluded that he 
wilfully violated rules 4-100 (A) and (B)( 1 ), (3) and 
( 4 ). He also committed moral turpitude by his overall 
overreaching and concealment. 

2. Discussion. 

Respondent concedes that he had a 33% contin­
gent fee arrangement but on review claims without 
any support that he later negotiated a $9,000 fee 
agreement with the Gianninis and refers to a release 
signed by the Gianninis. Yet respondent admits, as he 
must, that the release referred to the $9,000 but not as 
respondent's fee. 

The State Bar points to undisputed facts as 
supporting the hearing judge's findings; i.e., that 
respondent never told the clients of receiving the 
$9,000, and the inconsistent explanation of 
respondent's "release". This explains the clients' 
silence over several years in seeking to recover the 
$9,000. 

Our examination of the release does not aid 
respondent in any way. It releases only the defen~ 
dants in the insurance action, mentions a $9,000 
payment from them and does not purport to affect 
respondent's fees. 

We support the hearing judge's findings, espe­
cially agreeing with the hearing judge as to the 
overreaching nature of respondent's misconduct. 
Respondent appears to be unaware of long-standing 
Supreme Court precedent that even if an attorney is 
owed fees for legal services, he may not unilaterally 
decide those fees and use the trust funds in his 
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possession to satisfy his claim. (E.g., Crooks v. State 
Bar (1970) 3 Cal.3d 346, 358; Most v. State Bar 
(1967) 67 Cal.2d 589, 597.) 

IL EVIDENCE RE MITIGATION AND 
AGGRAVATION. 

The hearing judge found in mitigation that re­
spondent had no prior record in 16 years of practice 
between admission in 1972 and his first misconduct in 
1988. Shegaveslightmitigating weight to respondent's 
three character references, pointing out that they 
were not apprised of the full extent of respondent's 
misconduct. This was the only evidence in mitigation 
presented. We agree with the hearing judge's find­
ings regarding this mitigating evidence and we conclude 
that it is clearly offset by evidence of aggravating 
circumstances. 

Some of respondent's character evidence was 
aggravating in that it demonstrated respondent's bad 
character. Two judges each testified that 
respondent's conduct in their courtrooms was rude 
and contemptuous, well past the bounds of accept­
able advocacy. Also, the record contains evidence of 
respondent's poor character presented by the testi­
mony of two attorney witnesses,·. One witness 
testified that respondent 1 ied and the testimony of the 
other attorney witness established that respondent 
lied in another matter. Further, the hearing judge 
found in aggravation that just before trial of this 
matter in the Hearing Department., respondent con­
cealed this matter from the civil court in another 
matter concerning whether he had a conflicting trial 
date. Finally, the hearingjudge found that respondent 
had lied to herregarding a continuance. Our indepen­
dent review of the record supports the hearingjudge 's 
findings.3 

As the judge observed, these are serious aggra­
vating circumstances. 

3. The hearing judge also found that respondent suborned 
perju~· of an expert wimess in a civil manerwho was allowed 
tci testify that he had no relationship with respondent at a time 
that respondent represented the witness in a civil action to 
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Also in aggravation, the hearing judge found a 
record of multiple acts of misconduct over a six-year 
period (1988 - 1994) and a "pattern" of dishonesty. 
Whether or not the several instances of deceit rise to 
a "pattern" of misconduct (see Levin v. State Bar 
( 1989) 47 Cal.3d 1140 [ discussion of"pattem "]), they 
unquestionably show multiple acts of dishonesty. 

Additionally, we agree with the hearing judge's 
findings that respondent significantly harmed his 
clients and the administration of justice by his conduct 
in several of the matters. 

III. DEGREE OF DISCIPLINE. 

As in so many disciplinary cases, recommending 
the appropriate degree of discipline is the key issue in 
this proceeding. Itis well settled thatthere is no fixed 
formula in arriving at the appropriate recommenda­
tion. (E.g., Gadda v. State Bar (1990) 50 Cal.3d 344, 
354.) Rather, each case must be decided on its own 
based on a balanced consideration of all relevant 
factors. (Sands v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d_ 919, 
• 931.) The ultimate purpose ofattomey discipline is to 
.ensure the protection of the public, courts and legal 
profession (Std. 1.3, Standards for Attorney Sanc­
tions for Professional Misconduct (Stds ). ) 

f4a) Respondent's six matters of misconduct 
were wide-ranging and, collectively, most serious. 
Even the least serious count, the McKinley matter, 
showed respondent's incompetent actions and failure 
to adhere to trust account rules. The Trust Account 
Matter count showed respondent's abdication of the 
. prophylactic controls designed to ensure that more 
serious losses of client funds do not occur. The 
Giannini matter displayed respondent's conceal­
ment of facts from and clear overreaching of his 
disabled client in the unilateral taking of $9,000 _ The 
Smith matter demonstrated not only respondent's 
repeated disobedience of court orders but his re­
peated falsity in getting matters before the jury not 

which the witness was a party, We do not give weight to this 
evidence as the testimony establishing it was objected to on 
hearsay grounds anJ was not admined for the truth of the 
assertions. 
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even established by competent evidence. In the 
Middleton matter, respondent used means inconsis­
tent with the truth in seeking to c~:mtinue the civil trial 
and in wrongly attacking opposing counsel. Finally, in 
the Oei matter, respondent forged six proofs of 
service to maintain a lawsuit in which he had failed to 
participate in discovery. When the suit was dismissed, 
he merelyrefiled it in a transparent way. Collectively, 
respondent's misconduct spanned six years. 
Respondent's misdeeds harmed significantly the hon­
est administration of justice in three of the six matters. 

Looking to the Standards for guidance, there was 
ample basis to support the hearing judge's recommen­
dation. (See Stds. 2.2 ( offenses involving entrusted 
property), 2.3 ( moral turpitude ),2.6 (violations of section 
6068) and l .6(b )(i) (when evidence of aggravating 
circumstances outweighs mitigating circumstances).) 

(4b] The only significant mitigating evidence 
was respondent's lack of prior discipline. But the 
evidence of aggravating circumstances was signifi­
cant. This took the fonn of the multiple, serious 
nature of respondent's misconduct which harmed 
clients and the administration of justice and unfavor­
ablecharacterevidencewhich, historically, is seldom 
seen in attorney disciplinary cases. 

Neither respondent nor the State Bar have cited 
past decisions which are similar to this one. Respon­
dent has cited several of our decisions but they are all 
significantly different from the essence of this case. 
In the Malter of Mapps (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. I, the attorney had misappropri­
ated about $5,700 which he was required to keep in 
trust to pay liens of medical providers. Mapps' 
offenses were aggravated by issuance of insuffi­
ciently funded checks yet they involved none of the 
serious threats to the honest administration of justice 
found here. Also significant differences from 
respondent's case were that Mapps' misconduct 
occurred over a short period of time and he admitted 
his misdeeds. On our recommendation, the Supreme 
Court ordered a two year actual suspension. 

4. Many other decisions of the Supreme Court in original 
proceedings may be cited for the same result. (E.g .. Sands v. 
State Bar. supra. 49 Ca!.3d 919; Kennedy v. State Bar(l 989) 
48 Cal .3d610: Bowles i·. State Bar( 1989)48 C.al.3d I 00; Weber 
1·. State Bar( l988)47Cal.3d492;Ainsworth\·. State Bar(l 988) 
46 Cal.Jd 1218: Coopen·. State Bar( 1987) 43 Cal.3d I 016; 
Rosenthal rJeromeJ \'. State Bar( 1987)43 Cal.3d612;Rosenlhal 
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Respondent's reliance on In the Matter of 
Fonte (Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 752, is similarly unhelpful to him. Fonte 
involved but two matters of misconduct resulting in 
actual suspension for 60 days. While Fonte' s matters 
involved a variety of ethics violations, showed over­
reaching to clients and were serious, they did not 
approach the gravity of respondent's dishonesty and 
repeated harm to the administration of justice. More­
over, Fonte presented evidence of very impressive 
mitigation. 

In In the Matter of Peterson (Review Dept. 
1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 73, the attorney was 
actually suspended for one year for abandoning three 
clients· and repeatedly deceiving them. There we 
considered many cases of other attorneys culpable of 
similar misconduct to guide us. As serious as 
Peterson's deceit was to his clients, and his lack of 
cooperation was with the State Bar, his case did not 
show the clear harm to the justice system which 
respondent's culpability shows. 

In the Matter of Hertz (Review Dept. 1991) 1 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 456, on which respondent 
also relies, seems more to persuade us to adopt the 
hearingjudge 's disbarment recommendation than to 
support respondent's claim that it is excessive. Hertz 
had committed serious misconduct in only one matter 
over an extended period of time. He unilaterally 
misapplied trust funds in a marriage dissolution matter 
and misled opposing counsel and the trial and appel­
late courts about his misdeeds. However, he did 
present impressive evidence in mitigation which we 
weighed more heavily than did the hearingjudge. The 
Supreme Court ordered Hertz's two year actual 
suspension. 

(4c] The State Bar correctly cites Chang v. 
State Bar(l 989)49Cal.3d 114, toexemplifythatthe 
Supreme Court has not required a prior record of 
discipline when ordering disbarment in appropriate 
cases.4 

(Michael) v. Sta:e Bar (I 98i) 43 Cal.]d 658.) More recently, 
see e.g .. our decisions in In the Ma1tero/Hindin(Review Dept. 
1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 657 and In the Maller of 
Brlmben}'(Review Dept. 1995)3 Cal. S:atc Bar Ct. Rptr. 390. 
In both of these decisions, the Supreme Coun followed our 
recommendation and ordered disbarment. 
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14d] The gravamen of this case, correctly iden­
tified by the hearing judge, is not only respondent's 
wide-ranging misconduct in six matters over a lengthy 
period of time without any substantial mitigation, but 
is importantly found in his offenses to the honest 
administration of justice in theSmith, Middleton and 
OeiMatters. When we look at past decisions involv­
ing even one such serious matter in the proceeding, 
we see severe discipline imposed, if necessary, for 
public protection. (See Sands v. State Bar, supra, 49 
Cal.3d 919; Weir v. State Bar ( 1979) 23 Cal.3d 564; 
In re Jones (1971) 5 Cal.3d 390.) 

l4e) The hearing judge had the opportunity to 
assess respondent's character and conduct over 12 
days of trial. She recommended disbarment out of 
concern that this case was not about simple overzeal­
ous representation of clients,as respondent had often 
urged, but that respondent had been intentionally and 
repeatedly dishonest. As the hearing judge con­
cluded, respondent was not worthy of trust and was 
a serious risk to the courts and public. From.our 
independent review of the record, • we reach the 
identical cone lusions of the hearingjudge and there­
fore adopt her recommendation of disbarment. 

V. CONCLUSION .. 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that 
respondent, Michael J. Moriarty, be disbarred from 
the practice oflaw in this State. We recommend that 
respondent be ordered to comply with the provisions 
of rule 95 5, California Rules of Court, in the custom­
my manner as in other such recommendations. We 
further recommend an award of costs to the State 
Bar pursuant to Business and Professions Code 
section 6086. l 0. 

We concur: 

OBRJEN, P.J. 
NORlAN, J. 
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SUMMARY 

23 

The hearingjudge found respondent culpable of29 counts of professional misconduct involving 8 separate 
clients; recommended that respondent be disbarred; and ordered respondent involuntarily enrolled as an 
inactive member of the State Bar in accordance with Business and Professions Code section 6007, subdivision 
( c )( 4) (inactive enrollment upon filing of a disbarment recommendation). (Hon. Nancy R. Lonsdale, Hearing 
Judge.) 

Respondent sought review of the hearing judge's decision and order of inactive enrollment. With one 
exception, the review department adopted each of the hearing judge's culpability findings as well as her 
disbannent recommendation. The review department left in place the order enrolling respondent as an inactive 
member of the State Bar. 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: Andrea T. Wachter 

For Respondent: Kathryn J. Dixon, in pro. per. 

HEADNOTES 

11 a, b] 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 

12 a-ii 

Respondent engaged in an act involving moral turpitude when she had client sign blank pleading 
forms and then later completed the fonns and filed them as having been executed under penalty of 
perjury without first confinning the accuracy of the information with client. 

193 
199 

Constitutional Issues 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 

Editor's note: The summary. head notes and additional analysis section arc not part of the opinion of the Review Department. but 
ha,c been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Coun for lhe convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Depanment • s 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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204.90 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
320.00 Rule 5-200 [former 7-105(1)] 

Disciplinary rules governing legal profession cannot punish activity protected by First Amendment, 
but neither false statements made knowingly nor false statements made with reckless disregard for 
truth are protected by First Amendment. Thus, because respondent's statements in pleadings, 
which she filed in superior court action and this disciplinary action, that her opposing counsel in 
superior court action was "well-known racist," "champion of the Emeryville pedophile ring," 
"operated by organized crime," "intent upon avoiding his own criminal indictment," and "motivated 
by racial hatred," and described young children as "niggers, hood and scums" were proved false 
at trial; because those statements were not mere rhetorical hyperbole, incapable of being proved 
true or false; and because respondent either knew statements were false or made them with 
reckless disregard of truth as there was no objective evidence that statements were true, hearing 
judge properly found respondent culpable of violating professional rules requiring attorneys to 
em ploy only such means as are consistent with truth and not to seek to mislead courts and judicial 
officers as well as statute proscribing acts involving moral turpitude. 

[3] 193 Constitutional Issues 
213.60 State Bar Act-Section 6068(f) 

Charge for violating statute proscribing offensive personality was dismissed because statute was 
previously declared unconstitut1onally va~ue by federal appeals court. 

[4 a, b] 220.20 State Bar Act-Section 6103~5 

Even though respondent did not promptly communicate, to her client, the terms and conditions of 
settlement off er in letter respondent received from opposing counsel, respondent was not culpable 
of violating statute requiring attorneys to promptly communicate such information to their clients 
because opposing counsel sent a copy ofletter to respondent's client, which client received. 

{5 a-c] 135.50 Procedure-Rules of Procedure 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
148 Evidence-Witnesses 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 

Hearing judge did not abuse her discretion in issuing a pretrial order precluding respondent from 
attempting to impeach State Bar's witnesses with evidence of witnesses' alleged criminal activities, 
terrorist activities, racism, hate crimes, molestation of foster children, etc. except by evidence of 
proved felonies introduced into evidence in strict compliance with Evidence Code. 

[6 a-gJ 135.50 Procedure-Rules of Procedure 
136.20 Procedure-Rules of Procedure 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
192 Due Process-Procedural Right 

When respondent's refusal to provide names of any witnesses or identify any exhibits as required 
by Rules of Practice regarding pretrial statements and exchange of exhibits was based on 
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respondent's dissatisfaction over hearing judge's pretrial order, hearing judge did not abuse 
discretion in sanctioning respondent for not complying with Rules of Practice by precluding 
respondent from presenting any evidence at trial. 

[7 a-h] 135 
139 
192 

Procedure-Rules of Procedure 
Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Due Process-Procedural Right 

Neither due process nor former Transitional Rules of Procedure, rules 508 and 509 required State 
Bar to give respondent exhaustive list of each complaint against her before filing notice of 
disciplinary charges. Fonner rules 508 and 509 merely gave respondent right to deny or explain her 
actions to State Bar and inquire of State Bar concerning the charges against her. 

[8 a-c] 159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
194 
611 

Statutes Outside State Bar Act 
Aggravation-Lack of Candor-Found 

Respondent's calling and threatening State Bar witness shortly before trial can be for no purpose 
other than interference with disciplinary proceeding and tends to demonstrate knowledge of • 
culpability on part of respondent. Because such· evidence was not offered to show culpability in 
uncharged count, it was properly admitted and considered as serious aggravation; see Penal Code 
section 136.1, subdivision ( a X2) ( crime to prevent of dissuade another from attending or testifying). 

[9 a-e] 144 Evidence-Self-Incrimination 

(11] 

193 Constitutional Issues 
611 Aggravation-Lack of Candor-Found 

Party invoking Fifth Amendment bears burden of showing that proffered evidence might tend to 
incriminate. Thus, while respondents may not be disciplined solely for invoking Fifth Amendment, 
the improper invocation of that amendment and resulting refusal to testify may be considered as 
aggravation if culpability has otherwise been found. 

120 
144 
193 

Procedure-Conduct of Trial 
Evidence-Self-Incrimination 
Constitutional Issues 

Whether hearings to determine witness's right to Fifth Amendment privilege should be held in 
camera rather than open court is left to trial court's discretion. 

144 Evidence-Self-Incrimination 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
193 Constitutional Issues 

Hearing judge did not error in drawing inferences against respondent with respect to authenticity 
of documents written by respondent when respondent refused to answer proper questions after 
respondent' sclaim against selfincrimination under Fifth Amendment was denied and she had been 
ordered to answer. 
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[12 a, b] 565 Aggravation-Uncharged· Violations-Declined to Find·· 

Hearing judge erred in concluding that respondent's agreement with former client to withdraw 
client's complaint with State Bar and not to testify against respondent in State Bar Court was 
aggravation as uncharged violation of statute making an agreement to withdraw complaint to State 
Bar disciplinable because that statute was not in effect at time respondent made agreement with 
fonner client. 

[13 a-cl 561 Aggravation-Uncharged Violations-Found 

[14 a-c] 

Respondent's agreement with former client to withdraw client's complaint with State Bar and not 
to testify against respondent in State Bar Court was aggravation as uncharged violations of 
professional rules proscribing suppression of evidence (rule 5-220} and prohibiting attorneys from 
causing persons to be unavailable as witnesses (rule 5-3 IO(A}). 

102.90 
162.20 
192 
193 

Procedure-Improper Prosecutorial Conduct-Other 
Proof-Respondent's Burden 
Due Process-Procedural Rights 
Constitutional Issues. 

It is not evident whether defense of selective prosecution is applicable in State Bar disciplinary 
proceedings. Even if such defense were available, respondent would have been required to show 
an intentional violation of essential principle of practical uniformity and an element ofintentional or 
purposeful discrimination. That is respondent would have been required to demonstrate that she had 
been deliberately singled out for prosecution on basis of some invidious criterion. There is no 
evidence in record on any of these issues. 

[15 a, b] 120 
199 

Procedure-Conduct of Trial 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 

Hearing judge properly had respondent physically removed from courtroom upon respondent's 
repeated failure to comply with hearing judge's orders and warning with respect to respondent's 
disruptive conduct. 

(16 a-di 691 Aggravation-Other-Found 

Respondent's disclosure of fonnerclient'sconfidential infonnation to defendants in lawsuit in which 
former client was plaintiff was serious aggravating circumstance and was not justified by former 
client's lawsuit against respondent for return of fees and legal malpractice. 

117 a-el 1010 Disbarment 

Respondent is culpable of25 separate ethical violations of either the Rules of Professional Conduct 
or the State Bar Act, involving 8 separate clients. Included in thoseviolationsare four acts involving 
moral turpitude. In addition; there are multiple acts of serious aggravation, including acts that 
seriously harmed the administration of justice. the public and the profession. The total absence of 
any recognition by respondent of her misconduct convinced the review department that there was 
little hope that respondent would confonn her method of practicing law to the professional standards 
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of this state. The magnitude of respondent's misconduct and her lack of recognition of that 
misconduct combined to require that the review department recommend that respondent be 
disbarred to protect the courts, the public and the profession of this state. 

Additional Analysis 

Culpability 
Found 

213 .41 Section 6068( d) 
214.31 Section6068(m) 
221.19 Section 6106--0ther Factual Basis 
270.31 Rule 3-IO0(A) [former 6-I0l(A)(2)/(B)J 
277.51 Rule 3-700(0)(1) [former 2-l l l(A)(2)] 
277.61 Rule 3-700(0)(2) [former2-11 l(A)(3)] 
280.51 Rule 4-1 OO(B)(4) 9former 8-10 I (B)( 4)] 
320.01 Rule 5-200 [former 7-105(1)] 

Not Found 
213.45 Section6068(d) 
214.35 Section6068(m) 
220.25 Section6103.5 
275.05 Rule 3-500 (no fonnerrule) 
320.05 Rule 5-200 [former 7-105(1)) 

Aggravation 
Found 

521 
531 
541 
582.10 

Aggravation-Multiple Acts- Found 
Pattern 
Bad Faith, Dishonesty 
Harm to Client 

Mitigation 
Found 

710.IO No Prior Record 
Standards 

802.10 Standard 1.1 (Scope of Standards) 
Discipline 

IO IO Disbarment 
Probation Conditions 

2311 Section 6007-Inactive Enrollment After Disbarment-Imposed 
2345 Petitions to Tenninate Miscellaneous Inactive Enrollment 

Other 
175 Discipline--Rule 955 
178.10 Costs- Imposed 
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OPINION: 

Obrien,J: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Respondent Kathryn Jo-Anne Dixon, among 
other remedies, seeks review of a hearing depart­
ment decision and order finding her culpable of 29 
separate ethical violations. The notice of discip Ii nary 
charges contained 44 counts. Of those counts, seven 
were dismissed on the motion of the State Bar and 
eight additional counts were either dismissed by the 
hearingjudge or she found no culpability. The State 
Bar does not challenge these dismissals or findings 
and we do not further discuss them. Two of the 
counts on which culpability was found were deter­
mined by the hearing judge to be duplicative for the 
purposes of assessing discipline. 

The hearing judge has recommended that re­
spondent be disbarred, and pursuant to Business and 
Professions Code section 6007(c)(4}1

, she ordered 
respondent enrolled as an inactive member of the 
State Bar. That order became effective July 12, 
1997. 

Respondent seeks review of the hearing judge's 
recommendation and order. In addition, her opening 
brief contains, without separate caption, five motions 
and an application for an emergency stay of the 
section 6007( c )( 4) order enrolling her as an inactive 
member of the State Bar. 2 That brieffurther contains 
three separate declarations of respondent each re­
lated to a different matter and interspersed throughout 
the text of the brief. 

Following our review, with one exception, we 
affinn the heari ngj udge' s findings of culpability and 
affirm the decision of the hearingjudge recommend­
ing respondent's disbarment. We leave in place the 

t. Unle,s otherwise noted all references to "section .. are to the 
Busin.:ss and Professions Code. 

2. Each of those motions are denied, including the motion fora 
stay. motion to disqualify the individual prosecutor and all 
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order enrolling respondent as an inactive member of 
the State Bar. 

II. TIIE CHARGES AND FINDINGS 

The hearingjudge found respondent3 culpable of 
29 counts of professional misconduct involving 8 
separate clients. Included within the findings of 
culpability were four counts involving moral turpi­
tude. We agree with the hearingjudge' s findings that 
respondent committed misconduct in each of the 
following matters. 

A. The Ogg Matter (Counts I through 4) 

Luetta Ogg was referred to respondent by a 
paralegal with whom respondent shared office space 
between late January and late February 1994. Mr. 
and Mrs. Ogg sought guardianship of her minor 
grandson, who periodically lived with her but had 
been removed from her home by her son. In connec­
tion with the removal of the grandson, the Oggs' son 
had physically beaten Mr. Ogg and threatened fur­
ther beatings. [la] Respondent had the Oggs that 
sign a number ofblank pleading forms, which were to 
be filed under penalty of perjury. Respondent advised 
the Oggs that she would seektemporary and perma­
nent guardianship of the minor and a temporary 
restraining order (TRO) against the Oggs' son. Re­
spondent collected a fee of$1,664 from the Oggs for 
her services and for costs. 

Because the petition showed that the Oggs did 
not have physical custody of their grandson at the 
time of presenting the application for temporary 
guardianship, the probate attorney would not accept 
it for filing. The-probate attorney attempted to call 
respondent and, on being unable to reach her, left a 
message requesting a return call. Neither the probate 
attorney nor the Oggs were thereafter able to reach 
respondent, nor did she ever contact the probate 
attorney. 

State Bar prosecutors. to void the proceedings. to disqualify 
the presiding judge and all other State Bar Court judges. 

3. Respondent was aumitted to practice on June 15, 1981. 
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The Oggs received a refund of $450 from the 
court for costs advanced for investigation, and a $182 
refund forfilingfees from the paralegal. Although the 
Oggs terminated respondent's services and demanded 
a refund, they received no refund from respondent. 

On this state of the record, we concur with the 
hearingjudgethat by submitting incorrect pleadings, 
failing to ensure that they could be filed or acted upon 
and failing to communicate with the probate attorney 
or the clients, respondent recklessly and repeatedly 
failed to competently perform services for which she 
had been retained in violation ofrule 3-11 O(A) of the 
Rules of Professional Conduct. 4 That rule prohibits 
an attorney from intentionally, with reckless disre­
gard, or repeatedly failing to perform legal services 
competently. 

[lb] Business and Professions Code section 
6106 prohibits an attorney from engaging in conduct 
involving moral turpitude, dishonesty or corruption. 
We agree with the hearing judge that by having the 
Oggs sign blank pleading forms and then completing 
and filing those forms as having been executed under 
penalty of perjury, without first confirming with the 
client the accuracy of the infonnation, respondent 
committed an act of moral turpitude in wilful violation 
of section 6106. 

Upon termination of her employment by the 
Oggs, and following demand for a refund by the 
clients, respondent failed to refund any portion of the 
fees paid her. Respondent did prepare and attempt to 
file a petition for temporary guardianship, petition for 
guardianship and TRO, but did so in an incompetent 
manner, and then failed to make any effort to correct 
the errors in the preparation of the pleading. Some 
portion of the unearned fee was required to be 
retumedto the clients. Rule 3-700(0)(2) requires an 
attorney to promptly return unearned fees on termi­
nation of employment. Respondent willfully violated 
this rule. 

4. Unless otherwise indicated. reference to ··rule" is to the Rules 
of Professional Conduct of the State Bar. 
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B. The Adame Matter (Counts 12-14) 

In November 1993, the grandmother of Gina 
Adame paid respondent $500 to represent Adame in 
her marital dissolution proceeding. In early Novem­
ber 1993 respondent wrote two short letters, one to 
Adame and one to opposing counsel, and later in 
November she wrote an additional longer letter to 
opposing counsel. Thereafter, and in spite of re­
peated calls by Adame to respondent, Adame heard 
nothing from respondent. She was not advised by 
respondent of a settlement conference set for March 
29, I 994, and only learned ofitthrough her husband, 
with whom she was in litigation. Respondent failed to 
appear at that settlement conference, although Adame 
did appear. Adame elected to proceed without 
counsel and the matter was resolved at the settlement 
conference. The client made demand of Respondent 
for a refund, citing the lack of service and the failure 
to communicate. Respondent made no refund of any 
portion of the fees. 

We agree with the hearing judge that the failure 
of respondent to perform any services after N ovem­
ber 1993, and her failure to attend the settlement 
conference, was a reckless failure to perform the 
services for which she was retained, all in violation of 
rule 3-11 O(A). 

By failing to communicate with her client after 
November 1993 and by failing to inform the client of 
the March 29, 1994, settlement conference, respon­
dent wilfully violated section 6068(m) requiring that 
she keep her client reasonably informed of develop­
ments in the matter for which respondent had been 
retained. 

Respondent's failure to return any portion of the 
unearned fees to Adame was in violation of rule 3-
700(0)(2). 

C. The Attorney H Matter (Counts I 5-18) 

12a) Attorney H represented one of several 
defendants in an action filed by respondent on behalf 
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of a client. He noticed a deposition of respondent's 
client at which respondent failed to appear. Following 
H's motion to compel the deposition, respondent filed 
a pleading in which she claimed she had not received 
notice of the deposition and stated H was a "well­
known racist" and "champion of the Emeryville 
pedophile ring," "intent upon avoiding his own crimi­
nal indictment." These charges were repeated in 
other court documents claiming that H was "moti­
vated by racial hatred" and that he had described 
children as ''niggers, hoods and scums." On H's 
motion, the records in the superior court were sealed 
and sanctions were imposed against respondent. 

[2b) Each of these charges and additional alle­
gations were repeated in respondent's filing in the 
State Bar Court. H testified below in this proceeding. 
He denied each of the charges. The hearing judge 
found his testimony to be credible and we do not 
disturb that finding. The hearing judge further ruled: 
"There is no objective evidence whatsoever of the 
truth of any of respondent's charges." We agree. 
The record reveals nothing more than respondent's 
repeated unsupported conclusionary statements. 

13) Although charges were brought under sec­
tion 6068(f), the "offensive personality" statute, that 
count was dismissed on motion of the State Bar based 
upon the ruling of U.S. v. Wunsch, et al. (9th Cir. 
1995) 54 F.3d 579, 586, holding, in effect, that the 
section was unconstitutionally vague. 

Section 6068(d) and rules 5-200(A) and (B) 
require that an attorney employ only such means as 
are consistent with the truth. Section 6068(d) adds 
that an attorney shall not seek to mis lead a judge by 
an artifice or false statement of fact or law, while rule 
5-200(B) appliesasimilarproscription. Section 6106 
prohibits an attorney from engaging in acts of moral 
turpitude. 

Our initial task is to detennine whether our inter­
pretations of these sections and rules is limited by the 
First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

5. The only 1hing that respondent ever suggested as substanti· 
ating h.:r po~i11on was the fact that H. asa private attorney. once 
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. [2c] Disciplinary rules governing the legal pro­
fession cannot punish activity protected by the First 
Amendment. Even when an attorney violates an 
ethical rule that he or she swore to obey, the First 
Amendment protection remains. ( Gentile v. State 
Bar of Nevada (1991) 501 U.S. 1030, 1054.) 

{2d] Upon consideration of Standing Commit­
teev. Yagman(l995)55F.3d 1430,andquotingfrorn 
our recent opinion in In the Matter of Anderson 
(Review Dept. 1997) 3 State Bar Ct. Rptr. 775, 782, 
we note, ''Neither a false statement made knowingly 
nor a false statement made with reckless disregard of 
the truth enjoys constitutional protection because 
there is no constitutional value in such false state­
ments of fact. [Citations omitted.]" 

[2e] As we have concluded the statements 
made by respondent are false, we next determine if 
respondent's allegations are mere "rhetorical hyper­
bole, incapable of being proved true or false" or if the 
statements "could reasonably be understood as declar­
ing or implying actual facts capableofbeingprovedtrue 
or false." (Yagman, supra, 55 F.3d at 1438-1439.) 

[2f] Respondent's statements clearly are state­
ments of either "actual facts or implying actual facts 
capable of being proved true or false." Respondent 
charged H with being motivated by racial hatred. 
Such a fact can only be proven by indirect evidence, 
other than by the testimony of the target of the 
charge. Here the target of the inquiry, H, clearly 
demonstrated that racial hatred played no part in his 
motivation for complaining to the State Bar concern­
ing the conduct of respondent. s 

[2g] There is a total lack of support for 
respondent's scurrilous charges that H described 
young children as "niggers, hoods and scums." 
Clearly, these were allegations of fact that were not 
true. 

(2h] The charges that H was the "champion of the 
Emeryville pedophile ring," "operated by orginized 

represented the Emeryville School District, against whom 
respondent had brought several actions. 
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crime" and that he was "intent upon avoiding his own 
criminal indictment" at a minimum, implies actual 
facts capable of being proved true or false. The 
record demonstrates that the charges are false. 

[2i] We quote with approval the hearingjudge's 
conclusions regarding the charges here under consid­
eration. "Respondent is culpable of using means 
inconsistent with the truth, in violation of section 
6068( d) and rule 5-200(A). The court doubts that any 
of respondent's allegations actually misled a court, 
but certainly she sought to do so, using her false 
allegations to buttress her arguments in opposition to 
motions filed against her client. This conduct violated 
rule 5-200(B). Her false statements also constitute 
moral turpitude under section 6106." 

The identical acts are relied on for finding of 
culpability in the violation of section 6068( d) and the 
violation of both rule 5-200(A) and rule 5-200(B). 
Consequently, we dismiss the charges under section 
6068(d). 

D. The Karantsalis Matter (Counts 19-23) 

Theodore Karantsalis was referred to respon~ 
dent by a paralegal with whom respondent shared 
space in January 1994. Karantsalis telephoned and 
spoke with respondent. As the result of that conver­
sation, Karantsalis sent to respondent a completed 
claim fonn for filing a claim againsthisemployer, the 
City and County of San Francisco, along with other 
documentation concerning his claim. Respondent 
signed the form as Karantsalis' representative and 
caused it to be filed. She had a messenger deliver a 
contingent fee agreement to Karantsalis and pick up 
a $1,000 check for a retainer as set forth in the 
contingent fee agreement. Through the paralegal, 
respondent requested and received a check in the 
sum of$182 from Karantsalis, purponedly to cover 
the cost offi ling his action against the City and County 
of San Francisco and others. 

In spite of more than 50 telephone calls, com­
mencing at the end of January, 1994, Karantsalis was 
unable to contact or communicate with respondent 
until he reached her in the middle of April, 1994, at 
which time respondent promised the action would be 
filed within a few days. Except for fi I ing Karantsal is' 
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claim form, the record shows no action having been 
taken by respondent on Karantsalis' behalf. As a 
result, on May 9, 1994, Karantsalis wrote respondent 
tenninating her services as his attorney, and request­
ing a refund of all of the funds he had paid to her. 

Karantsalis then employed attorney Michael 
German to represent him in his claims against his 
fonner employer and others. Respondent did not 
respond to German's requests and demands for the 
return of the documents that Karantsalis had pro­
vided respondent, and for a refund of all sums paid 
her. German filed the action against the City and 
County of San Francisco that thereafter resulted in a 
settlement in favor of Karantsalis. 

Karantsalis initiated a fee arbitration proceeding 
against respondent, resulting in an award for the 
return of the $1,000 paid in fees and the $182 paid for 
filing fees. No part of that award has been paid, even 
though respondent represented to a State Bar inves­
tigator that she would return these funds to 
Karantsalis. 

Count 19 alleges a violation of rule 3-1 lO(A), 
which prohibits an attorney from intentionally, reck­
lessly or repeatedly failing to perform legal services 
competently. Respondent did timely file the claim 
against the City and County of San Francisco, even 
though Karantsalis had completed the claims fonn, 
except for the signature of the person representing 
him. Thereafter, respondent took no action on behalf 
ofKarantsalis through the time of her termination on 
May9, 1994. 

We agree with the hearingjudge that inaction for 
something slightly in excess of three months does not 
present clear and convincing evidence of intentional, 
reckless or repeated failure to competently perform 
in the circumstances here presented. From our 
reading of the record, respondent was not confronted 
with a statute of limitations problem, or other time 
sensitive issues. While surrounding circumstances 
may well render a three month delay intaking action 
a violation of rule 3~ 11 O(A), we have no evidence 
before us of circumstances leading to that conclusion. 

Respo!ldent is charged with a violation of section 
6068(m), requiring an attomeytorespondpromptlyto 
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reasonable status inquiries from a client and to keep 
a client reasonably informed of significant develop­
ments relating to the subject of the attorney's 
employment. In addition, respondent is charged with 
av iolation of rule 3-500, imposing the same duties on 
an attorney. We agree with the hearing judge that 
respondent is culpable of violating section 6068(m). 
Because of the duplicative nature of the charge, we 
dismiss the charge under rule 3-500.6 

We agree with the hearing judge's finding of 
culpability for violation of rules 3-700(0)( 1) and (2 ). 
Those rules require an attomeyto promptly release to 
a client all papers and property belonging to a client on 
termination, and to return any advance fee that has 
not been returned. The record demonstrates that, as 
of the time of trial, respondent had neither returned 
Karantsalis' papers nor refunded the unearned ad­
vanced fees. 

As the hearing judge found, respondent also 
failed to refund the $182 advance for filing fees. That 
conduct was in wilful violation of rule 4-1 00(B)( 4) 
requiring an attorney, on request of the client, to 
promptly return totheclientfundstheclient is entitled 
to receive. 

E. The Torres Matter (Counts 24-31) 

In December 1993, Carmen Torres retained and 
paid $800 to respondent to represent her in a child 
care license revocation proceeding brought by the 
California Department of Social Services (Depart­
ment), represented by attorney S. The record shows 
that respondent gave notice to the Department of her 
representation of Torres on December 18, 1993. The 
hearing on that proceeding was originally set for 
January 13, 1994, but because the notice of that 
hearing was not mailed until January 3, 1994, S 
offered no objection to respondent's request for a 
continuance from the January 13 date. Respondent's 
request for continuance was made on January l 0, 
1994. 

6. W c note that the hearing judge did not consider ihe violation 
of ru I.:: 3•500 in dctcm1ini ng discipline. because of its duplica• 
tin: na1ur~. 
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With the approval of respondent, the hearing 
was reset for Monday, February 28. Unknown to 
Torres, S or the Administrative Law Judge (AU), on 
about February 3, 1994, respondent had substituted in 
as defense counsel on a criminal proceeding long 
pending in the Pleasanton Municipal Court that had a 
scheduled trial date of Monday, February 28, 1994. 
Respondent knew of that trial date when she became 
defense counsel in the municipal court matter. On 
Wednesday, February 23, respondent called S, indi­
cating that she would like to settle the Torres matter. 
On that same day, as the result of an unsuccessful 
motion respondent had brought in the criminal matter, 
respondent was advised that the criminal matter 
would definitely go to trial on February 28. The 
following day respondent again called Sand advised 
him that Torres would not agree to a settlement. In 
fact, respondent had not spoken with or otherwise 
communicated with Torres. Respondent advised S 
that she would again seek a continuance, complaining 
that she had been struck by a truck two or three 
weeks prior. She still said nothing about the criminal 
trial scheduled -for . the same day as the Torres 
hearing. S indicated he would oppose the continu­
ance. On February 25, respondent made an in-person 
appearance in the superior court on a writ she sought 
as the result of the denial of her motion made in the 
criminal matter. The superior court continued the 
hearingonthewrittoMonday,February28. Respon­
dent did not mention to the superior court her required 
appearance at the ALJ proceeding also scheduled for 
February 28. Still on February 25, respondent con­
tacted theALJ and advised him that she had decided 
not to seek a continuance of the administrative 
proceeding, but that a superior court judge had or­
dered her to appear at 9:00 a.m. on February 28, and 
asked that the Torres hearing start at I 0: 15 or 10:30 
on the following Monday, February 28. Respondent 
did not otherwise advise the ALJ of any of the 
conflicting appearances scheduled for February 28. 

In the meantime Torres had been making re­
peated efforts to reach respondent to discuss the 
hearing, leaving many messages to which respondent 



IN THE MATTER OF DIXON 

(Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 23 

did not reply. Finally, a meeting was scheduled for the 
day before the administrative hearing but respondent 
did not appear. As the result of repeated efforts on 
the day before the hearing by Torres to reach her, 
respondent told Torres she could not meet with her 
and that she would be late to the hearing the next day. 
Respondenthadnotdiscussed the hearing with Torres, 
and in response to Torres' inquiry as to whether she 
should bring witnesses, letters or other documents to 
the hearing, respondenttold her not to bring anything. 

On February 28, S, Torres, the ALJ, the court 
reporter and all of S's subpoenaed witnesses ap­
peared for the administrative hearing. Sometime 
after I 0:30 a.m., respondent called Torres and told 
her that she would not be at the hearing and would 
refund to her the money she had paid. Respondent 
has repaid $400 of the $800 paid by Torres. At the 
insistence of S, the hearing was continued and a few 
days later, Sand Torres, without counsel, settled the 
administrative proceeding. Respondent spent the 
entire day of February 28 dealing with matters relat­
ing to the criminal matter and picking a jury for that 
case. 

[4a] On January 3, 1994, Shad written respon­
dent concerning hearing dates, discovery and 
suggesting "a lifetime non-licensure/minimal admis­
sions stipulation." Neither the existence of, nor any 
portion of the contents of that letter were divulged to 
Torres by respondent, although; a copy was mailed by 
S to Torres. 

Atherfirstmeetingwith Torres, respondent told 
her that S was a racist with a prejudice against 
Mexican-Americans and blacks. Respondent, in 
corresponding with the State Bar, claimed that S 
ref erred to Torres as a "dirty spick." 

We agree with the hearing judge that S credibly 
testified that he does not have a prejudice against 
Mexican-Americans or black persons; that he made 
no comments that could give rise to such an impres­
sion; that he never used the phrase "dirty spick"; or 
that he has any "vendetta" against respondent. We 
note from the record that S is married to a Mexican­
American woman. 
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In the Torres matter respondent is charged, inter 
alia, with violating rule 3-11 O(A). We agree with the 
hearingjudge that by failing to advise Torres regard­
ing the licensing matter, failing to prepare for the 
hearing and failing to appear for the administrative 
hearing, respondent repeatedly failed to perf onn 
services competently. Forreasons that are discussed 
below, we disagree that the failure to advise Torres 
of the settlement offer is a proper element in this 
finding of culpability. 

As required by section 6068(m ), respondent was 
obligated to respond to reasonable status inquiries and 
keep Torres informed of significant developments in 
her matter. The record is clear that respondent failed 
to reasonably respond to Torres' requests for infor­
mation or to inform her of the status of her matter. In 
failing to respond to Torres' increasingly desperate 
phone calls and in failing to meet with her as agreed, 
respondent violated section 6068(m). 

We find, as did the hearing judge, that in the 
Torres matter respondent has again resorted to false 
accusations of racial animus. As was true in the 
attorney H matter, we find that respondent's state­
ments that S was racist toward Mexican-Americans 
and blacks were false, as was the statement that S 
had referred to Torres as a "dirty spick." The 
statement that S was racist was based on inferred 
facts that by clear and convincing evidence have 
been shown to be false. As discussed in relation to the 
attorney H matter, ante, such statements by respon­
dent are not subject to First Amendment protection. 
Such false statements, without factual support., consti­
tutemoral turpitude within the meaning of section 61 Cli. 

As we have indicated, both section 6068( d) and 
rule 5-200(B) effectively require an attorney to use 
means only as are consistent with the truth, and not to 
mislead a judicial officer. Respondent had known 
since January 13, that she was scheduled for a jury 
trial on February 28, the same day as the Torres 
admi11istrative law matter was set for hearing. She 
advised no one of that conflict. On the Friday before 
the Monday administrative hearing and the jury trial, 
respondent first notified the AU that there were 
reasons she could not appear on February 28. Even 
then, she did not disclose all of the true facts relating 
to her non-availability. 
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There is clear· and convincing evidence that 
respondent used means inconsistent with the truth, 
and sought to mislead a judicial officer. (See In the 
Matter of Rodriguez (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 480, 489.) The identical facts are 
relied on to support the charge under section 6068( d) 
and the charge under rule 5-200(B). We, therefore 
dismiss the charge under rule 5-200(B). 

[ 4b] On the facts set forth, the hearing judge 
determined that respondent had failed to convey all of 
the tenns and conditions of a written offer of settle­
ment made by an opposing party to Torres, as 
required by section 6103.5. Our review of the record 
indicates that the only written offer of settlement was 
cont.ained in S's letter of January 3, 1994, addressed 
to respondent, with a copy sent to Torres. The 
hearingjudge is correct in finding that respondent did 
not convey an offer of settlement to Torres. How­
ever, Torres did receive a copy of the letter containing 
the proposal made by S. Assuming the letter to be an 
offer of settlement, we determine that since Torres 
had a copy of that letter, respondent was not required 
to separately provide a copy to her client. We reverse 
the finding of culpability under section 6103 .5. 

Rules 3-700(D)(l) and (2) require that an attor­
ney promptly return to a client, upon the request of the 
client, all papers and property of the client and to 
promptly refund any unearned attorney fees paid in 
advance. Respondent had not, even at the time of 
trial, returned to Torres her file, although repeatedly 
requested by Torres. After several months, respon­
dent returned a portion of fees paid by Torres, but at 
the time of trial still had not repaid $400 in unearned 
fees. We agree with the hearingjudgethatrespondent 
is culpable ofa violation of rules 3-700(DX1) and (2). 

F. The Marie Williams Matter (Counts 32-
35) 

The Department of Social Services (Depart­
ment) commenced an administrative accusation 
against Marie Williams, arisingoutofheroperation of 
a day care home. The Department was represented 

7. Damian Gaines was an investigator who. while working for 
the Ern<!'~villc office of the Department prior to G's arrival 
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by attorney G, an attorney regularly assigned to that 
department. Attorney G had not had any prior 
cont.act with respondent. 

In October 1993, Williams retained respondent 
to represent her in that proceeding, delivered her 
complete file to respondent and paid the requested 
$500 retainer, all in her initial meeting with respon­
dent. In that meeting respondent described G · as 
being racist against "minorities," and that "she'll hang 
you if she can." (Williams is African-American.) 
After learning that G is African-American, respon­
dent advised Williams thatG did notlike white people. 

G cont.acted respondent for the purpose of dis­
cussing settlement, along with preliminary <let.ails 
prior to the hearing. During thattelephone conversa­
tion, in what can only be described as a rambling 
statement, respondent began talking loudly about a 
child pornography ring, and a child abuse ring in the 
Emeryville area, and accused the Department of 
having all white males making decisions .. When G 
asserted that she was opposed to child abuse, respon­
dent yelled words to the effect, "You better be careful. 
You better remember what happened to Damian 
Gaines. "7 G took the statement relating to Damian 
Gaines as a threat and reported it to her superiors. 

The Williams matter was set for hearing on 
January4, 1994,butbecauseofWilliams' sudden and 
serious illness a day or so prior to the hearing date, that 
hearing was taken off calendar, even though G and all 
of her witnesses appeared on the scheduled date. 
Following that hearing date, both G and Williams 
repeatedly attempted to cont.act respondent by tele­
phone, regularly leaving messages, but received no 
response. 

G caused the matter to be set for settlement 
conference on June 3, 1994, in the offices of the ALJ. 
In spite of repeated efforts by Williams to reach 
respondent, she had neither discussed the case with 
her client nor prepared her for the conference. On 
the night before the settlement conference, respon­
dent called Williams at approximately I 0:00 p.m., 

there, was the victim of an unsolved murder during a high profile 
investigation by the D~partment. 
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advising Williams to be at the settlement conference 
early. At the scheduled conference, Williams, her 
friend, G and the ALJ were present, but respondent 
did not appear.· 

Thereafter, Williams terminated the services of 
respondent and settled her case. After repeated 
efforts, Williams was able to retrieve her file from 
respondent but in spite of repeated requests for a 
refund ofher $500 retainer, respondent has returned 
no part of those funds to her client. 

Respondent repeatedly and recklessly failed to 
perform services competently in violation of rule 3-
1 I0(A) by failing to meet with and advise Williams 
concerning her administrative matter, regularly fail­
ing to return opposing counsel's telephone calls, 
failing to prepare for the settlement conference, and 
failing to appear at that conference. 

Under section 6068(m), respondent had a duty to 
promptly respond to reasonable status inquiries from 
her client and advise the client of significant events. 
In calling her client only the night before the settle­
ment conference and failing to inform Williams that 
she would not appear at that conference, respondent 
violated section 6068(m). 

We conclude that respondent's accusation that 
G was a racist against minorities was false. The 
record shows that the statements were made with 
reckless disregard for their truth. In accusing G of 
being racist against minorities there is clear and 
convincing evidence that such statements were false. 
Such false statements are not entitled to constitutional 
protection. (In the Matter of Anderson, supra, 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 775, 782; Ramirez v. State 
Bar(l980) 28 Cal.3d 402, 411.) In making the false 
racism statements about G, respondent was culpable 
of moral turpitude in viola ti on of section 6106. 

We do not find there to be clear and convincing 
evidence that the statements made to G regarding the 
murder of Damian Gaines were intended as a threat. 
While such a statement, made in the context of an 
excited monologue regarding child abuse is frighten­
ing, it is plausible that such a statement was for the 
purposes of alerting G to a perceived risk on the part 
of respondent. However, as indicated, the false 
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statements that G was racist support the finding of 
culpability under 6106. 

By failing to return Williams' $500 retainer fee, 
respondentwillfullyviolated rule 3-700(D}(2), requir­
ing an attorney to promptly refund any advanced fee 
that has not been earned. 

G. The Fuller-Kendall Matter (Counts 40-43) 

In late 1993 Virginia Fuller was represented by 
attorney Scheib in a superior court action and three 
citation matters, all regarding her license to operate 
an intennediate health care facility. Due to other 
litigation commitments, Scheib requested that Fuller 
obtain new counsel. In December of 1993 and 
January 1994, Fuller spoke with respondent a number 
of times about representing her on the pending mat­
ters. In January, prior to retaining respondent, Fuller 
had settled the three citations. 

On the evening ofFebruary 3, 1994, Fuller met 
with and retained respondent, paying the requested 
retainer of $2,500. Fuller sought the right to pay fees 
in installments as she would have to borrow the funds for 
a retainer, but that was not agreeable to respondent. 

Respondent agreed to immediately substitute as 
attorney of record in the civil litigation, to amend the 
existing Fuller complaint and to attempt to amend or 
set aside the settlement in the citation matters. Re­
spondent agreed to contact Fuller's prior attorney, 
Scheib, the day fol lowing the meeting between Fuller 
and respondent. Respondent advised Fuller that the 
last day to file for the modification of the resolution of 
the citation matters was February I 0, 1994. At the 
conclusion of the meeting ofFebruary 3, a meeting for 
February 5 was scheduled. 

On numerous occasions between February 3 
and February 9, Fuller attempted to contact respon­
dent by telephone. At no time between the meeting 
of February 3 and February 11 was Fuller able to 
reach respondent, nor did respondent respond to any 
of Fuller's telephone calls or attend the meeting 
scheduled for February 5. FollowingFuller'semploy­
ment of respondent, attorney Scheib attempted to 
reach respondent approximately six times over the 
next week or ten days, all without success. 
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Because of the lack of response from respon~ 
dent and because the time for modification of the 
disposition on the citation either was about to, or had 
expired, Fullernotified respondent's paralegal assis­
tantthatsheno longer wanted respondent to represent 
her. On February 11, I 994, Fuller wrote respondent 
that she had terminated her services and made 
demand for a refund of the $2,500 retainer she had 
paid. This was followed by repeated telephone calls 
from Fuller to respondent's office requesting a refund 
of the paid retainer. 

On February 14, Scheib received a substitution 
of attorney from respondent. The following day, 
Scheib wrote respondent advising her thatFuller had 
instructed her not to sign the substitution of attorney. 

Upon receiving no refund, Fuller sought arbitra­
tion of her right to have fees returned to her. That 
arbitration resulted in an award against respondent 
for a refund of the full fee, plus the loan origination fee 
and interest. No portion of the arbitration award has 
been paid. 

• In this matter, respondent is again charged with 
a violation of rule 3-11 0(A ). In failing to take action 
to attempt to modifythe citation dispositions, respon­
dent recklessly failed to act competently, as found by 
thehearingjudge. From ourreadingoftherecord, we 
are unable to determine that there was a lack of 
competence in failing to file a substitution of attorney 
in the civil matter, as found by the hearing judge. 
However, the misconduct found does support a 
wi llfu I violation of rule 3-11 0(A ). 

In failing to meet Fuller as agreed, and in failing 
to respond to any of Fuller's many telephone calls, 
respondent wi llfullyviolated section 6068( m) as found 
by the hearing judge. 

· The hearingjudge found that in failing to refund 
any oft he fees paid by Fuller, in spite of an arbitration 
award requiring a return of the full sum, respondent· 
willfully violated rule 3-700(D )(2), requiring a prompt 
refund of unearned fees. We agree. 

H. The Jacqueline Williams Matter (Count 44) 

Jacqueline Williams retained respondent to rep­
resent her in a civil rights action pending in the federal 
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court. Respondent settled the action to Williams' 
satisfaction in April 1994. 

During the course of the litigation, Williams had 
given her entire file to respondent. In addition to the 
federal court case Williams was, in propria persona, 
pursuing a municipal court case, involving different 
issues, but which required some of the infonnation 
contained in the file she had delivered to respondent. 
Despite repeated requests by Williams to respondent 
and to her office, no portion of that file had been 
returned to Williams up to the date of the hearing in 
this matter. 

We agree with the hearing judge that such 
conduct constitutes a violation of rule 3-700(0)(2), 
requiring an attorney to promptly return property and 
papers to a client on the client's request. 

2. ARGUMENTS OF RESPONDENT 

In a 70~page document entitled "Appellant's 
Opening Brief," respondent sets forth what purports 
to be some 25 issues she raises in her defense. At no 
point does she address the content of the evidence 
presented against her, other than statements such as 
"All of the charges against Dixon are totally false, and 
the product of the vindictive, racist desire of the State 
Bar's witnesses, set forth in the declaration below, to 
engage in the coverup up (sic) crimes of abuse 
against children and illegal human experimentation 
regarding Emeryville children, and terrorism by 
Karantsalis." 

Such allegations go to the credibility of the 
witnesses' testimony, a subject uniquely within the 
province ofa hearingjudge to determine. The hearing 
judge's determination of credibility must receive 
great weight because that judge heard and saw the 
witnesses and observed their demeanor. (Resner v. 
State Bar ( 1967) 67 Cal.2d 799, 807; In the Matter 
of Brown (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 309, 315.) Respondent's repeated allegations 
of perjury and lies on the part of nearly all of the 
witnesses against her contributes nothing to our 
analysis of this issue. 

For the purposes of this opinion, respondent's 
arguments are addressed under the headings (A) 
Evidence Exclusion Order, (B) Notice Issues, (C) 
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Discriminatory Prosecution and (D) The Conduct of 
the Hearing Judge. Other issues- raised by respon­
dent have been considered and are dismissed as 
either non-meritorious or frivolous. 

A. Evidence Exclusion Order 

Following the filing and service of the notice of 
disciplinarycharges(NDC),respondentfiled 13 sepa­
rate motions to dismiss and 8 petitions for interlocutory 
review of the denial of those motions, each of which 
was denied. Many of the grounds relied on in those 
motions to dismiss were also asserted as affirmative 
defenses in respondent's response to the NDC. 
Following the filing of her response to the NDC, 
respondent filed additional motions: to dismiss; recuse 
the hearing judge; abate the proceedings; stay the 
proceedings; and augment the proceedings. Each of 
these motions was denied, and many resulted in 
unsuccessful interlocutory petitions for review. 

(Sa] Included in respondent's motions was a 
motion to increase the allotted trial time in this matter 
from ten days to from five to six weeks. As disclosed 
in that motion, respondent sought one week of trial "to 
present the evidence of ... criminal activity'' of an 
attorney who had complained to the State Bar about 
respondent's assertions in documents filed with a 
court that the attorney was a racist, and protector of 
pedophiles and thieves. She sought an additional 
week of trial to present evidence concerning a former 
client and his subsequent attorney "because it is 
necessary to present the INS witnesses and police 
who will testify as to their terrorist activities and the 
use of automatic weapons, racism and hate crimes." 
She sought two additional weeks of trial to present 
evidence that three attorneys employed by the De­
partment, identified by the State Bar as witnesses in 
the proceeding against respondent, were responsible 
for "covering up" the rape of a two-year-old infant, 
the molestation of Emeryville foster children and that 
the evidence somehow related to "the hate murder of 
Shellmound whistle blower, Damian Gaines." 

8. Rule 1223 requires that the pretrial statement include some 
17 items. including witnesses to be called except forrebunal or 

37 

(5b) In denying the motion for additional trial 
time, the hearing judge's order of September 19, 
1996, provided: "This Court will adhere strictly to 
Evidence Code §677. If evidence of proven felonies 
is to be introduced under the exception of Evidence 
Code §678, it must be submitted by the certified 
record of the judgment. The hearingjudge 's citations 
to Evidence Code sections 677 and 6 7 8 were in error 
as those sections do not exist. We believe that the 
hearing judge intended to indicate that she would 
adhere strictly to the hearsay rule (Evid. Code, § 
1200) and that if evidence of felonies was to be 
introduced under the exception to the hearsay rule set 
forth in Evidence Code section 1300, a certified 
record of the judgment was required. As no criminal 
judgment was sought to be introduced into evidence 
below, any error was harmless. The Court will not 
allow 'witness and documents' of' criminal activity;' 
'INS witness and police who will testify as to ... 
terrorist activities and the use of automatic weapons, 
racism and hate crimes; 'Trial of the 'Shellmound 
cases;' 'police file and witnesses' about 'the hate 
murderofShellmound whistle blower Damian Gaines'; 
'witness as to the rape of the infant;' 'The molesta­
tion of Emeryville foster children or any other 
witnesses or evidence which are peripheral and 
largely irrelevant to the issues in this case'." 

[ 6a] Fallowing that order, and after granting both 
parties an extension of time to file their pretrial 
statements, as required under rule 211 of Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar of California (Rules of 
Procedure), respondent filed a document entitled 
"Status Conference Statement and Application for 
Stay." ln that document, respondent stated that she 
has been deprived of the Opportunity to present 
witnesses and a defense. She identified no witnesses 
she wished to call, she failed to identify herself as a 
witness; she did not identify any exhibits or other 
evidence she wished to introduce, nor did she make 
any effort to comply with the provisions of rule 1223 
or rule 1224, Rules of Practice of the State Bar Court 
{Rules of Practice). 8 

impeachm1.:n\. undisputed facts, and like items. Rule 1224 
requires an exchange of exhibits prior to the pretrial conference. 
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[6b] On written motion of the State Bar, the 
hearingjudge considered evidentiarysanctions against 
respondent, prohibiting her from calling any wit­
nesses or introducing any exhibits in the culpability 
phase of her hearing. ln her response to that motion, 
respondent stated, "On September 19, 1996, [the 
hearing department judge] barred Dixon from intro­
ducing evidence to defend herself and to impeach the 
liars, pedophiles, terrorists and lawyers bent on ob­
structing justice and committing racketeering .... 
Therefore, Dixon has no names of witnesses and 
exhibits to file, nor can she filed (sic} details aboutthe 
case, because· all defenses and means of impeach­
ment of witnesses were barred by the September 19, 
1996 order." 

Respondent is certainly entitled to such a posi­
tion. However, having taken such a course, she 
cannot now be heard to complain that she was not 
penpitted to call any witnesses. We note that there 
was no evidentiary sanction imposed on respondent's 
calling witnesses or introducing evidence in the disci­
plinary phase of the trial. Nonetheless, respondent 
offered no witnesses, other than her own brief testi­
mony, nor did she offer any documentary evidence in 
that phase of the trial. That was her choice. 

16c] The referenced Rules of Practice require 
that the pretrial statement disclose all witnesses 
except those to be called for impeachment purposes 
or in rebuttal. (Rule 1223(g), Rules of Practice. The 
hearing judge granted the State Bar's motion for 
evidentiary sanctions based on respondent's failure 
to file a proper pretrial statement and the fact that 
respondent failed to appear at a properly noticed 
pretrial conference held on October 8, 1996, com­
bined with respondent's statement in response to the 
motion for sanctions that she had no witnesses to call. 

(6d] Rule 21 l(f) of the Rules of Procedure, 
concerning pretrial statements and pretrial confer­
ences, provides, "Failure to file a pretrial statement in 
compliance with this rule may constitute grounds for 
such orders as the Court deems proper, including but 
not limited to the exc I usion of evidence or witnesses." 
This rule is not unlike Government Code section 
68609 authorizing sanctions, including the power to 
dismiss, to enforce the trial delay reduction program. 
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To a similar effect is.Code of Civil Procedure section 
5 7 5.2 granting courts authority to dismiss actions or a 
part thereof, enter default or other lesser penalties, 
against a party for failure to comply with local rules 
for the supervision and management of actions. (See 
also rule 22 7, California Rules of Court; rules 1105 .3 
and 1109 Super. Ct, L. A. County Rules.) 

We note that under Government Code section 
68609, the power to dismiss is limited to those situa­
tions where it appears that less severe sanctions 
would not be effective, or when noncompliance has 
not been the fault of the party.as distinguished from 
the attorney. (Wantuch v. Davis( 1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 
786,795; butseealso,LagunaAutoBodyv.Farrners 
Ins. Exchange (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 481, 490.) 

[6e] In light of respondent's response to the 
motion for sanctions, it is clear that the hearingjudge 
had no alternative but to preclude respondent's intro­
duction of evidence. Respondent affinnatively stated 
she had no witness or other documentary evidence to 
introduce .. Under such circumstances, to permit a 
respondent to cal 1 witnesses and introduce evidence 
would have rendered the entire pretrial scheme of 
rules and procedure utterly meaningless. 

The motion by the State Bar for evidentiary 
sanctions was a procedural matter. While, in general, 
we review decisions of the hearing department on a 
de novo basis, since its creation this court has held that 
procedural matters are reviewed by this court for an 
abuse of discretion. (In the Matter of Rubens 
(Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 468, 
4 7 4 [ denial of continuance precluding respondent's 
counsel from participating]; In the Matter of Johnson 
(Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 233, 
24 I [ denial of right to rec al I excused witness]; In the 
Matter of Respondent L (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Rptr. 454,461 [abatement of proceedings].) 

In In the Matter of Rubens, supra, 3 Cal.·State 
Bar Ct. Rptr, 468,474, we held that "[t]o prevail on 
a procedural argument in a disciplinary matter, an 
attorney must show both an abuse of discretion by the 
hearing judge and specific prejudice resulting from 
the alleged procedural error." (See also, Morales v. 
State Bar (1988) 4"'- Cal.3d I 037, I 047.) 
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[6f] In the instant case, respondent can show 
neither of the elements required for relief. The bald 
refusal to provide the names of any witnesses ad­
dressing either the issue of culpability or discipline, 
along with the refusal to identify any exhibits, left the 
courtwith no realistic alternative to imposing eviden­
tiary sanctions. We conclude that there was no abuse 
of discretion in ruling on the motion for evidentiary 
sanctions. 

We further note that even in the event our ruling 
were otherwise, by her own admission, respondent 
had no witnesses to call nor exhibits to introduce. 

[Sc] [6g] Respondent does not directly attack 
the hearingjudge' s ruling denying the additional trial 
time and prohibiting the introduction of evidence of 
purported of collateral misconduct by many of the 
witnesses scheduled to testify on behalf of the State 
Bar. However, she does use that denial as the basis 
for her refusal to identify witnesses and evidence. 
Wedetenninethatthehearingjudge's September 19, 
1996, ruling limitingthe evidence was well within her 
discretion, and was proper. 

Respondent further challenges the evidentiary 
sanctions on due process grounds. Her arguments in 
this area also fail. 

It is true that sanctions of the sort before the 
court here are not permitted where a party does not 
have notice and a chance to defend. (Biond, Flemming 
& Gonzales v. Braham ( 1990) 218 Cal.App.Jd 842, 
850; see also Code Civ. Proc., § 177.5.). Here, 
respondent had every opportunity to defend the 
motion forev identiary sanctions. Courts have granted 
dismissal solely on the grounds ofcounsel's failure to 
comply with fast track rules. (Intel Corp. v. USAIR, 
Inc. (1991) 228 Cal.App.Jd 1559-1565.) We also 
note that Code of Civil Procedure section 575.2 
authorizes dismissal, default or other lesser penalties 
for a failure to comply with properly adopted local 
rules. There was no due process violation. 
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B. Respondent's Claim of Lack of Notice 

[7 a] Respondent argues that because the Notice 
of Disciplinary Charges (NDC) was filed without 
giving her adequate notice of the proposed charges, 
there was a violation of the State Bar's own rules and 
a deni~I of due process. We disagree. 

[7b]TheNDCwasfiledonAugust31, 1995. On 
July 28, 1995, the State Bar wrote respondent advis­
ing her of eight separate cases against her, and listing 
the names of the complaining witnesses. That letter 
states that unless a pre-filing settlement is reached 
respondent will be charged with violations, including, 
but not limited to, ten separate statutory violations and 
not less thiµi six separate rule violations. Respondent 
was invited to meet with an attorney for the State Bar 
on or before August 18, or charges would be filed. 

• [7c] Sometimebetweenthecloseofbusinesson 
Friday, July 28, 1995, and the following Monday 
morning, respondent left a message with the State 
Bar attorney handling the matter requesting that the 
State Bar file the charges so that respondent can have 
a public hearing. Respondent's message continued, 
"This is a complete fraud against me" and that there 
can be no settlement. 

(7d) The only statutory or rule violation included 
in the NDC that was not listed in the July 28 letter was 
rule 4-1 00(B)( 4) [requiring an attorney to promptly 
return funds which the client is entitled to receive]. A 
violation of that rule was charged in two client matters 
in the NOC. 

[7e] AtthetimeoffilingtheNDC, rules 508 and 
5099 of the Transitional Rules of Procedure of the 
State Bar were in effect. Rule 508 then provided, in 
effect, if it was concluded that charges were to be 
filed the Office of Investigation, or the examiner 
(State Bar attorney) may notify the attorney of the 
acts, matter or transaction under investigation and fix 
a time within which the attorney may submit a written 
explanation. 

9. Rules 508 and 509 of the Transitional Rules have been 
repealed. ~ onner rule 508 has been substantially modified and 
now appears as rule 2409. 
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[7f) Rule 509 provided, in effect, that if a NDC 
was to be filed the respondent shall have the oppor­
tunity to deny or explain the subject of the investigation. 

[7g] We find no violation of either the Rules of 
Procedure or the requirements of due process. Here, 
respondent was given notice of each of the com­
plaints against her, and a list of all but one of the 17 
statutes and rules (many of which were charged in 
several different client matters) with which she was 
to be charged. That list did not purport to be exclusive 
and did include all of the complaining witnesses. 
Former rule 509 merely gave the attorney an oppor­
tunity to deny or explain his or her acts. 

(7h] Respondent complains that the names of 
Elvina Clarke and Marie Williams, each her former 
clients, were not listed. However, attorney S, an 
attorney for the Department of Social . Services, 
which was involved in both the Clark and Marie 
Williams matters, was listed. Respondent knew of 
S's involvement with .the Department. Thus, she 
knew that her involvement with clients having busi­
ness with the department had resulted in complaints. 
to the State Bar. Prior to the filing of the NDC, 
respondent had every opportunity to inquire of the 
State Bar concerning the charges against her. She 
declined the opportunityto avail herselfof that oppor­
tunity and now seeks to overturn the finding of 
culpability based on her failure to take advantage of 
that opportunity. 

We also note that the Rules of Procedure pro­
vide for a full panoply of discovery procedures, 
including the incorporation of the Civil Discovery 
Act. 10 (Rule 180, Ru !es Proc. of State Bar.) Respon­
dent availed herself of none of the discovery available. 
That discovery would have permitted her to com­
plete! y previewthe State Bar presentation of evidence 
against her. Having failed to take advantage of her 
discovery rights, she cannot now be heard to com­
plain that her due process rights were somehow 
violated. She had full notice of the charges against 
her, and the right to ascertain the exact evidence 
against her, all well prior to the time of trial. 

IO. Commencing with section 2016 of the Code of Civil Procedure. 
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Respondent further complains that the hearing 
judge improperly found aggravating circumstances 
without prior notice. She fails to identify those areas 
of aggravation about which she complains. Being 
required to review the record de novo, we search out 
those areas in which aggravation was found. We 
note that aggravation or mitigation are properly a 
consideration only after adetennination ofculpability, 
and then are to be used only in fixing the discipline. 
(Standard 1.1, Standards for Attorney Sanctions for 
Professional Misconduct (standards).) 

In addressing the issue of evidence of unpled 
aggravating circumstances in Edwards v. State Bar 
( 1990) 52 Cal.3d 28, 36, the Supreme Court stated, 
"Because this evidence was elicited for the relevant 
purpose of inquiring into the cause of the charged 
misconduct, because the evidence was used merely 
to establish a circumstance in aggravation, and not as 
an independent ground of discipline, and because the 
review department's conclusion was based on 
petitioner's own testimony, we find no violation of 
petitioner's right to notice of the. charges against 
h

. ,, 
un. 

In the matterbefore us, with an exception noted 
below, none of the evidence in aggravation was 
introduced to show an independent ground of disci­
pline. The aggravating evidence in which respondent 
falsely accused witnesses ofbeing terrorists, racists, 
white supremacist militia members, protectors of 
pedophiles and stalking her (Karantsal is matter) was 
advanced by respondent. She made these false 
accusations in pleadings she filed. The evidence was 
introduced by the State Bar to show properly plead 
independent ethical violations, but such evidence also 
showed serious and multiple acts of aggravation. 

In the Karantsalis matter, the State Bar pre­
sented evidence that, fol lowing the termination of her 
representation in the Karantsalis litigation, she stated 
to opposing counsel that she would testify as to 
information he had given her.· She also sent declara­
tions dealing with the merits ofKarantsalis' action to 
opposing counsel. 
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However, in the Karantsalis matter, there was 
neither a charge of moral turpitude nor a charge that 
respondent failed to take reasonable steps to avoid 
prejudice to a client on withdrawal. We determine 
that the evidence of this misconduct was to show an 
independent ethical violation and not merely for the 
purpose of inquiring into the charged misconduct. 
Under these circumstances, the better practice would 
have been to file a separate charge against respon­
dent for such misconduct. However, there was no 
objection to the testimony or introduction of docu­
mentary evidence showing these facts. 

We conclude that absent an appropriate objec­
tion to the introduction of evidence of misconduct 
other than that charged, such evidence may, when 
appropriate, be used as an aggravating factor in 
disciplinary matters. (In the Matter of Koehler 
(Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 615, 
628 [respondent attorney's admission that he at­
tempted to conceal funds from Franchise Tax Board 
by placing the funds in his client trust account held 
proper aggravation].). 

[8a] One of the witnesses testifying for the State 
Bar was a para- legal with whom respondent shared 
office space for a period ofapproximately one month. 
That witness testified that shortly before the trial in 
this matter, respondent telephoned her and called her 
a thief and a I iar "and said she was going to get me or 
kill me". The hearing judge treated this as an 
aggravating circumstance. We agree. 

[8b) As the hearingjudge noted, the calling and 
threatening of a witness in a disciplinary matter 
shortly before the scheduled trial date can be for no 
purpose other than the interference with a disciplin­
ary proceeding. That testimony tends to demonstrate 
a knowledge of culpability on the part of respondent, 
and it tends to lend credence to the testimony in the 
Marie Williams matter in which the attorney for the 
department took the reference to the murder of 
Damien Gaines to be a threat. It was not offered to 
show culpability in an uncharged count. For these 
reasons, the testimony was admissible. Having been 
properly admined, the hearing judge was entitled to 
consider that evidence in aggravation. (Edwards v. 
State Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3d 28, 36.) 
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[9a] Respondent asserts that the hearing judge 
erred in finding aggravation in respondent's refusal to 
testify. Respondent asserted a right not to testify 
during the culpability phase of the hearing, relying on 
the privilege against self incrimination under the Fifth 
Amendment to the United States Constitution. Re­
spondent refused to provide any basis for the assertion 
of the privilege except in camera. 

[9b] The hearing judge sought briefing on 
respondent's right to assert the privilege against self 
incrimination. In her response, respondent provided 
no basis for her claim of privilege other than to argue 
that "[n]o person can be can be sanctioned for 
asserting the Fifth Amendment." 

[9c} With that statement we agree. However, 
"[t]or the reasons set forth in the federal case law, we 
hold that a blanket refusal to testify is unacceptable; 
a person claiming the Fifth Amendment privilege 
must do so with specific reference to particular 
questions asked or other evidence sought." ( Warford 
v. Medeiros (1984) 160 Cal.App.3d 1035, 1045.) 
Evidence Code section 404 provides in part "the 
person claiming the privilege has the . burden of 
showing that the proffered evidence might tend to 
incriminate him; ... " 

[10] .. We see no reason to mandate that hear­
ings to determine the right to a Fifth Amendment 
privilege invariably be held in camera rather than in 
open court. As this course will be more appropriate 
in some cases than it will in others, we think it wiser 
to leave room for trial court discretion." (Ibid, p. 
1048.} 

It is well settled that an attorney disciplinary 
matter is not a criminal case for purposes of the Fifth 
Amendment and that an attorney may be called as a 
witness at his or her disciplinary hearing. (Black v. 
State Bar (1972) 7 Cal.3d 676,686; In the Matter of 
Frazier (Review Dept. 199 l) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 676, 697.) 

(9d) While an attorney may not be disciplined 
solely for invoking the Fifth Amendment(Spevackv. 
Klein (1967) 385 U.S. 511,514), the improper invo­
cation of the Fifth Amendment and the resulting 
refusal to testify may properly be considered an 
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aggravating factor since culpability has otherwise 
been found. (In the Matter of Frazier, supra, 1 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 676, 697; std. l.2(b)(vi).) [111 
Nor do we find error in the hearing judge drawing 
inferences against respondent upon her refusal to 
answer proper questions, after her claim against self 
incrimination had been denied and she had been 
ordered to answer the questions. These proper 
inferences included the authentication of documents 
apparently in the handwriting ofrespondent. She had 
refused to respond to questions regarding their au­
thentication. 

[12a] [13a) Respondent refused to answer 
proper questions put to her as to whether or not she 
entered into an agreement with a fonner client to 
withdraw his complaint and refuse to testify in a State 
Bar proceeding involving respondent. From this the 
hearingjudge inferred that respondent had made an 
agreement with a clientto withdraw his complaint and 
to refuse to testify in the current matter. Although 
respondent was not charged with such misconduct, 
the hearing judge found that it constituted serious 
misconduct. 

(12b] [13b] We agree that such an inference is 
proper. However, the found agreement predated the 
adoption of amendments to section 6090 .5 that make 
an agreement to withdraw a complaint to the State 
Bar a disciplinable offense. We are unable to locate 
any holding, that in the absence of statutory or rule of 
professional conduct proscribing such conduct, it may 
be considered as an aggravating circumstance. 

(12c] (13c] Rule 5-220, requiring an attorney 
not to suppress any evidence that the attorney's client 
is obligated to produce, and rule 5-31 0(A)prohibiting 
an attorney from causing any person to make them­
selves unavailable as a witness were in effect. We 
agree that the agreement inferred against respondent 
violated those sections and is properly considered as 
aggravation. 

C. Discriminatory Prosecution 

fl 4a l Th is court has held "{i Jt is by no means 
self-evident that selective prosecution may be raised 
as a defense in State Bar disciplinary proceedings, in 
which respondents do not enjoy the full panoply of 
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procedural protection afforded to criminal defen­
dants." (In the Matter of Riley (Review Dept. 1994) 
3 Cal. StateBarCt.Rptr. 91, 107.) Without deciding 
the issue, we consider the arguments of respondent. 

(14b] For such a defense to prevail, respondent 
must show "an intentional violation of the essential 
principle of practical uniformity" and "an element of 
intentional or purposeful discrimination." (Murgiav. 
Municipal Court (1975) 15.CaLJd 286, 297.) "[I]n 
order to establish a claim of discriminatory enforce­
ment a defendant must demonstrate that he has been 
deliberately singled out for prosecution on the basis of 
some invidious criterion." (Ibid., at p. 298.) 

Respondent argues that the State Bar's pros­
ecution of her is to deter respondent from litigating 
child abuse cases, to stop her from representing black 
persons and children, to stop her from testifying 
against her former client Karantsalis in his civil action, 
to aid private attorneys in pending civil litigation and 
to target her,· based on the recommendation of a 
federal judge that respondent be investigated. • 

Her latter point, even if shown, would not in any 
way support her argument that her prosecution was 
discriminatory. Had respondent produced compel­
ling evidence of any of the balance of her charges, we 
would give consideration to the issue. However, the 
record is devoid of any such evidence. 

The record is replete with declarations of re­
spondent vii ifying various witnesses, the prosecutor, 
and hearing judge. She claims the attorneys for the 
Department were deliberately covering up child abuse 
and a pedophile ring. She claims the witnesses in the 
Karantsalis matter were terrorists and members of a 
white supremacist group. She further claims that 
each of the witnesses is a liar and perjurer. 

As the hearing judge detennined, each of these 
witnesses credibly testified in denial of the accusa­
tions of respondent. While we agree with the hearing 
judge that those accusations have been credibly 
refuted, even if true, they do not demonstrate dis­
criminatory prosecution. 

[14c) We note that respondent has done no 
discovery in the matter before the court, whether in 
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support of her defense of discriminatory prosecution, 
or otherwise. She placed herself in a position were 
she was properly precluded from introducing evi­
dence in the culpability phase of the trial. As the 
result, the record is barren of evidence to support her 
claim of discriminatory prosecution, and that claim is 
denied. 

D. The Conduct of the Hearing Judge 

As an additional point of error, respondent com­
plains that the hearing judge acted as a partisan on 
behalf of an interested party and that her decision "is 
a diatribe of hate includ[ing] hate language against 
Dixon"; that the hearing judge conducted a "Star 
Chamber" proceeding; that she deprived Dixon of 
medical care and that she ordered a security guard to 
beat respondent in the ribs. 

We have read the entire record with care. The 
cold record does not reveal the tone of voice used by 
respondent, but does show a repeated and consistent 
disregard for the rulings of the court and admonitions 
to be seated, to cease a line of questioning or to cease 
a line of argument. Taking the context of the 
exchanges, it does not take a great leap of faith to 
accept the hearing judge's description that respon­
dent "repeatedly screamed at the Court."11 

The record as a whole reveals that the court 
dealt most creditably and evenhandedly with a trial 
under most demanding circumstances. There is no 
support in the record for respondent's charges of 
mistreatment by the hearing judge. 

II. ll5a]On the fourth day of trial on the issue of culpability, 
respondent started the session with a series of written motions, 
including one of a series of motions to recuse the prosecutor and 
the hearing judge. After being informed by the court that the 
motions would be reviewed during a break. respondent contin­
ued to argue the motions, demanding a personal apology from 
the court for a prior ruling. After three orders from the court 
to be seated, respondent stated "am I correct in believing that 
I can continue to experience the type ofhatredand bias that you 
have demonstrated toward me by forcing me to sit here in pain." 
Following the next order to be seated, respondent stated to the 
court ·•your bias is incredible." After an additional order to be 
seated. respondent stated to the court "This is a star chamber." 
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III. DISCIPLINE 

A. Mitigation 

Respondent was admitted to practice in June, 
198 l . The misconduct found commenced in late 
1993. Respondent has no record of prior discipline. 
No other evidence that may be considered for the 
purposes of mitigation was presented. 

For mitigation, standard l.2(e)(l) of the Stan­
dards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
Misconduct ( standard) requires "many years of prac­
tice coupled with present misconduct which is not 
deemed serious". We agree with the hearing judge 
that respondent's 12 plus years of practice without 
prior discipline is a mitigating factor. (See In the 
Matter of Brazil (Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 679, 688 [14 years entitled to mitiga­
tion]; In the Matter of Kueker (Review Dept. 1991) 
1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 583, 594 [14 years entitled 
tomitigation].) 

B. Aggravation 

Respondent's misconduct constitutes multiple 
acts of wrongdoing, including four acts of moral 
turpitude and involving the abandonment of clients, 
failure to return unearned fees, misleading the court 
and failing to communicate with clients. Such mul­
tiple acts of misconduct constitute an aggravating 
factor in measuring discipline. (Standard l .2(b )(ii).) 

In addition, respondent has displayed a pattern of 
serious misconduct in falsely accusing witness, oppos-

(15b I On the last day of trial bearing on the issue of discipline 
and while being examined as a witness, respondent undertook 
a non-responsive tirade against a former client and his subse­
quent attorney, resulting in at least fifteen orders from the court 
to respondent to sit down in the witness chair, two orders to 
stop using threatening gestures, and seven warnings that she 
would be removed from the courtroom if she did not comply 
with the orders of the court. Upon respondent's repeated 
failure to comply with such orders or heed the warnings. the 
court ordered respondent removed from the courtroom. As the 
Supreme Court had observed, a hearingjudge has the power to 
exercise reasonable control over the proceedings. (Dixon v. 
State Bar ( 1982) 32 Cal.3d 728. 736; see also, In the Matter of 
Frazier.supra, I Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr.676. 6t!9.) [15a. b-see 
fn. 12) 
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ing counsel (including the State Bar prosecuting 
attorney), fonner clients and the hearing judge of 
being racist and the protectors of pedophiles and child 
abusers.· This pattern is exacerbated by respondent 
regularly referring to the witnesses and prosecutor in 
this matter as "liars", "perjurers", as well as similar 
comments concerning the hearingjudge. 12 

It is an aggravating factor when an attorney 
commits multiple violations of the Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct which demonstrates a pattern of 
misconduct. (Std. l.2(b)(ii). "Onlythe most serious 
instances of repeated misconduct over a prolonged 
period of time" demonstrate a pattern of misconduct. 
(Levin v. State Bar (1989) 47 Cal.3d 1140, 1149, fn. 
14, citing Lawhorn v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 
1357, 1367.) 

We find that the proof of respondent's miscon­
duct in abandoning clients, failing to refund fees, and 
making misrepresentations to courts lacks a showing 
of the "prolonged period of time" necessary to show 
a pattern. However, there is clear and convincing 
evidence ofrespondent's continued use of false and 
vituperative language in pleadings, motions and other 
filings as well as in her direct dealing with former 
clients, witnesses, opposing counsel and the court. 
Her conduct previously described in the attorney H 
matter, the Torres matter, the Marie Williams matter, 
and the Jacqueline Williams matter, involving false 
accusations ofracism, pedophilia, and child abuse, all 
occurring in late 1993 and early 1994, have been a 
constant theme of respondent throughout these pro­
ceed ingscommencing in August, 1995 and continuing 
through the appeal process now being considered. In 
our judgment, this is serious misconduct repeated 
over a substantial period of time. 

J 2. While a witness wa, on the stand. respondent referred to him 
asa "plant"'. "ringer" and" liar". She accused a lawyer witness 
testifying at the call of the State Bar of manufacturing charges, 
covering up the fracture of an infant's skul I, and of lying. She 
ref erred to a hearingjudge • s ruling as a "fascist ace and a fonner 
client testifying oil be~alf of the State Bar as a "terrorist". At 
no poinlwas there even a scintilla of evidence to support these 
claims. 
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[16a] Also consistent with this repetitive mis­
conduct are respondent's actions in the Karantsalis 
matter. Following Karantsalis' termination of re­
spondent as his attorney, and his engaging another 
attorney to represent him, respondent called counsel 
for two of the defendants in the matter she had been 
handling and suggested that she be deposed concern­
ing the merits ofKarantsalis' claim. She also offered 
a declaration based on information Karantsalis had 
given her as his attorney. In addition, she sent a 
declaration dealing with the merits of Karantsalis' 
suit to counsel for one of the defendants. All of this 
was accompanied by respondent's regular reference 
to Karantsalis in these proceedings as a "terrorist". 

I 16b] Respondent purports to justify her actions 
because Karantsalis had filed an action against her 
for recovery of the fees he had paid her and for 
malpractice. 

[16c] When an attorney is sued for malpractice, 
it does not constitute a full waiver of the attorney­
client privilege. It does amountto a waiver as to those 
issues necessary to resolve the malpractice claim. 
"[W]hen, in litigation between an attorney and his 
client, an attorney's integrity, good faith, authority, or 
performance of his duties is questioned, the attorney 
is permitted to meet this issue with testimony as to 
communications between himself and his client." 
(Carlson, Collins, Gordon & Bold v. Banducci ( 1967) 
257 Cal.App.2d 212, 228.) "If a disclosure of the 
comm uni cation is not essential to preserve the rights 
of the attorney, it continues to be privileged; and counsel 
should not, in any event, disclose more than is neces­
sary." (81 Am. Jur.2d, Witnesses,§ sec. 400, p. 360.) 

[16d] In this case, respondent used information 
that she was duty bound to keep confidential for the 

Foil owing the sustaining of an objection put to a fortner 
client-wilne~; respondent, in reference 10 the court's ruling. 
stated: "Because you're protecting [the witness] and [pros­
ecutor] from [a showing of) terrorism." 

On at least two separate occasions in open coun, she falsely 
accused the hearing judge oflying about the proceedings. In 
addition, her pleadings and motions are replete with references 
to the lies and other al:eged misconduct ofthehearingjudge. A 
reading of the record refutes each and all of these charges. 
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benefit of her former client, not for her defense of 
Karantsalis' claim against her, but rather in an effort 
to assist the parties against whom she had asserted a 
claim on behalf of that client. It was not used to 
defend the malpractice claim against her, but rather 
to aid in defeating her former client's claim against 
third persons. That constitutes a breach of the 
fundamental trust that must exist between an attor­
ney and client. In our judgment, this is a serious 
aggravating circumstance. 

(8c] Shortly before the commencement of the 
trial in this matter respondent telephoned Ms. M, a 
witness testifying on the call of the State Bar, and 
threatened to "get" or"kill" her, and further called her 
a thief and a liar. When M hung up on her respondent 
repeatedly telephoned M. We consider this attempt 
to intimidate a witness to be a most serious aggravat­
ing circumstance. (See Pen. Code,§ 136. l(a)(2).) 

Respondent's pattern of labeling opposing coun­
sel, witness, judges and others as racists, fascists, 
pedophiles and persons covering up molestation and 
abuse of minor children seriously banns the adm inis­
tration of justice, the public and the profession. 
Among the long series of such false claims, particu­
larly egregious was respondent's assertion to her 
client that the opposing attorney employed by the 
Department of Social Services was "racist" against 
minorities. When the client learned that the attorney 
was an African-American, respondent claimed the 
attorney did not like white people. Again, we find this 
course of conduct to be a serious aggravating cir­
cumstance. 

(9e] We find respondent's improper refusal to 
testify when called by the State Bar to be a further 
aggravating circumstance. When called asa witness, 
respondent asserted a right not to testify on the 
grounds that it was an unconstitutional proceeding, 
was without jurisdiction, and that the proceeding was 
"twisted and warped by a judge who is biased against 
me and the prosecutor is biased against me." Follow­
ing several attempts by the hearing judge to have 
respondent identify the criminal liability to which she 
would be exposed by such testimony and to explain 
the obligation to testify, respondent continued her 
refusal. This is an aggravating factor. (In the Mauer 
of Frazier, supra, l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 676, 
697; Black v. State Bar, supra, 7 Cal.3d 676, 688.) 
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As noted by the hearingjudge, respondent either 
abandoned or stopped commwiicating with six cli­
ents. In spite of demands, arbitrations awards, and 
promises to do so, respondent has failed to return 
unearned fees. These fees were collected from 
persons of limited means, all of which was known to 
respondent. The loss of the fees paid was a hardship to 
these clients and constituted harm within the meaning of 
Standard 1.2(bXiv). This, combined with the harm 
caused by respondent's failure to appear at scheduled 
hearings and proceedings, is an aggravating factor. 

In addition, we detennine that respondent' smis­
conduct was surrounded by bad faith [ defamatory 
statements concerning witnesses, former clients, the 
prosecutor and the hearing judge], and overreaching 
[collecting fees and perfonning little or no service]. 
This, too, isanaggravatingfactor. (Standard l .2(b Xiii).) 

• [17a] In the matter before us, we have deter• 
mined that respondent is culpable of 25 separate 
ethical violations of either the Rules of Professional 
Conduct or the State Bar Act, involving 8 separate 
clients. Included in those violations are four acts 
involving moral turpitude. In addition, there are 
multiple acts of serious aggravation, including acts 
that seriously harmed the administration of justice, the 
public and the profession. 

[17b] We take the liberty to quote at length from 
Lebbosv. State Bar(l991) 53 Cal.3d 37, 45, because 
the misconduct described so closely parallels that 
before us: 

[17c] "Multiple acts of misconduct involving 
moral turpitude and dishonesty warrant disbannent. 
(See std. 2.3, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. 
Misconduct, div. V, Rules Proc. of State Bar; com­
pare Dixon v. State Bar(l982) 32 Cal.3d 728, 739, 
740.) Petitioner's pattern of serious, recurrent mis­
conduct is a factor in aggravation. ( Garlow v. State 
Bar (1988) 44 Cal.3d 689, 71 l.) Further, unre­
strained personal abuse and disruptive behavior 
characterized petitioner's conduct during the State 
Bar proceedings. (See Alberton v. State Bar (1984) 
37 Cal.3d 1, 11, fn. l 8.) Failure to cooperate with the 
State Bar during disciplinary proceedings itself may 
support severe discipline. (Middleton v. State Bar 
(1990)5 l Cal.3d548, 560.) It is evident that petitioner 
has no appreciation that her method of practicing law 
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is totally at odds with the professional standards of this 
state. Disbarment is thus ne·cessaty to protect the 
public, preserve confidence in the profession, and main­
tain high professional standards. Y.insworth v. State 
Bar( 1988)46 Cal.3d 1218, 1235.)" (Emphasis added.) 

{17d] We find, as did the hearing judge, that 
"[respondent] has breached the high duty of loyalty 
owed to her clients, violated basic notions of honesty 
and endangered public confidence in the legal profes­
sion." (See Grim v. State Bar (1991) 53 Cal.3d 21, 
29.) It is our determination that respondent has far 
exceeded the "truculence" found in In re Morse 
(1995) 11 Cal.4th 184,209. 

[17e] The total absence of any recognition by 
respondent of her misconduct convinces us that there 
is little hope that respondent would conform her 
method of practicing law to the professional stan­
dards of this state. The magnitude of respondent's 
misconduct and her lack of recognition of that mis­
conduct combine to require that we recommend that 
respondent be disbarred to· protect the· courts, the 
public and the profession of this state. 

IV. RECOMMENDATION 

We recommend that respondent be disbarred 
and that her name be stricken from the roll of 
attorneys admitted to practice in California. 

We further recommend that respondent be or• 
dered to comply with the provisions of rule 955 of the 
California Rules of Court and to perform the acts 
specified in rule 955(a) and then file the proof of 
compliance affidavit provided for in rule 955( c) within 
30 and 40 calendar days, respectively, after the effec• 
tive date of the Supreme Court order in this matter. 

V. COSTS 

We recommend that costs incurred by the State 
Bar in this matter be awarded to the State Bar 
pursuant to section 6086.10 of the Business and 
Professions Code. 

We concur: 

NORIAN, J. 
STOVITZ, R. 
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A hearingjudge found respondent culpable of professional misconduct and recommended that respondent 
be disbarred. In addition, the hearing judge automatically ordered respondent involuntarily enrolled as an 
inactive member of the State Bar under the present version of Business and Professions Code section 6007, 
subdivision (c)(4), which became effective January 1, 1997, and which mandates the automatic inactive 
enrollmentofa respondent upon the filing of a disbarment recommendation. (Hon. Carlos E. Velarde, Hearing 
Judge.) 

Respondent sought interlocutory review contending that the hearingjudge erred in automatically ordering 
him enrolled inactive under the present version of section 6007, subdivision ( c )( 4) because this disciplinary 
proceeding was commenced before the January l, 1997, effective date of the present version of section 6007, 
subdivision ( c )( 4). According to respondent, the hearingjudge should have applied the prior version of section 
6007, subdivision ( c )( 4 ), which was in effectatthetimethis disciplinary proceeding was commenced and which 
provide for notice and the opportunity for a hearing before he could be involuntarily enrolled inactive. The 
review department agreed with respondent's contentions and reversed the hearingjudge' s inactive enrollment 
order without prejudice to respondent's inactive enrollment under the former version of section 6007, 
subdivision ( c )( 4) if appropriate after notice and hearing. 
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To apply amendments to Business and Professions Code section 6007, subdivision ( c )( 4 ), effective 
January 1, 1997, against an attorney whose disciplinary proceeding began before January 1, 1997, 
effective date of amendments would be impermissible retroactive application of amendments. That 
is because amendments had dramatic effect on attorney's legal ability to practice law and deprived 
attorney of right to request hearing on inactive enrollment and because amendments neither clarified 
prior law nor merely changed procedure of trial. 

(2 a, b] 139 
199 
2319 
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General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Section 6007-lnactive Enrollment After Disbarment-Miscellaneous 

Other 

Even though respondent received extensive trial on disciplinary charges, he was never formally 
notified that outcome of trial could result in his immediate and automatic inactive enrollment under 
amendments to Business and Professions Code section 6007, subdivision ( c )( 4), effective January 
1, 1997. Reasonable notice is crucial to a meaningful hearing. Thus, disciplinary trial itself could 
not have provided respondent with minimal protection on issue of inactive enrollment because issues 
can differ from case to case between the appropriate level of discipline for misconduct compared 
to the need for immediate public protection to protect existing or future clients from additional risk 
ofhann. And disciplinary hearing did not fulfill explicitly recognized rightto request hearing on the 
propriety of inactive enrollment provided forunderfonnerversion of section 6007, subdivision ( c )( 4) 
before.its amendment effective January 1, 1997. 

2315.20 
2315.90 
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Additional Analysis 
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OPINION: 

STOVITZ, J.: 

[la] In this first impression case, wemustdecide 
whether a statutory amendment providing for auto­
matic inactive involuntary enrollment of an attorney 
upon the recommendation of a hearing judge for 
disbarment may be applied to an attorney whose 
disciplinary proceeding started before the law's ef­
fective date. We hold that it may not. 

I. BACKGROUND. 

A. Disciplinary proceeding. 

Respondent,Emir Phillips, was admitted to prac­
tice law in California in 1991. In April 1996, formal 
disciplinary charges were filed against him. In June 
1998, after a lengthy trial, the hearingjudge filed a 68-
page decision recommending that respondent be 
disbarred and ordering him enrolled as an inactive 
member of the State Bar pursuant to Business and 
Professions Code section 6007, subdivision ( c )( 4 ). 1 

B. Changes in the pertinent inactive 
enrollment law. 

[lb] When this disciplinary proceeding was 
started against respondent, and prior to January 1997, 
the State Bar Act authorized an attorney's involun­
tary inactive enrollment on a number of grounds. As 
pertinent here, upon a finding that the attorney's 
conduct poses a substantial threat of harm to the 
interests of the attorney's clients or the public, an 
attorney may be involuntarily enrolled inactive. (Fonner 
§ 6007, subd.(c).) Expedited procedures for this 
ground ofinactive enrollment have been adopted and 
are described in Conway v. State Bar (1989) 47 
Cal.3d 1107, which upheld, against a due process 
challenge, the constitutionality of section 6007, subdi• 
vis ion ( c) and certain of its implementing procedural 
rules. Conway noted the right of the accused 
attorney to request a hearing prior to any decision for 

I. Unless noted otherwise, all later referencestoscctionsareto 
the provisions of the Business and Professions Code. The 
pertinent amendments to section 6007, subdivision (c) were 
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inactive enrollment under section 6007, subdivision 
(c). Public protection is a prime consideration in a 
section 6007, subdivision ( c) inactive enrollment pro­
ceeding, and the proceeding may be very roughly 
analogized to a preliminary injunction proceeding in a 
civil matter. During such an inactive enrollment 
proceeding, the effect of any . recommendation of 
disbarment in an underlying disciplinary matter, cre­
ated a rebuttable presumption affecting the burden of 
proof that the factors warranting inactive enrollment 
are established. (Former§ 6007, subd. (c)(4).) 

[le] Effective January 1, 1997, the basic ele­
ments in section 6007, subdivision ( c) for inactive 
enrollment on proof of an attorney's substantial 
threat of harm were retained but section 6007, subdi­
vision ( c )( 4 )was amended so that inactive enrollment 
shall be ordered upon filing of a disbarment recom­
mendation. The effect of the amendment was to 
create an automatic inactive enrollment upon a dis­
barment recommendation, without any additional 
hearing. 

II. DISCUSSION. 

lld] In in the Matter of Jebbia (Review Dept. 
1999}4Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr.51, decided today, we 
considered an analogous question which arose in a 
conviction referral proceeding where the offenses 
were committed at a time before the State Bar Act 
was amended to subject the crime arising from those 
offenses to summary disbarment. We held that it was 
a retroactive application of the 1997 summary disbar­
ment amendments to apply them to the facts. We also 
held that none of the pertinent exceptions to a retro­
active application existed. Specifically, we held that 
the summary disbannentamendmentswerenot merely 
clarifying of the original law and that the amendments 
did not merely change the method of trial or d isposi­
tion but affected substantive rights. Without opining 
on the appropriate degree of discipline to recommend, 
we afforded Jebbia a hearing on the issue of the 
appropriate degree of discipline. 

adopted in 1996 but did not take effect until January I, 1997. 
The opcrntion of section 6007(c)(4) to this case will be 
discussed. post. 
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(1 e] We ho Id that the principles ofour discussion 
in Jebbia apply here although this is an inactive 
enrollment proceeding, not one arising from a criminal 
conviction. The 1997 amendments to section 6007, 
subdivision (c)(4) have as dramatic an effect on the 
legal ability to practice law as the I 997 amendments 
to section 6102, subdivision ( c) had in Jebbia. An 
attorney enrolled inactive is barred from the practice 
of law as much as a disbarred attorney. Indeed, 
involuntary inactive enrollments may become effec­
tive just three days from the order as contrasted to a 
Supreme Court order of disbarment which tradition­
ally affords thirty days before becoming effective. 
( Compare rule 220 ( c ), Rules Proc. of State Bar with 
Cal. Rules of Ct., rule 95J(a).) 

[2a] Urging that we uphold the hearingjudge's 
order of inactive enrollment, the State Bar contends 
that respondent received all the hearing to which he 
was entitled when he received a full disciplinary 
hearing. Respondent received an extensive disciplin­
ary trial but was never fonnally notified that the 
outcome of the hearing could result in his immediate 
inactive enrollment. Reasonable notice is crucial to a 
meaningful hearing. (E.g.,/n re Ruffalo (1968) 390 
U.S. 544, 552.) Absent such notice, any disciplinary 
hearing by itself would not provide minimal protection 
to respondent on the issue of inactive enrollment as 
the issues can differ from case to case between the 
appropriate degree of discipline warranted for mis­
conduct found compared to the need for immediate 
public protection to protect existing or future clients 
from additional risk ofhann. 

[lfl (2b] The State Bar states that respondent 
had no "vested" right to a hearing on involuntary 
inactive enrollment prior to 1997. Whether or not 
respondent's right was "vested", if the State Bar 
sought to enroll him inactive under section 6007, 
subdivision (c)(4), prior to 1997, the principles of 
Conway v. State Bar, supra, explicitly recognized 
his right to request a hearing on the propriety of such 
enrollment. The State Bar also emphasizes Murrill 
v. State Board of Accountancy ( 1950) 97 Cal.App.2d 
709,assupportingthehearingjudge'sdecision.Murril/ 
dealt with using a federal criminal conviction as a 
basis foradisciplinaryhearingofanaccountant. The 
court held that, although the conviction predated the 
accountancy statute allowing disciplinary proceed-
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ings based on certain conviction of crime, that ac­
countancy statute was properly applied to Murrill. 
Our reading of Murrill shows that he was afforded 
a hearing on the charges and allowed to defend 
against license revocation. In contrast, the effect of 
the hearing judge's application of section 6007, sub­
division ( c )( 4) in this matter deprived respondent of 
any hearing or opportunityto defend against involun­
tary inactive enrollment. 

III. RECOMMENDATION. 

For the foregoing reasons, we reverse that por­
tion of the bearing judge's decision enrolling 
respondent inactive under the text of section 6007, 
subdivision (c)(4), eff. January l, 1997 and hereby 
order that respondent's inactive enrollment be termi­
nated immediately. Thisdecisioniswithoutprejudice 
to respondent's inactive enrollment, if warranted, 
under section former 6007, subdivision (c)(4) after 
appropriate notice and proceedings. 

We concur: 

OBRIEN, P.J 
NORIAN, J. 
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Respondent was convicted of seven counts of making false statements to a federally insured financial 
institution to influence action in securing loans ( 18 U. S.C. § 1014 ), felonies involving moral turpitude. The State 
Bar filed a motion for respondent's summary disbarment under the present summary disbarment statute (Bus. 
& Prof. Code, § 6102, subd. ( c) ), which was effective January 1, 1997. Even though respondent's criminal 
convictions occurred after the January 1, 1997, effective date of the present version of the summary disbannent 
statute, he committed the criminal acts underlying his convictions before the January 1, 1997, effective date. 

Because respondent committed the underlying criminal acts before the January 1, 1997, effective date of 
the present version of the summary disbarment statute, the review department concluded that recommending 
respondent's summary disbarment under present version of the statute would be a retroactive application of 
the statute, which was bared by the principles set forth in/n the Matter of Jolly (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 740, 744-746. Accordingly, the review department denied the State Bar's motion for 
summary disbarment. Moreover, because review department concluded that respondent's conviction did not 
meet the statutory requirements for disbarment under the fonner version of the summary disbarment statute, 
the review department referred the matter to the hearing department for a hearing and recommendation as to 
discipline. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

[1 3·C] 191 
1512 
1517 

Janice G. Oehrle 

R. Gerald Markle 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

HEADNOTES 

Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
Conviction Matters-Nature of Conviction-Theft Crimes 
Conviction Matters-Nature of Conviction-Regulatory Laws 

Editor's no1e: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are .nol part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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1519 Conviction Matters-Nature of Conviction-Other 
1521 Conviction Matters-Moral Turpitude-Per SE 
1553.51 Conviction Matters-Standards-Enumerated Felonies-Summary Disbarment 
1699 Conviction Cases-Miscellaneous Issues 

Respondent's convictions of making false statements to federally insured financial institution to 
influence action on loans, felonies involving moral turpitude, did not occur in respondent's practice 
of law or in manner such that a client was victim. Thus, respondent's convictions did not meet 
statutory criteria for disbannent under former version of summary disbarment statute that was in 
effect between 1986 and January I, 1997. And respondent's summary disbarment was warranted, 
if at all, only under present version of statute (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6102, subd. ( c) ), effective 
January I, 1997. 

(2 a-c] 139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 

[3 a-c] 

192 Due Process-Procedural Right 
193 Constitutional Issues 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
1553.51 Conviction Matters-Standards-Enumerated Felonies-Summary Disbarment 
1699 Conviction Cases-Miscellaneous Issues 

Retroactive law is one that affects rights, obligations, acts, transactions, or conditions performed or 
existing before adoption of law. Even though respondent's criminal convictions occurred after 
January I, 1997, effective date of present version of the summary disbarment statute (Bus. & Prof. 
Code,§ 6102, subd. (c)), respondent committed criminal acts underlying those convictions before 
January 1, 1997, effective date. Thus, respondent's summary disbarment under present version of 
statute would be improper retroactive application of statute because, but for amendments to statute 
effective January 1, 1997, respondent would not be subject to summary disbarment. 

139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
192 Due Process-Procedural Right 
193 Constitutional Issues 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
1699 Conviction Cases-Miscellaneous Issues 

ln two situations, applying statute to acts before statute's effective date are not retroactive 
application of statute: when statute merely clarifies, rather than substantially changes law; and when 
statute changes trial procedure, but does not change legal consequences of parties' past conduct. 
Amendments effective January I, 1997, to summary disbarment statute (Bus. & Prof. Code, 
§ 6102, subd. (c)) are not clarifying or procedural because they significantly broadened scope of 
crimes for which attorneys are subject to summary disbarment. 

Additional Analysis 

Discipline 
1541.10 
1541.20 

Conviction Matters-Interim Suspension-Ordered 
Conviction Matters-Interim Suspension-Ordered 
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OPINION: 

STOVITZ, J.: 

In In the Matter of Jolly (Review Dept. 1997) 
3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 740, we held that the 
changes to the summary disbannent law effective 
January 19971 may not be applied retroactively to an 
attorney's criminal conviction that predated those 
changes. In this review we must decide whether an 
attorney who committed criminal acts before the 
changes, but who was convicted of his crimes after 
the changes, may be recommended for summary 
disbarmentunderthe amended law. We hold that the 
1997 law may not be so applied under the circum­
stances presented here. 

I. BACKGROUND 

A. Jebbia's conviction. 

[la] Respondent, Dennis A. Jebbia, was admit­
ted to practice law in California in 1981. Between 
November 1992 and September 1995, respondent 
knowingly made false statements to federally insured 
lenders to influence action in securing loans to pur­
chase or refinance real property. In October 1997, 
respondent was charged with federal felonies and, in 
February 1998, on his plea of guilty, he was convicted 
of seven felony counts of violation of title 18 of the 
United States Code, section 1014, for knowingly 
making false statements to a federally insured finan­
cial institution. Respondent's crimes inherently involve 
moral turpitude. 

When notified of respondent's felony convic­
tions and crimes involving moral turpitude, we placed 
respondent on interim suspension. When his convic­
tions became final, the State Bar's Office of Chief 
Trial Counsel (State Bar) moved for his summary 
disbarment under the 1997 law. In his opposition to 
that motion, respondent raised the issue of retroactive 
application of the summary disbarment law, and we 
now review the question: 

1. Business and Professions Code, section 6002 ( c }, discussed 
post. Although the statutory amendments were adopted in 
1996. they did .not become effective until January I, 1997. 
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B. Changes in the summary disbarment law. 

[ 1 b] We discussed the summary disbarment law 
in In the Matter of Segall (Review Dept. 1992) 2 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 71. There we observed that 
summary disbarment was abolished in 1955, but 
restored to California law in 1986 as section 6102, 
subdivision (c)2• (Id. at pp. 77-78.) Between 1986 
and 1996, a key element of the summary disbannent 
law was that the crime be one which occurred in the 
practice oflaw or in a manner such that a client of the 
attorney was a victim. (In the Matter of Jolly, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 743.) The 
record in this case fails to show that this element was 
met, and the State Bar concedes that it was not. 
However, effective January I, 1997, section 6102, 
subdivision ( c) was changed to eliminate that require­
ment. 

. Another important change between the 1997 
law and the prior law, but which is not at issue here, 
concerns the substantive elements of the crimes 
eligible for summary disbannent. As we noted inln 
the Matter of Jolly, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
at pp. 743, 745, fu. 5, the 1997 law makes eligible for 
summary disbarment any crime involving moral tur­
pitude. 

[le) As the chronology shows ante, respondent 
committed his criminal offenses well before the new 
law took effect. Criminal charges were filed 10 
months after the effective date of the amended law, 
and he was convicted 14 months after that date. 
Respondent would be eligible for summary disbar• 
ment only if the amended law applies to his case. 

II. DISCUSSION. 

In In the Matter of Jolly, supra, 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 740, we reviewed in detail the text 
and history of the amendments to section 6102, 
subdivision (c). We observed that section 6102, 
subdivision ( c) does not contain an express retroac­
tivityprov ision, nor could we glean a legislative intent 

2. Unless noted otherwise, all future references 10 sections are 
to the prm isions of the Business and Professions Code. 
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to apply the law retroactively. We also discussed the 
significance of the interests involved both in protect­
ing the public and in affording the accused attorney an 
opportunity to present evidence in order to persuade 
our court and, ultimately, the Supreme Court that a 
degree of discipline less than disbarment should be 
imposed. We consulted a number of appellate deci-

• sions, most decided by our Supreme Court, and 
concluded that none of the extrinsic factors properly 
considered by us warranted giving section 6102, 
subdivision ( c) retroactive effect. (In the Matter of 
Jolly, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 744-
746.) Because Jolly' sconviction predated the changes 
to section 6102, subdivision ( c ), it was unnecessary to 
decide the question before us in this case. 

In this case, the State Bar takes the view that the 
conviction is the critical act and urges that so long as 
the conviction occurred after January 1, 1997, the 
current version of section 6102, subdivision ( c) ( as 
amended effective January 1, 1997) may be applied. 
The State Bar has cited several authorities dealing 
with the triggering effect of convictions, but none of 
those authorities deal with the principles of retroactiv­
ity that we discussed in Jolly or that are at issue here. 
Respondent cites the retroactivity cases we dis­
cussed in Jolly and some others to urge that we hold 
that the current version of section 6102, subdivision 
( c) may not be applied to any conviction based on 
criminal acts committed before January 1, 1997. 

[2a] We deem the critical question in this case to 
be whether applying the amended summary disbar­
ment law is a retroactive application of it to criminal 
acts which occurred before the amended law's 
effective date. We hold that it is and that, therefore, 
the principles in our Jolly decision bar such a retro­
active application of this law. 

[2b) As we observed in Jolly, "[a] retroactive 
law is one that 'affects rights, obligations, acts, 
transactions and conditions which are performed or 
exist prior to the adoption of the s,tatute' (citations.)" 
(In the Mauer of Jolly, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. at p. 744 [ citing Aetna Cas. & Surety Co. v. 
Ind. Acc. Com. (1947)30 Cal.2d 388,391]; see also 
Kizerv. Hanna(l989)48 Cal.3d l, 7 [observi,~gthat 
"[a] statute is retroactive if it substantially changes 
the legal effect of past events"].) 
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(le] At least as to convictions occurring before 
the effective date of the amended law, we held in 
Jolly that the statute would clearly be retroactive as 
the amended statute would deprive Joliy of important 
rights. (In the Matter of Jolly, supra, 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. atpp. 744-746.) Respondent would also 
be deprived of those rights as, but for the amended 
statute, he would not be subject to summary disbar• 
ment. 

[3a] In two situations, applying a statute to acts 
prior to the law's effective date will not make a 
statute retroactive. Those situations are statutes 
which merely clarify rather than substantively change 
existing law (e.g., Western Security Bank v. Supe­
rior Court (1997) 15 Cal.4th 232, 243) and those 
statutes which change the procedure of trials, but do 
not change the legal consequences of the parties' 
past conduct ( e.g., Murphy v. City of Alameda 
(1992) 11 Cal.App.4th 906, 911-913). 

[3b] The "clarifying" exception to retroactivity 
was explained in Western Security Bank as law 
changes which, even if material, were adopted only to 
clarify a statute's true meaning. In such a case, the 
courts rule that applying the amended law has no 
retroactive effect as the ''true meaning of the statute 
remains the same" as the original law. (Western 
Security Bank v. Superior Court, supra, 15 Cal. 4th 
at p. 243.) In determining whether theLegislature 
intended an amendment to clarify the original statute, 
courts look to the timing of the amendment and other 
appropriate indicia. (Id. at pp. 243-245.) Although 
the change in the current version of the summary 
disbarment law concerning sister state crimes ap­
peared to clarify the prior law's intent, the other 
changes to the summary disbarment law applicable 
here significantly broadened the law's scope to crimes 
well beyond those of the prior law. We noted,ante, 
that the prior summary disbarment law required that 
the crime arise in the practice of law or such that the 
attorney's client be a victim. Those requirements 
were dropped in the 1997 amendments. In addition, 
the prior law made convictions ineligible for summary 
disbannent unless an element of the offense was the 
specific intent to "deceive, defraud, steal or make or 
suborn a false statement." Although these intent 
requirements were retained in the amendment, any 
felony crime involving moral turpitude was added as 
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an offense eligible for summary disbarment. (See/n 
the Matter of Jolly, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
atp. 745, fn. 5.) Respondent's offense, because it did 
not appear to involve the practice oflaw or a client as 
victim, is one which was not eligible for summary 
disbarment under the prior law but is eligible under the 
amended law. Other examples of varied felonies 
ineligible for summary disbarment under the prior law 
but eligible under the 1997 amendment are an 
attorney's perjury in testifying falsely in his or her 
own case and drug or sex crimes, whether or not 
involving clients, but which involve moral turpitude. 
Considering the much broader reach of the 1997 
amendments, we cannot consider them merely clari­
fying. 

(3c] The remaining exception is whether the 
amendment merely affects the trial of cases without 
depriving anyone of a right had at the time of com­
mencement of the suit. As the court in Murphy v. 
City of Alameda, supra, 11 Cal.App.4th at p. 912 
made clear, if an amendment "imposed new and 
different liabilities" based on the parties' past con­
duct, it would be a retroactive application. To 
highlight that the controlling issue is not whether the 
amendment is labeled "substantive" or"procedural," 
the court observed that a law could appear to be 
procedural in form, but use language concerning a 
proof burden which had the effect of altering or 
destroying preexisting substantive rights by imposing 
an impossible evidentiary requirement. (Ibid.) For 
the reasons discussed, the 1997 amendments affect 
much broader conduct of attorneys and cannot be 
seen as merely affecting the trial of conviction refer­
ral proceedings. 

The State Bar has cited Murrill v. State Board 
of Accountancy (1950) 97 Cal.App.2d 709, to urge 
that we consider application of the 1997 summary 
disbarment amendments to Jebbia not to be retroac­
tive. In Murrill, the court applied disciplinary 
procedures arising under a new law toan accountant's 
conduct which arose prior to the new law, but after 
the accountant was· convicted of crimes arising from 

3. As the Supreme Court noted in Fox v. Alexis, supra, 3 8 Cal.4d 
at p. 627 the court ofappeal in Murrill assumed that the statute 
was applied retroactively, and addressed only the issues of 
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his offenses. For the reasons the Supreme Court 
gave inFoxv. Alexis (1985) 38 Cal.3d 621, 626-627, 
we conclude that Mu"ill does not support the State 
Bar's position.3 

Indeed, as we noted in our Jolly decision, the 
court held in Fox that there was no intent to apply the 
law in Fox retroactively to driving offenses arising 
before the change in law. 

The clear effect of the 1997 summary disbar­
ment law amendments is to obviate any trial and 
eliminate any opportunity to persuade that a lesser 
degree of discipline is appropriate as to the expanded 
crimes to which the amended law applies. It there­
fore applies retroactively. At the time respondent 
committed these offenses, the summary disbarment 
law did not apply to his crimes. We also consider 
carefully, as we did earlier in Jolly, the Supreme 
Court's statement inln re Ford ( 1988) 44 Cal.3 d 810, 
816, fit. 6. But, for the reasons stated in Jolly, 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 745-746, we do not consider 
the Court's statement in Ford as in.consistent with 
our analysis. 

Nothing in our opinion prevents the State Bar 
Court Hearing Department from recommending any 
appropriate degree of discipline after hearing, and we 
take no position on the appropriate degree of disci­
pline in this matter. Also, our holding will apply to few 
cases as the passage of time results. in more crimes 
occurring on or after January 1, 1997. 

III. DISPOSITION. 

For the foregoing reasons, we deny the State 
Bar's request for a summary disbannent recommen­
dation and referthis matter to the Hearing Department 
for hearing and recommendation on the degree. of 
discipline to impose. 

We concur: 

OBRIEN, P.J. 
NORIAN, J. 

whether the revocation of the accountant'sHccnse deprived 
him of a vested property right or was an ex post facto criminal 
law. 
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SUMMARY 

The State Bar sought interlocutory review of a hearing judge's order denying its motion to dismiss the 
petition for reinstatement, contendingthatthe hearingjudgeerred because the petition did not show compliance 
with Business and Professions Code section 6140.5, subdivision (c). The State Bar argued that an attorney 
who resigns with disciplinary charges pending must reimburse the Client Security Fund for all sums paid out 
as a result of the former attorney's misconduct, together with interest thereon and appropriate costs, as a 
condition precedent to the former attorney's filing of a petition for reinstatement. The review department 
disagreed and denied the State Bar's request to reverse the hearing judge's order. 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: Donald R. Steedman 

For Respondent: R. Gerald Markle 
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2504 
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HEADNOTES 

Abuse of Discretion 
Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
Reinstatement-Procedural Issues 
Rei nsta temen t-Miscellaneous 

The sole issue raised is whether the requirement set forth in Business and Professions Code section 
6140. 5, subdivision ( c ), that an attorney who resigns with disciplinary charges pending reimburse 
the Client Security Fund ( CSF) for all sums paid out as a resu It of the fonner attorney's misconduct 
together with interest and costs, is a condition precedent to the former attorney's filing of a petition 
for reinstatement. The issue is not whether, at the time he filed his petition, petitioner was eligible 
for reinstatement, but rather whether he had a right to file his petition for reinstatement. Section 
6140 .5, subdivision ( c) mandates that the amount paid out by C SF because of the dishonest conduct 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additionat'analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the re.ader, Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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None 

of a lawyer, plus applicable interest and costs, shall be paid as a condition of reinstatement of 
membership. There is no language in that section that precludes or purports to preclude the filing 
ofa petition for reinstatement without including a showing ofrepayment to the CSF. And the review 
department was unaware ~f any law, rule of court, or rule of procedure that required an affirmative 
showing that reimbursement has been made to CSF before or at the time of filing a petition for 
reinstatement. Moreover, there was no dispute that reinstatement occurs only when the Supreme 
Court so directs after State Bar Court proceedings, not when a petition for reinstatement is filed. 
Accordingly, the State Bar failed to establish either an abuse of discretion or error of law. 

Additional Analysis 
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OPINION: 

OBRIEN, P.J.: 

The State Bar seeks interlocutory review of a 
bearingjudge' s denial of its motion to dismiss Joseph 
R. Jaurequi's petition for reinstatement. The State 
Bar contends that the hearing judge erred in denying 
its motion because Jaurequi' s petition does not show 
that he complied with Business and Professions Code 
section 6140.5, subdivision (c). According to the 
State Bar, the requirement in that statutory provision 
that an attorney who resigns with disciplinary charges 
pending reimburse the Client Security Fund (CSF)for 
all sums paid out as a result of the fonner attorney's 
misconduct, togetherwith interestthereonandappro­
priate costs, is a condition precedent to the former 
attorney's filing of a petition for reinstatement. We 
disagree. 

BACKGROUND 

On June 22, 1988, Jaurequi resigned from the 
State Bar with disciplinary charges pending against 
him. In his petition for reinstatement, filed May 11, 
I 999, Jaurequi acknowledged that he was obligated 
to reimburse CSF in an amount of $4,719.31. He 
further acknowledged that he had paid only $500 to 
CSF before filing his petition. 

The State Bar brought a motion to dismiss the 
petition in the hearing department on the sole ground 
that Jaurequi failed to reimburse CSP for the money 
it paid out as the result of Jaurequi's misconduct 
together with interest and costs. The hearing judge 
denied the motion because she concluded that under 
"the plain language" of section 6140 .5, subdivision (c) 
reimbursement to CSF "shall be paid as a condition 
of reinstatement of membership," but not as a 
prerequisite to filing a petition for reinstatement. The 
hearing judge then concluded that, should the record 

I. The hearing judge did not, however, address how a recom­
mendation authorizing Jaurequi to complete the required 
reimbursement to CSF after his reinstatement would be con­
sistent with the basic requirement that a petitioner esiablish, 
by clear and convincing evidence, his or herrehabihtation before 
being reinstated 10 the practice of law. While the Supreme 
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produced at trial support it, she could recommend 
reinstatementto the Supreme Court conditioned upon 
Jaurequi thereafter reimbursing CSF.1 She further 
noted that rule 95 l(f)ofthe California Rules of Court 
does not require reim bursementto CSF as a condition 
of reinstatement. 

This petition for interlocutory review followed. 

POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES 

The State Bar seeks (1) reversal of the hearing 
judge's order denying its motion to dismiss Jaurequi' s 
petition and (2) remand with instructions to grant its 
motion. According to the State Bar, "the plain 
language" of section 6140.5, subdivision ( c )requires 
that Jaurequi fully reimburse CSF before filing his 
petition. In addition, the State Bar argues that that 
statutory provision does not permit the type of condi­
tional reinstatement referred to by the hearing judge 
in her order denying its motion to dismiss. Further, it 
asserts that rule 951(f) ofthe California Rules of 
Court does not purport to set forth all of the require­
ments for reinstatement of a former attorney; that the 
legislature has therightto add additional requirements 
such as that contained in section 6140.5, subdivision 
( c ); and that the Board of Governors of the State Bar 
has the right to impose additional requirements, such 
as a filing fee (Rules Proc. of State Bar, title II, State 
Bar Court Proceedings, rule 660) and a five-year 
waiting period between the time of resignation with 
charges pending and filing a petition for reinstatement 
(Rules Proc. of State Bar, title 11, State Bar Court 
Proceedings, rule 662(b)). 

As a final point, the State Bar argues that 
requiring the State Bar and the courts to go through 
a hearing in a reinstatement proceeding in which the 
petitioner may never be able or willing to make the 
required reimbursement to CSF is a waste of State 
Bar and judicial resources. 

Court has not ruled out the possibility of a condi1ional 
reinstatement, the condition, at a minimum, must be consistent 
with the req u ire men t that the petitioner establish rehabilitation 
before being reinstated. (H ippardv. State Bar( 1989) 49 Ca!.3d 
I 084, I 098; In the,\ fatter of Distefano (Review Dept. 1991) I 
Ca!. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 668. 673-674, 674, Fn.3.) 
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Jaurequi, on the other hand, argues that rule 
95 l(f) of the California Rules of Court sets forth the 
only required elements for reinstatement; that section 
6140.5, subdivision (c) is a revenue statute that 
contemplates the failure to reimburse CSF may result 
in a continued administrative suspension after rein­
statement similar to that imposed by Business and 
Professions Code section 6140. 7, which section adds 
discipline costs to a member's dues bill in the year 
following the imposition of those costs. He argues 
that the issue is not whether he has reimbursed C SF, 
but rather whether he has passed a professional 
responsibility examination; shown his rehabilitation 
and present moral fitness to practice law; and estab­
lished his present ability and learning in the general 
law as required by rule 951 (f). 

DISCUSSION 

There is no challenge to the State Bar's position 
that this is a proper case for interlocutory review. We 
agree with that position.2 

[laJ However, we limit our decision to that 
which is before us. Despite the parties' expanded 
arguments on interlocutory review, the sole issue 
raised is whether the requirement set forth in section 
6140.5, subdivision ( c) that an attorney who resigns 
with disciplinary charges pending reimburse CSF for 
all sums paid out as a result of the former attorney's 
misconduct, together with interest and costs, is a 
condition prec~dent to the former attorney' sfiling of 
a petition for reinstatement. 

[lbl We do not determine whether, at the time 
he flied his petition, Jaurequi was eligible for rein­
statement, but rather whether he had a right to.file his 
petition for reinstatement. Jaurequi' s right to be 
reinstated can only be detennined fol lowing a hearing 
resolving, among other issues, his rehabilitation and 
present moral qualifications for the practice of law. 
(Cal. Rules of Court, rule95 l(f). Although "the plain 

2. In his response to the State Bar's petition for interlocutory 
n:vie"·, Jaurequi alleges that. since the filing of his petition for 
reinstatement, he has paid lhe full amount due, plus interest, 
to CSF. In a closing memorandum filed without leave of court, 
the State Bar confinns CS F's receipt of that payment. Because 
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language of the statute" has been advanced by both 
parties as supporting their cause, we nonetheless look 
first to that language to resolve the issue before us. It 
is fundamental that, in interpreting a statute, the first 
step is an examination of the language of the statute. 
"Ifthemeaningiswithoutambiguity,doubt,oruncer­
tainty; then the language controls." [Citations]" 
(Halbert 's Lumber, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, Inc. 
(1992)6Cal.App.4th 1233, 1238-1239.) Of course, 
"a statutory provision must be read and construed in 
context." (DeYoung v. City of San Diego (1983) 
14 7 Cal .App.3 d 11, 16 disapproved on another point 
in Yamaha Corp. of America v. State Bd. of 
Equalization (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 15.) 

[le] Section 6140.5, subdivision (c) mandates 
that the amount paid out by CSF because of the 
dishonest conduct of a lawyer, plus applicable interest 
and costs, "shall be paid as a condition of reinstate­
ment of membership.'! There is no language in that 
section that precludes or purports to preclude the 
filing of a petition for reinstatement without including 
a showing of repayment to the client security fund. 
And we are unaware of any law, rule of court, or rule 
of procedure that requires an affirmative showing 
that reimbursement has been made to CSF before or 
at the time of filing a petition for reinstatement. 
Moreover, there is no dispute that reinstatement 
occurs only when the Supreme Court so directs after 
State Bar Court proceedings not when a petition for 
reinstatement is filed. Accordingly, the State Bar has 
failed to establish either an abuse of discretion or 
error of law. 

Because we conclude that the language of the 
statuteiswithoutambiguity,doubt,oruncertainty, we 
do not reach an analysis of either the legislative 
history of the reason for or the practicality of the 
statute. (Halbert 's Lumber, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, 
Inc., supra, 6 Cal.App.4th at p. 1239; 7 Witkin, 
Summary of Cal. Law (9th ed., 1999 supp.) Consti­
tutional Law,§ 94, pp. 42-45.) Nor do we reach the 

of the State Bar's argument that the payment of such sums to 
CSF is a precondition to filing a reinstatement petition and 
because of the expected recurrence of the question, we conclude 
that such p.iyment should not preclude us from resolving the 
issue before us. 
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State Bar's remaining arguments such as the poten­
tial waste of judicial and State Bar resources. 

Similarly, we do not address Jaurequi's argu­
ments that section 6140.5, subdivision (c) is nothing 
more than a revenue statute and that any requirement 
for reimbursement to CSF should be handled as an 
administrative matter either after a State Bar Court 
recommendation of reinstatement or a Supreme Court 
order of reinstatement. 

CONCLUSION 

We deny the State Bar's requests to reverse the 
hearing judge's order denying its motion to dismiss 
Joseph R. Jaurequi' s petition for reinstatement. 

We concur: 

NORIAN, J. 
STOVITZ, J. 

IN TIIE MA TIER OF JAUREQUI 
(Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 56 
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The hearingjudge found that circumstances surrounding respondent's misdemeanor conviction on a single 
count of violating Insurance Code section 7 50, subdivision (a) (prohibiting attorneys from offering compensa­
tion for the referral of clients) involved moral turpitude. Finding respondent's conviction aggravated by failing 
to appreciate the seriousness of his misconduct, but mitigated by five years of discipline free practice, no 
subsequent misconduct, and good character evidence, the hearing judge recommended a two-year stayed 
suspension with two years' probation and 120-days' actual suspension. (Hon. Madge S. Watai, Hearing 
Judge.) 

State Bar sought summary review of the hearingjudge' sdiscipline recommendation contending that it was 
inadequate and that the appropriate level included a one-year period of actual suspension. In addition, the State 
Bar attacked each of the hearingjudge' s three mitigation findings and complained that she erred by not finding 
lack of candor aggravation and by not giving sufficient aggravating weight to the aggravating factors she did 
find. The review department reversed one of the hearing judge's mitigating findings and reduced the level of 
mitigating credit with respect to another. After modifying the hearing judge's mitigation findings and 
considering applicable case law, the review department modified the hearingjudge' s discipline recommenda­
tion by increasing the recommended period of actual suspension from 120 days to 6 months. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

llJ 130 
139 
735.50 
795 

COUNSEL FOR p ARTIES 

Charles Weinstein 

James N. Dicks 

HEADNOTES 

Procedure-Procedure on Review 
Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Mitigation-Candor-Bar--Dedined to Find 
Mitigation-Other-Declined to Find 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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Even if issue had properly been before review department on suilllllary review, respondent would 
not have been entitled to any mitigating credit for self reporting to State Bar his misdemeanor 
conviction for paying for referral of clients because respondent had a pre-existing statutory duty to 
report his criminal conviction. 

(2 a, b] 165 
169 

Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
Standard of Proof of Review-Miscellaneous 

199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
710.34 No Prior Record 
710.39 Mitigation-No Prior Record-Found but Discounted 

Even though respondent was not entitled to any mitigating credit for five years of discipline free 
practice under standard l.2(e}(i) and case law, there was no error in hearing judge's giving 
respondent mitigating credit for discipline free practice because weight assigned to such mitigation 
by hearing judge was nominal (i.e., "exists in name only;" not real or substantial). 

[3] 710.35 Mitigation-No Prior Record-Found but Discounted 
710.59 Mitigation-No Prior Record-Declined to Find 

Case Jaw permits long period of discipline free practice.to be treated as mitigation even though 
present misconduct is serious. 

14 a, b) 165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
740.31 Mitigation-Good Character-Found but Discounted 
740.39 Mitigation-No Prior Record-Found but Discounted 

Good character evidence consisting of recent letters from two judges before whom respondent had 
regularly appeared and two attorneys who had known respondent since 1986 was not entitled to 
substantial mitigating credit because evidence did not come from a wide range of references in 
general and legal communities as required by standard l.2(e)(vi). However, respondent was 
entitled to some mitigating weight for that evidence because it represented a fair reference from 
legal community. 

[5 a, bl 615 Aggravation-Lack of Candor-Bar-Declined to Find 

While it is true that the hearing judge found that some aspects of respondent's testimony lacked 
credibility, she did not find that respondent's testimony lacked candor or was dishonest. Absent such 
a finding, aggravation under standard l .2(b )(vi) is inappropriate. 

[6 a-g) 586.11 Aggravation-Harm to Administration of Justice-Found 
623 Aggravation-Lack of Remorse-Found but discounted or not relied oli 
740.31 Mitigation-Good Character-Found but Discounted 
1523 Conviction Matters-Moral Turpitude-Facts and Circumstances 
1552.59 Conviction Matters-Standards-Moral Turpitude-Declined to Apply 

Appropriate I eve! of discipline for respondent's misdemeanor conviction for paying for referral of 
two clients (Ins. Code, § 750, subd. (a)), where circumstances surrounding conviction involved 
moral turpitude, was two-year stayed suspensionwith two-year period of probation and six-month 
period of actual suspension. 
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[7J 130 
695 
1699 

Procedure-Procedure on Review 
Aggravation-Declined to Find 
Conviction Cases-Miscellaneous Issues 
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Where factual findings were used by the hearing judge to find culpability, it would be improper to 
again consider those same findings as factors in aggravation. 

Additional Analysis 

Mitigation 
Found 

750.51 Insufficient Time since misconduct 
Declined to Find 

750 .52 Mitigation-Rehabilitation-Declined to Find 
Discipline 

1613.08 
1615.04 
1617.08 

Stayed Suspension-2 years 
Actual Suspension-6 months 
Probation-2 years 
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OPINION: 

OBRIEN, P.J: 

The State Bar seeks summary review under the 
provisions of rule 308( a )(2) of the Rulesof Procedure 
of the State Bar of California, title II, State Bar Court 
Proceedings (Rules of Procedure for State Bar Court 
Proceedings) from the decision of a hearing judge 
recommending that respondent Marc A. Duxbury be 
suspended from practice for a period of two years, 
execution stayed, and that respondent be placed on 
probation for two years, conditioned, inter alia, on his 
being suspended for the first 120 days of the proba­
tionary period. The State Bar urges that, based on 
respondent's conviction of a misdemeanor charge of 
violating Insurance Code section 750, subdivision(a), 
prohibiting one from offering compensation for the 
referral of clients, he should suffer actual suspension 
for a period of one year. 1 Respondent, after asserting 
in the hearing department that his misconduct war­
ranted only a reproval, now argues that the 
recommended actual suspension of 120 days is ap­
propriate. 

PROCEDURAL IDSTORY 

The State Bar filed its request for summary 
review in April 1998. In its request the State Bar 
seeks review of only the hearing judge's discipline 
recommendation. Rule 308(a)(2) of the Rules of 
Procedure for State Bar Court Proceedings ex­
pressly authorizes the summary review of discipline 
recommendations as long as no challenge is made to 
any of the hearingjudges' material findings of fact. 
Accordingly, in an order filed on May 8, 1998, we 
provisionally granted the State Bar's request for 
summary review. 

In its opening memorandum on summary review, 
the State Bar not only raised the issue of discipline, but 
also raised contentions that some of the hearing 
judge's findings of fact support conclusions of law 
that are different from those reached by the hearing 

J. In the State Bar· s reply memorandum it urges actual suspen• 
sion of one year. while in its opening memorandum, it sought 
a two;year actual suspension. 
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judge. Respondent did not object to the State Bar's 
raising these additional contentions and addressed 
them on the merits in his responsive memorandum. 
Accordingly, because rule 309(a)( l) of the Rules of 
Procedure for State Bar Court Proceedings ex­
pressly authorizes the summary review of"contentions 
that the facts support conclusions of law different 
from those reached by the hearing judge," we shall 
address the additional contentions raised by the State 
Bar in addition to addressing the issue of discipline. 

Moreover, we adopt our May 8, 1998, order 
provisionally granting the State Bar's request for 
summary review as our final order and proceed under 
the rules for summary review. 

HEARING JUDGE'S FINDINGS OF FACT 

There is no dispute regarding the facts in this 
matter. Respondent was admitted to practice law in 
this state in June 1989. As the result of a nolo 
contendere plea to an amended criminal complaint 
respondent was found guilty of a misdemeanor viola­
tion oflnsurance Code section 750(a) and placed on 
summary probation for a period of one year, condi­
tioned on his performing 100 hours of community 
service. As the result of respondent's plea, eight 
remaining counts charging violations oflnsurance 
Code section 750(a) were dismissed. 

The circumstances leading to the arrest and 
conviction of respondent started with a June 1994 
telephone call from a Dr. Hudgins, a chiropractor 
known to respondent, who suggested that respondent 
meet with "Antonio Barajas" of South Bay Market­
ing and described "Barajas" as "a guy with cases to 
sell." Hudgins added that "Barajas" charged $500 a 
case, that he (Hudgins) knew that respondent could 
not purchase cases, but that investigative services 
would be provided with the referral. In this same 
conversation, respondent was told that Hudgins would 
get patient referrals from "Barajas" and receive 
"marketing services" for which Hudgins would pay 
$500to $1,500 a month. 
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Respondent then met with "Barajas," who was 
in fact Tony Torres, an undercover peace officer with 
the State of California. Torres secretly recorded his 
meeting with respondent. Torres stated he would 
refer cases to respondent for a fee of $500 per 
person, regardless of how many individuals were 
involved in the underlying accident and that the price 
would include a police report, third party insurance 
information, a report of an intake interview with the 
"client" and, if desired, photos, witness interviews, 
pictures of skid marks, and property damage esti­
mates. The fee would not be varied based on the 
extent of the investigation.2 

Respondent indicated that he would pay for 
investigative services to be done by the time he got the 
case; however, he did not want South Bay Marketing 
personnel driving prospective clients to see him be­
cause he did not want an obvious connection between 
him and South Bay Marketing. Respondent offered 
to recruit another chiropractor for South Bay Market­
ing; however, that chiropractor declined to participate. 

Respondent received two cases from South Bay 
Marketing, each with two alleged plaintiffs. The first 
case, the subject of the charges for which respondent 
was convicted, resulted in an itemized billing to 
respondent in the amount of $1,000 which was paid 
from respondent's personal account, but never billed 
to the "clients." Respondent received an investiga­
tive package, :which included a police report, photos, 
interviews, uninsured motorist certificate, and a check 
for property damage. 

2. During the meeting with Torres respondent stated, "I'm 
gonna be frank with you ... in the past I've had arrangement 
this (sic) with somebody and they were throwing cases that 
were kinda dogs, you know, they weren't real good cases. They 
were questionable liability and slip and fall. M) He was giving 
clients the idea that his cases were worth, you know [ unintel­
ligible J and that's how he was getting his clients and I didn't 
know it. m I got no problem with that but to make it legitimate 
and legal and through the State Bar correct, I've got to pay for 
some sort of a service. And what I'm paying for is the 
investigative service. I understand that. I like the way you guys 
set it up." 
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Respondent met with the two "clients" who told 
him they had met "Barajas" at church. Respondent 
sent the clients for medical treatment, received medi­
cal reports, and then negotiated a tentative settlement 
for them with the insurance carrier. Upon his inability 
to contact the clients, respondent filed an action to 
protect the statute of limitations and then moved to 
withdraw from the case because he could not locate 
his clients. In his efforts to locate the "clients," 
respondent hired a private investigator and learned 
thatthey had given him bogus social security numbers 
and addresses. He also learned that South Bay 
Marketing's address was merely a mail drop. 

The second matter referred to respondent also 
involved two "clients" and was delivered with only a 
police report and aggressive verbal demands from 
"Barajas" for the payment of $1,000 in fees. Torres 
advised that, unless he was paid, he would send 
respondent no more cases. Respondent did not pay 
the $1,000, claiming he was not furnished with inves• 
tigation results. 

HEARING nJDGE' S CONCLUSIONS OF 
LAW 

Respondent's conviction of a violation oflnsur• 
ance Code section 750, subdivision (a) conclusively 
establishes that respondent gave consideration for 
the referral of at least one client. (Bus. & Prof. Code, 
§ 6101, subd.(a).) Thatconvictionhasbeen properly 
called to the attention of the State Bar.3 [ l - see fn. 
3] 

3. ( 1 J In his responsive memorandum on summary re\liew and 
at oral argument, respondent stressed the factthat he voluntar• 
ily reported his criminal conviction to the State Bar and 
suggested that he is entitled to mitigating credit for that act. 
First, whether respondent is entitled to mitigation for reporting 
his conviction to the State Bar is not before us on summary 
review. Second, even ifit were properly before us, respondent 
would not be entitled to any mitigation for self reporting his 
conviction because he had a preexisting duty, under Business 
and Professions Code section 6068, subdivision (o)(5), to 
report it within 30 days after his no contest plea. (Cf. In the 
Maller of Tiernan (Review Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 523, 530 [respondent not entitled to mitigation for 
merely participating in disciplinary proceeding because he had 
a preexisting duty to do so under Business and Professions 
Code section 6068, subdivision (i)].) 
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Respondent's conviction is not a crime that 
involves moral turpitude per se. Underthe provisions 
of Business and Professions Code sections 6100, 
6101, and 6102, when the conviction is forotherthan 
a crime inherently involving moral turpitude, it be­
comes the obligation of this court, for disciplinary 
purposes, to make a recommendation to the Supreme 
Court as to whether the crime or the facts and 
circumstances surrounding it involved moral turpi~ 
tude or "other misconduct warranting discipline." (In 
re Kelley (1990) 52 Cal.3d 487, 494; see also Cal. 
Rules of Court; rule 951.) "In examining the circum­
stances giving rise to an offense, we are not restricted 
to examining the elements of the crime, but rather 
may look to the whole course of an attorney's conduct 
which reflects upon his fitness to practice law. (Cita­
tions.)" (In re Hurwitz(1976) 17 Cal.3d 562, 567.) 

The purported investigation that respondent was 
paying for was nothing more than a deliberate subter­
fuge to obscure the true nature of the fact that 
respondent entered into an agreement to pay for 
cases and, in at least one instance, carried out that 
agreement. Respondent made no effort to determine 
the legitimacy of "South Bay Marketing," did not 
want their representatives to transport clients to his 
office, sought to involve another chiropractor in the 
scheme, and admitted to Torres that he had made 
similar arrangements in the past. Further, the fact 
that the charges of South Bay Marketing were based 
on the number of clients referred, and not on the 
extent of the investigation, makes clear that the 
payment was for the referral of clients and not 
investigation. 

Citing Kits is v. State Bar( 1979) 23 Cal.Jd 857, the 
hearingjudge concluded that respondent's actions sur­
rounding in his conviction for violating Insurance code 
section 750, subdivision(a)involvedmoralturpitude. ln 
Kitsis v. State Bar, supra, 23 Cal.3d at p. 866, the 
Supreme Court held that the attorney's solicitation of 
clients violated Business and Professions Code section 
6068 and that the deliberate and knowing violation, by an 
attorney, of any of the duties set forth section 6068 
usually involves moral turpitude. 
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Neither party disputes the hearing judge's con­
clusion of moral turpitude. 

DISCUSSION 

The State Bar argues that the hearingjudge gave 
mitigating credit in three instances that were not 
warranted under the facts, erroneously failed to 
aggravate for lack of candor, and failed to give proper 
weight to three matters it urges in aggravation. 

[2a) Initially, the State Bar complains that the 
hearingjudge gave respondent "nominal'' rn itigating 
credit for the absence of prior discipline. He was 
indicted in January of 1997, for misconduct that 
commenced in the middle of 1994. Five years of 
discipline free practice does not entitle an attorney to 
rn itigating credit under standard 1.2( e )( i) of the Stan­
dards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
Misconduct" (In re Naney(l 990) 51 Cal.Jd 186, 196 
[ seven years without discipline "not a strong mitigat­
ing factor"]; In the Matter of Hertz (Review Dept. 
1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 456,473 [four year 
practice insufficientformitigation].). 

[3] Without supporting case law citation, the 
State• Bar further argues that, since respondent's 
crime was found to involve moral turpitude, he could 
not receive mitigating credit under standard 1.2( e )(i) 
because, under the language of that standard, it is not 
applicable when the present misconduct is deemed 
serious. We all but rejected such an argument almost 
10 years ago in In the Matter of Stamper (Review 
Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 96, 106, fn. 13. 
In Stamper we noted that the Supreme Court has 
repeatedly applied standard 1.2( e )( i) in cases involv­
ing serious misconduct. (2b] In any event, the 
hearing judge assigned only "nominal" weight to 
respondent's discipline free practice. "Nominal" is 
defined as: "Titular; existing in name only; not real or 
substantial; ... " (Black's Law Dictionary, 6th ed. 
1990} p. 1049, Col. l.) Since the weight assigned to 
mitigation for discipline free practice "exists in name 
only," there is no error. 

4. Rules of Procedun: of the State Bar, title IV, Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct (standards). 
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Second, the State Barcomplainsthat respondent 
should be afforded no mitigating weight for the fact 
that he has committed no misconduct since the 
conduct resulting in his conviction. We agree. Nei­
ther sufficient time has passed between respondent's 
misconduct and the present nor has he provided 
sufficient evidence of rehabilitation to be entitled to 
mitigating credit under standard 1.2( e )( viii). (In the 
Matter of Rubens (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 468, 479-480.) Accordingly, we reject 
the hearing judge's limited mitigation finding under 
standard l .2(e)(viii). 

[4a] The hearing judge afforded respondent 
"substantial mitigating weight" for evidence of good 
character. This evidence consisted of recent letters 
from two judges before whom respondent had regu­
larly appeared and two attorneys who had known 
respondent since 1986. All were found to have been 
reasonably well acquainted with the salient facts of 
respondent's conviction. In its third complaint as to 
the hearingjudge' s mitigation findings, the State Bar 
challenges this determination, arguing that standard 
1.2( e )(vi) requires "an extraordinary demonstration 
of good character ... attested to by a wide range of 
references in the legal and general comm unities and 
who are aware of the full extent of the member's 
misconduct." 

[4b] We agree that the evidence does not meet 
the standard that requires a wide range of references 
from the legal and general communities (seeJn the 
Matter of Myrdal! (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 363, 387), but it does represent a fair 
reference from the legal community, As such, we 
afford some mitigating weightto that evidence, which 
is less than the substantial mitigation afforded by the 
hearing judge. (Cf. Preston v. State Bar (1946) 28 
Cal.3d 643, 65 I [in reinstatement proceedings, the 
testimony of attorneys and judges who have known 
the petitioner for years is entitled to great weight 
because attorneys and judges are morally bound by 

S. This detennination was based on a recording Torres made of 
his meeting with respondent where respondent stated that "in 
the past I've had arrangement this (sic) with somebody and 
they were throwing cases that were kinda dogs, you know, they 
weren '1 real good cases." 
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their oaths not to recommend a petitioner unless they 
are personally satisfied of his or her rehabilitation]; 
see also Tardiffv. State Bar (1980) 27 Cal.3d 395, 
403 [where testimony of eight character witnesses, 
five of whom were attorneys, was given great consid­
eration in reinstatement proceeding]; but seeJn the 
Matter of Hagen (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 153, 171 [ testimony of three character 
witnesses -- one judge, one attorney, and one client -
- was not given significant weight in mitigation in a 
disciplinary proceeding because of the inadequate 
number of witnesses].) 

{5a] In its complaints as to the hearing judge's 
aggravation findings, the State Bar argues that the 
hearing judge improperly failed to apply standard 
l .2(b )( vi), requiring an attorney to display candor and 
cooperation to the State Bar during disciplinary pro­
ceedings. In addition, the State Bar argues that the 
hearingjudge gave insufficient weight to her finding 
ofhann to the administration of justice under standard 
1.2(b )(iv), multiple acts of misconduct under standard 
l .2(b )(ii), and indifference to rectification or atone­
ment under standard l.2(b)(v). 

(Sb] We reject the State Bar's contention that 
the hearing judge erred by not finding lack of candor 
aggravation under standard l .2(b )(vi). While it is true 
that the hearing judge found that some aspects of 
respondent's testimony lacked credibility,5 she did not 
find that respondent's testimony lacked candor' or 
was dishonest. Absent such a finding, aggravation 
under standard l .2(b )(vi) is inappropriate. (In the 
Matter of F andey (Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 767, 777 [hearing judge's finding that 
the respondent's testimony on an issue was"' incred­
ible, self-serving, and not supported by any evidence"' 
did not establish, by clear and convincing evidence 
(std. 1.2(e)), that the respondent's testimony lacked 
candor or was dishonest].) 

6. Contrary to the State Bar's contention in its opening memo­
randum, the hearing judge did not· "expressly'" find that 
respondent's testimony lacked candor; she found only that 
pan of resi,ondent's testimony was not credible. 
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We consider the State Bar's remaining three 
arguments pertaining to aggravation under our dis­
cussion of discipline. 

DISCIPLINE 

In the interest of uniformity and fairness, we look 
to the standards and like cases to guide us in assessing 
the recommended discipline. The standards have 
been declared bythe Supreme Court to be guidelines, 
and it is well settled that the degree of professional 
discipline must come from a balanced consideration 
of all applicable factors. (See, e.g., Sugarman v. 
State Bar (1990) 51 Cal.3d 609, 618.) 

[ 6a] The State Bar invites our attention to stan­
dard 3.2.7 In spite of the admonition of that standard, 
the State Bar in its closing brief argues for only a one­
year period of actual suspension. They ask us to 
consider In re Gross ( 1983) 33 Cal.3d 561, Kitsis v. 
State Bar, supra, 23 Ca1.3d 857, and Goldman v. 
State Bar ( 1977) 20 Cal.3d 130, among other cases. 

In Gross the attorney suffered a misdemeanor 
conviction for capping, and in addition, was found 
culpable of presentation of false claims, including the 
falsification of medical reports and bills. The Su., 
preme Court imposed a three-year period of actual 
suspension on that attorney. 

In Kitsis, the attorney had been involved in 
capping and solicitation of over200 individual clients. 
In addition, he had misled one ofhis cappers by telling 
her that such conduct was legal. The attorney in 
Kitsis was disbarred. 

In Goldman, the two attorneys were found 
culpable of capping as to six clients. They were found 
to have full knowledge that their employees solicited 
individuals involved in accidents to employtheGoldman 
office and signed clients to retainer agreements. 
Each of the attorneys in Goldman was actually 
suspended for one year. 

7. Standard 3.2 prov ides in part: "Final conviction ofamember 
ofacrime which involves moral turpitude, either inherently or 
in the facts and circumstances surrounding the crime 'scommis­
sion shall result in disbarment. Only if the most compelling 
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[6b] The hearingjudgeplacedreliance onln the 
Matter of Nelson (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 178 where Nelson was found to have 
fonned a partnership for the practice of law with a 
non-lawyerwith whom he split fees. Nelson used the 
non-lawyer as a "runner" and "capper." The miscon­
duct in Nelson was more serious than that before us; 
however, there was far more mitigation inNelson. In 
that case there was strong evidence of remorse, 
restitution, rehabilitation, candor, and cooperation. 
Nelson was given an actual suspension of six months. 

(6c] We find Nelson to be the most analogous of 
the cases considered. In Gross the misconduct was 
far more serious than capping. InKitsis the capping 
misconduct involved a great number of clients and is 
deemed more serious than that before us. InGoldman 
those soliciting clients were employees of the 
attorney's office and were having clients sign re­
tainer agreements. 

[71 The State Bar argues that we should con­
sider the following factual findings of the hearing 
judge in aggravation that respondent: ( 1) agreed to 
pay for four client referrals and, in fact, paid for two; 
(2) solicited another to participate in the .scheme; and 
(3) had participated in prior related misconduct as 
evidenced by his statements to Torres. Ordinarily, 
each of these items would be entitled to aggravating 
weight. However, each of these factors was used by 
the hearing judge to find that the facts and circum­
stances surronding respondent's violation of section 
of Insurance Code section 750, subdivision(a) in­
volved moral turpitude. To again consider those 
factors in aggravation would improperly give them 
double weight. (In the Matter of Sampson ( 1994) 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 119, 132-133.) 

[6d] Respondent lacked a full understanding of 
the seriousness of his misconduct. This is an aggra­
vating factor under standard l .2(b )( v ). The hearing 
judge found that, although respondent did not fully 
comprehend the wrongfulness of his misconduct, 

mitigating circumstances clearly predominate, shall disbar­
ment not be imposed. In those latter cases, the discipline shall 
not be less than a l\~o-year actual suspension, . . . " 
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respondent made clear he would never again engage 
in similar misconduct and was obviouslyremorsefulin 
weighing aggravation under standard l.2(b)(v). We 
find no error in the hearingjudge' s assessment of that 
aggravation. 

[6e] Although there was no harm to a client, 
respondent's misconduct caused harm to the admin­
istration ofjustice. This is an aggravating circumstance 
under standard l .2(b)(iv). This aggravating circum­
stance was appropriately considered and weighed by 
the hearingjudge. 

[ 6f] Based on our modification of findings of 
mitigation and our consideration of the authorities 
cited, we modify the discipline recommended by the 
hearing judge. The discipline recommended by the 
State Bar, even that recommended in its reply memo­
randum, appears too harsh in light of the discipline 
imposed in In the Matter of Nelson, supra, I Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 190-191. However, our 
findings reducing mitigation require an increase in the 
disciplinary time of actual suspension. 

RECOMMENDATION 

[6g] On our evaluation of the limited record 
before us and based upon the hearingjudge' s findings 
of fact and conclusions oflaw on moral turpitude, we 
adopt all of the recommendations of the hearingjudge 
except we recommend that respondent be actually 
suspended during the first six months ofhis probation­
ary period. Except as modified herein, the decision of 
the hearingjudge, filed on March 31, 1998, remains 
the final decision of the State Bar Court in this 
proceeding. (See Rules Proc. for State Bar Court 
Proceedings, rule 220(a); In the Matter of Aulakh 
(Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 690, 
696.) 

We concur: 

NORIAN, J. 
STOVITZ, J. 
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detainer action. In a fourth matter, respondent disobeyed a federal court order to produce documents in a civil 
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Considering the extreme seriousness of respondent's misconduct, his showing in mitigation was insufficient to 
justify lesser discipline. The very factors that caused the hearing judge to recommend disbarment caused the 
review department to do so as well; notably, the grave seriousness of respondent• s misconduct coupled with 
his lack of any meaningful regret, understanding, insight, or acceptance of any responsibility for the 
consequences of his misconduct. 
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HEADNOTES 

[1] 257.00 Rule 2-100 [former 7-103] 

Respondent's communication with an opposing client when he knew that the opposing client was 
represented by counse I was a wilfu I violation of rule 2-100 (A), Rules of Professional Conduct. The 

Ediror' s note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office ofthe State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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contact occurred during litigation and respondent had no excuse for the communication. Had he 
meant to extend a courtesy to opposing counsel, a much different method and communication would 
have been appropriate. It is well settled that rule 2-100 (A) and its predecessor former rule 12 are 
therapeutic rules designed, in part, to shield the represented party from well-meaning, but misguided 
advances by an attorney to an adverse party as well as deliberately improper ones. 

(2] 194 Statutes Outside State Bar Act 
214.50 State Bar Act-Section 6068(0) 

[3] 

[4] 

The duty to report sanctions timely pursuant to section 6068, subdivision (o)(3), Business and 
Professions Code, is not excused solely because of the pendency of an appeal of the sanction order. 

142 
159 

Evidence-Hearsay 
Evidence-Miscellaneous 

The hearingjudge did not err by admitting evidence under Evidence Code section 1223, the so-called 
coconspirator's exception to the hearsay rule. The law supporting use of the coconspirator 
exception to the hearsay rule does not require absolute proof of a conspiracy, but only that there be 
independent evidence to establish prima facie the existence of a conspiracy and other preliminary 
facts. Those requirements were adequately met here. 

130 
142 
159 

Procedure-Procedure on Review 
Evidence-Hearsay 
Evidence-Miscellaneous 

Where statements could have been offered not to prove the truth of the matter stated, but for the 
purpose of showing that they were made in respondent's presence to disprove respondent's claim 
oflack ofknowledge, the statements were not hearsay. In the absence of an objection and a request, 
made in accordance with Evidence Code section 355, that the use ofthe statements be admitted 
into evidence for the limited purpose, any error in their admission was waived. In any case, the 
statements were admissible under the adoptive admissions exception to the hearsay rule. 

[5 a-dJ 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
511 
582.10 
586.12 
621 
1010 

Aggravation-Prior Record-Found 
Aggravation-Harm to Client-Found 
Aggravation-Harm to Administration of Justice-Found 
Aggravation-Lack of Remorse-Found 
Disbarment 

This case presents serious acts of dishonesty which served to defraud two sellers of valuable real 
estate. Respondent's many ethical violations featured harm to victims and the honest administration 
of justice. Offenses concerning the administration of justice have been considered as very serious 
by the Supreme Court. Disbarment is not reserved just for attorneys with prior disciplinary records. 
A most significant factor is respondent's complete lack of insight, recognition, or remorse for any 
of his wrongdoing. This factor makes disbannent appropriate despite the fact that respondent 
presented some mitigating evidence. 
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OPINION: 

STOVITZ, J.: 

Respondent Robert H. Wyshak requested that 
we review the recommendation of a hearing judge 
that he be disbarred. Respondent was admitted to 
practice over forty years before the found acts of 
misconduct in four matters and has no prior discipline. 
Independently reviewing the record, we agree with 
the findings of the hearingjudge in those four matters 
and adopt his recommendation. The rec;ord shows 
that, while acting as escrow agent and trustee, re­
spondent engaged in multiple acts of dishonesty and 
concealment, which defrauded two separate sellers 
of valuable real estate. In a third matter, respondent 
engaged in misconduct, including some causing seri­
ous harm to the victim and the honest administration 
of justice, by advancing in court unfounded charges of 
sexual harassment in order to delay or defeat an 
unlawful detainer action. In a fourth matter, respon­
dent disobeyed a federal court order to produce 
documents in a civil case. 

All together, respondent committed a wide vari­
ety of serious ethical violations in the four matters, 
none of which is excused by the evidence he has 
offered herein. Considering the extreme seriousness 
ofrespondent' s misconduct, his showing in mitigation 
was insufficient to justify lesser discipline. The very 
factors that caused the hearing judge to recommend 
disbarment cause us to do so as well; notably, the 
grave seriousness of respondent's misconduct coupled 
with his lack of any meaningful regret, understanding, 
insight, or acceptance of any responsibility for the 
consequences of his misconduct. 

I. ST A TEMENT OF THE CASE. 

A. Respondent's Background. 

Respondent graduated from Harvard Law School 
and was licensed to practice law in California in 1948. 
He served in the U.S. Attorney's Office in Los 
Angeles and headed its Tax Division, several years 
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after admission. He then became law partners with 
his wife, Lillian Wyshak. The Wyshaks had a very 
well known Beverly Hills tax. practice for over 25 
years until they divorced and dissolved the partner­
ship. In the early 1980' s, respondent started practicing 
on his own, remaining officed in Beverly Hills with 
listed branch offices in Palm Springs, Costa Mesa, 
and Washington, D.C. At times, respondent's sole 
practice was not nearly as successful as when he 
practiced with Lillian. All of the misconduct occurred 
during respondent's sole practice. Respondent also 
served briefly as a judge pro tern hearing small claims 
cases. 

B. Respondent's Dealings with Eggleston. 

Sometime in 1981 or I 982, respondentmetGeorge 
Eggleston. He was impressed with Eggleston's 
seemingly wealthy, successful background and per­
suasive abilities. He had advised Eggleston in about 
1982 about the tax shelter aspects of an alcohol fuel 
idea. However, respondent knew Eggleston had 
serious problems with tax shelters he had organized 
and that, sometime in the early 1980' s, Eggleston was 
convicted of tax evasion and served six years in 
prison.1 After Eggleston' s release from prison in 
about 1988 or 1989, he and respondentvisited socially 
from time to time. Below, respondent testified that he 
never hired Eggleston as an employee and never had 
a business relationship with him. Respondent admit­
ted, in the hearing department, that he lied when he 
gave contradictorytestimony under oath in an earlier 
federal civil deposition. 

C. Culpability Findings and Related Facts. 

1. The Mollan-Masters Matter. 

Charlotte Rene Malian-Masters was an educa­
tional consultant who lived in Ashland, Oregon and 
had no prior experience with real estate. Her mother 
had died, and her father was ill. Mo Han-Masters was 
trustee of her parents' trust. She wished to sell her 
father's Palm Desert condominium, which was in the 
Palm Valley Country Club development. The real 

1. Respondent did not represent Eggleston in his federal 
criminal prosecution. 
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estate market was down and there were no buyers 
after about a six-month listing period. However, 
Eggleston made a "creative" bid for the property. 
Respondent was to serve as trustee and as escrow. 
Mollan-Mastersdid not know respondent or Eggleston 
and did not negotiate directly with Eggleston or 
respondent. Eggleston bargained with Mollan­
Masters' s realty agent. Mollan-Masters's personal 
attorney did look superficially at respondent's back­
ground and found he was a Harvard Law graduate 
and had other positive qualities. 

The deal Eggleston put together and respondent 
drafted into escrow instructions and a trust agree­
ment was unusual in that it provided for a purchase 
price of$220,000 to be paid over several years from 
the earnings of a "cash grant" of $218,853 to be 
placed in escrow and in trust with respondent serving 
as trustee. The funds represented by the cash grant 
were to be released to the seller in three equal, annual 
installments of $72,951. No real property secured the 
purchase contract, but the trust agreement called for 
the funds to be invested in government or corporate 
bonds. Respondent received a fee of $1,000 for his 
escrow services. 

There was ampledocumentationthatthe $218,853 
grant was to be in cash and that respondent repre­
sented that it had been received in escrow as a cash 
or equivalent payment. The purchase contract re­
cited that a "cash funded irrevocable trust" was to be 
"established for seller." The irrevocable trust agree­
ment respondent prepared made several references 
to the cash grant. It recited the delivery of it to 
respondent as trustee and respondent acknowledged 
receipt of it "as the Original Trust Assets." This trust 
agreement required that the "funds from the Cash 
Grant" be placed in specific types of investments. 
Exhibit I attached to the irrevocable trust agreement 
was a document entitled "cash grant" in the amount 
· of$2 l 8,853 "which amount is equal to the sum of the 
[payments to Malian-Masters]." The cash grant 
recited that it was delivered to the trustee on the 
effective date of the trust. Finally, respondent's 
escrow settlement statement dated June 23, 1992, 
showed credits to the escrow account of $218,853. 

At the time escrow closed in June 1992, respon­
dent sent Mal Ian-Masters $25,000. She neverreceived 
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any more funds from the sale. It is undisputed that no 
funds supporting the cash grant were ever received 
in escrow. 

At the end of August 1992, Mollan-Masters 
wrote to respondent asking a number of questions 
about the sale and the irrevocable trust.· Respondent 
replied to her by letter, stating in part that the only 
bank trustee account established for the assets of the 
irrevocable trust was with his law firm. Respondent 
concealed that there never were any assets in this 
account at the time. Mollan-Masters replied on Sep­
tember I, 1992, expressing concern that she had 
received no proof that the trust was funded, that she 
went ahead with the sale because of respondent's 
sterling reputation, and that she and her lawyers want 
documentation supporting the transfer of property as 
"[a]ny good escrow firm would provide .... " 

The sale contract required Mollan-Masters to 
demand in advance that respondent pay the first 
installrnentdueattheendofJune 1993. Shemadethis 
demand, but respondent did not reply, ignoring re­
peated phone calls and even requests sent by certified 
mail. In November 1993, Mollan-Masters saw re­
spondent by surprising him at his Beverly Hills office. 
He told her that he had been duped in that others were 
responsible for not funding the trust. Respondent 
solicited a $10,000 retainer fee from Mollan-Masters 
to represent her against those allegedly at fault. He 
told her who was at fault, but did not mention 
Eggleston, mentioning instead other victims of 
Eggleston' s business deals. Malian-Masters de­
clined respondent's offer for representation and never 
heard further from him. Unknown to Malian-Mas­
ters, the Palm Desert property went into foreclosure. 

As found by the hearing judge, title to this 
property was held by one or more of Eggleston' s 
ent1t1es. Ultimately, Eggleston' s in-laws, the 
DeMonds, were living in the property. In September 
1994, the Palm Valley Homeowner's Association 
started an unlawful detainer action to remove the 
DeMonds. Respondent opposed vigorously this ac­
tion. 

At the State Bar Court trial, respondent testified 
that the "cash grant" was nothing more than a 
promise by the buyer to pay periodically. 
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The hearing judge found that respondent com­
mitted moral turpitude in violation of section 6106 by 
falsely representing that he had received the pur­
chase price as cash and was holding it in trust. 
However, the hearingj udge found that respondent did 
not violate Business and Professions Code section2 

6068, subdivision (m) or rule 4-1 00(B)(3) Rules of 
Professional Conduct of the State Bar3 as those 
duties pertain to clients, and Mollan-Masters was not 
a client. Accordingly, the hearingjudge dismissed the 
latter two charged violations with prejudice. 

We adopt those findings. 

2. The Pennington Matter. 

In this matter, the hearing judge only found 
respondent culpable of failure to comply with a 
federal district court's discovery order. ( §6103 .) Our 
review of the record supports that finding. It is 
therefore unnecessary to detail the Pennington trans­
action except to set forth facts showing that respondent 
was personally involved in actions taken in this 
matter. Those facts support the hearing judge's 
findings in the other matters. 

One of the homes William Pennington owned 
was in Indian Wells, California, with an adjacent 
vacant lot. One ofEggleston's trusts offered to buy 
the Indian Wells property for $1. 7 million with about 
$300,000 to be paid in cash and the rest in periodic 
payments per a promissory note unsecured by any 
realty. The promissory note payment stream was 
described as secured by Ginnie Mae or Hong Kong 
bonds. Respondent was to act as escrow agent. 

Shortly after the deal, Pennington hired counsel 
to undo it, but it was too late. Pennington's counsel 
tried to get infonnation from respondent as to whether 
or not respondent actually held the bonds. 
Respondent's first reaction was that he did not create 

l. Unless noted otherwise, all references to sections are to the 
provisions of the Business and Professions Code. 

3. Unless noted otherwise, all references to rules are to the Rules 
of Professional Conduct of the State Bar. 
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this transaction and did not sign the papers bearing his 
name. Respondent confronted Eggleston who as­
sured him there were bonds backing up the payments. 
Respondent testified that he researched a Goldman, 
Sachs account which contained valuable bonds and 
then no longer objected to Eggleston's deal with 
Pennington. Respondent also testified that when he 
learned that Eggleston had forged his name he neither 
reported Eggleston to any authorities--heclaimed he 
did not know to whom he should report Eggleston -­
nor did he disassociate himself from Eggleston. 

In May 1992, Pennington filed a federal diver­
sity-of-citizenship fraud lawsuit against respondent, 
Eggleston, the real estate broker and Eggleston's 
cohorts seeking punitive damages. The case was 
assigned to United States District Court Judge Spen­
cer Letts, who was concerned from the outset about 
the unusual realty transaction -- so unusual that even 
counsel could miss the import of it -- and that it 
seemed to Judge Letts that Pennington was unaware 
that he was in jeopardy for having entered into it.4 

The hearing judge decided that because the 
State Bar did not introduce sufficient clear and 
convincing evidence about the most serious charges 
in the Pennington matter, the only charge sustained 
was the section 6103 violation arising from 
respondent's failure to comply with Judge Letts's 
discovery order to produce certain documents. We 
agree with the hearing judge. 

Concerning respondent's failure, he admitted, in 
his testimony in this proceeding that he did not provide 
the ordered discovery. His purported defense was 
that he deemed it advisable to assert his privilege 
against self-incrimination. 

In sum, we adopt the hearingjudge 's culpability 
detennination that respondent violated section 6103. 
In addition, we adopt his dismissals with prejudice of 

4. A partial transcript of a pretrial hearing Judge Lens con­
ducted in the civil case shows that by the time of the hearing, 
the Judge had gotten a sense, although he stressed it was not 
yet a proven finding, that there might not be an honest person 
in this case and he suggested to Pennington's attorney that 
Penningtou needed to protect his position in the deal as soon 
as possible. 
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the charged rule 3-3 lO(BXl) (representation of ad­
verse interests), section 6106 (moral turpitude) and 
section 6068, subdivision (m) (communication with 
client). 

3. The Freund Matter. 

This transaction to sell property owned by the 
Freunds was structured similarly to the Mollan­
Masters matter. The Freunds owned a three bedroom 
condominium at the Lakes Country Club in Palm 
Desert, California. Mrs. Freund had the condo­
minium furnished by a decorator, and she testified 
that it was in very good condition. She decided to sell 
it with all the furnishings. The Freunds were repre­
sented by attorney William Finestone, a certified 
specialist in trust and estate planning with consider­
able experience in that field. 

One of Eggleston' s trusts offered to buy the 
Freunds' home. Respondent acted as escrow agent. 
The deal was finalized in July 1992. The purchase 
price was $238,305.30, to be paid in semi-annual 
installments of $6,216.66 with a lump-sum payment 
of the $207,322 balance on January 3, 1995. To 
support the purchase, Eggleston' s trust was to promptly 
deposit in escrow a "cash grant" of$300,000. Those 
funds were to be invested in unspecified government 
securities or investment grade instruments. Respon­
dent was to act as trustee of the invested. funds. 
There was no realty securing the sale. 

On July 15, 1992, respondent advised attorney 
Finestone that he held the $300,000 cash grant. The 
documents prepared by· respondent were similar to 
those in the Malian-Masters matter. Respondent 
produced on his letterhead an "Opening Statement" 
of the trust dated July 21, 1992, showing "initial trust 
assets" of $300,000 represented by the cash grant. 

A few months after the deal was finalized, 
Finestone was unable to get any informationfrom 
respondent about what assets were in trust. Mrs. 
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Freund was able to visit the property and found that 
the property looked terrible, in part because all of her 
quality furnishings had been replaced with old furniture. 

Finestone also found a legal problem with the 
trust respondent created: that a law office was not a 
qualified trustee under the Probate Code. In Novem­
ber 1992, Finestone petitioned the Superior Court to 
remove respondent as trustee. After vigorous oppo­
sition by respondent, which stretched the matter well 
into 1993, respondent was removed and a bank was 
named successor trustee. The Superior Court held a 
hearing before removing respondent. The probate 
judge asked respondent about the assets of the trust. 
Respondent replied that the only asset was the piece 
of paper he produced entitled "Cash Grant." When 
respondent was unable to account to the probate 
court for any assets, the judge cited him for contempt.5 

The Freunds never received reconveyance of 
their property nor any funds. 

In February 1994, respondent wrote a letter to 
the State Bar stating in part that the "cash grant" was 
not required to represent any cash at the time it was 
given, butonlytoconsistofmoneyfrom time-to-time 
to satisfy the payment schedule. Respondent con­
tended that only the piece of paper entitled "cash 
grant" was required to be received in the trust and 
that is all that respondent held. 

The hearingjudge found respondent culpable of 
committing moral turpitude by representing that he 
held $300,000 in trust when he did not, permitting 
escrow to close without receiving and holding that 
$300,000, and failing to pay funds to the Freunds. The 
hearing judge dismissed with prejudice charges of 
violation of section 6068, subdivision ( m) ( communi­
cate with client) and of violation of rule 4-IOO(BX3) 
(failure to render an accounting) on the ground that 
there was no attorney-client relationship between the 
Freunds and respondent as required by those authori­
ties. We adopt the hearingjudge' s findings with the 

5. As the parties point out in their briefs, the hearing judge 
erroneously found that the probate court found respondent in 
contempt. We correct this minor error. 
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small correction we notedante. In addition, we adopt 
his dismissals with prejudice.6 

4. The Zwiebel Matter. 

In March 1992, Dr. Dirk Zwiebel had served for 
29 years as a clinical psychologist and theologian. 

Zwiebel and his wife, Alberta, had a home in 
Monrovia, California. They needed to move to North 
Carolina to be close to one of the Zwiebel's parents 
who was very ill. They decided to lease their 
Monrovia home. Respondent came to look at the 
property as a prospective tenant and promoted his 
background, even stating that he had earlier been a 
federal judge. Respondent also pointed out that he 
worshipped at the same church as the Zwiebels in 
Pasadena. However, the Zwiebels did not apparently 
know respondent before this meeting. Eggleston 
soon contacted the Zwiebels and proposed a deal to 
refinance both their Monrovia house and a valuable 
house they owned free-and-clear in Pasadena. 

The Zwiebels were committed to a trip to Israel 
and there was pressure to completethe deal. Eggleston 
offered a complex lease-financing arrangement. One 
of Eggleston's trusts would provide the financing. 
One of the loans involved in the transaction was to be 
secured by a promissory note and the cash payments 
on the note would be secured by bonds to be held in 
trust by respondent, acting as trustee. Eggleston's 
trust was also given an exclusive option to buy the 
Monrovia property. The agreement which was 
prepared included the Zwiebels' Pasadena property, 
but according to Ms. Zwiebel, the document she 
signed did not include reference to the couple's 
Pasadena property. 

Before leaving for Israel, respondent asked the 
Zwiebels to give a limited power of attorney to a 
relative of Eggleston, Gorton DeMond. Dr. Zwiebel 
understood that DeMond was an elderly person who 
was not known to him. Zwiebel questioned respon-

6. On the motion of the State Bar, the hearingjudge dismissed 
without prejudice a charged violation of section 6103 (failure 
to obey a court order) in the interest of justice. We adopt that 
dismissal. 
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dent as to whether giving a power of attorney to 
DeMond was wise. Respondent replied that DeMond 
was honest "as the day was long" and that DeMond 
would give the funds of the refinancing to respondent 
to hold in trust. Dr. Zwiebel gave the requested 
power of attorney to DeMond. It was then used by 
Eggleston or others and without knowledge to the 
Zwiebels to obtain outside loans for both Zwiebel 
properties at high rates ofinterest and with very short 
repayment periods. 

When the Zwiebels returned from Israel they 
found Linda Tracy, an Eggleston acquaintance, living 
in their Monrovia property. The Zwiebels asked 
respondent to revoke the deal because it was not 
what they had agreed to. Respondent failed to act as 
requested. Eggleston told Dr. Zwiebel that if he sued 
him and respondent, thatthey would grind him into the 
ground. 

Dr. Zwiebel was unable to get information from 
respondent as to the refinancing funds to come from 
Eggleston's trust. He even tried without success to 
locate respondent at any one of the three office 
addresses respondent listed on his letterhead. Both 
properties ended up in foreclosure, and Dr. Zwiebel 
was very bitter about losing what he considered his 
retirement security. 

At one time, a realtor had a listing to sell both 
Zwiebel properties. This realtordemanded a share of 
the refinancing proceeds. Dr. Zwiebel related this 
demand to respondent who, in February 1992, offered 
to represent Zwiebel in opposing the realtor's de­
mand. The record shows that respondent wrote a 
letter opposing the realtor's demand. 7 

In July 1992, the Zwiebels filed an unlawful 
detainer action in Pasadena Municipal Court against 
Eggleston and those affiliated with him who occupied 
the Monrovia property. Respondent represented 
Tracy and demurred successfully to the complaint. 
Next, the Zwiebels hired a new attorney, Emanuel 

7. Respondent's letter to the realtor opened by stating that 
respondent represented Gorton DeMond and the Centurion 
Trust, a trust for which Dr. Zwiebel was a beneficiary. 
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BarlingJr. Hefiledamulti-countfraudactionagainst 
Eggleston, respondent, and others in Los Angeles 
Superior Court; dismissed the earlier unlawful de­
tainer action; filed anew one; and moved for summary 
judgment. To defend and induce the Zwiebels to drop 
their action, Eggleston contrived a sham claim for 
Tracy that Dr. Zwiebel had sexually harassed her. 
Respondent was present when this scheme was 
discussed. He not only failed to object to it, but 
drafted papers filed in court to advance it. This 
spurious scheme ended when Tracy decided that she 
would not lie any longer to accuse Dr. Zwiebel. 
Respondent merely went along with Eggleston' s 
response that declarations by Tracy and others charg­
ing Dr. Zwiebel with harassment had already been 
sent to the Zwiebels' counsel Barling and it was too 
late to recant. 

The testimony of paralegal Rebecca Fedorow, 
who worked for Eggleston,8 was relevant to several 
counts, but especially to the Zwiebel matter. Fedorow 
testified that she was present at meetings at which 
respondent and Eggleston were also present. At 
different meetings, Eggleston told her that he had 
forged a power of attorney used to refinance one of 
the Zwiebels' property, that names of some of the 
trusts used for the realty transactions were chosen 
arbitrarily from place names on a map ofEngland, and 
that some of the trusts existed in name only. F edorow 
also saw Eggleston sign respondent's name to plead­
ings in the Zwiebel and Pennington matters while 
respondent was present and to which respondent did 
not object. Fedorow was also present in a meeting 
with Eggleston, respondent, and others when Connie 
MacMillan, an acquaintance of Tracy, stated ada­
mantly that she would not I ie in court to falsely assert 
that Dr. Zwiebel sexually harassed Tracy. In re­
sponse to this, Eggleston said that MacMillan's 
declaration to the contrary had already been sent to 
opposing counsel and could not be changed. Fedorow 
observed respondent take no action. She also ob­
served that respondent did not speak out in protest. 

8. According to Fedorow, Eggleston hired her and assigned her 
to work for an attorney named Levenberg. However, F edorow 
did not do any work for Levenberg and spoke with him only 
two or three times by phone. Fedorow's work appeared to be 
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In • the Pennington matter, respondent told 
Fedorow that there were no bonds to support the 
payments due Pennington. She observed respondent 
become very nervous about this lack of security as 
the parties and Judge Letts were demanding to know 
about it. 

In the Zwiebel matter, also relevant was the 
testimony of Dan Kempka, who was a computer 
business principal. He had become involved with 
Eggleston because Eggleston had secured financing 
for Kempka's business. Thereafter, relations soured 
between Kempka and Eggleston. One reason was 
that Kempka learned that Tracy was put on the 
payroll ofKempka' s business just to keep her paid to 
be"kepton"intheZwiebelmatterandtodowhatever 
Eggleston asked Tracy to do because she needed 
money. Eggleston told Tracy that in the unlawful 
detainer action bytheZwiebels, Tracyshould"tell the 
story" that Dr. Zwiebel had made sexual advances to 
her in his Pasadena home. Eggleston said, at a 
meeting Kempka attended with respondent also 
present, that this strategy of a sexual harassment 
claim would prolong the litigation as long as possible so 
thattheZwiebels would just give up. Egglestonsaid that 
Tracy would do anything as she needed the money. 

From the above facts, the hearing judge con­
cluded that respondent committed five violations of 
subdivisions of section 6068 in making untrue allega­
tions against Dr. Zwiebel, advancing untrue facts 
prejudicial to Zwiebel, and encouraging an action for 
a corrupt motive. (§ 6068 subds. ( d), ( f) and (g).) The 
hearing judge concluded that one of the charged 
violations of subdivision ( d) of section 6068 in the 
Zwiebel matter was duplicative of another charged 
violation of the same subdivision. Accordingly, after 
finding respondent culpable of the first charged vio­
lation, the hearingjudge dismissed the second charge 
with prejudice. We adopt that dismissal. 

While the unlawful detainer action was pend­
ing and while respondent knew the Zwiebels were 

to handle various litigation involvingEggleston and !iis associ­
ates. Fedorow held a law degree from the University ofNew 
Mexico, but was not a member of the California Bar. 
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represented by Barling, respondent communicated 
directly with Dr. Zwiebel that Dr. Zwiebel had to be 
present at a court hearing or risk being held in 
contempt of court. The hearing judge found that, as 
a result, respondent wilfully violated rule 2-1 00 (A) by 
communicating this information .directly to Zwiebel 
without the knowledge or consent of his counsel. 

In July 1993, Pasadena Municipal Court Judge 
Philip Argento filed a decision, more than 90 pages in 
length. orderingrespondentto pay sanctions of$80,000 
under section 128.5 of the Code of Civil Procedure. 
This document was admitted only for the purpose of 
showing that Judge Argento's order had a reasoned 
basis.9 Respondent failed to report this sanction to the 
State Bar, claiming it was on appeal. He claimed he 
reported it two years later after his appeals had failed. 
The hearing judge concluded that respondent had 
wilfully violated section 6068, subdivision ( o )(3 ). 

Finally, the hearing judge found that respondent 
wilfullyviolated rule 3-31 O(E) by representing differ­
ent parties adverse to each other without informed 
written consent. 

We adopt the hearing judge's findings in the 
Zwiebel matter and add an additional factual finding, 
based on undisputed evidence, that respondent's 
advancement of spurious charges of sexual harass­
ment against Dr. Zwiebel caused great anguish to the 
Zwiebels. 

D. Eindings and Related Facts in Mitigation 
and Aggravation. 

Respondent practiced for over forty years with 
no record of discipline prior to the misconduct found 
here. (Rules of Proc. of State Bar, title IV, Stds. for 
Atty. Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct (standards), 
std. l.2(e)(i).) 

After respondent dissolved his law practice with 
his former wife, he had difficulty developing clients 
and became depressed, He consulted with a doctor 

9. Judge Argento described the creation of his decision re 
sanctions as the most arduous task he had perf onned as a judge. 
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and began taking medication, but the hearing judge 
gave no weight to this circumstance as it was neither 
supported by expert evidence nor established that the 
condition had been resolved as required by standard 
l.2(e)(iv). 

The hearing judge considered mitigating 
respondent's character evidence. (std. l.2(e)(vi)). 
This included witnesses who testified favorably on 
respondent's behalf and established that he had been 
an important contributor to the founding and support 
of the Arab-American Bar Association. However, 
the hearing judge's evaluation of some of this evi­
dence was tempered by some witnesses who appeared 
either uninformed about the charges and tentative 
findings against respondent or were limited in their 
evaluation of him. We adopt the hearing judge's 
mitigation findings. 

• In aggravation, the hearing judge found that 
respondent's misconduct in the Mollan-Masters, 
Freund and Zwiebel matters was surrounded by bad 
faith, dishonesty and concealment. (std. 1.2(b)(iii)). 
The judge also found aggravating that respondent 
engaged in repeated and multiple acts of serious 
misconduct. ( stcL l .2(b )(ii).) Respondent's lack of 
contrition for the effect of his misconduct and indif­
ference to rectifying those effects were also found to 
be aggravating. (std. l.2(b)(v).) Finally, the hearing 
judge found to be very seriously aggravating, 
respondent's incredible testimony and lack of candor. 

II. DISCUSSION. 

A. Culpability. 

Respondent levies many attacks on the findings. 
Overall, he claims that he had no dealings with the 
victims until after the transactions were completed, 
that he had no attorney-client relationship with the 
victims, and that Eggleston is to be blamed for all the 
victims' losses. Respondentfurthercontendsthatthe 
findings deviated from the notice of charges, that 
certain hearsay evidence was improperly received, 
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and that other evidence was not-adequately weighed 
by the hearing judge. Independently reviewing the 
record (In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207), we 
have concluded that respondent's claims are without 
merit and that the evidence establishing his culpability 
is clear and convincing. 

1. The Mollan-Masters and Freund Matters. 

In the Mollan-Masters and Freund matters, re­
spondent patently deceived both sellers that the 
escrows he administered contained the dollar amounts 
of the property purchase price when he knew that 
they did not. Knowing that the escrows were bare or 
nearly bare of buyers' consideration, respondent 
defrauded the sellers by nevertheless conveying the 
properties. Respondent's misleading use of the 
device that he and Eggleston referred to as a "cash 
grant," which was nothing more than an "empty" 
piece of paper, aided his deception. The use of that 
term clearly conveyed to the sellers, bolstered by the 
documents respondent created, that adequate con­
sideration for the sales existed. 

Respondent's testimony that Eggleston commit­
ted all the wrongs in these matters and that he did not 
know of and was ignorant of Eggleston' s real estate 
scams was not deemed credible by the hearingjudge. 
The hearingjudge' s credibility detennination calls for 
great deference in our review, is well supported by 
the evidence, and the judge's reasoned decision. We 
agree with that determination. (Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, title II, State Bar Court Proceedings, rule 305(a); 
seealsoKe/lyv. StateBar(1988)45 Cal.3d649,655; 
In the Matter of Priamos (Review Dept. 1998) 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 824, 829.) 

Respondent's belated attempt to introduce ques­
tioned documents evidence through expert witness 
testimony allegedly showing that Eggleston signed 
respondent's name to the documents was properly 
devalued by the hearingjudge for lack of foundational 
evidence. Moreover, abundant evidence showed 
that, in these two matters, Respondent personally 
drafted the escrow instructions and the escrow settle­
ment statements. Shortly after both transactions, he 
dealt contemporaneously with the sellers, never dis­
avowing the transactions or the supporting documents. 
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Moreover, even if, arguendo, we were to credit 
fully respondent's expert handwriting evidence, it 
would not show that all the key documents bearing his 
signature were signed by another. 

Unquestionably, respondent's misconduct in both 
the Malian-Masters and Freund matters involved 
moral turpitude as found by the hearing judge. 
Respondent's attempt to show that he did not stand in 
an attomey-c lient relationship affords no defense and 
ignores the evidence that in the Malian-Masters 
matter he sought to • be retained as the victim's 
attorney after deceiving her. Whether or not respon­
dent sought to act as an attorney for these parties, he 
was the escrow agent and trustee in both transac­
tions. Decisions of the Supreme Court make clear 
that, in the capacity of escrow agent, holder or 
trustee, respondent owed the sellers the same high 
duty of honesty and obedience to fiduciary duty as if 
he were acting as their attorney. (See, e.g., Crooks 
v. State Bar (1970) 3 Cal. 3d 346,355, Simmons v. 
State Bar (1969) 70 Cal.2d 361, 365, Johnstone v. 
Stale Bar (1966) 64 Cal.2d 153, 155-156.) In 
addition, respondent's acts of deceit justify attorney 
discipline as conduct involving moral turpitude, re­
gardless of whether respondent was acting as an 
attorney. (§6106; Marquette v. State Bar (1988) 44 
Cal.Jd 253, 262.) 

2. The Pennington Matter. 

In the Pennington matter, respondent's own 
testimony shows that he failed to obey the federal 
district court's discovery order to produce documents 
and thus violated section 6103. Respondent's sole 
excuse was that he was seeking to assert Fifth 
Amendment rights. Yet, he never provided evidence 
that he timely raised his Fifth Amendment privilege 
claims in Federal Court. In addition, respondent did 
answer interrogatories in the same civil case. Fur­
ther, it appears that, even if respondent had timely 
perfected his constitutional claims, it would not have 
protected his refusal to produce the documents in 
contravention of the court order to do so. (See, e.g., 
United States v. Doe (1984) 465 U.S. 605, 610-613 
[Fifth Amendment protects against compelled pro­
duction of documents only if the production has both 
a "testimonial" anc "incriminating" effect against a 
natural person]; see also Braswell v. United States 
( 1988) 487 U.S. 99, I 02-103 .) 
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3. Zwiebel Matter. 

Respondent's many breaches of professional 
ethics were manifest in the Zwiebel matter. The most 
serious charges surrounded his prosecution for one of 
Eggleston' s tenants of an untenable claim of sexual 
harassment by Dr. Zwiebel. The evidence, including 
the testimony of Dr. Zwiebel and Ms. Federow, 
amply established that respondent had no basis for the 
claims against Dr. Zwiebel and knew they were 
untenable. Respondent's misconduct harmed the 
Zwiebels and the administration of justice in several 
important, serious respects. At two stages of the civil 
process, he made untrue charges against Dr. Zwiebel 
to frustrate the Zwiebels unlawful detainer action, in 
violation of section 6068, subdivision ( d). One of these 
instances of false statement also constituted the 
advancement of untrue facts prejudicial to the repu­
tation of Dr. Zwiebel in violation of section 6068, 
subdivision (t). Finally we agree with the hearing 
judge that respondent's acts also served to encourage 
the specious sexual harassment claim for a corrupt 
motive or interest in violation of section 6068, subdi­
vision (g). 

Respondent's claim that the conclusions of the 
hearingjudge were duplicative is not well taken. The 
judge's conclusions were directed at different of­
fenses and, where they involved the same section of 
the Business and Professions Code, they arose from 
different acts of respondent. Thus, the judge found 
multiple violations, not duplicative violations. The 
hearing judge was sensitive to avoiding duplicative 
findings and conclusions, and he refused to find 
respondent culpable of the section 6068, subdivision 
( d) violation in count eight of the charges because it 
duplicated the misconduct charged and found in count 
seven. Moreover, we and the Supreme Court have 
found attorneys culpable of different subdivisions of 
section 6068 concerning offenses directed at the 
administration of justice. (Lebbos v. State Bar 
( 1991) 53 Cal.3d 37, 42, 45; Sorenson v. State Bar 
(1991) 52 Cal.3d 1036, 1042; In the Matter of 
Varakin (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 

IO. Because the municipal court judge'snearly lOOpage order for 
sanctions was admitted only for limited purposes, we have not 
considered the merits of its contents in reviewing this record. 
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Rptr.179, 187.) Insum,noneofthehearingjudge's 
culpability determinations are duplicative. 

(l] In the Zwiebel matter, respondent also com­
municated directly with Dr. Zwiebel when he knew 
that Dr. Zwiebel was represented by counsel upon a 
subjectofcontroversy in wilful violation of rule 2-100 
(A). This contact occurred during litigation. We 
uphold the hearing judge's findings and reject 
respondent's meritless defense that the communica­
tion was justified or reasonable. Respondent had no 
excuse for the communication. Had he meant to 
extend a courtesy to Zwiebel' sown counsel, a much 
different method and communication would have 
been appropriate. It is well settled that rule 2-100 (A) 
and its predecessor former rule 12 are therapeutic 
rules designed, in part, to shield the represented party 
from well-meaning, but misguided advances by an 
attorney to an adverse party as well as deliberately 
improper ones. (Abeles v, State Bar (1973) 9 Cal.3d 
603,609 [ construing former rule 12 ); see also Mitton 
v. State Bar (1969) 71 Cal.2d 525, 534.) 

Respondent does not specifically attack the hear­
ingjudge' s conclusion that he violated rule 3-310 (E) 
by representing conflicting interests regarding the 
Zwiebel's Pasadena property. And, in any event, the 
record clearly supports the hearingjudge' s conclusion. 

[2] Respondent claims that he was not required 
to report the $80,000 in sanctions that Municipal 
Court Judge Argento imposed on him pursuant to 
Code of Civil Procedure section 128.5, because 
respondent had appealed the sanctions order. How­
ever, we rejected that claim in In the Matter of 
Respondent Y (Review Dept. 1998) 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 862,867. The duty to report sanctions timely 
pursuant to section 6068, subdivision ( o )(3) is not 
excused solely because of the pendency ofan appeal. 
(Ibid.) We uphold and adopt the hearing judge's 
culpability conclusion_i0 

We cannot find merit in the procedural conten­
tions respondent advances. He first claims that the 

However, we consider the judge's order as evidence that that 
judge deerr.ed that he had abundant cause for his sanctions 
order. 
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findings supporting the disbannent recommendation 
were not adequately reflected in the charges. Yet, 
respondent's only specific detail of this claim is in the 
Pennington matter. In that matter, the hearingjudge 
found respondent culpable of only one count of 
misconduct, which was expressly and adequately 
charged. Other findings of fact made by the hearing 
judge in the Pennington matter were in the nature of 
background facts regarding the charged misconduct 
and were well established by the evidence. 

[3] Similarly unavailing is respondent's objection 
that the hearing judge erred by admitting evidence 
under Evidence Code section 1223, the so-called 
"coconspirator's exception" to the hearsay rule. 
Respondent's prime objection to the hearingjudge' s 
use of the coconspirator exception to the hearsay rule 
is his claim that no conspiracy was proven. While the 
respective parties did spend time proving or defend­
ing the existence of a conspiracy between respondent 
and Eggleston and while the hearing judge observed 
that such a conspiracy existed, it is not necessary for 
us to affirm that finding either to uphold the hearing 
judge's use of the hearsay exception or to find 
respondent culpable of the grievous misconduct 
charged in the Notice of Disciplinary Charges. We 
agree with the State Bar that the law supporting use 
of the coconspirator exception to the hearsay rule 
does not require "absolute" proof of such a con­
spiracy, but only that there be independent evidence 
to establish prim a facie the existence of a conspiracy 
and other preliminary facts. (See People v. Hardy 
(1992) 2 Cal.4th 86, 139.)11 Those requirements 
were adequately met here based on the testimony of 
F edorow and Kempka who were present at meetings 
at which respondent, Eggleston; and others discussed 
and planned their acts. 

[4] In addition, many of the statements to which 
Fedorow and Kempka testified were not hearsay 
because they could have been offered not to prove 
the truth of the matter stated, but for the purpose of 
showing that they were made in respondent's pres-

11. The other preliminary facts required by Hardy and its cited 
authority are: (I) that the declarant was participating in the 
conspiracy when making the statement; (2) that the statement 
furthered the conspiracy's objective; and (3) that, at the time 
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enceto disprove respondent's claim oflack ofknowl­
edge. (Evid. Code, § 1200, subdivision (a).) 
Accordingly, in the absence of an objection and a 
request, made in accordance with Evidence Code 
section 355, that the use of those statements be 
admitted into evidence for the limited purpose of 
proving whether the statements were made in 
respondent's presence in accordance with Evidence 
Code section 355, any error in their admission was 
waived. (Evid. Code, §353, subd. (a).) Respondent 
does not contend that he made any such objection or 
request. In any case, we agree with the State Bar that 
the testimony of Kempka concerning respondent's 
use of false declarations in the lawsuits in the Zwiebel 
matters was admissible under the adoptive admis­
sions exception to the hearsay rule. (Evid. Code, 
§1221; see Bowles v. State Bar (1989) 48 Cal.3d 
100, 108 [failure of accused attorney to respond when 
charges would ordinarily call for a response war­
ranted use ofadoptive admission exception to hearsay 
rule].) 

B. Discipline. 

Respondent objects to the weighing by the hear­
ingjudge of the factors in mitigation and aggravation. 
Our review of the record shows that the hearingjudge 
balanced appropriately all relevant factors, consistent 
with decisional lawto that effect. (See, e.g., Sands 
v. State Bar ( 1989) 49 Cal.3d 919, 93 l.) The hearing 
judge correctly decided that the aggravating circum­
stances proved outweighed considerablythe mitigating 
evidence. Not only were respondent's offenses most 
serious, involving deceit and harm to the victims and 
the administration of justice, they evidenced multiple 
acts of misconduct and covered many of the basic 
ethical violations which respondent's long practice at 
the bar should have served to avoid. 

The hearingjudge also determined correctly that 
the relevant standard calls for disbarment based on 
the severity of the offense and other appropriate 
factors. Most of the decisions deemed guiding by the 

of the statement, the party against whom the evidence is offered 
was participating in or would later participate in the con­
spiracy. (People v. Hardy, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 139.) 
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hearing judge were in conviction referral matters. 
Had this matter arisen from conviction of a serious 
crime, there would be little doubt that disbannent 
would be the appropriate recommendation. (Com­
pare In the Matter of Brazil (Review Dept. 1994) 2 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 679; see also/n re Schwartz 
(1982) 31 Cal.3d 395.) Indeed, if respondent had 
been convicted of a crime involving moral turpitude 
subject to the provisions of section 6102, subdivision 
( c ), he would have been subjectto a recommendation 
of summary disbannent. However, although this is 
not a conviction referral matter, discipline must still be 
adequate to protect the public, courts and the legal 
profession. (Std. 1.3; Snyder v. State Bar ( 1990) 49 
Cal.3d 1302, 1307.) 

Respondent asserts that our decision in In the 
Matter of Lilly (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 185, calls on us to weigh more heavily his 
lack of prior discipline. However, there are several 
key distinctions between Lilly and this case, most 
notably the far less serious misconduct found inLilly. 
Similarly incomparable is another case relied on by 
respondent, In the Matier of Hultman (Review 
Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 297. In 
Hultman, the found misconduct was limited to an 
attorney's improper borrowing from two trusts in 
which he acted as trustee, aggravated by a false 
account to the probate court and reckless failure to 
provide services, 

[ 5a) The State Bar has not cited any cases on the 
appropriate degree of discipline which we deem 
comparable, and we are unaware of any case de­
e ided by the Supreme Court similar to this case in its 
facts. However, we are aware that "[m]ultiple acts 
of misconduct involving moral turpitude and dishon­
esty warrant disbarment. (Citations.)" (Lebbos v. 
State Bar, supra, 53 Cal.3d at p. 45; see also std. 
2.3.) 

(Sb} This case presents serious acts of dishon­
esty which served to defraud two sellers of valuable 
real estate. Respondent's many ethical violations in 
the Zwiebel matter featured his harm to the Zwiebels 
and the honest administration of justice. Offenses 
concerning the administration of justice have been 
considered as very serious by the Supreme Court. 
(See Sands v. State Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d at p. 930.) 
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[Sc] A recent case decided by us, In the Matter 
of Priamos, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 824, 
offers some guidance. In that matter, the attorney 
had served as counsel to a client who had experi­
enced emotional difficulties. The client asked Priamos 
to manage her investments and he agreed. He 
engaged in a practice of self.dealing with her invest­
ments, failed to keep. adequate records and violated 
the ethical rules regarding entry into business trans­
actions with a client. He showed indifference to 
rectifying the harm he caused and a lack ofinsight into 
his misconduct. Unlike the present case, Priamos had 
a prior imposition of discipline. We recommended 
disbannent, and the Supreme Court imposed that 
discipline. 

(5d] It is clear that disbarment is not reserved 
just for attorneys with prior disciplinary records. 
(See, e.g., Jones v, State Bar ( 1989) 49 Cal.3d 273; 
Changv. State Bar(l989)49Cal.3d 114;Rosenthal 
v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cat.3d 612.) A most signifi­
cant factor to the hearing judge, and to us as well, is 
respondent's complete lack ofinsight. recognition, or 
remorse for any of his wrongdoing. To the present 
time, he accepts no responsibility for what happened 
and only seeks to blame others. Respondent's 
position would not be considered aggravating if it 
stemmed from an honest, but mistaken belief in his 
innocence (see Van Sloten v. State Bar (1989) 48 
Cal.3d 921, 932); but the sizable record we have 
reviewed does not give respondent any plausible 
basis for such a belief. An attorney's failure to accept 
responsibility for actions which are wrong or to 
understand. that wrongfulness has been considered 
an aggravating factor. (Carter v. State Bar ( 1988)44 
Cal.3d I 091, 1100-1101; Tarver v. State Bar ( 1984) 
3 7 Cal.3 d 122, 134.) This factor makes disbarment 
appropriate despite the fact that respondent pre­
sented some mitigating evidence. Even if we were to 
credit respondent's explanation that he surrendered 
too much control to Eggleston, it serves as a grave risk 
to others who might be inclined to trust that such an 
experienced member of the bar would honestly dis­
charge fiduciary duties. Respondent's repeated 
failure to discharge those duties on this record entitles 
the public to be protected by a fonnal reinstatement 
proceeding should he again seek to be licensed as an 
attorney. 
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C. Inactive Enrollment. 

In his decision recommending respondent's dis­
barment, the hearing judge included an order 
involuntarily enrolling respondent as an inactive mem­
ber of the State Bar in accordance with section 6007, 
subdivision ( c )( 4) as amended effective January 1, 
1997, and rule 220(6) of the Rules of Procedure of the 
State Bar, title II, State Bar Court Proceedings. 
However, we recently held in In the Matter of 
Phillips (Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 47, that section 6007, subdivision (c)(4) as 
amended effective January 1, 1997, may not be 
applied in cases in which the notice to show cause ( or 
the notice of disciplinary charges) was filed before 
January 1, 1997. ln the present consolidated pro­
ceeding, both of the notices to show cause were filed 
before January 1, 1997. Accordingly, we shall 
reverse the hearing judge's order enrolling respon­
dent inactive. 

III. RECOMMENDATION. 

For the foregoing reasons, we adopt the decision 
of the hearing judge and his recommendation that 
respondent Robert H. Wyshak be disbarred from the 
practice of law in this state and that his name be 
stricken from the roll of attorneys licensed to prac­
tice. We further recommend that respondent be 
ordered to comply with the provisions of rule 955 of 
the California Rules of Court and perform the acts 
specified in subdivisions ( a)and ( c )ofthatrulewithin 
30 and 40 days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court's order in this matter. We 
further recommend that the State Bar be awarded 
costs in accordance with section 6086.10 and that 
such costs be payable in accordance with section 
6140. 7, as amended effective January 1, 1997. 

IV. ORDER 

We reverse the hearing judge's February 27, 
1998, orderinvoluntarily enrolling respondent Robert 
H. Wyshak as an inactive member of the State Bar 
under Business and Professions Coda section 6007, 
subdivision (c)(4) and order respondent's inactive 
enrollment under section 6007, subdivision (c)(4) 
terminated forthwith. Th is order is without prejudice 
to respondent's inactive enrollment, if warranted, 
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under former section 6007, subdivision ( c )( 4) after 
appropriate notice and hearing. 

We concur: 
OBRIEN, P.J. 
NORIAN, J. 
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The State Bar sought summary review of the hearing judge's decision imposing a private reproval, 
contending that rule 290, Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title II, State Bar Court Proceedings, mandates 
that the State Bar Court include in the imposition of each public or private reproval a requirement that the 
disciplined attorney attend the State Bar Ethics School, unless the attorney has attended that school within the 
preceding two years. The State Bar asserted that the hearing judge's failure to include such a requirement 
was either an error of law or abuse of discretion. The review department disagreed, concluding that rule 290 
does not apply to proceedings in which the discipline imposed is a public or private reproval. 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: David C. Carr 

For Respondent: Kevin Gerry 

IIEADNOTES 

[1 a-d] 135.60 Division VI, Dispositions and Costs (rules 250-284) 
173 Discipline-Ethics Exam/Ethics School 

The State Bar is correct that a private reproval is a sanction that constitutes discipline. And the State 
Bar is also correct that the plain and unambiguous language of rule 290(a), Rules of Procedure 
mandates that except as provided by order of the Supreme Court, a member shall be required to 
satisfactorily complete the State Bar Ethics School in all dispositions or decisions involving the 
imposition of discipline, unless the member previously completed the course within the prior two 
years. However, rule 956(a) of the CaliforniaRulesofCourtauthorizesthe attachment of conditions 
to reprovals. And that rule expressly requires that conditions attached to reprovals be based upon 
a finding that the protection of the public and the interests of the attorney will be served thereby. 
In fact, it is error to attach a condition to a reproval in the absence of such an express finding. 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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Moreover, rule 271, Rules of Procedure, explicitly directs that any conditions attached to reprovals 
must be attached in the manner authorized by California Rules of Court rule 9 56. Accordingly, the 
review department held that the mandatory directive in rule 290 to impose ethics school is not 
applicable in proceedings in which the discipline imposed is areproval. To conclude otheiwise would 
strip all meaning from the requirement in rule 956(a) that conditions attached shall be based on a 
finding that the interests of the pub! ic and attorney will be served thereby. In addition, to conclude 
otherwise would render a portion of rule 271 surplusage. 

Additional Analysis 

Discipline 
Probation 
1051 Private Reproval-With Conditions 
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OPINION: 

OBRIEN, P.J.: 

In a matterof first impression, we decide whether 
rule 290, Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title 11, 
State Bar Court Proceedings1 mandates a condition 
that the attorney attend and satisfactorily complete 
the State Bar Ethics School in all reprovals. The State 
Bar contends that, under rule 290, the State Bar Court 
is required to include in the imposition of each public 
or private reproval a requirement that the disciplined 
attorney attend the State Bar Ethics School in every 
case, unless the attorney has attended that school 
within the preceding two years.· The State Bar 
asserts thatthe hearingjudge' s failure to include such 
a requirement in the matter before us was either an 
error of law or abuse of discretion. We disagree and 
affinn the decision of the hearingjudge. 

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

The State Bar seeks summary review, under the 
provisions of rule 308, of the decision of a hearing 
judge imposing a private reproval on respondent Z2 

without requiring his attendance at the State Bar 
Ethics School. On April 29, 1999, we provisionally 
granted summary review. Following our consider­
ation of the positions of the parties we affirm that 
provisional ruling and consider this matter under the 
authority of rule 308. 

THE STATE BAR'S POSITION 

As noted above the State Bar contends that the 
hearing judge committed an error of law or abused 
her discretion by not attaching to the private reproval 
she imposed on respondent a condition requiring 
respondent to attend and satisfactorily complete the 
State Bar'_s Ethics School. To support its contention, 
the State Bar first argues that"[ a] private reproval is 
a sanction that constitutes discipline. [Citations.]" 
Next, the State Bar argues that, because a private 
reproval is discipline, the hearingjudgewas required, 

1. Except where otherwise indicated, all further references to 
rules are to the Rules of proi:edure of the State Bar of California, 
title II, State Bar Court Proceedings. 
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under the clear and unambiguous language of rule 
290, to attach a condition to respondent's private 
reproval requiring him to complete ethics school. 

Other than the omission of an ethics school 
condition for respondent's private reproval, the State 
Bar does not challenge the degree of discipline 
imposed on respondent by the hearingjudge. (See, 
generally, rule 308(a)(2) [authorizing summary re­
view of "disagreement as the appropriate disposition 
or degree of discipline"].) Furthermore, the State Bar 
does not argue that the facts and circumstances of 
respondent's misconduct necessitate the attachment 
of an ethics school condition to protect the public, the 
courts, and the legal profession; to maintain the 
highest possible professional standards for attorneys; 
and to preserve public confidence in the legal profes­
sion (Rules Proc. of State Bar, title IV, Stds. for Atty. 
Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct (standards), std. 1.3; 
Chadwickv. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 103, 111). 
We need not review the misconduct found by the 
hearingjudge in order to dispose of the State Bar's 
arguments. 

[la] The State Bar is correct that "[a] private 
reproval is a sanction that constitutes discipline." 
(Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 6078.) And the State Bar is 
also correct that the plain and unambiguous language 
of rule 290(a) mandates that"[ e ]xceptas provided by 
order of the Supreme Court, a member shall be 
required to satisfactorily complete the State Bar 
Ethics School in all dispositions or decisions involving 
the imposition of discipline, unless the member previ­
ously completed the course within the prior two 
years." Moreover, there is no question that rule 290 
was adopted by the State Bar's Board of Governors 
under its statutory authority for promulgating rules of 
procedure, which is set forth in Business and Profes­
sions Code sections 6086 and 6086.5. Were we to 
end our inquiry here, we would agree with the State 
Bar that the hearing judge erred as a matter of law in 
not attaching an ethics school condition to respondent's 
privatereproval. 

2. The ordered discipline in the matter before us is a private 
reproval. As a consequence we do not affinnatively disclose 
the attorney's identity. (Rule 270(c).) 
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[lb] However, on further analysis, each of the 
State Bar's arguments fail because we conclude that 
rule 290 is not applicable to proceedings in which the 
discipline imposed is a reproval, public or private. 

RULE 290 DOES NOT APPLY TO CASES 
INVOLVING REPROVALS 

(le] Section 6078 of the Business and Profes~ 
sions Code expressly authorizes the State Bar Court 
to discipline attorneys by reproval, public or private. 3 

However, section 6078 does not authorize the State 
Bar Court to attach conditions to reprovals. It is rule 
9 56( a) of the California Rules of Court that authorizes 
the attachment of conditions to reprovals. And that 
rule expressly requires that conditions attached to 
reprovals be, inter alia, based upon a finding that the 
protection of the public and the interests of the 
attorney wi II be served thereby. In fact, it is error to 
attach a condition to a reproval in the absence of such 
an express finding. (In the Matter of Pyle (Review 
Dept. 1998) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 929, 934,935 .) 
That is because, when the Supreme Court adopts a 
rule of court in accordance with its inherent authority, 
under article VI, section 1 of the California Constitu• 
tion, to regulate the practice of law in this state 
(Hustedtv. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd (1981) 30 
Cal.3d 329, 336-337), the rule of court has the "force 
of positive law" and is, therefore, binding on the State 
Bar Court and the parties as a procedural statute ( cf. 
Brooks v. Union Trust Etc. Co. (1905) 146 Cal. 134, 
138-139 [rules of court adopted by the Supreme 
Court in accordance with its rule making authority 
under former art. VI, §4, Cal. Const., as amended 
Nov. 8, 1904, had "force of positive law" and to be 
strictly enforced]; see also Cantillon v. Superior 
Court(l 957) 150Cal.App.2d 184, 187 [rulesofcourt 
adopted bytheJudicial Council underfonnerart. VI, 
§la, Cal. Const. ( now art. VI, §6) also have "force of 
positive law"]; accord Cal. Rules of Court, Intro. 
Statement(adopted Jan. 1, 1992) ["All the California 
Rules of Court have the force of law."]). 

3. Even though the text of section 6078 refers to "the board" 
{i.e., the StateBar'sBoardofGovemors), section 6086.5 of the 
Business and Professions Code makes it clear that the power 
to impose reprovals is now vested solely in the State Bar Court. 

INTHE MA TIER OF RESPONDENT z 
(Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 85 

[ld] Moreover, rule 271, which the State Bar 
failed to address either in its memorandums on 
summary review or at oral argument, explicitly di­
rects that any conditions attached to reprovals must 
be attached "in the manner authorized by Califor­
nia Rules of Court rule 956." (Rule 271, emphasis 
added.) Accordingly, we hold that the mandatory 
directive in rule 290 to impose ethics school is not 
applicable in. proceedings in which the discipline 
imposed is areproval. To conclude otherwise would 
strip all meaning from the requirement in rule 956(a) 
that conditions attached shall be based on a "finding" 
that the interests of the public and attorney will be 
served thereby. In addition, to conclude otherwise 
would render the first portion of rule 271 surp I usage. 

Respondent was found culpable of one count of 
violating rule 4-1 00(B )(3 ), Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the State Bar of Cal ifomia, requiring an 
attorney to maintain proper trust account records.4 

That finding is not challenged by respondent in this 
review. 

Respondent represented a mother and her adult 
daughter, each of whom was injured in a single 
automobile accident. On February 16, 1994, the 
daughter's claim was settled for $9,000 with the 
insurance carrier of the driver of the other auto 
involved intheaccident. On March 23, 1994,acheck 
in that amount was received by respondent from the 
insurance carrier with a covering letter mentioning a 
release, but no release was enclosed. Between 
March 24, 1994, and April 25, 1994, respondent 
disbursed the settlement funds to the daughter, paid 
various medical claims on behalf of the client and 
reimbursed his attorney's fees. 

On April 18, 1994, respondent received the 
release from the insurance carrier. That release 
included a requirement that evidence of the injuries 
suffered by the daughter could not be used in any 
action brought by the mother. Such a provision had 
not been negotiated, and on respondent's advice the 

4. On three additional counts respondent was found not cul­
pable. In its request for review. the State Bar does not challenge 
these findings, and we do not further discuss them. 
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daughter refused to sign the release. On the day of 
the receipt of the release, respondent notified the 
insurance carrier of his objections to the provision 
restricting the use of that evidence in the claim of the 
mother. The insurance carrier demanded a refund of 
the$9,000. 

Respondent requested, and received, a refund 
on the various medical claims he had paid, redepos­
ited those funds in his trust account, and on learning 
that the daughter was unable to return her share of the 
settlement respondent agreed to advance the repay­
ment of her share of the settlement proceeds in order 
to repay the insurance carrier. On August 10, 1994, 
respondent wrote a trust account check to the insur­
ance carrier refunding the $9,000. However, 
respondent had failed to redeposit the attorney's fees 
he collected from the proceeds and had failed to 
advance, to the trust account, the sum paid to the 
daughter. 

These oversights were not discovered until Oc­
tober 1995, and then only when his banlc notified 
respondent that they had paid a trust account check 
against insufficient funds. During that same month, 
respondent issued another insufficiently funded check 
on his trust account, although that check was also 
honored by the bank. In order to avoid similar 
problems in the future, respondent set up a separate 
ledger for each client. 

In mitigation the hearingjudge found the follow­
ing; respondent had a discipline free record· in 
approximately nine years of practice prior to the 
misconduct (Hawes v. State Bar (1990) 51 Cal.3d 
587, 596 [practicing law for over 10 years without 
misconduct, entitled to significant weight]); he promptly 
corrected the trust account problem by initiating the 
maintenance of proper trust account records (Rules 
of Proc. of State Bar, title IV, Stcis. for Atty. Sanctions 
for Prof. Misconduct (standards), std. 1.2( e )(viii)); he 
was candid and cooperative in both the investigation 
and court proceedings in this matter (std. 1.2(e)(v).) 
and he acted in good faith in both the client matter and 
the current disciplinary proceedings ( std. 1.2( e )(ii)). 
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These findings are not challenged in this sum­
mary review, and we accept them as found by the 
hearingjudge. 

As a condition of the private reproval, the hear­
ingjudge ordered respondent to attend the State Bar 
Client Trust Account Record-Keeping Course. In 
issuing her order, on a motion for reconsideration by 
the State Bar seeking an order compelling respondent 
to attend the State Bar's Ethics School, the hearing 
judge . noted: "The Court ordered Respondent to 
attend [the trust account record-keeping course] 
because, in the Court's view, Respondent's miscon­
duct stemmed directly from his failure to keep adequate 
client trust account records .... ,rln this Court's view, 
attendance at the [trust account course] is more 
appropriate and attendance at both courses is unnec­
essary." 

DISCUSSION 

The State Bar argues that rule 290 mandates that 
the State Bar Court attach as a condition of each 
reproval, a requirement that the attorney attend the 
State Bar's Ethics School, as distinguished from the 
State Bar's Client Trust Account Record-keeping 
Course, The State Bar argues that a private reproval 
is a sanction that constitutes discipline. We agree that 
a reproval is a disciplinary sanction. (Bus. Prof. Code, 
§ 6078.)5 

Rule 290(a) provides: "Except as provided by 
order of the Supreme Court, a member shall be 
required to satisfactorily complete the State Bar 
Ethics School in all dispositions or decisions involving 
the imposition of discipline, unless the member previ­
ously completed the course within the prior two 
years." 

For our purposes we give particular attention to 
the phrase: "Except as provided by order of the 
Supreme Court." In general all disciplinary orders 
are made by the Supreme Court following a recom­
mendation from the State Bar Court. (§6078.) 
However, that section also authorizes the State Bar 

5. Except as otherwise noted, all references to sections are to the 
Business and Professions code. 
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Court to dispose of a disciplinary proceeding by 
imposingreprovals, public orprivate, without making 
a recommendation to the Supreme Court. 

The only authority we find for permitting condi­
tions to be attached to either public or private reprovals 
is rule 956(a), CaliforniaRules of Court. In pertinent 
part, that rule states; "The State Bar may attach 
conditions, effective for a reasonable time, to a public 
or private reproval administered upon a member of 
the State Bar. Conditions so attached shall be based 
upon a finding by the State Bar that protection of the 
public and interests of the attorney will be served 
thereby." 

It is clear that the California Rules of Court, rule 
9 56( a) does not give blanket authority to the State Bar 
to impose a given condition on all reprovals, but, 
rather, there must be an affirmative finding that the 
protection of the public and the interests of the 
attorney will be served thereby. As we have noted, 
to hold otherwise would strip all meaning from the 
requirement in rule 956(a) that conditions imposed 
shall be based on a "finding" that the public interest 
and interest of the attorney will be served. Rule 271 
further confirms the requirement that conditions at­
tached to reprovals be in the manner authorized by 
rule 956 of the California Rules of Court. 

We do not find any inconsistency between rule 
290 and rule 956(a), of the California Rules of Court. 
Rule 290 excepts from its mandatory language those 
cases where there is a contrary order of the Supreme 
Court. Rule 956(a) of the California Rules of Court 
constitutes such a contrary "order" by the Supreme 
Court in that such rules have the force of law. "All 
California Rules of Court have the force of law." 
(Cal. Rules of Court, Intro. Statement (adopted Jan. 
1, 1992).) 

The statutory scheme, the California Rules of 
Court, and the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar 
make clear that the Supreme Court has not delegated 
the authority to impose conditions on reprovals, public 
or private, except on a finding by the State Bar that the 
protection of the public and the interests of the 
attorney will be served. It is fundamental that the 
State Bar Court stands in the position of the State Bar 
in making this determination. (§6086.5.) 
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The hearingjudge, in all respects, complied with 
the requirements of rule 956 of the California Rules 
of Court and rules 290 and 2 71. On her finding that 
attendance at the State Bar's Ethics School was not 
necessary, and in compliance with rule 956 of the 
California Rules of Court, she declined to impose the 
condition, all as required by the exception that limits 
the mandate of rule 290( a): "Except as provided by 
order of the Supreme Court .... " and as authorized 
by rule 270. 

Even though it was not raised by the parties, we 
sua sponte modify the hearing judge's decision to 
provide notice to respondent, as required by rule 
95 6( a) of the California Rules of Court, that his failure 
to comply with the condition attached to his reproval 
may subject him to further discipline. (See, generally, 
Rules Prof. Conduct of State Bar, rule 1-110 [ attor­
neys must comply with all conditions attached to 
reprovals ].J Except as modified hereinabove, the 
decision of the hearing judge, which was filed on 
December 21, 1998, remains the final decision of the 
State Bar Court in this proceeding. (Rule 220(a);Jn 
the Matter of Aulakh (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 690, 696.) 

We concur: 

NORIAN, J. 
STOVITZ, J. 
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The State Bar filed a motion to dismiss petition for reinstatement on the sole ground that petitioner failed 
to show that he had passed a professional responsibility examination (PRE) within the year before he filed his 
petition. The State Bar contended that the Rules of Procedure dealing with reinstatement required petitioner 
to pass a PRE as a condition precedent to his filing a petition. Petitioner contended that passage of a PRE was 
not a condition precedent to his filing a petition, but only a condition precedent to his being reinstated. 

The hearing judge found that the Rules of Procedure required only fonner attorneys who resigned from 
the State Bar with disciplinary charges pending to take and pass a PRE and that petitioner had not resigned 
from the State Bar with charges pending. Accordingly, the hearingjudge concluded that petitioner was not 
required to take and pass a PRE and, therefore, denied the State Bar's motion on that ground. (Hon. Michael 
D. Marcus, Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar sought interlocutory review. The review department held that the hearing judge erred as 
a matter of law when he found that the Rules of Procedure required only former attorneys who resigned from 
the State Bar with disciplinary charges pending to take and pass a PRE and when he found that petitioner had 
not resigned from the State Bar with charges pending. But the review department further held that the Rules 
of Procedure did not require petitioners for reinstatement to prove passage of a PRE as condition precedent 
to their filing petitions, but only that they prove passage as precondition to the State Bar Court recommending 
that they be reinstatement. Accordingly, the review department concluded that, even though the hearingjudge 
denied the State Bar's motion to dismiss on erroneous grounds, his ruling denying the motion was nonetheless 
correct. Thus, the review department denied the State Bar's request to reverse the hearing judge. 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: David C. Carr 

For Respondent: Robert A. Sheppard, in pro. per. 

Editor's note: The summary, head notes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State BarCoun for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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[1 a-e] 130 Procedure-Procedure on Review 

12) 

[3 a-d] 

135. 70 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Review/Delegated Powers 
135.87 Revised Rules of Procedure-Reinstatement 
13 9 Proced u re-MisceUaneo us 
165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
2509 Reinstatement-Procedural Issues 
2590 Reinstatement-Miscellaneous 

Issues raised in State Bar's petition for interlocutory review as to ( 1) whether Rules of Procedure 
required petitioner forreinstatementto provide proof, attime he presented his petition for filing, that 
he had passed a professional responsibility examination within last year (i.e., one before filing of 
petition) and (2) whether hearing judge erred in finding that petitioner had not previously resigned 
from State Bar with disciplinary charges pending were proper for interlocutory review because they 
could detenn ine outcome of proceeding and determine whether petitioner's rehabilitation was an 
issue in proceeding. 

130 
135.70 
165 
2509 
2590 

Procedure-Procedure on Review 
Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Review/Delegated Powers 
Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
Reinstatement-Procedural Issues 
Reinstatement-Miscellaneous 

Where hearingjudge did not issue written ruling on his denial ofSmte Bar' smotion to dismiss former 
attorney's petition forreinstatement, review department determined hearingjudge' s reasoning from 
written transcript of hearing on motion, which was included in appendix to State Bar's petition for 
interlocutory review. 

135 
135.02 
135.87 
159 
165 
169 
191 
199 
2509 
2590 

Procedure-Rules of Procedure 
Procedure-Comparison to Former Transitional Rules of Procedure 
Revised Rules of Procedure-Reinstatement 
Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
Standard or Proof of Review-Miscellaneous 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Reins ta tement-Proced oral Issues 
Reinstatement-Miscellaneous 

\ 

Hearingj udge erred as a matteroflaw in finding that petitioner for reinstatement had not previously 
resigned from State Bar with disciplinary charges pending where petitioner's resignation was 
entitled "resignation with charges pending;" stated that charges were pending against him; was in 
form prescribed by California Rule of Court 960; was accepted by Supreme Court without prejudice 
to further proceedings; and where petitioner stated in his petition for reinstatement that, attime he 
resigned from State Bar, no formal charges were fl led against him by State Bar, but only a number 
of minor client complaints that he had responded to, taken adequate measures to deal with, and 
answered State Bar in writing denying any misconduct. 
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[4] 

[5] 

[6 a-b] 

Other 

135.09 
139 
191 
194 
199 

Revised Rules of Procedure-Other Issues 
Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
Statutes Outside State Bar Act 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 

Even though Rules of Procedure adopted by State Bar's Board of Governors are notlegislative acts, 
it is appropriate to construe them using rules for statutory interpretation/construction. 

135.09 
135.87 
139 
194 
199 
2509 
2590 

Revised Rules of Procedure-Other Issues 
Revised Rules of Procedure-Reinstatement 
Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Statutes Outside State Bar Act 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Reinstatement-Procedural Issues 
Reinstatement-Miscellaneous 

State Bar Court must interpret State Bar Rule of Procedure 665(a) that requires all petitioners for 
reinstatement to take and pass professional responsibility examination within frame work of 
California Rule of Court 951(f) dealing with 'reinstatement because State Bar's rule making 
authority is subject to Supreme Court's inherent authority over attorney regulatory matters. And 
State Bar Court should endeavor to construe State Bar rule as consistent Rules of Court. 

135.87 
139 
194 
199 
2509 
2590 

Revised Rules of Procedure-Reinstatement 
Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Statutes Outside State Bar Act 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Reinstatement-Procedural Issues 
Reinstatement-Miscellaneous 

Applying rules of statutory interpretation to language of State Bar Rule of Procedure 665(a) 
requiring all petitioners for reinstatement to take and pass professional responsibility examination, 
review department held ( 1) that rule sets the earliest time to pass examination at one year before 
filing of petition, but does not set latest time to pass examination and (2) that rule does not require 
proof of passage as condition precedent to filing petition, but only as condition to precedent to State 
Bar Court recommendation of reinstatement. 

106.90 
119 

Additional Analysis 

Proceeding-Pleadings-Other Issues 
Procedure-other Pretrial Matters 
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OPINION: 

OBRIEN, P.J: 

The State Bar seeks interlocutory review of a 
hearingjudge' s denial of its motion to dismiss Robert 
A. Sheppard's petition for reinstatement. [la) In a 
matter of first impression, we consider whether an 
attorney who resigned from the State Bar of Califor­
nia is prohibited from filing a petition for reinstatement 
unless he or she can show the passage of a profes­
sional responsibility examination (PRE) within one 
year prior to that filing. In this case and the compan­
ion case of In the Matter of Irving, which we also 
decide today, we must interpret rule 665(a) of the 
Rules of Procedure of the State Bar of California, title 
II, State Bar Court Proceedings.1 We conclude that, 
under rule 665(a), passage of a PRE is not a condition 
precedent to a former attorney's filing of a petition for 
reinstatement.2 

[ 1 b] An additional issue raised is whether disci­
plinary charges were pending against Sheppard atthe 
time of his resignation from the State Bar. We 
conclude that charges were pending against Sheppard 
at the time of his resignation. Therefore, to obtain 
reinstatement, he must not only pass a PRE, but he 
must also demonstrate, by clear and convincing 
evidence, his ( 1) rehabilitation, (2) present moral 
qualifications for reinstatement, and (3) present abil­
ity and learning in the general law. (Cal. Rules of 
Court, rule 951 (f); rule 665(a) & (b ).) 

INTERLOCUTORY REVIEW IS PROPER 

[le) Rule 300(a) allows a party to petition for 
interlocutory review with respect to, among other 
things, significant issues ( 1) that require intervention 
of the review department before the completion of 
the proceeding in the hearing department and (2) that 
are not readily remediable after trial. In our view the 
two issues presented in the State Bar's petition for 

1. Unless otherwise indicated all further refere!lces to "rules" 
are to the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar ofCalifomia, title 
II, State Bar Court Proceedings. 

2. Rule 665(a)states: "In order to be eligible for reinstatement, 
a petitioner shall, with any petition for reinstatement, show 
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interlocutory review meet those requirements. We 
therefore granted the petition and invited the re• 
sponse of Sheppard, which has been filed. 

[ld] In his response Sheppard contends that 
interlocutory review of the hearing judge's order 
denying the State Bar's motion to dismiss is inappro­
priate. According to Sheppard, interlocutory review 
of the hearingjudge's order is premature. Sheppard 
argues that this matter should proceed to hearing so 
that the hearing judge could make his final ruling on 
Sheppard's petition and that the entire matter could 
be considered by the review department on plenary 
review under rule 301. 

(le] We reject Sheppard's position. The two 
issues raised by the State Bar's petition for interlocu­
tory review could determine the outcome of the 
proceeding as well as whether Sheppard's rehabilita­
tion is in i~ue under his petition for reinstatement. 
Interlocutory review is therefore appropriate. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Rule 300G) directs thattbe standard of review on 
interlocutory review is "abuse of discretion" or "error 
of law." Accordingly, we apply those standards. 

STATE BAR'S MOTION AND 
HEARING ruDGE'S RULING 

In its motion to dismiss Sheppard's petition for 
reinstatement, the State Bar sought the dismissal of 
Sheppard's petition on the sole ground that Sheppard 
failed to show proof of passage of a PRE. According 
to the State Bar, proof of passage of a PRE is, under 
rule 665(a), a condition precedent to the filing of 
petition for reinstatement. 

[2] Because the hearing judge did not issue a 
written ruling in the present proceeding, we deter­
mine his reasoning from the written transcript of the 

proof of passage ofa professional responsibility examination 
after the effective date of the petitioner's disbarment or 
resignation but not more than one year before the filing of the 
petition for reinstatement." 
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hearing on the State Bar's motion to dismiss, which is 
contained in the appendix to the State Bar's petition 
for interlocutory review. Our review of that tran­
scriptdiscloses that the hearingjudge denied the State 
Bar's motion because he concluded()) that Sheppard 
did not resign from the State Bar with disciplinary 
charges pending and (2) that the PRE requirement in 
rule 665(a) applies only to petitioners who resigned 
with charges pending. The hearingjudge opined that 
the tenn "charges pending" means that formal disci­
plinary charges have been filed and are pending 
against the attorney in the State Bar Court. 

As discussed below Sheppard resigned with 
charges pending and the PRE requirement in rule 
665(a) applies to petitioners who resigned with or 
without charges pending or who were disbarred. 

POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES 

On interlocutory review the State Bar seeks ( 1) 
reversal of the hearing judge's order denying its 
motion to dismiss Sheppard's petition for reinstate­
ment and (2) remand with instructions to grant the 
motion to dismiss. To support its requested relief, the 
State Bar argues that the hearingjudge either abused 
his discretion or committed an error of law when he 
denied the motion to dismiss ( 1) because disciplinary 
charges were pending against Sheppard· when he 
resigned from the State Bar and (2) because rule 
665(a) mandates that petitioners for reinstatement 
must pass and show proof of passage of a PRE within 
one year as a precondition to the.filing of the petition 
and because Sheppard did not allege the passage of 
a such an examination in his petition.3 

Sheppard contends that the hearing judge cor­
rectly denied the State Bar's motion to dismiss. In 
support of his contention, Sheppard argues: ( 1) that; 
by order of the S uprerne Court accepting his resigna­
tion, he is not required to pass a PRE as a condition 
to reinstatement; (2) that no charges were pending 
against him at the time he resigned from the State 

3. Sheppard has since affirmatively alleged that he took the PRE 
on August 13 of this year. However, Sheppard did not appear 
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Bar; and (3) that, in any event, rule 665(a) does not 
preclude the passage of a PRE after the filing of a 
petition for reinstatement. 

In support of his third argument, Sheppard as­
serts that rule 665 "is a measure of the burden of proof 
affecting what must be shown in evidence to establish 
eligibility for reinstatement," and does not dea.l with 
the question of eligibility to file a petition for reinstate­
ment. According to Sheppard, he should be given 
time to take the PRE during the course of these 
proceedings or that, if his petition is dismissed, he 
should be permitted to immediately refile his petition 
once he passes a PRE without the payment of 
additional filing fees. Sheppard recites that he is 
presently a resident of Beijing, China, and that the 
requirement of refiling and commencing anew 120 
day investigation period under rule 663(a) would 
result in a great hardship on him in terms of travel and 
delay. 

SHEPPARD IS REQUIRED TO PASS A PRE 
AS A CONDITION OF REINSTATEMENT 

(3a] There is, in the record before us, a copy of 
Sheppard's February 24, 1993, resignation, which is 
titled: "Resignation With Charges Pending." Also, in 
the record before us, is a copy of the Supreme Court 
order filed May 6, 1993, accepting that resignation 
"without prejudice to further proceedings in any 
disciplinary proceeding pending against him." Con­
trary to Sheppard's assertion, that order does not 
contain an exemption allowing Sheppard to be rein­
stated without passing a PRE. Sheppard has not 
proffered evidence of any other Supreme Court order 
granting him an exemption from the PRE require­
ment, which is set forth both in rule 951 (t) of the 
California Rules of Court and rule 665(a). Accord­
ingly, we reject as meritless Sheppard's first argument 
that the Supreme Court exempted him from the PRE 
requirement. 

at oral arguments or otherwise inform us of whether he passed 
that examination. 
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DISCIPLINARY CHARGES WERE PENDING 
AGAINST SHEPPARD WHEN HE RESIGNED 

[3b] We agree with the State Bar's first argu­
ment that disciplinary charges were pending against 
Sheppard when he resigned from the State Bar and 
reject as merit less Sheppard's argument to the con­
trary. As we noted above, Sheppard's resignation is 
titled: "Resignation with Charges Pending." In 
addition, it is in the fonn prescribed, by rule 960(b) of 
the California Rules of Court, for attorney resigna­
tions with disciplinary charges pending. Rule 960 of 
the California Rules of Court was, at the time of 
Sheppard's resignation, and is now the exclusive 
method for an attorney with charges pending to 
voluntarily resign from membership in the State Bar 
and relinquish the right to practice law. (Accord rule 
650.) 

[3c] In accordance with rule 960(b) of the 
California Rules of Court, Sheppard recites in his 
resignation that "I, Robert A. Sheppard, against 
whom charges are pending, hereby resign as a 
member of the State Bar of California .... " 
(Emphasis added.) Having acknowledged his resig­
nation was with charges pending, in a document relied 
upon by the Supreme Court, Sheppard is in no position 
to deny the contents of that document. (Cf. Capital 
National Bank v. Smith ( 1944) 62 Cal.App.2d 3 28, 
343; see alsoDolinarv. Pedone(l 944) 63 Cal.App.2d 
169, 177 [ an admission in a pleading in one action is 
admissible against the pleader in a subsequent pro­
ceeding even if it is proffered by a stranger to the 
fonner action].) 

(3d] Moreover, at the time Sheppard filed his 
resignation, rule 650 of the former Transitional Rules 
of Procedure of the State Bar (effective August 19, 
1989, to January 1, 1995) (former transitional rules) 
(now rule 6504), defined the term "charges are 
pending" as "when the member is the subject of a 
staff investigation, or a formal proceeding or when 
the member is the subject of a criminal charge or 

4. Rule 650 is substantially identical to former transitional rule 
650. Rule 650 provides, in part: ''Charges are pending when 
the member is the subject of an investigation by the Office of 
Investigations, or a disciplinary proceed\ng under these rules, 
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investigation, or has been convicted of a felony or 
misdemeanor." • In his petition for reinstatement 
Sheppard includes the following statement: "At [the 
time of my resignation] there were no charges filed 
against me by the State Bar, but only a number of 
client complaints on minor matters . . . . I had 
responded to all the complaints and taken adequate 
measures to deal with their concerns and answer in 
writing to the State Bar denying any misconduct." 
That statement is an admission by Sheppard that he 
was the subject of a State Bar staff investigation at 
the time he resigned. That admission alone estab­
lishes that charges were pending against him at the 
time of his resignation. 

Furthermore, we note that rule 660 states that 
the rules dealing with proceedings for reinstatement 
pertain regardless of whether the resignation was 
with or without charges pending. Thus, whether or 
not there were charges pending against Sheppard at 
the time of his resignation, he is required to comply 
with the PRE requirement set forth in rule 665(a) to 
gain reinstatementto the bar. However, we note that, 
in the absence of charges pending, Sheppard would 
have been able to gain reinstatement without a 
separate showing of rehabilitation. (Rule 665(c).) 

PASSAGE OF A PRE IS NOT A CONDITION 
PRECEDENT TO FILING A PETITION FOR 

REINSTATEMENT 

We reject the State Bar's argument that passage 
and proof of passage of a PRE is condition precedent 
to filing a petition for reinstatement and agree with 
Sheppard's argument that he may pass and prove 
passage of a PRE after the filing of his petition. In 
order to address these arguments, we first review 
rule 665(a). In that regard; we take a brieflook at a 
partial history of the reinstatement process and the 
PRE as it relates to that process. (See, generally, 
Delaney v. Superior Court (1990) 50 Cal.3d 785, 
794-796.) 

or when the member is the subject of a criminal charge or 
investigation, or has been convicted of a felony or misde• 
meanor." 
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PARTIAL IIlSTORY OF PRE 

For more than 75 years, the Supreme Court has 
held that"[t]he law is interested in the regeneration of 
erring attorneys, and in the enforcement of a sound 
discipline its disposition ought not to be to place 
unnecessary burdens upon them." . (In re Stevens 
(1925) 197 Cal. 408, 424; see also Resner v. State 
Bar(I967)67 Cal.2d 799, 81 l;Pachecov. State Bar 
(I 987) 43 Cal.3d 1041, 1058.) 

In Segretti v. State Bar (1976) 15 Cal.3d 878, 
891, the Supreme Court mandated that following 
suspension from practice, whether actual or stayed, 
and as a condition of resuming or continuing practice 
an attorney shall pass a PRE. The purpose is ''to 
demonstrate that [the attorney] knows, understands, 
and can apply the principles of legal ethics." 
This supplanted the prior practice of requiring that a 
disciplined attorney "read" the State Bar Act and the 
Rules of Professional Conduct. (Ibid.) 

The Supreme Court first imposed the PRE con­
dition on petitioners for reinstatement under the 
amendments effective January 1, 1976, to rule 952( d) 
of the California Rules of Court ( which rule was first 
adopted April 20, 1943, and repealed December 1, 
1990). After the Supreme Court repealed fonnerrule 
952(d), it carried forward to Rule 95I(f) of the 
Cal ifomia Rules of Court the requirement that peti­
tioners for reinstatement pass a PRE. 

The time period in which a petitioner was re­
quired to pass the PRE was originally set forth in 
former transitional rule 667. Under that rule, the State 
Bar Court was authorized to grant a petitioner who 
had not passed a PRE by the conclusion of the hearing 
on his or her petition for reinstatement an additional 
two years within which to pass the PRE. However, 
the State Bar Court's authority to grant a petitioner up 
to an additional two years in which to pass the PRE 
was terminated effective January I, 1995, when the 
fonner transitional rules were superseded by the 
current rules of procedure. 

5. [4) It is clear rules of procedure adopted by the Board of 
Governors are not legislative acts. However, we deem it 
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The time period in which a petitioner for rein­
statement must pass the PRE under the current rules 
of procedure is set forth in rule 665(a). As discussed 
in further detail below, rule 665(a) provides that a 
petitioner must pass a PRE "not more than one year 
before the filing of the petition for reinstatement." 

The present official petition for reinstatement 
fonn required and used by Sheppard has been in use 
since 1987 when it was adopted by the Executive 
Committee of the State Bar Court. The State Bar has 
never objected to its use. That fonn makes no 
reference to a requirement that a petitioner shall have 
passed a PRE prior to filing such a petition. 

INTERPRETATION OF RULE 665(A) 

Under rule 665(a), "[i]n order to be eligible for 
reinstatement, a petitioner shall, with any petition for 
reinstatement, show proof of passage of a [PRE] 
after the effective date of the petitioner's disbarment 
or resignation ... but not more than one year before 
the filing of the petition for reinstatement." 

To interpret that rule we follow the fundamental 
rules of statutory interpretation as established by the 
case law.5 [4 - see fu. 5] In Halbert's Lumber, Inc. 
v. Lucky Stores, Inc. (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1233, 
1238-1239, the court sets forth a three step process 
in statutory interpretation. As the first step, the actual 
language of the statute or rule must be examined. "If 
the meaning is without ambiguity, doubt, or uncer-
tainty, then the language controls. [Citations.]" (/d. 
atp.1239.) Of course, "astatutoryprovisionmustbe 
read and construed in context." (De Young v. City of 
San Diego (1983) 147 Cal.App.3d 11, 16 disap­
proved on another point in Yamaha Corp. of America 
v. State Bd. of Equalization ( 1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 15.) 
It is only if the meaning is not clear "courts musttake 
the second step and refer to the legislative history. 
[Citations.]" (Halbert's Lumber, supra, 6 
Cal.App.4th atp. 1239.) The final step, to be applied 
only if the first two steps fail to reveal a clear meaning, 
"is to apply reason, practicality, and common sense to 

appropriat.; to apply the rules for statutory interpretation to 
such rules. 
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the language at hand." (Ibid; see also 7 Witkin, 
Summary of Cal. Law (9th ed., 1999 supp.) Consti­
tutional Law,§ 94, pp. 42-45.) 

[5) However, we must interpret rule 665(a) 
within the frame work of rule 951 ( f) of the California 
Rules of Court because, as the concurring opinion 
notes, the State Bar's rule making authority is subject 
to the inherent authority of the Supreme Court in 
attorney regulatory matters. (Cal. Rules of Court, 
rule 95 l(g).) In addition, when possible, we should 
endeavor to interpret rule 665(a) as consistent with 
rule 95 l(f) of the California Rules of Court. (Cf. 
Clare v. State Bd. of Accountancy (1992) 10 
Cal.App. 4th 294,303 [statute interpreted in favor of 
constitutionality].) 

( 6a] With these limitations in mind, we look first 
to the language of rule 665(a). A petitioner "to be 
eligible for reinstatement," is required to pass a PRE 
"not more than one year before filing of the petition 
for reinstatement." The quoted language does not 
purport to restrict the passage of a PRE following the 
filing forreinstatement, nor does it require a petitioner 
to pass a PRE to be eligible to file a petition for 
reinstatement. This language clearly addresses the 
issue of petitioner showing recent familiarity with the 
ethical standards of· practice of law. It sets the 
earliest time to pass a PRE, but not the latest. 

Rule 665(a) further requires a petitioner, "with 
any petition for reinstatement, show proof of passage 
of a [PRE] .... " The State Bar argues that the plain 
meaning of this provision is that such proof must be 
shown with the filing of the petition, while petitioner 
argues that the rule establishes a burden of evidence 
that a petitioner must show to establish eligibility for 
reinstatement. 

6. In contrast, the Board ofGovemors, in adopting rule 662( d), 
required attorneys seeking reinstatement to pass the Attorney 
Bar Examination "prior to filing of a petition for reinstate• 
ment." We note operation of rule 662(d) has been suspended 
by directive of the Supreme Court. (See State Bar Note re Rule 
662, Rules Proc. of State Bar (Jan. 1998 ed.).) 

7. Fol!owingnotice to the parties, in accordance with Evidence 
Code section 459, subdivision(d), we take judicial notice of the 
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The language of the rule does not explicitly 
require the proof of passage of a PRE be shown with 
the fl/ ing of the petition for reinstatement, but only 
that it be shown with any petition for reinstatement.6 

Whether the language of the rule means passage of 
a PRE must be shown as a precondition to filing a 
petition for reinstatement or that such passage may 
be shown during the course ofhearing on the petition 
is not clear. The ambiguity in the meaning of the latter 
phrase requires that we go further in our efforts to 
ascertain the intention of the Board of Governors in 
adopting the rule. 

We take the second step as suggested in 
Halbert 's Lumber, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, Inc., 
supra, 6 Cal.App.4th at p. 1239, and look to the 
legislative history. The "legislative history" of the 
adoption of rule 665( a) by the Board of Governors of 
the State Bar shows that the emphasis of the discus­
sion during March through June of 1994 was to 
establish a requirement that a petitioner for reinstate­
ment recently pass a PRE and to insure the petitioner 
was currently acquainted with the ethical standards 
required to practice law.7 Rule 665(a) as initially 
proposed, called for passage of a PRE not more than 
three years before the filing of the petition for rein­
statement. As finally adopted, effective January I, 
1995, the rule reduced the period from three years to 
one year, clearly reflecting a need for petitioners to 
show a current understanding of the ethical obliga­
tions ofattomeys in California. 

As late as August 1994, there remained under 
discussion a rule that would have required a petitioner 
to serve a copy of a purposed petition for reinstate­
ment on the Office of Chief Trial Counsel at least 90 
days prior to even filing a petition or pay only a filing 
fee. 8 

reports of the Discipline Committee of the State Bar's Board 
of Governors regarding rule 665(a) and the statements of 
counsel made a1 the time the Board of Governors adopted rule 
665{a). 

8. See letter dated August 22, 1994, to Board of Governors, et 
al., from Joint Rules Committee of the Discipline and Client 
Assistance Committee and Legal Committee, and the attach• 
ment to that letter. 
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The net result of our review of the legislative 
history is to conclude that it sheds little light on the 
intention of the Board of Governors in adopting rule 
66S(a), with respectto the issue before us other than 
to say that the principal purpose for the rule was to 
insure a current familiarity with the ethical ob ligations 
on the part of petitioners for reinstatement. The 
comments contained in • the various reports reflect 
dissenting views on each of the committees that 
considered the rules and provide little aid in interpret­
ing the rule under consideration. 9 

Under these circumstances we next look to 
reason, practicality and common sense. (Halbert 's 
Lumber, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, Inc., supra, 6 
Cal.App.4th at p. 1239.) And we do so in a manner 
that will result in "a reasonable and common sense 
interpretation consistent with the apparent purpose .. 
. which upon application will result in wise policy 
rather than mischief or absurdity. [Citations.]" 
(De Young v. San Diego, supra, 147 Cal.App.3d at 
p. 18; see also 7 Witkin, Summary of Cal. Law (9th 
ed. 1999 supp.) Constitutional Law, § 94, pp. 42-45.) 

In addition to requiring a showing of rehabilita­
tion and present moral qualificationsalongwith present 
ability and learning in the law, rule 95l(f) of the 
California Rules of Court requires that petitioners 
pass a PRE. There is no suggestion that the Califor­
nia Rules of Court require proof of passage of a PRE 
as a condition precedent to the filing of a petition for 
reinstatement, but only as a condition precedent to a 
State Bar Court recommendation of reinstatement 
and possibly to a Supreme Court order of reinstate­
ment. (Cf. In the Matter of Distefano (Review 
Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 668, 673-674 
[ applying former transitional rule 667].) 

Rule 661, adopted at the same time as rule 665, 
sets forth the requirements for filing a petition for 
reinstatement. Nowhere in that "requirements" rule 
is there any mention of passage of a PRE. 

9. We note, that in a letter from the ·chief Court Counsel 
addressed to "Persons receiving public comment package on 
proposed revised State Bar Court Rules of Procedure and Rules 
of Practice" dated March 15, 1994, the author riotes that 
applicants for reinstatement may fulfill the PRE requirements 
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Rule 665 is captioned "Burden of Proof," sug­
gesting that it is dealing with evidentiary matters 
rather than requirements for filing. This would 
suggest that proof of passage of a PRE could be 
produced during the course of a reinstatement hear­
ing. The initial phrase of rule 665, "In order to be 
eligible for reinstatement," appears to _define the 
purpose of rule 665. Looking at that phrase alone, the 
rule is not dealing with eligibility to file for reinstate­
ment, but rather the more substantive "eligible for 
reinstatement." That eligibility is conditioned upon a 
petitioner passing a PRE "not more than· one yeat 
before filing of the petition forreinstatement". As we 
have noted, this language sets the earliest time a 
petitioner may pass a PRE, but not the latest. The 
quoted language does not purport to restrict the 
passage of a PRE following the filing of a petition. 
The language clearly addresses the issue of a peti­
tioner showing recent familiarity with the ethical 
standards of the practice oflaw and not the filing of 
a petition for reinstatement. 

Rule 66S(a) further requires a petitioner, "with 
any petition for reinstatement, show proof of passage 
of a [PRE] .... " This language must be read with 
the purpose of the rule, which is to define eligibility for 
reinstatement, not eligibilityto.fi/e for reinstatement. 
Since the rule deals with the requirements for "rein­
statement" and not the filing of a petition for 
reinstatement, the meaning of the phrase "show proof 
of passage of a [PRE] with any petition for reinstate­
ment" is to require that proof be shown during the 
petition process, or hearing before the hearing depart­
ment of the State Bar Court. 

This interpretation does not add to the burdens of 
an applicant for reinstatement as established by rule 
951 (t) of the California Rules of Court and Supreme 
Court case law, whereas the interpretation of rule 
665(a) urged by the State Bar would make petitions 
for reinstatement more restrictive than the California 
Rules of Court. It would require passage and proof 

"by passing the PRE at any time up to three years before filing 
the petition for reinstatement." However, this does not shed 
any light on the intention of the Board of Governors in adopting 
the later modified rule. 
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of passage of a PRE as a condition precedent to even· 
the filing of a petition for reinstatement for purely 
administrative reasons without regard to the ultimate 
issue of protection of the courts, the public, and the 
profession. Those basic issues must be addressed 
during the course of a hearing on the petition and no 
detriment is demonstrated to the course of that 
process by permitting the filing of a petition • for 
reinstatement without proof of prior passage of a 
PRE. As quoted above "[t]he law is interested in the 
regeneration of erring attorneys, and in the enforce­
ment of a sound discipline its disposition ought not to 
be to place unnecessary burdens upon them." (In re 
Stevens, :Supra, 197 Cal. at p. 424; see also Resner 
v. State Bar, supra, 67 Cal.2d at p. 811; Pacheco v. 
State Bar, supra, 43 Cal.3d at p. 1058.) 

The State Bar asserts that, as matter of policy, to 
pennitthe filing of a petition for reinstatement without 
proof of passage of a PRE would require the entire 
proceeding be put on hold until a petitioner is able to 
provide proof of passage of such an examination and 
that the resources of the State Bar would· be ex­
pended in investigation, interviewing witness and 
procuring records, to determine if opposition to the 
petition is appropriate. It further argues that such 
effort and the efforts of the State Bar Court may be 
wasted if a petitioner is unable to show proof of 
passage of a PRE during the course of the hearing of 
his or her petition. We do not share the State Bar's 
concerns over these issues, particularly in light of the 
fact that the State Bar does not explain why these 
"issues" were not critical or disruptive to the many 
reinstatement proceedings conducted under former 
transitional rule 667, which as noted above permitted 
the State Bar Court to grant a petitioner an additional 
two-year period after the hearing on his or her 
petition for reinstatement in which to pass a PRE. 

Moreover, to permit the filing of a petition with­
out passage and proof of passage of a PRE is not in 
any way inconsistent with the overall scheme for 
processing petitions for reinstatement. Rule 663(a) 
requires the State Bar's Office ofChiefTrial Counsel 
to devote a 120-daytime period following the filing of 
a petition for reinstatement to investigate whether the 
petition will be opposed by the State Bar. The State 
Bar Court is authorized to extend that period of 
investigation for good cause. (Rule 663(a).) No 
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discoverymay be conducted during that investigative 
period and all times for trial preparation are measured 
from the end of the investigation period. (Rule 
663(b ). ) A substantial filing fee is charged the 
petitioner. (Rule 660.) That fee is currently $900. 

An applicant filing a petition seeking reinstate­
ment, absent the prior passage of a PRE, takes a 
calculated risk. The absence of passage and proof of 
passage of such an examination during the course of 
the hearing on the petition mandates an adverse 
decision on the petition. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 
95 l(f); rule 665(a); cf. In the Matter of Distefano, 
supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 673-674 [former 
transitional rule 667 interpreted to require successful 
passage of a PRE as a condition precedent to a State 
Bar Court recommendation of reinstatement].) Fol­
lowing an adverse decision on a petition for 
reinstatement, a subsequent petition generally niay 
not be filed within a two year period. (Rule 662( e ). ) 
Presumably, an applicant unable to show proof of 
passage of a PRE during the hearing for reinstate­
ment would be barred from filing a further petition for 
reinstatement for an additional two-year period mea­
sured from the resulting adverse decision. (/bid.) 

Under these circumstances we reject the State 
Bar argument that policy requires a holding that rule 
665(a) mandates passage and proof of passage of 
PRE as a condition precedent to filing a petition for 
reinstatement. A petitioner for reinstatement has the 
choice of delaying the filing of a petition until proof of 
passage of a PRE is in hand or taking the risk of a two­
year delay in the event of an adverse decision, and 
again incurring the $900 fee for filing a petition for 
reinstatement. These factors are certainly a deter­
rent to frivolous petitions. Any.unreasonable delay in 
providing proof of passage ofa PRE can be dealt with 
on a case-by-case basis. 

CONCLUSION 

In sum, we conclude that disciplinary charges 
were pending against Sheppard at the time he re­
signed from the State Bar. In addition, we conclude 
that the PRE requirement set forth in rule 665(a) 
applies to all petitioners for reinstatement regardless 
of whether they resigned with or without charges 
pending or were disbarred. [6b] Moreover, we 
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conclude that, under rule 665 (a), passage or proof of 
passage of a PRE is not a condition precedent to the 
filing of a petition for reinstatement in the State Bar 
Court. We are unaware of any rule, statute, or law 
that imposes passage or proof of a PRE as a condition 
precedent to filing a reinstatement petition. Accord­
ingly, even though the hearingjudge based his denial 
of the State Bar's motion to dismiss on his erroneous 
conclusions ( 1) that Sheppard did not resign from the 
State Bar with disciplinary charges pending and (2) 
that the PRE requirement in rule 665(a) applies only 
to petitioners who resigned with charges pending, the 
hearing judge's denial of the State Bar's motion to 
dismiss is nonetheless correct. 

Thus, the State Bar has not established an abuse 
of discretion or error oflaw. We deny the State Bar's 
request to reverse the hearing judge's order denying 
its motion to dismiss Robert A. Sheppard's petition 
for reinstatement. 

I concur: 

NORIAN, J. 

CONCURRING OPINION OF STOVITZ, J. 

I join the majority's holding that respondent 
resigned with disciplinary charges pending and was 
not required to prove passage of a professional 
responsibility examination (PRE) at the time of filing 
his petition for reinstatement. However, my key 
reason forjoining in the majority holding is not any 
ambiguity inrule665(a)oftheRulesofProcedureof 
the State Bar of California, title II, State Bar Court 
Proceedings (Rules of Procedure for State Bar Court 
Proceedings) but rather that the pertinent require­
ment of that rule is inconsistent with and must 
therefore fall to the Supreme Court authorities dis­
cussed by the majority, notably rule 95l(f) of the 
California Rules of Court and the other cited authori­
ties collectively showing that, while the standards for 
reinstatement are very high, the law ought not to put 
unnecessary burdens on those seeking reinstatement. 
(lvfaj. opn., ante, pp. [typed maj. opn., pp. 9, 11-12, 
15-17]J • 

t 0. Of course, a petitioner who waits too long in the proceedings 
to pass the PRE runs a risk that failure of that test may pose 
serious adverse consequences in case the petitioner meets all 
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Rule 665(a) of the Rules of Procedure for State 
Bar Court Proceedings requires that proof of passage 
of the PRE be shown "with" the petition for reinstate­
ment. Whether that rule is ambiguous here turns on 
the meaning of the word "with." The ordinary 
meaning of that word as used in the rule is "a) 
alongside. of; near to b) in the company of . . . . " 
(Webster's New World Diet. (3 d college ed. 1988) p. 
1534.) Under this definition, the petitioner for rein­
statement need not submit proof of PRE passage with 
the filing of the petition, but at the least, would have 
to submit that proof"near" to the time of that filing. 

However, I conclude that, when measured against 
the Supreme Court authorities discussed by the ma­
jority, the pertinent requirement of rule 665(a) may 
not be construed to require proof of passage of the 
PRE as a precondition to the filing of a petition for 
reinstatement or a hearing on the petition, 

The State Bar Board of Governors has statutory 
authority to adopt the mode of procedure in attorney 
regulatory matters. (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 6086; 
6086. 5.) That authority, like any resting on a legisla­
tive act, is always subject to the inherent authority of 
the Supreme Court in attorney regulatory matters. 
(Cal. Rules of Court, rule 95 l(g); In re Attorney 
Discipline System (1998) 19 Cal.4th 582, 593-607; 
Brotskyv. State Bar(1962)57Cal.2d287, 299-301.) 

Rule 95 l(f)oftheCalifornia Rules of Court is the 
Supreme Court's general "codification" of reinstate­
ment requirements. As the majority points out, that 
rule does not require proof of passage of the PRE 
prior to or with the filing of the petition. The Supreme 
Court has never required that a petitioner pass the 
PRE prior to the State Bar Court hearing on the 
petition for reinstatement. Given that the reinstate­
ment process typically spans at least 9 months, 
including a required 120-day investigation period, and 
that the PRE is given 3 times per year, it is reasonable 
to assume that a petitioner who has not earlier passed 
thePREmayplantodoso duringthependencyofthe 
reinstatement proceeding.10 

other requirements for reinstatement. (See, generally, rule 
665( d), Rules Proc. for State Bar Court Proceedings [ discussed, 
post].) 
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This approach is bolstered by the Supreme Court's 
treatment of the seemingly more difficult requirement 
in some cases of establishing learning and ability in the 
general law. Rule 951(f) of the California Rules of 
Court provides that, if a petitioner fails to make, atthe 
hearing on his or her petition for reinstatement, the 
affirmative required showing of present ability and 
learning in the general law, the petitioner may be 
required to t.ake and pass one of the same general bar 
examinations required of applicants for admission to 
establish his or her ability and learning. The State Bar 
Board of Governors has correctly interpreted the 
Supreme Court's requirement allowing for the issue 
of ability and learning to be decided after the State 
Bar Court's hearing on the reinstatement petition by 
the petitioner's passage of one of the general bar 
examinations. (Rules Proc. for State Bar Court 
Proceedings, rule 665(d).) When the Board of 
Governors later sought to require, in rule 662( d)of the 
Rules of Procedure for State Bar Court Proceedings, 
that all petitioners pass a general bar examination 
prior to filing the petition for reinstatement, the Su­
preme Court suspended operation of that rule. (See 
State BaF note re Rule 662, Rules Proc. of State Bar 
(Jan. 1998 ed.).) 

The State Bar's attempt to rely on rule 665(a) of 
the Rules of Procedure for State Bar Court Proceed­
ings to prevent petitioners for reinstatement from 
proceeding to a hearing on t!Jeir qualifications merely 
for failure to prove prior passage of the PRE conflicts 
with the proper interpretation of rule 951 ( f) of the 
California Rules of Court and musttherefore fail. For 
that reason, I concur in the majority's decision to deny 
the relief that the State Bar seeks in its petition for 
interlocutory review. 

STOVITZ, J. 

IN THE MATIER OF SHEPPARD 
(Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 9 J 
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STATE BAR CoURT 

REVIEW DEPARTMENT 

In the Matter of 

J0HI\' OWE1" STANSBURY 

A Member of the State Bar 

No. 98-H-02633 • 

Filed February 24, 2000; as modified, March 21, 2000 

SUMMARY 

The State Bar sought plenary review of a hearing judge's decision in a default matter that respondent be 
suspended from the practice oflaw until he {I) pays specified restitution, (2) attends Ethics School, (3) provides 
proof of passage of the Professional Responsibility Examination, and ( 4) makes a motion to the State Bar Court 
pursuant to rule 205 of the Rules of Procedure and that motion is granted. (Hon. Nancy Roberts Lonsdale, 
Hearing Judge.) 

The Review Department held that to extend an attorney's recommended actual suspension until he or she 
moves the State Bar Court to terminate that suspension under rule 205 of the Rules of Procedure there must 
be a stated, defined and measurable period of actual suspension recommended, and if appropriate, a period of 
stayed suspension. Finding that the hearingjudge's discipline recommendation did not provide for a specific, 
definite, or measurable period of actual suspension within the meaning of rule 205(a}, and based on the found 
misconduct, the Review Department modified the hearing judge's discipline recommendation to include a two­
year stayed suspension, with an actual suspension of 90 days and until the respondent complies with some, but 
not all, of the specified conditions recommended by the hearing judge. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

[1 a-h] 135.SO 
165 
1099 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

Donald R. Steedman 

No Appearance 

lhADNOTES 

Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Division IV, Subpoenas and Discovery 
Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
Substantive Issues re Discipline-Admonition 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court f orthe convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department' a 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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Where the State Bar Court recommends that an attorney who has defaulted in a disciplinary 
proceeding be placed on actual suspension, rule 205(a) of the Rules of Procedure requires that the 
discipline recommendation contain two elements: { 1) a specific period of actual suspension; and ( 2) 
a statement that the attorney's actual suspension shall continue unless the State Bar Court grants 
a motion to terminate the actual suspension at the conclusion of the specific period of actual 
suspension or upon such later date ordered by the court. In the present case the hearing judge 
recommended that respondent be actually suspended until he accomplishes certain tasks (i.e., 
provide evidence of reimbursement to his former client, attend Ethics S cbool, pass the professional 
responsibility examination, and make a motion to the State Bar Court to terminate the actual 
suspension). This recommendation does not meet the requirement of rule 205(a) that the 
recommended discipline include a specific period of actual suspension. At best, the hearing judge's 
recommendation will result in an indefinite, as distinguished from a specific, period of actual 
suspension. To extend an attorney's recommended actual suspension until he or she moves the State 
Bar Court to terminate that suspension under rule 205 there must be a stated, defined and 
measurable period of actual suspension recommended. 

(2 a, b] 135.50 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Division IV, Subpoenas and Discovery 

[3] 

1 79 Discipline Conditions-Miscellaneous 
1099 Substantive Issues re Discipline-Admonition 

While rule 205 of the Rules of Procedure does not specifically preclude a hearing judge in a default 
matter from recommending a period of actual suspension be imposed as a condition of probation 
along with appropriate additional conditions of probation, the rule clearly contemplates that probation 
and its attendant conditions be imposed at the time the defaulting attorney brings a motion under rule 
205(c) to terminate his or her actual suspension. The entire purpose of rule 205 is to eliminate the 
necessity of multiple proceedings against an attorney who is unwilling to participate in the 
disciplinary process and evidences no interest in maintaining his or her membership in the bar. Under 
rule 205 the burden is placed on a defaulting attorney to bring forward to the State Bar Court his 
or her interest in continuing the rightto practice. The appropriate time to consider imposing probation 
and its attendant conditions is when the attorney seeks relief from the actual suspension that may 
be imposed following his or her default in a disciplinary proceeding. It is only at that time that the 
court has before it an attorney who evidences a willingness to comply with conditions of probation 
and a full understanding of the reasons for the attorney's failure to participate in the disciplinary 
process. 

135.50 
179 
1099 

Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Division IV, Subpoenas and Discovery 
Discipline Conditions-Miscellaneous 
Substantive Issues re Discipline-Admonition 

Attendant to a recommendation of suspension, the State Bar Court lacks the authority to impose 
conditions of probation without the prior approval of the Supreme Court. Therefore, it is appropriate, 
in any decision or opinion made under rule 205 of the Rules of Procedure recommending the actual 
suspension of an attorney, to recommend to the Supreme Court that the disciplined attorney be 
ordered to comply with the conditions of probation, if any, reasonably related to the found misconduct 
that the State Bar Court may impose as conditions of probation attendant on terminating the actual 
suspension of that attorney. 
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[4 a, b] 135.50 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Division IV, Subpoenas and Discovery 

[5 a, b] 

1 79 Discipline Conditions-Miscellaneous 
1099 Substantive Issues re Discipline-Admonition 

Attorney discipline is under the control of the Supreme Court and the State Bar Court may only 
recommend such discipline for the approval of the Supreme Court. As a consequence the clear 
parameters of any proposed discipline must be included in the State Bar Court's recommendation 
to the Supreme Court Both stayed and actual suspension are discipline within the context of attorney 
discipline. It follows that in any recommendation for discipline made to the Supreme Court under 
rule 205 of the Rules of Procedure must include, if appropriate, a period of stayed suspension. 

135.50 
171 
173 
179 
1099 

Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Division IV, Subpoenas and Discovery 
Discipline-Restitution 
Discipline-Ethics Exam/Ethics School 
Discipline Conditions-Miscellaneous 
Substantive Issues re Discipline-Admonition 

There is nothing in rule 205 of the Rules of Procedure that expressly precludes the State Bar Court 
from recommending appropriate preconditions to a defaulting and disciplined attorney bringing a 
motion to terminate his or her actual suspension under rule 205, such as recommended in this matter 
by the hearing judge, requiring respondent to make restitution and attend Ethics School. However, 
the requirement thatrespondent take and pass the Professional Responsibility Examination prior to 
bringing a motion for relief from suspension is in conflict with Supreme Court case law requiring that 
a disciplined attorney be given a minimum of one year within which to pass the examination. 

AoomoNAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

251.l l 
Not Found 

220.05 
Aggravation 

Found 
511 
621 

Standards 

Rule 1-110 (former 9-101) 

Section 6103, clause I 

Prior Record 
Lack of Remorse 

805. IO Effect of Prior Discipline 
Discipline 

1013.08 Stayed Suspension-2 years 
1015.03 Actual Suspension-3 months 

Probation Conditions 
l 021 Restitution 
1024 Ethics Exam/School 
1029 Other Probation Conditions 
1030 Standard l .4(c)(ii) 
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OPINION 

OBRIEN, P.l: 

The State Bar seeks review of a decision and 
recommendation that, following his defauJt, John 
Owen Stansbury be actually suspended from the 
practice oflaw until he provides, inter aha, proof of 
restitution to a former client, provides proof of atten­
dance of the State Bar Ethics School and makes a 
motion before the State Bar Court to terminate actual 
suspension under recently enacted rule 205 of the 
Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title II, State Bar 
Proceedings.1 In that decision the hearing judge 
recommended that, if the actual suspension exceeded 
ninety days, Stansbury be ordered to comply with the 
provisions of subdivisions (a} and (c) of rule 955, 
California Rules of Court and that, if the period of 
actual suspension exceeds two years, the Supreme 
Court order Stansbury to remain suspended until he 
makes the required showing of rehabilitation, present 
fitness to practice and present learning and ability in 
the general law as required by Rules of Procedure of 
the State Bar, title IV, Standards for Attorney Sanc­
tions for Professional Misconduct (standards), 
standard 1.4( c )(ii). The hearing judge, sua sponte, 
modified that decision by adding a requirement that 
Stans bury provide proof of passage of the Multistate 
Professional Responsibility Examination (PRE) prior 
to making a motion to terminate the actual suspen­
sion. Other than as recited, the hearing judge 
recommended no period of stated (i.e. definite) actual 
suspension, nor did she recommend a period of stayed 
suspension 

[ la] We hold that to extend an attorney's recom­
mended actual suspension until he or she moves the 
State Bar Court to terminate that suspension under 
rule 205~theremust be a stated, defined and measur­
able period of actual suspension recommended, and 
if appropriate, a period of stayed suspension. 

1. A\1 further references to "rules" are to these rules of proce­
dure unless otherwise stated. 

2. Rule 205 was adopted effective March 15, 1999, and remains 
in effect until June 30, 2000, unless a later enacted amendment 
deletes or extends that date. 

IN THE MATTER OF ST A,'1,SBURY 

(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. l 03 

The entire record is before us. Because we have 
the authority and obligation io conduct a de nova 
review, including the reconunended discipline (Rule 
305 (a);Jn re Morse (1995) 11 Cal. 4th 184,207 ;In 
the Matter of Brimberry (Review Dept. 1995) 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 390, 403), we modify the 
recommended discipline. 

BACKGROUND 

The State Bar seeks plenary review, under rule 
301, of a hearing judge's decision and recommenda­
tion in a default matter. In a prior proceeding 
(Stansbury/), in which Stansbury3 also defaulted, he 
was publicly reproved based upon his failure to return 
unearned fees to a client. That reproval contained 
conditions that Stansbury (I) make restitution to his 
former client in the sum of$750 plus interest thereon 
at the rate often per cent per annum from February 
28, 1996, until paid and provide proofof thatpayment 
to the Probation Unit of the Office of the Chief Trial 
Counsel of the State Bar of California (Probation 
Unit) within 30 days of that payment and (2) attend 
the State Bar of California's Ethics School (Ethics 
School) by March 7, 1999. 

The Notice of Disciplinary Charges (NOC) in 
the present matter included specific allegations of the 
violation ofboth these conditions and was served in 
accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6002. l, subdivision (c}4 and rule 60. No 
response to the NDC was filed. A Notice of Motion 
and Motion for Default were filed and properly 
served on Stansbury in accordance with rule 200 and 
were signed for by Stansbury. There has been no 
appearance by Stansbury. As found by the hearing 
judge, Stansbury had both statutory (Lydon v. State 
Bar(l988)45 Cal.3d 1181, 1186)andactualnoticeof 
the present proceeding. 

3. He was admitted to the Bar on January 9, 1969, and has been 
a member since that time. 

4. All further references to section arc to the Business and 
Professions Code unless otherwise indicated. 
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The hearing judge properly found the factual 
allegations of the NOC to be admitted. (Rule 
200(d)(l)(A).) She concluded that it made no sense 
to place Stansbury on probation unless he evidenced 
a willingness to abide by terms of probation and 
recommended that Stansbury be suspended from the 
practice of law until he (1) pays restitution to his 
former client in the amount of$75 0, plus interest at the 
rate of ten percent per annum from Februal)' 28, 
1996, and reports that payment to the Probation Unit, 
(2) attends Ethics School and provides proof of his 
attendance to the Probation Unit, and (3) makes a 
motion to the State Bar Court pursuant to rule 2055 

and that motion is granted. 

The hearing judge further recommended that, if 
the period of actual suspension exceeds ninety days, 
the Supreme Court order respondent to comply with 
subdivisions (a) and (c) of rule 955 of the California 
Rules of Court and that, if the actual suspension 
exceeds two years, Stansbury remain suspended until 
he makes the required showing of rehabilitation, 
present fitness to practice, and present learning and 
ability in the general law as required by standard 
l .4(c)(ii). 

Thereafter, in her Order Modifying Decision, the 
hearing judge, sua sponte, modified her decision to 
provide that Stansbury further remain suspended until 
he provides proof of passage of the PRE. 

Tiffi EFFECT OF RULE 205(A) 

(lb] The State Bar agrees with each of the facts 
as found by the hearing judge, but argues that where 
actual suspension is recommended, the plain Ian-

S. Rule 205 (a) provides "in a matter in which a member's 
default has been entered and the Court recommends that the 
member be placed on actual suspension, the Court's recom­
mendation shall include both (1) a specific period of actual 
suspension; and (2) a statement that the member's actual 
suspension shall continue unless the Court grants a motion to 
terminate the actual suspension at the conclusion of the specific 
period of actual suspension or upon such later date ordered by 
the court." 

6. We find no ambiguity in rule205 (a), and wedo not consider 
the legis \ati ve history in interpreting subdivision (a) of rule 205 . 
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guage of rule 205(a) requires a defined minimum 
period of actual suspension. We agree. 

[le] Where the State Bar Court recommends 
that an attorney who has defaulted in a disciplinary 
proceeding be placed on actual suspension, rule 
205(a) requires that recommendation contain two 
elements: "( 1) a specific period of actual suspension; 
and (2) a statement that the [attorney's] actual 
suspension shall continue unless the [State Bar Court] 
grants a motion to terminate the actual suspension at 
the conclusion of the specific period of actual suspen­
sion or upon such later date ordered by the court." 

[ld] In interpreting rule 205(a) we first look to 
the plain language of that rule: "If the meaning is 
without ambiguity, doubt, or uncertainty, then the 
language controls. [citations.)" (Halbert's Lumber 
Inc. v. Lucky Stores Inc. (1992) 6 Cal. App. 4th 
1233, 1239; see also 7 Witkin Summary of Cal. Law 
(9th ed. 1999 supp.) Constitutional Law, section 94, 
pp. 42-45.) The rule requires "a specific period of 
actual suspension." We conclude that that phrase is 
without ambiguity, doubt, or uncertainty and that the 
language of rule 205 ( a) controls. "Specific" is defined 
as designating a defined thing, explicit, specific duties. 
(Black's Law Diet. (7th ed. 1999) p. 1406, col. 2.)6 

(le] In the present case the hearing judge 
recommended that Stansbury be actually suspended 
until he accomplishes certain tasks (i.e., provide 
evidence of reimbursement to his former client, 
attend Ethics School, pass the PRE, and make a 
motion to the State Bar Court to terminate the actual 
suspension). It is possible that Stansbury could ac­
complish each of these tasks before the Supreme 
Court issues an order imposing actual suspension.7 

(SeeHafbert 's Lumber inc. v. Lucky Stores, inc. ,supra, 6 Cal. 
App. 4th at pp. 1238-1239 [If the meaning is without ambi­
guity, doubt, or uncertainty, then the language controls."].) 
However, we do grant the State Bar's motion to consider the 
"legislative" history of rule 205 to aid in our interpretation of 
the purpose of rule 205, a_s discussed post. 

7. That likelihood is greatly increased where there is a delay in 
a matter reaching the Supreme Court, either through review in 
the Review Department of the State Bar Court or for other 
reasons. 
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Under such circumstances the Supreme Court would 
have before it no recommendation for actual suspen­
sion That recommendation would fail to meet the 
e"-1Jress requirements of rule 205(a) in that it would fail 
to contain a recommendation for actual suspension. 

[lf] It is true that the hearing judge could refuse 
to grant a motion to terminate the actual suspension 
until after the Supreme Court acted, but that still does 
not meet the requirement of rule 205(a) that the 
recommended discipline include a specific period of 
actual suspension. At best, the hearing judge's deci­
sion and recommendation will result in an indefinite, 
as distinguished from a specific, recommendation for 
actual suspension. That entire recommendation for 
actual suspension is based on the occurrence of 
future events which cannot be known at the time the 
recommendation is made. In our judgement this does 
not meet the requirement of"a specific recommenda­
tion of actual suspension." 

(lgl As the State Bar points out, if the recom­
mendation of the hearing judge is followed by the 
Supreme Court and if Stansbury has complied with 
each of the tasks required of him by the hearing 
judge's order, there will be no actual suspension 
specified by the Supreme Court, nor will there be a 
recommendation for actual suspension from practice 
as required by rule 205(a). 

This position is consistent with the obligation of 
the State Bar to give notice to a non-responding 
attorney in disciplinary matters in its motion for the 
entry of default. Among the items required to be 
included in the notice of motion for the entry of default 
is the following: ". . . IF 1llE DISCIPLINE IM­
POSED BY THE SUPREME COURT IN TIIlS 
PROCEEDING INCLUDES A PERIOD OF AC­
TUAL SUSPENSION, YOU WILL REMAIN 
SUSPENDED FROM THE PRACTICE OF LAW 
FOR AT LEAST 1HE PERIOD OF TIME SPECI­
FIED BY THE SUPREME COURT." (Rule 
2 00( c )[ original emphasis] . ) 

[ 1 h l We find that the decision and recommenda­
tion of the hearing judge is not specific, definite, or 
measurable within the meaning of rule 205{a). 

11'" THE MATTER OF STANSBURY 

(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal State Bar Ct. Rptr. l 03 

The hearing judge expressed her concern about 
placing Stansbury on probation when there is no 
indication that he accepts the obligations of probation, 
as evidenced by his failure to participate in the two 
disciplinary proceedings against him. We share that 
concern. (But see In the Matter of Marsh (Review 
Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 291, 300.) 
However, we know of no restriction to recommend­
ing the placing of a defaulting attorney, deserving of 
actual suspension on a specific and measurable 
period of actual·suspension, and continuing that sus­
pension until the att0rney complies with proper 
conditions. 

This matter is before us on plenary review 
pursuant to rule 30 l. Although limited, because of 
Stansbury's default, the entire record is before us. As 
a consequence we are obligated to conduct de novo 
review of the entire matter, including the recom­
mended discipline. (Rule 305(a).) 

As found by the hearing judge, Stansbury had 
actual and statutory notice of this disciplinary pro­
ceeding under Business and Professions Code section 
6002 .1, subdivision ( c). He was charged in count one 
with violation of rule 1-110 of the Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct, requiring an attorney to comply with 
conditions of reproval and in count two with a viola­
tion of section 6103, requiring an attorney to comply 
with court orders. 

The hearing judge found that Stansbury wilfully 
failed to comply with the conditions of his reproval in 
violation of rule 1-1 IO, Rules of Professional Conduct 
and that he failed to comply with a court order in 
violation of section 6103. As to the violation of section 
6103, she found that it was based on the identical facts 
relied on in finding a violation of rule 1-l l 0, Rules of 
Professional Conduct, and would have no effect on 
the recommended discipline. 

We agree with and adopt the hearing judge's 
finding that respondent is culpable of violating rule 1-
110, Rules of Professional Conduct, but reject her 
finding that Stansbury was also culpable of violating 
section 6103. Because the section 6103 charge was 
duplicative of the found rule 1-110, Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct violation, we dismissed it with prejudice. 
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APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE 

The determination of discipline involves several 
considerations, including the protection of the public, 
promotion of confidence in the legal profession and 
the maintenance of high professional standards. 
(Conroy v. State Bar (1990) 51 Cal.3d 799, 804-
805.) In measuring that discipline, we look to both 
aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (Segal v. 
State Bar (1988) 44 Cal.3d 1077, I 089.) 

Due to Stans bury' s failure to participate in these 
disciplinary proceedings, there are before us no 
mitigating circumstances. Stansbury, admitted to prac­
tice in 1969, has a prior record of discipline: that being 
the public reproval in Stansbury I, which required 
that he make restitution to his fonner client and attend 
Ethics School. "If a member is found culpable of 
professional misconduct in any proceeding in which 
discipline may be imposed and the member has a 
record of one prior imposition of discipline ... , the 
degree of discipline imposed in the current proceed­
ing shall be greater than that imposed in the prior 
proceeding .... " (Std. 1.7(a).) 

To aid in our determination of recommended 
discipline we look to like cases in order to impose like 
discipline. We find two cases that lend aid to our 
determination of discipline: Conroy v. State Bar, 
supra, 5 l Cal.3d 799 and In the Matter of Meyer 
(Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 697. 

In Conroy the attorney received a private 
reproval based upon three incidents of misconduct. A 
condition of the reproval was that Conroy take and 
pass a PRE within one year of the effective date of 
the reproval. Conroy failed to take the examination 
and, in a subsequent proceeding, in which he was 
charged with that failure, he defaulted before the 
State Bar. Court. He, belatedly, passed the PRE and 
thereafter appeared in the Supreme Court. The 
Supreme Court accepted the State Bar Court's 
recommended sixty day's actual suspension as a 
condition of a stayed one•year suspension. 

In the Matter of Meyer, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 697 (Meyer Ill), the respondent was subject 
to two prior disciplinary orders. In Meyer I he had 
been given a private reproval by the State Bar Court, 
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including a one-year probationary period requiring 
respondent to ( 1) file quarterly probation reports and 
(2) complete the State Bar's Ethics School. InMeye r 
II, he \Vas charged with failure to comply with the 
conditions imposed in Meyer I. In Meyer II, the 
respondent was again given a reproval, placed on 
probation for a period of two years and required to ( 1) 
file quarterly probation reports and (2) provide proof 
of completion of six hours of continuing legal educa­
tion within one year. In Meyer Ill, the respondent 
was charged with failing to comply with the reproval 
conditions imposed on him in Meyer II. Meyer 
initially appeared inMeyer III, but failed to appear at 
trial. Meyer was placed on two years' stayed suspen­
sion and three years' probation, conditioned, inter 
alia, upon actual suspension forthe first ninety days. 

We agree that Stansbury's underlying miscon­
duct was more serious than that- of either Meyer or 
Conroy. However, we are not measuring discipline 
for that underlying misconduct, which discipline was 
measured in Stansbury's initial proceeding. Rather, 
we measure appropriate discipline for the similar 
offence of Stansbury's failure to comply with condi­
tions in a reproval. 

The condition requiring Stansbury to make res­
titution to his fonner client is more substantive than 
the prophylactic reporting and educational measures 
set forth in both Conroy and Meyer. Nonetheless, 
the obligation of an attorney subject to conditions 
attached to a reproval is identical in Conroy,Meyer 
111, and the present proceeding. (Rule 1-110.) 

The distinction we note is that Meyer had a 
record of two prior disciplinary matters at the time of 
the ninety days actual suspension imposed inMeyer 
III, and Conroy had a single prior disciplinary matter 
at the time the Supreme Court ordered his actual 
suspension for si-,..,'ty days. Stansbury has a single prior 
record of discipline; however, he participated in 
neither that prior disciplinary matter nor the current 
proceeding. Stansbury' s failure to file an answer and 
thereby allow his default to be entered in this proceed­
ing is serious aggravation because it establishes that 
he does not comprehend the duty as an officer of the 
court to participate in disciplinary proceedings. 
(Conroy v. State Bar, supra, 53 Cal.3d at pp. 507-
08.) It is well established that such a contemptuous 



llO 

attitude towards disciplinary proceedings is highly 
relevant to the determination of the appropriate level 
of discipline. (Ibid.) 

On balance we find Stansbury's misconduct 
more nearly parallels that of Meyer, and we shall 
recommend that his discipline include an actual sus­
pension of ninety days. 

EFFECT OF RULE 205 ON RECOMMENDED 
DISCIPLINE 

{2a) While rule 205 does not specifically pre~ 
elude a hearing judge in a default matter from 
recommending a period of actual suspension be 
imposed as a condition of probation along with appro­
priate additional conditions of probation, the rule 
clearly contemplates that probation and its attendant 
conditions be imposed at the time the defaulting 
attorney brings a motion under rule 205(c) to termi­
nate his or her actual suspension8. The entire purpose 
of rule 205, as derived from the legislative history, is 
to eliminate the necessity of multiple proceedings 
against an attorney who is unwilling to participate in 
the disciplinary process and evidences no interest in 
maintaining his or her membership in the bar. 9 Under 
rule 205 the burden is placed on a defaulting attorney 
to bring forward to the State Bar Court his or her 
interest in continuing the right to practice. 

12b J It is our judgment that the appropriate time 
to consider imposing probation and its attendant 
conditions is when the attorney seeks relief from the 
actual suspension that may be imposed following his 
or her default in a disciplinary proceeding. It is only at 
that time that the court has before it an attorney who 

8. Rule 205(g) states: "If the Court grants the motion to 
terminate the [attorney's] actual suspension, the Court may 
place the member on probation for a specified period of time 
and may impose such conditions of probation as the Court 
deems necessary or appropriate." Rule 205( c )(3) requires the 
attorney seeking to end his or ht:r suspension to state the 
reasons for the failure to respond to the disciplinary charges "in 
order to assist the Court in ascertaining any appropriate 
probation conditions to be imposed. "Subdivision ( c )(4) of that 
same rule requires the attorney to state "whether the member 
is willing to fully comply with such probation conditions as are 
reasonably related to the proceeding" 
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evidences a willingness to comply with conditions of 
probation ( rule 205 ( c )( 4) ) and a full understanding of 
the reasons for the attorney's failure to participate in 
the disciplinary process (rule 205 (c) (3).) 

[3) We do note, however, that attendant to a 
recommendation of suspension, this court lacks the 
authority to impose conditions of probation ·without • 
the prior approval of the Supreme Court. (See In the 
Matter of Respondent Z (Review Dept. 1999) 4 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 85.) Therefore, it is appropriate, 
in any decision or opinion made under Rule 205 
recommending the actual suspension of an attorney, 
to recommend to the Supreme Court that the disci­
plined attorney be ordered to comply with the conditions 
of probation, if any, reasonably related to the found 
misconduct that the State Bar Court may impose as 
conditions of probation attendant on terminating the 
actual suspension of that attorney. 

(4a) However, it is important to recall that 
attorney discipline is under the control of the Supreme 
Court and that the State Bar Court may only recom­
mend such discipline for the approval of the Supreme 
Court. (Section 6087; rule 954(b) of the California 
Rules of Court.) As a consequence the clear param­
eters of any proposed discipline must be included in 
the State Bar Court's recommendation to the Su­
preme Court. Both stayed and actual suspension are 
discipline within the context of attorney discipline. It 
follows that any recommendation for discipline made 
to the Supreme Court, under rule 205 must include 
any appropriate and measurable period of actual 
suspension and, if appropriate, a period of stayed 
suspension. 

9. The frequent scenario of a defaulting attorney in·a case not 
involving serious misconduct, priorto the adoption of rule 205, 
was suspended suspension conditioned on the attorney com­
plying with modest conditions of probation. Upon the 
attorney's failure to comply with those conditions of proba­
tion, a second separate proceeding based on the failure to 
comply with the conditions of probation frequently resulted 
indiscipline requiring actual suspension and a reg uircmen t that 
the disciplined attorney notify his or her clients of that 
discipline under rule 955 ofthcCalifomiaRules of Court. Upon 
the attorney's failure to comply with rule 9S 5, a third additional 
separate proceeding commenced, frequently resulting in dis­
barment for that failure. 
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[4b] To impose a period of stayed suspension, 
not approved by the Supreme Court, as a condition of 
granting a motion for tennination of actual suspension 
under rule 205(c) would amount to the imposition of 
additional discipline without an order of the Supreme 
Court in violation of section 6087 and rule 954(b) of 
the California Rules of Court. In any discipline rec­
rnnmended under the provisions of rule 205(a), to the 
extent stayed suspension is appropriate, it must be 
included in the recommended discipline submitted to 
the Supreme Court. In this way the Supreme Court 
retains its proper control over the proposed discipline. 

Rule 205 (c) (6)makes clear that the provisions of 
rule 955 of the California Rules of Court are applicable 
if the disciplined attorney's actual suspension exceeds 
ninety days and, in the event that suspension exceeds 
two years, theprovisionsofstandard 1.4(c)(ii), requiring 
the attorney to establish his or herrehabilitation, fitness 
to practice, andleaming in the law, apply. (Rule 205 (b).) 

{5a) There is nothing in rule 205 that expressly 
precludes the State Bar Court from recommending 
appropriate preconditions to a defaulting and disci­
plined attorney bringing a motion to terminate his or 
her actual suspension under rule 205, such as recom­
mended in this matter by the hearingjudge, requiring 
Stansbury to make restitution and attend Ethics School. 

[Sb] However, the requirement that Stansbury 
take and pass the PRE prior to bringing a motion for 
relief from suspension is in conflict with Segretti v. 
State Bar (1976). 15 Cal.3d 878, 891, footnote 8, 
requiring that a disciplined attorney be given a mini­
mum of one year within which to pass the PRE. 

RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE 

For the forgoing reasons, we recommend that 
respondent John Owen Stansbury be suspended for a 
period of two years, execution of which be stayed. We 
further recommend that he be actually suspended from 
the practice oflaw for a period of ninety days and until: 

( l) he makes restitution to his former client John 
Frankinhouse in the sum of$7 5 0 plus interest thereon 
at the rate often percent per annum from February 
28, 1996, until paid and provides proofof thatpayment 
to the Probation Unit of the Office of the Chief Trial 
Counsel of the State Bar; and 
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(2) he complies v.1.th rule 955 of the California 
Rules of Court, and 

(3) the State Bar Court grants a motion to tenninate 
his actual suspension pursuant to rule 205; and 

( 4) he attends and satisfactoryily completes the 
State Bar Ethics School and provides satisfactory 
proof of his completion to the Probation Unit. 

We further recommend that he be ordered to 
comply with rule 9 5 5 of the California Rules of Court 
and to perform the acts described in subdivisions (a) 
and (c) of rule 955 within thirty days and forty days 
respectively, after the effective date of the Supreme 
Court order in this proceeding. 

We also recommend that respondent be ordered 
to comply with such probation conditions as are 
reasonably related to this proceeding that hereinafter 
may be imposed by the State Bar Court as a condition 
fortenninating his actual suspension. Ifrespondent is 
actually suspended for two years or more, we further 
recommend that respondent remain actually sus­
pended until he provides proof satisfactory to the 
State Bar Court of his rehabilitation, fitness to prac­
tice, and learning and ability in the general law 
pursuant to standard l .4(c){ii), Standards for Attor­
ney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination given by the National Con­
ference ofBar Examiners and to furnish proof thereof 
to the Probation Unit of the Office of the Chief Trial 
Counsel of the State Bar within one year after the 
effective date of the Supreme Court's order or during 
the period ofhis actual suspension, whichever is longer. 

Finally, we recommend that costs be awarded to 
the State Bar pursuant to section 6086. IO of the 
Business and Professions Code and that those costs 
be payable in accordance with Business and Profes­
sions Code section 6140. 7, as amended effective 
January l, 1997. 

We concur: 

NORIAN, J. 
STOVITZ, J. 
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Quantum of Proof-Miscellaneous 
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The hearing judge erred when he held that the record lacked clear and convincing evidence that 
respondent filed a frivolous appeal. The general rule is that civil findings ar~ not, by themselves, 
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dispositive of the issues in a disciplinary case. Often the issues in the civil case may be either broader 
or narrower than the operative issues in a disciplinary proceeding. However, civil findings made 
under a preponderance of the evidence standard are entitled to a strong presumption of validity in 
the State Bar Court if supported by substantial evidence. In order to hold that an appeal is frivolous, 
the law requires an e:\.tremely high showing, so that zealous but good faith appeals having any merit are 
neither deterred nor sanctioned. Accordingly, the court of appeal's decision finding that respondent's 
appeal of a case was frivolous and pursued in bad faith was, at the very least, a prima facie detennination 
of such. Respondent failed to adduce evidence that overcame that detennination. 

159 
169 
191 
194 

Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
Statues Outside State Bar Act 

Unless civil sanctions issues arising under section 128.5 of the Code of Civil Procedure are 
adequately litigated before the sanctioning court, it would appear inappropriate to apply collateral 
estoppel in the State Bar Court to the sanction order. 

[3] 213.30 State Bar Act-Section 6068(c) 
271.00 Rule 3-200 (former 2-110) 

Respondent's frivolous appeal was a violation of section 6068 subdivision ( c) of the Business and 
Professions Code and rule 3-200(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. However, since the rule 
3-200(A) violation is essentially redundant, for purposes of assessing degree of discipline, the review 
department found respondent culpable of only the section 6068 subdivision (c) violation. 

[4] 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 

Respondent's contention that he should not be found culpable of failing to use truthful means in a 
civil complaint he filed because his statements contained in an initial pleading were rejected. The 
State Bar Act makes any act of dishonesty or misleading of a court to be disciplinable. 

(5 a-d] 1091 
1093 

Substantive Issues re Discipline-Proportionality 
Substantive Issues re Discipline-Inadequacy 

The review department found respondent culpable of serious misconduct which burdened parties 
to litigation and the trial and appellate courts to adjudicate two matters. This included a patently 
frivolous appeal, dishonesty to law enforcement officers and misleading a court. Of special concern 
was that respondent's backgrowid as a certified family law specialist for much of his practice and 
his activity in bar work failed to serve him to avoid the misconduct in this record. Respondent's 
misdeeds cannot be ascribed to inexperience or simple zealousness. Moreover, there is nothing in 
the record which could ascribe this misconduct to any health or similar, singular condition. 
Respondent's lack of insight and failure to appreciate the wrongfulness of his misconduct does not 
bode well for respondent avoiding similar misconduct in the future. Anytime respondent lost on the 
merits of an issue, he would not accept the court's adverse judicial determination and would attempt 
to blame the ruling on the court's lack of understanding of the issues. Balancing all relevant factors 
and seeking to protect the public, courts and the legal profession, the review department increased 
the actual suspension from one year to two years. 
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ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

213.31 
213.41 
221.l l 

Section 6068(c) 
Section 6068( d) 
Section 6106-Deliberate Dishonesty/Fraud 

Not Found 
214.55 Section6068(o) 
271.05 Rule 3-200 (former 2-1 IO) 

Aggravation 
Found 

521 Multiple Acts 
611 Lack of Candor-Bar 
621 Lack of Remorse 
7 4 5 .10 Remorse/Restitution 

Found but Discounted 

Discipline 

710.30 Long Practice with no prior discipline record 
765.30 Pro Bono Work 

1013.09 Stayed Suspension-3 years 
1015:08 Actual Suspension-2 years 

Probation Conditions . 
10 I 7. 09 Probation-3 years 
l 024 Ethics Exam/School 
1030 Standard l .4(c)(ii) 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, Acting P.J.: 

We act on requests by both Respondent Ronald 
E. Lais and the State Bar's Office of Chief Trial 
Counsel (State Bar) to review this attorney discipline 
case. A hearing judge had found respondent culpable 
of some, but not all charged misconduct and recom­
mended that respondent be suspended for three 
years, stayed on conditions of a one-year actual 
suspension. Respondent has been disciplined previ• 
ously (In the Matter of Lais (Review Dept. 1998) 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 907 (Lais/)), but since Lais 
I was not final until after the trial of the present matter 
and the misconduct arose at about the same time as 
in the present matter, its weight for discipline pur­
poses was considerably lessened by the hearing 
judge. 

Respondent urges us to exonerate him of all 
charged misconduct; and, in any case, to reduce the 
discipline to, at most, a 30 or 60-day actual suspen­
sion. The State Bar argues that we should find 
respondent culpable of charges which the hearing 
judge dismissed and recommends disbarment. We 
agree with the State Bar's arguments on culpability 
but detennine that the appropriate discipline is a 
three-year stayed suspension on conditions of proba­
tion including a two-year actual suspension and until 
respondent provides the proof required by standard 
l .4(c)(ii), of the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for 
Professional Misconduct (Standards). 

I. CULP ABILIIT FINDINGS AND 
DISCUSSION. 

A. The Walker Matter. 

1. Facts and findings. 

William F. Walker (Husband), chief financial 
officer of a health care firm and a certified public 
accountant, had received valuable stock options 
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(options) from his employer while he was married to 
Deanna Walker(Wife). In 1987, the parties dissolved 
their marriage. Husband sold some stock after the 
couple separated but 60,000 options remained unex­
ercised. A key dispute in the family law trial was the 
value of Husband' s stock options and their proper 
division as part of the community property. In 1988 
the Orange County Superior Court valued the options 
as of the date of the family law trial, determined the 
amount of community assets • represented by the 
value and awarded these assets to the parties. Hus­
band objected to this decision and appealed it in 
propria persona. 

In 1989, the court of appeal modified the superior 
court judgment because of the trial court's error in 
option valuation, but othen.vise affirmed. (In reMar­
riageofWalker(l989) 216 Cal. App.3d644 (Walker 
/).) Rehearing· was denied and the Supreme Court 
denied review. 

When Husband failed to tender the value of the 
options as ordered by the court of appeal, Wife 
pursued an order to show cause in 1991 in Superior 
Court. Husband hired respondent to represent him. 
This was respondent's first appearance in the case. 
Respondent opposed Wife' s request, claiming that 
she should receive nothing. Relying on Walker I, the 
superior court ordered Husband to pay Wife $564,189. 
Husband, represented by respondent, appealed. (In 
re Marriage of Walker {Dec. 16, 1992) G0I1333/ 
GO 1168 l [nonpub. opn.] ( Walker 11.)1 The appeal 
was assigned to the same appellate court division 
which filed Walker I. In Husband's 4 7-page opening 
brief, respondent acknowledged that Walker I "was 
the law in this case," but urged the Court of Appeal 
to revisit Walker I because it was based on error. 
Most of the other issues respondent raised in Walker 
II also attacked the valuation of the stock options. 

Wife opposed respondent's appeal in Walker JI, 
in part urging that the appeal was frivolous. She 
sought sanctions. 

1. Although this opinion was not certified for publication, it 
may be cited in this disciplinary proceeding. (Cal. Rules of Cl, 
rule 977(b}.) 
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In 1992, the court of appeal filed its opinion in 
Walker II. That opinion began by characterizing in 
one sentence the seven issues respondent raised: 
"Still refusing to accept Walker [I], he wants it 
redecided." (Walker II, typed opn., atp. 3.) The court 
then discussed each of respondent's issues and 
pointed out that they were part of the issues decided 
previously or that respondent's client was obligated to 
have presented the evidence earlier so that the 
pertinent issues could have been determined in Walker 
/. Regarding respondent's attempt to convince the 
court to redivide the stock, the court held that his 
citation to Civil Code section 4& 10 was "ludicrous" in 
that it did not allow any redetermination of a previ­
ously issued appellate decision. (Id. typed opn. at p .3, 
fn.2.) The court of appeal continued by pointing out 
the well-settled doctrine of the law of the case which 
bound trial and appellate courts throughout the subse­
quent phases ofa case even if the court may believe 
that the former decision is erroneous. (Id., typed opn. 
at pp. 4-5, citing Kowis v. Howard (1992) 3 Cal. 4th. 
888, 893.) 

Finally, the court of appeal in Walker II re­
viewed the key authorities surrounding the awarding 
of sanctions for pursuing frivolous appeals. The court 
cited to the leading case of In re Marriage of 
Flaherty(l982) 31 Cal.3d 637, observing that courts 
had articulated tv.ro standards, subjective and objec­
tive. After reviewing these standards, the court held 
that respondent's appeal was frivolous under either 
of them, that the matter was prosecuted for an 
improper motive and that any reasonable attorney 
would agree that the appeal was devoid of merit. The 
court also criticized respondent for imposing on the 
court's time by including multiple volumes of clerk's 
and reporter's transcripts containing papers "entirely 
irrelevant to the present appeal," by inapt citations 
and by arguing evidentiary issues never presented in 

2. The $3,662 was composed of$2,S00 payable to the Wife and 
S 1,162 payable to the court ofappeal, which the court ofappeal 
determined to be a conservative figure representing each 
assessee's share of the estimate of the cost to taxpayers to 
process the average civil appeal, excluding overhead such as 
rent and materials. 

3. Unless noted otherwise, ail references to sections are to the 
provisions oftheBusinessandProfessionsCode. Section 6068 
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Walker I. (Walker II typed opn. at pp. 10-1 l) The 
court discussed the harm caused by fiivolous appeals, 
both to the opposing litigant who is delayed in receiv­
ing the assets to which she is entitled, to the courts 
burdened by increased costs of pointless review and 
to many other litigants in other appeals who are 
prejudiced while the court is distracted by reweighing 
matters which had earlier become final. 

The court in Walker II summed up the essence 
of respondent's appeal: "In Walker [I], we told 
[Husband] what to do. We explained what stock 
[Wife] was to receive and at what value. [Husband] 
chose to ignore its mandates, and when [Wife] was 
compelled to file an order to show cause to receive 
that to which she was already entitled, he responded 
that she should receive nothing. When the trial court 
reminded him it was bound by our decision, he 
appealed. 'Certainly the judgment was appealable. 
However, no reasonable attorney could have con­
cluded the trial court did not follow the directions of 
this court . .,' (Citation)" (Walker Iltypedopn. atp. 11 
[ original emphasis].) 

The court of appeal imposed sanctions of $3,662 
against Husband and an equal amount against re­
spondent.~ In doing so, the court cited Business and 
Professions Code section 6068 subdivision (c)3, re­
jecting respondent's claim that, as an attorney, he 
should not be held responsible for merely advocating 
the position of his client. 

In early 1993, the court ofappeal denied rehear­
ing, and in April 1993, the Supreme Court denied 
review. 

The State Bar charged respondent with violating 
section 6068 subdivision (c) and rule 3-200(A), Rules 
of Professional Conduct of the State Bar4 and with 

subdivision ( c) requires an attorney to "counsel or maintain 
such actions ... only as appear to him or her legal or just, except 
the defense of a person charged with a public offense." 

4. Rule 3-200{A) proscribes, in part, bringing an action ortaking 
an appeal "without probable cause and for the purpose of 
harassing or maliciously injuring" another. 
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failing promptly to report to the State Bar the sanc­
tions ordered (section 6068(0)(3)). Prior to trial, the 
parties stipulated to the background facts set forth 
above and that the failure to report sanctions charge 
be dismissed. The hearing judge made factual find­
ings in confonnity with that dismissal. 

However, the hearing judge found a lack of clear 
and convincing proof that respondent violated either 
section 6068 subdivision (c) or rule 3-200(A) of the 
Rules of Professional Conduct. The hearing judge 
determined that the civil appeal in Walker II was 
decided on a "preponderance of the evidence" stan­
dard and that he must therefore independently assess 
the evidence before.him. When doing so, he decided 
that it failed to meet the clear and convincing standard 
required for culpability. 

2. Discussion of culpability. 

The State Bar has appealed this determination in 
the Walker matter. It contends that the standards 
used by the court of appeal in determining that 
respondent's appeal was frivolous are so high that 
they bring the case well within the clear-and-convinc­
ing standard and that the hearing judge should have 
used principles of collateral estoppel to preclude 
respondent from disputing that the appeal was frivo­
lous. On our independent review of the record (see, 
e.g., In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 207; Rules 
Proc. State Bar, title II, State Bar Court Proceedings, 
rule 305(a)), we hold that clear and convincing 
evidence shows that respondent is culpable of the 
charged misconduct as contended by the State Bar. 
We also affirm the hearing judge's decision on 
stipulated facts that respondent is not culpable of 
failing to timely report the sanctions. 

[la) In our view, the hearing judge erred when 
he held that the record lacked clear and convincing 
evidence that respondent filed a frivolous appeal 
which violated section 6068(c) or rule 3-200(A). 

[lb] A key aspect of the record is the opinion of 
the Court of Appeal in Walker II which held that 
respondent's appeal was frivolous. That opinion was 
preceded by notice to respondent that sanctions were 
sought by the opposing party. 
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[le] At the outset, we agree with the hearing 
judge's citation to the general rule that civil findings 
are not, by themselves, clispositive of the issues in a 
disciplinary case (See, e.g., Rosenthal v. State Bar 
(1987) 43 Cal.3d 612, 634;Jn the Matter oJRespon­
dent K (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 335, 348) There are sound reasons forthis rule. 
Often the issues in a civil case may be either broader 
or narrower than the operative issues in this disciplin­
ary proceeding. For example, a civil proceeding may 
decide only whether an attorney used ordinary care 
in representir.g a client or whether a client gave 
adequate consideration to support an attorney-client 
fee agreement and not whether the attorney breached 
disciplinary standards of conduct. The purposes of a 
disciplinary proceeding are quite different from those 
of a civil proceeding (see, e.g., In the Matter of 
Applicant A (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 318,327), andthebodyoflawis accordingly 
different. However, civil matters do arise which bear 
a strong similarity, if not identity, to the charged 
disciplinary conduct. As the hearing judge correctly 
observed, the Supreme Court has also held that even 
civil findings made under a preponderance of the 
evidence test are entitled to a strong presumption of 
validity before the State Bar Court if supported by 
substantial evidence. (Id. at p. 325.) 

The Supreme Court has noted in several cases, 
the importance to be given appellate court decisions. 
For example, in In re Morse, supra, 11 Cal.4th 184, 
the court cited repeatedly to People v. Morse (1993) 
21 Cal. App.4th 259, a court of appeal opinion to 
which the attorney was a party. That court of appeal 
opinion determined that the attorney's mass mailing 
of homestead exemption materials to prospective 
clients was misleading under state law governing 
homestead filing services. In Lee v. State Bar ( 1968) 
2 Cal. 3d 92 7, 940·94 l, the court took judicial notice of 
a court of appeal opinion to which the attorney was a 
party. (Lee v. Joseph (1970) 267 Cal. App.2d 30.) 
Although noting, as in the present case, that the 
evidence of the attorney's culpability rested on inde­
pendent evidence of misconduct, the Supreme Court 
also stated that the court of appeal opinion was a 
conclusive legal determination that the attorney gave 
no consideration for a promissory note. 
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(Id] Here virtually the entire focus of the court 
of appeal's opinion in Walker JI was on the issue of 
whether that appeal was frivolous. The appellate 
court cited and applied the correct law and found that 
it was a frivolous appeal, giving detailed reasons for 
reaching that conclusion. As the State Bar correctly 
observes, in order to hold that an appeal is frivolous, 
the law requires an extremely high showing. This is 
only sound, so that zealous but good faith appeals 
having any merit are neither deterred nor sanctioned. 
The Walker II opinion itself cited and applied this law 
and its decision became final. Accordingly, the court 
of appeal's decision in Walker 11, was, at the very 
least, a prima facie determination that respondent's 
appeal in that case was frivolous ang that it was 
pursued in bad faith. Faced with disciplinary charges 
and with the opportunity for a trial, respondent failed 
to adduce evidence that overcame the strength of the 
evidence presented by the State Bar. 

Before us, respondent contends that the perti~ 
nent doctrine of In re Marriage of Flaherty supra, 
relied on by the court in Walker //was tempered by 
San Bernardino Community Hospital v. Meeks 
(l 986) 187 Cal. App.3d457. Respondent is incorrect. 
Nothing in the latter case alters the relevant doctrine of 
Flaherty and the other authorities relied on by the 
Walker II court in finding respondent's appeal frivolous. 

(21 On this record, we need not decide whether 
the judge should have applied principles of collateral 
estoppel to preclude the testimonial evidence he 
considered in addition to the record in Walker 11. 
Indeed the case of Wright v. Ripley (1998) 65 Cal. 
App.4th ll89, decided after the disciplinary trial 
below, guides that unless sanctions issues arising 
under section 128.5 of the Code of Civil Procedure 
are adequately litigated before the sanctioning court, 
it would appear inappropriate to apply collateral 

5. Wright v. Ripley,supra, raised the issue of whether a superior 
court's denial of a sanction order collaterally estopped proof 
in a separate tort action of the absence of malice. Although the 
court dealt with a denial of sanctions order, its discussion is of 
interest to this case: •• ... The majority of sanctions motions 
can be resolved summarily, and the party seekmg sanctions 
should be encouraged to pursue that option rather1han pushed 
into seeking a full evidentiary hearing .... Moreover, if collateral 
esloppel effect were given to the denial of such motions. it 
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estoppel to the sanction order .5 Although _,.ve cite 
Wright v. Ripley, we note the detailed findings of the 
court in Walker II and discussion of respondent's 
conduct, compared to the most brief sanctions denial 
order reviewed in Wright. 

[3) We must decide whether respondent's frivo­
lous appeal was a violation of section 6068 subdivision 
(c) or rule 3-200(A) of the Rules of Professional 
Conduct. In our view it was a violation ofboth of those 
charged authorities. In Sorenson v. State Bar ( 1991) 
52 CaL3d 1036, the court applied section 6068 subdi­
vision (c) to an attorney's conduct culminating in the 
filing of a municipal court fraud action seeking exem­
plary damages to redress a basic $45 billing dispute. 
The principles of Sorenson apply to respondent's 
wasteful, expensive relitigation of what respondent 
knew had been finally established as the law in 
Walker I. However, since the rule 3-200(A}violation 
is essentially redundant, for purposes of assessing 
degree of discipline (see post), we shall find respon­
dent culpable in this matter of only the section 6068 
subdivision (c) violation. (Cf. Bates v. State Bar 
(I 990) 51 Cal.3d 1056, 1060; Heavey v. State Bar 
(1976) 17 Cal.3d 553, 559-560.) 

B. The Van Essen Matter - Minnesota. 

I. Facts and findings. 

In 1992 Rodney (Husband) and Lisa Van Essen 
(Wife) were involved in a dissolution of marriage action 
pending in Los Angeles County Superior Court. The 
parties contested sharply custody of their two young 
children. At this time, respondent had not yet appeared 
in the case. As ofSwnmer 1992, custody was awarded 
jointly but physical custody was awarded to Wife with 
visitation rights to Husband. The custody order was 
temporary but effective until further court order. 

would also have to be given when they are granted. It is difficult 
to imagine the extent to which judicial economy would be 
compromised if every lawyer against whom sanctions were 
sought understood that such an award would constitute a 
binding adjudication on issues of his or her professional 
conduct. Regular court business would grind to a halt while 
lawyers exercised their full due process rights to fight the 
charges." (Id. at pp. 1194-1195.) 
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Because of evidence Husband presented about 
Wife's contact with another individual who had 
access to the children, Husband obtained an emer­
gency order in late 1992 for custody. After the 
dissolution trial in Summer 1993, a custody order was 
made reinstating joint custody with physical custody 
to Wife. In October 1993, Husband successfully 
obtained physical custody of the children. At about 
this time, Wife retained respondent to represent her. 

A hearing was set for a custody order on No­
vember 9, 1993. Since respondent recently became 
Wife's counsel, he asked for a continuance. This was 
granted to December 13 but on the condition that 
Husband receive temporary primary physical cus­
tody, that he be allowed to take the children to his 
home, a farm in Minnesota, and that Wife have 
reasonable visitation rights on reasonable notice to 
Husband, including a weekend visit with the children 
if Wife were in Minnesota. Respondent unsuccess­
fully moved for a stay of the order and unsuccessfully 
sought extraordinary writ relief from the court of 
appeal. 

On December 16, 1993, afterathreedayhearing 
at which respondent represented Wife, Superior 
Court Commissioner Taylor awarded primary physi • 
cal custody to Husband in Minnesota; but upon 
reasonable notice to Husband, Wife was allowed a 
weekend visit with the children if she were in Minne­
sota. Respondent unsuccessfully sought a stay of this 
order which took _effect on December 16. 

Wife had visited the children in Minnesota over 
the Thanksgiving 1993 weekend. After the ])ecem­
ber 16 order, she expressed her interest in returning 
to Minnesota to visit the children between Christmas 
Day and New Year's Day. She spoke to Husband 
several times between December 16 _and 22 about 
her plan. Hus band wanted the visit details worked out 
between their attorneys. On December 21, respon­
dent sent a letter to Husband's counsel by telefacsimile 
(fax) informing of Wife's plans to visit the children 
between the afternoon of December 25 and the 
afternoon of January 1. Respondent requested that 

6. Respondent testified that the reason for dismissal was that 
a Minnesota judge did not want to become enmeshed in 
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Husband's counsel forward the information to her 
client so that he would have ample notice of Wife's 
planned .visit. On December 22, respondent sent by 
fax another letter to Husband's counsel asking whether 
Husband would allow some visitation when Wife was 
to be in Minnesota next week. Respondent also told 
Husband's counsel that his vacation started today but 
he would be available by phone and that he would 
"like to resolve the visitation issue before Saturday" 
so Wife can know what to expect on her arrival in 
Minnesota. 

Although Husband's counsel received the letter 
the same day it was faxed, she believed that she had 
extra time to finalize the visitation details. However, 
without any notice to Hus band's counsel, respondent 
and Wife flew to Minnesota on December 22, arriv­
ing late in the evening. A few hours later, they drove· 
in a car respondent had rented to Husband's farm, 
arriving just before 5:00 a.m. on December 23. The 
weather was ten degrees below zero, with five to ten 
inches of snow on the ground. Wife, having previ­
ously observed Husband's farming routine, knew that 
at this time, Husband would be away from the house 
in a nearby barn milking the cows. Respondent let 
Wife out of the car near the house and then drove just 
off Husband's property to wait for Wife and the 
children. Wife went into the house and led the 
children outside. The children were wearing only tee 
shirts. They did not have on any socks or shoes, 
despite the snow and freezing temperatures. Hus­
band and his father heard the commotion and detained 
Wife. They also called the sheriff. Husband found 
respondent in his car and asked him what we was 
doing. He replied that he had a court order with him 
awarding custody to Wife. He produced no such 
order and had none with him. He knew that the 
current order in effect placed primary physical cus­
tody with Husband. 

Sheriff's deputies who responded to the call 
placed respondent and wife under arrest. Respon­
dent was arrested for burglary and depriving Husband 
of his parental rights. Criminal charges against re­
spondent were later dismissed.5 On December 23, 

resolving California custody orders. The record indicates no 
other facts about the outcome of the criminal charges. 
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sheriff's deputies interviewed respondent. He showed 
them a July 1992 stipulation providing for custody per 
conciliation efforts but failed to show the deputies the 
current orders respondent knew placed custody in 
Husband. Respondent also gave a written statement 
to the sheriffs department on December 23, repre­
senting that Wife had legal and physical custody as a 
result of a July 1992 order and that there was no 
superseding custody order. On December 23, Hus­
band was able to reach his counsel who went to the 
courthouse and sent a copy of the current custody 
order by fax to the Minnesota sheriff. 

On January 13, 1994, the superior court issued a 
judgment of dissolution of marriage. Joint legal cus­
tody of the children was awarded with primary 
physical custody remaining in Husband in Minnesota. 
Wife was authorized to visit on reasonable notice to 
Husband. 

Respondent and Wife each testified that their 
decision to go to Minnesota early was sudden, arising 
after Wife was unable to reach Husband on Decem­
ber 22 because Husband's phone had been 
disconnected. Respondent agreed to accompany wife 
to Minnesota without fee in return for Wife's pay­
ment of his airfare. Respondent thought it might be 
necessary to retain local counsel for court action to 
regain custody of the children if Husband refused 
visitation or had left the farm with the children. 
Although respondent may have consulted with local 
family law counsel, that cowisel' s seTVIces were 
never utilized. 

The State Bar charged respondent with commit­
ting moral turpitude in violation of section 6106 by 
assisting and advising his client to violate the court's 
December 13, l992custodyorder. Thehearingjudge 
discussed the evidence at length in his decision and 
found respondent culpable. 

2. Discussion of culpability. 

The State Bar agrees with the hearing judge's 
findings. Respondent however contends that Wife 
did not intend to abduct the children from Husband's 
farm on December 23; and, even if she did, the record 
is devoid of evidence that respondent either knew that 
she would or that he acted unlawfully. Respondent 
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has taken issue with the manner in which the hearing 
judge weighed the credibility of witnesses and used 
that weight to conclude that respondent was culpable. 
Respondent has posited his own version of the events 
of December 2 3 to show that they are more plausible 
than the State Bar's. However, even if we credit 
respondent's attack on some of the testimony, it does 
not warrant reversing the hearing judge's conclusion 
that he was culpable. The undisputed chronology of 
court orders and the barest details of the events at 
Husband's Minnesota farm on December 23, 1993, 
amply establish respondent's culpability. 

At all times, respondent was aware of the chain 
of custody orders. He knew that the December 16 
superior court order provided for physical custody to 
remain with Husband. Even assuming that Wife 
devised the plan on her own to visit her children in 
Minnesota two days early, respondent knew that 
such precipitous visitation was not authorized either 
by his letters that he had faxed to Husband's counsel 
or the outstanding court order which required reason­
able notice prior to visitation. IfWife was worried that 
her Husband's disconnected phone was a sign he 
might refuse her visit, respondent never let opposing 
counsel know that he was flying to Minnesota with 
Wife on December 22. His personal presence in 
driving Wife to the farm aids in the moral turpitude 
conclusion, for respondent knew that Wife had planned 
to leave with the children on December 23, as she had 
packed bags of clothes for them and had reservations 
at a resort in Minnesota. Even ifwe were to credit 
respondent's claim, that the December 23 visit to the 
farm was solely Wife's idea, and respondent was an 
innocent escort, he was fully as culpable as a principal 
in this unfortunate escapade. Even if respondent's 
acts and motive were pure, however, by acting as he 
did in Minnesota, he placed his client and the children 
at great risk. It was entirely foreseeable that in dark, 
winter conditions, harm might occur to the children, 
Wife or Husband, if an altercation developed. That 
apparently no one was harmed was fortuitous. (Cf.In 
the Matter of Stewart (Review Dept. 1994} 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 52, 60-61.) 

This case represents a classic one for applying 
the well-established rule that we give great weight to 
findings of the bearingjudge resting on determination 
of witness credibility. (Rules Proc. State Bar, title II, 
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State Bar Court Proceedings, rule 305(a); In the 
Matter of Harney (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 266, 280 citing Connor v. State Bar 
(1990) 50 Cal.3d 1047, 1056.) The judge saw and 
heard all witnesses over a four day trial and was in the 
appropriate position to and did appropriately assess 
the credibility of witnesses. Twelve pages of his 
decision are devoted to a thorough assessment of the 
credibility of respondent with many reasons for find­
ing respondent not credible as a witness. We are 
given no good reason in the record to overturn that 
determination and we uphold it. 

Moreover, a very serious matter which is hardly 
disputed by respondent on revi~', was his practice of 
deceit to Husband and the Minnesota sheriffs depu­
ties as to the custody order in effect. Husband's 
counsel was required to hurry to the courthouse, 
obtain a copy of the order and fax it to the sheriff in 
Minnesota in order to give an accurate view of the 
current custody order. Respondent's attack on the 
hearing judge's findings is limited to his dispute over 
whether he made a written misstatement to the 
sheriff. 

We hold that, clear and convincing evidence 
supports the hearing judge's determination that re­
spondent engaged in moral turpitude in violation of 
section 6106 in this count. 

C. The Van Essen Matter - Riverside County 
Superior Court Action. 

I. Facts and findings. 

This matter can be stated briefly. On January 19, 
1994, respondent filed for Wife a civil complaint in 
Riverside County Superior Court against Husband 
and others. Toe suit sought remedies for Husband's 
alleged interference with child custody, with causing 
emotional distress and other torts. When respondent 
filed this suit, he was aware of the determinations 
made by the Los Angeles Superior Court in the family 
law proceeding. Yet in the Riverside County civil 
complaint, respondent alleged facts without stating 

7. Section 447 was subsequently repealed in 1994. However, 
its proscription of filing a complaint for the purpose of 
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that the facts had been the subject of findings in the 
Los Angeles County clissolution of marriage proceed­
ing. In the Riverside action, respondent stated those 
facts in a way that would mislead that court as to the 
facts found. Respondent made this omission in three 
separate areas of his complaint, concerning whether 
Wife exposed her children to contact by someone 
who was dangerous to them, whether Husband 
refused to give up custody, and whether Husband 
improperly videotaped Wife and children. 

In May 1994, the Riverside court found in a two­
page, single-spaced minute order that the three areas 
were the subject of judicial determinations in Los 
Angeles adverse to respondent's allegations and that 
respondent was aware of them. The Riverside Court 
concluded that respondent's complaint was not 
grounded in fact and was filed to harass, an improper 
purpose proscribed by section 44 7 of the Code of Civil 
Procedure. 7 That court sanctioned respondent under 
section 128.5 of the Code of Civil Procedure and 
ordered him to pay $14,675 in attorney fees, finding 
that respondent's action was frivolous, in bad faith 
and that thereby, the opposing party incurred ex­
penses including substantial attorney fees. In 
September 1994, respondent moved for reconsidera­
tion of the sanctions order and the court reduced 
sanctions to $10,000. Respondent did not pay the 
sanctions and discharged this obligation in bank­
ruptcy. 

The State Bar charged respondent with violat­
ing: section 606 8 subdivision ( d) by failing to employ 
truthful means in maintaining causes confided to him 
and by seeking to mislead the judge by an artifice or 
false statement of fact or law (counts five, seven and 
nine); section 6106 by committing moral turpitude 
(counts six, eight and ten); section 6068 subdivision 
(c) and rule 3-200(A), Rules of Professional Conduct 
by filing unjust action ( counts eleven and twelve); and 
section 6068 subdivision (o)(3) by failing to timely 
report the Riverside Court's imposition of sanctions. 
The hearing judge found respondent culpable of 
moral turpitude in counts six and eight and of failing 
to use truthful means in counts five, seven and nine, 

harassment was carried forward to Code of Civil Procedure 
section 128.7. 
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dismissed the moral turpitude charge in count ten as 
duplicative; and failed to find sufficient clear and 
convincing evidence to support the section 6068 
subdivision (c), section 6068 subdivision (o)(3) and 
rule_3-200(A) charges. 

2. Discussion of culpability. 

Respondent contends that he should be exoner­
ated of all culpability found as to the Riverside civil 
complaint. He contends that the findings of the Los 
Angeles court in the marriage dissolution were not 
material facts in the Riverside complaint and; in any 
case, respondent had no intent to mislead. The State 
Bar supports the hearing judge's conclusions of 
culpability and urges that we also find respondent 
culpable of the unjust action charges prohibited by 
section 6068 subdivision (c)and rule 3-200(A). Upon 
our independent review, we uphold thehearingjudge' s 
findings and find clear and convincing evidence that 
respondent is also culpable of wilfully violating sec­
tion 6068 (c) by maintaining an unjust action. 

Respondent's claim that the facts he alleged or 
omitted were not material in the Riverside action is 
simply incredible and gives further support to the way 
in which the hearing judge has weighed respondent's 
credibility. The key facts respondent misstated went 
to the very heart of the Riverside action. Even 
respondent agreed in his testimony that the issue of 
custody orders was important. 

[4] Respondent also contends that he should not 
be found cuipable because his statements were in an 
initial pleading. His claim is without any merit as the 
State Bar Act makes any act of dishonesty or 
misleadingofacourtto bedisciplinable(See, e.g., §§ 
6068 subd. (d); 6106.) Moreover, similar arguments 
in defense to those respondent has made here were 
rejected by the Supreme Court in Davis v. State Bar 
(1983) 33 Cal.3d 231, 239-240 [false statements ina 
verified answer]. We conclude that clear and con­
vincing evidence exists that respondent failed to use 
truthful means and committed moral turpitude as 
foW1d by the hearing judge. 

The Riverside Court made a detailed determina­
tion, after hearing respondent, that he had breached 
the standards of section 128.5, of the Code of Civil 
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Procedure by acting in bad faith and that his omissions 
and allegations were false and misled the court. As 
we concluded in the Walker matterante, we need not 
decide whether principles of collateral estoppel should 
be applied as the hearing judge considered other 
evidence, including respondent 's own testimony con­
cerning the events. On our independent revie,v of the 
record, we conclude that clear and convincing evi­
dence exists that respondent's bad faith actions in 
litigating the Riverside civil action violated section 
6068 subdivision (c) and subjected him to discipline. 

We uphold and adopt the hearing judge's dis­
missal of the charge under section 6068 subdivision 
(o)(3) that respondent failed to timely report the 
sanctions order. 

ll. DEGREE OF DISCIPLINE EVIDENCE, 
FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION. 

A. Mitigation. 

The hearing judge considered in mitigation, 
respondent's practice oflaw for many years without 
discipline and his many bar, commwiity service and 
charitable activities and that respondent made efforts 
to correct the problems surrounding the disciplinary 
matters. Much of this evidence was also presented by 
respondent and considered as mitigating inLais I. As 
we held in Lais I , respondent's experience and his 
many public-service activities are indeed mitigating. 
However, respondent's experience as a family law 
specialist and his State Bar investigation referee 
experience should have aided him to avoid miscon­
duct in these matters. 

B. Aggravation. 

The hearing judge found that at the time he filed 
his decision, the discipline inLais I was before us for 
review. The hearing judge correctly cited In the 
Matter of Sklar (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 602, 618-619 for guidance in weighing 
the prior discipline (inlais /) which arose at about the 
same time as that in the preseni record. However, it 
appears that the hearing judge did not apply Sklar, as 
he ultimately decided that this proceeding andLa;s I 
should not be considered as one. 
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In Lais I, we found respondent culpable of 
misconduct in five client matters. Collectively, this 
misconduct involved failing to promptly refund un­
earned fees in two matters, failing to properly 
communicate with two clients, recklessly failing to 
provide competent legal services, failing to promptly 
pay settlement funds on request, breach of the trust 
account niles and improper withdrawal from a case. 
After making some changes in the hearing judge's 
findings, we considered mitigating circumstances, 
including favorable character evidence and extensive 
public service activities performed by respondent. 
We also considered aggravating circumstances of 
multiple acts of wrongdoing and failure to show 
rectification of misconduct and attempted interfer­
ence with the disciplinary investigation in one matter. 
We recommended 90 days of actual suspension 
incident to a two-year stayed suspension, a greater 
actual suspension than recommended by the hearing 
judge.8 The Supreme Court imposed our recom­
mended discipline by order filed on August 13, 1999, 
in case number S075593. Respondent is currently on 
probation in Lais I. 

Also considered aggravating by the hearingjudge 
in the present proceeding was respondent's multiple 
acts of misconduct, that he demonstrated a lack of 
insight into his misconduct, that he failed to timely 
comply with discovery requests of the State Bar, 
failed to timely file his pretrial statement and that he 
presented misleading evidence in mitigation, by pre­
senting a resume which misled his services as counsel 
for a well-known party. We agree with and adopt the 
hearing judge's findings in aggravation. 

C. Discussion of Recommended Discipline. 

[Sa] Despite respondent's positive evidence of 
mitigation, we have found him culpable of serious 
misconduct which burdened parties to litigation and 
the trial and appellate courts to adjudicate two mat­
ters. This included a patently frivolous appeal in the 
Walker matter, dishonesty in the Van Essen matter 
when apprehended by Minnesota law enforcement 

8. The hearing judge in La.is I was not the same hearing judge 
whose recommendation we now review. 
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officers and misleading the Riverside Superior court 
of what was found in the Los Angeles family law 
action. Respondent's conduct in accompanying his 
client to the farm in Minnesota in the pre-dawn of 
December 23 exposed his client to the risk of physical 
harm if Husband or others at the farm had thought 
that Wife and respondent were intruders and had 
sought to defend themselves. At the least it appeared 
to put the imprimatur of respondent, as an attorney, on 
Wife's attempted taking of the children and amounted 
to aiding and counseling ofhis client contrary to court 
orders he knew were in effect. Of special concern is 
that respondent's background as a certified family 
law specialist for much of his practice and his activity 
in bar work, failed to serve him to avoid the miscon­
duct in this record. 

(Shi The similarity of misconduct in the two 
matters is also of concern. Respondent's misdeeds 
cannot be ascribed to inexperience or simple zealous­
ness. Moreover, there is nothing in the record which 
could ascribe this rnisconductto any health or similar, 
singular condition. 

Respondent's urges that, if we find culpability 
here, we should not recommend more than an addi­
tional 30 or60 days of actual suspension beyond what 
the Supreme Court imposed inLais I. In support ofhis 
argument, he cites Cheftky v. State Bar_(l 984) 36 
Cal.3d 116 and In the Matter of Kaplan (Review 
Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 509. Neither 
of those cases are persuasive here, although we 
noted in Lais I that Kaplan was instructive on the 
type of misconduct involved in the prior record. We 
also noted thatKaplan involved neither moral turpi­
tude nor serious misconduct, both of which we find in 
the present matter. Chefsky is also dissimilar in that 
there was no dishonesty to officials or courts or 
violation of a court order. 

The State Bar concedes that there is no case 
similar in facts to this one on issues of degree of 
discipline, but cites cases such as Rosenthal v. State 
Bar, supra, 43 Cal.3d 612 and In the Matter of 
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Varakin (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 179. We consider those cases to reflect more 
serious misconduct and more aggravating or less 
mitigating circumstances than in the present case. 

The hearing judge consulted the Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct (Stan­
dards) for guidance and appropriately concluded that 
they supported a recommendation of disbarment or 
suspension, depending upon defined factors. (See 
stds. 2.3; 2.6.) Ultimately, as the hearing judge 
observed correctly, the informed recommendation of 
discipline arises from a balanced consideration of all 
relevant factors. (Rose v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 
646, 666.) The hearing judge was guided by In the 
Matter of Fandey (Review Dept. I 994) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 767 in which a one-year actual suspen­
sion was ordered as part of a longer stayed suspension. 
Fandey was disciplined for aiding and abetting his 
client's departure from the state to avoid complying 
with a child support order. The hearing judge in the 
present case properly observed that the misconduct 
in this case was more serious than in Fandey; and, 
although respondent had more mitigation than Fandey, 
Fandey had no prior discipline. Significantly, how­
ever, we have found respondent culpable of more 
misconduct than the hearing judge did. 

(5c] If we follow the principle of In the Matter 
of Sklar, supra, we determine the appropriate disci­
pline as if all matters in Lais I and this matter were 
consolidated in one proceeding.We share the hearing 
judge's concern overrespondent' slack of insight and 
failure to appreciate the wrongfulness of his miscon­
duct. This does not bode well for respondent avoiding 
similar misconduct in the future. Nor is a positive 
factor the hearing judge's observation, which we find 
well supported, that "anytime [ r ]espondent lost on the 
merits of an issue, he could not accept the court's 
adverse judicial determination and would attempt to 
blame the ruling on the court's lack of understanding 
of the issues." 

[Sd] Balancing all relevant factors, and seeking 
to protect the public, courts and the legal profession 
(std. 1.3; see also Young v. State Bar (1990} 50 
Cal.3d 1204, 1215), weshallrecommendthatrespon­
dent be suspended from practice for three years, 
stayed on conditions including a two year actual 
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suspension continuing until respondent has made the 
required showing under standard l .4 (c)(ii). 

III. FORMAL RECOMMENDATION. 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that 
respondent Ronald E. Lais be suspended from the 
practice of law in the State of California for three 
years and until he has shown proof satisfactory to the 
State Bar Court ofhis rehabilitation, present fitness to 
practice and present learning and ability in the general 
law, pursuant to standard l.4(c)(ii) of the Standards 
for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct; 
that execution of the three-year suspension be stayed; 
and that respondent be placed on probation for three 
years on all the conditions recommended by the 
hearing judge in his decision except: ( l) that respon­
dent shall be actually suspended from practice oflaw 
in California during the first two (2) years of the 
period of probation and until he has shown proof 
satisfactory to the State Bar Court of hi.s rehabilita­
tion, present fitness to practice and present learning 
and ability in the general law in accordance with 
standard l.4(c)(ii) of the Standards for Attorney 
Sanctions for Professional Misconduct; and (2) that 
the time period in which respondent· is required to 
attend and pass the State Bar's Ethics School shall be 
extended from one year until the period of respondent's 
actual suspension. 

We further recommend that respondent be re­
quired to comply with the provisions of rule 95 5 of the 
California Rules of Court and to perform the acts 
specified in subdivisions (a) and ( c) of that rule within 
30 and 40 days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court's order. 

We do not recommend that respondent be required 
to take and pass the Multi.state Professional Responsi­
bility Examination given by the National Conference of 
Bar Examiners as he is required to do so in Lais I. 

Finally, we recommend to the Supreme Court 
that costs be awarded to the State Bar pursuant to 
Business and Professions Code section 6086 .10 and 
that those costs be payable in accordance with 
section 6140.7 of that Code. 

I concur: 
NORIAN, J. 
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DISSENTING OPINION OF BROTT, J. 

In my view the appropriate discipline in this 
matter, including for respondent's filing of the frivo­
lous appeal in the Walker matter and frivolous action 
in the Van Essen matter, is an eighteen-month actual 
suspension and a requirement that respondent pro­
vide the proof required by Standard 1.4( c)(ii), 
Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
Misconduct. 

BROTI, J°9 

9•. Hon. Eugene E. Brott, Judge ofthe State Bar Court Hearing 
Department, sitting by designation pursuant to the provisions 
ofrule 305 (e ), of the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title 
II, State Bar Court Proceedings. 
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STATE BAR COURT 

REVIEW DEPARTMENT 

In the Matter of 

THOMAS E. LANTZ 

A Member of the State Bar 

Nos. 90-0-17749, et al. 

Filed April 24, 2000 

SUMMARY 

The hearing department found respondent culpable of professional misconduct in four matters involving 
misappropriation of funds through gross neglect, withholding an illegal fee, recklessly incompetent performance 
of services, failure to return promptly unearned fees and failure to render an appropriate accounting; and 
recommended that he be suspended for two years and until he proves rehabilitation, that his suspension be 
stayed, and that he be placed on two years probation on conditions including actual suspension for one year 
and until he makes restitution to one client. (Hon. Nancy Roberts Lonsdale, Hearing Judge.) 

The review department upheld the hearing judge's culpability findings and concluded that the hearingjudge 
appropriately weighed and balanced mitigating and aggravating circumstances. Accordingly, the review 
department adopted the discipline recommendation after modifying two of the recommended conditions of 
probation. 

CouNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: Andrea Wachter 

Thomas E. Lantz For Respondent: 

(1] 104 
117 

IIEADNOTES 

Procedure-Disqualifications-Counsel and Others 
Procedure-Dismissal 

The review department found no merit to respondent's argument that the culpability findings must 
be reversed based on his claim of conflict of interest. Respondent failed to demonstrate how the 
investigation and prosecution of his former counsel demonstrated any conflict of interest or 
unfairness toward him. At trial, respondent was represented by other cowisel who advanced his 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual textofthe Review Department's 

opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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interests vigorously. Moreover, respondent failed to support his claim by any citation oflegal 
authority. 

(2 a-cl 270.30 Rule 3-llO(A) [former 6-101(A)(2)/(B) 
277.40 Rule 3-700(C) [former 2-lll(C)] 

Respondent was found culpable of violating rule 3-l lO(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. 
Even if his client could not decide which remedy to pursue or even if his client was unable to provide 
respondent with needed information, respondent could not simply let the months pass with no action. 
Respondent's choice was to either pursue remedies warranted by the facts and law based on 
effective investigation and research or to withdraw from employment if and as appropriate under 
rule 3-700(C) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. 

[3] 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
290.00 Rule 4-200 (former 2-107] 

Respondent failed to seek approval for his fees in a workers' compensation matter as required by 
the Labor Code and ·withheld it for a two-year period. Respondent was thus culpable of charging 
an illegal fee in violation of rule 4-200(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. Given the length 
of the rule 4-200(A) violation, the review department also found that such conduct was at least gross 
negligence and therefore involved moral turpitude. 

[4a, b] 194 Statutes Outside State Bar Act 
220.00 State Bar Act-Section 6103, clause 1 

Finding that an order ofa worker's compensation judge was an order ofa court within the meaning 
of Business and Professions Code section 6103, the review department found respondent culpable 
of violating section 6103 by disregarding such an order. 

Additional Analysis 
Culpability 

Found 
221.12 Section 6106-Gross Negligence 
270.31 Rule 3-1 lO(A) [former 6-l0l(A)(2)/(B)] 
277.61 Rule 3-700(0)(2) (former 2-1 l l(A)(3)] 
280.41 Rule 4-lOO(B)(3) [fonner 8-101(8)(3)] 

Not Found 
213. 95 Section 6068(i) 
214.35 Section6068(m) 
220.05 Section 6103, clause l 
221.12 Section 6106-Gross N egliegence 
221. 50 Section 6106-Moral turpitude, corruption, dishonesty 
270.35 Rule 3-510 (former 5-105) 
277.55 Rule 3-700(D)(l) [fonner 2~1ll(A)(2)] 

Aggravation 
Found 

521 Multiple Acts 
541 Bad Faith, Dishonesty 
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551 Overreaching 
582.10 Hann to Client 
591 Indifference 
611 Lack of Candor-Bar 

Mitigation 
Found 

740.10 Good Character 
765.10 Pro Bono Work 

Found but Discounted 
7I0.33 No Prior Record 

Discipline 
1013.08 Stayed Suspension-2 years 
1015.06 Actual Suspension-I year 

Probation Conditions 
1017.08 Probation-2 years 
1021 Restitution 
I 024 Ethics Exam/School 
1026 Trust Account Auditing 
1030 Standard l.4(c)(ii) 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, J.: 

We review this attorney discipline case at the 
request of Respondent Thomas E. Lantz. A hearing 
judge found respondent culpable of professional mis­
conduct in four matters and recommended that he be 
suspended for two years and until he proves rehabili­
tation, that this suspension be stayed and that he be 
placed on two years probation on conditions including 
actual suspension for one year and until respondent 
makes restitution of$8,000 to one client. 

Respondent urges that the findings of his culpa­
bility are procedurally flawed, not established and, in 
any case, a private reproval is adequate discipline. 
Although the State Bar's Office of Chief Trial Coun­
sel (StateBar)didnotseekreview, it urges in its reply 
brief, as it did below, that respondent be disbarred. 

Independently reviewing the record (In re Morse 
(1995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207), we uphold the hearing 
judge's culpability findings. We have also concluded 
that the judge appropriately weighed and balanced 
mitigating and aggravating circumstances. We shall 
adopt her disciplinary recommendation after modify­
ing two of her recommended conditions of probation. 

The record shows that although respondent pre­
sented positive character evidence and apparently 
served many_ clients satisfactorily, he committed a 
. variety of ethical violations over several years, cov­
ering many law practice areas. These offenses 
involved misappropriation of funds through gross 
neglect, withholding an illegal fee, recklessly incom­
petent perfonnance of services, failure to return 
promptly m1eamed fees and failure to render an 
appropriate accounting. Accordingly, the suspension 
recommended by the hearing judge is appropriate. 

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

Most of the backgrom1d facts and many of the 
key facts were established by the parties' stipulation 
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or are otherwise not disputed. On review, the State 
Bar accepts the hearing judge's conclusions. Al­
though we shall summarize the.findings in the order 
contained in the decision below, we limit our discus­
sion to those ultimate findings or conclusions which 
respondent disputes. 

Respondent was admitted to practice law in Cali­
fornia in December I 981 and has no prior discipline. 

A. The Black Matter. 

Richard Black had been convicted of two felo­
nies and sentenced to prison. In February 1990, 
Black's father and sister hired respondent to repre­
sent Black in appealing the convictions. They paid 
respondent half of his $13,000 fee in February and 
completed payments by September 1990. It is undis­
puted that respondent never filed an opening brief and 
that Black's appeal was dismissed in May 1990 
pursuant to rule l 7(a) of the California Rules of 
Court. 

According to respondent, he prepared a draft of 
the appellate brief and gave it to Black's sister, but 
Black denied ever seeing it. Respondent advised 
Black that the appeal was unlikely to succeed, that a 
writ of habeas corpus might be a better remedy and 
that respondent would refund the fees should Black 
not wish to pursue the appeal. Respondent testified 
that Black could not decide what to do and that, in an 
October 1990 meeting with Black at Soledad prison, 
Black could not provide respondent with evidence 
respondent needed to proceed. Respondent never 
filed a habeas petition for Black. 

In January 1991, Black's father told respondent 
that Black wished to terminate his employment and 
recover his files and unearned fees. It is undisputed 
that in May 1991, respondent offered to refund the 
entire $13,000 and tendered a $500 check on account. 
Black did not cash that check as he wanted the entire 
refund in one check. Respondent informed Black of 
his right to arbitrate this fee dispute (Bus. & Prof. 
Code, § 6200 et seq.)1 and Black pursued this 

1. Unless noted otherwise, all references to sections are to the 
provisions of the Business and Professions Code. 
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remedy. In November 199 l respondent offered to 
stipulate to an arbitration award against him of$ l 3,000. 
The resulting award called for monthly installments of 
$l,000tostartonJune21, 1992, untilthe$13,000plus 
interest was paid in full. Respondent did not make any 
paymentsunti!December30, 1992, whenhepaidthis 
full amount to his former counsel, Tom Low, with 
directions to pay it to Black. However, Black never 
received any of the award from either Low or 
respondent, but did receive it from the State Bar's 
Client Security Fund. (See § 6140.5.) The record 
shows no refund by Low or respondent to the Client 
Security Fund. 

From the foregoing findings, the hearing judge 
found no clear and convincing evidence that respon­
dent failed to respond promptly to Black's reasonable 
status inquiries(§ 6068, subd. (m)), that respondent 
engaged in any acts of moral turpitude(§ 6106), or 
that respondent failed to participate or cooperate in 
the St.ate Bar investigation ofBlack' s complaint ( § 6068, 
subd. (i)). Nor did the hearingjudge find that respon­
dent wilfully failed to return Black's transcripts or 
other papers after he was discharged. The State Bar 
does not take issue with these findings. On review we 
uphold them 

The hearing judge concluded that respondent 
wilfullyviolated rule 3-110 (A), Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the St.ate Bar" by recklessly failing to 
either file an appellant's opening brief for Black or 
take any significant step for him. Finally, the hearing 
judge concluded that respondent wilfully violated rule 
3-700 (D) by failing to promptly refund to Black 
unearned fees. Respondent disputes these two con­
clusions of his culpability and we shall discuss them 
post. 

B. The Arenas/Waxman Matter. 

In October 1989, Maria Arenas suffered injuries 
in an auto accident. She had a workers' compensa­
tion case as well as a personal injury claim arising out 
of the same incident. She retained respondent in 

2. Unless noted otherwise, all references to rules are to the 
provisions of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the State 
Bar. 
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November 198 9. To pursue the personal injury action, 
respondent filed a civil action for Arenas in San 
Francisco Superior Court. Respondent did not have 
experience in workers' compensation cases, and in 
March 1991, he asked Joseph Waxman, a State Bar 
certified specialist in those matters, to associate with 
him to pursue Arenas' s workers' compensation claim. 
Waxman filed the necessary application to protect 
that claim. 

In June 1992, without contacting Waxman, re­
spondent settled both of Arenas' s claims for over 
$400,000 and for an agreement from the workers' 
compensation carrier to waive significant sums it had 
advanced Arenas for medical payments and disabil­
ity. Respondent failed to infonn Waxman about the 
settlement negotiations and Waxman later learned 
that the Arenas personal injury case had been settled. 
Moreover, respondent never presented the compro­
mise and release to the California Workers' 
Compensation Appeals Board (Board) as required by 
the Labor Code. 

Respondent promptly deposited the settlement 
funds in his trust account and disbursed to Arenas 
$ l 96,342as her share of the personal injury claim. He 
kept $162,626 as his fees in the personal injury claim 
and kept in trust an additional $29,466 as fees in the 
workers' compensation claim. Although respondent 
was inexperienced in workers' compensation mat­
ters, he had received some general advice from an 
attorney other than Waxman who regularly practiced 
in that area, and respondent learned that workers' 
compensation fees were generally 12 percent of the 
recovery. 

In late 1992 and early 1993, Waxman tried 
without success to learn from respondent the status 
of the workers' compensation matter. Arenas went 
to Waxman in early 1993 to find out the status of her 
workers' compensation matter. When it appeared 
that respondent had withheld attorney fees for the 
workers' compensation matter, Waxman filed an 
action before the Board to resolve the attorney fee 
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issues. The Board investigated, and in June 1993, the 
Board directed respondentto keep the $29,466 amount 
in.trust pending further order. 

In February and March 1994, a workers' com­
pensation judge requested information from 
respondent regarding his fee but respondent did not 
reply. In 1994, the Board ordered that respondent 
was not entitled to any fees in the workers' compen­
sation matter and directed him to refund the $29,466 
to the insurance carrier. The carrier was ordered to 
disburse $8,000 ofthe $29,466 to Waxman as his fee 
and the rest to Arenas. This resulted in a loss to 
Arenas as the $8,000 payment to Waxman should 
have come from the attorney fee respondent col­
lected in the personal injury matter. The Board was 
aware of this, but since respondent had filed a 
bankruptcy petition, the Board apparently considered 
it futile to seek to make respondent pay the $8,000 to 
Waxman. 

Respondent did not promptly refund the $29,466, 
and starting in May 1994, Waxman again resorted to 
the Board. In November 1994, respondent sent the 
$29,466 to the Board's Deputy Commissioner, as­
cribing the delay to a misplaced check. 

The hearing judge concluded that respondent 
committed moral turpitude proscribed by section 
6106 by failing to get Board approval prior to execut­
ing the compromise and release and withholding for 
over two years the $29,466 fee in the workers' 
compensation matter. The judge also concluded that 
respondent's actions in failing to get the statutorily 
required approval for the $29,466 fee made it an 
illegal fee, proscribed by rule 4-200 (A). Finally, the 
hearing judge concluded that respondent violated 
section 6103 by failing to promptly comply with the 
Board's order to return the $29,466. The hearing 
judge did not find clear and convincing evidence that 
respondent wilfully violated rule 3-11 0(A) in dealing 
with Waxman nor that respondent violated section 
6103 in failing to reply to the workers' compensation 
judge's requests in early 1994 for information since 
no court order was violated. The State Bar does not 
take issue with these latter two conclusions in 
respondent's favor and we uphold them. Respondent 
disputes the conclusions of his culpability, and we 
discuss them post. 
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C. The Rodrigues Matter. 

In July 19 85, David Rodrigues hired respondent 
to represent him in a personal injury case. The hearing 
judge found that respondent's attorney fee was one­
third of the recovery. Between November 1986 and 
sometime in 1993, Rodrigues was jailed for a felony 
conviction. Shortly after he was jailed, in December 
1986, his personal injury case settled for $80,000. 
Respondent's fee was $26,667 and Rodrigues was 
entitled to $53,333 less costs and sums advanced earlier. 
Rodrigues instructed respondent to hold his recovery 
in trust, but to disburse sums from time to time to his 
mother and girlfriend. Respondent and the State Bar 
stipulated that the payments respondent made to or on 
behalf of Rodrigues totaled at least $49,430.56. 

Respondent testified that he overpaid Rodrigues, 
but the only evidence deemed credible by the hearing 
judge showed that respondent failed to remit the 
remaining balance of$3, 903 to Rodrigues. On Febru­
ary 23, 1989, respondent's trust account balance fell 
below that sum. One week later, that balance was 
only $614.45, and by February 13, 1990, the account 
was overdrawn. 

The hearingjudge also found that respondent did 
not maintain or give Rodrigues an adequate account­
ing of disbursements at the time that they were made. 
Although respondent testified that a bookkeeper recon­
structed check and register records, he could not offer 
evidence to show how the bookkeeper did this. 

From these findings, the hearingjudge concluded 
that respondent misappropriated $3,903 from 
Rodrigues' s trust funds and wilfully committed moral 
turpitude proscribed by section 6106. The hearing 
judge also concluded that respondent wilfully violated 
rule 4-lO0(B)(3) and its predecessor rule, 8-101 
(B)(3), by failing to provide complete records and 
disbursements of trust funds and by failing to render 
an appropriate accounting. Respondentdisputesthese 
conclusions and we shall discuss them post. 

D. The Thomas Matter. 

Although this matter is referred to in the record 
as the Maidenberg matter, we find it more appropri­
ate to refer to it as the Thomas matter. 
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In June 1991, Bryant Thomas hired respondent 
to represent him in a personal injury matter. That 
same month, respondent filed a civil action on behalf 
of Thomas. In December 1991, Thomas retained 
new counsel, Ronald Maidenberg, to represent him. 
A substitution of attorney was filed in the suit at the 
end of March 1992. 

In May 1993, respondent filed a notice of lien, 
claiming $3,844 as fees and costs. 

In August 1993, the Thomas case settled for 
$10,000. On August 27, 1993, Maidenberg sent re­
spondent the insurance company's draft for 
endorsement and return but Maidenberg never re­
ceived it back from respondent despite sending a 
follow-up letter. Respondent testified that he en­
dorsed the draft, but was extremely displeased because 
Maidenberg wanted respondent to reduce his fee to 
25% of the total amount of attorney fees. According 
to respondent, he forwarded the endorsed draft to his 
counsel, Tom Low. 

Thomas died in November 1993 and although his 
case had been settled two months earlier, because of 
respondent's delay in handling the matter and Low' s 
apparent failure to return the draft to Maidenberg, the 
settlement could not be paid to Thomas or his heirs. 

When Maidenberg failed to receive the I 993 
draft, he had to undertake a lengthy effort with the 
insurer to issue a new draft. The insurer sent a new 
draft to Maidenberg in May 1995. On June 28, 1995, 
Maidenberg sent this draft to respondent but respon­
dent did not return it until nearly a month later. At that 
time, he demanded to share equally in the attorney 
fees with Maidenberg. To resolve the dispute, 
Maidenberg asked respondent to account for his 
services and cost expenditures. Respondent failed to 
provide this information. Maidenberg then resorted to 
a declaratory relief action on behalf of Thomas' s 
beneficiary against respondent to try to settle the 
matter. On January 2, 1996, a default judgment was 
entered in the declaratory relief action against re­
spondent that he receive nothing. 

The hearing judge found that respondent had 
wilfully violated rule 3-1 l O (A) by recklessly failing to 
return the 1993 settlement draft to Maidenberg. 
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Respondent disputes this finding and we shall discuss 
it post. 

II. DISCUSSION. 

A. Procedural claims. 

{1] At the outset, respondent urges that we must 
reverse the findings of culpability based on his claim 
of conflict of interest. He asserts that the State Bar 
started disciplinary proceedings against the attorney 
who represented him in the early stage of these 
proceedings and that the State Bar assigned the 
prosecution of that attorney to an attorney outside the 
Office of Trial Counsel. He contends that the State 
Bar is disqualified from prosecuting the case against 
respondent and that it "bears the appearance of 
impropriety." Assuming for discussion that 
respondent's chronology is correct, his claim is with­
out any merit. Respondent utterly fails to demonstrate 
how the investigation and prosecution of his fonner 
counsel demonstrated any conflict of interest or 
unfairness toward him. At trial, respondent was 
represented by other counsel who advanced his 
interests vigorously. Moreover, respondent fails to 
support his claim by any citation oflegal authority. 

Respondent also argues that he was deprived of 
adequate notice in the Black matter concerning the 
charge that he wilfully violated rule 3-110. 
Respondent's sole argument of this point is a quota­
tion from our decision in In the Matter of Glasser 
(Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 163, 
171, in which we stated the general charging require­
ments for alleging a violation of the predecessor to 
rule 3-110. Although the notice did not comply literally 
with ourGlasser decision, it put respondent on notice 
that he was charged with a competency violation and 
alleged specific services which respondent did not 
perform. On our independent review of the record, 
we conclude that respondent was given adequate 
notice of this charged rule violation. 

B. Culpability. 

1. Black Matter. 

(la) In the Black matter, respondent stresses the 
efforts he claims he expended for Black; attacks 
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Black's credibility; asserts he earned his full fee, but 
as a pro bono gesture, agreed to and did give a refund 
to respondent's former counsel, Low, to give to 
Black. Respondent concludes that he cannot be 
culpable of the rule 3-110 (A) and rule 3-700 (0)(2) 
charges. We disagree with respondent and adopt the 
hearing judge's findings of these violations. 

[2b l Respondent knew that, when he accepted 
Black's criminal appeal, Black's previous counsel 
was under a time deadline under rule 17 ( a) of the 
California Rules of Court. Yet the record is undis­
puted that respondent failed to file an opening brief. 
Moreover, the record contains no drafts of any briefs. 
If, as respondent claims, Black agreed that habeas 
corpus was a better remedy than appeal, the record 
does not show that nor does it show any writ petition 
filed by respondent. All the record shows on this point 
is that respondent accepted $13,000 from Black's 
family, respondent agreed to adequately represent 
Black, respondent failed to perfect any remedy for 
Black and that Black only received a refund from the 
Client Security Fund. 

[2cl Even ifBlack could not decide, as respondent 
contends, which remedy to pursue or if Black was 
unable to provide respondent with needed information., 
respondent could not simply let the months pass with no 
action. Respondent's choice was to either pursue rem­
edies warranted by the facts and law based on effective 
investigation and research or to withdraw from Black's 
employment if and as appropriate under rule 3-700(C). 
(In the Matter of Myrdal[ (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 363, 379, citingFitzpatrickv. State 
Bar (1977) 20 Cal.3d 73, 85.) 

Respondent's prompt promise to Black's rela­
tive of a full return of fees if Black chose not to pursue 
an appeal, followed by his agreement in November 
1991 to refund all fees, followed by his later stipulation 
to a $13,000 arbitration award against him belie his 
claim of having earned the full fees. 

The essence of respondent's argument is that 
we should reweigh the evidence and prefer his 
version of the facts. Although we review the record 
independently (see ante), we must give great weight 
to the findings of the hearing judge which resolve 
witness credibility. (Rule 305(a), Rules Proc. State 
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Bar, title II, State Bar Court Proceedings; see e.g.,Jn 
the Matter of Fandey (Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 767, 774.) The hearing judge's 
findings are appropriate and we adopt them. 

2. Arenas/Waxman Matter. 

In this matter, respondent argues that he is 
innocent of the conclusions that he engaged in moral 
turpitude, violated the Rules of Professional Conduct 
by charging and withholding an attorney fee for a 
workers' compensation claim without Board ap• 
proval, and that he violated section 6103 by disobeying 
the workers' compensation judge's order. We agree 
with the hearing judge's culpability conclusions. 

As in the Black matter, the undisputed facts aid 
the hearing judge's conclusions. It is undisputed that 
respondent failed to seek Board approval for the fees 
he withheld from Arenas' s settlement as required 
under the Labor Code. Even assuming that respon­
dent was inexperienced in workers' compensation 
matters, the evidence shows that he charged an illegal 
fee in violation of rule 4-200 (A) and withheld it for a 
two-year period. Respondent had ample expertise 
available to him to learn the requirements of workers' 
compensation fee approval. His associated counsel, 
W axrnan, was a certified specialist in workers' com­
pensation and the evidence is undisputed that, while 
representing Arenas, respondent consulted infor­
mally another attorney experienced in these matters 
about the general nature of workers' compensation 
cases. The record shows that, had respondent com­
municated adequately with Waxman, he might have 
avoided some of the misconduct found. Given the 
length of the rule 4-200(A) violation, we also agree 
with the hearingjudge that it involved moral turpitude. 
We need not decide whether or not respondent's 
conduct in charging and withholding the $29,466 
workers' compensation fee was deliberate as it was 
at the least grossly negligent. Gross negligence in 
discharge of fiduciary duties is sufficient to sustain a 
conclusion of moral turpitude. (In the Matter of 
Rubens (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 468, 478, and cases there cited.) 

[4a] Turning to the charge that respondent vio­
lated section 6103 by disobeying the workers' 
compensation judge's order, we must decide at the 
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outset whether the workers' compensation judge's 
order was "an order of the court" within section 6103, 
for that section makes it a disciplinable offense to 
disobey or violate "an order of the court." (Cf.In the 
Matter of Respondent P (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 622, 632.)3 

[4b] The workers' compensation provision of 
the California Constitution expressly vests the Legis­
lature with plenary power to create and enforce a 
complete system of workers' compensation. (Cal. 
Const., art. XIV,§ 4 (formerly art. XX,§ 21).) That 
authority includes the power ( 1) to create tribunals to 
resolve workers' compensation disputes and (2) to fix 
and control the mode of trial of those disputes, the 
rules of evidence, and manner of review of the 
tribunals' decisions, provided that all such decisions 
are reviewable in the appellate courts of the state. 
(Ibid.) California courts have termed the Workers' 
Compensation Appeals Board a "constitutional court 
and its decisions have res judicata effect. [Cita­
tions.]" (Hand Rehabilitation Center v. Workers' 
Comp. Appeals Board (1995) 34 Cal. App.4th 1204, 
1214.) Courts have also stated that the Board exer­
cises some of the judicial powers of the state and "in 
legal effect is a court". (Bankers lndem. Ins. Co. v. 
Industrial Acc. Com. (1935) 4 Cal.2d 89, 97; Fre­
mont Indemnity Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals 
Board (1984) 153 Cal. App.3d 965, 974.) Accord­
ingly, we hold that the order of the workers' 
compensation judge is an order ~fa court within the 
meaning of section 6103. By disregarding the work­
ers' compensation judge's order, respondent vi.olated 
section 6103. 

3. Rodrigues Matter. 

Respondent first contends that the offense that 
he misappropriated the $3,903 of Rodrigues' funds 
under section 6106 was not properly charged be~ 
cause there was no indication of moral turpitude or 
corruption. Respondent errs. So long as he was given 
reasonable notice of the charge (see § 6085), the 
State Bar was entitled to charge this matter as a 
violation under section 6106. Here, respondent had 

3. Prior to oral argument before us, we notified the parties that 
we were considering this issue, neither side baving briefed it. 
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ample notice of the misappropriation charge. More­
over, the State Bar also charged respondent with 
violating two provisions of the trust account rules. 

Our review of the hearing judge's decision shows 
that she applied the correct law to this transaction and 
discussed it appropriately on pages 15 through 17 of 
her decision. We need not repeat that discussion of 
misappropriation except to conclude that is the cor­
rect legal result applicable to this record. Respondent 
may have indeed been influenced by a motive of 
friendship and service to Rodrigues whose incarcera­
tion prevented his access to his personal injury 
recovery. Yet respondent's failure to keep proper 
records of the receipt and numerous disbursements 
of funds led to the conclusion that, rather than 
overpaying Rodrigues, as respondent maintains, he 
misappropriated $3,903 of his funds. Although 
respondent's actions were grossly neglectful by re­
peatedly failing to properly record and account for the 
many disbursements he made on behalf of Rodrigues, 
they still vi.olated section 6106. (In the Matter of 
Rubens, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 478 
and cases there cited.) 

Respondent asserts that he offered appropriate 
accountings to Rodrigues and therefore he did not 
violaterule4-l 00 (8)(3) or its predecessor rule 8-10 I 
(B)(3). We disagree and agree with the hearing judge 
who concluded that respondent did commit a wilful 
violation. Since it was clear that respondent did not 
keep complete records of Rodrigues' funds (see, e.g., 
Dixon v. State Bar (1985) 39 Cal.3d 335, 344) and 
only perfonned a limited reconciliation of check 
disbursements long after requested, his culpability is 
established by clear and convincing evidence. 

4. Thomas Matter. 

Although respondent takes issue with the hear­
ing judge's conclusion that he wilfully violated rule 
3-110 (A) in the Thomas matter, his attack is limited 
to defending his failure to promptly tum over to 
attorney Maidenberg the fust insurance draft. Re­
spondent contends that since he gave it to his former 

We invited both parties to submit post-argument briefs on the 
question. 
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counsel, Low, respondent should not beheld culpable. 
We disagree, noting that, even if respondent's de­
fense is credited, it does not excuse his delay after the 
insurer reissued the draft in 1995. 

The record shows that respondent's dispute with 
attorney Maidenberg over their relative shares of the 
attorney fees of this case unduly delayed the distribu­
tion of Thomas' s funds until long after his death. It 
also put Thomas 's subsequent counsel to consider­
able extra effort, including resort to litigation to 
recover the funds Thomas' s estate was due. There 
was never a dispute between either attorney and 
Thomas at the time of the settlement as to Thomas' s 
share of proceeds. The record shows respondent's 
repeated failure to reply to Maidenberg's communi­
cations, even two years after Thomas' s death. When 
Maidenberg saw the need to resort to litigation to 
finally settle this protracted fee dispute, respondent 
defaulted. Reviewing the evidence in the record as to 
the entire unfortunate history of this case, we readily 
agree with the hearing judge that respondent reck­
lessly failed to act competently in violation of rule 
3-110 (A), even ifhe had entrusted Low with the first 
settlement draft. 

C. Discipline. 

1. Mitigation. 

We agree with the type and weight of mitigating 
evidence considered by the hearing judge. (See Rules 
of Procedure of the State Bar, title IV, Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct (stan­
dards), standard 1.2(e).) She took into account the 
testimony of many witnesses who were attorneys, 
judges or clients. Although few could show that they 
were reasonably aware of the full extent of the tentative 
findings against respondent, they held strong beliefs 
about respondent's most favorable character, his 
positive reputation in the legal community and willing­
ness to help his clients. This evidence was properly 
given positive weight by the hearingjudge in mitigation. 

We also agree with the hearing judge's very 
limited weight to respondent's lack of prior discipline 
over a relatively short period of time, seven years, 
prior to the onset of his misconduct. (See, e.g., Kelly 
v. State Bar (1988) 45 Cal.3d 649, 658.) 
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Finally, we adopt the view of the hearing judge 
which gave mitigating weight to respondent's unin­
tentional misappropriation in the Rodrigues matter, 
ascribing it more to gross carelessness in accounting 
for the funds rather than to intentional dishonesty. 

Although not found bythehearingjudge, we also 
consider mitigating, some evidence that respondent 
has engaged in pro bono work during his practice. 

2. Aggravation. 

The hearing judge correctly assigned a number 
of aggravating factors surrounding respondent's mis­
conduct. They consisted of multiple acts of misconduct, 
they significantly banned his clients, his misconduct in 
the Arenas/Wax man matter was surrounded by 
overreaching and bad faith when he failed to promptly 
honor his promises in three of the matters, he demon­
strated indifference to rectifying or atoning for the 
consequences of his misconduct and displayed a lack 
of candor in testimony that was nonresponsive and 
argumentative. (See Std. 1.2 (b).) 

3. The Appropriate Degree of Discipline. 

Below, the State Bar recommended disbarment. 
Although it did not seek review, it repeated its 
disbannent position in its brief on review. Respondent 
believes a private reproval would suffice ifhe is found 
culpable of any misconduct. The hearing judge care­
fully considered the lengthy trial record and guiding 
decisions and recommended suspension. 

Respondent would have us give increased weight 
to his good faith to clients, to his favorable character 
evidence and to pressures caused by two ofhis clients 
who filed civil actions against him and another who 
threatened him. We decline to do so. Respondent's 
good faith claims were countered by his failure to 
establish that he had perfonned any services for 
Black and his extreme carelessness and delay in 
allowing the Arenas/Waxman, Rodrigues and Tho­
mas matters to go unresolved for such a long time. 
Especially unfortunate- was respondent's intransi­
gence in the Thomas matter which put Maidenberg to 
considerable effort to resolve a fee dispute solely 
among two attorneys. Had respondent resolved the 
matters more timely, civil suits againsthimmighthave 
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been unnecessary. Moreover, Arenas is still owed 
$8,000. 

Some of respondent's misconduct may not have 
been deliberate but a result of gross carelessness as 
in the Rodrigues matter.Yet his misconduct spanned 
several years and covered many aspects of law 
practice, involving misappropriation of funds, with­
holding an illegal fee, recklessly incompetent 
performance of services, failure to return promptly 
unearned fees and failure to render an appropriate 
accounting. We agree with the hearing judge that 
respondent did not demonstrate sufficient regret or 
adequate insight into his responsibility for the mis con~ 
duct to justify lesser discipline. 

Although acknowledging factual differences, the 
State Bar cites Warner v. State Bar (1983) 34 Cal.3d 
36 as influential in support of disbarment. We dis­
agree that Warner supports its recommendation. 
Warner involved more serious misconduct: inten­
tional deceit, dishonest misappropriation and charging 
of an unconscionable fee. None of those violations 
are involved here. As the Supreme Court observed in 
Warner, that attorney had shown a "persistent inability" 
to adhere to the duties of an attorney. (Id., at p. 48.) 

We agree with the calibration performed by the 
hearing judge. She deemed this case less serious than 
the misconduct found in Lawhorn v. State Bar 
(1987) 43 Cal.3d 1357 (two year actual suspension 
for wilful misappropriation of funds), but more serious 
than that found in Waysman v. State Bar (1986) 41 
Cal.3d 45 2 (no actual suspension for single incident of 
commingling and misappropriation of$24, 000 arising 
largely from neglect). She found it comparable to the 
misconduct and mitigating and aggravating factors 
found in Murray v. State Bar (1985) 40 Cal.3d 575 
(one-year actual suspension). For the reasons given 
by the hearing judge, we also find Murray guiding. 
Although all of Murray's misconduct was committed 
while perfonning legal services in one estate matter, 
it was of a type comparable to some in the present 
record. Murray had no prior record of discipline and 
had not made restitution in one count, factors similar 
to those in this record. In addition, the balance of 
mitigating and aggravating circumstances are some­
what comparable in the two cases. 
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Our own research reveals Kelly v. State Bar 
(1991) 53 Cal.3d 509, which supports the hearing 
judge's suspension recommendation. In that case 
only two instances of misconduct were involved. The 
first was Kelly's failure to deposit trust funds into the 
proper account, commingling those funds with per­
sonal funds and failure to promptly pay the funds. In 
the second matter, Kelly wilfully misappropriated 
$75 0 of trust funds and also failed to pay them for two 
years. The Supreme Court decided that a one-year 
actual suspension recommendation was excessive 
for several reasons including the lack of clear evi­
dence of either serious injury to Kelly's clients or 
wrongful intent and Kelly's 13 years of practice 
without prior discipline. An actual suspension of four 
months was deemed appropriate in Kelly. In this 
record, we have additional matters of misconduct, 
greater harm to clients and only about half the 
discipline-free practice as in Kelly. 

III.. RECOMMENDATION. 

For the foregoing reasons, we adopt the recom­
mendation of the hearingjudge, and recommend that 
respondent Thomas E. Lantz be suspended for a 
period of two years and until respondent shows proof 
satisfactory to the State Bar Court of his rehabilita­
tion, present fitness to practice and present learning 
and ability in the general law in accordance with 
standard 1.4 (c)(ii) of the Standards for Attorney 
Sanctions for Professional Misconduct; that execu­
tion of the two-year period of suspension be stayed 
and that respondent be placed on probation for a 
period of two years on conditions one through ten 
contained in the hearing judge's decision filed on 
August 8, 1997, except that we modify conditions one 
and six to provide as follows: 

l . Respondent shall be actually suspended from 
the practice of law during the first year of his 
probation and until he ( I ) makes restitution to Maria 
Arenas or the Client Security Fund ifit has paid, in the 
sum of $8,000 plus interest thereon at the rate of 10% 
per annum from July 31, 1992, until paid; (2) provides 
satisfactory proof of such restitution to the State 
Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles; and (3) if the 
period of respondent's actual suspension extends for 
two or more years, shows proof satisfactory to the 
State Bar Court ofhis rehabilitation, present fitness to 
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practice and present learning and ability in the general 
law in accordance with standard 1 .4 ( c )(ii) of the 
Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
Misconduct. 

6. During each calendar quarter in which respon­
dent receives, possesses, or otherwise handles client 
funds or property in any manner, respondent must 
submit, with the probation report for that quarter to the 
State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles, a certificate 
from a Certified Public Accountant certifying: 

(a) whether respondent has maintained a bank 
account that is designated as a ''Trust Account,"' 
"Clients' Funds Account," or words of similar import 
in a bank in the State of California or, with the written 
consent of the client, in any other jurisdiction where 
there is a substantial relationship between the client or 
the client's business and the other jurisdiction; 

(b) whether respondent has, from the date of 
receipt of client funds through the period ending five 
years from the date of appropriate disbursement of 
such funds, maintained: 

(I) a written ledger for each client on whose 
behalf funds are held that sets forth: 

(a) the name of such client, 

(b) the date, amount, and source of all funds 
received on behalf of such client, 

(c) the date, amount, payee, and purpose of 
each disbursement made on behalf of such client, and 

(d) the current balance for such client; 

(2) a written journal for each bank account 
that sets forth: 

(a) the name of such account, 

(b} the date, amount, and client affected by 
each debit and credit, and 

(c) the current balance in such account; 

(3) all bank statements and cancelled checks 
for each bank account, and 
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( 4) each monthly reconciliation (balancing) of 
(I), (2), and (3); and 

(c) whether respondent has, from the date of 
receipt of all securities and other properties held for 
the benefit of client through the period ending five 
years from the date of appropriate disbursement of 
such securities and other properties, maintained a 
written journal that specifies: 

(1) each item of security and propeny held, 

(2) the person on -whose behalf the security 
or property is held, 

(3) the date of receipt of the security or 
property, 

(4) the date of distribution of the security or 
property, and 

(S) person to whom the security or property 
was distributed. 

We further recommend that respondent be re­
quired to comply with the provisions of rule 955 of the 
California Rules of Court and to perform the acts 
specified in subdivisions ( a) and ( c) of that rule within 
30 and 40 days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court's order in this matter. 

We also recommend that respondent be required 
to take and pass the Multistate Professional Respon­
sibility Examination given by the National Conference 
of Bar Examiners within one year of the effective 
date of the Supreme Court's order or during the 
period of his actual suspension, whichever is longer, 
and to furnish satisfactory proof of passage to the 
State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles. 

Finally, we recommend to the Supreme Court 
that costs be awarded to the State Bar pursuant to 
Business and Professions Code section 6086 .10 and 
that those costs be payable in accordance with 
section 6140.7 of that Code. 

We concur: 
OBRIEN, P.J. 
NORIAN,J. 
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SUMMARY 

The hearing department recommended respondent's disbarment after finding him culpable with respect 
to a single client of ( l) engaging in three acts involving moral turpitude in violation ofBusiness and Professions 
Code section 6106; (2) improperly advancing facts prejudicial to the client's honor in violation of Business and 
Professions Code section 6068, subdivision (f}; and (3) misleading the client with respect to the ramifications 
of a settlement offer in violation ofBusiness and Professions Code section 6068, subdivision (m). (Hon. Nancy 
Roberts Lonsdale, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent sought review primarily contending that the hearing judge erroneously (I) applied principles 
of collateral estoppel to bind him to prior civil findings that he harassed and intentionally inflicted emotional 
distress ona client; (2) rejected respondent's testimony in the State Bar Court; and (3) accepted the testimony 
of the client he was found to have harassed and upon he inflicted emotional distress. 

The review department held that principles of collateral estoppel were properly applied in determining that 
respondent harassed and intentionally inflicted emotional distress on a client; adopted the hearing judge's 
findings that respondent committed two acts involving moral turpitude; but rejected the hearing judge's 
remaining culpability findings. The review department recommended that respondent be suspended for five 
years, stayed, with five years probation, subject to conditions including actual suspension of three years and 
until he establishes his rehabilitation, present fitness to practice and present learning in the law. Since the 
disbarment recommendation was rejected, respondent's inactive enrollment pursuant to Business and 
Professions Code section 6007, subdivision (c)(4) was ordered terminated and it was recommended that 
respondent be given credit for the period of inactive enrollment toward the period of actual suspension. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

CouNSEL FOR PARTIES 

Donald Steedman 

Felix Torres, Jr. 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State BarCourtfortheconvenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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(1] 139 
159 
162.90 
169 
191 
199 

ffEADNOTES 

Procedure-Miscellaneous 
E vi den ce-M is eel lane o us 
Quantum of Proof-Miscellaneous 
Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 

Principles of collateral estoppel may be applied to preclude a respondent from relitigating an issue 
that was actually litigated and resolved against him in a prior civil proceeding. In State Bar Court 
proceedings, principles of collateral estoppel may be applied with respect to an adverse prior civil 
finding if (I) the issue resulting in the civil finding is substantially identical to that in the State Bar 
Court proceeding, (2) the civil finding was made under the same burden of proof applicable to the 
substantially identical issue in the State Bar Court, (3) the respondent was a party to the civil 
proceeding, ( 4) there is a final judgment on the merits in the civil proceeding, and (5) the respondent 
does not establish that it would be unfair to bind him to the prior adverse civil finding. 

[2 a, b, c] 139 
148 
159 
162.90 
169 
191 
199 

P roce du re-Miscellaneous 
Evidence-Witnesses 
Evidence-Mis eel laneous 
Quantum of Proof-Miscellaneous 
Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 

(3] 

Where the only evidence presented in the hearing department to support the contention that it would 
be unfair to prohibit relitigation ofharassment and emotional distress claims was respondent's own 
testimony without corroborating evidence, respondent's reiteration ofhis testimony on review does 
not provide a basis to disturb the hearing judge's rejection of respondent's testimony. The review 
department gives great weight to hearing judges' factual findings resolving issues pertaining to 
credibility of witnesses. 

139 
159 
162.90 
169 
191 
199 
1099 

Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Quantum of Proof-Miscellaneous 
Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Substantive Issues re Discipline-Miscellaneous 

Introducing into evidence the pleadings and exhibits from a civil matter without also introducing the 
trial transcript from the civil proceeding provides little evidence as to the nature and extent of 
respondent's conduct underlying the adverse civil findings of harassment and intentional infliction 
of emotional distress on a client or the resulting hann to the client. Such evidence may have had a 
material effect on the measure of the appropriate level of discipline. 

(4 a - hi 162.11 Proof-State Bar's Burden-Clear and Convincing 
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213.65 Substantive Issues re Discipline-State Bar Violations-Section 6068(-f) 
221.50 Substantive Issues re Discipline-State Bar Violations-Section 6106 

In the context of an emotional and adversarial lawsuit, propounding discovery that falsely intimated 
that respondent and the plaintiff, respondent's former client, had a sexual relationship and that the 
plaintiff was sexually promiscuous is not clear and convincing evidence of acts of moral turpitude 
in violation of Business and Professions Code section 6106. Further, it is unclear that Business and 
Professions Code section 6068, subdivision (f), which prohibits the advancing of prejudicial facts to 
the honor or reputation of a party or witness, proscribes the use of such intimations. 

15 a - b] 106.30 Procedure-Pleadings-Duplicative Charges 
213.65 Substantive Issues re Discipline-State Bar Violaticns-Section 6068(f) 
221. 50 Substantive Issues re Discipline-State Bar Violations-Section 6106 

Because the plaintiff in a civil lawsuit, who was respondent's former client, introduced into evidence 
respondent's offensive discovery requests, it is presumed, in the absence of any jury instruction to 
the contrary, that the jury relied on them in finding by clear and convincing evidence that respondent 
acted with oppression or malice when he harassed or intentionally inflicted emotional harm on the 
plaintiff. Therefore, to find a Business and Professions Code section 6106 moral turpitude violation 
on this basis would be duplicative of the moral turpitude violations already found based on 
respondent's harassment and intentional infliction ofemotional distress on the plaintiff. For the same 
reasons, it would also be duplicative to use the offensive discovery to find culpability of Business 
and Professions Code section 6068, subdivision (t). It is generally inappropriate to find redundant 
charged allegations. The appropriate level of discipline for an act of misconduct does not depend 
on how many rules of professional conduct or statutes proscribe the misconduct. 

(6) 106.30 Procedure-Pleadings-Duplicative Charges 
213.65 Substantive Issues re Discipline-State Bar Violations-Section 6068(f) 
221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 

The Business and Professions Code section 6068, subdivision (f) charge based on respondent's 
offensive discovery requests is duplicative of the Business and Professions Code section 6106 
charge based on the same conduct. It is insufficient for culpability that the section 6068, subdivision 
(t) charge reflects the additional harm that respondent has caused to the administration of justice 
and to the right of the plaintiff, respondent's former client, to seek redress in the courts. Culpability 
of misconduct is determined by whether an attorney has violated the Rules ofFrofessional Conduct, 
a disciplinable provision of the State Bar Act or other disciplinable provision oflaw. Hann or lack 
thereof is an aggravating circumstance. 

[7 a, b, c) 214.35 Substantive Issues re Discipline-State Bar Violations-Section 6068(m) 
270.30 Rule 3-ll0(A) ffonner 6-10l(A)(2)/(B) 

Culpability of violating Business and Professions Code section 6068, subdivision (m) cannot be 
sustained by a factual finding based on allegations that respondent gave a client incorrect legal 
advice. This is addressed by rule 3-11 0(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, which was neither 
charged nor proved. Negligent legal representation, even that amounting to legal malpractice, does 
not establish a rule 3-11 O(A) violation. 
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(8) 171 
1021 

Discipline-Restitution 
Restitution 
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It is inappropriate to use restitution as a means of awarding tort damages for harassment and 
intentional infliction of emotional distress. 

[9] 172.50 Discipline-Psychological Treatment 
1023.40 Testing/Treatment-Psychological 

It is proper to recommend a probation condition requiring appropriate mental health treatment even 
though no expert testimony was proffered that respondent suffered from a mental or other problem 
requiring psychiatric treatment where the record contains other clear evidence that respondent 
suffers from a mental or other problem requiring medical treatment. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

• 221.10 Section 6106 
Not Found 

214.35 Section 6068{m) 
Aggravation 

Found 
541 Bad Faith, Dishonesty 
5 82. IO Hann to Client 
591 Indifference 

Declined to Find 
545 Bad Faith, Dishonesty 
615 Lack of Candor-Bar 

Mitigation 
Found 

765.10 Pro Bono Work 
Standards 

Discipline 
833.90 Moral Turpitude-Suspension 

1013.11 Stayed Suspension-5 years 
1015.09 Actual Suspension-3 years 
l 0 17 .11 Probation-5 years 

Probation Conditions 
172.11 Discipline-Probation Monitor-Appointed 
173 Discipline-Ethics Exam/Ethics School 
175 Discipline-Rule 955 
176 Discipline-Standard l .4(c)(ii) 
178.10 <;:osts-lmposed 
1022.l 0 Probation Monitor-Appointed 
1024 Ethics Exam/School 
1030 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) 

Other 
2319 Section 6007-Inactive Enrollment After Disbannent-Miscellaneous 
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OPINION 

NORIAN, J.: 

The record reveals the misconduct of a la\\-'Yer 
who engages in the harassment and infliction of 
emotional distress upon a client. As a result the client 
suffers significant harm. 

The lawyer, respondent Felix Torres Jr.1 (re­
spondent), seeks review of a hearing judge's 
recommendation that he be disbarred from the prac­
tice of law in this state. The hearing judge based her 
disbarment recommendation on the culpability find­
ings that, with respect to a single client, respondent: 
(I) engaged in three acts involving moral turpitude in 
violation of Business and Professions Code section 
6106;1 (2) improperly advanced facts prejudicial to 
the client's honor in violation of section 6068, subdi­
vision ( f); and (3 )mislead the client with respect to the 
ramifications of a settlement offer in violation of 
section 606 8, subdivision (m). 3 

In light of her disbarment recommendation, the 
hearing judge ordered, in accordance with section 
6007, subdivision ( c )( 4 }, that respondent be involun­
tarily enrolled as an inactive member of the State Bar. 

On review respondent challenges each of the 
hearing judge's culpability findings and her disbar­
ment recommendation. More specifically, respondent 
contends that the evidence is insufficient to support 
the hearing judge's culpability findings and disbar­
ment recommendation. In his briefs on review, 
respondent supports this contention primarily by ar­
guing that the hearing judge erroneously: (I) applied 

1. Respondent was admitted to the practice oflaw in the State 
ofCalifom1a on August 26, ·1988, and has been a memberofthe 
State Bar since that time. 

2. Unless otherwise indicated, all future references to sections 
are to sections of the Business and Professions Code. 

3. On the motion of the State Bar's Office of the Chief Trial 
Counsel (OCTC), thehearingjudge dismissed the charge in the 
notice ofdisciplinary charges(NDC) alleging that respondent 
violated the rule of professional conduct regulating the handling 
of client trust funds. We adopt that dismissal with prejudice. 
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principles of collateral estoppel to bind him to prior 
civil findings that he harassed and intentionally in­
flicted emotional distress on a client; (2) rejected 
respondent's testimony in the State Bar Court; and 
(3) accepted the testimony of the client he was found 
to have harassed and upon whom he inflicted emo­
tional distress .4 Respondent does not suggest what an 
appropriate level of discipline would be if we adopt 
the hearingj udge' s culpability determinations. 

OCTC disagrees with respondent's contention 
and urges us to adopt the hearing judge's findings of 
fact, conclusions oflaw, and disbarment recommen­
dation. 5 

After independently reviewing the record (Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, title II, State Bar Court Proceed­
ings, rule 305(a);Jn re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 
207), we adopt the hearing judge's finding that re­
spondent committed two acts involving moral turpitude 
in violation of section 6 I 06, but reject her finding as to 
the third act. Moreover, we reject the hearing judge's 
findings that respondent improperly advanced facts 
prejudicial to his client's honor in violation of section 
6068, subdivision (t) and that respondent deliberately 
mislead that client with respect to the ramifications of 
a settlement offer in violation of section 606 8, subdi­
vision (m). 

Furthermore, we reject the hearing judge's dis­
barment recommendation and instead recommend 
that respondent by suspended from the practice of in 
this state for five years, that execution of that suspen­
sion be stayed, and that respondent be placed on 
probation for five years on conditions, including that 
respondent be actually suspended from the practice 

4. Respondent raises a multitude of other arguments to support 
his challenges. Any such argument not expressly addressed in 
this opinion has been considered and rejected. 

5. In the hearing department, OCTC did not seek a disbarment 
recommendation. Instead, it urged the hearing judge to recom­
mend that respondent be put on probation for five years and 
until he makes restitution to a former client in an amount in 
excess of$300,000. ln addition, OCTC urged, as a condition 
of respondent's probation, that he be actual suspended for two 
years and until he establishes his rehabilitation, present fitness 
to practice, and present learning in the law. 
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of law for three years and until he establishes his 
rehabilitation, present fitness to practice, and present 
learning in the law. Finally, because we reject the 
hearing judge's disbarment recommendation, we (1) 
order that respondent's involuntary inactive enroll­
ment under section 6007, subdivision (c)(4) be 
terminated and (2) recommend that respondent be 
given credit for the period of his inactive enrollment 
under section 6007, subdivision (c)(4) towards the 
three-year period of actual suspension that we rec­
ommend be imposed on respondent. 

l. FINDINGS OF FACT 

We adopt the hearing judge's findings of fact as 
modified below. In late 1991 or early 1992, Ms. H. 
Doe6 hired respondent to represent her in a medical 
malpractice action she wanted to bring against her 
plastic surgeon Dr. K. Wahl. Respondent filed a 
lawsuit against Dr. Wahl for Doe. During March 30, 
1993, settlement conference in that lawsuit, Dr. W ah1 
made a settlement offer in which Dr. Wahl agreed to 
waive his right to seek costs against Doe if Doe 
dismissed the lawsuit. 

There is no dispute that respondent discussed 
Dr. Wahl's settlement offer with Doe on March 30, 
1993. Respondent, however, incorrectly advised Doe 
that she would not have any liability to Dr. Wahl for 
costs if she lost her case. 

On March 31, 1993, Dr. Wahl made a written 
offer to compromise in accordance with Code of Civil 
Procedure section 998. In that offer Dr. Wahl again 
offered to waive his claim for costs if Doe dismissed 
the lawsuit. Respondent discussed Dr. Wahl's offer 
to compromise with Doe during an April 1993 meet­
ing at Doe's place of employment. Respondent 
incorrectly told Doe, who was concerned about the 
possibility of additional costs, that she did not have 

6. In an effort to maintain the client's privacy, we have not used 
her real name in our opinion. Instead, we have used the 
pseudonym Ms. H. Doe. 

7. Respondent testified, in the State Bar Court, that he told Doe 
that she would be liable for costs if she lost her lawsuit against 
Dr. Wahl. The hearing judge, however, rejected respondent's 
testimony and accepted Doe's testimony to the contrary. AB 
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anything to worry about because Dr. Wahl could only 
ask for his costs if Doe's case was frivolous and, 
according to respondent, Doe's case was not frivo­
lous and that any judge would agree. The law is clear: 
if a defendant makes a section 998 offer to compro­
mise and the plaintiff rejects its and then fails to obtain 
a more favorable judgment or award at trial, the 
defendant is entitled to recover from the plaintiff the 
defendant's costs incurred after the date on which 
the offer was made. {Code Civ. Proc., § 998, subds. 
(c) & (e).) 

However, the settlement offer must also be 
made in good faith (i.e., "realistically reasonable 
under the circumstances of the particular case"). 
(Wear v. Calderon (1981) 121 Cal. App.3d 818, 
821.} A token or nominal settlement offer will not 
ordinarily satisfy the good faith requirement implicit in 
section 998 wiless the plaintiffs lawsuit is meritless 
or frivolous. (Ibid.) 

In late April or early May 1993, Doe again 
expressed her concern to respondent that she might 
be liable for Dr. Wahl's costs if she lost her case. 
Respondent assured Doe that there was no threat 
that she would be liable for Dr. Wahl's costs and told 
her that she was overreacting just by talking about it 
again. 7 There is no evidence in the record that 
suggests that respondent intentionally gave Doe inw 
correct legal advice with respect to her liability for Dr. 
Wah!' s costs. 

Doe's lawsuit against Dr. Wahl went to trial in 
Summer 1993. The jury rendered a verdict against 
Doe and in favor of Dr. Wahl. Thereafter, Dr. Wahl 
sought an award of his costs in accordance with Code 
of Civil Procedure section 99 8. Before the hearing on 
Dr. Wahl's motion for costs, respondent again told 
Doe that the judge had discretion in whether to award 
costs to Dr. Wahl. After the hearing, the court 

is evident from our statement of the findings of fact set forth 
above, we adopt the hcaringjudge's finding that respondent 
told Doe that Doe would not be liable for costs even if she lost 
herlawsuit against Dr. Wahl. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, title Il, 
State Bar Court Proceedings, rule 305(a) [review department 
gives great weightto hearingjudges' factual findings resolving 
issues pertaining to credibility of witnesses].) 
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awarded Dr. Wahl $9,993.93 in costs in accordance 
with Code of Civil Procedure section 998, subdivision 
(e). The court authorized Doe to pay that sum to Dr. 
Wahl without interest at the rate of $100 per month 
beginning on October 1, 1993, until paid. As of the date 
Doe testified in the hearing department, she has made 
each$ l 00 monthly pa:rrnent since October 1, 1993. 

Respondent attempted to have Dr. Wahl waive 
his right to costs in exchange for Doe not filing an 
appeal. Dr. Wahl refused respondent's offer. Re­
spondent informed Doe of this fact in a letter dated 
October 29, 1993. That same day, respondent signed 
and approved as to form the "take nothing judgment" 
issued against Doe and in favor of Dr. Wahl. Some­
time thereafter, respondent stopped representing Doe. 

In the hearing department, respondent testified 
that, in August or September 1993, someone began 
telephoning him at home on his unlisted telephone 
number and hanging up without leaving a message on 
his telephone answering machine. According to re­
spondent, he would discover these "hang-up" calls 
when he would come home at night and check his 
answering machine for messages. Respondent claims 
that he believes it was Doe who was making those 
harassing "hang-up" calls. Respondent opines that 
Doe was retaliating against him because she was 
mad at him over the $9,993.93 in costs that were 
assessed against her in the medical malpractice 
lawsuit. Thus, according to respondent, he decided to 
retaliate against Doe by telephoning her late at night 
and either hanging up or leaving an anonymous 
message. 

Respondent began telephoning Doe in Septem­
ber 1993 while he continued to represent her in the 
medical malpractice lawsuit. Between September 
1993 and April 1994 ,·respondent made more than 100 
such telephone calls to Doe. Respondent admits 
making those numerous late night calls, and his 
telephone records show that he made them. 

Doe testified that she did not telephone 
respondent's home and hang up without leaving a 

8. In the original complaint, Doe's claim for "harassment"was 
incorrectly listed in the caption on the first page as a claim for 
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message as respondent alleged. Doe's home tele­
phone records from September 1993 through June 
1994 were reviewed in camera by the court in the 
lawsuit she filed against respondent, which lawsuit is 
discussed in detail below, and found not to contain any 
evidence that Doe telephoned respondent's office or 
home during that time period. Accordingly, Doe's 
denial in this proceeding is at least partially corrobo­
rated by that prior judicial finding. 

OCTC offered into evidence the telephone 
records from Doe's mother's house to further cor­
roborate Doe's denial. However, for some unstated 
reason, the hearing judge decided that they were not 
necessary and declined to admit them into evidence 
or to review them in camera. Furthermore, OCTC did 
not offer into evidence the telephone records from 
Doe's employer to corroborate and further strengthen 
Doe's denial. (See, generally, Evid. Code,§ 412 ["If 
weaker and less satisfactory evidence is offered 
when it was within the power of the party to produce 
stronger and more satisfactory evidence, the evi­
dence offered should be viewed with distrust.'l) 

In November 1993 Doe filed a police report 
complaining of the calls. In the victim's statement of 
that report, it states that "Doe said that she will 
prosecute if a suspect is located." (Original empha­
sis.) Doe claims that she did not know who was 
making the calls until February 1994 after respondent 
left a long and slurred message on her answering 
machine. However, even though Doe admits to 
knowing, in February 1994, that it was respondent 
who was making the late night telephone calls, she 
neither filed charges against respondent with the 
police nor took any action to against respondent until 
late April 1994. InlateApril 1994, Doe obtained legal 
counsel to contact respondent regarding the tele­
phone calls. Once Doe's new attorney told respondent 
to stop calling Doe, he stopped. 

In May 1994 Doe's new attorney filed a lawsuit 
against respondent for Doe (Doe v. Torres). In that 
lawsuit, Doe sued respondent for legal malpractice, 
harassment, 8 intentional infliction of emotional dis-

"sexual harassment." That error, however, was corrected in 
Doe's first amended complaint, which was filed in June 1994. 
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tress, and negligent infliction of emotional distress. 
Respondent appeared in and represented himself in 
Doe V. Torres. 

Respondent's primary defense in both Doe v. 
Torres and this State Bar Court proceeding was that 
his relationship with Doe was more than just an 
• attorney-client relationship. Respondent testified, in 
the State Bar Court, that he and Doe had a social 
relationship, went out on two dates, and had discus­
sions that were, attimes, sexual in nature. Doe denied 
respondent's claims. The hearing judge expressly 
found respondent's contentions to be false and ac­
cepted Doe's denials of respondent's contentions. 
We adopt the hearing judge's implicit findings that 
respondent did not have a social relationship with 
Doe, did not go out on two dates with Doe, and did not 
have discussions with Doe that were, at times, sexual 
in nature. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, title II, State Bar 
Court Proceedings, rule 305(a) [review department 
gives great weight to hearing judges' factual findings 
resolving issues pertaining to credibility of witnesses].) 

In July 1995 respondent served on Doe specially 
prepared interrogatories (set two), which consists of 
nine questions that are, at best, described as completely 
vulgar. 9 Doe answered no to each of the nine questions 
without objecting to their vulgarity or relevance. Both 
respondent's second set of interrogatories and Doe's 
answers to them were admitted into evidence in Doe v. 
Torres. 

In July 199 5 respondent also served on. Doe a 
demand for inspection of docwnents and things (set 
two). Even though that demand listed six categories of 
documents and things to be produced, three of the 
"categories" were actually interrogatories (i.e., ques­
tions for Doe to answer). Even though respondent 
requested, in that demand for inspection, that Doe 
produce very personal items, it was not in the same 
vulgar vein as respondent's interrogatories.10 Doe ob• 
jected to each of the six categories on, among other 
things, the grounds ofrelevancy, oppression, invasion of 
privacy, and harassment. Consistent with her objec-

9. For example, the interrogatories inquired, in unnecessarily 
explicit and graphic language, ifDoe: engaged in a telephone sex 
conversation with respondent; engaged in sexual relations with 
respondent on two occasions; etc. 
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tions, Doe did not produce any of the requested items. 
Both respondent's second request for inspection of 
documents and Doe's response to it were admitted into 
evidence in Doe v. Torres. 

In October 1995, the jury found in favor of Doe 
on three of her four causes of action and also 
awardedherpunitivedamages. Specifically, the jury: 
( 1) found that respondent committed legal malprac­
tice for which it awarded Doe $28,993.93 in actual 
damages; (2} found that respondent harassed Doe for 
which it awarded Doe $149,500.00 in damages; and 
(3) found that respondent intentionally inflicted emo• 
tional distress on Doe for which it awarded Doe 
$75,000.00. Moreover, the jury found, by clear and 
convincing evidence, that there was oppression or 
malice in the facts upon which it found that respon­
dent harassed and intentionally inflicted emotional 
distress upon Doe. Finally, the jury awarded Doe 
$50,000.00 in punitive damages against respondent. 

In accordance with the jury's verdict, judgement 
in the amount of$303,493 .93 plus $4,573.07 in costs 
was entered in favor of Doe and against respondent. 
Respondent did not appeal that judgment, which 
awarded Doe a total of $308,077.00. 

Respondent has not paid Doe anything on that 
judgement. According to respondent, he is unable to 
pay anything towards the judgment because he is 
indigent and lives on public and private disability 
payments. Respondent testified that, even though he 
maintains a law office, he has only five or six small 
cases, which he had been handling for indigent 
individuals. As discussed below the hearing judge 
found that respondent's failure to pay Doe anything 
on the judgment was an aggravating circumstance. 

II. CULPABILITY 

A. Section 6106 (Moral Turpitude) 

In the NOC, OCTC charges that respondent 
engaged in acts involving moral turpitude in violation 

10. For example, the demand for inspection requested Doe to 
produce clothing and other personal items. 
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of section 6106: (1) by harassing Doe; (2) by inten­
tionally inflicting emotional distress on Doe; and (3) 
by falsely suggesting, during the proceedings inDoe v. 
Torres, respondent and Doe had a sexual relationship 
and that Doe engaged in promiscuous sexual conduct. 
The hearing judge found that respondent committed 
these three acts and that each of the three acts 
involved moral turpitude in violation of section 6106. 

Respondent contends on review that the evi­
dence is insufficient to support the hearing judge's 
findings with respect to these three acts. We reject 
respondent's contention that the evidence is insuffi­
cient to support the hearing judge's first two findings 
that respondent engaged in acts involving moral 
turpitude in violation of section 6106 when he ha­
rassed Doe and inflicted emotional distress on Doe in 
violation of section 61 06 and, accordingly, adopt those 
two findings. However, we agree with respondent's 
contention that the evidence is insufficient to support 
the hearing judge's third finding that respondent made 
statements, during the proceedings inDoe v. Torres, 
that Doe engaged in promiscuous sexual conduct and, 
therefore, reject that finding. 

1. Harassment and Intentional Infliction of 
Emotional Distress 

(1] The hearingjudge applied principles of collat­
eral estoppel with respect to the jury's findings inDoe 
v. Torres to establish that respondent harassed Doe 
and intentionally inflicted emotional distress on her. 
As noted above respondent contends that the hearing 
judge erred in applying collateral estoppel. We dis­
agree. 

Principles of collateral estoppel may be applied 
to preclude a respondent from re-litigating an issue 
that was actually litigated and resolved against him in 
a prior civil proceeding. (In the Matter of Applicant 
A (ReviewDept.1995)3 Cal. StateBarCt. Rptr. 318, 
329 .) In State Bar Court proceedings, principles of 
collateral estoppel may be applied with respect to an 
adverse prior civil finding if ( 1) tp.e issue resulting in 
the civil finding is substantially identical to the issue in 
the State Bar Court, (2) the civil finding was made 
under the same burden of proof applicable to the 
substantially identical issue in the State Bar Court, (3) 
the respondent was a party to the civil proceeding, ( 4) 

IN THE MATTER OF TORRES 

(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138 

there is a final judgment on the merits in the civil 
proceeding, and ( 5) the respondent does not establish 
that it would be unfair to bind him to the prior adverse 
civil finding. (Ibid.) 

There is no serious dispute that. the first four 
requirements for applying collateral estoppel in State 
Bar Court proceedings have been met in the present 
matter. Even though OCTC did not offer into evi­
dence, in the State Bar Court, a copy of the transcript 
of the trial in Doe v. Torres to establish the first 
requirement that the issues in the two proceedings be 
substantially identical, OCTC introduced into evi­
dence a certified copy of the civil court file, which 
included the jury instructions, the special verdict, and 
the judgment. The civil court file establishes that the 
issues in the two proceedings are substantially iden­
tical. 

The jury instruction and special verdict in Doe 
v. Torres establish that the civil findings that respon­
dent harassed and intentionally inflicted emotional 
distress on Doe were made under the same clear and 
convincing burden of proof applicable in this State 
Bar Court proceeding. Respondent's admits that he 
was a party in Doe v. Torres, that the judgment in 
Doe v. Torres is on the merits after trial, that he did 
not appeal the judgment, and that the judgment is now 
final. 

(la] The only serious dispute respondent has 
with respect to applying principles of collateral estop­
pel to bind him to the jury's findings inDoev. Torres 
that he harassed Doe and that he intentionally in­
flicted emotional distress on her is respondent's claim 
with respect to the fifth requirement. Respondent 
contends that it is unfair to preclude him from re­
litigating the harassment and intentional infliction of 
emotional distress in this proceeding because, ac­
cording to respondent, the civil trial judge was biased 
against him and made serious legal errors; he (respon­
dent) was suffering from his serious neuromuscular 
illness and unable to speak during the civil trial; he was 
distraught because his mother was dying and he was 
notmentallyprepared to defend himself in the civil trial, 
and that he did not appeal the civil judgment because 
it did not make economic sense to do so since he lives 
on disability payments and is judgment proof. The 
only evidence respondent presented in the hearing 
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depanment to support these claims was his own 
testimony. 

It is by no means self-evident that any or all of 
these alleged facts would establish that it would be 
unfair to bind respondent, in the present proceeding, 
to the adverse civil finding of harassment and inten­
tional infliction of emotional distress. (See, e.g. ,Stolz 
v. Bank of America (1993) 15 Cal. App.4th 217,222 
[a respondent may demonstrate unfairness by show­
ing, among other things, that he or she had less 
incentive or motive to litigate the issue in the civil 
proceeding, that the civil finding or judgment is itself 
inconsistent with some other finding or judgment, or 
that he or she was required to litigate under different 
and less advantageous procedures in the civil pro­
ceeding]; see also In the Matter of Applicant A 
(Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 318, 
329 .) However, even if one or more of these alleged 
facts were an appropriate basis for concluding that it 
would be unfair to bind respondent in this proceeding 
to the prior adverse civil findings, respondent's con­
tention could not succeed. 

f2b] As noted above the only evidence respon­
dent presented to establish the alleged facts was his 
own testimony. The hearing judge rejected 
respondent's testimony. On review respondent re­
states his testimony vvith respect to these alleged 
facts. Respondent's iteration of his version of the 
facts on review does not provide us with a basis to 
disturb the hearing judge: s rejection of his testimony. 
(In the Matter of Fandey {Review Dept. 1994) 2 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 767, 775.) 

[2c] As the hearing judge noted, respondent did 
not produce a copy oftheDoe v. Torres transcript to 
corroborate his testimony. Moreover, respondent did 
not present any corroborating testimony from a par­
ticipant or witness to the Doe v. Torres proceedings. 
Nor did he present any medical evidence to support 
his testimony that he was physically and emotionally 
incapacitated during the Doe v. Torres proceedings. 
Even though respondent was not required to produce 

11. [3bj By failing to offer into evidence the relevant portion of 
the transcript of the civil matter or more extensive evidence of 
the circumstances, OCTC has deprived the State Bar Court of 
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any corroborating evidence to support his testimony, 
he took the chance that the hearing judge would reject 
his testimony because he did not do so. (See, gener­
ally, Evid. Code, § 412 ["If weaker and less satisfactory 
evidence is offered when it was within the power of 
the party to produce stronger and more satisfactory 
evidence, the evidence offered should be viewed with 
distrust."]; see alsoMcKnightv. State Bar (1991) 53 
Cal.3d 1025, 1033 [attorney's inability to produce 
documentation to support his claim that he had his 
client's authorization to use the client's funds was 
circumstantial evidence that he did not have client's 
authorization].) We adopt the hearing judge's rejec­
tion of respondent's testimony with respect to these 
alleged facts. (Cf. Rules Proc. of State Bar, title II, 
State Bar Court Proceedings, rule 305(a} [review 
department gives great weight to hearing judges' 
factual findings resolving issues pertaining to credibil~ 
ity of witnesses].) 

[3a) In sum, we conclude that respondent failed 
to establish that it would be unfair to bind him, in this 
State Bar Court proceeding, to the civil findings made 
against him in Doe v. Torres. Therefore, we hold that 
the final civil judgement in Doe v. Torres is a 
conclusive legal determination that respondent's ha­
rassment and intentional infliction of emotional distress 
upon Doe involved oppression or malice. Yet, intro­
ducing the pleadings and exhibits fromDoe v. Torres 
into evidence in this proceeding without also introduc­
ing the Doe v. Torres trial transcript, provides us with 
little evidence as to the nature and extent of 
respondent's conduct underlying the adverse civil 
findings of harassment and intentional infliction of 
emotional distress or the resulting hann to Doe.11 

Nonetheless, when we view that evidence together 
with the testimony of Doe and respondent in the 
present proceeding, we find sufficient evidence in the 
record (1) to conclude that respondent's harassment 
and infliction of emotional distress on Doe (as set 
forth above) involved moral turpitude in violation of 
section 6106 and (2) to determine the appropriate 
level of discipline for that misconduct. • 

the underlying evidence upon which the civil court based its 
judgment. Such evidence may have had a material effect on our 
measure of the appropriate level of discipline. 
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2. Statements Regarding Promiscuous Sexual 
Conduct 

The hearingjudge fowid that respondent promul­
gated lewd and offensive discovery to Doe in Doe v. 
Torres that falsely "intimated" that he had a sexual 
relationship with Doe and that Doe was sexually 
promiscuous. Based upon that factual finding, the 
hearingjudge found that respondent engaged in acts 
of moral turpitude in violation of section 6106. We 
disagree. 

(4a] Even though we adopt the hearing judge's 
construction of respondent's discovery request in 
Doe v. Torres as falsely "intimating" (i.e., to convey 
an idea by indirect, subtle means) that he had a sexual 
relationship with Doe and that she was sexually 
promiscuous, we cannot conclude that, in the context 
of an emotional and adversarial lawsuit, such "intima­
tions" are clear and convincing evidence of acts of 
moral turpitude in violation of section 6106. 

f5a] Furthermore, because Doe introduced 
respondent's offensive discovery requests into evi­
dence at the trial in Doe v. Torres, we must presume, 
in the absence of any jury instruction to the contrary, that 
the jury relied upon them as evidence in making its 
findings, by clear and convincing evidence, that respcm­
dentacted ·with oppression or malice when he harassed 
and intentionally inflicted emotional distress upon 
Doe. Therefore, to use respondent's discovery to find 
a third section 6106 moral turpitude violation would be 
duplicative of the section 6106 moral turpitude viola­
tions we found based on respondent's harassment of 
and infliction of emotional distress on Doe. It is 
generally inappropriate to find redundant charged 
violations. (Batesv. StateBar(l990) 51 Cal.3d 1056, 
1060; Heavey v. State Bar (1976) 17 Cal.3d 553, 
5 5 9-560.) In that regard it is important to note that the 
appropriate level of discipline for an act of miscon­
duct does not depend upon how many rules of 
professional conduct or statutes proscribe the mis­
conduct. (Bates v. State Bar, supra, 51 Cal.3d at 
p .1060 [There is "little, if any; purpose served by 
duplicative allegations of misconduct."].) 

In sum, we reverse the hearing judge's finding 
that respondent violated section 6106 by falsely 
"intimating" that he had a sexual relationship with 
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Doe and that she was sexually promiscuous and 
dismiss that charge with prejudice. 

B. Section 6068, Subdivision (f) (Advance 
Facts Prejudicial to a Party) 

The relevant portion of section 6068, subdivision 
(f) provides that an attorney shall "advance no fact 
prejudicial to the honor or reputation of a party or 
witness, unless required by the justice of the cause 
with which he or she 1s charged." (Emphasis 
added.) OCTC charged in the NDC and the hearing 
judge fowid that respondent violated that portion of 
section 6068, subdivision (f) by "intimating," in his 
depositions in Doe v. Torres and the offensive 
discovery he propounded to Doe in that case, that he 
had a sexual relationship with Doe and that Doe was 
sex-ually promiscuous 

[4b] First, the plain language of section 6068, 
subdivision (f) prohibits an attorney from advancing 
prejudicial facts. Accordingly, it is not clear that 
section 6068, subdivision (f) proscribes the use of 
"intimations" as the hearing judge found. However, 
even assuming that subdivision (f) does proscribes 
the use of"intimations," we cannot adopt the hearing 
judge's finding that respondent is culpable of violating 
that subdivision. As we noted above, Doe introduced 
respondent's discovery requests into evidence at the 
trial in Doe v. Torres. Therefore, we must presume 
that the jury relied upon the evidence in making its 
findings, by clear and convincing evidence, that re­
spondent acted with oppression or malice when he 
harassed and intentionally inflicted emotional distress 
upon Doe. [ 5b J Therefore, to use the "intimations" in 
respondent's discovery to find section 6068, subdivi­
sion (f) violation would be duplicative of the section 
6106 moral turpitude violations we found based on 
respondent's harassment of and infliction of emo­
tional distress on Doe. It is generally inappropriate to 
find redundant charged violations. (Bates v. State 
Bar, supra, 5 l Cal.3d at p. 1060~ Heavey v. State 
Bar, supra, l 1 Cal.3d at pp. 559-560.) 

(6] OCTC contends that the section 6068, sub­
division (t) is not duplicative of the section 6106 
charge because the section 6068, subdivision (t) 
charge "reflects the additional hann that Respondent 
has caused: hann to the administration of justice and 
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harm Ms. Doe's right to seek redress in the courts." 
We disagree. Culpability of misconduct is determined 
by whether an attorney has violated the Rules of 
Professional Conduct, a disciplinableprovision of the 
State Bar Act, or other disciplinable proyision oflaw. 
Harm or the lack thereof is an aggravating circum­
stance (Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title IV, 
Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
Misconduct (standards), standard 1.2(b)(iv)) or a 
mitigating circumstance (std. 1. 2( e )(iii)). 

In sum, we reverse the hearing judge's finding 
that respondent violated section 6068, subdivision (f) 
and dismiss that charge with prejudice. 

C. Section 6068, Subdivision (m) 
{Failure to Communicate) 

OCTC charged in the NDC and the hearing 
judge found that respondent violated his duty, under 
section 6068, subdivision (m), to keep his clients 
reasonably informed of significant developments in 
the matters in which they are providing legal services. 
That charge and finding of culpability are based on 
respondent incorrectly advising Doe that she did not 
need to worry about having to pay Dr. Wahl's costs 
in the event that she lost her medical malpractice 
lawsuit. 

[7 a) The hearing judge's finding of culpability 
cannot be sustained because the violation as charged 
in the NDC fails to state an offense upon which 
discipline may be imposed. Section 6068, subdivision 
(m) requires that attorneys keep their clients advised 
of significant developments in the matters in which 
they are providing legal services. It neither addresses 
nor purports to address the issue of whether attorneys 
communicate correct or incorrect legal advice to their 
clients. 

[7b] Whether attorneys communicate correct 
legal advice to their clients is addressed by rule 3-
11 0(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the 
State Bar and not section 6068, subdivision (m). Rule 
3-11 0(A) provides that an attorney "shall not inten­
tionally, recklessly, orrepeatedly fail to perform legal 
services with competence." Conceivably, respondent 
may have violated rule 3-11 0(A) and, if so, it might be 
appropriate to consider such a violation as aggravation 
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under standard l .2(b }(ii) (multiple acts of misconduct) 
or standard l.2(b )(iii)( other violations of State Bar Act 
or Rules of Professional Conduct) under &wards v. 
State Bar (1990) 52 Cal.3d 28, 35-36. However, such 
a violation was neither charged nor proved. 

[7c] At most, the evidence establishes that 
respondent's incorrect legal advice to Doe was based 
upon his negligent belief that Dr. Wahl's settlement 
offer was a token or nominal offer so that Doe would 
not be required to pay Dr. Wahl's costs under Code 
of Civil Procedure section 998 unless Doe's lawsuit 
was frivolous or meritless. (But see Jones v. 
Dumrichob (1998)63 Cal. App.4th 1258, 1262-1264 
[defendant doctor's section 998 offer to allow judg­
ment to be taken against him for waiver of costs does 
not necessarily violate section 998' s good faith re­
quirement J.) We have repeatedly held that negligent 
legal representation, even that amounting to legal 
malpractice, doesnotestablisharule 3-11 0(A) viola­
tion. (In the Matter of Riley {Review Dept. 1994) 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 91, 113, and cases there cited.) 

In sum, we reverse the hearing judge's finding 
that respondent violated section 6068, subdivision (rn) 
and dismiss that charge with prejudice. 

III. AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING 
CIRCUMSTANCES 

A. Aggravating Circumstances 

1. Dishonesty and Bad Faith 

The hearing judge found that respondent's mis­
conduct was surrounded by dishonesty and bad faith, 
which are aggravating circumstances under standard 
l.2(b )(iii). More specifically, the hearingjudgefound 
that respondent's testimony in this proceeding was 
dishonest and that he served a discovery request on 
Doe in this proceeding in bad faith. 

a. Respondent's Testimony 

The hearing judge found that respondent's 
"testimony in this proceeding was not truthful. At 
times his recitation of events in both the past and the 
present appeared to be deliberately false or evasive, 
and at times itappeared close to delusional" and that 
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such dishonesty to the Court is a serious factor in 
aggravation. (Emphasis added.) Even though the 
hearing judge found that respondent's testimony only 
appeared to be deliberately false in the above quoted 
portion of her decision, in other portions of her 
decision she expressly found that parts ofrespondent' s 
testimony were false. 

In any event, after independently reviewing 
the record, we conclude that there is clear and 
convincing evidence that respondent deliberately pre­
sented false testimony in the State Bar Court. Ac­
cordingly, we hold that respondent's testimony in the 
State Bar Court was dishonest, which is an aggravat­
ing circumstance under standard 1.2(b)(iii). (In the 
Matter of Lynch (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 287, 293-294; see also Olguin v. State 
Bar (1980) 28 Cal.3d 195,200 [fraudulent and con­
trived misrepresentations to the State Bar may con­
stitute a greater offense that misappropriation]. 

b. Respondent's Discovery Request 

The hearing judge found that, in this State Bar 
Court proceeding, respondent inappropriately served 
a subpoena on Doe for extensive financial records. 
That subpoena was quashed because respondent 
could not articulate a sufficient reason for needing 
Doe's financial records. The hearing judge found that 
respondent served the subpoena on Doe with the 
clear intent to continue to harass Doe. The record 
does not support that finding. The record establishes 
that respondent committed a discovery violation, 
which was properly remedied by the hearing judge 
when she quashed the subpoena. Such a single 
discovery violation, without more, does not rise to the 
level ofbad faith aggravation under standard l .2(b )(iii). 

2. Harm 

Doe testified that the calls from respondent were 
extremely frightening and disturbing to her and even­
tually caused her to become so emotionally unstable 
that she lost her job and is now able to work only part­
time performing clerical tasks. The hearing judge 
found Doe's testimony to be credible and that Doe 
had suffered significant harm as a result of 
respondent's misconduct. We agree and adopt the 
hearing judge's finding that respondent's misconduct 

INTHE MATIER OF TORRES 

(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. L38 

significantly harmed Doe, which is an aggravating 
circumstance. (Std. l .2(b)(iv).) 

3. Indifference Towards Rectification 

The hearing judge found that respondent dis­
plays complete indifference towards rectification of 
the consequences ofhis misconduct. Even though we 
cannot find in the transcript of the trial in the hearing 
department or respondent's filings in this matter that 
respondent displays a complete indifference, we do 
find that he displays a moderate level of indifference 
particularly in light of the fact that he has not made 
any payment to Doe on the civil judgment at least in 
accordance with his ability to pay or otherwise done 
anything in an attempt to rectify his misconduct In 
addition, we conclude, from respondent's testimony 
in the hearing department, that he fails to appreciate 
the seriousness of his misconduct. 

We adopt the hearing judge's finding that re­
spondent displays indifference towards rectification 
for his misconduct. That indifference and respondent's 
failure to appreciate the seriousness of his miscon­
duct are aggravating circumstances. (Std. l.2(b)(v).) 

4. Failure to Cooperate 

The hearing judge found that respondent failed to 
cooperate with OCTC in this proceeding and that that 
failure to cooperate was an aggravating circumstance 
under standard 1.2(b)(vi). More specifically, the hear­
ing judge found that respondent failed to cooperate 
with OCTC in this proceeding by first agreeing to the 
authenticity ofOCTC's exhibits, but then withdraw­
ing his agreement with out any apparent cause. 
According to respondent, he withdrew his agreement 
so as to put to OCTC the burden of proving its case 
against him. We cannot agree that respondent's 
withdrawal of his agreement, without more, is clear 
and convincing evidence of a failure to cooperate, and 
thus a finding of aggravation under standard l.2(b )(vi). 
Therefore, we reject the hearingjudge 's aggravation 
finding of a failure to cooperate. 

B. Mitigating Circumstances 

The only mitigation respondent contends he is 
entitled to is for the many hours of free legal services 
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he has provided to the poor and under privileged for 
which respondent has received multiple bar commen­
dations. Contrary to OCTC 's contention, the hearing 
judge properly gave respondent substantial mitigation 
for this public service. (Rose v. State Bar (I 989) 49 
Cal.3d 646, 665.) 

IV. APPROPRIATE LEVEL OF DISCIPLINE 

Above, we have concluded respondent is cul­
pable of committing acts of moral turpitude when he 
harassed and intentionally inflicted emotional distress 
on his client. In aggravation we have concluded that 
respondent was dishonest in testifying in the State 
Bar Court and that respondent's client suffered 
significant harm as a result of respondent's miscon­
duct. In addition, respondent displayed indifference 
towards rectification for his misconduct and failed to 
appreciate the seriousness of his misconduct. In 
mitigation respondent provided many hours of free 
legal services to the poor and underprivileged. 

It is also important to note the depravity of this 
misconduct in its relation to the legal profession. Here 
is a lawyer that turns on his client, without provoca­
tion, through a pattern ofharassment and the intentional 
infliction of serious emotional distress for the purpose 
of causing the client grief. Such duplicitous conduct 
by a lawyer makes the legal profession not a highly 
essential aid to society, but a detriment. 

In determining the appropriate level of discipline, 
we first look to the standards for guidance. (Drociak 
v. State Bar (I 991) 52 Cal.3d at p. 1090; In the 
Matter of Koehler (Review Dept. 1991) l Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 615, 628.) Standard 1.3 provides that 
the primary purposes of discipline are to protect the 
public, the courts, and the legal profession; to maintain 
the highest possible professional standards for attor­
neys; and to preserve public confidence in the legal 
profession. (See also Chadwick v. State Bar (1989) 
49 Cal.3d 103, 11 l.) 

The applicable sanction in this proceeding is 
found instandard2.3; which provides thatan attorney's 
culpability of an act of moral turpitude shall result in 
actual suspension or disbarment depending upon the 
extent of harm, the magnitude of the act, and the 
degree to which it relates to the attorney's practice of 

151 

law. In the present proceeding, the magnitude of the 
misconduct is substantial. Respondent is culpable of 
two serious acts of moral turpitude. In addition, the 
victim was a client. Thus, significant discipline is 
warranted under standard 2 .3. 

Next we look to decisional law for guidance. 
(See Snyder v. State Bar (1990) 49 Cal.3d 1302, 
1310-131 l; In the Matter of Taylor (Review Dept. 
1991) l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 563, 580.)Theparties 
have not cited any prior case dealing with substan­
tially similar misconduct as that present in this 
proceeding. 

Both the hearing judge and OCTC cite toJn the 
Matter o/Varakin (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 179 as supporting a disbarment recom­
mendation. In Varakin we recommended and the 
Supreme Court ordered the attorney's disbarment. 
The hearing judge cites to Varakin to support her 
conclusion that disbarment is appropriate because, 
according to the hearing judge, respondent shows no 
remorse for his misconduct. (Id. at p. 190.) OCTC 
cites to Varakin to support the hearing judge's 
disbannent recommending because, according to 
OCTC, respondent's misconduct is similar to the 
misconduct found in Varakin. 

Both the hearing judge and OCTC place too 
much reliance on Varakin. In Varakin we rejected 
the hearing judge's recommended lengthy suspen­
sion coupled with probation terms and recommended 
that the attorney be disbarred. (Ibid} However, we 
did not recommend the respondent's disbarment 
solely because he displayed a total lack of repen­
tance. Instead, we recommended that the respondent 
be disbarred because, in light of the extensive and 
protracted nature of his misconduct, the danger was 
great that he would fail to comply with any probation 
terms imposed. (Ibid.) 

Even though there is a similarity betw~n the 
attorney's misconduct in Varakin and the miscon­
duct we have found in the present proceeding, the 
misconduct in Varakin was much more ·extensive. 
OCTC describes that the attorney in Varalcin en­
gaged in "a 12-year campaign of litigation terror 
against his ex-wife." The misconduct in Varalcin 
was focused on four lawsuits relating to the attorney's 
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divorce from his wife. (Jd. at pp. 18 3-184.) In those 
four lawsuits, the attorney repeatedly filed and con­
titrned to file frivolous motions and appeals even 
though he had been sanctioned for that misconduct 
eighttimes by a superior court and six times by a court 
of appeal. (Id. at p. 184.) Those 14 sanctions totaled 
more than $80,000. (Ibid) 

The attorney in Varakin was found culpable of 
( 1 ) habitually abusing the judicial system by repeat­
edly misstating facts and failing to reveal prior adverse 
ruling to trial and appellate courts, failing to follow 
court rules, and flouting the authority of the courts; (2) 
deliberately violating court orders; (3) repeatedly 
filing baseless and vexatious litigation; (3) repeatedly 
making requests for court action when there were no 
legitimate grounds to support the request, which 
requests were also gratuitously insulting and offen­
sive; ( 4) acting in bad faith, out of spite, and with the 
purpose to hann others and cause delay; (5) willfully 
failing to report to the State Bar the sanctions imposed 
against him; and ( 6) intentionally refusing to cooper­
ate with the State Bar's investigation of complaints 
against him. (Id. atpp.186, 187-188, 189.) 

It is only in light of such extensive misconduct 
and ofV arakin' s refusal to conform his conduct to the 
ethical strictures of the profession after being sanc­
tioned 14 times and paying more than $80,000 in 
sanctions that we recommended Varakin's disbar­
ment because of his total lack of remorse. In contrast, 
respondent ceased his misconduct (i.e., telephoning 
Doe) immediately after Doe's attorney contacted 
him. 

In sum, respondent's misconduct in the present 
proceeding is not as serious as Varakin' s misconduct. 
Nor does the record in the present proceeding estab­
lish that respondent displays a total lack of remorse 
or that respondent has refused to comply with disci­
plinary probation. Accordingly, we reject the hearing 
judge's disbarment recommendation. 

The only case we are aware of that involves an 
attorney who, like respondent, maliciously and gratu­
itously oppressed and harassed another individual is 
Sorensen v. State Bar (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1036. In 
Sorensen the attorney violated his duty to bring only 
such actions and proceedings as are just and not to 
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commence or continue an action from any corrupt 
motive or interest when he sued a court reporter who 
had reported a deposition taken by one of the attorney's 
associate and employee. The attorney and associate 
contended that the court reporter's fee of$94. 05 was 
excessive and that a reasonable fee was only $49 .00. 

The attorney and the associate did not, however, 
communicate their contention to the court reporter. 
Instead, they failed to file an answer when the court 
reporter sued them in small claims court; allowed the 
court reporter to obtain an default judgment against 
them in small claims court; and then sued the court 
reporter in superior court alleging fraud and deceit 
and sought actual damages in an unstated amount and 
$14,000.00 in punitive damages. 

Thereafter, the attorney and associate misused 
the process of the courts to purse and continue their 
lawsuit against the court reporter to redress the 
alleged $45.00 fee dispute in large measure out of 
spite and vindictiveness. The court reporter was 
forced to pay approximately $4,375.00 in legal fees 
and costs to defeat the superior court lawsuit. For that 
misconduct, the attorney was placed on a one-year 
period of stayed suspension and a two-year period of 
probation on conditions including 30 days' actual 
suspension and restitution to the court reporter in the 
amount of$4,3 7 5. 00. Respondent's misconduct, how­
ever, is far more egregious than that of the attorney 
in Sorensen. 

We also find guidance in other cases in which the 
attorney over reaches or exploits a vulnerable client 
that amowits to moral turpitude, but does not engage 
in dishonesty or misappropriate client funds. One 
such case is In the Matter of Johnson (Review 
Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 233. In 
Johnson the respondent exploited a vulnerable client 
whom she represented in a personal injury action by 
improperly borrowing the bulk of the client's share of 
the settlement proceeds and not repaying the loan. 
There the respondent's misconduct violated both the 
rule of professional conduct proscribing improper 
business dealings with clients and section 6106 's 
proscription of acts involving moral turpitude. More­
over, the aggravating circumstances offset the 
respondent's eleven prior years of practice with 
discipline. The substantial aggravation in that case 
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involved harm to the client, the fact that the respon­
dent knew of the client's vulnerabilities because the 
client was a relative, multiple acts of misconduct, 
indifference towards rectification for the misconduct, 
lack of any attempt to repay the loan, lack of candor 
in State Bar Court trial, and the respondent's loss of 
control of between four and five hundred case files 
when the respondent closed her practice. 

In Johnson we adopted the hearing judge's 
recommendation of five years' stayed suspension 
and five years' probation on conditions including 
restitution as well as a period of actual suspension of 
two years and until proof of compliance with standard 
l.4(c)(ii). However, we also modified the hearing 
judge's recommendation to provide that the respon-
dent remain on actual suspension until she made 
restitution in the • amount of the unpaid loan. The 
Supreme Court adopted our recommendation and 
disciplined Johnson accordingly. 

Our discipline recommendation in Johnson is 
consistent with prior attorney disciplinary cases of 
gross overreaching amounting to moral turpitude, 
which also contained substantial aggravating circum­
stances and little evidence in mitigation. (SeeRodgers 
v. State Bar (1989) 48 Cal.3d 300; Beery v. State 
Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 802.) 

We consider the present matter unique, although 
similar to Johnson. Here, we are confronted \Vi.th an 
attorney who turned on his client, making late night 
harassing phone calls for a period of nine months and 
creating an atmosphere of fright and terror for the 
client. The client ultimately became unstable from 
this action by respondent, losing her job as an office 
manager. She also became unable to work other than 
performing part-time clerical tasks. But for 
respondent's terminating the course of conduct 
promptly upon being contacted by Doe's new attor­
ney, we would consider even harsher discipline. This, 
combined with our determination that respondent 
gave deliberately false and evasive testimony in 
responding to the charges of harassment and inflic­
tion of emotional distress, causes us to have grave 
concerns about respondent's willingness or ability to 
accept responsibility for this serious misconduct. That, 
in tum suggests that a three-year period of actual 
suspension, along withanappropriatelytailored mental 

153 

health treatment probation condition, is necessary to 
assure that respondent \Vi.II reform his conduct to a 
standard acceptable to the profession. 

A. Restitution 

We decline to recommend that respondent be 
ordered to make restitution to Doe. The Supreme 
Court does not "approve imposition of restitution as a 
means of compensating the victim of wrongdoing. 
[Citation.]" (Sorensen v. State Bar, supra, 5 2 Cal .3d 
at p. 1044.) In fact, up untilSorensen, almost all of the 
Supreme Court's cases requiring restitution involved 
misuse of client funds and unearned fees. (Ibid.) 
Then in Sorensen the Supreme Court extended the 
protective and rehabilitative principles ofrestitution to 
cover specific out-of-pocket loses directly resulting 
from an attorney's violation of his duties (I) to bring 
only such actions and proceedings as are just and (2) 
not to commence or continue an action from any 
corrupt motive or interest. However, we do not 
construe Sorensen as extending restitution to cover 
tort damages. 

{8] In fact, in In the Matter of Bach (Review 
Dept. 1991) I Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 631,650, we 
held that it is inappropriate to use restitution as a 
means of awarding tort damages for legal malprac­
tice. (Accord King v. State Bar (1990) 52 Cal.3d 307, 
312, 315-316 [Supreme Court adopted review 
department's discipline recommendation, which rec­
ommendation deleted the hearing panel's probation 
condition requiring King to make restitution to a 
former client for the$ 84,000 legal malpractice judg­
ment client obtained against King].) Accordingly, we 
hold that is inappropriate to use restitution as a means 
of awarding tort damages for harassment and inten­
tional infliction of emotion distress. 

B. Mental Health Treatment 

Throughout this State Bar Court proceeding, 
respondent has maintained that his misconduct with 
respect to Doe was not and cannot be attributable to 
any mental or emotional problem. He has steadfastly 
denied having any mental or other problem that 
requires psychiatric, psychological, or mental health 
treatment. In addition, respondent contends that, in 
any event, it is inappropriate to include, as a condition 
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of his disciplinary probation, a requirement that he 
obtain psychiatric, psychological, or mental health 
treatment because OCTC did not introduce any 
expert evidence to establish that he suffers from 
specific mental or other problem requiring such treat­
ment. To support this contention, respondent cites to 
our opinion in In the Matter of Koehler (Review 
Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 615, 629. 

Respondent reads our holding in Koehler too 
narrowly. ln Koehler we held that there must be 
either expert or other clear evidence of a mental or 
other problem requiring psychiatric treatment. (Ibid 
citing In re Bushman (1970) I Cal.3d 767, 777 
disapproved on other grounds in People v. Lent 
(1975) 15 Cal.3d481, 486.) 

[9] Even though OCTC did not proffer any 
expert testimony that respondent suffers from a 
mental or other problem requiring psychiatric treat­
ment, the record contains other clear evidence that 
respondent suffers from either a mental or other 
problem requiring medical treatment. First, the fact 
that respondent made well over one hundred unwar­
ranted late night telephone calls to Doe alone 
establishes that respondent suffers from a mental or 
other problem requiring medical treatment particu­
larly in light of the strange messages respondent left 
on Doe's answering machine. Second, even though 
respondent denies having an alcohol drinking prob­
lem, he admits that he made many of the late night 
telephone calls to Doe after he returned home from 
an evening or night of drinking alcohol. In addition, he 
admits to having two recent drunk driving convictions: 
one in 1994 and another in 1997. As the Supreme 
Court has made clear. we need not sit back and wait 
for an attorney's use of alcohol to adversely affect his 
practice oflaw. (In re Kelley (1990) 52 Cal.3d 487, 
495-496.) 

We conclude that the record clearly establishes 
that a probation condition requiring respondent to 
obtain appropriate mental health treatment is neces­
sary in this case. 

V. DISCIPLINE RECOMMENDATION 

We recommend that respondent Felix Torres Jr. 
be suspended from the practice oflaw in the State of 
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California for a period of five years and until respon­
dent shows proof satisfactory to the State Bar Court 
of respondent's rehabilitation, present fitness to prac­
tice, and present learning and ability in the general law 
in accordance with standard 1.4(c)(ii) of the Stan­
dards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
Misconduct; that the five-year period of suspension 
be stayed; and that respondent be placed on probation 
for a period of five years on the following conditions. 

1. Respondent shall be actually suspended 
from the practice of law in the State of California 
during the first three years of the period of probation 
and until respondent shows proof satisfactory to the 
State Bar Court ofrespondent' s rehabilitation, present 
fitness to practice, and present learning and ability in 
the general law in accordance with standard 1.4( c )(ii) 
of the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Profes­
sional Misconduct. We recommend that respondent 
be given credit for the period of his inactive enroll­
ment under Business and Professions Code section 
6007, subdivision (c)(4) towards this recommended 
three-year period of actual suspension. 

2. The State Bar's Probation Unit shall promptly 
assign a probation monitor referee to respondent. 
Respondent must. promptly review the terms and 
conditions of this probation with the probation monitor 
referee and establish a manner and schedule of 
compliance with them. Such manner and schedule of 
compliance must, of course, be consistent with the 
terms and conditions of probation. Respondent must 
furnish such reports concerning respondent's compli­
ance as may be requested by the probation monitor 
referee. Respondent must cooperate fully with the 
probation monitor referee to enable the referee to 
discharge the referee's duties. (See Rules Proc. of 
State Bar, title Ill, General Provisions, rule 2702 
[duties of probation monitor referees].) 

3. Respondent shall comply with the provi­
sions of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the State Bar of California, and all the 
terms and conditions of this probation. 

4. Respondent shall report, in writing, to the 
State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles no later 
than January 10, April 10, July 10 and October 10 of 
each year or part thereof in which respondent is on 
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probation (reporting dates). However, if respondent's 
probation begins less than 3 0 days before a reporting 
date, respondent may submit the first report no later 
than the second reporting date after the beginning of 
respondent· s probation. In each report, respondent 
shall state that it covers the preceding calendar 
quarter or applicable portion and certify by affidavit 
or underpenaltyofperjuryunderthe laws of the State 
of California as follows: 

(a) in the first report, whether respondent has 
complied with all the provisions of the State Bar Act, 
Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar, and 
other terms and conditions of probation since the 
beginning of this probation; and 

(b) in each subsequent report, whether 
respondent has complied with all the provisions of the 
State Bar Act, Rules of Professional Conduct of the 
State Bar, and other terms and conditions of probation 
during the period. 

During the last 20 days of this probation, 
respondent shall submit a final report covering any 
period of probation remaining after and not covered­
by the last quarterly report required under this probation 
condition. In this final report, respondent shall certify 
to the matters set forth in subparagraph (b) of this 
probation condition by affidavit or under penalty of 
perjury under the laws of the State of California. 

5. Subject to the assertion of any applicable 
privilege, respondent shall fully, promptly, and truth­
fully answer all inquiries of the State Bar's Probation 
Unit and any assigned probation monitor referee that 
are directed to respondent, whether orally or in 
writing, relating to whether respondent is complying 
or has complied with the terms and conditions of this 
probation. 

6. In addition to maintaining an official address 
for State Bar purposes with the State Bar's Member­
ship Records Office as required by section 6002.1 of 
the Business and Professions Code, respondent shall 
maintain that official address with the State Bar's 
Probation Unit in Los Angeles and any assigned 
probation monitor referee. In addition, respondent 
shall maintain with the Probation Unit in Los Angeles 
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and any assigned probation monitor referee, a current 
office address and telephone number or, if respondent 
does not have an office, a current home address and 
telephone number. Respondent shall promptly, but in 
no event later than 10 days after a change, report any 
changes in this information to the Membership Records 
Office, the Probation Unit, and any assigned proba­
tion monitor referee. 

7. Within one year after the effective date of 
the Supreme Court order in this matter or the period 
of respondent's actual suspension which ever is 
longer, respondent shall attend and satisfactorily 
complete the State Bar's Ethics School and provide 
satisfactory proof of completion of the school to the 
State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles. This 
condition of probation is separate and apart from 
respondent's MCLE requirements; accordingly, re­
spondent is ordered not to claim any M CLE credit for 
attending and completing this course. 

8. No later than 30 days after the effective 
date of the Supreme Court order in this matter, 
respondent must, at respondent's own expense, lo­
cate and enroll in a program for mental health treat­
ment from a California licensed psychiatrist (M.D.), 
psychologist (Ph.D.), licensed clinical social worker 
(L.C.S.W.), or mental health counselor (M.H.C.). 
Respondent must, during his first meeting with his 
treating mental health professional, provide his treat­
ing mental health professional with a complete copy 
of this opinion on review. Respondent must partici­
pate in this program for mental health treatment for 
the lesser of six months or until the treating mental 
health professional ( 1) is of the opinion, after reading 
this opinion and treating respondent, that respondent 
has recovered from the mental or other problems 
referred to in this opinion on review and no longer 
requires treatment and (2) notifies respondent's as­
signed probation monitor referee of that opinion in a 
written statement executed under the penalty of 
perjury under the laws of the State of California. At 
the time respondent files each of the probation reports 
required under probation condition number four, re­
spondent must provide proof satisfactory, to the State 
Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles, of respondent's 
compliance with this mental health treatment proba­
tion condition. 
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9. Respondent's probation shall commence 
on the effective date of the Supreme Court order in 
this matter. And, at the end of the probationary term, 
if respondent has complied with the terms and condi­
tions of probation, the Supreme Court order suspend­
ing respondent from the practice oflaw for five years 
shall be satisfied, and the suspension shall betenninated. 

VI. PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
EXAMINATION 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional Conference of Bar Examiners within one year 
after the effective date of the Supreme Court order 
in this matter or the period of respondent's actual 
suspension which ever is longer and to provide 
satisfactory proof of passage of the examination to 
the State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles within 
that period. 

VII. RULE 955 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to comply with the provisions of rule 955 of the 
California Rules of Court and to perform the acts 
specified in subdivisions (a) and { c) of that rule within 
30 and 40 calendar days, respectively, after the 
effective date of the Supreme Court order in this 
matter. 

VIII. COSTS 

We further recommend that the costs incurred 
by the State Bar in this matter be awarded to the State 
Bar in accordance with section 6086.10 of the Busi­
ness and Professions Code and that such costs be 
payable in accordance with section 6140.7 of the 
Business and Professions Code (as amended effec­
tiveJanuary 1, 1997). 
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IX. ORDER 

Finally, because we reject the hearing judge's 
disbarment recommendation, we order that respon­
dent Felix Torres Jr. 's inactive enrollment under 
Business and Professions Code section 600 7, subdi­
vision ( c )( 4) be terminated immediately .11 This order 
does not affect respondent's ineligibility to practice 
law that has resulted or that may hereafterresult from 
any other cause. 

We concur: 

OBRIEN, P.J. 
STOVITZ, J. 

12. In light of this order terminating respondent's inactive 
enrollment, we deny M moot respondent's motion to be 
reinstated to active status; which was filed on January26,2000. 
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Respondent's Michigan law license was revoked and he was removed as a state trial judge due to his 
corrupt misconduct as a judge, including accepting bribes, gifts and favors, soliciting someone to commit perjury 
on his behalf, engaging in improper ex parte communications and signing a wt of habeas corpus to release 
a close friend without adequate information. The hearing judge found that respondent's misconduct was so 
serious and showed such a deep lack ofunderstanding of the duties of a judge or attorney that he recommended 
disbarment. (Hon. Carlos E. Velarde, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent sought review contending procedural error. The review department rejected respondent's 
arguments, concluded that the hearing judge's decision is fully supported and adopted hearing judge's 
disbarment recommendation: 

COUNSEL F'OR p ARTIES 

For State Bar: David Carr 

For Respondent: Leon Jenkins, in pro. per. 

llEADNOTES 

[1 a-c) 1931 .30 Section 6049.1 Cases-Expedited 
1931.50 Section 6049.1 Cases-Record from Foreign Proceeding 
1933.10 Section 6049.1 Cases-Burden of Proof 
1933.20 Section 6049.1 Cases-California Law 
1933.30 Section 6049.1 Cases-Constitutionality of Foreign Proceeding 
1933.40 Section 6049.1 Cases-Limitation of Issues 

Business and Prnfessions Code section 6049. l provides an expedited, streamlined disciplinary 
proceeding in this state when an attorney has been disciplined by another state or federal jurisdiction. 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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A certified copy of another jurisdiction's final attorney disciplinary order conclusively establishes 
that a California attorney is culpable of professional misconduct in California, except where, as a 
matter oflaw, the misconduct found in the other jurisdiction would not warrant discipline in California 
or the other jurisdiction's proceedings lacked fundamental constitutional protection. The attorney 
bears the burden to establish that the exceptions do not warrant imposing discipline. The statute also 
provides that discovery need not be afforded unless the State Bar Court so orders on a showing of 
good cause, and that a certified copy of any part of the record of the other jurisdiction's proceedings 
may be admitted in evidence in this proceeding. Reviewing the applicable law as a whole, there are 
two issues in this expedited proceeding: 1) whether the California attorney has sustained his or her 
burden to establish that final attorney discipline in another state, territory or the federal system should 
not result in finding culpability in this proceeding; and 2) the appropriate degree of discipline. 

[2) 147 Evidence-Presumptions 
162.30 Issues/Proof in § 6049.1 Matters 
1933.10 Section 6049.1 Cases-Burden of Proof 

Respondent objects to giving conclusive weight to the Michigan proceedings, since they were 
adjudicated under a lower standard of proof than that required in California. Respondent's license 
revocation and judicial removal were judged under standards requiring only a preponderance of 
evidence to find him culpable of judicial misconduct. However, the Michigan Supreme Court 
considered the evidence of respondent's culpability overwhelming; and, in any event, the record of 
this proceeding contains ample evidence that was received in the Michigan proceedings to permit 
us to independently determine that sufficient evidence is present to clearly and convincingly establish 
respondent's culpability in California. Respondent's argument lacks merit. 

[3] 192 Dues Process/Procedural Rights 
1931.90 Section 6049.1 Cases-Other Procedural Issues 

Since over a year of respondent's Michigan misconduct was committed after the 1986 effective 
date of Business and Professions Code section 6049 .1, that statute was not retroactively applied to 
respondent. 

[41 1933.20 Section 6049.1 Cases-California Law 
1933.50 Section 6049.1 Cases-Degree of Foreign Discipline 
1933.90 Section 6049.1 Cases-Other Substantive Issues 

Respondent's claims that Business and Professions Code section 6049 .1 unconstitutionally infringes 
on judicial power and is otherwise beyond legislative power are without merit. Respondent was 
given a full opportunity to litigate the issue of whether the Michigan discipline should be conclusive 
of his culpability in this proceeding. The Supreme Court is never bound by a legislative enactment 
in exercising its inherent functions in attorney discipline. However, the Supreme Court has upheld 
section 6007(c) authorizing an expedited proceeding to enroll an attorney inactive prior to the 
adjudication of the merits of disciplinary charges. 

[5) 1699 Conviction Cases-Miscellaneous Issues 
1933.20 Section 6049.1 Cases-California Law 
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Respondent ,vas not found guilty of criminal charges in Michigan based on the identical facts 
underlying his Michigan discipline. However, it is well settled in California that dismissal or acquittal 
of criminal charges does not bar disciplinary proceedings covering the same facts. 

Culpability 
Found 

AoomoNAL ANALYSIS 

22 l. l l Section 6106-Deliberate Dishonesty/Fraud 
Aggravation 

Found 
586.12 Harm to Administration of Justice 
621 Lack of Remorse 

Mitigation 
Found 

750.10 Rehabilitation 
765.10 Pro Bono Work 

Found but Discounted 
740.32 Good Character 
760 .32 Personal/Financial Problems 

Declined to Find 
750.52 Rehabilitation 

Discipline 
1010 Disbarment 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, J.: 

The Michigan law license of respondent Leon 
Jenkins, who is also a member of the California Bar, 
was revoked in 1994 for the same corrupt judicial 
misconduct that led to his removal by the Michigan 
Supreme Court as a state trial judge. In 1995, the 
State Bar's Office ofChiefTrial Counsel (State Bar) 
filed an expedited proceeding for his discipline in 
California, based on the Michigan revocation. After 
extensive proceedings and two unsuccessful inter­
locutory appeals by respondent to us, a State Bar 
Court hearing judge recommended disbarment. 

Respondent seeks our review, urging, as he has 
done previously, that procedural error surrounded the 
hearing judge's recommendation and that the disci­
pline is too severe considering favorable evidence he 
offered. The State Bar contends that no error oc­
curred below and that the hearing judge's decision is 
correct and should be upheld. 

Independently reviewing the record, we con­
clude that the hearing judge's decision and 
recommendation ofrespondent' s disbarment are fully 
supported, and we adopt them for recommendation to 
the Supreme Court. 

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

A Chronology. 

Respondent was admitted to practice law in 
Michigan in 1979 and California in 1980. In 1983, 
after a few years' service as a private practitioner, 
Wayne County, Michigan charter commissioner and 
chair of that commission, he was appointed by the 
Governor of Michigan as judge of the 3 6th District 
Court in Detroit1 Between 1984 and 1987, he en­
gaged in serious misconduct on the bench. He was 

I. Respondent's Michigan judgeship was roughly equivalent to 
a California municipal court judgeship. prior to court unification. 

2. As we discuss, post, dismissal or acquittal of criminal 
charges does not bar these disciplinary proceedings based on 
the same acts. 
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prosecuted twice in federal court, but not found 
guilty". However, in 1991, between the two federal 
criminal trials, he was removed from the bench by the 
Michigan Supreme Court on the recommendation of 
the Michigan Judicial Tenure Commission. (In re 
Jenkins (1991) 437 Mich. 15 [465 N.W.2d 317].) 
This recommendation followed an evidentiary hear­
ing before a special master in which an extensive 
record was adduced. 

Following respondent's removal from the Michi­
gan bench, the Michigan Attorney Grievance 
Administrator started attorney disciplinary proceed­
ings against respondent. After an 11-day hearing in 
which respondent appeared and testified, his Michi­
gan license to practice law was revoked in 1994 by 
the Michigan Attorney Disciplinary Board (Michigan 
Board). The sole basis of this revocation was the 
conduct which led to respondent's removal from the 
bench. Proceedings were started in California in 
October 1995 to discipline him here under laws 
operative when a member of the State Bar has been 
disciplined in another jurisdiction. (Bus. & Prof. 
Code, § 6049 .1. )3 After the hearing judge determined 
that the final decision of the Michigan court conclu­
sively established respondent's culpability in this 
proceeding, respondent sought our interlocutory re­
view. In July I 997, we upheld the hearing judge's 
determination. In December 1997, respondent filed a 
motion to dismiss, seeking to relitigate our July 1997 
ruling. The hearing judge denied relief, and we sum­
marily denied interlocutory review for failure of the 
petition to comply with the appropriate rules. There­
after, the hearing judge held three days of hearing and 
recommended that respondent be disbarred. Respon­
dent then sought our plenary review. 

B. Respondent's Misconduct. 

A brief summary from the opinion of the Su­
preme Court of Michigan demonstrates the gravity of 
respondent's misconduct which was the basis of the 

3. · Unless noted otherwise, all references to sections are to the 
provisions of the Business and Professions Code. 
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revocation of his law license in Michigan. "On the 
basis of our de novo review of the record, we find 
overwhelming evidence that during the period from 
1984 to 198 7 respondent systematically and routinely 
sold his office and his public trust, committed acts 
which would, if proven in a criminal trial, constitute 
violations of three criminal statutes, committedwhole­
sale violations of the most elementary canons of 
judicial conduct, and brought grave dishonor upon this 
state's judiciary." (In re Jenkins, supra, 437 Mich. 
atp. 19 [465 N.W.2datp. 319].) 

The Michigan Supreme court found that, on 
numerous occasions, respondent accepted specific 
bribes to dismiss traffic citations, intentionally mis­
stated his residence address to get a $2,015 reduction 
in auto insurance premiums over an eighteen-month 
period from December 1985 to June 198 7, solicited 
someone in the Spring of 1987, for whom he had 
agreed to dismiss traffic citations to commit perjury 
regarding a federal investigation of respondent's mis­
conduct, engaged in improper ex parte conversations 
with parties and counser regarding matters coming 
before him as a judge, improperly accepted gifts and 
favors from litigants and counsel appearing before 
him and did not report the gifts, and in August 1986 
signed a Mit ofhabeas corpus to release from custody 
someone respondent believed to be a close friend 
without adequate infonnation as to the facts of the case 
and after another close friend was retained as defense 
counsel. (Id. atpp. I 9-23 [465 N.W. 2datpp. 319-320].) 

In revoking respondent's license to practice law 
in Michigan, the Michigan board concluded that its 
hearing panel's agreement with the findings of the 
Michigan Judicial Tenure Commission was "well• 
supported." 'fhe board noted that its hearing panel 
had the opportunity to evaluate the credibility of 
witnesses that respondent presented as well as his 
0\\11 testimony. The board concluded that, in view of 
the seriousness ofrespondent' s misconduct, the miti­
gating evidence he presented did not warrant less 
discipline than license revocation. 

C. Respondent's Evidence in Mitigation and the 
Hearing Judge's Findings. 

The State Bar Court hearings below included the 
relevant part of the extensive record relied on by the 
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Michigan board in revoking his law license. On the 
issue of appropriate discipline, respondent and six 
witnesses testified below. Respondent conceded that 
he dismissed a few citations improperly, that he 
thereby violated the public trust, and that he agreed 
that he should not continue to sit on the bench. 
However, he disputed most of the findings and 
evidence against him. He testified that he was new to 
law practice, that he was inexperienced when ap­
pointed as a judge, and that he had to cope with 
several deaths in his family just a few years after his 
judicial appointment, including the sudden death of his 
wife after a very brief illness. These family tragedies 
left respondent depressed and required him to as­
sume sole parenting responsibilities for his two young 
daughters. Respondent also claimed that the leading 
witness against him was a government informant 
who worked hard to ingratiate himself with respon­
dent so that he could trap respondent. 

Respondent moved to California in November 
1990 and has practiced in this state sincethattime. He 
has not sought reinstatement in Michigan. His Cali­
fornia private law practice involved mostly police 
brutality, personal injury, wrongful death, and medical 
malpractice cases. He devoted about 20 or 30 per­
cent of his practice to pro bono cases. He was chair 
of the NAACP legal redress committee and served on 
the executive board of another non-profit organization. 

Respondent's six character witnesses included 
an attorney who tried a case with him for about two 
weeks, several fonner clients, and an official of the 
NAACP. Although these witnesses had very favor­
able opinions of respondent's character, they knew 
little about his Michigan judicial removal and license 
revocation. Two witnesses, including the attorney, 
did not even know the purpose of the State Bar Court 
hearing at which they testified. 

The State Bar Court hearing judge gave only 
nominal weight to character evidence of four wit­
nesses who testified in the Michigan proceedings, 
considering the evidence stale, and in any event, 
unlikely to change the ultimate recommendation. 
However, the hearing judge gave substantial weight 
to respondent's strong record of community service 
which started as he was appointed to the bench and 
continued through his California law practice. These 
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activities included funding a scholarship in his late 
wife's name, speaking to schools to encourage youth 
to complete school and working with at-risk youths. 

The State Bar Court hearing judge made detailed 
findings based on the record. In the hearing judge's 
view, the record conclusively established respondent's 
commission of moral turpitude by routinely engaging 
in corrupt acts. Respondent allowed gifts and favors 
he accepted to repeatedly influence his judicial acts 
and often accompanied this behavior with improper 
ex parte contacts with parties or counsel. He also 
sought to conceal his behavior, including advising 
anothertomakeupinfonnationthatwasnottrue. The 
hearing judge also fowid that respondent's actions 
caused serious harm to the administration of justice 
and was more reprehensible than if respondent had 
acted on1y as an attorney. 

The hearing judge noted respondent's discipline­
free practice in California since 1990, his commitment 
to community service, and his expression of some 
regret for his behavior. However, the hearing judge 
concluded that this evidence fell short of demonstrat­
ing adequate rehabilitation to warrant less than 
disbannent since respondent has continued to deny all 
of the very serious acts that led to his license revoca­
tion in Michigan. Weighing and balancing 
considerations bearing on discipline, the hearingjudge 
concluded that disbarment was the only appropriate 
discipline. 

Just prior to oral argument before us, respondent 
moved that we take judicial notice of additional 
character evidence. We decline to do so and have not 
considered that evidence. 

II. DISCUSSION. 

A. Statutory Framework. 

[la] This matter is before us under section 
6049 .1, providing an expedited, streamlined disciplin­
ary proceeding in this state when an attorney has 
been disciplined by another state or federal jurisdic­
tion. Because this is the first such proceeding to come 
before us, we describe briefly the relevant frame­
work. 
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[lb] Section 6049. l became effective in Janu­
ary 1986. With two exceptions, it provides that a 
certified copy of another jurisdiction's final attorney 
disciplinary order conclusively establishes that a Cali­
fornia attorney is culpable of professional misconduct 
in California. In brief, the exceptions are whether, as 
a matter of law, the misconduct found in the other 
jurisdiction would not warrant imposing discipline in 
California and whether the other jurisdiction's pro­
ceedings lacked fundamental constitutional protection. 
The attorney bears the burden to establish that the 
exceptionsdonotwarrantimposingdiscipline. (§ 6049.1, 
subds.(a) and (b).) The only other issue open under 
this proceeding is the degree of discipline to impose. 
(§ 6049.1, subd.(b)(l).) 

[le] The statute also provides that discovel)' 
need not be afforded unless the State Bar Court so 
ordersonashowingofgoodcause(§ 6049.1, subd.(c)), 
and that a certified copy of any part of the record of 
the other jurisdiction's proceedings may be admitted 
in evidence in this proceeding.(§ 6049.1 , subd.(d).) 
Pursuantto section 6049 .1, subdivision (b ), the State 
Bar's Board of Governors is authorized to adopt 
implementing rules, and the Board has adopted simple 
rules consistent with the statute, declaring the pro­
ceedings expedited. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, title II, 
State Bar Court Proceedings, rules 620-625.) Re· 
viewing the applicable law as a whole, there are two 
issues in this expedited proceeding: 1) whether the 
California attorney has sustained his or her burden to 
establish that final attorney discipline in another state, 
territory or the federal system should not result in 
finding culpability in this proceeding; and 2) the 
appropriate degree of discipline. We shall discuss 
each issue in tum. 

B. Respondent's culpability. 

As he did throughout his Michigan attorney 
disciplinary proceedings, respondent levied many 
procedural arguments from the earliest stages in this 
proceeding. When the hearing judge determined that 
the record of discipline imposed in Michigan conclu­
sively established respondent's culpability here, he 
sought our interlocutory review. Following our up­
holding of the hearing judge' s determination, he has 
continued.his many procedural and other attacks on 
the findings of his culpability. 
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We hold that respondent has clearly not sus­
tained his burden to show that culpability should not be 
found. The Michigan board revoked respondent's 
law license after extensive hearings by its hearing 
panel in which respondent testified. The Michigan 
board considered a full evidentiary record, which 
established respondent's serious misconduct while a 
Michigan judge. The Michigan Supreme Court inde­
pendently reviewed the record of Michigan judicial 
disciplinary proceedings, finding respondent culpable 
of corrupt and improper judicial conduct on "over­
whelming evidence." (In re Jenkins, supra, 43 7 Mich. 
atp. 19 [465 N.W. 2datp. 317].) The Michigan high 
court also considered and rejected as meritless 
respondent's constitutional and legal arguments. (Jd. 
at pp. 24-29 [465 N.W.2d at pp. 321-323].) From the 
State Bar Court hearing judge's 31-page decision, and 
the record on which it rests, it is clear that despite 
respondent's contentions to the contrary, his procedural 
arguments below have been fairly and fully considered 
throughout. Respondent has shown no constitutional 
unfairness, and his culpability found in Michigan would 
compel a finding of culpability in California. 

Before proceeding to the one remaining issue, 
the appropriate degree of discipline, we resolve 
respondent's essential procedural arguments he urges 
on this review. 

[2] Respondent objects to giving conclusive 
weight to the Michigan proceedings, since they were 
adjudicated under a lower standard of proof than that 
required in California. Respondent's license revoca­
tion and judicial removal were judged under standards 
requiring only a preponderance of evidence to find 
him culpable of judicial misconduct. (In re Jenkins, 
supra, 437Mich. atp.18 {465 N.W.2datp.319]; see 
also Grievance Administrator v. Jenkins (Mich. 
Atty. DisciplineBd., Mar. 18, 1994, 90-139-GA)atp. 
1.) However, as noted, ante, the Michigan Supreme 
Court considered the evidence of respondent's cul­
pability overwhelni..ing; and, in any event, the record 
of this proceeding contains ample evidence that was 

4. Among representative authorities see Colorado Rules of 
Civil Procedure, rule 251 .21; Rules Governing the District of 
Columbia Bar, rule XI, section 11 ;Rules Regulating the Florida 
Bar, Rule 3 - 4.6; Kentucky Supreme Court Rules, rule 
3 .435( 4 ); Rules of the Supreme Judicial CourtofLouisiana,rulc 
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received in the Michigan proceedings to pennit us to 
independently determine that sufficient evidence is 
present to clearly and convincingly establish 
respondent's culpability in California. Respondent's 
argument lacks merit. 

13) Respondent claims that section 6049 .1 was 
retroactively applied to his conduct. We disagree. 
Respondent concedes that • his wrongful acts oc­
curred between 1984 and 1987. In addition, as we 
noted, ante, the Michigan Supreme Court found 
overwhelming evidence that, between 1984 and 1987, 
respondent "systematically and routinely sold his 
office and his public trust and committed acts [ of 
misconduct]." (In re Jenkins, supra, 437 Mich. atp. 
19 [465 N.W. 2d atp. 319].) Thus, since over a year 
of his continuing (i.e., systematic and routine) mis­
conduct was committed after the 1986 effective date 
of section 6049 .1, that statute was not retroactively 
applied to him. (Cf. People v. Grant (1999) 20 
Cal.4th 150, 156~158 [criminal sentencing statute 
may apply to continuous course of conduct occurring 
before and after statute's effective date].) 

14 J Next, respondent levies many attacks against 
section 6049. 1, claiming it unconstitutionally infringes 
on judicial power and is otherwise beyond legislative 
power. Respondent's arguments are, again, without 
merit. The statute gave respondent a full opportunity 
to litigate the issue of whether the Michigan discipline 
should be conclusive ofhis culpability in this proceed­
ing. Of course, the Supreme Court is never bound by 
a legislative enactment in exercising its inherent 
functions in attorney discipline. (See, e.g.,In re Rose 
{2000) 22 Cal.4th, 430, 452-453.) However, the 
Supreme Court has upheld a statute authorizing an 
expedited proceeding to enroll an attorney inactive 
prior to the adjudication of the merits of disciplinary 
charges (Conway v. State Bar (1989) 47 Cal.3d 
1107 [upholding§ 6007, subd. (c)].) Moreover, the 
court rules or laws of many other jurisdictions provide 
for streamlined proceedings when an attorney has 
been disciplined elsewhere4 and several states pro-

XIX, section 21 (D), Maryland Rules of Court, rule 16-710( c ); 
Rules of the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts, rule 
4.01, section 16; and, Minnesota Rules on Lawyers Profes­
sion al Responsibility, rule 12( d). 
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vide for less discretion in setting the degree of 
discipline than our section 6049. l allows. (See, e.g., 
In re Disciplinary Action Against Morin (Minn. 
1991) 469 N.W.2d 714, 716-717 [Minnesota Su­
preme Court will defer to degree of discipline imposed 
by sister state unless certain exceptions are met]; 
People v. Bengert (Colo. 1994} 885 P.2d 241, 242 
[ Colorado Supreme Court will generally impose same 
degree of discipline as ordered in other state unless 
certain exceptions are met].) In this proceeding, the 
issue of discipline was completely open for litigation. 
(§ 6049.1, subd.(b)(l).) 

[ 5] Finally, respondent points outthathe was not 
found guilty of criminal charges based on the identical 
facts underlying his Michigan discipline. However, 
petitioner's claim is unavailing, for itis well settled in 
California that dismissal or acquittal of criminal 
charges does not bar disciplinary proceedings cover­
ing the same facts. (Wong v. State Bar (1975) 15 
Cal.3d 528, 531, and cases there cited.) 

C. Degree of Discipline. 

We hold that the hearing judge appropriately 
considered all relevant factors in recommending 
disbarment. (See, generally, Sands v. State Bar 
(1989) 49 Cal.3d 919, 931.) He gave considerable 
weight to respondent's community service and desire 
to help those less fortunate in the community and 
some weight to character evidence even though the 
v.-itnesses were not aware of the extent ofrespondent' s 
culpability as found in Michigan. We also agree with 
the hearing judge's assignment of only moderate 
weight to the tragic loss of respondent's wife and 
other family members. The hearing judge noted that 
some ofrespondent's misconduct continued several 
years after the death of his wife. But, as stressful and 
sympathetic as such personal tragedies are, they 
cannot serve to excuse conduct that is patently 
corrupt or dishonest. (Accord, Kaplan v. State Bar 
(1991) 52 Cal.3d 1067, 1072-1073.) The hearing 
judge also noted favorably the passage of time with-

5. Adams v. Commission on Judicial Performance (1995) IO 
Cal.4th 866, 9 I 4-91 5-,McCullough v. Commission on Judicial 
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out apparent ethical problems in California. But he 
correctly concluded that respondent's judicial mis­
conduct was so serious and showed such a deep lack 
of understanding of the duties of a judge or attorney 
that disbarment was the appropriate discipline. One 
of the cases the hearing judge cited as guiding toward 
disbarment, is especially persuasive, Sands v. State 
Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d 919. Although Sands was 
found culpable of three counts of offenses to clients, 
he was also found to have given four $100 bribes to 
a motor vehicle department hearing officer at paid 
lunches and to have received favorable action for his 
clients thereafter. The Supreme Court ordered dis­
barment, rejecting Sands' arguments, similar to 
respondent's here, that there was no clear evidence 
that specific payments to the hearing officer were 
consideration for specific action. (Id. atpp. 929-931.) 

Respondent cites several decisions allowing 
judges removed in California to practice law. 5 How­
ever, before the Supreme Court will allow a removed 
judge to practice law, the Court must be satisfied that 
the judge's conduct did not involve moral turpitude, 
dishonesty, or corruption proscribed by section 6106. 
(Gonzales v. Comm1ss10n on Judicial Performance 
(1983) 33 Cal.3d 359, 378; Cannon v. Commission on 
Judicial Qualifications (1975) 14 Cal.3d 678, 707-
708.) The present case involved all three of those 
elements of section 6106 and was clearly more 
serious than any of the cases respondent cites or any 
other California case we have found where the 
removed judge was allowed to practice law. 

Respondent also contends that there is ample 
evidence of rehabilitation in his practice of law in 
California to warrant less than disbarment here. We 
disagree for the same reason that the hearing judge 
rejected respondent's argument. Throughout these 
proceedings and despite the passage of ample time 
since the Michigan proceedings, respondent has failed 
to demonstrate that he understands the magnitude 
and severity of his misconduct found in the Michigan 
decision to revoke his law license. 

Perfonnance(1989)49Cal.3d I 86, 199"$pruancev. Commis­
sion onJudicialQualifications( 197S) 13 Cal.3d 778, 802-803). 
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Ill. RECOMMENDATION. 

For the foregoing reasons, we adopt the decision 
of the hearing judge and his recommendation that 
respondent Leon Jenkins be disbarred from the prac­
tice oflaw in this state and that his name be stricken 
from the roll of attorneys licensed to practice. We 
further recommend that respondent be ordered to 
comply with the provisions of rule 955 of the Califor­
nia Rules of Court and to perform the acts specified 
in subdivisions (a)and(c) ofthatrulewithin30 and40 
days, respectively, after the effective date of the 
Supreme Court's order in this matter. We further 
recommend that the State Bar be awarded costs in 
accordance with section 6086.I0 and that such costs 
be payable in accordance with section 6140.7. 

We concur: 

OBRIEN, PJ. 
NORIAN, J. 
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The hearing judge found respondent culpable of falsely representing to two judges that he had personally 
served an opposing party in a family law matter with a summons and complaint in violation of Business and 
Professions Code sections 6068, subdivision (d), and 6106, and recommended that respondent be suspended 
from the practice of law for two years, stayed, and be placed on probation for three years on conditions, 
including nine months' actual suspension. (Hon. Michael D. Marcus. Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent requested review arguing that there was no clear and convincing evidence establishing that 
he made a false representation, and that even if there was, he was not culpable of the charged offenses as the 
alleged representations were not material to the family law proceedings. Respondent further asserted that, even 
if culpability was established, the actual suspension should not exceed 60 days. 

The review department concluded that respondent was culpable of the charged offenses. Finding less 
aggravation than did the hearing judge and considering the record as a whoie, the review department also 
concluded that the actual suspension should be reduced to six months, but otherwise adopted the recommended 
discipline. 

COUNSEL FOR p ARTIES 

For State Bar: Allen Blumenthal 

For Respondent: Michael E. Wine 

HEAD NOTES 

[l a-c) 119 Procedure-Other Pretrail Matters 
130 Procedure-Procedure on Review 
135.50 Procedure-Defaults and Trials 
135. 70 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Review/Delegated Powers 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual textofthe Review Department's 

opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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148 
162.11 
166 
194 

Evidence-Witness 
Proof-State Bar's Burden-Clear and Convincing 
Independent Review of Record 
Statues Outside State Bar Act 

Rule 219 of the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar provides that, after the party with the burden 
of proof has rested, the opposing party may move for a detennination that the party with the burden 
of proof has failed to meet that burden. In deciding the motion, the hearing judge is required to 
consider all the evidence introduced, weigh that evidence and make determinations of credibility. 
The review department held that the hearing judge's ruling on a motion made pursuant to rule 219 
is reviewable on plenary review under rule 30 l of the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar and that 
such review is de novo. The review department must determine, based upon its independent review 
of the evidence before the hearing judge at the time the motion was made, whether clear and 
convincing evidence was presented of each element of the charged offenses. In deciding these 
issues, the review department must give great weight to the hearing judge's credibility deterrnina ~ 
tions. 

161 
162.20 
164 
213.40 

Duty to Present Evidence 
Proof-Respondent's Burden 
Proof of Intent 
State Bar Act-Section 6068(d) 

The good faith of an attorney in making a false statement is a defense to the charge of violating 
Business and Professions Code section 6068, subdivision (d). As a defense, respondent had the 
burden of proving that he acted in good faith and he failed to meet that burden. 

[3} 213.40 State Bar Act-Section 6068(d) 
221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 

Business and Professions Code section 6068, subdivision (d) requires attorneys to refrain from 
misleading and deceptive acts without qualification. An attorney need not utter an affirmative 
falsehood in order to violate section 6068, subdivision ( d). Concealment of a material fact misleads 
a judge just as effectively as a false statement. No distinction can therefore be drawn among 
concealment, half-truth, and false statement of fact. Respondent's unqualified and unequivocal 
statements to the judges that he served John under circumstances that should have caused him at 
least some uncertainty were, at a minimum, deceptive, in violation of Business and Professions Code 
sections 6068, subdivision ( d) and 6106. 

[4 a-d] 147 Evidence-Presumptions 
164 Proof of Intent 
213.40 State Bar Act-Section 6068(d) 

Respondent's argument is that a misrepresentation to a court is not material unless it successfully 
misleads the court is contrary to the express wording ofBusiness and Professions Code section 6068 
subdivision ( d), which provides that it is the duty of an attorney to never seek to mislead a judge by 
a false statement of fact or law. The conduct denounced by this statute is not the act of an attorney 
by which he successfully misleads the court, but the presentation of a statement of fact, known by 
him to be false, which tends to do so. It is the endeavor to secure an advantage by means of falsity 
which is denounced. Whether respondent violated section 6068, subdivision ( d) depends first upon 
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whether his representation to the court was in fact untrue, and second, whether he knew that his 
statement was false and he intended thereby to deceive the court. With regard to whether 
respondent intended to deceive the court, the presentation to a court of a statement of fact known 
to be false presumes an intent to secure a determination based upon it and is a clear violation of 
section 6068, subdivision (d). Respondent's statements to the two courts were in fact untrue and 
he knew they were untrue. Thus, it is presumed that the statements were made with an intent to 
secure an advantage. No credible evidence rebutted this presumption. 

795 Mitigation-Other-Declined to Find 

No mitigating credit was given to any changes respondent-made to his office practices as the 
changes would not prevent similar misconduct, where, as here, the misconduct resulted from moral 
deficiency, not faulty office procedures. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

213.41 
221.11 

Aggravation 

Section 6068(d) 
Section 6106--Deliberate Dishonest/Fraund 

Found 
601 Lack of Candor-Victim 

Declined to Find 
582.50 Harm to Client 

Mitigation 
Found 

765.10 Pro Bono Work 
Declined to Find 

715.50 GoodFaith 
725. 50 Emotional/Physical Disablity flllness 
760.52 Personal/Financial Problems 

Discipline 

Other 

1013.08 Stayed Suspension-2 years 
1015.04 Actual Suspension-6 months 
1017.09 Probation-3 years 
Probation Conditions 

1024 Ethics Exam/School 

543.90 
595.90 
760.59 

Bad Faith, Dishonest 
Indifference 
Personal/Financial Problems 
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OPINION 

OBRIEN, P.J. : 

We review the recommendation of a hearing 
judge that respondent Daniel M. Chesnut be sus­
pended from the practice of law in this state for two 
years, execution of which be stayed, and that he be 
placed on probation for three years on conditions, 
including nine months' actual suspension. Respon­
dent was admitted to the State Bar in April 1991 and, 
as detailed below, was previously disciplined by the 
Supreme Court in April I 996. In the present case, the 
hearing judge found respondent culpable of falsely 
representing to two judges that he had personally served 
an opposing party in a family lawmatterwithaswnmons 
and complaint in violation of Business and Profes­
sions Code sections 6068, subdivision(d), and6106.1 

Respondent requested review arguing that there 
is no clear and convincing evidence establishing that 
he made a false representation, and that even if there 
is, he is not culpable of the charged offenses as the 
alleged representations were not material to the 
family law proceedings. Respondent further asserts 
that, even if culpability is established, the actual 
suspensionshouldnotexceed60days. The State Bar, 
represented by the Office of the Chief Trial Counsel, 
asserts that the hearingjudge' s decision, including the 
discipline recommendation, is supported by the record. 

We have independently reviewed the record and 
conclude that respondent is culpable of the charged 
offenses. Finding less aggravation than did the hear­
ing judge and considering the record as a whole, we 
also conclude that the actual suspension should be 
reduced to six months, but otherwise adopt the 
recommended discipline. 

CULPABILITY 

l. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

In 1995 John and Daisy Palella1 were husband 
and wife and were living in Texas with their three 

1. All further references to ,ections are to the Business and 
Professions Code. 
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minor children. They had lived in California previ­
ously and owned a two-unit residential rental property 
(the rental property) here. In October 1995, Daisy 
moved with the three children back to California. John 
remained in Texas. Respondent is an attorney and 
was also, during the relevant time period, a full-time 
high school teacher here in California. In October 
1 995 ,Daisy hired respondent to represent her in dissolv­
ing the marriage, and respondent thereafter :filed a 
dissolution petition on Daisy's behalf in California. 

On November 5, 1995, John traveled to Los 
Angeles to pick up the rent from Gustavo Lopez, a 
tenant occupying the front unit of the rental property. 
John met with Mr. Lopez early on the morning of 
November 6 and was paid the rent. John then went to 
the airport for his flight back to Texas. His plane 
departed from Los Angeles at 12: 04 p .m. on N ovem­
ber 6, and he arrived in Texas at 5: 16 p.m. the same 
day. 

Mr. Lopez was in his living room in the front 
comer of the rental property from around 9:30 a.m. 
until the end of the day on November 6. He did not go 
outside his home and he did not see or hear anyone 
enter the property that afternoon. There were no 
other males at the rental property during the after­
noon on November 6. 

Daisy learned on November 6 that John was in 
Los Angeles and might be at the rental property. She 
telephoned respondent and left a message on his 
answering machine informing him that John was in 
town and could be served with the dissolution papers 
at the rental property. 

Respondent testified that he went to the rental 
property around 2:00 p.m. on November 6 and saw a 
man who resembled John; that he approached the 
man and said ··Mr. Patella or John Palella or some­
thing like that" as he handed the man the dissolution 
pleadings; that the man did not respond to him and 
looked somewhat surprised; and that he (respondent) 
then went back to his office. The hearing judge found 
that respondent's testimony was not credible and he 

:2. For convenience, we hereafter refer to Mr. and Mrs. Palella 
as John and Daisy. 
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concluded that respondent did not serve John or 
anyone resembling John on November 6 and did not 
go the rental property on that day. 

J oho, through Texas counsel, filed a dissolution 
action in Texas in November 199 5, and a hearing was 
set in that action in December 1995. John, John's 
Texas attorney, Daisy, and respondent appeared at 
the hearing. Respondent told the Texas judge that a 
dissolution proceeding was filed in California before 
the Texas action and that he had personally served 
John on November 6 in California. After seeing John 
in court at the Texas hearing, respondent told Daisy 
that John "looked different." 

In February 1996, John, John's California attor­
ney, Daisy, and respondent appeared in Los Angeles 
Superior Court in the California proceeding. Respon­
dent told the California judge that he had personally 
served the dissolution pleadings on John on Novem­
ber 6 at the rental property. 

The two-count notice of disciplinary charges 
alleged in count one that, by stating to the Texas and 
California judges that he had personally served John 
on November 6 with the California dissolution plead­
ings, respondent sought to mislead the judges by a 
false statement of fact in wilful violation section 6068, 
subdivision ( d). Count two alleged that, by repeating 
the same false statement to each of the two judges, 
respondent committed acts of moral turpitude in 
wilful violation of section 6106. 3 The hearing judge 
found respondent culpable as charged. 

2. DISCUSSION 

Respondent's contends on review (1) that the 
hearing judge erred in denying his motion to dismiss 
the proceeding; (2) that there is no clear and convinc­
ing evidence showing that he did not serve John on 
November 6; (3) that there is no clear and convincing 
evidence establishing that his statements to the two 

3. Count two also alleged that respondent violated section 6106 
by making the same false statementto a State Bar investigator. 
The hearingJudge granted respondent's motion to dismiss this 
part of count two as the State Bar presented no evidence of a 
misrepresentation to an investigator. The parties do not 
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judges were "knowingly'' false; and ( 4) that even ifhe 
made the charged misrepresentations to the judges, 
his statements were not material to the proceedings 
and therefore he is not culpable. 

Ila] Respondent's motion to dismiss the entire 
matter was made pursuant to rule 219 of the Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar, tittle II, State Bar Court 
Proceedings.4 As relevant here, that rule provides 
that, after the party with the burden of proof has 
rested, the opposing party may move for a determina­
tion that the party witl?. the burden ofproofhas failed 
to meet that burden. In deciding the motion, the 
hearing judge is required to "consider all the evidence 
introduced, weigh that evidence and make detenni­
nations of credibility." (Rule 219(b).) The State Bar 
questions whether the denial of a rule 219 motion is 
reviewable on plenary review. We have not previ­
ously considered this issue. 

[lb] Rule 219 is substantially similar to Penal 
Code section 1118 and Code of Civil Procedure 
section 631. 8. As relevant here, both statutes provide 
that in cases tried by a court without a jury, the 
defendant may move for an acquittal or judgment of 
one or more of the charges or causes of action after 
the plaintiffhas rested. In determining the motion, the 
statutes require the trial court to weigh the evidence 
'then before it, evaluate the credibility of witnesses, 
and determine whether the plaintiff failed to meet the 
applicable burden of proof. (In re Andre G. (1989) 
210 Cal. App.3d 62, 66; People v. Partner (1986) 
180 Cal. App.3d 178, 183;Roth v. Parker (1997) 57 
Cal. App.4th 542, 549-550.) The standard of appel­
late review that applies to rulings made under both 
statutes is whether there is substantial evidence of the 
existence of each element of the charge or charges. 
(People v. Ceja (1988) 205 Cal. App.3d 1296, 1301; 
San Diego Metropolitan Transit Development Bd. 
v. HandleryHotel, Inc. (1999)73 Cal. App.4th517, 
528; Jordan v. City of Santa Barbara (l 996) 46 
Cal. App.4th 1245, 1254-1255.) The sufficiency of 

contest this dismissal on review and we adopt it without further 
discussion based on out independent review of the record. 

4. Unless otherwise noted, all further references to rules are to 

these Rules of Procedure. 
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the evidence is tested as it stands at the time the 
motion is made. (People v. Ceja, supra, 205 Cal. 
App.3d at p. 1301; People v. Mobile Oil Corp. 
(1983) 143 Cal. App.3d 261, 274-275.) Thus, on 
review of a trial judge's ruling on the motion in the 
criminal and civil context, the appellate court deter­
mines, applying the standard ofreview applicable in 
review of appeals of final judgments, whether, at the 
time the motion was made, sufficient proof was 
presented of each element of the charge or charges. 

[le] State Bar disciplinary proceedings are of a 
nature of their own and are not governed by the rules 
of procedure governing criminal and civil litigation. 
(Emsliev. State Bar (1974) 11 Cal.3d210, 225-226.) 
Nevertheless, we may look to those rules for guid­
ance. (In the Matter of Po tack (Review Dept. 1991) 
l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 525, 536.) In view of the 
similarity between rule 219 and Penal Code section 
1118 and Code of Civil Procedure section 631.8, we 
interpret our rule of procedure to apply in the same 
manner as the criminal and civil statutes. 5 Accord­
ingly, we hold that the hearing judge's ruling on a 
motion made pursuant to rule 219 is reviewable on 
plenary review under rule 3 0 l and that our review of 
that ruling is de novo, which is the standard of review 
we apply to appeals of"final judgements" (i.e., orders 
and decisions that fully dispose of a proceeding). (See 
rule 301.) Based upon our independent review of the 
evidence before the hearing judge at the time the 
motion was made, we must determine whether clear 
and convincing evidence was presented of each 
element of the charged offenses. In deciding these 
issues, we must give great weight to the hearing 
judge's credibility determinations. (See rule 305(a).) 

The evidence presented by the State Bar in its 
case-in-chief included the testimony of John and his 
mother, who testified that they were on an airplane at 
2:00 p.m. on November 6; respondent, who testified 
that he was in his law office alone on November 6 
when he spoke to Daisy and that he went to the rental 
property and served John or someone resembling 
John at 2:00 p.m.; John's Texas attorney, who testi-

5. We need not and do not decide in this case whether dismissal 
of a disciplinary proceeding where serious misconduct was 
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fled that respondent was unequivocal in his assertion 
to the Texas judge that he had served John; and the 
principal of respondent's school, who testified re­
garding school attendance records. The transcripts of 
the Texas and California proceedings were intro­
duced as well as other documentary evidence shov.ing 
that John and his mother were on an airplane when 
John was allegedly served. Teacher attendance 
records were also introduced showing that respon­
dent was not absent from school for a full day on 
November 6. In denying the motion to dismiss, the 
hearing judge concluded that respondent's testimony 
that he served John or someone resembling John was 
not truthful and that in fact, respondent was at school 
all day on November 6 and did not serve John or 
anyone. 

Viewing the evidence independently, we con­
clude that clear and convincing evidence of 
respondent's culpability of the charged offenses was 
presented in the State Bar's case-in-chief 
Respondent's testimony was that he was alone at his 
office. The teacher attendance records, which re­
spondent signed, showed that he was not absent a full 
day. No evidence had been introduced at this point 
showing that respondent was at school only part of 
the day on November 6. Thus, the evidence in the 
record at the time the rule 219 motion was made 
indicated that respondent was either in his law office 
on November 6 or at school teaching. The hearing 
judge found the latter more credible. As John was on 
an airplane when he was allegedly served and as 
respondent was at school and therefore could not 
have served John or anyone else, respondent's state­
ments to the two judges were knowingly false. 

Although detailed, respondent's next two argu­
ments are in essence simply that the hearing judge 
should have found respondent's version of the events 
credible. Respondent's version was that he went to 
the rental property and served John or someone 
resembling John. The State Bar's version was that 
respondent did not serve John or anyone else. 

proven subsequent to a rule 219 motion would be consistent 
with the goals of protecting the public, courts, and profession. 
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Respondent "take[s] issue" with some of the 
inferences drawn by the hearing judge in assessing 
respondent's credibility. We agree that some of the 
inferences, such as the inferences drawn from 
respondent's failure to have Daisy accompany him to 
serve John and from respondent's failure to produce 
a picture of John given to him by Daisy, are not 
supported by the record. Further, we note that reli­
ance on questionable inferences can seriously 
undermine confidence in the hearing judge's over-all 
assessment of credibility. Nevertheless, the hearing 
judge's decision affirmatively demonstrates that his 
credibility determinations were not based solely on his 
consideration of these questionable inferences. Re­
spondent does not argue otherwise. In any event, 
ample evidence supports the conclusion that 
respondent's testimony that he went to the property 
and served John or someone was not credible.6 

Respondent's testimony regarding the events of 
November 6 was evasive and inconsistent, which 
alone supports the hearing judge's adverse credibility 
conclusion. (SeeEvid. Code,§ 780.)DuringtheState 
Bar's case-in-chief, respondent testified that he ''be­
lieved" he was in his law office on November 6 at 

noon, but that it was "almost two years ago" and "as 
I sit here today, I can't remember where I was on 
November 6th." He also testified that he "believed" 
Daisy called his office that day, but he could not recall 
the exact time that he talked to her and he was not 
sure how long he spoke to her. However, respondent 
was sure that he was the only person in his office 
when he spoke to Daisy on November 6. 

6. Although we have not considered the inferences mentioned 
in footnote 6 of respondent's opening brief in assessing 
respondent's credibility, the facts from which the inferences 
were derived are relevant and appropriate facts to consider, 
albeit varying greatly in weight, in determining credibility. 

7. We have not considered the infonnation derived by the 
hearing judge by way of judicial notice regarding "common­
place" data found on fax copies, nor have we considered the 
inferences drawn by the hearing judge from that information. 
(SeeBarretro v. State Bar( 1970)2 Cal.3d 912,925 ["This court 
may take judicial notice that there are many kinds of copying 
machines utilizing different processes. In the absence of 
evidence it may not take judicial notice that a particular 
photostat was made from an unstapled original.'1-) Regardless 
of what information may or may not be "commonly'' found on 
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Respondent's memory apparently improved sig­
nificantly during the course of the State Bar trial as he 
later gave a detailed account of his asserted where­
abouts and actions on November 6. Tus later testimony 
included respondent's assertions that he was in his 
law office interviewing another client, Walker, when 
Daisy called, that he interrupted his interview to 
speak to her, and that he spoke to her "20 minutes 
maybe at the most." 

Other evidence also supports the credibility de­
termination. Respondent testified that he spoke to 
another attorney regarding the Walker matter on the 
telephone on November 6. He also testified that he 
was teaching school that day and had to arrange for 
another teacher to cover his classes for him so he 
could leave school to serve John. Respondent could 
not remember the identity of the other teacher. Other 
than a copy of a facsimile (fax) that lacked a date 
stamp, a copy of his calendar with a handwritten 
notation of the Walker appointment, and a copy of a 
request for production of documents in the Walker 
matter that required production at respondent's of­
fice at 4: 00 p .m. on November 6, respondent presented 
no evidence corroborating his testimony.7 

Daisy testified that she first called respondent on 
November 6 around 1 :00 p.m., that she was not able 
to reach him., and that she left a voice mail message 
for him. Daisy thought she called respondent's office 
around three times on that day and was not sure if she 
ever spoke to respondent directly.8 

a fax, the lack of a date stamp on the fax that respondent 
introduced into evidence is relevant to the weightto be accorded 
this evidence: as corroboration of respondent's version of the 
events of November 6. 

8. Respondent introduced into evidence a declaration signed by 
Daisy in 1996 in which she stated that respondent answered 
the telephone when she called around I :00 p.m. At the State 
Bar Court trial, Daisy testified as indicated in the text a hove and 
was sure that she did not speak to respondent directly when 
she first called around 1 :00 p.m. The declaration was prepared 
by respondent, apparently for use in the California dissolution 
proceeding. The hearing judge• s factual findings indicate that 
he found tluttDaisy's testimony at the Stale Bar Court trial was 
the more credible. We agree. 
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Respondent had never seen John before No­
vember 6, 1995. Daisy had given him a photograph of 
John that was taken in 1990. Respondenttestified that 
the person he served "resembled" the person in the 
photograph. Respondent also testified that, at the 
Texas hearing, he commented to Daisy that John 
"looked different." Yet, at that Texas hearing and at 
the later California hearing, respondent told the judges 
without equivocation that he had served John. 

John traveled to Los Angeles with his mother. 
Both testified that they did not go to the rental 
property on November 6 and that they were on an 
airplane on their way back to Texas by approximately 
noon on that day. In addition, the State Bar presented 
corroborating documentary evidence showing when 
the airplane departed Los Angeles and showing that 
. John and his mother were on the airplane. Mr. Lopez 
testified that he was at his residence from about 9:45 
a.m. through the remainder of the day on November 
6; that he was, except when he used the bathroom, in 
a position to see his front door and the entrance to the 
property and to hear someone enter the property; and 
that he did not see or hear anyone enter the property 
that afternoon. Based on the above, we agree with 
the hearing judge that respondent's testimony that he 
went to the rental property on November 6 and 
served John or someone resembling John is not 
credible. 

Respondent argues, correctly, that disbelieving 
his testimony does not establish that he did not go to 
the rental property and serve someone. (2) In es­
sence, respondent's argument is that he is not culpable 
of the charged misconduct because, even ifhe did not 
serve John, he served someone resembling John and 
therefore his statements to the two judges were made 
in good faith. We have implicitly recognized that good 
faith of an attorney in making a false statement is a 
defense to the charge of violating section 6068, 
subdivision (d}. (In the Matter of Harney (Review 
Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 266,280; see 
also Vickers v. State Bar (1948) 32 Cal.2d 24 7, 253-
256 [attorney culpable of violating§ 6068, subd. (d) 

9. We need not and do not adopt the hearing judge's finding that 
respondent did not leave school on November 6. Regardless of 
whether he was at school or in his office, no credible evidence 
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where issue of his good faith in making false state­
ment was determined adversely to him).) As a 
defense, respondent had the burden of proving that he 
served someone resembling John. As indicated above, 
respondent failed to meet this burden. 

It is clear that respondent did not serve John as 
he was on an airplane at the time. In addition, Mr. 
Lopez's testimony was found credible by the hearing 
judge. As noted above, he was at the rental property 
during the relevant period of time. Mr. Lopez was 
recuperating from a work-related injury and was on 
his couch watching television. From that location, be 
could see the entrance to the property through his 
front door, which was open. Mr. Lopez would also 
have been able to hear people talking outside his 
home. He did not see or hear anyone enter the 
property that afternoon. No credible evidence was 
presented contradicting Mr. Lopez's testimony. 

While the persuasiveness of the State Bar's 
evidence may very well have been reduced if it was 
rebutted by credible evidence, it was not. We are 
satisfied, based on the above and the record as a 
whole, that sufficient evidence was presented prov­
ing dearly and convincingly that respondent did not 
serve John or anyone else on November 6 and that his 
statements to the two judges were therefore know­
ingly false. 9 

We also note that even under respondent's 
version of the events, his culpability of the charged 
offenses is established. According to respondent, the 
person he served did not acknowledge he was John 
and looked surprised when respondent handed him 
the dissolution papers. Respondent made no attempt 
to verify that the person he allegedly served was in 
fact John. At the Texas hearing, respondent ob­
served, outside the presence of the court, that John 
"looked different." In spite of any questions this 
observation may (and should) have created in his 
mind, respondent stated unequivocally in the Califor­
nia and Texas divorce hearings that he served John, 
and in the State Bar Court proceeding, respondent 

was introduced showing that respondent went to the rental 
property and served anyone. 
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testified that he served John or someone resembling 
John. 

(3) Section 6068, subdivision (d) requires attor­
neys "to refrain from misleading and deceptive acts 
without qualification. [Citation.}" (Rodgers v. State 
Bar(l 989)48 Cal.3d 300,315 [emphasisadded}.)An 
attorney need not utter an affi.nnative falsehood in 
order to violate section 6068, subdivision ( d). (Franklin 
v. State Bar (1986) 41 Cal.3d 700, 709.) Conceal­
ment of a material fact misleads a judge just as 
effectively as a false statement. (Ibid.) "No distinc­
tion can therefore be drawn among concealment, 
half-truth, and false statement of fact. [Citation.]" 
(Grove v. State Bar (1965) 63 Cal.2d 312, 315.) 
Respondent's unqualified and unequivocal statements 
to the judges that. he served John under circum­
stances that should have caused him at least some 
uncertainty were, at a minimum, deceptive, in viola­
tion of sections 6068, subdivision (d) and 6106. 

[4a] Respondent's last argument regarding cul­
pability is that service of the dissolution papers was 
not a material issue in either the Texas or California 
proceedings and therefore he is not culpable of 
violating either section 6068, subdivision ( d) or section 
6106. Although the issue of whether John was per­
sonally served was before both Courts, neither judge 
resolved it. In the Texas proceeding, the judge sev­
ered the custody and support issues from the marriage 
termination issue, transferred the custody and sup­
port issues to the California proceeding, abated the 
marriage termination issue in Tt;xas pending the 
outcome of the proceedings in California, and de­
ferred the determination of whether John had been 
served in the California proceeding to the California 
courts. In the California proceeding, John filed a 
motion to quash service of the summons on the 
ground that he had not been served. The California 
judge denied the motion because he determined that 
he had personal jurisdiction over John in California as 
J ohnhad substantial contacts, including ownership of 
property, in California. The judge did not decide 
whether respondent served John.10 The two judges 
spoke by telephone and agreed that California was 

10. When his motion to quash was denied, John converted his 
special appearance to a general appearance. 
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the proper place to decide the custody and support 
issues. 

[4b) Respondent cites In the Matter of Farrell 
(Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 490, 
in support ofhis argument that his misrepresentations 
were not material. InFarrell, we noted that in a prior 
case we had accepted the State Bar's concession 
that, in order to violate section 6068, subdivision ( d), 
a misrepresentation made to a tribunal must be 
material to the issues before the tribunal. (Id. at p. 
497.) We concluded that Farrell's false statement to 
a judge that he had served a witness with a subpoena 
was material because it caused the court to delay a 
proceeding and was considered by the court in 
determining whether the witness disobeyed the sub­
poena. (Ibid) Respondent postulates from this holding 
that, in order to be material, a false statement must 
have an "impact" on the proceedings before the 
tribunal. 

[4c] In effect, respondent's argument is that a 
misrepresentation is not material unless it success­
fully misleads the court. This interpretation is clearly 
contrary to the express wording of the statute which 
provides that it is the duty of an attorney to never seek 
to mislead a judge by a false statement of fact or law. 
The Supreme Court long ago held that"[ t]he conduct 
denounced by [ section 6068, subdivision ( d)] is not the 
act of an attorney by which he successfully misleads 
the court, but the presentation of a statement of fact, 
known by him to be false, which tends to do so. It is 
the endeavor to secure an advantage by means of 
falsity which is denounced." (Pickering v. State Bar 
(1944) 24 Cal.2d 141, 144-145 .) Whetherrespondent 
violated section 6068, subdivision ( d), "depends first 
upon whether his representation to the ... court was 
in fact untrue, and secondly, whether he knew that his 
statement was false and he intended thereby to 
deceive the court." (Vickers v. State Bar, supra, 32 
Cal.2d at pp. 252-253; see also Davis v. State Bar 
(1983) 33 Cal.3d231, 239-240;Jacksonv. State Bar 
(1979) 23 Cal.3d 509, 513.) With regard to whether 
respondent intended to deceive the court, the Su­
preme Court has held that "[t]he presentation to a 
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court of a statement of fact known to be false 
presumes an intent to secure a determination based 
upon it and is a clear violation of [section 6068, 
subdivision (d)]." (Pickering v. State Bar, supra, 24 
Cal.2d at p. 144; see also Davis v. State Bar, supra, 
33 Cal.3d at pp. 239-240.)11 

[4d] In the present case, respondent's state­
ments to the two courts that he had served John were 
in fact untrue and he knew they were untrue. Thus, 
it is presumed that the statements were made with an 
intent to secure an advantage. No credible evidence 
rebutted this presumption. 

Even without consideration of the presumption, 
it's clear that respondent sought to secure an advan­
tage in both forums. In the Texas proceeding, the only 
reasonable inference that can be drawn from 
respondent's conduct in telling the judge that John had 
been served in a pending California proceeding is that 
respondent sought to secure a determination from the 
Texas court that the case should be heard in Califor­
nia and not in Texas. In the California proceeding, the 
only reasonable inference that can be drawn from 
respondent's conduct in telling the judge that he had 
personally served John is that he intended to secure 
a determination that the motion to quash should be 
denied. 

Based on the above, we conclude that the record 
establishes by clear and convincing evidence that 
respondent wilfully violated section 6068, subdivision 
( d). The hearing judge also concluded that the same 
facts underlying the section 6068, subdivision (d) 
violation constituted a violation of section 6106 as 
charged in count two. We agree with this conclusion. 
Because the same facts underlie both violations, the 
section 6106 violation is duplicative of the section 
6068, subdivision ( d) violation and we therefore have 
not given the section 6106 violation any weight in 
determining the appropriate discipline. (See Bates v. 
State Bar (I 990) 51 Cal.3d 1056, 1060;ln the Matter 
of Katz (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 430, 435.) 

11. Any false statement made with the intent to secure an 
advantage is also, by its very nature, material to the person 
ma.king the statement. 

DISCIPLINE 

1. MITIGATING AND AGGRAVATING 
CIRCUMSTANCES 

A. Findings and Conclusions 
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In aggravation, the hearing judge found that re­
spondenthas a record of prior discipline. (Std. l .2(b )(i), 
Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct, Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, title IV (standards).) In April 1996, 
the Supreme Court suspended respondent for one 
year, stayed execution of that suspension, and placed 
him on probation for a period ofone year on conditions, 
including 15 days' actual suspension. That discipline 
was based on a stipulation to facts and disposition 
filed in October 1995. The stipulated facts show (I) 
that, in I 992, respondent filed a personal injury lawsuit 
on his own behalf and that, during the course of that 
action, he failed to pay court ordered discovery 
sanctions totaling $3,320 in wilful violation of section 
6103; and (2) that, in response to an interrogatory, he 
failed to disclose that he had received prior medical 
treatment for chronic pain in his knee in wilful 
violation of rule 5-220 of the Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the State Bar and section 6068, subdivi­
sion ( d). In mitigation, respondenthadno record of prior 
discipline and his misconduct did not result in any hann. 
No aggravating circumstances were found. 

The hearing judge also found that respondent's 
misconduct was surrounded by bad faith, dishonesty, 
and concealment (std. 1.2(b)(iii)); that the miscon­
duct banned the administration of justice by "making 
each court an unwitting party to [respondent's] fraud 
and subjecting each to potential ridicule or scorn" 
(std. l .2(b)(iv)); that respondent's insistence in the 
California action that he had served John demon­
strated his indifference toward rectification or 
atonement for the consequences of his misconduct 
(std. l.2(b)(v)); and, citing standard l.2(b)(vi), that 
respondent's continued assertion in the State Bar 
Court proceeding that he had served John demon­
strated that he had not learned from his misconduct. 
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In mitigation, the hearing judge- found that 
respondent's participation in extra-curricula school 
programs and the Army Reserve were pro bono 
community service activities and that respondent's 
character witnesses presented an extraordinary dem­
onstration of good character (std. l .2(e)(vi)). 

Based on our independent review of the record, 
we conclude that the hearing judge' s factual findings 
in aggravation and mitigation, as modified by the order 
filed October 21 , I 998, are supported by clear and 
convincing evidence, and we adopt them. However, 
we modify the legal conclusions as discussed below. 

B. Discussion 

Respondent asserts that the conclusion in aggra­
vation that his misconduct was surrounded by bad 
faith, dishonesty, and concealment is not supported by 
the record. We agree as we do not find any such 
conduct that is not duplicative of the conduct under­
lying culpability. (In the Matter of Sampson (Review 
Dept 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 119, 133.) 

Respondent also takes issue with the hearing 
judge's conclusion that respondent's misconduct 
harmed the administration of justice. We conclude 
that any such harm was minimal at best and therefore 
is not "significant" harm as required by standard 
1.2(b )(iv). 

Respondent asserts that the hearing judge erred 
in finding that respondent' s insistence in the Califor­
ni·a family law action that he had served John 
demonstrated indifference toward rectification or 
atonement for the consequences of his misconduct 
(std. l.2(b)(v)) as that finding is duplicative of the 
misconduct underlying the culpability finding. We 
agree. 

Respondent also argues that the hearing judge 
incorrectly found that his testimony in this proceeding 
lacked· candor. The hearing judge, citing standard 

12. Eight character witnesses testified; respondent' scommand­
ing officer who is an attorney, three former students, an 
attorney who does contract work for respondent, a paralegal 
who also works for respondent, a fellow teacher who is an 
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l .2(b){vi), found that respondent' s continued asser­
tion in the State Bar Court proceeding that he had 
served John demonstrated that he had not learned 
from his misconduct. Although this specific finding 
does not fall within the parameters of standard 
l .2(b)(vi), the hearing judge also cited toSelznickv. 
State Bar (1976) 16 Cal.3d 704, 709, which held that 
lack of candor is an aggravating circumstance. 
Respondent's statements to the Texas and California 
judges that he served John were untruthful. Accord­
ingly, respondent's testimony in this State Bar Court 
proceeding that he served John was also untruthful 
and therefore lacked candor. 

We do not find persuasive respondent's argu­
ments regarding the mitigating circumstances found 
by the hearingjudge. Contrary to respondent's asser­
tion, the hearing judge gave him mitigating credit for 
his Army Reserve activities. We agree with the 
hearing judge that, to the extent that respondent was 
compensated for this activity, he is not entitled to 
mitigating credit for pro bono community service. 
Also contrary to respondent's assertion, the hearing 
judge found that respondent's character witnesses 
presented an extraordinary demonstration of good 
character.1

" Thehearingjudge specifically noted that 
he did not devalue the weight of that showing, and 
neither do we. 

We also agree with the hearing judge that re­
spondent did not meet his burden of proving that any 
emotional difficulties he faced were directly respon­
sible for the misconduct (In the Matter of Spaith 
(Review Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 511, 
515) or that any financial difficulties he suffered were 
extreme and the result of circumstances not reason­
ably foreseeable or beyond his control (In re Naney 
(1990) 51 Cal.3d 186, 196). (SJ We agree with the 
State Bar that any changes respondent made to his 
office practices regarding service of pleadings will 
not prevent similar misconduct. The misconduct here 
resulted from moral deficiency, not faulty office 
procedures. (See In the Matter of Lais (Review 

attorney, and another fellow teacher. All were generally aware 
of the misconduct in the present case and all testified favorably 
regarding respondent's good character. 



IN THE MATIER OF CHESNlIT 

(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 166 

Dept. 1998) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 907, 926 
lmitigating credit is appropriate only for reforms 
designed to prevent the type of misconduct that 
occurred].) Finally, serving John at a later date does 
not show that respondent's misrepresentations were 
made in good faith, nor does it show a spontaneous 
recognition of wrongdoing where, as here, respon­
dent has not admitted to any wrongdoing. 

In sum, we find respondent culpable of violating 
section 6068, subdivision (d) by misrepresenting to 
the Texas and California judges that he served John. 
In aggravation, we conclude that respondent has a 
record of prior discipline and that his testimony in the 
State Bar proceeding lacked candor. We find mitigat­
ing respondent's demonstration of good character 
and his pro bono activities. 

2. DISCIPLINE 

Respondent argues that he should receive "no 
more than sixty days actual suspension" ifhe is found 
culpable of the charged violations. The State Bar 
asserts that we should adopt the hearing judge's 
recommended discipline. 

The hearing judge considered several cases on 
the issue of the appropriate discipline and the parties 
have cited numerous cases in support of their respec­
tive positions. Of the more recent cases, we find 
guidance from Bach v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 
848; Davis v. State Bar, supra, 33 Cal.3d 231; and 
In the Matter of Farrell, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 490. These cases involved circumstances more 
similar to the circumstances we have found in the 
present case and therefore represent a more appro­
priate range of discipline. 

In Bach, the attorney was suspended for one 
year, stayed, and placed on probation for three years 
on conditions, including 60 days' actual suspension. 
Bach was found culpable of misleading a judge by 
falsely stating that he had not been ordered to have his 
client appear for a family law mediation. Bach had a 
record of prior disciplined, having been publically 
reproved for communicating with a an adverse party 
represented by counsel. Respondent's misconduct 
and his prior discipline distinguish his casefromBach. 
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In Farrell, the attorney was suspended for two 
years, stayed, and placed on probation for three years 
on conditions, including six months' actual suspen­
sion. Farrell had been found culpable of falsely stating 
to a judge that he had a witness under subpoena and 
of failing to cooperate with the State Bar in its 
investigation of the misconduct. In mitigation, Farrell 
believed that a subpoena had been prepared and sent 
out for service by his staff, but had no basis for 
believing that the subpoena had in fact been served. 
Farrell ·had a record of prior discipline for improper 
business tran~actions with a client and for abandon­
ment of a client. That prior discipline resulted in two 
years' stayed suspension and two years' probation on 
conditions, including 90 days' actual suspension. 

In Davis, the attorney was suspended for three 
years, stayed, with three years' probation and one 
year's actual suspension. Davis wilfully failed to 
perform legal services competently and falsely de­
nied that he represented a client in his verified answer 
in a malpractice action. Davis had been previously 
disciplined on two occasions. In one of the prior 
matters, Davis was suspended for two years, which 
was stayed, and was placed on probation without any 
actual suspension for failing to perform services 
competently, misleading a client, and commingling 
funds. In the other prior matter, Davis was suspended 
for one year, stayed, and placed on probation without 
actual suspension for failing to perform legal services 
competently. 

Like Davis, respondent's prior discipline in­
volved similar misconduct. Respondent stipulated in 
October 1995 in his prior discipline proceeding that he 
engaged in a misleading act. Less than three months 
latter in December I 995 he was again engaging in 
deception in the present case. Respondent's past and 
present misconduct show a disturbing willingness to 
employ deceitful means to accomplish his objectives. 
However, respondent's prior discipline is not as 
ex.tensive as the prior discipline in Davis. 

Although there are differences, on balance, we 
find that the circumstances in the present case are 
more similar to the circumstances inFarrell than the 
other cases. The misconduct here, which includes 
two separate acts of dishonesty, is more serious than 
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the misconductFarre ll, but Farrell's prior discipline, 
which resulted in 90 days actual suspension, is argu­
ably more serious than respondent's prior discipline. 

We are not unmindful of the mitigating circwn­
stances here, but we do not find them to be 
overwhelming and we are not persuaded that they, 
when balanced with the aggravating circumstances, 
demonstrate that a lesser degree of discipline will 
accomplish the purposes of attorney discipline. The 
risk of future misconductthat results from respondent's 
several dishonest acts and his second time through 
the discipline system in less than 10 years of practice 
requires strong prophylactic measures. 

RECOMMENDATION 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that 
respondent Daniel M. Chesnut be suspended from 
the practice of law for a period of two years, that 
execution of the suspension be stayed, and that he be 
placed on probation for a period of three years on the 
conditions of probation recommended by the hearing 
judge, except that we reduce the recommended 
actual suspension to six months. 
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We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to comply with the requirements of rule 9 5 5 of 
the California Rules of Court and to perform the acts 
specified in subdivisions (a) and ( c) of that rule within 
30 and 40 days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court's order in this matter. 

We also recommend that respondent be ordered 
to take and pass the Multistate Professional Respon­
sibility Examination given by the National Conference 
of Bar Examiners and to furnish satisfactory proof of 
such passage to the State Bar's Probation Unit within 
one year after the effective date of the Supreme 
Court's order in this matter. 

Finally, we recommend that costs be awarded to 
the State Bar pursuant to Business and Professions 
Code section 6086. l O and that those costs be payable 
in accordance with section 6140.7 oft.hat Code. 

We Concur: 

NORIAN, J. 
STOVITZ, J. 
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The Hearing Department found respondent culpable of all but one of the six charged matters and 
recommended that respondent be suspended for three years, stayed on conditions including actual suspension 
for six months and until be made specified restitution. (Hon. Nancy R. Lonsdale, Hearing Judge.) 

The Review Department found culpability on all six of the charged matters and that the aggravating 
circumstances overwhelmed the near absence of mitigating factors. Accordingly, the Review Department 
recommended that respondent be suspended for five years, stayed, on conditions including five years probation 
and actual suspension for two years and until he makes specified restitution, completes six hours of approved 
continuing education in law-office management, develops a law office management plan and establishes his 
rehabilitation, present fitness to practice and present learning in the law. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

II a, b] 221.00 

David C. Carr 

Jeffrey A. Lowe 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

liEADNOTES 

State Bar Act-Section 6106 

Respondent committed an act of moral turpitude by signing his client's name to a declaration under 
penalty of perjury without her approval or without her even seeing the declaration in advance. Even 
ifhehad the client's authority to sign her name to the declaration, respondent would still be culpable 
of moral turpitude. Respondent's acts, particularly if it was determined that the client had not agreed 
to the text of the declaration he had prepared in her name, could have resulted in his prosecution 
for forgery, a crime involving moral turpitude. 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office ofthe State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text oftheReview Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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f 2 a, b] 191 Effect/Relationship of Proceedings 
277.60 Rule 3-700(D)(2) [former 2-11l(A)(3)1 

The agreement between respondent and his client's subsequent counsel for respondent to refund 
$500 in unearned fees was sufficient to defeat the client's small claims suit against respondent to 
collect the advanced fee the client had paid him. Nonetheless, their agreement does not affect the 
ethical conclusion that respondent failed to earn any part of the fee paid. 

(3 a-c] 143 Evidence-Privileges 
147 Evidence-Presumptions 
213.50 State Bar Act-Section 6068(e) 
213.60 State Bar Act-Section 6068(f) 

Business and Professions Code section 6068 subdivision ( e) is the most strongly worded duty binding 
on a California attorney. It requires the attorney to maintain inviolate the confidence and at every 
peril to himself or herself to preserve his client's secrets. The ethical duty of confidentiality is much 
broader in scope and covers communications that would not be privileged under the evidentiary 
attorney-client privilege. It prohibits an attorney from disclosing facts and even allegations that might 
cause a client or former client public embarrassment. The duty of confidentiality complements the 
evidentiary presumption that communications from client to attorney during their professional 
relationship are confidential. Respondent breached his client's confidence in violation of section 
6068 subdivision (e) by disclosing to another, without good cause, that the client was a convicted 
felon, although the conviction was a public record, but not easily discovered. The client had 
communicated his status to respondent to aid respondent in effectively representing him. Even if 
respondent had not been charged with such a violation, the hearing judge could have concluded in 
aggravation of discipline that respondent's divulgence was of a fact prejudicial to his client in 
violation of Business and Professions Code section 6068, subdivision (:f). 

(41 735.10 Mitigation-Candor-Victim-Found but Discounted 

Very limited mitigating weight is afforded on account of respondent's cooperation with the State 
Bar in entering into a factual stipulation covering background facts in most of the matters. More 
extensive mitigating weight is accorded those who, where appropriate, willingly admit their 
culpability as well as the facts. 

(51 159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 

Respondent's production of verifications purporting to bear his client's signature but which were 
signed by a manipulated means involved dishonesty, an aggravating circumstance. Respondent 
engaged in moral turpitude whether he was grossly negligent in offering the verifications as signed 
by hls client or prepared them intentionally to mislead. Although there is no direct evidence that 
respondent personally simulated his client's signature, he offered the documents to exculpate 
himself and he must bear responsibility for their altered nature. 
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ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

214.31 Section6068(m) 
270.31 Rule 3-1 lO(A) [former 6-10l(A)(2)/(B)] 
280.41 Rule 4-100(B)(3) [former 8-10l(B)(3)] 

Not Found 
213.95 
221.50 
270.35 

Section 6068(i) 
Section 6106 
Rule 3-llO(A) [former 6-10l(A)(2)/(B)] 

Aggravation 
Found 

511 
521 
541 
561 
582.10 
611 

Prior Record 
Multiple Acts 
Bad Faith, Dishonesty 
Uncharged Violations 
Harm to Client 
Lack of Candor-Bar-Found 

Mitigation 
Found but Discounted 

740. 31 Good Char_acter 
740.32 Good Character 
740.39 Good Character 

Discipline 

Other 

1013 .11 Stayed Suspension-5 years 
1015.08 Actual Suspension-2 years 
1017 .11 Probation-5 years 

Probation Conditions 
1021 Restitution 
1024 Ethics Exam/School 
1025 Office Management 
1030 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) 
l 091 Substantive Issues re Discipline-Proportionality 

175 
178.10 

Discipline-Rule 955 
Costs-Imposed 

181 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, J.: 

Respondent Alan W. Johnson and the State 
Bar's Office of Chief Trial Counsel (State Bar) each 
seek our review in this attorney discipline case. A 
hearingjudge found respondent culpable of all but one 
of the six charged matters and recommended that 
respondent be ·suspended for three years, stayed on 
conditions of a six-month actual suspension and until 
he made specified restitution. Respondent was ad­
mitted to practice law in California in December 
1990, was publicly reproved effective January 8, 
(997, and ordered to comply with certain duties. One 
of the six matters in the present record is the disciplin­
ary proceeding arising out ofhis failure to comply with 
the duties of his earlier reproval. 

Respondent claims that procedural error war­
rants reversal of the hearing judge's decision. The 
State Bar opposes respondent's claims arguing that 
we should increase the discipline to a two-year actual 
suspension for the misconduct found and its sur­
rounding aggravation. Independently reviewing the 
record (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 951.5 (adopted Feb. 
28, 2000); /n re Morse (1995} 11 Cal.4th 184, 207), 
we determine that there is clear and convincing 
evidence to find respondent culpable in a sixth matter, 
that aggravating circumstances overwhelm the near 
absence of mitigation and that the appropriate disci­
pline is a five-year stayed suspension on conditions of 
probation including a two-year actual suspension and 
until respondent makes restitution and provides the 
proof of fitness and rehabilitation required by stan~ 
dard 1. 4( c)(ii), Standards for Attorney Sanctions for 
Professional Misconduct (Standards). 

I. CULP ABILITY FINDINGS AND 
DISCUSSION. 

We now summarize the essential findings in 
each charged matter in order in which they appear in 
the hearing judge's decision. We shall also discuss the 
pertinent evidence and adopt the appropriate conclu-

1. This declaration stated facts as to St. John' s knowledge: of 
attempted service:, alleged that no co-occupant lived at her 
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sions. At the outset, we note that many of the 
background facts were the subject of a stipulation of 
the parties or are otherwise not in dispute. 

A. The St. John Matter. 

1. Facts and findings. 

We summarize the hearing judge's findings, 
augmented by evidence in the record. In I 993, Buffy 
St. John was sued in Municipal Court, South Bay 
Judicial District, by Colonial National Bank (BanJc) 
over a credit dispute. In March 1996, in order to try 
to .settle the matter, Bank's counsel sent St. John a 
copy of the summons and complaint and a stipulation 
for entry of judgment in Bank's favor. St. John never 
signed or returned these documents. On April 25, 
1996, a default judgment was entered for Bank 
against St. John for $5,715.10, and on April 29, 1996, 
St. John retained respondent to set aside the default. 
St. John told respondent that Bank never personally 
served her with process, that Bank breached an 
agreement with a consumer credit organization to 
honor a payment schedule and that she owed Bank 
onlyabout$750. Respondenfsfcewasa$1,000'~at 
fee" to prepare the papers to set aside the default. 
Fees for added services were $150 per hour. St. John 
paid respondent's $1,000 fee. 

Between April 15. and 17, 1996, St. John gave 
respondent two declarations not under penalty of 
perjury concerning the merits of her dispute with 
Bank. Between April and August of 1996, St. John 
tried repeatedly and unsuccessfully to reach respon­
dent by phone. On August 8, she wrote respondent 
that he had not returned her many calls and informed 
him that she would complain to the State Bar. On 
October 2 and November I , 1996, the State Bar 
wrote to respondent concerning St. John'~ complaint. 
On October 24, I 996, respondent filed in Municipal 
Court a motion to set aside the default. It was 
accompanied by a two-page declaration under pen­
alty of perjury purportedly signed by St. John.1 St. 
John's name was in fact signed on the declaration by 
respondent. Eleven days later; respondent wrote to 

address at the tim~ of service and set forth facts concerning the 
underlying credit dispute. 
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St. John enclosing the motion papers he filed on her 
behalf. He advised her that he had signed her name 
to the declaration and apologized for any failure to 
return her earlier calls. 

Respondent tried to shorten time on his motion to 
set aside the default but was unsuccessful. He 
therefore obtained a hearing date and the motion was 
heard. On November 25, 1996, the civil court denied 
respondent's motion to set aside the default on the 
ground of respondent's failure to diligently seek 
relief. Meanwhile, on November 18, 1996, respon­
dent wrote a nine page letter to the State Bar in 
answer to its two earlier letters. That same day, he 
and St. John attended a civil court hearing on his 
motion to set aside the default. That day, respondent 
got St. John's signature to the declaration, but did not 
file it with the court nor serve it on opposing counsel. 
Respondent took the position in responding to the 
State Bar investigation that St. John then told him that 
another person who lived at her address had been 
served with Bank's complaint just as Bank had 
contended. 

The hearing judge noted that St. John did not 
testify in the State Bar Court hearings and that 
respondent denied that he had failed to communicate 
with St. John at all times. The hearing judge also noted 
respondent's testimony that St. John did not provide 
him with needed documents. Respondent also ad­
vanced a legal theory that he had more than six 
months from the entry of default to move to set aside 
the judgment. The hearing judge concluded that there 
was no clear and convincing evidence that 
respondent's failure to file the motion earlier was 
culpable conduct under rule 3-110, Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct of the State Bar.1 The judge also 
concluded that the evidence fell short of clear and 
convincing that respondent failed to respond to St. 
John's reasonable status inquiries as required by 
Business and Professions Code section 6068, subdi­
vision (m}.3 The hearing judge concluded that 
respondent was innocent of charges under rule 3-
700(0)(2) that he failed to promptly refund fees he 

2. Unless noted otherwise, all references to rules are to the 
provisions of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the State 
Bar. 
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had not earned in representing St. John, since he did 
file papers and attended a court hearing to try to set 
asidethedefaultjudgment. Finally, thehearingjudge 
concluded that although respondent admitted that he 
signed St. John's name to the declaration, he did not 
commit moral turpitude as charged because his tes• 
timony and statements that he had St. John's full 
authority to do so was unrebutted by her. The hearing 
judge also noted that respondent promptly sent St 
John a copy of "her" declaration. 

2. Discussion. 

On review, the State Bar does not take issue with 
the hearing judge's dismissal of all charges in this 
matter, and respondent does not address the matter in 
his brief. On our independent review, we adopt the 
hearing judge's conclusions exonerating respondent 
of the charges that he failed to refund unearned fees 
and to proceed diligently. Yet we cannot agree with 
the hearing judge that respondent should be exoner­
ated of the charges that he engaged in moral turpitude 
and failed to respond to reasonable status inquiries. 

We give great weight to the findings of .the 
hearing judge turning on her assessment of the 
credibility of witnesses. (See, e.g., Connor v. State 
Bar (1990) 50 Cal.3d 1047, 1056; Rules Proc. of 
State Bar, title II, State Bar Court Proceedings, rule 
305(a).) As we shall show, however, independently 
reviewing the record, our findings of respondent's 
failure to communicate adequately with St. John and 
his moral turpitude in misrepresenting as a declaration 
of his client one which was subscribed to by respon­
dent were clearly established by the documentary 
evidence. That evidence included respondent's own 
writings to his client. 

Because neither party raised these issues in their 
briefs, prior to oral argument, we notified the parties 
that we were considering the issues we now address. 
(Rules Proc. of State Bar, title II, State Bar Court 
Proceedings, rule 305(b).) 

3. Unless noted otherwise, all references to sections are to the 
provisions of the Business and Professions Code. 
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We conclude, contrary to the hearing judge's 
decision, that clear and convincing evidence exists 
that respondent violated section 6068, subdivision 
(m). The parties' stipulation admits that respondent 
received St. John's letter complaining that he had not 
returned St John's numerous messages. Respondent's 
November 4, l 996 letter to St. John expresses 
respondent's apology for any failure to return tele­
phone messages "or to contact you." Respondent 
explained that he was outofhis office on another case 
for "quite a lengthy period of time" except from the 
hours of midnight to 6:00 a.m. He stated further that 
he had found another law firm to take over the case 
that was taking up so much of his time and expected 
to be in his office on a regular basis "and available 
should you try and reach me." We regard this 
evidence as an admission by respondent that he was 
not only unavailable to St. John for an extended period 
of time, but also that he failed to communicate with 
her. In the circumstances, respondent wilfully vio­
lated section 6068, subdivision (m). 

(lal Regarding the charge of moral turpitude, 
we regard the documentary evidence as clear that 
respondent signed St. John's name to a declaration 
bearing her name without her approval or without her 
even seeing the declaration in advance. The parties' 
stipulation admits that respondent signed St. John's 
name to the declaration bearing her name. 
Respondent's November 4, 1996 letter to St. John 
was consistent. It enclosed for the first time, the 
papers he prepared for St. John. Respondent's great­
est concern was that he did not simulate St. John's 
signature on the declaration as closely as her own 
handwriting. 4 Respondent never recited in his letter 
that he had her authority to sign her name and claimed 
he did it for expediency. He never explained why he 
could not have attempted to contact her later that 
morning even ifhe had determined that the declara­
tion had to be filed that day. In respondent's November 
l 9 letter to the State Bar, respondent claimed for the 
first time that St. John earlier authorized him to sign 
her name to a declaration that stated true facts, but 

4. As respondent wrote to St. John on November 4, 1996, 
concerning this declaration: "You will note the signature on the 
Dc:claration may not rc:semble yours vc:ry closely, but since I 
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respondent did not give any specifics as to when that 
authority was given and had no proof of it However, 
as we shall discuss, even if respondent had St. I ohn' s 
authority to sign her name to this declaration, respon­
dent would s,till be culpable of moral turpitude. 

[lb] In the case of Vaughn v. State Bar (1972) 
6 Cal.3d 847, 858, the Supreme Court criticized an 
attorney offering a declaration under penalty of 
perjury which was not subscribed by the declarant. 
As the Court stated, "we cannot approve or condone 
a law office practice or procedure according to which 
the signature of a person making a sworn affidavit, 
declaration or other statement or making an unsworn 
declaration or other statement under penalty of per­
jury is subscribed by a person other than the one 
making the sworn or unsworn statement, as the case 
may be." (lbid.)At best, respondent's claim that he 
merely stated facts in the declaration which he knew 
to be true, if credited, could warrant him preparing 
and signing his own declaration attesting to those 
facts, not signing another's name to a declaration 
bearing her name. Respondent's acts, particularly if 
it was determined that St. John had not agreed to the 
text of the declaration he prepared in her name, could 
have resulted in his prosecution for forgery (Pen. 
Code,§ 4 70 subd.(a)), a crime involving moral turpi­
tude. (See, e.g., In re Bogart (1973) 9 Cal.3d 740, 
745.) We therefore reverse the hearing judge's 
contrary conclusion and conclude that respondent 
committed an act of moral turpitude. 

B. The Burneff Matter. 

1. Facts and findings. 

In April 1996, a Mr. Bumeff received a notice 
from the California Department of Motor Vehicles 
(OMV) that his California driver's license would be 
suspended effective September 18, 1996, pursuant to 
former section 11350.6 of the Welfare and Institu­
tions Code (now see Family Code section 17520), 
because of his failure to pay court-ordered child 

was doing this at about 3 :00 a.m. I was not able to come to your 
house to have you sign it. Also, I knew everything in there to 
be the truth and had to get it filed early·that morning." 
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support.5 Burneff agreed that an out-of-state court 
order directed him to pay spousal support, but no 
order directed him to pay child support. Also, Burneff 
had no children by the marriage involved in the court 
order. 

On April 26, 1996, Bumeffretained respondent 
to prevent the suspension of his license. Burneff paid 
respondent's $750 attorney fee by check and gave 
respondent the papers he had about the matter. 
Respondent said he would call the OMV and set up 
a hearing date with the district attorney's office. 
Respondent tried to call the DMV while Bumeff met 
with him, but was unable to speak with anyone about 
the case. 

After this April meeting, Bumeff tried repeat­
edly to contact respondent about progress on the 
matter, but was unsuccessful. On June 28, 1996, 
Burneff came to respondent's office and gave re­
spondent $750 in cash to replace the check he gave 
earlier, but which respondent said he was too busy to 
cash. Respondent told Bumeffthat, ifhe had cash, it 
should speed tlrings along. In July and August, Bumeff 
again had difficulty reaching respondent. In Septem­
ber 1996, Burneff was finally able to see respondent 
in his office. He requested a refund of the $750 and 
return of his file. Respondent agreed, but failed to 
follow through. Respondent also ignored Burne-ff s 
October 2, 1996, written request for a fee refund. In 
October, Burneff was able to recover his file from 
respondent, but it took a small claims judgment and a 
sheriff's levy for Burneff to recover his advanced 
fee. The hearing judge's findings recount the forego­
ing evidence. Further, the hearing judge found that 
respondent did no work for Bumeff, and we agree 
with this finding. Burneff filed a complaint with the 
State Bar, and in January 1997, respondent wrote a 
six-page answer to the State Bar investigator looking 
into Burneff's complaint. Respondent's letter to the 
State Bar did not contend that he did any work for 
Burneff. Respondent offered several excuses for 

5. The DMV notice instructed Bumeff that if he had any 
questions to contact the district attorney's family support 
office and not the DMV. The notice listed the address and 
telephone numberofthe district attorney's office handling the 
case and gave a case number. The notice also advised Bumeff 
about his right to seek review ofDMV' s proposed action and 
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failing to proceed, including Bumeff' s first tendering 
a check for respondent's fee that was not valid and 
then in failing to provide respondent with needed 
documentation. Respondent's testimony was similar 
to his reply to the State Bar investigator. The hearing 
judge discredited respondent's testimony. 

2. Discussion. 

From the findings, the hearing judge concluded 
that respondent wilfully violated rule 3-11 O(A) by 
recklessly failing to provide competent services. The 
hearing judge observed that despite there being some 
urgency in resolving the proposed DMV suspension, 
respondent did nothing for Bumeff. Further, the 
hearing judge concluded that respondent violated 
section 6068, subdivision (m) by failing to return 
Bumeff s telephone calls between May and July and 
August and September 1996. The hearing judge 
noted that Burneff was only minimally successful in 
communicating with respondent when he stopped by 
his office. Respondent's failure to refund Burneffs 
unearned fees was a wilful violation of rule 3. 
700(0){2 ). We agree with the hearingjudge' s findings 
and with these conclusions and find that they are 
established by clear and convincing evidence. Our 
review of the evidence shows that the documents 
Bumeff gave respondent were sufficient by them­
selves to show that Burneff was not in breach of any 
court order for child support and that it should have 
been a relatively simple matter for respondent to 
pursue a resolution promptly with the appropriate 
district attorney's personnel. We also note that, on 
review, respondent does not take any issue with the 
evidence in the Burneff matter. 

C. The Coleman Matter. 

I. Facts and .findings. 

In 1993 Robert Coleman was facing eviction 
from his apartment. He retained respondent that 

enclosed a request for review which Bumeff was instructed to 
mail to the district attorney's office. Under former section 
11350 .6 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, license suspen• 
sion was authorized only for defined failure to comply with a 
court order for payment of child support. 
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year, and respondent defended him in two unlawful 
detainer actions. Respondent believed that Coleman 
had a valid cause of action against the lessor and, in 
April 1993, verbally agreed to file such an action in 
Superior Court. Respondent's fee was made up of a 
flat fee of $1,500 for filing of the summons and 
complaint and a 50 percent contingent fee for all 
remaining services. In November 1993, Coleman 
paid respondent's flat fee. 

In March 1994, respondent filed a 14-count 
superior court complaint for Coleman. In September 
1994, one of the defendants in this action served 
respondent with interrogatories and requests for 
admissions and for production of documents ad­
dressed to Coleman. The next day, respondent's 
secretary forwarded these discovery requests to 
Coleman. Coleman and his girlfriend prepared draft 
responses and met with respondent in mid-October 
1994 to review them with him. Respondent was 
supposed to finalize the discovery reply and serve it 
on the defense. Coleman did not hear from respon­
dent for several months. Respondent obtained a 
two-week extension of time from defendant, but 
failed to respond to the discovery. 

In March 1995, the superior court granted the 
defense motion to compel and sanctioned Coleman 
$600. Respondent did not oppose the motion. In April 
1995, respondent told Coleman's girlfriend that a 
motion for sanctions had been filed. Respondent 
blamed an office assistant. Shortly thereafter, 
Coleman and his girlfriend met with respondent who 
advised that it would be better to allow the suit to be 
dismissed. Respondent promised to refile it. When 
respondent continued to fail to reply to discovery or to 
pay the sanctions, the defendant moved to dismiss the 
action. A hearing was set for June 1, 1995, on the 
defense order to show cause re dismissal. No one 
appeared and, that day, the court dismissed the 
action. Respondent did not refile the action. 

Coleman sought without success to contact re­
spondent by phone and letter between June 1995 and 
June 1996. In January I 997, he requested that re­
spondent refund his $1,500 advance fee, but respondent 
failed to do so. Coleman also complained to the State 
Bar. 
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At trial, respondent presented some verification 
forms in the Coleman matter which he had found the 
previous evening behind some office furniture. He 
sought to show that their signature and date were 
consistent v.i.th his claim that Coleman delayed in 
providing respondent with needed information. These 
forms bore Coleman's purported signature, but a 
questioned documents expert opined that some of the 
signatures were not Coleman's but were forged and 
reproduced through manipulated duplication. Coleman 
testified that some forms produced by respondent 
bore his signature and others were not signed by him. 
Respondent testified that Coleman or his girlfriend 
signed these fonns. After the documents expert was 
called but before the expert gave his opinion, respon­
dent stipulated that the discovery forms were not 
signed by Coleman. Respondent later testified that 
until Coleman testified about his signature, respon­
dent believed that Coleman or another had signed the 
forms outside his office and gave them to his office 
staff. Respondent conceded that the signature of 
Coleman's name on the verification forms was dif­
ferent than on a known exemplar of Coleman's 
signature, the retainer agreement. The hearingjudge 
found that there was no direct evidence that respon­
dent simulated Coleman's signature or reproduced 
the simulation; however, the verification forms were 
produced by respondent's office. 

2. Discussion. 

We adopt the findings set forth above as they 
rest on clear and convincing evidence. On review, 
respondent offers a convoluted argument. Without 
taking issue with the findings, he claims that the 
witnesses made inconsistent statements. He singles 
out Coleman's testimony as to attorney fees and 
Coleman's girlfriend's testimony which respondent 
claims shows that Coleman's discovery responses 
were not brought to respondent's office timely. We 
disagree that respondent's claims show inconsistent 
testimony or undermine the hearing judge's findings. 
Regarding the testimony of Coleman's girlfriend, 
respondent cites to no part of the record. Our reading 
of that testimony is that Coleman and his girlfriend 
provided respondent with all information requested 
on a timely basis. 
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From these findings, we also adopt the hearing 
judge's conclusion that respondent wilfully violated 
rule 3-11 0(A) by recklessly failing to provide compe­
tent legal services in not responding to discovery 
requests, in failing to oppose the motion to dismiss the 
case and in failing to refile the case. We further adopt 
the hearing judge's conclusion that respondent vio­
lated section 6068, subdivision (m) by failing to 
respond promptly to Coleman's requests for infonna­
tion both by telephone and in writing during the period 
from June 1995 to early 1997. We agree with the 
hearing judge that there was insufficient evidence to 
show that respondent committed an act of moral 
turpitude by allowing the court in assessing sanctions 
to conclude that the failure to respond to discovery 
was Coleman's fault Finally, we agree with the 
hearingj udge that respondent did not wilfully violate 
rule 3-700(D) by failing to refund the $1,500 fees 
after Coleman's suit was dismissed. As the hearing 
judge correctly observed, respondent's fee agree­
ment entitled him to $1,500 once he prepared the 
summons and complaint. 

D. The Oplado Matter. 

J. Facts and findings. 

In December 1994, Leddie Oplado was facing 
eviction from the home she rented. She retained 
respondent that same month and paid him $175 to 
represent her. Between February and December 
1995, she paid respondent an additional $499 in 
advanced fees and costs. In early January 1995, 
respondent sent letters to the lessor's counsel on 
Oplado' s behalf. 

Oplado gave respondent information showing 
that the leased property was in disrepair. In early 
1995, respondent advised Oplado that she had a good 
Superior Court suit against the lessor for lack of 
habitability. On March 8, 1995, respondent filed the 
action. Oplado paid the filing fee, and she and respon­
dent agreed to a forty percent contingency fee. The 
lessor answered and cross-complained. 

In August 1995, the lessor filed an unlawful 
detainer action against Oplado. Oplado gave respon­
dent the summons and complaint which she told him 
were left on her mailbox. On September 5, 1995, 
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Op !ado's default was entered in the unlawful detainer 
action. 

After continuances at respondent's request, the 
superior court habitability suit was set for arbitration 
on February 9, 1996. Respondent did not appear at 
this hearing. 

Respondent's motion to set aside the default in 
the unlawful detainer action was successful, but the 
court required Oplado to post a $4,260 deposit. 
Ultimately, the parties agreed that Oplado would 
leave the house by the end of February 1996. The 
unlawful detainer court was to hold Oplado' s deposit 
until transferred to the superior court action. 

After respondent filed a status conference state­
ment in Oplado' s habitability suit on November 16, 
1995, the superior court set a status conference for 
March 15, 1996, but respondent did not appear. The 
court issued an order to show cause why respondent 
and Oplado should not be sanctioned for failing to 
appear at the March 15 hearing. Court trial was set 
for April 15, 1996. On April 5, 1996, the court held a 
mandatory settlement conference, but neither re­
spondent nor Oplado appeared. The court imposed 
sanctions against them of $1,000 and dismissed the 
action. Oplado made many calls to respondent to find 
out what had happened in the superior court case. At 
one time, he told her that it had been dismissed and 
that he would have to find out what had happened, but 
he did not report to her further. 

During the summer of l 996, Oplado learned that 
the court returned to the lessor's counsel in the 
unlawful detainer action the $4,260 deposit. When 
Oplado could not reach respondent to assist her, in 
September 1996, she and a friend went to the law 
library, did some research and filed a motion to set 
aside the release of the deposit. The court refused to 
hear Oplado' s motion unless respondent was present, 
but set a hearing for another date. Respondent 
appeared at that hearing. The judge told respective 
counsel to resolve the matter and denied the motion 
to set aside his earlier order releasing the deposit. 

Oplado was able to retrieve some, but not all, of 
her papers from respondent. She only learned of the 
$ l, 000 sanction against her when she saw the court 
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file at the superior court clerk's office. Respondent 
never informed Oplado why the case was dismissed. 

Respondent testified that he filed the superior 
court action solely as a strategic device in defending 
the unlavvful detainer action. He told Oplado he could 
not proceed with the superior court action unless she 
paid $2,500. Oplado denied that respondent made this 
demand, and the hearing judge credited her testimony. 

2. Discussion. 

We have summarized above the findings of the 
hearing judge, and we adopt them as our findings. As 
the hearingjudge pointed out in her decision, even if 
respondent were to be credited with his testimony 
that Oplado's payment of $2,500 was a condition 
precedent to taking action in the superior court suit, it 
did not excuse respondent's inaction after he filed suit 
and took intermittent action. We also adopt the 
following conclusions which the hearingjudge drew 
from her findings. Respondent wilfully violated rule 3-
1 l O(A) by repeatedly failingtoperf01m legal services 
competently in failing to appear at the arbitration 
hearing and two pretrial conferences and failing to 
oppose release of the rent deposit. Respondent's 
inaction resulted in the dismissal of the superior court 
action. We also agree with the hearing judge that 
respondent violated section 6068, subdivision (m) by 
failing to return Oplado' s calls between March and 
October 1996 and by failing to inform Oplado of 
hearing dates. We also agree with the hearing judge's 
dismissal of two counts that charged respondent with 
failing to cooperate with a State Bar investigation and 
with failure to refund m1earned fees. 

E. The Robinson Matter. 

l. Facts and findings. 

In April 1996, a Mr. Robinson, an electrician, 
hired respondent to represent him in getting visitation 
rights to see his five-year-old son. Robinson's mar­
riage had been dissolved in 1995. The marriage 
judgment denied visitation to Robinson. In 1996 he 
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had been released from prison after serving a sen­
tence for a felony conviction and found that his 
former wife prohibited even telephone contact with 
his son. 

Robinson paid respondent's requested fee of 
$I, 000 in cash. Robinson also gave respondent all the 
papers he had from the marriage dissolution case and 
a partially-completed financial declaration form. Re­
spondent predicted that he would need four to six 
weeks to prepare court papers. It is undisputed that 
respondent never filed any papers in a court to modify 
the visitation order. 

In May 1996, Robinson moved and telephoned 
respondent's secretary with his new address and the 
name of his new parole officer.6 Not until late July 
1996 was Robinson able to hear from or speak to 
respondent despite repeated telephone calls and one 
visit. On that July occasion, respondent told Robinson 
that he had filed the case for him, but that his office 
had made a mistake on the cover page and was about 
to refile it. Respondent asked Robinson to be patient. 

Robinson was unable to reach respondent 
throughout August and, on September 3, 1996, 
Robinson checked court records and found that 
respondent had filed nothing to seek visitation. Robinson 
immediately drove to respondent's office and con­
fronted him, complaining that he had paid respondent, 
but still had no court date. Respondent conceded he 
had "dropped the ball," but asked for one more week. 
Robinson agreed. Respondent told him to meet on 
September 10 and that the court papers would be 
ready and they would talk about a court date. On 
September l 0, respondent told Robinson that he had 
the court clerk on the phone and could secure an 
October 7, 1996, hearing date. Robinson was pleased, 
but his later attempts to get the papers or an account­
ing from respondent failed. When Robinson learned 
from the court that no date had been obtained by 
respondent, he terminated respondent's services and 
requested, in person and by letter, the refund of his 
$1,000 and his file. 

6. Becauseofa court order, communication with Robinson' sex.­
wife had to be routed through Robinson's parole officer. 
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[2a) In September 1996, Robinson hired another 
attorney, Ralph N. George. George told respondent 
of his representationofRobinson. On September 30, 
1996, respondent communicated directlywithRobinson 
offering him a $500 refund and his file. George 
ultimately accepted this offer and, in November, filed 
the moving papers to modify visitation in favor of 
Robinson. This was ultimately successful. Robinson's 
further efforts were unsuccessful to get respondent 
to justify the work he did to keep $500 of the fee. 
Robinson's small claims suit against respondent for 
the $500 was also unsuccessful since George had 
agreed to accept the $500 as a sufficient refund. 

Robinson also worked with another client of 
respondent, Burneff, whose matter we discuss ante. 
In late August 1996, Burneff came to work and said 
he had met with respondent who told Bumeff that 
Robinson was a convicted felon. Bumeff made this 
remark in front of other co-workers and this embar­
rassed Robinson greatly, as he believed that he had 
told respondent ofhis past background in confidence. 

2. Discussion. 

From the findings set forth above, the hearing 
judge concluded that respondent recklessly failed to 
perform services competently and wilfully violated 
rule 3-1 IO (A). She also found that respondent 
wilfully violated: rule 4-I 00(8)(3) by failing to provide 
Robinson with an accounting; rule 3-700(0)(2) by 
refusing to refund the remaining $500 of advanced 
fees which he did not earn; and section 6106 by 
making two separate false statements to Robinson, 
respectively, that respondent had prepared and filed 
papers for Robinson when he had not and that a court 
date was set when no date had been obtained. We 
adopt the foregoing findings and these conclusions of 
the hearing judge. We note that on review, respon­
dent does not take issue with any specific findings in 
the Robinson matter. [lb)Regarding respondent's 
failure to refund to Robinson the unearned fees, we 
observe that whatever civil limits flowed from the 
agreement negotiated between respondent and suc­
cessor counsel George for only a $500 fee refund, 
that did not affect the ethical conclusion that respon­
dent failed to earn any part of the $1,000 fee. As the 
hearing judge aptly observed, respondent's inaction 
delayed for five months Robinson's quest for visita­
tion rights. 
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The hearing judge correctly accorded weight to 
the credibility of Robinson. She noted that his prior 
conviction did not involve moral turpitude and that he 
had reason to remember his experience with respon­
dent. On the other hand, it is undisputed that respondent 
never filed any papers for Robinson and that respon­
dent provided no proof that he had even drafted any 
papers. At trial, respondent blamed Robinson for not 
providing him with enough information to proceed. 
However, we agree with the hearing judge that this 
explanation was not credible. It was clear from 
Robinson's testimonythat he was always available to 

• respondent ifhe needed any added information. 

(3a] The final conclusion of the hearing judge 
merits added discussion that respondent violated 
section 6068, subdivision ( e) by disclosing to another 
client, Burneff, the information Robinson intended as 
confidential, that he was a convicted felon. The 
hearingjudge found this to be a first impression matter 
as the fact of Robinson's conviction was of public 
record, but not easily discovered. She examined the 
policy surrounding section 6068, subdivision (e) and 
determined that respondent violated the section. We 
agree. There seems no dispute that Robinson com­
municated to respondent his criminal history in 
confidence. Respondent only disputed below that he 
had diwlged it to Bumeff. He makes no claim on 
review concerning this matter. 

(3b) Section 6068, subdivision (e) is the most 
strongly worded duty binding on a California attorney. 
It requires the attorney to maintain "inviolate" the 
confidence and "at every peril to himself or herself'' 
to preserve the client's secrets. 

[3cJ This ethical duty of confidentiality is much 
broader in scope and covers communications that 
would not be protected under the evidentiary attor­
ney•client privilege. (Goldstein v. Lees (1974) 46 
Cal. App.3d 614,621, fu. 5.) It prohibits an attorney 
from disclosing facts and even allegations that might 
cause a client or a former client public embarrass­
ment. (Dixon v. State Bar ( 1982) 32 Cal.3d 728, 735, 
739.) This duty of confidentiality complements the 
evidentiary presumption that communications from 
client to attorney duringtheirprofessional relationship 
are confidential. (Evid. Code, § 917; see also In re 
Jordan ( 1972) 7 Cal.3d 930, 940-941 ["the protection 
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of confidences and secrets is not a rule of mere 
professional conduct, but instead involves public poli­
cies of paramount importance which are reflected in 
numerous statutes"].) Robinson communicated to 
respondent his status to aid respondent in effectively 
representing Robinson. Indeed, the very reason for 
both the duty of confidentiality and the attorney-client 
privilege is to foster frank and open communication 
between client and lawyer so that the lawyer will be 
fully informed of the client's case and may counsel 
the best means to achieve the client's aims. {See 
Mitchell v. Superior Court (1984) 37 Cal.3d 591, 
599.) In addition, the attorney-client privilege can 
attach to confidential communications of documents 
that are available to the public and information that 
may be known to others. (Jd. at p. 600; In re Jordan 
( 1974) 12 Cal.3d 575, 580; In re Navarro (1979) 93 
Cal. App.3d 325, 330.) On this record, we have an 
ample basis to uphold the hearing judge's conclusion 
that respondent breached Robinson's confidence by 
disclosing to Burneff, without good cause, that 
Robinson was a convicted felon. Even ifrespondent 
had not been so charged, the hearing judge could have 
also concluded in aggravation of discipline that 
respondent's divulgence to Bumeff was of a fact 
prejudicial to Robinson and violated section 6068, 
subdivision (f). (See Dixon v. State Bar, supra, 32 
Cal.3d at p. 739.) 

F. The Reproval Compliance Matter. 

1. Facts and Findings. 

Respondent conceded his culpability of the fol­
lowing findings which the hearing judge adopted. 
Effective January 8, 1997, respondentwas publicly 
reproved and ordered to comply with duties to which 
he stipulated. Those duties, attached to respondent's 
reproval pursuant to rule 956 of the California Rules 
of Court required that he: l} make restitution within 
one year to one individual or company, or the State 
Bar's Client Security Fund, of$ I, 165. 00 plus interest 
and furnish proof of his restitution; 2) file quarterly 
reports of his compliance with the State Bar Act and 
professional conduct rules; and 3) pass the profes­
sional responsibility examination by January 8, 1998. 
Respondent was to pay restitution in quarterly install­
ments each three months starting April 8, 1997. 
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Respondent failed to pay the April and July quarterly 
payments. He made full restitution in January 199 8. 
He also failed to file the quarterly reports due April 
and July 1998 and failed to pass the professional 
responsibility examination by the one-year deadline. 

2. Discussion. 

There is no dispute over respondent's culpabil­
ity. His testimony gave no excuse for his failure to 
comply with his duties, and on review, respondent 
does not dispute his culpability of these charges. We 
therefore adopt the hearing judge's findings as stated 
above. These findings support the hearing judge's 
conclusion that respondent wilfully violated rule l -
1 lO as charged. 

II. EVIDENCE BEARING ON DEGREE OF 
DISCIPLINE, FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION. 

A. Mitigation. 

The hearing judge gave only slight mitigating 
weight to the testimony of respondent's two charac­
ter witnesses. These witnesses were attorneys who 
were aware of respondent's dealings with clients and 
gave very favorable opinions of his character. The 
hearing judge was correct in the slight weight given 
this evidence, since it came from only two witnesses. 
Moreover, our reading of the record shows that one 
witness was not aware that respondent had a prior 
disciplinary record and that the other witness, while 
adhering to his favorable opinion of respondent's 
character, did express concern over respondent's 
late-filed probation reports as reflective on his obliga­
tions as an attorney. With one small exception, we 
agree with the hearing judge that no other evidence 
presented by respondent established mitigation. (41 
Even though the hearing judge did not. do so, we 
accord respondent very limited mitigation on account 
ofhis cooperation in entering into a factual stipulation 
with the State Bar covering background facts in most 
of the matters. However, we note that more exten­
sive weight in mitigation is accorded those who, 
where appropriate, willingly admit their culpability as 
well as the facts. (Compare Silva-Pldor v. State Bar 
(1989) 49 Cal.3d 1071, 1079; Pineda v. State Bar 
(1989) 49 Cal.3d 753, 760.) 
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B. Aggravation. 

Thehearingjudgefound aggravating respondent's 
prior public reproval, the terms of which he violated, 
his multiple acts of wrongdoing and dishonesty in the 
present record, his misconduct ranging beyond that 
charged, his significant harm to his clients by delaying 
their relief or extinguishing their causes of action and 
respondent's display of a lack of candor in this 
proceeding. We agree with the hearing judge's find­
ings in aggravation. 

Because respondent's prior public reproval is 
significant, we summarize its basis. It rested on a 
stipulated disposition filed in December 1996. Re­
spondent admitted that a client retained him in February 
199 5 and paid his advance fee of $2,000 for research 
and filing of summons and complaint in a civil dispute 
with a storage company. One month later, the client 
tenninated respondent's services. At that time, re­
spondent prepared an accounting showing $1,125 in 
unearned advanced fees due the client. However, 
respondent failed to refund this sum to his client and 
still owed the sum as of December l 996. Respondent 
and the State Bar agreed that as a result of his failure 
to refund this unearned fee to his client, respondent 
wilfully violated rule 3-700 (0)(2). 

[ 5] The hearingjudge also found that respondent's 
production of verifications purporting to bear 
Coleman's signature, but which were signed by a 
manipulated means involved dishonesty. We hold that 
respondent engaged in moral turpitude whether he 
was grossly negligent in offering the verifications as 
signed by Coleman or prepared them intentionally to 
mislead. (Compare In the Matter of Moriarty (Re­
view Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 9, 15.) 
We agree with the hearing judge's assessment that, 
although there was no direct evidence that respon­
dent personally simulated Coleman's signature, these 
documents were offered by respondent to exculpate 
himself, and he must bear responsibility for their 
altered nature. In upholding this finding, we also note 
respondent's varying and inconsistent testimony sur­
rounding the signatures on these forms. 

Finally, we agree with the hearing judge that an 
additional aggravating circumstance was respondent's 
communication directly with Robinson after he knew 
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that Robinson was represented by successor counsel, 
George. (See rule 2-l00(A).) 

III. PROCEDURAL CONTENTIONS. 

On review, virtually all of respondent's argu­
ment is based on a three-pronged attack on the 
fairness of some procedures followed in his case. We 
have reviewed each of these claims and find them to 
be without merit. 

Respondent first contends that the court erred in 
not allowing him to call adverse witnesses under 
section 776 of the Evidence Code. In his brief, 
respondent gives no specifics of when he made this 
request of the hearing judge or the form of his request, 
whether written or oral. He points to nothing in the 
record to assist us. We are thus left with only a 
generalized claim of error. This is insufficient. More­
over, an attorney claiming procedural error must 
show specific prejudice before being entitled to relief. 
(E.g., Rodgers v. State Bar (1989) 48 Cal.3d 300, 
310; Stuart v. State Bar (1985) 40 Cal.3d 838, 844-
845.) From oral argument, it appears that respondent 
made his request to call the State Bar's witnesses as 
adverse just minutes before the start of trial before 
the record opened. The State Bar called each such 
witness except St. John who did not testify and 
respondent cross-examined each. He fails to show 
how his cross-examination was insufficient to elicit 
evidence that could have been elicited had he called 
these same witnesses as adverse under Evidence 
Code section 776. He has shown no specific preju­
dice or reversible error. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
title H, State Bar Court Proceedings, rule 214.) 

Next respondent advances a similarly general­
ized claim that he was denied the chance to subpoena 
witnesses. This claim is also without merit. Respon­
dent had a full opportunity to and did call witnesses in 
putting on his defense. 

Finally, respondent claims that the record on. 
review was incomplete because it fails to include a 
transcript of the pretrial conference proceedings. 
Rule 1310, Rules of Practice of the State Bar Court, 
defines the record as including the transcript of 
testimony in the matter. Respondent does not dispute 
that the record includes all testimony taken at trial. 
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Respondent has failed to show wherein the failure to 
receive a transcript of any pretrial hearing has preju­
diced him in his defense. Accordingly, respondent's 
claim entitles him to no relief. 

IV. DISCUSSION OF RECOMMENDED 
DISCIPLINE. 

Respondent stands culpable of a variety of ethi­
cal misconduct in six matters spanning a two and a 
half-year period, commencing less than four years 
after he was admitted to practice. As the hearing 
judge found, respondent's offenses were multiple. 
They also approached a pattern where he would 
receive advance fees to perform services, either 
perform no services (Burneff and Robinson matters} 
or perform initial services (St. John, Oplado and 
Coleman matters}, only to fail to communicate with 
his clients for _notable periods of time and to fail to 
follow through with their matters. In two of the 
matters, respondent failed to promptly return all or a 
portion of unearned fees, and in all of the matters, his 
clients were required to put repeated pressure on 
respondent to proceed, usually resorting to unan­
nounced office visits and complaints to the State Bar. 
The foregoing misconduct is serious enough, but the 
record also shows clear evidence of respondent's 
dishonesty and lack of candor. In the St. John matter, 
respondent filed his client's declaration by simulating 
her signature without her advance knowledge. In the 
Robinson matter, respondent deceived his client in 
two regards: that he had filed an application for relief 
and that he had obtained a court date. Finally, in the 
Coleman matter, respondent presented, in defense, 
verification forms which expert evidence established 
were not signed by Coleman but by a mechanical 
means of signature simulation. Also, in the Robinson 
matter, the evidence in aggravation established that 
respondent communicated directly with Robinson on 
a subject of controversy although he knew that 
Robinson was represented by successor counsel. 
Respondent also breached Robinson's confidence by 
revealing to another Robinson's past felony conviction. 

These matters are also of great concern because 
several occurred while respondent was facing disci­
plinary proceedings in the matter that resulted in his 
reproval and, when reproved, he admittedly failed to 
abide by the several duties to which he had agreed. 

IN THE MATTER OF JOHNSON 

{Review Dept. 2000)4Cal. St.ate Bar Ct. Rptr.179 

Given this record of misconduct, we have sought 
to understand why the hearing judge recommended 
an actual suspension which could be as short as six 
months, if respondent promptly made restitution, 
particularly in view of the serious aggravating cir­
cumstances she found. Although we differ with the 
hearing judge over respondent's culpability in the St. 
John matter, we do not see that as the key reason for 
her lenient recommendation. Rather, as found in her 
decision, it appears that the key to her recommenda­
tion is her evaluation that the most effective discipline 
in this case was one which recognized the significant 
value she found that respondent placed on his ability 
to practice law and his professional reputation and 
motivated him to "put his practice in order." This she 
found would combine a relatively short period of 
actual suspension with several "and until" conditions 
--conditions which respondent would have to fulfill or 
the actual suspension would continue. 

We do not doubt that respondent values his law 
license. Indeed, the same can be said of almost any 
active practitioner defending State Bar proceedings. 
However assuming, arguendo, that such value of 
one's law license and professional reputation can be 
a mitigating circumstance, this record does not dem­
onstrate that any such beliefis mitigating. The range 
of respondent's serious, repeated and varied miscon­
duct and the sheer lack of mitigation belie the force of 
this factor. By whatever criterion we examine, we 
can only agree with the hearingjudge's earlier find­
ings that several, serious aggravating circumstances 
are present in this case compared to insignificant 
mitigation. Accordingly, we cannot consider this case 
to warrant less discipline than comparable cases, 
irrespective of the feeling of significant value on his 
law practice and professional reputation that respon­
dent may have left with the hearing judge. 

The hearing judge did not cite any cases for 
guidance on the overall degree of discipline to recom­
mend. Nor did respondent offer any such citations. 
The State Bar, which did not seek reversal of the 
hearingjudge's decision in the St. John matter, cited 
several cases in support of its two-year actual sus­
pension recommendation for the five remaining 
matters:Bledsoe v. State Bar(l991) 52 Cal.3d 1074; 
JntheMatterojFarrell(ReviewDept. 1991} 1 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 490; In the Matter of Boyne 



IN THE MATTER OF JOHNSON 

(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 179 

(Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct Rptr. 389; 
In the Matter of Harris (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 219; and In the Matter of 
Pererson (Review Dept. 1990) I Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 73. Although those cases present some factors 
similar to the case before us, we believe that an even 
more comparable case is Martin v. State Bar (1991) 
52 Cal.3d 1055. Martin was found culpable of mis­
handling five matters over a four year period. Although 
he had no prior disciplinary record, unlike respondent, 
Martin's misconduct was quite similar to that which 
respondent committed, and Martin's misconduct 
started within three years of his admission to practice. 
Martin was found to have made misrepresentations 
to two of the clients whose matters he mishandled. 
Martin apparently participated in defending the pro­
ceedings until just before the day of the hearing, but 
failed to appear when he claimed that an auto acci­
dent two days earlier prevented it. Martin's request 
for a continuance was deemed unsupported, and the 
trial proceeded in Martin's absence. At trial, a former 
client's letter praising Martin's representation was 
received in evidence. The Supreme Court followed 
the State Bar Court recommendation of a two-year 
actual suspension, as part of a five-year stayed 
suspension, noting that Martin contested the fairness 
of the proceedings rather than the evidence. Two 
justices would have disbarred Martin. 

Almost all attorney disciplinary cases have dif­
ferences among them. However, we believe that the 
Martin case has the greatest similarity to the facts of 
this case, and we are guided to recommend the same 
degree of discipline as in Martin, including a two­
year actual suspension. 

V. FORMAL RECOMMENDATION. 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that 
respondent Alan W. Johnson be suspended from the 
practice of law in the State of California for five 
years; that execution of the five.;year suspension be 
stayed; and that respondent be placed on probation 
for five years on all the conditions recommended by 
the hearing judge in her decision, except that we 
modify her first recommended condition of probation 
to provide that respondent shall be actually suspended 
from the practice of law in the State of California 
during the first two years of his probation and until he: 
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(I) makes restitution to Guy Robinson, or the Client 
Security Fund ifit has paid, in the sum of$500. 00 plus 
interest thereon at the rate of 10% simple interest per 
annum from September 26, 1996, until paid; (2) pays 
the $1000. 00 sanction, together with any interest that 
may be due thereon, that the superior court imposed 
on respondent and Leddie Oplado or, if the $1000. 00 
sanction and any interest thereon has already been 
paid by or on behalf ofLeddie Oplado, makes resti­
tution in that same sum directly to Leddie Oplado, or 
the Client Security Fund if it has paid; (3) pays the 
$600. 00 sanction, together with any interest that may 
be due thereon, that the superior court imposed on 
Robert Coleman or, if the $600.00 sanction and any 
interest thereon has already been paid by or on behalf 
of Robert Coleman, makes restitution in that same 
sum directly to Robert Coleman, or the Client Secu­
rity Fund ifit has paid; ( 4} provides satisfactory proof 
of all of the foregoing restitution to the State Bar's 
Probation Unit in Los Angeles; (5) attends six hours 
of Mandatory Continuing Legal Education Courses in 
law office management that meets with the prior 
approval of the State Bar's Probation Unit and 
provides satisfactory proof of completion of those 
courses to the State Bar's Probation Unit; (6) devel­
ops a written law office management plan that meets 
with the approval of the State Bar's Probation Unit; 
and (7) shows proof satisfactory to the State Bar 
Court ofhis rehabilitation, present fitness to practice, 
and present learning and ability in the general law in 
accordance with standard l .4(c)(ii) of the Standards 
for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. 

Like the hearing judge, we do not recommend 
that respondent be required to take and pass the State 
Bar's Ethics School as he did so incident to his public 
reproval. 

We further recommend that respondent be re­
quired to comply with the provisions of rule 95 5 of the 
California Rules of Court and to perform the acts 
specified in subdivisions (a) and ( c} of that rule within 
30 and 40 days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court's order in this matter. 

We do not recommend that respondent be re­
quired to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination given by the National 
Conference of Bai Examiners as he did so incident to 
his public reproval. 
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Finally, we recommend to the Supreme Court 
that costs be awarded to the State Bar pursuant to 
Business and Professions Code section 608 6. 10 and 
that those cos(s be payable in accordance with 
section 6140.7 of that Code. 

We concur: 
OBRIEN, P.J. 
NORIAN, J. 
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A woman sued respondent over a business transaction that she entered into with him. The woman 
prevailed at the civil trial and obtained a judgment against respondent. A hearing judge applied principles of 
collateral estoppel with respect to the civiljudgmentto bind respondent to the jury's findings that he defrauded 
and breached his fiduciary duties to the woman and to bind respondent to evidentiary record in the civil 
proceeding without giving respondent a fair opportunity to attempt to contradict, temper, or explain any of the 
evidence. Based on the record in the civil proceeding, the hearing judge found respondent culpable of three 
violations of the former rule of professional conduct governing business transactions with clients and engaged 
in acts involving moral turpitude in violation of the statute proscribing acts of moral turpitude. The hearingjudge 
further found, based upon the testimony of an attorney employed by the State Bar, that respondent violated his 
statutory duty to report the adverse civil judgment to the State Bar. During the discipline phase of the trial, the 
hearing judge precluded respondent from fully cross-examining the State Bar's witnesses and relied upon the 
evidence in the civil record to find various aggravating circumstances against respondent. The hearing judge 
recommended a five-year stayed suspension and four years' probation on conditions, including a three-year 
period of actual suspension. (Hon. Carlos E. Velarde, Hearing Judge.) 

Both respondent and the State Bar sought review. Respondent challenged the hearing judge's application 
of collateral estoppel and contended that the hearingjudge was not impartial and that he was, therefore, denied 
due process. The State Bar argued that all ofrespondent' s contentions were meritless and that the hearingjudge 
erred by not recommending that respondent be disbarred. 

The review department held that the hearingjudge erred in applying collateral estoppel to bind respondent 
to the evidentiary record in the civil proceeding without first giving respondent a fair opportunity to attempt to 
contradict, temper, or explain the evidence in it and in making findings adverse to respondent based upon the 
evidence in the civil record. The review department also held that the hearing judge erred in precluding 
respondent from fully cross-examining the State Bar's witnesses. Because of the hearing judge's errors, the 
review department reversed all of the hearing judge's findings with respect to charged violations of the former 
rule governing business transactions with clients and aggravating circumstances as well as discipline 
recommendation. 

Editor's note: The summary, hcadnotcs and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the StateBarCourtforthe convenience of the reader. Onlythe actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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The review department did not reverse the hearing judge's finding that respondent engaged in violated of 
the moral turpitude statute because the review department concluded that, under the proper application of 
collateral estoppel, the jury's verdict that he engaged in acts of moral turpitude. The review department did, 
however, reverse the hearing judge's findings as to the nature and extent of those acts of moral turpitude 
because the application of collateral estoppel did not establish the nature and extent of respondent's acts. 

The review department adopted the hearing judge's finding that respondent violated his statutory duty to 
report the civil judgment to the State Bar because that violation was established by the testimony of the State 
Bar's witness. Finally, the review department remanded the matter for a new trial on the issues of factual 
findings regarding the nature and extent ofrespondent' s violation of the moral turpitude statute; factual findings 
and conclusions oflaw regarding the charged violations of the former rule governing business transactions -with 
clients; aggravating and mitigating circumstances; and discipline. 
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Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Duty to Present Evidence 
Proof-State Bar's Burden-Clear and Convincing 
Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 

The application of collateral estoppel with respect to prior civil findings does not modify the 
fundamental requirement that the State Bar must establish each element of a disciplinary violation 
and aggravating circumstance by clear and convincing evidence. The State Bar may rely upon 
collateral estoppel to establish an element of a disciplinary violation or aggravating circumstance 
only if that same· element was found against the attorney in the civil proceeding by clear and 
convincing evidence. If the same element was not found against the attorney in the civil proceeding 
by clear and convincing evidence, the State Bar must established that element in the State Bar Court 
with clear and convincing evidence. 

[2 a, b] 120 
139 
159 
162.90 
169 
191 
192 
199 

Procedure-Conduct of Trial 
Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Quantum of Proof-Miscellaneous 
Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
Due Process/Procedural Rights 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 

Collateral estoppel may be applied in the State Bar Court to deny an attorney the right to relitigate 
an issue that was litigated and resolved against him or her in a prior civil proceeding only if (I) the 
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issue resulting in the civil finding is substantially identical to the issue in the State Bar Court, (2) the 
civil finding was made under the same burden of proof applicable to the same issue in the State Bar 
Court, (3) the attorney was a party to civil proceeding, (4) there is final judgment on the merits in 
the civil proceeding, ( 5) the attorney fails to demonstrate any unfairness in precluding the relitigation 
of the issue, and ( 6) the civil finding was necessary to the judgment in the civil proceeding. The 
requirement that the civil finding be necessary to the judgment in the civil proceeding is required by 
procedural fairness to insure that preclusive effect is not given to nonessential prior findings. 

141 Evidence-Relevance 
148 Evidence-Witnesses 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 

The relevant testimony ofa witness given in civil proceeding is admissible in disciplinary proceedings 
without regard to the witness's availability and is considered and weighed as though the witness was 
present and testifying in the disciplinary proceeding. Moreover, the State Bar Court may take judicial 
notice ofnon-testimonial matters (i.e., pleadings, exhibits, :findings) in a civil action that involved the 
same conduct underlying the disciplinary charges against an attorney. 

[4 a, b] 120 
139 
159 
162.90 
169 
191 
199 

Procedure-Conduct of Trial 
Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Quantum of Proof-Miscellaneous 
Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 

[5] 

Whenever the State Bar relies upon all or part of the record in prior civil proceeding to prove an 
element of a disciplinary violation or aggravating circumstance independent of the application of 
collateral estoppel, neither the evidence nor any factual findings in the civil proceeding may be 
judicially noticed as conclusive or otherwise given preclusive effect in the State Bar Court, but must 
be independently assessed under the clear and convincing standard of proof. In addition, the attorney 
must be given a fair opportunity to contradict, temper, or explain the evidence and findings in the 
civil proceeding with other evidence, including the live testimony of the same witnesses who testified 
in the civil proceeding. The attorney need not be given free reign to completely retry the civil suit 
in the State Bar Court. The hearing judge retains the sound discretion to restrict or excluded 
cumulative evidence and otherwise control the introduction of evidence as in any other case. 

139 
147 
159 
162.90 
169 
191 
199 

Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Evidence-Presumptions 
Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Quantum of_ Proof-Miscellaneous 
Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 

Independent of the application collateral estoppel, admissions made by an attorney in a prior civil 
proceeding are not conclusive and cannot be given preclusive effect in the State Bar Court even 
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if they are admissible in the State Bar Court as party admissions. Such admissions must be 
independently assessed under the clear and convincing standard of proof. 

159 
162.90 
169 
191 
199 
221 

Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Quantum of Proof-Miscellaneous 
Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 
State Bar Act-Section 6106 

In its answers to the special findings in a prior civil proceeding against respondent, the jury found 
that respondent was liable to the plaintiff on the plaintiff's claims for, among other things, breach 
of fiduciary duty and fraud. In a separate special finding on the issues of malice, oppression, and 
fraud, the jury found by clear and convincing evidence that respondent "was guilty of malice, 
oppression or fraud in the conduct upon which [ the jury based its] finding ofliability for either breach 
of fiduciary duty or fraud." The use of the disjunctive conjunction "or" in the phrase "malice, 
oppression or fraud," precluded the review department from determining whether the jury found that 
respondent was guilty of malice, oppression, fraud, or some combination thereof. And the use of the 
disjunctive correlative conjunction "either ... or" in the phrase "finding ofliability for either breach 
of fiduciary duty or fraud" precluded the Review Department from determining whether the jury 
found that respondent was guilty of "malice, oppression or fraud" when he breached his fiduciary 
duty to the plaintiff, when he defrauded the plaintiff, or both. Nonetheless, regardless of whether 
the jury based its answer against respondent on the malice, oppression, and fraud special finding on 
a finding that respondent was guilty of malice, oppression, fraud, or some combination thereof when 
he breached his fiduciary duty to the plaintiff, when he defrauded the plaintiff, or both,the jury's 
answer against him on the malice, oppression, and fraud special finding established, under collateral 
estoppel principles, that he committed acts involving moral turpitude in violation of statute proscribing 
acts of moral turpitude, but did not establish the nature and extent of those acts. An attorney who 
breaches a fiduciary duty ( whether to a client or non-client) with malice, oppression, fraud, or some 
combination thereof, as those terms were defined for the jury, commits an act of moral turpitude 
as a matter oflaw. Similarly, an attorney who commits an act of fraud (whether in the capacity as 
of an attorney or not) with malice, oppression, fraud, or some combination thereof, as those terms 
were defined for the jury, commits an act of moral turpitude as a matter oflaw. 

120 Procedure-Conduct of Trial 
130 Procedure-Procedure on Review 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
146 Evidence-Judicial Notice 
J 59 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
166 Independent Review of Record 
169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 

Even though the hearing judge properly admitted and judicially noticed the record in a prior civil 
proceeding in which respondent was a party, the hearing judge erred in making factual findings 
regarding the nature and extent ofrespondent' s violations of the moral turpitude statute based upon 
the evidence in the civil record independent of the application of collateral estoppel because he did 
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not first give respondent a fair opportunity to attempt to contradict, temper, or explain the evidence 
in it with other evidence. That error required the reversal of the hearing judge's findings as to the 
nature and extent of respondent's statutory violations and precluded the review department from 
exercising its authority to reweigh the evidence and independently make appropriate findings 
regarding the nature and extent of respondent's violations. 

159 
162.90 
169 
191 
199 
273.00 

Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Quantum of Proof-Miscellaneous 
Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Rule 3-300 (former 5-1011 

The requisite elements ofa violation of the first subdivision of the former rule of professional conduct 
governing business transactions with clients (i.e., subdivision (A) of former rule 3-300) were that 
the transaction was unfair to the client or that the terms of the transaction were not disclosed and 
transmitted to the client in writing in a manner that the client should have been able to understand. 
The requisite elements of a violation of the second subdivision of that former rule (i.e., subdivision 
B of former rule 3-300) were that the client was not advised, in writing, of the right to seek advice 
from an independent attorney of the client's choice ru: that the client was not given a reasonable 
opportunity to exercise that right. None of these elements are addressed in the special finding under 
which the jury in a prior civil proceeding in which respondent was a party found, by clear and 
convincing evidence, that respondent "was guilty of malice, oppression or fraud in the conduct upon 
which [the jury based its] finding of [respondent's] liability for either breach of fiduciary duty or 
fraud." Thus, collateral estoppel does not establish that respondent violated the former rule 
governing business transactions with clients. 

(9 a, b] 120 Procedure-Conduct of Trial 

110] 

130 Procedure-Procedure on Review 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
146 Evidence-Judicial Notice 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
166 Independent Review of Record 
169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 

In making his factual findings with respect to charged violations of the funner rule of professional 
conduct governing business transactions with clients, the hearing judge erred in reweighing and 
relying upon the evidence in a prior civil proceeding in which respondent was a party without first 
giving respondent a fair opportunity to attemptto contradict, temper, or explain that evidence. That 
error required the reversal of the hearing judge's findings that respondent committed multiple 
violations of the former rule governing business transactions with clients and precluded the review 
department from exercising its authority to reweigh the evidence and independently make 
appropriate findings regarding the charged violations of that former rule. 

103 
192 

Procedure-Disqualification/Bias of Judge 
Due Process/Procedural Rights 
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The fact that a portion of ahearingjudge's salary might be paid from part of the costs that the State 
Bar recovers from disciplined attorneys does not create a condition disqualifying the judge because 
the amount of costs actually recovered are relatively nominal to the State Bar's Budget. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

214.51 
221.11 

Section 6068( o) 
Section 6106 .1 
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OPINION 

NORIAN, J.: 

Both respondent Bolden Bruce Kittrell1 (respon­
dent) and the State Bar, represented by its Office of 
the Chief Trial Counsel (OCTC), seek review of a 
hearing judge's recommendation that respondent be 
suspended from the practice of law for five years, 
that the suspension be stayed, and that respondent be 
placed on probation for four years on conditions 
including that respondent be actually suspended for 
three years and until he establishes his rehabilitation, 
present fitness to practice, and present learning in the 
law. The hearing judge's discipline recommendation 
is based upon his findings that, with respect to a 
business transaction with a 59-year-old woman of 
limited means, respondent committed three violations 
of the former Rules of Professional Conduct of the 
State Bar that were effective from May 27, 1989, 
through September 13, 19921 and two violations of the 
Business and Professions Code.3 

More specifically, the hearingjudge found that, 
with respect to a business a transaction with Ms. 
CzarineHopeJarnes (James), respondent committed 
two violations of former rule 3-300(A): first by 
entering into an unfair business transaction with 
James and second by entering into that transaction 
without disclosing the terms of the transaction to 
James in writing. The hearing judge also found that 
respondent violated former rule 3-3 00(B) by failing to 
inform James in writing that she could seek indepen­
dent legal advice with respect to the transaction. 
Next, the hearing judge found that respondent vio­
lated section 6106 by engaging in acts of concealment 
and deception amounting to moral turpitude with 
respect to respondent's dealings with James. Finally, 
the hearing judge found that respondent violated 

1. Respondent was admitted to the practice oflaw in the State 
of California in December 1967 and has been a member of the 
State Bar since that time. 

2. Unless otherwise indicated, all future reference to former 
rules are to these former rules. 

3. Unless otherwise indicated, all future references to sections 
are to sections of the Business and Professions Code. 
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section 6068, subdivision(o)(2) by failing to report, to 
the State Bar, the entry ofa civil judgment against him 
for, among other things, fraud and breach offiduciary 
duty with respect to the James business transaction. 4 

In making his findings that respondent violated 
fonnerrule 3-300 and section 6106, thehearingjudge 
applied principles of collateral estoppel to bind re­
spondent to the adverse civil judgment that James 
obtained against respondent in the Orange County 
Superior Court after an eight-day jury trial (the James 
lawsuit). The hearingjudge applied those principles to 
preclude respondent, in this disciplinary proceeding, 
from relitigating the jury's findings in the James 
lawsuit that respondent defrauded and breached his 
fiduciary duty to James. Moreover, in addition to 
applying principles of collateral estoppel in this pro­
ceeding, the hearing judge also bound respondent to 
and relied upon the evidentiary record in the James 
lawsuit to find, at least, the former rule 3-300 viola­
tions, the nature and extent of the section 61 06 
violation, and various aggravating circumstances. 
The hearing judge bound respondent to and relied 
upon the civil record without giving respondent an 
opportunity to attempt to contradict, temper, or ex­
plain the adverse evidence in that record. In addition, 
on the basis that respondent was bound to the civil 
record, the hearing judge precluded respondent from 
fully cross-examining OCTC 's witnesses during the 
discipline phases of the trial and from fully presenting 
his (i.e., respondent's) mitigation evidence. 

Respondent raises numerous contentions chal­
lenging the propriety of the disciplinary trial and 
attacking the hearing judge's decision and discipline 
recommendation. We summarize respondent's con­
tentions into the following categories. First, respondent 
contends that it is inappropriate to apply, in this 
disciplinary proceeding, principles of collateral 

4. OCTC also charged respondent with violating section 6068, 
subdivision (o)(l ), which requires attorneys to report, to the 
State Bar, the filing of three or more lawsuits against them for 
legal malpractice in a twelve-month period. However, the 
hearing judge found that OCTC failed to establish such a 
violation. We agree and, a.ccordingly, adopt that finding, but 
also dismiss the charge with prejudice (Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
title Il, State Bar Court Proceedings, rule 261(a)). 
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estoppel with respect to the judgment in James 
lawsuit. Next, respondent contends that, even if those 
principles can be appropriately applied in this pro­
ceeding, their application neither establishes that he 
violated former rule 3-300 and section 6106 nor 
justifies the hearingjudge's action in binding him to 
the evidentiary record in the James lawsuit. Then, 
respondent contends that the hearing judge erred in 
precluding respondent from fully cross-examining 
OCTC 's witnesses during the discipline phase of the 
trial and from fully presenting his mitigation evidence. 
Finally, respondent contends that he was denied due 
process because the hearing judge was not impartial 
since his judicial salary is paid by the State Bar. 

On review OCTC asserts that all ofrespondent' s 
contentions are meritless. In addition, it asserts that 
the hearing judge erred in not recommending 
respondent's disbarment. 

After independently reviewing the record (Cal. 
Rules of Court, rule 951. 5; Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
title II, State Bar Court Proceedings, rule 305(a); In 
re Morse ( 1995) 11 Cal. 4th I 84, 207}, we conclude 
that principles of collateral estoppel can properly be 
applied in this proceeding and that their application 
establishes that respondent engaged in acts of moral 
turpitude in violation of section 6106. However, under 
the circumstances and record in this proceeding, the 
application of those principles does not establish the 
nature and extent of those acts. Nor does the appli­
cation of those principles establish that respondent 
violated former rule 3-300. 

Moreover, we agree with respondent's conten­
tions that the hearingjudge erred in binding respondent 
to and relying upon the evidentiary record in the 
James lawsuit to make, at a minimum, his findings 
regarding the nature and extent of the found former 
rule 3-300 and section 6106 violations and various 
aggravating circumstances without giving respon­
dent an opportunity to attempt to contradict, temper, 
or explain the evidence in that civil record. We also 
agree with respondent's contentions that the hearing 
judge erred in precluding respondent from fully cross­
examining OCTC's witnesses during the discipline 
phase of the trial and in precluding respondent from 
fully presenting his mitigating evidence. On the other 
hand, we reject respondent's contention challenging 
the impartiality of the hearing judge. 
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Because the application of collateral estoppel 
principles neither establishes the nature and extent of 
respondent's acts of moral turpitude in violation of 
section 6106 nor the former rule 3-300 violations 
found by the hearing judge and because the hearing 
judge erred in binding respondent to the evidentiary 
record in the J arnes lawsuit without giving respondent 
an opportunity to attempt to contract, temper, or 
explain that evidence, we must reverse the hearing 
judge's findings regarding the nature and extent of 
respondent's section 6 l 06 violation as well as the 
hearing judge's findings that respondent violated 
former rule 3-300. Moreover, because the hearing 
judge erred in precluding respondent from fully cross­
examining OCTC's witnesses during the discipline 
phase of the trial and from fully presenting his 
mitigating evidence, we must reverse the hearing 
judge's aggravation and mitigation findings. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing reversals, we 
adopt the hearing judge's factual findings and legal 
conclusion that respondent violated section 6068, 
subdivision (o)(2). 

Because we reverse most of the hearing judge's 
findings, we must also vacate his discipline recom­
mendation and remand this matter for a new trial on 
all issues except the issues of respondent's culpability 
for violating section 6106, which we hold has been 
established. under principles of collateral estoppel, 
and for violating section 6068, subdivision (o)(2), 
which we hold has been established by clear and 
convincing evidence independent of the application of 
collateral estoppel. Finally, in lightofour order vacat­
ing the hearing judge's discipline recommendation 
and remanding the matter for further proceedings, 
OCTC' s contention that the hearing judge erred in not 
recommending that respondent be disbarred is moot 
and, therefore, not addressed. 

I. PRELIMINARY FACTUAL MA TfERS AND 
PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

In December 1991 James gave respondent 
$61,000 for investment purposes. One investment 
was in the amount of $7,000; the other investment 
was in the amount of $54,000. The disciplinary 
charges against respondent deal only withthe$54,000 
investment. The $54,000 investment was in a loan 
secured by a deed of trust on real property used as a 
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dance studio in Studio City, California. That loan went 
into default and the deed of trust that was to secure 
it was extinguished by a superior trust deed. Accord­
ingly, James lost all ofher$54,000investmentand, as 
noted above, sued respondent. 

James filed her lawsuit in 1993 and sued not only 
respondent, but also respondent's law partners and 
others. She sued them for, among other things, 
violating California and federal securities laws, legal 
malpractice, fraud, and breach of fiduciary duty. 
After trial in July 1994, the jury found respondent 
liable to James on each of Jarnes's causes ofactions. 
The jury found, by a preponderance of the evidence, 
that respondent breached his fiduciary duties to 
J runes, that respondent defrauded J runes, and that, as 
a result of each of these wrongful acts, James 
incurred actual damages. The jury additionally found, 
by clear and convincing evidence, that respondent 
was guilty of oppression, malice, or fraud with respect 
to his breach of fiduciary duty or fraud. 

Judgment was ultimately entered for James on 
her breach of fiduciary duty claim because it was the 
claim on which the jury awarded the most damages. 
In addition, because the jury found that respondent 
was guilty ofoppression, malice, or fraud by clear and 
convincing evidence, judgment was also entered for 
James on her claim for punitive damages. {Civ. Code, 
§ 3294 [under 1987 amendments to this statute, 
punitive damages may be recovered in cases involv­
ing the breach of an obligation not arising in contract 
when it is proved by clear and convincing evidence 
that the defendant is guilty of oppression, malice, or 
fraud].) The jury awarded James $180,800 on her 
breach of fiduciary duty claim and $61,200 on her 
claim for punitive damages. After these two awards 
totaling $242,000 were increased to include prejudg­
ment interest and reduced to give respondent credit of 
the settlement proceeds James received from 
respondent's law partners, a final judgment in the 
amountof$217,235.10plusanadditional$4,28I.3 I in 
costs was entered against respondent and in favor of 
James. 

Respondent appealed the judgment on the sole 
ground that the evidence was insufficient to support 
the jury's findings. The court of appeal disagreed and 
affinned the judgment. Thereafter, the California 
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Supreme Court rejected respondent's request to file 
an untimely petition for review. Similarly, the United 
States Supreme Court denied respondent's applica­
tion for an extension of time to file a petition for a writ 
of certiorari. At that time, the judgment became final. 

In July 1997 OCTC filed a motion in limine in the 
hearing department. In that motion OCTC sought an 
order precluding respondent from relitigating those 
issues that were previously litigated and fowid against 
him by ·clear and convincing evidence in the James 
lawsuit. The hearingjudge granted OCTC's motion. 
Respondent sought interlocutory review of the hear­
ingjudge' s order. We denied that petition because no 
abuse of discretion or error of law was shown. In our 
order denying respondent's petition, we specifically 
pointed out that collateral estoppel applies only to 
those issues that the jury in the James lawsuit found 
by clear and convincing evidence. 

(la] Thereafter, inApril 1998, thehearingjudge 
filed an order clarifying how the principles of collat­
eral estoppel would be applied in this disciplinary 
proceeding. In his clarification order, the hearing 
judge correctly pointed out to the parties that the 
application of principles of collateral estoppel with 
respect to prior civil findings does not modify the 
fundamental requirement that, to establish a disciplin­
ary violation, OCTC must prove each element of a 
charged violation by clear and convincing evidence. 
Thus, as the hearing judge correctly noted, the appli­
cation of collateral estoppel will establish an element 
of a charged disciplinary violation only if that same 
element was previously found by the jury in the James 
lawsuit by clear and convincing evidence. As the 
hearing judge also correctly noted, if an element of a 
charged violation was not previously found by the jury 
by clear and convincing evidence, OCTC would be 
required to establish that element in this proceeding 
with clear and convincing evidence independent of 
the principles of collateral estoppel. • 

Notwithstanding the admonitions in our order 
denying respondent's petition for interlocutory re­
view and the hearing judge's clarification order 
regarding the proper application of principles of 
collateral estoppel in this proceeding, OCTC at­
tempted to establish the charged fonner rule 3-300 and 
section 6106 violations solely through the application 
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of principles of collateral estoppel without presenting 
any references to the record or analysis showing 
where and how each element of the charged viola­
tions were found by the jury in the James lawsuit by 
clear and convincing evidence.5 Instead, OCTC left 
it to the hearing judge to glean through the voluminous 
documents that it introduced into evidence and deter­
mine whether each element of the charged violations 
were found by the jury by clear and convincing 
evidence. 

The voluminous documents OCTC introduced 
into evidence included copies of ( 1) the superior 
court's file in the James lawsuit (including the jury 
instructions and special verdicts, the judgment, the 
transcript of the trial, and the exhibits); (2) the court 
of appeal's opinion in the James lawsuit, and its order 
denying respondent's petition for rehearing; (3) a 
letter from the California Supreme Court refusing 
respondent's request for pennission to late file a 
petition for review of the James lawsuit judgment; 
and(4) a letter from the United States Supreme Court 
denying respondent's request for an extension of time 
to file a petition for a writ of certiorari for reviewof 
the James lawsuit judgment. 

After it introduced the foregoing documents, 
OCTC presented the testimony of a State Bar attor­
ney with respect to the charged section 6068, 
subdivision (o)(2) violation. That attorney testified 
that respondent did not report, to the State Bar, the 
entry of the civil judgment against him the James 
lawsuit. Respondent cross-examined that witness, 
and OCTC then rested. 

Respondent was then permitted to make an 
opening statement and to call one witness to testify. 
That witness is a fonner owner of the dance studio 
property that was to have been the collateral (under 
a third deed of trust) securing James's $54,000 

5. OCTC did file, in the hearing department, two pleadings 
containing summaries and references to portions of the testi­
mony and some of the exhibits in the James lawsuit. However, 
those references were only to various portions of the civil 
record that OCTC believed to be of particular importance or 
relevance in this proceeding and not to the record references 
needed for the proper application of collateral estoppel. 
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investment/loan. That witness testified as to the 
improvements he made to the dance studio and the 
studio's fair market value. When respondent at­
tempted to testify in his own defense and to present 
exculpatory evidence as to the adverse jury findings, 
OCTC objected. The hearingjudge sustained OCTC 's 
objection and precluded respondent from presenting 
any other evidence "'':ith respect to the former rule 3-
3 00 and section 6106 violations on the ground that he 
had previously granted OCTC's motion in limine to 
preclude respondent, under principles of collateral 
estoppel, from "retryi.'lg" the James lawsuit in this 
disciplinary proceeding. 

The hearing judge gave the parties permission to 
file written closing statements and briefs on the issue 
of culpability. Thereafter, the hearing judge made 
tentative. findings that respondent was culpable of 
misconduct, but did not specify the charges on which 
he found respondent culpable.6 The hearing judge 
then schedule.cl a date for the disciplinary portion of 
the trial to begin. 

During the disciplinary portion of the trial, OCTC 
presented its aggravating evidence first. OCTC had 
James testify as to the significant harm she suffered 
from respondent's misconduct. (Rule Proc. of State 
Bar, title IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. 
Misconduct (standards), std. 1.2(b )(iv) [harm aggra­
vation].) OCTC also had James testify as to 
respondent's alleged misrepresentations to her re­
garding the terms of the transaction/loan and when he 
would return her $54,000 investment/loan to her. 
(Std. 1.2(b)(iii) [misconduct surrounded by dishon~ 
esty or bad faith aggravation].) The hearing judge 
precluded respondent from fully cross-examining 
James on the stated basis that he was not going to 
permit respondent to go into the facts of or retry the 
James lawsuit in the discipline phase of the trial. 

6. Respondent argues at some length that the hearing judge's 
failure to specify his culpability findings before the discipline 
phase of the trial prevented respondent from being able to 
adequately prepare forthe discipline phase of the trial. Because 
we reverse the hearing judge's findings as to aggravating and 
mitigating circumstances and remand for a new trial on those 
issues, respondent's contention is moot and, therefore, not 
addressed. 
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OCTC also presented the testimony of Evan 
Borges, who was James' s attorney in the James 
lawsuit. Attorney Borges testified that respondent 
lacks remorse over and an adequate understanding of 
the seriousness ofhis (i.e., respondent's) misconduct 
with respect to James. During respondent's cross­
examination of attorney Borges, the hearing judge 
precluded respondent from going into any area that 
respondent asserted as a defense in the James lawsuit. 

. After OCTC presented its aggravation evidence, 
respondent presented his mitigation evidence. First, 
respondent testified on his own behalf. He gave a 
general overview of his extensive experience in 
dealings with loans secured by second and third deeds 
of trust on real property. When respondent attempted 
to testify as to his state of mind and his alleged good 
faith in dealing with James (std. I .2(e)(ii) [good faith 
mitigation]), the hearing judge would not let respon­
dent proceed. In addition, the hearingjudge would not 
let respondent testify as to any aspect of his prior 
dealings or transactions with James on the stated 
basis that they were covered in the James lawsuit. 
The hearing judge also concluded that such testimony 
was not "a proper subject of mitigation evidence." 

Second, respondent called three character wit­
ness. (Std. l.2(e)(vi) [good character mitigation].) 
These witnesses all testified that they believed re­
spondent to be of good character. Next, respondent 
pointed out to the hearing judge that he had additional 
evidence in mitigation, but that it was not "admissible" 
under the hearing judge's rulings on the application of 
collateral estoppel. Respondent did not, however, 
make an offer of proof as to what that additional 
evidence would have been. 

After respondent presented his three character 
witnesses, OCTC presented the testimony of two 
rebuttal witnesses. Both of these rebuttal witnesses 
testified that they did not believe respondent to be of 
good character. Thereafter, the parties rested. 

The hearing judge _permitted the parties to file 
written closing statements. Subsequently, the hearing 
judge filed his decision. In his decision the hearing 
judge made extensive findings of fact regarding 
respondent's dealings with James. In addition, as we 
noted above, the hearing judge found respondent 
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culpable of committing three violations offonner rule 
3-300, committing acts involving moral turpitude in 
violation of section 6106, and failing to report the 
adverse judgment in the James lawsuit to the State 
Bar in violation of section 6068, subdivision (o)(2). 
Finally, the hearing judge's decision and his eviden­
tiary rulings at trial establish that he reweighted the 
evidence in the record in the J arnes lawsuit under the 
clear and convincing standard of proof applicable to 
attorney disciplinary proceedings and then relied 
upon that evidence to make his factual findings 
regarding the former rule 3-300 and section 6106 
violations and various aggravating circumstances 
without giving respondent an opportunity to attemptto 
contradict, temper, or explain the adverse evidence in 
that record. 

II. PRINCIPLES OF COLLATERAL 
ESTOPPEL 

[la] Principles of collateral estoppel may be 
applied to preclude an attorney from relitigating, in the 
State Bar Court, "an issue that was actually litigated 
and resolved adversely to [ the attorney] in a prior civil 
proceeding, provided ( 1) that the issue resulting in the 
civil finding is substantially identical to the issue in the 
State Bar Court, (2) that the civil finding was made 
under the same burden of proof applicable to the 
substantia11yidentical issue in the State Bar Court, (3) 
that the [attorney] was a party to the civil proceeding, 
( 4) that there is a final judgment on the merits in the 
civil proceeding, and ( 5) that no unfairness in preclud­
ing relitigation of the issue is demonstrated by the 
[attorney]. [Citation.]" (In the Matter of Applicant 
A (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
318, 329; see also In the Matter of Berg (Review 
Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 725, 731.) 

(2b] Furthermore, in order for a civil finding to be 
given preclusive effect under collateral estoppel prin­
ciples, it must have been necessary to the civil judgment. 
(McMilhn Development, Inc. v. Home Buyers War­
ranty (1998) 68 Cal. App.4th 896, 906.) "This 
requirement 'prevent[s] the incidental or collateral 
determination ofanonessential issue from precluding 
reconsideration of that issue in later litigation.' [Cita­
tion.} The requirement 'is necessary in the name of 
procedural fairness; if not due process itself. . . . ' 
[Citation.]" (Ibid.) 
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[lb) The application of collateral estoppel prin­
ciples in attorney disciplinary proceedings does not 
alter the fundamental requirement that OCTC prove 
each element of a charged violation by clear and 
convincing evidence. ( Golden v. State Bar (1931) 
213 Cal. 237,247 .) Nor does the application of those 
principles alter the requirement that OCTC prove 
each element of an aggravating circumstance by 
clear and convincing evidence. (Std. l.2(b); Van 
Sloten v. State Bar (1989) 48 Cal.3d 921, 933.) 

(lei The application of collateral estoppel prin­
ciples can be applied only to preclude a respondent 
attorney from relitigating, in the State Bar Court, an 
issue (i.e., fact) that was previously decided against 
him in a civil proceeding under the clear and convinc­
ing burden of proof. (In the Matter of Applicant A, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 329.) Thus, if 
a factual element of a disciplinary violation or an 
aggravating circumstance has not previously been 
found against the respondent by clear and convincing 
evidence in a prior civil proceeding, OCTC must 
prove that element in the State Bar Court with clear 
and convincing evidence independent of the applica­
tion of collateral estoppel. To prove such an element, 
OCTC may choose to rely, in whole or in part, upon 
the record in the prior civil proceeding as evidence. 

[31 Contrary to respondent's contention, the 
relevant testimony of a witness given in a prior civil 
proceeding is admissible in State Bar Court disciplin­
ary proceedings without regard to the availability of 
the witness (§ 6049.2) and is to be considered and 
weighed by the State Bar Court as though the witness 
were present and testifying before it (cf Evid. Code, 
§ 312 (the finder of fact determines the weight and 
credibility of witnesses including hearsay declarants]; 
Code Civ. Proc., § 2025, subd. (u) [deposition testi­
mony must be considered as if it were given in court 
during trial]). Moreover, under Evidence Code sec­
tion 4 5 2, subdivision ( d), the State Bar Court can take 
judicial notice of the non-testimonial matters(i.e., the 
pleadings, exhibits, jury findings, and other court 
documents) in a civil action that involves the course 
of conduct underlying the disciplinary charges against 
an attorney. (Rosenthal v. State Bar (1987) 43 
Cal.3d 612, 662, fu. 11, 633-634, citing Caldwell v. 
State Bar (1975) 13 Cal.3d 488, 496-497; Yokozeki 
v. State Bar (1974) 11 Cal.3d 436, 444.) 
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[ 4a] Whenever OCTC chooses to rely, in whole 
or in part, upon the record in a prior civil proceeding 
(whether testimonial evidence, non-testimonial mat­
ters, or both) to prove one or more elements of a 
disciplinary violation or an aggravating circumstance 
independent of the application of collateral estoppel, 
the evidence in the civil record as well as any factual 
findings made by the jury or the judge in the civil 
proceeding cannot bejudicially noticed as conclusive 
or otherwise given preclusive effect in the State Bar 
Court, but must be. assessed independently by the 
State Bar Court under the clear and convincing 
standard of proof applicable in attorney disciplinary 
proceedings. (In the Matter of Applicant A, supra, 
3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 324-325, citing 
Rosenthal v. State Bar, supra, 43 Cal.3d at pp. 619-
620, 634 and Maltaman v. State Bar (1987) 43 
Cal.3d 924, 949-950, 947.)[5) Moreover, contrary to 
OCTC's contentions, admissions made by a respon­
dent attorney in a prior civil proceeding are not 
conclusive and cannot be given preclusive effect in 
the State Bar Court independently of the application 
of collateral estoppel even if they are admissible as 
party admissions under Evidence Code section 1220. 
(Aronow v. LaCroix (1990) 219 Cal. App,3d 1039, 
105 3.) Only final judgments and orders have preclu -
sive effect. (Ibid) Such party admissions must still be 
independently assessed under the clear and convinc­
ing standard of proof. 

[ 4bJ Finally, whenever OCTC chooses to rely, in 
whole or in part, upon the record in a prior civil 
proceeding to prove one or more element of a 
disciplinary violation or an aggravating circwnstance 
independent of the application of collateral estoppel, 
the respondent must always be given a fair opportu­
nity, in the State Bar Court, to contradict, temper, or 
explain the evidence in the civil record with other 
evidence, including live testimony from the same 
witnesses who testified in the civil proceeding. (In the 
Matter of Applicant A, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. at pp. 324-325, and cases there cited.) But the 
respondent need not be given free reign to completely 
retry the civil suit in the State Bar Court with the 
identical evidence presented in the civil proceeding. 
As always, the hearing judge retains the discretion to 
restrict or exclude cumulative evidence. (In the 
Matter of Wright (Review Dept. 1990) I Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 219, 226 [hearing judge may exclude 
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cumulative evidence]; see also Evid. Code, § 352 
[judge may exclude evidence if its probative value is 
outweighed by the probability that its admission will 
necessitate the undue consumption of time]; Dixon v. 
State Bar (1982) 32 Cal.3d 728, 736 [hearing depart­
ment has discretion to exercise reasonable control over 
evidence in order to avoid anurmecessarily long trial].} 

III DISCUSSION 

A. Section 6106 and Fonner Rule 3-300 

For the reasons stated belQw we hold: that the 
principles of collateral estoppel can properly be ap­
plied in this proceeding; thattheir application establishes 
that respondent committed acts involving moral turpi­
tude in violation of section 6106; but does not establish 
the nature and extent of those acts. We further hold 
that the application of those principles does not 
establish that respondent violated former rule 3-3 00. 

There is no dispute that respondent was a party 
to the James lawsuit and that the judgment in the 
James lawsuit is a final judgment on the merits. 
Furthermore, other than making a general claim that 
it would be unfair to apply principles of collateral 
estoppel against him in this proceeding, respondent 
did not specifically identify any such unfairness. 
Respondent did not show that he had less incentive to 
litigate the issues in the James lawsuit, that the jury 
findings in the James lawsuit are inconsistent with the 
findings in another judicial proceeding, or that he was 
required to litigate wider less advantageous proce-

7. j6bJ With respect to special finding 10, the jury was in­
structed that "[i]fyou find that (James] suffered actual injury, 
harm, or damage caused by [respondent's] breach of fiduciary 
duty or fraud, you must decide in addition whether by clear and 
convincing evidence you find that there was oppression, malice 
or fraud in the conduct on which you base your finding of 
liability." Because the jury found that James suffered actual 
damages as the result ofrespondent' s breach offiduciary duty 
and fraud, it went on to answer special finding 10. 

8. [ 6c J The jury was instructed to use the following definitions 
when answering special finding 10 (all of the original internal 
brackets in the following definitions have been omit1cd as 
unnecessary}. 

"'Oppression' means despicable conduct that aubjects a 
person to cruel and unjust hardship in conscious disregard of 
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dures in the James lawsuit. (In the Matter of Appli­
cant A, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 329, 
citing Stolz v. Bank of America (1993) 15 Cal. 
App.4th 217, 222; see also Rest.2d Judgments, § 28 
[listing various exceptions to the general rule of issue 
preclusion].) Accordingly, to determine whether prin• 
ciples of collateral estoppel can properly be applied in 
this proceeding, we must first determine whether 
there are any issues that are common to the James 
lawsuit and the present disciplinary proceeding. If 
there are, we must then detennine whether they were 
previously adjudicated against respondent by the jury 
in the James lawsuit under the clear and convincing 
standard of proof and whether they are necessary to 
support the civil judgment against respondent. Inhere 
are any issues meeting these requirements, we can 
give them preclusive effect and use them in this 
proceeding to find the corresponding element or 
elements of the charged disciplinary violations or 
alleged aggravating circumstances. 

(6a) Our independent review of the record in the 
J arnes lawsuit discloses that the only common issues 
that were found against respondent by the jury under 
the clear and convincing standard of proof and that 
are necessary to support the judgment in that lawsuit 
are those issues that the jury found when it unani­
mously answered "yes" to special finding 10.7 

(6b-see fn. 7] Special finding 10 asked the jury 
whether it found "by clear and convincing evidence 
that [respondent] was guilty of malice, oppression or 
fraud in the conduct upon which [it based its J finding 
of liability for either breach of fiduciary duty or 
fraud. "8 (6c-see fn.8] 

the that person's rights." 
"'Malice' means conduct which is intended by the defendant 

to cause injury to the plaintiff or despicable conduct which is 
carried on by the defendant with a willful and conscious 
disregard for the rights ofothers. A person acts with conscious 
disregard of the rights ofothers when he [ or] she is aware of the 
probable dangerous consequences of his [or] her conduct and 
willfully and deliberately fails to avoid those consequences ., 
(Brackets added.) 

'"Despicable conduct' is conduct which is so vile, base, 
contemptible, miserable, wretched, or loathsome that it would 
be looked down upon and despised by ordinary decent people." 

"'Fraud' means an intentional misrepresentation, deceit, or 
concealment of a material fact known to the defendant with the 
intention on the part of the defendant of thereby depriving a 
person of property or legal rights or otherwise causing injury." 
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(6d] Because the superior court used the dis­
junctive conjunction "or" in the phrase "malice, 
oppression or fraud" in special finding 10, we cannot 
determine whether the jury found respondent guilty of 
(1) malice, (2) oppression, (3) fraud, or (4) some 
combination of malice, oppression, and fraud when it 
answered "yes" to that special finding. (CompareJn 
the Matter of Applicant A, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. at p. 330 [where the civil judgment recites 
that the jury found Applicant A guilty of fraud by clear 
and convincing evidence]; In the Matter of Berg, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 730-732 
[ where the civil jury found, by clear and convincing 
evidence, that Berg guilty of oppression, malice,and 
fraud with respect to his submitting false bills to an 
insurance company].) Similarly, because the superior 
couit used the disjunctive correlative conjunction of 
"either . . . or" in the phrase "either breach of 
fiduciary duty or fraud" in special finding 10, we 
cannot determine whether the jury fowid that respon­
dent was guilty of"malice, oppression or fraud" with 
respect to ( 1) his breach fiduciary duty to James, (2) 
his commission of fraud on James, or (3) both when 
it answered "yes" to that special finding. Neverthe­
less, as discussed below, we conclude that the 
commission of any or all of these acts involves moral 
turpitude in violation of section 6106, but that their 
commission does not establish that respondent vio­
lated fonner rule 3-300. 

1. Section 6106 

Section 6106 provides that an attorney's "com­
mission of any act involving moral turpitude. . . , 
whether committed in the course of his relations as an 
attorney or otherwise, and whether the act is a felony 
or misdemeanor or not, constitutes a cause for disbar­
ment or suspension." Moral turpitude has long been 
defined as an act "of baseness, vileness or depravity 
in the private and social duties which a man owes to 
his fellow men, or to society in general, contrary to the 
accepted and customary rule of right and duty be­
tween man and man." (In re Craig (1938) 12 Cal.2d 
93, 97.) "It has been described as any crime or 
misconduct without excuse [citation] or any dishon­
est or immoral act. The meaning and the test is the 
same whether the dishonest or immoral act is a 
felony, misdemeanor, or no crime at all." ( Chadwick 
v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 103, 110.) 
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Moreover, "[c]onduct which indicates that an 
attorney is unable to meet the professional and 
fiduciary duties ofhis practice may show him or her 
to be unfit to practice and constitute moral turpitude. 
[Citation.]" (In re Strick ( 1983) 34 Cal.3d 891, 901.) 
Thus, an attorney's deliberate breach of a fiduciary 
duty to a client involves moral turpitude as a matter of 
law. Further, even an attorney's non-deliberate breach 
of a fiduciary duty to a client involves moral turpitude 
if the breach occurred as a result of the attorney's 
gross carelessness and negligence. (Lipson v. State 
Bar (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1010, 1020; In the Matter of 
Rubens (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 468, 478.) Furthermore, an attorney's deliber­
ate breach of a fiduciary duty or a breach resulting 
from the attorney's gross carelessness and negli­
gence involves moral turpitude even in the absence of 
an attorney-client relationship. That is because "[a)n 
attorney who accepts the responsibility of a fiduciary 
nature is held to the high standards of the legal 
professional whether or not he acts in his capacity of 
an attorney." (Worth v. State Bar (1976) 17 Cal.3d 
337, 341; see also Beery v. State Bar (1987) 43 
Cal.3d 802, 813.) 

[6e) In light of the foregoing well-established 
law regarding moral turpitude, we conclude that an 
attorney's guilt of malice, oppression, or fraud, as 
th9se tenns were defined for the jury in the James 
lawsuit, with respect to the attorney's breaching a 
fiduciary duty to either a client or anon-client involves 
moral turpitude in violation of section 6106 as matter 
oflaw. Similarly, weconcludethatanattomey'sguilt 
of malice, oppression, or fraud with respect to his 
commission of an act of fraud, even in the absence of 
a fiduciary relationship, involves moral turpitude as a 
matter oflaw. (In re Hallinan (1954) 43 Cal.2d 243, 
247-248 ["Although the problem of defining moral 
turpitude is not without difficulty (citations), it is 
settled that whatever else it may mean, its includes 
fraud .... (Citations.) It is also settled that the related 
group of offenses involving intentional dishonesty for 
purposes of personal gain are crimes involving moral 
turpitude. (Citations.)'l) Accordingly, we hold that, 
under the final judgment in the James lawsuit, the 
jury's answer to special issue 10 is a conclusive legal 
determination by clear and convincing evidence that 
respondent committed acts involving moral turpitude 
in his dealings with James and that that legal detenni-
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nation is binding on respondent and preclusive in this 
proceeding under principles of collateral estoppel. 
Those acts of moral turpitude establish all the requi­
site elements of a section 6106 violation. 

[6f) However, because the superior court used, 
in special finding l 0, the disjunctive conjunction "or" 
in the phrase "malice, oppression or fraud" and the 
disjunctive correlative conjunction "either ... or" in 
the phrase "either breach of fiduciary duty or fraud," 
we cannot determine the factual basis for the jury's 
unanimous answer of "yes" to special finding 10. 
Because we cannot determine the factual basis for 
the jury's answer to special finding 10, we cannot 
determine the nature and extent of respondent's acts 
involving moral turpitude under the application of 
collateral estoppel principles. Nor can we determine 
the nature and extent of those acts by independently 
reviewing the record. 

[7] Even though the hearing judge properly 
admitted and judicially noticed the record in the James 
lawsuit(§ 6049.2; Evid. Code,§ 452, subd. (d)), he 
erred in relying upon it as evidence independent of the 
application of collateral estoppel principles (i.e., by 
reweighting the evidence in the civil record under the 
clear and convincing standard of proof) without first 
giving respondent an opportunity to attempt to contra­
dict, temper, or explain the adverse evidence in it. (In 
the Matter of Applicant A, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. at pp. 324-325, and cases there cited.) We, 
therefore, must reverse the hearing judge's factual 
findings regarding the section 6106 violation. What is 
more, because the hearing judge did not give respon­
dent an opportunity to attempt to contradict, temper, 
or explain the adverse evidence in the record in the 
James lawsuit, we cannot exercise our authority to 
independently review and reweigh the evidence in 
that civil record under the clear and convincing 
standard of proof to determine the nature and extent 
of respondent's acts of moral turpitude. 

We find no merit to respondent's contention that 
the term "moral turpitude" in section 6106 is uncon­
stitutionally vague. "It is well established that 'one to 
whose conduct a statute clearly applies may not 
successfully challenge it for vagueness.' [Citation.]" 
(In re Kelley (1990) 52 Cal.3d487, 497.) Thus, even 
assuming for the sake of argument that the tenn 
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"moral turpitude" in.section 6106 is so broad that 
people of common intelligence must guess at its 
meaning, we could not sustain respondent's vague­
ness challenge because respondent's misconduct as 
found by the jury in its answer to special finding l 0 
falls clearly within the scope of section's 6106 pro­
scription of acts involving moral turpitude. (Ibid.) 
Therefore, the term "moral turpitude" as used in 
section 6106 is not impermissibly vague as applied to 
respondent in this proceeding. 

In sum, we reverse the hearing judge's factual 
findings regarding the nature and extent of respondent's 
acts involving moral turpitude and remand the matter 
for a new trial on those and other issues, which we 
identify below. 

2. Former Rule 3-300 

18] The requisite elements of a former rule 3-
300(A) violation are that the transaction is unfair to 
the client or that the attorney failed to fully disclose 
and transmit the tenns of the transaction to the client 
in writing in a manner that the client should be able to 
understand. The requisite elements of a fonner rule 
3-300(B) violation are that the attorney failed to 
advise the client in writing that the client may seek the 
advice of an independent attorney of the client's 
choice or that the attorney failed to give the client a 
reasonable opportunity to seek such independent 
advice. None of these elements was expressly ad­
dressed in special finding I 0, which, as noted above, 
inquired of the jury whether it found "by clear and 
convincing evidence that [respondent] was guilty of 
malice, oppression or fraud in the conduct upon which 
[it based its] finding of liability for either breach of 
fiduciary duty or fraud." Furthermore, none of the 
elements of a former rule 3-300 violation are ex­
pressly addressed in the definitions given to the jury 
with respect to special finding 10, which definitions 
are quoted above in footnote 10. Thus, the application 
of collateral estoppel principles does not establish that 
respondent violated former rule 3-300. 

(9a1 Moreover, in ·making his factual findings 
regarding the former rule 3-300violations, the hearing 
judge erred in reweighing the evidence in the James 
lawsuit under the clear and convincing standard of 
proof without first giving respondent an opportunity to 
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attempt to contradict, temper, or explain that evi­
dence. (In the Matter of Applicant A, supra, 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 324-325, and cases there 
cited.) Because of that error, we cannot exercise our 
authority to independently review and reweigh the 
evidence in the James lawsuit under the clear and 
convincing standard of proof and make our own 
findings with respect to the charged former rule 3-3 00 
violations. 

[9b] In sum, we reverse the hearing judge's 
factual findings and legal conclusions that respondent 
violated former rule 3-300 and remand the matter for 
a new trial on the issue of respondent's culpability on 
the charged former rule 3-300 violations. 

B. Section 6068, subdivision (o)(2) 

Respondent does not challenge the hearingjudge' s 
factual findings showing that respondent failed to 
report, to the State Bar, the entry of the judgment 
against him in the James lawsuit. Nor does respon­
dent challenge the hearing judge's culpability 
conclusion that respondent's failure to report the 
judgment violated section 6068, subdivision (o)(2). 
After independently reviewing the record, we agree 
with the hearing judge and adopt his factual :findings 
and culpability conclusion regarding this charge. 

C. Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances 

Aggravating and mitigating circumstances are 
events or factors surrounding the particular miscon­
duct of which an attorney has been found culpable 
that show that a greater or lesser degree of sanction 
is warranted. (Stds. l.2(b) & l .2(e).) In that regard, 
aggravating and mitigating circumstances are often 
directly related to or dependent upon the specific 
misconduct found to have been committed. (See, e.g., 
std. 1.2(b)(ii) [found misconduct evidences multiple 
bad acts]; std. 1.2(b)(iii) [found misconduct sur­
rounded or followed by bad faith 1; std. 1.2( e )(ii) [good 
faith of attorney]; std. 1.2( e )(vii) [objective steps take 
by attorney to atone for consequences of the found 
misconduct].) Accordingly, because we have re­
versed most of the hearing judge's findings and 
conclusions regarding respondent's culpability, we 
also reverse the hearing judge's findings as to aggra­
vating and mitigating circumstances. We do so in 

lNTHEMATIEROFKlITRELL 
(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 195 

order to provide both parties with an adequate oppor­
tunity to present their aggravating and mitigating 
evidence with respect to whatever particular miscon­
duct may be found on remand. 

In any event, for the reasons stated above, the 
application of collateral estoppel principles does not 
provide support for the hearing judge's aggravation 
findings. As with culpability, in making some ofhis 
findings in aggravation, the hearingjudge reweighted 
the evidence in the James lawsuit without first giving 
respondent an opportunity to contradict, temper, or 
explain the adverse evidence. In addition, the hearing 
judge did not give respondent an opportunity to 
present all of his relevant mitigating evidence. These 
errors also require that we reverse the hearing 
judge's findings regarding aggravating and mitigating 
circumstances and preclude us from exercising our 
authority to independently reweigbt the evidence. 

D. The Hearing Judge was Impartial 

Finally, we address one remaining issue raised 
by respondent because it is germane to further 
proceedings in the hearing department on remand. 
Under the most generous of readings, we construe 
respondent's contention regarding the hearingjudge' s 
impartiality as arguing that the hearing judge was not 
impartial because the State Bar pays his judicial 
salary as mandated under section 6079. I, subdivision 
{d) and because the State Bar was in a funding crisis 
as a result of the governor's veto of the State Bar's 
fee bill in 1997. Respondent does not contend and cite 
to the place in the record where he timely filed a 
motion seeking to disqualify. the hearing judge on 
these grounds as required by rule 106 of the Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar, title II, State Bar Court 
Proceedings, and where that motion was denied. By 
not properly raising this issue, respondent has waived 
any error. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, title II, State Bar 
Court Proceedings, rule 302(a); State Bar Court 
Rules of Practice, rule 1320; In the Matter of Berg, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. atp. 736.} Nonethe­
less, we exercise our discretion and address 
respondent's arguments on the merits in the interests 
of justice. 

We have repeatedly rejected as meritless argu­
ments that a hearing judge is not impartial because the 
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State Bar pays the judge's statutorily mandated 
salary. (See, e.g., In the Matter of Acuna (Review 
Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 495, 500-501; 
In the Matter of Stewart (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 52, 59.) Moreover, the fact that 
the State Bar might use a portion of the costs that it 
recovers from disciplined attorneys to pay the hearing 
judge's salary does not create a disqualifying condi­
tion. That is primarily because the vast majority of all 
costs recovered are recovered in accordance with a 
Supreme Court disciplinary order (not a State Bar 
Court order) that includes an award of costs to the 
State Bar in accordance with the statutory provision 
for costs in section 6086.10. (Cf. In re Rose (2000) 
22 Cal.4th 430,439, citing In re Attorney Disciplin­
ary System (1998) 19 Cal.4th 582, 600-601 [before 
the Supreme Court issues disciplinary order, it exer­
cises its independent and inherent jurisdiction over 
attorney discipline and independently determines 
whether to impose the discipline recommended by the 
State Bar Court].) Respondent cannot plausibly con­
tend that the Supreme Court's independent and 
statutory award of costs to the State Bar, even if 
made on the recommendation of the State Bar Court, 
creates a condition disqualifying the State Bar Court. 
(Accord In the Matter of Stewart, supra, 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 59.) 

The only instance in which the State Bar Court 
can assess costs on disciplined attorneys is in those 
cases in which the State Bar Court publicly reproves 
the attorney. ( § 6086.10, subd. (a).) Respondent was 
not publicly reproved. 

(10f Moreover, the fact that a portion of the 
hearing judge's salary might conceivably be paid 
from part of the costs the State Bar recovers from 
disciplined attorneys does not create a disqualifying 
condition because the amount of costs actually recov­
ered are relatively nominal to the State Bar's budget. 
(In the Matter of Acuna, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct 
Rptr. at p. 501, fu. 2; compare Ward v. VU/age of 
Monroeville, Ohio (1973) 409 U.S. 57, 60 [where 
the mayor of Monroeville was disqualified from 
acting as the judge in ordinance and traffic violation 
cases because the fines and costs recovered for 
ordinance and traffic violations made up a major 
portion of the village's income and because the mayor 
had executive authority over the village's finances J.) 
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Finally, we also reject as meritless respondent's 
argument that the hearing judge was not impartial 
because the State Bar was in a funding crisis in 1998 
during part of the trial in this matter and while this 
matter was under submission for a decision by the 
hearing judge. Throughout the State Bar's funding 
crisis in 1998 and early 1999, the State Bar Court 
Judges voluntarily agreed to temporarily receive a 
reduced salary from the State Bar. (Jn re Attorney 
Disciplinary System, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 614.} 
We fail to see how such a voluntary reduction in 
salary to permit the State Bar to operate within its 
budgetary constraints until the Supreme Court re­
stored funding of the State Bar's discipline system in 
1999 under rule 963 of the California Rules of Court 
could have plausibly created a financial interest that 
would have required the recusal of the hearing judge. 

IV. REMAND ORDER 

Applying principles of collateral estoppel, we 
conclude that respondent Bolden Bruce Kittrell is 
culpable of violating Business and Professions Code 
sections 61 06. Moreover, adopting the hearingjudge' s 
findings of fact and conclusions of law with respect 
to the charged violation of Business and Professions 
Code sectioi;i 6068, subdivision (o)(2), we conclude 
that respondent is culpable of that charged violation. 

In light of the foregoing conclusions and our 
reversal of most of the hearing judge's findings and 
conclusions, we order that this matter be remanded to 
the hearing department for a new trial on the follow­
ing issues: ( 1) findings of fact surrounding respondent's 
violation of Business and Professions Code section 
6106; (2) findings of fact and conclusions of law 
regarding the charged violations of rule 3-300 of the 
former Rules of Professional Conduct of the State 
Bar; (3) findings of fact and conclusions of law 
regarding aggravating and mitigating circumstances; 
and (4) the appropriate level of discipline. 

On remand, the evidence shall be reopened as to 
both parties with respect to the above issues. How­
ever, the evidence that is presently part of the record 
need not be re-introduced. Moreover, the record of 
the James lawsuit, which was admitted into evidence 
in the hearing department, may be properly consid­
ered on remand by the hearing judge. However, 



212 

respondent must be given a fair opportunity to contra­
dict, temper, or explain that evidence with other 
evidence, including live testimony from the same 
witnesses who testified in the civil proceeding. Yet 
the hearing judge need not retry the civil suit in this 
disciplinary proceeding as she or he retains the sound 
discretion to restrict or exclude cumulative evidence 
and otherwise control the introduction of evidence as 
in any other case. The hearing judge's decision on 
remand should, again as in any other case, be based 
on a balanced consideration of all the competent 
evidence admitted, whether documentary, hearsay, 
live testimony, or other. 

We concur: 

OBR1EN, PJ, 
STOVITZ, J. 

INTHEMATIEROFKrrfRELL 
(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 195 
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Respondent's Illinois law license was suspended for 18 months as a result of respondent's misconduct 
whilepracticingthere. Suchmisconductincludedsettlingacasewithouttheclient'sauthority, forgingaclient's 
signature on settlement documents, commingling client and personal funds, misappropriating client funds, and 
issuing an insufficiently funded check. The hearingj udge concluded that respondent's culpability warranted 
discipline in California and recommended, among other things, an 18-month actual suspension. The hearing 
judge declined respondent's request to recommend that the actual suspension be retroactive to the time of 
respondent's suspension in Illinois. (Hon. Madge S. Watai, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent requested review. The review department rejected as unsupported by either the law or the 
facts respondent's contention that the actual suspension imposed in California should be retroactive to the time 
of respondent's suspension in Illinois. The review department also concluded that respondent's Illinois 
misconduct constituted grounds for imposing discipline in California and determined, upon considering the 
aggravating and mitigating circumstances, that the appropriate degree of discipline was a two-year stayed 
suspension, two years of probation, and a one-year actual suspension. 

For St.ate Bar: 

For Respondent: 

Alan B. Gordon 

R. Gerald Markle 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

HEADNOTE$ 

[1J 147 Evidence-Presumptions 
162.30 Issues/Proof in § 6049.1 
195 Discipline in Other Jurisdictions 
1933.40 Section 6049.1 Cases-Limitation of ls1ues 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Depanment, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the conv~ienceofthe reader. Only the actual text ofthcReview Department' s 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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Business and Professions Code section 6049.1 provides that, with exceptions not applicable here, 
the Illinois Supreme Court disciplinary order imposed on respondent conclusively established his 
culpability in California. 

[2J 195 Discipline in Other Jurisdictions 

(3) 

[4a-c) 

1933.20 Section 6049.1 Cases-California Law 
1935.10 Section 6049.1 Cases""'."'"Misconduct Found 
Respondent's Illinois misconduct, involvingmisappropriation of client funds, repeated commingling 
of trust funds with personal funds, settling a case without authority, issuing an insufficiently funded 
check, and forging a client's name to settlement documents, was serious and a clear ground for 
imposing lawyer discipline in California. 

195 Discipline in Other Jurisdictions 
1933.50 Section 6049.1 Cases-Degree of Foreign Discipline 
In a proceeding under Business and Professions Code section 6049.1, the appropriate degree of 
discipline is not presumed by the other state's discipline, but is open fordetennination in this state. 

1931.90-Section 6049.1 Cases-Other Procedural Issues 
In a proceeding under Business and Professions Code section 6049 .1, neither the law nor the facts 
supported respondent's contention that his suspension in California should be retroactive to the time 
of his suspension in 111inois. The policy of imposing an actual suspension retroactive to the start of 
interim suspension or inactive enrollment is to avoid a lengthier disqualification from practice than 
warranted, but unlike those situations, respondent had not yet been barred from practicing in 
California. Further, although there was a significant delay in implementing an agreement between 
respondent and the California State Bar for a stipulated disposition, there was no clear evidence that 
delay was the fault of the State Bar, and respondent's evidence showed that an increase in his legal 
malpractice premium, which might be considered prejudicial, would likely have occurred even ifhis 
California discipline had become effective earlier. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Aggravation 
Found 

521 
551 
582.10 
691 

Mitigation 
Found 

710.10 
735.10 
740.10 
745.10 
750.10 
791 

Discipline 

Multiple Acts 
Overreaching 
Hann to Client 
Other 

No Prior Record 
Candor-Bar 
Good Character 
Remorse/Restitution 
Rehabilitation 
Other 

1013.08 Stayed Suspension-2 years 
l015.06 Actual Suspension-I year 
1017.08 Probation-2 years 

Probation Conditions 
1024 Ethics Exam/School 
l026 Trust Account Auditing 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, J.: 

Respondent Neil Kauffman requests our review 
over a narrow question; should his agreed-upon 
suspension from practice in California be retroactiv~ 
to the time of a suspension from law practice he 
received in Illinois as he contends or should it be 
prospective as urged by the State Bar's Office of 
Chiefrrial Counsel (hereafter State Bar or California 
Bar)? 

The hearing j udge determined that respondent 
should receive the same level of discipline in Califor­
nia, an 18-month actual suspension, as ordered in 
1995 by the Supreme Court oflllinois for misconduct 
occurring while respondent practiced in Illinois. The 
hearing judge also ,recommended that respondent' s 
California suspension should be prospective and not 
retroactive to 1995 as respondent had requested. 
Respondent contends on review that unnecessary 
delay by the State Bar prevented his suspension from 
becoming effective earlier. The State Bar argues that 
neither the facts nor the law warrant imposing his 
discipline in California retroactively. 

Exercising our independent judgment on the 
record, we determine that a one-year prospective 
actual suspension as a condition of probation is 
appropriate discipline, and we adopt it as our recom­
mendation to the Supreme Court. 

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

Respondent was admitted to practice law in 
California in 1978 and in Illinois in 1979. He has no 
prior discipline in California. 

I. Although respondent was found culpable in Illinois of this 
second client matter, the charges in the present, California 
matter inexplicably failed to specifically allege this matter, 
although they did recite his discipline by the Supreme Court 
oflllinois. The hcaringjudge therefore considered this second 
matter only in aggravation. (Edwards v. State Bar ( 1990) 52 
Cal.3d 28, 3 5-36.) At oral argument, respondent conceded that 
he had proceeded.at nial as if the facts of the second matter were 
in issue in this proceeding. (E.g., Crooks v. State Bar ( 1970) 3 
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In May 1995, the Supreme Court of Illinois 
adopted the report of the Review Board of the Illinois 
Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission 
and suspended respondent for 18 months and until he 
completed a law office management course. 

Although the facts underlying respondent' s Illi• 
nois discipline are not disputed, a brief summary is 
appropriate. The Illinois Supreme Court found that, in 
a client matter arising out of an automobile accident 
in July 1984, respondent settled his client' s case 
without authority, forged her signature on settlement 
papers, later commingled the settlement funds with 
his personal funds and misappropriated his client's 
$1,500 share oftho_se funds, issuing an insufficient 
funds check before finally paying his client. In an• 
other client matter1 arising out of an accident on 
Chicago's public transit system in November 1984, 
respondent commingled his ~lient funds with his 
office operating funds and misappropriated the funds 
he should have held for his client. Finally, the Illinois 
Supreme.Court found that respondent commingled 
trust funds with personal funds many times between 
June and November 1988. During that period, re­
spondent deposited the trust funds of 78 clients in his 
office operating account. 

In June 1995, respondent notified the California 
Bar of his lllinoisdiscipline. Over the next two years, 
respondent was represented by diff-erent counsel 
than at present. The record shows that, as early as 
November 1995, the California Bar offered, prior to 
the filing of this formal proceeding to discipline 
respondent based on the Illinois discipline,2 to stipu­
late to the facts and the same degree of discipline as 
imposed on respondent in Illinois. The record is 
unclear as to why a written stipulation was not filed 
promptly. There is some indication in the record that 
the parties were exploring added conditions of proba-

Ca!.3d 346, 356-357.) In any case, the parties agree that it 
would malce little difference if these facts were considered as 
part of respondent's culpability or solely as evidence in 
aggravation. We concur. 

2. See Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 6049.1 (hereafter§6049.l); In the 
Matter of Jenkins (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 157, 162. 
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tion. By October 1997, the matter was still unre­
solved. On November 3, 1997, a State Bar deputy trial 
counsel sent respondent a proposed written stipula­
tion to finalize the parties' discussions. The next day, 
that deputy trial counsel and respondent's counsel at 
the same time spoke by phone and agreed to some 
changes. That same day, the deputy trial counsel sent 
respondent's counsel a revised stipulation and asked 
for counsel's prompt review so that it could be filed 
before deputy trial counsel departed on a planned 
leave. 

This November 4, 1997, revised stipulation also 
provided forthe same degree of discipline imposed in 
Illinois, prospective to the California Supreme Court's 
order.3 Just after this time, another deputy trial 
counsel took over this matter on behalf of the State 
Bar and proposed another stipulation making other 
changes in probation conditions. In December 1997, 
respondent's counsel apparently sought to have the 
18 months' suspension imposed without any proba­
tion conditions. Deputy trial counsel advised on 
December 16, 1997, that the State Bar could not 
agree to dispense with probation conditions and 
enclosed a revised stipulation which contained a 
probation period and the other changes agreed to by 
respondent's counsel and the previous deputy trial 
counsel. 

The December 1997 stipulation was never signed, 
and on January 26, 1998, this formal proceeding was 
started in the State Bar Court. The next day, 
respondent's present counsel -commenced repre­
senting him. Forthe first time, respondent requested 
that the discipline be made retroactive to coincide 
with the suspension imposed by the Illinois Supreme 
Court. The parties were unable to agree to that 
provision, and the matter was tried below on the sole 
issue of whether the Illinois discipline should be 
imposed prospectively or retroactively. 

At trial, the State Bar conceded that delay had 
occurred in the case, but contended that there had 
been no prejudice to respondent. Respondent argued 

3. The parties' focus on the revised stipulation was to limit the 
applicability of some proposed probation conditions to 
respondent's practice oflaw when in California. 
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that to suspend him prospectively would be to sus­
pend him twice for the same conduct. He also 
contended that his discipline should be retroactive 
since hedld not practice in California during his Illinois 
suspension, he promptly reported his Illinois disci­
pline, he endured delays caused by the State Bar and 
his malpractice insurance premiwn would climb sharply 
ifhe were disciplined prospectively. 

In her decision, the hearing judge summarized 
the foregoing chronology, made findings of 
respondent's culpability as earlier found by the Illinois 
Supreme Court,4 and concluded that those findings 
warranted discipline in California and that the 18-
month suspension imposed in Illinois was appropriate 
as the discipline to recommend in California. The 
hearing judge also considered fully respondent's 
request for a retroactive suspension but declined to 
recommend it. 

As the judge viewed-the evidence, respondent 
did not make his request until January 1998 when he 
obtained new counsel. Although his Illinois discipline 
would result in a separate suspension in California, he 
was licensed in both states and agreed that he was 
subject to discipline in both. Moreover, according to 
the judge, he could have practiced in California while 
suspended in Illinois had he wished to and his Califor­
nia suspension would still appear to allow him to 
practice in Illinois, since he had completed his Illinois 
suspension. 

The hearing judge concluded that there was no 
legal or factual reason why the 18-month actual 
suspension in California should be retroactive, and 
she declined to so recommend. 

II. DISCUSSION. 

Although issues of culpability and overall degree 
of discipline are not disputed in this review, we 
exercise an independent judgment on the record. 
(Cal. Rules ofCollrt, rule951.5; Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, rule 305(a); In re Morse(l995) I l Cal.4th 184, 

4. As noted ante, the • hearing judge treated findings of 
respondent's second client matter solely as evidence in aggra­
vation of discipline. 
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207.) fl) As we observed recently in In the Matter 
of Jenkins, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at page 
162, section 6049. I provides that, with exceptions not 
applicable here, the I1linois Supreme Court disciplin­
ary order imposed on respondent conclusively 
establishes his culpability in California. [2} 
Respondent's Illinois misconduct, involving misap­
propriation of client funds, repeated commingling of 
trust funds with personal funds, settling a case with­
out authority, issuing an insufficiently funded check 
and forging a client's name to settlement documents, 
was serious and a clear ground for imposing lawyer 
discipline in California. (E.g., Levin v. State Bar 
(1989)47 Cal.3d 1140 [settling case without client's 
authority]; Friedman v. State Bar (1990) 50 Cal.3d 
235 [misappropriation of client funds]; Lawhorn v. 
State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d. 1357 [commingling].) 

[3] In a proceeding under section 6049.1, the 
appropriate degree of discipline is not presumed by 
the other state's discipline, but is open for determina­
tion in this state. (§ 6049.1, subd. (b) (l); In the 
Matter of Jenkins, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
at p. 164.) The hearingjudge considered the Califor­
nia Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
Misconduct, which are set forth in title IV of the Rules 
of Procedure of the State Bar (all further references 
to Standards are to this source), and concluded 
correctly that the guided discipline could range from 
reproval to disbarment. She found both substantial 
mitigating circumstances and also compelling aggra­
vating ones as well. 

In mitigation, the hearing judge acknowledged 
that, in the IJlinois proceedings, respondent presented 
favorable character evidence, including testimony 
from two judges. There was no evidence that any 
other disciplinary complaints had been lodged in 
Illinoisagainstrespondentandrespondent'sfailureto 
properly handle his trust account did not cause a 
financial loss to anyone. Respondent had no discipline 
in California other than this proceeding and none 
since 1988. Elsewhere in her discussion, the hearing 
judge stated that respondent's misconduct appeared 
to stem from accounting disarray and not from 
venality. 

In aggravation, the hearingjudge also found that 
respondent's misconduct was serious, repeated and 
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caused significant harm to the two clients, including 
overreaching against the client in the first matter. At 
the time of the Illinois hearings, respondent was 
unaware of the proper procedure for handling settle­
ment funds and no evidence was shown that he had 
put in place proper trust accounting procedures. 

In reviewing case law, the hearingj udge deemed 
the case of In the Matter of Sampson (Review 
Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 119, compa­
rable, but noted that this case presented more 
aggravating and mitigating circumstances than 
Sampson. The Supreme Court imposed a three-year 
stayed suspension and an eighteen-month actual 
suspension in that case, the gravamen of which was 
misuse of client funds. 

Other cases imposing discipline for misconduct 
found here vary widely. For example, in Levin v. 
State Bar, supra, 4 7 Cal.3 d 1140, a six-month actual 
suspension was imposed. In one of the two counts, 
Levin had settled a case without his client' s authority, 
and in the other, he had communicated directly with 
a party represented by counsel withoutthat counsel' s 
consent. No misuse of funds was involved; however, 
Levin's practice of deceit was considered aggravat­
ing. Mitigating circumstances were also present 
including Levin's 18 years of practice without prior 
discipline. 

Discipline for cases in which misuse of funds 
was the central focus varies from stayed suspension 
to disbarment. In Lawhorn v. State Bar, supra, 43 
Cal.3d 1357, a two-year actual suspension was or­
dered for essentially one matter falling between 
commingling and misappropriation of$ 1,356 in trust 
funds with evidence that the attorney used his trust 
account to pay office expenses. 

Respondent reported his lliinoisdiscipline promptly 
to the California Bar, as he was required to do (Bus. 
& Prof. Code, § 6068, subd. (0)(6)), but he also 
sought promptly and willingly to resolve it. In our 
view, this is a significant mitigating circumstance. 
(Std. 1.2 (e)(v), (vii); Chadwick v. State Bar (1989) 
49 Cal.3d 103, 111-112.) It has been 12 years since 
respondent's last act of misconduct for which he was 
disciplined in Illinois. No evidence of additional mis­
conduct appears. The record does not show the 
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precise cause of the delay in resolving this matter. 
From what we can glean, neither respondent person­
ally nor any individual deputy trial counsel was the 
cause of the considerable passage of time. The 
passage of considerable time without evidence of 
further misconduct may be considered a mitigating 
factor. (Std. l.2(e) (viii); Chadwick v. State Bar, 
supra, 49 Cal.3d at p. 112.) 

Balancing all relevant considerations (Rose v. 
State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 646, 666), we conclude 
that the appropriate degree of discipline is a two-year 
suspension stayed on conditions of a two years' 
probation and a one-year actual suspension. 

(4aJ We now discuss the issue posed in this 
proceeding, whetherthediscipline should be retroac­
tive to the date of respondent's discipline in Illinois or 
prospective. We agree with the hearing judge that 
neither the law nor the factual record support a 
retroactive discipline. 

[4b] All cases cited by respondent to support his 
claim deal with situations in which there were under­
lying disqualifications from law practice in California, 
either interim suspensions (see, e.g., In re Leardo 
( 1991) 53 Cal.3d 1) or inactive enrollments (see, e.g., 
In the Matter of Chen (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 5 71 ). The policy of imposing an 
actual suspension retroactive to the start of interim 
suspension or inactive enrollment is, in appropriate 
cases, to avoid a significantly lengthier disqualifica­
tion from practice than warranted as the appropriate 
degree of final discipline. Unlike those situations, 
once respondent was admitted to practice, he has not 
yet been barred from practicing in California. 

14c] Further, we see no reason from the facts in 
this case to make a retroactive recommendation; 
even if, arguendo, caselaw supported it. Although 
there appears to have been significant delay in imple­
menting an agreement between respondent and the 
California Bar for a stipulated disposition, we do not 
see any clear evidence that delay was the fault of the 
State Bar. The record shows that almost as soon as 
respondent notified the California Bar of his Illinois 
discipline, it offered to resolve the matter by stipulated 
disposition. It repeated that offer as the months 
passed. As we noted ante, the record does not show 
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the precise cause of the delay. However, respondent 
was apparently content until J amiary 1998 to have the 
discipline operate prospectively, as indicated by the 
history of this matter. Respondent has argued that 
one harm of the delay allegedly occasioned by the 
California Bar would be an increase in cost ofhis legal 
malpractice premium. However, even assuming that 
an increase in insurance premiums might be consid­
ered prejudicial to respondent, the brief statement he 
submitted from his insurance broker shows only that 
a premium rise would occur if respondent were to be 
suspended in California as a result of the Illinois 
discipline. This evidence shows that his premium 
would likely rise even ifhis California discipline were 
to have become effective earlier. 

III. RECOMMENDATION. 

For the foregoing reasons, we uphold the deci­
sion of the hearing judge and recommend that 
respondent be suspended from the practice oflaw for 
a period of two (2) years, that execution of that 
suspension be stayed and that respondent be placed 
on two (2) years of probation on the conditions 
recommended by the hearing judge in her decision, 
except that we modify her recommended probation 
condition number one to provide that respondent be 
actually suspended from the practice of law in the 
State of California forone (I) year and we modify the 
hearingjudge's probation condition number six re­
quiring that respondent submit to trust account 
monitoring by a Certified Public Account so that it 
provides as follows: 

During each calendar quarter in which respon­
dent receives, possesses, or otherwise handles funds 
or property of a client (as used in this probation 
condition, the tenn "client" includes all persons and 
entities to which respondent owes a fiduciary or trust 
duty) in any manner, respondent must submit, to the 
State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles with the 
probation report for that quarter, a certificate from a 
Certified Public At:countant certifying: 

(a) whether respondent has maintained a bank 
account that is designated as a "Trust Account," 
"Clients' Funds Account," or words of similar import 
in a bank in the State of California( or, with the written 
consent of the client, in any other jurisdiction where 
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there is a substantial relationship between the client or 
the client's business and the other jurisdiction); 

(b) whether respondent has, from the date of 
receipt of the client funds through the period ending 
five years from the date of appropriate disbursement 
of the funds, maintained: 

(I) a written ledger for each client on whose 
behalf funds are held that sets forth: 

(a) the name and address of the client, 

(b) the date, amount, and source of all funds 
received on behalf of the client, 

( c) the date, amount, payee, and purpose of 
each disbursement made on behalf of the client, and 

( d) the current balance for the client; 

(2) a written j ournal for each bank account 
that sets forth: 

(a) the name of the account, 

(b) the name and address of the bank where 
the account is maintained, 

( c) the date, amount, and client or beneficiary 
affected by each debit and credit, and 

(d) the current balance in the account; 

(3) all bank statements and cancelled checks 
for each bank account, and 

(4) each monthly reconciliation (balancing) 
of (l), (2), and (3) and, ifthere are any differences, 
an explanation of each difference; and 

( c) whether respondent has, from the date of 
receipt of aII securities and othet properties held for 
the benefit of a client through the period ending five 
years from the date of appropriate disbursement of 
the securities and other properties, maintained a 
written j oumal that specifies: 

( 1) each item of security and property held, 
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(2) the person on whose behalf the security 
or property is held, 

(3) the date of receipt of the security or 
property, 

( 4) the date of distribution of the security or 
property, and 

(S) person to whom the security or property 
was distributed. 

If respondent does not practice law in California 
and does not receive, possess, or otherwise handle 
client funds or property in any manner in California 
during an entire calender quarter and if respondent 
includes, in his probation report for that quarter, a 
statement to that effect that is certified by affidavit or 
made under penalty of perjury under the laws of the 
State of California, respondent is not required to 
submit, to the State Bar' sProbation Unit, a certificate 
from a Certified Public Accountant for that quarter. 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional Conference of Bar Examiners within one year 
after the effective date of the Supreme Court order 
in this matter and to provide satisfactory proof of 
passage of the examination to the State Bar's Proba­
tion Unit in Los Angeles within that year. 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to comply with the provisions of rule 955 of the 
California Rules of Court and to perform the acts 
specifiedinsubdivisions(a)and(c)ofthatrulewithin 
30 and 40 days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court's order in this matter. We also 
recommend that the State Bar be awarded costs in 
accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6086.10 and that such costs be payable in 
accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6140.7. 

We concur: 
OBRIEN, P. J. 
TALCOTT, J .' 

*. Hon. Robert M. Talcott, Judge of the Hearing Department, 
State Bar Court sining by designation pursuant to the provi• 
sionsofrule 305( e), Rules of Procedure of the State Bar Court, 
Title II, Stale Bar Court Proceedings. 
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Respondent failed to file a response to the notice of disciplinary charges and her default was entered. In 
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the practice oflaw for two years and until she pays restitution to one of her former clients; she attends the State 
Bar's ethics school; and establishesherrehabilitation, fitness to practice, and learning in the law. (Hon. Michael 
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r HEADNOTES 

(1 a, b] 613.10 Aggravation-Lack of Candor-Bar-Found but Discounted-Duplicative of 
section 6068(i) charge 
613.90 Aggravation-Lack of Candor-Bar-Found but Discounted--Otber reason 
Attorney's failure to participate in State Bar Court disciplinary proceeding before entry of default 
was aggravating circumstances, but warranted little aggravating weight because it closely equaled 
conduct that constituted attorney's violation of statutory duty to cooperate with disciplinary 
investigations and that resulted in entry of attorney's default. 

[2] 213.90 State Bar Act-Section 6068(i) 
Attorney's failure to respond to State Bar investigator's letter did not establish attorney's violation 
of statutory duty to cooperate with disciplinary investigations because State Bar did not mail letter 
to address that attorney maintained on State Bar's official membership records, but instead mailed 
letter to address it believed, but did not establish, to be attorney's home address. 

[3 a-c] 107 Procedure-Default/Relief from Default 

[4] 

135.50 Division V, Defaults and Trials (rules 200 - 224) 
165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
176 Discipline-Standard 1.4(c)(ii) 
179 Discipline Conditions-Miscellaneous 
1099 Other Miscellaneous Issues 
In default proceeding, period of stayed suspension and disciplinary provision authorizing probation 
conditions to be imposed on attorney in the future by State Bar Court ought not to be rejected by 
hearingjudge merely because attorney's actual suspension will continue until attorney establishes 
rehabilitation under standard 1.4( c )(ii) or until attorney files and State Bar Court grants motion to 
tenninate actual suspension under State Bar Rule of Procedure, rule 205. 

107 
135.50 
179 
1099 

Procedure-Default/Relief from Default 
Division V, Defaults and Trials (rules 200 - 224) 
Discipline Conditions-Miscellaneous 
Other Miscellaneous Issues 

In default proceeding, no loss of public protection occurs when specific probation conditions are not 
immediately imposed on attorney who is placed on actual suspension because such attorney will be 
prohibited from practicing law for duration of attorney's actual suspension and until attorney files 
and State Bar Court grants motion to tenninate actual suspension under State Bar Rule of 
Procedure, rule 205. 

[SJ 135.86 Procedure-Rules of Procedure 

[6] 

199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
2409 Standard l.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Procedural Issues 
2490 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Miscellaneous 
State Bar Court does not have authority to conditionally grant standard l .4( c )( ii) petitions for relief 
from actual suspension or to impose probation type conditions on attorneys when granting such 
petitions. 

179 
1091 
1099 

Discipline Conditions-Miscellaneous 
Substantive Issues re Discipline-Proportionality 
Other Miscellaneous Issues 
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Failure to recommend period of stayed suspension merely because attorney failed to appear in 
disciplinary proceeding results in marked reduction in public protection and in defaulting attorney 
receiving less discipline than attorneys who appear and participate in disciplinary process. 

[7 a-cJ 135.50 Division V, Defaults and Trials (rules 200 - 224) 
I 73 Discipline--Ethics Exam/Ethics School 
179 Discipline Conditions-Miscellaneous 
1099 Other Miscellaneous Issues 
Despite the mandate in State Bar Rule of Procedure, rule 290( a) that every imposition of discipline 
(other than reprovals) include a requirement that attorney attend State Bar Ethics School, the 
appropriate time to consider imposing State Bar Ethics School as a condition of probation in default 
proceeding in which attorney's actual suspension will continue until the attorney files and State Bar 
Court grants motion to terminate actual suspension under State Bar Rule of Procedure, rule 205, 
is at the time of ruling on the rule 205 motion to terminate the actual suspension 

[8 a, b] 173 
179 
1099 

Discipline-Ethics Exam/Ethics School 
Discipline Conditions-Miscellaneous 
Other Miscellaneous Issues 

Disciplinary recommendation in a default proceeding in which attorney's actual suspension will 
continue until attorney files and State Bar Court grants motion to terminate actual suspension under 
State Bar Rule of Procedure, rule 205 may, in appropriate cases, require that attorney's actual 
suspension continue until attorney attends State Bar Ethics School. 
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Found 

213.91 
214.01 
214.31 
270.31 
277.21 
277.51 
290.01 
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Found 

521 
582.10 

Standards 
802.30 
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OPINION 

OBRIEN, P. J.: 

The principal issue we address in this matter is 
whetherornot the total absence of participation in the 
disciplinary process in this court by an attorney 
charged with misconduct should have an effect on the 
discipline recommended, particularly the imposing of 
conditions of probation as a part of a stayed suspen­
sion in light of recently adopted rule 205 of the Rules 
of Procedure of the State Bar (rule 205).1 As a part 
of that issue, we also address the requirement of rule 
290 of the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar (rule 
290) directing that State Bar Ethics School shall be 
required in all disciplinary recommendations of this 
court. 

For the reasons we shall outline, we conclude 
that neither the existence of a default nor the require­
ment that an attorney make a motion under rule 205 
prior to being relieved of actual suspension constitute 
valid reasons for a failure to recommend a specific 
period of stayed suspension or conditions of proba­
tion, if the facts and circumstances of the misconduct 
otherwise demonstrate the propriety of such recom­
mendations. We further note that the imposition of a 
requirement that a suspended attorney show rehabili­
tation under Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title 
IV, Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Profes­
sional Misconduct, standard l.4(c)(ii) (all further 
references to standards are to this source) does not 
alter this view. [la] We do note, as thehearingjudge 
determined, that an attorney'sfailuretoparticjpate in 
his or her disciplinary proceedings is a factor to be 
considered in aggravation under standard 1.2(b )( vi). 

1. Rule 205 provides, inter alia and in effect, that a disciplined 
attorney who has been placed on actual suspension by the 
Supreme Court following the attorney's default in this coun 
will remain on actual suspension until the conclusion of that 
suspension and until this court grants a motion to tenninatethe 
attorney' s suspension. 

2. All further references to "section" arc to the Business and 
Professions Code unless otherwise indicated. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In this default matter the hearingjudge found, as 
we determine from the culpability conclusions set 
forth under the individual counts of charged miscon­
duct in his second amended decision, respondent 
Shere R. Bailey culpable of four counts of withdraw­
ing from clientemploymentwithouttakingreasonable 
steps to avoid prejudice to the rights of the client in 
violation of rule 3-700(A)(2) of the Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct, all occurring in the latter part of 1997 
or the first part ofl 998. In addition, he found respon­
dent culpable of one count of collecting an illegal fee 
in violation of rule 4-200 of the Rules of Professional 
Conduct, one count of failing to return a client's 
papers and file in violation of rule 3-700(0)( I) of 
those rules, one count of failing to perform compe­
tently and diligently in violation of rule 3-1 l O(A) of 
those rules, one count of failing to respond to reason­
able status inquiries from her client in violation of 
Business and Professions Code section 6068, sub­
division (m), 2 and one count of failing to maintain a 
current business address with the State Bar in viola­
tion of section 6068, subdivision (j). Finally, the 
hearingjudge found respondent culpable of one count 
ofviolatingherduty, under section 6068, subdivision 
(i), to cooperate with State Bar investigations be­
cause she failed to respond to a letter that a State Bar 
investigator sent her regarding the complaints that 
three of her clients had made against her. 3 

Although the State Bar does not challenge the 
culpability findings of the hearing department, in its 
opening brief it does seek review of the hearing 
judge's disciplinary recommendation4

• That recom­
mendation included two years' actual suspension, 

3. In the introduction of the hearing judge ·s decision he fails to 
note a number of the culpability findings. This recital of found 
culpability is detennined from the body of the decision. 

4. The State Bar waived oral argument before the review 
department. 
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continuing until respondent shows her rehabilitation 
under standard 1.4( c)(ii) and until she makes restitu­
tion in the sum of $4,000 to her former client Mia 
Heard. The State Bar asks that we modify the 
recommended discipline to include (1) a specific 
period of stayed suspension, (2) a requirement that 
respondent be ordered to comply with such probation 
conditions as are reasonably related to her found 
misconduct as may be imposed by the State Bar 
Court as a condition for tenninating her actual sus­
pension, (3) a requirement that she attend the State 
Bar Ethics School and ( 4) an order that respondent 
pay restitution to her fonner client Nola Seidel. 

The Notice of Disciplinary Charges (NDCs) in 
both of the consolidated cases involved in this matter 
were properly served on respondent during the month 
of August 1999. Respondent failed to file a response 
to the NDCs and has made no appearance in re­
sponse to those notices, nor has she undertaken any 
effort to vacate her default. Because she failed to file 
a response to either of the NDCs, respondent's 
default was entered and she was involuntarily en­
rolled as an inactive member of the State Bar. (§ 
6007, subd. (e); Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 500.) 
Respondent will remain on involuntary inactive en­
rollment until her default is set aside or this proceeding 
is completed.(§ 6007, subd. (e)(2); Rules Proc. of 
State Bar, rule 501.) 

Respondent was admitted· to practice in June 
1991. No evidence of prior discipline was introduced. 
The case was submitted on the well pleaded facts 
contained in the NDCs5 and four exhibits including 
the declaration of Seidel. Although there is no dispute 
as to the evidence, we briefly summarize the evi­
dence giving rise to the hearing judge's findings of 
culpability, which we adopt. In spite of this brief 
summary, we have reviewed the record de novo as 
we are obligated to do. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 
951.5; Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a); In re 
Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 207.) 

5. The well pleaded allegations of fact are deemed admitted in 
a default matter. (§ 6088; Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
200(d)( l)(A).) 
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Respondent's misconduct involved four sepa­
rate clients, three of whom had engaged respondent 
to handle the probate of estates in which they had an 
interest and one of whom sought the preparation of 
estate planning documents. Respondent's employ­
ment in the three probate matters commenced in June 
1994 in the first matter, June 1996 in the second 
matter, and August 1997 in the third matter. In the 
first matter, respondent collected a $1,500 fee with­
out authority of court, demanded additional fees to 
complete the probate and then failed to respond to 
calls from the client, followed by respondent vacating 
her office in either December 1996 or January 1997 
and not leaving her clients any means of contacting 
her. it became necessary for the client to complete 
the probate herself. 

In the second probate matter, respondent was 
hired to prevent secured creditors from foreclosing 
on real property standing in the name of the decedent. 
In spite of the client being able to raise the money 
necessary for a stay on the foreclosure by one 
creditor a foreclosure sale by that creditor was set for 
December 2, 1997. An additional foreclosure sale 
was scheduled for November 20, 1997, by a separate 
creditor. Despite the repeated efforts of the client, he 
was unable to communicate with respondent con­
cerningtheforeclosuresaleofNovember20.Although 
the client appeared at that sale with sufficient funds 
available to satisfy the creditor, the property was sold 
to a third person because the client had only a 
personal check. On that same day and following the 
sale, the client met respondent in the lobby of her 
office building. Because respondent was moving she 
advised the clientto call her in a few days. Thereafter, 
the client was unable to communicate with respon­
dent. Despite demands, respondent failed to deliver 
the file to either the client or his subsequent attorney. 

In the third probate matter, Mia Heard hired 
respondent in June 1996 and gave her $2 7 5 for filing 
fees arid costs at that time. Respondent commenced 
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the probate in December • J 996, and she collected 
$4,000 in advanced attorney's fees and costs from 
Heard without a court order in that same month. 
Commencing in April 1997, there was no contact 
between respondent and the client until January 1998, 
when the client was able to reach respondent on the 
teleph~ne. Thereafter, the client wrote, faxed, and 
telephoned respondent, all without success. The 
client's correspondence was rerumed with a notation 
from the United States Postal Service: "attempted, 
not known." On going to respondent's office in 
March 1998 the client was informed that respondent 
had moved two or three months earlier. The client 
was forced to complete the probate of the estate 
herself. In its final order, the probate court denied any 
attorney's fees. 

In the estate planning matter, Nola Seidel paid 
the sum of$ l ,990 to respondent in April 1996, after 
having been quoted a fee of$1,500. Between March 
1997 and November of that year, Seidel complained 
of errors in the disposition of assets made in the 
documents and was informed in October or Novem­
ber that it would cost an additional $550 to make the 
corrections. That sum was sent to respondent. After 
reaching respondent in January 1998, the client was 
unable to reach respondent, nor did she have an 
address to which she might send correspondence. 
The client's attempt to write respondent was re­
turned by the Postal Service, marked: "Return to 
sender." 

On April 7, l 999, a State Bar investigator wrote 
and mailed a letter to respondent at her official 
address of record with the State Bar, inquiring about 
each of the three probate matters described above. 
No response to that letter was received from respon­
dent, nor was the letter returned as undeliverable by 
the Postal Service. I 2 J Even though the investigator's 
April 7, 1999, letter to respondentwas not rerurned as 
undeliverable by the Postal Service, the investigator 
sent respondent another letter on May 12, 1999, 
giving respondent a second opportunity to respond to 
the complaints made against her with respect to the 
three probate matters. The investigator did not, how­
ever, mail that May 12 letter to respondent's address 
of record, but instead, mailed it to respondent at an 
address which the investigator believed to be 
respondent's home address. Respondent did not 
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respond to that letter; nor was it returned as undel iv­
erable by the Postal Service. Because the May 12 
letter was not sent to respondent's address of record 
and because there is no clear and convincing evi­
dence that the address to which that letter was mailed 
was actually respondent's home address, we do not 
consider her failure to respond to the May 12 letter to 
be sufficient evidence of her failure to cooperate in a 

• State Bar investigation in violation of section 6068, 
subdivision (i). We base our detennination of culpa­
bility on this count solely upon her failure to respond 
to the investigator's April 7, 1999, letter. 

On June 15, 1999, the same State Bar investiga­
tor wrote and mailed a letter to respondent at her 
address of record with the State Bar, inquiring about 
the events surrounding the estate plan described 
above. That letter was returned by the Postal Service 
marked: "Return to Sender, Unable to Forward, No 
Forward Order on File." This establishes that respon­
dent failed to maintain a current address with the 
State Bar. 

In addition to the culpability found, as outlined 
above, the hearingjudge found an absence of mitiga­
tion. In aggravation, he found that respondent's 
misconduct banned one of the probate clients 
(std.l .2(b)(iv)) and that respondent committed mul­
tiple acts of wrongdoing (std.1.2(b )(ii)). We agree 
with and adopt these findings. [lb) The hearingjudge 
further found that respondent failed to participate in 
this disciplinary proceeding before the entry of her 
default (std. l.2(b)(vi)). We agree with this finding, 
but note that the conduct relied on for this finding so 
closely equals the misconduct giving rise to the finding 
of culpability under section 6068, subdivision (i) and 
the entry ofrespondent' s default that it warrants little 
weight. 

The hearing judge recommended that respon­
dent be acrually suspended for a period of two years 
and until ( 1) she has shown proof satisfactory to the 
State Bar Court of her rehabilitation, present fitness 
to practice and present learning and ability in the 
general law in accordance with standard l.4(c)(ii), 
(2) she pays $4,000 to her former client Mia Heard or 
the Client Security Fund if it has paid, together with 
interest at the rate of 10 per cent per annum from 
December 9, 1996, (3) she attends a session of the 
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State Bar's Ethics School and passes the test given at 
the end of such session, ( 4) she pass the Multistate 
Professional Responsibility Examination and, ( 5) re­
spondent brings a rule 205 motion to terminate her 
actual suspension. 

Following our independent review of the limited 
record before us we adopt as our own the hearing 
judge's findings of fact and conclusions as to culpa­
bility, aggravation and mitigation, as modified above. 

DISCUSSION OF DISCIPLINE 

Our principal concerns in disciplinary matters 
are ''the protection of the public and the courts, the 
preservation of confidence in the legal profession 
[citation], and the maintenance of the highest possible 
professional standards for attorneys." (Conroy v. 
State Bar(l 991) 53 Cal.3d 495, 503; std.1.3.) As we 
noted in In the Matter of Marsh (Review Dept. 
1990) 1 CaL State Bar Ct. Rptr. 291, 299, "[i]n 
determining the nature and degree of discipline, our 
Supreme Court instructs us that we must examine the 
facts in each case and consider the gravity of the 
misconduct, including the mitigating and aggravating 
evidence, in light of the purposes of discipline. [Cita­
tions.] These relevant factors are balanced on a 
case-by-case basis. [Citation.] Nevertheless, the 
Supreme Court has often expressed the need to 
assure consistency in disciplinary cases. [Citations.]" 

Following our review of discipline imposed in like 
cases, we find the greatest guidance from Young v. 
State Bar (1990) 50 Cal.3d 1204 and Bledsoe v. 
State Bar (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1074. In Young the 
attorney was found to have abandoned "several" 
clients by moving to Florida after approximately six 
years in practice. The misconduct was not found to 
constitute a pattern, having all occurred in a four 
month period. In that contested matter, Young's 
illness was found to contribute to mitigation. Young 
was suspended for three years, stayed on conditions 
including, inter alia, that he serve two years' actual 
suspension. 

In Bledsoe, in a five-to-two decision, the Su­
preme Court found the absence of a pattern of 
misconduct where the attorney abandoned or failed 
to perform for four clients, failed to return fees to two 
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clients and failed to cooperate with the State Bar 
investigation into his misconduct. There, Bledsoe 
defaulted, although he thereafter unsuccessfully sought 
to set the default aside. The Supreme Court imposed 
a five-year suspension, stayed, and placed Bledsoe 
on probation for five years, including among the 
conditions of probation two years' actual suspension. 
In neither of those cases did the Supreme Court 
address the issue of requiring a showing of rehabili­
tation under standard 1.4( c )(ii). 

Included in the array of available discipline are 
conditions of probation that rely on stayed suspension 
to provide a mechanism to enforce those conditions. 
That is, on the violation of such a condition of 
probation an attorney may suffer further discipline, 
including actual suspension up to the period of stayed 
suspension. Thehistmyofprobationasadisciplinary 
tool in matters involving attorney misconduct has 
been carefully set forth in In the Matter of Marsh, 
supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 291 at page~ 298-
299. As we there remarked: "The Supreme Court has 
noted the rehabilitative aim of probation in disciplinary 
matters (Rodgers v. State Bar (1989) 48 Cal.3d 300, 
319; In re Nevill ( 1985) 39 Cal.Jd 729, 738, fn. 10) _ 
[ fn.omitted], as well as noting implicitly the benefits of 
probation monitoring (Rodgers v. State Bar. supra, 
48 Cal.3d at p. 319). Unlike the criminal justice 
system, punishment is not one of the objectives of 
attorney discipline. (Id. atp. 318.)" (In the Matter of 
Marsh, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 299.) 

As the State Bar points out, it is not uncommon 
for the Supreme Court to include stayed suspension 
in those cases where they have required a standard 
1.4( c )(ii) hearing. (E.g., In re Morse, supra, 11 
Cal.4th at p. 213; Lipson v. State Bar (1991) 53 
Ca.L3d 1010, 1023; Rhodes v. State Bar (1989) 49 
Cal.3d 50, 61.) In each of the cases relied on by the 
State Bar, the Supreme Court imposed a five-year 
suspension that was stayed on the condition that the 
attorney be placed on probation with a condition 
imposing a period of actual suspension of two or three 
years and until the attorney showed rehabilitation 
under standard l.4(c)(ii). This court has regularly 
made recommendations to the Supreme Court con­
taining similar proposed discipline. (In the Matter of 
Kro.ff (Review Dept. 1998) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
83 8, 860 [ 5 years' suspension, stayed, 3 years' actual 
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suspension and a std. l.4(c)(ii) condition]; In the 
Matter of Rubens (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 468, 482 [3 years' suspension, stayed, 
2 years' actual suspension with a std.1.4( c )( ii) condi­
tion]; In the Matter of Johnson (Review Dept. 
1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 233,245 [5 years' 
suspension, stayed, 2 years' actual suspension with a 
std.1.4( c )(ii) condition].). fu the present proceeding, 
however, no such stayed suspension was included in 
the hearingjudge' sdiscipline recommendation. 

The hearing judge rejected the State Bar's con­
tention that Young v. State Bar, supra, 50 Cal.3d 
1204, was the most analogous case, presumably 
because Young appeared in the disciplinary process 
and perhaps because it involved more clients. But the 
hearing judge did agree that Bledsoe v. State Bar, 
supra, 52 Cal.3d I 074, was persuasive in assessing 
discipline, and he recited that Bledsoe would be 
followed. However, in Bledsoe, the attorney was 
suspended for five years, stayed, and placed on 
probation for five years on conditions including that he 
actually be suspended for the first two years, that he 
make restitution during the first year of probation, that 
throughout the entire period of his probation he 
comply with two additional terms of probation and 
that he pass a professional responsibility examination 
within.the period of his actual suspension. (Id. at pp. 
1080-108 I . ) We note that similar probationary condi­
tions were imposed in Young. (Young v. State Bar, 
supra, 50 Cal.3d at p. 1222.) 

In neither Bledsoe -nor Young did the Supreme 
Court address the issue of a showing of rehabilitation 
under standard 1.4( c )( ii); nor could it have addressed 
rule 205, which was only recently adopted and which 
requires that a defaulting attorney, who is placed on 
actual suspension, remain on that suspension until this 
court grants a motion to terminate the actual suspen­
sion. (See In the Matter of Stansbury (Review 
Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 103.) As noted, 
the hearingjudgein this proceeding did not include in 
his discipline recommendation a period of stayed 
suspension as did the Supreme Court in Bledsoe and 
Young. Nor did the hearing judge recommend that 
the State Bar Court be authorized, in accordance with 
rule 205, to place respondent on probation and impose 
upon her such probation conditions that the State Bar 
Court deems necessary or appropriate in the event 
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that respondent files and this court grants a rule 205 
motion to terminate her actual suspension. 

The hearingjudge stated in his decision: "It is not 
recommended that respondent's actual suspension 
be accompanied by probationary terms because she 
failed to appear in this matter and probation, as a 
result, would probably serve no purpose. And, to 
some extent, the mini-reinstatement hearing, at which 
respondent must establish her rehabilitation, will com­
pensate for the absence of probation by requiring 
respondent to show that she has undergone positive 
changes and corrected the causes of her misconduct. 
Further, a period of ~tayed suspension is unnecessary 
because respondent shall remain suspended until she 
meets the guidelines of standard 1.4( c )(ii). Alterna­
tively, if she satisfies that standard, there is no need 
for the imposition of stayed suspension." 

We disagree. Rule 205( a) provides that when an 
attorney is in default and this court recommends 
actual suspension "the Court' srecommendation shall 
include each of the following: ( 1) a specific period of 
actual suspension; (2) a period of stayed suspension, 
if appropriate .... "Thus, the issue to be determined 
in the present case is· whether a period of stayed 
suspension is "appropriate." 

[3a] In both Bledsoe and Young the Supreme 
Court detennined that the appropriate discipline was 
a period of suspension, stayed, followed by actual 
suspension of two years as one of several conditions 
of probation. This, combined with the Supreme Court's 
observations on the rehabilitative nature of probation, 
persuades us that neither a period of stayed suspen­
sion, nor provisions authorizing the future imposition 
of conditions of probation, ought to be rejected by a 
hearingjudge merely because the default of an errant 
attorney results in the attorney's actual suspension 
continuing until he or she makes a showing of reha­
bilitation under standard 1 .4( c )(ii) oruntil the attorney 
files and the State Bar Court grants a rule 205 motion 
to terminate the actual suspension. 

14] As we noted in In the Matter of Stansbury, 
supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at page 110, "[t]he 
entire purpose of rule 205, as derived from the 
legislative history, is to eliminate the necessity of 
multiple proceedings against an attorney who is 
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unwilling to participate in the discipl inaryprocess and 
evidences no interest in maintaining his or her mem­
bership in the bar. [Fn. Omitted.] Under rule 205 the 
burden is placed on a defaulting attorney to bring 
forward to the State Bar Court his or her interest in 
continuing the right to practice." We see no loss of 
protection to the public by not immediately imposing 
specific conditions of probation on a defaulting attor­
ney found culpable of ethical violations, for that 
attorney is prohibited from practicing for the duration 
of the period of actual suspension imposed by the 
Supreme Court and until such time as he or she files 
and this court grants a rule 205 motion to terminate the 
actual suspension. At that time, the appropriate con­
ditions of probation, including attendance at the State 
Bar Ethics School, should be imposed. 

As the opinion in In the Matter of Marsh, . 
supra, l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pages 299-300 
points out, the hearingjudge is often unable to deter­
mine the source of any problem when the charged 
attorney refuses to appear in the disciplinary process, 
and is therefore at a disadvantage when searching for 
appropriate conditions of probation. This issue was 
also addressed in In the Matter of Stansbury, 
supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pages 110-1 11, 
where we held that, when a defaulting attorney seeks 
termination ofhis or her actual suspension by filing a 
motion under rule 205(c) the State Bar Court may, 
with the approval of the Supreme Court and in 
accordance with rule 205(g), place the attorney on 
probation and impose on him or hersuchconditions of 
probation that are reasonably related to the found 
misconduct and that are deemed necessary or appro­
priate by the State Bar Court. Upon making such a 
rule205 motion, the disciplined attorney will be before 
the State Bar Court and, as a part of the consideration 
of such a motion the underlying reasons for the 
previously found misconduct can, and should, be 
explored by the hearingjudge. 

(3b] Nor do we find that a hearing to show 
rehabilitation under standard 1.4( c )(ii) is a full substi­
tute for recommending a period of stayed suspension 
or a provision authorizing the State Bar Courtto place 
a defaulting attorney on probation with conditions in 
accordance with rule 205. (SJ This court has no 
authority to conditionally grant a petition for relief 
from actual suspension under standard l.4(c)(ii) or 
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otherwise impose probation type conditions on an 
attorney when granting a standard 1.4( c )(ii) petition. 
(Cf. Cal. Rules of Court, rule 95 l(f); Hippard v. 
StateBar(l 989)49Cal.3d I 084, 1097-1098; see also 
Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 630 et seq.) Any 
number off actual situations can be anticipated under 
rule 205 in which a defaulting attorney; otherwise 
eligible to resume practicing law after making an 
adequate showing of rehabilitation under standard 
1.4( c )(ii), ought to be subject to conditions of proba­
tion and probation monitoring for the protection of the 
public (e.g .. a recovering alcoholic, or former drug 
abuser). 

[61 We also note that, by eliminating a period of 
stayed suspension, in appropriate cases, a marked 
reduction in the protection of the public results. In 
each of the cases we have considered instructive, 
Bledsoe and Young, periods of stayed suspension 
and conditions of probation were imposed. These 
provisions insured that the disciplined attorney re­
mained under the authority of the discipline system 
for greater periods of time than recommended here 
by the hearingjudge. While it is true that the require­
ment of a showing of rehabilitation under standard 
1.4(c)(ii) assures the public that respondent will not 
practice law without further evaluation by this court, 
it affords no protection beyond that point. In the case 
of an attorney appearing before this court and partici­
pating in the disciplinary process the expectation is 
generally that the attorney will be subject to proba­
tionary conditions attendant to a stayed suspension. It 
is inappropriate that the mere fact that an attorney 
fails to appear in the disciplinary process should result 
in the elimination of that stayed suspension, which is 
one of the tools of public protection available to the 
discipline system. The ultimate effect of such a 
holding is that a defaulting attorney receives less 
discipline than does an attorney who fulfills his or her 
obligation under section 6068, subdivision ( i), to par­
ticipate in the disciplinary process. 

[3c] We reiterate our observation made in In the 
Matter of Marsh, supra, l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
at page 299: "We are not prepared as a matter of 
policy to preclude all attorneys who fail to respond to 
disciplinary charges from receiving discipline con­
taining probation conditions." Neither the imposition 
of a requirement of showing rehabilitation under 
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standard 1.4( c)(ii), northeadoption of rule 205, which 
requires a defaulting attorney to bring a motion to end 
his or her actual suspension, alter this observation. 
The plain language of rule 205( a) makes this clear. 

[7aJ As a final issue raised by the State Bar, it 
argues that rule 290 mandates that in all cases where 
discipline is imposed the respondent be required to 
attend the State Bar Ethics School. Rule 290(a) 
provides: "Except as provided by order of the Su­
preme Court, a member shall be required to 
satisfactorily complete the State Bar Ethics Schoo I in 
all dispositions or decisions involving the imposition of 
discipline, unless the member previously completed 
the course within the prior two years." (But see In the 
Matter of Respondent Z (Review Dept. t 999) 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 85, 88 [rule 290 not applicable in 
cases in which a reproval is imposed].) We agree 
with the State Bar's reading of the language of the 
rule, but disagree that the imposition of a requirement 
for attendance at the State Bar Ethics School is 
mandated at this point. 

[7b) The provisions of rule 290 are most often 
carried out by recommending attendance at the State 
Bar Ethics School as a condition of probation. 6 (8a -
see fn. 6] We note that the imposition of discipline on 
a defaulting attorney is not complete when the impo­
sition of conditions of probation is delayed until the 
attorney files a rule 205 motion to terminate his or her 
actual suspension. "The entire purpose of rule 205, as 
derived from the legislative history, is to eliminate the 
necessity of multiple proceedings against an attorney 
who is unwilling to participate in the disciplinary 
process and evidences no interest in maintaining his 
or her membership in the bar. [footnote omitted] 
Under rule 205 the burden is placed on a defaulting 
attorney to bring forward to the State Bar Court his 
or her interest in continuing the right to practice. ,r It 
is our judgment that the appropriate time to consider 
imposing probation and its attendant conditions is 
when the attorney seeks relief from the actual sus-

6. (SaJ When appropriate, our discipline recommendations 
have included a period of actual suspension "and until respon­
dent successfully completes the State Bar Ethics School." (E.g., 
In the Matter a/Stansbury, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at 
p. 111.) 
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pension that may be imposed following his or her 
default in a disciplinary proceeding." (In the Matter 
of Stansbury, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 
111.) 

(7c] Consistent with the views expressed in 
Stansbury, we conclude that the appropriate time to 
consider the imposition of a condition of probation 
requiring respondent to successfully complete the 
State Bar Ethics School is at the time of ruling on a 
rule 205 motion to tenninate her actual suspension. 
[8b J We do note, however, that in an appropriate case 
the recommended discipline could properly contain a 
defined period of actual suspension and provide that 
such actual suspension continue until such time as the 
attorney successfully completes the State Bar Ethics 
School. 

We agree with the hearingjudge that respondent 
is not entitled to retain the $4,000 fee she collected in 
the Heard probate matter. The fee was taken without 
obtaining the approval of the probate court, as re­
quired by Probate Code, section 10501, and on final 
distribution that court disallowed any attorney's fees. 

The hearing judge declined to recommend the 
inclusion of any restitution in the Seidel matter, 
pointing out there is no evidence of the terms of the 
employment agreement nor evidence of the work 
prefonned by respondent. The State Bar argues that, 
as a condition of probation in the Seidel matter, 
respondent should be required to make restitution to 
Seidel of both the $1,990 paid in April 1997 and the 
$550 paid in November 1997, plus interest on both 
amounts, relying on this court's opinions in In the 
Matier of Harris (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 219, 229, 231, and In the Matter of 
Aguiluz (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 32, 40, 46. In the former case all sums paid to 
an attorney who ultimately abandoned the client were 
ordered reimbursed even though the attorney had 
done some preliminary work. In the latter case, 
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restitution was ordered in an amount shown to have 
been required to complete the matter for which 
Aguiluz had been hired and paid. 

In the Seidel matter, we have no evidence of 
what work was completed nor what was necessary 
to finish or correct the work done. We do know that 
in November 1997, respondent received $5 50 from 
her former client Seidel and that Seidel received no 
benefit or communication from respondent in re­
sponseto that payment. Forthat reason we include in 
our disciplinary recommendation a provision provid­
ing that respondent's actual suspension shall continue 
until she makes restitution to Seidel in the sum of$550, 
plus interest. 

DISCIPLINE RECOMMENDATION 

For the reasons set forth herein and the reasons 
set forth in In the Matter of Marsh, supra, 1 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 291, we recommend that respon­
dent Shere R. Bailey be suspended from the practice 
oflaw in the State of California for a period of five 
years, that execution of the five-year suspension be 
stayed, and that she be actually suspended from the 
practice of law for two years and until: 

(I) she makes restitution to Mia Heard, or the 
Client Security Fund ifit has paid, in the sum of$4,000 
plus interest thereon at the rate of IO percent simple 
interest per annum from December 9, 1996, until paid, 
and she provides satisfactory proofof such restitution 
to the State Bar's Probation Un~t in Los Angeles; 

(2) she makes restitution to Nola Seidel, or the 
Client Security Fund if it has paid, in the sum of$550 
plus interest thereon at the rate of 10 percent simple 
interest per annum from November 11, 1997, until 
paid, and she provides satisfactory proof of such 
restitution to the State Bar's Probation Unit in Los 
Angeles; 

(3) she files and the State Bar Court grants a 
motion to tenninate her actual suspension under rule 
205 of the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar; and 

( 4) she shows proof satisfactory to the State 
Bar Court of her rehabilitation, present fitness to 
practice, and present learning and ability in the gen-
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era! law in accordance with standard 1.4( c )(ii) of the 
Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
Misconduct. 

We also recommend, in accordance with rule 
205 of the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, that 
the State Bar Court be authorized to place Bailey on 
probation for a specified period of time and that 
Bailey be ordered to comply with such probation 
conditions that are reasonably related to the miscon­
duct found in this proceeding and that are imposed on 
her by the State Bar Court as a condition for the 
tennination of her actual suspension. 

MULTISTATE PROFESSIONAL 
RESPONSIBILITY EXAMINATION 

We further recommend that Bailey be ordered to 
take and pass the Multistate Professional Responsi­
bility Examination administered by the National 
Conference of Bar Examiners within the period of 
her actual suspension and to provide satisfactory 
proof of passage of the examination to the State Bar's 
Probation Unit in Los Angeles within said period of 
actual suspension. 

RULE 955 OF THE CALIFORNIA 
RULES OF COURT 

We further recommend that Bailey be required 
to comply with the provisions of rule 955 of the 
California Rules of Court and to perform the acts 
specified in subdivisions (a)and ( c )of that rule within 
30 and 40 days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court's order in this proceeding. 

COSTS 

It is further recommended that the State Bar be 
awarded its costs in this proceeding in accordance 
with Business and Professions Code section 6086.10 
and that those costs be ordered payable in accor­
dance with Business and Professions Code section 
6140.7. 

We concur: 

STOVITZ, J. 
WATAI, J. 
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Respondent incurred credit card debts by obtaining cash advances on two of his credit cards, which he 
used and lost while gambling. Shortlythereafter, respondent sought to discharge those debts in bankruptcy. The 
two credit card companies obtained bankruptcy court judgments declaring respondent's debts to them to be 
nondischargeable because respondent engaged in actual fraud when he obtained them. The hearingjudge found 
that respondent incurred the debts without intending to repay them in violation of the statutory duty not to engage 
in acts of dishonesty and moral turpitude. The hearingjudge recommended two years' stayed suspension, two 
years' probation, and an actual suspension of 60 days and until respondent made restitution. The hearingjudge 
also recommended that respondent be required to attend Gamblers Anonymous. (The Hon. Eugene E. Brott, 
Hearing Judge.) 

On review, respondent contended that the evidence was insufficient to warrant discipline, that the hearing 
judge's decision was void because it was not timely filed and not properly served on him, that the restitution 
requirement was illegal, and that there was no basis to support the requirement that he attend Gamblers 
Anonymous meetings. The review department rejected all of respondent's contentions except the contention 
regarding the Gamblers Anonymous meetings. Further, the review department found that the record 
adequately supported the hearingjudge 's findings and conclusions and adopted the hearingjudge' s discipline 
recommendation with modifications. 

COUNSEL FOR p ARTIES 

For State Bar: Donald R. Steedman 

For Respondent: Rodolfo Enrique Petilla, in pro. per. 

Editor's note: The summary, hcadnotes and additional analysis section arc not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Ber Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual textofthe Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent 
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[1] 162.19 Proof-State Bar's Burden-Other/General 
164 Proof of Intent 
204.20 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
At least in absence of admission by attorney, proving that an attorney borrowed money without 
intending to repay it is rarely capable of being proved with direct evidence. Circumstantial evidence 
is sufficient, however, if it is clear and convincing. 

[2 a, bl 147 Evidence-Presumptions 
164 Proof of Intent 
204.20 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
Objective inferences drawn from consideration of the 12 factors often considered in bankruptcy 
proceedings to determine whether a debtor incurred credit card debts with fraudulent intent are also 
highly probative in determining whether attorney incurred credit card debts without intending to 
repay them. But 12 factors are not exclusive, none is dispositive, and attorney's conduct need not 
satisfy a minimum number to find that attorney lacked intent to repay debts. 

[3 a, b] 120 Procedure-Conduct of Trial 
139 Procedure--Miscellaneous 
162.11 Proof-State Bar's Burden-Clean and Convincing 
169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
Because bankruptcy court's findings that attorney engaged in actual fraud when attorney incurred 
credit card debts were made under preponderance of the evidence standard and not clear and 
convincing standard applicable in discip 1 inary proceedings, hearingjudge correctly ( I ) declined to 
apply principles ofcollateral estoppel to bind attorney with bankruptcy court's findings that attorney 
engaged in actual fraud; (2) reweighed evidence from bankruptcy court proceedings under clear 
and convincing standard a,fter giving attorney fair opportunity to contradict, temper, and explain that 
evidence; and (3) permitted State Bar to present additional evidence regarding attorney's 
culpability. 

[41 162.19 Proof-State Bar's Burden-Other/General 

(5) 

[6 a, b] 

164 Proof oflntent 
204.20 Culpability-Intent Requirement 
221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
Because attorney's act of borrowing money without intending to repay it involves dishonesty and 
moral turpitude as a matteroflaw, State Bar need only prove that attorney borrowed money without 
intending to repay it to establish that attorney violated statutory duty not to engage in acts of 
dishonesty or involving moral turpitude. 

221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
, 

Regardless of whether amount of money is small, act ofborrowing moneywithout intending to repay 
it is dishonest and involves moral turpitude. 

162.20 
164 
204.20 

Proof-Respondent's Burden 
Proof of Intent 
Culpability-Intent Requirement 
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221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
Intent to repay debt requires some factual underpinning that would lead person to a degree of 
certainty that he or she would have ability to repay. Mere hope and unrealistic or speculative sources 
of income are insufficient. This is particularly true where respondent obtained large cash advances 
on the same day he was repaying gambling debts in the form ofcasino markers. And it is particularly 
true where respondent did not proffer any documentary evidence to support his claims that he was 
an experienced and successful or winning blackjack player. Moreover, in light of the fact that 
respondent never kept any records of his gambling winnings and losses, any hope of repaying any 
portion of his credit card debts with gambling winnings was unreasonable. 

(7 a, b] 147 Evidence-Presumptions 
162.19 Proof/State Bar's Burden-Other/General 
164 Proof of Intent 
165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
204.20 Culpability-Wilfulness Requirement 
221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
Hearingjudge's findings that attorney incurred credit card debts totaling $19,327 without intending 
to repay them and thereby committed acts of dishonesty and moral turpitude were supported by clear 
and convincing circumstantial evidence where, despite his meager and unpredictable income, and 
monthly living expenses in excess of $2,200, respondent continued to obtain cash advances totaling 
$32,054 on his four credit cards in the face of staggering gambling losses and lack ofadequate liquid 
assets to repay his debts. Respondent could not have possibly have .failed to perceive the 
hopelessness of repaying his mounting cash advances in the face of his gambling losses and lack 
of assets and current income. 

(8 a-cl 101 Procedure-Jurisdiction 
135.50 Division V, Defaults and Trials (rules 200 - 224) 
13 9 P roced u re--Miscella neous 
162.20 Proof-Respondent's Burden 
165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
192 Due Process/Procedural Right 
Rule of Procedure requiring hearingjudges to file decisions within 90 days after taking cases under 
submission is neither mandatory nor jurisdictional. Thus, respondent's contention that the hearing 
judge's decision was void because it was filed four days after the expiration of the ninety-day time 
limit was rejected. Furthennore, because respondent failed to establish that he suffered any actual 
hann or prejudice, he was not entitled to any relief for the hearingjudge' s failure to file his dee is ion 
timely. 

[9 a-d] 106.50 Procedure--Pleadings-Answer 
135.20 Division Il, Commencement/Venue/Filing/Service/fime (rules SO - 64) 
136.10 Procedure-Rules of Practice-Division I, General Provisions 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Except for service of initial pleading in a proceedings, State Bar Rules of Procedure and State Bar 
Court Rules of Practice require that attorney's response to notice of disciplinary charges contain 
an address of service for the attorney. Thus, clerk properly served copy ofhearingjudge 's decision 
on attorney by mailing it to attorney at the address listed in the attorney's response to notice of 
disciplinary charges even though that address was not address that attorney maintained on State 
Bar's official membership records, particularly since attorney never notified clerk that he wished 
to be served at any address other than the address listed on the response. 
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(10] 211.00 State Bar Act-Section 6002.1 
214.00 State Bar Act-Section 6068(j) . 
Unless no office is maintained, every attorney has statutory duty to maintain his or her current office 
address on State Bar's official membership records ( official address). A ttomey violated this duty 
by maintaining his home address on State Bar's official membership records instead of maintaining 
his office address. 

[11 a-dl 165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
1 71 Di.scipline--Restitution 
1099 Other Miscellaneous Issues 
Even if credit card cash advances that attorney obtained and lost while gambling in Nevada casinos 
were "gambling debts" and therefore not enforceable debts in California, hearing judge's 
recommendation that attorney be required to make restitution to credit card company was not only 
legal, but appropriate and necessary to respondent's rehabilitation and for protection of public in light 
ofhearingjudge' s findings that attorney obtained the cash advances without intending to repay them. 
Requiring attorney to make restitution will force attorney to confront his misconduct in concrete 
terms. 

(12 a-c] 162.19 Proof-State Bar's Burden-Other/General 
179 Discipline Conditions-Miscellaneous 
1099 Other Miscellaneous Issues 
Where State Bar neither impeached nor rebutted attorney's testimony that he had not gambled for 
more than five years, where State Bar did not proffer any expert testimony that attorney suffered 
from compulsive gambling, and where there was no evidence that attorney currently suffered from 
compulsive gambling, record did not support hearing judge's recommendation that attorney be 
required to attend Gamblers Anonymous meetings while on disciplinary probation. 

[13] 745.51 Mitigation-Remorse/Restitution--:-Declined to Find-lmJufficient Number of 
References 
745.59 Mitigation-Remorse/Restitution-Declined to Find--Other 
To give attorney mitigating credit for restitution he made to credit card company under pressure of 
State Bar's investigation and disciplinary proceedings and of credit card company's money 
judgement against him would inappropriately reward attorney for merely doing what he was already 
legally required to do. 

(14 a-d] 833.30 Standards-Moral Turpitud~uspension 
833.90 Standards-Moral Turpitude-Declined to Apply 
Where attorney engaged in acts of dishonesty and moral turpitude by repeatedly incurring credit 
card debts totaling $19,327 without intending to repay them, the magnitudeofattorney' s misconduct 
was substantial, but did not involve or relate to his practice oflaw. Appropriate discipline was two 
years' stayed suspension, two years' probation, sixty days' actual suspension. 

Culpability 
Found 

21 LOI 
221.11 
221.19 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Section 6002.1 
Section 6106-Deliberate Dishonesty/Fraud 
Section 6106--0ther Factual Basis 
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Aggravation 
Found 

591 Indifference 
Mitigation 

Found 

Discipline 
710.10 No Prior Record 

1013.08 Stayed Suspension-2 years 
1015.02 Actual Suspension-2 Months 
1017.08 Probation-2 years 

Probation Conditions 
1021 Resitution 
1024 Ethics Exam/School 
I 029 Other Probation Conditions 
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OPINION 

WATAI,J.: 

Respondent Rodolfo Enrique Petilla1 seeks our 
review of a hearing judge's decision finding that 
respondent incurred credit card debts of $19,327 
without intending to repay them. Respondent in­
curred those debts almost exclusively by obtaining 
cash advances on two of his credit cards. He admit­
tedly used and lost those cash advances while 
gambling. Almost immediately after losingthemoney, 
respondent attempted to discharge the debts in bank­
ruptcy. The hearingjudgeconcluded that., by incurring 
those debts without intending to repay them, respon­
dent committed acts in violation of the proscription of 
committing acts invo lvingmoral turpitude, dishonesty, 
or corruption set forth in Business and Professions 
Code section 6106.2 

In light of the found acts of moral turpitude,3 the 
hearingjudge recommended that respondent be sus­
pended from the practice of law for two years, that 
execution of the suspension be stayed, and that 
respondent be placed on probation for two years with 
conditions, including that he be actually suspended 
during the first sixty days ofhis probation and until he 
makes restitution to the credit card company that he 
has still not repaid. The hearing judge also recom­
mended that, while respondent is on probation, he be 
ordered not to gamble and to attend Gamblers Anony­
mous meetings at least two times a week. 

On review, respondent asserts the follow_ing four 
points of error: (I) that the evidence is insufficient to 
warrant discipline; (2) that the hearingjudge 's deci­
sion is void because it was not timely filed and 
because it was, according to respondent, not properly 

1. Respondent was admitted to the practice of law in the State 
of California on December 12, 1983, and has been a member of 
the State Bar since that time. 

2. All further statutory references are to the Business and 
Professions Code unless otherwise indicated. 

3. The State Bar also charged that this same conduct violated 
respondent's statutory duty, under section 6068, subdivision 
(a), to support the laws of the United States and this state, but 
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served on him; (3) that the hearing judge's recom­
mended restitution requirement is illegal; and ( 4) that 
there is no rational basis to support the hearingjudge' s 
recommended requirement that respondent attend 
Gamblers Anonymous meetings. Ifwe sustain either 
or both of his first two points of error, respondent 
requests that we reverse the hearingjudge' s decision 
and dismiss this proceeding. If we do not sustain 
either ofhis first two points, respondent alternatively 
requests that we modify the hearingjudge' s discipline 
recommendation to delete· either or both of the re­
quirements that respondent make restitution to his 
unpaid creditor and that he attend Gamblers Anony­
mous meetings. 

The State Bar argues that all of respondent's 
points of error are meritless and urges us to adopt the 
hearingjudge 's findings and discipline recommenda­
tion. 

After independently reviewing the record (Cal. 
Rules of Court, rule 951.5; Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
rule305(a);4lnreMorse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207), 
we agree with and sustain respondent's fourth point 
of error in which he contends that there is no rational 
basis to support the recommendation that he be 
ordered to attend Gamblers Anonymous meetings, 
but we reject his other three points of error. We adopt 
the hearing judge's findings of fact (with minor 
modifications) and conclusion that respondent is cul­
pable of violating section 6 W6 as charged. In addition, 
we adopt the hearing judge's conclusions as to 
aggravating and mitigating circumstances. 

Because there is no basis to support the recom­
mended requirement that respondent attend Gamblers 
Anonymous meetings, we delete that requirement 
from the hearingjudge' s discipline recommendation. 

the bearing judge dismissed the charge as duplicative of the 
section 6106 violation. (See In the Maller o[Whitehead(Review 
Dept. 1991) I Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr.354, 369.) The State Bar 
does not challenge this dismissal on review, and we adopt it on 
de novo review, but clarify that it is with prejudice (Rules Proc. 
of State Bar, rule 26l(a)). 

4. All further references UJ rules are to these Rules of Procedure 
of the State Bar unless otherwise indicated. 
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We also independently delete from the hearingjudge' s 
discipline recommendation the provision recommend­
ing that respondent remain on actual suspension until 
he makes restitution to the credit card company that 
he has still not repaid and, instead, recommend that 
respondent be required to make restitution to that 
company within the first 90 days of his probation. 
With these two modifications and a few additional 
modifications of a minornature, we adopt the hearing 
judge's discipline recommendation. 

I. THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO 
WARRANT DISCIPLINE. 

After independently reviewingthe evidence, we 
adopt the hearingjudge's findings of fact with minor 
modifications and hold that the evidence is sufficient 
to warrant discipline. Accordingly, we reject 
respondent's first point of error. 

The key issue in this proceeding is whether, from 
May 28, 1994, to July 4, l 994, respondent made 
charges and obtained cash advances on two credit 
cards totaling $19,327 without intending to repay the 
charges and advances. Unquestionably, the act of 
borrowing money without intending to repay it is 
dishonest and involves moral turpitude. Section 6106 
provides that an attorney's commission ofan act of 
dishonesty or of an act involving moral turpitude or 
corruption is the basis for the attorney's suspension or 
disbarment regardless of whether the attorney commit­
ted the act while acting in the capacity of an attorney 
or while engaged in the practice oflaw. 

(1] At least in the absence of an admission by the 
attorney, proving that he or she borrowed money 
without intending to repay it is rarely, if ever, capable 
of being proved with direct evidence. Such intent may 
be proved by direct or circumstantial evidence. 
(Gejfenv. StateBar(I975) 14Cal.3d843, 853,citing 
Zitny v. State Bar (1966) 64 Cal.2d 787, 792.) 
Likewise, an attorney's culpability is not required to 
be established by direct evidence; circumstantial 
evidence is sufficient so long as it is clear and 
convincing. (Medoffv. State Bar (1969) 71 Cal.2d 
535, 550-551; Utzv. StateBar(l942)21 Cal.2d 100, 
I 03 ["charges of professional misconduct may be 
established upon circumstantial evidence"].) 
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In the present proceeding, the only direct evi­
dence on the issue of whether or not respondent 
intended to repay the $19,327 in credit card debts at 
the time he incurred them is respondent's testimony. 
Respondent testified that, when he made the charges 
and obtained the cash advances totaling $19,327, he 
intended to repay them in full with either his gambling 
winnings, his earned income, or both. He also testified 
that, at the time he incurred the debts, he had 
sufficient "liquid resources" with which to repay 
them in full. In addition, respondent asserts that, at the 
time, his home was worth more than $ I 00,000 and 
that his mortgage balancewas only$69,373 so that he 
had home equity of a little more than $30,000. 

In his decision, the hearing judge did not ex­
pressly state whether he believed or rejected 
respondent's testimony that he intended to repay the 
credit card debts when he incurred them. Nonethe- . 
less, because the hearingjudge found that respondent 
incurred the credit card debts without intending to 
repay them, it is clear that he rejected respondent's 
testimony, albeit implicitly. After independently re­
viewing the· record and giving deference to the 
hearing judge's implicit rejection of respondent's 
testimony (rule 305(a)), we also reject respondent's 
testimony that he intended to repay the $19,327 in 
credit card debts when he incurred them. Of course, 
our rejection of respondent's testimony does not, in 
itself, create affirmative evidence to the contrary. (In 
the Matter of Anderson (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 775, 785, and cases there cited.) 

Because we have rejected respondent's testi­
mony and because there is no other direct evidence 
in the record regarding whether or not respondent 
intended to repay the $19,327 in credit card debts 
when he incurred them, we must review the record 
and determine whether the hearingjudge's findings 
that respondent incurred the debts without intending 
to repay them is supported by clear and convincing 
circumstantial evidence. Because we find such 
clear and convincing evidence, we shall adopt the 
hearingj udge' s findings. 

From approximately late 1983 to early 1992, 
respondent practiced Jaw in a law finn or partnership 
type of practice. Then, in April 1992, he began 
practicing law as a sole practitioner. Respondent's 
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practice is primarily criminal defense. He is a State 
Bar certified specialist in criminal law. 

Even though respondent was never licensed as 
a Certified Public Accountant ( CPA) in California, he 
took and passed the California CPA Examination 
before he incurred the $19,327 in credit card debts.5 

Furthermore, before he incurred the credit card d.ebts 
in question, respondent was licensed as a CPA in the 
Philippines. In addition to his extensive knowledge of 
accounting and financial matters as evidenced by his 
passage of the California CPA Examination and 
CPAlicensing in the Philippines, respondent is and 
was before he incurred the questioned credit card 
debts very sophisticated in accounting and financial 
matters. Respondent was fonnerly employed as the 
chief accountant for Longs Drug Store; district ac­
countant ofEastBay Municipal Utility District; director 
of finance and accounting of the Federal Land Bank 
in Berkeley; and a director, treasurer, chief accoun­
tant, and vice president of various major corporations 
in the United States including Bicoastal Financial 
Corporation, a corporate "trading company" that has 
purchased other companies for as much as $1.6 
billion. 

In addition, respondent is a "twice-certified col­
lege instructor" and has taught part-time at a 
community college in California for many years -­
both before and after he incurred the questioned 
credit card debts. 

Respondent claims that his gambling was limited 
to playing blackjack, that he gambled only in various 
Nevada casinos, and that he went gambling no more 
than three or four times a year except in 1994 when 
he went at least ten times from January to July 4. In 
respondent's related bankruptcy proceeding, which 
is discussed below, he testified that he went gambling 
at Nevada casinos at least once or twice a week in 
May to July of 1994. 

5. According to respondent, he never received his California 
CPA license because he did not want to complete the account­
ing experience requirement (i.e., therequirementthatbepractice 
public accounting under the supervision ofa licensed CPA for 
a specified number of years). 
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Respondent also testified that he usually took 
with him $5,000 or $10,000 in cash for gambling each 
time he went to Nevada and that he once took as 
much as $24,000. When respondent would lose al I of 
the gambling money he took with him, it would 
ordinarily not upset him. He opines that a $2,000 to 
$3,000 gambling loss at Lake Tahoe or Las Vegas 
was the equivalent to the cost of a boat cruise for him 
and his wife. 

Respondent claims that, except in 1994, he has 
always been able to pay his debts (including his 
gambling debts). In fact, before the summer of 1994, 
respondent routinely paid off large credit card bal­
ances in full when he received the bills ( according to 
respondent, he did this to avoid having to pay any 
interest); he did not ordinarily make installment pay­
ments. On July 20, 1994, respondent filed a voluntary 
petition for bankruptcy under chapter 7 of the Bank­
ruptcy Code in which he sought to discharge $57,054 
in debts (almost all of which were gambling debts). 
As we understand respondent's position, respondent 
was forced to file for bankruptcy at the age of 54 
because of a "free fall" that he experienced at the 
blackjack tables in late May 1994 to early July 1994. 
From the record, respondent's "free fall" may appro­
priately be described as a losing streak during which 
he lost tens of thousands of dollars. 

The record does not disclose how much money 
respondent actually lost during his "free fall." Pre­
sumably, this is because respondent failed to keep 
records of his winnings and losses. What the record 
does disclose is that, during the 12-month period 
precedinghis bankruptcy filing, respondent repaid at 
least $114,611 in gambling debts, which is calculated 
as follows: (I) approximately $62,111 in cash ad­
vances that respondent obtained on his credit cards 
( see Exhibit B to respondent's "Appellant's Opening 
Brief'); and (2) $52,500 in "gambling markers" from 
three Nevada casinos (see Exhibit C to respondent's 
"Appellant's Opening Brief''). 6 In addition, the record 

6. A marker is the functional equivalent ofa cash advance from 
a casino. Casinos do not make actual cash advances (i.e., 
advances of United States currency); instead they issue casino 
chips that have specific dollar amounts assigned to them, which 
they accept in lieu of cash when the borrower places a bet. 
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establishes that respondent incurred gambling losses 
of at least $111,000 during that same 12-month 
period. 7 The record does not clearly disclose whether 
this $111,000 in gambling losses includes all or part of 
the $57,054 in debts that respondent listed for dis­
charge on his bankruptcy petition. 

In addition, the record discloses that respondent 
incurred the $57,054 in debts that he listed on his 
bankruptcy petition during a 3 7-day period from May 
28, 1994, to July 4, 1994. Of this $57,054 in listed 
debts, $25,000 was for gambling markers from three 
N evadacasinos and the remaining balance of$32,054 
was for debts he incurred on four of his credit cards. 
Of the $32,054 in credit card debts, approximately 
$30,464 was for cash advances and related charges 
and fees and approximately $1,590 was for miscella­
neous charges and purchases. According to 
respondent, he did not borrow the $25,000 in gambling 
markers unti I after he had obtained the cash advances 
totaling approximately $30,464 and lost them gam­
bling .. 

After respondent filed for bankruptcy, three of 
the four credit card companies filed adversarial 
proceedings against him in bankruptcy court alleging 
that his debts to them were nondischargeable under 
title 11 United States Code section S23(a)(2)(A) 
(hereafter section 523( a X2XA) ). Section 523( a )(2)( A) 
provides that debts incurred by false pretenses, false 
representations, or actual fraud are to be declared 
nondischargeable. To establish a debt's 
nondischargeability under section 523(a)(2)(A), a 
creditor must establish five elements. (American 
Express Travel Related Services Co. v. Hashemi 
(lnreHashem1)(9thCir.1996) 104F.3d 1122, 1125, 
hereafter Hashemi.) Those five elements are identi­
cal to the elements of common law fraud and are as 
fol lows: (I) that the debtor made a representation; (2) 
that the debtor knew the representation was false; (3) 
that the debtor made the false representation with the 
intent and purpose of deceiving the creditor (this 
element is commonly referred to as "fraudulent 

7. Respondent states on form 7 of his bankruptcy petition that 
this figure of$1 l l,000 is an estimate of his gambling losses 
based on a method he denominates as "a net worth method." 
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intent"); ( 4) that the creditor relied on the debtor's 
false representation; and (5) that the creditor sus­
tained a loss as a proximate result of the false 
representation. (Ibid.) A creditor is required to estab­
lish these elements only by a preponderance of the 
evidence. (Grogan v. Garner (1991) 498 U.S. 279, 
291.) 

One of the three credit card companies moved to 
dismiss its adversarial proceeding. The bankruptcy 
court granted that company's motion to dismiss, and 
respondent's debts to that third credit card company 
and his debts to the fourth credit card company as 
well as his gambling markers to three casinos were 
thereafter discharged when the bankruptcy court 
filed its order of discharge on October I 0, 1994. 

The other two credit card companies maintained 
their adversarial proceedings against respondent and 
pursued their claims against him to judgment. Those 
two companies are Bank One and First Card. Be­
tween May 28, 1994, and July 4, l 994, respondent 
made charges and obtained cash advances totaling 
$12,268 on his credit card from Bank One and totaling 
$7,059 on his credit card from First Card. Respondent's 
debts to these two companies total $19,327 and are 
the subject of this disciplinary proceeding. 
Respondent's remaining debts of $37,727, which 
were discharged in bankruptcy, are not questioned or 
otherwise challenged in this disciplinary proceeding. 8 

Nonetheless, as noted below, we do consider 
respondent's debts on the third and fourth credit 
cards for purposes of determining whether he had the 
intentto repay the$ 19,327 in questioned debts on his 
credit cards from Bank One and First Card. 

Respondent was the only witness in each of the 
adversary proceedings. Because there is no right to 
jury trial in dischargeability proceedings (Hashemi, 
supra, l 04 F .3 d at p.1124 ), the bankruptcy court was 
the finder of fact in each of these proceedings. (2a] 
In determining whether respondent's debts to Bank 
One and rirst Card were nondischargeable, the 

8. Respondent's remaining $37,727 in debts are calculated as 
follows: $4,015 in debts on the third credit card, $8,712 in debts 
on the fourth credit card, and $25,000 in gambling markers. 
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bankruptcy court applied the 12 non-exclusive fac­
tors thatthe Bankruptcy Appellate Panel of the Ninth 
Circuit set forth in In re Dougherty (Bankr. 9th Cir. 
1988) 84 B.R. 653, 657.9 

In Bank One's adversarial proceeding, the bank­
ruptcy court applied the 12 factors and found that 
respondent engaged in actual fraud when he incurred 
the $ I 2,268 in debts on his Bank One credit card and, 
accordingly, entered a judgment declaring 
respondent's debts to Bank One nondischargeable 
under section 523(a)(2)(A).10 

In First Card's adversarial proceeding, the bank• 
ruptcy court also found that respondent engaged in 
actual fraud when he incurred the $7,059 in debts on 
his First Card credit card and, accordingly, entered a 
judgment declaring respondent's debts to First Card 
nondischargeableundersection523(aX2)(A).11 Even 
though Bank One did not do so, First Card sought a 
money judgment against respondent from the bank­
ruptcy court. Consequently, the bankruptcy court 
awarded First Card a money judgment against re­
spondent in the amount of$7 ,059 .12 The bankruptcy 
court also awarded First Card its costs and statutory 
interest. 

Respondent appealed the two bankruptcy court 
judgments to the United States District Court for the 
Eastern District of California. But the district court 

9. The 12 Dougherty factors are (I) the length of time between 
the credit card charges and the filing for bankruptcy, (2) 
whether the debtor consulted an attorney before ma.king the 
credit card charges, (3) the number of charges made, ( 4) the 
amounts of the charges., (5) the debtor's financial condition at 
the time the charges were made, (6) whether the debtor's 
charges exceeded the card· s credit limit, (7) whether the debtor 
made multiple charges on one day, (&) whether the debtor was 
employed at the time the charges were made. (9) the debtor's 
continuing prospects for employment, (10) the financial so­
phistication of the debtor. (11) whether there was a sudden 
change in the debtor's buying or spending habits, and (12) 
whether the purchases were fornecessities or luxuries. (84 B.R. 
at p. 657.) 

10. Respondemattacks this fraud finding on the asserted grounds 
that the bankruptcy court did not address or find each of the 
five elements of fraud. (See Hashemi, supra, 104 F.3d at p. 
1125 [creditors must establish each of the five elements of 
common law fraud].) Respondent contends that, because the 
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affirmed both judgments. Respondent then appealed 
to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. And, in sepa­
rate unpublished memorandum opinions, the Ninth 
Circuit affirmed both of the bankruptcy court's judg­
ments. Respondent sought reconsideration in the 
Ninth Circuit, which was denied. Thereafter, the 
Ninth Circuit's memorandum opinions became final 
and the bankruptcy court's judgments against re­
spondent became final. 

[3a] Because the bankruptcy court's findings 
that respondent committed actual fraud when he 
incurred the $19,327 in debts on his Bank One and 
First Card credit cards were made under the prepon­
derance of the evidence evidentiary standard, and not 
the clear and convincing evidentiary standard that is 
applicable in attorney disciplinary proceedings, the 
hearingjudge correctly declined to apply principles of 
collateral estoppel to bind respondent with those civil 
findings in this proceeding. (In the Matter of Kittrell 
(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 195, 
205; In the Matter of Applicant A (Review Dept. 
1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 318, 329.) Nonethe­
less, because the bankruptcy court's findings are 
supported by substantial evidence, they are entitled to 
a strong presumption of validity in the State Bar 
Court. (Lefner v. State Bar (l966) 64 Cal.2d 189, 
193; In the Matter of Applicant A, supra, 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 325.) 

bankruptcy court's fraud finding is defective, it is unfair to use 
it against him in this disciplinary proceeding. Wedo not address 
respondent's attacks on the bankruptcy court's fraud finding 
becausethehearingjudgedidnotand wedo not give it preclusive 
effect under principles of collateral estoppel. In addition, as 
noted below, reliance upon the bankruptcy court's fraud 
finding is not necessary to establish respondent's cul pab ii ity 
for the charged section 6106 violations. 

l 1. Respondent also attacks this fraud finding on the asserted 
grounds that the bankruptcy court did not address or find each 
of the five element~ of fraud. (See our discussion in footnote 
JO above.) 

12. The bankruptcy court's judgment was actually for$7 ,038.87. • 
We obtained the $7,059 figure from the"schedule of current 
position on certain dates" that respondent prepared and which 
was admitted in the hearing depanrnent as Exhibit 2. We 
consider the $20.13 difference between the two figures to be 
immaterial and, therefore, do not address the issue further. 
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[3b] Contrary to respondent's contention, the 
hearingjudge, in making his culpability findings, cor­
rectly reweighed the evidence and testimony from 
the two adversarial proceedings under the clear and 
convincing evidentiary standard and gave respondent 
a fair opportunity in this proceeding to contradict, 
temper, or explain the evidence and testimony from 
the adversarial proceedings with additional evidence. 
(In the Matter of Kittrell, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. at pp. 205-207.) In addition, the hearingjudge 
correctly permitted the State Barto present additional 
evidence on the issue of respondent's culpability. 
(Ibid.) 

As we noted above, the dispositive issue in this 
proceeding is whether respondent made the charges 
and obtained the cash advances totaling $19,327 on 
his Bank One and First Card credit cards without 
intending to repay them. ( 4) As we also noted above, 
the act of borrowing money without intending to 
repay it involves dishonesty and moral turpitude as a 
matter oflaw. Thus, to establish respondent's culpa­
bility for the charged section 6106 violations, the State 
Barneedonlyprovethatheincurredthese$19,327 in 
credit card debts without intending to repay them. 
Unlike Bank One and First Card who were required 
to prove the five elements of common law fraud to 
obtain a judgment declaring that respondent's debts 
to them are nondischargeable under section 
523(a)(2)(A), the State Bar is not required to estab­
lish each of the five elements of common law fraud 
to establish the charged violations of section 6106. 

After he weighed all the evidence, the hearing 
judge was "clearly convinced that Respondent bor­
rowed without an intentto repay the money, which is 
an act of dishonesty." Our independent review of the 
record also leads us to this conclusion. 

f2bJ While this is not adischargeabilityproceed­
ing under the bankruptcy code, we do consider the 12 
Dougherty factors to be a helpful guide in detennin­
ing whetherrespondent incurred the $19,327 in credit 
card debts without intending to repay them. "[T]he 
Dougherty factors provide a useful means of objec-

13. The remaining portion of the SI 9,327 total consists of a 
miscellaneous charge of$ I 41 on June 2 I, I 994, a miscellaneous 
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tively discerning intent based on the probabilities of 
human conduct." (Household Credit Serv. v. Ettel/ 
(In re Ettel[) (9th Cir. 1999) 188 F .3d 1141, 1145.) 
Even though we view the objective inferences drawn 
from a consideration of the Dougherty factors to be 
highly probative of whether an attorney incurred a 
debt without intending to repay it, we do not view 
them as dispositive. (Cf. Ettell, supra, 188 F .3d at p. 
1145.) The 12 factors "are non exclusive; none is 
dispositive, nor must [an attorney's] conduct satisfy 
a minimum number in order to prove [lack ofj intent 
(to repay]." (Hashemi, supra, 104 F.3d at p. 1125.) 

The length of time between the credit card debts 
and the filing of bankruptcy. 

Respondent incurred all but a small portion of the 
$19,327 in questioned debts on his Bank One and First 
Card credit cards by obtaining seven cash advances 
on those cards between May 28, 1994, and July 4, 
1994. Those seven cash advances total $18,828.13 

Respondent correctly points out that he obtained 
most of these seven cash advances during the three­
day period from June 10, 1994, to June 12, 1994. 
During that three-day period, respondent obtained 
five out of the seven advances. Those five advances 
total $15,302. Respondent had previously obtained 
one of the seven advances on May 28, 1994. That 
advance was for $3,001 . Thus, atthe end of the three­
day period on June 12, 1994,respondenthadobtained 
six of the seven advances totaling $18,303 ($15,302 
plus $3,001) on his Bank One and First Card credit 
cards. Respondent obtained the seventh and last 
advanceonJuly4, 1994. Thatadvancewasfor$525. 

Witlr respect to the debts totaling $12, 727 that 
respondent incurred on his other two credit cards 
between May 28, l 994,andJuly4, 1994, all but a small 
portion of the $12,727 were for cash advances. 
Specifically, respondent obtained five cash advances 
totaling $11,350 on those two credit cards. 

Respondent testified that, by early July 1994, he 
had lost not only all of the $18,828 in cash advances 

charge of $134 on June 24, 1994, and interest and service 
charges of$224. 
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he obtained from his Bank One and First Card credit 
cards, the $11,350 in cash advances he obtained from 
his othertwo credit cards, and the $25,000 in gambling 
markers listed on his bankruptcy petition, but also all 
ofhis remaining funds and I iquid assets. Respondent 
claims that, after he received his July credit card 
billing statements, he concluded that he was forced to 
file for bankruptcy. And he did so on July 20, 1994, 
without attempting to work out a repayment plan with 
even one of his creditors. 

When respondent was asked in the hearing 
department whether he contacted any of the credit 
card companies in an attempt to work out a repay­
ment plan before he filed for bankruptcy, he answered: 
"No. They were contacted by the bankruptcy court." 
And, when he was asked whether he considered 
paying off the credit card debts in installments before 
he filed for bankruptcy, he also answered: "No." 
Moreover, respondent testified that he was not aware 
that he could make minimum monthly payments on his 
credit card debts instead of paying them off in full 
when he received the bi! Is; he testified that he did not 
finally become aware of the monthly payment option 
"until all of this came to a head, When we were 
preparing for trial, then I began to look at this." He 
further testified that he "was not fully conscious of 
[the credit card companies' minimum pay provi­
sions]. I don't know how else to put that. And my not 
being fully conscious ofit is probably because I didn't 
care. I owed the money. I paid it in full." Not only is 
respondent's testimony not believable, it is inconsis­
tent with his claim that he always paid his credit cards 
bills in full toavoidhavingtopay any interest.It is also 
inconsistent with his testimony in the bankruptcy 
court. 

Respondent testified in Bank One's adversarial 
proceeding: "And you notice on [Bank One's billing] 
statement, and I would represent that on all these 
statements until I got into real serious trouble in June 
and July [1994] I never even had to pay any late fees, 
a late charge. I always paid the thing on time. Okay. 
According to the billing cycle. [1] Now, not only that 

14. As we noted above, respondent even claims that, before the 
summerof 1994, he always paid his credit cards off as soon as 
he received the statements to avoid having to pay any interest. 
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[Bank One's Jbillsaswell as bills of all the other credit 
companies always had an amount called a minimum 
payment small amount, and I didn't even do that. I 
always paid the entire statement when due .... " 
(Emphasis added.) 

In his closing arguments in Bank One's 
adversarial proceeding, respondent argued: ''Now, on 
the date· that I borrowed from [Bank One] I had 
enough funds to pay them and I have habitually, 
habitually paid [Bank One J and all the other credit 
card companies on time in full although their state­
ments always saidthatl could pay the small minimum 
payment every month and that they would be satisfied 
with that. [,r) I always paid them in full until the really 
serious problem came up [in June and July 1994],and 
that is [evidence] of my intention, Your Honor, to pay. 
It's a habit, it's acustomandlhabituallypaythem on 
time in full even though under the terms of their own 
statements that they gave me, I could have paid just 
a little bit at a time." (Emphasis added.) Respondent's 
testimony and closing arguments in bankruptcy court 
simply don't make sense unless respondent knew for 
years that when he got a credit card billing statement 
( including Bank One's statements) he had the option 
of either paying the amount due in full to avoid having 
to pay any interest14 or making at least the stated 
minimum payment and thus incur interest charges on 
the unpaid balance. 

Whether respondent consulted another attorney 
concerning bankruptcy before the debts were 

incurred, and respondent's financial sophistication. 

There is no evidence that respondent consulted 
a bankruptcy attorney before he incurred the $19,327 
in questioned credit card debts. Nevertheless, we find 
that, at a minimum, respondent knew that he could 
attempt to avoid repaying these debts by filing a 
bankruptcy petition. Furthermore, in light· of 
respondent's legal training and extensive accounting 
and financial experience as outlined above, his claim 
of being completely ignorant of bankruptcy law is 
simply implausible. 
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The number and amount of respondent's charges. 

As indicated above, on his credit cards from 
Bank One and First Card, respondent obtained seven 
cashadvancestotaling$18,828andmadetwomiscel­
laneouscharges totaling $275 ($141 plus $134)right 
before filing for bankruptcy. Six of those seven cash 
advances were for more than $3,000. Furthennore, 
three of the seven advances totaling $9,201 were 
obtained on the same day - June 11, 1994. 

And, as indicated above, respondent also ob­
tained five cash advances totaling $II,350 on his 
other two credit cards. 1bree of the five cash ad­
vances were for more than $3,000. Furthennore, 
three of the five advances totaling $7,725 were 
obtained on the same day-June 11, 1994. Thus, on 
June 11, 1994,respondentobtainedsixcashadvances 

. totaling $16,926 on his four credit cards. 

Whether respondent's charges and cash advances 
were above his credit limits. 

After obtaining the seven cash advances totaling 
$18,828 on his Bank One and First Card credit cards, 
respondent had only $1,350 ofhis $8,500 credit limit 
remaining on his Bank One credit card .and had 
exceeded his $9,500 credit limit on his First Card 
credit card by $2,770. Furthermore, after obtaining 
the five cash advances totaling $11,350 on his third 
and fourth credit cards, respondent had exceeded his 
credit limits on each of those cards. 

Respondent's financial condition at the time of the 
charges and cash advances. 

Respondent also argues in his "Appe11ant' s Open­
ing Brief" that he "always had sufficient liquid resources 
in Fresno Banks on each date that he received cash 
advances from Bank One and First Card. On [June 
12, 1994], the total owed to these two credit card 
companies was $18,362.69 against $35,432.45 in 
liquid resources. (Exhibit A). Even considering all 

15. This figure includes respondent's $18,303 total cash ad­
vances on his credit cards from Bank One and First Card as of 
June 12, 1994,plus$10,931 inchargesandcashadvancesthat 
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credit card charges, inc 1 uding those whose 
dischargeability in bankruptcy were not questioned, 
on June 12, I 994, Respondenthadatotalof$29,293.50 
versus liquid resources of$35,432.45." According to 
respondent, the fact that he allegedly had sufficient 
liquid resources with which to repay the cash ad­
vances from Bank One and First Card on the day he 
obtained them, strongly supports his claim that he 
intended to repay the debts in full. We cannot agree. 
Respondent's factual assertion itself is misleading. 
Respondent did not have $35,432.45 "in liquid re­
sources in Fresno Banlcs. "Ofthis$35,432.45, $14,700 
was only a line of credit at First Interstate Bank.Yet, 
on "Exhibit A" to his "Appellant's Opening Brief' 
and on State Bar Exhibit 2, respondent lists that line 
of credit as though it were a bank account at First 
Interstate Bank in which he had $14,700 on deposit. 
(While respondent testified that his" liquid resources" 
included a $14,700 credit limit, he also testified that 
"liquid resources" were his "cash assets" and that 
"liquid resources" are what was in his bank ac­
counts.) 

Moreover, respondent's comparison of his 
$18,362.69 in cash advances from Bank One and 
FirstCardasofJune 12, 1994,tohisalleged$35,432.45 
in liquidresourcesonJune 12, 1994, does not provide 
an accurate picture of his financial condition on that 
date. Using respondent's liquid asset comparison 
method, an accurate picture of respondent's financial 
condition on June 12, 1994, may be obtained by 
comparing his total credit card debts (i.e., his debts 
on all four of the credit cards; not just his debts on his 
Bank One and First Card credit cards) to his total 
liquid assets ( i.e., cash on hand, cash in the bank, and 
marlcetable securities). On June 12, 1994, respondent's 
total credit card debts were $29,293.50,15 and his 
total liquid assets were $20,732.45 ($35,432.45 less 
$14,700). Thus,onJune 12, 1994,respondent'sdebts 
on all four of his credit cards exceeded his liquid 
assets by $8,561.05. In other words, excluding the 
alleged equity in respondent's home, respondent had 
a negative·net worth of$8,561.05 on June 12, I 994. 

respondent had incurred on his third and fourth credit cards as 
of June 12, 1994. 
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According to respondent's bankruptcy petition, 
he incurred the $25,000 in gambling markers listed in 
his bankruptcy petition during the 10-day period 
between June 25, 1994, and July 3, 1994, which was 
after he had obtained all but the seventh of the 
questioned cash advances on his Bank One and First 
Card credit cards. Thus, respondent argues that we 
should not consider these $25,000 in markers when 
determining his financial condition when he obtained 
the first six of the seven questioned cash advances. 
We agree. The fact that respondent borrowed an 
additional $25,000 days after he had already obtained 
the first six cash advances is irrelevantto respondent's 
financial condition when he obtained those first six 
advances. 

However, the $25,000 in markers are relevantto 
determining respondent's financial condition on July 
4, 1994, when he obtained the seventh and last of the 
questioned cash advances. According to Exhibit A to 
his "Appellant's Opening Brief, "respondent's liquid 
resources totaled $20,082 on July 4, 1994; accord­
ingly, his liquid assets on that day totaled only $5,382 
($20,082 less $14,700). Thus, before respondent 
obtainedtheseventhcashadvanceonJuly4, 1994,his 
total debts of $56,529 exceeded his actual liquid 
assets of$5,382 by $51,147. In other words, exclud­
ingthe alleged equity in respondent' shome, respondent 
had a negative net worth of $51,147 before he 
obtained the questioned cash advance, which as 
noted above was for $525. 

[5) We reject respondent's description of the 
$525 cash advance as small and not material. Re­
gardless of the amount, obtaining a cash advance 
without intending to repay it is dishonestand involves 
moral turpitude. 

We also consider highly relevant the facts that, 
on June IO, 1994 (which was the same day that 
respondent obtained a $3,001 cash advance from 
Bank One), respondent repaid a $5,000 marker to a 
Las Vegas casino; and (2) that, on June 11, 1994 
( which is the same day on which respondent obtained 
six cash advances totaling $16,926 on his four credit 
cards), respondent repaid markers totaling $10,000 to 
two Las Vegas casinos. Thus, it is clear that respondent 
"effectively'' used, ifnot actuallyused, all or part of these 
advances to repay preexisting gambling debts. 
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(6a) Moreover, respondent's claim that he in­
tended to repay the cash advances with his gambling 
winnings is not convincing. Respondent's alleged 
intent or hope to repay the cash advances from his 
gambling winnings is too speculative and unreason­
able to constitute or evidence intent to repay. (See 
American Express Travel Related Servs. Co. v. 
Nahas (In re.Nahas) (Bankr. S.D.lnd.1994) 181 
B.R. 930, 934;/nre Hanshury(Bankr. D.Mass.1991) 
128 B.R. 320; but see AT&T Universal Card Servs. 
v. A/vi (In re A/vi) (Bankr. N.D.Ill. 1996) 191 B.R. 
724,734 [dehtor'shopetorepaydebtsfromgambling 
winnings is evidence of intent to repay].) This is 
particularly true in this case where respondent is 
obtaining large cash advances on the same day he is 
repaying gambling debts in the fonn of casino mark­
ers. And it is particularly true in this case where 
respondent has not proffered any documentary evi­
dence to support his claims that, before his "free fall," 
he was an experienced and "successful" or "win­
ning" blackjack player. Moreover, in light of the fact 
that respondent never kept any records of his gam­
bling winnings and losses, any hope of repaying any 
portion of his credit card debts with gambling win­
nings is unreasonable. 

We do not find respondent's claim that he in­
tended to repay the cash advances with his income to 
be convincing evidence of intent to repay. Without 
question, his income was inadequate and unpredict­
able in relation to the large amount of debt and net 
gambling losses he was incurring for, at least, the 12 
months prior to the filing of his bankruptcy petition. 
This strongly suggests that respondent incurred the 
$19,327 in debts to Bank One and First Card without 
intending to repay them. 

During the last eight months of 1992 ( which was 
the first year in which respondent began practicing 
law as a sole practitioner), respondent earned a net 
income from practicing law of $6,358.15, which is 
approximately $795 per month. In I 993, his net 
income from practicing law rose to $34,615.85, which 
is approximately $2,885 per month. For the period of 
January 1994 until July 18, 1994 (which was two days 
before respondent filed his bankruptcy petition), 
respondent's gross income (i.e., income before busi­
ness expenses - law office rent, telephone, etc.) was 
$2 I ,617 .63, which is approximately $3,325.79 per 
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month. And, for the four months immediately before he 
filed for bankruptcy (i.e., April, May, June, and July 
1994), his gross income was only $1,620 per month. 

In other words, beforerespondentfiledhis bank­
ruptcy petition in July 1994, his approximate gross 
monthly income was either $3,325.79 or $1,620. 
However, his personal living expenses alone were, at 
least, $2,200 per month. Even if respondent could 
reasonably have expected that his net income from 
his law practice would double from $34,615.85 (or 
$2.885)permonthin 1993 to$69,231.70(or$5,769.31 
per month) in 1994, his income would still have been 
insufficient and inadequate to repay the large debts 
and gambling losses he was incurring. 

During a short period, respondent obtained mul­
tiple cash advances on his credit cards either almost 
meeting or exceeding his credit limits, continued to 
obtain credit in the form of gambling markers from 
various casinos, and then apparently lost all of his 
remaining "liquid assets" during his "free fall" from 
late May 1994 to early July 1994. He argues that he 
was then forced to immediately file bankruptcy in 
mid July 1994 without even considering or attempting 
to work out a repayment plan with his creditors or, if 
he is really totally ignorant of bankruptcy law as he 
claims, without seeking the advice of a bankruptcy 
attorney to detennine if there were alternatives to 
immediately filing a chapter 7 petition for complete 
discharge (i.e., a chapter 13 petition under which 
respondent could have had a court ordered workout 
plan with respondent's creditors). 

In summary, respondent incurred debts totaling 
$57,054 within a period of37 days,all but exhausting 
his credit line with the credit card companies and 
receiving substantial credit from the casinos, and then 
filed to have them discharged in bankruptcy within 
just 16 days after he obtained his last credit card cash 
advance. Respondent claims not to have consulted an 
attorney, but rather was persuaded to seek bank­
ruptcyprotection by Donald Trump, who spokeofhis 
bankruptcy experience on television. We do not lose 
sight of the fact that it is respondent, himself an 

16. Respondent incorrectly cites rule 220{c) in his appellant's 
brief. 

245 

attorney and a CPA who is very sophisticated finan­
cially, who would have this court believe that he was 
ignorant of bankruptcy laws. We are not persuaded. 

[6bJ "Intent to repay requires some factual 
underpinnings which lead a person to a degree of 
certainty that he or she would have the ability to 
repay. Mere hope, or unrealistic or speculative sources 
of income, are insufficient." (Chemical Bank v. 
Clagg (Bankr. C.D.Jll. 1993) 150 B.R. 697, 698, 
emphasis added.) [7a] The record clearly establishes 
respondent's hopeless financial condition, at least, 
fromMay28, 1994, through July 4, 1994, ifnotduring 
the entire 12-month period preceding his bankruptcy 
petition. Despite his meager and unpredictable in­
come and monthly living expenses in excess of 
$2,200, respondent continued to make charges and 
obtain cash advances totaling $32,054 on his four 
credit cards in the face of staggering gambling losses 
and lack of adequate liquid assets to repay his debts. 

(7b] In sum, respondent could not have possibly 
failed to perceive the hopelessness of repaying his 
mounting cash advances in the face of his gambling 
losses and lack of assets and current income. The 
circumstantial evidence clearly and convincingly es­
tablishes that respondent incurred the $19,327 in 
credit card debts to Bank One and First Card without 
intending to repay it. 

Il. THE HEARING JUDGE'S DECISION IS 
NOT VOID. 

In his second point of error, respondent contends 
that the hearingjudge' s decision is void (I) because 
the hearing judge did not file the decision within 90 
days after he took the case under submission as 
required by rule 220(b)16 and (2) because, according 
to respondent, the Clerk of the State Bar Court did not 
properly serve a copy of the hearingjudge 's decision 
on him. For the reasons stated below, we reject both 
of respondent's arguments and hold that the hearing 
judge's decision is valid although it is superseded by 
this opinion on review (In the Matter of Hunter 
(Review Dept. 1994)3 Cal. State BarCt.Rptr. 81, 87 
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[ on de novo review, review department opinions 
supersede hearing department decisions]). 

A. The 90-day time limit in rule 220(b) is neither 
mandatory nor jurisdictional. 

[Sal In 1998, the State Bar Board of Governors 
amended rule 220. It adopted a new subdivision (b) to 
that rule. That new subdivision(b ), which applies in all 
cases in which the matter was taken under submis­
sion on or after February I, 1999, provides that''[ t Jhe 
Court shall file its decisionwithinninety(90)daysof 
talcing the matter under submission, unless a shorter 
period for filing the decision in an expedited proceed­
ing is required by statute, by Supreme Court rule, or 
by these rules." In the present case, the hearingj udge 
took the matter under submission on November 15, 
1999. 17 Therefore, under rule 220(b ), he should have 
filed his decision no later than February 14, 2000.13 

However, he did no do so. He filed his decision four 
days late on February 18, 2000. 

f8b] First, respondent cites no authority for his 
novel proposition that a late filed decision is void.And, 
clearly, we are unaware of any. Second, construing 
the 90-day time limit in rule 220(b) as mandatory or 
jurisdictional would be unjustifiably inconsistent with 
the long-standing Supreme Court precedent that, 
once it has been established that an attorney has 
engaged in professional misconduct, the misconduct 
will not be disregarded because of irregularities in the 
disciplinary proceeding unless the irregularities rea­
sonably can be seen to have resulted in actual 
unfairness or specific prejudice to the attorney. 
(See, e.g., In re Gross (1983) 33 Cal.3d 561, 566-
5 67.) Third, such a construction would be inconsistent 
with our own • Rules of Practice that have long 
provided (in relevant part) that no proceeding shall be 
dismissed, nor shall the recommended discipline be 
reduced, nor shall the disposition of a State Bar Court 

17. Respondent erroneously recites in his appellant's brief that 
the hearingjudgetook the case under submission on November 
12, 1999. 

18. The 90th day was actually February 13, 2000; however, that 
day was a Sunday. Accordingly, the hearing judge's decision 
was not due until the following Monday, February 14, 2000. 
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proceeding be influenced in any manner solely be­
cause ofahearingjudge's failure to comply with the 
filing deadlines set forth in the Rules of Practice. 
(Fonner Provisional State Bar Ct. Rules of Prac., rule 
1 I30(d),nowStateBarCt.RulesofPrac.,rule l 130(e).) 

[8c J In sum, we hold that the 90-daytime limit in 
rule 220(b) is neither mandatory nor jurisdictional, but 
directory. Accordingly, we reject respondent's con­
tention that the hearing judge's decision is void 
because it was filed four days after the expiration of 
the ninety-day time limit. Furthermore, because re­
spondent has failed to establish that he has suffered 
any actual harm or prejudice, he is not entitled to any 
relief forthe hearingjudge' s failure to file his decision 
within the time prescribed in rule 220(b ). ''The claimed 
'injustice' done to [ respondent] is that because of the 
delay his future was made uncertain .... Undoubt­
edly this created a period of pressure and tension for 
[respondent], but this fact alone does not require a 
dismissal of these proceedings." (Arden v. State 
Bar (l 959) 52 Cal.2d 310, 316.) 

B. The clerk properly served a copy of the hearing 
judge's decision on respondent. 

[9aJ Respondent contends that the hearing 
judge's decision is void because, accordingto respon­
dent, the Clerk of the State Bar Court did not properly 
serve a copy of the decision on him. In support of this 
novel contention, respondent claims that the clerk 
was required to serve a copy of the hearing judge's 
decision onhim bymailingacopytohimattheaddress 
he maintains on the official membership records of 
the State Bar ( official address). Respondent further 
claims that the clerk did not mail a copy of the 
decision to him at his official address, 19 I IO - see fn. 
19) but instead improperly mailed it to the address of 
his old office, which he describes as "an old, aban­
doned, vacant business suite." 

19. 110] Respondent admits to using his home address as his 
official address. Section 6002. l, subdivision (a)(l), expressly 
requires an attorney to use his current office address as bis 
official address unless he does not have an office address. 
Throughout these proceedings, respondent has admittedly 
maintained a law office. Accordingly, it is clear that respondent 
has used his home address as hisofficia\address in violation of 
section 6002. l , subdivision (a)(l ). 
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l9b) Not surprisingly, respondent cites no au­
thorityto support his novel theorythataclerk' s failure 
to correctly serve a copy of a court's decision renders 
the decision void. And we are unaware of any. In any 
event, we reject respondent's contentions because 
we find that the clerk properly served a copy of the 
hearingjudge' s decision on respondent. 

[9c] Rule 61(b) clearly provides that, except 
with respect to the initial pleading in a proceeding, a 
respondent shall be served at the respondent's offi­
cial address "unless, with respect to the proceeding in 
connection with which the service is made, the 
[respondent] has counsel of record or has desig­
nated a different address for service in the 
response .. .. " (Emphasis added.) Moreover, rule 
l03(cXI) clearly requires that a respondent's re­
sponse (or answer) to the notice of disciplinary 
charges (NOC) must contain "an address on service 
of the respondent in the proceeding." And that 
address for service is the address listed in the upper 
left-hand corner of the first page of the response. ( Cf. 
State Bar Ct. Rules of Prac .• rule I I 1 0(b )(I); see also 
State Bar Ct. Rules of Prac., rule 11 lO(h) ["A party 
who is not represented by counsel shall sign the 
party's pleading and state the party's address and 
telephone number on the first page of the pleading."].) 

On May 2 7, 1999, a copy of the NOC in this 
matter was properly served on respondent at his 
official address. Thereafter, on June 14, 1999, re­
spondent, appearing in propria persona, filed and 
served his response (answer) to the NDC. 

[9d] In the top left-hand comer on the face page 
ofhis response and directly below his name, his State 
Bar membership number, and his title "Attorney at 
Law," respondent listed his address as: 2115 Kem 
Street, Suite 103-M, Fresno, CA 93721 (the Kern 
Street address).20 By listing the Kern Street address 
on the face page of his response to the NDC, 
respondent designated the Kem Street address as his 
address for service in this proceeding. (Rules 61 (b ), 

20. On June 14, 1999, respondent also filed a ''Starus Conference 
Statement" fonn that he filled out and signed. That fonn 
contains a specific section in which the respondent (or his 
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l 03( c )( l ); State Bar Ct. Rules ofPrac., rule 111 0(b )( 1) 
& (h).) Respondent's contentions to the contrary are 
not only meritless, but frivolous. 

Respondent listed the Kem Street address as his 
address on every pleading that he filed in this matter 
before the hearingjudge filed his decision. And every 
document or notice that the clerk served on respon­
dent after respondent filed his answer to the NOC 
and before the hearing judge filed his decision was 
served on respondent at the Kem Street address. 
There is no evidence that respondent ever com­
plained to the clerk or notified the clerk that he wanted 
to be served at a different address. Nor is there even 
an allegation by respondent that he did not receive the 
copy of the hearing judge's decision that was prop­
erly served on him at the Kem Street address. 

ill. THE HEARING JUDGE'S RESTITUTION 
RECOMMENDATION IS NOT ILLEGAL. 

[1 la] In Apri I 1999, which was eight months 
before the trial in this proceeding, respondent finally 
repaid the $7,059 in purchases that he charged and 
the cash advances he obtained on his First Card credit 
card between May 28, 1994, and July 4, 1994. 
However, respondent has still not repaid the $12,268 
in cash advances he obtained on his Bank One credit 
card between May 28, 1994, and July 4, 1994. 

[ 11 b] Respondent contends that, because he 
used the $12,268 in cash advances that he obtained on 
his Bank One credit card to play blackjack, they are 
gambling debts. Citing Metropolitan Creditors Ser­
vice v, Sadri( 1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 1821, respondent 
further contends that, because his debts to Bank One 
are "gambling debts," they are not enforceable in 
California. Respondent then argues that, because his 
"gambling debts" to Bank One are not enforceable in 
California, the hearingjudge' s recommendation that 
he be ordered to make restitution to Bank One in the 
amountof$12,268 is illegal. We disagree. 

attorney ifhe has one) is to write his name and address. In that 
section, respondent wrote his name and again listed the Kern 
Street address as his address for service. 
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[llcJ In California, it is well established that 
restitution in attorney disciplinary proceedings is not 
a form of debt collection. (Cf. Brookman v. State 
Bar(l988)46 Cal.3d 1004, I 008-1009 [restitution is 
not imposed solely because the attorney has not paid 
a debt discharged in bankruptcy].) Nor is it used as a 
means of compensating the victim of wrongdoing. 
(Sorensen v. State Bar ( 1991) 52 Cal.3d l 036, 
l 044.) However, restitution is an important part of 
rehabilitation and public protection because it forces 
errant attorneys to confront, in concrete tenns, the 
harm that their misconduct has caused. (Brookman 
v. State Bar, supra, 46 Cal.3d at p. 1009.) Because 
the responsibilities of a lawyer differ from those of a 
layman, a lawyer may be required to make restitution 
as a moral obligation even when there is no legal 
obligation to do so. (In the Matter of Distefano 
(Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 668, 
674.) 

(1 ld] In sum, we not only conclude that the 
hearingjudge's recommendation that respondent be 
required to make restitution to Bank One is legal, we 
also conclude that it is appropriate and necessary to 
respondent's rehabilitation and for protection of the 
public. Accordingly, we too shall recommend that 
respondent be ordered to make restitution to Bank 
One.· 

IV. THERE IS NO RATIONAL BASIS TO 
SUPPORT THE RECOMMENDATION THAT 

Respondent be Required to Attend Gamblers 
Anonymous Meetings. 

[12a) We agree with respondent's contention 
that there is no factual basis to support the hearing 
judge's recommendation that he be required to attend 
Gamblers Anonymous meetings. We addressed a 
similar issue in In the Matter of Koehler (Review 
Dept. 1991) l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 615,629. In 
that case, we held that, before a mental health 
treatment condition may be recommended, there 
must be either expert or other clear evidence of a 
mental or other problem requiring such treatment. 
(Ibid., citinglnre Bushman ( 1970) 1 Cal.3d 767, 777, 
disapproved on other grounds in People v. Lent 
(1975) 15 Cal.3d 481,486, fn. I.) 
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[12bJ The State Bar neither impeached nor 
rebutted respondent's testimony that he has not 
gambled since 1994. The State Bar did not proffer 
any expert testimony that respondent suffers from 
compulsive gambling. Nor is there any other evidence 
in the record establishing or indicating that respondent 
currently suffers from compulsive gambling. 

The State Bar's reliance on In re Kelley ( 1990) 
52 Cal.3d 487 to support the hearingjudge's recom~ 
mendation that respondent be ordered to attend 
Gamblers Anonymous meetings is misplaced. In 
Kelley the Supreme Court rejected Kelley's "conten­
tion that referral to the State Bar alcohol abuse 
program [was] unsupported by the evidence and 
unnecessary to protect the public. As the State Bar 
points out, the first step after referral is evaluation and 
screening for suitability of enrollment in the program. 
We agree with the review department that two drunk 
driving convictions, the second involving a violation of 
a court order based on the first, warrant this measure 
even absent an evidentiary finding that petitioner in 
fact suffers from such a problem." (Id. at pp. 498-
499.) Kelley's two drunk driving convictions, the 
second of which was committed in violation of the 
terms of the criminal probation imposed on her as a 
result of her first conviction, distinguish Kelley from 
the present case. Another distinguishing factor is that 
in Kelley the Supreme Court noted that Kelley's 
drunk driving convictions and the circumstances 
surrounding them indicated that she had a problem of 
alcohol abuse. (Id. at pp. 495-496, 498.) 

(12cf In sum, there is no basis to ·support the 
requirement that respondent attend Gamblers Anony­
mous meetings. In our view, the hearing judge's 
recommended probation condition requiring that re­
spondent refrain from all gambling will adequately 
serve the purposes of attorney disciplinary proceed­
mgs. 

V. AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING 
CIRCUMSTANCES. 

A. Aggravating circumstances. 

We adopt the hearing judge's finding that 
respondent's failure to repay any portion of his 1994 
debts to First Card unti 11999 establishes respondent's 
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indifference towards rectification of and atonement 
for the consequences of his misconduct, which is an 
aggravating circumstance under standard I .2(b )( v) 
of the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Profes­
sional Misconduct.21 Similarly, we adopt the hearing 
judge's findings that respondent's failure to repay any 
portionofhis $12,268 nondischargeable debt to Bank 
One is also an aggravating circumstance and sup­
ports our finding that respondent had no intention to 
repay. 

B. Mitigating circumstances. 

Respondent has been practicing law for more 
than 16 years without any prior record of discipline. 
We adoptthe hearingjudge 's finding of this mitigating 
circumstance pursuant to standard I .2(e)(i). 

[13) However, respondent is not entitled to any 
mitigation for making restitution to First Card in April 
1999 because it was made under the pressure of the 
State Bar's investigation and initiation of disciplinary 
proceedings against him and the pressure of First 
Card's money judgment against him. (Warner v. 
State Bar ( 1983) 34 Cal .3 d 36, 4 7 [ an attorney is not 
entitled to any mitigation for restitution made as a 
matter of eitpediency or under pressure]; cf. In the 
Matter of Ike (Review Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 483, 490 ["compliance with a criminal 
restitution order, no matter how timely, is not a 
mitigating circumstance"].) To conclude otherwise 
would inappropriately reward respondent with miti­
gation merely for doing what he was already legally 
required to do. 

VI. THE APPROPRIATE LEVEL OF 
DISCIPLINE. 

In determining the appropriate level of discipline, 
we first look to the standards for guidance. (Drociak 
v. State Bar (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1085, 1090; In the 
Matter of Koehler, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
at p. 628.) Standard 1.3 provides that the primary 
purposes of discipline are to protect the public, the 

21. The standards are found in title IV of the Rules of Procedure 
of the State Bar. All further references to standards are to this 
source. 
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courts, and the legal profession; to maintain the 
highest possible professional standards for attorneys; 
and to preserve public confidence in the legal profes­
sion. (See also Chadwick v. State Bar (1989) 49 
Cal.3d 103, 111.) 

[ 14a) The applicable sanction in this proceeding 
is found in standard 2.3, which provides that an 
attorney's culpability of an act of moral turpitude shall 
result in actual suspension or disbannent depending 
upon the extent of harm, the magnitude of the act, and 
the degree to which it relates to the attorney's 
practice of law. In the present proceeding, the mag­
nitude of the misconduct is substantial because it 
involves dishonesty with respect to money.We agree 
with the hearingjudge that ••Respondent's dishonesty 
in repeatedly borrowing money with no intention of 
repaying the same is serious and simply inexcusable." 

(14b] Next, we look to decisional law for guid­
ance. (See Snyder v. State Bar (1990) 49 Cal.3d 
1302, 1310-131 I; In the Matter o/Taylor (Review 
Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 563, 580.) The 
parties have not cited any cases, and we are unaware 
of any, involving an attorney's borrowing money from 
credit card companies without intending tCi repay it. 

[14c] Even if there is no clear and convincing 
evidence that respondent made actual misrepresen­
tations to Bank One or F irstCard in order to obtain the 
credit cards and to make purchases and obtain cash 
advances on them, respondent's use of the credit 
cards to obtain goods and cash without intending to 
repay the debts is, at worst, akin to embezzlement 
and, at best, akin to abusing one's position of trust for 
personal gain.Accordingly, likethehearingjudge, we 
conclude that a period of actual suspension is re­
quired. The hearing judge cited In the Matter of 
Mitchell (Review Dept. 1991) I Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 332. In that case the attorney misrepresented 
his educational background on his resume, which he 
used while he was seeking employment as a lawyer. 
(Id atp. 339.) We viewed theattomey's "willingness 
to repeatedly use false and misleading means to 
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secure a perceived advantage in the employment 
process [ to be J a matter of serious concern, despite 
the lack of misconduct during the 'practice of law . .' 
[Citation.]'" (Ibid.) In Mitchell we recommended 
and the Supreme Court imposed a 60-day period of 
actual suspension on the attorney. (See id. at p. 342.) 
At a minimum, respondent's misconduct was as 
serious as the attorney's in Mitchell; accordingly, we 
shall not recommend less than a 60-day period of 
actual suspension in this case. Moreover, because the 
misconduct was unrelated to and. apparently, did not 
adversely affect any ofrespondent' s clients, we shall 
not recommend rriore than a 60-day period of actual 
suspension. 

( 14d) After carefully reviewing the record inde­
pendently and weighing all the appropriate factors, 
we conclude that the hearingjudge's recommenda­
tion of a two-year period of stayed suspension and a 
two-year period of probation on conditions, including 
a 60-day period of actual suspension, is the appropri­
ate level of discipline. 

VII. DISCIPLINE RECOM:M:ENDATION. 

We recommend that respondent Rodolfo Enrique 
Petilla be suspended from the practice of law in the 
State of California for a period of two years; that 
execution of the two-year period of suspension be 
stayed; and that Petilla be placed on probation for a 
period of two years on the following conditions. 

I . Petilla shall be actually suspended from the 
practice of law in the State of California during the 
first 60 days of this probation. 

2. Petilla must comply with the provisions of 
the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional Conduct 
of the State Bar of California, and all the conditions of 
this probation. 

3. Petilla must report, in writing, to the State 
Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles no later than 
January I 0, April_ 10, July 10 and October 10 of each 
year or part thereof in which Petilla is on probation 
("reporting dates"). However, if Petilla's probation 
begins less than 30 days before a reporting date, 
Petilla may submit the first report no later than the 
second reporting date after the beginning of Petilla' s 
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probation. In each report, Petilla must state that it 
covers the preceding calendar quarter or applicable 
portion thereof and certify by affidavit or under 
penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of 
California as follows: 

(a) in the first report, whether Petilla has 
complied with all the provisions of the State Bar Act, 
Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar, and 
other tenns and conditions of probation since the 
beginning of this p~obation; and 

(b) in each subsequent report, whether 
Pet ilia has complied with all the provisions of the State 

• Bar Act, Rules of Professional Conduct of the State 
Bar, and other tenns and conditions of probation 
during the period. 

During the last 20 days of this probation, Petilla 
must submit a final report covering any period of 
probation remaining after and not covered by the last 
quarterly report required under this probation condi­
tion. In this final report, Petilla must certify to the 
matters set forth in subparagraph (b) of this probation 
condition by affidavit or under penalty of perjury 
under the laws of the State of California. 

4. Subject to the assertion of any applicable 
privilege, Petilla must fully, promptly, and truthfully 
answer all inquiries of the State Bar's Probation Unit 
and any assigned probation monitor referee that are 
directed to Pet ilia, whether orally or in writing, relat­
ing to whether Petilla is complying or has complied 
with the conditions of this probation. 

S. Within one year after the effective date of 
the Supreme Court order in this matter, Petilla must: 
(I) attend and satisfactorily complete the State Bar' s 
Ethics School; and (2) provide satisfactory proof of 
completion of the school to the State Bar's Probation 
Unit in Los Angeles. This condition of probation is 
separate and apart from Petilla' s California Minimum 
Continuing Legal Education (MCLE) requirements; 
accordingly, Petilla is ordered notto claim any MCLE 
credit for attending and completing this course. (Ac­
cord Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 3201 .) 

6. Petilla must abstain from all gambling. 
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7. Within 90 days after the effective date of 
the Supreme Court order in this matter, Petilla must: 
(1) make restitution to Bank One, or the Client 
Security Fund if it has paid, in the amount of $12,268 
plus interest thereon at the rate of 10% simple interest 
per annum from June 11, 1994, until paid; and (2) 
provide satisfactory proof of such restitution to the 
State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles. 

If Petilla contends that he is unable to pay this 
amount, he must ( 1) ask. within the first 3 0 days after 
the effective date of the Supreme Court order in this 
matter, the State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles 
to assign to him a probation monitor referee and (2) 
submit to that referee, within 30 days after being 
notified of the referee's assignment, a written plan for 
the prompt payment of as much of the amount as he 
is able to pay. The submission of any such plan by 
Petillamust include satisfactoryproof ofhis financial 
condition and the amount he is able to pay. On the 
motion of Petilla or the State Bar, any decision by the 
referee to approve or reject any payment plan pro­
posed by Petilla is subject to de novo review by the 
State Bar Court. 

VIII. PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
EXAMINATION. 

We recommend that Petilla be ordered to take 
and pass the Multistate Professional Responsibility 
Examination administered by the National Confer­
ence of Bar Examiners within one year after the 
effective date of the Supreme Court order in this 
matter and to provide satisfactory proof of passage of 
the examination to the State Bar's Probation Unit in 
Los Angeles within that same year. 

rx:. COSTS. 

We recommend that the costs incurred by the 
State Bar in this matter be awarded to the State Bar 
in accordance with section 6086.10 of the Business 
and Professions Code and that those costs be payable 
in accordance with section 6140.7 of the Business 
and Professions Code. 

We concur: 
OBRIEN, P. J. 
STOVITZ, J. 
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After a trial on the merits, a hearing judge filed a decision in which he found respondent culpable of one 
count of professional misconduct. Respondent sought and obtained plenary review of the hearing judge's 
decision. In an unpublished opinion, the review department rever.sed the hearingjudge's single culpability 
finding, thereby exonerating respondent of all disciplinary charges. Because respondent was exonerated of all 
charges after trial, he was statutorily entitled to reimbursement from the State Bar for the reasonable expenses 
( other than fees for attorneys and experts) that he incurred in preparation for trial. Respondent filed a motion 
for reimbursement. Thereafter, the hearingj udge awarded respondent $2,569.50 in reimbursements from the 
State Bar, which included $1,260 for the expense respondent incurred in obtaining the transcript of the trial so 
that he could seek plenary review of the hearingj udge' s decision finding respondent culpable of misconduct. 
(Hon. Michael D. Marcus, Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar sought review challenging only the hearingj udge 's allowance of$ l ,260 in transcript costs. 
The review department agreed with the State Bar's argument that the hearingjudge' s allowance of transcript 
costs was inconsistent with the plain language of the State Bar's Rule of Proceeding dealing with exonerated 
attorneys' right to reimbursement for reasonable expenses. 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: Donald R. Steedman 

For Respondent: Kuojen Felix Wu, in pro. per. 

[1 a-c} 

HEADNOTES 

178.90 Costs-Miscellaneous 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Right to recover costs is purely statutory. That is courts-have no discretion to award costs that are 
not statutorily authorized. However, because Supreme Court retains inherent and originaljurisdic-

Editor's note: The summary. headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the StateBarCourtforthe convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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tion over attorney disciplinary proceedings, Supreme Court might well adopt rules providing for or 
regulating recovery of costs in State Bar Court proceedings, but has not yet done so. Accordingly, 
right of attorneys to recover costs from the State Bar is granted solely by statute, which statute State 
Bar Court must strictly construe. 

[2 a, b] 125 Procedure-Post-Trial Motions 
135.60 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Dispositions and Costs 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
178.90 Costs-Miscellaneous 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Statutory provision granting attorneys the right to recover costs from State Bar provides that 
attorneys who have been exonerated of all disciplinary charges following a trial are entitled to 
reimbursement from the State Bar "in an amount determined by the State Bar to be the reasonable 
expenses,· other than fees for attorneys or experts, of preparing for [trial]" without defining 
"reasonable expenses" ( other than expressly excluding fees for attorneys and experts) and without 
prescribing the method by which State Bar is to determine what they are. Accordingly, State Bar 
Board of Governors properly exercised its statutory rule making authority and adopted State Bar 
Rule of Procedure 283 to define what expenses (or costs) are allowable as "reasonable expenses" 
for which exonerated attorneys may obtain reimbursement under statute and to provide the 
procedure by which exonerated attorneys are to seek reimbursement from the State Bar for those 
expenses. In absence of Supreme Court authority to the contrary, the State Bar Court may award 
exonerated attorneys reimbursement from the State Bar for reasonable expenses only if they are 
specified as allowable expenses in Rule of Procedure 283. 

[3 a-e] 125 Procedure--Post-Trial Motions 

none 

135.60 Procedure--Revised Rules of Procedure--Dispositions and Costs 
135. 70 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Review/Delegated Powers 
13 9 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
178.90 Cost-Miscellaneous 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Under clear language of State Bar Rule of Procedure 283(b)(5), State Bar Court may award 
attorneys exonerated of all disciplinary charges after trial reimbursement for expenses incurred in 
obtaining transcripts of court proceedings only if the court ordered that the transcripts be prepared. 
Fact that exonerated attorney could not obtain plenary review ofhearingjudge's decision finding 
him culpable of professional misconduct without first obtaining and paying for trial transcript is not 
synonymous with the court ordering the preparation of a transcript. In fact, requirement of obtaining 
trial transcript for plenary review is not imposed by court, but by State Bar Rule of Procedure 
301 (a)(2), which makes clear that it is the party seeking review that orders the trial transcript. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 
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OPINION 

WATAI, J.: 

In a petition for review under rule 300 of the 
Rules of Procedure of the State Bar,' the State Bar 
seeks review of a hearing judge's order awarding 
respondent Kuojen Felix Wu reimbursement for the 
costs he incurred in obtaining the trial transcript in 
seeking review in this matter. (See rule 283(h) {reim­
bursement orders are ·reviewable only under rule 
300].) Respondent is entitled to reimbursement for his 
reasonable expenses ( other than fees for attorneys 
and experts) because he was exonerated of all 
charges ( 1) after a trial in the hearing department and 
(2) after review before the review department. (Bus. 
& Prof. Code, § 6086.10, subd. (d); rule 283(a).)2 

In its petition, the State Bar challenges only that 
portion of the hearingjudge' s order that awards respon­
dent reimbursementforthe $1,260thatrespondent paid 
to obtain the transcript of the trial in the hearing 
department. Respondentwas required to obtain and pay 
for the trial transcript because he sought our review of 
the hearingjudge' s decision on the disciplinary charges 
in this matter. (Rule301 (a)(2).)Accordingtothe State 
Bar, the hearingjudge abused his discretion and commit­
ted_ an error of law when he awarded respondent 
reimbursement for the cost of the trial transcript. (See 
rule 3 OO(k) [ standard of review under rule 300 is abuse 
of discretion or error oflaw ].) For the reasons discussed 
below, we hold that the hearingjudge erred as a matter 
of law in awarding respondent reimbursement for the 
cost of the trial transcript and, therefore, modify his 
reimbursement order to delete that awanl.3 

UNDERLYING DISCIPLINARY TRIAL 
AND RULE 301 REVIEW 

In the notice of disciplinary charges (NDC) on 
which this matter went to trial, the State Bar charged 

1. All furtherrulcreferencesaretothe RulesofProccdurcofthe 
State Bar unless otherwise indicated. 

l . All further statutory references are to the Business and 
Professions Code unless otherwise indicated. 
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respondent with three counts of misconduct. After 
trial, the hearingjudge filed a decision in October 1997 
in which he found that respondent committed the 
misconduct that was charged in count two. In that 
same decision, the hearing judge found that the 
evidence was insufficient to prove that respondent 
committed the misconduct charged in counts one and 
three. Accordingly, he dismissed counts one and 
three with prejudice. 

Respondent timely filed a request for review 
under rule 301 (plenary review)4 and, as noted above, 
was required to and did obtain and pay for a transcript 
of the trial in the hearing department (rule 301 ( a)(2) ). 
In thatpriorreview, respondent alleged, interalia, that 
the evidence was insufficient to support the hearing 
judge's finding that respondent committed the mis­
conduct charged in count two of the NDC. In an 
unpublished opinion, we adopted thehearingjudge's 
dismissals of counts one and three with prejudice, but 
reversed his finding that respondent committed the 
misconduct charged in count two because we con­
cluded that the evidence was insufficient to support it. 
Accordingly, we dismissed count two with prejudice. 
After we adopted the hearing judge's dismissals of 
counts one and three and then independently dis­
missed count two, ·respondent was exonerated of all 
of the charges. Our prior opinion in this matter is now 
final. 

RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR 
REIMBURSEMENT 

After respondent was exonerated of all charges, 
he filed, in the hearing department, a motion for 
reimbursement from the State Bar for the reasonable 
expenses, other than fees for attorneys and experts, 
that he incurred in preparation for trial in this matter. 
(Rule283(a)&(d).)Thereafter,onDecember22, 1999, 
the hearing judge filed an order in which he granted 
respondent's motion in part and denied it in part. 

3. The State Bar's February 17, 2000, request to supplement 
the record on review is granted. 

4. Underrule3O1, weindependentlyreviewtherecordandmay 
adopt findings, conclusions, and recommendations at variance 
withthoscofthehearingjudge.(Cal.RulesofCourt,rule95l.5; 
rule 305(a); In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 207.) 
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In his order, the hearingj udge found that respon­
dent was entitled to reimbursable expenses totaling 
$2,569.50. Included in the expenses totaling $2,569.50 
is a $1,260 expense that respondent incurred to obtain 
the transcript of the trial in the hearing department so 
that he could seek our review. As we noted above, the 
State Bar challenges only that portion of the hearing 
judge's order that awards respondent reimbursement 
for the $1,260 cost of the trial transcript. 

In support of its position, the State Bar argues 
that, when the hearing judge awarded respondent 
reimbursement for the cost of the trial transcript, he 
violated an alleged legislative "mandate" proscribing 
reimbursement awards for transcript costs to exoner­
ated attorneys and acted in excess of his statutory 
authority for making cost reimbursement awards to 
exonerated attorneys (§ 6086.10, subd. (d)). The 
State Bar further argues that the hearing judge's 
reimbursement award to respondent for transcript 
costs is inconsistent with the plain language of the rule 
of procedure governing cost reimbursements to ex­
onerated attorneys (rule 283). Finally, the State Bar 
argues that the facts ( l) that many states do not allow 
exonerated attorneys to recover costs ( or expenses) 
and (2) that the American Bar Association's Model 
Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary Enforcement contain 
a provision providing for state bars to recover their 
costs from disciplined attorneys, but do not contain a 
provision providing for exonerated attorneys to re­
cover their costs from the state bars support its 
contention that the hearing judge abused his discre­
tion and committed an error oflaw when he awarded 
respondent reimbursement for transcript costs. Be­
cause we agree with the State Bar's argument that 
the hearingj udge' s reimbursement award to respon­
dent for transcript costs is inconsistent with the plain 
language of the rule of procedure governing cost 
reimbursements to exonerated attorneys, we need 
not and do not address any of its other arguments. 

5. (2b) Our statements regarding the necessity of statutory 
authorization for awarding and recovering costs must be read 
in light of the well established principles that the State Bar is 
a sui generis arm of the Supreme Court (Brotsky v. State Bar 
(1962) 57 Cal.2d 287, 300-301) and that the Supreme Court 
retains its inherent and original jurisdiction over attorney 
disciplinary proceedings (Hustedt v. Workers· Comp. Appeals 
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DISCUSSION 

[la) The issue before us is one of first impression 
under our State Bar Rules of Procedure. We begin 
our discussion by noting '"that the right to recover 
costs is purely statutory, and, in the absence of an 
authorizing statute, no costs can be recovered by 
either party.' [Citations.]" (Davis v. KGO-TV., Inc. 
(1998) 17Cal.4th436,439.)Moreover,acourthasno 
discretion to award costs that are not statutorily 
authorized. (Sanchez v. Bay Shores Medical Group 
( I 999) 7 5 Cal.App.4th 946, 948, citing Davis v. 
KGO-TV., Inc., supra, 17 Cal.4thatp. 442.) Finally, 
such cost statutes are to be strictly construed. (Se­
quoia Vacuum Systems v. Stransky (1964) 229 
Cal.App.2d 281, 289.)5 [2b - see fn. SJ 

{le] The statutory authorization for the recovery 
of costs in State Bar Court proceedings is set forth in 
section 6086. l 0. The Legislature added section 
6086.10 to the Business and Professions Code in 
1986. Before that time, costs were not recoverable by 
either party in State Bar Court proceedings. The 
authorization for respondent attorneys to recover 
costs from the State Bar is contained in subdivision 
(d) of section 6086.10. 

(2a] Subdivision ( d) of section 6086. l O provides 
that "[i]n the event an attorney is exonerated of all 
charges following a fonnal hearing, he or she is 
entitled to reimbursement from the State Bar in an 
amount detennined by the State Bar to be the reason­
able expenses, other than fees for attorneys or 
experts, of preparation for the hearing." Other than 
expressly excluding fees for attorneys and experts, 
the statute does not define "reasonable expenses" or 
prescribe the method by which the State Bar is to 
determine what they are. Accordingly, the State 
Bar's Board of Governors (hereafter Board of Gov­
ernors) properly exercised its statutory rulemaking 
authority(§§ 6086, 6086.5) and adopted rule 283 to 

Bd. (1981 )30Cal.3d329,336,338-339; accord§ 6075).lnlight 
of those pdnciples, the Supreme Court might well adopt rules 
providing for and regulating the awarding and recovery of costs 
in State Bar Court proceedings. However, it has not done so. 
Therefore, we confine our discussion only to the statutory 
authority. 
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define "reasonable expenses" and to provide the 
procedure by which exonerated attorneys may seek 
reimbursement from the ~tate Bar for those ex­
penses. (Cf. In the Matter of Respondent J (Review 
Dept. 1993)2Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr.273, 277 [State 
Bar appropriately exercised its rulemaking authority 
to develop a fonnulaic method of determining and 
calculating costs to be imposed on disciplined attor­
neys under section 6068.10, subdivision (b ), instead of 
making complicated individualized cost assessments 
based on actual expenses).) 

J2b] In rule 283(b), the Board of Governors set 
forth an exclusive list of nine categories that are 
allowable expenses ( or costs) of preparation for trial 
for which exonerated attorneys may obtain reim­
bursement from the State Bar under section 6086.10, 
subdivision (d). Accordingly, and in the absence of 
Supreme Court authority to the contrary, the State 
Bar Court may award an exonerated attorney reim­
bursement from the State Bar for an expense only if 
the expense falls within one of the nine allowable 
categories set forth in rule 283(b). (See, generally, 
§ 6086.5 [State Bar Court's jurisdiction may be 
limitedbyrulesadoptedbytheBoardofGovemors].) 
And, even then, the State Bar Court may award the 
attorney reimbursement only to the extent that the 
allowable expense is reasonable. 

[3a] In the present matter, the hearing judge 
found that the $1,260 expense respondent incurred to 
obtain the trial transcript is an allowable expense 
under rule 283(b )(5). Rule283(b )(5)provides that an 
exonerated attorney's expense in obtaining 
"[t]ranscripts of Court proceedings ordered by the 
Court" is an allowable expense that is subject to 
reimbursement under section 6086.10, subdivision 
(d). (Emphasis added.) 

(3b] In his order, the hearing judge correctly 
acknowledged that "the trjal transcript was not tech­
nically ' Qrdered' by either the Review Department or 
the Hearing Department." Nonetheless, the hearing 
judge found as follows: ''that the necessity of the trial 
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transcript in order for Respondent to pursue review in 
this matter compels the conclusion that the transcript 
was required by the court. In this context, whether the 
transcript was required or ordered is essentially 
synonymous. The court therefore finds that Respon­
dent is therefore entitled to reimbursement of the 
costs of the trial transcript in this proceeding." 

(3c] We conclude that the hearingj udge' s find­
ing that respondent's necessity of the trial transcript 
for the plenary review in this matter is synonymous 
with the court ordering the transcript is inconsistent 
with rule 283(b)(5); Accordingly, because the trial 
transcript was not ordered by the court, we reverse 
the hearingjudge' s reimbursement award ofS 1,260 
for the cost of the transcript. 

[3d] "It is dear rules of procedure adopted by 
the Board of Governors are not legislative acts. 
However, we deem it appropriate to apply the rules 
for statutory interpretation to such rules." (In the 
Matter of Sheppard (Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 91, 97, fn. 5.) The first fundamen­
tal rule of statutory interpretation is to examine the 
language of the statute. (Id at p. 97, citing Halbert ·s 
Lumber, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, Inc. (1992) 6 
Cal.App.4th 1233, 1238-1239; see also Security 
Pacific National Bank v. Wozab ( 1990) 51 Cal.3d 
991, 998.) If the meaning is clear, then the language 
controls and no further analysis is necessary. (In the 
Matter of Sheppard, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. at p. 97.) We hold that the meaning of the 
participle phrase «ordered by the court" in rule 
283(b)(5) is clear and unambiguous. Under the clear 
meaning of that rule, an exonerated attorney may 
obtain a reimbursement award for his or her expense 
in obtaining transcripts of court proceedings only if 
the court orders that the transcripts be prepared. 6 

(Je] Even though respondent could not have 
obtainedplenaryreviewofthe hearingjudge'sOcto­
ber 1997 decision without first obtaining and paying 
for the trial transcript as the hearingjudge pointed out 
in his order, the requirement of obtaining the tran-

6. The tenn "Court" in the State Bar' sRules ofProcedure refers 
to: "the State BarCourt, Hearing Department. Review Depart• 
ment, or any judge thereof." (Rule 2.32.) 
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script is not imposed by the court; it is imposed by rule 
301 ( a)(2 )--which, like all the Rules of Procedure of 
the State Bar, was promulgated and adopted by the 
Board of Governors. And, under that rule, it is clear 
that it is the party seeking review that "orders" the 
transcript of the trial and not the court, which is 
consistent with our construction of rule 283(b )( 5 ). 

Furthennore, our construction of rule 283(b )( 5) 
is consistent with the construction of similar language 
that was contained in fonner section 274 of the Code 
of Civil Procedure7 by the court in Peoples Ditch 
Co. v. Foothill I". Dist. (1932) 123 Cal.App. 257, 
25 9-260. Farmer section 2 7 4 provided as follows: "In 
civil cases, the fees for reporting and for transcripts 
ordered by the court to be made must be paid by the 
parties in equal proportions, and either party may, at 
his option, pay the whole thereof; and in either case 
all amounts so paid by the party to whom costs are 
awarded must be taxed as costs in the case.'' After 
adding emphasis to the phrase "ordered by the court" 
in fonner section 27 4, the court in Peoples Ditch held 
that "[f]rom the above-quoted language of [former 
section 274] it is clear that it is a condition precedent 
to the inclusion in an award of costs of the fees of the 
court reporter for the preparation of a transcript that 
the court shall have ordered it to be prepared. [Cita­
tions.J" (Peoples Ditch Co. v. Foothill Irr. Dist., 
supra, 123 Cal.App. at p. 260; accord Walton v. 
Bank of California (1963) 218 Cal.App.2d 527, 
547-548 [construing nearly identical language that 
was found in Government Code section 69953 (the 
"successor" to former section 274) before section 
69953 was amended by Stats. I 986, c. 823, § 3].) 

Finally, arguments similar to the conclusions of the 
hearing judge were rejected by the court in Sanchez v. 
Bay Shores Medical Group (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 
946. In that case, plaintiff Sanchez (and her children) 
obtained a medical malpractice judgment against 
defendant Bay Shores Medical. Group and others. 
Accordingly, plaintiff Sanchez was entitled to re­
cover her costs from defendants. (Code Civ. Proc., 
§ 1032, subd. (b).) Sanchez argued that she was 
entitled to recover the cost of expert witnesses under 

7. The provisions offonm:r section 274 were transferred to 
Government Code section 69953 until it was amended by 
Statutes I 986, chapter 823, section 3. The relevant civil 
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Code of Civil Procedure section 1033 .5, subdivision 
(a)(8), which provides that the "[f]ees of expert 
witnesses ordered by the court" are allowable costs. 
As the court in Sanchez stated, "Sanchez argues that 
medical experts are necessary in medical malprac­
tice actions in order for a plaintiff to meet its burden 
of proof as to the standard of care and breach of the 
standard of care elements. Thus, Sanchez asserts 
medical experts in medical malpractice actions have 
effectively been ordered by the court. This is incor­
rect. The fact that an expert is necessary to present a 
party's case does not mean that expert has been ordered 
by the court for purposes of recovery of expert witness 
fees as costs. [Citation.]" (75 Cal.App.4th at p. 950.) 

SUMMARY 

In our view, awarding respondent reimburse­
ment for the cost of the trial transcript is fair. This is 
particularly true in light of the fact that, in every case 
in which discipline of a public reproval or greater is 
imposed on the attorney, the State Bar is awarded 
reimbursement for the cost of a trial transcript not 
ordered by the court, but acquired solely for the 
purpose of obtaining review of the hearing judge's. 
decision(§ 6086.10, subd. (b); rule 280). Thus, we 
invite the Board of Governors to consider providing 
for, or seeking legislative or Supreme Court authori­
zation for, reimbursement awards to exonerated 
attorneys for the costs of trial transcripts acquired 
solely for the purpose of obtaining review ofhearing 
judges' decisions. 

But under the current law, the hearing judge 
erred as a matter of law by awarding respondent 
$1,260 as reimbursement for the cost of the trial 
transcript. Accordingly, we hereby modify the hear­
ing judge's December 22, 1999, order to delete the 
$1,260 reimbursement award to respondent for the 
cost of the trial transcript. 

We concur: 

OBRIEN, P. J. 
STOVITZ, J. 

transcript cost recovery statute is now Code of Civil Procedure 
section 1033.5, subdivisions (a)(9) and (b)(5). 
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A hearingj udge found that, during a time span of more than six years, respondent engaged in multiple acts 
of misconduct in a single client matter in which respondent was the client's attorney of record in a case she 
had pending before the California Workers' Compensation Appeals Board. The specific acts of misconduct 
found by the hearing judge are that respondent ( 1) failed to competently perform legal services, (2) failed to 
respond to the client's status inquiries, (3) improperly withdrew from representation, ( 4) abandoned the client, 
(5) failed to return the client's file, and (6) engaged in an act of moral turpitude when he lied to the opposing 
party by stating that his client no longer wanted to pursue her workers' compensation case. In aggravation, the 
hearing judge found that specified portions of respondent's testimony in the hearing department were not 
credible or forthright, that respondent fabricated an entry in his client telephone log and introduced that log into 
evidence in the hearing department in defense of the disciplinary charges brought against him, that respondent 
made false representations to a State Bar investigator during the State Bar's initial investigation of the client's 
complaints against respondent, and that respondent's misconduct banned his client. The hearingj udge gave 
respondent mitigating credit for respondent's pro bono and community service and recommended that 
respondent be suspended for three years and until he established his rehabilitation, fitness to practice, and 
learning in the law in accordance with standard l .4(c)(ii) of the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for 
Professional Misconduct, that the suspension be stayed, and that respondent be placed on probation for four 
years on conditions, which included a period of actual suspension of one hundred fifty days. (Hon. Eugene R 
Brott, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent sought review and contended thatthe evidence was insufficientto support the hearingjudge 's 
aggravation finding that respondent's misconduct harmed his· client; that the hearing judge erred in 
recommending that respondent be required to establish his rehabilitation, fitness to practice, and learning in the 
law in accordance with standard 1.4( c )(ii); and that the hearing judge's discipline recommendation was 
excessive. 

The review department rejected respondent's contentions. In addition, the review department adopted 
most all of the hearingjudge' s findings, but reject or modified a numberofhis culpability conclusions. Moreover, 
the review department concluded that respondent's act of moral turpitude in lying to the opposing party and 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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the lack of candor aggravation were substantially more serious than the hearingjudge concluded. The review 
department adopted the hearing judge's recommended four-year period of probation, but increased the 
recommended period of stayed suspension from three years to four years and increased the recommended 
period of actual suspension from one hundred fifty days to one year. (Stovitz, J ., concurred and dissented and 
filed a separate opinion.) 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: Cydney Batchelor Strickland 

For Respondent: Michael E. Wine 

IIEADNOTES 

[11 139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
204.90 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
277 .20 Rule 3-700(A)(2) [former 2-111(A)(2)] 
277.50 Rule 3-700(D)(l) (former 2-lll(A)(2)] 
Because Rules of Professional Conduct 3-700(A)(2) (prohibiting prejudicial withdrawal from 
employment) and 3-700(0)(1) (mandating return of client property) have not been amended or 
modified since they were first adopted and became effective on May 27, 1989, there are no "former" 
versions of those rules. Thus, the review department deemed the charged and found violations that 
State Bar and the hearingjudge incorrectly described as violations of"former" rules 3-700(A)(2) 
and 3-700(0)( 1) to be charged and found violations of rules 3-700(A)(2) and 3-700(0)(1 ), which 
became effective on May 27, 1989. 

(2] 106.40 Procedure-Pleadings-Amendment 

[3 a, b] 

125 Procedure-Post-Trial Motions 
135.30 Procedure-Rules of Procedure-Division Ill, Pleadings/Motions/Stipulations 
13 9 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
204.90 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
270.30 Rule 3-UO(A) fformer 6-101(A)(2)/(B)J 
Because respondent failed to competently perfonn legal services both before and after the 
September 14, I 992, effective date of the revised version of the Rule of Professional Conduct 
requiring attorneys to competently perform legal services (rule 3-110), he violated both the "former" 
and the "current" versions of that rule. Thus, State Bar erred when it amended the charges to 
"conform to proof' by deleting the charge that respondent violated the "current" rule and replacing 
it with a charge that he violated the "former" rule. State Bar should not have deleted the charge that 
respondent violated the "current" rule, but should have added to it a charge that respondent also 
violated the "former" rule. 

106.40 
125 
135.30 
139 
192 

Procedure-Pleadings-Amendment 
Procedure--Post-Trial Motions 
Procedure-Rules of Procedure-Division III, Pleadings/Motions/Stipulations 
Proced ure-Miscellaneolis 
Due Process/Procedural Rights 
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204.90 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
270.30 Rule 3-UO(A) [former 6-101(A)(2)/(B)] 
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Even though State Bar erroneously amended the charges to "confonn to proof' by deleting the 
charge that respondent violated the revised ( i.e., "current") version of the Rule of Professional 
Conduct requiring attorneys to competently perform legal services (rule 3-110 as amended eff. Sept. 
14, 1992) and replacing it with a charge that respondent violated the "former" version of that rule 
instead of correctly amending the charges by adding, to the charged violation of the "current" rule, 
a charge that respondent also violated the "fonner" rule, no due process violation occurred when 
review department held that respondent was culpable of violating both the "former" rule and the 
"current" rule because ( 1) the text ofboth rules was virtually identical, (2) respondent did not argue 
lack of notice, and (3) the trial in hearing department covered respondent's conduct during the time 
period in which the "former"rule was in effect and after the effective date of the "current" rule. 

(4 a, b) 164 Proof of Intent 
204.20 Culpability-Intent Requirement 
270.30 Rule 3-ll0(A) (former 6-101(A)(2)/{B)] 
Respondent's deliberate and unjustified failure to attend a status conference in client's workers' 
compensation case was reckless failure to competently perform legal services and violated rule 
regarding attorneys' duty of competence. 

[5 a-i] 600 Lack of Candor/Cooperation with Victim (1.2(b)(vi)) 
610 Lack of Candor/Cooperation with Bar (l.2(b)(vi)) 
Respondent's lack of candor; which consisted ofrespondent ( 1) falsely stating in letters to a State 
Bar investigatorthat he had made an "appearance" before a specified workers' compensation judge 
and that he had attended the trial/hearing in his client's case before the Workers' Compensation 
Appeals Board; (2) sending the State Bar investigator a copy of the stipulation under which 
respondent's client settled her workers' compensation case on her own and without respondent's 
help which copy respondent signed to indicate his approval when he claimed that he did not know 
whether he was still representing the client and when he had not signed or approved the original that 
was executed by the client and the opposing party and that filed with and approved by the Workers' 
Compensation Appeals Board without respondent's involvement; (3) falsely testifying in State Bar 
Court that he had a conversation with his client in which she told him tha:t she had moved and gave 
him her new address; ( 4) falsely testifying in the State Bar Court that he had been in contact with 
his client with respect to letter from the opposing party and that the client instructed him to proceed 
with her claim; (5 )knowingly making an entry into hisclienttelephone log that inaccurately indicated 
that, during the logged telephone conversation, the client implied that she was "basically not 
interested in pursuing this matter" and introducing this telephone log into evidence in the State Bar 
Court with knowledge that the statement was not true; and (6) falsely testifying in the State Bar 
Court that he did not know the trial/hearing date in his client's case before the Workers' 
Compensation Appeals Board; was more egregious than the found misconduct; which consisted of 
respondent (1) violating rule regarding attorneys' duty of competence by not perfonning any 
substantive work on his client's workers' compensation case for more than five years and 
deliberately and unjustifiably not attending a status conference in the case; (2) violating statutory 
duty to respond to client's reasonable status inquiries by not responding to a status request letter from 
the client; (3) violating rule against prejudicial withdrawal from employment by not advising client 
of dates ofupcoming events, not properly responding to client's request for her file, and not removing 
himself as client's attorney of record; and ( 4) violating statute proscribing acts of moral turpitude 
by lying to the opposing party about his activity on the case and they by later lying to the opposing 
party that his client no longer wanted to purse her workers'· compensation case. 
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I 6] 163 Proof of Wilfulness 
204.10 Culpability-Wilfulness Requirement 
270.30 Rule 3-ll0(A) [former 6-10l(A)(2)/(B)] 
Respondent's failure to perfonn any substantive work on client's workers' compensation case for 
more that five years was clearly repeated and reckless failure to competently perform legal services 
and violated rule regarding attorneys' duty of competence. 

[7 a-c] 204.90 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
277.20 Rule 3-700(A)(2) [former 2-lll(A)(2)J 
277.50 Rule 3-700(D)(l) [former 2-lll(A)(l)] 
Rule prohibiting prejudicial withdrawal from employment (rule 3-700(A)(2)) is more comprehensive 
than rule requiring an attorney whose employment has been tenninated to release the client's file 
upon the client's request (rule 3-700(0)(1)). Rule prohibiting prejudicial withdrawal, mandates 
compliance with rule requiring release of client files. Thus, attorney's failure to properly release a 
client's file in accordance with rule requiring release of client files may be a portion of the conduct 
disciplinab le as a violation of rule prohibiting prejudicial withdrawal. Because respondent's failure 
to release the client's file in accordance with the client's request was relied on as part of the basis 
for finding that respondent violated rule prohibiting prejudicial withdrawal, review department 
rejected the use that same failure to find a separate violation of rule requiring release of client files. 

[8 a, bJ 2 77 .20 Rule 3-700(A)(2) [former 2-11 l(A)(2)J 
Even though client who respondent was representing in a case before the Workers' Compensation 
Appeals Board terminated respondent's employment, respondent remained client's attorney of 
record in her case before the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board and continued to have duty, 
under rule prohibiting prejudicial withdrawal from employment, to take reasonable steps to avoid 
foreseeable prejudice to the client's rights until either a substitution of counsel was filed or a motion 
relieving respondent as attorney of record was granted. After client terminated respondent's 
employment, respondent violated rule prohibiting prejudicial withdrawal because he did not (1) 
advise client of dates of upcoming events such as the trial date and briefing schedule, (2) properly 
respond to client's request for her file, and (3) properly remove himself as client's attorney of record 
in her case before the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board.Fact that client, without respondent's 
knowledge, learned dates of the important upcoming events did not relieve respondent of his 
obligation to advise client of those dates, to properly respond to client's request for her file, and to 
remove himself as client's attorney of record. 

(9 a-d) 165 
511 

Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
Prior Record 

Even. though respondent's misconduct in present proceeding did not resemble the serious 
misconduct to which respondent stipulated in his prior record of discipline and even though 
respondent's present misconduct began well before State Bar initiated the prior disciplinary 
proceeding against him, review department gave respondent's prior record of discipline some 
greater weight in aggravation than did the hearingjudge because respondent's present misconduct 
continued and accelerated during pendency of the prior proceeding, with the more egregious portion 
of the present misconduct occurring after respondent had stipulated to culpability on the charges of 
serious misconduct brought against in the prior proceeding. 

(10] 135.70 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Review/Delegated Powers 
148 Evidence-Witnesses 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
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162. 11 Proof-State Bar's Burden-Clear and Convincing 
169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
801.90 Standards-General Issues 
There is clear distinction between credibility and candor. Thedetennination ofa witness's credibility 
( i.e., believability) is primarily within province of the hearingjudge who saw and heard the witness 
testify, while the determination that a witness's testimony lacked candor (i.e., that the witness lied) 
must be found by clear and convincing evidence. 

{111 135.70 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Review/Delegated Powers 
148 Evidence-Witnesses 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
162.11 Proof-State Bar's Burden-Clear and Convincing 
169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
801.90 Standards-General Issues 
Even though a witness's candor must ordinarily be shown by clear and convincing evidence, great 
weight is still give to the hearingj udge 's findings on candor. 

[12 a, b) 582.10 Aggravation-Harm to Client-Fou~d 
801.90 Standards-General Issues 

[13) 

Even though short delays, even ifresulting in client harm, standing alone are ordinarily not sufficient 
to warrant conclusion that a client suffered significant banned within the context of standard 
providing that significant client harm is an aggravating circumstance, present case did not involve 
a short delay, but an inexcusable delay of more than five years during which respondent did not 
perform any substantive work on a client's Workers' compensation case. Even though the delay did 
not cause the client to lose her cause of action, it had a substantial impact on her. After holding that 
a reasonable economic measure of harm to the client was the client's lost use of the value of her 
settlement proceeds for five years, the review department expressly declined to define the extent 
of the client's economic harm. Nonetheless, it held that the client's economic harm met the 
requirement of significant harm in standard providing that significant client harm is aggravating 
circumstance. 

139 
165 
176 
801.90 

Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
Discipline-Standard 1,4( c )(ii) 
Standards-General Issues 

In the hearingjudge' s discipline recommendation that respondent "be suspended from the practice 
of law for three years and until he provides proof satisfactory to the State Bar Court of his 
rehabilitation, fitness to practice and present learning and ability in the general law pursuant to 
standard 1.4( c )( ii) [ of the Standard for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct], that said 
suspension be stayed; and that he be placed on probation for four years subject to the following 
conditions: .. , "the provision that respondent's three-year suspension continue until he proves his 
rehab ii itation, fitness, learning, and ability in accordance with standard 1 .4( c )(ii) is stayed along with 
the recommended three-year suspension so that, if the State Bar files a probation revocation 
proceeding against respondent seeking to have all, or a part, of the three-year stayed suspension 
imposed on him, a standard 1.4(c)(ii) would be an available condition. 
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Additional Analysis 

Culpability 
Found 

214.31 Section6068{m) 
221.11 Section 61 06-Deliberate Dishonesty/Fraud 
270.31 Rule 3-1 l0(A) [former 6-10l(A)(2)/(B)] 
277.21 Rule 3-700(A)(2) [former 2-l l l(A)(2)] 

Not Found 
277.55 Rule 3-700(0)(1) [former 2-l 1 l(A)(2)] 

Aggravation 
Found but Discounted 

523 Multiple Acts 
Mitigation 

Found but Discounted 
740.39 Good Character 
765.32 Pro Bono Work 

Standards 
833.90 Moral Turpitude-Suspension 

Discipline 
. 1013.10 Stayed Suspension--4 Years 
1015.06 Actual Suspension-I Years 

Probation Conditions 
1017.10 Probation--4 Years 
1024 EthicsExam/School 
JOJO Standard l .4(c)(ii) 
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OPINION 

OBRIEN, P.J.: 

Respondent Justin R. Dahlz1 seeks our review of 
a hearingj udge' s decision in which the hearingj udge 
found respondent culpable of multiple acts of miscon­
duct in a single client matter. Of at least equal, if not 
greater concern are the hearing judge's findings of 
deception by respondent in• dealings with (I) the 
opposing party in the underlying action, (2) the State 
Barinvestigatorsinvestigatlngthe complaint ofhis client 
and (3) the State Bar Court in the presentation of 
testimony and exhibits before the hearing department. 

More specifically, the hearingjudge found that 
respondent (1) violated rule 3-11 0(A) of the fonner 
Rules of Professional Conduct (effective May 27, 
1989, to September 13, 1992)(hereafterfonnerrule 
3-1 1 0(A)) byfailingtocompetentlyperform the legal 
seIVices for which he was retained; (2) violated 
Business and Professions Code section 6068, subdi­
vision (m)2 by failing to respond to the client's 
reasonable status inquiries; (3) violated "former" rule 
3-700(A)(2) and rule 3-700(A)(2) of the "current" 
Rules of Professional Conduct by improperly with­
drawing from employment; ( 4) violated "former" rule 
3-700(0)(1)3 [I - see fn.3J by failing to give the case 
file to the client; and (5) committed an act of dishon~ 
esty in violation of section 6106 by misrepresenting, to 

1. Respondent was admitted to the practice of law in the State 
of California on June 6, I 989, and has beenamember of the State 
Bar since that time. 

l . All further statutory references are to the Busiriess and 
Professions Code unless otherwise indicated. 

3. fl }Contrary to the State Bar's charges and the hearingjudge • s 
finding, there is no "former" rule 3-700(A)(2) or"former" rule 
3-700(D)(l). Rules 3-700(A)(2) and 3-700(D)(l) became 
effective on May 27, 1989, and have not been modified or 
amended sincethattime. Accordingly, we deem lhe charged and 
found violationsof'former" rules 3-700(A)(2) and 3-700(AX 1 ), 
as charged and found, violations of rules 3-700(A)(2) and 3-
700(D)( 1 )oftheRulesofProfcssional Conduct ( effective May 
27, 1989, to present}. 

4. On the motion of the State Bar, the hearing judge dismissed 
(l} the violation of rule 3-700{A)(2) of the Rules of Profes-
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an opposing insurance adjuster, that the client no 
longer wanted to pursue her claim/ In aggravation, 
the hearingjudge did not find "credible" respondent's 
testimony that his client told him she did not wish to 
pursue her claim. He further found that respondent 
offered into evidence a false telephone log entry that 
was prepared solely for the purposes of trial. Further, 
that he presented to the State Bar investigator a copy 
of a stipulation under which his client settled her claim 
and which bore his signature, when he had not 
participated in the settlement and was not a signatory 
to that stipulation, and falsely represented to the State 
Bar investigator that he had appeared before a 
Workers' Compensation Appeals Board (WCAB) 
judge atthe time of the settlement of his client's claim, 
when, in fact, he had not. In addition, the hearingjudge 
found respondent "was less than forthright in his 
testimony ... " Finally, the hearing judge found 
further aggravation in that respondent's misconduct 
harmed the client. 

· The hearing judge recommended that respon­
dent "be suspended from the practice oflaw for three 
years and until he provides proof satisfactory to the 
State Bar Court of his rehabilitation, fitness to prac­
tice and present learning and ability in the general law 
pursuant to standard 1.4( c )(ii), Standards for Attor­
ney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct;[5] that 
said suspension be stayed; and that he be placed on 
probation for four years subject to the following 

sional Conduct charged in count four of the first amended notice 
of disciplinary charges and (2) the violation of section 6152, 
subdivision(a)charged in count six of the first amended notice. 
We adopt those dismissals, but modify them to provide that 
the charges are dismissed with prejudice. (Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, rule 261 (a).) The hearingjudge also dismissed for want of 
proof the violations of rule l-400(C) of the Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct charged in count six of the firstarnendednolice. 
He also found the charge of violation of section 6106, as alleged 
in count seven, duplicative ofcount five because of the absence 
of proof in count six. He found no culpability in count seven. 
The State Bar does not challenge that finding or those dismissals 
on review, and after independently reviewing the record, we 
adopt them, but modify them to provide thatthe dismissals are 
with prej udice. 

5. These standards are found in title IV oft he Rules of Procedure 
of the State Bar. All further references to standards are to this 
source. 
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conditions: [,r] 1. That during the first 150 days of said 
period of probation, Respondent shall be actually 
suspended from the practice of law .... " 

On review, respondent does not contest any of 
the hearingjudge's culpability findings. Instead, he 
raises only the following three points of error; ( l) that 
the evidence is insufficient to support the hearing 
judge's aggravation finding that his misconduct 
harmed the client; (2) that the hearingjudge's disci­
pline recommendation is excessive; and (3) that the 
hearing judge erred in including, in his discipline 
recommendation, a requirement that respondent es­
tablishhisrehabilitation, fitness to practice, and learning 
in the law in accordance with standard l.4(c)(ii). 

The State Bar argues that respondent's first two 
points of error, in which he challenges the hearing 
judge's finding of harm and appropriateness of the 
hearingjudge' s discipline recommendation, are with­
out merit. Furthermore, the State Bar argues that, if 
anything, the hearingjudge' s discipline recommenda­
tion is inadequate in that the recommended period of 
actual suspension of '"less than· 6 months -- is 
generous, perhaps even to a fault. [Fn. omitted.]" 

With respecttorespondent'sthird point of error, 
the State Bar suggests that the hearing judge's 
recommendation of a standard 1 .4( c )( ii) condition is 
incomplete and ambiguous as written and should be 
modified on review to correct any such deficiency. 

Of course, we independently review the record 
and may make findings aod conclusions at variance 
with the hearing judge. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 
951.5; Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a); In re 
Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 207.) While we focus 
primarily onrespondent' s points of error attacking the 
hearingjudge 's finding ofharrn and discipline recom­
mendation, we must still independently review the 
record to determine whether all of the hearingjudge' s 
findings of fact and conclusions of law are supported 
by the record. (In the Matter of Hanson (Review 
Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 703, 709; cf. 
S/avkin v. State Bar ( 1989) 49 Cal.3d 894, 902 [ even 
if attorney does not contest the State Bar Court's 
findings of misconduct, the Supreme Court indepen­
dently reviews them because theirvalidity bears on its 
ultimate choice of discipline J.) 
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Followingourindependentreview, we affirm the 
hearing judge's finding of moral turpitude ( section 
6106), failure to perform(forrnerrule 3-1 l0(A)) and 
improper withdrawal (rule 3-700(A)(2)). We reject 
the hearing judge's separate finding of culpability 
under rule 3-700(D)(l) because we have used the 
misconduct alleged under that count as part of the 
evidence to find culpability under former rule 3-
700(A)(2). While we disagree with a portion of the 
hearingjudge's findings in the count charging a 
violation of section 6068, subdivision ( m ), we do find 
culpability under that section because we find that his 
client Michelle Douglas sent at least one letter to 
respondent in which she made a reasonable request 
for information concerning her claim against Pacific 
Bel I. Respondent failed to respond to that request for 
information. Because of respondent's serious aggra­
vation in lying to the opposing party in the underlying 
action and to the State Bar investigator and the State 
Bar Court in the presentation of testimony and exhib­
its, we increase the recommended discipline to include 
one year actual suspension as a condition of probation. 

THE CHARGES 

(2] [3a] Before the conclusion of the culpability 
phase of the trial in this matter, the State Bar moved 
to amend the first amended notice "to conform to 
proof' with respect to the charged violations of the 
Rules of Professional Conduct. In count one, the 
State Bar incorrectly amended the charges by delet­
ingthe charged violation of rule 3-11 0(A) of the Rules 
of Professional Conduct (as amended effective Sep­
tember 14, 1992, to present) (hereafter current rule 
3-ll0(A)). As noted below, respondent's miscon­
duct under count one began in 1989 and ended in 
1996; accordingly, respondent's misconduct violated 
bothformerrule3-l IO(A)andcurrentrule3-I IO(A). 
Therefore, the State Bar should not have deleted the 
charged violation of current rule 3-11 0(A), but should 
have added a charged violation of former rule 3-
1 IO(A) to it. 

[3b] No due process violation will occur by our 
holding that, under the facts alleged in count one, 
respondent violated both former rule 3-11 0(A) and 
current rule 3-11 0(A). First, the text of former rule 3-
110(A) is virtually identical to that in current rule 
3-1 l0(A). Second, respondent has not argued any 
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lack of adequate notice. (See In the Matter of Myrdal! 
(Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 363, 3 81, 
fu. 13 .) Third, the trial was notlimited to respondent's 
conduct during the timeperiod"in which fonnerrule 3-
1 IO(A) was effective, but covered respondent's 
conduct after that time period when current rule 3-
1 l0(A) became effective. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

The recor-d established that, in the fall of 1989, 
attorney Richard Rodriguez-Ivanhoe referred to re­
spondent a case in which Rodriguez-Ivanhoe 
represented Michelle Douglas with respect to a 
workers' compensation claim pending before the 
WCAB in Walnut Creek against Pacific Bell, 
Douglas's employer. Pacific Bell is a self-insured 
workers' compensation employer. 

Respondent's first communication with Douglas 
was in a telephone conversation in the late fall of 
1989. In that telephone conversation, they discussed 
respondent representing Douglas. In December 1989, 
respondent sent Douglas a substitution-of-attorney 
fonn authorizing him to replace Rodriguez-Ivanhoe 
as Douglas's attorney of record in the WCAB. 
Douglas promptly signed the form and returned it to 
respondent. At all relevant times, Douglas not only 
continuously worked for Pacific Bell, but she continu­
ously lived at the same address and had the same 
home telephone number. 

AttriaJ, Douglas did.not independently recal I the 
date or time of making any one of ten alleged calls to 
respondent between April 1990 and August 1990. 
Accordingly, she was permitted to testify from a 
document(exhibit4)thatsheclaims isa login which 
she recorded each of her telephone calls to respon­
dent. According to Douglas, she prepared the "log" 
by recording in it each telephone call that she made to 
respondent at (or very near) the time she made the 
call. Respondent denied receiving any such calls or 
messages relating to such calls. Our review of 
Douglas's telephone "log".convinces us that there is 
an absence of clear and convincing evidence that 
such calls were made by Douglas. Accordingly, we 
reject the hearing judge's finding that Douglas tele­
phoned and left • messages for respondent on l 0 
different occasions. Nor do we find clear and con-
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vincing evidence that any such calls were made by 
Douglas. 

In addition, Douglas claimed that she had mailed 
six letters to respondent between August 1990 and 
February 1991 and that respondent did not reply to 
those letters. She testified that she hand wrote a letter 
to respondent in August 1990, duplicated it and sent 
the original to respondent., and keptthecopy. Douglas 
claims she periodically added an additional date to the 
letter, duplicated it with the additional date or dates, 
again duplicated the letter and sent a copy to respon­
dent, repeatingthat process six times between August 
1990 and February 1991. The only evidence of the 
dates of mailing of those letters is the remaining copy 
of the letter containing six dates. Respondent denied 
receipt of any of those letters. We conclude that the 
evidence that Douglas sent six letters to respondent 
does not rise to the clear and convincing level. 
Accordingly, we reject the hearing judge's findings 
that Douglas sent respondent six letters. However, · 
the record is clear that Douglas sent at least one 
letter. We further conclude that respondent did not 
communicate with Douglas during the period of either 
the alleged phone calls from Douglas or the alleged 
letters from Douglas. 

After respondent substituted in as Douglas's 
attorney of record in the WCAB, he did virtually 
nothing on her case for almost a year. In November 
1991, Fate Sala Leui, a Pacific Bell workers' com­
pensation claims manager, sent respondent a letter 
informing him that Pacific Bell intended to file a 
petition to dismiss Douglas's case for want of pros­
ecution unless respondent contacted her within 30 
days. On November 29, 1991, respondent sent Leui 
a letter in which he stated that his law office had been 
in contact with Douglas and that Douglas had in­
formed his office that she '"fully intends to pursue" her 
claim against Pacific Bell. Respondent further stated, 
in this letter to Leui, that his office was in the process 
ofaccumulatingthe data needed to process Douglas's 
claim and that he would get back to Leui "within the 
next couple of weeks." We find that in fact respon­
dent had not been in touch with Douglas, and 
respondent admits that he never got back to Leui. 

Respondent testified that, after he or someone in 
his office contacted Douglas in November 1991 
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regarding Leui's letter, he was unable to locate 
Douglas because she had moved. But the hearing 
judge rejected respondent's testimony and so do we. 
Douglas credibly testified that she did not hear from 
nor was she able to contact respondent, after her 
telephone conversation with him in late fall of 1989 
until March 1996, when she spoke with him again in 
a second telephone conversation. Moreover, as noted 
above, Douglas did not move or change her telephone 
numberthroughout the relevanttime period. Further, 
respondent testified that he dido 't remember talking 
to Douglas between the time she signed the substitu­
tion of attorneys and 1996. 

In September 1993, Elaine Wazz, another Pa­
cific Bell workers' compensation claims manager, 
sent respondent a letter in which she noted that 
respondent had done nothing on Douglas's claim for 
over a year and that Pacific Bell intended to file a 
petition to dismiss Douglas's case for want of pros­
ecution unless respondent contacted her within 30 
days. Respondent admits that he did not respond to 
Wazz's letter. 

In October 199 5, Pacific Bell filed its answer in 
Douglas's case and served a copy of it on respondent. 
Then, in February 1996, Rita McPeake, aPacific Bell 
workers' compensation hearing representative, sent 
respondent a letter infonninghim that a status confer­
ence was set in Douglas's case for March 28, 1996. 
Respondent received McPeake 's letter on February 
6, 1996. ln March 1996, respondent telephoned and 
spoke with Douglas at her place of employment 
without any apparent difficulty in locating her. During 
thattelephone conversation, respondent told Douglas 
something to the effect that .. I don't want to be 
bothered with this" (i.e., Douglas's case).6 

(4a] Thereafter,onMarch 15, 1996,respondent 
telephoned Mc Peake and unequivocally told her that 
Douglas did not intend to pursue her claim against 
Pacific Bell and that he would not be attending the 
March 1996 status conference in Douglas's case. 
McPeake told respondent she would send a confirm­
ing letter for his signature. Accordingly, McPeake 

6. In a subsequent letter Douglas referred to that conversation 
as occurring on March 7, 1996, while respondent offered a 
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prepared a "confirmation" letter, which she faxed 
and mailed to respondent for his signature. Re­
sponded did not sign and retumorotherwise respond 
to McPeake 's confinnation letter. Nor did he attend 
the March 1996 status conference even though he 
had actual knowledge of that conference. 

Respondent does not completely deny telling 
McPeake that Douglas did not intend to pursue her 
claim against Pacific Bell, but asserts that he would 
have "couched" his language and told McPeake 
something to the effect that "I'm trying to get a hold 
of my client. She does not seem to be interested" or 
that "I think my client does not want to pursue this 
claim." The hearingjudge did not find respondent's 
testimony credible. Nor do we. 

(5a] The hearing judge found that respondent 
fabricated an entry into his telephone log in Douglas's 
case file for purposes of defending the charges 
against him in this proceeding and "not as a record of 
any conversation that took place with Douglas." That 
entry is dated March 13, 1996, and contains purported 
notes from a telephone conversation that respondent 
allegedly had with Douglas on March 13. The entry 
includes a statement to the effect that Douglas is 
"basically not interested in pursuing this matter." 
While that entry may have been made at or about the 
time of that telephone conversation, we conclude that 
Douglas said nothing to the effect that she did not 
want to pursue her claim. We find, by clear and 
convincing evidence, that the log entry does not 
accurately reflect the conversation between respon­
dent and Douglas and that it was offered into evidence 
by respondent with knowledge of that fact. 

Because respondent did not attend the March 
1996 status conference, the WCAB judge directed 
Mc Peake to serve on respondent copies ofthe minute 
order from the status conference and the notice of 
hearing. McPeake sent respondent copies of those 
documents, and respondent received them. The no­
tice ofhearing cleatlynotifiedrespondentthat the trial 
in Douglas's case was set for July 2, 1996, at 1:30 
p.m. at the WCAB's Walnut Creek venue. More-

purported log of telephone calls making reference to a March 
13. 1996, telephone call with Douglas. 
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over, the minute order clearly directed that the "par­
tiessha// submit briefs 30 days before trial." Because 
respondent failed to attend the March 1996 status 
conference, the judge also directed McPeake to 
begin serving Douglas with copies of P!icific Bell's 
pleadings as though Douglas were representing her­
self prose. 

On April 15, 1996, Douglas sent respondent a 
letter by certified mail. In that letter Douglas refer­
enced the statement that respondent made to her in 
their March 7, 1996 telephone conversation to the 
effect that he did not want to be "bothered" with 
Douglas's case. She then stated that respondent 
needed to file the necessary papers with the WCAB 
to remove himself from her case and to send her file 
to her. Respondent received Douglas's letter on April 
16, 1996. 

Respondent testified that, on April 22, 1996, he 
sent Douglas a letter acknowledging her April 1 S, 
1996 letter, asking her to please come into his office 
and pick up her file, and advising her to hire another 
attorney. His file, introduced into evidence, contains 
a copy of that purported letter. Douglas testified that 
she did notreceive this letter or anyfurthercommunica­
tions from respondent. We find noclearand convincing 
evidence that respondent's testimony in this regard is 
false·. Respondent made no further attempts to commu­
nicate with Douglas, to withdraw as her attorney of 
record in WCAB, or to give Douglas her case file. 

Even though he clearly knew that he remained 
Douglas's attorney of record, .respondent did not 
prepare for trial, did not meet with Douglas in prepara­
tion for trial, and did not submit a brief any time before 
the July 2, 1996 trial, as ordered by the WCAB judge. 

At this late date, Douglas could not find another 
attorney to take over her case, although there is no 
evidence she attempted to do so. Accordingly, she 
obtained copies ofher medical reports, prepared her 
own trial brief, and attended the trial by herself. On 
the day the WCAB case was tried, the parties 
entered into stipulations with an agreed amount re­
quested for ari award (hereafter the stipulation). 
Douglas and McPeake were the only persons who 
signed the stipulation before it was filed with the 
WCAB. However, because respondent remained 

279 

Douglas's attorney of record, there was a designated 
space on the stlpulation for his s ignature. The WCAB 
judge entered an award in favor of Douglas in 
accordance ~ith the terms of the stipulation. In the 
award, the judge entered "-0-" in the blank for sum 
«payable to applicant's attorney as to the reasonable 
value of services rendered." 

Respondent admits that he did not attend the July 
2, 1996 trial, but testified that he did not make it 
because he got lost on his way to court. Respondent 
testified that, when he finally arrived, he spoke with 
the WCAB judge and that the judge told him that 
Douglas's case had been settled. In accordance with 
respondent's testimony, the hearingjudge found that 
"[ rJespondent did not appear for the trial but did arrive 
after the proceedings were concluded." However, 
the hearing judge rejected respondent's testimony 
that (1) he went to the hearing to protect Douglas's 
interests, (2) he did not know whether he was still 
Douglas's attorney of record, and (3) he did not 
remember what time it was when he finally arrived at 
the WCAB and spoke to the judge. We agree with 
and adopt these three enumerated findings. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

COUNT ONE, RULE 3-1 I0(A) 
(FAILURE TO PERFORM) 

(6) We agree with the hearing judge's conclu­
sion that, at a minimum, respondent violated rule 
3-1 lO(A) (both former and current versions) by 
repeatedly and recklessly failing to perfonn the legal 
services forwhichDouglas retained him. Contrary to 
respondent's contentions, he did not perform any 
substantive work on Douglas's case for the more 
than five years that he represented her. Such a 
complete failure to act is clearly repeated and reck• 
less. [4b) Moreover, respondent' s unjustified failure 
to attend the March 1996 status conference was 
reckless. 

COUNT TWO, SECTION 6068, SUBDIVISION 
(m) (FAILURE TO RESPOND TO STATUS 

INQUIRIES) 

Although we have reversed most of the hearing 
judge' s findings concerning Douglas' s purported at-
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tempts to communicate with respondent between 
April 1990 and February 199 l, we do find that she 
made at least one effort to obtain information by 
writing respondent a letter. We determine that letter 
was a reasonable request by Douglas for information 
concerning her WCAB matter. Respondent failed to 
respond to that request. We find him culpable of a 
violation of section 6068, subdivision (m )7. 

COUNTS THREE AND FOUR, 
RULE 3-700(0)(1) (FAILURE TO RELEASE 

CLIENT FILE) AND RULE 3-700(A)(2) 
(IMPROPER WITHDRAWAL) 

(7a] We combine counts three and four in our 
analysis because of the possibility that identical con­
duct may be the basis for charges under each of the 
charged rules, and initially address rule 3-700(A)(2) 
(count four) because it is the more comprehensive. 
Rule 3-700(A)(2)provides that an attorney"shall not 
withdraw from employment until [he] has taken 
reasonable steps to avoid reasonably foreseeable 
prejudice to the rights of the client, including giving 
due notice to the client, allowing time for employment 
of other counsel, complying with rule 3-700(0 )(I), 
and complying with applicable laws and rules." Ac­
cordingly, under the express terms of rule 3-700(A X2), 
an attorney's failure to give the file to his client in 
accordance with rule 3-700(0)( I) after the attorney 
has withdrawn from employment may be at least a 
portion ofconduct properly disciplinable asa violation 
of rule 3-700(A)(2). Such is the case before us, and 
we decline to again use that conduct in finding a 
separate violation of rule 3-700(0)( I). 

l 8a] The record is clear that Douglas terminated 
respondent's employment in her April 15, 1996 letter 
to him. This did not terminate respondent's responsi­
bilities to Douglas. He remained attorney of record 
for her until either a proper substitution of attorney 
was filed with the WCAB or a motion relieving him 
as attorney of record was granted. He took no action 
to terminate his position as attorney of record, leaving 

7. Respondent was not charged with fai\jng to adequately 
communicate with Douglas; only with failing to respond to 
Douglas's status inquiries. 
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his client without representation or her file, and the 
WCAB as well as the opposing party in a dilemma as 
to how to proceed. Further, respondenthadacontinu­
ing obligation to comply with rule 3-700(A)(2), or its 
predecessor, former rule 2-111 (A)(2), which prohib­
its an attorney from withdrawing services until he or 
she has taken reasonable steps to avoid any foresee­
able prejudice to the client, and which also applies 
when the client fires the attorney. (In the Matter of 
Myrdal!, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at 374.) 
That same rule, and its predecessor, requires that the 
attorney "continue representing the client until he or 
she has taken steps to avoid foreseeable prejudice." 
(In the Matter of Taylor (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 563, 574.) An attorney ofrecord 
in a case remains the client's counsel and continues 
to have a duty to avoid foreseeable prejudice to the 
client's interests until a substitution of counsel is filed 
or the court grants the attorney leave to withdraw. (In 
the Matter of Riley (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 91, 115; rule 3-700(A)(l).) 

[7b) (8b] At an absolute minimum, to effect a 
proper withdrawal from representation, respondent 
was obligated to advise his client of the dates of 
upcoming events, including trial dates, advise her of 
filing dates for various required documents, including 
a trial brief, and ensure that she had the ability to 
retrieve her file. Respondent met none of these 
minimal requirements. The fact that Douglas, without 
his knowledge, learned of these requirements else­
where did not relieve him of these obligations. 
Respondent claimed he wrote to Douglas, tel ling her 
to pick up her file. In that alleged letter he expressed 
his doub~ about whether Douglas would even receive 
that letter. In summary, respondent made no effort to 
protect the interests of his client on his de facto 
withdrawal from representation ofDouglas. Respon­
dent willfully violated rule 3-700(A)(2) because he 
failed to properly remove himself as Douglas's attar~ 
ney of record in the WCAB, because he failed to give 
the case file to Douglas in accordance with the 
request she made in.her April 15, 1996 letter, because 
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he failed to advise her of the trial date in her case, and 
because he failed to advise her that she was required 
to file a trial brief no later than 30 days beforeJuly2, 
1996. 

f7c] Because we have used the failure of re­
spondent to take reasonable steps to see that Douglas 
had the ability to receive her file as part of the basis 
for finding respondent culpable of violating rule 3-
700(A)(2) we reject a separate finding of culpability 
under rule 3-700(0)( 1 ). 

The hearing judge detennined that respondent 
was culpable of abandonment. We note that no such 
charge was made against respondent and reject that 
finding. 

COUNT FIVE, SECTION 6106 
(MORAL TURPITUDE) 

We adopt the hearing judge's finding that re­
spondent committed an act of dishonesty in violation 
of section 6106 when in March 1996 he misrepre­
sented to Mc Peake that Douglas no longer wanted to 
pursue her claim against Pacific Bell. 

AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES 

It is clear that aggravating circumstances must 
be shown by clear and convincing evidence to have 
an effect on discipline. (Standard 1.2(b ); In the 
·Matter of Cacioppo (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. I 28, 148.) Each of the indicated 
areas of aggravation have been found to be true by 
such clear and convincing evidence. 

PRIOR RECORD OF DISCIPLINE 

(9a] Under standard l .2(b)(i) a prior record of 
discipline is an aggravating factor in measuring disci­
pline. In accordance with a stipulation as to facts and 
discipline between respondent and the State Bar, that 
was approved by a State Bar Court hearingjudge, the 
Supreme Court filed an order in June 1996 in which 
itplacedrespondenton 12months' stayed suspension 
and two years' probation with conditions (but no 
actual suspension). The Supreme Court also ordered 
respondent to take and pass the Multistate Profes­
sional Responsibility Examination. 
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[9b] Respondent's prior misconduct involved 
the mishandling of trust funds in two client matters. 
More specifically, the balance in respondent's client 
trust account repeatedly dropped far below the 
amounts he was to have maintained on deposit. 
Undeniably, respondent's prior misconduct is serious. 

(9c] The hearingjudge gave respondent's prior 
record of discipline "little weight in aggravation" 
because he found that respondent's prior misconduct 
"took place in 1990 and 1992, after Respondent had 
entered into the Douglas case." While we disagree, 
in part, with that finding we do not totally reject the 
hearing judge's analysis. Contrary to the hearing 
judge's finding, respondent's misconduct in the prior 
proceeding took place from 1992 through 1995. 
Although the Supreme Court did not file its disciplin­
ary order in respondent's prior case until June 1996, 
the State Bar filed, and served on respondent, the first 
notice to show cause in respondent's prior case in:the 
fall of 1994. Respondent signed the stipulation as to 
facts and disposition in which he admitted committing 
the misconduct stated above in January 1996. 
Respondent's misconduct in the present proceeding 
commenced well before the State Bar had begun 
disciplinaryproceedings in the prior matter in the fall 
of I 994, but continued and accelerated during the 
pendency of that prior proceeding and after he had 
stipulated, in January 1996, to engaging in serious 
prior misconduct from 1992 through 199 5. In fact, the 
more egregious portion of respondent's misconduct 
in the present matter occurred after his stipulation to 
culpability in the prior matter. 

f9d] Although respondent's present misconduct 
does not resemble that addressed in the prior disci­
plinary proceeding it did occur after issuance of a 
notice to show cause in the prior proceeding. We do 
accord some aggravating weight to that prior disci­
pline. (Cf. In the Matter of Kaplan (Review Dept. 
1996) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 547, 564.) His failure 
to conform his conduct to the standards of the legal 
profession after the institution and prosecution of that 
prior disciplinary case is a factor in aggravation. (In 
the Matter of Hunter (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 63, 80.) We give respondent's 
prior record of discipline some greater weight than did 
the hearing judge. 
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LACK OF CANDOR 

(5bJ Standard l.2(b)(vi) determines that a lack 
of candor is an aggravating factor. The hearingjudge 
found that respondent displayed a lack of candor 
because respondent was "less than forthright in his 
testimony and deceptive in his dealing with the State 
Bar investigators." The hearingj udge gave this factor 
considerable weight. Like the hearingj udge, we find 
that respondent deliberately made misrepresenta­
tions to the State Bar investigator and that he 
deliberately presented false testimony in the State 
Bar Court. Like the hearing judge, we consider 
respondent's lack of candor to be a strong aggravat­
ing circumstance. In fact, respondent's lack of candor 
is more egregious than the misconduct found against 
him in this proceeding. The Supreme Court has 
repeatedly noted "that deception of the State Bar may 
constitute an even more serious offense than the 
conduct being investigated." (Franklin v. State Bar 
(1986) 41 Cal.Jd 700, 712 (dis. opn. of Lucas, J.).) 

{101 There is a clear distinction between cred­
ibility and candor. (See, e.g., Franklin v. State Bar, 
supra, 41 Cal.3d at p. 708 & fn. 4.) The determina­
tion of a witness's credibility (i.e., believability) is 
primarily within the province of the hearing judge 
because he or she saw and heard the witness testify. 
(Rules Proc. State Bar, rule 305(a).) On the other 
hand, the determination that a witness's testimony 
lacks candor (i.e., the witness is lying) must ordinarily 
be found by clear and convincing evidence. (Stds. 
l .2(b ), l .2(b )(vi); but see Siegel v. Committee of Bar 
Examiners ( 1973) 10 Cal.3d 156, 178-179 [in cases 
involving an applicant's exercise of a First Amend­
ment right of free speech, the committee must prove 
the applicant to be lying beyond areasonabledoubt]). 
[11] Even though a witness's candor must ordinarily 
be shown by clear and convincing evidence, great 
weight is still given to the hearingjudge 's findings on 
candor. (Franklin v. State Bar, supra, 41 Cal.3d at 
p. 708.) 

Misrepresentations to State Bar Investigator 

(Sc) AfterDouglascomplainedaboutrespondent' s 
conduct to the State Bar, a State Bar investigator sent· 
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respondent a letter asking him for an explanation. On 
October 8, 1996, respondent sent the investigator a 
letter in which he included the following statement in 
his· list of services that he allegedly performed for 
Douglas: "Appearance before Hon. George W. Mason 
on 7/2/96 in Walnut Creek, CA."Furthennore, respon­
dent stated in his letter "[p ]lease be aware that 
complainant's [i.e., Douglas's] case ... was settled 
through a Stipulation which resulted in an awar~ of 
$1,785.00 to claimant and payment of future medical 
expenses (see Exhibit "D") on July 2, 1996." The 
"Exhibit • D"' respondent included in that letter was a 
copy of the stipulation that contained a signature by 
respondent in the space provided for his signature. 
Respondent, however, never signed the original stipu­
lation. As noted above, the original stipulation was 
signed only by McPeake and Douglas and then filed 
with WCAB. The original stipulation that is in the 
WCAB's official file is not signed by respondent. 

[5d] On November 25, 1996, respondent sent 
another letter to the investigator. In that letter respon­
dent made the following statement: "As you have 
been made aware, I have been to the hearing at 
WCAB in Walnut Creek on July 2, 1996." 

{Se] When respondent wrote his letters of Oc­
tober 8, 1996, and November 25, 1996, he knew that 
he had not made an "appearance" before Judge 
Mason and that he had not "been to the hearing ... 
on July 2, 1996." The evidence clearly establishes 
that respondent made these statements knowing that 
they were false and misleading and made them with 
the intent to deceive the investigator. 

. [5fJ Moreover, when he sent the investigator a 
copy of the stipulation with his signature onit, respon­
dent knew that he had never signed the original 
stipulation that is on file at the WCAB. Respondent's 
signing of the stipulation is inconsistent with his claim 
that he did not know whether he still represented 
Douglas after March or April 1996. The evidence 
clearly establishesthat respondent sent the investiga­
tor the copy of the stipulation with the intent to 
deceive the investigator into believing that respondent 
had actually appeared at the July 2, 1996 trial and 
represented Douglas in settling her claim. 
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False Testimony in the State Bar Court 

l5gJ As did the hearing judge, we find 
respondent's testimony in the hearing department to 
be false in several respects. Respondent initially 
testified that he did not know ifhetalkedto, or had any 
communication with, Douglas between the time of 
her signing the substitution ofattomey in late 1989 and 
the middle of 1996. 8 Dealing with that same period of 
time, respondent later testified "But [Douglas] told 
me, I think, that she moved from Benicia to another 
place, Richmond, I thought it was .... And that's how 
I got to know her new address. I think she gave it to 
me by telephone or something like, that." In fact 
Douglas had the same address in Richmond through­
outrespondent' s representation ofher, had not moved 
during that period, and respondent had not talked with 
her. 

[ Sb J As we have indicated, respondent wrote a 
representative of Pacific Bell in November 1991 
indicating that he had been in contact with Douglas. 
In fact he had not been in contact with her. When 
questioned in the hearing department about the truth­
fulness of this statement in his letter, he testified "I 
was in contact with her by telephone, I think, not by the 
letter .... I think I called her, and at that time she told 
me go ahead and pursue the claim." This testimony 
was not true and respondent knew it was not true. 

[Si) Respondent testified that he did not know 
the hearing date of the WCAB hearing for Douglas. 
When confronted with the notice of the hearing from 
his own file containing the exact date and time of that 
hearing with his handwritten notes on that notice, he 
testified that he thought the question had to do with the 
filingofa trial briefin the WCAB matter. The question 
was clear and unambiguous. We find that respondent's 
testimony in this regard was deliberately false. 

MULTIPLE ACTS OF MISCONDUCT 

Standard l .2(b)(ii) urges that multiple acts of 
misconduct be treated as aggravation. We agree, but 
do note that it occurred in a single client matter. 

8. He testified "I don't remember that I talked to her. I don't 
remember." 
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However, we do note that respondent's found lying to 
the Pacific Bell representative that Douglas did not wish 
to pursue her claim is similar to the found aggravation 
under the subheading Lack of Candor, supra. We 
include this factor in the weighing of aggravation. 

HARM 

Under standard l.2(b)(iv) significant harm 
caused by a respondent's misconduct is an aggravat­
ing factor in recommending discipline for an errant 
attorney. The hearingjudge found that respondent's 
misconduct significantly harmed Douglas. In his first 
point of error, respondent contends that this finding is 
erroneous or, alternatively, that the hearing judge 
improperly gave it too much weight in aggravation. 
We disagree. 

[Ila] Ordinarily, a short delay, even if it is 
"hannful to a client, is not unusual, and does not, 
standing alone, warrant the conclusion that the client 
was 'significantly' harmed thereby." ( Young v. State 
Bar (1990) SO Cal.3d 1204, 1217.) However, in the 
p·resent case, we are not dealing with a short delay. 
We are dealing with a delay of more than five years. 

[ llb] In addition, we have held that an attorney's 
failure to perform for more than five years caused the 
client hann under standard l .2(b)(iv) because the 
client lost her cause of action. (In the Matter of Bach 
(Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 631, 
642, 646.) We recognized such hann even though the 
client's claim was weak and she could not have 
reasonably expected to receive a substantial settle­
ment or judgment. (Id. at p. 646.) While Douglas did 
not lose her cause of action, it. is clear that the 
inexcusable delay in the resolution of her claim did 
have a substantial impact on her. A reasonable 
economic measure of the harm caused to Douglas is 
her lost use of the value of her settlement proceedings 
for five years. We are not dealing with a short delay, 
but one of an extended duration. We decline to 
attempt to define the extent of the economic harm to 
Douglas, but note that it meets the requirement of 
significant harm as set forth in standard l .2(b )(iv). 
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MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES 

The hearing judge gave respondent mitigating 
credit for his pro bono and community service. (Std. 
l .2(e)(vi).) Our review of the record discloses that 
respondent's pro bono and community involvement 
was not great and is somewhat remote in time. 
Accordingly, we give him slight mitigating credit for 
that pro bono service. 

LEVEL OF RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE 

In his second point of error, respondent contends 
that the hearingjudge' s discipline recommendation is 
excessive. In contrast, the State Bar argues that if 
anything, the recommended discipline errs on the side 
of too little actual suspension. 

. In detennining the appropriate level of discipline, 
we first look to the standards for guidance. (Drociak 
v. State Bar ( 199 I) 52 Cal.3d 1085, 1090; In the 
Matter of Koehler (Review Dept. 1991) I. Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 615, 628.) Standard 1.3 provides that 
the primary purposes of discipline are to protect the 
public, the courts, and the legal profession; to maintain 
the highest possible professional standards for attor­
neys; and to preserve public confidence in the legal 
profession. (See also Chadwick v. State Bar ( 1989) 
49 Cal.3d 103, ll 1.) 

The applicable sanction in this proceeding is 
found in standard2.3, which provides that an attorney's 
culpability of an act of moral turpitude shall result in 
actual suspension or disbannent depending upon the 
extent of harm, the magnitude of the act, and the 
degree to which it relates to the attorney's practice of 
law. In the present proceeding; the magnitude of the 
misconduct is substantial and it directly relates to and 
involves respondent's practice of law. Respondent 
committed multiple acts of dishonesty and moral 
turpitude. Thus, significant discipline is warranted 
under standard 2.3. 

Both the State Bar and respondent cite cases for 
our consideration in determining the appropriate level 
of recommended discipline. However, recommended 
discipline does not arise from a fixed formula, but 
should be based on a fair balance of all relevant 
factors, including mitigation and aggravation. (Sands 
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v. State Bar (1989)49 Cal.3d 919, 931.) Though we 
look to the standards for guidance, "[i]n determining 
discipline, the particular facts of each case must be 
reviewed .... 'There are no fixed standards as to; the 
appropriate penalty.' [ Citations omitted.]" (Franklin 
v. State Bar, supra, 41 Cal.3d 700, 710.). None the 
less, we look to like cases for guidance in an effort to 
provide an even hand in our recommendations. (See 
Snyder v. State Bar (1990) 49 Cal.3d 1302, 1310-
1311; In the Matter of Tay/or, supra, 1 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. at p.580.) 

In support of his position that the hearingjudge's 
recommendation of 150 days of actual suspension is 
excessive, respondent primarily relies on four cases; 
Wren v. State Bar ( 1983) 34 Cal.3d 81 ; Calvert v. 
State Bar(l991) 54 Ca1.3d 765; Colangelo v. State 
Bar (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1255; and In the Matter of 
Johnston (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 585. In Wren the attorney, in a single client 
matter, failed to communicate, misrepresented the 
status of the matter by, inter alia, giving the client a 
trial date when the action had not been filed. (Wren 
v. State Bar, supra, at pp.86-89.) Wren was sus­
pended for 45 days. (Id. at p. 83.) In Calvert the 
attorney was found culpable of a failure to communi­
cate with her client and continuing representation 
when she did not have time to represent the client with 
competence, and not culpable of abandonment. 
(Calvert v. State Bar, supra, at pp.782-783.) Al­
though there was a conflict in the evidence between 
Calvert and her client, (id. at p. 771) there was no 
finding oflying by Calvert. She was suspended for 60 
days. (Id. at pp. 785-786.) 

In Colangelo, a default in the State Bar Court 
proceedings although the respondent appeared be­
fore the Supreme Court, Colangelo was found culpable 
of, inter alia, failure to perfonn, failure to respond to 
status inquiries and failure to keep his client reason­
ably informed of the status of his matter. ( Colangelo 
v. State Bar, supra, 53 Cal.3d at pp. 1266-1267.) 
Taking particular note of the apparent lack of harm 
and the weakness of the evidence· in the default 
matter (Ibid), the Supreme Court imposed no actual 
suspension (id. at pp. 1258, 1267-1268.). But the 
dissent urged 60 days actual suspension. (Id. at p. 
1270, dis. opn. of Baxter, J.) In Johnston, also a 
default, the final case cited by respondent concerning 



IN THE MA TTEROF DAHLZ 

(Review Dept. 200 I) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 269 

the length of actual suspension, the attorney was 
found culpable in a single client matter of a failure to 
perfonn, failure to communicate with his client and 
holding himself outto his client as entitled to practice 
law when he was not, in fact, entitled to practice and 
failure to cooperated with a State Bar investigation. 
(In the Matter of Johnston, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. at p. 589.) We recommended an actual 
suspension of 60 days (id. at p.591) which was 
approved by the Supreme Court. 

Each of the cases relied on by respondent has 
underlying misconduct similar to the found miscon­
duct on the charges brought in the present action. But, 
none of those cases involved lying by the respondent 
to the opposing party, to a State Bar investigator orto 
the State Bar Court. As the Supreme Court has noted 
an attorney's dishonesty '"violates "the fundamental 
rules of ethics - that of common honesty- without 
which the profession is worse than valueless in the 
place it holds in the administration of justice." [Cita­
tions].' (Rhodes v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 50, 
60.) The Supreme Court has regularly and consis­
tently condemned attorney dishonesty. (Sevin v. 
State Bar (1973) 8 Cal.3d 641, 645-646 [misappro­
priation and fabricated loan agreement]; Chang v. 
StateBar(l989)49Cal.3d 114,128 [misappropria­
tion with fraudulent and contrived misrepresentations 
to State Bar]; Marquette v. Stale Bar (1988) 44 
Cal.3d 253, 263 [insufficiently funded checks].) 

On the other hand, each of the cases relied on by 
the State Bar involves far more egregious underlying 
misconduct. However, several of those cases involve 
misrepresentations to either the investigator for the 
State Bar or this court:In Borre v. State Bar, 1991, 
5 2 Cal.3 d I 04 7, the client Lascano was incarcerated 
in state prison on a felony conviction and was repre­
sented by court-appointed counsel. Lascano's 
girlfriend and her.mother paid Borre· the fee for an 
appeal. Upon notification of his representation of 
Lascano the court tenninated the court-appointed 
counsel. Borre· failed to file a brief following several 
extensions, and because of that failure the court 
dismissed the appeal on December 26, 1985·. Borre' 
wrote his client on February 11, 1986, and stated he 
had "abandoned" the appeal. (Id. at pp. 1049-1050.) 
In defense Borre· presented a copy of a purported 
letter to Lascano's mother dated one month before 
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the dismissal stating that he found no issues for appeal 
but he had obtained an extension to December 18, 
1985, if she wanted to find another lawyer. (Id. at p. 
1050.) The letter was found to be false. (Id. at p. 
1052.) The Supreme Court took note of the fact that 
Borre· abandoned an incarcerated client, and stated 
that "[p ]etitioner' s abandonment of his incarcerated 
client was itself a serious matter warranting substan­
tial discipline." (Id. atp. 1053.)WeconsiderBorre's 
underlying misconduct more serious than that of 
respondent. (See In the Matter of Nees (Review 
Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 459,465,466 
[ abandoned incarcerated client, six months actual 
suspension].) However, Borre's false letter demon­
strates similar conduct to that of respondent in the 
matter before us. 

In both Worthv. State Bar(1978)22Cal.3d 707 
and Warner v. State Bar (1983) 34 Cal.3d 36 the 
Supreme Court disbarred the attorneys after finding 
serious misconduct followed by false evidence and 
testimony before the State Bar. Worth was on proba­
tion for mishandling client funds ( Worth v. State Bar, 
supra, at p. 708) and was found culpable of misap­
propriation in the instant case along with offering a 
false letter, lying about it and lying about going to 
Missouri to obtain his clients signature on an undated 
disbursal letter(id at pp. 708, 710-711 ). Warner had 
two separate proceedings consolidated by the Su­
preme Court. The first involved unconscionable fees 
and unilaterally withholding interest on a loan from a 
client with prior similar misconduct and giving false 
testimony, (Warner v. State Bar, supra, at pp. 40-
44) while the second involved misappropriation 
involving moral turpitude and making false represen­
tations involving moral turpitude to the disciplinary 
panel (id. at pp. 44-48). 

In In the Matter of Johnson (Review Dept. 
2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 179, the respondent 
was found culpable of moral turpitude in signing a 
client's name to a declaration under penalty of per­
jury, failure to provide competent service in four client 
matters, failure to return unearned fees in two client 
matters, failure to respond to status inquiries, failure 
to provide an accounting, misrepresenting to a client. 
the status of his case, breaching client confidentiality 
and failure to comply with the conditions of a prior 
reproval. (Id. at pp. 183-190.) In aggravation, among 
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other things, Johnson presented to the State Bar 
Court false verification forms purportedly signed by 
a client. (Id at p. 191.) We recommended that 
Johnson be actually suspended for a period of two 
years. (Id at p. 193.) 

In Olguin v. State Bar ( 1980) 28 Cal.3d 195 the 
Supreme Court increased the recommended actual 
suspension from 90 days to six months following 
Olguin's stipulation that he failed to use reasonable 
diligence in prosecuting a client matter resulting in the 
action being dismissed and that he lied to a State Bar 
investigator about that client matter and fabricated 
documents for his defense. (Id. at pp. 197-200.) 

With the exception of Olguin we determine that 
the underlying misconduct in each of these cases was 
more serious than that in the matter before us. In 
Borre' the respondent "'recklessly represented to 
the Court of Appeal that he was Lascano's appellate 
attorney when he knew or should have known that he 
could not reasonably perf onn the duties of an appel­
late attorney ... ' ." (Borre v. State Bar, supra, 52 
Cal.3d at p.1051.) In Johnson the respondent was 
found culpable in four client matters and a failure to 
comply with conditions of a prior reproval. The two 
misappropriation cases (Worth and Warner) were 
far more egregious than the matter before us. 

ISk] We find no case that directly guides us, but 
take assistance from each of the cited cases and look 
to the essential facts of the matter before us. Respon­
dent undertook representation of a client and for a 
period in excess of five years failed to perform any 
substantial service for that client. He lied to the 
opposing party about his activity on the case and later 
lied again to the opposing party about his client's 
interest in pursuing her claim, to the potential detri­
ment of the client, for which he has been found 
culpable of moral turpitude. He failed to respond to 
the client's reasonable inquiry as to the status of her 
matter and then improperly withdrew from represen­
tation. In substantial aggravation he attempted to 
mislead the State Bar investigator in at least two 
instances and was found to lack candor in his testi­
mony before the hearing department. While at the 
time of his present misconduct, respondent did not 
have a true record of discipline, he had acknowl­
edged, by stipulation, prior unrelated misconduct at 
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the time a portion of his present misconduct was 
ongoing. We also note Douglas was harmed by the 
unconscionable delay resulting from respondent's 
inaction for in excess of five years. 

We conclude that the interests of the public, the 
courts, and the legal profession will be protected only 
by increasing the discipline that would otherwise be 
imposed for the underlying misconduct to a period of 
actual suspension of one year, as one of the conditions 
of a four-year stayed suspension. We make this 
recommendation because of the serious moral turpi­
tude involved in respondent's deliberately attempting 
to mislead the State Bar investigator, his false testi­
mony before the hearing department of this court, and 
his lying to the opposing party to the potential detri­
ment of his client. 

[131 The last issue respondent raises is the 
hearingjudge' s recommendation that respondent "be 
suspended from the practice of law for three years 
and until he provides proof satisfactory to the State 
Bar Court of his rehabilitation, fitness to practice and 
present learning and ability in the general law pursu­
antto standard l.4(c)(ii), ... that said suspension be 
stayed; and that he be placed on probation for four 
years subject to the following conditions: ... " We 
read that recommendation to provide that the stan­
dard l.4(cXii) provision be stayed along with the 
stayed three-year suspension, provided, that in the 
event of a subsequent probation revocation proceed­
ing in which all, or a part, of the period of stayed 
suspension may be imposed a standard 1.4( c )(ii) 
would be an available condition. 

Finally, we do not recommend that respondent 
be ordered to take and pass the Multistate Profes­
sional Responsibility Examination because, as noted 
above, the Supreme Court ordered respondent to take 
and pass that examination in his prior disciplinary 
proceeding and because none of respondent's mis­
conduct in this proceeding was committed after that 
order. 

RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE 

We recommend that respondent Justin R. Dahlz 
be suspended from the practice oflaw for a period of 
four years and until he provides proof satisfactory to 
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the State Bar Court of his rehabilitation, fitness to 
practice and present learning and ability in the general 
law pursuant to standard l.4(c)(ii), that the suspen­
sion and the standard l .4( c )(ii) provision be stayed, 
and that he be placed on probation for a period of four 
years on the conditions that he be actually suspended 
for one year and that he comply with each of the 
remaining conditions of probation recommended by 
the hearingjudge. 

RULE 955 

It is recommend that respondent be ordered to 
comply with the provisions of rule 955 of the Califor­
nia Rules of Court and to perform the acts specified 
in subdivisions(a) and ( c )of that rule within 30 and40 
calendar days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court order in this matter. 

COSTS 

It is recommended that costs be awarded to the 
State Bar pursuant to Business and Professions Code 
section 6086.10 and that those costs be payable in 
accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6140.7. 

I concur: 
WATAI, J. 

CONCURRING AND DISSENTING 
OPINION OF STOVITZ, J. 

I agree fully with the majority's findings and 
conclusions of respondent's culpability and analysis 
of the mitigating and aggravating circumstances. I 
also join the majority's analysis of the cases cited by 
respondent, agreeing that those cases do not justify 
the lesser discipline respondent urges. However, 
even greater discipline than recommended by the 
majority is warranted for respondent's repeated and 
reckless failure to perfonn services for Ms. Douglas 
over a six-year period, his attempted sabotage of 
Douglas's WCAB claim, and his eight instances of 
deceit over more than an eighFyear period collec­
tively to the opposing party, to the State Bar 
investigators, and during his testimony in the State 
Bar Court. N otingalso the weight we properly give to 
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respondent's prior discipline, the public and the courts 
are entitled to the minimal protection of respondent 
successfully completing a rehabilitation showing un­
der standard l .4(c)(ii), incident to a two-year actual 
suspension from practice. 

The majority's opinion documents well 
respondent's protracted failure to perform any sig­
nificant services in what appears to be a routine 
workers' compensation claim. It also shows that 
respondent lied twice to agents of Pacific Bell, the 
workers' compensation employer in Douglas's case. 
He first misled Pacific Bell in November 1991, stating 
that he had been in contact with Douglas when he had 
not, in an apparent effort to forestall Pacific Bell's 
motion to dismiss Douglas's claim. His second lie, in 
March 1996, that Douglas did not intend to pursue her 
claim, had the clear effect of attempting to sabotage 
his own client's case. That it did not succeed is more 
fortuity than anything for which respondent can claim 
credit. Finally, at the proverbial "eleventh hour," 
Douglas was left to her own efforts to see her claim 
through to some recovery, six years after it was filed. 

As the majority finds, after the State Bar started 
an investigation, respondent repeatedly deceived the 
State Bar and this court in defending his conduct. His 
deceit took varied forms over four years: written 
misrepresentations to State Bar investigators and 
false testimony in three respects before the State Bar 
Court which, in part, also rested on respondent's 
fabrication of an entry within his telephone log. 

By whatever framework cited by the majority 
we use to arrive atan appropriate recommendation of 
discipline, whether by examining the appropriate 
Standards, balancing all relevant factors, or looking at 
past decisions for guidance, this record shows grave 
misconduct, which, collectively, spanned eight of 
respondent's twelve years of practice. It shows 
repeated dishonesty and lack of basic adherence to 
the fiduciary duties of representing a client. Had that 
misconduct been extended to additional client mat­
ters, it could have justified a recommendation of 
disbannent, even without regard to respondent's 
prior discipline for trust account mismanagement. 
(Compare In the Matter of Brimberry (Review 
Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 390.) 
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Almost all cases we decide have factual differ­
ences with reported decisions. However, I consider 
the decision of Borre v. State Bar ( 1991) 52 Cal.Jd 
I 047, to be overall very guiding. Borre abandoned an 
appeal of an incarcerated criminal defendant and 
defended himself dishonestly in State Bar proceed­
ings. The Supreme Court characterized as "egregious" 
Borre's fabrication of an exculpatory letter and his 
lies about it during State Bar proceedings. Borre had 
no prior record of discipline, and he had been admitted 
for 14 years prior to his misconduct in the criminal 
appeal. The Supreme Court imposed a two-year 
actual suspension as part of a larger stayed suspen­
sion. The majority appears to devalue the guidance of 
Borre primarily because it concludes that Borre's . 
abandonment of his client was more serious than 
respondent's repeated failure to perform services for 
Douglas over six years, his deceit of Pacific Bell's 
agents and his failure to comply with ethical rules on 
withdrawal from employment. While I do not dis­
agree that Borre's abandonment was extremely 
serious, as abandonment of an incarcerated 
defendant's case is presumed to be, the balance of all 
relevant factors in Borre, when measured against the 
totality of factors in the present case, guide me to 
conclude that recommendation of the same discipline 
as in Borre is appropriate here. In particular, Borre' s 
lack of a prior record and his much longer practice 
period before the start of misconduct show more 
mitigation than in the present case. Also, without 
condoning Borre's dishonesty, it appears to have 
been more narrow than this respondent's. In my 
view, those factors sufficiently equate the serious­
ness ofBorre' s misconduct with that of respondent's. 

Respondent's practice of deceit in this record is 
highly unusual in California attorney disciplinary cases 
for its length and variety. Moreover, his clear disre­
gard of his client's interests covered half of his 
practice, and his prior record shows that his previ­
ously-judged ethical failures also extended to trust 
account mismanagement. Substantial discipline is 
warranted. It is needed not as punishment of respon­
dent but as justified protection of the public, courts 
and legal profession, and to allow respondent "time 
for introspection so that he will come to appreciate 
that law is more than a mere business. It is still a 
profession in which concerns for ethics matter." (In 
re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 210.) 
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For the reasons stated, I would recommend a 
two-year actual suspension from practice on condi­
tions of probation recommended by the majority and 
with a requirement of satisfying the provisions of 
standard 1.4 ( c )(ii) before the actual suspension ends. 

STOVITZ, J. 
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An attorney, who had previously been disciplined and placed on actual suspension for a period of two years 
and until he established his rehabilitation, fitness to practice, and learning in the law in accordance with standard 
1.4( c )(ii) of the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, filed a petition for relief from 
his actual suspension under standard 1.4( c )(ii). A hearing judge found that petitioner made the requisite 
showings of rehabilitation, fitness, and learning by a preponderance of the evidence and, therefore, granted the 
petition. (Hon. Paul A. Bacigalupo, Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar requested review contending that petitioner did not meet his burden of proof. The review 
department affirmed the hearingjudge's decision. 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: AlanBlumenthal 

For Petitioner: Arthur L. Margolis 

(1 a, bl 135.86 Procedure-Rules of Procedure 
161 Duty to Present Evidence 
2402 Standard l.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Burden of Proof 
The standard of proof in standard 1.4(c)(ii) proceedings for relief from actual suspension is 
preponderance of the evidence. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 634.) Thus, to be entitled to relief 
from actual suspension, petitioners must prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, their 
rehabilitation, present fitness to practice, and present learning and ability in the general Jaw. 

[2 a-c] 130 Procedure-Procedure on Review 
135.70 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure--Review/Delegated_ Powers 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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135.86 Procedure-Rules of Procedure 
165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
16 7 Abuse of Discretion 
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2409 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Procedural Issues 
In reviewing a hearing judge's decision on a standard l.4(c)(ii) petition for relief from actual 
suspension, the standards of review are abuse of discretion and error of law. (Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, rules 300(k), 639.) Under abuse of discretion standard, review department does not review 
hearingjudge'sdecision with the intention of substituting its view forthat ofhearingjudge, but rather 
with the intention of employing the equivalent of the substantial evidence test by accepting hearing 
judge's resolution of credibility and conflicting evidence and hearing judge's choice of possible 
reasonable inferences. Review department reviews the record to determine if hearing judge's 
findings are supported by substantial evidence and whether any errors of law were committed. 

[3 a-c] 116 Procedure-Requirements of Expedited Proceeding 
135.86 Procedure-Rules of Procedure 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
2403 Standard l.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Expedited 
Procedures for ruling on standard 1.4( c )( ii) petitions for relief from actual suspension (Rules Proc. 
of State Bar, rules 630-641) are expedited to avoid procedural delays that might effectively create 
a far longer period of actual suspension than that originally ordered by the Supreme Court. 
Proceedings on standard 1.4( c )(ii) petitions are summary in nature, not full-fledged reinstatement 
proceedings in which disbarred attorneys seek to be reinstated to the practice of law. 

(4 a, b] 159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
167 Abuse of Discretion 
2402 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Burden of Proof 
In standard 1.4( c Xii) proceeding for relief from actual suspension, hearingjudge did not abuse his 
discretiqn in detennining that State Bar's evidence establishing that Client Security Fund had 
previously paid one of petitioner's former clients more than $3,400 based on the client's claim that 
petitioner improperly failed to pay that sum to the client's medical care providers did not prevent 
petitioner from showing his rehabilitation because hearingjudge based that determination on his 
findings that petitioner did not know ( l) of the client's claim or (2) of Client Security Fund's actions 
until petitioner's deposition was taken in standard l.4(c)(ii) proceeding and because those two 
findings are supported by substantial evidence consisting of petitioner's own testimony, which was 
supported with a number of letters from the client's file demonstrating that medical providers had 
been paid. 

[5 a, b] 191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
2490 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Miscellaneous 
Even though petitioner in a standard 1.4( c )( ii) proceeding for relief from actual suspension did not 
know that Client Security Fund had previouslypaid one of his former clients more than $3,400 based 
on the client's claim that petitioner improperly failed to pay th~t sum to the client's medical care 
providers and even though letters from the client's file demonstrated that medical providers had been 
paid, petitioner must still reimburse Client Security Fund for the monies it paid the client. (Bus. & 
Prof. Code,§ 6140.5, subd. (c).) 

(6a,b] 161 Duty to Present Evidence 
2402 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Burden of Proof 
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2490 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Miscellaneous 
In comparison to a disbarred attorney, who has been found unfit to practice law and whose name 
has been stricken from the roll ofattorneys, the suspended attorney in standard 1.4( c )(ii) proceeding 
for relief from actual suspension has suffered a more modest negative evaluation of his character 
by virtue ofhis prior misconduct. Thus, in marked contrastto the disbarred attorney whose showing 
of rehabilitation must be made with stronger proof of present honesty and integrity than one seeking 
a.dmissionforthefirsttimeandwithproofofasustainedperiodofexemplaryconduct,thesuspended 
attorney in standard 1.4( c )(ii) proceeding may show bis rehabilitation, even before the completion 
of the term of his actual suspension, with proof overcoming a reduced prior finding of a danger to 
the public and with a relaxed showing of exemplary conduct. 

(7) 161 Duty to Present Evidence 
2402 Standard l.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Burden of Proof 
Even though moral shortcomings that previously resulted in discipline ofthe suspended attorney in 
standard 1.4( c )(ii) proceeding for relief from actual suspension arc proportionally less than moral 
shortcomings that would result in disbarment, the suspended attorney must still show, by a 
preponderance of the evidence, that he meets the same high moral standards required of all 
attorneys in this state. 

[8) 191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
2490 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Miscellaneous 
In standard 1.4(c)(ii) proceeding for relief from actual suspension, State Bar Court presumes that 
the prior discipline imposed on petitioner was, based on the facts as shown in the prior record of 
discipline, appropriate to accomplish the goals ofattorney discipline to protect the public, the courts, 
and the profession. 

[9 a, b] 165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
2402 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Burden of Proof 
Because record in standard 1.4( c )(ii) proceeding for relief from actual suspension established ( l) 
that, when petitioner committed the misconduct in his prior record that resulted in his actual 
suspension, he was abusing and addicted to alcohol and cocaine, (2) that his abuses ofand addictions 
to alcohol and cocaine causally contributed to his prior misconduct, (3) that he had undergone a 
meaningful and sustained period of rehabilitation from his abuses and addictions, ( 4)that, when the 
discipline was imposed on him in his prior record, these facts were not known to State Bar, State 
Bar Court, the Supreme Court, and (5) that when discipline was imposed in prior proceeding, 
petitioner was in denial regarding his abuses of and addictions to alcohol and cocaine, review 
department found, when it reviewed record to detennine whether hearing judge's findings of 
rehabilitation and present fitness were supported by substantial evidence, that petitioner's addictions 
were not excuses for, but explanations of his prior misconduct. 

[10 a-g] 165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
2490 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Miscellaneous 
Substantial evidence supported hearingjudge's findings in standard 1.4( c Xii) proceeding forrelief 
from actual suspension that petitioner established his rehabilitation and present fitness to practice 
where petitioner proved (I) that he eliminated his abuses of alcohol and cocaine that causally 
contributed to his prior misconduct; (2) that he openly described his prior misconduct to an insurance 
company for whom he worked and to his church, Cocaine Anonymous group, friends, and relatives 
and to the five character witnesses who convincingly testified as to his rehabilitation and good moral 
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character; and (3) that he became a leader in Cocaine Anonymous and president of his church. State 
Bar did not impeach petitioner's showings of rehab iii tation and present fitness with the incomplete 
copy of petitioner' s application for license to act asa life insurance agentto which State Bar alleged, 
but di~ not prove, petitioner attached an addendum that contained a false and misleading description 
of his prior record of discipline. 

(11) 165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
2490 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Miscellaneous 
Hearingj udge did not abuse his discretion in finding that petitioner in standard 1.4( c )(ii) proceeding 
for relieffrom actual suspension established his present learning and ability in the general law where 
petitioner proved that he recently ( 1) completed 100 hours of classes dealing with insurance 
contracts, claims, procedures, and ethics; (2) spent more than 200 hours studying estate planning 
and taxation for small business; (3) litigated his personal bankruptcy and his own child custody case; 
(4) obtained a dismissal of criminal charges his child's mother brought against him regarding 
visitation rights with his daughter; and (5) two attorneys testified that he had extensive knowledge 
of laws regarding estate and business taxation. 

Additional Analysis 
Otber 

2410 Standard l .4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Suspension Lifted 
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OPINION 

OBRIEN, P. J.: 

The State Bar requests review, under rule 300, 
Rules of Procedure of the State Bar (Rules of 
Procedure), of a decision of a hearingjudge granting 
Glenn R. Terrones' s petition for relief from actual 
suspension following his disciplinary suspension-that 
included a requirement that he show satisfactory 
proof to the State Bar Court of his rehabilitation, 
present fitness to practice, and present learning and 
ability in the general law as required under standard 
1.4( c )(ii), Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Pro­
fessional Misconduct' . Proceedings on petitions for 
relief from actual suspension are governed by rules 
630 through 641, Rules of Procedure. 

We have previously considered the State Bar's 
request and have granted review under rule 300, 
Rules of Procedure. In granting that review, and 
before oral argument, we invited the parties to focus 
attention on the circumstances sUJTounding Terrones' s 
application for an insurance license from the Depart­
ment of Jnsurance, State of California, filed in 
conjunction with his seeking employment asan insur-. 
ance agent for Cigna Insurance Company (Cigna). 

( la J As set forth in rule 634, Rules ofProcedure, 
Terrones is required to show compliance with the 
conditions of standard 1.4( c )(ii) by a preponderance 
of the evidence as distinguished from the usual 
standard before this court, requiring clear and con­
vincing evidence. Under rule 639, Rules ofProcedure, 
hearing department decisions on petitions for relief 
from actual suspension are reviewable only in accor­
dance with rule 300, Rules of Procedure. [2a] The 
standard of review under rule 300 is abuse of discre­
tion orerroroflaw. (Ru le3 00(k), Rules Proc.) "Thus, 
the decision of the hearingj udge is reviewed not with 
an intention of substituting the view of this court for 
that of the hearingjudge, but rather with the intention 
of 'employ[ingJ the equivalent of the substantial 
evidence test by accepting the trial court' s resolution 

1. The standards are found in title IV of the Rules ofProcedurc. 
All further references to standards are to this source. 
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of credibi I ity and conflicting substantial evidence, and 
its choice of possible reasonable inferences [ citations 
omitted]."' (In the Matter of Murphy (Review 
Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 571, 577-578.) 

[3a] The Supreme Court has expressed its con­
cern that the State Bar establish an expedited procedure 
for hearing and disposing of petitions for relief from 
actual suspension in the event a standard l.4(c)(ii) 
condition be imposed on an attorney's discipline. 
(Silva-Vidor v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 1,071, 
1080, fn. 6.) The obvious need was to avoid proce­
dural delays _that effectively created a far longer 
actual suspension than that ordered by the Supreme 
Court. To meet that concern, the State Bar provided 
that the proceedings governing relief from actual 
suspension under standard 1.4( c )(ii) be expedited, 
including a requirement that the service of all plead­
ings, decisions and other documents be by personal 
deliveryorovemightmail.(Rule630(b),RulesProc.) 
The State Bar has but 45 days within which to 
determine whether to oppose the petition, and if it 
opposes the petition or is unable to dee ide, the hearing 
must be set within 35 days. (Rule 633(c), Rules Proc.) 
The State Bar may take the petitioner' s deposition 
promptly after the filing of the petition for relief, but 
the deposition may not extend any of the time limits 
under the rules unless ordered by the court for good 
cause shown. (Rule 635, Rules Proc.) Other than 
taking the petitioner's deposition, no discovery is 
pennitted except on order of the court, and even then, 
the discovery may not extend the time in which a 
hearing is required as provided under the rules, except 
for good cause shown to the court. (Rule 635, Rules 
Proc.) Documentary evidence is limited to that at­
tached to the pleadings except for good cause shown. 
(Rule 636, Rules Proc.) The hearing department's 
decision is to be filed within 15 days following the 
conclusion of the hearing. (Rule 63 8, Rules Proc.; see 
also In the Matter of Murphy, supra, 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 578-579.) 

[lb] Standard l .4(c)(ii)requires"proof satisfac­
tory to the State Bar Court of [an attorney's] 
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rehabilitation, present fitness to practice and general 
learning and ability in the general law before the 
[attorney] shall be relieved of the actual suspension." 

For the reasons stated below, we conclude that 
the hearingj udge' s decision should be affirmed. 

DISCIPLINARY BACKGROUND 

Terrones was admitted to practice in February 
1983. On or about June 3 0, 1995, he and the State Bar 
entered into a stipulation offacts and culpability that 
included proposed discipline. In that stipulation 
Terrones acknowledged that on or about June 1992, 
he settled a personal injury case for $9,000, in which 
the client had employed a prior attorney. Terrones 
had agreed to represent the client for the same 
contingent fee as the prior attorney. Terrones re­
ceived a draft from an insurance company for $9,000 
payable to the client, the prior attorney, and himself. 
He endorsed the prior attorney's name on that draft 
and deposited all of the proceeds in his trust account 
on or aboutJune 10, 1992. A medical provider had a 
valid lien on the proceeds of the settlement in the sum 
of $2,000. That medical provider was not paid until 
August 1, 1992, and the balance in the trust account 
dropped below $2,000 during the intervening period. 
Terrones stipulated that signing the prior attorney's 
name to the check was moral turpitude in violation of 
Business and Professions Code section 6106 and that 
he was culpable of moral turpitude in misappropriat­
ing funds held in trust for the medical provider. 

Terrones further stipulated that in 1991 he rep­
resented Ronald Albert on a contingent fee basis in a 
personal injury claim. Terrones had authority to sign 
Albert's name to checks and drafts. In February 
1992, Terrones received an insurance draft from the 
opposing parties' insurance carrier in the sum of 
$25,000, payable to him and his client. That amount 
represented advance payment under a medical pay 
provision of the opposing parties' insurance and was 
to be credited against any future settlement or recov­
ery. Terrones did not inform Albert of the receipt of 
the $25,000 and caused Albert's name to be endorsed 
on the draft and deposited the proceeds in his trust 
account. The Albert case was tried in November 
1993, resulting in a judgment in the approximate sum 
of $26,000. The prior payment of$25,000 was cred-
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ited against the verdict. During the time between the 
payment of $25,000 and the judgment, Terrones's 
trust account balance had fallen as low as approxi• 
mately $1,740. Albert did not learn of the receipt of 
the $25,000 unti!January I 994. In addition, Terrones 
failed to respond to two letters from State Bar 
investigators looking into Albert's complaints. 

The stipulation included an acknowledgment 
that Terrones was culpable of a violation of rule 4w 
lO0(B)(l) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, 
requiring an attorney to promptly notify a client of 
receipt of client funds, moral turpitude (Bus. & Prof. 
Code, § 6106) by misappropriating the $25,000 and 
failure to respond to the State Bar's investigative 
letters (Bus. & Pro£ Code, § 6068, subd. (i)). 

It was stipulated that Terrones's misconduct 
was aggravated because of the multiple offenses 
found, and there was mitigation because there was no 
discipline between his admission to practice in 1983 
and the culpability agreed to. It was stipulated that 
Terrones should be suspended for a period of five 
years, that suspension be stayed on the condition, 
inter alia, that he actually be suspended for two years 
and until he has satisfactorily shown the State Bar 
Court his rehabilitation, fitness to practice, and team­
ing and ability in the law as required by standard 
1.4( c )(ii). With modifications, that stipulation was 
approved by a State Bar Court hearing judge. On 
December 7, 1995, the Supreme Court filed an order 
in case number SO49112 in which it imposed the 
stipulated discipline on Terrones. Terrones's two­
year actual suspension under that order began on 
January 6, 1996. 

EVIDENCE OF REHABILITATION AND 
PRESENT FITNESS TO PRACTICE LAW 

We have before us, as the record in this review 
under rule 300, Rules of Procedure, the petition 
together with its exhibits, the State Bar's opposition to 
the petition, exhibits introduced at the hearing, and an 
electronic tape recording of the hearing. [3b] Those 
items together with the hearing judge's decision 
granting the petition constitute the record on review. 
Atall times in considering the matter before us, we 
bear in mind the summary nature of the proceedings 
(In the Matter of Murphy, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar 
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Ct. Rptr.atpp. 578,581, 584),and (lb] wereviewthe 
record to determine ifthere is substantial evidence to 
support the findings and take care not to substitute our 
judgement for that of the hearing judge. (Id. at pp. 
577-578.) In addition, we review the record to deter­
mine if any errors oflaw have been committed. (Rule 
300(k), Rules Proc.) 

Background to Terrones's Prior Misconduct 

The following findings were made by the hearing 
judge, and we hold that they are each supported by 
substantial evidence. We note that none of the follow­
ing background history was before the State Bar 
Court or the Supreme Court in imposing the prior 
discipline. 

Terrones is a native Californian, having been 
raised in Southern California. No member of his 
family had attended college. Because of economic 
need, he was raised by his maternal grandparents 
until his grandmother died when he was eleven years 
of age, at which time he came under the supervision 
of his parents. Terrones attended the University of 
Pennsylvania and law school at Boalt Hall. He was 
admitted to practice in July 1983. He immediately 
commenced practice in a small firm in Beverly Hills. 
In January 1986 he opened his own office in Beverly 
Hills. 

In both college and law school, Terrones con­
sumed alcohol and marijuana on a regular basis. In 
1984 he began using cocaine as his drug of choice, 
although its use was confined to social occasions until 
about 1991. In 1989 Terrones was named in a 
paternity suit by his daughter's mother and, in re­
sponse, he sought custody ofhisdaughter. The "long, 
vicious, custody battle that ensued drained [Terrones J 
emotionally and financially." In May 1991 he married 
his present wife. By late 1991 Terrones's use of 
alcohol and cocaine "escalated" and became "far 
more regular." There followed, in early 1992, serious 
financial problems in his practice, coupled with his 
denial of the fact that he was suffering from drug and 
alcohol problems. In addition to his drug and alcohol 

.2. The State Bar challenges the propriety ofTerrones's appli­
cation for that license, discussed post. 
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abuse, Terrones attributes part of his financial prob­
lems at that time to a lack of business acumen. As a 
result, he began to "commingle funds from [his] client 
trust account in late 1991 in order to pay [his] bills." 
This, combined with his "lack of supervision over [his) 
office staff" resulted in the misconduct underlying the 
discipline imposed on him by the Supreme Court in 
case number SO49112. 

Terrones' s Evidence of Rehabilitation 
and Present Fitness 

In 1996 Terrones began participation in a Twelve­
Step recovery program known as Cocaine Anonymous 
(CA). He has not used either cocaine or alcohol since 
November 21, 1996, and continues to participate in 
the CA program. He became the general service 
representative for that group, respon'sible for helping 
to manage the business of the program for his local 
district in February 1997. In April 1998 he assumed 
the added responsibility oforganizing CA community 
events and public service announcements addressed 
to those seeking help from addiction. In January 1999 
he became the hospital and institutions representative 
for that group, requiring that he meet with addicts 
incarcerated in various institutions and share his 
addiction problems with those addicts. He is now 
responsible for the organization of their weekly meet­
ings at a local hospital. The testimony ofTerrones's 
expert, a Di pl ornate of the American Board of Psy­
chiatry and Neurology with a certificate of Added 
Qualification in Addiction Psychiatry and a private 
practice in that field, establishes Terrones's present 
rehabilitation from drug and alcohol addiction. The 
State Bar notes that it does not now challenge this 
portion oITerrones' s rehabilitation. 

Terrones obtained a license to sell life and 
disability insurance2 from the State of California in 
mid-1997 and is presently employed selling health and 
life insurance policies. In connection with that em­
ployment and as a function of seeking employment in 
that field,' Terrones has devoted over 200 hours 
studying estate planning, taxation, partnership, corpo­
rate law, inter vivos trusts, as well as insurance law 
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and ethics for insurance agents. The State Bar 
continues to challenge Terrones's present learning 
and ability in the law. 

In early 1997 Terrones and his wife began 
attending services at Throop Memorial Church in 
Pasadena. He, along with his wife, teaches in the 
church's religious elementary school weekly and 
serves on the church finance committee. In April 
2000 he was elected president of that church by the 
congregation. 

Paul Sawyer, the minister ofTerrones's church, 
has known Terrones since January 1997. Through 
church activities and othermutual interests, they have 
become well acquainted. In a church men's group 
meeting in December 1998, Terrones shared with the 
entire group his misconduct that commenced in 1992, 
including the improper endorsement of the settlement 
draft, mishandling client trust funds, failure to notify a 
client of the receipt offunds and his failure to respond 
to the investigation by the State Bar. He provided 
Sawyerwith a copy of the official records of the State 
Bar Court finding Terrones culpable of moral turpi­
tude. Terrones expressed his contrition and 
acknowledged learning an important lesson from the 
pain he inflicted on himself and others. Sawyer was 
made aware ofJerrones's addiction to drugs and the 
efforts he has made to rehabilitate himself. 

Stephanie Wells is the president of Prime Ben­
efits Plus Insurance Service and met Terrones in 
May 1998. She has served as his manager for over 
two years. She had reviewed documents from the 
State Bar Court and believes the conduct demon­
strated in that material is "a complete departure from 
his normal character." Wells believes that, in the 
years she has been in the insurance business, Terrones 
is among the most ethical agents she has encountered 
and "has demonstrated the utmost integrity, honesty, 
a genuineness in the performance of his duties." She 
was surprised to learn of Terrones's prior drug 
problem because of the total absence of any conduct 
on his part suggesting such a problem. She recom­
mends that he be permitted to return to the practice 
of law. 

Karrin Feemster, a lawyer and chief financial 
officer of Prime Benefits Plus Insurance Service, 
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met Terrones around January 1999. At their initial 
meeting, he told Feemster that he had been sus­
pended for professional misconduct. He made no 
excuses for his misconduct, nor did he attempt to 
rationalize. it, but rather accepted the consequences 
of those actions. She stated, "'I have had occasion to 
discuss matters of estate and business taxation plan­
ning and I am impressed with the extent of his 
knowledge and understanding of the law in these 
areas." She supports Terrones's return to active 
practice. 

Benjamin Salazar, a claims analyst for an insur­
ance company, met Terrones over three and one-half 
years ago at a CA meeting and was present at 
meetings where petitioner shared not only his prior 
addiction problems, but the facts and circumstances 
surrounding his suspension from the practice oflaw. 
He has reviewed a copy of the factual stipulations 
with the State Bar. He believes that Terrones has 
undergone a thorough rehabilitation from "drugs, his 
character, and his life. There is no question in [his] 
mind that [Terrones] is fit to practice law, and will 
serve the legal communitywell ifafforded the chance." 

Warren Kelly is an attorney practicing in Los 
Angeles and a third cousin of Terrones. He has been 
in regular contact with Terrones since his suspension. 
He has reviewed the stipulation leading to the prior 
discipline and was familiar with Terrones' s cocaine 
addiction and prior misconduct and the effect they 
had on Terrones's personal life. Kelly describes 
Terrones as a changed person, no longer using drugs 
and a person who has fully rehab ii itated himself. He 
further states that "[Terrones] and I have had numer­
ous discussions about the law and particularly about 
litigation matters. He remains extremely knowledge­
able and still has a remarkably keen eye for issues that 
arise in litigation. In the past year I have had occasion 
to discuss with [Terrones J on [ sic J matters of estate 
planning and taxation, and it is plainly evident that he 
has developed a vast amount of expertise in this 
area." 

Terrones has complied with the conditions of his 
probation requiring him to attend the State Bar's 
Ethics School and its Client Trust Account Record­
Keeping Course and has passed the Multistate 
Professional Responsibility Examination. 
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Terrones testified that he has not sought earlier 
relief from suspension because he wanted to make 
sure that his personal life was stabilized and that he 
had sufficient funds to pay the costs that the Supreme 
CourtawardedtheStateBarincasenwnberS049112. 
He estimated that those costs would be in the neigh­
borhood of$4,000. 

STATE BAR'S EVIDENCE -IN 
OPPOSITION TO REHABILITATION 

AND PRESENT FITNESS 

The State Bar placed in evidence a certified 
copy of a file of the California Department oflnsur­
a~ce, consisting of a copy of Terrones' s application, 
dated April 29, 1997, for a license to act as a life 
insuranceagent. Thatfileindicatesthatsuchalicense 
was issued to Terrones on June 20, 1997. Among the 
questions on that application was number 18, which 
reads in part: "Have you been the subject of any 
administrativeagencydisciplinaryaction?"Terrones 
answered that question "yes." The question is fol­
lowed by a somewhat detailed definition of 
"administrative action." Between question 18 and 
the signature line is an "IMPORTANT NOTICE" 
requiring those who give an affirmative answer to 
that question· to attach a detailed statement of the 
events leading to that disciplinary action and, if 
available, to attach certified copies of that action3

• 

The only attachment to the application shown in that 
certified copy of the file is an order of the Supreme 
Court suspending Terrones for non-payment of State 
Bar membership fees. The Supreme Court's suspen­
sion of an attorney for non-payment of membership 
fees is not a disciplinary action. The State Bar relies 
on this application to show that Terrones was not 

3. The full text of that "IMPORTANT NOTICE" is: .. If you 
answered yes to (18), ( 19), or (20), attach a detailed statement, 
signed by you, of the events which led to the charges ( dates and 
places). If the matter was heard in court, attach copies, Certified 
by the Court, of the Criminal Complaint and the Sentencing 
Minute Order showing the final plea, judgment and sentence. 
If any disciplinary action was taken by an administrative 
agency, attach certified copy of the action." 

4. That addendum states: "I was disciplined by the State Bar 
of California in 1995 for transgression that occurred in Febru­
ary and June of 1992. More specifically, the State Bar and l 
stipulated that I ( 1) failed to timely and properly notify a client 
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candid or forthcoming in his application to the Depart­
ment of Insurance, and contends that it shows a lack 
of rehabilitation. 

In rebuttal, Terrones shows that he applied to 
Cigna Insurance Company (Cigna) for employment 
as an insurance agent. He advised Harvey Jacobson, 
the Los Angeles manager of Cigna, of his disciplinary 
problems with the State Bar. Terrones provided 
Cigna with a complete copy ofhisdisciplinary record. 
Although Cigna's "compliance people,'' located on 
the east coast, advised Jacobson that it was doubtful 
they would approve the hiring ofTerrones because of 
those problems, Jacobson wished to pursue that 
possibility. As a part of his seeking employment with 
Cigna, Cigna asked Terrones to complete the applica­
tion to become an insurance agent and to provide a 
written attachment describing the circumstances lead­
ing to his suspension and return it to Cigna. Terrones 
did complete the application and prepared the adden­
dum. While not false, that addendum was certainly 
less than a full description ofhis misconduct'. Terrones 
signed the application under penalty of perjmy along 
with the addendum and delivered it to Cigna, along 
with a check for the filing fee for that application. 
Jacobson did not see the document as filed with the 
Departmentoflnsurance, nor did Terrones. Terrones 
understood that the assembling and filing of the 
application was to be done by Jacobson's administra­
tive assistant. She did not testify. Terrones believed 
that Cigna would attach all of the documentation that 
he had provided, including the State Bar disciplinary 
record. Terrones did not see a copy of the application 
as filed until discovery in preparation for the hearing 
below. 

of rci:eiptof client funds; (2) [sic] to cooperate timely with the 
State Bar's investigation of a matter, (3) failed to manage 
properly my client trust account fund on two separate and 
isolated instances in February of 1992 and June of 1992; and 
(4) endorsed a settlement check without my co-counsel's 
consent in June of! 992. [,O It must be noted, however, that the 
State Bar concluded that allegations against me that I failed to 
timely disburse funds to my client were unfounded and not 
supponed by the evidence. There were no allegations by my 
client or by co-counsel that l had wrongfully taken or convened 
money from either of them. [ti The foregoing stipulations 
resultedinmy~ngtoasuspensionofmylicensecommenc­
ing January 6, 1996." (Emphasis in original.) 
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[4a] [SaJ The State Bar has shown that the 
Client Security Fund (CSF) paid $3,445.67 to Sylvia 
Hernandez based on claims she made against 
Terrones. The Hernandez claim was made in August 
1996 and apparently was based upon alleged non­
paymentto medical care providers inamatterTerrones 
had handled for Hernandez. He had closed his file in 
October 1995. CSF sent a "Notice of Intention to 
Pay" to Terrones at his address of record in late 
September 1996. In the absence of any response 
from Terrones, CSF paid the claim. Terrones was 
unaware of the Hernandez claim until the taking of his 
deposition in this matter, which was shortly before the 
hearing in this matter. He denied ever seeing corre­
spondence from CSF. From his file, Terrones presented 
a number ofletters demonstrating that in fact medical 
providers on the Hernandez case had been paid. 

f4bJ I 5bJ The hearing judge found that 
"[p ]etitioner was not aware of the Hernandez issue 
until his deposition was taken in this matter." Terrones' s 
testimony that he did not know of the claim of 
Hernandez is substantial evidence of that fact. We 
also note, there is no clear and convincing evidence 
that Hernandez had a valid claim against Terrones. In 
any event, Terrones will be required to reimburse 
CSF for funds paid out as a result of his. conduct. 
(Bus. &Prof. Code,§ 6140.5, subd.(c).) We find the 
hearingjudge did not abuse his discretion in finding 
this did not prevent Terrones' s showing of rehabilita­
tion. 

The State Bar raises three additional issues 
challenging Terrones' s rehabilitation. First, a number 
of Internal Revenue Service. and Franchise Tax 
Board liens were recorded against Terrones in 1996 
and again in 1998 covering taxes due from I 991 
through 1995. The record shows that the balance due 
at the time of the hearing below was approximately 
$472 to the Internal Revenue Service and $500 to the 
Franchise Tax Board, and these sums are being paid 
in installments according to agreements with these 
agencies. Second, after his suspension, Terrones 
continued to used the abbreviation "Esq." on his fax 
machine identifier. He testified that the identifier was 
included on the fax machine when he was practicing 
law and that he did not know how to remove it. Third, 
Terrones had done work for an attorney during his 
period of suspension without telling that attorney he 
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was suspended from practice. Terrones testified that 
the work was only preliminary research, that he never 
met the attorney and assumed he knew of the 
suspension. We conclude that it was within the 
hearing judge's discretion to reject each of these 
contentions as being sufficient to impeach Terrones' s 
showing of rehabilitation and do not further discuss 
them. 

DISCUSSION 

f6a] As indicated, we review the record to 
determine ifthere is substantial evidence to support 
the hearing judge's decision and to determine if an 
error of law has occurred. (Rule 300(k); In the 
Matter of Murphy, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
• at p. 577.) We draw a clear distinction between the 
showing ofrehabilitation required under that standard 
and that required for the reinstatement of a disbarred 
attorney. In the latter case, the petitioner "must 
present stronger proof of his present honesty and 
integritythan-0ne seeking admission for the first time 
whose character has never been in question." (Kepler 
v. Staie Bar (1932) 216 Cal. 52, 55.) A disciplined 
attorney seeking relief from actual suspension of the 
right to practice law remains an attorney, but one 
whose prior serious misconduct has placed in ques­
tion that attorney's moral character by virtue of that 
misconduct. That is, in disbarment cases, the attorney 
has been found not fit to practice law, and his or her 
name has been stricken from the roll of attorneys, 
while in standard 1.4( c )(ii) proceedings, the attorney 
has suffered a more modest negative evaluation ofhis 
or her character. We deem the showing of rehabili­
tation required under this latter standard to be that of 
overcoming a reduced prior finding of a danger to the 
public. 

[7] In addressing the required showing of reha­
bilitation forreinstatement following disbannent, the 
Supreme Court has stated: "The evidence presented 
[ to show rehabilitation] is to be considered in light of 
the moral shortcomings that previously resulted in 
discipline." (Hippard v. State Bar ( 1989) 49 Cal.3d 
1084, 1092, citing Tardiff v. State Bar (1980) 27 
Cal.3d 395, 403.) In a proceeding seeking relief from 
suspension under standard 1.4( c )(ii), '"the moral short­
comings that previously resulted in discipline" are 
proportionally less than is true where the prior moral 
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shortcomings resulted in disbannent. Nonetheless, 
one seeking relief from suspension following the 
imposition of a 1.4( c )(ii) condition must show, by a 
preponderance of the evidence, that he or she meets 
the high moral standards required of all attorneys in 
this state. [3c] As we have noted, the proceeding is 
summary in nature (In the Matter of Murphy, 
supra, 3 Cal. State BarCt.Rptr. atpp. 578,581,584), 
is much expedited and is not designed as a full-fledged 
reinstatement proceeding5

• [2c] Further as we have 
noted, the parties' rightto review ofa hearingjudge' s 
decision on a petition for relief from actual suspension 
is limited to review under rule 300, Rules of Proce­
dure, and our standard of review is limited to a 
consid~ration of abuse of discretion orerroroflaw on 
the part of the hearingjudge. 

I SJ The purpose of attorney discipline is not to 
punish the attorney, but rather to protect the public, 
the courts and the profession. (Chadwick v. State 
Bar(1989)49Cal.3d 103, 11 l;std. l.3.) We presume 
thatthepriordisciplinewasappropriatetoaccomplish 
that purpose, based on the facts as shown in that prior 
record of discipline. That prior discipline did require 
that Terrones be prepared to show his rehabilitation 
following a two-year period of suspension. (9a] A 
significant circumstance contributing to Terrones' s 
prior misconduct is now revealed to be his then 
addiction to illegal drugs and ~!coho!. That informa­
tion was unknown to the State Bar and to this court 
at the time of imposition of the prior discipline. 
Terrones explains that, at the time of his prior disci­
pline, he was in denial that he had a drug or alcohol 
problem or that these substances contributed to his 
misconduct. The psychiatrist testifying on Terrones's 
behalf confirmed that such denial is a common 
occurrence among those addicted to illegal drugs or 
alcohol. 

[9b] We have now been presented with clear 
evidence off errones' s prior addiction, and his subse­
quent contro I of that addiction. The State Bar does not 
argue to the contrary. "An attorney's rehabilitation 
from alcoholism or other substance abuse is entitled 

5. Compare reinstatement proceedings, which 8R': governed by 
rules 660 through 666 of the Rules of Procedure. In such 
proceedings, the State Bar is given 120 days for investigation 

299 

to significant weight in mitigation if the attorney 
establishes these elements: (1) the abuse was addic­
tive in nature, (2) the abuse causally contributed to the 
misconduct, and (3) the attorney has undergone a 
meaningful and sustained period ofrehabilitation." 
(Hawes v. State Bar ( 1990) S 1 Cal.3d 5 87, 595, citing 
-In re Billings (1990) 50 Cal.3d 358, 367-368.) (6bJ 
While reinstatement cases arising after disbarment 
require a sustained period of exemplary conduct, that 
test must of necessity be somewhat relaxed where an 
auomey is seeking relief from actual suspension 
under standard l.4(c)(ii). Silva-Vidor v. Stale Bar, 
supra, 49 Cal.Jd at page 1080, footnote 6, makes 
clear that, for the purposes of that standard, an 
attorney may show his or her rehabilitation even 
before the completion of the term of actual suspen­
sion. This is in marked contrast to the stringent 
requirements imposed on one seeking a return to the 
bar after disbarment. (Tardiff v. State Bar, supra, 
27 Cal.3d at p. 403.) Ultimately, the "question re­
mains whether petitioner is a (it and proper person to 
be pennitted to practice, and that question usually 
turns upon whether he has committed or is likely to 
continue to commit acts of moral turpitude." 
(Hightower v. State Bar (1983) 34 Cal.3d 150, 157, 
citing Hallinan v. Committee of Bar Examiners 
(1966)65 Cal.2d447, 453.) 

[10a] The State Bar relies on evidence of 
Terrones' s April 1997 application to the Department 
of Insurance for a license to· act as a life insurance 
agent. The application, as introduced into evidence, 
was less than complete. There is no competent 
evidence showing that the addendum purporting to 
descril:>e Terrones's prior misconduct was attached 
to the filed copy of the application. Assuming for 
purposes of discussion that the questioned addendum 
was attached, the application remained less than 
complete. However, the hearing judge has deter­
mined that, nonetheless, Terrones has met his burden 
of showing rehabilitation from his prior misconduct 
resulting in discipline. Only if that detennination by 
the hearingj udge involves an error oflaw or an abuse 
of discretion will we disturb that finding. 

(rule 663(a), Rules Proc.), followed by a 120-day discovery 
period (rule 663(b), Rules Proc.). The burden of proof is by 
clear and convincing evidence. (Rule 665(b), Rules Proc.) 
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[10b J The record is uncontradicted that Terrones 
gave a full copy ofhis State Bar disciplinary record to 
Cigna as a part of his application for employment. 
Terrones prepared the application and answered 
truthfully the question concerning his discipline by the 
State Bar. He signed the application under penalty of 
perjury and delivered it along with the addendum and 
his check covering the filing fee to Cigna as a part of 
his application for employment. Cigna had a regular 
procedure for filing such applications with the De­
partment of Insurance on behalf of applicants for 
employment or advancement with the company. He 
believed that Cigna would attach that full record of 
discipline alongwith the addendum to the application 
he delivered to them. Although the hearingjudge did 
not separately determine the effect of that application 
on Terrones' s showingofrehabilitation he, following 
his recital of the factual showing including the evi­
dence concerning the application to the Department 
of Insurance, did conclude Terrones "has demon­
strated rehabilitation and present fitness by a 
preponderance of the evidence." • 

We review the record to determine if there is 
substantial evidence to support that finding ofreha­
bilitation and present fitness. (9c] 10c] We find, not 
an excuse for, but an explanation of, Terrones's 
misconduct leading to his prior discipline: his addiction 
to alcohol and cocaine. It is uncontested that he has 
brought those addictions under control. The uncon­
troverted evidence shows that Terrones has not used 
either substance since November 1996. The record 
demonstrates that Terrones has met the three-step 
test set forth in Hawes v. State Bar, supra, 51 Cal.3d 
at page 595 because ( 1) the abuse was addictive in 
nature, (2) it causally contributed to his misconduct 
and (3) he bas undergone a sustained and meaningful 
period of rehabilitation. Compliance with the last item 
in the Hawes test is demonstrated by Terrones's 
participation in his church, his election as president of 
that organiz.ation as well as his candor with employer, 
friends and church members alike concerning his 
misconduct as a lawyer and his addiction. 

6. We note that Calaway' s action against the insurance carrier 
was a part of the court file involving Yale's action against him. 
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(10d) If Terrones either lied or deliberately 
misled theDepartmentoflnsurance in his application 
to become an insurance agent that would adversely 
impact his rehabilitation and present fitness to prac­
tice law. (In re Gossage (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1080, 
1102 [rehabilitation requires "high degree of frank­
ness and truthfulness"].) He did answer the question 
pertaining to prior discipline truthfully. The adden".' 
dum, along with the attachment of the order of the 
Supreme Court showing his suspension for delinquent 
fees, standing alone, suggest an attempt to mislead 
the Department of Insurance. However, the record 
shows Terrones reasonably expected that the appli-: 
cation would contain his entire disciplinaryrecord. He 
presented the entire disciplinary record to Cigna and 
expected that record to be attached to the application, 
just as it had been forwarded to the "compliance 
peqple" of Cigna on the east coast. He described his 
misconduct to Jacobson, had been open with his 
church, CA group, employer, along with friends and 
relatives about his misconduct and addiction. 

The most nearly analogous case called to our 
attention is Calaway v. State Bar ( 1986) 41 Cal.3d 
7 43, involving a petition for reinstatement following 
disbarment under which Calaway was required to 
show his rehabilitation by clear and convincing evi­
dence. There Calaway acted as a conservator for a 
party whose will named Yale University (Yale) as a 
beneficiary.Yale brought an action against Calaway, 
claiming he fraudulently induced his conservatee to 
remove Yale as a beneficiary of the estate. Calaway 
notified his malpractice carrier of the claim, and the 
carrier denied coverage on the grounds that Calaway 
omitted from his insurance application any mention of 
misappropriation of funds from the conservatorship 
estate, his involvement in gambling operations and a 
federal conviction, along with a failure to mention an 
existing State Bar recommendation that he be dis­
barred. Calaway brought an action against the carrier 
in which the carrier prevailed on a summary judgment 
motion. Calaway prevailed in the action brought by 
Yale. In his application for reinstatement, Calaway 
listed the action brought by Yale, but failed to mention 
the action he brought against the insurance carrier". 
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In a split decision the Supreme Court determined that 
this failure did not constitute a basis for denying 
Calaway readmission to practice. 

(lOe] We look to the balance of the evidence 
before the hearingjudge in making his determination 
that Terrones had shown sufficient rehabilitation and 
present fitness to practice law. Terrones made a full 
disclosure of his past misconduct and alcohol and 
drug addiction to the mens' group at his church long 
before filing his application for reinstatement. He 
made a similar full disclosure to Cigna, from whom he 
was seeking employment. He had made equal disclo­
sures to his present employer and to each of his 
character witnesses. Based on the totality of the 
evidence, there is a clear basis for determining that 
Terrones did not deliberately attempt to mislead the 
Department of Insurance. 

[lOf] Through full participation, he has become 
a leader in thedrugrehabil itation program in which he 
participates as well as becoming president of his 
church congregation, after making a full disclosure of 
his past misconduct and drug addiction to the mens' 
group of that congregation. Although his actual sus­
pension was for a period of two years beginning on 
January 6, 1996, Terrones withheld seeking relief 
from suspension until on or about October 23, 2000, 
more than two and one-half years after his actual 
suspension could have been terminated upon an 
adequate showing of rehabilitation. He has used this 
additional time to make a recovery from drug and 
alcohol abuse, to establish his religious foundations 
and secure funds to meet his obligations to the State 
Bar. 

[10g] We conclude that the hearing judge had 
before him substantial evidence upon which to base 
a conclusion that Terrones did not attempt to mislead 
the Department oflnsurance with his application, and 
the State Bar did not impeach Terrones' s showing of 
rehabilitation and present fitness. 

J 11] As a final challenge, the State Bar argues 
that Terrones has not adequately shown his present 
learning and ability in the general law as required by 
standard l.4(c){ii). As the hearing judge noted, 
"[p Jetitioner completed a number of classes required 
by the Department oflnsurance, including insurance 
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contracts, claims, procedures and ethics. Many of the 
classes included material that involved case law and .,-, 

applicable statutes. Between 1998 through 2000, 
Petitioner completed I 00 hours of an educational 
program, plus more than 200 hours studying estate 
planning and taxation for small businesses." He 
litigated his personal bankruptcy in 1996, his own child 
custody matter and obtained a dismissal of a criminal 
charge brought by his child's mother arising out of a 
scheduled visitation with his daughter. Two of his 
character declarants commented on his extensive 
knowledge on the law of estate and business taxation. 
Kelly commented on Terrones's knowledge and 
keen eye for issues in litigation. Even ifwe accord a 
substantial discount to the educational activities of 
Terrones because they were oriented. to insurance, 
we cannot find an abuse of discretion in the hearing 
judge's finding that Terrones has established present 
learning and ability in the general law by a prepon­
derance of the evidence. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth, we find no abuse of 
discretion or error of law on the part of the hearing 
judge and affirm his decision filed in this matter on 
February 16, 2001. 

We concur: 
STOVITZ, J. 
WATAI, J. 
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SUMMARY 

In this probation revocation proceeding, respondent failed to make restitution timely as required by one of 
the conditions of his two-year disciplinary probation. The hearing judge recommended that respondent's 
probation be revoked, that the stay of the suspension previously ordered be lifted, that respondent be actually 
suspended for 30 days, and that a new one-year period of probation be imposed, subject to new probation 
conditions, including that respondent pay the restitution. (Hon. Michael D. Marcus, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent sought review, contending that revoking his probation was a violation of due process and equal 
protection, and was discriminatory based upon his financial status. The review department concluded that the 
hearing judge's findings of fact and conclusions oflaw regarding culpability were supported by the record, 
including the conclusion that respondent's conduct was wilful, and adopted them with minor modifications. The 
review department also concluded that the record as a whole, and in particular respondent's indifference to 
his duty to comply with the restitution condition of his disciplinary probation, warranted increasing the 
recommended discipline to two years' stayed suspension and two years' probation on conditions, including six 
months' actual suspension. 
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Thehearingjudgedidnotabusehisdiscretioriormakeanerroroflawindenyingrespondent'smotion 
to modify his probation on the ground that respondent was dilatory in bringing the motion where 
respon~cnt was aware or should have been aware of both the factual and legal need to modify the 
probation long before the motion was filed. 

(2 a-c] 192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
1711 Probation Cases-Special Procedural Issues 
1889 Probation-Modification/Early Termination-Miscellaneous 
Respondent's argument that the State Bar should be estopped from raising the timeliness of his 
motion to modify the probation was rejected. It is not at all clear that estoppel is applicabJe in this 
disciplinary proceeding. Estoppel will not ordinarily lie against a governmental agency if the result 
will be the frustration of a strong public policy. The goals of attorney discipline - protection of the 
.public, courts and legal profession - are strong public policy considerations that militate against 
applying the doctrine. Even if estoppel were applicable, respondent failed to demonstrate a factual 
basis for the claim as he failed to show that the State Bar's actions were intended to be acted upon 
by him to his injury and that he was ignorant of the true state of facts. 

l3 a, b] 163 
191 
1712 

Proof of Wilfulness 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
Probation Cases-Wilfulness 

Wilfulness for purposes of probation revocation (and other. disciplinary) proceedings is simply a 
general purpose or willingness to commit an act orto make an omission; it does not require any intent 
to violate the law or the probation condition and does not necessarily involve bad faith. Moreover, 
wilfulness does not require actual knowledge of the provision violated. Respondent admitted that 
he did not pay the restitution, and there was no evidence in the record suggesting that this omission 
was other than a purposeful act. Thus, the failure to pay the restitution was unquestionably wilful 
under the above definitions. Whether respondent believed that he had no obligation to pay the money 
because the restitution was discharged in his bankruptcy was simply not relevant to the issue of the 
wilfulness of his failure to pay, as it need not be shown that respondent intended the consequences 
of his omission or was even aware of the disciplinary provision he was violating. 

(4 a-c] 192 
1711 
1719 

Due Process/Procedural Rights 
Probation Cases-Special Procedural Issues 
Probation Cases--Miscellaneous 

Considerations of due process and fundamental fairness require, under the circumstances presented 
in this case, an examination of both respondent's ability to pay the restitution and his efforts at 
acquiring the resources to pay. Respondent presented evidence of his income, but not of his assets 
and expenses. While respondent's income was not significant during the relevant period of time, it 
was not conclusive or persuasive when considered outside the context of total assets and expenses. 
The evidence presented regarding respondent's efforts at acquiring the resources to pay the 
restitution was also lacking. Based on the above, the review department concluded that no 
circumstances were presented showing that it would be fundamentally unfair to revoke respondent's 
probation in this case. 

(5 a, bj 171 Discipline-Restitution 
192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
1719 Probation Cases- Miscellaneous 
Respondent's contention that revoking his probation was a violation of due process and equal 
protection, and was discriminatory based upon financial status was rejected. The premise upon 
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which it was based, that respondent's probation was being revoked because of his financial 
condition, was flawed. The revocation was based on his wilful failure to pay the restitution coupled 
with his failure to make reasonable efforts to acquire the resources to pay or to make other good 
faith efforts to satisfy the restitution obligation. 

(6] 162.20 Proof-Respondent's Burden 
760.59 Mitigation-Personal/Financial Problems-Declined to Find 
Financial difficulties may be considered in mitigation if they are extreme and result from 
circumstances that are not reasonably foreseeable or that are beyond the attorney's control. 
Respondent bears the burden of establishing mitigating circumstances by clear and convincing 
evidence. Respondent failed to present a complete picture of his financial condition and therefore 
failed to establish that any financial problems he was facing were extreme or beyond his control. 
Further, the little evidence that was presented indicated thatrespondent'sincomewas limited at the 
time he entered into the stipulation to facts and disposition in the underlying disciplinary case. Thus, 
respondent also failed to establish that any financial problems he experienced were not reasonably 
foreseeable. 

[7 a-g} 171 
1714 
1719 

Discipline--Restitution 
Probation Cases-Degree of Discipline 
Probation Cases-Miscellaneous 

In probation revocation proceedings the greatest amount of discipline is warranted for violations 
which show a breach of a condition of probation significantly related to the misconduct for which· 
probation was given, especially in circumstances raising a serious concern about the need for public 
protection or showing the probationer's failure to undertake rehabilitative steps. The significance 
of restitution is its probative value as an indicator of rehabilitation, not the repayment of the 
underlying indebtedness. Requiring restitution serves the rehabilitative and public protection goals 
of disciplinary probation by forcing attorneys to confront in concrete terms the consequences of the 
attorney's misconduct. Thus, a probationer's attitude toward the restitution is a significant factor 
to be weighed. In the stipulation to facts and disposition in the underlying disciplinary case, 
respondent asserted that he was financially unable to pay the sanctions. Yet, he agreed to pay 
restitution as a condition of probation. After the Supreme Court's order was filed and four days 
before its effective date, respondent sought to discharge the restitution in bankruptcy. Having 
received the benefit of the bargain provided by the stipulation, respondent promptly sought to relieve 
himself of one of the obligations of that bargain. In addition, even though respondent has asserted 
continued financial hardship since before the filing of the stipulation in underlying discipline case, he 
did not seek a modification of the restitution condition of probation until after he was charged with 
violating that probation. Further, respondent apparently made no attempt to inform himself of the 
effect of the bankruptcy discharge on his duty to comply with the Supreme Court's disciplinary 
order. Respondent's stated belief that the restitution issue was moot because the recipient of the 
money forgave the debt was also problematic. The important state interests accomplished by 
restitution are not rendered moot because the underlying indebtedness is forgiven by a private party. 
The goal is prophylactic, not pecuniary. Respondent's demonstrated failure to recognize these most 
fundamental concepts causes concern and increases the risk that future similar misconduct may 
occur. Respondent's attitude toward the restitution shows indifference and warrants increasing the 
recommended discipline and requiring that the restitution be paid prior to respondent's resumption 
of active practice. 
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OPINION 

OBRIEN, P.J.: 

In this probation revocation case, respondent 
Timothy Lee Taggart seeks review of the hearing 
judge's decision that found that he failed to make 
restitution timely as required by one of the conditions 
of his two-year disciplinary probation. The hearing 
judge recommended that respondent's probation be 
revoked, that the stay of the suspension previously 
ordered be lifted, that respondent be actually sus­
pended for 30. days, and that a new one-year period 
of probation be imposed, subject to new probation 
conditions, including that respondent pay the restitu­
tion. 

Respondent contends on review that revoking 
his probation was a "violation of due process and 
equal protection, and was discriminatory based upon 
financial status." Respondent apparently seeks dis­
missal of this proceeding or an extension of the 
previously imposed probation. The State Bar con­
tends that the hearing judge's findings of fact and 
conclusions of law regarding culpability are sup­
ported by the record, but thatthe discipline shou Id be 
increased to a "very lengthy suspension." 

We have independently reviewed the record and 
concludethatthehearingjudge'sfindingsoffactand 
conclusions of law regarding culpability are sup­
ported by the record, including the conclusion that 
respondent's conduct was wilful, and we adopt them 
with minor modifications. We also conclude thatthe 
record as a whole, and in particular respondent's 
indifference to his duty to comply with the restitution 
condition of his disciplinary probation, warrants in­
creasing the recommended discipline to two years' 
stayed suspension and two years' probation on con­
ditions, including six months' actual suspension. 

1. We have added some factual detail to the hearing judge's 
findings based on our independent review of the record. Also, 
the hearing judge stated in his decision that this matter was 
heard in the hearing department by way of "written declara­
tions and exhibits of the parties." There are declarations and 
exhibits that are a pan of, or attached to, numerous pleadings 
that have been filed and are a part of the record on review. It 
is not clear whether the hearing judge considered all or only 
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FACTS AND FINDINGS' 

Respondent was admitted to the practice of!aw 
in California in June 1976. He has been disciplined 
twice prior to the present probation revocation pro­
ceeding. We shall refer to these prior proceedings as 
Taggart I and Taggart II. The present probation 
revocation case arises from respondent's failure to 
comply with one of the conditions of probation im­
posed in Taggart I. 

Taggart I resulted from a Supreme Court order 
filedonAugust20, 1997,andeffectiveSeptember 19, 
1997, in case number $061148 (State Bar Court case 
number 9)-0.03429), suspending respondent from 
the practice oflaw for a period of two years, staying 
execution of the suspension, and placing him on 
probation for two years subject to conditions, includ­
ing seven months' actual suspension. This discipline 
was based on a stipulation to facts and disposition 
between respondent and the State Bar which was 
approved by the State Bar Court. 

The misconduct for which respondent was dis­
ciplined in Taggart /involvedfailing to return unearned 
fees promptly in violation of rule 3-700(D)(2) of the 
Rules of Professional Conduct;2 failing in two sepa­
rate instances to obey court orders in violation of 
section 6103 of the Business and Professions Code;3 

failing to perform services competently in violation of 
rule 3-11 0(A); providing information to a third party 
which was adverse to a former client in order to 
enhance respondent's position in a malpractice case 
filed against him by the former client in violation of 
section 6106; disclosing confidential information about 
the same former client to a third party in violation of 
section 6068, subdivision ( e ); and filing a motion to 
disqualify a superior court commissioner in a civil 
case without probable cause or legal basis and for.the 
purpose ofharassingthe commissioner in violation of 

some of declarations and exhibits submitted. We have consid­
ered all declarations and exhibits filed in this case. 

2. All further references to rules are to these rules unless 
otherwise noted. 

3. All funher references to sections are to this code unless 
otherwise noted. 
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rule 3-200(A). In aggravation, respondent had a 
record of prior discipline in that he was disciplined in 
Taggart JI (see below) and the misconduct involved 
multiple acts of wrongdoing. No mitigating circum­
stances were found. 

One of the conditions of the probation in Taggart 
J required respondent to make restitution in the 
amountof$ l,528 plus interest to the attomey(Linfield) 
who represented respondent's former client in the 
malpractice action that the fonner client filed against 
respondent. The restitution resulted from discovery 
sanctions respondent was ordered to pay the attorney 
and did not. The restitution was to be paid by Septem­
ber 19, 1998. To date, respondent has not paid the 
restitution or any part thereof. 

In September 1997, four days before the effec­
tive date of the Supreme Court' s discipline order in 
Taggart I, respondent filed a chapter 7 bankruptcy 
petition and listed the restitution as a debt. Linfield 
filed a complaint to determine the dischargeability of 
the restitution debt. Pursuant to stipulation between 
respondent and Linfield, the complaintwas dismissed 
in December 1997, and the bankruptcy court subse­
quently discharged all of respondent's debts, including 
the restitution. 

In June 1999, the State Bar filed the present 
motion to revoke respondent's probation based on his 
failure to pay the restitution as ordered in Taggart/. 
Thereafter, respondent filed a contempt proceeding 
in the bankruptcy court against the State Bar attor­
neys who filed the motion to revoke his probation. 
Respondent sought to have the State Bar attorneys 
held in civil contempt for violating the discharge 
injunction imposed by 11 United States Code section 
524,and specificallyforviolatingofl I United States 
Code section 525(a) by attempting to revoke 
respondent's probation based on his failure to pay a 
discharged debt. In September 1999, the bankruptcy 
court concluded that the filing of the motion to revoke 
probation was not a violation of the discharge injunc-

4. The stipulation to facts and disposition in Taggart /was filed 
in the State Bar Court in February 1997, and the hearingjudge's 
decision in Taggart Jl was filed in the State Bar Court in 
November 1996. Respondent unsuccessfully sought Supreme 
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tion, or of section 525(a), and thatthereforethe State 
Bar attorneys were not in contempt of court. The 
bankruptcy court found that compelling obeyance of 
the court order to pay the sanctions by requiring 
restitution was "part of the rehabilitative process and 
hence a proper, nondischargeable condition of proba­
tion." There is no evidence in the record before us 
showing that respondent sought review of the bank­
ruptcy court's decision. 

In January 2000, respondent filed a motion to 
modifyt!te probation imposed in Taggartlby deleting 
the restitution requirement. The hearingjudge denied 
the motion because respondent had been "dilatory in 
bringing it." Respondent did not seek timely review of 
that order as provided by rule 553(b), Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar. 

Based on the above, the hearingjudge concluded 
that respondent wilfully failed to comply with the 
restitution condition of his probation. 

In aggravation, the hearing judge found that 
Taggart I and Taggart II were prior discipline. 
Taggwt II resulted from a Supreme Court order filed 
August 20, 1997, and effective September 19, 1997, 
in case number S06 I 220 (State Bar Court case 
number 91-0-02615), suspending respondent from 
the practice of law for a period of two years, staying 
execution of the suspension, and placing him on 
probation for two years subject to conditions of 
probation, including 120days' actual suspension. This 
discipline followed a trial and decision in the State Bar 
Court.• 

The misconduct underlying Taggart JI involved 
respondenCs failure to disclose to his client that he 
had a business, financial, professional, and personal 
relationship with another person who had interests 
adverse to respondent's client in violation of rule 3-
31 0(B )(3 )~ his failure to disclose to the same client 
that he had a professional and personal interest in a 
j udgmenthe obtained for the client in violation of rule 

Court review in each case. The Supreme Court's orders in each 
case were fiJed on the same day. The Court ordered the 
discipline in Taggart I to be concurrent with the discipline in 
Taggart fl. 
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3-31 O(B)( 4 ); his continued representation of the cli­
ent while representing the conflicting interests of the 
third party in violation of rule 3-3 l 0( C)(2 ); his accep­
tance of employment adverse to a client without 
obtainingthe informed written consent of the client in 
violation of rule 3-3 IO(E); and his act of moral 
turpitude by delaying the deposit ofa check issued for 
the benefit of the client so that a third party, with 
whom respondent had a professional and personal 
relationship, could levy upon the check in violation of 
section 6106. In mitigation, respondent did not have a 
record of prior discipline. In aggravation, the miscon­
duct involved multiple acts of wrongdoing; was 
surrounded by bad faith, dishonesty, and conceal­
ment; and significantly banned his client. 

In mitigation in the present probation revocation 
case, the hearingjudge found that respondent faced 
financial difficulties "over the past couple of years" 
that were beyond his control. However, the judge 
noted that this factor would have been given more 
weight had respondent presented a more complete 
picture of his financial affairs, in that respondent 
provided evidence ofhis income but not his expenses 
for the relevant years. 

DISCUSSION 

Although respondent's briefs on review are not 
a model of clarity, it appears that he ischal lenging the 
hearing judge's denial of his motion to modify his 
probation as well as the hearing judge's conclusion 
that he wilfully violated the restitution condition ofhis 
probation. 

I. Motion to Modify Probation 

[la] Motions to modify probation are governed 
by rules 550 through 554 of the Rules of Procedure of 
the State Bar. Rule 553(b) specifically provides that 
a ruling by a hearing judge on a motion to modify . 
probation "shall be reviewable only pursuant to rule 
300." Rule 300(k) of the Rules of Procedure of the 
State Bar provides, as applicable here, that the 

5. Although we do not reach the merits of the other issues raised 
by respondent in the hearing department, we note that this 
proceeding involves respondent's failure to comply with the 
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standard of review under rule 300 is abuse of discre­
tion or error of law. Before turning to the merits, we 
note that respondent did not seek timely review of the 
hearingjudge's order. (See Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
rule 3 OO(b ). ) Nevertheless, we granted his motion for 
late filing and therefore consider the request, but we 
do so, as indicated, under the standard of review 
applicable to rule 3 00 petitions. 

[lb J The grounds respondent asserted in support 
of his motion in the hearing department were that the 
discovery sanctions order which was the basis for the 
restitution "never became final," that the hearing 
judge advised him to bring a motion to strike the 
restitution from his probation, and that the discovery 
sanctions were discharged in his bankruptcy pro­
ceeding and therefore were "null and void." The 
State Bar opposed the motion partially on the ground 
that the period of probation had expired prior to the 
filing of the motion to modify the probation and that, 
therefore, there was no probation to modify. The 
hearing judge focused primarily on this part of the 
State Bar's argument. Applying the "rule oflenity," 
the hearingjudgeconcluded thatthe motion to modify 
could be brought after the period of probation had 
expired. The hearing judge ultimately denied the 
motion, however, because he concluded that respon­
dent was dilatory in filing it as respondent knew of his 
troubled financial picture almost 28 months before 
making the motion and delayed filing it until after the 
State Bar filed the present proceeding. 

(le] We limit our discussion to whether the 
hearing judge abused his discretion or made an error 
of law in denying the motion on the ground that 
respondent was dilatory, as this is the only issue raised 
by respondent on review. 5 Respondent argues that 
the motion to modify was timely because it was filed 
soon after the bankruptcy court ruled on his contempt 
order to show cause. 

( 1 d) Respondent stipulated to paying the restitu­
tion as a condition of his probation, and that stipulation 
was filed in February 1997. The Supreme Court order 

Supreme Court's order imposing discipline and not the court 
order imposing the sanctions. The Supreme Court's order is 
final, has not been modified, and is not "null and void." 
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imposing the restitution was filed in August 1997. 
Respondent's financial condition apparently existed 
at the time he entered into the stipulation and contin­
ued, according to him, until at least the time he filed the 
motion to modify his probation. We also note that at 
the time of these events it was well established that 
restitution could be imposed as a condition of disci­
plinary probation even if the underlying subject of the 
restitution had been discharged in bankruptcy. 
(Brookman v. State Bar (1988) 46 Cal.3d 1004, 
1009.) Thus, respondent was aware or should have 
been aware of both the factual and legal need to 
modify the probation long before the motion was filed. 

[2a] Respondent also seems to contend that the 
State Bar should be estopped from raising the time­
liness ofhis motion to modify the probation. 6 According 
to respondent, he noted in every probation report he 
submitted to the State Bar that ''the restitution issues 
had been resolved through the Bankruptcy." Respon­
dent argues that the State Bar did not dispute any of 
those statements until it filed the present proceeding 
and that it would be "unfair and unjust"to "allow the 
Bar to wait until the last hour of probation and then 
complain that Respondent's motion to modify was 
witimely." 

[2b] We first note that it is not at all clear that 
estoppel is applicable in this proceeding. "Estoppel 
will not ordinarily lie against a governmental agency 
if the result will be the frustration of a strong public 
policy. [Citations.)" (Bib 'le v. Committee of Bar 
Examiners (1980) 26 Cal.Jd 548, 553.) The goals of 
attorney discipline - protection of the public, courts 
and legal profession - are strong public policy consid­
erations that militate against applying the doctrine. 

[2c] Even if estoppel were applicable, respon­
dent has failed to demonstrate a factual basis for the 
claim. To successfully invoke the doctrine against the 
State Bar respondent would have to show that the 
State Bar's actions were intended to be acted upon by 
respondent to his injury and that he was ignorant of 

6. As respondent offered no legal authority and little analysis 
in support of this contention, the legal fr£mework of the 
argument is not clear. It is also not clear whether respondent 
is asserting thatthe doctrine of estoppel precludes the State Bar 
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the true state of facts. ((Bib 'le v. Committee of Bar 
Examiners, supra, 26 Cal.3d at pp. 552-553.) No 
such showing has been made here; nor could it be, as 
there was clear Supreme Court authority (Brookman 
v. State Bar, supra, 46 Cal.3 d at p. I 009) controlling 
the actions and knowledge ofboth parties. 

[leJ Fortheabovereasons, we conclude thatthe 
hearingjudge did not abuse his discretion or commit 
an error of law in denying the motion. Our review of 
the remaining issues in this case is pursuant to rule 30 I 
of the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar. That 
review is de novo; we must independently review the 
record and may adopt findings and conclusions that 
vaty from those of the hearingjudge. (Rules Proc. of 
State Bar.Rule 305; Cal. Rules of Court, rule951.5.) 
The standard of proof in probation revocation pro~ 
ceedings is the preponderance of the evidence.( §6093, 
subd. ( c ); Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 561.) 

2. Culpability 

[3a] Respondent argued below and appears to 
argue on review that his conduct was not wilful 
because he believed that he had no obligation to pay 
the money as the restitution was discharged in his 
bankruptcy, and because he did not have the money 
to pay the restitution. Wilfulness for purposes of 
probation revocation (and other disciplinary) pro­
ceedings is simply a general purpose or willingness to 
commit an act or to make an omission; it does not 
require any intent to violate the law or the probation 
condition and does not necessarily involve bad faith. 
(In the Matter of Potack (Review Dept. 1991) 1 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 525, 536; Durbin v. State 
Bar(l 979) 23 Cal.3d 461 .467 .)Moreover, wilfulness 
does not require actual knowledge of the provision 
violated. (Lydon v. State Bar(l988)45 Cal.3d l 181, 
1186.) Thus, the term wilful does not require a 
showing that respondent intended the consequences 
of his acts or omissions, it simply requires proof that 
he intended the act or omission itself. The "omission" 
at issue here is the failure to pay the restitution to 

from arguing the untimeliness ofhis motion to modify proba• 
ti on and, or, precludes the State Bar from seeking the revocation 
ofhis probation. Our discussion applies to both arguments. 
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attorney Linfield as ordered. Accordingly, we must 
detennine whether it has been shown by a preponder­
ance of the evidence that respondent had a willingness 
or general purpose to omit paying the money. 

[3b] Respondent admits that he did not pay the 
restitution, and there is no evidence in the record 
suggesting that this omission was other than a pur.­
poseful act. Thus, the failure to pay the restitution was 
unquestionably wilful under the above definitions. 
Whether_ respondent believed that the bankruptcy 
discharge voided the Supreme Court order requiring 
him to pay restitution is simply not relevant to the issue 
of the wilfulness ofhis failure to pay, as it need not be 
shown that respondent intended the consequences of 
his omission or was even aware of the disciplinary 
provision he was violating. 

(4a) Considerations of due process and funda­
mental fairness require, under the circumstances 
presented here, that we also examine both respondent's 
ability to pay the restitution and his efforts at acquiring 
the resources to pay. (In the Matter of Potack, 
supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 537; Bearden 
v. Georgia (1983) 461 U.S. 660, 672.) Respondent 
asserted below that during the time he was on 
probation he did not have the ability to pay the 
restitution. Although the hearingjudge did not make 
any specific factual findings regarding respondent's 
financial situation, he concluded that respondent's 
"financial difficulties over the past couple of years" 
were a mitigating factor. The hearing judge dis­
counted the weight he accorded this factor because 
respondent did not present a more complete picture of 
his financial affairs in that respondent listed his 
income but not his assets and expenses for the period 
of time. 

[4b) Respondent testified that he earned $560 
from teaching and $1,300 from legal research work in 
1998. Respondent also submitted pay stubs from two 
separate school districts showing gross earnings of 

7. The stipulation in Taggart /indicates that respondent had six 
children to support. four natural and two adopted. The 
pleadings in the present case indicate that he has four children. 
The discrepancy is not explained. 
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$6,184 for the period of January I through October 
l 999. In his opening brief on review, respondent 
stated that he earned $1,860 in 1998 and $5,620 from 
teaching in 1999. No evidence was submitted of 
respondent's assets and expenses, or of his income 
for the years prior to 1998 or since 1999. Respondent 
also indicated that he has custody ofhis son and, since 
December 1999, his daughter, and that he pays child 
support for his remaining two children.7 While we 
agree that these income amounts are not significant, 
they are not conclusive or persuasive when consid­
ered outside the context of total assets and expenses 
during the relevant time period. 

f4c] T he evidence presented regarding 
respondent's efforts at acquiring the resources to pay 
the restitution is also lacking. Respondent stated that 
he applied for "various positions" with several cities 
and counties, the State of California, and "numerous 
Community Colleges," and that he "left resumes at 
several job fair booths," all without success. Respon­
dent did not present any other evidence regarding his 
efforts toward finding work. Thus, its not clear how 
many applications were submitted, what positions 
were sought, when he applied for any of the positions,. 
whether he was qualified for any of the positions, 
whether the positions were for legal or non-legal 
work, or whether they were for full-or part-time 
work. Further, respondent did not present any evi­
dence .regardioghis efforts at obtaining other resources 
to pay. Based on the above, we conclude that respon­
dent is culpable of wilfully failing to comply with the 
restitution condition of his probation and that no 
circumstances have been presented showing that it 
would be fundamentally unfair to revoke the proba­
tion in this case.8 

[Sa] Before turning to the remaining issues, we 
note that in support ofhiscontention that revoking his 
probation was a "violation of due process and equal 
protection, and was discriminatory based upon finan­
cial status," respondent cites two cases, but offers no. 

8. Respondent argues in his reply brief, without citation to 
authority or explanation. that requiring him to show inability 
to pay improperly shifts the burden of proof. As indicated 
above, the State Bar is required to prove a wilful violation of 
probation, and it has done so. 
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analysis and little explanation. Neither case aids 
respondent. (People v. Ryan ( 1988) 203 Cal.App.3d 
189 (trial court did not err in or(Jering restitution as a 
condition of probation in a criminal case in the 
absence of any evidence or determination ofability to 
pay]; Bearden v. Georgia, supra, 461 U.S. 660 [in 
a criminal probation revocation proceeding for failure 
to pay restitution, if the probationer willfully refused 
to pay or failed to make sufficient bona fide efforts to 
legally acquire the resources to pay, the court may 
revoke probation and sentence the defendant to 
jail].). 

(Sb) Respondent's constitutional claims also fail 
because the premise·upoo which they are based, that 
respondent's probation is being revoked because of 
his financial condition, is flawed. The revocation is 
based on his wilful failure to pay the restitution 
coupled with his failure to make reasonable efforts to 
acquire the resources to pay or to make other good 
faith efforts to satisfy the restitution obligation. Our 
inquiry is not a dollars and cents calculation. 

3. Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances 

The hearing judge found in aggravation that 
respondent had a record of prior discipline and in 
mitigation that respondent "faced financial difficul­
ties." Respondent offers no argument regarding the 
aggravating and mitigating factors found by the hear­
ingjudge. The State Bar agrees with the aggravating 
circumstances found, but asserts that the mitigating 
circumstance was made in error. We agree that Taggart 
/ and Taggart II are aggravating circumstances as they 
are a record of prior discipline. (Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, tit. IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. 
Misconduct, std. 1 .2(b)(i).)9 

[6] Financial difficulties may be considered in 
mitigation if they are extreme and result from circum­
stances that are not reasonably foreseeable or that 
are beyond the attorney's control. (In re Naney 
(1990) 51 Cal.3d 186, 196-197.) Respondent bears 
the burden of establishing mitigating circumstances 

9. All _further references to standards are to these standards 
unless otherwise noted. 
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by clear and convincing evidence. (Std. 1.2(e).) Re­
spondent failed to present a complete picture of his 
financial condition and therefore failed to establish 
thatanyfinancialproblemshewasfacingwereextreme 
or beyond his control. Further, the little evidence that 
was presented indicates that respondent's income was 
limited at the time he entered into the stipulation to 
facts and disposition in Taggart I. Thus, respondent 
has also failed to establish that any fmanc ial prob !ems 
he experienced were not reasonably foreseeable. 

In sum, we conclude that respondent wilfully 
failed to comply with the restitution condition of his 
probation. We also conclude that Taggart I and 
Taggart II are aggravating circumstances and that 
there are no mitigating circumstances present. 

4. Degree of Discipline 

Respondent also offers no argument regarding 
the appropriate discipline if culpability is found, al­
though he does appear to request an extension of the 
probation tenn instead of revocation. The State Bar 
argues that the actual suspension should be increased 
to some unspecified amount. 

(7a] We have held that in probation revocation 
proceedings the greatest amount of discipline is 
warranted for violations which show a breach of a 
condition of probation significantly related to the 
misconduct forwhich probation was given, especially 
in circumstances raising a serious concern about the 
needforpublicprotectionorshowingtheprobationer's 
failure to undertake rehabilitative steps. (In the Mat• 
ter of Polack, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 
540.) 

[7b] Much of the misconduct in Taggart I 
occurred as a result of respondent's representation of 
a client named Chong. Chong hired respondentto sue 
her former employer, Golden Cheese Company, for 
wrongful tennination and other related causes of 
action. Golden Cheese prevailed on a motion for 
summary judgement, which was attributable in large 
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part to respondent's failure to represent Chong com­
petently in the lawsuit. Chong hired attorney Linfield 
to represent her in an appeal of the Golden Cheese 
case and in a malpractice action against respondent. 
During the course of these proceedings respondent 
had his legal assistant contact counsel for Golden 
Cheese to inform them that respondent had damaging 
information ( the discipline stipulation does not further 
describe the nature of this information) concerning 
Chong which would be beneficial to Golden Cheese 
in the lawsuit. Respondent also had his legal assistant 
contact Linfield to inform him that respondent was 
aware of past illegal conduct by Chong that would 
"come out". if the malpractice case continued. 
Respondent's purpose in contacting Linfield was to 
get Chong to drop the malpractice action. Respon­
dent also issued a subpoena in the malpractice action 
to the Employment Development Department (EDD) 
seeking documents. In his declaration in support of 
the subpoena, respondent stated that the documents 
would show that Chong defrauded the EDD by 
receiving benefits while she was secretly working. 

(7c] In another matter unrelated to Chong, re­
spondent manufactured a claim of bias against a 
commissioner hearing the case in order to get the 
commissioner removed. In a third matter unrelated to 
the other two, respondent failed to return unearned 
fees promptly, and in a fourth unrelated matter, 
respondent failed to obey a court order requiring him 
to appear at an order to show cause hearing. 

(7d] The misconduct for which the probation 
was given in Taggart I included the failure to pay 
court-ordered discovery sanctions in the malpractice 
action. While the restitution condition of probation 
was therefore directly related to the misconduct for 
which respondent was originally disciplined, the more 
serious wrongdoing in Taggart I involved misdeeds 
not significantly related to violations ofcourt orders.10 

Nevertheless, respondent was disciplined in Taggart 
I in part for failing to obey court orders to appear at 
a hearing and to pay the sanctions, and he has again 

10. Similarly, the wrongdoing in Taggart II involved blatant 
derelictionofrespondent' sduty ofloyalty to his client and was 
likewise not significantly related to violations of court orders. 
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failed to obey a court order by failing to comply with 
the Supreme Court's discipline order. 

[7e] We also note that the court order at issue 
here was an order to pay the restitution. The Supreme 
Court has held that the "significance of restitution is 
its probative value as an indicator of rehabilitation, not 
the repayment of the underlying indebtedness." 
(Hippard v. State Bar ( 1989) 49 Cal.3d 1084, I 093.) 
Requiring restitution serves the rehabilitative and 
public protection goals of disciplinary probation by 
forcing attorneys to confront in concrete terms the 
consequences of the attorney' smisconduct. (Brookman 
v. State Bar, supra, 46 Cal.3d at p. 1009; In the Matter 
of Potack, supra, I Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 537.) 
Thus, a probationer's attitude toward the restitution is 
a significant factor to be weighed. (Hippard v. State 
Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d at p. 1093.) 1 

(7f) In the stipulation to facts and disposition in 
Taggart I, respondent asserted that he was finan­
cially unable to pay the sanctions. Yet, he agreed to 
pay restitution as a condition of probation. After the 
Supreme Court's order was filed and four days 
before its effective date,· respondent sought to dis­
charge the restitution in bankruptcy. Having received 
the benefitofthe bargain provided by the stipulation, 
respondent promptly sought to relieve himself of one 
of the obligations of that bargain. In addition, even 
though respondent has asserted continued financial 
hardship since before the filing of the stipulation in 
Taggart I, he did not seek a modification of the 
restitution condition of probation until after he was 
charged with violating that probation. Further, re­
spondent apparently made no attempt to inform 
himself of the effect of the bankruptcy discharge on 
his duty to comply with the Supreme Court's disciplin­
ary order. 

(7g] Respondent's stated belief that the "restitu­
tion issue" is "moot" because Linfield "forgave" the 
debt is also problematic. As noted above, restitution 
is imposed in order to rehabilitate errant attorneys and 
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to protect the public by forcing the attorney to 
confront in concrete tenns the consequences of his or 
her misconduct. (Brookman v. State Bar, supra, 46 
Cal.3datp. 1009.) These important state interests are 
not rendered moot because the underlying indebted­
ness is "forgiven" by a private party. The goal is 
prophylactic, not pecuniary. Respondent's demon­
strated failure to recognize these most fundamental 
concepts causes concern and increases the risk that 
future similar misconduct may occur. Respondent's 
attitude toward the restitution shows indifference and 
warrants increasing the recommended discipline and 
requiring that the restitution be paid prior to 
respondent's resumption of active practice. 

The State Bar has cited two cases in support of 
its position that a lengthy period of actual suspension 
should be imposed. (In the Matter of Broderick 
(Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138 
[one-year actual suspension]; and In the Matter of 
Polack, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 525 [two 
years' actual suspension].) Although both cases 
involved the failure to pay a restitution condition of 
probation, they also involved a more substantial nexus 
between the restitution and the gravamen of the 
underlying misconduct than is present here. Also, 
both cases involved additional violations of the same 
probation. There is no evidence in the record before 
us indicating that respondent has failed to complywith 
any of the other probation conditions in either Taggart 
I or Taggart II. Balancing all relevant factors, we 
conclude that the. hearing judge's recommended 
discipline should be increased to two years' stayed 
suspension and two years' probation on conditions, 
including six months' actual suspension and payment 
of the restitution. 

Like the hearing judge, we do not recommend 
that respondent be required to take and pass the 
professional responsibility examination or attend Eth­
ics School, as he was ordered to do so in Taggart I 
and Taggart II. We also modify the language of the 
hearingj udge 's discipline recommendation to make 
clear that a new period of stayed suspension is being 
recommended. 
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RECOMMENDATION 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that 
respondent's probation ordered by the Supreme Court 
in case number S061 l 48 (State Bar Court case 
number 91-0-03429) be revoked, that the stay of the 
execution of the two-year period of suspension be 
lifted, that respondent be suspended from the practice 
oflaw for two years, that execution of the suspension 
be stayed, and that he be placed on probation for two 
years on the following conditions: 

1. Respondent shall be actually suspended for 
the first six months of his probation and until he pays 
restitution to Michael Linfield in the amount of$ l ,528 
plus interest at ten percent per annum from Septem­
ber 19, 1997, and provides satisfactory proof of such 
payment to the Probation Unit. 

2. During the probation periodrespondentshall 
comply with the State Bar Act and the Rules of 
Professional Conduct. 

3. Respondent shall submitwritten quarterly 
reports to the Probation Unit on each January I 0, 
April 10, July 10, and October IO of the period of 
probation. Under penalty of perjury, respondent shall 
state whether respondent has complied with the State 
Bar Act, the Rules of Professional Conduct, and all 
conditions of probation during the preceding calendar 
quarter. If the first report will cover less than thirty 
(30) days, that report shall be submitted on the next 
following quarter date, and cover the extended pe­
riod. In addition to all quarterly reports, a final report, 
containing the same information, is duenoearlierthan 
twenty (20) days before the last day of the probation 
period and no later than the last day of the probation 
period. 

4. Subject to the assertion of applicable privi­
leges, respondent shall answer fully, promptly, and 
truthfully, any inquiries of the Probation Unit of the 
Office of the ChiefTrial Counsel which are directed 
to respondent personally or in writing, relating to 
whether respondent is complying or has complied 
with the conditions contained herein. 
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5. Within ten ( 10) days of any change, respon­
dent shall report to the Membership Records Office 
of the State Bar, 1.80 Howard Street, San Francisco, 
California, 9410 5-1639, and to the Probation Unit, all 
changes of information, including current office ad­
dress and telephone number, or if no office is 
maintained, the address to be used for State Bar 
purposes, as prescribed by section 6002.1 of the 
Business and Professions Code. 

6. The period of probation shall commence on 
the effective date of the order of the Supreme Court 
imposing discipline in this matter. 

7. At the expiration of the period of this proba­
tion, if respondent has complied with all the tenns of 
probation, the order of the Supreme Court suspending 
respondent from the practice of law for two years 
shall be satisfied and that suspension shall be tenni­
nated. 

It is further recommended that respondent be 
ordered to comply with rule 955, California Rules of 
Court, and to perform the acts specified in subdivi­
sions (a) and (c) of that rule, within thirty (30) and 
forty ( 40) days, respectively, from the effective date 
of the Supreme Court order herein. 

Finally, we recommend that the State Bar be 
awarded costs in this matter pursuant to section 
6086.10 of the Business and Professions Code and 
that those costs be payable in accordance with 
Business and Professions Code section 6140. 7. 

We Concur: 

STOVITZ, J. 
WATAI, J. 

INTHEMATrEROFTAGGART 
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The hearing department recommended respondent' s disbarment after finding him culpable of twelve 
counts of charged misconduct in five client matters and two non-client matters. The misconduct found included; 
agreeing to, charging, or collecting an ii legal fee; failing to release to clients promptly upon request all client 
papers and property; sharing legal fees with a nonlawyer, fonning a law partnership with a nonlawyer; 
intentionally, recklessly, or repeatedly failing to perfonn legal services competently; failing to refund an 
unearned fee afteremployment has terminated; failing to del iverclient' s funds promptly upon client's request; 
failing to maintain complete records of all client funds in member's possession and failing to render an 
appropriate accounting; failing to respond promptly to reasonable status inquiries; and soliciting a prospective 
client with whom attorney has no familyorpriorprofessionalrelationship. (Hon. CarlosE. Velarde, Hearing Judge.) 

The review department found respondent culpable of one additional charge offailingto refund an unearned 
fee after employment was tenninated and otherwise adopted all of the hearing judge' s findings regarding 
culpability. The review department additionally detennined that respondent began to commit professional 
misconduct soon after he was admitted to practice, that he committed a wide range of misconduct, and that 
the misconduct was surrounded by little evidence in mitigation but serious, extensive evidence in aggravation. 
Under these circumstances, the review department conc]uded that disbarment was warranted. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

Alan B. Gordon 

David A. Clare 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

HEADNOTES 

(1 a, b] 290.00 Rule 4-200 [former 2-107] 
Even assuming that it was not initially clear to respondent at the first meeting with his client thatthe 
case was a probate matter, respondent knew by the third meeting that the matter involved probate 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Depanment. but 
have been prepared bytheOfficeofthe StiUeBarCourtforthe convenienccofthereader. Only the actual textofthcReview Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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but nevertheless proffered to the client at thattime a retainer agreement which applied the $500 fee 
quoted at the initial meeting to the $2,000 total fee to be paid in advance for a probate matter. 
Therefore, at the time of the third meeting, the $5 00 fee was charged for work to be performed in 
a probate case in violation of the Probate Code sections which require court approval prior to 
attorney compensation. Moreover, because respondent charged the $5 00 fee at the tinie of the third 
meeting for services to be performed subsequently in a probate matter, it is irrelevant whether the 
Probate Code fee limit sections apply to payment for preliminary services performed prior to filing 
the probate matter. 

12 a-d] 277.60 Rule 3-700(D)(2) [former 2-lll(A)(3)] 
There was no evidence that respondent earned a fee so as to justify failing to refund the fee to a 
client after his employment was terminated where ( 1) there was insufficient evidence to establish 
an amount of work which, at the quoted rate, would have justified retention of the fee and (2) 
respondent failed to obtain the result for which he was retained. 

(3] 277.60 Rule 3-700(D)(2) (former 2-lll(A)(3)] 
Respondent could not have earned any fee in a probate case absent prior court approval of his fee. 

[4 a, b] 277.S0 Rule 3-700(D)(l) [former 2-lll(A)(2)] 
A client has an absolute right to retain counsel of choice and may discharge his or her attorney at 
any time, with or without cause. It is reasonable to assume that when a new attorney is retained, 
he or she will beabletocommunicatewithand obtain the client's file from the fonnerattorney. While 
the former attorney has the right and duty to ensure that the new attorney is acting with client 
consent, where the record showed that the new attorney attempted to communicate with respondent 
for several months before receiving a response and that respondent made no effort to obtain ( 1) 
specific proof.that the clients had hired the new attorney or (2) permission to contact the clients to 
verify their authorization, respondent's failure to forward the clients' file to the new attorney 
promptly upon request constituted a willful violation of Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 3-
700(D)( 1 ). 

[SJ 139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Where findings made by the hearingjudge cast respondent in a negative light but did not result in 
an additional ground of discipline or aggravation, respondent failed to demonstrate any specific or 
actual prejudice that would entitle him to any relief on review. 

[6 a-c] 159 E vidence--Miscellaneous 
Where respondent's evidentiary objection at trial was neithet timely nor specific, the review 
department refused to disregard the challenged evidence. 

[7 a-e] 270.30 Rule 3-ll0(A) [former 6-101(A)(2)/(B)] 
277.60 Rule 3-700(D)(2) (former 2-lll(A)(J)I 
280.50 Rule 4-lO0(B)(4) [former 8-101(B)(4)] 
In a prosecution for intentionally, recklessly,· or repeatedly failing to perfonn legal services 
competently, failing to refund an unearned fee after employment was tenninated, and failing to 
deliver clients' funds promptly upon request, there was sufficient evidence that respondent 
represented the clients involved where one of the clients was referred to respondent and went to 
his office intending to hire him, saw his name on the door and some of his business cards in the 
reception area, made several appointments with him, received one of two receipts for payment on 
respondent's letterhead, and filled out fonns for respondent at the request of a member of the office 
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staff who was an employee or agent for respondent. Moreover, respondent had a key to the office, 
worked out of the office for at least a few hours each week, and, by failing to deny the fact upon 
accusation by the State Bar, admitted that the clients were his. 

[8 a, bJ 142 Evidence-Hearsay 
A client was allowed to testify regarding statements made to the client by a secretary working on 
respondent's behalf where such statements relayed information and instructions from respondent 
to the client. Such statements were admissible as authorized statements under Evidence Code 
section 1222 to prove that the client had retained respondent. 

(9 a, b] 277.60 Rule 3-700(0)(2) (former 2-111(A)(3)] 
The fee agreement itself established that respondent's fee was not a true retainer but an advanced 
fee, since the fee was paid not to ensure respondent's availability either forth is matter or for a given 
period of time, but rather to pay respondent in advance for his services. 

[10 a-d) 277.60 Rule 3-700(0)(2) (former 2-11l(A)(3)] 
In a prosecution forviolating Rules orProfessional Conduct, rule3-700(0)(2), there was insufficient 
evidence in the record to establish that respondent earned the $1,000 fee. The fee agreement, as 
interpreted by respondent and as applicable here, provided for the client to pay respondent an hourly 
fee plus costs for consultants if the matter settled without a hearing. The actual cost due for one 
consultant was $1 00, but because respondent never paid the consultant, the client never became 
liable for such cost. In addition, respondent could not have reviewed the client's records because 
he never received them, did not have long telephone conversations with the consultant regarding the 
client's case, and perfonned insufficient research to have earned the $1,000 fee. 

Ill a, b) 257.00 Rule 2-100 (former 7-103] 
270.30 Rule 3-ll0(A) [former 6-101(A)(2)/(B)] 
The review department determined that respondent's office contacted a represented party where, 
afterrespondent' s employee sent a letter to a particular employee at an insurance company, counsel 
representing the insurance company sent a letter notifying respondent that he had contacted a 
represented party, but respondent's employee nevertheless sent a second letter to the same 
employee atthe insurance company. The only reasonable inference to be drawn from the letter sent 
to respondent by counsel for the insurance company was either that the insurance company 
employee held one of the positions listed in Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 2-1 OO(B )(I) or that 
the statements or actions of the insurance company employee pertaining to the matter would be 
binding upon, imputed to, or constitute an admission on the part of the insurance company. Moreover, 
respondent appeared to concede that the insurance company employee constituted a represented 
party in his letter to the State Bar. 

112 a, b] 2S7.00 Rule 2-100 [former 7~103] 
270.30 Rule 3-llO(A) (former 6-10l(A)(l)/(B)J 
Where respondent had been alerted to a problem in the way his employees ran his office but took 
no action to correctthe problem, and it appeared that respondent failed to guide his staff and review 
their work, respondent was culpable of violating Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 3-11 O(A). 

(13 a-d] 253.00 Rule l-400(C) [former 2-l0l(B)] 
In a prosecution for a violation of Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 1-400(C), the review 
department rejected respondent• s assertion that he reasonably believed he had a prior professional 
.relationship with the client where the eviderice established ( l) that respondent knew that another 
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attorney, rather than respondent, had been assigned to represent the client and (2) that even if 
respondent did not know this fact at the time he set up a meeting with the client, respondent was 
put on notice of the fact once the client stated to him at the meeting that he was represented by 
another attorney. The danger of solicitation is that lawyers, trained in persuasion, may attempt to 
use such skills on potential clients who are vulnerable and susceptible to manipulation, and the record 
in this case demonstrated that a concern about that danger is justified. 

(14) 159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Although neither the reporter's transcript of the hearing department proceedings nor the clerk's 
notations on the exhibits indicated that certain exhibits were formally admitted into evidence, the 
review department treated the exhibits as part of the record for purposes of review where the 
hearingjudge considered the exhibits and the judge and counsel treated the exhibits as having been 
admitted into evidence. 

(15] 765.39 Mitigation-Pro Bono Work-Found but Discounted 
While respondent's representation of clients for reduced or no fees constituted evidence in 
mitigation, such evidence was given little mitigating weight where the evidence established that 
respondent was eligible to receive substantial attorney fees in many of the cases and it was therefore 
unclear whether respondent's motive for taking such cases was to help others or to collect attorney 
fees.· 

(16) 106.20 Procedure-Pleadings-Notice of Charges 
106.40 Procedure-Pleadings-Amendment 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
277.50 Rule 3-700(D)(l) (former 2-111(A)(2)] 
565 Aggravation-Uncharged Violations-Declined to Find 
Absent a motion by the State Bar to amend the notice of disciplinary charges in a way that would 
have given respondent a sufficient opportunity to defend, the hearing judge should have sustained 
respondent's objection to evidence of uncharged misconduct on the ground that it was beyond the 
scope of the charge set forth in the notice of disciplinary charges. In view of respondent's timely 
and specific objection, the review department declined to adopt the finding ofuncharged misconduct 
as an aggravating cir<:umstance. 

[17 a, bJ 143 
144 

Evidence-Privileges 
Evidence-Self-Incrimination 

193 Constitutional Issues 
613.90 Aggravation-Lack of Candor-Bar-Found but Discounted 
While respondent's improper assertion of various constitutional and statutory privileges showed a 
lack of cooperation with the State Bar during the disciplinary proceedings and constituted an 
aggravating factor, such factor was given little weight because (1) there was no evidence of 
resulting excessive delay in the disciplinary proceedings, (2) respondent willingly responded to most 
of the questions presented to him and only asserted the privileges as to matters which he believed 
involved the possibility ofcriminal prosecution, (3) the delay which did occur was not caused solely 
by respondent, (4) respondent's assertion of the privileges did not interfere with the State Bar's 
ability to prove its case, and ( 5) there was no clear and convincing evidence that respondent asserted 
the privileges in bad faith. 
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[18] 161 Duty to Present Evidence 
193 Constitutional Issues 
615 Aggravation--Lack of Candor-Bar-Declined to Find 
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The review department rejected a finding that respondent displayed a lack of cooperation during 
State Bar proceedings by making unfounded and inflammatory statements in various pleadings filed 
in this disciplinary matter. Respondent's statements were not proper subjects for aggravation where 
the State Bar made no showing by clear and convincing evidence that they were false. 

[19] 193 Constitutional Issues 
615 Aggravation-Lack of Candor-Bar- Declined to Find 
The review department rejected a finding that respondent displayed a lack of cooperation during 
State Bar proceedings by filing six petitions for interlocutory review with the review department, 
at least one petition for reviewwith the California Supreme Court, and over 30 motions in the hearing 
department. These documents were not proper subjects for aggravation where it was not shown 
by clear and convincing evidence that the documents were completely lacking in merit and were 
filed in bad faith. Respondent acted as cocounsel during the hearing department proceedings and 
was entitled to reasonable access to the courts to seek judicial remedies. 

Additional Analysis 
Culpability 

Found 
214.31 Section6068(m) 
220.31 Section 6 l 04 
221.11 Section 6106---Deliberate Dishonesty/Fraud 
252.21 Rule 1-310 [former 3-103) 
252.3 l Rule 1-320(A)[former 3-102(A)] 
253.01 Rule l-400(C) [former 2-IOl(B)] 
270.31 Rule 3-1 lO(A) [former 6-10l(A)(2)/(B)] 
277.51 Rule 3-700(D)(l) [former 2-l l l(A)(2)] 
277.61 Rule 3-700(D)(2) [former2-1 l l(AX3}] 
280.41 Rule 4-IOO(B)(3) [fonner 8-10l(B)(3)] 
280.51 Rule 4-100(B)(4) [fonner 8-10I(B)(4)] 
290.0 l Rule 4-200 [fonner 2-107] 

Not Found 
277.55 Rule 3-700(D)(l) [former 2-1 l l(A)(2)] 

Aggravation 
Found 

52 l Multiple Acts 
541 Bad Faith, Dishonest 
551 Overreaching 
56 l Uncharged Violations 
591 Indifference 
611 Lack of Candor-Bar 
621 Lack of Remorse 

Declined to Find 
565 Uncharged Violations 
615 Lack of Candor-Bar 
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M~tigation 
Declined to Find 

710.53 No Prior Record 
Standards 

801.30 Effect as Guidelines 
802.30 Purposes of Sanctions 

Discipline 
1010 

Other 
Disbannent 
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1091 Substantive Issues re Discipline-Proportionality 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, J.: 

In this disciplinary proceeding, respondent Emir 
Phillips seeks review of a hearing judge's decision 
finding respondent culpable of 12 charged acts of 
misconduct and recommending that he be disbarred. 
Respondent challenges most, though not all, of the 
hearing judge's adverse factual findings and legal 
conclusions. 

We independently review the record before us in 
this matter. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 951.5; Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a); In re Morse (1995) 
11 Cal.4th 184, 207.) Our review discloses that 
respondent began to commit professional misconduct 
soon after he was admitted to practice, that he 
committed a wide range of misconduct, and that the 
misconduct was surrounded by little evidence in 
mitigation, but significant evidence in aggravation. 
We conclude thatthe recommendation of disbarment 
is warranted under the circumstances for the protec­
tion of the public, the courts, and the legal profession. 

BACKGROUND 

Respondent was admitted to practice law in 
California in June 1991 and has no prior record of 
discipline. At all relevant times, respondent had his 
own law practice which appears to have included a 
variety ofcases involving probate, real estate, medical 
malpractice, personal injury, workers' compensation, 
immigration, education, disabled veterans, and civil 
rights. Although it is not clear whether respondent 
employed other attorneys, respondent did employ a 
nonattorney office staff to assist him. 

CULPABILITY 

In their briefs, the parties on review included 
discussions as to aggravation pertaining to each 
matter along with discussions regarding culpability. 
However, because issues concerning aggravating 
circumstances diff erfrom those involving culpability, 

1. We base our .findings in this matter primarily upon the 
testimony Benjamin gave in the hearing depamnent. As we will 
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where aggravating evidence surrounds a specific 
matter, we defer our discussion of such aggravation 
to our discussion of all aggravating circumstances. 

The Benjamin Matter 

Lyric Benjamin Dill (Benjamin), a student with a 
part-time job, contacted respondent through the Los 
Angeles County Bar Association's Modest Means 
Referral Service.1 Benjamin's father had died with­
out a will, and Benjamin and her mother met with 
respondent on February I 2, 1993. 

Atthis initial meeting, she retained respondent to 
handle the probate of a house and a car. At that time, 
respondent asked who had title to the house and 
whether Benjamin's mother was married to 
Benjamin's father at the time of the father's death. 
Benjamin's mother infonnedrespondent that she and 
Benjamin's father were divorced in 1979. Respon­
dent told Benjamin that he would take the case and 
that he would charge her $500 to obtain a court date. 
Benjamin's mother gave respondent a $500 check. 

In order to keep legal fees down, Benjamin 
obtained the deed of trust for her father's house for 
respondent and forwarded it to him on February 13, 
1993. Subsequently, over a period of approximately 
six to seven weeks, Benjamin left over twenty mes­
sages on respondent's office answering machine 
asking whether respondent had obtained a court date. 
She received no response. She finally spoke with 
respondent at the end of March by calling him on a 
Sunday and set up a meeting for April 2, 1993. 

At the meeting of April 2, respondent told Ben­
jamin he had not obtained a court date but was 
working on the case. He also told Benjamin he was 
" 'going to get a petition concerning the estate' "and 
requested an additional $1,500 in legal fees and 
another$250 for court costs. Benjamin asked respon­
dent for a contract and an itemized bill so she could 
detennine- how respondent had spent the $500 • she 
had previously paid to him, but she never received a 
bill. 

discuss, the hearingjudge found Benjamin's testimony to be 
credible. 



322 

They next met on April 9, 1993. At that time, 
respondent presented Benjamin with a retainer agree­
ment. At the time he prepared this agreement, he 
planned to be paid $2,000 for his services and did not 
even know whether the agreement was legal. Re­
spondent had signed the agreement and pressured 
Benjamin to sign as well, but she took it home to 
review it first. Paragraph four of that agreement 
indicates that respondent was to receive $40 per hour 
to handle the "succession of Moses Benjamin's 
residence and all related probate matters." Benjamin 
never signed the agreement. 

At some point during this time, respondent re­
viewed documents in this case and perfonned research 
on the matter. 

Benjamin spoke with respondent on the tele­
. phone on April 16, 1993. At that time, she informed 
him that she no longer wanted him to represent her 
and requested a refund of the money previously paid. 
He refused to refund any money and told Benjamin 
she could "take him to Small Claims Court because he 
hasn't lost a case there yet." On April 23, 1993, she 
mailed respondent a letter reiterating that she no 
longer wanted him to act as her attorney and again 
requested a refund. Subsequently, Benjamin con­
tacted the Los Angeles County Bar Association 
Dispute Resolution Services in an effort to obtain a 
refund of the $500 paid to respondent. Although 
respondent did not appear at the fee arbitration 
hearing on December 3, 1993, he sent a written 
response to the arbitrator. After the hearing, Ben­
jamin was awarded the $500 plus $50 forthe arbitration 
fee. Benjamin tried to call respondent to collect the 
money, but when she was able to contact him on the 
telephone, he hung up on her. Respondent finally paid 
Benjamin the amount awarded in arbitration plus 
interest in February 1997. 

. In contrast to the foregoing, respondent testified 
that, at their initial meeting, Benjamin's mother indi­
cated to him that she wanted to transfer title to her 
house to Benjamin, and therefore respondent be­
lieved that the matter essentially involved a real estate 

2. All further references to rules are to the Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the State Bar unless otherwise indicated. 
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issue. He also testified that it was not until the second 
meeting that he discovered that Benjamin's parents 
were divorced when Ben jam in' s father died and that 
he then obtained and reviewed the divorce docu­
ments, subsequently concluding that the case instead 
involved probate issues. He additionallytestified that 
neither Benjamin nor her mother ever hired him to 
handle the probate matter and that he never hung up 
on Benjamin. 

In this client matter, respondent was charged 
with violating Rules orProfessional Conduct, rule 4-
200(A )2 

( entering into an agreement for, charging, or 
collecting an illegal fee-count one); rule 3~ 700(0 )(2) 
(failing to refund an unearned fee after employment 
terminated - count two); and Business and Profes­
sions Code section 6068, subdivision (i)3 (failing to 
cooperate and participate in disciplinary investigation 
and proceeding-count three). The charged violation 
of section 6068, subdivision (i), was properly dis­
missed by the hearingjudge upon motion of the State 
Bar prior to trial. 

In his decision, the hearingjudge found Benjamin 
to be "a very credible witness with a very good recall 
of dates and events." The hearing judge also found 
respondent's credibility in this matter to be lacking in 
some respects. The hearing judge found lacking in 
credibility respondent's assertion that he believed this 
matter was governed by Probate Code section 13660 
and respondent's testimony that he was retained to 
represent Ben jam in only in a simple real estate matter 
rather than in a probate matter. We give substantial 
weight to the credibility detenninations made by the 
hearingjudge, who saw and heard the parties testify. 
(Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a) (review depart­
ment gives great weight to hearingjudge's findings 
resolving issues of credibility]; Franklin v. State Bar 
(1986) 41 Cal.3d 700, 708.) Thus, as previously 
indicated, our findings in this matter are based upon 
Benjamin's testimony. With respectto conflicts in the 
testimony, we find that, at the first meeting, respon­
dent was retained to handle the probate of the house 
and car and was infonned that Benjamin's parents 
were divorced when Benjamin's father died. We 

3. All further statutory references are to the Business and 
Professions Code unless otherwise indicated: 
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reject respondent's testimony that Benjamin's mother 
told him she wanted to transfer title to her house to 
Benjamin, that Benjamin never retained respondent 
to handle the probate matter, and that respondent 
never hung up on Benjamin. However, because there 
was no conflict in the evidence, we find that respon­
dent perfonned some work on Benjamin's case and 
did not know at the time of drafting the retainer 
agreement whether it was legal. 

[la] The hearing judge concluded that respon­
dentwas culpable of agreeing to, charging, or collecting 
an illegal fee on the grounds that the matter was a 
probate case and that attorney fees in such cases 
must be approved by the probate court pursuant to 
Probate Code sections l 0810 and I 0830.4 Respon­
dent challenges this conclusion on the grounds( I) that 
his initial fee of $500 was paid and earned before he 
learned that the matter would involve probate so that 
his subsequent request for an additional fee did not 
change the nature of this $500 fee and (2) that the 
foregoing Probate Code sections do not address 
whether they apply to payment for preliminary ser­
vices performed prior to filing the probate matter. 

[ 1 b] However, we agree with the hearingjudge' s 
conclusions. Even assuming arguendo that it was not 
initially clear to respondent at the first meeting on 
February 12, 1993, that Benjamin's case was a 
probate matter, he knew by the third meeting on April 
9, 1993, that the matter involved probate. Neverthe­
less, at that time, he proffered to Benjamin a retainer 
agreement which, according to the evidence, applied 
the initial $500 fee to the total fee of$2, 000 to be paid 
in advance for a probate matter. Therefore, the $500 
fee was charged at that time without court approval 
for work to be performed in a probate case, in 
violation ofProbate Code sections 10810 and 1083 0. 

4. Probate Code section l0810 provides as relevant that "for 
ordinary services the attorney for the personal representative 
[ of the probate estate J shall receive compensation based on the 
value of the estate accounted for by the personal representative 
.... "Probate Code section I 0830 provides in relevant part that, 
at any time after four months from the issuance ofletters in the 
probate matter. an attorney may file a petition for "an allow­
ance on the compensation of the attorney for the personal 
representative." Furthermore, under section 10830, notice of 
a hearing on such a petition must be given to various parties 
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Moreover, because respondent charged the $500 fee 
at that time for services to be performed subsequently 
in a probate matter, it is irrelevant whether the Probate 
Code fee limit sections apply to payment for prelimi­
nary services. Consequently, we adopt the hearing 
judge's holding that respondent is culpable of willfu(Iy 
charging an illegal fee in violation of rule 4-200(A). 

(2a] The hearingjudge dismissed the charge of 
failing to refund an unearned fee, finding no clear and 
convincing evidence as to that charge. As stated at 
the outset of this opinion, we independently review 
the record. That is, although we give great weight to 
the hearing judge's credibility determinations, we 
need not adopt the hearing judge's factual findings 
and legal conclusions. After considering the hearing 
judge's reasons for this dismissal, the evidence, and 
the law, we conclude that the hearing judge erred in 
dismissing this charge. 

[2bJ The sole reason the hearingjudge gave for 
dismissing this charge was that respondent obtained 
various documents. Although we also note that re­
spondent met with Benj arnin three times and testified 
that he performed research on the matter, the retainer 
agreement he presented to Benjamin provided that he 
would perform legal services in this matter for only 
$40 per hour. While we recognize that Benjamin 
neYer signed the retainer agreement, it nevertheless 
appears that this was the amount respondent quoted 
to Benjamin as his compensation rate. At that rate of 
pay, even assuming that respondent spent several 
hours perf onning research and obtaining documents 
in addition to meeting with Benjamin three times, he 
did not earn the $500 paid by Benjamin's mother. 
Respondent would have been required to work t'i.5 
hours to earn that fee at the rate of $40 per hour, and 
the evidence does not establish that respondent spent 

having an interest in the estate which would be affected by the 
payment afthe compensation, and the court must issue an order 
allowing any such compensation. Moreover, we note that 
Probate Code section 10813 provides that an agreement 
between the personal representative of the estate and the 
attorney for greater compensation than that provided for in the 
Probate Code is void. These three sections were all operative 
as of July I, 1991, prior to the time Benjamin employed 
respondent. 
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anywhere near that amount of time meeting with 
Benjamin and working on Benjamin's case. For 
example, there is no specific evidence regarding what 
research respondent performed or how many of the 
documents introduced into evidence were actually 
obtained by respondent instead ofby Benjamin. 

(2c] Moreover, Benjamin hired respondent to 
obtain a particular goal, i.e., a transfer of her father's 
assets to the heirs of his estate. Respondent failed to 
achieve or take concrete steps toward this goal. To 
justify retention of legal fees, respondent was re­
quired to perfonn more than minimal preliminary 
services of no value to the client. (See In the Matter 
of Myrdall (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 363, 377.) Here, the record fails to support a 
finding that respondent performed any services of 
value to Benjamin. 

l2dJ We note additionally that respondent had 
the opportunity to defend against Benjamin's claim 
that he did not earn the $500 fee and to present 
evidence on the issue to an independent, neutral 
arbitrator prior to these proceedings; yet respondent 
failed to convince the arbitrator that he earned the 
fee. While we do not give the arbitration award 
conclusive effect in these proceedings, respondent's 
failure to present sufficient evidence in the arbitration 
proceedings that he earned the fee supports our 
conclusion, based upon the evidence before us, that 
he did not earn the fee. 

In view of the fact that the record indicates 
respondent earned little of the $500 fee, we need not 
decide the precise amount of the fee which respon­
dent earned through his services to Benjamin. Because 
we conclude.that respondent did noteam the $500 fee 
and that he failed to refund promptly any portion ofit 
to Benjamin aftertennination of his employment, we 
conclude that respondent was culpable of willfully 
violating rule 3-700(DX2). 

[3] In any event, respondent could not have 
earned any fee in this. probate case absent court 
approval. This proposition is established by Alberton 
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v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 638, 639-640. In that 
case, Alberton was appointed as the attorney for the 
estate ofaMr. Vivian Skogsberg in accordance with 
a specific provision in Skogsberg's will providing for 
his appointment. Shortly after Skogsberg's death, 
Alberton met with Skogsberg's widow (Mrs. 
Skogsberg). At that meeting, Alberton requested 
$600 in attorney fees from Mrs. Skogsberg even 
though no probate proceeding had been initiated and 
no court approval had been obtained. Mrs. Skogsberg 
paid Alberton the $600 in attorney fees at that same 
meeting. Thereafter, Alberton withheld and kept, as 
additional attomeyfees, approximately $1,200 in trust 
funds that he received on behalf of Skogsberg's 
daughter. The Supreme Court held that even though 
"the total amount of fees taken - approximately 
$1,800-was not unconscionable, the failure to have 
obtained court approval rendered it misappropria­
tion." (Id. at p. 640; see also Tarver v. State Bar 
(1984)37Cal.3d 122, 126-127.)Whilenorrnallyan 
attorney who is discharged is entitled to recover the 
reasonable value of the services actually rendered up 
to discharge (Fracasse v. Brent ( 1972) 6 Cal.3d 
784 ), such a recovery has been denied in other 
contexts where prior court approval of attorney fees_ 
is statutorily required, but not obtained (see In re 
Occidental Financial Group, Inc. (9th Cir. 1994) 
40 F.3d 1059, I 063 [quantum meruit remedy gener­
ally unavailable where attorney fees barred by law 
under bankruptcy rules]). 

The Brown Matter 

In June 1993, Carol Brown hired respondent to 
represent her minor daughter Tamekia Brown 
(Tamekia) in a medical malpractice matter. The 
alleged malpractice occurred in April 1993 when 
Tamekia was 16. 

At some point, respondent entered into settle­
ment negotiations with the insurer on behalf of the 
Browns. The insurer offered a structured settlement 
in the amount of $105,000, which offer respondent 
thought Brown should accept, but Brown did not sign 
the agreement. 5 Had the off er been accepted, 

S. Respondent testified he '"'thought [Brown] would come to 
her senses" and sign the agreement. 
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respondent's fees would have been "somewhere in 
the ballpark of20 percent." 

In April 1994, Brown and Tamekia went to the 
office of an attorney named Michael Baker and hired 
him to represent them in the medical malpractice 
case. On April 18, 1994, Baker sent a letter to 
respondent stating that the Browns had retained him 
to represent them in the medical malpractice matter 
and asking respondent to forward to him the Browns' 
file. Baker understood that respondent had engaged 
in settlement negotiations regarding the matter and 
"that he had arrived at a figure that he wished the 
Browns to accept and they did not want to accept." 
Baker followed up on his letter of April 18, 1994, by 
telephoning respondent's office. Although respon­
dent received the April 18, 1994 letter, respondent did 
not respond to it. Nor did he return Baker's telephone 
calls. Instead, he filed a civil complaint on behalf of 
the Browns in April 1994. 

Unaware that respondent had already filed a 
complaintfortheBrowns,Bakerfiledacomplainton 
June 10, 1994, because he was concerned about the 
statute of limitations, in view of the Browns' state­
ments to him that they had become alarmed about 
Tamekia' s medical condition between April and May 
or early June 1993. 

. Between May 11, 1994, and September 16, 
1994, Baker sent respondent six more letters request­
ing documents pertaining to the Browns' case. In 
addition, in September 1994, after Baker discovered 
that respondent had filed a civil complaint in April 
1994 on behalf of the Browns, Baker repeatedly 
requested that respondent complete a substitution of 
attorney form. Baker finally received a signed substi­
tution ofattomey form from respondent on September 
23, 1994, but never received some of the documents 
he requested from respondent. 

6. Respondent testified he did not receive any indication from 
Brown or Tamekia in April 1994 that they had hired another 
attorney. He testified that. in September 1994, he received a 
substitution of attorney fonn signed by Brown, which was the 
first acknowledgment from his clients. written or otherwise, 
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As to this client matter, respondent was charged 
with violating section 6068, subdivision (m) ( failingto 
respond promptly to reasonable status inquiries of 
clients and to keep clients reasonably informed of 
significant developments in matters with regard to 
which the attorney has agreed to provide legal ser­
vices - count four) and rule 3-700(D)(l) (failing 
promptly to release to clients upon request all client 
papers and property- count five). The hearingjudge 
correctly dismissed the charge of violating section 
6068, subdivision (m) ( count four) upon motion of the 
State Bar prior to trial, and we do not discuss that 
charge further. 

With respect to the charge of failing to release 
the Browns' file promptly upon request, respondent 
asserts that, although he received a letter from Baker 
requesting the file in April 1994, he was not culpable 
of the charge because he forwarded the file to Baker 
as soon as he received evidence that his former 
clients authorized him to do so. According to respon­
dent, the first notification he received from his clients 
that they had retained Baker as their new counsel 
came in September 1994, when he received a substi­
tution of attorney form signed by Brown, and it was 
only at that time that he became obligated to forward 
the file to Baker.6 

(4a] We disagree with respondent's assertion. It 
is settled that the client has an absolute right to retain 
counsel of choice and may discharge his or her 
attorney at anytime, with or without cause. (Fracasse 
v. Brent,supra, 6 Cal.3d at pp.790-791.) It is reason­
able to assume that when new counsel is retained, he 
orshe will be able to communicate with and obtain the 
client's file from fonnercounsel. While former coun­
sel has the right and duty to ensure that the new 
attorney is acting with the client's consent, the record 
here shows no lack of willingness on the partofBaker 
to respond to any questions from respondent. Indeed, 
Baker attempted to communicate with respondent 
from April through August 1994 before receiving a 

that they wished to retain a new attorney. He testified that, 
although the substitution of attorney form was not signed by 
Baker, respondent signed the form in good faith and sent the 
Brown file to Baker. 
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response from respondent in September 1994. Not­
withstanding respondent's argument that he lacked 
client authorization, respondent made no effort to 
obtain from Baker either more specific proof that 
Baker had been hired by the Browns in the medical 
malpractice case or permission to contact the Browns 
to verify their authorization. Instead, respondent took 
no timely action, and we conclude that respondent's 
argument in this respect lacks merit. Although respon­
dent also asserts he ultimately turned over all papers 
regarding Tamekia' s claim, he did not do so until after 
Baker made repeated requests for the documents. 

[4b] In In the Matter of Sullivan (Review 
Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 608, 612 we 
held that Sullivan had violated rule 3-700(D)( 1) when 
his client's new counsel requested the client file in 
November 1992 and Sullivan failed to deliver the file 
to new counsel until May 1993. We stated: "Even 
without the substitution of attorney respondent was 
on notice that the file should be prepared for delivery 
by the November letter [from counsel]." (Ibid.) 
Similarly, here, as previously stated, Baker requested 
the file in April 1994, but respondent failed to provide 
any documents to him until September 1994. Even 
without any formal substitution of attorney signed by 
Brown, respondent was notified by Baker's letter of 
April 1994 that the file should be forwarded to Baker. 
His failure to do so, without taking any action what­
soever to determine whether Baker was authorized 
to request the Browns' file, constituted a willful 
violation of rule 3-700(0)( 1 ). 

The Orozco Matter 

Rene Orozco, who was not an attorney, provided 
non attorney immigration services to clients. In Febru­
ary 1994, Orozco's secretary, Monica Monatas, 
introduced Orozco to respondent. At their meeting, 
Orozco and respondent agreed that Orozco would 
ref er all personal injury and workers' compensation 
matters to respondent. Respondent and Orozco agreed 
to share evenly any amounts respondent received 
from personal injury cases. In addition, respondent 
was to appear in any deportation cases, and he would 
be paid by Orozco's office. Respondent and Orozco 
were also to establish a joint banking account for the 
deposit of settlement money in the personal injury 
cases. 

IN THE MATTER OF PHILLIPS 

(Review Dept. 200 l) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 315 

In April 1994 Orozco received a letter which 
appeared to be from respondent. This letter reflected, 
with a few errors, the agreement between respon­
dent and Orozco. 

Orozco paid all of the rent and utilities at his 
Santa Ana office, as well as the salary of Monatas, 
although respondent began to work there part-time. 

Pursuant to their agreement, a joint banking 
account was opened in May or June 1994. Both 
respondent and Orozco initially placed $100 into the 
account. Subsequently, settlement drafts from insur­
ance companies in a personal injury case were sent 
to respondent at the Santa Ana office, and respondent 
endorsed the drafts and deposited the amounts into 
the joint banking account. Orozco maintained the 
check register and wrote checks on the account. 
Both Orozco and respondent had signature authority 
on the account. In August 1994 respondent unilater­
ally closed the account and removed approximately 
$6,000 remaining in the account. As a result, several 
clients did not receive settlement money to which 
they were entitled. At that time, Orozco told respon­
dent to stay away from the Santa Ana office and 
changed the locks at that location. 

Between February and August 1994, respon­
dent spent less than four hours per week at the Santa 
Ana office, sometimes failing to show up for client 
appointments scheduled. with him. As a result of 
respondent's failures to appear for appointments, 
Orozco sometimes had to obtain client information 
and reschedule client appointments. Also, between 
February and July or August 1994, Orozco referred 
thirty nine personal injury cases and between three to 
five workers' compensation cases to respondent, and 
respondent appeared in two deportation cases. 

As to this matter, respondent was charged with 
violating rule 1-300(A) (aiding in the unauthorized 
practice of law - count six), rule 1-320(A) (sharing 
legal fees with a nonlawyer - count seven), and rule 
1-310 (fanning a law partnership with a nonlawyer­
count eight). As no evidence was presented as to 
count six, its charges were properly dismissed at trial 
by the hearing judge upon motion of the State Bar. 
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Respondent does not challenge the hearingjudge' s 
conclusions of culpability as to the charges set forth 
in counts seven and eight, and after independently 
reviewing the record, we adoptthose conclusions and 
the associated findings establishing them. Orozco's 
uncontradicted testimony established that he was not 
a lawyer, yet he and respondent agreed to share 
evenly all legal fees recovered in personal injury 
cases. Such evidence establishes a willful violation of 
rule 1-320(A).Moreover, the evidence outlined above 
regarding the business arrangement, in which respon­
dent and Orozco maintained aj oint checking account, 
Orozco referred certain legal matters to respondent, 
respondent and Orozco shared fees earned by re­
spondent, and respondent was paid for other legal 
work by Orozco, indicates that respondent fonned a 
law partnership with Orozco in willful violation of rule 
1-310. 

Respondent instead challenges only certain nega­
tive underlying findings made by the hearingjudge. 
He asserts that although the hearingj udge' s decision 
does not indicate that the findings formed an indepen­
dent ground for discipline or were considered in 
aggravation, we should nevertheless delete the hear­
ingjudge 's findings that respondent closed the account 
at Bank of America, took all of the $6,000 in the 
account, and failed to distribute the funds therein to 
the clients of the Santa Ana office to whom such 
funds belonged, resulting in these clients not being 

• properly paid and complaining to Orozco. Respon-
• dent bases his assertion on the grounds that no such 
matters were charged, the evidence regarding these 
matters was not elicited for the purpose of inquiring 
into the cause of the misconduct which was charged, 
and respondent "appropriately objected" to the evi­
dence regarding these matters as speculation and 
beyond the scope of the matters charged. 

However, it appears that the evidence regarding 
these matters was elicited for the relevant purpose of 
proving the charges in this matter. In other words, the 
evidence about which respondent complains, when 
taken together with the other evidence regarding this 
matter, further demonstrates that respondent entered 
into a law partnership with Orozco and that respon­
dent shared legal fees with Orozco. Thus, we reject 
respondent's apparent assertion that the challenged 
evidence was irrelevant to the charged misconduct. 
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[51 Moreover, notwithstanding respondent's 
assertion that"these findings cast [him] in a negative 
light," we conclude that because the findings did not 
result in an additional ground of discipline or aggrava­
tion, respondent has failed to demonstrate any specific 
oi actual prejudice that would entitle him to any relief 
on review. (Cf. Farnham v. State Bar ( 1976) 17 
Cal.3d 605, 609.) Under these circumstances, we 
decline to strike from the decision the hearingjudge's 
findings based on the evidence of which respondent 
complains. (~ee In the Matter of Kopinski (Review 
Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 716, 724.) 

[6a] In addition, contrary to respondent's argu­
ment, our review of the record indicates that 
respondent's evidentiary objection was neithertimely 
nor specific, and therefore, the evidence need not be 
disregarded. (Bowles v. State Bar ( 1989) 48 Cal.3d 
100, 108-109; Palomo v. State Bar ( 1984) 3 6 Cal.3d 
785, 793; see In the Matter of Dbcon (Review Dept. 
1999)4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 23, 41; In the Matter 
of Kaplan (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 509, 522.) 

[6b] As to timeliness, a party must object to a 
question, rather than making a motion to strike after 
the answer is given, "[w]hen the nature of [the] 
question indicates that the evidence sought is inad­
missible." (People v. Perry (1972) 7 Cal.3d 756, 
781.) " 'A party cannot hazard whether the reply of 
a witness to an objectionable question will be favor­
able or unfavorable to him, and when it appears 
unfavorable then object to it. He must object when the 
question is asked and before the answer is given, and 
ifhe does not, he waives his right to complain of the 
admission of the testimony under the answer.' [ Cita­
tion.]" (Ibid.) Here, respondent failed to object when 
Oro2.eo initially testified that respondent closed the 
bank account. When Orozco then added that respon­
dent withdrew all of the funds without ever properly 
distributing them to the clients, respondent made a 
motion to strike on the sole ground that such testimony 
was speculation, arguing that Orozco had not named 
"one single client that wasn't paid." When the State 
Bar then asked Oro2.eo to identify the clients who did 
not receive money to which they were entitled, 
respondent did not object. It was only after Orozco 
had identified the clients and moved on to other 
testimony, including testimony regarding the method 
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of distributing the checks from insurance companies 
and the amount of money respondent had taken, that 
respondent objected "as to these clients based on the 
fact that it's beyond the scope of the charges against 
me as well as the fact that he has already testified that 
every client was paid right away and so it conflicts 
with his prior testimony." Because the State Bar's 
questioning referred to above clearly asked for the 
identity of the clients who were not paid as a result of 
respondent's actions, respondent's objection, made 
after Orozco had concluded his testimony regarding 
the clients and had moved on to other testimony, was 
untimely. 

[6cJ In addition, as the foregoing description of 
respondent's objections demonstrates, respondent 
never specifically objected to Orozco's testimony 
that respondent closed the account and took the 
$6,000 remaining in the account. " '[T)he party who 
desires to raise the point of erroneous admission [ of 
evidence] on appeal must object at the trial, specifi­
cally stating the growids ofhis objection, and directing 
the objection to the particular evidence which he 
[properly] seeks to exclude.' (Citation.]" (People v. 
Harris (1978) 85 Cal.App.3d 954,957, italics omitted; 
see also Haskell v. Carli (1987) 195 Cal.App.3d 124, 
129.) Therefore, respondent has failed to preserve for 
review the issue of the inadmissibility of the evidence. 

In view of the foregoing, we need not strike from 
the hearingj udge' s decision the challenged findings. 

The Campos/Melendez~Arreola Matter 

Thelma Campos went to an office in Santa Ana 
to hire respondent to complete some paperwork 
regarding an immigration matter for her husband, 
Melendez-Arreola.7 When she arrived at the office, 
she saw the words "Emir Phillips and Associates" on 
the door and some business cards bearing respondent's 
name in the reception area. Although she made 
several appointments with respondent, he never ap­
peared and never returned any of her telephone calls. 
Instead, the secretary at the location, Monatas, told 

7. We base our findings in this matter upon the testimony 
Campos gave in the hearing department, which testimony the 
hearing judge found to be credible. 
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Campos to fill out certain forms for respondent, and 
Campos gave Monatas $375. Campos paid an addi­
tional $375 on April 26, 1994, plus, at some point, an 
additional $75 filing fee. Campos met with Monatas 
approximately five times, sometimes with her hus­
band there. Although Campos was aware of Rene 
Orozco being at the Santa Ana office, she had no 
dealings with him. 

Because respondent was never available and 
never returned her calls, Campos called "[aJ couple 
[ of] months" later and stated she was a new client. At 
thattime, she was able to speak with respondent. She 
told him that she wanted her money back because he 
had not done anything for her. She also told him she 
was going to send a letter to the State Bar due to his 
failure to perform the services for which he was 
retained, and he treated her statement "like a joke" 
and hung up on her. She never received a refund of 
any part of the money she paid to respondent. 

In his pretrial statement, respondent represented 
he had paid Campos back in full. However, respon­
dent testified at the hearing that that statement was 
probably a mistake. 

As to this matter, respondent was charged with 
violating rule 3-11 0(A) (intentionally, recklessly, or 
repeatedly failing to perform legal services compe­
tently - count nine), rule 3-700(D)(2) (failing to 
refund unearned fee after employment terminated -
count ten), and rule 4-1 00(B)( 4) (failing to promptly 
deliver client's funds, i.e., the $75 filing fee, upon 
request by client-count eleven). The hearingjudge 
found respondent culpable of all of these charges. 

[7a] Respondent asserts that these counts should 
be dismissed because there is no clear and convincing 
evidence that he ever represented either Campos or 
her husband. In making this assertion, respondent 
merely "advances his version of the evidence." (In 
the Matter of Koehler (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr.'615, 627.)However, where there 
is a conflict in the testimony, the hearingjudge is "in 
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a particularly appropriate position to resolve that 
conflict. [Citation.]" (Ibid.; Garyv. State Bar ( 1988) 
44 Ca13d 820, 826.) "(OJurrules on review require 
that we give great weight to the judge's findings in 
such a matter and we are given no good reason· to 
reach a different result." (In the Matter of Koehler, 
supra, l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 627; In the 
Matter of F andey (Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 767, 774-775.) 

[7b] Respondent focuses primarily upon evi­
dence that the Santa Ana office was Orozco' s office, 
that Monatas worked for Orozco at that time and not 
for respondent, that the second receipt indicates that 
payment was made to Orozco, that respondent did not 
recall the case, and that Campos allegedly retained 
respondent to perfonn work which Orozco was to 
perform under the agreement between Orozco and 
respondent.8 However, Campos testified credibly 
that she was referred to respondent at the Santa Ana 
office, went there intending to hire respondent, saw 
respondent's name on the door and some of his 
business cards in the reception area, and made 
several appointments with respondent. Although re­
spondent never appeared for any of the appointments 
or returned Campos' s caHs, Monatas had Campos fill 
out forms for respondent. 

[7cJ Moreover, one of the two receipts for 
payment Campos received was on respondent's 
letterhead. Although respondent testified he did not 
authorize the preparation ofareceipt on his letterhead 
and did not recall representing Campos or her hus­
band, the hearing judge found his testimony with 
respectto this client matter to be lacking in credibility. 

(7d) Furthermore, the memorialization of 
respondent's agreement with Orozco acknowledges 
that Monatas was to act as an employee of, or agent 
for, both respondent and Orozco with respect to 

8. Respondent testifiedlhat he believed Campos and Melendez­
Arreola never retained him, but instead retained Orozco. He 
testified that although a receipt was issued to Campos and 
Melendez-Arreola on respondent's letterhead by Monatas, 
whom respondent subsequently employed for· almost two 
years, Monatas did not work for respondent at the time the 
receipt was issued, and respondenl did not authorize the 
issuance of the receipt on his letterhead. Respondent further 
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certain matters. That document, which respondent 
drafted, states in relevant part that "Monica Monatas 
will have access to the bank account for the benefit 
of both Emir and Rene .... " In addition, we infer 
that respondent had a key to the office, since Orozco 
testified he changed the locks to the office upon the 
termination of his business relationship with respon• 
dent. Since Orozco testified that respondent visited 
and worked out of the Santa Ana office for at least a 
few hours each week, we find that respondent either 
knew orwas grossly negligent in not knowing that the 
office was held out to the public as his office. 

[7e] Finally, we note that in respondent's No­
vember 3, 1995 letter to the State Bar, respondent 
stated that at that time he was "assessing what work 
I and my office have done. I am more than willing to 
refund whatever I owe to Ms. Campos and/or her 
husband; however, atthis time, I am lookingatthefile 
and the case to prepare a bill for you." This statement 
includes an explicit admission that respondent had the 
Campos file at that time, which is evidence that 
Campos was, in fact, a client of respondent's, as there 
would be no other reason for respondent to be in 
possession of the file after he was no longer in 
business with Orozco. Because the statement also 
indicates that respondent was in the process of 
assessing his work to prepare a bill, we view it as an 
admission that respondent believed he had performed 
some work for Campos or her husband, also indicat­
ing that Campos retained respondent. At the very 
least, as pointed out by the hearing judge in his 
decision, respondent's failure to deny, upon accusa­
tion by the State Bar, that Campos was his client 
constitutes an adoptive admission of that fact. (See 
People v. Riel (2000) 22 Cal.4th 1153, 1189-1190; 
Bowles v. State Bar, supra, 48 Cal.3d at p. 108.) We 
conclude the evidence clearly and convincingly es­
tablishes that Campos retained respondent to perform 
immigration work for her husband. 

testified he never met with Campos because he never knew he 
was supposed to meet with anyone. Moreover, he testified his 
name was not anywhere on the door or at the entrance to the 
Santa Ana office, and he did not believe there were any of his 
business cards in the reception area there. He also testified he 
did not recall speaking with Campos either in person or on the 
telephone. 
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[8aJ As to respondent's argument that the hear­
ingj udge should have sustained his hearsay objection 
to Campos's testimony regarding Monatas's state­
ments to her, those statements to Campos were admissible 
as authorized statements pursuant to Evidence Code 
section 1222. That section provides: "Evidence of a 
statement offered against a party is not made inad­
missible by the hearsay rule if: [11 (a) The statement 
was made by a person authorized by the party to 
make a statement or statements for him concerning 
the subject matter of the statement; and [4,r] (b) The 
evidence is offered either after admission of evidence 
sufficient to sustain a finding of such authority or, in 
the court's discretion as to the order of proof, subject 
to the admission of such evidence." The authority of 
a declarant to make a statement for another" 'con­
cerning the subject matter of the statement' can be 
implied, as well as express. [Citation.]" (O'Mary v. 
Mitsubishi Electronics America,. Inc. ( 1997) 59 
Cal.App.4th 5 63, 5 70.) Whether such authority exists 
is to be determined from "the particular facts and 
circumstances of each case viewed in the light of the 
substantive law of agency .... [Citation.]" (Ibid.) 

[Sb) Here, as previously stated, Monatas acted 
as the agent of both Ornzco and respondent at the 
time she was employed in the Santa Ana office. 
Moreover, as established in the Chimy matter, dis­
cussed below, as a secretary working on respondent's 
behalf, Monatas was specifically authorized to relay 
information and instructions from respondent to cli­
ents. Under these circumstances, Monatas's 
statements to Campos, particularly her statement 
informing Campos that respondent wanted Campos 
to fill out a form, were admissible to prove that 
Campos had retained respondent. 

We also conclude that the evidence clearly and 
convincingly establishes respondent's intentional, 
reckless, or repeated failure to perform legal services 
competently, in that _Campos testified respondent 
never filed any immigration documents for her hus­
band or even provided Campos with completed 
documents for her to file. Moreover, although Cam­
pos sent a letter to respondent dated November 15, 
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1994, in which she requested a refund of all money 
previously paid to him, she never received any of her 
money back. Such evidence establishes that respon­
dent is culpable of failing to refund the unearned fee 
of$750 and failing to promptly deliver to Campos the 
$75 she gave to respondent as a filing fee. Thus, we 
adopt the hearingjudge' s conclusions in counts nine, 
ten, and eleven. 

The Van Tatenhove Matter 

Sometime prior to October 1993, Dirk Van 
Tatenhove, a probate attorney, obtained the name of 
Virginia Russell, an educational consultant associ­
ated with respondent's law office, to help him seek 
special educational services for his daughter. Van 
Tatenhove contacted Russell in October 1993 and 
discussed the matter with her. She thought that she 
could help Van Tatenhove and recommended that 
Van Tatenhove retain respondent as his attorney. 
Subsequently, Van T atenhove received from Russell 
a letter dated October 20, 1993, which in part memo­
rialized his conversation with her, and a proposed 
retainer agreement between respondent and Van 
Tatenhove. The agreement provided as relevant that 
Van Tatenhove would pay a nonrefundable retainer 
fee of $1,000 to respondent, which would cover "all 
legal services ( excluding costs) ... through the comple­
tion of one due process (max. of three days, if more than 
three days, the fee is $250 .00 per additional day beyond 
three days) at which time a new contract must be 
negotiated if this office is to be continued to be 
retained." (Sic.) The agreement additionally pro­
vided that if the case were settled ''without [attorney] 
fees as [agreed] upon by Attorney, then Client shall 
pay Attorney for all hours worked at $150.00 per 
hour[,] $75 per hour for all paralegal work" and that 
costs, including those for consultants, would be paid 
by respondent and then billed to Van Taterihoveafter 
obtaining Van Tatenhove'sconsent. Van Tatenhove 
testified that he believed the retainer fee would be 
refundable ifrespondent did not perfonn services for 
him: "[ A]s a practicing attorney I know that no 
retainer is non-refundable if the attorney doesn't 
substantially perform the work."9 On or about No-

9. As will be discussed post, rule 3-700(0)(2) as interpreted 
does recognize that true retainer fees are nonrefundable. The 
retainer fee here is not such a true retainer. 
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vember 4, 1993, Van Tatenhove sent a letter to 
Russell along with a check for $1,000 made out to 
respondent. He signed and sent her the retainer agree­
ment on November 18, 1993. 

On or about December I 0, 1993, an evaluation 
was perfonned by Van Tatenhove' sdaughter' s school 
which indicated thatthe daughtermight not qualify for 
any special education services. At Russell's sugges­
tion, Van Tatenhove contacted a psychologist to 
reviewhisdaugbter'srecordsandtheschool'sevalu­
ation. Thepsychologistcoriducted the evaluation free 
of charge and, on February 18, 1994, told Van 
Tatenhove that he could not win a case against the 
school to have Van Tatenhove's daughter placed in 
a special school. Respondent did not assist Van 
Tatenhove during either the school's or the 
psychologist's evaluation of the matter. 

Shortly after meeting with the psychologist, Van 
Tatenhove discussed the matter with Russell, who 
agreed with the psychologist' s evaluation. On March 
24, 1994, Van Tatenhove sent a letter to respondent 
requesting an accounting and a refund of either the 
full retainer paid or the amount which had not yet been 
earned. Receiving no response, on May 3 and 17, 
1994, Van Tatenhove sent two additional letters to 
respondent by certified mail, return receipt requested. 
Van Tatenhove received a telephone message on 
May 20, 1994, indicatingthatrespondent'soffice had 
called to inform Van Tatenhove that respondent was 
out of town on vacation until May 30, 1994, and would 
prepare a bill when he returned. Van Tatenhove 
never received any other communication from re­
spondent or his office and sent a complaint to the 
State Bar on September 1, 1994. 

In l 996, Van Tatenhove finally received a letter, 
a statement, and a trust account check dated October 
19, 1996, for $202 from respondent. The statement 
indicated that respondent had spent a total of 5.25 
hours working on Van Tatenhove ' s case, which fact 
Van Tatenhove disputed. Although respondent indi­
cated on the statement that he had spent two hours 
reviewing the records of Van Tatenhove' s daughter, 
Van Tatenhove sent records to Russell only, and 
Russell testified she never forwarded such records to 
respondent. In addition, contrary to the indication on 
the statement, Russell never had any telephone con-
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versations with • respondent regarding Van 
Tatenhove' s daughter that lasted three quarters of an 
hour. Moreover, although the statement indicated 
that two hours was being billed for Russell's work as 
a paralegal at a rate of $75 per hour, in a letter of 
March or April 1994, Russell infonned respondent 
she had worked 10 hours on this matter, and respon­
dent owed her$80 for this work plus $20 for telephone 
bills, which amount respondent never paid. Russell 
also suggested in the letter to respondent that, be­
cause they could not help Van Tatenhove, he should 
refund the full retainer minus the actual cost to 
respondent ofRussell' s work and costs for telephone 
bills. Finally, the Van Tatenhovestatementitselfwas 
not dated and did not reflect the dates on which the 
work was perfonned. 

As to this matter, respondent was charged with 
violatingrule3-700(DX2)(failirigtorefundpromptly 
unearned fee after employment terminated - count 
twelve); rule 4-1 00(B)(3) (failing to maintain com­
p!~ records ofall client funds in member' s possession 
arid to render appropriate accounting-count thirteen) 
and section 6068, subdivision (m) ( failing to respond 
promptly to reasonable status inquiries-count four-
teen;) ' 

Respondent does not challenge the culpability 
findings as to counts thirteen and fourteen. Based 
upon our independent review of the record, we adopt 
the hearingjudge 's findings of culpability as to these 
counts, as the evidence establishes that notwithstand­
ing Van Tatenhove' s letters, respondent failed both to 
respond promptly to Van Tatenhove' s status inquiries 
and to render the requested accounting regarding the 
funds paid by Van Tatenhove. 

Respondent asserts that count twelve should be 
dismissed because there was no clear and convincing 
evidence respondent did not earn the $1,000 fee paid 
by Van Tatenhove. Respondent first appears to argue 
that the $1,000 fee was a nonrefundable retainer to 
which rule1-700 (D)(2) does not apply. He then argues 
that, even assuming the $1,000 was not a true retainer, 
the evidence establishes that he fully earned the fee. 

Rule 3-700(0)(2) provides that an attorney whose 
employment has tenninated must"[p]romptly refund 
any part of a fee paid in advance that has not been 
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earned. This provision is not applicable to a true 
retainer fee which is paid solely for the purpose of 
ensuring the availability of the [attorney] for the 
matter." 

We first note that there was no evidence in the 
record the fee agreement was ever signed by respon­
dent. Since that agreement itself provides that the 
agreement is effective "when it is executed by the 
second of the parties to do so," it appears the 
agreement was never in effect. 

[9a] Evenassumingtheagreementmay be given 
effect, the State Bar asserts that, under the fee 
agreement, the $1,000 fee was not a true retainer, but 
an advanced fee for services to be rendered. The 
State Bar argues that its position is supported by the 
fee agreement itself, since the agreement establishes 
that the $1,000 was paid not to ensure respondent's 
availability for this matter or for a given period of time, 
but rather to pay respondent in advance for his 
services in conducting a due process hearing regard­
ing special educational services for Van Tatenhove 's 
daughter. We agree with the State Bar's argument. 

In In the Matter of Lais (Review Dept. 1998) 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 907, we concluded on similar 
facts that the fee at issue constituted an advanced fee 
rather than a true retainer fee. There, Lais and his 
clients entered into a written agreement providing for 
" 'a fixed, non-refundable retaining fee of $2,750.00 
and a sum equal to $275.00 per hour after the first 10 
hours of work. This fixed, non-refundable retaining 
fee is paid to (respondent] for the purpose of assuring 
the availability of [respondent] in this matter.' " (Id. 
at p. 920.) A few days after the agreement was 
executed, the clients left Lais a message indicating 
they had changed their minds about pursuing legal 
action, they wanted no work to be performed on the 
matter, and they wanted a refund of the money paid. 
Lais did not refund their money until after the clients 
had, among a number of things, filed a complaint with 
the State Bar. (Id. at pp. 920-921.) Although the 
hearingjudge in that matter concluded, based on the 
language contained in the agreement, that the fee was 
a nonrefundable retainer, we determined that the 
characterization of the fee in the agreement was not 
determinative and held that the $2,750 was an ad­
vanced fee. (Id. at pp. 922-923.) We noted that a true 
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retainer is money a client pays to secure an attorney's 
availability over a given period of time and concluded 
that such definition did not apply to the $2, 750paid by 
Lais' s clients: "The $2,750 was not earned when paid, 
but was intended to cover the initial 10 hours of 
[Lais's] work." (Id. at p. 923.) 

Likewise, in Matthew v. State Bar ( 1989) 49 
Cal.3d 784, 789 the Supreme Court determined that 
Matthew failed to return an unearned fee of $1,000 in 
a client matter where Matthew had failed to perform 
the services for which he was retained notwithstand­
ing that the fee agreement provided that the $1,000 
was a nonrefundable retainer. 

[9bJ Similarly, we conclude that respondent's 
fee agreement with Van Tatenhove establishes that 
the $1,000 fee was not earned when paid, but was 
instead an advanced fee intended to cover 
respondent's representation "through the completion 
of one due process [hearing]" lasting no more than 
three days. 

In addition, when respondent eventually refunded 
a portion of the $1,000 to Van Tatenhove, he did so 
with a check drawn upon a client trust account. 
Therefore, assuming respondent's use of the trust 
account was proper, we may infer that respondent 
himself recognized that he did not earn the $1,000 
when paid. 

(10a] Moreover, as previously indicated, the fee 
agreement further provides that upon settlement of 
the case "without [ attorney) fees as [ agreed] upon by 
Attorney," Van Tatenhove was to pay respondent 
$150 per hour for the actual amount of time respon­
dent spent on the case and $75 per hour for time spent 
by paralegals. While this provision of the fee agree­
ment is not entirely clear, respondent, in his brief on 
review, indicates that this provision was to apply if the 
matter settled without a hearing. Because the matter 
was in fact concluded without a hearing, it appears 
that, if the agreement is given effect, this provision, 
rather than the provision regarding a nonrefundable 
retainer, is applicable here. 

In arguing that the evidence established that he 
fully earned the $1,000 paid by Van Tatenhove, 
respondent focuses upon Russell's testimony that she 
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worked for approximately 10 hours on the matter and 
incurred telephone costs of $20; her testimony that 
her standard rate as an educational advocate is$ 7 5 to 
$125 per hour; the fee agreement's provision calling 
for Van Tatenhove to be billed $75 per hour for 
paralegal services; Russell's testimony that she spoke 
with respondent about this matter; and respondent's 
bill for two and a half hours for research and two 
hours for telephone conversations with Russell re­
garding this matter. Respondent argues that in view 
of the hearing judge's finding that Russell spent .10 
hours on this matter, the judge should have found that 
respondent was entitled to bill Van Tatenhove for 
$750 for Russell's work, plus $20 for Russell's 
telephone costs. In addition, because respondent's 
bill showed that he spent two and a half hours for 
research and 45 minutes discussing the matter with 
Russell, the evidence established that respondent 
fully earned the entire amount paid. 

(10b] As the State Bar points out, however, 
nothing in the record establishes that Van Tatenhove 
agreed to pay respondent for Russell's services at the 
paralegal rate set forth in the agreement. Instead, as 
previously indicated, the agreement provides that 
costs for consultants would be paid by respondent and 
then billed to Van Tatenhove if Van Tatenhove 
consented to the use of a consultant. Because Russell 
testified that respondent incurred only $100 in costs 
due to her consulting services, respondent would 
have been entitled to bill Van Tatenhove for that 
amount at most. However, in view of respondent's 
failure to pay Russell any amount for her consulting 
services in th is matter, respondent was not entitled to 
bill Van Tatenhove for any consulting services. 

(lOcJ In view of the evidence that respondent 
could not have reviewed the school records because 
he never received them and did not have telephone 
conversations with Russell regarding this matter 

10. The State Bar asserts in a footnote ofits responsive brief on 
review that the context of the hearing judge's finding in this 
respect indicates that the hearingjudge intended to state that 
he did not find the bill to be sufficient evidence to establish that 
respondent spent 2.5 hours on research in this client matter. 
However, the structure of the sentence itself demonstrates that 
the decision accurately sets forth the hearing judge's finding, 
since the sentence contains two indicators of suchfmding: "The 
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which lasted three quarters of an hour, we adopt the 
hearing judge's finding that respondent fabricated 
those portionsofhis bill reflecting such work. We also 
adopt the hearing judge's finding that respondent's 
bill by itself establishes that respondent spent 2.5 
hours for research on this matter. 10 In view of such 
limited evidence of respondent's work, the evidence 
establishes that respondent did not earn the $1,000 
paid by Van Tatenhove. 

[10d] Moreover, in view of our detennination 
that respondent could not charge Van Tatenhove for 
Russell's consulting work, even if respondent's bill 
accurately set forth respondent's work in this matter, 
and whether respondent was entitled to charge $150 
for his own work asset forth in the agreement or $110 
as set forth in the bill, respondent did not perfonn 
sufficient work to earn $1,000, yet he failed to refund 
any amount to Van Tatenhove for over two years 
after Van Tatenhove requested a refund. We there­
fore hold that respondent is culpable of failing to 
promptly return the unearned fee as charged in count 
twelve. 

The Hammill Matter 

Respondent obtained numerous cases from at­
torney Jeffrey Jensen when Jensen ceased to practice 
law. One of these cases was Marco A. Jimenez v. 
Tony Roma's (the Jimenez case), a workers' com­
pensation case. Jensen had represented Marco 
Jimenez in the matter. 

Jeff Hammill is a ci vii litigation attorney whose 
practice consists mainly of workers' compensation 
cases. In 1994, Hammill was employed at the law 
finn of Ibold & Anderson, which finn represented 
Truck Insurance Exchange, a party in the Jimenez 
case. On or about April 21, 1994, Hammill received 
a letter from respondent. In the letter; respondent 

Court, however, does find this bill, by itself, sufficient evidence 
to establish that Respondent did spend 2.5 hours on medical/ 
legal research .... " We interpret the hearingjudge 's footnote, 
which states that respondent may have banned himselfon this 
issue by failing to testify, to mean that the hearing judge might 
have been able to find that respondent spent additional time on 
the Van Tatenhove case had respondent been willing to testify 
regarding such matters. 
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notified Hammill that he had taken over Jensen's 
practice and the majority ofJensen'sworkers' com­
pensation cases and that, according to Jensen's 
records, _Jensen was owed deposition fees in the 
amount of$1,0l2.50 for the Jimenez case. Respon­
dent requested payment of the fees under Labor 
Code section 5710. 

Hammill also received a copy of a letter dated 
October 12, 1994, from respondentto Cindy Pearson 
at Truck Insurance Exchange.11 That letter informed 
Pearson that respondent had taken over Jensen's 
practice and requested payment for deposition fees in 
the amount of $1,012.50 for the Jimenez case. The 
letter also enclosed a copy of a lien filed by Jensen's 
office and stated that, if no response was received 
within 15 days, respondent would seek penalties and 
interest on the fees. 

On October 27, 1994, Hammill sent a letter to 
respondent indicating, among other things, that 
Hammill's office represented Truck Insurance Ex­
change; had previously informed respondent of this 
representation in a telephone conversation between 
respondent and Michael Douglas oflbold & Ander­
son on June 9, 1994, and a telephone conversation 
between respondent and Hammill on April 25, 1994; 
and had previously informed respondent that the 
Jimenez case had already been resolved in a compro­
mise and release agreement. The letter additionally 
instructed respondent to refrain from directly con­
tacting Truck Insurance Exchange and warned that, 
if s_uch direct contact occurred again, Hammill's 
office would "take up this issue with the State Bar of 
California." Hammill did not receive a response to 
this letter. 

Onor about February 3, 1995, Hammill received 
a copy of another letter from respondent to Pearson 
at Truck Insurance Exchange. In this letter, dated 
January 19, 1995, respondent again requested pay­
ment of$1,012.50 in deposition fees, indicated this 
was his "final request for these fees," and stated he 
would petition the court for such fees as well as 

11. Because the letters from respondent to Pearson do not 
indicate that respondent also mailed copies directly to Hammill, 
it appears that Pearson or another employee at Truck Insurance 
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penalties and interest if Pearson did not respond 
within 15 days. 

At some point, Hammill sent a letter to the State 
Bar. On February 14, 1995, respondent sent a letter 
to the State Bar responding to Hammill's letter and 
explaining the contact his office had with Hammill' s 
client. Respondent indicated that he· was a solo 
practitioner with hundreds of cases and therefore 
extremely busy. Because of this, he relied on his staff 
''to handle a large portion of the correspondence 
regarding various cases. I have complete confidence 
in my staff, and because of this I allow them to work 
independently and put my name to letters and other 
documents, after I have briefed them on how to 
legally handle various situations." Respondent ex­
plained that a nonattomey member of his staff, 
Damon Pipitone, was in charge of working on the 
Jimenez case and was "simply writing· letters 'to 
opposition' as per my instructions, unaware that he 
was doing anything wrong." Respondent admitted 
that the letters were sent from his office and accepted 
responsibility, but stated that he did not personally 
write or sign them. He also indicated he had explained 
to his staff the nature of the violation so as to avoid the 
situation in the future. • 

Respondent was charged in this matter ( count 
fifteen) with failing to supervise his employee ad­
equately, thereby intentionally, recklessly, or 
repeatedly failing to perfonn legal services with 
competence in violation of rule 3-11 O(A). Respon­
dent asserts that this count should be dismissed 
because, as to this matter, there is no evidence of a 
violation of any of the Rules ofProfessional Conduct. 
More specifically, respondent argues that a violation 
of rule 3-1 IO(A) cannot be predicated upon improper 
contact, through an employee, with a party repre­
sented by counsel and that, in any event, there was no 
contact with a represented "party" as that tenn is 
defined in rule 2-1 00(B). 

We first address respondent's argument that 
there was no evidence of contact with a represented 

Exchange forwarded respondent's letters to Hammill. The 
record does not reveal the position Pearson held at Truck 
Insurance Exchange. 
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party. Rule 2-1 00(A) provides that an attorney shall 
not communicate, either directly or indirectly, about 
the subject of the representation with a party whom 
the attorney knows to be represented by another 
attorney, unless the other attorney consents. Rule 2-
IO0(B) states: "For purposes of this rule, a 'party' 
includes: [,r.J (1) An officer, director, or managing 
agent of a corporation or association, and a partner or 
managing agent of a partnership; or [fl (2) An 
association member or an employee of an associa­
tion, corporation, or partnership, if the subject of the 
communication is any act or omission of such person 
in connection with the matter which may be binding 
upon or imputed to the organization for purposes of 
civil or criminal liability orwhose statement may consti­
tute an admission on the part of the organiz.ation." 

[11aJ Respondent argues that there is no evi­
dence in the record regarding the position held by 
Pearson within the corporation and that therefore 
there is no evidence that respondent's office sent 
letters to a "party." We disagree. Here, Hammill 
notified respondent in the letter of October 2 7, 1994, 
that by sending the October 12, 1994 letterto Pearson, 
respondent had contacted a represented party. The 
only reasonable inference from this evidence is that 
either Pearson held one of the positions listed in rule 
2-lO0(B)( 1) or Pearson's statements or actions per­
taining to the matter would be binding upon, imputed 
to, or constitute an admission on the part of the 
corporation. We note additionally that instead of 
disputing any assertion that Pipitone's conduct was 
an improper contact with a represented party, re­
spondent appeared to concede the issue in his letter 
to the State Bar dated February 14, 1995. There, in 
seeking to explain this matter, respondent described 
his office's contact with Pearson as an "honest 
mistake" made by a nonattorney who was unfamiliar 
with rule 2-100 and was "unaware that he was doing 
anything wrong." Respondent further stated that he 
subsequently "explained to [his staff] the nature of 

12. Notwithstanding respondent's statements in the letter to the 
State Bar that the contact was an honest mistake, as we noted 
in In the Matter of Wyshak (Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 70, 81, rule 2-100 and its predecessor rules are 
therapeutic and "designed, in part, to shield the represented 
party from well-meaning, but misguided advances by an 
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the violation" and that he accepted "full responsibility 
for the ... violation."12 

[llbl As there is no contrary evidence in the 
record regardingthe propriety of the letters to Pearson, 
we conclude that Pipitone' s letters to Pearson consti­
tuted a contact with a represented party. Moreover, 
because respondent's office was notified of this fact 
in Hammill' s letter of October 2 7, 1994, at the very 
least Pipitone 's second letter to Pearson, dated Janu­
ruy 19, 1995, was improper. 

Since respondent was not charged with a viola­
tion of rule 2-100, we need not decide whether 
respondent violated that rule through his employee's 
contact with Pearson. The State Bar instead relies 
upon the factual allegations regarding this contact 
only to support the rule 3-11 0(A) violation. Accord­
ingly, we consider such allegations only for that 
purpose. 

Based upon the allegations of the improper 
contact by respondent's office with a represented 
party, respondent was charged with failing adequately 
to supervise his staff, thereby intentionally, reck­
lessly, or repeatedly failing to perform legal services 
competently in violation of rule 3-1 I0(A). As indi­
cated, respondent argues that any improper contact 
by his employee cannot result in his own culpability 
for intentionally, recklessly, or repeatedly failing to 
perform services competently. · 

(12a] "[W]here an attorney has been alerted to 
problems and does not adequately address them, then 
such gross neglect may be disciplinable as a failure to 
perform services competently." (In the Matter of 
Hindin (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 657, 682.) Here, respondent admitted in his 
letter to the State Bar that he runs a high volume law 
office, relies upon his staff to work on cases indepen­
dently, and allows staff to sign his name to letters arid 

attorney to an adverse party as well as deliberately improper 
ones. [Citations.]" The rules are also designed to protect the 
opposing party's counsel and the opposing party's relation­
ship with his or her counsel. (Triple A Machine Shop, Inc. v. 
State of California (1989) 213 Cal.App.3d 131, 139.) 
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other documents, apparently without reviewing such 
documents himself. Respondent also appeared to 
admit that Pipitone was in charge of working on this 
case with no supervision whatsoever other than 
respondent's initial instructions. Even after the first 
letter was sent to Pearson and respondent had been 
cautioned by opposing counsel to send all such letters 
directly to counsel, respondent still took no action 
whatsoever. In other words, respondent was alerted 
to a problem, yet apparently took no action to correct 
the problem, resulting in Pipitone sending another 
letter directly to Pearson. 

112b} Although in his letter to the State Bar, 
respondent indicated that he had no knowledge that 
his employee was doing anything wrong, we note that 
a lack of actual knowledge is not a defense to the 
charge of recklessly or repeatedly failing to perfonn 
legal services with competence where it appears 
there is no system in place for supervising employees 
and monitoring cases. (In the Matter of Sullivan, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 611-612.) 
While an attorney cannot be held responsible for 
every event which takes place in his or her office, he 
or she does have a duty to reasonably supervise staff, 
both by taking steps to guide employees and by 
reviewing client files to detennine whether staff work 
has been appropriate. (In the Matter of Hindin, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 681-682.) 
Respondent's failure to guide his staff and review 
their work constitutes a failure to adequately super­
vise staff, and we therefore conclude that respondent 
was culpable of the charge set forth in count fifteen.13 

The Chimy Matter 

Emanuel Jesus Chimy had a workers' compensa­
tion claim against American Handle. Chimy, whodidnot 
speak or read English fluently, 14 initially hired Jensen 
as his attorney in the matter, but after Jensen ceased 
to be an attorney in good standing, BenjaminAmmeian 
took over the case in October or November 1994. 

13. The State Bar assens that the evidence presented in this count 
establishes that respondent also aided in the unauthorized 
practice oflaw by allowing Pipitoneto handle an entire matter. 
However, because the State Bar presented no evidence that 
Pi pi tone engaged in acts which only an attorney may perfonn, 
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On January 24, 1995, respondent sent a letter to 
State Fund regarding Chimy's case against Ameri­
can Handle. In the letter, respondent stated he had 
substituted into the case in place of Jeffrey Jen sen as 
the attorney of record. He also stated that Chimy was 
"willing to accept $4,500.00 to settle this case .... " 

Onor about February 14, 1995, Chimyreceived 
a letter from respondent dated February 6, 1995. 
When Chimy telephoned respondent's office to in­
quire about the letter, someone named Monica told 
him that respondent had Chimy' s case and made an 
appointment for Chimy to come to. the office on 
February 17, 1995. 

• At the February 17, 1995 meeting, Chimy was 
told that respondent was taking his case. Chimy 
indicated he was confused because Ammeian was 
his attorney and asked . whether Ammeian knew 
about respondent taking the case. Respondent told 
him that Ammeian was not working on his case and 
that respondent had taken the case from Jeffrey 
Jensen. Respondent also told him that he had negoti­
ated a: settlement of $10,000 for Chimy and asked 
Chimy to sign some papers. Chimy signed a docu­
ment to allow respondent to become his attorney and 
other documents which were not explained to him. At 
some point prior to March 23, 1995, respondent 
substituted into the workers' compensation matter as 
attorney of record. 

Approximately a week later, Chimy contacted 
Ammeian .. 

In March 1995, Ammeian received a letter from 
respondent dated March 14, 1995, in which respon­
dent stated he was substituting in as attorney of 
record for Chimy in the workers' compensation case. 
Ammeian called State Compensation Insurance Fund 
and spoke with a woman named Trinidad Crystal. 
Based on his conversation with her, Ammeian called 
ChimytoclarifywhetherChimystill wanted Ammeian 

weconclude that there was no clear and convincing evidence of 
such additional misconduct. 

14. During the proceedings in the hearing department, an inter• 
preter translated during Chimy's testimony. 
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to represent him. Ammeian set up an appointment 
withChimy. 

Ammeian met with Chimy on or about March 23, 
1995. At that time, Chimy executed another substitu­
tion of attorney form substituting Arnmeian into the 
matter-as attorney of record .in place of respondent. 
Ammeian sent this form to the State Compensation 
Insurance Fund. On March 23, 1995,respondentwas 
dismissed as the attorney of record by the Workers' 
Compensation Board. Ammeian also sent a letter to 
respondent which, among other things, requested 
respondent's file on the Chimy workers' compensa­
tion matter. Ammeian never received the file from 
respondent. Ammeian subsequently settled the Chimy 
matter for $25,000. 

In other cases Ammeian had received from 
Jeffrey Jensen's practice, respondent had also sent 
letters to insurance carriers and defense attorneys, 
notwithstanding that Ammeian had already notified 
respondent that these were Ammeian 's clients. 

fl3a] As to this client matter, respondent was 
charged with violating rule l-400(C) (soliciting a 
prospective client with whom attorney has no family 
or prior professional relationship - count sixteen). 
Respondent asserts that the evidence establishes he 
was not culpable of violating this rule because he had 
a reasonable, good faith belief that he had a prior 
professional relationship with Chimy. This belief was 
based upon the facts that respondent took over most 
of Jeffrey Jensen' s cases; that, notwithstanding 
respondent's request, Ammeian did not inform re­
spondent that Ammeian had taken over Chirny's 

15. Rcspondenttestified that he was not sure whether Ammeian 
was representing Chi my. He testified that he had earlier asked 
Ammeian to give him a list of all of the cases Arnmeian had taken 
from Jeffrey Jensen, and Chimy's name was not on the list 
Ammeian submitted to respondent. He further ti;stified that 
when he substituted into Chimy's case he believed thatChimy 
was not represented by an attorney. 

Respondent eKplained that when the State Bar asked him to 
talce over Jeffrey Jensen• s cases, he was required to look over 
approximately 3,400 cases. He testified that the files were not 
organized, mail had not been answered for about a year and a 
half, and documents had been placed in the wrong files. 
Respondent stated that he dismissed approximately 1,000 of 

337 

case; and that the files were in disarray, with docu­
ments frequently placed in the wrong files, causing 
confusion. Respondent argues that he therefore 
reasonably believed that Chimy was mistaken when 
Chimy told respondent that Arnmeian was his attor­
ney. is 

The hearingjudge found that respondent was not 
a credible witness with respect to this matter and 
concluded that respondent willfully violated rule l -
400(C) when he continued the meeting with Chimy 
after Chimy informed respondent thatAmmeian was 
his attorney. We agree with this conclusion; 

(13b] While respondent deserves credit for 
attempting to preserve Chimy' s workers' compensa­
tion claim after Jensen became ineligible to practice 
law, respondent does not automatically own a cause 
of action or a client as a result of taking over Jensen's 
cases. As we observed above in the Brown matter, 
the client has an absolute right to retain counsel of 
choice. In In the Matter of Scapa and Brown 
(Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 635, 
we found a violation of former rule 2-101, regarding 
improper solicitation of potential clients, where the 
attorneys, working through others, imposed their 
services on clients. We there noted that the danger of 
solicitation is that lawyers, trained in persuasion, may 
attempt to use such skills on potential clients who are 
vulnerable and susceptible to manipulation. (Id. at p. 
652.) The record here demonstrates that a concern 
about that danger is justified, as respondent used his 
skills of persuasion to convince a confused, non­
English-speaking worker to substitute respondent as 
his attorney of record, notwithstanding that Chimy 

the cases and took another l,400to l, 700. He further stated that 
Ammeian took about 40 cases and another firm, Leva& Knight. 
took 200 to 300. Respondent testified that when he discovered 
he was receiving mail or had documents pertaining to clients 
from the Jensen practice which had been assigned to other law 
c;>ffices, h~ routinely sent the documents or mall to the other 
offices. 

Respondent testified he was aware that approximately one 
month after he had been substituted in as attorney of record in 
the case, he was dismissed as the attorney of record, and the 
compromise and release on which he had obtained Chimy's 
signature was eventually revoked. 
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stated that he was already represented by a practic­
ing attorney. 

(13c] Even if respondent was not aware that 
Chimy was represented by Ammeian when 
respondent's office asked Chimy to conie in for a 
meeting, Chimy's statement that Ammeian was his 
attorney was sufficient to put respondent on notice 
that Amrneian was handling this matter. This .is 
especially true in view of respondent's previous 
recognition that Amrneian's list of clients from Jef­
frey Jensen's practice was incomplete. We note that 
the Rules of Professional Conduct serve to prevent 
not only deliberate overreaching by attorneys, but 
also inadvertent yet improper conduct. (Cf. In the 
Matter ofWyshak, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
atp.81.) 

113d] Moreover, respondent's letter of March 
14, 1995, informing Ammeian that Chimy had re­
tained respondent and asking Ammeian to sign an 
enclosed substitution of attorney fonn, establishes 
that respondent knew that Ammeian had been work­
ing on the matter. We therefore conclude that the 
evidence clearly and convincingly establishes that 
respondent solicited a prospective client with whom 
he had no prior professional relationship in violation of 
rule l-400(C). 

The Garcia Matter 

In this clie~t matter, respondent was charged in 
counts seventeen and eighteen with violating rule 3-
11 O(A) based upon his intentional, reckless, or repeated 
failure to perform legal services with competence and 
his failure to supervise his employees adequately. It 
appears from the record that count seventeen, which 
alleged respondent's failure to appear at a mandatory 
settlement conference on April 4, I 995, was dis­
missed upon motion of the State Bar at a pretrial 
conference. In addition, count eighteen, which al-

16. See Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, rule 261(a). 

17. (14] Neither the reporter's transcript of the proceedings in 
the hearing department northe clerk' snotationson the exhibits 
themselves indicate that the exhibits pertaining to this client 
matter were formally admitted into evidence. However, as it 
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leged that respondent's office caused the wrong 
client to execute a settlement document intended for 
another client, was dismissed by the hearing judge 
based on a lack of clear and convincing evidence that 
the problem was caused by respondent's failure to 
supervise his employees. The State Bar does not seek 
review of these dismissals. Upon our independent 
review, we agree with and adopt the dismissal of 
these counts and clarify that such dismissals are with 
prejudice.16 

The Vielma/Herrera Matter17 

Respondent was charged in count nineteen with 
intentionally, recklessly, or repeatedly failing to per­
form legal services competently in violation of rule 
3-11 O(A) based upon his failure to appear on behalf 
of his clients on March 10 and June 19, 1995. After 
considering the exhibits, the hearingjudge found there 
was no clear and convincing evidence of this viola­
tion. Upon our independent review of the record, we 
agree, as there is no evidence that respondent had 
notice of the dates of the court appearances. We 
therefore adopt the hearingjudge's dismissal of count 
nineteen and clarifythatsuch dismi~l is with prejudice .. 

MITIGATION AND AGGRAVATION 

Mitigation 

In mitigation, respondent presented evidence 
that he performed pro bono work in several education 
cases. Although he testified he could have been 
awarded attorney fees by the courts had he won in 
these matters, such fees are rarely awarded in these 
types of cases, and in fact he performed services in 
these cases without ultimately receiving compensa­
tion. Although he did not have written retainer 
agreements in all of these cases stating thatthe clients 
did not have to pay anything for respondent's repre­
sentation, he did have such a retainer in the Cronkite 

appears that the hearing judge considered the exhibits and the 
judge and counsel treated theexhibitsasadmitted into evidence, 
we treat the exhibits are part of the record for purposes of 
review. (Komas v. Future Systems, Inc. ( 1977) 71 Cal.App.3d 
809, 812.) 
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case. However, he had not brought that agreement 
with him to the trial in this proceeding. 

In addition to the foregoing, respondent worked 
on a panel with the Los Angeles County Bar 
Association's Modest Means Section for approxi­
mately one and a half years. While on this panel, 
respondent represented 10 to 15 clients at the rate of 
$40 per hour. 

Respondent also presented evidence that he 
perfonned other legal work at a reduced rate of$ 70 
per hour, regularly handles civil rights cases, and has 
handled disabled veterans cases, for which he could 
have received fees if awarded by the court. 

[ 151 While respondent's representation in some 
cases for reduced or no fees constitutes evidence in 
mitigation ( cf. In the Matter of Spaith (Review 
Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 511, 521 ), as 
the hearingjudge found, respondent's testimony lacked 
credibility, and the evidence established that respon­
dent was eligible to receive substantial attorney fees 
in many of the cases respondent described in present• 
ing evidence in mitigation. It is therefore unclear 
whether respondent's motive for taking such cases 
was to help others or to collect attorney fees, and 
under these circumstances, we give respondent's 
evidence little weight in mitigation, as did the hearing 
judge. 

Aggravation 

Respondent challenges many of the hearing 
judge's findings regarding circumstances in aggrava­
tion. 

In aggravation, respondent engaged in multiple 
acts of wrongdoing. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, tit. N, 
Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct ( stan­
dards), std. l 2(b )(ii).) 

18. Respondent testified he had filed a medical malpractice 
complaint on behalfofTamekiaonApri!28, 1994, because the 
insurance company for the medical provider took the position 
that the statute oflimitations would nm in that month, one year 
afterTamekiawasinjurcdasaresultoftheallegedmalpracticc. 
Respondent testified he filed the complaint to avoid "unnec-
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In addition, respondent's conduct was followed 
by or surrounded by dishonesty, concealment, over­
reaching, and other violations of the Rules of 
Professional Conduct or the State Bar Act. (Std. 
l.2(b)(iii).) Specifically, respondent's bill to Van 
Tatenhove was a dishonest attempt by respondent to 
claim he had earned the $1,000 fee and thereby avoid 
culpability for failing to return unearned fees. Such 
conduct also constitutes an act of moral turpitude in 
violation of section 6106. Although respondent chal­
lenges this finding in aggravation, in view of the 
evidence that respondent could not reasonably have 
believed he perfonned some of the work set forth on 
the bill, e.g., reviewing school records, we adopt the 
hearingjudge's finding that the bill asa whole was not 
a reasonable statement of respondent's work, but a 
fraudulent attempt to justify keeping most of Van 
Tatenhove's fee. 

In addition, respondent's conduct in the Brown 
matter was surrounded by overreaching. First, after 
receiving Baker's letter of April 18, 1994, infonning 
respondent that the Browns had hired Baker to 
handle the matter, respondent filed a complaint on 
behalfoftheBrownsonApril28, 1994. Such conduct 
constitutes a violation of section 6104. Second, re­
spondent attempted to settle the matternotwithstanding 
that Brown never agreed to a settlement proposed by 
respondent. 

Respondent argues that he was justified in filing 
the complaint in view of the lack of indication from the 
Browns that they had hired new counsel and the 
legitimate concern, shared by Baker, that the statute 
oflimitations would run sometime between April and 
June1994.18 However, respondent never explained 
why he did not simply inform new counsel of the 
possible statute oflimitations issue and request imme­
diate verification that the Browns had hired new 
counsel in view of the need to file a complaint quickly, 
rather than file a complaint for the Browns notwith-

cssary" litigation regarding th~ statute of limitations issue 
notwithstanding that he believed the statute oflimitations on 
the claim was tolled while Tamekia was aminor. (See Code Civ. 
Proc.,§ 340.5.) He funhertestificd he believed there was "no 
harm in me filing it to protect .. . the situation." 
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standing notification that they no longer wished to 
employ him. Nor did respondent explain why he did not 
promptly notify the Brownsand Baker in April 1994 that 
he had filed the complaint to protect the Browns and 
make provisions to transfer the file to Baker. Under 
these circumstances, the findings ofoverreaching and a 
violation of section 6104 are justified. Moreover, 
although respondent asserts that the hearingjudge' s 
finding that respondent filed the complaint to protect 
his attorney fees is pure speculation, it appears that 
this finding was not an additional factor in aggrava­
tion, but merely a partial explanation for the hearing 
judge's rejection of respondent's testimony regarding 
his reasons for filing the complaint. We need not, and 
do not, adopt such finding, but we do give great weight 
to the hearingjudge' s findingthatrespondent' s exp la­
nation for filing the complaint lacks credibility. 

Respondent also argues he testified without 
contradiction thatthe Browns had orally agreed to the 
structured settlement, but subsequently decided not 
to sign the settlement documents. However, the 
record shows Baker testified without objection that 
the Browns told him they did not want to accept the 
settlement figure which respondent had negotiated. 
Moreover, we give great weight to the hearing 
judge's finding that respondent's testimony on this 
issue lacked credibility and therefore adopt the hear­
ingj udge 's finding in this regard. 

Respondent challenges manyofthehearingjudge's 
findings of W1charged misconduct, asserting that these 
violations should not be considered in any way in these 
proceedings due to the State Bar's failure to charge 
them in the notice of disciplinary charges (NDC). 
Respondent relies on In the Matter of Glasser (Review 
Dept. 1990) I Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 163 and 1n the 
Matter of Dixon, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 23. 

Glasser, however, did not address when or 
whether evidence of uncharged misconduct pre­
sented at trial may properly be considered in 
aggravation. Rather, the only issue there was whether 
the hearing judge correctly dismissed the notice to 

19. Respondent also briefly disputes thehearingjudge'sconclu­
sion that the evidence supports a finding of failure to return 
clienttelephone calls. We conclude, however, that the evidence 
fully supports the finding in view ofBenjamin 's testimony that 
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show cause on the motion of Glasser, which motion 
was based on the State Bar's failure to allege with 
particularity what misconduct was charged. Glasser 
isapp1icablehereonlytotheextentthatitacknowledged 
an attorney's entitlement in di sciplinaryproceedings to 
reasonable notice of the specific misconduct to be 
proved at the disciplinary hearing. (In the Matte~ of 
Glasser, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 171 .) 

Dixon recognized the holding of Edwards v. State 
Bar(l990)52Cal.3d28,36,thatevidenceofuncharged 
misconduct may sometimes be considered in aggrava­
tion in disciplirnuyproceedings: "Because this evidence 
was elicited for the relevant purpose ofinquiring into 
the cause of the charged misconduct, because the 
evidence was used merely to establish a circum­
stance in aggravation, and not as an independent 
ground of discipline, and because the review 
department's conclusion was based on [Edwards' s] 
own testimony, we find no violation of [Edwards' s] 
right to notice of the charges against him." (Edwards 
v. State Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3d at p. 36.) In Dixon-, 
however, the evidence of uncharged misconduct was 
introduced "to show an independent ethical violation 
and not merely for the purpose_ of inquiring into the 
charged misconduct." (In the Matter of Dixon, su­
pra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 41.) Although we 
stated in Dixon that, under such circumstances, the 
better practice would have been to file a separate 
charge for the misconduct, we nevertheless held that, 
because there was no obje<;tion to the testimony or 
documentaryevidenceestablishingtheunchargedmis­
conduct, the evidence could properly be considered in 
aggravation: "We conclude that absent an appropriate 
objection to the introduction of evidence of miscon­
duct other than that charged, such evidence may, 
when appropriate, be used as an aggravating factor in 
disciplinary matters. [Citation.]" (Ibid.) 

Here, the hearingjudge found as circumstances 
in aggravation several uncharged acts of misconduct. 
The hearingjudge found that, in the Benjamin matter, 
respondent willfully failed to return client telephone 
caUs in violation of section 6068, subdivision (m).19 

she left over twenty messages on respondent'$ office answer­
ing machine over a period ofapproximately six to seven weeks, 
but received no response. 
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The hearingjudge additionally found that respondent 
overreached in the Chimy matter in attempting to 
settle the matter unbeknownst to the client and before 
the client even knew of respondent.20 The hearing 
judge also found in the Chimymatterthat, in attempting 
to settle the matter, respondent made misrepresenta­
tions to the insurance company in violation of section 
6106 and that respondent failed to provide Chimy's 
file to Ammeian upon request in violation of rule 3-
700(0)( 1 ). In the Van Tatenhove matter, the hearing 
judge found that respondent violated rule 1-320(A) by 
splitting fees with Russell, who is not an attorney. 

[16] Of the foregoing evidence of uncharged 
misconduct, respondent objected on the specific 
ground urged here only to the evidence regarding the 
violation of rule 3-700(DX I) in the Chi my matter. As 
to this evidence, respondent timely objected that it 
was beyond the scope of the solicitation charge set 
forth in the NDC. The hearing judge should have 
sustained this objection absent a motion by the State 
Bar to amend the NOC in a way that would have 
given respondent a sufficient opportunity to defend. 
(See/n re Ruffalo(l968)390U.S. 544, 550-552.) In 
view of respondent's timely objection, we decline to 
adopt the finding in aggravation that respondent 
violated rule 3-700(0)(1) in the Chimy matter. 

As to the finding that respondent was splitting 
fees with a nonlawyer in the Van Tatenhove matter, 
respondent argues that there was no evidence he 
actually split fees with Russell, only evidence that he 
entered into an agreement to do so. However, as the 
State Bar points out, Russell testified she was asso­
ciated with respondent's office as an educational 
consultant and worked on approximately 20 cases 
with respondent. Under her agreement with respon­
dent, she was to receive 15 percent of all retainers 
and settlements plus eight dollars per hour. She did not 
testify that she was never paid for her work on these 
other 20 matters, and the clear inference is therefore 

20. Although respondent again argues that be reasonably be­
lieved Chimy was his client, we reject such argument for the 
reasons set forth previously. 
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that she was paid according to their agreement. 
Because such circumstantial evidence is sufficient to 
support the hearing judge's finding of this factor in 
aggravation (Medoff v. State Bar ( 1969) 71 Cal.2d 
535, 550-551), we adopt such finding. 

We also adopt the hearing judge's finding that, 
with respect to his clients Benjamin, Campos, and 
Van Tatenhove, respondent demonstrated indiffer­
ence toward atonement for or rectification of the 
consequences of his misconduct. (Std. l.2(b)(v).) 
We reject respondent's assertions that this finding 
should be dismissed with respect to Benjamin and 
Campos.21 

The evidence showed that respondent refused to 
refund Benjamin's money when she terminated 
respondent's services, although she had received no 
apparent benefit, and respondent told Benjamin she 
would have to take him to small claims court. After 
Benjamin received an arbitration award for a refund 
of the money paid to respondent, she tried to contact 
respondent again, but respondent hung up on her. 
Subsequently, respondent delayed over three years in 
satisfying the award. This evidence amply supports 
the hearingjudge's finding in this respect. 

Similarly, when Campos called respondent and 
told him that she wanted her money back because he 
had not done anything for her and that she was going 
to send a letter to the State Bar due to his failure to 
perform the services for which he was retained, he 
treated her statement "like a joke" and hung up on 
her. Notwithstandingrespondent' s arguments that he 
did not know Campos and was confused as to what 
she was talking about, we agree with the State Bar 
that given the nature of respondent's business rela­
tionship with Orozco, respondent should have been 
especially sensitive to the needs of clients from the 
Santa Ana office. We conclude that the evidence 
supports a finding that respondent showed indiffer-

21. Respondent does not challenge the finding that he demon­
strated indifference toward atonement for or rectification of the 
consequences ofhismisconduct in the Van Tatenhove matter, 
and based upon his failure to respond to Van Tatehhove's 
letters and subsequent dishonest billing statement, we adopt 
the finding. 
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ence toward atonement for or rectification of the 
consequences of his misconduct. While respondent 
asserts Campos should not have been allowed to 
testify regarding respondent's state of mind, we 
agree with the State Bar that Campos's testimony 
was merely a description of respondent's demeanor 
rather than speculation regarding respondent's state 
of mind. 

The hearing judge also found that respondent 
displayed a lack of cooperation with the State Bar and 
engaged in misconduct during these disciplinary pro­
ceedings, which the hearing judge found to be 
aggravating under standard l .2(b )( vi). More specifi­
cally, the hearing judge found that respondent.(}) 
attempted to delay or prevent the State Bar Court 
proceedings by improperly asserting various statu­
tory and constitutional privileges, including his Fifth 
Amendment privilege against self-incrimination, and 
repeatedly asking to be found in contempt; (2) dis­
played disrespect to the State Bar by making 
unfounded and inflammatory statements in various 
pleadings filed in this maner;22 (3) made a dishonest 
statement in his pretrial statement; ( 4) filed motions 
containing baseless contentions and attempted to 
mislead the court in his arguments with respect to the 
Benjamin matter; and (5) made various additional 
misstatements throughout these proceedings. 

We first address respondent's assertion of statu­
tory and constitutional privileges to certain questions 
in the hearing department. When respondent was 
initially called as a witness forthe State Bar in the Van 
Tatenhove matter, he refused to answer any ques­
tions, including a question about the date of his 
admission to the State Bar of California, invoking his 
Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination, a 
right to privacy, an attorney-client privilege, and all 
state and federal constitutional and statutory privi­
leges. Subsequently, respondent answered the question 
regarding his date of admission to the State Bar of 
California, but refused to respond to another question 
based upon his right against self-incrimination, refused 
to answer the hearingjudge's inquiry regarding the 

22. The hearing judge also found that respondent failed to 
maintain the respect due judicial officers and the court, as 
proscribed by section 6068, subdivision (b). 
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application of the Fifth Amendment under the cir­
cumstances, and asked the court to find him in 
contempt so that he could appear before a state or 
federal judge. The hearing judge found that 
respondent's assertion of the privilege was improper 
and indicated he would consider imposing various 
sanctions on,respondent as a result. Ultimately, re­
spondent refused to answer almost every question 
posed to him in the Van Tatenhove and Orozco 
matters, and based upon his initial refusal to respond 
to the State Bar's questions in the Hammill matter, the 
State Bar did not rely upon his testimony in that matter. 

On February 20, 1998, respondent filed a motion 
requesting to be found in contempt. In that motion, 
respondent stated that the hearingj udge had imposed 
certain sanctions. The hearingjudge clarified on the 
record that he had stated he would consider imposing 
the sanctions listed, but that he had not yet imposed 
them. Ultimately, the hearing judge sanctioned re­
spondent for asserting the various privileges by ( 1) 
sustaining many of the State Bar's objections during 
respondent's cross-examination of Russell on March 
23, 1998, (2) waiving the requirement that the State 
Bar lay a foundation as to respondent's State Bar 
registration card, and (3) considering respondent's 
improper assertion of these privileges as an aggravat­
ing circumstance. 

117a] We adopt the hearingjudge's finding in 
aggravation that respondent's assertion of constitu­
tional and statutory privileges in response to the State 
Bar's questioning regarding respondent's State Bar 
registration card constituted a lack of cooperation and 
misconduct during the disciplinary proceedings. We 
also adopt a finding in aggravation that respondent's 
requests to be found in contempt constituted a lack of 
cooperation, as well as the apparent findings noted in 
footnotes in the decision that respondent improperly 
asserted constitutional and statutory privileges to 
other questions posed to him on direct examination. 
However, we give little weight to these findings in 
aggravation for the following reasons. 

[17b] First, although we conclude that 
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respondent's assertion of the various privileges was 
improper, 23 there is no evidence of excessive delay, 
notwithstanding that the proceedings were prolonged 
somewhat due to respondent's assertion of the privi­
leges in the Van Tatenhove and Orozco matters. 
Further, there was almost no delay due to respondent's 
refusal to respond to questions regarding his State 
Bar registration card. Although we recognized that 
"the improper invocation of the Fifth Amendment and 
the resulting refusal to testify may properly be consid­
ered an aggravating factor" in In the Matter of Dixon, 
supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pages 41-42, we 
note that here, unlike in Dixon, respondent willingly 
responded to most of the questions presented to him 
throughout the proceedings and only asserted the 
various privileges as to matters which he believed 
involved the possibi I ity of prosecution for aiding the 
criminal offense of engaging in the unauthorized 
. practice of law. (See § 6126.) In addition, we cannot 
say that the delay which did occur was caused solely 
by respondent, since it was the State Bar's decision 
to call respondent as its first witness in these matters 
rather than attempting to prove its case through other 
witnesses as it did in the Hammill matter, thereby 
avoiding the same delay. Moreover, there was no 
showing that respondent's refusal to answer ques­
tions interfered with the State Bar's ability to prove its 
case. Finally, although we recognize that the use of 
"specious and unsupported arguments in an attempt 
to evade culpability in a disciplinary matter" consti­
tutes a factor in aggravation (In the Matter of Jeffers 
(Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 211, 
225), we find no clear and convincing evidence that 

23. In general, respondent had the rightto invoke constitutional 
and statutory privileges in these disciplinwy proceedings. ( § § 
6068, subd. (i), 6085, subd. (e}.) Respondent's briefs filed in 
the hearing department addressing the propriety of sanctions 
for the assertion of the privileges appeared to indicate that 
respondent relied primarily upon the Fifth Amendment privi­
lege. However, in invoking this privilege, respondent was 
required to explain why the information sought by the State Bar 
was incriminating. (See Blackburn v. Superior Court( 1993) 21 
Cal.App.4th 414, 429.) Because the acts and events regarding 
which respondent was asked to testify occurred several years 
prior to the trial in this case, respondent was required to specify 
why he believed a criminal prosecution for such acts was not 
barred by the statute of limitations (id. at pp. 428-429), 
particularly in view of the State Bar's assertion that the one­
year limitations period applicable to misdemeanors had run 
( see Pen. Code, § 802, subd. (a)). While respondent asserted in 
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respondent asserted the privileges in bad faith. (See 
In the Matter of Aguiluz (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 32, 44.) Under these circum­
stances, respondent's improper assertion of various 
privileges is not entitled to great weight in aggravation. 

[18] We reject the hearing judge's finding in 
aggravation that respondent displayed a lack of co­
operation and engaged in misconduct during these 
proceedings by making unfounded and inflammatory 
statements in various pleadings filed in this matter. 
The hearing judge found that respondent made un­
founded and inflammatory statements in his Reply to 
Opposition to Motion to Recuse State BarCourt Judges 
filed on June 27, 1996; in his Verified Petition for 
Review and Request for Referral to a Constitutional 
Court filed on October2, 1996; and in his Complaint for 
Deprivation of Civil Rights under Color of State Law, 
Injunctive and Declaratory Relief filed in the U.S . 
District Court on February 13, 1998. However, such 
statements are not proper subjects for aggravation 
absent a showing by the State Bar by clear and 
convincing evidence that they are false. (Cf. In the 
Matter of Anderson (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 775, 778, 783-785.) The State Bar made 
no such showing here. 

[19) Similarly, we reject the hearing judge's 
apparent findings in aggravation that respondent filed 
six petitions for interlocutory review with the review 
department, at least one petition for review with the 
California Supreme Court, and over 30 motions in the 
hearing department, 24 as there was no determination 

the hearing department that he could conceivably be charged 
with conspiracy (Pen. Code, § 182) to commit a felony, for 
which a six-year limitation period provided for in Penal Code 
section 800 could apply, he failed to specify what felony charge 
or charges he believed applied to his conduct such that a 
prosecuting agency could rely upon this lengthy limitations 
period. We therefore determine that respondent failed to 
establish that his assertion of the privilege against sel f-incrimi­
nati on wa!; proper. We find this to constitute an aggravating 
circumstance. but as noted herein, give it little weight, particu­
larly since there was no clear and convincing evidence of 
respondent's bad faith or of delay prejudicial to the State Bar 
or the State Bar Court. 

24. We note that it is unclear from the decision whether the 
hearingjudge considered the motions filed by respondent to be 
a factor in aggravation. 
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or showing by clear and convincing evidence that 
these documents were completely Jacking in merit 
and were filed in bad faith. We are reluctant to find 
that such filings, though numerous, are an aggravating 
circumstance absent an intent on respondent's part to. 
mislead or hinder the court, since respondent acted as 
cocounsel during the hearing department proceed­
ings (In the Matter of Aguiluz, supra, 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 44) and is entitled to reasonable 
access to the courts to seek judicial remedies (In the 
Matter of Salant (Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. l, 8). 

Weadoptthehearingjudge'sfindinginaggrava­
tion that respondent made a dishonest statement in his 
pretrial statement with respect to the Campos matter 
in view of respondent's assertion in his pretrial 
statement that Campos' fee was returned to her and 
testimony in the hearing department that Campos 
was never his client. Although respondent asserts 
that, as he testified, his assertion in the pretrial 

. statement was a mistake rather than an intentional 
misstatement of the facts, the hearingjudge implicitly 
rejected such testimony as lacking in credibility, and 
as previously indicated, we give such credibility 
findings great weight. 

We reject the findings in aggravation that re­
spondent filed motions containing baseless contentions 
and attempted to mislead the court in his arguments 
with respect to the Benjamin matter. The hearing 
judge based these findings upon ( 1) respondent's 
filing motions in which he reiterated his argument 
regarding Probate Code section 13660 notwithstand­
ing that such argument had been rejected in an earlier 
ruling and (2) presenting argument that, pursuant to 
this Probate Code section, his fee in the Benjamin 
matter was authorized. However, asserting (or reas­
serting) a legally erroneous position does not 
necessarily rise to the level of asserting, in bad faith, 
a position which is totally devoid of inerit. We con-

25. Because of the lack of clel!f and convincing evidence ofbad 
faith, this case is distinguishable from In the Matter of Lais 
(Review Dept. 2000) 4Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 112, 115-118, 
in which we determined that Lais was culpable of misconduct 
for reasserting legal arguments before a superior court and an 
appellate court after the appellate court, in an earlier appeal in 
the same case, had explicitly ruled on the precise legal issue in 

IN THE MA TIER OF PmLLIPS 
(ReviewDept.2001 )4 Cal. StateBarCt.Rptr. 315 

elude there is no clear and convincing evidence that 
such motions and argument caused delay or that the 
motions were brought in bad faith.25 

The final basis for the hearingjudge' s finding of 
lack of cooperation and misconduct during the disci­
plinary proceedings was that respondent made various 
additional misstatements throughout these pi"oceed­
mgs. 

We reject the hearing judge's finding that re­
spondent made a misstatement in his May 20, 1998 
Verified Petition for Interlocutory Review. There, 
respondent stated that, while testifying on that date, 
he asserted various constitutional and statutory privi­
leges, and as a result, the hearing judge imposed 
various sanctions. As his decision indicates, the 
hearing judge "did not impose any sanctions with 
respect to the matter on which Respondent asserted 
certain privileges on March 23, 1998." However, the 
hearingjudge did impose sanctions on that date.as a 
result of respondent's earlier refusal to answer ques­
tions in the Van Tatenhove matter, sustaining many of 
the State Bar's objections to respondent's questions 
during cross-examination of Russell. We therefore 
conclude there is no clear and convincing evidence 
that respondent made this misstatement in bad faith 
rather than inadvertently. 

We adopt the hearing judge's finding that re­
spondent made a misstatement in the same document 
regarding being denied the ability to cross-examine 
Orozco, as the record reflects that the hearing judge 
specifically overruled the State Bar's objection to 
cross-examination based upon respondent's refusal 
to testify regarding the Orozco matter. 

We reject the hearing judge's finding that re­
spondent misstated, in his March 23, 1998 Motion for 
Recusal, that the hearingjudge indicated he intended 
to sever the trial into two separate trials. Respondent's 

the case. We there noted that the appellate court's second 
opinion, essentially determining that the second appeal lacked 
any merit due to the assertion of identical legal arguments 
subsequent to the first decision, "was, at the very least, a prima 
facie determination that [Lais's] appeal in that case was 
frivolous and that it was pursued in bad faith." (Id. at p.118.) 
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language does not clearly misstate the hearingj udge 's 
position that he was considering severing the trial. 

We adopt the hearingjudge' s finding that, during 
a February 12,' 1997 telephonic status conference, 
respondent misinfonned a different hearing judge 
that he had filed an answer to the second amended 
NDC, then filed a Motion for Extension of Time to 
File Answer on February 27, 1997. 

Finally, we adopt the hearingjudge' s fmding that 
in his Motion to Put Oneself in Contempt filed on 
February 20, 1998, respondent misstated that the 
hearingjudge imposed various sanctions for his as• 
sertion of various constitutional and statutory privileges 
on February 19, 1998. Contrary to respondent's 
statement, the hearing judge indicated on that date 
that he would consider certain sanctions, but the only 
sanction imposed was the waiver of the requirement 
that the State Bar lay a foundation as to respondent 's 
State Bar registration card. 

Respondent argues that he was never given 
notice that the hearing judge considered to be im­
proper any language he used or statements he made 
at any time during the proceedings. However, re­
spondenthas provided no authority that such notice is 
required. The only authority cited in this section of 
respondent's brief is In the Matter of Glasser, 
supra, l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 163, which deals 
with the sufficiency of a notice to show cause when 
challenged by a respondent attorney on a motion to 
dismiss, as previously stated. Glasser does not indi­
cate that an attorney in disciplinary proceedings must 
be given advance notice before any of the attorney's 
statements made during the proceedings may be 
found to be dishonest and considered in aggravation. 
We therefore reject respondent's argument. 

APPROPRIATE DEGREE OF DISCIPLINE 

In detennining the degree of discipline to recom­
mend, we consider the standards, which serve as 
guidelines, as well as prior decisions imposing disci­
pline based on similar facts (In re Morse, supra, 11 

16. The misconduct charged in this case began in early 1993, and 
the record reflects that respondent failed to refund the unearned 
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Cal.4th at pp. 206-207; In the Maller of Taylor 
(Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 563, 
580), always keeping in mind that the primary pur­
poses of the disciplinary proceedings are the protection 
of the public, the courts, and the legal profession; the 
maintenance of high professional standards by attor­
neys; and the preservation of public confidence in the 
legal profession (In re Morse, supra, 11 Cal.4th at 
pp. 205-206; std. 1.3 [primary purposes of State Bar 
disciplinary proceedings are protection of public, 
courts, and legal profession; maintenance of high 
professional standards by attorneys; and preserva­
tion of public confidence in legal profession).) No 
fixed fonnula applies in detenniningthe appropriate 
level of discipline. (In the Matter of Brimberry 
(Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 390, 
403.) Instead, we determine the appropriate disci­
pline in light of all relevant circumstances. (Gary v. 
State Bar, supra, 44 Cal.3d at p. 828.) 

As our opinion indicates, we have found respon­
dent culpable of one additional charged violation not 
found by the hearingjudge. Of the charged miscon­
duct, respondent has been found culpable of one 
count each of willfully: ( l) charging an illegal fee; (2) 
failing to release a client's file promptly upon request; 
(3) sharing legal fees with anonattomey; ( 4) forming 
a Jaw partnership with a nonattomey; (5) failing to 
deliver promptly upon request funds the client was 
entitled to receive; ( 6) failing to render an accounting 
to the client; (7) failing to respond promptly to reason­
able status inquiries of the client; and (8) solicitation 
of. a prospective client. He has also been found 
culpable of two charged counts ofintentionally, reck­
lessly, or repeatedly failing to perform services 
competently and three charged counts of failing to 
return unearned fees promptly. Thus, taken together, 
respondent has been found culpable of thirteen counts 
of charged misconduct involving five separate clients 
and two separate non-clients. Respondent committed 
these thirteen violations in seven separate matters 
over a period of nearly four years, 26 and as we 
previouslyindicated, respondent's misconduct began 
less than two years after he was admitted to practice 
Jaw. Hence, as of the end of the period of ~isconduct 

fee in the Benjamin matter, even after Benjamin was awarded 
the money in arbitration, until February 1997. 
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with which we are concerned, respondent had been 
committing misconduct in the practice of Jaw for 
double the amount of time he had practiced without 
committing misconduct. We note additionally that 
respondent's misconduct includes ten different viola­
tions of the rules and codes governing attorneys, quite 
a wide range of misconduct. 

In addition, the record reflects only slight evi­
dence in mitigation, but serious, extensive evidence in 
aggravation.27 As noted in our discussion of aggrava­
tion, respondent's misconduct was surrounded by 
considerable dishonesty, concealment, overreaching, 
and several other uncharged violations of the State 
Bar Act and Rules ofProfessional Conduct. Respon­
dent displayed indifference toward rectification ofor 
atonement for the consequences ofhis misconduct as 
well as a lack of candor during disciplinary investiga­
tion and proceedings, both to clients and to the State 
Bar. Moreover, it appears from the record that 
several of respondent's cHents were of modest means 
and apparently modest education, which facts under­
cut sharply the weight to be given to respondent's 
mitigation evidence regarding his pro bono work. 

Viewing the facts of these matters as a whole, 
we conclude that respondent has demonstrated clear 
disrespect for his clients and a nearly complete lack 
of appreciation for his professional obligations. In two 
matters, those involving Brown and Chimy, respon• 
dent attempted to settle cases without client authority, 
and in the Chimy matter, without ever having even met 
the client. Moreover, in the Brown matter, respondent 
filed a lawsuit on behalf of his former clients against 
their wishes that he no longer represent them. In 
addition, respondent waited years before refunding 
unearned fees to Benjamin and Van Tatenhove and 
never refunded such fees to Campos. In the Ben­
jamin and Campos matters, respondent spoke to his 
clients rudely and hung up on them when they 
requested a refund of unearned fees. In all of the 
matters except that involving Orozco, respondent 
ignored correspondence and telephone calls from 
clients and from other counsel regarding respondent's 
cases, failing either to comply with requests or to 

27. As indicated, we adopted the vast majority of the hearing 
judge' sfindings in aggravation. 
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respond in any way. In addition, Orozco testified that 
respondent ignored client appointments in their Santa 
Ana office, forcing someone else from the office to 
meet with respondent's clients and reschedule ap­
pointments. In sum, besides ignoring his professional 
duties in genera~ respondent specifically made a habit 
of ignoring his clients and their interests. "Client 
.neglect is serious misconduct that constirutesa breach 
of the fiduciary duty owed by an attorney to the client 
and,accordingly, warrants substantial discipline. [Ci­
tation.]" (Stanleyv. State Bar(1990) 50 Cal.3d 555, 
566.) 

In addition, as the hearingjudge noted, respon­
dent has demonstrated a willingness to disregard the 
truth whenever the need arises, including during these 
proceedings. As previously indicated, respondent 
initially appeared to admitthat Campos was his client, 
since he failed to deny it upon accusation by the State 
Bar and indicated in his pretrial statement that 
Campos's fee had been returned to her,, then subse• 
quently testified at the hearing that he believed she 
was never his client. In addition, respondent fabri­
cated portions of the bill he sentto Van Tatenhove in 
• a dishonestattemptto claim he had earned the $1,000 
feeandavoidculpabilityforfailuretoreturnuneamed 
fees. In the Chimy matter, respondent made misrep• 
resentations to the insurance company regarding 
Chimy's willingness to settle despite the fact that 
respondent had never met with Chimy. 

. Additionally, respondent falsely stated in his 
May 20, 1998 Verified Petition for Interlocutory 
Review that he had been denied the ability to cross­
examine Orozco; falsely stated during a February 12, 
1997 telephonic starus conference to a hearingjudge 
that he had filed an answer to the second amended 
NDC, then filed a Motion for Extension of Time to 
File Answer on February 27, 1997; and misstated in 
his Motion to Put Oneself in Contempt filed on 
February 20, 1998, that the hearing judge imposed 
various sanctions for his assertion of various consti­
tutional and statutory privileges on February 19, 1998, 
when the hearingjudge indicated on that date that he 
would consider certain sanctions, but the only sane-
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tion imposed was the waiver of the requirement that 
the State Bar lay a foundation as to respondent's 
State Bar registration card. 

As the foregoing demonstrates, respondent is 
entirely willing to make false statements to clients, to 
opposing parties, and to courts when it will suit his 
purposes. Accordingly, he has "violated ' " 'the 
fundamental rule of [legal] ethics-that of common 
honesty-without which the profession is worse than 
valueless in the place it holds in the administration of 
justice' .... "' [Citation.]" (In re Menna (1995) 11 
Cal.4th 975, 989.) 

In addition, as the hearingjudge noted, respon­
dent does not appear to exhibit any remorse or even 
recognition of his wrongdoing. (See McKnight v. 
State Bar (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1025, 1036-1037; In re 
Rivas (1989) 49 Cal.3d 794, 802.) 

In recommending respondent's disbarment, the 
hearing judge relied in part upon In the Matter of 
Brimberry, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 390. In 
that case, Brimberry was found culpable of serious 
misconduct in four matters. As here, Brimberry had 
no prior record of discipline, her misconduct com­
menced soon after being admitted to practice, there 
was significant evidence in aggravation but little in 
mitigation, and the mitigation was substantially dis­
counted. Also as found in this case, Brim berry showed 
that she was willing to disregard the truth whenever 
the need arose, "overreached her clients for her 
personal benefit" (id. at pp. 403-404 ), and demon­
strated a complete lack of recognition of the duties of 
an attorney (id. at p. 405). As a result, we concluded 
that"[ o ]nly a disbarment recommendation can give 
the level of protection we believe the public and the 
courts deserve in this case. We strongly believe that 
[Brim berry] should not practice law again without 
proving her rehabilitation and fitness to practice by 
clear and convincing evidence of sustained exem­
plary conduct as is required in a formal reinstatement 
proceeding. [Citation.]" (Ibid.) While the miscon­
duct in Brimberry was more serious because in three 
matters Brimberry effectively "became an advocate 
against her client, unabashedly disregarding her cli-. 
ents' instructions in order to maximize her fees" 
(ibid.), respondent has demonstrated a similar reek-
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less disregard of the truth and protracted failure, or 
refusal, to recognize the duties of an attorney. In 
addition, in the present case, respondent is culpable of 
more misconduct which began earlier after being 
admitted to practice Jaw. 

We are also guided by Chang v. State Bar 
(1989)49Cal.3d 114. In that case, Chang was found 
culpable of misappropriating client funds, failing to 
renderanaccountingtohisclient,andmakingmisrep­
resentations to his client and to the State Bar. (Id. at 
pp. 123-124, 127-128.) In determining that Chang 
should be disbarred, the court focused upon his lack 
of candor to the State Bar's investigator and the State 
Bar Court, the seriousness of the misconduct, and the 
lack of mitigating evidence. (Id. at pp. 128-129.). 
Although the court emphasized that Chang's misap­
propriation of over $7,000 constituted serious 
misconduct, Chang's violations committed in a single 
client matter "appear[ ed] to be an isolated instance of 
misappropriation" (id. at p . 129), and. therefore 
respondent's numerous acts of misconduct, commit­
ted over a period of four years, appeared to be more 
serious. As in the present case, in mitigation, Chang 
had no prior disciplinary record, yet he never ac­
knowledged the impropriety of his conduct and 
demonstrated a la.ck of candor before the State Bar, 
manifesting "a disrespect for the bar's authority." 
(Id. at pp.128-129.) The court concluded that "[t]he 
risk that [Chang] may engage in other professional 
misconduct if allowed to continue practicing law is 
sufficiently high to warrant his disbarment. [Cita­
tions.]" (Id. at p. 129.) 

This court has previously noted that in cases 
involving extensive misconduct "in which the attor­
ney had no prior discipline and in which intentionally 
dishonest acts, such as misrepresentations and mis­
appropriation of client funds, were not the essence of 
the disciplinary charges," suspension has generally 
been deemed adequate only where the attorney 
presented evidence of a tragic event or set of circum­
stances which altered and explained the attorney's 
conduct, as well as sufficient evidence of rehabilita­
tion to give the court confidence that the misconduct 
would not be repeated. (In the Matter of Hindin, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 687.) Respon~ 
dent presented no such evidence here. 
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In view of the foregoing, we conclude, as we 
must, that aggravating circumstances overwhelm­
ingly outweigh the minute evidence of mitigation 
presented. Given that the misconduct itself was 
serious and repeated, lasting for double the amount of 
time respondent practiced law before his misconduct 
commenced, we conclude that respondent poses a 
significant threat of harm to the public and the legal 
profession. "It is the protection of the public and the 
integrity of the legal profession which is here at stake, 
and when it is shown as here that those interests are 
endangered by the character of the attorney before 
us, our responsibility and duty require that we act in 
order to prevent that danger from bearing fruit in the 
fonn of future harm." (Tomlinson v. State Bar 
(1975) 13 Cal.3d 567, 579.) Even if the misconduct 
here did not occur because respondent consciously 
disregarded his professional obligations, but rather 
because he was oblivious to them, we nevertheless 
"have great concern that respondent's lack of under­
standing of his obligations as an attorney poses risks 
to the public." (In the Matter of Doran (Review 
Dept. 1998) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 871, 881.) In 
view of respondent's repeated disregard of his cli­
ents' interests and of his professional duties, as well 
as his willingness to disregard the truth, we agree with 
the hearing judge's conclusion that there is a great 
likelihood that respondentwill engage in misconduct 
in the future. Consequently, we recommend that 
respondent be disbarred. 

RECOMMENDATION 

For the foregoing reasons, we adopt the recom­
mendation of the hearingjudge that respondent Emir 
Phillips be disbarred from the practice of law in the 
State of California and that his name be stricken from 
the Roll of Attorneys of persons admitted to practice 
in this state. We further recommend thatrespondent 
be ordered to comply with the provisions of California 
Rules of Court, rule 955 and to perfonn the acts 
specified in subdivisions (a)and ( c )of that rule within 
30 and 40 days, respectively, after the effective date 
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of the Supreme Court's order in this matter. We 
further recommend that the State Bar be awarded 
costs in accordance with Business and Professions 
Code section 6086.10 and that such costs be payable 
in accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section6140.7. 

We concur: 
Obrien, P. J. 
Talcott, J.' 

Talcott, J. sat in place of Watai, J., who was 
disqualified. 

*. Hearing Judge of the State Bar Court assigned by the 
Presiding Judge under rule 305(e)ofthe Rules of Procedure of 
the State Bar. 
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Respondent's Michigan law license was suspended for three years as a result ofrespondent' s misconduct 
while practicing there. The mjsconduct found in Michigan included misappropriating $12,500 of client funds, 
failing to maintain client funds in trust. failirigtopayfunds to aclientpromptly, failingtokeepaclient informed 
concerning the status of client funds, failing to respond to client inquiries concerning client funds, failing to 
account, moral turpitude, failing to represent a client diligently and expeditiously, failing to keep a client 
reasonably informed concerning the status of the client's matter, and failing to respond to a request for an 
investigation by disciplinary authorities. The hearingjudge held that the misconduct found in Michigan required 
a finding of misconduct in California and recomntended that respondent be actually suspended for two years. 
(Hon. Nancy Roberts Lonsdale, Hearing Judge.) 

The review department determined that while some of the misconduct fourid in Michigan was previously 
the subject of discipline in California and could not support the imposition of discipline in these proceedings, other 
misconduct found in Michigan had never been the subject of discipline in California. The review department 
also rejected respondent's contention that the instant proceedings were barred because respondent, in agreeing 
to settle charges in a prior California disciplinary case, relied on the State Bar' s representations that no other 
matters were under investigation by the California authorities. The review department determined that 
respondent knew of the Michigan case when he signed the stipulation in the prior California case but 
nevertheless failed to ensure that the stipulation included all matters which were the subject of the Michigan 
case. The review department additionally concluded that the Michigan final disciplinary order conclusively 
established respondent's culpability of professional misconduct in California. However, because the Michigan 
opinions did not indicate that the facts were established by clear and convincing evidence, the review 
department could not rely upon aggravating and mitigating factors found in Michigan. Upon considering the 
misconduct found in Michigan and the aggravating and mitigating circumstances separately established in these 
proceedings, the review department recommended that respondent be disbarred. 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section arc not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
havcbcenpreparedbytheOfficeoftheStateBarCounfonhcconvcnienccofthercader. OnlytheactualtextoftheRcviewDepartment's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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For State Bar: Paul T. O'Brien 
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[l a-h] 102.30 Procedure-Improper Prosecutorial Conduct-Pretrial 
119 Procedure-Other Pretrial Matters 
135 Procedure-Rules of Procedure 
135.01 Effective Date/Scope of Applicability 
135.89 Specific Proceedings-Other/General 
13 9 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
162.30 Issues/Proof in § 6049.1 Matters 
195 Discipline in Other Jurisdictions 
1931.90 Section 6049.1 Cases-Other Procedural Issues 
The State Bar was not barred from relying on Michigan proceedings to impose discipline in 
California under the authority of Business and Professions Code section 6049 .1 notwithstanding 
that, at the time of a prior California disciplinary case in which the State Bar and respondent entered 
into a stipulation disposing of the charges, the State Bar knew of disciplinary proceedings pending 
in Michigan but nevertheless advised respondent in writing pursuant to Rules of Procedure of the 
State Bar, rule 133(a)( 12)thattherewereno additional State Bar investigations pending against him. 
The clear purpose of Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, rule l33(a)(l2) is to require the State 
Bar to give notice to respondents before the State Bar Court or to attorneys being investigated by 
the State Bar of the pendency of other complaints lodged with the State Bar against such attorneys, 
and to expand that requirement to include complaints lodged in other jurisdictions would impose a 
far greater burden than that contemplated. At the time of the stipulation, both respondent and the 
State Bar knew of the Michigan proceedings, yet the stipulation did not in any way deal with the 
California consequences of the Michigan matter, there was no evidence that the Michigan 
proceedings were included in discussions leading to the stipulation, respondent entered into the 
stipulation without inquiring about including the Michigan matter in the stipulation, and the State Bar 
had no way to evaluate the seriousness of the Michigan proceedings. 

(2] 130 Procedure-Procedure on Review 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
162.30 Issues/Proof in § 6049.1 Matters 
192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
195 Discipline in Other Jurisdictions • 
1931.90 Section 6049.1 Cases-Other Procedural Issues 
Where respondent asserted for the first time at oral argument that Business and Professions Code 
section 6049. l was being unconstitutionally applied because a Michigan disciplinary action required 
only a preponderance of the evidence for a finding of culpability and that California reliance on that 
lower standard deprived him of due process and equal protection of the law, respondent's failure 
to have raised the issue before the hearing department or in his briefs on review constituted a waiver 
of the issue. 

[3 a-cJ 139 
147 

Procedure--Miscellaneous 
Evidence-Presumptions 
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162.30 Issues/Proof in § 6049.1 Matters 
195 Discipline in Other Jurisdictions 
1931.50 Section 6049.1 Cases--Record from Foreign Proceeding 
1933.40 Section 6049.1 Cases-Limitation of Issues 
1935.10 Section 6049.1 Cases-Misconduct Found 
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A certified copy of a final disciplinary order of the State of Michigan finding respondent culpable 
of misconduct conclusively established that respondent was culpable of professional misconduct in 
California. Such misconduct, which included misappropriation of client funds, failure to account, 
failure to respond to a client's reasonable inquiries, failure to pay to a client funds to which she was 
entitled, moral turpitude, failure to take necessary legal action to protect a client's interest, failure 
to respond to a client's inquiries concerning the status of her funds, and failure to respond to 
investigations, warranted discipline in California. 

[4 a-h] 139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
161 Duty to Present Evidence 
162.11 Proof--State Bar's Burden-Clear and Convincing 
162.30 Issues/Proof in § 6049.1 Matters 
19S Discipline in Other Jurisdictions 
801.90 Standards-General Issues 
1931.50 Section 6049.1 Cases-Record from Foreign Proceeding 
1933.50 Section 6049,1 Cases-Degree of Foreign Discipline 
In a proceeding under Business and Professions Code section 6049 .1, once it had been conclusively 
established that respondent was culpable of professional misconduct in California, the remaining 
issue for consideration in California was the degree of discipline. Where the only evidence in the 
record consisted of the final record of discipline in Michigan, no portion of the underlyingevidentiary 
record from the Michigan proceedings was placed in evidence, and the Michigan final record of 
discipline indicated that each of the findings of fact in Michigan was made under a preponderance 
of the evidence standard of proof, a purporte.d showing of the facts and circumstances found in 
Michigan to surround the misconduct could not be weighed under the required California standard 
of clear and convincing evidence. Instead, the misconduct found in Michigan was weighed with only 
the aggravation and mitigation separately shown in California. 

[ SJ 7 3 5.10 Mitigation-Candor-Bar-Found 
Respondent was entitled to mitigating consideration for stipulating to the use of a declaration of a 
witness, thereby avoiding the necessity of bringing that witness from Michigan to testify. 

[6J 191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
513.10 Aggravation-Prior Record-Found but Discounted 
802.2 l Standards-Definitions-Prior Record 
The aggravating weight of prior discipline was diminished where the misconduct underlying the prior 
discipline occurred during the same time period as did the misconduct underlying the present matter. 
Under such circumstances, the totality of the charges brought in both cases was considered in order 
to detennine the appropriate discipline. 

[7 a, b] 691 Aggravation-Other-Found 
Respondent's repeated failure to respond to inquiries by clients as to the status of their cases and 
to investigation inquiries by professional organizations responsible for maintaining standards within 
the profession constituted an aggravating factor. The combination of respondent's misconduct 



352 INTHEMATrEROFFREYDL 
(Review Dept. 200 l) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 349 

presented respondent's disregard for his obligations to his profession as well as disregard for his 
obligations to his clients. 

Aggravation 
. Found 

511 
Mitigation 

Additional Analysis 

Prior Record 

Found but Discounted 
735.30 Candor-Bar 

Standards 
801.30 
801.45 
822.10 

Discipline 
1010 
1091 

Effect as Guidelines 
Deviation From-Not Justified 
Misappropriation---Disbarment 

Disbannent 
Substantive Issues re Discipline-Proportionality 
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OPINION 

OBRIEN, P. J.: 

In 1998, respondent Thomas P. Freydl, who is a 
member of both the Michigan and California Bars, 
was suspended from the practice of law in the State 
ofMichigan for a period of three years. In December 
1999, the State Bar1 soughtto discipline respondent in 
California, based on the misconduct found in the 
Michigan proceedings. The hearing judge held that 
under the provisions of Business and Professions 
Code section 6049.1,2 the misconduct found in the 
Michigan proceedings required a finding of miscon­
duct in California, and recommended to the Supreme 
Court that respondent be actually suspended from 
practice in California for a period of two years. With 
some limited exceptions, section 6049 .1 provides that 
Califomia "shall" rely on the fonnal record of disci­
pline in another state as conclusive evidence of 
professional misconduct in this state. 

Respondent seeks review, contending that prior 
California discipline precludes this state from relying 
on the Michigan proceedings in seeking further disci­
pline in California Morespecifically,respondentcontends 
that ( 1) his prior California discipline involved the same 
misconduct as that found in the Michigan proceeding 
and (2) in agreeing to settle the disciplinary charges in a 
prior California disciplinary case he relied on the State 
Bar's representations that there were no other matters 
under investigation by the California authorities. 

We reject respondent's arguments and affirm 
the hearingjudge's finding of culpability. We recog­
nize that we '" must independently review the record 
and may adopt findings, conclusions, and a decision or 
recommendation at variance with the hearing deci­
sion."' (In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 207.) 
F oUowing that independent review and consideration 
of the hearingjudge' s recommendation, we find that 
respondent has a disturbing history of ( 1) ignoring his 
obligations to clients, (2) failure to respond to the 

1. All references to the State Bar are to the California State Bar. 

2. All further references to sections are to the Business and 
Professions Code, unless otherwise noted. 
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Michigan disciplinary investigations, (3) failure to 
advise the State Bar of his current address and thus 
not responding to a California disciplinary investiga­
tion, ( 4) failuretocorriplywith the provisions ofhisprior 
California disciplinary probation, and (5) failure to ap­
pear in his prior probation violation case. When this 
history is combined with the serious misconduct found 
in the Michigan disciplinary matter we conclude that 
disbarment is the appropriate recommended discipline. 

NATURE OF PRESENT PROCEEDING 

The present proceeding, under the provisions of 
section 6049 .1, is based on a finding of respondent's 
misconduct by the State of Michigan. Under that 
section a final order of the United States, orofa sister 
state or territory of the United States, determining 
that a member of the California Bar has committed 
professional misconduct in that jurisdiction is-conclu­
sive evidence that the attorney is culpable of 
professional misconduct in California. A respondent 
may challenge the imposition of discipline in Califor­
nia under section 6049.1 only by affmnatively showing 
that as a matter of law the culpability found in the 
other jurisdiction would not warrant discipline in 
California or that the proceeding in the other jurisdic­
tion lacked fundamental constitutional protection. ( § 
6049.l{b)(l), (2) & (3); In the Matter of Jenkins 
(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 157, 
162.) lf a respondent fails to make this affirmative 
showing, the only remaining issue is the degree of 
discipline, to be determined by California. 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Respondent was admitted to practice law in the 
State of Michigan in June.1968 and was similarly 
admitted in California in June 1992. For conduct 
occurring during the years 1995 and 1996 in Michigan, 
respondent was alleged to have committed misconduct 
in four matters: (1) Melissa Christie's employment of 
respondent to dissolve a business entity known as 
"Magnolias;" (2) Lawrence Shinoda's engagement 
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of respondent for contract negotiation with Gibson 
Guitar Company; (3) a check that was dishonored by 
respondent's bank; and ( 4) a matter regarding 
respondent's client Buddy Killen Music Inc. (Killen). J 

In June 1997, based on complaints filed with the 
St.ate Bar on behalf of clients of respondent, the State 
Bar filed original disciplinary proceedings against 
respondent, charging misconduct in the Shinoda and 
Killen matters in In the Matter of Freydl, case 
number 96-0-01650 (Freydl I). The charges in that 
case were based on the State Bar's own investigation 
and not on the record of the Michigan Attorney 
Discipline Board or section 6049.1. 

Respondent stipulated to misconduct in Freydl I 
in both the Shinoda and Killen matters .. The charges 
in those matters arose out of the same conduct and 
client matters as did the charges involving Shinoda 
and Killen contained in the Michigan matter. No 
reference to the Christie matter is included in Freydl 
1 On May 18, 1998, the Supreme Court suspended 
respondent for a period of two years, stayed, on 
condition that he be actually suspended for 45 days, 
and until he made restitution to Killen in the sum of 
$2,500; plus interest, among other conditions of pro­
bation. That restitution has been made.◄ 

THE MICHIGAN PROCEEDINGS 

In August 1996, the State of Michigan brought 
discip linaryproceedings against respondent involving 

3. The Killen matter is sometimes referred to in the record as the 
Weaver/Killen matter as respondent was hired by Killen's 
Nashville lawyer, C. Steven Weaver, to represent Killen in a 
copyright infringement action. 

4. In a subsequent California proceeding, respondent's viola­
tion of some remaining conditions of that probation were 
considered, as we will discuss post. 

5. In the Michigan matter, count one, involving Christie, re­
spondent was found culpable of a violation of the Michigan 
Court Rules (MCR) 9.104(2) ( conduct that exposes the legal 
profession or courts to obloquy, contempt, censure, or re• 
proach); MCR 9.104(3) (conduct contrary to justice, ethics, 
honesty, or good morals); MCR 9. 104(4) (conduct that vio• 
lates the standards or rules of professional responsibility 
adopted by the Supreme Court); Michigan Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct (MRPC) 1.4(a)aild l .4(b) (failure to keep client 
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the Christie, the Shinoda and the check matters. The 
Michigan Attorney Discipline Board found respon­
dent culpable of professional misconduct in the Christie 
and Shinoda matters. A count concerning the dishon­
ored check was dismissed on appeal by the Attorney 
Discipline Board ofMichigan, and wedo not further 
consider that charge. However, the Michigan Attor­
ney Discipline Board found respondent culpable of 
failure to respond to the investigation of the check 
matter, and we do consider that finding. Respondent 
was suspended from practice in Michigan for three 
years. On respondent's appeal in Michigan, the 
Michigan Attorney Discipline Board affirmed that 
order. Respondent did not seek review by the Michi­
gan Supreme Court. During the two-year course of 
the Michigan proceedings on these three matters, the 
Killen matter was charged and resolved in Michigan 
by the imposition ofa 60-day suspension, to run concur­
rently with the 3-year suspension already imposed. 

The Michigan Attorney.Discipline Board, fol­
lowing the recommendation of the local grievance 
panel, found respondent culpable in three separate 
charges involving his client Christie. In count 1, 
respondent was found culpable of misappropriation 
of$12,500 ( although charged with misappropriating 
$25,000) of Christie's funds, failure to maintain her 
funds in trust, failure to promptly pay funds to Christie, 
failure to keep Christie informed concerning the 
status of the funds, failure to respond to inquiries 
concerning Christie's funds, failure to account, and 
moral turpitude.5 In count 2, respondent was found 

reasonably informed); MRPC 1.15(a) and (b) (failure to 
maintain client funds in an account separate from the attorney's 
own funds, to render an accounting on request, or to promptly 
deliver funds to the client); and MRPC 8.4(a) and (b) ( violation 
of the rules of professional conduct and conduct involving 
dishonesty, fraud, deceit, misrepresentation, or violation of the 
criminal law, where such conduct reflects adversely on the 
lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer). 

In count two, also involving Christie, respondent was found 
culpable ofMCR 9.104(4) (violation of the standards or rules 
of professional responsibility); MRPC 1.1 ( c )( neglect ofa legal 
matter entrusted to a lawyer); MRPC l.4(a) (failure to keep a 
client reasonably informed of the status of a case); and MRPC 
8.4(a) (violation of the rules of professional conduct). 

We have treated these charges as subsumed into the enund­
ated California misconduct. 
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culpable offailure to represent Christie diligently and 
expeditiously and failure to keep Christie reasonably 
infonned concerning the status of the matter. In count 
5, respondent was found culpable of failure to respond 
to a request for investigation in the Christie matter. 

In count 9, respondent was found culpable of 
failure to respond to a request for investigation in a 
complaint filed by Shinoda, and in count 11, he was 
found culpable of failure to respond to a similar 
request concerning the check matter. As previously 
indicated, an order of discipline filed by the Attorney 
Discipline Board of the State of Michigan confirmed 
the suspension ofrespondent from the practice oflaw 
in that state for a three-year period commencing on 
May 6, 1998. The order included a requirement that 

. respondent make restitution to Christie in the sum of 
$16,429.58 within 180 days.6 As also indicated, the 
Michigan Attorney Discipline Board dismissed the 
charges in the check matter, except it did find respon­
dent culpable offailure to respond to the investigation 
of the dishonored check. 

DISCUSSION OF PARTIES' 
CONTENTIONS 

As the result of Freydl I and the discipline 
imposed in that proceeding, the State Bar acknowl­
edges '"that the substantive allegations concerning 
[Shinoda] are not properly at issue in the instant 
proceedings." [Emphasis in original. J 

In the Michigan proceedings, the first client 
matter involved Melissa Christie and her employment 
of respondent to dissolve a business entity known as 
"Magnolias," while in the second client matter re­
spondentwas retained to represent Lawrence Shinoda 
in contract negotiations with Gibson Guitar Company. 
In the Christie and Shinoda matters, respondent was 
found culpable of professional misconduct in Michi­
gan in November 1998 by order of the Michigan 
Attorney Discipline Board. At some point during the 
pendency of the Christie and Shinoda matters, addi­
tional charges involvingKiUen were filed in Michigan· 
against respondent. Although there are references to 

6. The record does not reveal whether any portion of that 
ordered sum was paid. 
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the Killen charges in the record, including testimony 
by respondent, no copy of the charges, evidence 
introduced to support those charges, or disposition of 
those charges is before us. 

[la) Freydl I did not include any reference to, or 
charges relating to, the Christie matter, nor had a 
complaint been made to the State Bar on behalf of 
Christie. The investigation by the State Bar of the 
Freydl I matters commenced no later than April 30, 
1996, and charges were filed in California on June 2, 
1997. Respondent knew of the Michigan investiga­
tions no later than March 1996. By March 1997, the 
State Bar knew of the proceedings in Michigan. Rule 
133(a)( 12), Rules of Procedure of the State Bar 
(rules), requiring the State Bar to advise a party 
entering into a stipulation disposing of a disciplinary 
matter of any additional pending disciplinary investi­
gations against that party, was in effect at the time of 
entering into the stipulation in F reyd/1. In conjunction 
with the stipulation, the State Bar advised respondent, 
in writing, " ... there are no additiona1 State Bar 
investigations pending against you." 

I lb) The record clearly establishes that the 
disciplinary agencies in both California and Michigan 
were each aware of the • proceedings being pros­
ecuted in the other state, and particularly that the 
State Bar was aware of all of the specific charge~ and 
of the fact that Michigan was prosecuting respondent 
in the Christie matter. In December 1999, the State 
Bar filed the present proceeding agrunst respondent 
under the authority of section 6049 .1. Attached to the 
California notice of disciplinary charges (NDC} in the 
present proceedings was a copy of the final Michigan 
disciplinary order and the opinion of the Attorney 
Discipline Board, which described the act.ions of 
respondent leading to the finding of misconduct and 
further described the specific charges of which he 
was found culpable. Included in that order and opinion 
are the charges relating to both the Christie and the 
Shinoda matters. 

As indicated, the State Bar has conceded that 
the Michigan findings of misconduct in the Shinoda 
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matter are not a proper matter for discipline in the 
present proceeding because, those charges were the 
subject of prior discipline in California in Freydl I. We 
agree. The remaining question is whether or not the 
order and findings of the Michigan Attorney Disci­
pline Board concerning respondent's conduct in the 
Christie matter both permit and warrant California 
discipline against respondent. 

[le] Respondent argues that Freydl I bars the 
present action and that his motion to dismiss filed in 
the hearing department ought to have been granted or 
that, based on the evidence introduced, the State Bar 
is barred from relying on the Michigan record. He 
relies on rule 133 (a)( 12), requiring that all stipulations 
as to facts, conclusions oflaw or dispositions relating 
to disciplinary matters include a statement that the 
respondent has been advised in writing of any pending 
investigations or proceedings not resolved by that 
stipulation, except for investigations by criminal law 
enforcement agencies. Respondent contends that the 
Christie matter was a "pending proceeding" within 
the meaning of rule 133(a)(l2) and that by virtue of 
that rule the State Bar is barred from relying on the 
Michigan proceedings in the Christie matter for 
California discipline. He argues further that in reli­
ance on the stipulation in Freydl I to have disposed of 
any California disciplinary consequences as the result 
of his misconduct in Michigan, he did not appeal the 
decision of the Michigan Attorney Discipline Board 
to the Michigan Supreme Court. We reject these 
arguments of respondent. 

I ld) Both respondent and the State Bar knew of 
the Michigan proceedings at the time the stipulation in 
Freydl I was entered into. The four comers of the 
stipulation did not purport, in anyway, to deal with the 
California consequences of the Michigan matter, nor 
is there any evidence that the Michigan proceedings 
were included in the discussions leading to that 
stipulation. 

[le) Respondent's reliance on rule 133(a)(I2)is 
misplaced. In Smith v. State Bar (1985) 38 Cal.3d 
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525, Smith entered into a stipulation with the State Bar 
concerning two separate client matters. Unknown to 
respondent and the attorney representing the State 
Bar, there was a pending investigation ofSmith by the 
State Bar concerning a third client matter. (Id. at pp. 
530-531.)Smithsoughtto set aside the stipulation on 
the grounds that the State Bar had not advised him of 
the pending investigation as required by the predeces­
sor to rule 133(a)(l2). The court held that "[a] 
stipulation cannot be expected to include infonnation 
which is not yet known to either party." (Id. at p. 53 3.) 
We note that such ruling was made even though the 
existence of the investigation was known to the State 
Bar, although not to the attorney prosecuting the 
proceedings. Here, we have a situation where the 
information was known to both parties, yet the stipu­
lation was silent as to the existenc~ of the Michigan 
matter. Respondent was in fact participating in the 
Michigan proceedings during the time that the stipu­
lation in Freydl !was signe<i.7Nonetheless, respondent 
entered into the stipulation without any inquiry about 
including that matter in the stipulation. We can only 
conclude that his failure to inquire was deliberate. We 
also note that the statute concerning the effect of 
discipline in other jurisdictions (section 6049.1) in 
California has been in its present form since 198 5. 

(lfl Respondent argues that the Michigan mat­
ter must be found to be a pending proceeding within 
the meaning of rule 133(a)(l2). We disagree. The 
State Bar had no control over the Michigan proceed­
ings, nor did it have anyway to evaluate the seriousness 
of the proceedings in that foreign jurisdiction. The 
clear purpose of rule 133(aX12) is to require the State 
Barto give notice to respondents before the State Bar 
Court orto attorneys being investigated by the State 
Bar of the pendency of such matters. As the Supreme 
Court has noted, "[i]t is not unreasonable to expect 
the State Bar to keep a central record of all com­
plaints lodged against an' attorney." (Smith v. State 
Bar, supra, 38 Cal.3d at p. 533, fn. 7.) That refer­
ence was to complaints lodged with the State Bar 
against a California. attorney. To expand that require­
ment to include complaints lodged in all other 

7. There was a concern that the setting of trial in Freydl I would 
conflict with respondent's appearance in Michigan for the 
continued trial of that matter. 
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jurisdictions within the United States would impose a 
far greater burden than that contemplated by the 
Supreme Court. 

f lg] Respondent was fully acquainted with the 
proceedings in Michigan, and ifhe contemplated they 
were to be covered by his stipulation in Freydll it was 
incumbent on him to see that such a provision was 
included within that stipulation. The stipulation was 
silent concerning the Christie matter, even though 
both parties to the stipulation knew that matter was 
pending in Michigan and, at least presumptively, 
knew of the provisions of section 6049 .1. 

(lb) The disposition of the Christie matter was 
an issue that existed at the time of that stipulation and 
was not included in that agreement. In Folsom v. 
Butte County Assn. of Governments (1982) 32 
Cal.3d .668, 677.680, the Supreme Court held that a 
compromise agreement that did not deal with costs of . 
suit and attorney's fees that were statutorily autho-­
rized did not preclude a claim for such items following 
the approval of the compromise. The Supreme Court 
pointed out "that neither costs nor fees were dis­
cussed during settlement negotiations." (Id. at p. 
681.) We note that there is no contention that the 
disposition of the Christie matter was included in the 
discussions leading to the stipulation in Freydl I and 
that at the time of the stipulation, section 6049.1 
authorized the prosecution of attorney disciplinary 
matters. in California based on the final record of 
discipline in a sister state. We conclude that the 
stipulation in Freydl I did not dispose of the Christie 
matter. 

12] During oral argument respondent asserted, 
for the first time, that section 6049 .1 was being 
unconstitutionally applied because a Michigan disci­
plinary action requires only a preponderance of the 
evidence for a finding of culpability and that Califor. 
nia reliance on that lower standard deprived respondent 
of due process and equal protection of the law. No 

8. Although we do not make a recommendation concerning the 
issue (sec In the Matter of &spondent B (Review Dept. 199 l) 
l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 424,433, fn. 11 ), it seems clear that 
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such position had been asserted in the hearing depart­
ment, nor did any such argument appear in 
respondent's brief. Respondent having failed to raise 
the issue before the hearing department or in his 
briefs, it is deemed waived. (Cf McCartney v. 
Commission on Judicial Qualifications (1974) 12 
Cal.3d 512, 521-522 [ due process issue]; In the 
Matter of Ike (Review Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 483,491 [due process]; see also State Bar 
Rules of Practice, rule 1320.)8 

Without further comment, we reject respondent's 
arguments purported to be addressed to res j udicata, 
full faith and credit, and judicial comity. We also 
reject, as approaching frivolous, respondent's argu• 
ment that Freydl I included the issues of the Christie 
matter and thus barred California's reliance in the 
present proceedings on the Michigan findings of 
culpability in that matter. 

(3a] The certified copy of the final disciplinary 
order of the State of Michigan, finding respondent 
culpable of misconduct in the Christie matter, conclu­
sively establishes that respondent is culpable of 
professional misconduct in California. ( § 6049 .1; In 
the Matter of Jenkins, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. atp. 162.) The only exceptions are whether, as 
a matter of law, the misconduct found in the other 
jurisdiction wou Id not warrant imposing discipline in 
California and whether the other jurisdiction's pro­
ceedings lacked fundamental constitutional protection. 
(§ 6049.l, subds. (a) and (b).) "The attorney bears 
the burden to establish that the exceptions do not 
warrant imposing discipline." (In the Matter of 
Jenkins, supra, at p. 162.) Although respondent 
makes some complaint about the Michigan proce• 
dure, there isno serious challenge to the fundamental 
constitutional protection afforded him in the Michigan 
proceedings. There can be no _ question that the 
misconduct fourid in Michigan warrants discipline in 
this state. 

the absences of constitutional infinnity in the Michigan pro­
ceedings gives California every right to rely on the Michigan 
findings of culpability. 
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EVIDENCE AVAILABLE TO 
DETERMINE DISCIPLINE 

[ 4a] The remaining issue for consideration in this 
proceeding is the degree of discipline to recommend. 
(§ 6049.1, subd. (b)(l).)9 The State Bar placed in 
evidence certified copies of the Order of Suspen­
sion and Restitution, the Report of the Tri-County 
Hearing Panel - #83, the Board Opinion, and an 
Order Modifying Findings of Misconduct and 
Affirming Suspension and Restitution, constituting 
the final record of discipline in the State ofMichigan. 
No portion of the underlying evidentiary record in the 
Christie matter was placed in evidence.10 

[4bJ The findings of fact issued in the Report of 
the Trj-County Hearjng Panel - #83 and the Board 
Opinion of the Attorney Discipline Board set forth 
the surrounding circumstances of the charges of 
which respondent was found culpable. Many of those 
findings would serve to act as aggravation to the 
charges as found. However, each of those findings of 
fact was made under a preponderance of the evi­
dence standard.11 

I 4c J Section 6049. I, subdivision (a), makes clear 
that we accept the findings of professional miscon­
duct of a sister state as conclusive. However, 
subdivision (b XI) of that section makes equally clear 
that the degree of discipline remains an issue to be 
determined under California law. (See In the Matter 
of Jenkins, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 157, 
163-164.) The record before us is replete with refer­
ences establishing that various acts of respondent in 

9. We note that respondent has been convicted of a misde­
meanorcharge of practicing law in violation of section 6125. By 
order dated July 31. 2001, in case number 00-C-15473, we 
referred that conviction to the hearing department for a finding 
ofthe facts and circumstances surrounding that conviction.We 
do not consider that conviction or the circumstances surround­
ing it in the matter before us. Rather we note that, under the 
provisions of rule 2 l 6(a), it may be appropriate for the hearing 
department 10 consider either our recommendation or the final 
order of the Supreme Court in this matter in the event that 
department reaches the issue of recommending discipline in 
that criminal conviction matter. 
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the Christie matter were found to be true by a 
preponderance of the evidence. It is fundamental that 
in this state all showings of both aggravation and 
mitigation must be by clear and convincing evidence. 
(Std. l.2(b) & (e), Rules Proc. of State Bar, tit. IV, 
Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct (stds.); 
In the Matter of Jeffers (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr.211, 222, 224-225; see Rose v. 
State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 646, 667 [mitigation]. 

I 4dl The underlying evidence in the Michigan 
proceedings is not before us, and the Michigan 
opinions do not give any clear indication that a higher 
standard than a preponderance of the evidence was 
shown in the Michigan proceedings. 

[4e) In its supplemental brief, the State Bar 
argues that under the provisions of section 6049.1, 
subdivision ( a), the determination by a sister state of 
professional misconduct "shall be conclusive evi­
dence that [ an attorney] is culpable of professional 
misconduct in this state, ... " We agree. However, 
that position avoids the issue we address. Foil owing 
the quoted language that section provides; "subject 
only to the exceptions set forth in subdivision (b)." 
Subdivision (b) sets forth the exceptions: (I) the 
degree of discipline; (2) whether the foreign finding 
would warrant discipline in Calif omia; and (3) whether 
the foreign.proceeding lacked fundamental constitu­
tional protection. We conclude that the requirement 
thatthe discipline be determined in California carries 
with it the California standards for weighing evidence 
to show aggravation. (In the Matter of Jenkins, 
supra,4Cal.StateBarCt.Rptr.157, 163-164.)That 

10. Respondent introduced a portion of the transcript of the 
Michigan Shinoda matter. Apparently Michigan had planned 
to produce evidence on the Christie matter on that same day. 
The Christie matter was continued for more than a month. The 
only portion of that record relating to Christie was that, on 
learning her matter would not be heard that day, Christie 
expressed concem relating to the delay. 

11. Although not briefed by the parties, we advised the parties 
of our concern that the facts and circumstances surrounding the 
finding of culpability on which we would ordinarily rely to aid 
in detennining discipline were not shown under a clear and 
convincing standard of proof, and we invited their briefs on that 
issue before oral argument pursuantto rule 305(b ). A brief was 
filed by the State Bar. None was filed by respondent. 



IN 1llE MA TfEROF FREYDL 

(Review Dept. 200 l) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 349 

standard requires clear and convincing evidence 
(Van Sloten v. State Bar (1989) 48 Cal.3d 921,933; 
std. l.2(b).) 

(4fj As a consequence, we have no ability to 
weigh a purported showing of the facts and circum­
stancesfound in Michigan to surround the misconduct 
found in Michigan under the required California 
standard of clear and convincing evidence. There­
fore, in determining discipline we must weigh the 
misconduct found in Michigan with only the aggrava­
tion and mitigation separately shown in this proceeding. 

[3b) We are able to identify the charges in the 
Michigan Christie case by virtue of an Amended 
Formal Complaint issued by an attorney for the 
Attorney Grievance Commission and placed in evi­
dencebyrespondent. Byreadingthevarious documents 
together we are able to determine that respondent 
was found culpable in Michigan of misappropriation 
of $12,500 of Christie's funds, failure to account, 
failure to respond to a client's reasonable inquiries, 
failure to pay to a client funds to which she was 
entitled, and moral turpitude. He was also found 
culpable of failure to take necessary legal action to 
protect his client's interest and failure to respond to 
her inquiries concerning the status of her funds. 
Respondent was additionally found culpable offailure 
to respond to the Michigan Christie investigation, and 
finally he was found culpable of failure to respond to 
the Michigan investigation of the check matter. 

[3cl To determine the specific charge of which 
respondent was found culpable we take the lesser of 
the charges in each count, and we accept the Michi­
gan findings of culpability as conclusive evidence of 
that found misconduct in California. ( § 6049 .1, subd. 
(a).) (4g] We must base our determination of disci­
pline on these findings of culpability, and not on the 
recitations of facts found by a preponderance of the. 
evidence as set forth in the Michigan opinions. (§ 
6049. I, subd. (b )( i); In the Matter of Jenkins, supra, 
4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 157, 163-164.) 

12. Both the Shinoda and Killen matters were the subject of 
discipline in Michigan but are not included in our present 
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[5) In mitigation, the hearing judge found that 
respondent has been candid and cooperative, noting 
particularly that respondent stipulated to the use of a 
declaration of a witness, thereby avoiding the neces­
sity of bringing that witness from Michigan to testify. 
There is authority that a respondent is entitled to 
mitigating consideration for such conduct. (In the 
Matter of Broderick (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138, 156 [respondent allowed 
complaining witness to testify by telephone].) We 
give respondent some mitigating credit for candor and 
cooperation. No other evidence in mitigation was 
offered in the present proceeding. 

In aggravation, respondent has a record of prior 
discipline. In Freydl I in the Shinoda matter, respon­
dent stipulated to borrowing$ I 0,000 from a client on 
a no-interestloan and a verbal promise ofrepayment, 
without advising the client in writing of the client's 
right to seek independent advice concerning that 
transaction, and failure to keep the State Bar advised 
of his current address. Also in Freydl I, involying the 
Killen matter, respondent stipulated that he received 
$5,000 in advanced fees to file a copyright infringe­
ment action and failed to file that action, although he 
did perfonn some work on the case, failed to refund 
$2,500 in advanced fees, failed to respond to reason­
able status inquiries from the client, and failed to keep 
the State Bar advised of his current address.12 Re­
spondent was actually suspended for a period of 45 
days and until he made restitution to Killen in the sum 
of $2,500 as one of the conditions of two years' 
probation. Although respondent made restitution, he 
was subsequently charged with and found culpable of 
a violation ofan additional condition ofhis probation. 
Respondent did not appear in that proceeding, his 
probation was revoked, and he was suspended for a 
period of six months in Supreme Court case number 
S068276 (Freydl II), after being placed on inactive 
enrollment by the State Bar Court, effective N ovem­
ber 7, 1999. 

finding of culpability under section 6049.1. Rather, we treat 
those matters as prior California discipline, in aggravation. 
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( 6] The aggravating weight of Freydl I is dimin­
ished because the misconduct underlying that prior 
discipline occurred during the same time period as did 
the underlying misconduct found in Michigan and 
relied on by us in finding culpability in the present 
matter. "Since part of the rationale for considering 
priordiscipline as having an aggravating impact is that 
it is indicative of a recidivist attorney's inability to 
confonn his or her conduct to ethical nonns [citation], 
it is therefore appropriate to consider the fact that the 
misconduct involved here was contemporaneous with 
the misconduct in the prior case." (In the Malter of 
Sklar (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
602,619.) Under the circumstances, we consider the 
totality of the charges brought in both cases in order 
to detennine the appropriate discipline, had both 
cases been brought together. (Ibid.) We find no such 
limitation on considering the full impact of Freydl II 
as prior discipline. 

[7a) A factornot mentioned by the hearingj udge 
in her decision is respondent's repeated failure to 
respond to inquiries by clients as to the status of their 
cases and to investigation inquiries by professional 
organizations responsible for maintaining standards 
within the profession. We note that in the Christie 
matter, in addition to the misappropriation of$ l 2,500 
of the client's money, respondent was found culpable 
of failure to respond to her status inquiries, failure to 
keep Christie reasonably infonned of the status ofher 
matter and failure to respond to a request for inves­
tigation into her matter. The record shows that 
respondent further failed to respond to an investiga­
tion by the Michigan authorities concemingthe check 
matter.13 In Frcydl /, respondent acknowledged that 
he failed to respond to Killen' s reasonable status 
inquiries and that he failed to keep the State Bar 
advised of his current address. That latter failure 
becomes significant for disciplinary purposes when 
placed in context with his failure to respond to clients 
and responsible professional organizations. InFreydl 
II, following his failure to comply with the tenns of his 
probation, he failed to respond to that disciplinary 
charge or to appear on that matter. This combination 

13. Although a similar finding of culpability was made in Michi­
gan in the Shinoda matter, we do not rely on that finding, as 
charges involving Shinoda were the subject of Freydl I. 
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of misconduct presents respondent's disregard for 
his obligations to his profession as well as his disre­
gard for his obligations to his clients. We deem this 
found conduct by respondent to be a most serious 
aggravating circumstance. We note that the misap­
propriation of$ l 2,500 from Christie and the borrowing 
of$ I 0,000 from Shinoda evidence a similar effort to 
take advantage of clients, although we give far 
greater weight to the fonner .. We find a similar 
showing of taking advantage of clients in his failure to 
return unearned fees after failing to file the complaint 
in the Killen matter. 

In our search to recommend the proper disci­
pline, we look first to the standards for guidance. By 
far the most serious of respondent's found Michigan 
offenses was his misappropriation of$12,500 from 
Christie. Because of the Michigan finding of moral 
turpitude it is clear that such misappropriation was 
willful. Standard 2.2 suggests disbannent for willful 
misappropriation unless the amount misappropriated 
is "insignificantly small'' or "the most compelling 
mitigating circumstances clearly predominate." The 
amounts involved are not "insignificantly small," nor 
do mitigating circumstances clearly predominate. 
Nonetheless, we treat the standards as guidelines 
only, and not as directives that must be followed in 
each case. (In re Young ( 1989) 49 Cal.3d 25 7, 268.) 
We endeavor to recommend discipline consistent 
with prior Supreme Court holdings. (See Snyder v. 
State Bar (1990) 49 Cal.Jd 1302, 1310-1311.) 

The Supreme Court has consistently stated that 
misappropriation generally warrants disbannent in 
the absence of clearly mitigating circumstances. 
(Kelly v. State Bar (1988) 45 Cal.Jd 649,656; see 
Waysman v. State Bar (1986) 41 Cal.3d 452, 457; 
Cain v. State Bar (1979) 25 Cal.3d 956, 961.) It is 
clear that disbannent is most frequently imposed 
where there are several instances of misappropria­
tion of large sums, involving multiple clients. (See 
Rosenthal v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 658.) 
However, the Supreme Court has imposed disbar­
ment on an attorney with no prior record of discipline 
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in a case of a single misappropriation even though 
there was substantial mitigation. (In reAbbott(I 977) 
19 Cal.3d249 [takingof$29,500, showingofmanic­
depressive condition, prognosis uncertain].) In Kaplan 
v. State Bar(199I) 52 Cal.3d 1067, an attorney with 
slightly over 11 years of practice and no prior record 
of discipline was disbarred for misappropriating ap­
proximately $29,000 in law firm fundsoveran 8-month 
period, while in Chang v. State Bar(l 989) 49 Cal.3d 
114, an attorney misappropriated almost $7,900 from 
his law firm, coincident with his termination by that 
firm, and was disbarred. 

Based on the recommendation of this court, the 
Supreme Court has ordered disbarment of an attor­
ney with no prior record of discipline for 
misappropriation of approximately $55,000 from a 
single client. That case involved serious aggravation 
in that respondent used, for personal purposes, funds 
entrusted to him for a down payment on real property 
by a client with limited English ski Us. (In the Matter 
of Blum (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 170; see also In the Matter of Spaith (Review 
Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr 511 ( misappro­
priation ofnearly $40,000, misled client for a year, no 
prior discipline].) 

In misappropriation cases, discipline ofless than 
disbannent is warranted only where extenuating 
circumstances show that the misappropriation of 
entrusted funds is an isolated event. (See Lawhorn v. 
State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1357, 1360-1361, 1366-
1368.) In the matter before us, we consider the fact 
of respondent's misappropriation in connection with 
the additional misconduct found against him. In the 
Michigan case, limiting our consideration to the find­
ings of culpability in the Christie matter, we find 
misappropriation of$ l 2,500, moral turpitude, failure 
to account, failure to respond to client inquiries, failure 
to represent his client diligently, failure to respond to 
status inquiries and failure to respond to the investiga­
tion of that matter. Unfortunately, we do not have 
before us, in a form we may consider, the facts and 
circumstances surrounding this misconduct in Michi­
gan. Nor do we have before us any mitigation, other 
than the hearing judge's finding of cooperation by 
respondent, which we consider but do not give great 
weight. 
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It is true that many of the cases have found 
'" clearly extenuating circumstances."' (Kelly v. State 
Bar, supra, 45 Cal.3d at p. 656.) Less than disbar­
ment was imposed in Finch v. State Bar ( 1981) 28 
Cal.Jd 659, where the court recognized the attorney's 
alcoholism and subsequent rehabilitation; Bate v. 
State Bar ( I 983) 34 Cal.Jd 920, where respondent 
used the funds to travel outside the country in the face 
of death threats in an unrelated action; and In the 
Matter of Frazier (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 676, where this court found severe 
emotional difficulties from which the attorney had 
been rehabilitated. 

In Freydl I, respondent stipulated that although 
he received a $5,000 fee to represent Killen in a 
copyright infringement action, he failed to file the 
action within the time agreed upon, failed to return 
unearned fees in the amount of $2,500, failed to 
respond to Killen' s reasonable inquiries and failed to 
keep the State Bar advised of his current address. He 
further stipulated to borrowing $10,000 from Shinoda 

. on a verbal, no-interest loan, not advising Shinoda in 
writing to seek independent counsel, and failure to 
keep the State Bar advised of his current address. In 
Freydl II, following his failure to comply with the 
terms of probation imposed in Freydl l respondent 
failed to respond to a motion to revoke his probation 
and failed to appear in the State Bar Court at a hearing 
on that motion. 

(7b] We consider this record of prior discipline 
to reflect respondent's disregard for his clients and 
the obligations of the profession. Considering the 
found prior misconduct, respondenthas misappropri­
ated $12,500 from a client, failed to properly perform 
and respond to proper inquiries from that client, 
borrowed $10,000 from a second client on oral loan 
without complying with his duties to that client, and 
failed to promptly refund unearned fees and respond 
to reasonable status inquiries from a third client. To 
this we add two charges of failing to keep the State 
Bar advisedofrespondent' s current address, his total 
disregard of a proceeding against him for a violation 
of his probation, and failure to cooperate in two 
Michigan investigations. There is nothing in this 
picture to cause us to believe that respondent's 
misappropriation in the Christie matter is an isolated 
act of misconduct; rather it appears to represent an 
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attorney's disregard for his ethical obligations to 
clients in favor of financial benefits for himself. 
Respondent's failure to comply with the terms of his 
prior probation and then failure to respond to the 
proceeding brought as the result of that failure to 
comply with those terms makes clear that such 
probation provisions have had no rehabilitative effect 
on respondent. 

We find nothing in the record to warrant exemp­
tion of this matter from the Supreme Court's 
observation that "misappropriation generally war-. 
rants disbarment unless ·clearly extenuating 
circumstances' are present. [Citation.)." (Kelly v. 
State Bar, supra, 45 Cal.3d 649, 656.) In the matter 
before us we find no such extenuating circumstances, 
nor other circumstances that encourage us to move 
from the Supreme Court's recommended discipline 
of disbannent for misappropriation of client funds. 

f4h) Although, as the concurring and dissenting 
opinion notes, theM ichiganAttomey Discipline Board 
recommended suspension of respondent, not disbar­
ment, section 6049 .1 is not a "like discipline" statute 
but rather requires that discipline be decided anew in 
this state based on all relevant factors. In our weigh­
ing of discipline we have before us more adverse 
factors than did the Michigan Attorney Discipline 
Board even if we give weight to the degree of 
discipline imposed in Michigan. 

RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE 

We recommend that respondent Thomas P. 
Freydl be disbarred from the practice of law in this 
state and that his name be stricken from the ron • of 
attorneys admitted to practice in this state. We 
further recommend that respondent be ordered to 
comply with the provisions of rule 955, California 
Rules of Court and to perf onn the acts specified in 
subdivisions (a) and (c) of that rule within 30 and 40 
days, respectively, after the effective date of the 
Supreme Court's order in this matter. We further 
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recommend that the State Bar be awarded costs in 
accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6086.10 and that such costs. be payable in 
accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6140.7. 

Pursuant to the provisions of section 6007, sub• 
division ( c )( 4) and rule 220( c ), Rules o£Procedureof 
the State Bar, respondent is ordered enrolled inactive 
on personal service of this opinion orthree days after 
service by mail, whichever is earlier. 

I Concur: 
STOVITZ, J. 

CONCURRING AND DISSENTING 
OPINION OF TALCOTT, J. 

I concur with the majority opinion in al I respects 
except as to the appropriate level of discipline. I 
respectfully dissent from the recommendation of 
Thomas P. Freydl 's disbarment. In my view, disbar• 
mentisnotwarranted in this casein order to serve the 
primary purposes of disciplinary proceedings, i.e., the 
protection of the public, the courts, and the legal 
profession; the maintenance of high professional 
standards by attorneys; and the preservation of public 
confidence in the legal profession. (Rules Proc. of 
State Bar, tit. IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. 
Misconduct, std. 1.3 (standards); In re Morse ( 1995) 
11 Cal.4th 184,205.) 

The majority opinion itself reflects that respon­
dent practiced law for approximately 3 0 years before 
discipline was imposed against him in California, and 
his two prior Califbmia disciplinary proceedings did 
not result in lengthy periods of actual suspension. 
Instead, respondent's first prior case (Freydl I), 
involving misconduct in the Shinoda and Killen mat­
ters, resulted in the imposition of an actual suspension 
of only 45 days, along with periods of stayed suspen­
sion and probation.1 Due to respondent's failure to 

1. As the majority states, the aggravating weight of Freydl /is 
diminished because the misconduct underlying that case oc­
curred during the same time period as did the misconduct 
underlying the present case. (In the Matter of Sklar (Review 
Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 602, 619.) 
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comply \vith an unspecified condition of the probation 
imposed in Freydl I, respondent was subsequently 
suspended for six months in Freydl II. 

While I recognize that the misconduct and ag­
gravating circumstances in this case are quite serious 
and include misappropriation along with moral turpi­
tude, it should be noted that even in Michigan, the 
jurisdiction where the charged misconduct occurred, 
respondent was suspended for three years rather 
than disbarred as a result of violations which were, 
with only a few exceptions, 1 identical to the violations 
we consider here. Moreover; the hearing judge, who 
considered the identical misconduct involved in this 
case, recommended an actual suspension of two 
years. 3 In light of all factors involved in this case, I 
view disbarment as unduly harsh. I would instead 
recommend that respondent be suspended from the 
practice oflaw in the State of California for a period 
of three years, that the three-year period of suspen­
sion be stayed, and that respondent be placed on 
probation for a period of four years on condition that 
respondent be actually suspended from the practice 
oflaw in this state for three years and until respondent 
shows, in accordance with standard l .4(c)(ii), proof 
satisfactory to the State Bar Court of his rehabilita­
tion, present fitness to practice, and present learning 
and ability in the general law. 

TALCOTT, J."4 

*Talcott, J., sat in place of Watai, J., who was 
disqualified. 

2. The majority opinion points to the following aggravating 
circumstances established in this case which were not included 
in the underlying Michigan proceedings: (1} in Freydl I, 
respondent acknowledged that he had failed to keep the 
California State Bar apprised of his current address and had 
failed to respond to reasonable status inquiries of his client 
Killen; (2) as established in Freydl II, respondent failed to 
comply with a condition of the probation imposed inFreydl 
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I; and (3) respondent failed to respond to the disciplinary 
charges or to appear in Freydl II. 

3. I am aware that because ofthe review department's obligation 
to independently review the record, itmustnotrelytoo heavily 
on other disciplinary recommendations. (In reMorse,supra; 
11 Cal. 4th at p. 207.) I refer to these other recommendations 
simply to point out that I am not alone in my view that 
disbarment is not warranted under the facts of this case. 

4. Hearing Judge of the State Bar Court assigned by the 
Presiding Judge under rule 30 5( e) of the Rules of Procedure of 
the State Bar 
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In the Matter of 

Ciuru..EsCoNNELLMcCARTIIY 

A Member of the State Bar 

No. 96-0-00528 

Filed April 15, 2002; as modified April 25, 2002; reconsideration denied June 11, 2002 

SUMMARY 

The hearing department recommended respondent's disbarment upon finding that respondent, acting as a 
general partner of a 1 imited partnership, breached his fiduciary duties and misappropriated funds by refusing to 
distribute one limited partner's portion ofa distribution of partnership funds. The hearing department determined 
that this willful misappropriation constituted an act involving moral turpitude. The hearing department also 
determined that respondent was culpable of seeking an agreement to have a complaining witness, the limited 
partner in this case, withdraw his State Bar complaint as a condition of settlement. (Hon. Nancy Roberts Lonsdale, 
Hearing Judge.) 

The review department concluded that respondent was culpable of the violations found by the hearing 
department. However, the review department determined that disbarment was inappropriate in view of all of the 
circumstances of the case and that a four-year stayed suspension with a three-year probationary period and a 
two-year actual suspension was the appropriate discipline in this case. 

COUNSEL FOR p ARTIES 

For State Bar: Charles Weinstein 

For Respondent: Henry T. Heuer 

IIEADNCTIES 

[la-f] 204.90 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
420.00 Misappropriation 
430.00 Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
Because an attorney who is a general partner of a California limited partnership owes the limited 
partners fiduciary obligations, including the duty of good faith and fair dealing and the duty to safeguard 
funds to which the limited partners are entitled, the attorney is held to the high standards of the legal 
profession whether or not he or she acts in the capacity of an attorney. Moreover, the attorney is subject 

Editor's note: The summary, head notes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but have 
been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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to discipline ifhe or she assumes a fiduciary relationship and violates a fiduciary duty in a way that 
would justify disciplinary action if the relationship were that of attorney and client. Thus, respondent 
was subject to discipline where the evidence established that respondent, as general partner, (1) 
breached his fiduciary duty to a limited partner by taking his share of profits in two different 
distributions without having first distributed to the 1 imited partner his capital contribution and share 
of profits, contrary to both the applicable statute and the partnership agreement, and (2) misappro­
priated funds which the limited partner was entitled to receive. 

[2] 221 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
221.10 State Bar Act-Section6106.1 
420.00 Misappropriation 
430.00 Breach ofFiduciary Duty 
Respondent was culpable of committing an act involving moral turpitude where respondent, acting 
as a general partner of a California limited partnership, misappropriated a limited partner's share of 
distribution funds, which act was also a breach ofrespondent' s fiduciary duties to the limited partner. 

[3a-c] 106.10 Procedure-Pleadings-Sufficiency 

[4] 

[Sa,b] 

117 Procedure-Dismissal 
130 Procedure-Procedure on Review 
135.60 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Dispositions and Costs 
In reviewing a motion to dismiss a disciplinary charge based on a contention that the notice of 
disciplinary charges is defective due to its failure to state a disciplinableoffense, the review department 
treats the factual allegations of the notice of disciplinary charges as true and disregards all factual 
matters outside the am bit of the notice of disciplinary charges except for judicially noticeable facts, 
since the purpose of the motion is to test the sufficiency of the notice of disciplinary charges and not. 
to contest the charges. Where the notice of disciplinary charges alleged (I) that respondent, as general 
partner of a California limited partnership having a fiduciary duty to the limited partners, made 
preliminary distributions of partnership profits but failed to disburse any funds to one limited partner 
due to that limited partner's refusal to sign a release ofliability and (2)thatdespitethe limited partner's 
repeated request for the funds, respondent never re leased the funds and subsequently in formed the 
limited partnerthat he no longer had the funds, the notice of disciplinary charges was sufficientto state 
a disciplinary offense, i.e., that respondent committed an act invo I ving moral turpitude by breaching 
his fiduciary duty to the limited partner and misappropriating funds to which the limited partner was 
entitled. 

106.20 
117 

Procedure-Pleadings-NoticeofCharges 
Procedure-Dismissal 

135.60 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Dispositions and Costs 
Because respondent' smotion to dismiss the notice of disciplinary charges based on insufficient notice 
of one of the charges was filed later than the date his response to the notice of disciplinary charges 
was due, in violation ofRules of Procedure of the State Bar, rule 262( c )(2), respondent's assertion 
was waived as a basis for dismissal. 

106.90 Procedure-Pleadings-Other Issues 
117 Procedure-Dismissal 
130 
135.20 
135.60 

Procedure-Procedure on Review 
Proced ure--Revised Rules-CommencementN enue/Filings/Senriceffime 
Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Dispositions and Costs 
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In reviewing a pretrial motion to dismiss the notice of disciplinary charges on the ground that it was 
barred by the applicableperiodoflimitations, we treatthe factual allegations of the notice of disciplinary 
charges as true. Where the notice of discip Ji nary charges alleged that respondent, a general partner 
of a California limited partnership, informed a limited partner within five years before the notice of 
disciplinary charges was filed that the limited partner's share of funds from a partnership distribution 
was gone, the charge that respondent committed an act involving moral turpitude by breaching a 
fiduciary duty and misappropriating funds was timely filed under Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, 
rule 51. 

159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Where the record did not establish that respondent made an offer of proofin order to give the hearing 
judge notice of the substance, purpose and relevance of proposed testimony (Evid. Code, § 3 54 ), 
respondent waived any error in the exclusion of the proposed testimony. 

[7a-cj 218.00 State Bar Act-Section 6090.5 

[8] 

Although respondent's attorney handled settlement negotiations with the opposing party, respondent 
acknowledged that he was on notice that one term of the proposed settlement was that the opposing 
party withdraw his complaint to the State Bar. Because respondent did nothing upon receiving notice 
of this fact to inform either his attorney or the opposing party that his attorney lacked authority to 
discuss such a settlement on his behalf, respondent's attorney had apparent authority to enter into 
such settlement discussions for respondent. Therefore, respondent intended to agree to this term of 
the settlement and was culpable of conditioning settlement on the withdrawal of the opposing party's 
complaint to the State Bar. 

221 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
D isbarmcnt was not warranted for misappropriation of over $20,000 where the ma.tter appeared to 
have been an aberrational, isolated instance ofmisconduct,respondenthad no prior record of discipline 
in over 40 years of practice, and respondent presented evidence of good character and community 
service. 

Additional Analysis 
Culpability 

Found 
218.01 
420.13 
430.0I 

Aggravation 
Found 

Mitigation 

541 
588.10 
591 
621 

Found 
710.10 
765.10 

Section 6090.5 
Misappropriation-Wrongful Claim to Funds 
Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

Bad Faith-Dishonesty 
Harm-Generally 
Indifference 
Lack of Remorse 

No Prior Record 
Pro Bono Work 

Found but Discounted 
715.30 GoodFaith 
740.33 Good Character 



lsTIJE MA TIER OF McCARTHY 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 364 

Declined to Find 

Standards 

Discipline 

715.50 GoodFaith 

801.20 Purpose 
801.3 0 Effect as Guidelines 
801.41 Deviation From-Justified · 
822.59 Misappropriation-Declined to Apply 

IO 13 .10 Stayed Suspension--4 Years 
IO 15.08 Actual Suspension-2 Years 
1017 .09 Probation-3 Years 

Probation Conditions 
1021 Restitution 
1024 EthicsExarn/School 
1030 Standard l.4(c)(ii) 
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OPINION 

WATAI,J.: 

Th is matter is before this court for review because 
respondent Charles Connell McCarthy, general part­
ner of Kau-Kona Land Co., a California limited 
partnership, (the Kau partnership, the partnership, or 
Kau) was found to have breached his fiduciary duties 
and misappropriated funds by refusing to distribute to 
Nazar H. Ashj ian, one of the limited partners ofKau, 
Ashjian's portion of the preliminary distribution of 
Kau' s funds. 

The hearing judge recommended disbarment 
based on her findings of willful misappropriation 
constituting an act involving moral turpitude (Bus. & 
Prof. Code,§ 6106)1 and of seeking an agreement or 
agreeing to have a complaining witness withdraw 
his State Bar complaint as a condition of settlement 
(§ 6090.5, subd. (a)(2)). 

Respondent contends that the hearingjudge erro­
neously found culpabi I ity of the charges and requests 
dismissal of the entire matter. 

Upon our required independent review of the 
record(Cal. Rules of Court, rule 951.5; RulesProc.of 
State Bar, rule 305(a);2 In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 
184,207) and based on the applicable standards and 
case law, we find respondent culpable ofboth charges 
and recommend a stayed suspension of four years, a 
probationary period of three years, and an actual 
suspension of two years. 

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Respondent was admitted to the practice oflaw 
on June 14, 1949, and has been a member of the 
Ca 1 ifomia State Bar since that time. He has no record 
of prior discipline. Effective December 31, 1991, he 
was placed on inactive status at his request According 

I. Al! further references to sections are to the Business and 
Professions Code. 

2. All further references to rules are to these Rules of Procedure 
of the State Bar unless othernise indicated. 
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to respondent's exhibit A, a letter from a State Bar 
membership records supervisor, he returned to active 
status on July 6, 1999, where he remained until August 
14, 2000, when he was involuntarily enrolled inactive 
under section 6007, subdivision ( c )( 4 ), incident to the 
disbarment recommendation we now review. 

Procedural Background 

The notice of disciplinary charges (NDC) was 
filed on November 24, 1999. Count one of the NDC 
charged respondent with violating section 6106, con­
duct invo lvingmoral turpitude, based on respondent's 
violation ofhis fiduciary duty3 and misappropriation of 
Ashjian's share of a Kau partnership distribution. 
Count two of the NOC charged respondent with 
violating section 6090 .5, subdivision ( a )(2 ), seeking an 
agreementto have the complaining witness, Ashjian, 
withdraw his State Bar complaint. Respondent filed his 
response to the NOC on December 30, 1999. 

Respondent filed a motion to dismiss on May 3 0, 
2000, contending that count one of the NDC should be 
dismissed because it failed to state a disciplinable 
offense (rule 262(c)(l)) and was barred by the appli­
cable period oflimitations set forth in rule 51 (rule 
262(d)). The hearing judge denied the motion to 
dismiss, determining that count one of the NDC 
pleaded adequate facts to state a violation of section 
6106 and that the charge set forth in count one was not 
barred by the applicable statute of I imitations due to 
respondent's continuing obligation to disburse the 
preliminary distribution funds to Ash j ian. 

Facts 

The Partnership 

On October 10, 1967, the"AgreementofLimited 
Partnership ofKau-Kona Land Co." ( the Kau partner­
ship agreement or the partnership agreement) was 
executed. It included respondent and L. M. Prince, Jr., 

3. While the NDC does not specifically state that respondent 
breached or violated a fiduciary duty, it does specify that 
respondent was a fiduciary to the limited partners, and respon­
denthimself acknowledges in his opening hriefon review that he 
was charged with breaching his fiduciary duties to Ashjian. 
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as the only general partners and Ashjian as one of the 
regular limited partners with an initial capital contribu­
tion of$3, 000 ( 1 percent interest). The purpose ofKau 
was to purchase and hold for investment approxi­
mately 1,400 acres ofland located in Hawaii. Underthe 
partnership agreement, the regular limited partners 
were required to make additional capital contributions 
in the same proportions as their initial contributions for 
mortgage payments, real property taxes, and various 
other charges incident to real property ownership. The 
regular limited partners made capital contributions 
pursuant to the partnership agreement for approxi­
mately five or six years. 

Pursuant to the partnership agreement, the gen­
eral partners, in their absolute discretion, had the 
power, among otherthings, to determine whether and 
when to make distributions to the partners. The 
partnership agreement specified, however, that the 
general partners had no authority to do any act in 
contravention of the partnership agreement or of 
Kau' s certificate o flimited partnership. 

Under the "Certificate ofLimited Partnership of 
Kau-Kona Land Co.," the partnership was to continue 
until the earliest of the following events: (1 )the sale of 
all partnership interest in the real property; (2) the 
death, adjudication ofbankruptcy, insanity, or incom­
petency of the last surviving general partner, unless 
within 90 days thereafter at least 60 percent of the 
regular limited partnership interest elected a regular 
limited partner to act as general partner; or(3) October 
IO, 1987. 

In 1971, 400 acres of the partnership's 1,400 
acres ofland were condemned by the State ofHawaii. 
Kau used the monies realized from this sale to pay off 
the mortgage on the entire 1,400 acres. Thus, at that 
time, Kau owned the remaining 1,000 acres of land 
"free and clear." The partners were not called upon for 
further capital contributions and received a distribution 
in an unspecified amount at that time.4 

4. This distribution appears to have partially reimbursed the 
limited partners for their capital contributions. Because no 
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In 1976, Prince breached his fiduciary duties and 
subsequently lost his authority to act as a general 
partner in 1983 by court judgement. Nonetheless, 
Prince retained his equity ownership in Kau. 

In 1987, the partnership was extended past the 
October l 0, 1987 termination date; 

The Preliminary Distribution 

In July 19 86, Kau filed a voluntary petition for 
bankruptcy reorganization under Chapter 11 of the 
BankruptcyCode(l 1 U.S.C. § 1101 etseq.).Kaufiled 
its petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court for 
the District of Hawaii. Kau sought reorganization 
under Chapter 11 to prevent the foreclosure on its 
remaining 1,000acresforKau'snonpaymentofwater 
facilities charges and of a loan it obtainedto purchase 
water rights for the property. 

The bankruptcy court authorized and confinned 
Kau' s sale of its remaining 1,000 acres of land for 
$5,250,000. Thereafter, in May 1988, Kau filed a 
motion for order authorizing payment of all creditors 
and partial disbursement to equity owners. In an order 
dated June 9, 198 8, the bankruptcy court granted that 
motion and authorized Kau to pay all ofits pre-petition 
and post-petition claims/debts. In that order, the 
bankruptcy court also authorized Kau to make a return 
of capital and a partial distribution of profits to Kau' s 
partners in the specific amounts listed for each partner 
on exhibit A of Kau' s motion ( sometimes referred to 
as the preliminary distribution). 

In May 1988, Kau also filed a motion to dismiss 
its bankruptcy proceedings. Thereafter, in an order 
dated July 29, 1988, the bankruptcy court found that 
all ofKau creditors (pre-petition and post-petition) had 
been paid and granted Kau' s motion to dismiss. Then, 
in an order dated August 31, 1988, the bankruptcy 
court formally closed Kau 's bankruptcy proceeding. 

On July 27, 1988, respondent apprised each 
limited partner by letter that the bankruptcy court had 

issues are raised in this case pertaining to this initial distribution, 
we do not discuss it further. 
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( 1) granted Kau' s motion to dismiss its bankruptcy 
proceedings and (2) authorized him to disburse funds 
to each partner inaccordancewith the specific amounts 
1 isted for each partner on exhibit A to Kau' s motion. 

Even though the bankruptcy court order did not 
authorize him to do so, respondent conditioned this 
disbursement of funds to each of the partners on their 
executing a warranty, indemnification and release 
(release or release form). Specifically, respondent 
stated in the July 27, 1988 letter to each of Kau's 
partners that he "shall make distribution to you as set 
forth in Exhibit A of the Motion ( copy enclosed), 
PROVIDED you first sign and return the enclosed 
[release]." The release respondent enclosed in his 
letter to the limited partners, among other things, 
absolved respondent personally from any claims aris­
ing from his stewardship ofKau' saffairs. Respondent 
further stated in his July 27, 1988 letter that, if the 
limited partner did not sign and return the release, he 
or she should inform respondent ofthe claims against 
him, "in which case individual distributions shall be 
withheld until final resolution of any dispute." 

Almost all· of the limited partners signed and 
returned the release and received their monies. Two 
exceptions were Ashjian and the Estate of Elinor 
Mayer Bryden, Decedent (the Bryden Estate). These 
two limited partners refused to execute the release, 
arguing it was improper for respondent to request that 
they execute a release before disbursement of their 
money. However, neither of these two limited partners 
informed respondentthat they had any claims against 
him. 

In 1989, the probate court allowed the executor 
of the Bryden Estate to execute the release if additional 
language was included in the release,5 and the Bryden 
Estate thereafter received its portion of the court 
authorized preliminary distribution in the sum of 
$209,460. Ashjian insisted on a mutual release, but 
respondent refused to accept it, and to date, Ashjian 

5. The additional language to be included in the warranty was set 
forth in the probate court's order as follows: "'Notwithstanding 
the foregoing it is understood and agreed that the Release shall 
not include or prevent any claims the undersigned Estate of 
ELINOR MA YER BRYDEN may have concerning or with 
respect to any future partnership distributions."' 
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has still not received his portion of the preliminary 
distribution in the sum of $20,946, which included 
$5,156 for a return ofcapital and$! 5,790 for his share 
of the profit distribution. In August 1988, Ashjian 
signed the requested release without any modification 
on its face, but his attorney stated, in the cover letter 
accompanying the release, that the release was, in 
effect, mutual. Respondent refused to accept this 
release or disburse the $20,946 to Ashjian. 

Thepreliminarydistributionin 1988, which was 
made to all general and limited partners exceptAshjian, 
left Kau with an undistributed cash balance of at least 
$332,055, in which sum the limited partners had a 60 
percent interest and the general partner, i.e., respon­
dent, had a 40 percent interest.6 Respondent represented 
that he was holding this cash balance as a reserve to 
meet any contingent liabilities and obligations of the 
partnership. 

The Final Distribution 

In September 1989, respondent informed the Kau 
1 imited partners by letter that a lawsuit had been filed 
against CitiSavings& Loan(CitiSavings )and its attor­
neys on behalfofKau; CharlesMcCarthy, individually; 
Leon Daniell, individually; and Larry Lopez, individu­
ally, for treble compensatory damages and punitive 
damages for bad faith dealings with the plaintiffs. Kau 
sought over $41,000,000 in damages. After several 
weeks of trial in 1990, the court dismissed the matter 
when the Resolution Trust Corporation ( federal regu­
lators) took overCi ti Savings. However, the p \aintiffs' 
cause of action against the attorneys for CitiSavings 
survived, and it settled for $1,000,000 in November 
1992. 

On March 30, 1993, respondent informed the 
Kau partners by letterthatthe CitiSavings attorneys' 
lawsuit had settled in November 1992. Kau' sshare of 
the settlement was $300,000, less $57,237.50, which 
was Kau' s one-third share of the litigation cost, less 

6. Because respondent did not make the $20,946distribution to 
Ashj ian in accordance with the bankruptcy court 's June 9, 1988 
order, this amount should havcbeen$353,00I ($332,055 plus 
$20,946). 
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approximately $95,000, a repayment to respondent for 
litigation costs advanced by respondent for about two 
years, and less $30,000 to be paid to respondent as 
compensation for making the $95,000 "non-recourse" 
advance on Kau' s behalf. Respondent also infonned 
the partners that $100,000 was paid to co-plaintiff 
Larry Lopez, but respondent's letter was silent as to the 
distribution of the balance of the $600,000. We assume 
that$300,000 was paid to Leon Danie!F and $300,000 
was paid to respondent, as they were represented to be 
plaintiffs, individually, sharing equally in the recovery 
proceeds and in the litigation costs. Finally, respondent 
stated that he was distributing $80,000 from the net 
proceeds to the partners as the final distribution but 
gave no further explanation of how he arrived at this 
amount of then et proceeds. Respondent made the final 
distribution in early 1993, and Ash j ian received $480 
as his proportionate share of the final distribution, 
without the requirement of a release. 

Asf/jian 's Collection Attempts 

After the preliminary distribution ofKau funds in 
1988, Ashj ian continued to demand his $20,946 share 
of those funds, and respondent continued to refuse to 
deliver the funds unless Ashjian signed the unamended 
release form. Ashjian received IRS Schedule K-1 
forms (K-1 form), entitled "Partner's Share of In­
come, Credits, Deductions, etc.," throughout the life 
of the partnership. In I 995, the K-1 form he received 
showed $22,258 in his partnership capital account. For 
theyear 1996,however,hisK-1 formshowed$22,258 
in his capital account at the beginning of the year and 
nothing in his capital account at the end of the year. 

In 1994, Ashjian filed a complaint in the Los 
Angeles Municipal Court for breach of contract and 
common counts against Kau, respondent in his indi­
vidual capacity, and respondent's wife in her individual 
capacity. Said matter was ordered to arbitration, and 

7. Leon Daniell and Larry Lopez were others with whom 
respondent was attempting to develop the Kau property. 

8. Code of Civil Procedure section 1287.4 provides: "If an 
[arbitration} award isconfinned,judgment shall be entered in 
confonnity therewith. The judgment so entered has the same 
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the arbitrator awarded Ashjian damages from Kau and 
from respondent in the amount of $20,946, plus 
interest in the amount of $10,660.22, for a total of 
$31,606.22. The arbitrator found that there was a 
fiduciary relationship between respondent as the gen­
eral partner and Ash j ian as a limited partner ofKau and 
that respondent did not have the discretion or right to 
require Ashjian to sign a release as a precondition to 
receiving his share of partnership profits. The arbitra­
tor further found that respondent was under a 
continuing obligation to hold Ashj ian' s share of funds 
in trust and to tum them over to Ashjian. He also found 
that the K-1 form provided to Ashjian in 1994 consti­
tuted an acknowledgmentofindebtednessand obviated 
the statute oflimitations issue proffered by respondent. 
The award was subsequently confirmed as a municipal 
courtjudgment8 onDecember 19, 1995. Thereafter, 
Ashjian levied on a bank account of respondent and 
collected $4,113.28. All other attempts to collect on the 
judgment were and remain unsuccessful. 

On May 21, 1996, respondent filed a voluntary 
petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the 
Central District of California. In this petition, respon­
dent soughtto have personal debts, including Ash j ian' s 
municipal court judgment against him, discharged 
under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code (11 U.S.C. 
§ 701 et seq.). 

On August 22, 1996, Ashjian initiated an 
adversarial proceeding in respondent's personal bank­
ruptcyto determine, as relevant here, the dischargeability 
ofhis municipal court judgment against respondent. In 
amemorandumofdecisionfiledonJuly29, 1997, the 
bankruptcy court found, among other things, that 
Ashjian' s municipal court judgment against respon­
dent was nondischargeable under the Bankruptcy 
Code. Specifically, the court found the municipal court 
judgment nondischargeable under 11 United States 
Code section 523( a)( 4) because it is based on a debt 

force and effect as, and is subject to all the provisions of law 
relating to, a judgment in a civil action of the same jurisdictional 
classification; and it may be enforced like any other judgment of 
the court in which it is entered, in an action of the same 
jurisdictional classification." 
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that arose from a defalcation while respondent was 
acting in a fiduciary capacity. 9 ln light ofits findingthat 
Ashjian' sjudgment was nondischargeable, the bank­
ruptcy court entered judgment in favor of Ashjian for 
$27,493.22, which was the uncollected balance re­
maining on Ashjian 's municipal court judgment of 
$31,606.22 after Ashjian recovered $4,113.28 by 
levying on respondent's bank account. The bank­
ruptcy court also awarded Ash j ian prejudgment and 
postjudgment interest thereon in accordance with 
federal law. 

Respondent testified in the hearing department 
that the Kau partnership was dissolved in 1996 upon 
his filing for bankruptcy, as perthe partnership agree­
ment. However, we note that according to both the 
partnership agreement and the certificate of limited 
partnership, the partnership was dissolved when it sold 
the remaining 1,000 acres ofitsoriginal 1,400 acres of 
land in Hawaii under the bankruptcy court's authori­
zation in 1988. 

Settlement Discussions as to the Bankruptcy 
Adversary Proceeding 

During the pend ency of respondent's personal 
bankruptcy, respondent and Ashj ian engaged in nego­
tiations regarding a possible settlement of Ashj ian' s 
adversarial proceeding. On March 7, 1997, James R. 
Felton, attorney for respondent, directed a fax and a 
letter to Ashjian confirming their settlement in the 
matter. (That letter was admitted into evidence in this 
proceeding as exhibit 20.)In the letter, Felton stated to 
Ashj ian that his client (respondent) "has agreed to pay 
you the sum of $25,000.00 in full and complete 
settlement .... " Payment was to have been made 
approximately two weeks later. That letter further 
stated thatAshj ian was to execute a full release of any 
and all claims against respondent and contact the State 

9. Because under California law partners are trustees (1) for 
each other (Leff v. Gunter( 1983) 33 Cal.3d 508,514) and (2) 
over the assets of the partnership (Ragsdale v. Haller (9th Cir. 
1986) 780 F.2d 794, 796), partners are fiduciaries forpurposcs 
of determining the dischargeability of a debt under 11 United 
States Code section 523( a)( 4) (Ragsdale v. Haller, supra, 780 
F.2d at pp. 796-797). Moreover, in the Ninth circuit, defalcation 
under section 523(a)(4) "'includes the innocent default of a 
fiduciary who fails to account fully for money received.' 
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Bar to withdraw any claims, i.e., complaints, he had 
made. Felton further stated in his letter that a settlement 
agreement and mutual general release would be for­
warded to Ashjian. Felton sentAshjian a second fax 
and lettermodifyingthe agreement later that same day. 
(That letter was admitted into evidence in this proceed­
ing as exhibit 12.) This second letter specified that 
payment of$25,000 was to be made to Ashjian on or 
before March 20, 1997, and that the mutual general 
release would be signed by Ashjian, respondent, and 
respondent's wife.Felton ex.plained the two letters in 
his letter to the StateBardatedMarch25, 1997: "The 
first letter, faxed to [Ashjian] at approximately 9: 15 
a. m. that day, confirms my understanding of the tenns 
of the settlement. The second letter, faxed to him at 
approximately 10:03 a.m., confirms our telephone 
conversation and the two changes that he requested 
and that Mr. McCarthy agreed to regarding the settle­
ment."10 

Hearing Judge's Determination of Culpability 

Based on the above, the hearing judge found 
respondent culpable of misappropriating Ashjian's 
share of the preliminary distribution, which mi sappro­
priation constituted conduct involving moral turpitude 
and therefore violated section 61 06. She further found 
respondent culpable of conditioning the civil settle­
ment agreement upon the withdrawal from the State 
Bar of a disciplinary complaint in violation of section· 
6090.5, subdivision (a)(2). 

II. DISCUSSION 

In this case, we must determine whetherrespon­
dent is subject to discipline ( 1) for breaching his 
fiduciary duty and misappropriating funds to which 
Ashj ian was entitled, thereby committing an act involv­
ing moral turpitude, and (2) for seeking or agreeing to 

[Citations.] ... An individual may be liable for defalcation 
witbout having the intent to defraud." (Lewis v. Scott (In re 
Lewis) (9th Cir. 1996) 97 F .Jd 1182. 1186-1187, fn. omitted; 
F.D.I.C. v. Jackson (9th Cir. 1998) 133 F.3d 694. 704.) 

IO. The record does not reveal the reason for the failure of this 
settlement. Such failure appears particularly inexplicable in 
view of respondent's agreement to a mutual release, which 
Ashjian had earlier offered hut respondent had rejected. 
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Ashj ian 's withdrawal ofhiscomplaintto the State Bar 
as a condition of a settlement agreement as outlined in 
attorney Felton' s March 7, 1997 faxes and letters to 
Ashjian. 

Culpability as to Count One 

(la) It is well established, contrary to respondent's 
position, that respondent, as a general partner, owed 
to Ashjian, a limited partner, fiduciary obligations, 
including the duty of good faith and fair dealing 
(Wortham & Van Liew v. Superior Court (1987) 188 
Cal.AppJd 927, 932) and that respondent was not 
permitted to take unfair advantage (Cagnolatti v .. 
Guinn ( 19 83) 140 Cal.App.3 d 42, 48). "Partnership is 
a fiduciary relationship, and partners are held to the 
standards and duties ofa trustee in their dealings with 
each other." (BT-Iv. Equitable Life Assurance Soci­
ety (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 1406, 1410.) With respect 
to Ash jian' s share of the distribution funds, at the time 
such funds were distributed among the other Kau 
partners, respondenthad a fiduciary duty to safeguard 
the money to whichAshjian was entitled. "An attorney 
who accepts the responsibility of a fiduciary nature is 
held to the high standards of the legal profession 
whether or not he acts in his capacity of an attorney. 
He must maintain proper books of account and records 
of transactions, and he may not commingle client's 
fundsoruse them for personal purposes. [Citations.]" 
(Worth v. State Bar (1976) 17 Cal.3d 337, 341.) 
Further, "[w]hen an attorney assumes a fiduciary 
relationship and violates his duty in a manner that 
would justify disciplinary action if the relationship had 
been that of attorney and client, he may properly be 
disciplined for his misconduct. [Citations.]" ( Clarkv. 
State Bar (1952) 39 Cal.2d 161, 166; Lewis v. State 
Bar (1973) 9 Cal.3d 704, 713; In the Matier of 
Hultman (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State-Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 297,307 .) Thus, respondent is subject to disci­
pline if he misappropriated Ashjian's share of the 
distribution funds or breached his fiduciary duty by 
failingtodistribute funds towhichAshjian was entitled. 

Respondent argues that he is absolved of any 
wrongdoing because his action is supported by Corpo­
rations Code section 15 684, regarding distribution of 
assets, which indicates that creditors shall be paid first. 
However, that section is part of the California Revised 
Limited Partnership Act, operative July 1, 1984, and 
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that statutory scheme is inapplicable to the Kau 
partnership. Instead, the provisions of the Uniform 
Limited Partnership Act apply to Kau. Corporations 
Code section 15523, part of the latter act, provides as 
relevant regardingthe distribution of partnership assets 
as follows:"( I )In settling accounts after dissolution the 
liabilities of the partnership shall be entitled to payment 
in the following order: [m (a) Those to creditors, in the 
order of priority as provided by law, except those to 
limited partners on account of their contributions, and 
to general partners, [,r:J (b) Those to limited partners in 
respect to their share of the profits and other compen­
sation byway of income on their contributions, [,r:J ( c) 
Those to limited partners in respect to the capital of 
their contributions, [m ( d) Those to general partners 
other than for capital and profits, [ii] ( e) Those to 
general partners in respect to profits, [ii] (f) Those to 
general partners in respect to capital." 

Moreover, the partnership agreement provides, 
as relevant, that among partners,"[ d]istributions when 
made ... shall be made as hereinafter provided. [11 A 
sum equal to the total of all capital contributions made 
by the Regular Limited Partners, without interest 
thereon, shall be paid to them, out of_the first cash 
available for distribution, in the same proportions to 
which they made such contributions .... There shal I 
be no disbursement of cash to the General Partners, or 
to the Special Limited Partner, until all Regular Limited 
Partners and/or their successor(s) in interest, have 
been paid sums equal to the total of all their capital 
contributions as hereinabove provided." 

(lb] Thus, the applicable statute, as well as the 
provisions of the partnership agreement, provide that 
limited partners are to receive their capital contribu­
tions before a general partner receives a share of the 
profits. In addition, the statute provides that limited 
partners are to receive both capital contributions and 
profits before a general partner receives profits. Here, 
contrary to the applicable statute and the partnership 
agreement, respondent received his share of profits in 
two different distributions without having first distrib­
uted to Ashjian his capital contribution and share of 
profits.We therefore concludethatrespondent breached 
his fiduciary duty to Ashjian. 

(le] We additionally determine that the evidence 
establishes that respondent misappropriated funds 
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which Ashj ian was entitled to receive. In Edwards v. 
State Bar (1990) 52 Cal.3d 28, 36-3 7, misappropria­
tion was found based on evidence that the attorney 
withdrew a client's funds from his trust account and 
spent such funds for his own benefit without his client's 
authorization. In Baca v. State Bar ( I 990) 52 Cal.3d 
294, 304, the court held that "an attorney's failure to 
use entrusted funds for the purpose for which they 
were entrusted constitutes misappropriation. [Cita­
tion.]" In Brody v. State Bar (1974) 11 Cal.3d 347, 
349-3 5 0, the attorney was found culpable ofcommin­
gling client funds with his own and misappropriating 
client funds to his own use. The attorney argued that 
due to an inadvertent mathematical error, he had been 
unaware of any financial obligation to his client, and 
therefore he was not culpable of willful misappropria­
tion. (Id. at p. 350.) The Supreme Court found, 
however, that evidence of Brody's persistent refusal 
to account to his client in the face ofrepeated demands 
to do so justified the finding ofwillful misappropria­
tion. (Ibid.) 

In each of the above cases, the conclusion that 
misappropriation occurred was based upon a finding 
that the attorney utilized client funds for his own use. 
In the present case, aswe will discuss, we conclude ( l) 
that Ashjian was entitled to receive his share of the 
preliminary distribution funds, whether or not he was 
entitled to receive them at the time of the preliminary 
distribution in 1988, and (2) that respondent commit~ 
ted a misappropriation by taking Ash j ian' s share of 
those funds for his own use. 

The record reflects that in 1988, when the prelimi­
nary distribution was announced by the general partner 
and aJl limited partners were informed of their respec­
tive shares of the distribution, each partner's share was 
earmarked and recorded in an individual account. Th.e 

11. Fretz v. Burke (1967) 247 Cal.App.2d 741, discussed the 
propriety ofagenera! partner holding certain limited partners' 
share of profits in a suspense ace uun t, al though distribution of 
profits had been made to other limited partners. A preliminary 
injunction was obtained by the limited partners requiring the 
general partner to disburse their share of profits to them. In 
holding the injunction to be proper, the appellate court held(]) 
that the injunction "simply directs that the part which belongs 
to [the limited partners J shall be paid to them now, and shall not 
be held by [the general partner] in suspense;" (2) that the 
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recotd additionally reflects that respondent, as general 
partner, took his portion of the preliminary distribution 
of profits ofover $1 million dollars without having paid 
Ashjian his $20,946 share. 

[ld) Even assuming, without deciding, that re~ 
spondentwas entitled to retain Ashj ian' s share of funds 
at the time of the preliminary distribution in 1988 
because Ashjian did not execute the release which 
respondent requested, then at the very least, respon­
dent was required to disburse to Ashjian his $20,946 
share of the preliminary distribution no later than early 
1993, when respondent made the final distribution. At 
that time, respondent disbursed all remaining partner­
ship fundswithout requiring anyre lease, andhe should 
therefore have been able to release all of the funds to 
which Ashjian was entitled at that time. Instead, 
respondent disbursed to Ashj ian only his $480 share of 
the final distribution and still took his own $22,400 
share ofthefinal distribution. Because respondent was 
not entitled to take his share of the final distribution 
before paying Ashjian his capital contribution and 
profits, respondent effectivelytookAshj ian' s $20,946 
share of the preliminary distribution for his own use no 
later than this time.11 

(le] However, we need not and do not decide in 
this case whether the funds which respondent took 
belonged to Ashjian or to Kau, as it is clear that 
respondent took funds he did not own and to which 
Ash jian was entitled. Because the evidence establishes 
that respondent took his share of the final distribution 
without ever having paid Ashjian his share of the 
preliminary distribution, we cone lude that atthe time 
of the final disbursement, at the very latest, respondent 
was culpable of willfully misappropriating funds to 
whichAshjianwasentitled. 

injunction "merely prevents [the general partner] from putting 
funds which belong to [the limited partners] into a suspense 
account, purportedly as security for possible costs, a security 
which the law does not allow him;" and {3) that the injunction 
corrected "an overbearing assumption by [ the general partner J 
of superiority and domination over the r-ights and property of 
[the limited partners]." (Id. at pp. 745-7 46, italics added.) We 
look to Fr-etzv. Burke, supra, only as support forour conclusion 
that, regardless of who owned thefunds,Ashjian was entitled to 
receive them. 
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To support his assertion that he was entitled to 
take his share of the preliminary distribution before 
disbursingAshjian's share, in his reply brief respon­
dentpoints to the provision of the partnership agreement 
that allows the general partners ad i sbursement of SO 
percent of their portion of the cash and25 percent of 
their portion of the capital gain income for federal 
income tax purposes.1 z However, there is no evidence 
that respondent, as general partner, received only SO 
percent of the cash and 25 percent of the capital gain 
income and only for income tax purposes. Instead, as 
indicated, the evidence shows that respondent re­
ceived his portion of the preliminary distribution but 
did not disburse to Ashj ian his portion of this distribu­
tion at any time. 

[ 1 f] Notwithstanding respondent' sassertion, noted 
above, that he simply used Ashjian's share of the 
preliminary distribution to pay creditors first, as re­
quired under the Corporations Code, respondent has 
nevertheless failed to explain why he took his own 
share of the preliminary and final distribution before 
disbursingAshjian's share of the preliminary distribu­
tion. In arguing the propriety of paying creditors of the 
partnership, respondent misses the point. As dis­
cussed, respondent was not entitled to take his share 
of partnership profits until after Ash j ian had been paid, 
and by taking his share of distribution funds first, 
respondent used Ashj ian' s share to pay himself. This 
payment to respondent prior to payment to Ashjian 
constituted a misappropriation of Ashj ian' s share of 
distribution funds. 

Respondent relies on Wyler v. Feuer (1978) 85 
Cal. App.3d 392, 402-403; Wallner v. Parry Profes­
sional Bldg., Ltd. ( 1994) 22 Cal.App.4th 1446, 1451, 
fn. 6; and Baldwin v. Marina City Properties, Inc. 
(1978) 79 Cal.App.3d 393,411, to supporthisposition 
that requiring the release before distribution was a 
discretionary act made in the exercise of his honest 
business judgment as general partner. However, in 
each of these cases the discussion of a general partner's 

I 2. The partnership agreement provides as relevant: "If prior to 
payment of the Regular Limited Partners, of sums equal to the 
full amounts oftheircontributions to capital, ordinary income or 
capital gain income, as dd:ined for federal income tax purposes, 
is attributable to the General Pa11ners and Special Limited 
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exercise of business judgment pertained to the general 
partner's liability for business losses sustained in 
managing the partnership's businesses. In the present 
case, we are not concerned with respondent's manage­
ment of the partnership and partnership funds. Rather, 
this case involves respondent's ethical duties as an 
attorney when acting as a general partner and payment 
to himselfoffunds which, at least at the time of the final 
distribution, a limited partner was entitled to receive. 
Moreover, respondent's decision to require the limited 
partners to execute a release as a condition of distribu­
tion was not a decision made purely in the exercise of 
his honest business judgment in managing the partner­
ship. Instead, the release was intended to exonerate 
respondent personally, not just the partnership, from 
all liabilities. Therefore, respondent cannot escape 
responsibility by claiming he was simply carrying on 
the business of the partnership when he sought to 
condition the preliminary distribution on the execution 
of the releases by the limited partners. 

We also conclude that this willful misappropria­
tion and violation of respondent's fiduciary duties to 
Ashjian involved moral turpitude. In Johnstone v. 
State Bar (1966) 64 Cal.2d 153, the Supreme Court 
found moral turpitude under similar circumstances. 
There, Johnstone negotiated a $3,000 settlement for 
personal injuries his client suffered in an industrial 
accident. As part of the settlement, Industrial Indem­
nity Company(Industrial) agreed to accept $1,000 of 
the $3,000 settlement funds from the third-party 
tortfeasor in place ofits workers' compensation ben• 
efit lien in the amount of $4,945.57. (Id. at pp. 
154-155.) After Johnstone deposited the settlement 
funds in his trust account, he delivered to Industrial a 
$ L, 000 check drawn on his trust account, but the check 
was returned by the bank for insufficient funds. 
Johnstone never paid l ndustrial the money to which it 
was entitled. (Id. at p. 155.) The Supreme Court 
determined that Johnstone held the money in trust for 
Industrial, that Johnstone breached that trust by failing 
to pay such money to Industrial and instead taking the 

Partner as of the end of any tax year, then notwithstanding the 
foregoing, General Partners and Special Limited Partner shall 
be entitled to a disbursement of cash equal to 50% of any such 
ordinary income and 25% ofany such capital gain income, less 
50% of any cummulative [sic] loss attributable to them." 
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money for his own use, and that such breach was an 
act involving moral turpitude: "The wilful violation of 
[the] trust herein, as found by the [State Bar], clearly 
constitutes an act involving moral turpitude and dis­
honesty within the meaning of section 6106 of the 
Business and Professions Code, as that section has 
been applied even in the absence of an attorney-client 
relationship." (Id. at p. 156, fn. omitted.) 

[2} Similarly, respondent's misappropriation of 
Ashjian' s share of the distribution funds in this case, 
which act was also a breach of respondent's fiduciary 
duties to Ashj ian, constituted an act involving moral 
turpitude. In sum, upon our independent review, we 
conclude that the State Bar has proved respondent 
culpable of violating of section 6106 by clear and 
convincing evidence. 

Respondent's Contentions on Review 
as to Count One13 

Motion to Dismiss Count One 

In his opening brief on review, respondent asserts 
that the hearingj udge erred in denying his motion to 
dismiss count one of the NDC and argues that the 
review department should now correct that error by 
dismissing count one. In requesting such dismissal, 
respondent repeats his arguments that: ( l) the NDC 
failed to allege specific facts in support of the charge 
set forth in count one; (2) respondent was entitled to 
rely upon a probate court order approving of 
respondent's requirementthatthe Kau limited partners 
sign a release prior to receiving their respective shares 
of the preliminary distribution; (3 )the NOC relied upon 
an underlying municipal courtjudgmentthatisvoid; 
and ( 4) the NDC was barred by the applicable period 
oflimitations. 

Respondent brought his motion to dismiss under 
rule 262( c) and ( d ). Rule 262( c )( 1) provides as rel• 
evant that "[a] proceeding may be dismissed ... for 
failure of the initial pleading to state a discip\inable 
offense, ... "Rule 262( d) provides that"[ a] proceed• 

13. We address respondent' sprincipal points ofcrroron review. 
Any points of error or supporting arguments that are not 
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ingmay be dismissed on the ground that it is barred by 
any applicable statute or rule." 

[3a] As previously indicated, all of respondent's 
arguments set forth in the motion to dismiss, except the 
argument based on the period of limitations, were 
encompassed within his contention that the NDC was 
defective because it failed to state a disciplinable 
offense. In reviewing such a contention, "we treat the 
factual allegations of the notice as true, but draw our 
own independent conclusions regarding the legal im­
port of those facts. [Citations.]" (In the MatterofTady 
(Review Dept. 1992)2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 12 l, 
124.) "Both at hearing and on review, the court 
considering a motion to dismiss of this type should 
disregard all factual matters outside the ambit of the 
notice ... , since the purpose of the motion is to test 
the sufficiency of the notice, not to contest the 
charges. [Citation.] However,judicially noticeable 
facts outside the scope of the notice are an exception 
to this rule, and are cognizable. [Citations.]" (Ibid., 
italics added.) 

[3b} Respondent never explained, and we fail to 
understand, how the probate court order and the 
municipal court judgment result in the failure of the 
NDC to state a di sci p linable offense. In making these 
arguments, rather than presenting grounds for dis• 
missal as a result of the insufficiency of count one, 
respondent is contesting the substance of the charges 
and apparently requesting a sort of pretrial summary 
judgment. (See Code Civ. Proc.,§ 437c.) However, 
no such procedure is available in State Bar disciplinary 
proceedings. "Assuming the notice . . . properly 
charges a disciplinable offense, the appropriate time 
for respondent to present evidence in defense or 
mitigation [is] at the hearing on the merits .... " ( In the 
Matter oJTady, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 
125.) We therefore conclude that respondent's asser· 
tions as to these matters did not warrant pretrial 
dismissal. 

As to the general question of whether count one 
states adisciplinable offense, we note that respondent 

expressly addressed in this opinion have heen considered and 
rejected. 
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was charged in that countwith violating section 6 ! 06. 
That section provides in relevant part that "[t]he 
commission of any act involving moral turpitude, 
dishonesty or corruption, whether the act is committed 
in the course of his relations as an attorney or other­
wise, and whether the act is a felony or misdemeanor 
or not, constitutes a cause for disbarment or suspen­
sion." Respondent was specifically charged with 
violating section 6106 by misappropriating funds to 
whichAshjian was entitled. Moreover, as noted above 
in footnote 3, we conclude that the NDC adequately 
charged respondent with violating his fiduciary duties 
toAshjian. 

We have already discussed that respondent, as a 
general partner, had a fiduciary duty to Ashjian and 
was statutorily required, upon the dissolution of the 
partnership, to pay Ashj ian his share of capital contri­
butions and partnership profits before respondenttook 
his own share of profits. (Wortham & Van Liew v. 
Superior Court, supra, 188 Cal.App.Jd at p. 932; 
Corp. Code,§ 15523.) As we have also discussed, 
respondent, having accepted fiduciaryresponsibilities, 
"is still held to the same fiduciary duties ... as if there 
were an attorney-client relationship. [Citations.]" (In 
the Matter of Lilly (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 185, 191.) A breach of such fiduciary 
responsibilities can constitute an act involving moral 
turpitude where such breach involves more than 
simple negligence. (Ibid; In the Matter of Hagen 
(Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 153, 
169.) 

As to the charge that respondent misappropriated 
funds, the tenns "misappropriation" and "willful mis­
appropriation" are often used interchangeably, and 
neither of them appear in either the Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct or the State Bar Act. These tenns are 
defined by many court decisions, as we have discussed 
ante, which have held that the teITTJs cover a wide range 

14. [4] In some respects respondent's arguments in both the 
motion to dismiss and his opening brief on review appear to 
involve arguments regarding insufficient notice of the charge set 
forth in count one. To the extent that respondent attempts to 
make such an assertion, however, such assertion was required 
to be made "no later than the date on which the moving party's 
response isto be filed, or, ifno response is provided for, no later 
than twenty (20) days after the service of the initial pleading." 
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of conduct involving the conversion of client or other 
trust funds. (See Edwards v. State Bar, supra, 52 
Cal.3d atp. 38.) When an attorney's misappropriation 
involves at least gross carelessness or gross negligence, 
the misappropriation involves moral turpitude. (Lipson 
v. State Bar (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1010, 1020-1021.) 
Moreover, "'[t]hefactthatthebalanceinanattorney's 
trust account has fallen below the amount due his client 
will support a finding of wilful misappropriation.' 
[Citation.]" (id. at p. 1020.) 

[3c] In summary, count one of the NDC alleged 
that respondent, as general partner of Kau having a 
fiduciary duty to Ashjian, a limited partner, made 
preliminary distributions of partnership profits in July 
1988; that Ashj ian' s share of this preliminary distribu­
tion was $20,946; and that because Ashjian refused to 
sign the release ofliability which respondent requested 
prior to making the preliminary distribution, respon­
dent refused to disburse Ashjian' s share. Count one 
further alleged that despite Ashj ian' s repeated requests 
for the funds, respondent never released the funds to 
Ashj ian and informedAshj ian in or aboutJanuruy 1997 
that he no longer had the funds. These allegations were 
sufficient to state a disciplinary offense: by failing to 
distribute to Ashjian his share of the preliminary 
distribution funds, respondent breached his fiduciary 
duty to Ashj ian and misappropriated funds to which 
Ashj ian was entitled, and such conduct constituted an 
act of moral turpitude.14 [4 - see fn. 14] 

[Sa} As to the assertion that the NDC was barred 
by the applicable period of limitations, respondent 
relies upon rule 51 ( a). Thatrule provides: "A disciplin­
ary proceeding based solelyonacomplainant' sallegation 
of a violation of the State Bar Act or Rules of 
Professional Conduct shall be initiated within five 
years from the date of the alleged violation." Rule 51 (b) 
goes on to provide: "For purposes of paragraph ( a) of 
the rule, a violation of the State Bar Act or the Rules 

(Rule 262( c )(2).) Because respondent's motion to dismiss was 
filed later than the date his response to the NOC was due, 
however, the assertion was waived as a basis for dismissal of the 
charge in count one. (Rule 262(c)(2) ["Failure to file a timely 
motion under this subparagraph shall preclude the party from a 
later assertion of the alleged inadequate notice of the charges as 
a ground for dismissal of the proceeding .... "].) 
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of Professional Conduct is deemed to have been 
committed when every element of the alleged violation 
has occurred, except where the alleged violation is a 
continuing offense, in which case the violation is 
deemed to have been committed at the termination of 
theentirecourseofconduct." Moreover,rule 51( c )( 4) 
provides that the five-year limitations period in rule 
Sl(a) is tolled during the time that "[t]he member 
conceals facts constituting the violation." The State 
Bar does not dispute, and we agree, that rule 51 (a) 
applies in this case. The State Bar argues, however, 
that the five-year limitations period was tolled for 
various reasons. 

[ 5b] We need not address each of the reasons for 
tolling advanced by the State Bar. As already indicated, 
in reviewing a pretrial motion to dismiss, we treat the 
factual allegations of the NDC as true. (In the Matter 
ofTady, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 124.) 
According to these allegations, respondent did not 
inform Ashj ian thatAshjian 's share of the preliminary 
distribution funds was gone until approximately Janu­
ary 1997. U nderthese facts, either the funds were not 
gone, and therefore the charged breach of fiduciary 
dutyandmisappropriationdidnotoccur,orcontinued, 
until that date, or respondent concealed the breach of 
fiduciary duty and misappropriation until that date. 
Either way, under rule 51, the five-year limitations 
period did not commence to run until that date. 
Therefore, the NDC, filed on November 24, 1999, was 
timely. 

Respondent's argument that the NDC was un­
timely is based upon his incorrect assertion that the 
moral turpitude charge arose from respondent's al­
leged breach offiduciary duty occurring in 1988, when 
respondent initially refused to distribute Ashjian's 
funds until Ashjian signed the release.15 However, 
while the NDC refers to the 1988 date, the NDC 
specifies that the moral turpitude charge is based upon 
respondent's breach of fiduciary duty and misappro­
priation resulting not only from his initial failure, but 

15. We nore additionally that in his opening brief, respondent 
erroneously relics upon his trial testimony in arguing that 
Ashjian's funds were "exhausted as of early 1993" and that 
therefore the charged breach of fiduciary duty and misappro­
priation occurred more than five years before the NOC was 

IN THE MA TIER OF McCARTHY 
(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 364 

from his ultimate failure to distribute the preliminary 
distribution funds, even after Ashj ian obtained with 
respect to these funds a municipal court j udgmentand 
a bankruptcy court finding ofnondischargeability of 
the judgment. 

Motion to Dismissfor Failure/a Meet Burden of 
Proof 

Respondent next contends that the hearingj udge 
erroneously denied his motion brought pursuantto rule 
219. Rule219(a) provides asrelevantthat"[d]uring a 
trial, after the party with the burden of proofhas rested, 
and before the proceeding is taken under submission 
by the Court, an opposing party may make an oral or 
written motion for a determination that the party with 
the burden of proof has failed to meet that burden .. 
.. " Rule 2 l 9(b) provides that in ruling upon such a 
motion, the court is to "consider all of the evidence 
introduced, weigh the evidence and make detennina­
tions of credibility." We apply a de nova standard of 
reviewtoahearingjudge's ruling on a rule 219 motion. 
That is, "[b ]ased upon our independent review of the 
evidence before the hearing judge at the time the 
motion was made, we must determine whether clear 
and convincing evidence was presented of each ele­
ment of the charged offenses. In deciding these issues, 
we must give great weight to the hearing judge's 
credibility determinations. [Citation.]" (In the Matter 
ojChesnut(2000)4Cal. StateBarCt. Rptr.166, 171.) 

We note briefly that our conclusion regarding 
respondent's culpability as to count one, discussed 
previously, was based upon evidence presented in the 
State Bar's case-in-chief. Thus, the evidence in the 
record at the time respondent made his motion estab­
lished respondent's culpability under count one. 

As to this motion, respondent specifically argues 
in his brief on review with respectto count one that ( 1) 
respondent cannot be found culpable of an act involv­
ing moral turpitude because his actions were based 

filed. However, as indicated, the NDC alleges that the relevant 
breach of fiduciary duty and misappropriation occurred or 
continued after that date, or at least that respondent concealed 
such misconduct until a later date. 
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upon his exercise ofreasonable business judgment; (2) 
theState Bar failed to establish that respondent took 
Kau money and used it for his personal gain; and (3) 
respondent's conduct did not rise to the level of mora I 
turpitude. 

As we discussed in determining culpability, we are 
not concerned with respondent's management of the 
affairs of the partnership but with respondent's ethical 
duties as an attorney acting as a general partner. Thus, 
werej ect respondent's arguments regarding his exer­
cise ofreasonable business judgment. 

We also reject respondent's next argument, that 
the State Bar failed to produce any evidence establish~ 
ingthathetookKaumoneyand used it for his personal 
gain. As we previously discussed in determining 
respondent's culpability as to count one, although 
respondent relies upon Corporations Code section 
15684 to support his use of Ashjian's $20,946 share 
of the prelim ina.ry distribution funds to pay creditors, 
respondent has failed to explain why, at the time of the 
final distribution, when respondent no longer required 
a release, respondent failed to disburse Ashj ian' s share 
of the preliminary distribution but nevertheless took his 
own share of the final distribution. This payment to 
himself, a general partner, prior to payment ofa limited 
partner violated both the applicable Corporations Code 
section and the partnership agreement and constituted 
a breach of fiduciary duty and a misappropriation of 
Ashj ian'sshareofthe fundsforrespondent' sown use. 

In our discussion ofculpability as to count one, we 
have already resolved adversely to respondent his 
assertion that his conduct did not rise to the level of 
moral turpitude. In the cases upon which respondent 
re lies, the attorneys were impliedly found not to have 
acted intentionally or with gross neg! igence, and there­
fore no moral turpitude was involved. Here, as we have 
indicated, we find, consistent with the hearingj udge' s 
finding, that respondent's use of Ashj ian 's share of the 
preliminary distribution funds to benefit himself in­
volved moral turpitude, as it resulted from at least 
grossly negligent conduct. 

Hearing Judge's Culpability Findings After Trial 

Respondent next contends with respect to count 
one that in finding him culpable after trial, the hearing 
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judge erred in ( I ) detenn iningthat the funds eannarked 
for Ashjian atthetime of the preliminary distribution 
became Ashj ian' s funds; (2) determining that respon­
dent breached his fiduciary duty to Ashj ian by requiring 
a release from all limited partners before disbursing 
funds pursuant to the preliminary distribution; (3) 
assuring respondent that his plan for preliminary 
distribution was proper, then concluding otherwise in 
the decision; (4) applying the doctrine of collateral 
estoppel and ignoring the State Bar's heavier burden 
of proof in disciplinary proceedings; (5) refusing to 
consider respondent's defense that he relied upon the 
advice of counsel regardingthe propriety of the release 
and Ash j ian' s refusal to sign it; and ( 6) determining that 
respondent concealed the absence of Ashj ian' s share 
of the preliminary distribution funds by sendingAshjian 
K-1 forms reflecting that his share of the funds were 
available. 

With respect to respondent's first two conten­
tions, upon this independent review, we need not 
detennine whetherthe funds earmarked for Ashj ian at 
thetimeofthepreliminary distribution became Ash j ian 's 
funds or whether respondent breached his fiduciary 
duty to Ashj ian by requiring a release from all limited 
partners before disbursing funds pursuant to the pre­
liminary distribution plan. As we have stated, even 
assuming for the sake of argument that respondent was 
entitled to withhold the funds at the time of the 
preliminary distribution due to Ash j ian' s refusal to sign 
the release, respondent was precluded from receiving 
respondent's share of profits at the time of the final 
distribution, when no release was required for di sbur­
sal of funds, prior to disbursing Ashjian's share of 
distribution funds. Moreover, regardless of whether 
Ashjian or Kau owned the funds earmarked for 
Ashjianatthetimeofthepreliminarydistribution, it is 
clear that respondent did not own the funds, and 
respondent was statutorily requiredto pay the $20,946 
to Ashjian at the time the partnership was dissolved and 
before taking his own share of the final distribution. 
Because respondent paid to himse If funds that should 
have been paid to Ashj ian, respondent breached his 
fiduciary duties to Ashjian and misappropriated the 
funds. 

Moreover, with respect to the hearing judge's 
assurances that respondent's plan for preliminary 
distribution was proper, it appears from the record that 
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the hearingjudge was merely stating that no one was 
challengingrespondent' s decision to preliminarily dis­
tribute funds to the partners, the fairness of the 
amounts distributed, or the way respondent ran the 
partnership in general. Each time the hearing judge 
made these assurances, however, she correctly added 
that the issues being questioned were respondent's 
failure to disburse Ashj ian' s share of the preliminary 
distribution and possibly the requirement of a release 
prior to making this distribution .16 In making each of 
the statements to which respondent refers, the hearing 
judge was appropriately attempting to expedite the trial 
proceedings by excluding evidence which was only 
marginally relevantto the issues raised in this case. (See 
Evid. Code,§ 352; People v. Hart ( 1999) 20 Cal.4th 
546, 607 [ a court has discretion to exclude evidence on 
collateral matters].) We conclude that the hearing 
judge's statements to respondent during trial were 
correct and cannot have misled respondent into believ­
ing he did not need to explain theactionshetookwhich 
are at issue in this case. 

We disagree with respondent's statementthatthe 
"inescapable inference'' from the record is that the 
hearingjudge applied the doctrine of collateral estoppel 
in this case, giving preclus ive effect to the municipal 
court judgment and ignoring the State Bar's heavier 
burden of proof in disciplinary proceedings. Rather, 
because the hearingjudge never stated she was apply­
ing the doctrine of collateral estoppel or indicated in the 
decision that she was in any way bound by the 
municipal court judgment, we decline to interpret her 
statement in the decision as an application of collateral 
estoppel. In such statement, the hearingj udge specifi­
cally ruled that the release requirement was improper 
''in the court's view," and only parenthetically noted 
thatthearbitrator in the municipal court action held the 
same view. We therefore find no error in this respect. 
In any event, we have not applied collateral estoppel 
in our de novo review. 

I 6. As previously indicated, we need not resolve in this case the 
propriety of respondent's requirement ofa rclec1Seat the time of 
the preliminary distribution, since we have concluded that, even 
ifit were proper, respondent could not continue to withhold the 
preliminary distribution fund~ from Ashjian at the time of the 
final distribution, when respondent no longer required any 
release prior to disbursing funds. 
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[6a] Respondent also asserts that the hearing 
judge erroneously refused to consider his defense that 
he relied upon the advice of counsel regarding the 
propriety of the release and Ashjian 's refusal to sign it. 
However, because, as we have discussed, we need not 
decide in this case whether requiring a release at the 
time of the preliminary distribution was appropriate, 
we need not determine whether the hearing judge 
should have allowed respondent's attorney to testify 
regarding this advice to respondent 17 [6b-see fn.17] 

Respondent's final contention in his opening brief 
is that the hearing judge erred in determining that 
respondent concealed the absence of Ashjian' s share 
of the preliminary distribution funds by sendingAshj ian 
K-1 forms reflecting that the funds were available. 
Respondent argues in his reply brief that because ( 1) 
the K-1 form is simply an accounting tool and 
(2) Ashj ian testified that he understood that a capital 
account does not necessarily represent cash, the K-1 
forms could not have misled Ashjian regarding the 
availability of the preliminary distribution funds. 
Respondent's arguments in this respect are essentially 
that, based on the evidence presented at trial, these 
disciplinary proceedings were barred by the period of 
limitations. Aswe previously stated, the hearingjudge 
determined that respondent concealed the breach of 
fiduciary duty and misappropriation until 1996 by 
issuing to Ashjian K-1 tax forms which showed an 
amount equal to Ashjian's share of the preliminary 
distribution funds in Ashjian' s capital account unti I the 
year 1995. The 1996 K-1 fonn showed for the first 
time a zero balance in Ashj ian' s capital account. 

Respondent argues as to this issue that the hearing 
judge's determination set forth above "appears par­
ticularly far fetched and unsupported by any evidence," 
that "this inference from the evidence presented is 
simply not reasonable," and that "the only reasonable 
. . . explanation for the 1996 Kl" is that the 1996 K-1 

17. [6b] We note additionally that the record does not establish 
that respondent made an offer of proof in order to give the 
hearingjudge notice of the substance, purpose, and relevance of 
the proposed testimony. (See Evid. Code, § 3 54.) Accordingly, 
respondent has waived any error. 
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simply reflected "an 'accounting decision' that any 
positive capital accounts would be reduced to zero and 
show an ordinary loss that could be used as a deduc­
tion." However, we disagree with respondent's 
characterization of the hearingjudge 's determination 
and agree with thehearingjudge' s interpretation of the 
evidence. 

Aswefound,AshjianreceivedK-1 forms through­
out the life of the partnership. His 1995 K-1 form 
showed $22,2 S 8 in his partnership capital account, and 
his 1996 K-1 form showed $22,258 in his capital 
account at the beginning of the year but nothing at the 
end of the year. Respondent gave no explanation as to 
why the accountant would continue to send the K-1 
forms through these years and then suddenly show"O" 
at the end of the year in 1996, exceptto say that it was 
a joint decision of respondent and the accountant and 
that it occurred in 1996 because Kau had no further 
assets, and Ashj ian could use the loss as a deduction. 
Respondent testified that Ashjian' s share of the pre­
liminary distribution had remained in the general 
account and thatthe general account had been depleted 
in 1993 for litigation costs, but there is no evidence 
showingthatAshj ian knew of this alleged fact. On May 
11, 1993, respondent's attorney wrote to Ashjian's 
attorney and stated in reference to the settlement of the 
CitiSavings lawsuit: "With the settlement of this law­
suit,all ofthe businessand affairs oftheKau Partnership 
have been completed." Respondent argued earlier in 
his opening brief on review that this statement should 
have alerted Ashj ian at that time that the partnership 
had no assets. Alternatively, respondent argues that 
Ashj ian "was on notice ofhis claim as early as August 
1988" when respondent informed the partners that 
they must sign a release in order to receive their shares 
of the pre! iminary distribution. 

However, we agree with the hearing judge's 
conclusion that in providing the K-1 forms to Ash j ian 
through 1996, respondent concealed from Ashjian the 
availability of funds remaining in Kau and, conse­
quently, respondent's misappropriation of Ashjian' s 
share of the preliminary distribution funds. It is clear 
that on March 30, 1993, there were sufficient funds in 

18. As we previously indicated, respondent testified at the trial in 
this matterthatall partnership funds had been depleted by I 993. 
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the partnership account from the CitiSavings settle­
ment to pay Ashj ian his $20,946, but respondent chose 
to pay himself and the other limited partners, depleting 
all of the funds available to pay Ashjian. 18 We deter­
mine that this concealment of respondent's breach of 
fiduciary duty and misappropriation is the more rea~ 
sonable explanation for additional K-1 forms showing 
funds in Ashj ian' s capital account after the time of the 
final distribution. 

Respondent additionally argues in his reply brief 
that he cannot be found culpable of moral turpitude as 
set forth in count one because he was entitled to rely 
upon a probate court order approving of the require­
ment that the Kau limited partners sign a release prior 
to receiving their respective shares of the preliminary 
distribution. However, because we need not address 
the propriety of the release in this case, we do not 
further address this issue. 

Culpability as to Count Two 

Respondent contends that the State Bar failed to 
prove that he is culpable of conditioning settlement on 
the withdrawal of Ash j ian' s complaint from the State 
Bar, and therefore this charge should be dismissed. He 
argues that he was not in direct contact with Ashjian 
and that his attorney discussed the withdrawal of the 
State Bar complaint without his knowledge. The 
hearingjudge found this to be incredible and found that 
respondent, at the least, ratified his attorney's position 
as to the proposed settlement, since he was more than 
aware of the complaint filed by Ashjian. We give 
substantial weight to the credibility determinations 
made by the hearing judge, who saw and heard the 
parties testify. (Rule 3 OS( a) [ review department gives 
great weight to hearing judge's findings resolving 
issues of credibility]; Frankl in v. State Bar( 19 86) 41 
Cal.3d 700, 708.) 

[7a] Section 6090.5, subdivision (a), provides 
that it is a disciplinable offense for an attomey"to agree 
or seek agreement" that"[ t]he plaintiff shall withdraw 
adisciplinarycomplaint"from the State Bar. While the 
record reflects that respondent's attorney handled the 
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settlement negotiations withAshj ian in the bankruptcy 
adversarial proceeding, respondent acknowledged, 
while testifying attrial in this matter, that he received 
copiesofthelettershisattomeysenttoAshjianandwas 
on notice that one term of the proposed settlement was 
thatAshjian withdraw his State Bar complaint. More­
over, in his letter to the State Bar dated March 25, 
1997, respondent's attorney, Felton, indicated that 
respondent had specifically agreed to the terms of the 
settlement set forth in Felton' s second letter to Ash j ian 
dated March 7, 1997. Although respondent asserted 
during his trial testimony that in his view, the with­
drawal of the State Bar complaint was not a condition 
of the settlement, in his declaration in the bankruptcy 
court dated July 15, 1997, respondent stated that the 
withdrawal of the State Bar complaint was one of the 
terms of settlement. 

[7b] Respondent asserts that his attorney had no 
authority to discuss the withdrawal of Ashjian' s State 
Bar complaint and that he never ratified his attorney's 
unauthorized settlement negotiations. First,however, 
as we noted above, Felton's letter to the State Bar 
indicates that respondent himself agreed to all terms of 
the settlement, including the tenn that Ashjian with­
draw his complaint to the State Bar. Second, "[a]s a 
general proposition ... 'the client as principal is bound 
by the acts of the attorney-agent within the scope of 
. . . his apparent or ostensible authority . . . . ' 
[Citations.]" (Blanton v. Womancare, Inc. ( 1985) 3 8 
Cal.3d 396, 403.) Ostensible authority can include 
"such authority as the principal, either intentionally or 
by want of ordinary care, causes or allows a third 
person to believe the agent possesses. [Citations.]" (2 
Witkin,SummaryofCal. Law(9thed.1987)Agency 
and Employment, § 93, p. 92, original italics; Thomp­
son v. Occidental Life Ins. Co. (1973) 9 Cal.3d 904, 
913-914.) Here, respondent admitted at trial that upon 
receiving notice that his attorney haddiscussedAshj ian' s 
withdrawal ofhis complaint to the State Bar, respon­
dent did nothing to infonneitherhiscounselor Ashjian 
that his counsel lacked authority to discuss such a 
settlementterm on his behalf. In view ofrespondent' s 
failure to take any action, we conclude that respondent's 

19. Concurrently with the filing of this opinion, we refer to the 
Office of the ChicfTrial Counsel of the State Bar for appropri­
ate in ve sti gati on and action the issue ofrespondent' s counsel' s 
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attorney had apparent authority to enter into such 
settlement discussions for respondent. 19 

Respondent also asserts that hereliedin good faith 
upon the advice ofhis counsel, which re I iance consti­
tutes a defense to the charge in count two. Respondent 
cites Kaplan v. State Bar (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1067 
(Kaplan). There, upon Kap Ian's misappropriation of 
funds which Kaplan's finn held for a client in bank­
ruptcy, the Hearing Panel of the State Bar Court found 
a trust account violation underformerrule 8-10 I (A )of 
the Rules ofFrofessional Conduct but did not find that 
the misappropriation involved moral turpitude. This 
refusal to find moral turpitude was based on the facts 
that the fees had been earned by the firm, that Kaplan 
did not realize that the bankruptcy court had to approve 
the withdrawal of the earned fees, and that an experi­
enced bankruptcy attorney had told Kaplan that the 
funds were available for withdrawal. (Id. at p. I 070 & 
fn. 3.) 

Respondent's reliance on Kaplan is misplaced. 
First, Kapl«n demonstrates that reliance on counsel is 
not a complete defense to a charge, as Kaplan was still 
found culpable of failing to maintain client funds in a 
client trust account. Second, there isno evidence in the 
present case that respondent's attorney was experi­
enced in disciplinary matters, such that respondent 
could reasonably rely upon his expertise regarding the 
propriety of agreeing to a withdrawal of acomplaintto 
the State Bar. Finally, there is no evidence here that 
respondent had any discussion with his attorney re­
garding the propriety of such an agreement; therefore, 
respondent cannot be deemed to have relied upon 
counsel. 

[7 c] Respondent' s final assertion with respect to 
count two is that there was neither evidence nor a 
finding below that he willfullyviolated section 6090 .5 
as charged in the NDC. Because we have concluded, 
based on our de novo review of the evidence, that 
respondent intended to agree to Ashj ian' s withdrawal 
ofhis StateBarcomplaintas a term of the civil settlement 
agreement, we find that respondent's violation was 

conduct in negotiating this settlement for respondent. (See rule 
218; In the Matter of Respondent X (Review Dept. 1997) 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 592, 595, fn. 6.} 
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willful, "even applying the somewhat more specific 
level of wilfulness required forviolationsof the State Bar 
Act, as opposed to violations of the Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct. [Citations.]" (In the Matter of 
Respondeht.X, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. atp. 603.) 

In sum, our independent review of the facts leads 
us to conclude that clear and convincing evidence 
establishes respondent's culpability of willfullyvio lat­
ing section 6090 .5. 

III. DISCIPLINE 

To properly assess the discipline to be recom­
mended, we must first consider evidence in mitigation 
.and in aggravation. 

Mitigating Factors 

The hearingjudge found respondent's long and 
unblemished career to be a strong mitigating factor. 
(Rules Proc. of State Bar, tit. IV, Stds. for Atty. 
Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct (standards), std. 
l.2(e)(i).) We agree. Further, thehearingjudgefound 
the character testimony of two associates and 
respondent's wife to be mitigating factors but did not 
find this evidence to be an extraordinary demonstration 
of good character. (Std. 1.2( e )(vi).) We also so find. 

Respondent additionally presented evidence of 
community service activities, which are to be consid­
ered as mitigating circumstances. (In the Matter of 
Spaith(ReviewDept.1996)3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
511,521.) 

Also in mitigation, respondent presented evidence 
that before requiring the signing of the release as a 
condition ofreceiving preliminary distribution funds, 
he consulted a financial manager, who advised him that 
requiring a release before distributing the funds was 
proper. We find respondent's good faith action under 
these circumstances to be a mitigating factor (std. 
1.2( e )(ii)), although we give such mitigation very little 
weight in view of the fact that we did not determine 
whether the requirement of the release by respondent 
was improper. 

However, respondent's claim in mitigation that he 
acted in good faith towardAshjianis unpersuasive. His 
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refusal to resolve the issue, even after the apparent 
settlement ofMarch 7, 1997, is proof thatrespondent, 
for whatever reason, had no intention of delivering 
Ashj ian' s $20,946 share of the preliminary distribution 
funds to him. 

Aggravating Factors 

In aggravation, we find, as did the hearingj udge, 
that respondent's conduct was surrounded by conceal­
ment. (Std. L2(b )(iii).) By providingAshj ian withK-1 
forms that showed a positive balance until 1996, he 
misled Ashjian to rely on the fact that funds were 
available, even though respondent testified that the 
funds had been depleted by 1993. Further,respondent 
significantly banned Ashjian in that he has been 
deprived of funds to which he was entitled no later than 
1993, thetimeofthe final distribution. (Std. l.2(b )(iv).) 

Respondent has demonstrated indifference to­
ward rectification oforatonement for the consequences 
ofhis misconduct by refusing to resolve the matter and 
deliverthe funds even after Ashj ian obtained a munici­
pal court judgment and a bankruptcy court finding of 
non-dischargeabilityofthejudgment.(Std. l.2(bXv).) 
ln addition, as the hearingjudge aptly noted, respon­
dent does not appear to exhibit any remorse or even 
recognition ofhis wrongdoing. (See McKnight v. State 
Bar ( 1991) 53 Cal.3d 1025, 1036-103 7; In re Rivas 
(1989) 49 Cal.3d 794, 802.) Although respondent 
argues that he should not be criticized for his lack of 
remorse, since he is simply asserting his right to due 
process, we note that he failed to assert his right to 
request a trial de nova after the arbitration award or to 
file an appeal from the municipal court judgment. In 
view of respondent's failure to assert his rights at that 
time, we conclude that his argument in this respect is 
disingenuous and lacks credibility. Further, as to 
respondent' sassertion that he lacks the abilityto repay 
Ashjian, the record reflects that respondent had the 
ability to pay Ash j ian for quite some time after Ashjian 
firstobtainedthemunicipalcourtjudgmentandduring 
the bankruptcy court adversarial proceedings, since 
respondent through his attorney at that time offered to 
pay Ashjian $25,000to settle the matter. And, in any 
event, respondent has not shown that he has made 
restitution/payment to Ashj ian in accordance with his 
purported limited ability. 
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Level ofDiscipline 

The hearing judge recommended disbarment 
pursuant to standard 2 .2( a), which provides that willfu 1 
misappropriation of entrusted funds shall result in 
disbarment subject to certain exceptions. 

The primary purposes of the disciplinary pro­
ceedings are the protection of the public, the courts, 
and the legal profession; the maintenance of high 
professional standards by attorneys; and the preserva­
tion of public confidence in the legal profession. (Std. 
1.3; In re Morse, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 205.) As 
previously stated, when an attorney assumes a fidu­
ciary relationship and violates his duty inamannerthat 
would justify disciplinary action if the relationship had 
been that of attorney and client, he may properly be 
disciplined for his misconduct. ( Clark v. State Bar, 
supra, 39 Cal.2d at p. 166.) 

In our search to recommend the proper discipline, 
we consider the standards, which serve as guidelines, 
as well as prior decisions imposing discipline based on 
similar facts. (In re Morse, supra, 11 Cal.4th at pp. 
206-207; In the Matter ofT aylor(Review Dept. 1991) 
1 Cal. State Bar Ct.-Rptr. 563, 580.) By far the most 
serious of respondent's offenses was his grossly 
negligent or intentional breach of fiduciary duty and 
misappropriation of over $20,000, which conduct 
involved moral turpitude. Standard 2.2(a) sets forth 
disbarment as the discipline to be imposed for willful 
misappropriation unless either the amount misappro­
priated is insignificantly small or the most compelling 
mitigating circumstances clearly predominate. That 
standard further provides that if disbarment is not 
imposed, the discipline shall include an actual suspen­
sion of at least one year, irrespective of mitigating 
circumstances. In this case, the amount involved is net 
insignificantly small, nor do mitigating circumstances 
clearly predominate. Nevertheless, no fixed formula 
applies in determining the appropriate level of disci­
pline. (In the Matter of Brimberry (Review Dept. 
1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 390,403 .) Instead, we 
determine the appropriate discipline in light of all 
relevant circumstances. ( Garyv. State Bar( 1988) 44 
Cal.3d 820, 828.) 

The Supreme Court has stated that misappropria­
tion generally warrants disbarment in the absence of 
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clearly mitigating circumstances. (Kelly v. State Bar 
(1988) 45 Cal.3d 649,656; Cain v. State Bar (1979) 
25 Cal.3d 956, 961.) Disbarment is most frequently 
imposed where there are several instances of misap­
propriation oflarge sums, involving multiple clients. 
(See Rosenthal v. State Bar ( 1987) 43 Cal.3d 658.) 
However, the Supreme Court has even imposed 
disbannent on an attorney with no prior record of 
discipline in a case of a single misappropriation even 
though there was substantial mitigation. (In re Abbott 
(1977) 19 Cal.3 d 249 [ misappropriation of$29 ,500 of 
client funds, display of remorse, showing of manic­
depressivecondition with uncertain prognosis].) 

Disbarment has also been imposed where, al­
though the misappropriation appears to be an isolated 
instance of misconduct, additional aggravating circum­
stances are present. In Chang v. State Bar(l989) 49 
Cal.3d 114, Chang was found culpable in one client 
matter of misappropriating approximately $7,900 in 
client funds, failing to render an accounting to his client, 
and making misrepresentations to his cl ientand to the 
State Bar. (Id. at pp. 123-124, 127-128.) As in the 
present case, in mitigation, Chang had no prior disci­
p I inary record, yet he never acknowledged the 
impropriety of his conduct. (Id. at pp. 128-129.) In 
detennining that Chang shou Id be disbarred, the court 
focused upon his lack of candor to the State Bar's 
investigator and the State Bar Court, the seriousness 
of the misconduct, and the lack of either remorse or 
restitution. (Ibid.) 

However, the Supreme Court has indicated in 
other misappropriation cases that discipline oflessthan 
disbarment is warranted where extenuating circum­
stances show that the misappropriation of entrusted 
funds is an isolated event and other mitigating circum­
stances are present. (See Lawhorn v. State Bar ( 198 7) 
43 Cal.3d 1357 [misappropriation of $1,355.75 of 
client funds resulting from negligence and inexperi­
ence, full restitution made with interest prior to State 
Bar investigation, two years' actual suspension].) In 
Boehme v. State Bar (1988) 47 Cal.3d 448, 451-452, 
455, Boehme misappropriated $1,901.32 in client 
funds. In imposing a discipline oflessthan disbarment, 
the Supreme Court focused on Boehme' slack of prior 
discip 1 ine in over 20 years of practice, which the court 
found to be "an important mitigating circumstance" 
(id.at p. 454 ), and gave Boehme mitigating credit for 
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a life-threatening medical emergency which occurred 
less than one month after the misappropriation oc­
curred (id. at pp. 451, 454 ). 

Respondent's breach of his fiduciary duties and 
misappropriation constitute serious misconduct. More­
over, as a result of such misconduct, respondent has 
harmed Ashjian by depriving him, for several years, of 
over $20,000, far from an insignificant swn. We are 
troubled by respondent's lack of recognition of wrong­
doing, lack of remorse, and failure to make any 
restitution, particularly after Ashjian obtained a mu­
nicipal court j udgmentwith respect to the $20,946 and 
a bankruptcy court finding of nondischargeability of 
the judgment. Finally, respondent's misappropriation 
and concealment of the misappropriation through 
the issuance of K-1 fonns for several years "vio­
lated'" 'thefundamentalruleof[legal] ethics-that of 
common honesty-without which the profession is 
worse than valueless in the place it holds in the 
administration of justice' .... "' [Citation.]" (In re 
Menna (1995) 11 Cal.4th 975, 989.) 

[8] However, based on thecasescitedabove,we 
do not believe disbarment is needed in this case.First, 
this matter appears to have been an isolated instance 
of misconduct, as all of the misconduct foundresulted 
from a single failure to distribute funds to Ashjian. 
Second, respondent has had no prior record of di sci• 
pline in over 40 years of practice. Thus, although the 
record does not provide a justifiable explanation for the 
misconduct, the misconduct appears to be aberra­
tional. In view of these two factors, combined with 
respondent's evidence of good character and commu­
nity service, we decline to adopt the hearingjudge' s 
disbarment recommendation and instead conclude 
that a lengthy period of actual suspension will ad­
equately serve the disciplinary goals of these 
proceedings. 

RECOMMENDATION 

We recommend that respondent Charles Connell 
McCarthy be suspended from the practice oflaw in the 
State ofCalifornia for four years, that execution of the 
four-year suspension be stayed, and that respondent 
be placed on probation for three years on the following 
conditions: 
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l . Respondent shall be actually suspended 
from the practiceoflaw in the State of California during 
the first two years of probation and until: (a) respon­
dent pays restitution to Nazar H. Ashj ian, orthe Client 
Security Fond ifit has paid, in the amountof$27 ,493 .22, 
plus 10 percent simple interest per annum from 
November 8, 199 5, until paid, and provides satisfac­
tory proof of such payment to the State Bar's Proba­
tion Unit in Los Angeles; and (b) ifrespondent' s actual 
suspension extends for more than two years, respon• 
dent shows proof satisfactory to the State Bar Court 
of respondent's rehabilitation, present fitness to prac­
tice, and present learning and ability in the general law, 
in accordance with standard 1.4( c Xii) of the Standards 
for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. 
We recommend that respondent be given credit for the 
period of his involuntary inactive enrollment under 
Business and Professions Code section 6007, subdivi­
sion ( c )( 4) towards this recommended two-yearperiod 
of actual suspension. 

2. Respondent shall comply with the provi• 
sions of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the State BarofCalifomia, and all the terms 
and conditions of this probation. 

3. Respondent shall report, in writing, to the 
State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles no later than 
January 10, April I 0, July 10 and October 10 of each 
year or partthereofin which respondent is on probation 
(reporting dates). However, ifrespondent' s probation 
begins less than 30 days before a reporting date, 
respondentmaysubmitthefirstreportno later than the 
second reporting date after the beginning ofhis proba­
tion. In each report, respondent shall state that it covers 
the preceding calendar quarter or applicable portion 
and certify by affidavit or under penalty of perjury 
under the laws of the State of California as follows: 

(a) in the first report, whether respondent 
has complied with all the provisions of the State Bar 
Act, the Rules of Professional Conduct of the State 
Bar, and all other terms and conditions of probation 
since the beginning of probation; and 

(b) in each subsequent report, whether 
respondent has complied with all the provisions of the 
State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional Conduct of the 
State Bar, and all other terms and conditions of 
probation during that period. 
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During the last 20 days of this probation, 
respondent shall submit a final report covering any 
period of probationremaining after and not covered by 
the last quarterly report required under this probation 
condition. In this final report, respondent shall certify 
to the matters set forth in subparagraph (b) of this 
probation condition by affidavit or under penalty of 
perjury under the laws of the State of California. 

4. . Subjecttotheassertion of applicable privi­
leges, respondent shall fully, promptly, and truthfully 
answer any inquiries of the State Bar's Probation Unit 
and any assigned probation monitor referee that are 
directed to respondent, whether orally or in writing, 
relating to whether respondent is complying or has 
complied with thetenns and conditions of this probation. 

5. Within one year after the effective date of 
the Supreme Court order in this matter, respondent 
sh al 1 attend and satisfactorily complete the State Bar's 
Ethics School and provide satisfactory proof of such 
completion to the State Bar's Probation Unit in Los 
Angeles. This condition of probation is separate and 
apart from respondent's California Minimum Con­
tinuing Legal Education (MCLE) requirements; ac­
cordingly, respondent is ordered not to claim any 
MCLE credit for attending and completingth is course. 

6. In addition to maintaining an official ad­
dress for State Bar purposes with the State Bar's 
Membership Records Office as required by section 
6002. l of the Business and Professions Code, respon­
dent shal 1 maintain that official address with the State 
Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles. Within ten (I 0) 
days ofany change, respondent shall report to the State 
Bar's Membership Records Office and to the Proba­
tion Unit all changes ofinformation, including current 
office address and telephone number, or if no office is 
maintained, the address to be used for State Bar 
purposes. 

7. Respondent's probation shall commence 
on the effective date of the Supreme Court order 
imposing discipline in this matter. And, at the end of the 
probationaryterm, if respondent has comp! ied with the 
terms and conditions of probation, the Supreme Court 
order suspending respondent from the practice oflaw 
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for four years shall be satisfied; and the suspension 
shall be terminated. 

Professional Responsibility Examination 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional Conference of Bar Examiners within one year 
after the effective date of the Supreme Court order in 
this matter or during the period ofrespondent' s actual 
suspension, whichever is greater, and to provide 
satisfactory proof of such passage to the State Bar's 
Probation Unit in Los Angeles during the same period. 

Rule955 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to comply with rule 955 of the California Rules 
of Court and to perform the acts specified in subdivi­
sions ( a) and ( c) of that rule within30 and 40 calendar 
days, respectively, after the effective date of the 
Supreme Court order in this matter. 

Costs 

We further recommend that the costs incurred by 
the State Bar in this matter be awarded to the State Bar 
in accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6086. l 0 and that such costs be payable in 
accordance with Business and Professions Code sec­
tion 6140. 7. 

Order 

Finally, because we reject the hearingjudge's 
disbarment recommendation, we order that 
respondent's involuntary inactive enrollment under 
Business and Professions Code section 6007, subdivi• 
sion ( c )( 4) be tenninated, effective immediately. This 
order does not affect respondent's ineligibility to 
practice law that has resulted or may hereafter result 
from any other cause. 

We concur: 
STOVITZ, P. J. 
OBRIEN, J.' 

". Judge Pro Tern of the State Bar Court, appointed by the State 
Bar Board of Governors under rule 14 of the Rules ofProcedure 
of the State Bar. 
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The hearing department detenn ined that respondent was culpable of three counts of misconduct in a single 
client matter. This misconduct arose from respondent's sale of his residential property to a client in exchange 
for a substantial portion of the proceeds of a settlement that respondent obtained for the client as the result of 
the wrongfu I death of the client's son. The hearing department recommended a stayed suspension of three years 
conditioned upon probation for that same period and an actual suspension of six months. (Hon. Eugene E. Brott, 
Hearing Judge.) 

The review department found respondent cu I pable of additional charges of misconduct, determining that 
respondent ( 1) entered into a business transaction with a client which transaction was not shown to be fair and 
reasonable to the client or fully disclosed and transmitted in writing to the client in a manner which the client should 
reasonably have understood; (2) committed an act involving moral turpitude in entering into this business 
transaction; (3) failed to maintain inviolate the confidence of his client; ( 4) committed an act involving moral 
turpitude in permitting his office to provide a copy of the client's confidential settlement agreement to a third party; 
and ( 5) committed an act involvingmoral turpitude by attempting to mislead a State Bar investigation in response 
to a State Bar letter to respondent. After considering all of the relevant circumstances, the review department 
adopted the discipline recommendation of the hearingjudge. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

(la-d] 273.00 
430.00 

COl.NSELFORP ARTIES 

Andrea T. Wachter 

Thomas Oscar Gillis 

Rule3-300 (former 5-101] 
Breach ofFiduciary Duty 

IIEADNOTES 

Editor• s note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but have 
been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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Where respondent so Id his residential real property to his client, the fact that the sale price was at or 
about the fair market value does not constitute compliance with the basic requirement that the 
transaction be both fair and reasonable to thee lient. The question is not merely whether the sale price 
is fair and reasonable, but rather whether the entire transaction is fairand reasonable. All of the client's 
circumstances must be considered to determine whether the transaction is a prudent in vestment for 
a person in the client's circumstances. Moreover, all terms of the transaction must be fully disclosed 
and transmitted in writing to the client in a manner thatthe client should reasonably understand. Where 
respondent failed to disclose to the client many potential problems and risks involved with the manner 
of the sale of the property, and it was clear that the client was not otherwise aware of these risks, 
respondent was overreaching and acting at least in part for his own benefit. Under these circumstances, 
the transaction constituted a breach of a fiduciary obligation and violated Rules of Professional 
Conduct, rule 3-300. 

(2] 221 State Bar.Act-Section 6106 
430.00 Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
Where there was ample evidence demonstrating respondent's violation of his fiduciary duty to his 
client, arising from the unfairness of the manner in which his residential real property was sold to his 
client, and that the transaction was, at least in part, for his own benefit, respondent was culpable of 
committing an act involving moral turpitude in violation ofB usiness and Professions Code section 
6106. 

(3] 213.50 State Bar Act-Sedion 6068( e) 

[4] 

(Sa, hi 

Where respondent knew, at a minimum, that a letter was being sent to a third party from his office 
on his letterhead and that it contained a copy of, at least, the greater portion of a client's confidential 
settlement agreement, respondent was culpable offailingto maintain inviolate his client's confidence 
in violation of Business and Professions Code section 6068, subdivision ( e ). 

221 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
Respondent was culpable of an act involving moral turpitude in permitting his office to provide a copy 
of his client's confidential settlement agreement to a third party. The disclosure of the terms of that 
agreement placed the client at risk of action by the other party to the settlement agreement, and the 
sole purpose of providing the third party with information concerning the client's settlement was to 
aid respondent. In placing ~is interests above those of his client, respondent violated Business and 
Professions Code section 6106. 

221 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
Respondent's false statement in response to the State Bar's investigative letter, combined with 
respondent's ambiguous statement onasimilarsubject in response to the same letter, showed an intent 
to mislead the investigator. Such a deliberate attempt to mislead a State Bar investigation constitutes 
an act involving moral turpitude in violation of Business and Professions Code section 6106. 

[ 6) 106.30 Proced ore-Pleadings-Duplicative Charges 
213.10 State Bar Act-Section 6068(a) 
Where respondent's failure to provide his client with a statutorily required disclosure statement when 
sellingresidenti al real property to the client was one of the factors used to determine that respondent 
entered into a business transaction with a client without disclosing all terms of the transaction and 
transmitting them in writing to the client in a manner that the client should reasonably understand, it 
would not be proper to again rely on that identical failure in order to establish respondent's culpability 
of failing to support the laws of this state. 
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[7] 582.39 Aggravation-Harm to Client-Found but Discounted 

[8a, b] 

While respondent's misconductthat arose in sellingresidential real property to a client was aggravated 
by foreseeable harm caused to the client, arising from the client's demonstrated inability to manage 
her funds or understand that she alone was responsible for making the payments to preserve the 
property, the client's failure to make any payments after four months or make any effort to either 
save or sell the property was not foreseeable, and the client must bear the primary responsibility for 
the resulting loss of the property. 

171 
221 

Discipline-Restitution 
State Bar Act-Section 6106 

Although respondent's conduct in the sale of residential real property to his client involved moral 
turpitude, it was not shown by clear and convincing evidence to have been either intentionally dishonest 
or venal; there was potential for benefits to the client; and it was impossible to allocate responsibility 
for the client's loss between respondent, who acted at least partially for his own benefit, and the client, 
who failed to act responsibly. Under these circumstances, restitution to the client was not 
recommended. 

Additional Analysis 
Culpability 

Found 
213.51 
221.11 
221.12 
273.01 
430.01 

NotFound 

Section 6068( e) 
Section 6106-Deliberate Dishonesty/Fraud 
Section 6106-Gross Negligence 
Rule 3-300 [former 5-10 l] 
Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

213.15 Section6068(a) 
221.50 Section6106 

Aggravation 
Found 

521 Multiple Acts 
Mitigation 

Found 
710 .10 No Prior Record 

Declined to Find 

Discipline 
765 .50 Substantial pro bono work 

IO 13 .09 Stayed Suspension-3 Years 
l O 15.04 Actual Suspension-6 Months 
1017.09 Probation-3 Years 

Probation Conditions 
1091 Substantive Issues re Discipline-Proportionality 
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OPINION 

OBRIEN, J.:' 

The hearing judge found respondent Thomas 
Oscar Gillis culpable of three counts of misconduct in 
a single client matter. Respondent sold his residential 
property to his client in exchange for a substantial 
portion of the proceeds of a settlement that respondent 
obtained for that client as the result of the wrongful 
death of the client's son. Respondent was found to 
have violated rule 3-300, Rules of Professional Con­
duct, 1 section 6106, Business and Professions Code2 

prohibiting acts of moral turpitude and section 6068, 
subdivision ( e) requiring an attorney to maintain the 
confidences of his or her client. The hearing judge 
recommended a stayed suspension of three years 
conditioned upon probation for that same period and 
an actual suspension of six months. 

Both the State Bar and respondent seek review. 
The State Bar argues that three additional counts 
involving moral turpitude ( § 6106) and one count of 
failure to support the law(§ 6068, subd. (a)) deserve 
findings of culpability. Based on these arguments, the 
State Bar seeks a recommendation that respondent be 
actually suspended for two years and until he complies 
with standard 1.4( c )(ii), Standards for Attorney Sanc­
tions for Professional Misconduct_i It also seeks a 
recommendation that respondent be ordered to pay 
restitution in the sum of$1 l 0,000 to his client. 

Respondent contends that the hearingj udge com­
mitted error in not allowing respondentto qualify as an 
expert on real estate matters, giving insufficientweight 
to the value of the house he sold to his client and that 
there was insufficient evidence to find violations of 
section 6106 and section 6068, subdivision ( e). 

We agree with the hearing judge's findings of 
culpability of a violation of rule 3 • 3 00 and with his 
finding of moral turpitude in connection with 

*. Judge Pro Tcmofthe State Bar Court appointed by the State 
Bar Board of Governors pursuant to rule 14 of the Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar. 

l. All further references to rules are to the Rules of Professional 
Conduct. 
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respondent's transaction with his client. We also agree 
with the hearing judge's finding of culpability of a 
violation of section 6068 subdivision (e), by not 
maintaining confidential the amount of his client's 
settlement, but additionally find thatviolation involves 
moral turpitude in violation of section 6106. We further 
find culpability on one of two counts charging moral 
turpitude in respondent's response to letters of inves-­
tigation from the State Bar. We recommend, as did the 
hearingj udge, that respondent be suspended for three 
years, stayed, on the conditions that he be placed on 
probation for three years and that he be actually 
su-spended for six months. 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Respondent was charged with thirteen counts of 
misconduct involving two client matters. In the first 
client matter, respondent obtained a settlement of 
$250,000foraclient, we shall refer to as Anita, as the 
result of the wrongful death ofherminor son. Respon­
dentwas charged with twelve counts of misconduct in 
hissubsequentdealingswithAnita. Counts 10, 11 and 
12 were dismissed before trial on the motion of 
respondent. Those dismissals are not challenged on 
appeal, and we do not further considerthem. Respon­
dent was found not to be culpable in counts 7 and 8 
(involving maintaining funds in trust and moral turpi­
tude), and the State Bar does not challenge those 
findings.Fol lowing our review of the record, we agree 
with those findings of no culpability and do not further 
consider counts 7 and 8. In count 13, involving an 
unrelated client, the hearingjudge found that culpabil­
ity was not proven. The State Barnotes that it does not 
disputethehearingjudge'sfindinginthatclientmatter, 
and following our review, we agree with that finding 
and do not further address count 13. 

As noted, the State Bar seeks a finding of addi­
tional culpability on count four involving moral turpitude 
for failure to maintain inviolate his client's secrets, 
counts five and six, each involving alleged false state-

2. All further references to sections are to the Business and 
Professions Code, unless othenvise indicated. 

3. The standards are found in Title IV of the Rules of Procedure 
of the State Bar, All further references to standards are to this 
source. 
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men ts to the State Bar during the investigative stage of 
this proceeding, and count nine alleging that respon­
dent wi l\ful ly failed to comply with Cal ifom ia law by 
not providing Anita with the written disclosures re­
quired by Civil Code section 1102 et seq. These issues 
are discussed post. 

FACTS 

Respondent was admitted to practice in 1967 and 
has been a member of the bar sincethat time. In August 
1993 respondent was retained by Anita to represent her 
in a wrongful death action arising out of the death of 
her minor son Danny, one of her seven children. The 
retainer agreement provided that respondent's fee 
would be computed on the recovery before any 
deduction for costs at the rate of 25 percent before 
service of process and 33 l/3 percent thereafter. 
Respondent had previously represented Anita as one 
of a group of tenants, pro bono, in a successful action 
alleging "slum lord" conditions. In October of 1993, 
respondent was successful in reaching an agreement 
for the settlement of Anita's wrongful death action for 
$250,000. That settlement agreement and general 
release was signed by Anita and respondent on October 
2, 1993, and contained a clause drafted by the insur~ 
ance company, that neither respondent nor Anita 
would disclose the fact ofa settlement or the amount 
of the settlement. 

Between the time of respondent's retention and 
the time of reaching the agreement for settlement, 
Anita informed respondent that she was about to be 
evicted from her apartment. Respondent had lived for 
20 years on a three acre parcel in French Camp, 
Califomia4, consisting of a house occupied by respon­
dent as his residence and office, a cabin, a mobile home 
and various other buildings, including chicken coops, 
a barn with corrals, a swimming pool and associated 
improvements. Respondent offered to let Anita move 
onto his property rent free. Anita, her boy friend, Paco, 
andatleastthreeofherchildrenmovedontothe French 
Camp property, occupyingthe cabin and mobile home. 

4. French Camp is located in San Joaquin County. 
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Respondent agreed to, and did, pay Anitamodest sums 
for housekeeping following her moving onto the prop­
erty. 

Respondent knew that Anita lacked skills for 
employment other than housekeeping, was unem­
ployed, received no financial or other assistance from 
the father of her children and had no other source of 
income. Respondent also knew that she was receiving 
financial assistance from Aid to Families with Depen­
dent Children(AFDC). 

The $ 250,000 settlement draft came into 
respondent's possessiononNovember 16or 17, 1993. 
Between the time ofreaching the settlement agreement 
and the arrival of the settlement draft, there were 
discussions between respondent and Anita concerning 
the purchase by Anita of the French Camp property by 
use of a portion of Anita's share of the settlement 
proceeds. There is a conflict in the evidence as to who 
initiated that discussion. Respondent, his wife and 
former secretary testified that such discussion was 
initiated by Anita, who had overheard a discussion 
between respondent and his fiancee about where they 
would live. On the other hand, Anita asserted that the 
sale was the idea of respondent. There is no doubt that 
Anita, Paco and her children found living on the 
property most desirable. 

Wh ilethe hearingjudge found that the discussion 
was initiated by respondent, we conclude that the 
evidence demonstrates that the discussion was in fact 
initiated by Anita and Paco.' The evidence clearly 
demonstrates that respondent, both of his secretaries 
and respondent's fiancee urged Anita, repeatedly, to 
look at other homes and to seek independent advice 
before purchasing the French Camp property. Re~ 
spondent not only advised Anita in writing to seek 
independent counsel, but had follow-up discussions 
with Anita urging her do so, and offered to pay for any 
charges that were incurred. Respondent had one ofhis 
secretaries sit down with Anita and go over a directory 
of attorneys seeking to select an attorney to provide 

5. Anita's first knowledge that the property was for sale appears 
to have been an overheard conversation between respondent 
and his fiancee. 
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advice to her. Anita left that discussion to talk with 
Paco, and on her return stated, in effect, she did not 
want to see another attorney. It is also clear that, 
independent of directions from respondent, one of the 
secretaries strongly urged Anita to look at other 
property and obtain independent advice. 

In spite of these precautions by respondent, we 
must further examine the transaction in light of the 
chargeofaviolationofrule3-300. In November 1993 
respondent gave Anita a copy of an appraisal dated 
August 28, l 992, showing the fair market value of the 
property to be $178,500.6 As found by the hearing 
judge, on November 10, 1993,respondentgave Anita 
a letter, in effect, offering to sell the French Camp 
propertytoherfor$l 75,000, Thatletternotedthatthe 
loan on the property was about $115,000 at an 
adjustable rate of 11 percent and that Anita would have 
to pay respondent $60,000 for his equity and also pay 
$50,000 to reduce the loan and "[y Jou would assume 
and paythe balance of the loan." That letter concluded: 
"You should look at other homes you might be 
interested in to buy (sic) before you make a decision 
on mine. You also should consult withanotherattorney 
to make sure the purchase would be in your best 
interest." Although Anita did not recall seeing_that 
letter, the hearingjudge found that such a letter was 
delivered to her. We agree. 

At the time of that letter, the French Camp 
property was encumbered by a deed of trust securing 
a "line of credit" loanfromBeneficial California Inc. 
(Beneficial) in the maximum amountof$116,000 in 
favor of respondent and his former wife. The monthly 
payment established by the promissary note was 
$ l ,l 04.69 plus insurance charges. The initial provision 
on the deed of trust securing that loan stated "[i]f 
trustorvoluntarily shall sell or convey the Property, in 
whole or part, or any interest in that Property ... 
without obtaining the written consent of [Beneficial], 
then [Beneficial], at its option, may dee \are the entire 
balance of the loan plus interest on the balance due and 
payable. "7 

6. The only other evidence of the value of the French Camp 
property is the testimony ofrcspondtnt, who testified that, in his 
opinion, the fair market value oftheproperty was $210,000 at the 
time of the sale to Anita. 
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At the ti me of respondent's November 10 letter 
to Anita, respondent was in arrears two payments of 
$1,045 each on the loan from Beneficial. This was not 
disclosed to Anita. In correspondence to Beneficial, a 
letterfromrespondent's office advised the Beneficial 
representative that he had just settled a large case and 
provided that representative a copy of Anita's confi­
dential settlement agreement, showing the amount of 
the settlement reached on behalf of Anita. While that 
letter was not signed by respondent, it was sent on his 
letterhead, from his office and bore a signature in his 
name followed by initials. The hearingj udge found that 
respondent knew the letter was being sent and, follow­
ing our review, we reach the same finding, although we 
are unable to detennine that respondent knew the exact 
language or content of that letter. 

The record shows that Anita "dropped out" of 
high school in the eleventh grade as the result of the 
birth of her first child, never he Id a job, had no credit 
record, never had a checking account or credit card and 
had a bill with the telephone company for approxi­
mately $500 that she was unable to pay. During the 
course of negotiations for settlement of the wrongful 
death claim, respondent filed, as Anita's attorney, a 
dissolution of marriage action. 

The record also shows that, at the same time, 
respondent was substantially indebted in addition to his 
delinquentobligationsto Beneficial. He owed $22,000 
to his former wife as an equalization payment on the 
dissolution of his marriage, $4,200 on a judgment 
against him, and various other bills, including salary to 
his secretary, law office advertizing bills and personal 
loans, all approximating a total of$60,000. We note 
however, that the equalization payment to his former 
wife was not due until that sale of the French Camp 
property and thattheremaining creditors were not then 
pressing for payment. 

The deposit and disbursement of the $250,000 
settlementdraftoccurredonNovember 17, 1993,and 
a written agreement between respondent and Anita for 

7. In addition, the credit line account agreement provided a 
prepayment penalty of six months interest on any amount of 
prepayment in excess of20 percent of the outstanding balance 
within a 12-month period. 
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the sale of the French Camp property was executed 
that same day. That agreement recited that respondent 
was Anita's attorney, that she had been advised to seek 
independent counsel, had time to do so, but elected not 
to fo Llow that advice. That written agreement provided 
that Anita would accept the house in "as is" condition, 
that there would be no escrow or title insurance, that 
Anita would pay respondent $60,000 cash for his 
equity, pay $50,000 to Beneficial to reduce the existing 
loan and assume the balance of the existing loan. The 
agreement recited the approximate balance on the 
Beneficial loan to be $115,590 with an interest rate of 
11 percentthatwasadjustable, thatthere were no liens 
on the property other than to Beneficial and that 
respondent would not repair an existing roofleak. The 
agreement further recited thatAnitahad been provided 
a recent appraisal showing the value of the property to 
exceed $175,000. That was the appraisal dated August 
28, 1992, that we noted, ante, which was obtained in 
connection with the line of credit loan obtained by 
respondent and his then wife from Beneficial. 

Respondent deposited the fully endorsed settle­
ment draft into his clienttrustaccount, obtained instant 
credit from the bank for that deposit, wrote himselfa 
check for $62,000, representing his attorney's fees of 
25%, and wrote a check to Anita for $186,009.8 That 
check to Anita was immediately deposited into anew 
account opened in her name. Drawing on Anita's new 
account, respondent immediately wrote, and Anita 
signed, a check in the amount of$5 0, OOOto Beneficial 
and a series of 16 checks, totaling $60,000, to various 
other creditors of respondent. Included in this group of 
16 checks was a payment to Beneficial for the install­
ment accruing at the end ofN ovember 1993. This left 
a total of $76,009 in Anita's account. Respondent 

8. Disposition oflhebalance of the $250,000is not explained in 
the record. ($62,000 plus$ I 86,009 equals $248,009.) A check 
in the amount of $1,991 cleared that account November 26, 
1993. 

9. Respondent received a deed from his former wife, dated 
November 15, 1993. That deed was recorded February 17, 
1994. ln February 1994 Anita expressed concern to respondent 
about the form the of the deed she had received from him, and 
he provided her a new deed, again in apparently recordable 
form. 
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promptly delivered the $50,000 check to Beneficial 
and gave to Anita a deed to the property in apparently 
record ab le form. 9 

Anita testified that she did not know what an 
escrow was or what it was for, what title insurance was 
or what it was for, what function a real estate broker 
performed or that she should take any action to 
formally assume the Beneficial loan. Respondent did 
not order a title report or provide Anita any other 
evidence of the condition of title, did not provide Anita 
with a real estate transfer statement as required by 
former section 1102.6 of the Civil Code, 10 nor did he 
offer or provide any assistance to Anita in assuming the 
Beneficial loan. Respondent advised Anita that it was 
up to her whether or not she recorded the grant deed, 
but that if she did so, there would be an increase in 
taxes. He also told her that, in the event he were sued, 
he would let her know before any liens could attach to 
the property. Respondent did not know whether there 
was a clause in the incumbrance recorded by Beneficial 
allowing a buyer to assume the Beneficial loan. 

A long time district manager for Beneficial made 
clear that Beneficial wou Id not permit the assumption 
of a loan by a person with Anita's record, which 
included being on welfare, unemployed, the sole 
supportoffourchildrenand with no source ofincome. 
Beneficial would not rely on Anita's bank account 
because there was no assurance that it would remain 
available in the event of a default. The monthly 
statements were addressed to respondent followingthe 
execution of the contract of sale and up to the time of 
foreclosure, and the foreclosure was in respondent's 
name. 

10. Beginning in January 1987, former section 1102.6 of the Civil 
Code ( enacted by Stats. 1985, ch. 157 4, § 2, operative Jan. I, 
1987, and amended by Stats. 1986. ch. 460, § 5; Stats.1989, ch. 
l 71, § I; Stats. 1990, ch. 1336, § 2; Stats.1994, ch. 817, § 2; Stats. 
1996, ch. 240, § 2; Stats. 1996, ch. 925, § 1; Stats.1996, ch. 926, 
§ 1.5; Stats.200 I, ch. 584, § I )required coveredrcsidcntialreal 
estate se II ers to make d etailcd di sci os ures regarding the cond i­
ti on of the real estate using a specific form "real estate transfer 
disclosure statement." That statutory form disclosure statement 
was modified in 1990 and 1994. In 1996, a second version of the 
statutorily prescribed statement was enacted and became 
effective July I, 1997 (Civ. Code.§ 1102.6). 
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Anita made the payments to Beneficial that were 
due through April 1994, although the March 1994 
payment was made in April, and in March she con­
tacted respondent with a request that he either buy the 
property back or return her money. Some time prior 
to the middle of March 1994, Paco and a friend came 
to respondent's office carrying a baseball bat resulting 
in a call for law enforcement. In a March 14, 1994 
letter, respondent advised Anita that he would not 
repurchase the house. In that same letter he provided 
advice on the maintenance of the pool and offered to 
plow the weeds and repair the pool and hot tub. That 
letter contained the fol lowing statement: "If you don't 
want the house, I will help you fix it up to se 11 it.You 
havemorethan$110,000inequity. Thepricesarenow 
moving up. I believe if you clean up the yard, you can 
sell it for more than you paid for it." This was followed 
by a series ofletters from respondent to Anita covering 
April to August of 1994, advising her of the conse­
quences ofher failure to make payments to Beneficial 
and urging her to list the property for sale in order to 
obtain some return on her equity in the property. Jn 
April he asked Anita not to come to the office without 
an appointment because of recurring disturbances 
caused by Paco. 11 In the absence of further payments, 
Beneficial exercised its right of sale under the deed of 
trust in the fal 1 of 1994, and Anita and her family were 
evicted from the property in December 1994. 

DISCUSSION OF CULPABILITY 

Respondent argues that, in selling the property 
to Anita, he complied with the requirements ofrule 
3-300, that he advised Anita to seek independent 
counsel, and that the hearingjudgefailed to give weight 
to the value of the property he sold to Anita. He further 
argues thatthere is not clear and convincing evidence 
ofhis moral turpitude in violation of section 6106 in his 
entering into that transaction with his client and con­
tends that the evidence does not support a finding of 

11. Wenotethat, in February 1994.Anitaclosedheraccountwith 
the bank, withdrawing somewhere between $10,000 and $16,000. 

12. That rule provides: "[An attorneyJ shall not enter into a 
business transaction with a client; ... unless each of the 
following requirements have been satisfied: [,r] (A) The trans­
action ... and its tenns are fair and reasonable to the client and 
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violation of section 6068 , subdivision ( e ), as he claims 
there is no evidence that he provided Beneficial with 
the confidential infonnation concerning Anita's settle­
ment. Finally, he argues at length that the hearingjudge 
committed error in not allowing him to testify as an 
expert on real estate matters. 

On the other hand, the State Bar urges that 
respondent committed an additional violation of sec­
tion 61 06 in sending the confidential settlement 
agreement to Beneficial, and is culpable of two addi­
tional violations of that section in his alleged untruthful 
responses to State Bar investigators. Finally, it urges 
that respondent is culpable of failing to support state 
law in violation of section 6068, subdivision (a) by 
failing to provide Anita with the disclosures required by 
Civil Code section 1102 et seq. 

We first address the arguments of respondent, 
followed by our discussion of the posit ion urged by the 
State Bar. 

Counts One and Two, Rules 3-300 
(Business Transaction with a Client) 
and Section 6106 (Moral Turpitude) 

When an attorney enters into a business transac­
tion with a client, the attorney must, at his or her peri I, 
cornplywithrule3-300.12 A violation ofanypartofthat 
rule gives rise to culpability. (Cf. Read v. State Bar 
(1991)53 Cal.3d394,411 [construing the predecessor 
to rule 3-300, whose language was substantially iden­
tical to that ofthecurrent rule3-300].) "The relationship 
· between an attorney and client is a fiduciary relation­
ship of the very highest character. All dealing between 
an attorney and his client that are beneficial to the 
attorney will be closely scrutinized with the utmost 
strictness for any unfairness [ citation.]." (Clancy v. 
State Bar (1969) 71 Cal.2d 140, 146.) "When an 
attorney-client transaction is involved, the attorney 

are fully disclosed and transmitted in writing to the client in a 
manner which should reasonably have been understood by the 
client; and 111 (B) The client is advised in writing that the client 
may seek the advice of an independent lav.-yer of the client" s 
choice and is given a reasonable opportunity to seek that advice; 
and [11 (C) The client thereafter consents in writing to the terms 
of the transaction . . . " 
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bears the burden of showing that the dealings between 
parties were fair and reasonable and were fully known 
and understood by the client. [citation.]" (Hunniecutt 
v. State Bar (1988) 44 Cal.3d 362, 372-373.) 

With these principles in mind, we look to the facts 
and circumstances of the transaction between respon­
dent and Anita. Respondentknewthatany significant 
recovery in the wrongful death action would tenninate 
even her financial aid from AFDC. By the time of the 
settlement, he knew that Anita was, at best, naive in 
financial matters, ifnot irresponsible. 

On the other hand, respondent was two months 
behind in making payments on the loan fromBeneficial 
and had assured Beneficial that he was receiving 
money from Anita's settlement, had made an unsuc­
cessful effort to sell the property some three years 
earlier and was indebted to others, including his 
secretary, his forrnerwife13 and a judgment creditor for 
a total in excess of$60,000. For all practical purposes, 
the deposit of the settlement funds, the agreement for 
the sale of the property and the disbursement of the 
funds occurred simultaneously. On that same day, 
respondent delivered a grant deed to the property to 
Anita with the advice that, if she recorded it, her 
property taxes would be increased. He made no 
mention of the documentary transfertax that would be 
imposed at the time of recording. 

At the time of delivering the deed to Anita, 
respondent had not recorded the deed from his former 
wife conveying her interest in the French Camp 
property to him. '4 While he claimed to have personally 
done a title search to satisfy himself that he was 
conveying good title, there was no evidence of the 
extent of that search or what he included in that 
purported search. Respondent testified that he did not 
know of the "Notice of Code t iolation" recorded by 
the San roaqu in County Redevelopment Department, 
giving notice of code viola ti on consisting ofbuilding 
without a permit and electrical wiring without a permit. 
Nor did respondent have any concern for the recorded 

13. At !east a portion of the sums due his fonner wife did not 
become payable until the sale of the French Camp property. 
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deed of trust that clearly provided that, ifhe should 
voluntarily divest himself of title, Beneficial could 
dee lare the entire balance of the loan due and pay ab 1 e. 

Respondent testified that such "due on sale" 
provisions were not enforceable, and he was not 
concerned with whether Anita could assume the 
Beneficial loan. Respondent's understanding of the 
law is incorrect, as well established authority shows. In 
1982 the e am-St. e ermain Depository Institutions 
Act (12 U.S.C. i. 1701j-3) preempted state control, 
making al I but a few "due on sale" clauses in deeds of 
trust nationwide enforceable, rendering ineffective 
Wellenkamp v. Bank of America ( 1978) 21 Cal .3d 943. 
(See 3 Witkin, Summary of Cal. Law (9th ed. 1987) 
Security Transactions in Real Property, I.81, pp. 586-
588; 4 Millar & Starr, Cal. Real Estate (3d ed. 2000) 
Il 0: 108.) We note that the Beneficial encumbrance 
was not a "purchase money deed of trust" and thus 
Beneficial was not precluded by Code of Civil Proce­
dure section 5 80b from seeking a judicial foreclosure, 
that may not limit the recovery to the value of the 
property. This left Anita at risk in that Beneficial had 
the option, on learning of the sale by respondent, to 
declare the balance on the note secured by the deed of 
trust due and exercising its right of sale on the deed of 
trust or initiating a judicial foreclosure under Code of 
Civil Procedure section 725a. 

For purposes of his own, and in contravention of 
normal business practice, respondent prepared for 
Anita's signature some 13 or 14 individual checks 
totaling $60,000, the amount he was to receive for his 
equity in the French Camp property, payable to his 
creditors directly from Anita's account. While respon­
dent was entitled to a down paymentof$60,000, such 
unique procedure was totallywithout benefitto Anita. 
\1/hile it is true conditioning the sale to Anita on the 
payment by her of $50,000 to Beneficial increased 
Anita's equity, to her benefit, it did not serve to reduce 
the monthly payment she was to make to Beneficial, 
or otherwise reduce her current cash demands to make 
her more secure in her ownership of the property. It 

14. The record does not show whether the decree of dissolution 
that may have conveyed the property to respondent was 
recorded. 
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did, however serve to reduce respondent's risk in the 
event Beneficial elected to undertake a judicial foreclo­
sure rather than exercisetheirrights under the power 
of sale in the deed of trust. 

[la) Respondent argues that he did give Anita 
notice in writing recommending that she consult with 
another attorney as required by rule 3-300, and we 
have found that to be true. Respondent complains that 
the hearingj udge gave scant attention to the value of 
the property at the time of Anita's purchase. Because 
respondent has the burden to prove thatthetransaction 
was fair, he had the burden to prove the price Anita paid 
for the property was not excessive compared to the fair 
market value. The only evidence before us, as to the 
property's fair market value, is an appraisal estimating 
the value at $178,500 dated approximately one year 
before the sale and respondent's testimony placing the 
fair market value at $21 0, 000. Thus, we must weigh 
the transaction with the view that the sale price was in 
the range of the fair market value of the property. This 
record does not demonstrate that the fundamental 
requirement of rule 3-3 00 has been comp I ied with. The 
heart of that rule requires that the terms of the 
transaction be both "fair and reasonable to the client." 
The fact that the sale price was at or about the fair 
market value does not constitute compliance with that 
basic requirement. The question is not merely whether 
the sale price was fair and reasonable in an abstract 
sense, but rather whether the entire transaction, in the 
languageofrule3-300, was"fairandreasonabletothe 
client." Further, we must consider all of the circum­
stances of the client to determine if the transaction was 
a prudent investment for a person in her circum­
stances. (Rose v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 646, 
662-663.) In weighing the circumstances of the trans­
action, we take particular note of the observation of the 
Supreme Court in Hunniecuttv. State Bar, supra, 44 
Cal.3d at page 370; that "[a] client who receives the 
proceeds of a judgment or settlement will often place 
great trust in the investment advice of the attorney who 
represented him in the matter. This is especially likely 
when the client is unsophisticated and a large amount 
of money is involved. This trust arises directly from the 
attorney-client relationship, and abuse of this trust is 
precisely the type of overreaching that rule 5-10 I 
[ which was the predecessor to rule 3-300] is designed 
to prevent." Although we do not find a breach of trust 
in respondent's dealings with Anita, we do find there 
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are a number of areas on the periphery of the transac­
tion that preclude it from being fair and reasonable to 
Anita. 

[ 1 b 1 It is clear that, at the time of the sale, the 
property was encumbered with a deed of trust contain­
ing a "due on sale" clause which, based on the record 
before us, was enforceable. This infonnation was not 
given to Anita; nor was Anita informed that Beneficial 
had the apparent right to collect the entire balance due 
on the promissory note secured by the French Camp 
property or to exercise their right of sale under the deed 
of trust as the result of the sale. Anita was not provided 
title insurance; she was not informed that such insur­
ance was usual and customary; nor was she advised as 
to the purposes or benefits of such insurance. She was 
not advised to consu It areal estate broker; nor was she 
informed of the services such a broker might provide 
her. She was not given the option of having the 
transaction handled through a formal escrow as is 
customary; nor was she advised of the services such 
an escrow agent might provide. She was not advised 
of the fact that a notice of code violations had been 
recorded, or of theeffectthat that recordingmight have 
on her future use, improvement or sale of the property. 
She was given an option not to record the deed from 
respondent on the basis that such a recording would 
trigger a reassessment of the property and a probable 
increase in taxes. She was not advised that by failing 
to advise the county assessor of the transfer of the title 
she subjected the property to a later assessment for 
escaped taxes, along with interest and penalties. For 
property tax purposes a deed need not be recorded, but 
Revenue and Taxation Code section 480 mandates, 
with exceptions not here relevant, that a buyer file a 
"change of ownership statement" with in 45 days of the 
date of change of ownership. The failure to file such 
statement results in a statutory penalty of $100 or 10 
percent of the assessed taxes. (Rev. & Tax. Code, 
§ 4 80, subd. ( c ). ) Finally, respondent failed to provide 
Anita with the disclosure statement as mandated by 
former section 1102.6 et seq. of the Civil Code. 

[le] Respondent argues that each of these omis­
sions was for the purpose of reducing the cost to Anita. 
What he fails to acknowledge is that Anita was not 
given the opportunity to exercise any choice in these 
matters. She did notknowwhattitle insurance was, did 
not know what escrow was, did not know what a real 
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estate broker did, and had no idea of the risks she was 
assuming because of the rights of Beneficial to take 
action against the property. Further, respondent's 
arguments concerning costs savings are only partially 
true because in some cases he would have typically 
borne all or part of the expenses (brokers commission 
typically paid out of the proceeds of sale - escrow 
charges, etc.). We conclude that under the circum­
stances, the terms of the transaction were not fulJy 
disclosed to Anita, nor were all of the tenns transmitted 
in writing to Anita in a manner that should have 
reasonably been understood by her. 

When these deficiencies in the conduct of respon­
dent are combined with the relationship between the 
parties and the manner in which the transaction was 
carried out, it is clear that respondent has failed to 
sustain " the burden of showing that the dealings 
between parties were fair and reasonable and were 
fully known and understood by the client [ citation.]." 
(Hunniecuttv. State Bar.supra, 44 Cal.3d at372-373.) 

[ld] We cannot help but conclude that at least a 
partial purpose of respondent entering into the agree­
ment for the sale of his long time home and office 
property was for his personal benefit, and not that of 
Anita. He had a fiduciary duty to work for Anita's 
benefit alone. (Hunniecutt v. State Bar, supra, 44 
Cal.3d 3 62.) And that duty was clearly breached by the 
terms of the agreement and manner in which it was 
handled. As we have noted, respondent failed to 
disclose many potential problems with the sale and the 
assumption of the loan, the risks of no title insurance 
and the risks ofnot recording the deed. It is obvious that 
Anita was not otherwise aware of these risks.Nor can 
we overlook the manner in which the transaction was 
handled, occurring simultaneously with the disburse­
ment of the proceeds of the settlement of Anita's 
wrongful death case, the opening of Anita's first bank 
account and the disbursement of funds directly to 
respondent's creditors. Each of these factors are 
considered and contribute to our findings that respon• 
dent was overreaching and acting in at least part for his 
own benefit. We conclude that the transaction was a 
breach of a fiduciary obligation and is precisely what 
rule 3-300 is designed to prevent. 

Respondent argues that the hearingj udge erred in 
not pennittinghim toqual ify as an expert onreal estate 
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transactions. The errors of law we have outlined 
impeach respondent's qualifications as an expert, but 
even aside from that, we find no abuse of discretion on 
the part of the hearing judge in refusing to qualify 
respondent as an expert. "The trial court has broad 
discretion to detennine whether a particular witness 
qualifiestotestifyas an expert. Douglas v. Ostermeier 
(1991) 1 Cal.App.4th 729, 738, .... " (l Jefferson, Cal. 
Evidence Benchbook (Cont. Ed. Bar 3d ed. 1997) 
§29.18, p. 585 (hereafter Jefferson).)Itisequallyclear 
that when the trier of fact is able to form a con cl us ion 
from the evidence with the same intelligence as an 
expert, expert testimony is not admissible. (McClee,y 
v. CityofBakersfie/d(l985) 170Cal.App.3d 1059, 
1074, fn. lO;Jefferson, § 29.23, p. 587.)ln any event, 
the hearingj udge gave respondent wide latitude in his 
testimony, allowing him to voicemanyopinionson his 
transactions with Anita. We find no abuse of discretion 
in the hearingjudge' s refusal to qualify respondent in 
real estate transactions. 

(2] In addition to the charge of a violation of rule 
3-300, respondent is charged with moral turpitude in 
sellingtheFrenchCamppropertytoAnita. Wedonot 
see respondent's conduct on this record as venal, 
intentionally dishonest or corrupt. The evidence dem­
onstrates that the property was worth at least what 
Anita paid for it, and respondent appeared substantially 
motivated to see Anita enjoy the property as owner, 
which she strongly desired. Moreover, not every wilful 
violation of rule 3-300 warrants a finding of moral 
turpitude. But those points do not exonerate respon­
dent of the moral turpitude charges before us. For 
many years, moral turpitude has been broadly defined. 
(E.g.,ln re Mostman (l 989) 47 Cal.3d 725, 736-73 7; 
In re Strick (1983) 34 Cal.3d 891, 901~903; In re 
Higbie (l 972) 6 Cal.3d 562, 569-570.) Moral turpi­
tude typically occurs whenever an attorney intentionally 
breaches a fiduciary duty to a client (Hunniecutt v. 
State Bar, supra, 44 Cal.3d 362, 3 72-373; Giovanazzi 
v. State Bar(l 980)28 Cal.3d 465,472-473),andmay 
occur even if an attorney acts non-deliberately to 
breach a fiduciary duty to a client where the breach 
occurs as a resu It of gross carelessness and neglect. (In 
the Matter of Kittrell (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 195,208, citing, interalia, Lipson v. State 
Bar (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1010, 1020.). As we have 
discussed in detail in connection with respondent's 
violation of rule 3-300, ante, there was ample evidence 
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demonstrating his violation ofh is fiduciary duty to his 
client, arising from the unfairness of the manner of the 
handling and the peripheral aspects of the transaction, 
andthatthetransaction was, atleast in part, for his own 
benefit. As such, we are compelled to the conclusion 
that respondent violated section 6106 in connection 
with the sale of his property to Anita. 

Counts Three and Four, Section 6068, 
Subdivision ( e) (Maintain Confidences ofClient), 

and Section 6106 (Moral Turpitude) 

[3] In counts three and four, respondent is charged 
with violating his client's confidence by disclosing to 
Beneficial the amount of Anita's settlement of her 
wrongful death claim to Beneficial and for moral 
turpitude in that conduct. As we have noted, respon­
dentdenied authoring the letter to Beneficial enclosing 
the confidential settlementagreementresolvingAnita' s 
wrongful death claim. The hearingjudge concluded 
that, at a minimum, respondent knew that letter was 
being sent from his office on his letterhead and that it 
contained a copy of, at least, the greater portion of the 
confidential settlement agreement. We concur in that 
finding, and further find that his knowledge of the 
sending of that letter renders him culpable of a violation 
of section 6068, subdivision (e). 

(4) Following our consideration of the specific 
language of section 6068 subdivision ( e ), we, contrary 
to the finding of the hearingjudge, find that respondent 
is culpable of moral turpitude in permitting his office 
to provide a copy of Anita's confidential settlement 
agreement to Beneficial. That section requires an 
attorney" [ t ]o maintain inviolate the confidence, and 
at every peril to himself or herself to preserve the 
secrets, of his or herdient. "(Emphasis added.) The 
disclosure of the terms of that agreement placed Anita 
at risk of action by the insurance company that was a 
party to that settlement agreement. The so le purpose 
of providing Beneficial with information concerning 
Anita's settlement was to aid respondent in gaining 
time in which to bring his delinquent payments current, 
in violation of thatsubdivision of section 6068. In doing 
so he placed his interests above those of his client in 
violation of section 6106. 
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Counts Five and Six, Section 6106 
(Moral Turpitude in Response to 

Investigative Letters) 

In count 5, the State Bar charges that respondent 
lied in his response to an investigative letter sent by the 
State Bar, dated May 13, 1996, when he stated that he 
had not deposited Anita's settlement check in his trust 
account, but that at the bank's suggestion he had 
divided the settlement, deposited his fee in his general 
account, less $2,5 OOthat was paid directly to him, and 
deposited $186,000 into Anita's account. The record 
shows the entire $250,000 was deposited into 
respondent's trust account, from which respondent's 
fee was taken and the balance transferred to Anita's 
newly opened account. "While respondent's response 
to the State Bar's letter was not accurate, it is true that 
none of the funds came to rest in respondent's trust 
account. It is clear that respondent's response to the 
State Barwa:s negligent, but we do not find the gross 
negligence necessary to elevate that conduct to moral 
turpitude. Further, we find no benefit to respondent, 
either expected or actual that suggests a willful attempt 
to mislead the State Bar. 

In count 5, the State Bar also charges respondent 
I ied in his response to the May 13, 1996, letter when 
he stated that he paid Anita's December 1993 payment 
as a gift. We disagree. It is true that the payment made 
on November 17, 1993, covering the payment due 
November 28, 1993, was drawn on Anita's new 
account along with 15 or l 6 additional checks, all 
prepared by respondent. The total of these checks 
represented the $60,000 that Anita paid respondent for 
thesaleofthe French Camp property. Thus, whilethe 
check was signed by Anita and drawn on her account, 
it did represent a portion of funds that were due 
respondent for the sale of the property under the terms 
of the agreement between them. 

We conclude there is no clear and convincing 
evidence of moral turpitude in respondent's letter in 
answer to the State Bar's letter of inquiry dated May 
13, 1996. 
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In count 6, the State Bar charges that in response 
to a July 2, 1997,1~ letter, respondent lied when he 
stated that after the sale to Anita, she assumed "the 
[Beneficial] note and mortgage as a part of our 
Contract of Sale .... They billed her for the payments 
after that." • 

[ Sa I Under the "Contract ofSale" for the French 
Camp property, paragraph 7 provided that Anita "also 
agrees to assume and pay the loan at Beneficial .... " 
Thus, as between respondent and Anita, she had 
assumed the loan. It is equally clear that as between 
Anita and Beneficial no such assumption took place. 
Standing alone, such a statement did not show that 
respondent was referring to a fonnal assumption by 
Anita of respondent's ob ligations to Beneficial when 
his response to the July 2, 1997, inquiry by the State 
Bar was made. 

[Sb) It isclearthatBeneficial never billed Anita for 
the payment on the property and that they continued 
to bill respondent. It is equally clear that respondent 
knew that at the time of his response to the State Bar 
investigative letter of July 2. Contrary to the holding of 
the hearingj udge, we find that this evidence, combined 
with respondent's ambiguous statement concerning 
Anita's assumption of the loan, shows an intent to 
mislead the investigator into believing that Anita had 
successfully assumed respondent's obi igations under 
the Beneficial loan. We find that such a deliberate 
attempt to mislead a State Bar investigation constitutes 
moral turpitude in violation of section 6106. 

Count Nine, Section 6068, Subdivision (a) 
(Failure to Support State Law) 

The State Bar contends that respondent's failure 
to provide Anita with the disclosure statement required 
by Civil Code section 1102 et seq. constitutes a 
violation of section 606 8, subdivision ( a). That subd i-

I 5. We invite attention to tlvo factors that appear to have unduly 
prolonged the resolution of this matter. First, we note that the 
matter was ta.ken under submission on March I, 2000, and the 
decisionofthe hearingjudge was not filed until January 22,200 I, 
in clear violation ofrule 220(b ), Rules of?rocedure of the State 
Bar. Second, the first investigative letter to respondent was 
dated May 13, 1996, whiletherecordshowsnofollowupon that 
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vision requires an attorney to supportthe Constitution 
and laws of the United States and of this state. The 
hearingj udge concluded that because the contract of 
sale with Anita contained a provision that the French 
Camp property was sold "as is," Anita waived the 
requirements of Civil Code section 1102 et seq. and 
that respondent was not required to comply with the 
provisions of Civil Code section 1102.6 as it then 
existed. We disagree with the hearingjudge' s conclu­
sion regarding a waiver of the Civil Code section, but 
reach the same conclusion regarding respondent's 
culpability under this charge using different reasoning. 

[6] It is true that at the time of respondent's sale 
of the French Camp property the apparent controlling 
law permitted a waiver of the requirements of Civil 
Code section 1102 et seq. (Loughrin v. Superior Court 
(1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 1188.)However,asLoughrin 
notes at page 1195, "a knowing and explicit waivers of 
the benefits of section 1102 et seq. can be effective." 
We conclude that there was neither a knowing nor an 
explicitwaiverof those sections by Anita in the contract 
of sale. Anita had no know ledge of those Civil Code 
sections; nor is there any evidence that the existence 
or import of those sections was explained or described 
to her. However, this omission by respondent was 
charged in count one as one of the elements constitut­
ing his violation of rule 3-3 00 and is one of the factors 
that we use to determine that there was a violation of 
rule 3-300 as charged in that count. To again rely on 
that identical failure to provide a disclosure statement 
as a separate ethical violation is not proper. (Cf. In the 
Mauer qf Harney (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 266,279.) We conclude that respondent 
is not culpable of a violation of section 6068, subdi vi­
sion (a) as charged in count nine. 

DISCIPLINE 

In determining discipline we look first to mitigat­
ing andaggravating circumstances, each of which must 

investigation until August 18, 1997, some 15 months later. These 
factors, in combination, represent a delay of almost 26 months, 
the majority of which appearunjustified. \\'hilethe delay is not 
jurisdictional {In the Malter ofBrimberry(Review Dept. 1995) 
3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 390,396), it is an unacceptable delay 
in public protection and determiningthe rights ofrespondent. 
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be established by clear and convincing evidence (In the 
Matter of Frazier (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 676,699; Std. l.2(b), (e).). 

Mitigation and Aggravation 

At the time of the found misconduct respondent 
had practiced in this state for 26 years without prior 
discipline. "Absence ofapriordisciplinary record is an 
important mitigating circumstance when an attorney 
has practiced for a significant period of time." (In re 
Young (1989) 49 Cal.3d 257, 269 [20 years without 
complaint]; Std. 1.2(e)(i).) Weagreewith the hearing 
judge's finding that there is no c I ear and convincing 
evidence of significant pro bono activities. We note 
that respondent has not pursued that issue on appeal. 

[7] The hearing judge found that respondent's 
misconduct was aggravated by harm caused to Anita 
by that misconduct. We agree in part, but believe that 
finding needs some additional explanation. It is true 
that Anita lost the property as the result ofBenefic ial 
exercising its right of sale underthe deed of trust. That 
occurred as the result of Anita's lack of ability to 
manage her funds or understand that she alone was 
responsible for making the payments to preserve the 
property. It is clear that this lack ofability on the part 
of Anita was a risk that was foreseeable by respondent. 
However, wedonotagreethatAnita'sfailuretomake 
any payments after four months, or make any effort 
to either save or sell the property was foreseeable. 
Anita must bear the primary responsibility for the loss 
of the property. Had she preserved any of her funds 
she would have at least been able to sell the property 
and recover at least some portion of her investment. 
We do not find that her inability to accomplish this 
small task was foreseeable. Following the sale, respon­
dent repeatedly wrote Anita urging her to make the 
payments to Beneficial and offering to help clean up the 
property in order to permit her to sell it prior to 
foreclosure. 

We do find respondent culpable of multiple of­
fenses in his violation of rule 3-300 and three counts 
of moral turpitude, in breaching his duties to Anita in 
the property transaction, in sending the settlement 
agreement to Beneficial and in his response to the State 
Bar's second investigative letter. We do consider these 
multiple offenses to be aggravating. (Std. 1.2 (b )(ii).) 
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Discussion Regarding Discipline 

[ 8a] We find that although respondent's conduct 
in the sale of the French Camp property to Anita 
involved moral turpitude, it has not been shown by 
clear and convincing evidence to have been either 
intentionally dishonest or venal. Even in retrospect, the 
potential for benefits to Anita and her children in the 
sale can be seen. It is impossible to allocate responsi­
bility for Anita's loss between respondent and Anita. 
It is forth is reason that we rejectthe State Bar's request 
that any recommendation for discipline include an 
order for restitution. 

[Sb] It is clear that at least some portion of the 
rationale for respondent entering into the sale was 
personal benefit. Nonetheless, had Anita acted respon­
sibly the sale could have proven beneficial to her. In this 
sense, the sale of the property here is distinguishable 
from cases in which the total control of the investment 
was in the hands of the attorney or his associates. (See 
Rose v. State Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d 646 [investment 
in restaurant equipment]; Hunniecutt v. Staw Bar, 
supra, 44 Cal.3d 362 [loan to attorney, originally 
secured, converted to unsecured].) 

Violation of the predecessor rule to 3-300 has 
resulted in a wide range of discipline, from private 
reproval to two years' actual suspension. ( Hunniecutt 
v. State Bar, supra.44Cal.3d atp. 373.)Inarguingthat 
respondent be actually suspended for two years as the 
result of his misconduct, the State Bar relies on Rose 
v. State Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d 646, Beery v. State Bar 
(1987) 43 Cal.3d 802 and In the Matter of Johnson 
(Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 233. 

In Rose the attorney was found culpable of 
willfully failingto communicate with clients, failure to 
promptly discharge obligations regarding c I ient funds, 
improper solicitation of clients and improper business 
dealings with a client. Rose withheld proceeds of a 
personal injury settlement from a client for three years 
and delayed paying an expert he had hired, and then 
satisfied these obligations only afterdisciplinarypro­
ceedingshad been commenced against him. In additional 
matters, Rose was found culpable off ailing to promptly 
return a client's file and culpable of solicitingthe victim 
ofa helicopter crash on the victim being released from 
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intensive care, then failing to communicate with him 
and another client involved in that same crash. Also, 
Rose settled a wrongful death action on behalf of the 
deceased' s widow. He then persuaded the widow to 
invest $70,000 of her approximately $93,000 settle­
ment in a restaurant franchise without disclosing that 
he was receiving compensation as a promoter for that 
franchise. Rose was actually suspended for two years. 

In Beery v. State Bar, supra, 43 Cal.3d 802 the 
client's personal injury action was settled for$250,000. 
The attorney solicited a loan from the client for a 
satellite venture withouttellingtheclient ofhis personal 
involvement in the venture or other material facts 
including the fact that funds were not available from 
other sources .. The attorney personally guaranteed the 
investment, although he knew he could not perform on 
that guarantee. The attorney was found culpable of 
moral turpitude in solicitingthe loan. In imposing a two­
year actual suspension, the Supreme Court noted that 
the attorney persisted in his failure to recognize the 
seriousness of his misconduct. A two-year actual 
suspension was imposed in In the Matter of Johnson, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 233 where the 
attorney exploited a vulnerable relative forwhom she 
had obtained a recovery in a personal injury action by 
borrowing the bulk of the relative' s recovery and not 
repaying the loan. Moral turpitude as well as serious 
aggravation was found and the attorney was actually 
suspended for a period of two years. 

In Hawk v. State Bar ( 1988) 45 Cal.3d 589, the 
attorney obtained a deed of trust on a client's property, 
without complying with the predecessor to rule 3-300, 
to secure his fee. He was also culpable of moral 
turpitude bymisleadingtheclients in the time they had 
to pay offtheir indebtedness and changing the amount 
ofindebtedness after the note had been executed. The 
Supreme Court adopted a recommendation of six 
months actual suspension, noting that there was miti­
gation and that, at that time, the application of the rule 
to Hawk's circumstances was a matter of first impres­
sion. 

On the other hand, in Connor v. State Bar( J 990) 
50 Cal.3d 1047, the review department of this court 
recommended that the attorney be actually suspended 
for two years, but the Supreme Court rejected that 
recommendation and imposed the discipline of a public 
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reproval. Connor had acquired title to the client's 
propertyinLakeArrowheadandthenobtainedahome 
equity loan on the property, falsely stating on the loan 
application that his address was that of the Lake 
Arrowhead property, that he was then renting and 
buying the property from the client, and, by a check 
mark, that he intended to occupy the property as his 
primary residence. He then provided the proceeds of 
the loan to the client to avoid foreclosure. In light of the 
attorney's strong testimony that he did not intend to 
mislead the lender, the Supreme Court determined that 
the evidence did not support the review department's 
finding that Connor intended to deceive the lender. 

InHunniecuttv. State Bar, supra, 44 Cal.3d 362, 
the State Bar hearing panel recommended actual 
suspension for 90 days and that Hunniecutt make 
restitution. The Supreme Court adopted that recom­
mendation. In that case, the attorney had abandoned 
two clients and violated the predecessor to rule 3-300. 
He persuaded his client, by personally guaranteeing the 
loan, to invest the proceeds of a personal injury 
settlement that he obtained for the client in an unse­
cured real estate transaction in which Hunniecutt had 
an interest. The real estate venture resulted in large 
losses to the attorney, and he was unable to repay the 
loan. The Supreme Court affirmed a finding of moral 
turpitude. 

In Ritter v. State Bar( 1985) 40 Cal. 3 d 5 95, it was 
found that, although the transaction was reasonable, 
there was a violation of the predecessor to rule 3-3 00, 
because no opportunity was given for the client to 
discuss the transaction with a third person. There, the 
loan agreement between Ritter and the client was 
signed by the client upon presentation. Ritter was 
suspended for 60 days. In In the Matter of Lane 
(Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 73 5, 
the attorney loaned his client $1 00,000 without com~ 
plying with rule3-300. Thereafter,herepresented the 
client, sued the client and was a co-defendant with the 
client, resulting in repeated violations oft he Rules of 
Professional Conduct, but no finding of moral turpi­
tude. In mitigation Lane showed 25 years of practice 
without discipline and a good reputation in the commu­
nity. Lane was suspended for 60 days. 

In considering the cases relied on by the State Bar, 
we find that they demonstrate more egregious miscon-
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duct than that before us. In both the Beny and Johnson 
matters the attorney was found culpable of moral 
turpitude in the transaction with the client. Wh~le no 
moral turpitude was found in the attorney's transaction 
with his client, in Rose v. State Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d 
646 there was significant, if not controlling, additional 
misconduct resulting in a two-year actual suspension. 
Further, in each of the cases relied on by the State Bar, 
there was far less fairness, or potential for benefitto the 
client, in the dealings between the attorney and client. 

Although we find no case setting forth facts that 
directly guide us, we look to Hawk, Hunniecutt, Ritter 
and Conner for assistance. In Hunniecutt it appears 
that the transaction between the attorney and client 
lacked the potential for fairness and reasonableness 
that existed in respondent's sale of the French Camp 
property to Anita. In our judgement these findings of 
three counts of moral turpitude make the present case 
more serious than Hunniecutt. In Conner, the Su­
preme Court rejected the finding of n.ioral turpitude 
and the recommended two-year period of actual 
suspension and imposed a public reproval. Again in 
Ritter, the Supreme Court affirmed the transaction 
was fair and reasonable, but also affirmed that there 
was a violation of the rule concerning transactions 
between attorney and client. On balance, we find 
respondent's action to have been more egregious than 
that of the attorneys in either Ritter or Hunniecutt, and 
roughly equivalent to the misconduct of the attorney 
inHawk. 

Therefore, we adopt the recommendation of the 
hearingjudgethatrespondentThomasOscarGillisbe 
suspended from the practice oflaw for a period of three 
years, that execution of that three-year suspension be 
stayed, and that he be placed on probation for three 
years on each of the conditions recommended by the 
hearingjudge in his decision filed on January 22,2001, 
including the condition that respondent be actually 
suspended from the practice oflaw for six months. 

We also recommend that respondent be ordered 
to comply with rule 955 of the CaliforniaRulesofCourt 
and to perform the acts specified in subdivisions (a) and 
(c) of.that rule within 30 and 40 calender days, 
respectively, after the effective date of the Supreme 
Court's order in this matter. 
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We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination given by the National 
Conference ofBar Examiners within one year after the 
effective date of the Supreme Court's order in this 
matter and that he be ordered to furnish satisfactory 
proofofhis passage of that examination to the State Bar 
Probation Unit within that one-year period. 

COSTS 

Finally, we recommend that costs be awarded to 
the State Bar pursuant to Business and Professions 
Code section 6068.10 and that such costs be made 
payable to accordance with Business and Professions 
Code section 6104. 7. 

Weconcur: 
STOVTTZ, P. J. 
WATAI,J. 
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In this original disciplinary proceeding, the State Bar charged respondent with misconduct in two client 
matters. The parties entered into a stipulation as to facts and cone lusions of law. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
132.) In the first client matter, the parties stipulated that respondent collected an illegal fee and violated the client 
trust account rules. The parties further stipulated that both of the violations involved moral turpitude because 
they occurred as a result of respondent's gross negligence. ln the second client matter, the parties stipulated that 
respondent again violated the client trust account rules and that the trust account violation involved turpitude 
because it occurred as aresult ofrespondent' s gross negligence. The hearingjudge accepted the parties' stipulation 
and held a trial as to the appropriate level of discipline to recommend to the Supreme Court. At thattrial, the parties 
presented evidence of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, and the hearingjudge, thereafter, recommended 
that respondent be placed on three years' probation on conditions, including a nine-month period of actual 
suspension. (Hon. Carlos E. Velarde, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent requested review and contended that the hearing judge's discipline recommendation was 
excessive and that no actual suspension was warranted because respondent reasonably relied on her husband 
and law partner to properly manage their client trust account. The State Bar urged the review department to reject 
respondent's claims and to adopt the hearingjudge' s recommended nine-month period of actual suspension. 

The review department held it had a duty to determine whether the parties' stipulated conclusions oflaw 
were supported by the record before accepting them. The review department independently detennined that each 
of the parties' stipulations as toculpabilitywas supported by the record and, therefore, accepted all of them just 
as the hearingjudge had done. The review department rejected respondent's claim that she reasonably relied 
on her husband and law partner to manage their client trust account and he Id that respondent could not avoid 
her personal, nondelegable duty to properly monitortrust funds and the trust account by agreeingwithher husband 
that he wou Id hand le and control the client trust account while she handled the I itigation portion of their practice. 
The review department concluded that the hearingj udge' s discip I ine recommendation was excessive because 
of the substantial mitigation in the record. The review department recommended a three-year period of stayed 
suspension, but reduced the hearing judge's recommended period of probation from three years to two years 
and his recommended period of actual suspension from nine months to thirty days. 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but have 
been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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llEADNOTES 

[1 a-c] 130 Procedure-Procedure on Review 
135.30 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Pleadings/Motions/Stipulations 
135. 70 Proced ore-Revised Rules of Procedure-Review /Delegated Powers 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
151 Evidence-Stipulations 
165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
166 Independent Review of Record 
Even tho ugh the parties entered into a stipulation as to facts and con cl us ions of law (Rules Proc. of 
State Bar, rule 132) in which they agreed to be bound by stipulated facts regardless of the degree of 
discipline recommended or imposed and in which respondent pleaded nolo contendere to the 
disciplinary charges in the stipulation (Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 6085.5, subd. ( c)) and acknowledged 
that her ''the plea of nolo contendere shall be considered the same as an admission of culpability" for 
disciplinary purposes, the State Bar Court still had an affirmative duty to independently determine 
whether the parties' stipulated conclusions oflaw were supported by the record before accepting them. 

[2J 130 Procedure-Procedure on Review 

131 

[4] 

135.30 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Pleadings/Motions/Stipulations 
135. 70 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Review /Delegated Powers 
139 Proced ore-Miscellaneous 
151 Evidence-Stipulations 
165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
166 Independent Review of Record 
169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
Regard less of whether respondent had the right on review to challenge the conclusions of culpability 
to which she stipulated to in the hearing department, the review department still had an affirmative 
duty to determine if the culpability findings were supported by the record. 

163 Proof of Wilfulness 
164 Proof of Intent 
204.10 Culpability-Wilfulness Requirement 
221 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
430 Breach ofFiduciary Duty 
While moral turpitude generally requires a certain level ofintent, guilty know ledge, orwillfulness, the 
law is clear that where an attorney's fiduciary obligations are involved, particularlytrust account duties, 
a finding of gross negligence will support such a charge. 

163 
164 
204.10 
204.20 

Proof of Wilfulness 
Proof oflntent 
Culpability-Wilfulness Requirement 
Culpability-Intent Requirement 
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221 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
430 Breach ofFiduciary Duty 
Respondentviolated statute proscribing acts of moral turpitude through her gross negligence in fulfilling 
her trust account duties. Even though respondent had an agreement with her husband and law partner 
that he would manage their client trust account, there was no evidence of established or agreed on 
procedures for the operation of trust account. And respondent overextended herself in the handling 
landmark litigation cases and in advocating for legislation dealing in that specializedareaoflaw, allowed 
herself to be disconnected from management oflaw office overextended period of time during a period 
when her husband ( whom respondent knew was abusive and contro II ing) was grossly mismanaging 
their trust account, and made no inquiry as to operation of the trust account even after she heard of 
specific complaint regarding the underpayment of trust funds to clients. 

[51 221 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
280 Rule4-100(A) [former8-101(A)] 
280.20 Rule4-100(B) (former8-101(B)(l)J 
280.30 Rule4-100(B)(2) [fonner8-101(B)(2)J 
280.40 Rule 4-100(B)(3) [ former 8-101 (B)(3)] 
280.50 Rule 4-lOO(B)( 4) [ former 8-101 (B)( 4) J 
430 Breach ofFiduciary Duty 
An attorney has a personal obligation of reasonable care to comply with the critically important rules 
for the safekeeping and disposition of client funds. These duties are nondelegable. This does not mean 
that an attorney is culpable of a moral hlrpitude violation by not personally managing his or her trust 
account, provided that attorney reasonably relies on a partner, associate, or other responsible 
employee to care for that account. However, even that reasonable reliance on another to care for the 
trust account does not relieve the attorney from the professional responsibility to properly maintain 
funds in that account. That is, in the handling of client funds, an attorney has a direct professional 
responsibility to his or her client, and the attorney doe snot avoid that direct professional responsibility 
by, even reasonable, reliance on a partner, associate or responsible employee. 

[ 6) 135.30 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Pleadings/Motions/Stipulations 
151 Evidence-Stipulations 
163 Proof of Wilfulness 
164 Proof of Intent 
169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
204.10 Culpability-Wilfulness Requirement 
204.20 Culpability-Intent Requirement 
280 Rule 4-lOO(A) [ former 8-101 (A)] 
Because respondent allowed herself to be disconnected from management of her law office over 
extended period of time and did not undertake any effort to fulfill her personal and nondelegable duty 
tom on itor client fundspnd her trust account, hearingjudge properly accepted parties' stipulation and 
correctly found, on respondent's plea of nolo contendere, that respondent was culpable of violating 
trust account rules even though respondent relied on her husband and law partner to manage the trust 

account. 

[71 179 Discipline Conditions-Miscellaneous 
1092 Substantive Issues re Discipline-Excessiveness 
1099 Substantive Issues re Discipline-Miscellaneous 
Respondent was unable to confront her husbandconceminghis handling of the trust account. Absent 
equally strong evidence of respondent's recovery from such a disability concerning such a fundamental 
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duty of a lawyer the review department would recommend severe remedial di sci pl ine. Respondent's 
compelling evidence of her actions to tenninate her relations with her husband and her continuing 
psychiatric treatment make clear that such a recovery is well under way. Respondent expressed 
remorse for the misconduct; was candid with the State Bar in stipulating to the misconduct; has taken 
effective steps to avoid a repetition ofthatmisconduct includingseveringherrelations with her husband 
and continuing in therapy; and has made a contribution to society in seeking, and obtaining, legislation 
dealing with human reproduction. While serious misconduct occurred as the result of respondent's 
inattention to financial matters, including the trust account she maintained with her husband, a future 
recurrence of such problems is unlikely. The hearingj udge' s recommended condition of continued 
psychiatric treatment lends assurance to this conclusion. 

Additional Analysis 
Culpability 

Found 
221.12 
280.01 
290.01 

Aggravation 
Found 

521 
582.10 

Mitigation 
Found 

710.10 
725.11 
735.10 
740.10 
745.L0 

Discipline 

Section 6106-Gross Negligence 
Rule4-100(A) [fonner8-10l(A)] 
Rule 4-200 (former 2-107) 

Multiple Acts 
Harm to Client 

No Prior Record 
Disability/Illness 
Candor-Bar 
Good Character 
Remorse/Restitution 

1013.09 StayedSuspension-3 Years 
l O 15.01 Actual Suspension-1 Month 
1017 .08 Probation-2 Years 

Probation Conditions 
l 023 .40 Testing/Treatment-Psychological 
I 024 Ethics Exam/School 
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OPINION 

OBRIEN, J. :· 

Respondent Melanie Rae Blum seeks review of a 
decision recommending that she be placed on proba­
tion for a period of three years, conditioned, inter alia, 
on an actual suspension of nine months. Respondent 
entered into a "stipulation as to facts and conclusions 
oflaw" pursuantto rule 13 2 of the Rules of Procedure 
of the State Bar (Rules of Procedure). Contained in 
that stipulation is a provision that states "I plead nolo 
contendere to the charges set forth in this stipulation 
and I completely understand that my plea shall be 
considered the same as an admission of culpability 
except as stated in Business and Professions Code 
section 60 85 .5( c ). "1 In the balance of that "stipulation 
as to facts and conclusions oflaw," respondent stipu­
lated to committing an act involving moral turpitude in 
viol at ion of section 6106 and charging a fee contrary 
to the provisions of section 6146, subdivision (a), 
in violation of Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 
4-200(A).2 She further stipulated that by her gross 
negligence she failed to maintain client funds in her 
trust account in two client matters in violation of rule 
4-1 00(A). That stipulation, including the plea ofnolo 
contendere, was accepted by the hearingjudge. 

Respondent argues that the recommended disci­
pline is excessive in that the understanding between her 
and her husband/law partner provided that he would 
handle the office operations, including bi 11 ing and trust 
account contra l, while she became immersed in ferti 1-
ity litigation in a landmark case against the Center for 
Reproductive Health and the University of California, 
Irvine (UCI). Foil owing our independent review of the 
factual matters stipulated to and the balance of the 
record before us, we had a question as to whether the 
facts stipulated to, in light of the hearingjudge' s finding 
in his discussion of mitigation that respondent reason­
ably relied on her husband/law partner to properly 
manage the law firm, supported a finding of moral 

"'. Judge Pro Tern of the State Bar Court, appointed by the State 
Bar Board ofGovernorsunder rule 14 ofthe Rules of Procedure 
of the State Bar. 

407 

turpitude in violation of section 6106. As a conse­
quence, we advised the parties of that concern prior to 
oral argument pursuant to Rules of Procedure, rule 
305(6) and invited them to address the issue by written 
memorandum. Following our review we do find that 
the record supports the stipulated conclusion that 
respondent is culpable of committing an act involving 
moral turpitude but further agree that the record, 
includingthefactual stipulation, supports a finding of 
substantial mitigation. 

Respondent urges no actual suspension, while the 
State Bar argues in support of the hearing judge's 
recommendation of nine months' actual suspension. 
Following our review of the record and consideration 
of respondent's evidence in mitigation showing the 
abusive and controlling conduct ofherthen-husband/ 
law partner, we believethattherecommended period 
of actual suspension is excessive and shall recommend 
that respondent's suspension be reduced to 3 0 days of 
actual suspension as a condition of a two-year period 
of probation, otherwise on the conditions recom­
mended by the hearingjudge. 

We deny respondent's motion for augmentation 
of the record or remand for additional evidence, noting 
that the parties were offered, and took, the opportunity 
to provide extensive evidence concerningrespondenf s 
relationship with her then-husband/law partner, in­
cluding the testimony of two psychiatrists and numerous 
character witnesses. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

Respondent was admitted to practice law in 
California in December 1981. The stipulation of the 
parties, in addition to the plea of nolo contendere, 
provides: "The parties agree to be bound by the factual 
stipulations contained herein regardless of the degree 
of discipline recommended or imposed; [1] ... The 
factual statements contained in this Stipulation consti­
tute admissions of fact and may not be withdrawn by 

I. That exception provides that such a plea may not be used 
against the attorney in a civil suit. All further references to 
sections are to the Business and Professions Code. 

2. All further references to rules arc to the Rules of Professional 
Conduct, unless otherwise indicated. 
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either party, except with Court approval; [1] ... This 
Stipulation relates only to the facts set forth below. 
Evidence to prove or disprove a stipulated fact is 
inadmissible at trial. Neither party waives its right to 
submit and present evidence relating to mitigation or 
aggravation." 

We rely on the factual stipulation of the parties for 
the factual background pertaining to culpability and to 
aid us in recommending discipline.We also consider 
the testimony of respondent that does not contradict 
the stipulation, her medical experts' and character 
testimony,andthemedicaltestimonypresentedbythe 
State Bar as it pertains to aggravation and mitigation. 

Respondent and her former husband, Mark 
Roseman (Roseman), an attomey,3 were partners in 
the practice of law and were cosignatories on their 
client trust account atthe Bank of America. During the 
relevant period, respondent took on more work than 
she could comfortably handle. In 1995, respondent 
became immersed in "fertility litigation" and served as 
lead counsel in a landmark case against UCI and its 
now-defunct Center for Reproductive Health, com­
monly devoting 18 hours a day to the matter, often 
interviewing clients all day, working in her office until 
10: 00 or 11 :00 at night. The cases were brought on 
behalf of patients whose eggs and embryos had 
allegedly been stolen by nationally recognized UCl­
affiliated physicians and implanted in other female 
patients. As a part of that litigation, respondent repre­
sented 3 6 couples in a settlement with the University 
of California Regents. Additionally, since she had the 
largest number of cases, as well as a wealth· of 
documents, she assisted other attorneys involved in 
that litigation with their fertility cases, ultimately en­
abling 74 of the 100 cases to be resolved. 

As a resu It of these activities respondent overex­
tended herself. During this period of time she was also 
experiencing significant medical problems, including 
disabling migraine headaches occurring as frequently 
as once every one or two weeks, pain from a ruptured 
disc in her back, and Meniere' s disease .4 Respondent 
was also involved in obtaining California legislation 

3. Roseman resigned from the State Bar, effective March 19, 
2000. 
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relating to the unauthorized use of human eggs and 
embryos. As a result,respondentfurtheroverextended 
herself. 

In the operation of the law practice itwasclearthat 
Roseman had time to manage the day-to-day opera­
tions of the law office. Respondent believed she could 
rely on Roseman to properly administer the practice. 
Prior to Roseman assuming management there had 
been no problems with the trust account, and it was 
only after he assumed those duties that trust account 
problems began. During the period he managed the 
office, Roseman grossly mismanaged the financial 
aspects of the practice. Some deposits were made to 
the incorrect account, some disbursements were made 
from the wrong account, bookkeeping was chaotic, 
and some client funds were improperly used for 
funding unrelated cases, resulting in trust fund defi­
c1enc1es. 

During the relevant period respondent heard that 
some complaints had come into the office, but Roseman 
insulated her from the full nature and extent of the 
situation. He instructed the office staff not to tell 
respondent anything that would upset her and divert 
her attention from the fertility cases, which Roseman 
anticipated would be very lucrative. Neither the stipu­
lation nor the balance of the record discloses the time 
respondent heard complaints come to the office, 
however the stipulation does provide thatrespondent' s 
"failure to make inquiry as to any office prob !ems when 
she had reason to understand that such inquiry shou Id 
have been made, constituted gross negligence." While 
the stipulated facts, including the quoted sentence, do 
not require a conclusion of gross negligence, those 
facts permit such a cone lusion, and under the circum­
stances the plea of nolo contendere compels that 
conclusion. 

Between March 1996 and November 1996 re­
spondent learned that her clients, the Huffmans 
(discussed,post), had received less than their proper 
distributive share of the settlement of their case. While 
respondent saw to it that the Huffmans received the 
balance they were entitled to, this knowledge of the 

4. The record shows that disease to cause inflammation of the 
inner ear, resulting in a loss of balance or hearing, or both. 
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error in handling client funds may have put her on 
notice that the office was not handling those funds as 
required by the Ru Jes of Professional Conduct. We 
note that the only other evidence in the record relating 
to the time that respondent knew or shou Id have known 
of the mishandling of client funds came from respon­
dent, who testified that she was uncertain when she 
heard the complaints, but that it was within approxi­
mately two years of the time she was testifying 
(January 2001). We note that the charges before us 
relate to events occurring in 1995 and 1996. 

The factual portion of the stipulation concluded 
with, "[ r ]espondent allowedherself to be disconnected 
from the management of her office for an extended 
period of time due to her tremendous work load at a 
time when other personal demands made it difficult, if 
not impossible, to pay adequate attention to office 
management." [la] Under Rules of Procedure, rule 
l32(b)(4)5 we accept that not only has respondent 
admitted the stipulated facts, but she has also acknowl­
edged her culpabilityofthe charges numerated in the 
stipulation. As we will discuss, however, even in the 
face ofrespondent's acknowledgment of culpability 
under that rule we must satisfy ourselves that the 
record supports that admission of culpability. 
(Giovanazziv. StateBar(l980)28 Cal.3d465, 471.) 

We note with interest, there is nothing in the 
record suggesting that respondent and Roseman had 
any discussion or understanding regarding the manner 
in which Roseman was to handle the trust account, nor 
does the record show any evidence regarding either 
Roseman' s past experience in handling trust account 
matters or his experience in managing a law office.6 

Further the record is barren of any evidence of 
standards established by the office, or by respondent, 
for either the operation of the trust account or the 
general management of the office. 

S. That rule provides, in part: "If the respondent pleads nolo 
contendere, the stipulation shall include anacknowledgmentthat 
the respondent completely understands that the plea of nolo 
contend ere shall be considered the same as an admission of the 
stipulated facts and ofhis or her culpability of the statutes and/ 
or Rules ofProfessional Conduct specified in the stipulation." 

THE CLIENT MATTERS AND SPECIFIC 
CHARGES 
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In April 199 5 Mr. and Mrs. Huffman employed 
respondent's firm to prosecute a claim for medical 
malpractice. The retainer agreement provided that 
respondent's firm would be compensated by a contin­
gent fee of 40 percent of the first $50,000 recovered. 
Section 6146 restricts contingent attorney fees to 40 
percent of the first $50,000 recovered, but measures 
the amount recovered as the net sum recovered after 
deducting any disbursements or costs incurred in the 
prosecution or settlement of the claim. When the case 
settled in November 1995, respondent's firm took, as 
fees, 40 percent of the gross settlement and then 
deducted the costs incurred in the settlement of the 
claim from the remainder and paid the amount left to 
the Huffmans. This resulted in a March 1996 under­
payment of $5,618.25 to the Huffmans. When the 
Huffmans brought the underpayment to respondent's 
attention she saw to it that the matter was rectified in 
September 1996. 7 Between the time of the settlement 
and the initial payment, respondent's firm trust ac­
count on at least two occasions dropped far below the 
amountthe firm was required to hold for the benefit of 
the Huffmans. On January 1 7, 1996, the balance 
dropped to about $712, and by February 6, 1996, it 
reached a low of about $67. 

The stipulation acknowledges that respondent 
charged theHuffmans an illegal fee in violation of rule 
4-200(A), mishandled their funds in violation of 
rule 4-1 00(A), and committed an act involving moral 
turpitude in the handling ofrespondent' strust account 
in violation of section 6106. 

In a second client matter and as stipulated by the 
parties, on or aboutJ uly 31, 1996, Judith and Richard 
Quinonez retained respondent to represent them in a 
medical malpractice claim. In September 1996 the 
claim was settled for $75,000, and the funds were 

6. The record does show that Roseman changed his practice 
specialty "all the time" and that he had frequent emotional 
outbursts that had the office staff in fear of him. 

7. The record docs not show when the matter was called to 
respondent's attention. 
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deposited'into the firm trust account. After the deduc­
tion of costs and attorney's fees it was required that 
there remain in the account $44,531 for the benefit of 
the Quinonezes. On September 27, l 996, the trust 
account balance fell to $36,880, on October 17 the 
balance was $2, 102andon October25 the balance was 
approximately $3,554. The Quinonezesreceived their 
funds in March 1997. 

In the Quinonez matter, respondent acknowl­
edges a violaiion of rule 4-100( A), requiring an attorney 
to hold funds of a client in a client trust account, and 
section 6106, involving moral turpitude arising out of 
the alleged trust account violation. 

DISCUSSION OF CULPABILITY 

The Moral Turpitude Charges 

( 1 b] Under the heading"Conclusions ofLaw" the 
stipulation of the parties provided, "[r]espondent's 
aforesaid gross negligence constituted moral turpitude. 
in violation of section 6106 of the Business and 
Professions Code, and also resulted in charging the 
Huffmans an illegal fee in violation ofRule4-200(A) 
of the Rules of Professional Conduct in that the charge 
violated Section 6146( a) of the Business and Prof es~ 
sionsCode. Also, by her gross negligence she violated 
Rule 4-1 00(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct 
relating to the handling of client trust account funds for 
the Huff mans .... "As we have indicated, where there 
are stipulations as to conclusions of law, we must 
nonetheless satisfy ourselves that the factual record 
supports such a conclusion. 

(le] A plea ofnolo contendere entered pursuant 
to Rules of Procedure, rule l 32(b )( 4) does not relieve 
this court of the obligation to determine that there is-a 
factual record suffic ientto support a determination of 
culpability. Rule of Procedure, rule 132(b) (4), by 
implication, requires stipulated facts that support an 
admission ofculpability. 8 Section 6085 .5, subdivision 
(c)acknowledgesthatthiscourtrequiresafactualbasis 
for a nolo contendere plea in that it provides that such 

8. That rule provides in part: "If the respondent pleads nolo 
contendere, the stipularion shallindudean acknowledgment that 
the respondent completely understands that the plea of nolo 
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factual basis may not be used against a respondent in 
a civil suit. The Supreme Court has made clear our 
ob ligation to determine the factual basis for a stipula­
tion as to culpability. ( Giovanazzi v. State Bar, supra, 
28 Cal.3d 465, 471; Inniss v. State Bar (1978) 20 
Cal.3d 552, 555.) 

[2} The StateBararguesthatarespondentcannot 
challenge on review culpability conclusions of trust 
account violations and other misconduct that was 
stipulated to at the hearing level, relying on In the 
Matter of Robins (Review Dept. 1991) I Cal. State Bar 
Ct.Rptr. 708, 713. Areadingofthatcasemakesclear 
the record fully supported afindingof culpability as to 
the stipulated charges. Also, regardless ofrespondent' s 
rightto challenge the findings made below, we have an 
affinnative duty to detennine that such findings of 
culpability are supported by the record. 

Consequently, we consider the Supreme Court's 
definition of moral turpitude in measuring the charge 
of av io lation of section 6106, and then we look to the 
conduct necessary to find culpability under that sec­
tion. 

{3} While moral turpitude as included in section 
6106 generally requires a certain level ofintent, guilty 
knowledge, or willfulness (see Sternlieb v. State Bar 
( 1990) 52 Cal.3d 3 L 7), the law is clear that where an 
attorney's fiduciary obi igations are involved, particu­
larlytrust account duties, a finding of gross negligence 
will support such a charge ( Giovanazzi v. State Bar, 
supra, 28Cal.3d465,415;Lipsonv. State Ba,:.( 1991) 
53 Cal.3d 10 l 0, 1020). 

[4J Looking to the stipulated facts, there is no 
evidence that respondent established or agreed with 
Roseman on procedures for the operation of the trust 
• account, even though she knew he was to be in control 
of that account for a substantial period of time. The 
record shows that respondent overextended herse !fin 
the handling of the fertility cases; further overextended 
herself in advocating legislation dealing with that 
subject; heard some complaints during the "relevant 

contendere shall be considered the same as an admission of the 
stipulated facts and of his or her culpability ... . " 
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period," apparently including a specific complaint 
from the Huff mans during that period; made no inquiry 
as to the operation of the firm trust account; and 
nonetheless "allowed herself to be disconnected from 
the management of her office for an extended period 
of time .... " This occurred during a period when 
Roseman, whom respondent knew to be abusive and 
control ling, was grossly mismanaging the firm's trust 
account. In our judgment th is is sufficient evidence to 
establish respondent's gross negligence in violation of 
section 6106.9 

Under these circumstances, we reject the hearing 
judge's observation, contained in his discussion of 
appropriate discipline, that respondent's "reasonable 
reliance" on Roseman led to her inattention to the trust 
account and conclude that such reliance was not 
reasonable. 

The Trust Account and 
Unlawful Fees Charges 

[SJ As noted by the State Bar, an attorney has a 
"personal obligation of reasonable care to comply with 
the critically important rules for the safekeeping and 
disposition of client funds." (Palomo v. State Bar 
(1984) 36Cal.3d 785, 795.) These duties arenondel­
egable. ( Coppock v. State Bar ( 1988) 44 Cal.3d 665, 
680.) Th is does not mean that an attorney is culpable 
of a moral turpitude violation by not personally man­
aging his or her trust account, provided that attorney 
reasonably relies on a partner, associate, or other 
responsible employee to care for that account. How­
ever, even that reasonable reliance on another to care 
for the trust account does not relieve the attorney from 
the professional responsibility to properly maintain 
funds inthataccount. Thatis, inthehandlingofclient 
funds, an attorney has a direct professional responsi­
bilityto his or her client, and the attorney does not avoid 
that direct professional responsibility by, even reason­
able, reliance on a partner, associate or responsible 
employee. (Cf. Ibid.) 

[ 6] In both the Huffman and Quinonez matters it 
is clear from the factual stipulation that client funds 

9. We consider respondent's and the State Bar's psychiatric 
e\'idenceunder the discussion of mitigation, post. 
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were not retained in the trust account. Moreover, as 
noted, the stipulation establishes that respondent "al­
lowed herselfto be disconnected from the management 
ofheroffice for an extended period of time .... "This 
portion of the stipulation indicates that respondent 
failed to take reasonable steps to comply with her 
personal, nondelegable duty to monitor client funds 
and her trust account. Respondent's reliance on 
Roseman did not relieve her ofherobligation to see that 
those funds were retained in the finn trust account. 
Under the circumstances of this case, we therefore 
agree with the hearingjudge 'sdetennination of culpa• 
bility of violations of rule4~ 1 00(A)in both the Huffman 
and Quinonez matters. 

We note that we are not the only state to determine 
that an attorney is not relieved from professional 
responsibility when he or she relies on a partner to 
maintain client trust accounts. In Matter of Pollack 
(N.Y.App. Div.1989) 142A.D.2d386 [S36N.Y.S.2d 
4 3 7], attorney Pollack was determined to be culpable 
of professional misconduct where his partner depos• 
ited fWlds belonging to Pollack's client into an account 
which was not designated as a trust or escrow account 
and which contained both office and client funds. The 
partner also al lowed the amount in the account to drop 
below the amount of client funds deposited therein. 
(Pollack, supra, 536 N.Y.S.2d at p. 438.) Notwith· 
standing Pollack's claims that he was not aware of his 
partner's withdrawal of funds from the account, the 
evidence established that during the time in question, 
Pollack failed to inquireofhis partner aboutthe client 
funds, failed to examine even one bank statement, and 
failed to inquire about his client account. (Id. at pp. 
438-439.) The court held that Pollack was '"under a 
duty to know what was going on"' and therefore 
'"must share the burden ofresponsibility for the acts 
ofhis partner even though he claims he had no actual 
knowledge of some of the acts .... "' (Id. at p. 439.) 

Later that same year, the same court he Id that an 
attorney was subject to discipline based upon his 
partner's mishandling of an escrow account "to the 
extent that [the attorney] assumed or should have 
assumed some responsibility for his partner's conduct 
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of their law practice and care of the escrow account." 
(Matter of Sykes (N.Y. App. Div. 1989) 150 A.D.2d 
126, 127 [546 N.Y .S.2d 376, 377].) The court there 
disagreed with a referee's determination that Sykes 
was culpable of conversion and misappropriation of 
clients' funds but found him culpable of, inter alia, 
failing to maintain a duly constituted escrow account 
and commingling escrow funds with personal and 
business funds. (Sykes, supra, 546 N.Y.S.2d at p. 
127.) 

We conclude that Sykes and Pollack are consis­
tent with our determination that respondent had a 
nondelegable duty to monitorthetrust account, failed 
to undertake any effort to comply with this duty, and 
under the circumstances present here is culpable of 
trust account violations notwithstanding reliance on 
her partner to manage such account. 

In both the Huffman and Quinonez matters it is 
clear from the factual stipulation that client funds were 
not retained in the trust account. Respondent's reliance 
on Roseman did not relieve her of her obligation to see 
thatthose funds were retained in the firm trust account, 
and we agree that the hearingjudge' s acceptance of the 
stipulation and nolo contendere plea was proper on the 
charges of violations of rule 4-1 00(A) in both the 
Huffman and the Quinonez matters. 

The nolo contendere plea included an acknowl­
edgment of charging an illegal fee in violation of rule 
4-200( A) in the Huffman matter. The facts stipulated 
to clearly support respondent's culpability of that 
charge. 

DISCUSSION OF DISCIPLINE 

Mitigation 

At the time of the found misconduct respondent 
had at least 14 years of discipline-free practice. This is 
a significant factor in mitigation. (Hawes v. State Bar 
(1990) 51 Cal.3d 587,596 [JO years discipline-free 
practice]; Std. l .2(e)(i), Rules Proc., tit. IV, Stds. for 
Atty. Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct (Stds.).) 

In addition to the stipulation, the record contains 
psychiatric testimony presented by both the State Bar 
and respondent that relates to respondent's relation-
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ship with Roseman and her inability to confront him in 
his handling of the office trust account. Dr. Kausal 
Sharma, who has done over l 00 attorney evaluations 
for the State Bar, and in this case was called by the State 
Bar, testified that, based on his consultation with 
respondent, he was of the opinion that she was under 
extreme emotional difficultiesduringthetirne covered 
by the charging allegations and that her ability to cope 
with Roseman and his handling offinancial affairs was 
substantially impaired. 

Dr. Lawrence Sporty, a senior lecturer in the 
department of psychiatry and neurology at UCI and a 
well-qualified psychiatrist, started counseling both 
respondent and Roseman to determine if their marriage 
could be saved. At the second session, when Dr. 
Sporty confronted Roseman about his conduct, 
Roseman stormed from Dr. Sporty' s office. At a 
subsequent session with respondent, Roseman burst 
into Dr. Sporty's office, unannounced, requiring Dr. 
Sporty to eject him from the office. 

Dr. Sporty testified as respondent's treating phy­
sician that in his opinion respondent suffered from 
post-traumatic stress disorder; that Roseman was 
abusive, dominating and control) ing; and that respon­
dent had suffered abuse, both physical and mental, at 
his hands. He further testified, "[i]t is my opinion 
[respondent] was incapable of confronting and stop­
ping her husband in his demands that she stay away 
from anything to do with the trust accounts and 
finances .... " 

We agree that respondent suffered from extreme 
emotional difficulties during the time offound mi scon­
duct. This too is a mitigating circumstance. (Std. 
1.2( e )(iv).) The record shows that upon her ultimately 
coming to grips with the activities ofRoseman she, with 
psychiatric help, was able to confront him and disas­
sociate herself from him. Uponherfull understanding 
of what he had done she terminated their professional 
association and commenced dissolution of marriage 
proceedings. Through the time of trial in this matter, 
respondent continued to obtain psychiatric help. Dr. 
Sporty opined that respondent had gained insight into 
the conditions that permitted Roseman to manipulate 
her and that the control he gained over her "would not 
occur again in her life ... . " 
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Respondent has fully and candidly acknowledged 
her misconduct by way of her stipulation to the facts 
set forth in the charges before us and stipulated to a 
mental examination by a State Bar-appointed psychia­
trist. We consider this in mitigation. (Std. 1.2( e )( v ). ) 
She made restitution to the Huff mans and has repaid 
some $200,000 of the approximately $500,000 in debt 
that her husband has left her with. Respondent has 
taken charge of all aspects ofthe operation of her law 
office, including the handling of the finances and the 
trust account. Thus, respondent has taken objective 
steps to atone for the consequencesofhermisconduct, 
and this too is a mitigating factor. (Std. l .2(e )(vii).) 

As character witnesses, respondent called five 
attorneys and a senior police investigator for the 
California Medical Board. Three of the attorneys 
specialized in medical and dental malpractice, one 
represented physicians appearing before the California 
Medical Board, and one specialized in insurance 
defense work relating to environmental law and prod­
ucts liability. Each oftheattomeys worked either with 
or against respondent, or was involved in litigation with 
respondent's then-husband. Each, whether opposing 
her or working with her, testified to her extreme 
honesty and truthfulness and her adhering to ethical 
lines. Each was familiar with respondent' smisconduct 
and attributed it to respondent's husband and 
respondent's complete immersion in the UClfortility 
matter. The senior investigator for the California 
Medical Board considers respondent the most out­
standing attorney he has met and testified she has 
helped society by her work on the fertility cases, 
including working with the Federal Bureau oflnvesti­
gation, United States Attorney's Office, United States 
Customs, Food and Drug Administration, and other 
police agencies. He believes that the disciplinary 
problems resulted from respondent being overworked 
because of the time she devoted to the fertility cases. 
This evidence meets the requirements for mitigation 
under standard 1.2.( e )(vi). 

Aggravation 

Respondent engaged in multiple acts of miscon­
duct, constituting aggravation under standard I .2(b Xii) 
and, in further aggravation, her misconduct signifi­
cantly harmed her clients, the Huffmans, in that it 
delayed their receiving the correct share of their 
settlement proceeds. (Std. l .2(b )(iv).) 
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Discussion 

In this case we take particular note of the Supreme 
Court's observation that"[ t] he court's principal con­
cern in disciplinary proceedings is protection of the 
public and preservation of confidence in the legal 
profession .... " (Bakerv. State Bar(l 989) 49 Cal.3d 
804, 822.) "' [T]he circumstances in which the miscon­
duct occurred or subsequent efforts by the attorney to 
correctthe condition that precipitated the misconduct 
may demonstrate that the misconduct will not likely 
recur' [citation] and thus are relevant to the disciplinary 
sanctions, if any, to be imposed." (Sternlie b v. State 
Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3d 31 7, 3 31.) In the present case 
we consider it unlikely that the misconduct of which 
respondent has been found culpable will recur. 

The hearingjudge considered Sugarman v. State 
Bar(l990)51 Cal.3d609 to bethecasemoston point 
in considering discipline. There, Sugannanwas found 
culpable of committing acts of moral turpitude in 
violation oft he section 6106 and violating fonuer rule 
5-101, pertaining to business transaction with clients, 
and was actually suspended for one year. Tn the matter 
before us respondent has presented substantially more 
mitigating circumstances than did Sugarman. Among 
those mitigating circumstances are respondent's 14 
years of prior discipline-free practice. "The absence of 
a prior disciplinary record is in itself an important 
mitigating circumstance." ( Chefskyv. State Bar( 1984) 
36 Cal.3d 116, 132, fn. 10.) Also, in Sugarman, the 
attorney relied on his secretary, and not on an attomey­
partner, nor is there any evidence that such reliance 
was reasonable, and as the court said, "we do not find 
petitioner suffered from such extreme financial pres­
sures that his two acts of misconduct can reasonably 
be understood as a desperate response to such pres­
sure." (Sugarmanv. State Bar, supra, 51 Cal.3d 609, 
619.)Also, there is no evidence that Sugarman suf­
fered from the psychological pressure and isolation 
from the trust account problems that Roseman im­
posed on respondent in the present case. We detennine 
that in the matter before us the mitigation is far greater 
than that in Sugarman. 

We deem Waysman v. StateBar(l986)4 l Cal.3d 
452, Giovanazzi v. State Bar, supra, 28 Cal.3d 465, 
and Sternlieb v. State Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3d 31 7 to be 
more closely aligned with the factual situation before 
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us. In W aysman the attorney had formed a two person 
partnership and three weeks later the partner quit, 
leaving Waysman with 150 cases. (Waysmanv. State 
Bar, supra, 41 Cal.3d at p. 454.) On receiving a 
$24,000 settlement check and learning that it would 
take three weeks to clear his trust account, W aysman 
telephoned his secretary to deposit the check in his 
general account where it would clear in seven days. (Id. 
at pp. 454-45 5.) On returning from an out-of-town trial 
W aysman learned his secretary had used a set of 
presigned checks drawn on the office account to pay 
office expenses, including the salary ofherself and her 
husband, and had then quit, ultimately resulting in the 
expenditure of the entire $24,000. (Id. at p. 455.) 
W aysman was in the process of making restitution as 
of the time ofthe dee is ion and had promptly acknowl­
edged his misconduct. (Id. at pp. 455, 458-459.) The 
court noted that there was no prior record of discipline 
and that W aysman suffered from serious alcohol­
related problems. Waysman was suspended from 
practice for six months, that suspension was stayed, 
and he was placed on probation for one year. (Id. at p. 
459.) 

In Sternlieb the court found that the attorney 
misappropriated slightlyover$4,000offunds belong­
ing to a client and her husband, the opposing party in 
a divorce action that Stemlie b was handling, but that 
the evidence did not support a finding of moral 
turpitude. Stem! ieb had no prior discipline and had an 
excellent reputation as an attorney, and the hearing 
referee in the State Bar proceedings found that the 
misconduct was not likely to recur. (Stern! ieb v. State 
Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3d. at pp. 331-332.) Stemlieb was 
placed on probation for one year with a thirty-day 
actual suspension. (Id. at p. 333.) 

In Giovanazzi, the attorney was found culpable 
of, among otherthings, the commission ofacts involv­
ing moral turpitude and misappropriation. He did not 
repay an obligation to a client, approximately $75,000, 
until notified of the pending disciplinary investigation. 
( Giovanazzi v. State Bar, supra, 28. Cal.3d at pp. 4 7 4-
4 75.) In that case a divided court added an actual 
suspension of3 0 days to the recommended three years 
of stayed suspension. (Id. at pp. 468-475.) 

[7] In the instant case, the record demonstrates 
that respondent was unable to confront Roseman 
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concerning his handling of the trust account. Absent 
equally strong evidence of respondent's recovery from 
such a disability concerning such a fundamental duty 
of a lawyer we would recommend severe remedial 
discipline. Respondent's compelling evidence of her 
actions to terminate her relations with Roseman and 
her continuing psychiatric treatment make clear that 
such a recovery is well under way. Respondent has 
expressed remorse for the misconduct; was candid 
withtheStateBarinstipulatingtothemisconduct;has 
taken effective steps to avoid a repetition of that 
misconduct including severing her relations with 
Roseman and continuing in therapy; and has made a 
contribution to society in seeking, and obtaining, 
legislation dealing with human reproduction. While 
serious misconduct occurred as the result of 
respondent's inattention to financial matters, including 
the trust account she maintained with Roseman, in our 
judgment a future recurrence of such problems is 
unlikely. The hearingjudge 's recommended condition 
of continued psychiatric treatment lends assurance to 
this conclusion. 

RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE 

We recommend that respondent Melanie Rae 
B !um be suspended from the practice oflaw for three 
years, that execution of this suspension be stayed, and 
that she be placed on probation for two years on the 
conditions that she be actually suspended for 30 days 
and that she comply with each of the remaining 
conditions of probation recommended bythe hearing 
judge. 

Professional Responsibility Examination 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional Conference of Bar Examiners with in one year 
after the effective date of the Supreme Court order in 
this matter and to provide satisfactory proof of such 
passage to the State Bar's Probation Unit in Los 
Angeles during the same period. 

Costs 

It is recommended that costs be awarded to the 
State Bar pursuant to Business and Professions Code 
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section 6086.10 and that those costs be payable in 
accordance with Business and Professions Code sec­
tion 6140. 7. 

We concur: 
STOVITZ, P. J. 
WATAI,J. 
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StJMMARY 

The hearing department recommended respondent's disbarment after finding him culpable of 18 counts of 
charged misconduct in nine client matters and one non-client matter. (Hon. Eugene E. Brott, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent sought review. The review department found respondent culpable of 16 charged counts of 
misconduct in nine client matters and one non-client matter. This misconduct included: nine counts ofrecklessly 
orrepeatedly failing to perform legal services competently; one count of fai lingto return a client's file promptly 
upon request upon termination of employment; two counts of failing to return unearned fees promptly upon 
termination of employment; two counts of failing to respond promptly to reasonable inquiries from clients or failing 
to notify clients of significant developments in their cases; one count of commingling attorney and client funds 
in a client trust account; and one count of committing an act of moral turpitude by issuing checks on an account 
which respondent knew or should have known had insufficient funds to cover them. The review department 
additionally detennined that respondent had previously been disciplined once for the same type of misconduct 
but did not learn from his prior discipline, that he demonstrated indifference toward rectification of or atonement 
for the consequences of his misconduct, that he significantly harmed clients, and that the aggravating 
circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances. Under these circumstances, the review department 
concluded that disbarment was warranted. 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: Sherrie B. McLetchie 

For Respondent: Miguel Gadda, in pro. per. 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but have 
been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text ofthe Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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(2] 

[3 a-c] 

101 
194 

HEADNOTES 

Proced ure--J urisdiction 
Statutes Outside State Bar Act 

The ability offederal courts and federal agencies to discipline attorneys who practice before them does 
not deprive a state bar of jurisdiction to discipline one ofits members for engaging in misconduct while 
practicing before the federal courts or agencies. While neither the State Bar Court nor the Supreme 
Court has jurisdiction to prevent a person from practicing law in federal courts or agencies, the Supreme 
Court has the inherent authority to discipline attorneys licensed to practice in the State of California, 
and the State Bar Court has authority to conduct disciplinaryproceedings and make recommendations 
of discipline to the Supreme Court. The federal regulations pertaining to discipline of attorneys 
practicing before federal immigration agencies themselves contemplate thatthe disciplinary agency 
of a state in which an attorney is admitted to practice has authority to discipline the attorney for 
misconduct committed in federal immigration agencies. In addition, various cases from federal courts 
and from the Board oflmmigration Appeals have indicated that the disciplinary agencies of the states 
in which immigration attorneys are licensed have jurisdiction to discipline these attorneys for 
misconduct committed in immigrntion cases in federal courts and agencies. 

130 
139 

Procedure-Procedure on Review 
Procedure-Miscellaneous 

165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
166 Independent Review of Record 
192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
In view of the review department's duty to independently review the record and make findings of fact 
and conclusions of law, any alleged denial of due process by the hearingj udge' s failure to clearly 
identify respondent's misconduct in the hearing judge's decision was remedied by the review 
department's issuance of an opinion that superseded the hearing judge's decision. Therefore, 
respondent's due process contention was rendered moot and was not addressed on the merits. 

130 
139 

Procedure-Procedure on Review 
Proced ure--Miscellaneous 

Where neitherthe State Bar nor respondent addressed certain culpability issues on review, and further 
determinations regarding these culpability issues would not affect in any way the discipline 
recommendation, the review department determined that this was one of the rare instances in which 
it need not independently detennine these culpability issues. 

[ 4] 162.20 Proof-Respondent's Burden 
725.51 Mitigation-Disbilityffllness-Declined to Find 
725.59 Mitigation-Disbility/lllness-Declined to Find 
760.59 Mitigation-Personal/Financial Problems-Declined to Find 
Where respondent failed ( 1) to establish through expert testimony that his depression, his physical 
maladies, and his financial difficulties were directlyresponsible for his misconduct and (2) to establish 
through clear and convincing evidence that he no longer suffered from the difficulties and disabilities 
or even that he could take, and was taking, steps to overcome them, the difficulties and disabilities 
were not treated as mitigating circumstances. 

[ 5) 511 Aggravation-Prior Record-Found 
Where respondent's prior misconduct occurred between late 1980 and 1984 and his present 
misconduct spanned the period between 1994 and 1999, the review department concluded that the 
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prior misconduct was not too remote to be considered as an aggravating circumstance. In this case, 
particularly because the prior misconduct was veiy similar to that found in the present case, 
respondent's prior record of discipline was considered to be a serious aggravating circumstance, made 
even more serious as the prior discipline did not serve to rehabilitate respondent and prevent the present 
misconduct. 

1010Disbarment 
Respondent was culpable of a total of 16 charged counts of misconduct in nine client matters and a 
trust account matter, which included 9 counts of failing to perform legal services competently, 1 count 
of failing to return a client's file promptly upon request at the termination of employment, 2 counts 
of failing to return unearned fees promptly at the termination of employment, 2 counts of failing to 
respond promptly to reasonable status inquiries from clients or failing to notify clients of significant 
developments in their cases, 1 count of commingling, and 1 count of committing an act of moral 
turpitude by issuing checks on an account which respondent knew or should have known had 
insufficient funds to cover them. Moreover, respondent had been previously disciplined once for the 
same type of misconduct; yet it appeared that he did not learn from his prior discipline. In addition, 
respondent demonstrated indifference toward rectification of or atonement for the consequences of 
his misconduct and significantly banned clients. These violations taken together show a clear 
disrespect for respondent's clients. In view of all of the circumstances of this case, the review 
department concluded that the public and the courts deserve the greater protection of a formal 
reinstatement proceeding before respondent is again entitled to practice law in this state. 

Additional Analysis 

Culpability 
Found 

178.10 
214.31 
221.19 
270.31 
277.51 
277.61 
280.01 

Not Found 
175 
214.35 
220.35 
221.50 
270.35 
277.65 

Aggravation 
Found 

Mitigation 

521 
582.10 
591 

Found 
720.10 
735.10 
745.10 

Costs-Imposed 
Section 6068(m) 
Section 6106----0ther FactualBasis 
Rule 3-11 0(A) [former6-101 (A)(2)/(B)] 
Rule 3-700(0) [ former 2-l 1 l(A)(2)] 
Rule3-700(D)(2)[former2-l l l(A)(3)] 
Rule4-100(A) [fonner 8-10 l(A)] 

Discipline--Rule955 
Section 6068(m) 
Section 6104 
Section 6106 
Rule 3-11 0(A)[former6-101(A)(2)/(B)] 
Rule 3-700(0)(2) [former2-1 l I (A)(3 )] 

Multiple Acts 
Harm to Client 
Indifference 

Lack of Harm 
Candor-Bar 
Remorse/Restitution 
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OPINION 

WATAJ,J.: 

In this original disciplinary proceeding, respon­
dentMiguel Gaddaseeksreview of the recommendation 
of a State Bar Court hearingj udge that he be disbarred. 
The hearingjudge found that respondent repeatedly 
failed to perfolll1 legal services competently (Rules 
Prof. Conduct, rule 3-l lO(A)),1 failed to refund un­
earned fees promptly upon tennination of employment 
(rule 3-700(D )(2) ), failed to adequately communicate 
with clients (Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 6068, subd. (m)), 2 

failed to return files and papers promptly upon a 
client'srequestatthetenninationofemployment(rule 
3-700(D)( 1 )), commingled c.lient funds with his own 
. funds in his client trust account (rule 4-1 O0(A)), and 
committed acts involving moral turpitude by issuing 
trust account checks without sufficient funds to cover 
them(§ 6106). 

Our independent review of the record shows that 
respondent's misconduct extended from 1994 to 1999 
and that respondent was previously disciplined for 
similarmisconduct in 1990. We agree with the hearing 
judge's recommendation that disbarment is warranted 
under the circumstances for the protection of the 
public, the courts, and the legal profession. 

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

On July 25, 2000, the State Bar filed a Notice of 
Disciplinary Charges (NDC) against respondent. 
The State Bar filed a second N DC against respon• 
dent on August 14, 2000. After respondent filed 

1. All furtherreferencestorules are to the Rules ofProfessional 
Conduct of the State Bar of California unless otherwise indi­
cated. 

2. All further statutory references are to the Business and 
Professions Code unless otherwise indicated. 

3. During his opening statement at trial, respondent admitted 
culpability as to the charges ofcommingling and issuing checks 
drawn on account containing insufficient funds to cover them. 

4. In anorderfiledon.January25, 2002,and anorderfiledonMay 
28, 2002, we granted multiple requests for judicial notice and 
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responses to these NDC s, the cases were consolidated 
on September 25, 2000. 

On March 5, 2001, the parties filed a stipulation 
of facts. 

Trial in this matter commenced on March 13, 
2001, and concluded on March 28, 2001 .3 The 
hearing judge filed his decision recommending 
respondent's disbarment on July 3 0, 2001. Because 
the hearingjudge recommended disbarment, he prop­
erly ordered that respondent be involuntarily enrolled 
as an inactive member of the State Bar as required by 
section 6007, subdivision ( c )( 4), and Rules of Proce­
dure of the State Bar, rule 220( c). The hearingjudge 's 
order ofinvoluntaryinactive enrollment became effec* 
tive on August 2, 2001, and respondent has remained 
ineligible to practice law in this state since that time. 
Respondent filed a timely request for review on August 
27, 2001.4 

JURISDICTION OF THE STATE BAR COURT~ 

Respondent initially challenges this court's juris­
diction todiscipline him for his conduct in federal and 
immigration courts, asserting that attorney conduct 
standards regarding practice before such courts, as 
well as discipline for a breach of any sue h standards, 
is within the exclusive jurisdiction of the federal 
government. He argues that this disciplinary proceed* 
ing in the State Bar court is an attempt by the State of 
California to regulate the practice oflaw in the federal 
courts orto place restrictions or limitations on persons 
appearing before the federal courts and agencies within 
the state. He contends that since he practices only 

motions to augment the record on review filed by respondent and 
the State Bar. In each of those orders, we expressly reserved 
the issue asto the weight that should be accorded the items that 
wejudiciallynoticed and the additional evidence we accepted to 
augment the record on review. After independently reviewing 
the record, we conclude that no weight should be accorded to the 
judicially noticed items or the additional evidence because 
nothing therein is relevant to any issue in this proceeding. 

5. We address only respondent's principal points of error on 
review. Any point of error or supporting argument that is not 
expressly addressed in this opinion has been considered and 
rejected. 
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immigration law, the State Bar ofCalifomia does not 
have jurisdiction over him. 

( 1 aJ Respondent was admitted to the practice of 
law in California on August 4, l 975, and has been a 
member of the State Bar since that time. We acknowl­
edge that, as the State Bar concedes, neither this court 
nor the Califom ia Su pre me Court has jurisdiction to 
stop respondent from practicing law in federal court. 
(Ex Parte McCue (1930) 211 Cal. 57, 66.) We also 
acknowledge that neither this courtnorthe California 
Supreme Court may stop respondent from practicing 
law in or before federal agencies; (Silverman v. State 
Baro/Texas (5th Cir. 1968)405 F.2d410, 413-415.) 
However, respondent is licensed by the California 
Supreme Court to practice law in this state. And, based 
on that license, respondent applied to practice and 
practices law before the federal courts in th is state. In· 
addition, it is without question that respondent is 
permitted to practice law and represent individuals 
before the Board oflmmigration Appeals (BIA), the 
immigration courts, and the hnmigrationand Natural­
ization Service (INS) only because he is licensed to 
practice law by the California Supreme Court.6 (8 
C.F.R. §§ l.l(f), 292.l(a)(l); see also 8 C.F.R. 
§ 292.l(e).) 

(lb] The Supreme Court of California has the 
inherent power to discipline attorneys licensed to 
practice in the State of California. (In re Paguirigan 
(2001) 25 Cal.4th 1, 7; Obrien v. Jones (2000) 23 
Cal.4th 40, 48; In re Attorney Discipline System 
(1998) 19 Cal.4th 582, 592-593; accord,§ 6 I 00.) The 
State Bar Court, as an administrative arm of the 
Supreme Court, has the statutory authorityto conduct 
disciplinary proceedings and make recommendations 
of discipline to the Supreme Court. (In re Attorney 
Discipline Sys/em, supra, 19 Cal .4th at pp. 599-600 .) 
The focus of the disciplinary proceeding is the protec­
tion of the public, the courts, and the legal profession 
in Cal ifomia from attorneys who do not adhere to the 
standards and responsibilities of the legal profession as 

6. The BIA, the immigration courts, and the INS are all entities 
within the United States Department of Justice. The BIA and 
the immigration courts are part of the Department of Justice's 
Executive Office oflmmigration Review (.EO£R) (8 C.F.R. 
§§ 3.0{a), 3. l(a)(l), 3.9, 3.10). The EOIR (including the BIA 
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set forth in the State Bar Act(§ 6000 et seq.) and the 
Rules of Professional Conduct. (See Rules Proc. of 
State Bar, tit. IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. 
Misconduct (standards), std. 1.3; rule 1 ~IO0(A).) In 
this regard, the California Supreme Court clearly held 
more than 60 years ago that, "[i}f an attorney admitted 
to practice in the courts of this state commits acts in 
reference to federal court litigation which reflect on his 
integrity and fitness to enjoy the rights and privileges 
of an attorney in the state courts, proceedings may be 
taken against him in the state court. [Citations.]" 
(Geibel v. State Bar (1938) 11 Cal.2d 412,415, see 
also rule l-lO0(D).) We conclude that this holding 
should be extended to attorneys practicing before 
federal agencies such as the BIA, the immigration 
courts, and the INS. (Accord Stroe v. lN.S. (7th Cir. 
2001) 256 F.3d 498, 501-502, 504 [Seventh Circuit 
referred attorney to the Illinois Attorney Registration 
and Disciplinary Commission for misconduct that 
attorney committed before the BIA expressly because 
attorney was "a member of the Illinois bar"].) In fact, 
respondent was disciplined in 1990 by the California 
Supreme Courtformisconducthe previously commit­
ted while practicing law before the BIA, the immigration 
courts, and the INS. (Gadda v. Slate Bar(1990) 50 
Cal.3d 344 (Gadda [).) 

[le] Respondent contends that the federal regu­
lations pertaining to discipline ofattomeys practicing 
before the BIA, the immigration courts, and the INS 
(8 C.F.R. §§ 3.102 et seq., 292.3 et seq.) preempt any 
state attempts to discipline attorneys practicing before 
these federal agencies. However, we note that these 
federal regulations themselves state that the EOIR ( of 
which the BIA and the immigration courts are a part) 
and the INS may, in addition to or in lieu ofinitiating 
disciplinary proceedings against an attorney, notify 
any appropriate federal or state disciplinary agency of 
a complaint tiled against the attorney. (8 C.F.R. 
§§3.106(d), 292.3(g).) These regulations also state 
that, if any final administrative decision is issued 
imposing sanctions other than a private censure, the 

and the immigration courts) is separate from and independent of 
the INS(see 8C.F.R. §§ 100. l, 100.2, 103.1; see also 8 U.S.C. 
§ 110 I (b )( 4 )[immigration judges "shalt not be employed by the 
[rNS]"]). 
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EOIR or the INS must notify the disciplinary agency 
in every jurisdiction where the disciplined attorney is 
authorized to practice. (Ibid.) Thus, the regulations 
themselvescontemplatethatthedisciplinaryagencyof 
a state in which an attorney is admitted to practice has 
authority to discipline the attorney for misconduct 
occurring in immigration courts. 

( 1 d] In addition, various federal courts, as well as 
the BIA, have indicated thatthe disciplinary agencies 
of the states in which immigration lawyers are licensed 
have jurisdiction to discipline these lawyers for mis­
conduct occurringwhile appearing before the BIA, the 
immigration courts, the INS, and the federal courts in 
immigration cases. For example, in Matter of Lozada 
(BIA 1988) 191.&N.Dec.637,639, the BIA held that 
a motion to reopen deportation proceedings on the 
basis ofineffective assistance of counsel should indi -
cate, among other things, "whether a complaint has 
been filed with appropriate disciplinary authorities 
regarding [ the alleged inadequate] representation, and 
if not, why not." In In Re Rivera-Claros (BIA 1996) 
211. & N. Dec. 599, 603-604, the BIA clarified that 
one reason for this requirement of filing a complaint 
with the appropriate state disciplinary authority is to 
allow the BIA (and the immigration courts) to more 
easily monitor the conduct ofimmigration attorneys, 
since the federal regulations in existence at thattimefor 
the disciplining of immigration attorneys were not 
comprehensive rules governing the practice of immi­
gration law and since the BlA (and the immigration 
courts) reliedon the di sci plinaryprocess of therelevant 
local jurisdiction as the primary means ofidentifying 
and correcting misconduct. Moreover, federal courts 
have held that the BIA acted within its discretion in 
imposingtheLozadarequirements(see,e.g.,Saakian 
v. I.NS. ( l st Cir.2001) 252 F.3d 21, 26; Luv. Ashcroft 
(3dCir.2001)259F.3d 127,129, 132-133)andhave 

7. Respondent also asserts that the federal regulations' one-year 
statute oflimitations regarding ineffective assistance of counsel 
(8 C.F .R. § 3. I 02(k)) directly conflicts with the State Bar rules 
and that the complaints in this case "go back to 1994" and are 
barred. We note that Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, rule 
51 provides that a disciplinary proceeding based upon a com­
plaint alleging that an attorney violated the State Bar Act or the 
Rules of"Professional Conduct must be initiated withinfive years 
from the date of the alleged violation, except that the five-year 
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specifically approved the requirementof filinga com­
plaint with the appropriate local disciplinary agency 
(e.g., Lu v. Ashcroft, supra, 259 F.3d at pp. 133-135; 
Stroe v. LN.S.-, supra, 256F.3dat pp. 501-502, 504). 

[le] As the foregoing authorities recognize, the 
ability ofthe BIA, the immigration courts, the INS, and 
the federal courts to discipline attorneys who practice 
only before them does not deprive a state bar of 
jurisdiction to discipline one ofitsmembers for engag­
ing in misconduct while practicing before the BIA, the 
immigration courts, the INS, and the federal courts. 
We find respondent's argument in this respect to be 
specious.7 

CULPABILITY 

Respondent's Background 

Respondent came to the United States as an 
immigrant, and upon becoming an attorney admitted 
to practice law in California, he set up an immigration 
practice. By the year 1996, he had 500 to 600 active 
cases and was working Mondays through Saturdays. 
He maintained approximately this case load through 
the year 2000. 

His clients came to the office and were seen on a 
first come, first served basis. They arrived at9:00 a.m., 
as they were told to do, and often did not see 
respondent until 12:00 noon or later, or did not see him 
at alt. The client appointments lasted approximately 10 
to 20 minutes. 

The immigration judges (IJ s) who testified in the 
hearing department stated that respondent frequently 
missed court appearances and frequently seemed 
unprepared. 

period is tolled when, among other things, the attorney continues 
to represent the complainant or a member ofthe complainant's 
family or when the attorney conceals facts constituting the 
violation. Respondent bas failed to specify any charge barred 
underruk 5 Land he has failed to cite any authority to establish 
that this court must impose a one-year limitation period for 
charging him with misconduct in these proceedings. In sum, we 
reject resp on dent's assertions because they are u nsu ppo rt ed by 
authority and are otherwise meritless. 
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Respondent hired other attorneys on a contract 
basis to make court appearances for him and to file 
appeals. One such attorney was William R. Gardner. 

There were signature stamps for respondent and 
for attorney Gardner for use by respondent's office 
staff. 

Between the years 1998 and 2000, due to medical 
problems, respondent started working mostly at home, 
going to the office to see clients only on Tuesday and 
Thursday afternoons and some Saturdays. 

The Saba matter 

On or about October 4, 1991, the four Saba 
children, Anita, Perfecto, Samson, and Mariam, ap­
plied for political asylum. On May 14, 1993, the INS 
denied their political asylum applications because they 
failed to establish either past persecution or fear of 
future persecution. Sometime before November 2, 
1993, the Saba children retained respondent to repre­
sent them before the immigration court. Respondent 
dealt mainly with their father. OnNovember2, 1993, 
respondent filed a notice of appearance on their behalf 
with the immigration court. 

On November 3, 1993, the Saba children re­
quested a de novo reconsideration of their app Ii cations 
for political asylum by the immigration court. How­
ever, on September 25, 1995, respondent represented 
them at an immigration court hearing, at which time the 
Saba children withdrew their asylum applications, and 
the IJ ordered them to voluntarily depart from the 
United States by September 6, 1996. 

On June 18, 1996, Mrs. Saba became a natural­
ized citizen. Through error on the part of his office, 
respondent failed thereafter to take any action to adjust 
the status of the Saba children based on their mother's 
citizenship. As of June 18, 1996, the Saba children 
were all under the age of 21 and were minors for 
immigration law purposes. 

8. As Gardner ex.plained while testifying at trial in the hearing 
department, respondent made this request because the time for 
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On September6, 1996, respondent filed a motion 
to reopen deportation proceedings on behalf of the 
Saba children to apply for adjustment of status to 
lawful pennanentresidents. Respondent also requested 
an extension of time for the Saba children to depart 
voluntarily, which request was denied. Although theIJ 
initially granted the motion . to reopen deportation 
proceedings on October 22, 1996, on December 16, 
1996, the IJ vacated the order granting the motion and 
entered a new order denying the motion. 

On January 15, 1997, the last possible day, 
respondent filed a notice ofappealwith the BIA. On 
January 22, 1997, the BIA rejected the appeal because 
it was not accompanied by the $110 filing fee. On 
January 31, 1997, respondent resubmitted the appeal 
with the required fee, but on January 23, 1998, the BIA 
again dismissed the appeal as untimely. 

On November 25, 1997, Mr. Saba became a 
naturalized citizen. On April 29, I 998, respondent filed 
a petition on behalf of the Saba children for a stay of 
deportation unti I the cone lusion of the school year. At 
some point during the proceedings regarding this 
petition, respondent left the Saba children and their 
parents unrepresented before an INS officer. Upon 
respondent's advice, the Saba children signed a state­
ment that they would voluntarily depart the United 
States before the stay expired, and Mr. and Mrs. Saba 
signed statements that they understood that the Saba 
children would have to leave the United States at the 
expiration of the stay and that they would make 
arrangements fortheirchildren' sdeparture. A stay was 
granted until August 1, 1998, but the Saba children did 
not depart the United States on or before that time. 
Respondent told them that he was taking care of 
everything. Respondent agreed to file an appeal of the 
BIA decision. 

On August 18, 1998, respondent instructed attor­
ney Gardner to file a petition for a writofhabeas corpus 
and a stay of deportation on behalfof the Saba children 
in the United States District Court for the Northern 
District of California. 8 Respondent routinely emp Loyed 

filing an appeal of the BIA decision in the United States Court 
of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit (Ninth Circuit) had expired. 
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Gardner on a contract basis to make master calendar 
hearing appearances in the immigration courts and to 
handle Ninth Circuit matters. Respondent only occa­
sionally looked at Gardner's federal court pleadings 
before they were filed, although Gardner had gained all 
ofhis experience in federal court through respondent's 
office. Respondent did not supervise Gardner because 
he believedthat Gardner did not need any supervision, 
as he was admitted to practice law in California, the 
federal district court, and the Ninth Circuit. 

On August 24, 1998, the Saba children were 
ordered to report for deportation on September 21, 
1998. On respondent's advice, they did not comply 
with this order. 

Pursuant to respondent's request, at some point 
Gardner filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus on 
behalf of the Saba children. On September 24, 1998, 
the federal district court issued an order to show cause 
and a stay of deportation topennitahearingonthewrit. 
On February 8, 1999, the district court issued a 
decision ordering the deportation order vacated and 
remanding the matter to the immigration court with 
instructions to reopen deportation proceedings and to 
evaluate the children' seligibilityforadjustmentof status. 

The district court remanded the matter upon its 
sua sponte finding ofineffective assistance ofcounsel, 
stating that among the egregious series of errors, going 
beyond mere procedural defects, "Petitioners [the 
Saba children] did not file for an adjustment of 
Petitioners' status within a reasonable time after Mrs. 
Saba became a naturalized citizen, which was three 
months before the last day to depart voluntarily. As 
immediate relatives ofa citizen, Petitioners would have 
been given priority and their application expedited. 
Instead, the application was filed on the last day to 

9. Respondent alleges that the hearingjudge did not understand 
immigration law sufficiently to be able to render a just decision. 
"We will not discredit the decisions of the [hearingjudge] on 
unsupported allegations" such as this, (Chang v. State Bar 
(1989)49 Cal.3d 114, 126.) Moreover, as the State Bar points 
out in its appellee 's brief, even assuming thehearingjudge did 
not understand immigration Jaw, the hearing judge had the 
benefit of hearing testimony from Angela Bean, a certified 
specialist in immigration law, seven Us, and three INS trial 
attorneys, as well as several other attorneys who practice 
immigration law. In view of the extensive evidence presented 
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depart, which caused Petitioners to disobey the volun­
tary departure order, which in turn led to the deportation 
order."(Sabav. I.NS. (N.D. Cal. 1999) 52 F. Supp.2d 
1117, 1126.) "But for counsels' ineffectiveness, the 
outcome of the proceedings would probably have been 
different: Petitioners would have become permanent 
U.S. residents." (Ibid.) 

On October 6, 1999, respondent appeared on 
behalf of the Saba children at an immigration court 
hearing. At that time, the IJ refused to allow respondent 
to represent the Saba children and continued the matter 
to allow the children to obtain newcounse I. Thereafter, 
the Saba children retained attorney Juliette Topacio 
Sarmiento .. 

In June 2000, after submitting supplemental docu­
mentation, the adjustment of status hearing was held 
for Samson and Mariam, the children who were still 
minors, and their adjustment of status was granted. 
Attorney Sarmiento testified in the hearing department 
that, had the application for adjustment of status been 
filed. at the time Mrs. Saba became a naturalized 
citizen, all the Saba children would have qualified for 
adjustment of status because they were minors. In­
stead, the cases of Anita and Perfecto were still in 
deportation proceedings. 

Over the course of respondent's representation, 
the Saba children paid respondent over $3,000. Al­
though attorney Sanniento requested that respondent 
refund this money to the Saba children, respondent had 
notrefundedanyfeesasofthetimeoftrialinthismatter. 

The Hearing Judge's Conclusions9 

As to this matter, respondent was charged with 
two counts of violating rule 3-1 10( A), which provides 

below regarding immigration law, we conclude that the hearing 
judge had sufficient evidence to support his conclusions in this 
case. And, in any event. respondent's specious allegation that 
the hearing judge did not sufficiently understand the relevant 
provisions of immigration law to render a just decision on 
respondent 'sculpability is mooted by our independent review of 
the record, wherein we must independently make the appropri• 
ate findings of fact and conclusions oflaw. (In the Matter of 
Respondent K (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
335, 346-347, citing/nre Morales (1983} 35 Cal.3d 1, 7,) 



424 

that an attorney" shall not intentionally, recklessly, or 
repeatedly fail to perfonn legal services with compe­
tence." Respondent was also charged with one count 
of violating rule 3 -700(D )(2 ), which provides that a 
member whose employment has terminated shall 
promptly refund any unearned fee. Thehearingjudge 
determined that the State Bar proved by clear and 
convincingevidencethatrespondentwillfullycommit­
ted all of the charged acts of misconduct. 

Discussion 

Upon our independent review of the record, 
includingthe stipulation of facts, we cone lude that, as 
to this matter, respondent is culpable of the two 
charged counts of recklessly and repeatedly failing to 
perform legal services with competence in willful 
violation of rule 3-11 0(A). We conclude that respon­
dent performed legal services incompetently: ( 1) by 
leavingthechildrenalone, unrepresented, in the middle 
ofa hearing before an immigration officer and advising 
them to sign a voluntary departure fonn; (2) by failing 
to advise the Saba children to depart voluntarily on or 
before September 6, 1996; (3) by failing to move to 
reopen deportation proceedings until September 6, 
1996; ( 4) by failing to file a petition for review with the 
Ninth Circuit; (5) by failing to·file for adjustment of 
status for the children within a reasonable time after 
Mrs. Saba became a naturalized citizen on June 18, 
1996, and instead fi I ing for adjustment of status on the 
children's last day to depart voluntarily, approximately 
three months later; and (6) by failing to supervise 
Gardner in tiling a petition for writ of habeas corpus. 

Respondent contends thatthehearingjudgeshould 
have found that the failure to perform legal services 
competently in this matter was partly or entirely the 
fault of Gardner, since the mistakes occurred primarily 
in federal court. We disagree. The record establishes 
that respondent repeatedly and recklessly failed to 
represent the Saba children competently prior to the 
time Gardner became involved in the matter.10 

1 O. We note that, on review, respondent rep1.:atedly argues facts, 
without citing to supporting evidence as expressly required by 
Ruks of Procedure of the State Bar, rule 302(a) and State Bar 
Court Rules of Practice, rule 1320. Many of these asserted 
"facts" are in contradiction to the facts found hy the hearing 
judge based on the testimony ofrespondent' s clients and other 
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We also conclude that respondent failed to refund 
unearned fees promptly upon termination of employ­
ment in willfulviolationof rule3-700(0)(2). To justify 
retention of legal fees, respondent was required to 
perform more than he did ( i.e., minimal services that 
were ofno value to the client). (Cf. In the Matter of 
Harris (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
219, 22 9.) Here, the record fails to support a conclu• 
sion that respondent performed services worth over 
$3,000, the amount the Saba children paid. The only 
arguably competent actions respondenttook in provid­
ing legal services to the Saba children were ( l) filing a 
new application for political asylum, (2) obtaining a 
stay of deportation until August 1, 199 8, and (3) filing 
a petition for a writ of habeas corpus. Respondent 
testified that he charged about $1,500 to $2,000 for 
representing clients in political asy 1 um proceedings, 
which representation would include appearing at all 
asylum hearings, but in this case, the record indicates 
he merely filed the application for asylum and subse­
quently appeared at a hearing and withdrew it. Thus, 
he cou Id not have earned $1,500 for that representa­
tion and must have earned far less, at most $500. 
Respondent also testified that he charged $250 to $500 
or more for proceedings such as motions to reopen, 
depending upon the number of court appearances 
required. Because it appears from the record that 
respondent had to make only one court appearance and 
one appearance before an immigration officer for the 
petition for stay of deportation, we determine that 
respondent earned at most $500 for these proceedings. 
Finally, respondent testified that he paid attorney 
Gardner$1,000to $1,500 to file the petition for a writ 
of habeas corpus. Gardner, however, testified that 
respondent gave him only $200 after the writ hearing. 
Even assuming that Gardner was paid $1,500, respon­
dent and Gardner sti II only earned at most $2,500 for 
their legal services, and respondent was entitled to far 
less ifbepaid Gardneronly $200 for the writ proceedings. 

Significantly, respondent's failure to act compe­
tently in providing legal services to his clients was, as 

witnesses. On the record before us, rcspo nd en t' s iteration o fhi s 
version of the facts does not provide us. with a ba~is to disturb 
the hearing judge's adverse findings. (In the Matter ofKroff 
(Review Dept. 1998) 3Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 838,846, citing 
lnthe Mutter ojFandey (Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 767, 775.) 
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we have concluded, reckless and repeated, rather than 
the result of simple negligence. Moreover, although we 
have estimated the amount which respondent may 
have earned at most in this matter, we need not 
determine the precise amount which respondent and 
Gardner earned in this case, as we have concluded that 
respondent did not earn the entire amount of attorney 
fees the Sabas paid to him but failed to refund any of 
the Sa bas' fees as of the time of trial in this matter and 
thereby violated rule 3-700(D)(2). (In the Matter of 
Phillips (Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr.315, 324.) 

The Garcia Matter 

J. Sacramento Garcia, Maria Luisa Garcia, and 
Noel C. Garcia entered the United States without 
inspection in 1989. In May 1996, the Garcias met with 
Charles Stephens, a nonattomey immigration consult­
ant, to obtain legal residency. Stephens advised the 
Garcias to file for po Ii ti cal asylum, and the Garcias did 
so with Stephens' s assistance. After becoming aware 
of the Garcias' illegal entry from their asylum applica­
tion, the INS issued an order to show cause on 
Septem ber6, 1996. On September 6, 1996, the matter 
was continued to November 12, 1996, to allow the 
Garcias to retain an attorney. 

Stephens referred the Garcias to respondent. The 
Garcias met respondent immediately before the master 
calendarhearingonNovember 12, 1996. Respondent 
agreed to represent them for $1,000, and they paid him 
$500 that day. 

At the hearing on November 12, 1996, respon• 
dent appeared with the Garcias, and the immigration 
court scheduled an individual hearing for January 22, 
1997. 11 The Garcias did not understand what was 
going on and heard the judge and the clerk mention 
many dates. They thought they heard February 17, 
1 997, and understood this to be their hearing date. 
They received no letter or telephone call from respon­
dent as to the next hearing date. 

11. Atan individual, or regular, hearing, the IJ takes testimony and 
receives documents regarding the merits of the alien's asylum 
claim. At the conclusion of the hearing, the IJ usual!y issues a 
ruling regarding the asylum application. 
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Respondent appeared at the hearing on January 
22, 1997, but the Garcias did not, and the U ordered 
their deportation in absentia. 

On or about February 6, 1997, the Garcias paid 
the remaining $500 to respondent. 

At some point after the hearing of January 22, 
1997, the Garcias received a telephone call from 
respondent's office telling them that they had missed 
their hearing date and were ordered deported. They 
went to see respondent immediately, and respondent 
to Id them to go directly to the D to explain why they 
had missed the hearing. They went without respon­
dent, and the IJ to Id them to see their attorney, who 
would know what to do.12 

On February 10, 1997, respondent filed a motion 
to reopen with the immigration court on the ground that 
the Garcias misunderstood the correct hearing date. 
The D denied the motion on February 26, 1997. 

OnJune 11, 1997, respondent filed an appeal with 
the BIA and moved the court to reopen the matter on 
the ground that, at the hearing onJ anuary 22, 1997, the 
IJ failed to give the Garcias the proper admonitions 
regarding a failure to appear. The BIA denied the 
motion to reopen on January 28, 1999, and dismissed 
the appeal. 

Prior to February 26, 1999, the Garcias termi­
nated respondent's services. Respondent has not 
returned to the Garcias any of the fees they paid him. 
On February 26, 1999, attorney Donald Unger filed 
with the BIA on behalf of the Garcias a motion to 
reopen and motion to reconsider based on ineffective 
assistance of counsel. On the same date,he also filed 
a petition for review of the Bl A's decision of January 
28, 1999, in the Ninth Circuit. The petition for review 
has been denied, but the motion before the BIA was 
pending at the time of trial in this matter. 

12, Angela Bean, an immigration law specialist, crediblytestified 
at trial in the hearing department that a competent attorney 
would not send clients to visit an 1J to plead their case on their 
own after an order of deportation in absentia. 
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The Hearing Judge's Conclusions 

As to this matter, respondent was charged with 
one count of violating rule 3-11 0( A) and one count of 
violatingrule3-700(0)(2). He was also charged with 
one count of violating section 6068, subdivision ( m ), 
which provides that it is the duty of an attorney"[ t]o 
respond promptly to reasonable status inquiries of 
clients and to keep clients reasonably informed of 
significant developments in matters with regard to 
which the attorney has agreed to provide legal ser­
vices." Specifically, the NDCchargedrespondentwith 
violating section 6068, subdivision (m): (1) "[b]y 
failing to inform the [ Gare ias] that they had to appear 
at the January 22, 1997 hearing or they would be 
deported"; (2) by "failing to infonn [the Garcias] that 
[ respondent] provided ineffective assistanceofcounsel"; 
and (3) "[b ]yfailingtorespond to the [Garcias'] telephone 
callsofJanuary27, 1997,January30, 1997,February l, 
1997, February 3, l 997[,] and February 4, 1997." The 
hearingjudge determined that the State Bar proved by 
clearandconvincingevidencethatrespondent willfully 
violated rule 3-11 0(A) but concluded thattheStateBar 
had failed to present clear and convincing evidence that 
respondent had willfully failed to return unearned fees 
or to respond promptly to the Garcias' reasonable 
status inquiries. Thehearingjudgealsodeclinedtofind 
that respondent had failed to keep the Garcias reason­
ably informed of significant developments in their case 
by failing to advise them of their hearing date because 
that misconduct was part of the basis ofh is conclusion 
that respondent violated mle 3-11 0(A). 

Discussion 

Upon our independent review, we conclude that 
respondent recklessly failed to perfonn legal services 
competently in willful violation of rule 3-1 l0(A)in this 
matter: ( 1) by failing to give his clients proper notice 
of the hearing of January 22, 1997; and (2) by failing 
to prepare his clients for their hearing of January 22, 
1997. 

13. Mrs. Garcia testified that aft.er she and her husband tried to 
explain to the 1.1 why they had failed to appear for their individual 
hearing, they called respondent's office many times to speak to 
respondent, but their calls were not returned. In contrast, 
respondent testified that he returned the Garcias' telephone 
calls personally. It appears that the hearingjudge either found 
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Respondent contends that the hearing judge's 
conclusion of culpability in the Garcia matter was 
erroneous, since ( 1) respondent gave the Garcias 
notice of the hearing, and in any event the Garcias 
received a written notice of the hearing and received 
independent verbal notice from the immigration court, 
through an interpreter; and (2) respondent advised the 
Garcias to come to his office to prepare for the hearing, 
• but the Garcias failed to appear at the office. 

In making the first argument, respondent 
unconvincingly relies on his own version of the events. 
Contrary to respondent's argument, the Garcias testi­
fied that they did not see the court's written notice until 
they went to respondent's office after they had missed 
the hearing and that there was no interpreter at the 
master hearing to inform them of the date of their next 
hearing. They testified that since they were not given 
notice of the next hearing, they had to rely on the date 
they thought they heard the judge give, which date was 
February 17, 1997. They said they were in a state of 
shock when they learned that they had been ordered 
deported in absentia on January 22, 1997. 

In making his second argument, respondent con­
tradicts his trial testimony. At trial, respondenttestified 
that the Garcias came to his office prior to the hearing 
and that he spent 30 to 45 minutes at a minimum 
preparing them for their individual hearing. We give 
great weight to the hearingj udge' s implied determina­
tion that respondent's testimony in this respect was not 
credible, which determination is supported by the 
contradiction indicated above. 

We also conclude, consistent with the hearing 
judge's conclusion, that the State Bar failed to present 
clear and convincing evidence that respondent violated 
section 6068, subdivision (m), by failing to return the 
Garcias' telephone calls. 13 

We agree in part with the hearingj udge' s con cl u­
sion that the charge of failing to keep the Garcias 

respondent's testimony in this respect to be credible, found Mrs. 
Garcia's testimony in this respect to be incredible, or was unahle 
to resolve the issue of credibility and resolved this reasonable 
doubt in respondent's favor. (See, generally. In the Maller of 
Moriarty(ReviewDept. 1999)4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 9, 19.) 
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reasonably informed of significant developments in 
this case is duplicative of the charge of failing to 
perform legal services competently, since respondent's 
failure to inform the Garcias of their hearing date of 
January22, 1997, is one of the basesofourconclusion 
of culpability of rule 3-110( A). Because "little, if any, 
purpose is served by duplicative allegations of miscon­
duct" (Bates v. State Bar (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1056, 
l 060), we decline to conclude for purposes of disci­
pline thatrespondentisadditionallyculpable of violating 
section 6068, subdivision (m) in this respect. 

Moreover, respondent's alleged failure to inform 
the Garcias that he provided ineffective assistance of 
counsel formed the basis for both the charge of failing 
to perform legal services competently and that of 
failing to keep the Garcias reasonably informed of 
significant developments in this case. We have con­
cluded, however, that the State Bar failed to prove by 
clear and convincing evidence that th is alleged failure 
constituted a violation of either charge. 

As set forth above, the NDC additionally charges 
that respondent failed to keep the Garcias reasonably 
informed of significant developments in their case by 
failing to notify them that they would be deported if 
they did not appear at their individual hearing. We note 
that Mr. Garcia testified in th is proceeding that nobody 
told him what would happen to his family ifhe did not 
appear at their individual hearing and that he did not 
understand what he was supposed to do after the 
master hearing. However, respondent's failure to 
infonn the Garcias in this respect was not a failure to 
notify them of a development in their case; rather, 
respondent failed in this respect to provide legal 
services competently.14 Upon our review of the record, 
we conclude that the State Bar failed to establish by 
clear and convincing evidence a basis for this charge 
that was independent of the basis for any other charge. 

As previously stated, the hearingjudgeconcluded 
that respondent was not culpable of violating rule 3-
700(D)(2), and as we will discuss, along with our 

14. Because this failure to provide legal services competently was 
not charged in the NDC, we do not consider it as an additional 
groundofculpabi!iry. 
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discussion of the charge that respondent committed 
moral turpitude by habitually disregarding clients' 
interests, we do not consider culpability of this charge in 
detenniningtheappropriate level of discipline in this case. 

In short, we hold that respondent willfully vio­
lated rule 3-11 0(A)ascharged but dismiss the charged 
violations of section 6068, subdivision(m), and ofrule 
3-700(D)(2) with prejudice. 

The Haesbaert Matter 

In November 1995, Sergio Haesbaert, who is 
from Brazil, filed an application for political asylum, 
which application had been prepared by anonattorney. 
On or about March 25, 1996, he employed respondent 
to represent him and his family on his political asylum 
application. Respondent charged $1,000 for the repre­
sentation, to be paid in installments. Haesbaert paid a 
total of$500 in installments. 

. Respondent reviewed the political asy )um appli­
cation and found itto be satisfactory. Respondent was 
informed that a master calendar hearing was scheduled 
for April 17, 1996. 

On April 17, 1996, respondent did not appear. 
The court scheduled another master calendar hearing 
for June 12, 1996. 

AtthehearingonJune 12, 1996,attomeyGardner 
appeared for respondent, and the IJ set the matter for 
a regular hearing on September 9, 1996. 

On or about September 6, 1996, Haesbaert went 
to respondent's office because he had had no commu­
nication with respondent regarding the hearing of 
September 9, 1996. Haesbaert made an appointment 
for September 7, 1996. On September 7, 1996, the 
Saturday before the Monday hearing, Haesbaert met 
with respondent for about 15 minutes and was assured 
by respondent that everything was in order.15 

15. According to Hacsbaert, he had to force his way into 
respondent's office because respondent's staff denied that he 
had an appointment, and he was given approximately 15 minutes 
with respondent. 
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On September 9, 1996, respondent appeared with 
Haesbaert at the hearing. Haesbaertd id notknowwhat 
questions would be asked of him by respondent, the 
judge, or the attorney representing the government. 
Moreover, some of the documents in support of the 
asylum application were excluded from evidence at the 
hearing because they had not been translated into 
English and theirrelevancewas unclear. At the end of 
the hearing, the immigration court found that Haesbaert 
had failed to establish either past persecution or a well­
founded fear of future persecution and denied the 
asylum application. 

Haesbaert discharged respondent soon after this 
hearing. Haesbaert employed attorney Geri Kahn 
who, upon review of the file, filed a notice of appeal 
on October 8, 1996. On August 21, 1998, she filed a 
motion to remand with the BIA based on ineffective 
assistance of counsel so that Haesbaert could intro­
duce additional evidence that was not presented at the 
September 9, 1996, hearing. Kahn attached substan­
tial additional documentation with the motion. Kahn 
detennined that the asylum application was poorly 
done and that no evidence had been submitted at the 
hearing regarding the conditions in Brazil. Although 
Haesbaert had documents regarding the conditions in 
Brazil, they had not been trans lated into English and 
therefore had not been admitted into evidence. From 
the record of the proceedings on September 9, 1996, 
Kahn also noted that respondent did not ask questions 
ofHaesbaertto elicit testimony in support ofHaesbaert' s 
contention off ear of future persecution. 

The BIA granted the motion to remand on 
October 27, 1998, and remanded the matter back to 
the immigration court. 

OnoraboutDecember29, 1999, Haesbaert sent 
respondent a letter requesting the return of the $5 00 
in fees he had paid. Respondent returned the money 
on or about March 15, 2000. 

The Hearing Judge's Conclusions 

As to this matter, respondent was charged with 
one count of violating rule 3-11 0(A), one count of 
violating rule 3-700(0)(2), and one countof failingto 
respond promptly to Haesbaert' s reasonable status 
inquiries in viola ti on of section 6068, subdivision (m). 
The hearing judge determined that the State Bar 
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proved by clear and convincing evidence that respon­
dent willfully violated rule 3-1 I 0(A) and rule 
3-700(D)(2) but concluded that the State Bar had 
failed to present clear and convincing evidence that 
respondent had violated section 6068, subdivision (m). 

Discussion 

Wedetenn ine, upon ourreview of the record, that 
resJX>ndent is culpable ofwillfullyviolatingrule3-1 l 0(A), 
recklessly and repeatedly failing to perf onn legal 
services competently: ( l) by failing to present addi­
tional evidence, both documentary and testimonial, to 
support Haesbaert' s claim for political asy !um; (2) by 
failing to have Haesbaert' s documents translated into 
English for the asylum hearing; and (3) by failing to 
prepare Haesbaertadequatelyfortheasylum hearing. 

Respondent contends that the hearingj udge 's find­
ing of culpability in this matterwas erroneous for several 
reasons. He first asserts that thehearingjudge' s finding 
thathedidnotprepareHaesbaertfortheasylumhearing 
was erroneous, since respondentrnetand prepared with 
Haesbaert, his wife and daughter several times, and with 
Haesbaertat least three times, before the asylum hearing. 

Although Haesbaert testified in this proceeding 
that he met with respondent a total of three times, he 
also testified that he went to respondent's office to 
make an appointment on September 6, 1996, because 
he had not spoken with respondent since the master 
calendar hearing and his individual hearing was sched­
uled for September 9, 1996. He further testified that 
he met with respondent for about 15 minutes on 
September 7, 1996, the Saturday before the Monday 
hearing, after forcing his way into respondent's office, 
and respondent assured him that everything was fine. 
Based on the hearingj udge' s findings and conclusion 
of culpability, it is apparentthatthe hearingjudge found 
Haesbaert's testimony in this respect to be credible, 
and we must give this credibility determination great 
weight. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a).) We 
therefore reject respondent's factual assertion that he 
prepared Haesbaert for the asylum hearing. 

Respondent next contends that he could not have 
translated Haesbaert' s documents himself, as he has 
no knowledge of the Portuguese language, and he 
asked Haesbaert several times to gather as much 
evidence as possible and to have documents translated 
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for the hearing, since no one in respondent's office 
could do it. However, as the attorney in charge of this 
matter, respondent bore the ultimate responsibi I ityto 
have Haesbaert's documents translated so that they 
might be offered into evidence. Respondent also 
contends that there was insufficient evidence that he 
could have presented additional evidence supporting 
Haesbaert' s asy I um claim since: (I) the IJ testified in 
this matter that she could not even detennine whether 
it was an asylum case; (2) although the IJ testified that 
she supplements respondent's examination of his 
witnesses with questions of her own, the IJ also 
testified that she asks questions to supplement the 
record more than other Us, and the IJ did not specifi­
cally refer to the Haesbaert matter in testifying that 
respondent did not adequately prepare witnesses; (3) 
it was impossible to obtain additional witnesses, as 
Haesbaerttold respondent that they were in Brazil and 
probably could not come to the United States; and ( 4) 
the INS nonnallypresents evidence of conditions in a 
given country. However, we note that Kahn was able 
to attach additional documentation with the motion to 
remand, and Kahn crediblytestified in these proceedings 
that respondent failed to ask Haesbaert any questions 
regardingafearof futurepersecution. W etherefore reject 
these contentions and conclude, as noted above, that 
clear and convincing evidence establishes that respon­
dent could have, but failed to, present additional 
evidence to support Haesbaert' s asylum application. 

Respondent also contends that Kahn failed to 
raise the issue ofineffective assistance ofcounsel in her 
notice of appeal and was therefore barred from raising 
the issue in the BIA on appeal. We note that respondent 
has pointed to no legal authority to support this 
contention. In any event, we do not base our determi­
nation of professional misconduct in this matter on the 
BIA's finding of ineffective assistance of counsel. 
Instead, we have independently concluded, based on 
the evidence before us, that respondent failed to 
perform legal services competently. 

We agree with the hearingjudge' s conclusion that 
there is no clear and convincing evidence in the record 

16. Although the parties' stipulation states that the asylum appli­
cations were filed on June 17, 1998, theexhibits establish that the 
applications were actually filed on April 24, l 998. lnaddition, the 
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to prove that respondent violated section 6068, subdi­
vision (m), byfailingtorespond promptly to Haesbaert' s 
reasonable status inquiries. Therefore, the hearing 
judge correctly dismissed this charge with prejudice, 
and we adopt that dismissal. 

We disagree with the hearingjudge' s conclusion 
that respondent willfully violated rule 3-700(0)(2). 
Although respondent ultimately refunded the fee paid 
by Haesbaertapproximatelytwo months after Haesbaert 
requested the refund, respondent asserts, and we 
conclude, that there was no clear and convincing 
evidence that the value of the services he provided was 
less than the $500 he was paid. Although the asylum 
application was already filed at the time respondent 
agreed to represent Haesbaert, Haesbaert admitted at 
trial in this matter that respondent met with him three 
times before the asy !um hearing. In addition, respon­
dent appeared at the individual asylum hearing and 
elicited testimony from Haesbaert in support of the 
asylum application. Although respondent failed to 
present all of the evidence which he could have 
presented in support ofHaesbaert's claim, in view of 
the work respondent performed on Haesbaert's be­
half, as well as respondent's testimony that he earned 
the fee that he charged Haesbaert, we conclude that 
respondent may have believed he had rendered valu­
able services to Haesbaert and that under these 
circumstances respondent did not violate rule 3-
700(0)(2) by waiting two months to refund the $500. 
Accordingly, we reverse the hearingjudge' s culpability 
conclusion that respondent violated rule 3-700(0 )(2) 
and dismiss that charge with prejudice. 

The Flores Matter 

In March 1998, Jose Flores and Johana Flores 
employed respondent to file applications for political 
asylum forthem and torepresentthem before the INS 
on their applications. Respondent charged $2,000, to 
be paid in installments. The Floreses paid $600 when 
they employed respondent, and respondent filed appli­
cations for political asylum with the INS on April 24, 
1998.16 On June 1, 1998, the Floreses were inter-

stipulation and the exhibits establish that the INS asylum 
interviewtook place on June I, 1998, which date was necessar­
ily after, not before, the asylum applications were filed. 
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viewed by an INS asylum officer. Thereafter, their 
applications forpolitical asylum were denied, and they 
were ordered to appear in the immigration court on July 
2, 1998, to show cause why they should not be 
deported. 

On July 2, 1998, at the master calendar hearing, 
attorney Gardner appeared for respondent. The IJ 
served Gardner and the INS attorney with a notice of 
hearing in removal proceedings indicating that an 
individua 1 hearing was set for September 10, 1999. In 
August 1999, respondent met with the Floreses and, 
upon a review of the file, informed them that he would 
seek to continue the September 10, 1999 hearing to 
November 11, 1999, because they lacked sufficient 
evidence to support their claims for asylum. Respon­
dent asked the Floreses for documentation on Mr. 
Flores' s father and his political rank in El Salvador. 
Respondent also informed the F loreses that, because 
respondent would seek a continuance, they did not 
need to attend the hearing on September 10, 1999. 

On September 2, 1999, respondent filed a motion 
to continue the individual hearing to allow the Floreses 
to obtain additional evidence to support their asylum 
request. On September 3, 1999, the court sent respon­
dent a letter denying his motion and stating that the 
heari ngremained scheduled for September I 0, 1999. 
The Floreses were not informed that the motion to 
continue was denied. 

The Floreses did not appear at the hearing of 
September 10, 1999, and the court ordered their 
removal in absentia. The court served respondent with 
a copy of that order that same day. Respondent told the 
IJ ( 1 ) that he had spoken to the Floreses two weeks 
earlier, (2) that they were trying to get documents from 
El Salvador, and (3) that he had told the Floreses to be 
at the hearing. The judge reminded respondent that 
notice to counsel is notice to the clients. 

On September 13, 1999, respondent sent the 
Floreses a letter asking them to contact his office as 
soon as possible. This le~er did not inform the Floreses 
that they had been ordered removed. On October 7, 
l 999, respondent sent the Floreses a second letter 
requesting that they contact his office and attached a 
copy of the removal order. The attached order indi-
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cated that the Floreses were to report to the lNS for 
removal on October 20, 1999. 

On October 11, 1999, the Floreses consulted with 
attorney Mario Bautista. On October 19, 1999, Bautista 
filed a motion to reopen and rescind the removal order 
due to exceptional circumstances. This motion was 
based on respondent's ineffective assistance of coun­
sel. Bautista also reviewed the asylum application and 
determined that it was insufficient to support a finding 
of past political persecution or a wel I-founded fear of 
future persecution. 

OnDecember 17, 1999, theIJ granted themotion 
to reopen and scheduled a new individual hearing to be 
held in October 2002. As of the time of trial in the 
hearing department, the Floreseswereeligible to apply 
for temporary protective status and could obtain 
employment. 

The Hearing Judge's Conclusions 

As to this matter, respondent was charged with 
one count of violating rule 3-1 I0(A), one count of 
violating rule 3-700(D )(2 ), and one count of failing to 
infonn the Floreses of significant developments in their 
casein violation of section 6068, subdivision(m). The 
hearingj udge determined thatthe State Bar proved by 
clear and convincing evidence that respondent willfully 
violated rule 3-1 lO(A) by recklessly and repeatedly 
failing to competently perform legal services and that 
respondent violated section 6068, subdivision ( m) by 
failing to notify the Floreses immediately when the 
motion for continuance was denied. But the hearing 
judge concluded that the State Bar had failed to present 
clear and convincing evidence that respondent violated 
rule 3-700(D)(2). 

Discussion 

We conclude, upon our independent review, that 
the State Bar established by clear and convincing 
evidence that respondent willfully violated rule 3-
110( A) because he repeatedly and recklessly failed to 
perfonnlegalservicescompetently:(l)byfailingtofile 
an application with sufficient evidence to support a 
claim of political asylum; (2) by failing to inform the 
Floreses that the motion to continue had been denied; 
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and (3) by failing to infonn the Floreses that it was 
mandatory for them to appear at the scheduled hearing 
of September 10, 1999, instead telling them that they 
need not attend the hearing. 

Respondent contends that the hearingjudge made 
erroneous factual findings and an erroneous culpability 
conclusion as to this charge, since (1) respondent 
infonned the Floreses that he would try to get a 
continuance butthatthey still had to show up in court; 
(2) respondent informed the Floreses that the motion 
to continue had been denied; (3) there is no evidence 
that respondent did not try to contact his clients 
immediately when they failed to appear at their indi­
vidual hearing and, in any event, there is no rule or 
statute requiring an attorney to attempt to contact 
clients immediately; ( 4) respondent asked the clients to 
submit all documentation, affidavits and witnesses 
from this country (i.e., the United States) and their 
country oforigin to support theirasylum claim; and ( 5) 
respondent attempted to make the best case possible 
for the Floreses. 

Respondent again relies on his version of the 
events to support his factual assertions. Respondent 
testified in these proceedings that he met many times 
with the Floreses, that they needed time to gather the 
documents he asked for, and that he told the Floreses 
that the motion to continue was denied and that they 
should appear at the hearing. No evidence was pre­
sented to corroborate his testimony that he told the 
Floreses that the motion to continue was denied and 
that they should appear on September I 0, 1999. The 
Floreses testified that respondent told them he would 
be requesting a continuance of the individual hearing, 
so that they did not have to make an appearance at that 
hearing. 

As indicated by our culpability determination, we 
adopt the hearingjudge' s express finding, consistent 
with the Floreses' testimony, that respondent told 
them that they need not attend the individual hearing 
because he would get a continuance. It is also clear, and 
consistent with the Floreses' testimony, that respon-

17. Because we do not adopt the hearingjudge's determination 
that respondent is culpable of failing to provide legal services 
competently due to the fai I ure to attemptto contact the Floreses. 
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dent never told them that his motion for a continuance 
was denied, that their attendance at the individual 
hearing was mandatory, and that their case must 
proceed on the merits at that hearing. 

We note that respondent filed the Floreses' peti­
tion on April 24, 1998, yet it was not until August 1998 
that he again reviewed the petition and made the 
detennination that hed id not have sufficient evidence 
to support the petition. Only then did he seek further 
documentation from the Floreses notwithstanding that 
the hearing was scheduled for September I 0, 1998. 17 

We also conclude that two of the charged grounds 
for violating section 6068, subdivision (m) (i.e., (1) 
respondent's failure to inform the Floreses immedi­
ately when the motion to continue was denied and (2) 
respondent's failure to infonn the F loreses that their 
appearance was required at their individual hearing) 
are included in the violation of rule 3-1 l 0(A). We 
therefore decline to find additional culpability under 
section 6068, subdivision (m). We agree with the 
hearingj udge' s conclusion that there was no clear and 
convincing evidence that respondent failed to keep the 
Floreses informed of significant developments in their 
case by failing to infonn them immediately that they 
had been ordered deported in absentia and that they 
were to report for deportation on October 20, 1999, in 
view of the factthat respondent sent the Floreses letters 
on September 13, 1999, and October 7, 1999.In sum, 
we dismiss the charged section 6068, subdivision ( m ), 
violation with prejudice. 

We also agree with the hearingjudge' s determi­
nation that the State Bar failed to prove by clear and 
convincing evidence that respondent did not return 
unearned fees to the Floreses. The Floreses paid 
respondent $600to file an asylum application on their 
behalf and to represent them in related proceedings. 
While the asylum application itse If lacked sufficient 
evidence to support the reliefrequested, that fact in and 
of itself was not fatal to the asylum claim, since 
respondent could have supplemented the application 
and the evidence in support thereof after it was filed. 

immediately when they did not appear at their individual hearing, 
we do not address respondent's assertions as to this issue. 
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Respondent had attorney Gardner appear for him at 
the master calendar hearing, and respondent met with 
the Floreses in August to prepare them for their 
individual hearing. Respondent's office then prepared 
a motion to continue, and respondent appeared at the 
individual hearing. In view of this work performed on 
behalf of the Flores es and respondent's testimony that 
he earned the entire $600 paid, we agree with the 
hearingjudge' s conclusions that respondent may have 
believed he had rendered valuable services and that 
under such circumstances respondent was not re­
quired to refund the $600 absent a demand fora refund 
by the Floreses or someone on their behalf. Therefore, 
we dismiss the charged rule 3-700(0)(2) violation with 
prejudice. 

The Santiago Matters18 

Zenaida Santiago 

In March I 993, Zenaida Santiago employed re­
spondent to file a petition for political asylum, to 
represent her before the INS on her petition, and to 
obtain and renew annually her employment authoriza­
tion document. Ms. Santiago paid respondent $2,000 
in 2 5 installments for his representation. Soon after he 
was employed, respondent filed a petition forpolitical 
asylum and a request for employment authorization on 
behalf ofMs. Santiago. In September or October 1993, 
Ms. Santiago received her employment authorization 
document. 

In 1994, Ms. Santiago moved to Reno, Nevada. 
In or about August 1994, she telephoned respondent 
to obtain assistance in renewing her employment 
authorization document and to inquire about the status 
of her asylum application. She left a message for 
respondent to return her telephone call. 

On or about August 4, 1994, Ms. Santiago sent 
respondent a letter notifying him ofher new address in 
Reno and requesting a status update on her asylum 
application. In August 1994, Ms. Santiago completed 
a renewal application for her employment authoriza­
tion with the assistance of an INS officer. 

18. We discuss our culpability conclusions in the matters ofMr. 
Arturo Santiago and Ms. Zenaida Santiago together. 
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From 1994 through 1998, Ms. Santiago tele­
phoned respondent and left messages for him on 
several occasions inquiring about the status of her 
asylum application but received no response. She 
testified at her deposition that she had not seen or 
spoken to respondent since the initial interview. The 
only people she had spoken to since that time were 
George ( Jorge Ureta), respondent's assistant, and the 
receptionist. Further, the only correspondence she had 
received from respondent were the monthly reminders 
of the fee payment. 

On June 7, 1999, Ms. Santiago terminated 
respondent's services by sending him a letter via 
facsimile requesting the return ofher file and a refund 
of the fees she had paid, since respondent did nothing 
to assistherwithheremploymentauthorization docu­
ment renewal or with her asylum matter. She stated in 
the letter that she needed her file because she had a 
hearing before the INS the following week. 

On July 2, 1999, Ms. Santiago sent respondent a 
second letter, again requesting her file and a refund of 
unearned fees, and attached her letter of June 7, 1999. 
On July 26, 1999,respondent returned the file. On July 
29, 1999, Ms. Santiago sent respondent a third letter 
requesting a refund of unearned fees but received no 
response. She filed a complaint against respondent 
with the State Bar in October 1999. 

On or about January 18, 2000, the State Bar 
notified respondent that Ms. Santiago had filed a 
complaint against him. Thereafter, on February 21, 
2000,respondentrefunded only $1,500 of the $2,000 
to Ms. Santiago. 

The Hearing Judge's Conclusions 

As to this matter, respondent was charged with 
one count of violating rule 3-1 lO(A), one count of 
violating rule 3-700(D)(2), and one count of failing to 
respond promptly to reasonable status inquiries in 
violation of section 6068, subdivision (m). He was 
additionally charged with one count of violatingrule 3-
700(D)( 1 ), failingtoreleaseclientpapersand property 
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promptly upon request of the client. The hearingjudge 
detennined that respondent willfully violated rule 3-
11 O(A): ( 1) by failing to assist Ms. Santiago when she 
requested assistance with her employment authoriza­
tion renewal; and (2) byfai ling to inform Ms. Santiago 
that the matter could be transferred to Reno, Nevada. 
The hearing judge also determined that respondent 
failed to refund unearned fees promptly to Ms. Santiago, 
failed to respond to Ms. Santiago's reasonable status 
inquiries, and failed to release Ms. Santiago's file 
promptly uponherrequest, instead waiting for over six 
weeks to release the file after Ms. Santiago had 
informed respondent, in her first request for the file, 
that she needed her file the following week. 

Arturo Santiago 

In oraboutJanuary 1998, Arturo Santiago, Zenaida 
Santiago's husband, employed respondent. Respon­
dent advised him that his only option was to file an 
application for political asylum. Respondent requested 
$2,500. Mr. Santiago paid $750 at the time he em­
ployed respondent. 

In March 1998, Mr. Santiago received a written 
notice from the INS in San Francisco that he had an 
interview with an INS asylum officer on April 14, 
1998, at9:00 a.m. Mr. Santiago was instructed to bring 
his entire family. Mr. Santiago notified respondent's 
office and requested an appointment with respondent 
to discuss the interview. He spoke to George, 
respondent's assistant, who instructed him to come to 
respondent's office at 3 p.m. on April 13, 1998, to 
prepare for the interview. 

On April 13, 1998, Mr. Santiago and his family 
flew to San Francisco from Reno to meet with respon­
dent. However, when they arrived at respondent's 
office that day, respondent was not there. George told 
them that respondent would meetthem the following 
morning at 8:00 a.m. at the INS office. 

Respondent failed to meet with the Santiagos 
prior to the interview. Afterwaitinguntil approximately 

19. Immigration law expert Angela Bean testified that acompe• 
tent immigration law attorney would not send a client to an 
asylum interview without counsel because the interviews are 
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11 :00 a.m., the Santiagos appeared at Mr. Santiago's 
INS interview without counsel. The INS asylum 
officer denied Mr. Santiago's asylum application and 
offered to transfer their files to the Reno office for a 
hearing before the immigration court.19 

On June 25, 199 8, Mr. Santiago sent respondent 
a letter via facsimile requesting a refund of the $7 5 0 he 
had paid to respondent. Respondent, however, did not 
refund the $750 until after Mr. Santiago filed a 
complaint with the State Bar. 

The Hearing Judge's Conclusions 

As to this client matter, respondent was charged 
with, and the hearingj udge determined that respondent 
was culpable of, one count of failing to perform legal 
services competently in violation ofrule 3-11 0(A). 

Discussion 

Our independent review of the record convinces 
us that in these two matters, respondent willfully 
violated rule 3- l 1 0(A): (1) by failing to inform the 
Santiagos that their cases could be transferred to Reno, 
where they resided; (2) by failing to assist Ms. Santiago 
with her renewal of her employmentauthorization; (3) 
by failing to meet with the Santi a gos on the day before 
and the day of Mr. Santiago's interview; and (4) by 
failing to appear at the asylum interview on April 14, 
1998, leaving the Santiagos without counsel for the 
interview. 

We also determine that respondent is culpable of 
willfully violating rule 3-700(0)(2) by the delay in 
refunding unearned fees upon Ms. Santiago's request 
and termination of respondent's employment until 
afterrespondent learned of Ms. Santiago's complaint 
to the State Bar. We find that respondent did nothing 
for Ms. Santiago except for filing the political asylum 
application andobtainingthe initial work authorization, 
which work was not worth $2,000. We further deter­
mine that respondent is culpable of willfully violating 
section 6068, subdivision(m ), by fa iii ng to answer Ms. 

wide open and because frequently, afterthe immigration officer 
is finished, the attorney is invited to cover areas that may not 
have been adequately covered by the questioning. 
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Santiago's many telephone calls and letters and of 
willfullyviolatingrule 3-700(DX 1) byfailingtopromptly 
return Ms. Santiago's file upon request in time for her 
court hearing. 

With respect to Ms. Santiago's matter, respon­
dent asserts that he recommended to her that she 
should retain another attorney in Reno once she moved 
there but that she refused to do so. He also asserts that 
he and his office staff responded to her inquiries and 
that her file was returned to her late due to an office 
miscommunication but that no harm was done. He 
additionally asserts that he provided services of value· 
to her during the many years he worked for her but 
nevertheless refunded her fees. 

Respondent also asserts that, once the Santiagos 
married, he advised both of them that it would be better 
to retain counsel in Reno and to file a po 1 itical asylum 
application there but that they both refused. He 
contends that he did meet with Mr. Santiago and 
prepared him the day before the INS asylum interview. 
According to respondent, at that time, he infonned the 
Santiagos that he was scheduled to be in court at the 
time of their interview and offered to reschedule their 
interview, but the Santiagos refused, saying they 
wanted to go to the interview by themselves since they 
had flown to San Francisco from Reno. 

In support of these assertions, respondent ap­
pears to again rely solely on his testimony that he met 
with the Santiagos for about an hour when they flew 
in from Reno the day before their asylum interview and 
that they went to the interview by themselves as agreed 
upon. He explained that he prepares clients for their 
asylum interviews but tells them to go to the interviews 
by themselves because an attorney cannot say any­
thing at an interview. He also testified that he advised 
the Santiagos that they should find another attorney in 
Reno. He testified that he spoke to Ms. Santiago on the 
telephone, that she came to the office on one or two 
occasions, and that he responded to her inquiries on the 
status of the asylum application, though he could not 
recall whether he everresponded in writing. He further 
testified that after receiving a letter from Ms. Santiago 
requesting her file, he had given instructions, presum­
ably to his office staff, to have the file copied and sent 
to her, but the file was not sent until almost two months 
after respondent received the letter. 
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However, it is clear from the hearing judge's 
culpability determinations that he rejected respondent's 
credibility as to these matters and accepted the cred­
ibility of the Santiagos. We give these credibility 
detenninations great weight. 

The Obis Matter 

In or about October 1994, Alejandro Alberto Obis 
employed respondent to represent him regarding his 
political asylum application. Obis paid respondent at 
least$ l ,800 in attorney fees for representation through 
a regular hearing. 

On June 21, 1995, respondent accompanied Obis 
to his asylum interview with the INS officer. Respon­
dent left during the interview, stating he had to attend 
a court hearing. The interview continued without 
respondent. The officer denied the application, and the· 
matter was referred to the immigration court for a 
hearing on September 7, 199 5. 

On September 7, 1995, attorney Gardner ap­
peared at the hearing for respondent as counsel for 
Obis. Thell setthecaseforaregularhearingonMarch 
5, 1996.Respondentrepresented ObisattheMarch 5, 
1996, hearing. At the conclusion of the hearing, the U 
denied Obis's asylum application but granted his 
request for voluntary departure by June 1, 1996. The 
lJ 's finding was based upon Obis's failure to establish 
past persecution or a well-founded fear of future 
persecution. 

At the conclusion of the hearing, Obis asked 
respondent what had happened. 

On March 11, 1996, respondent filed a notice of 
appeal with the BIA, and on June 21, 1996, respondent 
filed a brief in support ofObis's appeal. On June 3, 
1997, the BIA affirmed the IJ's decision and dismissed 
the appeal. Respondentfailed to inform Obis that the 
BIA had dismissed his appeal. 

In June 1997, Obis received a telephone call from 
respondent's office requesting that Obis come to the 
office fora meeting. Obis went to respondent's office, 
and respondent informed him that he would have to file 
an appeal in the Ninth Circuit. Respondent charged 
Obis $3,000 for the appeal, and Obis agreed to pay the 
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money in installments. Obis paid respondent $1,500 on 
or aboutJune 17, 1997. 

On December 17, 1997, the Ninth Circuit dis­
missed the matter for failure to file an opening brief.2° 
Respondent's office received a copy of the dismissal 
order. Respondent failed to infonn Obis that this 
appeal had been dismissed. 

On January 24, 1998, Obis received a letter from 
the INS stating that his application for employment 
authoriz.ation was denied because his asylum applica­
tion had been dismissed on June 3, 1997, and no appeal 
was filed. 

After conducting further research, Obis learned 
that he was going to be ordered deported. On February 
5, 1998, Obis returned to respondent's office and again 
questioned respondent about what would happen in his 
case. 

In or about February 1998, Obis employed attor­
ney Elif Keles to represent him. Keles notified 
respondent that Obis would be filing a motion based 
upon ineffective assistance of counsel. On or about 
March 5, 1998, respondent issued Obis a refund in the 
amount of$1,500. 

On April 3, 1998, Keles filedamotiontorecalendar 
scheduling order for petitioner's brief with the Ninth 
Circuit, requesting that the court recall its dismissal 
order due to ineffective assistance of counsel. On 
August 4, J 998, the Ninth Circuit reinstated the case. 
On May 18, 1999, the court held that Obis had 
demonstrated at his regular hearing that he had suf­
fered from past persecution and had shown a 
well-founded fear of future persecution. The court 
remanded the case to the BIA. 

The Hearing Judge's Conclusions 

As to this client matter, respondent was charged 
with violating rule 3• l l 0(A) and with failing to infonn 

20. Gardner testified at trial in this matter that he did not file the 
Obis petition forreview in the Ninth Circuit and did not prepare, 
dictate, or authorize the petition. Gardner identi tied the signature 
on the pleading as his "stamped signature." He noted that the 
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Obisofsignificantdevelopments inhis case in violation 
of section 6068, subdivision (m). The hearingjudge 
determined that the State Bar had proved al I charges 
by clear and convincing evidence. 

Discussion 

We cone Jude upon our independent review of the 
record that the State Bar proved by clear and convinc­
ing evidence respondent's culpability of willfully 
violating rule 3-11 0(A): ( 1) by leaving Obis unrepre­
sented in his interview with the INS officer; (2) by 
failing to file a timely opening brief in the Ninth Circuit; 
and (3) by failing to file a motion to reopen the Ninth 
Circuit appeal upon receiving notice ofits dismissal. 

We also conclude that respondent willfully vio­
lated section 6068, subdivision ( m ): ( 1) by not infonning 
Obis of the BIA's dismissal of his appeal; and (2) by 
not informing Ob is of the Ninth Circuit's dismissal of 
his appeal due to respondent's failure to file a timely 
opening brief. 

Respondent contends that the hearing judge's 
findingofculpability off ailing to perform legal services 
competently is erroneous because ( 1) although the 
hearingjudge found respondent left his client in the 
middle of an INS interview to attend to another case, 
the client had previously waived respondent's pres­
ence after respondent had given the client the option 
of rescheduling the interview and (2) the hearingjudge 
denied respondent due process by failing to indicate 
clearly in his decision whether respondent's alleged 
failure to take appropriate action on appeal was during 
the appeal before the BIA or during the appeal before 
the 9th Circuit. 

Respondent testified in this matter that he had an 
agreement with Obis that he would be leaving during 
the interview due to a conflict and that Obis did not 
want to reschedule the hearing, so he completed it 
without counsel. However, Obis testified thathedidn 't 
remember respondent telling him beforehand that he 

petition is made up of two sentences, which is the way Jorge 
Ureta, respondent's assistant, routinely drafts them. This docu­
ment was drafted without Gardner"s knowledge. 
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would be leaving in the middle of the interview. 
Consistent with the hearingjudge' s implied finding, we 
find lacking in cred ibi I ity respondent's testimony that 
Obis agreed to continue the interview without counsel. 

r2 J In view of our duty to independently review 
the record and make findings of fact and conclusions 
oflaw, any alleged denial of due process by the hearing 
judge's failure to clearly identify respondent's miscon­
duct in this case will be remedied by our issuance of an 
opinion that supersedes the hearingjudge 's decision 
(In the Matter of Hunter (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 81, 87). Therefore, respondent's 
due process contention is rendered moot, and we do 
not address it on the merits. (In the Matter of Respon­
dent K, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr at pp. 
346-347.) 

Respondent additionally appears to assert that, as 
to the Ninth Circuit appeal, it was attorney Gardner 
who failed to file a timely opening brief. Gardner 
testified.however, that he never knew about the Ninth 
Circuit petition forreviewuntil it had been dismissed 
and never received money for handling an appeal for 
Obis. We conclude that respondent was responsible 
for seeing to it that a brief was timely filed for Obis in 
the Ninth Circuit. In view of Gardner's testimony, we 
also determine that respondent is not culpable of failing 
to perform legal services competently by reason of his 
lack of supervision of Gardner but is culpable, as 
indicated above, for failingto file a Ninth Circuit brief. 

Respondent also asserts that the hearing judge 
made the erroneous factual finding that respondent 
failed to inform Obis of the BIA's dismissal of his 
appeal. Respondent asserts that ifhe had not advised 
Obis of the BIA' s dismissal of the appeal, Obis could 
not have consented to file a petition for review and that, 
therefore, there would not have been a Ninth Circuit 
petition to review the BIA decision. However, Obis' s 
declaration attached to the motion to recalendar the 
scheduling order that was filed in the Ninth Circuit 
indicates that respondent never even told Obis that he 
was filing the BIA appeal and that, after the appeal was 
dismissed, he merely told Obis that he would have to 
file an appeal, not that he would have to file a new 
appeal with the Ninth Circuit because the BIA appeal 
had been dismissed. Based on the evidence, we agree 
with and adopt the hearingj udge' s finding that respon-
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dent did not inform Obis of the dismissal of the BIA 
appeal and conclude that this omission constituted a 
wi II ful violation of section 606 8, subdivision (m ). 

The Robles-Mez.a. Matter 

On or about April 30, 1996, Roberto Robles­
Meza was placed in deportation proceedings because 
the INS alleged that he entered the United States 
without inspection in May 1987. Robles-Meza paid 
nonattomey immigration consultant Charles Stephens 
to prepare an application for suspension of deporta­
tion. Robles-Meza appeared for hearings before the 
immigration court on June l 9, 1996, July 3, 1996, and 
September 9, 1996. At the last of these hearings, the 
IJ set a regular hearing for October 25, 1996, and 
required any notice of representation to be filed by 
September 16, 1996. 

On September 16, 1996, respondent filed his 
notice of entry of appearance as attorney and filed and 
served the application for suspension of deportation. 

On October 25, 1996, respondent appeared on 
behalf of Robles-Meza. During the hearing, the IJ 
indicated for the record that, based upon Robles­
Meza' s answers to questions at the hearing regarding 
dates he was out of the United States during the 
previous 13 years, some of the information on the 
application for suspension of deportation was incor­
rect. Atthe con cl us ion of the hearing, the court issued 
an oral decision (1) denyingRobles-Meza' s applica­
tion for suspension of deportation on the ground that 
he failed to establish extreme hardship and (2) permit­
tingRobles-Meza to depart the United States voluntarily. 

Robles-Meza employed attorney Robert Y arra to 
appeal the court's order of October 25, 1996. On 
September 26, 1997, Yarra filed in the BIA a motion 
to remand based on ineffective assistance of counse 1 
or, in the alternative, respondent's brief in support of 
appeal. Y arra argued in part that respondent failed to 
present substantial evidence that Rob !es-Meza met the 
extreme hardship criteria for suspension of deportation. 
Yarra then set forth the evidence that would have 
established extreme hardship had respondent presented 
it at the hearing. Based upon Yarra's argwnent, the 
BIA found that Robles-Meza had met the criteria and 
therefore granted his request to suspend deportation. 
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The Hearing Judge's Conclusions 

As to this client matter, respondent was charged 
with, and the hearing judge determined respondent 
was culpable of, one count of violating rule 3-11 0(A). 

Discussion 

Based on our independent review of the record, 
we conclude that respondent willfully violated rule 3-
110( A) by: ( 1 ) fail ingto correct errors in the application 
for suspension prepared by anonattorney; (2) failing 
to properly prepare Robles-Meza for the hearing to 
establish the hardship requirement for suspension of 
deportation; and (3) failing to review the evidence for 
sufficiency to support his application.We do not find 
respondent's testimony as to his preparation to be 
credible. 

Respondent contends that there is no evidence in 
the record to support the hearingjudge' s finding that 
respondent's questioning at the hearing showed a lack 
of preparation. Respondent testified in this matter that 
he spent about an hour and a half with Robles-Meza 
going over the application for suspension of deporta­
tion, that they discussed the necessary witnesses and 
documentation, that he believed he checked all sup­
porting documents to be sure they were translated into 
English, and that he prepared Robles-Meza for the 
individual hearing. 

On the other hand, Robles-Meza testified that he 
met with respondent twice, the first time for IO or 15 
minutes and the second time, prior to the hearing of 
October 2 5, 1996, for about half an hour. He testified 
that respondent to Id him that the papers prepared by 
nonattomey Charles Stevens were fine and that he was 
asked to bring letters from the church and the green 
cards from his father and brother. He further testified 
that, at the second meeting with respondent, they did 
not discuss what questions would be asked of him in 
the individual hearing, and there was never a discussion 
of witnesses to bring to court to support the application. 

Moreover, Immigration Judge Phan Quang Tue 
testified at trial in the hearing department that 
untranslated documents in Spanish and unsigned or 
undated affidavits were returned to respondent. Immi­
gration Judge Tue also testified that respondent was 
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not very well prepared and failed to so I icit some of the 
information necessary to support the application for 
suspension of deportation. 

Based upon our independent review of the evi­
dence, we conclude that the testimony ofRobles-Meza 
and Immigration Judge Tue clearly establish that 
respondent recklessly and repeatedly failed to perform 
legal services competently in willful violation ofrule 3-
110(A). 

The Franco Matter 

In April 1996, Jose Franco was placed in deporw 
tationproceedings because the INS learned thathehad 
entered the United States in October 1979 without 
inspection. Franco appeared at his first immigration 
courthearingonApril 9, 1996, without an attorney and 
requested a continuance to employ an attorney. The 
court continued the matter to June 18, I 996. 

In approximately April 1996, Franco employed 
respondent to represent him in the deportation pro­
ceedings. Respondent advised Franco to gather further 
documentation. Franco gathered the documentation 
and provided it to respondent before the hearing of 
June 18, 1996. Respondent prepared and submitted an 
application for suspension of deportation with support­
ing documentation. 

On June 18, 1996, attorney Gardner entered an 
appearance for Franco. At the hearing of that date, the 
IJ set the matter for a regular hearing on March 17, 
1997. 

Respondent did not appear on March 17, 1997. 
When Fran co appeared at that hearing, the lJ in formed 
him that he needed additional documentation to sup­
port his application for suspension from deportation. 
The IJ rescheduled the hearing for October 9, 1997. 
However, neitherrespondentnor Franco appeared at 
that hearing, and Franco was ordered deported in 
absentia. 

Franco thereafter employed attorney Robert Jobe 
to represent him in his deportation proceedings. On 
March 2, 1998, Jobefiledamotiontoreopenbased in 
part on ineffective assistance of counsel. The motion 
was unopposed, and the IJ granted the motion on 
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March 9, 1998. Attorney Jobe submitted substantial 
documentation to support the suspension of deporta­
tion proceedings in Franco's case. However, Franco 
died on July 8, 1999, before the final hearing on the 
application for suspension of deportation. 

The Hearing Judge's Conclusions 

As to this client matter, respondent was charged 
with one count of violating rule 3-11 0(A ). The hearing 
judge concluded that the State Bar had failed to present 
clear and convincing evidence of this violation. 

Discussion 

We agree with the hearingjudge 's statement in his 
decision that any reasonable doubts must be resolved 
in respondent's favor (see, e.g., Young v. State Bar 
(1990)50Cal.3d 1204, 1216),andweconcludethat, 
in view of Franco's death, we do not know the extent 
of respondent's preparation of and advice to Fran co. 
We also agree with the hearingjudge' s conclusion that, 
notwithstanding the apparent lack of sufficient docu­
mentation attached to the original application for 
suspension of deportation, we cannot know what 
additional evidence respondent may have intended to 
present at the individual hearing. We therefore dismiss 
with prejudice the charge that respondent violated rule 
3-11 0(A). As we will further discuss along with the 
charge that respondent committed acts of moral turpi• 
tude by habitually disregarding his clients' interests, we 
do not considerculpability in this matter in determining 
the appropriate level of discipline in this case. 

The Bracamonte-Reyes Matter 

In March 1997, Gladis Bracamonte-Reyes ille­
gally entered the United States through Texas and was 
taken into custody by the INS. Her matter was referred 
to the immigration court in Texas. She retained Texas 
attorney Thelma Garcia, who assisted her in obtaining 
a change of venue to the immigration court in San 
Francisco. Before Bracamonte.Reyes left for San 
Francisco on May 9, l 997, Garcia's office suggested 
that she obtain counsel in San Francisco but did not 
recommend anyone in particular. 

Bracamonte-Reyes provided Garcia's office with a 
forwarding address so that all documentation received 
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from the immigration court in San Francisco could be 
forwarded to her. Bracamonte-Reyes decided she 
would wait until she received the notification of her 
initial hearing date in San Francisco before employing 
an attorney in San Francisco. 

On May 22, 1997, the immigration court in San 
Francisco sent a notice of hearing for Bracamonte• 
Reyes to "William R. Gardner, Law Office ofMiguel 
Gadda." The notice indicated that a master calendar 
hearing was set for August 26, 1997. Respondent's 
office received this notice in error, since no one at his 
office had notified the court that he was representing 
Bracamonte-Reyes. Bracamonte-Reyes did not re­
ceive notice of this hearing. 

On August 26, 1997, John Pearson, a contract 
attorney for respondent, appeared at the master cal en• 
dar hearing upon respondent's instructions. Pearson 
filedaFonnEOIR-28,anoticeofentryofappearance 
as attorney of record, indicating that respondent rep­
resented Bracamonte-Reyes. Bracamonte-Reyes did 
not appear at the hearing, Pearson never saw 
Bracamonte-Reyes, and Bracamonte-Reyes at no 
time paid respondent any fees. Pearson obtained a 
continuance of the hearing to September 16, 1997. 
Pearson returned to respondent's office and directed 
the staff to contact Bracamonte-Reyes, but she never 
received notification of the continued hearing date. 

At the hearing of September 16, 1997, the IJ 
ordered Bracamonte-Reyes deported in absentia after 
she failed to appear. As Immigration Judge Laura 
Ramirez testified in this matter, because a notice of 
hearing appeared to have been mailed to counsel of 
record, Judge Ramirez had no discretion to do anything 
but orderthe deportation in absentia when Bracamonte­
Reyes failed to appear in court. 

In approximately September 1997, Bracamonte­
Reyes contacted Garcia's office in Texas because she 
had not received any notification of her hearing date. 
Garcia's office informed her that she had missed her 
hearing of August 26, 1997, and that she was repre­
sented by an attorney in San Francisco. 

On September 23, 1997, Bracamonte-Reyes 
employed attorney Sharon Dulbergto represent her in 
the matter. Attorney Dulberg obtained a copy of the 
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immigration court file and learned that respondent's 
office had made anappearance on behalfofBracamonte­
Reyes although Bracamonte-Reyes had never 
spoken with respondent and had not authorized 
such appearance. 

Dulberg tried unsuccessfully to contact respon­
dent by telephone and by letter but did finally obtain 
acopyofBracamonte-Reyes's file from respondent. 
On November 25, 1997, she filed a motion to reopen 
deportation proceedings on behalf of Bracamonte­
R eyes based on respondent's unauthorized 
representation ofBracamonte-Reyes. The court granted 
the motion. 

The Hearing Judge's Conclusions 

As to this client matter, respondent was charged 
with one count of violating section 6104. That section 
provides that "[ c ]orruptly or wilfully and without 
authority appearing as attorney for a party to an action 
or proceeding constitutes a cause for disbannent or 
suspension." The hearing judge concluded that the 
State Bar had failed to present clear and convincing 
evidence of this violation. 

Discussion 

Bracamonte-Reyes testified attria I in the hearing 
department that she had never met respondent, attor­
ney Gardner, or attorney Pearson before that day in 
State Bar Court proceeding and that she had never 
been to respondent's law office before she hired 
attorney Dulberg. 

Respondent, however, testified that, upon her 
arrival from Texas, Bracamonte-Reyes came to his 
office requesting representation and that he saw her 
after she failed to appear at the master calendar 
hearing. He testified that he also saw her at the INS 
bu ii ding after the second scheduled hearing, that she 
told him she had just arrived two hours late, and that 
he spoke to her and asked her to come to his office. 

Inasmuch as there is a direct conflict in the 
testimony of the parties and as there is no other 
evidence to support the parties' contentions except the 
notice ofhearing sent to respondent's office, we adopt 
the hearingjudge' s conclusion that the State Bar failed 
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to prove that respondent violated section 6104. The 
hearing judge either found respondent's testimony 
credible, found Bracamonte-Reyes's testimony in­
credible, or was unable to resolve the conflicting 
testimony and gave respondent the benefit of reason­
able doubt. Accordingly, the charge of violating this 
section is dismissed with prejudice. 

Moral Turpitude-Habitual Disregard of Client 
Interests 

In this charge, the State Bar incorporated all the 
facts set forth in all of the foregoing client matters and 
alleged that respondent committed acts involving moral 
turpitude by habitually disregarding the interests ofhis 
clients. 

The Hearing Judge 's Conclusions 

The hearing judge concluded that the State Bar 
failed to present clear and convincing evidence to 
establish a violation of section 6106. 

Discussion 

[3a] Upon our independent review, it appears that 
the record may very well contain clear and convincing 
evidence to support the charged section 6106 viola­
tions. " '[H]abitual disregard by an attorney of the 
interests ofhis or her clients combined with failure to 
communicate with such clients constitute acts of moral 
turpitude justifying disbarment. [Citations.)' [Cita­
tions.]" (Kentv. State Bar(l 987)43 Cal.3d 729, 735.) 
" 'Even when such neglect [of clients] is grossly 
negligent or careless, rather than willful and dishonest, 
it isan act of moral turpitude and professional miscon­
duct,justifying disbarment .... '" (Simmons v. State 
Bar(l 970)2 Cal.3d 719, 729, quoting Grove v. Stale 
Bar (1967) 66 Cal.2d 680, 683-684; see also In the 
Matter of Myrdall (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 363, 385.) 

(3b] In addition, it also appears to us, upon our 
review of the entire record, that there may be clear and 
convincing evidence of respondent's culpability of 
violating rule 3-700(0)(2) in the Garcia matter, as it 
does not appear that respondent earned the fee paid by 
the Garcias, and of violating rule 3-11 O(A) in the 
Franco matter by failing to appear, without notice or 



440 

an explanation to Franco or the immigration court, at 
Franco's individual hearing. 

(3cl However, neither the State Bar nor respon­
dent has addressed these issues on review. In light of 
the very extensive misconduct and aggravating cir­
cumstances (including a prior record of discipline for 
verysimilarmisconduct)thatareclearlyestablishedby 
the record, we conclude that any further findings of 
culpability on these additional charges would not affect 
in any way our discipline recommendation in this case. 
Accordingly, this is one of the rare instances in which 
we need not and therefore do not independently 
determine whether the record establishes respondent's 
culpability on any of these additional charges. (Cf. 
Himmel v. State Bar ( I 973) 9 Cal.3d 16, 23.) 

The Castro Matter 

Nelly Castro, who is the spouse of a United States 
citizen, attempted to enter the United States as an 
intending immigrant without a valid immigrant visa or 
othervalid entry document. The INS detained her for 
a hearing before an JJ. 

In December 1996, Castro em p Joyed respondent 
to assist her in obtaining the status oflegal permanent 
resident. Respondent advised her that the IJ could 
adjustherstatus in the exclusion proceedings currently 
pending. This advice was incorrect, as an alien can 
adjust status only if inspected and admitted or if 
granted advanced parole into the United States. Re­
spondent charged Castro $1,000, which amount Castro 
paid at or near the time she employed respondent. 

On December 12, 1996, attorney Gardner ap­
peared for respondent at a master calendar hearing. 
Gardner was unfamiliarwith the case and attempted to 
file an application for permanent resident status, which 
made Castro excludab le as charged. The U continued 
the matter to May 12, 1997, so that Gardner could 
discuss the case with respondent. On May 12, 1997, 
Gardner appeared and obtained another continuance. 

On December 2, 1997, respondent's office filed 
on Castro's behalf an application to register pennanent 
residence or adjust status. 
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On December 15, 199 7, respondent appeared on 
behalf of Castro. The IJ explained for the record that 
Castro was in exclusion proceedings and could not 
obtain an adjustment of status in those court proceed­
ings. Respondent admitted that Castro was excludable 
as charged and requested to withdraw Castro's appli­
cation for adjustment of status so that Castro could go 
back to Mexico and get a val id visa. The fNS trial 
attorney indicated that respondent would have to 
obtain the consent of the INS district director to 
withdraw Castro's application for adjustment of sta­
tus. Respondent then requested additional time to 
contact the INS district director to obtain this consent. 
The JJ continued the matter to March 2, 1998, to give 
respondent time to do so. 

On March 2, 1998, respondent appeared on 
Castro's behalf and again attempted to withdraw the 
application for adjustment of status. The INS trial 
attorney again objected to the withdrawal of the 
application absent the consent of the district director, 
and the IJ once again explained to respondent that he 
did not have jurisdiction to decide an adjustment of 
status in an exclusion proceeding. Respondent contin­
ued to request that the court pennit Castro to withdraw 
her application for adjustment of status, and the U 
re iterated that respondent was required to obtain the 
INS district director's consent in order for the court to 
do that. The IJ then ordered Castro excluded and 
deported from the United States since respondent had 
failed to reach a resolution with the INS district 
director. 

On March 16, 1998, respondent filed a notice of 
appeal to the BIA on the ground that the IJ abused his 
discretion by advising Castro to file an adjustment of 
status application., 

In or about March 1998, Castro terminated 
respondent's representation and employed attorney 
Stephen Shaiken, and respondent refunded the entire 
$1,000 fee to Castro. Shaiken filed a motion to reopen 
based upon ineffective assistance of counsel. 

As Shaiken testified in these proceedings, when 
an alien is ordered excluded, he or she is barred from 
obtaining a visa without first obtaining a waiver. 



IN THE MATTER OF GADDA 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 416 

Further, serious penalties can be imposed on an alien 
who remains in the United States for an extended 
period of time without authorization.For instance, if 
an alien remains in the United States without permis­
sion for more than one year, and then leaves, there is 
a l 0-year bar on re-entry. 

The Hearing Judge's Conclusions 

As to this matter, respondent was charged with 
violatingrule3-l I0(A)andsection6104. The hearing 
judge concluded that the State Bar had proved by clear 
and convincing evidence that respondent willfully 
violated rule 3-11 0(A). The hearingjudge also deter­
mined, however, that the State Bar had failed to 
present clear and convincing evidence of this violation 
of section 6104. 

Discussion 

Upon our independent review of the record, we 
determine that respondent willfully violated rule 3-
11 O(A) by repeatedly and recklessly failing to perform 
legal services competently. Despite the fact that the IJ 
advised respondent (I) that the lJ did not have 
jurisdiction in exclusion proceedings to adjust an 
alien's status and (2) that respondent had to obtain the 
INS district director's pennission before Castro could 
withdraw her application for adjustment of status, 
respondent continued to attempt to withdraw the 
application for adjustment of status without proof of 
the district director's pennission and to request that the 
IJ consider Castro's application to adjust status in the 
exclusion proceedings. Moreover, respondent incor­
rectly advised Castro that the IJ could adjust her status 
in the exclusion proceedings. In addition, respondent 
was aware or should have been aware that if Castro 
remained in the United States for a sufficient-amount 
of time, she was subject to being barred from the 
entering the United States forup to IO years unless she 
obtained a waiver. Respondent nevertheless failed to 
attempt to terminate the exclusion proceedings and 
instead obtained several continuances. Respondent 
also filed a frivolous appeal with the BIA, stating as a 
basis for the appeal thatthe IJ had erroneously advised 
Castro to file an application to adjust status in the 
exclusion proceedings. 
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Respondent asserts that Castro would not coop­
erate with him, as she refused his advice to return to 
Mexico to get her visa there and instead insisted on 
trying to obtain an adjustment of status in the United 
States. He also contends that he requested thatthe INS 
district director allow Castro to withdraw her applica­
tion for adjustment of status or admit Castro to the 
United States, but the district director rejected these 
requests. Respondent asserts that he acted in the best 
interests of the Castros in every respect. 

However, the record clearly establishes that re­
spondent did not understand the proper procedure to 
pursue on behalf of Castro. He repeatedly tried to 
withdraw Castro's application for adjustment of status 
without the district director's consent. He requested 
that the IJ consider Castro's application to adjust her 
status in the exclusion proceedings notwithstanding 
that the IJ had told him that the reliefhe was pursuing 
was not available to Castro under the circumstances. 
Finally, he obtained continuances of the hearing dates 
in spite of the fact that respondent was aware that the 
continuances were likely to result in serious sanctions 
being imposed upon Castro due to the length of her 
unauthorized stay in the United States. Moreover, 
respondent falsely stated in his appeal to the BIA that 
the IJ gave Castro incorrect advice, when the tran­
scripts establish thatthe IJ repeatedly gave Castro and 
respondent correct advice. We conclude that 
respondent's arguments as to th is issue lack merit. 

Astothechargeofviolatingsection 6104byfiling 
an appeal to the BIA without obtaining the Castros' 
authority, we give great weight to the hearingj udge 's 
apparent credibility determination based on 
respondent's testimony that Mr. Castro authorized 
respondent to file the appeal. We therefore adopt the 
hearingj udge 's detenninati on that respondent is not 
culpable as to this charge, and we dismiss this charge 
with prejudice. 

The Villalta Moran Matter 

On or near October 6, 1999, Alexev Villalta 
Moran employed respondent to represent him in 
removal proceedings. Respondent filed a notice of 
appearance as attorney with the immigration court on 
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October 6, 1999. On Octo her 20, 1999, respondent 
was served with a notice of a master hearing on January 
24, 2000. 

On January 24, 2000, respondent appeared, but 
VillaltaMoran failed to appear. Thell ordered Villalta 
Moran removed in absentia. 

On May 12, 2000, respondent filed a motion to 
reopen. The motion stated that the reason Villalta 
Moran failed to appear was that he had not received 
noticeofthehearingofJanuary24,2000. On June 13, 
2000, the IJ granted the motion to reopen based upon 
her sua sponte finding of ineffective assistance of 
counsel. She noted that it was clearthatrespondent had 
received notice of the hearing and failed to notify 
Villalta Moran of the hearing. Since notice to the 
attorney is notice to the client (8 C.F.R. § 292.S(a)), 
she found respondent's motion to be frivolous but 
granted it, as indicated, based on ineffective assistance 
of counsel. 

The Hearing Judge's Conclusions 

As to this client matter, respondent was charged 
with violating rule 3-110( A) and with failing to inform 
V illaltaMoran of significant developments in his case 
in violation of section 6068, subdivision (m). The 
hearingjudge concluded thatthe State Bar had failed 
to present clear and convincing evidence of either of 
these violations. 

Discussion 

Upon our independent review of the record, 
including the stipulation, we adopt the hearingjudge' s 
conclusion that the State Bar failed to present clear and 
convincing evidence that respondent willfully violated 
either rule 3-11 0(A) or section 6068, subdivision ( m). 
The NDC charged that respondent violated rule 3-
11 0(A) by(l) failing to inform Villalta Moran of the 
hearing on January 24, 2000; (2) failing to inform 
Villalta Moran that respondent provided ineffective 
assistance of counsel; (3) failing to advise Villalta 
Moran to seek new counsel to file a motion to reopen 
based upon ineffective assistance of counsel; and ( 4) 
failing to state in his motion to reopen that he provided 
ineffective assistance of counsel. The NDC charged 
that respondent violated section 6068, subdivision 
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(m ), by failing to inform Villa! ta Moran that respondent 
provided ineffective assistance of counsel. 

The hearing judge impliedly found credible 
respondent's testimony that he sent the notice to the 
address ofVillalta Moran's mother, where he had been 
to Id Villalta Moran wou Id be living. U nderthese facts, 
respondentdidallhecouldtoinfonn VillaltaMoranof 
his hearing and did not provide ineffective assistance 
of counsel. Therefore, the coW1ts charged as to this 
matter are dismissed with prejudice. 

The Trust Account Matter 

Beginning sometime before January 1, 1999, and 
continuinguntilDecember3 l, 1999,respondentmain­
tained an attorney-client trust account at Bank of 
America. Respondent maintained his personal funds in 
this trust account. 

Between March 9, 1999, and October 6, 1999, 
respondent issued at least 24 checks on the trust 
account for personal and non-client business expenses. 
In addition, between about March 1999 and Septem­
ber 1999,respondentrepeatedly issued checks drawn 
on his trust account against insufficient funds when he 
knew or should have known that there were insuffi­
cient funds in the account to pay them. 

The Hearing Judge's Conclusions 

As to this matter, respondent was charged with: 
( 1) commingling personal and client funds in his trust 
account and using his trust account for personal 
purposesinviolationofrule4-1 00(A); and(2)commit­
ting acts involving moral turpitude in violation of 
section 6106 by issuing checks from his trust account 
when he knew or should have known that there were 
insufficient funds in thetrustaccountto pay them. The 
hearingjudge concluded that the State Barpresented 
clear and convincing evidence that respondent com­
mitted both violations. 

Discussion 

On the first day of trial in this matter, March 13, 
2001, respondent admitted culpability as to these 
charges, and respondent also admitted culpability in his 
opening briefon review.Upon our independent review 
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of the record, weadoptthe hearingjudge's conclusion 
that respondent is culpable of committing the two 
violations charged in this matter. 

Respondent asserts that at the time of these 
violations, he had a new bookkeeper and was out ofhis 
regularofficechecks.However,respondenthadaduty 
to adequately supervise his staff (In the Matter of 
Hindin (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
657, 681-682), and the evidence that the violations 
lasted for months establishes that respondent did not 
comply with this duty. Therefore, the factthatrespon­
dent had a new bookkeeper at the time constitutes no 
defense to these charges. 

DISCIPLINE 

Mitigation 

[4] The hearing judge found no evidence of 
mitigating circumstances. However, the record re­
flects that respondent suffers from painful maladies 
called torticollis and dysphonia, which have caused 
respondent to miss many court appearances, and he 
has been diagnosed with Parkinson's disease. In 
addition, respondent has been going through an emo­
tional divorce, and his mother and father died a couple 
of years ago, causing him to suffer from depression. 
Respondent has also suffered from financial difficul- · 
ties lately and owes the Internal Revenue Service 
approximately $20,000. However, we note that stan­
dard 1.2( e )(iv) directs that, in order for us to consider 
these kinds of emotional difficulties and physical 
disabilities mitigating, respondent was required ( 1) to 
establish through expert testimony that his emotional 
difficulties and physical disabilities were directly re­
sponsible for his misconduct and (2) to establish 
through clear and convincing evidence that he no 
longer suffers from the difficulties and disabilities. 
There is no expert testimony in the record to establish 
that respondent's depression, his physical maladies, 
and his financial difficulties were directly responsible 
for his misconduct. Similarly, there is no evidence in 
the record to establish that respondent no longer 
suffers from these difficulties and disabilities or even 
that he can take, and is taking, steps to overcome them. 
We therefore decline to find these circumstances 
mitigating. 
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Respondent contends that his cooperation with 
the State Bar during the proceedings below and his 
remorse are also mitigating factors. Respondent en­
tered into an extensive stipulation of facts and freely 
admitted the trust account violations in this case, for 
which conduct respondent is entitled to some mitiga­
tion. (Std. l .2(e)(v).) In addition, he returned the fee 
Castro had paid immediately upon Castro's termina­
tion ofbis services, demonstrating some recognition of 
misconduct in that client matter. We give respondent 
some mitigating credit for this conduct as well. (Std. 
l.2(e)(vii).) 

Respondent next contends thatthere was no harm 
to clients in the trust account matter. Again, we give 
respondent some mitigating credit for the apparent lack 
ofhann to clients resulting from his misuse ofh is trust 
account. (Std. 1.2( e )(iii).) 

Aggravation 

As noted above, respondent has a prior record of 
discipline. (Std. l .2(b )(i).) In Gadda I, respondent was 
given two years of stayed suspension and three years 
of probation on conditions including an actual suspen­
sion lasting six months and until respondent paid 
restitution to two immigration clients. In that case, the 
Supreme Court found that respondent had been dis­
honest; had failed to protect the interests of his 
immigration law clients by failing to perform legal 
services competently; and had blamed his own mis­
conduct on his independent contract attorney, for 
whom respondent failed to take responsibility. The 
misconduct occurred between late 1980 and 1984. 

[5] In the present case, the misconduct spanned 
the period between 1994 and 1999. Although respon­
dent argues that his prior discipline was remote in time 
and therefore should not have been considered as an 
aggravating circumstance, we previously determined 
that a prior record of discipline was not too remote in 
time to be considered as aggravating where the prior 
discipline had been imposed 14 years before the 
imposition of discipline in the more recent case and 7 
years before the commission of misconduct in the 
more recent case. (In the Matter of Koehler (Review 
Dept. I 991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 615, 628.) We 
conclude that in this case, particularly because the prior 
misconduct was very similar to that found in the 
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present case, respondent's prior record of discipline 
must be considered to be a serious aggravating circum­
stance, made even more serious as the prior discipline 
in Gadda I did not serve to rehabilitate respondent and 
prevent the misconduct we now review. 

The record in this case establishes that respondent 
engaged in multiple acts of misconduct over an ex­
tended period of time. ( Std. l .2(b )(ii).) 

As further aggravation, we adopt the hearing 
judge'sdetennination that respondent's misconduct 
caused significant harm to the Saba children, the 
Garcias, the Floreses, Obis, and Castro. (Std. 1.2(b )(iv).) 
We additionally determine that respondent's miscon­
duct significantly harmed Z. Santiago, A. Santiago, and 
Robles-Meza. (Ibid.) 

We also determine in aggravation that respondent 
demonstrated indifference toward rectification of or 
atonement for the consequences of his misconduct. 
(Std. l.2(b)(v).) Respondent continues to deny re­
sponsibility by blaming others (i.e., his contract attorney 
Gardner, who was not given any guidance or informa­
tion; his staff; his clients for missing their hearing dates 
when they were not informed of these dates; and his 
new bookkeeperforcausinghis trust account violations). 

Level of Discipline 

No fixed formula applies in determining the ap­
propriate level of discipline. (In the Matter of Brimberry 
(Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 390, 
403.) Instead, we determine the appropriate discipline 
in lightofall relevant circumstances. ( Gary v. State Bar 
(1988) 44 Cal.3d 820, 828.) 

As previously indicated, the hearingjudge recom­
mended disbarment as the only appropriate discipline 
to be imposed in this matter for the protection of the 
public, the courts, and the legal profession. (Std. 1.3; 
In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 205.) 

[6a) Under the circumstances reflected by this 
record, we also doubt that any discipline less than 
disbannentcan adequately protect the public against 
future acts of misconduct of the type which respondent 
has repeatedly committed. We are confronted here 
with a continuing course of misconduct over a period 
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of six years, coupled with prior discipline for very 
similar misconduct. There is no evidence that respon­
dent is cognizant of the seriousness ofhis misconduct. 
Instead, respondent continues to rationalize his con­
duct by blaming others. He n::fuses to take responsibility 
for his conduct. 

[ 6b] The record reflects that five of respondent's 
clients were ordered deported in absentia by the 
immigration court due to respondent's misconduct. 
That this happened once was considered very serious 
by the Supreme Court in Gadd a I, supra, 50 Cal.3d at 
pages 354-355. Moreover, there were at least six 
instances of courts finding ineffective assistance of 
counse 1 on respondent's part. Respondent argues that 
the issue ofineffective assistance of counsel has been 
refined by immigration courts and that this issue is used 
as a loophole when there is no other avenue for relief 
for an alien and comforts attorneys and judges alike. 
Immigration law expert Angela Bean disagreed with 
respondent's analysis however. She testified attrial in 
this matter that it is not easy to have a case reopened 
by making a claim ofineffective assistance of counsel. 
She testified that a court would have to find that the 
representation was so poor that it affected the funda­
mental rights ofthe client and that the client's right to 
due process was denied. She further testified that 
sometimes ineffective assistance ofcounsel is the only 
issue an attorney can argue because it is the only thing 
that prevented the client from having his or her rights 
protected. 

The hearing judge remarked that, despite 
respondent's serious misconduct, he is liked by every­
one; that witnesses brought to testify against him had 
good things to say about him; and that he was courteous 
to the court and to opposing counsel. We agree with the 
hearingjudge, however, who opined that being a nice 
guy is not enough and stated that respondent must learn 
that being a lawyer means complying with certain 
professional standards, duties, and responsibilities. 

In determining the appropriate level of discipline, 
we are guided by Cannon v. State Bar( 1990) 51 Cal.3d 
1103. In that case, Cannon had a large immigration 
practice and relied on his office staff to take cal Is and 
process incoming mail. He was found culpable in five 
different matters of, among other things, failing to 
refund unearned fees upon tennination of employ-
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ment, failing to perform competently the services for 
which he was retained, withdrawing from employment 
without taking steps to avoid prejudice to the client, and 
failing to return telephone calls. Although Cannon had 
no prior record of discipline, and no other aggravating 
factors were specified, there was also no mitigation. 
The Supreme Court found disbarment to be appropri­
ate for multiple instances of misconduct involving 
moral turpitude, i.e., repeatedly refusing to return 
unearned fees, even after judgment was taken against 
him; issuing checks against insufficient funds; and 
failing to maintain communication with clients. 

I 6c] In the present case, we have determined that 
respondent is culpable of a total of 16 charged counts 
of misconduct in nine client matters and the trust 
account matter, far more misconduct involving far 
more clients than were involved in Cannon. He is 
culpable of9 cmmts of failingtoperforrn legal services 
competently, 1 count of failing to return a client's file 
promptly upon request at the termination of employ­
ment, 2 counts of failing to return unearned fees 
promptly at the termination of employment, 2 counts 
of failing to respond promptly to reasonable status 
inquiries from clients or failing to notify clients of· 
significant developments in their cases, 1 count of 
commingling, and 1 count of committing an act of 
moral turpitude by issuing checks on an account which 
respondent knew or should have Imown had insuffi­
cient funds to cover them. Moreover, as indicated, 
respondent was already disciplined once for the same 
type of misconduct; yet it appears that he did not learn 
from his prior discipline. In addition, the record reflects 
tha_t respondent demonstrated indifference toward 
rectification of or atonement for the consequences of 
his misconduct and significantly harmed clients. We 
therefore determine thatrespondent 's overall miscon­
duct is more serious than that found in Cannon. (See 
also In the Matter of Phillips, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 315 [ disbarment recommended where, over 
a period ofnearly 4 years, attorney committed 13 acts 
of misconduct involving 5 separate clients and 2 
separate non-clients as well as 10 different rule and 
code violations in a case with slight mitigation and 
serious, extensive aggravation].) 
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[6d] The violations taken together in this case 
show a "clear disrespect for [respondent's] clients." 
(In the Matter of Phillips, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. at p. 346.) Although there are fewer aggravating 
circumstances in this case than there were in Phillips, 
the aggravating circumstances in the present case 
nevertheless outweigh the mitigating circumstances. 

f6e] In view of all of the circumstances of this 
case, we conclude that the public and the courts 
deserve the greater protection of a formal reinstate­
ment proceeding before respondent is again entitled to 
practice law in this state. We therefore adopt the 
hearing judge's recommendation that respondent be 
disbarred. 

RECOMMENDATION 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that 
respondent Miguel Gadda be disbarred from the 
practice oflaw in the State of California and that his 
name be stricken from the Roll of Attorneys of persons 
admitted to practice in this state. We further recom­
mend that respondent be ordered to comply with the 
provisions of California Rules of Court, rule 955 and 
to perform the acts specified in subdivisions (a) and ( c) 
of that rule within 30 and 40 calendar days, respec­
tively, after the effective date of the Supreme Court's 
order in this matter. We further recommend that the 
State Bar be awarded its costs in accordance with 
Business and Professions Code section 6086.10 and 
that such costs be payable in accordance with Business 
and Professions Code section 6140.7. Since we also 
recommend respondent's disbarment, as did the hear­
ingjudge, we do not vacate the·hearingjudge 's order 
of inactive enrollment (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6007, 
subd. (c)(4)), which has remained in effect since 
August 2, 200 l. 

Weconcur: 

STOVITZ, P. J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 
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[1 a, b] 147 
1S9 
165 
191 
199 

HEAD NOTES 

Evidence-Presumptions 
Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 
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Civil verdicts and judgments have no disciplinary significance apart from the widerlying facts. 
Nevertheless, civil findings made under a preponderance of the evidence test are entitled to a strong 
presumption of validity in disciplinary proceedings if they are supported by substantial evidence. 
Where the trial judge in a civil pr9(:Ceding found that respondent knew prior to filing a lawsuit that 
he had not been defamed, that his law firm had not been disparaged, and that his retainer contract 
with his clients had not been interfered with a tall, and those findings were supported by substantial 
evidence in therecord, the hearingJudge' s conclusion in the disciplinaryproceedingthatrespondent 
filed the law.suit based on his honest and reasonable beliefin its validity was contrary to the civil 
findings and did not appear to have accorded the civil findings the strong presumption of validity to 
which they were entitled. 

(2) 147 Evidence-Presumptions 
161 Duty to Present Evidence 
162.11 Proof-State Bar's Burden-Clear and Convincing 
162.20 Proof-Respondent's Burden 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
There is no authority for the proposition that the strong presumption of validity accorded to civil 
findings in a disciplinary proceeding shifts the burden of proofin thedisciplinaryproceeding to the 
respondent attorney to rebut the presumption. As in any discipline case, the State Bar bears the 
burden of proving culpability by clear and convincing evidence. 

[ 3) 191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
As respondent did not appeal the dismissal of a civil lawsuit, he could not assert in the discipline 
proceeding that the dismissal was in error, as collateral attack is not available to challenge non 
jurisdictional error in a judgment. 

[ 4 J 159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
213.30 State Bar Act-Section 6068(c) 
213.70 State Bar Act-Section 6068(g) 
A cause of action in a civil proceeding based on factual allegations that respondent knew he could 
not prove was patently frivolous and unjust, and respon.dent's continued pursuit of the meritless 
factual allegations was strong circumstantial evidence that he was motivated by vindictiveness. 

[SJ 106.90 Procedure-Pleadings-Other Issues 
In determining culpability, the review department declined to viewrespondent'sconduct in each of 
four lawsuits separately where the notice of disciplinary charges charged that the totality of 
respondent's conduct in filing and pursuing al 1 four of the actions was the basis ofhis misconduct. 
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[6J 213.30 State Bar Act-Section 6068(c) 
213. 70 State Bar Act-Section 6068(g) 
584.10 Aggravation-Harm to Public-Found 
586.11 Aggravatioo....:Harm to Administration of Justice-Found 
620 Aggravation-Lack of Remorse/Failure to Appreciate Seriousness 
1013,08 Discipline-Stayed Suspension-Two Years 
1015.02 Discipline-Actual Suspension-Two Months 
l 0 17. 08 Discipline-Probation-Two Years 
Respondent's failure to have gained insight into his misconduct was troubling. The discipline 
imposed for his misconduct of filing and pursuing frivolous actions in bad faith and for a corrupt 
motive must reflect this lack ofinsight as well as the harm to the victims and assurance to the public 
and bar that such conduct will not be tolerated. The discipline recommended, that respondent be 
suspended from the practice of law for two years, that execution of the suspension be stayed, and 
that he be placed on probation for two years on conditions, including 60 days' actual suspension, 
appropriately balances these values and the record as a whole. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Not Found 
221.50 Section6106 

Discipline 
Probation Conditions 
1024 Ethics Exam/School 

Other 
106.30 Procedure-Pleadings-Duplicative Charges 



IN THE MATTER OF S COTT 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 446 

OPINION 

OBRIEN, J.:1 

Both the State Bar of California (State Bar) and 
respondent Carey Brent Scott seek review of a 
hearing judge' s decision finding respondent culpable 
of filing a frivolous lawsuit in bad faith and for a 
conupt motive. The hearingjudge recommended that 
respondent be suspended.from the practice oflaw for 
two years, that execution of the suspension be stayed, 
and that he be placed on probation for two years on 
conditions, including 60 days' actual suspension. 

Respondent filed and pursued a series of four 
related lawsuits. After each action was resolved 
unfavorably to respondent, he filed the next The 
hearingjudge found that respondent was not culpable 
with respect to the first three actions, but had "crossed 
the line"with respect to the filing of the fourth matter 
and therefore was culpable. On review, the State Bar 
asserts that respondent should be found culpable for 
filing and pursuing the first of the four lawsuits as 
well. The State Bar does not seek an increase in the 

• recommended disciphne. Respondent argues on re­
view that he is not culpable of any misconduct with 
respect to any of the four lawsuits, but that if he is 
culpable the discipline should be reduced to a reproval 
at most. 

We have independently reviewed the record in 
this proceeding and conclude that the hearing judge's 
factual findings are supported by the record, and we 
adopt them with the modifications noted below. The 
notice of disciplinary charges alleges that respondent 
is culpable of single violations of Business and Pro­
fessions Code section 6068, SU bdivisions ( c) and (g) 
and section 6106 as a result of his conduct in filing and 

1. JudgeProTemoftheState BarCourt, appointed by the State 
Bar Board of Governors under rule 14 of the Rules of Procedure 
of.the State Bar. 

2. All further references to sections are to the Business and 
Professions Code unless otherwise noted. Section 6068, sub­
division (c) provides that an attorney has a duty to maintain. 
or counsel only such proceedings, actions, or defenses which 
appear just or legal. Section 6068, subdivision (g) provides that 
an attorney has ·a duty ''[n]ot to encourage either the com• 
mencement or the continuance of an action or proceeding from 
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pursuing the four lawsuits as a whole.2 It does not 
charge four separate violations of each of these 
statutes. Viewed from this perspective, we conclude 
that the record clearly and convincingly demonstrates 
that respondent is culpable of filing and pursuing 
frivolous actions in bad faith and for a corrupt motive. 
Although we modify slightly the hearing judge's 
culpability conclusions, we find that the discipline 
recommendation is appropriate based on the record 
as a whole. 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS 
OF LAW3 

James Cooke, a pipe fitter, was severely injured 
in an explosion at his workplace in October 1988. 
Cooke's wife, Ann, employed respondent to repre­
sent Cooke in the personal injury and worker's 
compensation cases arising from the accident. Al­
though Cooke did not sign the retainer agreement, he 
orally approved of respondent representing him and 
fully ratified that representation. 

Thereafter, Allen Jones, business manager of 
Cooke's union, became concerned that respondent 
was not properly representing Cooke. In February 
1989, during a dinner seminar conducted by the law 
firm of Silver, Mc Williams, Stolpman, Mandel & 
Katzman(Silverfinn),JonesmetattomeyKrissman, 
a partner in the Silver firm. A few days later, Jones 
calledKrissmanandaskedhimtocheckrespondent's 
credentials. Krissman researched respondent in 
Martindale-Hubbell and O'Brien's Evaluator and 
found neither an ability rating for respondent nor 
evidence that he had conducted any jury trials. 
Krissman infonned Jones of the results of bis re­
search and informed him that none of his partners at 
the Silver firm had ever heard of respondent. 

any corrupt motive of passion or interest." Section 6106 
provides that the commission. of any act involving moral 
turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption constitutes a cause for 
suspension or disbarment. • 

3. Although we have adopted the hearingjudge's factual find­
ings, we set forth here only those findings relevant to our 
disposition. In addition, we have added factual findings that we 
conclude are clearly and convincingly established based on our 
independent review of the record. 



450 

Jones called Cooke and informed Cooke of his 
concern about respondent's handling of Cooke's 
case and of his conversation with Krissman. Jones 
also told Cooke that he would arrange to have a 
lawyer call Cooke. Jones then informed Krissman 
that Cooke was interested in a second opinion, gave 
Krissman Cooke's telephone number, and asked 
Krissman to call Cooke to "render a second opinion" 
regarding Cooke's case. 

In February 1989, Krissman called Cooke, con­
finning that he was calling at the behest of Jones to 
give Cooke a second opinion about his case. Krissman 
told Cooke about the Silver firm's experience in 
handling industrial accident cases, that respondent 
had never before handled a case as big as Cooke's, 
and that he could do a better job. Krissman' s conver­
sation with Cooke lasted approximately 15-20 minutes 
and resulted in an appointment for a meeting at 
Krisssman's office three days later. 

After Krissman's telephone call, the Cookes 
were briefly concerned about whether they had 
employed a qualified attorney by hiring respondent. 
Cooke called respondent the next day and informed 
him of the conversations with Jones and Krissman. 
Cooke told respondent that Krissman told him that 
respondent had never had a case that size and that 
Krissman claimed he could do a better job than 
respondent. However, Cooke assured respondent 
that he was "totally and completely satisfied" with 
respondent's representation, that he had complete 
confidence in respondent, that he (Cooke) knew 
before he hung up the phone with Krissman that he 
(Cooke) was not going to go to the meeting, and that 
he had no intention of changing attorneys. Neverthe­
less, at the end of their conversation respondent was 
uncertain whether Cooke would use another lawyer's 
services arid did not know whether the appointment 
with Krissman would be cancelled. Respondent, 
however, believed he had convinced Cooke not to go 
to Krissman's appointment. 

Mad and "extremely upset," respondent called 
Jones the next day. Jones relayed to respondent his 
concerns about the way respondent was handling 
Cooke's case. Respondent then called the Silver firm 
that same day but was unable to speak to Krissman. 
Two days later, fearing that Cooke would not con-
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tinue to employ him as Cooke's attorney and not 
having heard from Krissrnan, respondent filed a 
lawsuit in the superior court againstKrissman and the 
Silver firm for intentional interference with contract, 
for allegedly interfering with respondent's retainer 
agreement with Cooke, and for disparagement and 
defamation, for allegedly publishing to Jories and 
Cooke false statements that defamed respondent's 
legal reputation (lawsuit# 1 ). Respondent arranged to 
have the complaint served on Krissman at the time of 
Cooke's scheduled appointment with Krissman. 
Cooke did not meet with Krissman. 

Concerned that Cooke might leave him, respon­
dent hired his wife to work in his law firm so that he 
could devote more attention to the Cooke case. 
Respondent and his wife also began socializing with 
the Cookes and went with them to Hawaii and on 
camping trips. Respondent also began to encourage 
Cooke to attend other trials that respondent was 
litigating and to participate in each step of his own 
case. 

In November 1991, respondent settled Cooke's 
civil case for $5 .2 million. Respondent received over 
$1.6 million in legal fees from the settlement. 

Respondent knew prior to filing lawsuit # I that 
Jones had asked Krissman to call Cooke. Respondent 
filed lawsuit# 1 for several reasons: "To put a stop to 
the practicesof[the Silver firm's] and Mr. Krissman 's 
actions;" to get the attention of the defendants; for a 
$150 filing fee, respondent could "prioritize [the 
defendants'] calendar;" to recover "the damages 
that were caused to my reputation and my law firm;" 
and to teach a lesson to the defendants. Respondent 
also filed lawsuit #1 because he had no explanation 
from Krissman for his actions as he had not received 
a follow-up call from Krissman. 

In April 1991, respondent offered to settle with 
the defendants for $5,867, the amountofrespondent's 
costs up to that point in time. The offer was not 
accepted. The defendants' motion for summary j udg­
ment in April 1991 was denied. 

Lawsuit #1 was tried before a jury in January 
1992. At the close ofrespondent' s case-in-chief after 
six days of trial, the trial court granted a judgment of 
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nonsuit in favor ofKrissman and the Silver firm. The 
court, on its own motion, ordered a Code of Civil 
Procedure section 128.5 sanctions hearing. The hear­
ing was held in February 1992, and the court awarded 
sanctions against respondent in the amountof$2 l 8,299 
for having filed and pursued a frivolous lawsuit in bad 
faith. 

After the sanctions were awarded on the record 
atthe hearing but before the written order was signed, 
respondent moved to disqualify the trial judge, Hon­
orable James R. Ross. The grounds for the motion 
were, inter aha, that Judge Ross was biased against 
respondent due to his strong personal and profes­
sional relationship with the Silver finn in that Judge 
Ross knew several finn attorneys and had attended 
dinner parties sponsored by the firm and that Judge 
Ross was indebted to one. of the named partners, 
Stolpman, because Stolpman had assisted Judge 
Ross in getting his judicial appointment. Respondent 
also asserted that Judge Ross's bias was evidenced 
by his comments and questions to the witnesses and 
demeanor towards respondent during the trial and his 
erroneous rulings in the case, including the granting of 
the nonsuit and sanctions. The motion was denied as 
respondent had failed to prove any disqualifying 
relationship and the remaining contentions were 
grounds to be pursued on direct appeal. Respondent's 
petition for a writ of mandamus was denied by the 
Court of Appeal, and review was denied by the 
California Supreme Court. 

Respondent. appealed the judgment and sanc­
tions award in lawsuit #1. In an unpublished opinion 
filed in December 1993, the Court of Appeal affirmed 
both the nonsuit and sanctions award.· The Court 
concluded that the intentional interference with con­
tract claim failed for several reasons. First, there was 
no evidence of intentional or unjustified acts by 
Krissman intended to disrupt the contractual relation­
ship as: Jones asked Krissman to call Cooke, Jones 
contacted Cooke and suggested he speak to Krissman, 
and Cooke agreed and told Jones to have Krissman 
call him. Next, there was absolutely no disruption of 
Cooke's contract with respondent as: Cooke was 
completely satisfied with respondent and told him so, 
Cooke had some doubts about respondent's abilities 
for one day at most1 and there was no evidence that 
Cooke ever had any intention of finding another 
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lawyer. Finally, respondent was not damaged as 
spendingmoneytocernenthisrelationship with Cooke 
was simply not legal damage. 

The Court of Appeal also concluded that there 
was no defamation or disparagement shown. Cooke 
never understood the statements to be defamatory, 
and respondent's reputation in the community was 
not damaged as the statements were not made to 
anyone other than Jones and Cooke and theuncontro­
verted evidence showed that respondent enjoyed 
great success as a lawyer and had a good reputation. 
Further, Krissman's statements were subject to a 
qualified privilege as he was providing a legally 
permissible second opinion to Cooke, and there was 
no evidence that Krissman' s statements were moti­
vated by hatred or ill will and therefore respondent 
failed to show actual malice sufficient to overcome 
thatprivilege. 

Finally, the Court of Appeal concluded that no 
abuse of discretion was • shown with regard to the 
sanctions award. The evidence supported the trial 
court's conclusion that respondent's action was 
meritless and brought in bad faith as respondent did 
not file the lawsuit to recover damages but to teach 
the defendants a lesson, and it was apparent that 
before the lawsuit was filed, not to mention before 
trial, respondent knew that his relationship with Cooke 
had not been disrupted and that he had not been 
defamed. Further, the Court rejected respondent's 
argument that there was insufficient evidence pre­
sented to support the amount of the award. Respondent 
unsuccessfully sought a rehearing in the Court of 
Appeal and review by the California Supreme Court 
and United States Supreme Court. 

In August 1994, respondent filed a second peti­
tion for a writ of mandate with the Court of Appeal 
seeking to set aside the judgment and sanctions in 
lawsuit #1 on the grounds that newly discovered 
evidence showed that Judge Ross was prejudiced 
against respondent. The alleged new evidence was 
that Ross avoided service of respondent's motion to 
disqualify him until after Ross had signed the sanc­
tions order; that telephone records showed six calls 
from Judge Ross's courtroom to the Silver firm in 
January and February 1992; and that Judge Ross had 
an undisclosed professional relationship with the 
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Silver firm attorneys in that they had all been active 
members of the Los Angeles Trial Lawyers Associa• 
tion (LATLA) for 15 years. Respondent's petition 
was denied, and review by the California Supreme 
Court was denied. 

In January 1995, respondent filed a civil rights 
action in the United States District Court against 
Judge Ross, Krissman, Stolpman, and Robert Baker 
(defense counsel in lawsuit# 1 ), alleging in one cause 
of action that Judge Ross violated his civil rights and 
in a second cause of action that the remaining 
defendants conspired to violate his civil rights (lawsuit 
#2). Respondent asserted, inter aha, that Judge Ross 
was a biased decision maker due to his close personal 
and professional relationship with Stolpman and Baker 
in that they were personal friends and had all been 
members· of LATLA, that Judge Ross attended 
several private parties hosted by Baker, and that 
numerous telephone calls were made from Judge 
Ross's courtroom to Baker's law office both before 
and during the trial oflawsuit #1; that Judge Ross's 
bias was evidenced by his conduct during the trial of 
lawsuit# 1 and by his legally erroneous rulings in the 
case in that Judge Ross became an advocate for the 
defendants in lawsuit #1 and awarded the sanctions 
without sufficient evidence; and that Judge Ross and 
the other defendants entered into a conspiracy to 
violate his civil rights by, inter alia, improper ex parte 
communications and agreeing beforehand to produce 
a verdictagainstrespondent in lawsuit# 1 for financial 
and professional gain. 

Motions to dismiss by the defendants for, inter 
alia, failure to state a claim upon which relief could be 
granted were denied by the district court.Judge Ross 
filed a motion for summary judgment or for judgment 
on the pleadings. Judge Ross's motion was granted 
on collateral estoppel grounds in that the issues raised 
against him regarding the alleged personal and pro• 
fessional relationship were the same as the issues 
raised in the state court motion to disqualify Judge 
Ross and were decided against respondent on the 
merits and that the remaining issues were decided 
against respondent on the merits by the Court of 
Appeal opinion in lawsuit #1. Judgment was entered 
in favor of Judge Ross and against respondent in July 
1995. 
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In August 1995, the district court, sua sponte, 
issued an Order to Show Cause as to why lawsuit #2 
should not be dismissed for lack of subject matter 
jurisdiction based on a then-recent decision of the 
Ninth Circuit. In September 1995, the district court 
dismissed lawsuit #2 as to all defendants for lack of 
subject matter jurisdiction and vacated the judgment 
in favor of Judge Ross as well as the order granting 
his summary judgment motion. No appeal was filed. 

In September 1995, respondent filed a complaint 
for equitable relief against Krissman and the Silver 
finn in the superior court (lawsuit #3) seeking to set 
aside the judgment and sanctions award in lawsuit #1. 
The complaint alleged that Judge Ross, Baker and the 
defendants, Krissman, the Silver firm, and members 
of that firm, concealed material facts and procured 
the judgment and sanctions in lawsuit# 1 by extrinsic 
fraud. The factual allegations were substantially the 
same as the factual allegations in lawsuit #2 and 
included that Judge Ross had a close personal and 
professionalrelationshipwithStolpmanand Krissman 
and that all three had been members of LA TLA; that 
Judge Ross attended parties hosted by Baker; that 
numerous telephone calls were made from Judge 
Ross's courtroom to Baker's law office during the 
pendency of lawsuit #1; that Judge Ross avoided 
service of the motion to disqualify him in lawsuit #1; 
and, that Judge Ross assumed a partisan role and 

• made legally erroneous rulings in lawsuit # 1. 

The defendants' demurrer in lawsuit #3 was 
overruled. Thereafter, the defendants filed a motion 
for summary judgment which was also denied. In 
denying that motion, the court noted the following 
triable issues of disputed fact (1) whether Judge 
Ross had personal or professional relationships with 
Baker, Stolpman, and/or Krissman which should 
have been disclosed but were not and the impact of 
those facts, if any, on the decisions made by Judge 
Ross in lawsuit #1; (2) whether Judge Ross had a 
private telephone line in his chambers or court which 
was utilized for ex parte communications with 
Krissman, Stolpman or Baker; and (3) the number 
and extent of telephone calls or contacts between 
Judge Ross and Krissman, Stolpman or Baker during 
the pendency oflawsuit # 1. The defendants' petition 
for a writ of mandate was denied. 



IN THE MATTER OF SCOTT 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 446 

A bench trial was held in lawsuit #3 in October 
1996. At the close of respondent's case-in-chief 
following the extensive testimony of 10 witnesses and 
58 exhibits, the trial court entered judgment against 
respondent under Code of Civil Procedure section 
63 1.8. The court held that respondent failed to prove 
who made any of the telephone calls; that there was 
no evidence of a close personal relationship between 
Judge Ross and the other attorneys; and, that there 
was no evidence that Judge Ross had any kind ofbias 
or prejudice against respondent. The court also com­
mented on the merits of lawsuit # 1, stating "I really 
sincerely feel that anyone who heard the case, any 
judge who heard the case would have granted the 
non-suit." Lawsuit #3 was dismissed, but no sanc­
tions were ordered against respondent. No appeal 
was filed. 

One week after the dismissal, respondent filed 
an action against Baker and Judge Ross in superior 
court (lawsuit#4 ), alleging civil rights violations and 
defamation against Judge Ross and fraudulent billing 
by Baker. The lawsuit alleged that respondent's civil 
rights were violated because Judge Ross was biased 
and prejudiced against him. The factual allegations 
supporting this charge were virtually identical to the 
factual allegations contained in lawsuits #2 and #3, 
and included that Judge Ross had a closepersonal and 
professional relationship with Stolpman and Baker 
and that Ross, Baker, and Stolpman had all been 
members of • LA TLA; that Judge Ross attended 
parties hosted by Baker; that numerous telephone 
calls were made from Judge Ross's courtroom to 
Baker's law office during thependency oflawsuit # l; 
that Judge Ross avoided service of the motion to 
disqualify him in lawsuit #1; and, that Judge Ross. 
assumed a partisan role and made erroneous rulings 
in lawsuit #1. 

The defamation cause of action against Judge 
Ross alleged that after he retired from the bench in 
July 1995, Judge Ross told several other judges in the 
judges' lunchroom in the courthouse, "I've got an­
other lawsuit by C. Brent Scott," to which the other 
judges replied, "Oh, my god,no. Himagain,"towhich 
Ross replied, "Yeah, He '11 never quit; same allega­
tions." The complaint also alleged that Judge Ross 
sent written communications to several judges re­
garding Judge Ross' s defense of charges brought by 
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respondent with the Commission of Judicial Perfor­
mance, which communications allegedly "blamed" 
respondent for the attorney's fees Judge Ross had 
incurred in defending the Commission action. The 
fraud cause of action against Baker alleged that 
Baker had submitted false billings to Judge Ross in 
support of the sanctions motion in lawsuit# 1. 

The defendants' demurrers to the complaint in 
lawsuit #4 were granted without leave to amend in 
February 1997. The court ruled that the first cause of 
action against Judge Ross for violating respondent's 
civil rights was barred pursuant to the doctrines of 
collateral estoppel and judicial immunity; thatthe second 
cause of action for defamation against Judge Ross 
was barred as all statements allegedly made by Judge 
Ross were mere opinion; and, that the third cause of 
action alleging fraud against Baker was barred based 
on the statute of limitations and the doctrine of 
collateral estoppel. Stolpman's motion for sanctions 
against respondent was denied. No appeal was filed. 

The defendants in lawsuit# I recovered approxi­
mately$ l 30,000 of the $218,299 sanctions ordered in 
that case by way of a levy on a bank account in which 
respondent had an interest. The remainder has appar­
ently been discharged as a result of respondent's 
bankruptcy. 

As indicated above, the notice of disciplinary 
charges alleges that respondent violated sections 
6068, subdivisions ( c) and (g), and 6106 as a result of 
the above conduct. With respect to lawsuit #1, the 
hearing judge determined that although respondent 
had some impropermotives in filinglawsuit#l, such 
as to teach the defendants a lesson, he also had an 
honest and reasonable belief that Krissman and the 
Silver firm were attempting to solicit the Cooke case 
away from him and his firm; that K.rissman and the 
Silver firm might be attempting to obtain for their own 
financial gain the biggest case of respondent's ca­
reer; and, that Krissman had defamed the reputations 
of respondent and his law firm. The hearing judge 
concluded that respondent had an honest and reason­
able belief that the causes of action alleged in lawsuit 
#I were well-founded and viable and that the State 
Bar had therefore failed to prove by clear and 
convincing evidence that by filing lawsuit# l respon­
dent violated any of the charged statutory provisions. 
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With respect to lawsuit #2, the hearing judge 
noted that the facts alleged in lawsuit #2 regarding the 
conspiracy by Judge Ross and attorney Baker were 
not alleged in lawsuit#l, thatinitial motions to dismiss 
by the defendants were denied, and that lawsuit #2 
was dismissed and not decided on its merits. The 
hearing judge concluded that respondent was there­
fore not culpable of violating any of the charged 
statutes in filing and pursuing this lawsuit. 

With respect to lawsuit #3, the hearing judge 
concluded that respondent was not culpable as the 
State Bar failed to prove by clear and convincing 
evidence that respondent lacked good faith in filing 
lawsuit #3 in state court after lawsuit #2 was dis­
missed and not decided on the merits inf ederal court. 

With respect to lawsuit #4, the hearing judge 
determined that by filing and pursuing lawsuit #4 
against Judge Ross and attorney Baker, respondent 
"crossed the line" and "reached the point that he was 
engaging in an obsessive pattern of conduct, the sole 
purpose of which was designed to harass and to be 
vindictive" towards those he considered responsible 
for the judgment and sanctions in lawsuit #1. The 
hearing judge concluded that the claims raised by 
respondent in lawsuit#4 had "essentially been raised 
and litigated in lawsuit#3 and/or were not meritorious 
or just" and that respondent therefore violated section 
6068, subdivisions (c) and (g) by filing lawsuit #4. 
Furthermore, the hearing judge concluded that re­
spondent either intentionally, reck1essly, or with gross 
negligence filed lawsuit #4, a frivolous action, and 
was therefore culpable of an act of moral turpitude in 
violation of section 6106. 

In mitigation, the hearing judge found that re­
spondent had no prior record of discipline in eight 
years of practice before the misconduct and three 
years after the misconduct and before the State Bar 
trial. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, tit. IV, Stds. for Atty. 
Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct, std. l .2(e)(i).)4 Re­
spondent presented evidence of his good character 
and community service. However, the hearingjudge 

4. All further references to standards are to these standards 
unless otherwise noted. 
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gave little weight to the good character evidence as 
other evidence indicated that respondent was "impul­
sive, revengeful, arrogant, and lack[ ed] responsibility," 
and the character witnesses were not aware of the 
full extent of respondent's misconduct. 

In aggravation, the hearing judge found that 
respondent's misconduct significantly harmed Judge 
Ross, Baker and the administration of justice (std. 
1.2(b)(iv)); that respondent demonstrated indiffer­
ence to the consequences of his misconduct and had 
shown no remorse or recognition of his wrongdoing 
(std. l.2(b)(v)); and that respondent's testimony in 
the State Bar proceeding lacked candor and credibil­
ity (std. 1.2(b )(vi)). 

DISCUSSION 

As indicated above, both the State Bar and 
respondent have sought review of the hearingjudge' s 
decision. The State Bar agrees with the hearing 
judge's culpability conclusions regarding lawsuit #4, 
but argues that we should also find respondent cul­
pable for filing and pursuing lawsuit# 1. Respondent 
agrees with the hearing judge that he is not culpable 
with respect to the first three lawsuits, but asserts that 
he engaged in no impropriety in filing and pursuing the 
fourth. 

The three-count notice of disciplinary charges in 
this case charges in the first cause of action that 
respondent's conduct in filing and pursuing all four 
lawsuits and the related actions was a violation of 
section 6106. The second cause of action charges 
that by filing and pursuing all four lawsuits and the 
related actions, respondent repeatedly filed lawsuits, 
motions, and petitions which were unfounded in 
violation of section 6068, subdivision ( c). The third 
cause of action charges that in filing and pursuing all 
four lawsuits and the related actions respondent 
acted in bad faith, out of spite, with a retaliatory 
motive, and with the purpose to harm others and 
cause delay in the judicial process in violation of 
section 6068, subdivision (g). 
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In reaching his culpability conclusions, the hear­
ing judge examined respondent's conduct in each of 
the lawsuits separately. The parties have done the 
same in their initial briefs on review. As a result of the 
manner in which the misconduct was charged, we 
conclude that the issue to be determined is whether 
respondent's conduct in filing and pursuing the four 
lawsuits and related actions as a whole violated the 
specified statutory provisions. We gave the parties an 
opportunity to file supplemental briefs addressing this 
issue. In its supplemental brief the State Bar takes the 
position that the determination of culpability should be 
made from respondent's entire course of conduct. In 
his supplemental brief, respondent argues that his 
four lawsuits must be individually evaluated and, everi 
if respondent's actions are considered in the aggre­
gate, they do not constitute a violation of the charged 
statutes. 

[la] At the outset we note, as did the hearing 
judge, the general rule that a civil verdict and judg­
ment have "no disciplinary significance apart from 
the underlying facts." (Maltaman v. State Bar (1987) 
43 Ca1.3d 924, 947.) Nevertheless, civil findings made 
under a preponderance of the evidence test are 
entitled to a strong presumption of validity in disciplin­
ary proceedings if they are supported by substantial 
evidence. (Ibid.) 

Jlb] The trial judge in lawsuit #1 found that 
respondent knewpriorto filing that lawsuitthat he had 
not been defamed, that his law finn had not been 
disparaged, and that his retainer contract with the 
Cookes had not been interfered with at all. These 
findings are supported by substantial evidence in the 
record before us. The allegedly defamatory state­
ments were made to Cooke arid Jones only. Cooke 
did not understand the statements to be defamatory 
and told respondent prior to lawsuit# I being filed that 
hewascompletelyhappywithrespondentandhadno 
intentions of changing lawyers. Further, there was 
simply no evidence showing that respondent's repu­
tation in the community, or that of his firm, was 

5. 121 The State Bar asserts that "once that strong presumption 
of validity is established, the burden shifts to the respondent 
attorney to ·rebut the presumption." The State Bar cites no 
authority for the proposition and we are aware of none. As in 
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damaged as a result of the statements. The hearing 
judge's conclusion that respondent filed lawsuit #1 
based on his honestandreasonable beliefin its validity 
is contrary to these civil findings and does not appear 
to have accorded the civil findings the strong pre­
sumption of validity to which they were entitled. 5 (2 
- see fn. 4] Nevertheless, the hearingjudge's conclu­
sions with respect to lawsuit #1 focused entirely on 
the propriety of the filing of that lawsuit. By their 
express language both section 6068 subdivisions ( c) 
and (g) apply not only to the filing of an action or 
proceeding, butto the continuation of that proceeding 
in violation of the subdivisions. 

By the time of the trial in lawsuit# 1 respondent 
had settled Cooke's case for $5.2 million and re­
ceived over $1.6 million in legal fees. Absolutely no 
evidence was presented at that trial showing that 
Cooke ever had any intention of changing lawyers. 
Absolutely no evidence was presented showing that 
respondent's or his firm's reputation in the commu­
nity had been damaged. In fact, it is clear from 
respondent's and his wife's testimony in lawsuit #1 
that his legal business was flourishing throughout this 
time. The only evidence respondent presented even 
remotely pertaining to damages related to the inter­
ference with contract cause of action and showed 
that he hired his wife to work in his finn and spent time 
and money to cement his relationship with the Cookes. 
As the Court of Appeal held, this "simply cannot be 
considered legal damage." 

Respondent knew before filing lawsuit# l , not to 
mention before the trial of that action, that the 
controversy involved a single 15-20 minute conversa­
tion between Krissman and respondent's client which 
was initiated by Krissman at the behest of Jones and 
which had not caused respondent any harm. He had 
the lawsuit served on Krissman at the same time as 
Cooke's scheduled appointment. Without ever serv­
ing any written discovery on the Silverfinn, respondent 
noticed and deposed al 1 of the partners of the firm at 
a location that was a two-hour drive from the Silver 

any discipline case, the State Bar bears the burden of proving 
culpability by clear and convincing evidence. (Arden v. State 
Bar(l987) 43 Ca!.3d 713, 725.) 
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firm. None of the deponents had any knowledge of 
the telephone call. Respondent did not believe that 
Cooke was going to change lawyers, but, none the 
less, continued the action. 

In short, respondent suffered absolutely no dam­
ages as a result . of the telephone conversations 
between Krissman and Jones and between Krissman 
and Cooke. Yet, he doggedly pursued the case 
through'a several-day jury trial to its unsurprisingly 
unsuccessful completion. Clearly, respondent se­
lected a means ofredress that was out ofall proportion 
to what can only be characterized as a minor and 
rather innocuous incident. This is strong circumstan­
tial evidence showing that in pursuing lawsuit #1 
respondent was motivated in large measure by spite 
and vindictiveness. 

Respondent's dogged pursuit of questionable 
claims continued following the sanctions award. In 
his motion to disqualify Judge Ross, respondent as­
serted that Judge Ross was biased against him due to 
his strong personal and professional relationship with 
the Silver firm in that Judge Ross knew several firm 
attorneys and had attended dinner parties sponsored 
by the firm and in that Judge Ross was indebted to 
Stolpman because Stolpman had assisted Judge Ross 
in getting his judicial appointment. Respondent also 
asserted that Judge Ross' s bias was evidenced by his 
comments and questions to the witnesses and de­
meanor towards respondent during the trial and his 
erroneous rulings in the case, including the granting of 
the nonsuit and sanctions. The motion was denied as 
respondent had failed to prove any disqualifying 
relationship and the remaining contentions were 
grounds to be pursued on direct appeal. 

In his direct appeal of lawsuit #l, respondent 
contended that Judge Ross made erroneous rulings in 
the case and that the motion to disqualify was wrongly 
decided. The Court of Appeal found no merit to the 
former and did not review the disqualification ruling 
as it was reviewable only by mandamus. 

IN THE MATTER OF SCOTT 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 446 

In respondent's second mandamus petition he 
again asserted that Judge Ross was biased against 
him based on newly discovered evidence showing 
that Ross avoided service ofrespondenf s motion to 
disqualify him until after Ross had signed the sanc­
tions order; that telephone records showed six calls 
from Judge Ross's courtroom to the Silver firm in 
January and February 1992; and, thatJudgeRosshad 
an undisclosed professional relationship with the 
Silver firm attorneys in that they had all been active 
members of LA TLA for 15 years. The second 
petition was denied. 

Respondent again raised the issue of Judge 
Ross's alleged bias in lawsuit·#2. There he alleged 
that Judge Ross's bias was evidenced by his strong 
personal relationship with the Silver firm attorneys, by 
telephone calls between Judge Ross' s courtroom and 
the Silver firm, by his erroneous rulings made in 
. lawsuit #1, by Judge Ross's conduct during the trial 
oflawsuit # 1, and by his award of sanctions based on 
insufficient evidence. The trial judge in lawsuit #2 
granted Judge Ross' s summary judgment motion on 
collateral estoppel grounds, concludingthatthe issues 
raised against Judge Ross regarding the alleged 
personal and professional relationship were the same 
as the issues raised in the state court motion to 
disqualify Judge Ross and were decided against 
respondent on the merits, and the remaining issues 
were decided against respondent on the merits by the 
Court of Appeal's opinion in lawsuit # 1. We recog­
nize that the district court ultimately dismissed lawsuit 
#2 and vacated the summary judgment order. Never­
theless, the summary judgment ruling should have 
caused respondent to reconsider the merits of his 
claims. 

Undeterred, respondent asserted virtually iden­
tical claims regarding Judge Ross' s alleged bias in his 
complaint for equitable reliefin lawsuit #3. 6 Respon­
dent was given a full opportunity at the trial of this 
lawsuit to present any and all evidence he had to 
prove his claims regarding Judge Ross' s bias. He was 

6. Even though Judge Ross was not named in lawsuit #3, the 
allegations of his misconduct were substantially identical to 
those in lawsuit #2. 
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not able to do so; He failed to prove who made any of 
the telephone calls; he failed to prove that there was 
a close personal relationship between Judge Ross and 
the other attorneys; and, he failed to prove that Judge 
Ross had any kind of bias or prejudice against 
respondent. Respondent's lawsuit was dismissed and 
he did not appeal. 

One ·week after the dismissal respondent filed 
lawsuit #4, alleging in part that his civil rights were 
violated because Judge Ross was biased and preju­
diced against him. The factual allegations supporting 
this charge were virtually identical to the factual 
allegations contained in lawsuit#2 and were the very 
same allegations that he was unable to prove follow­
ing a full evidentiary trial in lawsuit#3. 

In arguing on review that he is not culpable of any 
misconduct with respect to lawsuit #4 respondent 
asserts that the trial court's dismissal of lawsuit #4 
was legally and factually erroneous as the doctrine of 
collateral estoppel could not have applied because he 
had sued Judge Ross for civil rights violations only in 
lawsuit #2 and that action was not decided on the 
merits of that claim. (3] We first note that respondent 
did not appeal the dismissal oflawsuit #4 and there­
fore cannotnow assert that the dismissal was in error. 
(8 Witkin, Cal. Procedure (41h ed. 1997) Attack on 
Judgment in Trial Court, § 6, pp. 513-514 [collateral 
attack not available to challenge non jurisdictional 
error].) In any event, respondent's argument misses 
the point. [4] The factual al legations in support of the 
civil rights cause of action in lawsuit #4 were the 
same factual allegations that respondent had made 
repeatedly against Judge Ross in the prior litigations. 
Respondent had failed to prove those allegations time 
and again. A civil rights cause of action based on 
allegations that respondent knew he could not prove 
was patently frivolous and unjust. In addition, 
respondent's continued pursuit of Judge Ross based 
on meritless factual allegations is strong circumstan­
tial evidence that he was motivated by vindictiveness, 
as found by the hearing judge in the present case. 

Based on the above, we conclude that the record 
before us discloses clear violations of section 6068, 
subdivisions (c) and (g). Although the hearing judge 
found that respondent also violated section 6106, we 
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conclude that any such violation would be duplicative 
of the above violations and would not change our 
determination of the appropriate discipline. 

(5) The State Bar has asked that we find culpa­
bility of the charged sections based on respondent's 
conductinbothlawsuit#l andlawsuit#4. Wedecline 
to do so, and instead, we look to the charges and find 
that the totality of respondent's conduct in filing and 
pursuing all four of the actions is the basis of those 
charges. 

Turning to the degree of discipline, respondent 
contends that if we find culpability, the discipline 
should be no more than a reproval. The State Bar 
asserts that the hearingjudge 's discipline recommen­
dation is appropriate. We, in tum, are obligated to 
exercise our independent judgement in recommend­
ing discipline. (In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 
207.) 

Respondent apparently takes issue with several 
of the hearing judge's findings in mitigation and 
aggravation. We find no merit to these arguments. 
Respondent's misconduct belies his claim that he 
acted in good faith and that his misconduct did not 
cause harm. In addition, the asserted prejudice from 
any delay in this proceeding is simplynot cogniz.able; 
respondent's files regarding the four lawsuits were 
available for his review. 

We agree with thehearingjudge that respondent's 
lack of other discipline before and since bis present 
misconduct is a mi ti gating factor. We also agree that 
respondent's community service and good character 
evidence are mitigating factors. However, contrary 
to respondent's assertion, we agree with the hearing 
judge that the good character witnesses were not 
aware of the full extentofrespondent's misconduct, 
and therefore we discount the weight to be accorded 
this evidence. (See std. l.2(e)(vi).) For the most part 
the witnesses testified that they had a "general 
understanding" of the misconduct based in large 
measure on their conversations with respondent and 
his then-attorney, and most did not believe that 
respondent had done anything wrong. We do not 
further discount the good character evidence based 
on the other factors cited by the hearing judge. 
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We also agree with the hearing judge that the 
record clearly and convincingly establishes that 
respondent's misconduct harmed Judge Ross and the 
administration of justice and that respondent has 
shown no recognition of his wrongdoing. We do not 
agree that respondent's testimony in the State Bar 
proceeding regarding Baker's billings (one of the 
subjects oflawsuit#4) lacked candor. We do not find 
clear and convincing evidence that his testimony was 
dishonest or deceptive. 

The hearing judge considered Sorensen v. State 
Bar (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1036, and In the Matter of 
Varakin (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 179, to be instructive regarding the appropriate 
discipline. We agree. In Sorensen, the attorney sued 
the owner of a court reporting firm for fraud and 
deceit, seeking $14,000 in punitive damages, in con­
nection with a ·simple $45 billing dispute. The court 
reporter incurred $4,375 in legal fees and expenses. 
The Supreme Court found that Sorenson pursued the 
action out of spite and vindictiveness and that "he 
acted on those base impulses by selecting the most 
oppressive and financially taxing means of redress . 
. .. " (Sorensen v. State Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3d at p. 
1042,) The Court imposed one year stayed suspen­
sion with two years' probation on conditions including 
30 days' actual suspension. 

In In the Matter of Varakin, supra, 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 179, the attorney repeatedly· filed 
frivolous motions and appeals in four different cases 
over a dozen years for the purpose of delay and 
harassment of his ex-wife and others. He continued 
this.pattern despite being sanctioned numerous times. 
Varakin greatly harmed the individuals involved and 
the administration of justice, lacked insight into his 
misconduct, expressed no remorse, and refused to 
mend his ways. We recommended, and the Supreme 
Court imposed, disbarment. 

(6) We agree with the hearing judge that 
respondent's misconduct was more extensive than 
Sorensen's but less than Varakin 's. As was the 
hearing judge, we too are troubled by respondent's 
failure to have gained insight into his misconduct. He 
continues to paint himself as the victim despite the 
many courts that have held otherwise. The discipline 
imposed for the misconduct here must reflect this 
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lack of insight as well as the harm to the victim and 
assurance to the public and bar that such conduct will 
not be tolerated. (Sorensen v. State Bar, supra, 52 
Cal.3d at p. 1044.) We conclude that the hearing 
judge' sdisciplinerecommendationappropriatelybal­
ances these values and the record as a whole. 

RECOMMENDATION 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that 
respondent Carey Brent Scott be suspended from the 
practice of law for a period of two years, that 
execution of the suspension be stayed, and that he be 
placed on probation for a period of two years, on the 
conditions of probation recommended by the hearing 
judge, including 60 days' actual suspension.We also 
recommend that respondent be ordered to take and 
pass the Multistate Professional Responsibility Ex­
amination within one year after the effective date of 
the Supreme Court order imposing discipline in this 
matter and furnish satisfactory proof of such passage 
to the Probation Unit of the Office of the ChiefTrial 
Counsel within said period. FinaJly, we recommend 
that costs be awarded to the State Bar pursuant to 
Business and Professions Code section 6086.10 and 
that those costs be payable in accordance with 
section 6140.7 of that Code. 

We concur: 
STOVITZ, P. J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 
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Between 1985 and 1989, petitioner was a principal in "the Alliance" - a group of about 15 defense 
attorneys in the Los Angeles area who joined together to defraud insurance companies. The Alliance conducted 
unneeded discovery and litigative steps; billed excessively for legal services; and appeared for both plaintiff 
and defendant in the same action, then had another Alliance member represent one client to falsely create the 
appearance that each client was represented by independent counsel (such independent counsel are often 
referred to as "Cum is" counsel), and thereafter billed the involved insurance company for the false independent 
Cumis counsel. In addition, Petitioner admitted that, in 1988, he tried to frustrate any investigation into the 
Alliance. In May 1990, after the Alliance fraud was discovered, petitioner pleaded guilty to and was convicted 
on one felony count of mail fraud in federal court. Effective in August 1990, petitioner resigned from the State 
Bar with disciplinary charges pending. In 1999, petitioner sought reinstatement. The hearingj udge found that 
petitioner established his rehabilitation and recommended his reinstatement. (Hon. Michael D. Marcus, 
Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar requested review, but challenged only the hearing judge's finding that petitioner was 
rehabilitated. Although several witnesses testified that petitioner should not be reinstated, their adverse 
testimony did not stem from an assessment of petitioner's rehabilitative steps, but from their view of his 
extremely serious involvement in the Alliance. Further, the remaining reasons offered by the State Bar for 
denying reinstatement were not persuasive on this record. The review department concluded that respondent 
established his rehabilitation through multiple witnesses who testified that he overcame the moral weakness 
which led to his earlier dishonest conduct, was a successful law clerk in a law office, made important 
contributions to his church, and was now sensitive to ethical behavior. The review department recommended 
petitioner's reinstatement. 
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For State Bar: Paul O'Brien 

For Respondent: Susan L. Margolis 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Onlythe actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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[la, b] 135.87 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Division Vil-Reinstatement 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
2504 Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
Reinstatement petitioner established requisite learning in law bypassing California Bar Examination, 
Attorneys' Examination. 

[2a, b) 141 Evidence-Relevance 

[31 

141 

159 
2504 
2590 

E video ce-Misceilaneous 
Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
Reinstatement-Miscellaneous 

Although earlier admissions cases do not consider the time a petitioner is in custody or under court 
or State Bar supervision to be particularly weighty in assessing rehabilitation, the petitioner in each 
of those cases had engaged in extremely serious misconduct. for an extensive time and had not 
adequately shown rehabilitation in light of the seriousness of the offenses. In contrast, in this case, 
petitioner's misconduct, though clearly serious, spanned four years, but there was no evidence that 
petitioner acted in less than an exemplary fashion while on probation. Further, some of petitioner's 
positive conduct, notably his cooperation with the State Bar, occurred despite his understanding that 
he would get no benefit from it. The review department therefore concluded that it was appropriate 
in this case to accord some weight to petitioner's activities while on probation, but it gave far greater 
weight to the last four years ofpetitiorier's showing, which were after he completed his criminal 
probation. 

159 
2504 

Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 

Concern in reinstatement proceeding is not just in counting correct number of years for measuring 
petitioner' srehabilitation, but is toassess quality of petitioner's rehabilitation showing in light of prior 
very serious misconduct. 

148 
2504 

Evidence-Witnesses 
Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 

.In the very heavy burden a reinstatement petitioner must surmount in proving his rehabilitation, 
charac.ter evidence alone, no matter how positive, is not determinative. 

f5) 148 Evidence-Witnesses 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
2509 Evidence-Procedural Issues 
Testimony of members of the bar and bench of high repute is entitled to careful consideration in 
assessing a petitioner's rehabilitation when the petitioner has been close to their observation. This 
is because such witnesses are morally bound by their oaths as attorneys at law not to recommend 
a disbarred attorney for reinstatement unless they are satisfied of the rehabilitation ofhis character. 

(6 a, bl 148 Evidence-Witnesses 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
2504 Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
2590 Reinstatement-Miscellaneous 
Opinion testimony of an attorney as to the ultimate issue that petitioner was qualified for 
reinstatement was not precluded, although that ultimate issue was for the State Bar Court and the 
Supreme Court to decide. 
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[7 a-c] 141 
148 
159 
2504 
2590 

Evidence-Relevance 
Evidence-Witnesses 
Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
Reinstatement-Miscellaneous 
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Negative testimony regarding petitioner's rehabilitation did not rebut petitioner's favorable testi­
mony for a very important reason: the negative testimony was based solely on the severity of 
petitioner's earlier misconduct and not on his rehabilitative steps since resignation. The witnesses 
had no personal observation of petitioner for most, if not all, of the 10 years that elapsed between 
the time petitioner resigned and the State Bar Court hearings. Thus, while the negative testimony 
of each of these witnesses was relevant on the issues of the seriousness and the nature and extent 
of petitioner's prior misconduct, it was of little relevance on the issues of petitioner's present 
character and of whether petitioner has maintained a sustained period of unblemished and 
exemplary conduct. 

(8 a-d] 191 
2504 
2590 

Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
Reinstatement-Miscellaneous 

Reinstatement petitioner's outstanding income tax delinquencies of $458,000 and his offer to 
compromise and settle the delinquency with Internal Revenue Service for $50,000 did not show 
adverse moral character. This was not a case where petitioner concealed assets or his delinquen­
cies. Nor was this a case where petitioner failed to file tax returns. Further, petitioner should not 
be deprived of the ability to take advantage of the offer in compromise procedures open to any citizen 
seeking to resolve a large delinquency, particularly when that delinquency consists of sizeable 
penalties and interest. 

Other 
2510 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Reinstatement Granted 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P. J.: 

Petitioner Gregory Scott Bodell resigned from 
the State Bar in 1990 with disciplinary charges 
pending after he was convicted of mail fraud stem­
ming from a nefarious scheme practiced by a group 
of insurance defense attorneys·in the 1980s referred 
to as "the Alliance." The State Bar's Office of Chief 
Trial Counsel (State Bar) seeks our review of a 
decision of a State Bar Court hearing judge recom­
mending that petitioner be reinstated. 

Independently reviewing the record as we must 
(Cal. Rules of Court, rule 951.5; Rules of Proc. of 
State Bar, rule 305(a);Jn re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 
184,207), we adopt the heari~gjudge's decision. As 
we shall discuss post, well-established law provides 
that an applicant for reinstatement must make a very 
high showing of rehabilitation to succeed. On this 
record, petitioner has made the required showing. 
Although several witnesses testified that petitioner 
should not be reinstated, this adverse testimony did 
not stem from an assessment of petitioner's rehabili­
tative steps, but from the witnesses' view of his 
extremely serious involvement in the Alliance. We 
have also concluded that the remaining reasons 
offered by the State Bar for denying reinstatement 
are not persuasive on this record. We shall conclude, 
for the following reasons, that petitioner should be 
reinstated. 

I. ISSUES IN THE PROCEEDING 

The relevant authorities set forth clearly the 
issues in a reinstatement case. Petitioner must estab­
lish by clear and convincing evidence that he is 
learned in the general law, that he has passed a 
professional responsibility exa,mination, and that he 
has established his rehabilitation and is morally fit to 
be readmitted. (Cal. Rules of Court., rule 951 (f); 
Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 665(a), (b); e. g.,ln the 
Matter of Sa/ant (Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State 

t. I lb) As the hearing judge found. petitioner passed the 
California Bar Examination, Attorneys' Examination, in July 
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Bar Ct. Rptr. 1, 3; In the Matter of Brown (Review 
Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 309, 315 .) 

[la) The State Bar has no dispute with the 
hearingj udge 's findings that petitioner has satisfied 
the examination and learning requirements and we 
adopt those findings.1 (lb - see fn. 1] 

We then turn to the issue of rehabilitation and 
note that there is no evidence that petitioner has 
engaged in further substantive misconduct since his 
resignation. The State Bar has defined the focus we 
should place on petitioner's rehabilitation in the fol­
lowing sub-issues: (I) whether petitioner's nearly 
three years' of unsupervised status between the end 
ofhis criminal probation and his filing the petition for 
reinstatement show the required rehabilitation; (2) 
whether petitioner's failure .to pay in full his tax 
obligation is consistentwith the rehabilitation required 
for reinstatement; (3) whether petitioner showed 
adequaterehabilitation in view ofhis very serious acts 
which led to his federal conviction; and (4) whether 
petitioner's failure to remember evidence that he 
once formed a partnership with the central figure in 
the Alliance is consistent with the requirements of 
reinstatement. 

Prior to discussing the issues, we set forth briefly 
the background leading to this reinstatement pro­

. ceeding. 

II. PETITIONER'S MISCONDUCT 
LEADING TO CONVICTION AND 

RESIGNATION 

Although petitioner resigned with charges pend­
ing and was not disbarred, the standards for 
reinstatement are the same in either case. (E.g., 
Hippard v. State Bar ( 1989) 49 Cal.3d 1084, 1092, 
fn.4; In the Matter of Miller (Review Dept. 1993) 2 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 423,428, fu.1; see also Ru~es 
Proc. of State Bar, rules 660, 665.) It is well settled 
that we assess the showing ofrehabilitation in light of 
the moral shortcomings which preceded petitioner's 

1998 and the Multistate ProfessiQnal Responsibility Examina­
tion in March 1999. (Cf. Cal. Rules of Court, rule 951(f).) 
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resignation. (Hippard v. State Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d 
at p. 1092; cf. In the Matter of Sa/ant, supra, 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 3). Evaluating the miscon­
duct which led to resignation, we conclude that it was 
most serious. It not only defrauded insurers, but it 
constituted an affront to the honest administration of 
justice. In brief, the hearingjudge made the following 
findings, which we adopt. 

After four earlier failures, petitioner passed the 
California Bar Examination in late 1983 and was 
admitted to practice in December 19 83. He had been 
working for attorney Lynn Stites since March 1982 as 
a law clerk. Attorney Stites continued to support 
petitioner despite his several bar exam failures. Peti­
tioner felt loyalty to Stites because of this support. 
After admission, petitioner became an associate in 
Stites' office. 

Stites put together a group of about fifteen 
defense attorneys in 1984 or 1985 referred to as "the 
Alliance" to defraud insurers. The Alliance would 
conduct unneeded discovery and litigative steps in 
cases, bill excessively for services, or appear for both 
plaintiffs and defendants in the same action and then • 
have different Alliance members undertake separate 
representation of the clients to falsely create the 
appearance that the clients were represented by 
independent counsel. 

The parties in this reinstatement proceeding 
argued extensively over whether petitioner's role in 
the Alliance was that of a peripheral researcher or a 
central figure. While we adopt the hearing judge's 
findings that petitioner was more of a researcher and 
drafter of pleadings to create insurance coverage, 
than a mastennind of the scheme, he clearly was a 
principal in it and was close in proximity to Stites who 
was a central Alliance figure.2 Alliance duties peti­
tioner undertook were to prepare cross-complaints 
against the clients of Stites' law office in order to 
extend litigation, to meet with Alliance members to 

2. The hearing judge gave several reasons in his findings for 
concluding that petitioner was not a central Alliance figure, 
including petitioner's salary at the time, the number of wit­
nesses who testified to petitioner's more limited role in the 
Alliance and decisions made while prosecuting petitioner. 
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strategize in bringing more litigation to be defended 
ultimately by insurers, and to aid in preparation ofbills 
for legal services that would eventually be paid by 
insurers.3 

Petitioner's first act to further the Alliance was 
in 1985, and his last acts were in 1989. At first, 
petitioner went along with Stites, relying on his judg­
ment as to the most effective way of creating litigati ve 
events for his clients. By 1987, petitioner became 
depressed over his Alliance activities and hoped the 
problems would go away; but, because ofhis loyalty 
to Stites, he remained involved with him until late 
1987. Petitioner then opened his own law office 
within Stites's offices. He ceased working on Alli­
ance cases but represented Stites in various matters. 

In the fall of 1988, after Stites had moved to 
Switzerland, petitioner agreed to Stites's request to 
send him computer media containing Alliance case 
pleadings and documents. Petitioner kept copies in 
the California law office of what he sent Stites, and 
no documents or media were destroyed. However, 
petitioner admitted that in 1988, he had intended in 
part to frustrate any investigation into the Alliance. In 
1989, Stites wished to return to the United States, but 
was concerned abouthisabilitytore-enter. Unaware 
of any intended enforcement action against Stites, 
petitioner gave him advice that entry into the U.S. 
from Canada was likely to provoke less scrutiny. 

In May 1990, petitioner was convicted in federal 
court on his plea of guilty to one felony count of mail 
fraud(l8 U.S.C. § 134l)arisingoutofhismisconduct 
with the Alliance. Petitioner immediately tendered his 
resignation from State Bar membership with disci­
plinary charges pending, and it became effective on 
August 24, 1990. Before petitioner was sentenced, 
the government reported that he had cooperated with 
them. These cooperative steps included petitioner's 
discussion ofhis involvement with the Alliance, his 
agreement to help the government in arresting Stites, 

3. For situations in which insurers would be required topayfees 
of independent counsel see, for example, San Diego Federal 
Credit Union v. Cumis Ins. Society, Inc. ( 1984) 162 Cal .App.3d 
358,375. 
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and his testir~10ny in the trial of some Alliance mem­
bers. Petitioner was sentenced to five years' probation 
on conditions, which included 150 days in a halfway 
house. Petitioner complied with his probation, and it 
ended in October 1996. 

III. HEARING RIDGE'S ASSESSMENT 

The hearingjudge considered the favorable char­
acter testimony petitioner introduced, his significant 
involvement with his ch:urch, his speaking to law 
students on many occasions about his crime, and his 
psychological therapy to understand why he engaged 
in improprieties with the Alliance. The hearingjudge 
also considered the State Bar's unfavorable evidence 
that petitioner still owes the Internal Revenue Service 
a large amount of back taxes and that five witnesses 
offered by the State Bar testified that petitioner 
should not be reinstated. 

[2a] In the hearing judge's view, although 
petitioner's criminal conduct was repugnant, he sus­
tained his burden of showing his rehabilitation. The 
judge did not consider thenegati ve testimony of some 
witnesses to dilute petitioner's showing. Nor was it 
deemed adverse that much of petitioner's reform 
occurred during his felony probation. The hearing 
judge recommended that petitioner be reinstated. The 
State Bar's appeal followed. 

IV. DISCUSSION OF THE ISSUES AND 
EVIDENCE RE PETITIONER'S 

REHABILITATION 

We now tum to the issues framed by the State 
Bar, which are asserted to be indicative of lack of 
satisfactory reform to warrant reinstatement. 

A. Petitioner's Proof of Rehabilitation from 
His Misconduct 

j2bj Aswenotedante, wemustviewpetitioner's 
rehabilitation in light of the moral shortcomings that 
preceded his resignation. Moreover, as the Supreme 
Court reiterated in an admissions moral character 
case; In re Gossage (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1080, I 096, 
the more serious the earlier misconduct, the stronger 
the rehabilitative showing required. The State Bar 
points to the seriousness of petitioner's Alliance 
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misconduct and argues that the proper time period for 
measuring his rehabilitation is from the end of his 
criminal probation in 1996 to the 1999 date offiling his 
petition for reinstatement (citing In re Gossage, 
supra, 23 Cal.4th at pp. 1099-1100). Judged as such, 
the State Bar contends that petitioner has failed to 
meet his burden. We disagree with the State Bar's 
analysis as unduly narrow in this case. Although 
Gossage and the earlier admissions case it cites, In 
reMenna(1995) 11 Cal.4th975,989,donotconsider 
the time an applicant is in custody or under court or 
State Bar supervision to be particularly weighty in 
assessingrehabilitation, the applicant in each of those 
cases had engaged in extremely serious misconduct 
for an extensive time and had not adequately shown 
rehabilitation in light of the seriousness of the of­
fenses. In Gossage the misconduct spanned a total of 
14 years and in Menna, 5 years. Moreover, the Court 
in Gossage noted that that applicant did not behave 
in an exemplary fashion while on parole. (In re 
Gossage, supra, 23 Cal.4th at p. 1099, fn. 22.) In 
contrast, in this case, petitioner's misconduct, though 
clearly serious, spanned four years, but we have no 
evidence that petitioner acted in less than an exem­
plaryfashion while on probation. Further, as we shall 
discuss, some of petitioner' spositiveconduct, notably 
his 1990 cooperation with the State Bar, occurred 
despite his understanding that he would get no benefit 
from it. We therefore conclude that it is appropriate 
in this case to accord some weight to petitioner's 
activities while on probation, but we give far greater 
weight to the last four years of petitioner's showing, 
which were after he completed his criminal proba­
tion. 

[3) Our concern, however, isnotjustincounting 
the correct number of years formeasuringpetitioner 's 
rehabilitation; but more importantly, to assess the 
quality of petitioner's showing in light of his very 
serious misconduct surrounding his conviction of a 
crimeinvolvingmoraJ turpitude. Whether petitioner 
was only a researcher for Attorney Stites or was 
more involved in Alliance strategy, he was clearly a 
principal in a scheme, which was not only dishonest, 
but for a lawyer, especiallyreprehensib le in its affront 
to the fair administration of justice. [4] We also 
acknowledge that in the very heavy burden petitioner 
must surmount in proving his rehabilitation, character 
evidence alone, no matter how positive, is not deter-
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minative, (Hippard v. State Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d at 
p. 1095; In the Matter of Sa/ant, supra, 4 Cal. State 
Bar .Ct. Rptr. at p. 5.) 

Examining petitioner's showing independently, 
we agree with the hearing judge that it offers clear 
and convincing evidence that petitioner met his bur­
den. 

First, we note that there were many witnesses 
whose opiriions were entitled to weight who knew 
petitioner for a sufficient period of time and were 
reasonably familiar with his misconduct regarding the 
Alliance. Second, we note that the witnesses gave 
specific, convincing reasons for holding favorable 
opinions of petitioner's rehabilitation orpresentmoral 
fitness. We do not find it necessary to detail all the 
evidence, but will discuss some examples. Petitioner 
called i 1 outside witnesses. Eight of the eleven were 
attorneys, and several of them had backgrounds that 
would be expected to make them critical in cases of 
unrehabilitated misconduct or inadequate coopera­
tion to address the harm petitioner earlier caused. [ 5] 
"Testimony of members of the bar and bench ofhigh 
repute is also entitled to careful consideration when 
the petitioner has been close to their observation. 
[Citations)." (Preston v. State Bar (1946) 28 Cal.2d 
643, 651 .) This is because "[s]uch witnesses are 
morally bound by their oaths as attorneys at law not 
to recommend a disbarred attorney for reinstatement 
unless they are satisfied of the rehabilitation of his 
character. [Citations.]" (Ibid.; see also Rules Prof. 
Conduct, rule 1-200(B) [ attorneys have a duty not to 
furthertheapplication for admission orreadmission to 
the bar of a person they know "to be unqualified in 
respect to character, education, or other relevant 
attributes").) 

[6a) Robert Amidon, an attorney for 25 years, 
had worked in Naval intelligence, had served as an 
assistant United States attorney, and then practiced 

4. [6b) . As Amidon te.stified, "My personal view is that he 
should be given a second chance. From the time that we first 
interviewed [petitioner] and with the Aetna repre~entatives, 
we again had fonned our conclusion and my opinion was the 
same that he was just at the wrong place at the wrong time. He 
was young and inexperienced. He didn't know how to get 
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civil law. In 1989, Aetna Insurance Company hired 
Amidon to investigate Alliance activities and to deter­
mine what losses Aetna might have incurred as a 
result. Amidon's investigation for Aetna was wide­
ranging. He reviewed numerous documents, and he 
spoke with the federal prosecutors on the case and 
also with Alliance defendants. That is how Amidon 
metpetitionerineither 1989or 1990.FromAmidon's 
extensive investigation of the harm done by Alliance 
members, he concluded thatpetitionerwas one of the 
few Alliance figures who cooperated with the pros­
ecution and insurer victims and that petitioner's 
activities did not cause losses for Aetna. Moreover, 
itwasA.midon'sviewofpetitioner's rolethathewas 
more of a new attorney-researcher and not a central 
Alliance strategist. Amidon opined that petitioner 
was very candid and truthful with him. Amidon felt 
thathisexperienceasaformerprosecutorhelpedhim 
judgepetitioner'scharacterandheultimatelyopined 
that petitioner was qualified forreinstatement.4 (6b­
see fn. 4) Although Amidon had had only a few 
contacts with petitioner since his investigation, which 
lasted from 1989 until 1996 or 1997, Amidon knew of 
nothing to change his opinion. 

· William Hodgman, an assistant district attorney 
of Los Angeles County who had 20 years of experi­
ence in that office and who oversaw all of the District 
Attorney's line operations as well as its investigation 
bureau, had known petitioner for about 10 years. 
Hodgman' s contacts with petitioner have been social, 
involving mutual activities of their respective families 
such as childbirth classes and Cub Scout activities. 
Hodgman believed that he had acquired a very 
• positive opinion of petitioner's rehabilitation from 
those activities, particularly watching petitioner's 
teaching and leadership with young children. As 
Hodgman testified, petitioner appreciated the wrong­
fulness of what he earlier did and showed a very 
strong sense of "never wanting to get into that 
situation. ever, ever again." In Hodgman' s words, 

unstuck from the tar baby and that he should be given a second 
chance . . . . " Amidon testified as to an ultimate issue in this 
proceeding, but his testimony was not precluded thereby, 
although that ultimate issue is for our Court and the Supreme 
Court. (Seeln the Ma1terofHarney(ReviewDept. 1995)3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 266, 277, fn. 7.) 
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petitioner felt a lot of shame and humiliation over what 
' he did and never wanted anyone who knew him to 

have to look askance at him again. 

The testimony of State Bar Deputy Trial Coun­
sel Jan Oehrle was also noteworthy. Oehrle had been 
admitted to practice fornearly 25 years and had spent 
the past 13 years as a Deputy Trial Counsel for the 
State Bar. She was the principal attorney for the 
Office of Chief Trial Counsel assigned to evaluate 
complaints of attorney misconduct regarding the 
Alliance. Oehrle' spurpose in testifying was to affrrm 
petitioner's cooperation with the State Bar in its 
investigation. She firstmetpetitionerin l 990whenhis 
attorney contacted her with petitioner's offer to assist 
the State Bar. Petitioner gave Oehrle detailed infor­
mation about the Alliance, including the relationship 
of the participants inter se and with Stites. According 
to Oehrle, this information was most helpful. 5 One 
matter of concern to Oehrle was that petitioner might 
expect some benefit in return for helping the State 
Bar as she had never had such an offer of assistance 
before from an attorney who was involved in State 
Bar proceedings. However, petitioner understood 
that he would receive no benefit from cooperating 
with the State Bar. Oehrle was able to verify that 
petitioner's information about the Alliance was hon~ 
est, as it fully corroborated .evidence she received 
from other sources. Although we do not regard 
Oehrle' s appearance as an intent to act as petitioner's 
general character witness, we cannot recall another 
instance in which a State Bar senior trial attorney 
testified as favorably for a party to State Bar Court 
proceedings. 

Petitioner's current employer, attorney Henry 
Gradstein, also testified impressively for petitioner. 
Gradstein, a lawyer for 20 years, knew petitioner 
since the summer of 1985. He was aware of 
petitioner's misconduct, criminal conviction, and bar 
resignation, and he has observed petitioner's suc­
cessful course ofrehabilitation. Gradstein gave detailed 

5. Oehrle testified in part: "[The Alliance] was a very, very large 
case and at the time, my perception was, that the State Bar 
didn't really have the resources to do the kind of investigation 
that wc really needed to do without the information [petitioner] 
gave us." 
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reasons for considering petitioner rehabilitated, in­
cludingpointing out his prominentrole in ensuring high 
ethical standards for practice in Gradstein 's law 
office, although petitioner served but as a law clerk. 6 

Should petitioner be reinstated, Gradstein would like 
to see petitioner as a partner in the practice. 

Other witnesses' testimonies of petitioner's re­
habilitation were also impressive, particularly for the 
detailed reasons the witnesses gave for their favor­
able opinions. 

We also note the evidence of petitioner's per­
sonal expression of sufficient insight into and sincere 
remorse over his Alliance misconduct. We obsenre 
this both in his own testimony and as a key aspect of 
the testimony of many of his witnesses. Petitioner 
took meaningful steps to learn of the factors associ­
ated with his misconduct, and he took considerable 
steps to correct and enhance his life, including intense 
involvement with his church, which led to a position of 
significant leadership in those religious activities. He 
also spoke to classes of law students to share with 
them the misconduct he committed and the impor­
tance of honest conduct as a lawyer. 

B. The State Bar's Negative Evidence 
of Petitioner's Reform. 

(7a) The State Bar offered five witnesses who 
gave negative opinions of petitioner's rehabilitation. 
Because these five • witnesses are attorneys, their 
testimonies are entitled to great weight if"peti ti oner 
has been close to their observation." (Preston v. 
State Bar, supra, 28 Cal.2d at p. 651.) The testimony 
of Edwin Warren was indicative. Warren, a liability 
defense lawyer for 35 years was asked to help 
insurers look into billings of Alliance members. Al­
though Warren looked into petitioner' sconduct during 
the mid-1980s, he was unaware that petitioner had 
been convicted of a crime and unaware of whether 
petitioner had made any efforts at rehabilitation. 

6. Petitioner served as a law clerk for Gradstein' sand other law 
offices from 1990 or 1991. Gradstein gave petitioner full-time 
employment since the mid- l 990s. 
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Warren opined that petitioner should not be rehabili~ 
tated because petitioner's conduct with the Alliance 
was so grave that "no one who would engage in that 
conduct could at some point in time be rehabilitated." 

[7b] Thomas Brown., a lawyer for sixteen years 
and partner of a major law firm representing insurers 
seeking to assess damages to their clients from 
Alliance activities, opined that petitioner should not be 
reinstated. Brown had had contacts with petitioner 
only between about 1987 or 1988 and 1991. Brown's 
opinion was that petitioner should not be reinstated 
because, by 1990 or 1991, he had still not accepted 
responsibility or shown remorse for his misconduct 
and because petitioner either discounted or falsified 
the extent of his involvement with Stites and other 
Alliance figures. 

[7c] The hearing judge found these witnesses' 
opinions to be weak in view of pertinent case law or 
to be outweighed by other more credible testimony. 
We agree, and we find that the negative testimony did 
not rebut petitioner's favorable testimony for a very 
important reason: in all but the testimony of Brown, 
the negative testimony was based solely on the 
severity of petitioner's ear lier misconduct and not on 
his rehabilitative steps since resignation. In short, 
these witnesses have had no personal observation of 
petitioner for most, ifnot all, of the 1 Oyears that have 
elapsed between the time petitioner resigned with 
disciplinary charges pending in 1990 and the hearings 
below. Thus, while the negative testimony of each of 
these witnesses is relevant on the issues of the 
seriousness and the nature and extent of petitioner's 
prior misconduct, it has little relevance on the issues 
of petitioner's present character and of whether 
petitioner has maintained a sustained period of un­
blemished and exemplary conduct. 

In the case of Brown's testimony, we agree with 
the hearingj udge' s analysis discounting it in view of 
much more evidence that petitioner did cooperate 
sufficiently with. the State Bar and law enforcement 

7. At the time petitioner submitted his offer to the IRS, there 
were two grounds for compromising a tax liability under 26 
Code of Federal Regulations part301.7122-l(b)(l)and (2): a 
dispute as to the tax liability, or a doubt as to co\lectibility 
where the tax liability exceeds the taxpayer's assets and 
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and accepted adequate responsibility for his Alliance 
misconduct. We also note that Brown's contacts 
with petitioner ended in 1991, thus depriving Brown 
of any significant opportunity to evaluate petitioner's 
rehabilitation. 

C. The Evidence Surrounding Petitioner's 
Income Tax Liabilities. 

(Sa] Petitioner disclosed in his reinstatement 
petition that he owed nearly $458,000 in federal income 
taxes, penalties, and interest. About two-thirds to three­
quarters of this amount is interest and penalties. This 
delinquency started in 1983 when petitioner's late 
payment of taxes led to a later interest and penalty 
assessment of $40,000. Petitioner paid his 1984 and 
1985 truces timely, but erred in estimating his quarterly 
tax payments and had a $7,000 underpayment. In 
1987 when petitioner suffered investment reversals 
and had to incur considerable expenses for his crimi­
nal defense arising out of the Alliance matter, he was 
unable to pay his taxes, estimated at $40,000. In 1988, 
he underpaid his taxes by about $4,000, but paid in full 
his taxes for 1989 and 1990. 

[8b] Because of heavy expenses, petitioner was 
. unable to pay his 1991 and 1992 taxes and did not 
recall whether he paid his taxes in 1993 or 1994. 
Between 199 5 and 1998, petitioner complied with an 
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) paymentplanrequir­
ing him to pay increasing monthly payments, starting 
at $25 monthly and increasing to $558 monthly. 

(8c] For 1997 through 1999, petitioner paid his 
taxes in full. Petitioner also owed the California 
Franchise Tax Board about $15,000 or $20,000, 
which he paid in full by 1996 or 1997. In 1998, 
petitioner consulted tax counsel who recommended 
he propose to the IRS an offer in compromise, 
pursuant to 26 Code of Federal Regulations part 
301.7122-1.7 Petitioner's counsel advised him to 
offer $50,000 to settle his delinquencies. The offer 
was pending at the time of the hearing below. 

income. The record does not disclose the basis of petitioner's 
offer in compromise, Subsequently, the IRS added a third 
ground for an offer in compromise in 26 Code of Federal 
Regulations part 301. 7122-1 (b )(3 ): promoting effective tax 
administration. 
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The hearingjudge found thatthe circumstances 
surrounding petitioner's delinquencies did not show 
adverse moral character. The State Bar contends 
that petitioner's unresolved tax.delinquencies in view 
ofhis income of over $150,000peryear shows a lack 
of requisite rehabilitation. We agree with the hearing 
judge's assessment. 

(8d] This is not a case where petitioner has 
concealed assets or his delinquencies. Nor is this a 
case where petitioner has failed to file tax returns. His 
large salary earned in the years just before and during 
this reinstatement proceeding accompanied his full 
payment of taxes for those years. He should not be 
deprived of the ability to take advantage of the offer 
in compromise procedures open to any citizen seek-· 
ing to resolve a large delinquency, particularly 
consisting sizeably of penalties and interest. (Cf. 
Kwasnik v. State Bar (1990) 50 Cal.3d 1061, 1069-
1070, 1072-1074 [moral character admissions 
case-debt of applicant discharged in bankruptcy].) 
Ultimately, the State Bar's concerns seem to revolve 
arounditsclaimthatpetitionerdidnotcorroboratehis 
testimony with additional documentary evidence. 
While that is true, petitioner's evidence on this subject 
remains unrebutted. 

D. The Evidence Surrounding Petitioner's Recall 
of His Partnership with Stites 

Petitioner testified that he did not recall forming 
a partnership with Stites in 1986. Petitioner was 
shown a law corporation application which he signed 
in 1986 for the fonnation of the Stites & Bodell Law 
Corporation. Petitioner did not re cal 1 that the corpo­
ration was active, and it was suspended several years 
later for failing to pay taxes. The State Bar did not 
show that the corporation · was active or that a 
separate practice emerged from this relationship. 
The hearing judge did not make any findings on this 
issue, but the State Bar argues that it indicates 
petitioner's lack of credibility. We disagree with the 
State Bar. We would be more concerned had peti­
tioner failed to recall a material event, particularly 
following his resignation. Sincepeti ti oner committed 
his misconduct while practicing with Stites, we do not 
see how his failure to recall forming this law corpo­
ration 14 years earlier affects his rehabilitative showing. 
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E. Overall Discussion of the Evidence 
Concerning Rehabilitation 

Ultimately, we must decide whether petitioner 
has shown proof of sustained exemplary conduct 
since his resignation. (Cf. In re Mem1a, supra, 11 
Cal.4th at p. 989.) We regard petitioner's proof 
analogous to that shown in the recent reinstatement 
case of In the Matter of Salant, supra, 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr., at pages 4 and 5. Although the 
misconduct in that case was considerably more 
isolated than the present case and occurred under 
mitigating circumstances, Salant offered impressive 
testimony from government attorneys and others 
who·observed her and who gave specific reasons for 
testifying favorably for her, including her openness 
about her offense, her insight into its cause, and her 
positive behavior under stress. Notwithstanding this 
favorable testimony, there were some doubts that we 
held notto be inconsistent with the very high requisite 
showing. We recommended Salant' s reinstatement, 
and the Supreme Court ordered it. 

Here 10 years elapsed between petitioner's 
resignation and the hearings below. Abundant, criti­
cal witnesses established petitioner's success in 
overcoming the weaknesses that led to his earlier 
dishonest behavior and showed his success in estab­
lishing himself as a successful law clerk, making 
important contributions to his church and being highly 
sensitive to ethical behavior. 

The hearingjudge who presided over the twelve­
day trial in this proceeding concluded that petitioner 
had made the very high showing which reinstatement 
demands. We agree. 

V. RECOMMENDATION 

For the fore~oing reasons, we recommend that 
Gregory Scott Bodell' s petition for reinstatement be . 
granted and that he be reinstated as an active member 
of the State Bar of California upon his paying the 
required fees (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6063) and other 
sums (e.g., Bus. & Prof. Code,§§ 6140.5, subd. (c), 
6140. 7) and upon his taking the oath of an attorney at 
law (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6067). 

We concur: 
WATAl, J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 



INTHEMATTEROF KREITENBERG 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 469 

STATE BAR COURT 

REVIEW DEPARTMENT 

In the Matter of 

MITCHELL How ARD KREITENBERG 

A Member of the State Bar 

No.99-C-11604 

Filed November 22, 2002 

469 

In this felony conviction referral matter, the hearing judge found that, over a six-year period, respondent 
was involved in a capping scheme, fee splitting arrangement, and conspiracy to defraud the Internal Revenue 
Service in violation of title 18 United States Code section 3 71, which misconduct constituted acts of moral 
turpitude. The hearingjudge recommended thatrespondent be suspended from the practice ofla w for six years, 
that the six-year suspension be stayed, and that he be actually suspended for four years and until he complied 
with standard l .4(c)(ii) of the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar, title IV. (Hon. Robert M. Talcott, Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar sought review, asserting that respondent should be disbarred. On review, respondent did 
not dispute the determination of culpability but argued that two to three years of actual suspension was the 
appropriate discipline. The review department determined that, given the magnitude, scope, and duration of 
respondent's crime, as well as the lack of compellling mitigating evidence, respondent should be disbarred. 

COUNSEL FOR p ARTIES 

For State Bar: Donald R. Steedman 

For Respondent: Arthur Lewis Margolis 

11 l 1512 
1516 

HEAD NOTES 

Conviction Matters-Nature of Conviction-Theft Crimes 
Conviction Matters-:..Nature of Conviction-Tax Laws 

1523 Conviction Matters-Moral Turpitude-Facts and Circumstances 
The facts and circumstances surrounding respondent's scheme to defraud the government 
presented clear and convincing evidence of moral turpitude where respondent misappropriated his 
clients' identities, authorized the forgery of clients' signatures, and conspired to use his trust account 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of thereader. On!ythe actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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as a subterfuge to avoid paying income taxes due on legal fees and to fund a massive capping and 
fee splitting scheme for the principal purpose of enriching himself, his cousin, and his nonattomey 
office manager. However else moral turpitude may be defined, it most certainly includes these 
deceitful acts by respondent for his personal gain. 

[21 691 Aggravation-Other-Found 
It was a factor in aggravation that respondent personally gained from his misconduct. 

[3J 582.10 Aggravation-Harm to Client-Found 
Respondent's misconduct harmed his clients. Respondent breached his clients' trust by misappro­
priating their identities for his own personal gain and by allowing his clients to be misled into signing 
phony checks or permitting their signatures to be forged. Such actions were a clear betrayal of his 
clients' best interests in favor of respondent's own selfish desires and exposed his clients to possible 
tax audits and their unwitting involvement in his conspiracy to defraud the Internal Revenue Service. 

l41 691 Aggravation-Other-Found 
Where respondent misappropriated his clients' identities, authorized the forgery of clients' 
signatures, and conspired to use his trust account as a subterfuge to avoid paying income truces due 
on legal fees and to fund a massive capping and fee splitting scheme, respondent's misconduct was 
directly related to his obligations as an attorney. This direct relation between the misconduct and 
attorney obligations constituted a factor in aggravation. 

[Sa, bJ 191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
740.31 Mitigation-Good Character-Found but Discounted-Insuffient References 
7 4 0 .3 2 Mitigation-Good Character-Found but Discounted-References Unfamiliar 
740.39 Mitigation-Good Character-Found but Discounted-Other 
Where respondent's character evidence was not from a sufficiently wide range of references, did 
not demonstrate that each witness was aware of the full extent ofrespondent's misconduct, and 
did not address the State Bar's disciplinary concerns or discuss respondent's fitness for practice, 
the evidence was entitled to only limited weight in mitigation. 

[6] 795 Mitigation-Other-Declined to Find 
No mitigating weight was given to the fact that respondent was not a leader in the conspiracy to 
defraud the Internal Revenue Service where respondent knew virtually from the outset that what 
he was doing was wrong, participated as an equal in the conspiracy, decided with the others in the 
conspiracy on various modifications to the scheine to assure its ongoing success, drew an equal 
amount of the fees, and misappropriated the names of his own clients in furtherance of the 
conspiracy. 

171 1610 Conviction Matters-Discipline-Disbarment 
Disbannentwas the appropriate discipline forrespondent's involvement ina capping scheme, fee 
splitting arrangement and conspiracy to defraud the Internal Revenue Service due to (1) the 
extremely serious nature of respondent's misconduct over an extended period of years; (2) the 
insufficient passage of time since the misconduct to give the necessary assurance that respondent 
was once again fit to practice law; (3) the fact that the misconduct occurred within three or four 
years afterrespondent began practicing law; ( 4) the fact that respondent was motivated to continue 
the misconduct for six years by a desire to enhance his standard ofliving; ( 5) respondent's decision 
to offer only limited cooperation to the government for three and one-half years after the 
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commencement of an investigation by the Internal Revenue Service; and (6) respondent's 
disregard, on virtually hundreds of occasions, of the trust his clients placed in him. 

Aggravation 
Fowid 
521 
531 

Multiple Acts 
Pattern 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

541 
584.10 

Bad Faith-Dishonesty 
Harm to Public 

Mitigation 
Found but Discounted 
730.30 Candor-Victim 
735.30 Candor-Bar 
745.32 Remorse-Restitution 
Declined to Find 
710.53 No Prior Record 

Discipline 
1552.10 Conviction Matters-Standards-Moral Turpitude-Disbarment 
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OPINION 

EPSTEIN, J .: 

This felony conviction referral matter involves 
serious misconduct by respondent, Mitchell H. 
Kreitenberg, which occurred over a six-year period. 
TheStateBarCourthearingjudgefourtdrespondent's 
involvement in a capping scheme, fee splitting ar­
rangement and conspiracy to defraud the Internal 
Revenue Service in violation oftitle 18 United States 
Code section 371, constituted acts of moral turpitude. 
Respondent does not challenge this finding, and, 
therefore, culpability is not at issue. However, the 
State Bar is appealing the recommendation of the 
hearing judge that respondent be actually suspended 
for four years and, instead, is seeking disbarment; • 
respondentrnaintains that two to three years of actual 
suspension is the appropriate discipline. In order to 
decide this issue, we must <let.ermine whether the 
evidencepresented in mitigation is compelling enough 
to outweigh conduct that otherwise would result in a 
disbarment recommendation. 

Given the magnitude, scope and duration of 
respondent's crime, we conclude that he should be 
disbarred. We cannot agree with the hearing judge 
that the mitigation evidence is so compelling as to 
warrant a discipline less than disbarment. Despite the 
progress towards rehabilitation that respondent has 
made to date, our paramount duty to protect the 
public, courts and profession dictates that reinstate­
ment proceedings are the appropriate means by 
which respondent should demonstrate his fitness to 
practice law. The lesser showing that would be 
required ofrespondent in proceedings under Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar, title IV, Standards fo;r 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, 
standard l.4(c)(ii) is insufficient to maintain the 
integrity of the profession, in light of the seriousness 
of his misconduct.1 

1. All further references to standards are to these Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, and all 
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I. PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL 
BACKGROUND 

Respondent was admitted to practice in June 
1983, and bas no prior record of discipline. He began 
his legal career in 1984, at an in-house law firm for an 
insurance company, where his annual salary was 
about$34,000. Threeyearslater, in 1987, respondent 
was recruited by his cousin and mentor, Manny 
Kreitenberg, to join him ina personal injurypractice. 
The law firm was denominated "The Law Offices of 
Mitchell Kreitenberg," and respondent was respon­
sible for managing the office, al though his cousin was 
involved in most aspects of the practice. (Manny 
Kreitenberg also operated a separate law office that 
respondent was no part of.) 

Shortly after respondent began practicing per­
sonal injury law with his cousin, he became aware. 
that some, if not all, of his cases were referred by 
cappers, who were paid for their referrals. Respon• 
dent also was aware that the legal fees from the cases 
referred by the cappers were split among his cousin, 
his non-attorney office manager, Elvira Topor, and 
himself. Respondent knew that these activities were 
illegal, and on several occasions he expressed his 
concern to Manny Kreitenberg, but his cousin told 
him "this is the way it works and if you don't like it you 
can leave .... " Respondent now wishes he had had 
the strength to leave; but he remained in the practice 
with his cousin. Indeed, in 1991, the seriousness of 
respondent's misconduct escalated beyond mere 
capping and fee splitting when he, his cousin and his 
office manager devised a plan to use respondent's 
client trust account for the purposes of paying for the 
illegal referrals and for shielding his income from the 
Internal Revenue Service (IRS). 

In accordance with the illegal plan, respondent 
deposited settlement awards into his client trust 
account, and the appropriate disbursements were 
made to the client, medical doctors and others. 
However, the portion of the settlement award allo­
cated to legal fees was not disbursed as such to 

further references to rules are to these Rules of Procedure of the 
State Bar, unless otherwise indicated. 
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respondent. Instead, respondent wrote a second, 
fraudulent check, drawn against the trust account, 
using the name ofhis client as a fictitious payee and 
in an amount similar to the previous amount paid to the 
client. To further disguise the withdrawals ofhis fees 
from the IRS and the State Bar, respondent and his 
cousin agreed that the checks should be in a non­
sequential order from the initial checks to the clients. 
Early in the scheme, the duplicate, phony checks 
were signed by the clients, who were inveigled to do 
so under false pretenses by the office manager. 
When this became cumbersome, due to the resis­
tance of some clients, the plan was modified so that 
the office manager forged the signatures of the 
clients who were named on the checks. 

In this manner, over 680 phony checks were 
written by respondent during a three-ye-arperiod, and 
about $1,640,000 in legal fees was withdrawn from 
the trust account. None of this money was reported 
as income to the IRS. Instead, respondent's office 
manager used the money to pay cappers, who, in tum, 
referred still more lawsuits, generating additional 
legal fees, which were split equally among respon­
dent, his cousin and the office manager. As a result 
of this conspiracy, respondent was able to earn an 
income of approximately $250,000 to $300,000 a year 
during the years 1990, 1991 and 1992. There is no 
evidence that the check-writing scheme would have 
stopped, but for the intervention of the IRS, which 
commenced an audit of respondent's tax returns in 
April 1993. At that point, respondent ceased writing 
the fraudulent checks and paying cappers. 

Initially, respondent and his civil attorney coop­
erated on a limited basis with the IRS, providing 
various documents and records, as requested. Three 
years later, in September 1996, respondent learned 
that he was the subject of a criminal investigation by 
the United States Department of Justice arising out of 
the check-writing scheme. After he retained a crimi­
nal defense attorney, respondent met with the Assistant 
United States Attorney, whereupon he fully con­
fessed to his criminal activities. On April 24, 1997, an 
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information was filed in United States District Court 
for the Central District of California (District Court), 
charging respondent with one count of conspiracy to 
defraud the IRS under title 18 United States Code 
section 371, and in May 1997, pursuant to a plea 
agreement, respondent pled guilty to this count. As 
part of the plea agreement, respondent was required 
to meet with an IRS agent to determine the amount of 
taxes owed and to pay all back taxes, interest and 
penalties. There is no evidence in the record that 
respondent has fully repaid his back taxes. 

Sentencing was delayed for the next one and 
one-half years to encourage respondent to provide 
detailed information and assistance to the govern­
ment in aid of the investigation of the check-writing 
and capping. conspiracy. As a consequence of his 
cooperation, the government successfully prosecuted 
respondent's cousin for his participation in the con­
spiracy .2 Respondent also provided information and 
files to the government on numerous occasions con­
cerning other targets of the government's investigation. 
In January 1999, he was given credit for his coopera­
tion and sentenced by the District Court to five years' 
probation, including three months in a correctional 
center and three months' home detention. 

We placed respondent on interim suspension in 
1999, and the matter was referred to the hearing 
department. Respondent stipulated to the facts un­
derlying the conspiracy, but he did not stipulate to a 
finding of moral turpitude. Based on the evidence 
presented by the State Bar, the hearing judge found 
respondent culpable of moral turpitude, citing In re 
Hallinan (1954) 43 Cal.2d243, 24 7. The majority of 
the hearing focused on respondent's evidence in 
mitigation, which included three witnesses who testi­
fied to his good character, and approximately 
twenty-five letters from relatives, friends, classmates 
and professional colleagues attesting to respondent's 
strongrelationship with his extended family, his par­
ticipation in his religious community and his 
contributions to his community in general. The letters 
had been submitted previously to the District Court in 

l. Manny Kreitenberg resigned as a member of the State Bar 
with charges pending in 1994. 
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preparation for respondent's sentencing hearing and, 
therefore, were not directed to the State Bar Court. 
Nevertheless, as part of the stipulated record, the 
letters were entered into evidence by respondent "for 
all purposes" without objection from the State Bar. 
The stipulated record also included a few other good 
character letters that previous} y were lodged with the 
Workers' Compensation Appeals Board on behalf of 
respondent, but, with one exception, were duplicative, 
since they were written by the same authors as those 
who had submitted letters to the District Court. 

Based on this evidence of good character, which 
the hearing judge found was "extraordinary," he 
recommended that respondent be suspended from 
the practice oflaw for six years, stayed, and that he 
be actually suspended for four years and until he 
complied with standard 1 .4( c )(ii). His decision, filed 
on July 19, 2001, was modified on August 23,2001, to 
clarify that respon~ent should be given credit for his 
interim suspension, which began on October, 27, 
1999. Accordingly, if respondent timely complies 
with standard l .4(c)(ii), he could be eligible to prac­
tice law in October of2003, prior to the completion of 
his federal sentence, which should end in 2004, 
provided all of the terms of respondent's probation in 
the criminal case are satisfied. 

On appeal, the State Bar contends that disbar­
ment is warranted under the facts and circumstances 
presented by this record.3 Respondent does not 
challenge the hearingjudge's finding of moral turpi­
tude, but asserts that two to three years' actual 
suspension ~s the appropriate discipline. 

3. Although the State Bar did not file a Motion for Summary 
Disbannent below, it raises the.issue on appea.l that this is an 
appropriate case for summary disbannent. A violation of 
title 18 United States Code section 3 71 requires a detennina­
tion by the hearing department of whether the crime involves 
moral turpitude under the facts and circumstances of the case. 
The crime is not per se moral turpitude, and therefore is 
ineligible for summary disbannent under Business and Profes-
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Il. DISCUSSION 

A. Acts of Moral Turpitude 

[1] Respondent stipulated to the facts and cir­
cumstances surrounding his crime, although not to a 
finding of moral turpitude. He pied guilty to only one 
felony count of conspiring to defraud the government 
(18 U.S.C. § 371); nevertheless, the underlying acts 
of misconduct were far ranging and of extended 
duration. Respondent, his cousin and his office man­
ager devised a purposeful plan to use respondent's 
trust accountas a subterfuge to avoid paying income 
taxes due on respondent's legal fees. As part of the 
conspiracy, which lasted three years, respondent 
personally drafted hundreds of phony checks by 
misappropriating his clients' names as fictitious pay­
ees and authorizing the checks to be forged in their 
names. In this manner, nearly 1.6 million dollars in 
legal fees were illegally diverted from the trust 
account. The fees that were withdrawn from the trust 
account were used by respondent specificallyto fund 
a massive capping and fee splitting scheme, for the 
principal purpose of further enriching himself, his 
cousin and his non-attorney office manager.4 In 
exercising our independent review of the record ( Cal. 
Rules of Court, rule 951.5; rule 305(a); In re Morse 
(1995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207), wefindthatthefactsand 
circumstances surrounding i:espondent's scheme to 
defraud the government (18 U.S.C. § 371) present 
clear and convincing evidence of moral turpitude, 
and, accordingly, we adopt the hearingjudge' s finding 
of culpability. Respondent's misconduct in misappro­
priating his clients' identities and authorizing the 
forgery of their signatures, as well as conspiring to 
use his trust account for illegal purposes was dis hon• 
est. However else moral turpitude may be defined, it" 
most certainly includes these deceitful acts by re-

sionsCode section 6102, subdivision ( c ). (in reChernik( 1989) 
49Cal.3d467,469-470; /nreSevero{1986)4I Cal.3d493,496; 
In re Chira( 1986)42 Cal.3d 904, 906-907.) Wemaynotreject 
this precedent. 

4. There is no evidence that any of the law suits referred by the 
cappers were fraudulent. 
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spondent for his personal gain. (See In re Schwartz 
(1982) 31 Cal.3d 395,400; In re Chira, supra, 42 
Cal.3d 904, 909.) 

B. Aggravating Circumstances 

We agree with the hearing judge's finding as 
aggravation that there was a pattern of misconduct. 
(Std. 1.2(b)(ii).)lndeed, the pattern involved multiple 
acts of wrongdoing. But, our calculation of the dura­
tion of the misconduct is significantly longer than that 
of the hearing judge, who found the relevant time 
period to be three years from the inception of the 
conspiracy until its abrupt termination with the deliv­
ery of the audit letter by the IRS. We find the 
appropriate time period to be six years, which is the 
length of time thatrespondent knew about and agreed 
to the· use of cappers and fee splitting with a non­
attomey, and includes the three-year period of the 
check-writing conspiracy. 

{2] We also agree with the hearing judge's 
finding that respondent personally gained from his 
misconduct and that this is an aggravating factor. The 
record confirms that respondent, his cousin and his 
office manager each received between $250,000 and 
$300,000 per year in fees as a result of the con­
spiracy. Indeed, respondent testified that his primary 
motivation in participating in the scheme was "the 
chance to make more money." 

The hearing judge further found that there was 
hann to the public because ofrespondent's failure to 
pay income taxes, and we agree. (Std. l.2(b)(iv).) 13] 
However, we cannot agree with the hearing judge's 
finding that there was no harm to respondent's 
clients. To be sure, there is no evidence that respon­
dent failed to timely disburse the settlement amounts 
due to his clients. Nonetheless, the harm occurred 
each time respondent breached his client's trust by 
misappropriating the client's identity for respondent's 
own personal gain. He further abdicated his fiduciary 
responsibilities to his clients by allowing them to be 
misled into signing the phony checks or permitting 
their signatures to be forged. Such actions were a 
clear betrayal ofhis clients' best interests in favor of 
his own selfish desires. It has long been a fundamen­
tal premise of the practice oflaw that "the relationship 
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between an attorney and client is of the highest order 
of fiduciary relation.[citation.]" (In the Matter of 
Feldsott (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 754, 757.) Moreover, respondent's actions 
exposed his clients to possible tax audits and their 
unwitting involvement in his conspiracy to defraud the 
IRS. (See, e.g., In re Distefano (1975) 13 Cal.3d 
476, 481-482.) "It is precisely because the attorney­
client relationship is one ofutmost confidence that the 
commission of a felony in betrayal of that confidence 
receives the harshest sanction the disciplinary system 
imposes." (In the Matter of Lilly (Review Dept. 
1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 473, 479.) 

We find additional factors in aggravation that 
were not identified by the hearingjudge. Respondent 
pied guilty to intentionally hiding his fees so as to 
escape detection by the IRS. However, the check 
writing scheme also was. intended to conceal 
respondent's misuse of his client trust account from 
the State Bar, which we find to be an aggravating 
factor. (Std. l .2(b}(iii).) (4] In addition, we find that 
respondent's check writing scheme was directly 
related to his obligations as an attorney; indeed, the 
conspiracy lay at the very heart of his practice. 
Standard 2.3 provides guidance in this instance: 
"Culpability ofa member of an act of moral turpitude, 
fraud,orintentionaldishonestytoward ... aclientor 
another person or of concealment of a material fact 
to ... a client or another person shall result in actual 
suspension or disbarment ... depending upon the 
magnitude of the act of misconduct and the degree to 
which it relates to the member 's acts within the 
practice of law." (Italics added.) Respondent's 
misconduct touched on virtually every aspect of his 
law practice: he repeatedly misused his client trust 
account for his own purposes; he purchased lawsuits 
from cappers to generate legal fees; and, he split 
those fees with his cousin and his non°attorney office 
manager. Most importantly, but for his relationship 
with his clients as their attorney, respondent would 
not have had the opportunity to appropriate their 
names, nor would he have been privy to the informa­
tion about their settlement awards, which he utilized 
in drafting each fraudulent check. There is a clear 
nexus between the felony committed here and 
respondent's responsibilities as an attorney. Accord­
ingly, we find this to be an aggravating factor. 
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C. MmGA TING CIRCUMSTANCES 

The hearing judge found that respondent made 
an "extraordinary demonstration" of good character, 
based on three character witnesses and approxi­
mately twenty-five good character letters. We give 
great deference to the hearing judge's findings of 
credibility of respondent's character witnesses ( rule 
305(a); In the Matter of Respondent A (Review 
Dept. 1990)1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 255,262), and 

•• we concur that their testimony placed respondent in 
a very favorable light. 

The first witness, Steven Fabiano, has known 
respondent for almost twenty years and employed 
him as a part-time paralegal. They met when they 
worked for the in-house finn for the insurance com­
pany. They saw each other sporadically, but when 
Mr. Fabiano read in the newspaper about respondent's 
conviction, he contacted him. They discussed 
respondent's misconduct on "numerous" occasions, 
and during those discussions respondent never once 
denied his complicity or tried to shift the blame. Mr. 
Fabiano was of the opinion that respondent was 
remorseful and would not commit any further mis­
conduct, largely because of his close relationship to 
his family, which respondent would not want to 
jeopardize. 

The second character witness, who the hearing 
judge found to be "very credible," was Thomas 
Phillips, a law school classmate and co-worker with 
respondent at the in-house law finn for the insurance 
company. Mr. Phillips was aware of many of the 
particulars ofrespondent' s crime and the surrounding 
circumstances and believed that Manny Krei ten berg 
led respondent into the conspiracy as the result of 
their close, mentoring relationship. He also testified 
that respondent did not blame his cousin and took full 
responsibility for his misdeeds. Mr. Phillips testified 
he remained a good friend of respondent and would 
be willing to hire him as a partner in his firm ifhe were 
allowed to practice law. Mr. Phillips firmly believed 
that respondent had been rehabilitated and should be 
given a second chance. 

The third witness, Ronald N essim, was a former 
Assistant United States Attorney and is in private 
criminal defense practice. According to the hearing 
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judge, he was "a very impressive character witness." 
Mr. Nessim was fully aware of all of the particulars 
ofrespondent's involvement in the conspiracy, be­
cause he represented the cousin, Manny K.reitenberg, 
in the District Court proceedings. His personal rela­
tionship with respondent extended back to childhood, 
when they lived in the same neighborhood, and they 
continued their friendship on a social basis. Mr. 
Nessim felt that his client, Manny Kreitenberg, was 
the true leaderof the check-writing operation and that 
respondent was less culpable of the crime. He be­
lieved that his cl.ient was able to influence respondent 
to participate in the conspiracy due to their close 
family relationship. He further testified that he had 
"no doubts" that respondent would never commit 
another crime of any kind and believed respondent 
fully accepted responsibility for his participation in the 
conspiracy. 

[Sa] Although each of these three witnesses 
testified persuasively as to respondent's good char• 
acter and his rehabilitation, such testimony was not 
offered from a sufficiently "wide range" of refer­
ences. (Std.1.2 (e)(vi); In the Matter of Kueker 
(Review Dept. 1991) I Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 583, 
594-595 .) Moreover, strong character evidence alone, 
no matter how positive, is not determinative of reha­
bilitation. (Hippard v. State Bar ( 1989) 49 Cal.3d 
1084, 1095.) The numerous character letters from 
family, friends and colleagues submitted by respon­
dent do little to fill the evidentiary gap needed in 
mitigation of respondent's serious misconduct. To be 
sure, all of the letter writers attested to respondent's 
attributes as a good family man and a religious person, 
as well as his extensive community involvement. The 
hearing judge found that each of the writers was 
"fully aware of the serious misconduct committed by 
respondent." We respectfully disagree. The vast 
majority of the letters stated the writers were aware 
that respondent either had serious problems with the 
law, or had made a terrible mistake. A few writers 
were a ware of the specific charge or of the nature of 
his conviction. But, a close reading of these letters 
shows that, apart from the testimonials written by the 
three individuals who testified in the proceedings in 
the State Bar Court, one can reasonably infer from 
only three of the other letters that the authors were 
fully aware of the specific facts and circumstances 
surrounding respondent's conviction for conspiracy 
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to defraud the government. As such, we find that, 
with few exceptions, the letters do not demonstrate 
that the writers were aware of the full extent of 
respondent 'smisconduct. (Std. 1.2( e )(vi);Jn re Ford 
( 1988) 44 Cal.3d 810, 818; see also Seide v. Commit­
tee of Bar Examiners (1989) 49 Cal.3d 933, 939.) 

[Sb] Equally problematic is the relevance of the 
character letters, since they were directed to the 
sentencing judge in the District Court in support of 
leniency. The purpose of criminal proceedings differs 
from that of disciplinary hearings. The Supreme 
Court discussed this difference in In re Distefano, 
supra, 13 Cal. 3d at page 481: "The trial court was 
dealing with him as a citizen, whereas we are dealing 
with him as a lawyer .... The responsibilities of a 
lawyer differ from those of a layman; 'Correspond­
ingly, our duty to the public and to the lawyers of the 
state in this respect differs from that of the trial judge 
in administering criminal law.' [Citation.]" Indeed, 
the letters movingly described respondent's sincere 
and deep remorse, but they did not address the 
disciplinary concerns of the State Bar or discuss 
respondent's fitness for practice. "Remorse does not 
demonstrate rehabilitation." (In re Conflenti ( t 98 t) 
29 Cal. 3d 120, 124.) A close reading of these letters 
• compels the conclusion that they are entitled to only 
limited weight as mitigation evidence. 

We do find the character letter from respondent's 
psychologist, Dr. Neil Einbund, which was also di­
rected to the District Court, to be relevant. He wrote 
eloquently of respondent's voluntary psychotherapy 
to gain insight into the conduct that led him into 
criminal activity. He further opined that respondent 
had shown a rare strength of character and that he 
would not pose a danger to the public, the courts or his 
clients. We therefore give significant mitigation credit 
to the letter submitted by Dr. Einbund, as well as to 
respondent's voluntary therapy, which demonstrates 
a substantial effort by respondent to rectify his 
misconduct. ( Std. 1.2( e )(vii); In the Matter of Kueker, 
supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 591 .) 

We al so give weight to the testimony of respon­
dent, who was forthright about his involvement in the 
conspiracy and his financial motivation. He fully and 
without reservation accepted responsibility, and his 
remorse appeared to be genuine. His strong ties to his 
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family and the community also were evident from his 
testimony and would no doubt act as strong motiva­
tion and assurance of no further misconduct. 
Respondent's testimony demonstrated that he has 
fully acknowledged his wrongdoing and has taken 
steps to prevent its recurrence, which we find is a 
factor in mitigation. (Std. 1.2( e )(vii).) 

In exercising our independent review of the 
record, we conclude that respondent's other mitiga­
tion evidence, discussed below, is not as persuasive or 
as compelling as the hearing judge found. For ex­
ample, respondent points to the absence of prior 
misconductasmitigation. (Std. l.2(e)(i)). Thehear­
ingjudge assigned "little weight" in mitigation, having 
found that respondent's misconduct started in 1990 -
- seven years after he was admitted to the bar. But, 
respondent testified that he participated in fee split­
ting and the use of cappers shortly after he joined his 
cousin to practice personal injury law in 198 7. Thus, 
respondent practiced law for only three or four years 
before he knowingly engaged in misconduct. Such a 
short period of unblemished practice is insignificant 
for purposes of mitigation. (Kelly v. State Bar(l 988) 
45 Cal.3d 649,658 [ seven and one-half years without 
prior discipline insufficient for mitigation]; In the 
Matter of Rech (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State 
BarCt. Rptr. 310,316 [eight years withoutdiscipline 
does not merit significant mitigation]; In the Matter 
of DeMassa (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 73 7, 752 ( eight years not significant mitiga­
tion].) Accordingly, we give no weight to this mitigating 
factor. 

The hearing judge found as mitigation that re­
spondent "displayed full candor and cooperation with 
the Internal Revenue Service and the United States 
Department of Justice, as well as the State Bar." 
(Std. l.2(e)(v).) The hearing judge also found in 
mitigation that respondent promptly took objective 
steps that demonstrated his recognition ofhis wrong­
doing. (Std. l.2(e)(vii).) Again, we respectfully 
disagree with these findings. As troubled as respon­
dent claimed to be about his ongoing transgressions, 
he did nothing to stop the conspiracy during its three 
years, nor did he opt out. Indeed, the record shows 
that respondent's recognition of his wrongdoing oc­
curred only after the IRS audit was commenced, and 
even then his remorse was not complete. It is true that 
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at that point respondent stopped the fraudulent check 
scheme and the payments to cappers, recognizing 
that with the intervention of the IRS, ''there were bad 
things out there that were going to probably come to 
light and did. Thatwasactuallymybellringing ... to 
stop doing what I was doing." 

But, respondent did not acknowledge the full 
extent of his participation in the conspiracy until he 
confessed to his crime in October 1996 -- over three 
years after he received the IRS audit letter, and then 
only after learning he was the subject of a criminal 
investigation. 5 Once he met with the Assistant United 
States Attorney, respondent acknowledged his role 
and accepted responsibility for his conduct. 
Respondent's cooperation with the United States 
Attorney continued over one and one-half years in 
order to gain a lighter sentence for himself. Also, 

. Respondent did cooperate with the State Bar, enter-
ing into a Partial Stipulation of Undisputed Facts. 
Therefore, we give only slight weight in mitigation to 
respondent's delayed recognition of this wrongdoing 
and his subsequent cooperation with the United 
States government and the State Bar. (Cf. Kaplan v. 
StateBar(1991) 52 Cal.3d 1067, 1070, 1072-1073; 
cf. In the Matter of Kueker, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. at pp. 591, 594.) 

(6] The hearing judge gave some consideration 
to the fact that respondent was a follower and not a 
leader in the conspiracy. It is true that respondent and 
his cousin grew up togetherin a tightly-knit, immigrant 
family and that respondent trusted his cousin and 
looked up to him. But, respondent clearly knew 
virtually from the outset that what he was doing was 
wrong, even hiding the detailsofhis law practice from 
friends and colleagues and dissuading his brother 
from joining him in his law office. Respondent ap• 
peared to take some measure of comfort in not 
knowing the i den ti ties of the cappers or in not paying 
them personally, but he otherwise participated as an 
equal in the conspiracy. deciding with his cousin and 

S. In his good character letter to the District Court Judge in 
support of respondent, Ronald Nessim acknowledged that 
respondent did not fully admit his culpability early in the 
investigation, and instead, under the advice ofhis tax attorney, 
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his office manager on various modifications to the 
scheme to assure its ongoing success, and drawing an 
equal amount of the fees. Finally, the clients whose 
names he misappropriated were the clients of The 
Law Offices ofMitchell Kreitenberg. We, therefore, 
give no mitigation weight to the fact that Manny 
Kreitenberg first involved respondent in the con­
spuacy. 

D. DISCIPLINE 

The record contains substantial evidence of 
respondent's rehabilitation and good character, butit 
is by no means overwhelming or detenninative. 
Character evidence must be measured against the 
gravity of respondent's crimes. (Cf. In re Menna 
(1995) 11 Cal.4th975,988; SeelntheMatterofKatz 
(Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 502, 
509-510, 514-515.)Moreover, in a conviction referral 
matter, the disciplinemust be imposed commensurate 
with the gravity of the crime and the circumstances 
surrounding the crime. We look to standard 3.2, 
which provides for disbarment of any attorney who 
has committed a crime of moral turpitude unless the 
most compelling mitigating circumstances clearly 
predominate.'" (D]isbarments, and not suspensions, 
have been the rule rather than the exception in cases 
of serious crimes involving moral turpitude .... ' 
[Citation.]" (In re Crooks (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1090, 
1101.) Respondent urges us to consider the cases of 
In re Chira, supra, 42 Cal.3d 904; In re Chernik, 
supra, 49 Cal.3d 467; and In the Matter of Moriarty 
(Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 245, 
as authority for suspension rather than disbarment. 
But, we find these cases to be distinguishable, since 
each involved "a few isolated incidents," whereas 
respondent's purposeful plan to defraud the govern~ 
ment continued over several years and involved 
hundreds of falsely subscribed checks. (Cf. Kaplan 
v. State Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3d at p. 1071 [ disbannent 
for 24 separate acts of misappropriation over several 
months from a law partnership fund].) 

respondent mischaracterized the capping payments to the IRS 
as marketing fees that should have been considered as valid tax 
deductions. 
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The instant matter must also be distinguished 
from the typical capping case where a hapless young 
attorney does not fully understand the implications of 
how business is ethically generated or only learns 
about the misconduct of others in his law office after 
the fact. (See, e.g., In the Matter of Jones (Review 
Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 411; In the 
Matter of Nelson (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 178.) Virtually from the outset, respon­
dent was actively involved in the check-writing 
scheme, and he was fully aware of the impropriety of 
his actions, hiding them from the State Bar, the IRS, 
his colleagues and his family. Although respondent 
testified that his transgressions were due to his youth 
and inexperience, he also admitted it was the lure of 
making between $250,000 and $300,000 a year that 
was the primary motivator. He also said he felt 
trapped within the conspiracy and continued his 
conduct because his cousin, Manny Kreitenberg, was 
not only his co-conspirator, but his mentor as well. He 
believed he had no one else to tum to for counsel. 

Similar claims were rejected as mitigation by the 
Supreme Court in In re Severo, supra, 41 Cal. 3d at 
page 50 I: "[PJetitioner's 'youth and inexperience' 
(do not] provide a basis here for concluding that his 
conduct should be viewed leniently and that he is 
presently able to practice law. He did not act negli­
gently or by mistake, but participated knowingly in 
illegal acts. [ citations. J" Respondent's misconduct 
was neither an inadvertent nor a short-lived venture 
into the realm of the unethical. Indeed, there is no 
indication in the record that, absent the action of the 
IRS, respondent would have discontinued the fraudu­
lent plan. A similar concern was voiced by the 
Supreme Court in In re Basinger ( 1998) 45 Cal.3d 
1348, 1360. (See also Kaplan v. State Bar, supra, 52 
Cal.3d atp. 1072.) 

We consider as persuasive authority the convic­
tion-based case of In re Distefano, supra, l 3 Cal.3d 
4 7 6, which involved a tax offense resulting in disbar­
ment. Attorney Distefano filed thirteen false income 
tax returns over a two-year period, claiming refunds 
totaling over $16,000. Attorney Distefano claimed he 
was lured into the plan to defraud the United States 
by a close friend, who exercised substantial influence 
over him, much like respondent's cousin. Also, similar 
to the instant matter, the illegal plan in Distefano 
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contemplated using the names ofliving persons ( one 
of whom was a client) without their knowledge or 
consent and the forgery of their signatures on tax 
returns. Pursuant to a plea bargain, Distefano was 
found guilty of three counts of violatingtitle 18 United 
States Code section 287, resulting in five years' 
probation. Like respondent, Distefano had no prior 
record of discipline and practiced for only four years 
before he began committing the acts of misconduct. 
His last act of misconduct occurred three years prior 
to the Supreme Court order of disbarment, whereas 
respondent committed his last act of the check­
writing conspiracy nine years ago. However, both 
respondent's and attorney Distefano's interim sus­
pensions had been imposed f orre1atively short periods 
at the time of their disciplinary hearings. Six character 
witnesses testified on behalf of Distefano as to his 
honesty and his competence in the practice of law, 
including his brother, two attorneys who were col­
leagues and had the opportunity to observe Distefano 
in the practice of law (including an attorney at his 
fonner law firm), and his commanding officer in the 
Army Reserves. In addition, a favorable probation 
report and a letter from his psychiatrist stating 
Distefano had indicated repentance were admitted 
into evidence. 

The Supreme Court was not persuaded that the 
evidence in mitigation was sufficient, given that "the 
misconduct was of an aggravated nature involving 
successive deliberate fraudulent acts, including forg­
ery, extending over a substantial [two-yearJ 
period .... " In re Distefano, supra, 13 Cal.3d at p. 
481. And perhaps most relevant to the instant matter 
was the Supreme Court's expressed unwillingness to 
accept the level of discipline imposed in the case ofln 
re Hallinan (1957) 48 Cal.2d 52, a case relied upon 
by respondent and the hearingjudgein this matter. In 
rejecting the Hallinan recommendation of suspen­
sion, the Court noted that Distefano's tax fraud 
scheme involved the use of the names of thirteen 
living individuals without their knowledge or consent, 
which "could well have subjected innocent third 
parties to investigation by the Internal Revenue Ser­
vice .... "(Id.at pp. 481-482.) We share the same 
concern for the hundreds of clients of respondent, 
who without their knowledge or consent, had checks 
made out to them and "negotiated" on their behalf. On 
this basis, we find Hallinan is distinguishable. 
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We also find the decision of In re Basinger, 
supra, 45 Cal.3d 1348, to be instructive. Basinger is 
aconvictionreferralcase,althoughitdoesnotinvolve 
a tax offense. In.stead, Basinger pled guilty to one 
count of grand theft in connection with the conversion 
of over $260,000 over a period of time from both his 
client trust account and the operating accounts of his 
law partners. The attorney stipulated to his culpability 
and presented substantial evidence in mitigation, 
including his voluntary treatment by a psychiatrist, his 
successful completion of probation, his unblemished 
record prior to the crime, and testimony about his 
good character and remorse by several friends, 
attorneys, former clients and one superior court 
judge, as well as his treating psychiatrist who said the 
attorney was suffering from situational stress and 
that his misconduct was unlikely to recur. (Id. at pp. 
1354-1355 .) The hearing referee found that the case 
involved " 'one of the most severe and dear cut 
breaches of professional responsibility that ha[ d] 
been encountered,' "but he also found the evidence 
in mitigation to be compelling enough that the attorney 
deserved a second chance. (Id. at p. 1356.) The 
review department declined to adopt the recommen­
dation of a five-year suspension an4, instead, 
recommended disbarment. 

The attorney sought review by the Supreme 
Court of the disbarment recommendation. The Court 
acknowledged that "the record contains much evi­
dence attesting to petitioner's past effectiveness as 
an attorney, the psychological roots of his miscon­
duct, lowprobabilityofthemisconductrecurring,and 
his rehabilitation. In addition, we are cognizant of the 
absence of prior misconduct." (In re Basinger, 
supra, 45 Cal.3d at p. 1363.) Nevertheless, the Court 
stated that it "must still consider the enormity of the 
crime and its effect on the integrity, high professional 
standards, and public confidence in the legal 
profession.[citations.J" (Id. atp. 1360.)Inso finding, 
the Court focused on many factors similar to those in 
the instant case, including the fact that Basinger 
worked with an accomplice (his office manager), he 
engaged in an ongoing operation of diverting trust and 
partnership funds to his own use, signatures were 
forged on checks by his office manager, he breached 
basic fiduciary obligations to his clients (and his 
partners) and"[ a ]n unusually large amount of money 
was involved." (Ibid.) Furthermore, the Court noted 
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that one could "infer from the evidence that the 
scheme would have continued indefinitely since it 
only ceased when [the law partner] discovered 
petitioner's defalcations." (Ibid.) The Supreme Court 
adopted the review department's recommendation of 
disbarment, concluding that the more appropriate 
forum to hear the evidence of the attorney's rehabili­
tation would be in a proceeding for reinstatement. (In 
re Basinger, supra, 45 Cal.3d at p. 1362.) 

We also look to In the Matter of Rech, supra, 
3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 310, which is a conviction 
referral case for violation of 18 United State Code 
section 3 71. In the Rech case we reconnnended, and 
the Supreme Court ordered, disbarment. (Id. at p. 
31 7.) The hearing judge in the instant matter distin­
guishedRech, finding the mitigating factors were not 
as compelling, while respondent asserts that the 
misconduct in the instant matter is far less serious 
than that of Attorney Rech. However, we find Rech 
to be apt. Rech' s conviction was the result of a four­
yearconspiracy, which involved disguising his client's 
drug proceeds by investing them in two real estate 
ventures. The attorney later became involved in his 
client's illegal drug business by loaning the client 
$30,000. 

This . court found that by participating in the 
laWldering scheme, the attorney committed acts of 
moral twpitudeinvolvingconcealmentand intentional 
misrepresentations that could have endangered the 
lives of his business colleague and his family. (In the 
Matter of Rech, supra, 3 Ca] State Bar Ct. Rptr. at 
p. 315.) Like Rech, respondent was found to have 
engaged in multiple acts of misconduct involving 
moral turpitude. (Ibid.) We are unable to discern if 
respondent's misdeeds are worse than those of 
Rech. However, we find the similarity in.the mitigat­
ing circumstances to be instructive as to our 
determination of the appropriate discipline in this 
matter. Both Rech and respondent -were found to 
have demonstrated candor and cooperation with the 
State Bar. (Ibid.) Both also presented favorable 
character testimony. (Ibid.) Both expres~ed remorse 
(although neither did so promptly). (Id. at p. 316, 
fn .4.) Also, like respondent, Rech had no priorrecord 
of discipline. (Rech was given some additional mitiga­
tion for the eight years of unblemished practice prior 
to his misconduct, which, as we discussed, ante, we 
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do not consider in mitigation in the instant case due to 
respondent's brief three-year career before he en­
gaged in illegal conduct.) (Ibid.) Rech and respondent 
each presented psychological evidence, which was 
found to corroborate other favorable character testi­
mony showing his remorse, (Ibid.) Although this 
court. viewed the mitigation evidence in Rech to be 
"substantial," we determined, in accordance with 
standard3.2, "it [is]notcompeliing [enough Jin light 
of his extremely serious misconduct over a several­
year period." (Id. at p. 317.) 

Finally, the case of In re Schwartz, supra, 31 
Cal.3d 395, which is another conviction referral 
matter, involved a complex fraud scheme, albeit, one 
based on mail fraud under title 18 United States Code 
section 1342, rather than tax fraud. The circum­
stances surrounding the crime consisted of a fraudulent 
enterprise to obtain merchandise by creation of false 
credit information, fictitious entities and a fictitious 
drivers license, as well as forgery of a fictitious name 
to open a bank account. The criminal acts began only 
two years after Attorney Schwartz was admitted to 
practice and resulted in four years' probation im­
posed by the superior court. Similarmitigation evidence 
was presented in the hearing department by the 
attorney in Schwartz as was offered by respondent 
in the instant matter, including the absence of a prior 
record of discipline, cooperation with the prosecuting 
authorities, and other post-conviction behavior that 
demonstrated remorse and rehabilitation. (Id. at pp. 
400-401.) Atthe time the Supreme Court ordered his 
disbarment, Schwartz had been on interim suspension 
for three years. The Court acknowledged "that peti­
tioner regrets his past criminal conduct and the 
consequences thereof [ and the Court had no] reason 
to dispute the character testimony to that effect." (Id. 
at p. 40 I.) But in ordering disbarment, the Court did 
not agree that evidence of remorse was sufficient to 
establish rehabilitation." 'In our view, a truer indica­
tion ofrehabilitation wi II be presented if petitioner can 
demonstrate by his sustained conduct over an ex­
tended period of time that he is once again fit to 
practtce law .... Petitioner will have an additional 
opportunity hereafter to demonstrate his fitness in 
reinstatement proceedings before [the State Bar].' 
[Citation.]" (Ibid.) 
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[7] In light of the extremely serious nature of 
respondent's actions over an extended period of 
years, we recommend disbarment, rather than sus­
pension, as the most appropriate enforcement response 
to ensure the protection of the public, the courts and 
the profession. While we commend respondent for 
the rehabilitation he has shown to date, we do not 
believe there has been sufficient passage of time to 
give us the assurance needed that he is once again fit 
to practice law. (See In the Matter of Rech, supra, 
3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 316-317.) Even 
though his last act of the conspiracy occurred in l 993, 
at all times since then respondent has been either 
under investigation or under supervision. Further­
more, we are troubled that his misconduct occurred 
within three or four years after he began practicing 
law, and his decision to continue his misconduct for 
six years was primarily motivated by a desire to 
enhance his standard ofliving. Equally troubling is 
respondent's decision to offer only limited coopera­
tion to the government for three and one-half years 
after the commencement of the investigation by the 
IRS, albeit with the misguided advice of his tax 
counsel. We simply are unpersuaded by the record 
before us that his misconduct would have ceased in 
the absence of governmental intervention and super­
vision. Our recommendation of disbarment also is 
based on respondent's disregard, on virtually hun­
dreds of occasions, of the trust his clients placed in 
him, with the resulting adverse impact on the integrity 
of the legal profession, as well as public confidence in 
the profession. (In re Basinger, supra, 45 Cal.3d 
1348, 1360.) 

III. RECOMMENDATION 

Respondent best captured the issue presented 
by this appeal when he testified that "the amounts and 
the crime and the situations done were terrible ... [but] 
I think everybody deserves a second chance in !if e." 
We agree, but leave his second chance to another 
time and place than that here urged by respondent. 
Accordingly, we recommend that evidence of 
respondent's rehabilitation and fitness to practice law 
should be presented at a reinstatement proceeding 
following disbarment. (In re Schwartz, supra, 31 
Cal..3d at p. 40 I.) This court has drawn a distinction 
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between the showing of rehabilitation required for an 
attorney seeking reinstatement and that necessary to 
satisfy the more modest standard 1.4( c )(ii) proceed­
ings. (In the Matter of Terrones (Review Dept. 
2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 289, 298.) We believe 
the stronger showing of rehabilitation required in a 
reinstatement proceeding is necessary here in light of 
the length and severity of respondent's misconduct 
and its direct relationship to the practice oflaw. 

Respondent may seek reinstatement five years 
from the initial date of his suspension. (Rule 662(b ). ) 
At that time respondent will have completed his 
federal sentence of five years' probation, and a 
thorough re-appraisal, investigation and review of 
respondent's fitness to practice law can be made. In 
this manner, the public can be assured, to the greatest 
extent possible, ofrespondent' s rehabilitation. 

Accordingly, we recommend that respondent be 
disbarred and his name stricken from the roll of 
attorneys. 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to comply with the provisions of California 
Rules of Court, rule 955 and to perform the acts 
specified in subdivisions (a) and ( c) of that rule within 
30 and 40 days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court's order in this matter. We 
further recommend that the State Bar be awarded 
costs in accordance with Business and Professions 
Code section 6086.10 and that such costs be payable 
in accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6140. 7. 

We concur: 
STOVITZ, P. J. 
WATAI, J. 

IN THE.MATTER OF KRf:ITENBERG 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 469 



IN THE MATTER OF PEA VEY 483 
(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 483 

STATE BAR COURT 

REVIEW DEPARTMENT 

In the Matter of 

WILLIAM BENSON PEA VEY, JR., 

A Member of the State Bar 

Nos. 98-0-02234; 00-0-14818 

Filed December 13, 2002 

8uMMARY 

The hearingj udge found respondent culpable of seven counts of misconduct including failure to report a 
civil judgment for fraud to the State Bar, failure to avoid interests adverse to a client, breach of a fiduciary duty, 
and committing acts of moral turpitude and dishonesty. The hearing judge recommended that respondent 
receive three years' stayed suspension and three years' probation on conditions including that he be actually 
suspended for two years and until he makes restitution. (Hon. JoAnn M. Remke, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent requested review, contending that the decision was not supported by the weight of the 
evidence and that the appropriate discipline was three months' actual suspension with restitution. The review 
department adopted the hearingjudge 's conclusions of culpability and discipline recommendation . 
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For State Bar: Robin B. Haffner 

For Respondent: William Benson Peavey, Jr., in pro. per. 
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HEADNOTES 

273.00 Rule 3-300 [former 5-101] 
In a prosecution for a violation of Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 3-300, where respondent 
borrowed $25,000 from clients in 1994, an attorney-clientrelationship existed at the time of the loan 
where the clients had an ongoing relationship with respondent since the 1970 's and sought and 
received legal advice from respondent intermittently from that time through 1996. 

221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
Respondent committed acts involving moral turpitude where, in borrowing money from clients, he 
repeatedly misrepresented to the clients his business situation, his financial situation, and his ability 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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to repay the loans. Notwithstanding respondent's argument on review that his inability to repay the 
loans to his clients did not constitute any ethical violation, the review department found respondent 
culpable of violating Business and Professions Code section 6106 based on respondent's misrep­
resentations. 

106. 90 Procedure-Pleadings-Other Issues 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
561 Aggravation-Uncharged Violation-Found 
Absent an appropriate objection to the introduction of evidence of misconduct other than that 
charged in the notice of disciplinary charges, such evidence may, when appropriate, be used as an 
aggravating factor in disciplinary matters. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 
214.51 
221.11 
273.01 
430.01 
NotFound 
213.15 

Aggravation 
Fm.md 
521 
582.10 
591 

Mitigation 
Found 

Section 6068( o) 
Section 6106-Deliberate Dishonesty/Fraud 
Rule 3-300 [former 5-101] 
Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

Section 6068( a) 

Multiple Acts 
Hann to Client 
Indifference 

710.10 No Prior Record 
765.10 Pro Bono Work 
Found but Discounted 
740.33 Good Character 

Standards 
833.90 Moral Turpitude-Suspension 

Discipline 

Other 

1013.09 Stayed Suspension-3 Years 
1015.08 Actual Suspension-2 Years 
Probation Conditions 
1017.09 Probation-3 Years 
1021 Resitution 
1022.50 
1024 
1030 

106.30 
191 

Probation Monitor Not Appointed 
Ethics Exam/School 
Standard 1.4( c )(ii) 

Procedure-Pleadings-Duplicative Charges 
Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
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OPINION 

WATAI,J.: 

Respondent, WILLIAM B. PEA VEY, JR., was 
found culpable of seven counts of misconduct includ­
ing failure to report a civil judgment for fraud to the 
State Bar, failure to avoid interests adversetoaclient, 
violating his fiduciary duty and committing acts of 
moral turpitude and dishonesty. The hearing judge 
recommended that respondent receive three years' 
suspension, execution stayed, and three years' pro­
bation on conditions including that respondent be 
actually suspended for two years and until he makes 
restitution. 

Respondent requested review, contending that 
the decision is not supported by the weight of the 
evidence and that the appropriate discipline is three 
months' actual suspension with restitution. 

Based on our independent review of the record, 
we generally adopt the hearing judge's findings and 
conclusions. We also believe that the recommended 
suspension is clearly warranted and we so recom­
mend to the Supreme Court. 

PROCEDURAL SUMMARY 

The Office of ChiefTrial Counsel (OCTC) filed 
a Notice of Disciplinary Charges (NDC) in case no. 
98-0-02234 on August 2, 2000. Respondent timely 
filed his response totheNDC. OnFebruary27, 200 I , 
OCTC filed an NDC in case no. 00-0-14818. Re­
spondent timely filed his response. The two matters 
were consolidated on March 12, 2001. 

On April 3, 2001, the parties filed a partial 
stipulation as to undisputed facts. 

HEARlNG nJDGE'S FINDINGS OF FACT 

Respondent was admitted to the practice of law 
in the State of California on December 19, 1973. He 
has no prior discipllne. 

In about September of 1995, respondent paid a 
vanity press about$ 76,000 to print 5,000 copies ofhis 
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book Dignity of the Soul, The Story ofFilipino Brav­
ery in World War 11. The copies were priced at 
$17 .95 each, but at the time of the hearing below, the 
majority of copies were in storage, unsold. 

98-0-02234 - The Henson Matter 

The hearing judge found that respondent had 
represented the Hensons in .several matters in the 
courseof20years since the late 1970's. Respondent 
represented Myrtle Henson in the late l 970's in an 
employment matter. In 1981, the Hensons and some 
other parents retained respondent to represent their 
children in a curriculum dispute with their school. In 
1988, George Henson and his two daughters were 
represented by respondent in their personal injury 
claim. The Hensons were satisfied and pleased with 
the representations and the results. 

The parties stipulated that on May 30, 1994, 
respondent borrowed $25,000 at IO percent interest 
per annum from the Hensons, payable in full on 
November 1, 1994. The money was to be used to 
produce respondent's book. The Hensons were given 
the option to convert this loan into a partnership 
interest to share in the proceeds of the sale of the 
book. The Hensons borrowed $24,000 from their 
credit union at 12 percent interest ($1,000 of their 
money was put in the loan) to make the $25,000 loan 
based on respondent's assurance that the book sales 
would make enough money, that Mr. Henson would 
not have to work anymore and that they would be paid 
in full in six months. TheHensons were given a simple 
promissory note which included the option to convert 
the note to a limited partnership interest. Said option 
rights were to remain in full force and effect until 
November 1, 1994. 

Respondent stipulated that he did not advise the 
Hensons, in writing or orally, thattheyshouldseckthe 
advice of an independent attorney. Respondent never 
secured a written agreement to the terms of the loan 
signed by the Hensons. The debt was not secured. 

To their many requests for payment on the note 
after November 1994, the Hensons were told that 
payment was getting close and were assured that 
they would get paid. 
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On June 1, 1998, the Hensons brought suit 
against respondent in the Superior Court of San 
Joaquin County for failure to pay on the note, failure 
to account, fraud and breach of fiduciary duty. They 
obtained a default judgment on November 13, 1998, 
against respondent in the sum of $124,188.33. This 
amount included $25,000 plus interest, the amount of 
the cost of the loan plus interest, and $50,000 in 
punitive damages and costs. The default judgment 
was filed on November 24, 1998. Notice of entry of 
the judgment was filed and served on May 5, 1999. 

On October 26, 1999, respondent filed a Motion 
to Set Aside Default and Default Judgment. The 
record does not show that a ruling has been made on 
the motion. 

Respondent stipulated that, at all times men­
tioned, he was aware of the defaul tj udgment and that 
he did not report this judgment to the State Bar. No 
payment has been made to the Hensons. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based on the above, the hearing judge found 
respondent culpable of a violation of section 6068, 
subdivision (o)(2) of the Business and Professions 
Code, 1 for failure to report to the State Bar the entry 
of judgment in a civil action for fraud, misrepresenta­
tion and breach of a fiduciary duty in a professional 
capacity. 

The hearing judge rejected respondent's argu­
ment that there was no attorney-client relationship 
between himself and the Hensons and found that a 
fiduciaryrelationship existed between them. Respon­
dent was found culpable of a violation of Rules of 
Professional Conduct, rule 3-300, 2 failure to advise a 
client regarding· an adverse interest. The hearing 
judge found that the loan was unsecured and there­
fore not fair and reasonable and that respondent 
failed to advise the Hensons to seek advice of 
independent counsel. 

1. All further references to section(s) are to the provisions of 
the Business and Professions Code. 
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The hearingjudge found respondent culpable of 
conduct involving moral turpitude ( section 6106) 
when, at the time he obtained the loan from the 
Hensons, he knew or should have known that he 
would be unable to repay the loan in five months. He 
knew that even ifall 5,000 books from the first printing 
were sold, the publishing costs would still surpass the 
amount of the sale. He would not realize any profits 
from the sale. 

Respondent was charged in the NDC with a 
violation of section 6068, subdivision ( a), the duty of 
an attorney to support the Constitution and laws of 
this state. The hearing judge found this charge to be 
cumulative to the rule 3-300 violation and declined to 
give it additional weight in determining the proper 
discipline. 

00-0-14818 -The Chamberlain Matter 

The parties stipulated to the following: 

Respondent and Kevin Chamberlain ( Chamber­
lain) had an attorney-client relationship since March 
8, 1993, when respondent undertook representation 
of Chamberlain in a personal injury matter. This 
lawsuit settled, and on October 31, 1994, Chamber~ 
lain received a check for $132,050. On November 15, 
1995, Chamberlain received another check for 
$13,532.57 .. 

In August .1995, Chamberlain again hired re­
spondent to represent him in a personal injury matter 
due to a bicycle accident. This lawsuit settled on 
November I 7, 1997, for the sum of $7,500, and 
Chamberlain received a check for $2,500 as his 
portion of the settlement proceeds. 

On July l, 1996, respondent sought a loan of 
$25,000 from Chamberlain to be used for a second 
printing of Dignity of the Soul. In return, respondent 
promised to pay $30,000 at 10 percent interest per 
annum, due and payable on January 1, 1997. Cham-

z. All further references to rule(s) are to the provisions of the 
Rules of Professional Conduct. 
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berlain withdrew the money from his savings account 
to loan to respondent, and respondent gave him a 
promissory note. 

Respondent did not advise Chamberlain, in writ­
ing or orally, that he may seek the advice of an 
independent attorney. Respondent did not secure 
Chamberlain's written consent to the terms of the 
agreement. The debt was not secured. 

The parties stipulated that Chamberlain was 
induced to loan respondent the money based on the 
trust and confidence that Chamberlain held for re­
spondent as his attorney.3 

At the time of entering into the stipulation, re­
spondent had made no payments on the loan to 
Chamberlain. To his many requests for payment, 
respondent assured Chamberlain that payment was 
forthcoming. 

On March 9, 2001, summary judgment was 
granted and entered by the Superior Court of San 
Francisco incaseno.314414 in the sumof$43, 794.89 
in favor of Kevin Chamberlain against respondent. 
As of the date of this trial, payment had not been made 
on the judgment by respondent. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based on the above, the hearing judge found 
respondent culpable of a violation of rule 3-300 by 
entering into an unfair business transaction that was 
not secured and by failing to advise Chamberlain to 
seek the advice of an independent attorney. 

Respondent was charged with a . violation of 
section 6068, subdivision (a), failure to obey and 
follow the laws of California. The hearingj udge found 
this charge to be cumulative to the charge of violating 
rule 3-300 and declined to give it additional weight in 
determining the proper discipline. 

3. Chamberlain was a carpenter who was severely injured. He 
required nine surgeries and was unable to work. Before asking 
for the loan, respondent inquired of Chamberlain whether he 
still had the settlement funds. 
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Respondent was found culpable of violating 
section 6106, committing conduct involving moral 
turpitude and dishonesty, based on respondent's fail­
ure to reveal the true status of the book. Respondent 
misrepresented to Chamberlain that the borrowed 
money was to be used for the second printing, when 
in fact, books from the first printing were still in 
storage. 

HEARING JUDGE'S DISCIPLINE ANALYSIS 

MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES 

The hearingjudge found the following mitigating 
circumstances: 

a. Respondent does not have any prior record 
of discipline in over 21 years of practice. (Std. 
1.2( e )(i). )4 

b. Respondent has performed substantial le­
gal and community pro bono work, which was given 
significant weight. (Std. 1.2( e )(vi).) 

c. Respondent's character witnesses (six), 
including attorneys, former clients, a business partner 
and a community leader, were deserving of some 
weight in mitigation. (Std. 1.2( e )(vi).) 

AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES 

The hearingjudge found many aggravating factors: 

a. Respondent committed multiple acts of 
wrongdoing in abusing his position of trust for per­
sonal gain and enticing his unsophisticated clients into 
believing that the loan was safe and that the return on 
the investment would be ludicrously high. (Std. 
l.2(b )(ii).) 

b. Respondent's misconduct harmed the 
Hensons and Chamberlain. The elderly Hen sons are 
burdened with loan payments to Mr. Henson's credit 

4. This reference and all further references to standard(s) are to 
the provisions of the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for 
Professional Misconduct found in title IV of the Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar. 
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union, and Mr. Henson is unable to retire as planned 
at age 65. He is still working at age 71. The Chamber­
lains (recently married) are unable to purchase a 
home. (Std. l.2(b)(iv).) 

C. During this period of 1994 and 1995, re­
spondent borrowed $37,500 froma friend and former 
client,Donald Herger, for the publication ofDignity of 
the Soul. In January 1998, Mr. Herger obtained a 
default judgment against respondent for.the amount 
of $49,422 in the Superior Court of San Francisco, 
case no. 989696. The failure ofrespondent to repay 
the loan is uncharged misconduct as further aggrava­
tion. (Std. l .2(b )(iii).) 

d. Respondent is indifferent toward rectification 
of or atonement for the consequences of his miscon­
duct. (Std. l .2(b )(v).) The Hensons and Chamberlain 
had not been paid at the time of trial. 

e. Respondent's repeated lies to the Hensons 
and Chamberlain that the money was forthcoming 
when he knew that he was unable to pay the loans 
demonstrate respondent's lack of candor and coop­
eration with his clients. (Std. 1.2(b )(vi).) 

Respondent contends that the weight of the 
evidence does not support the recommended disci­
pline and that the appropriate discipline is three 
months' actual suspension with restitution. He main­
tains that culpability should be found only for count 
one in the Chamberlain matter and all other counts 
should be reversed. 

DISCUSSION - THE HENSON MATTER 

Regarding· case no. 98-0-02234 (The Henson 
Matter), the violation of section 6068, subdivision 
(o)(2),s failure to report judgment to the State Bar, 
respondent contends that he had no duty to report the 
judgment because ( 1) the transcript of the default 
hearing was not offered into evidence; and (2) the 
defaultjudgmentwas for money loaned and therefore 

5. Section 6068, subdiv1sion (o)(2) provides in pertinent part 
that it is the duty of an attorney "[t]o report to the agency 
charged with attorney discipline, in writing ... [~] The entry 
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not reportable. He argues that the default judgment 
filed on November 13, 1998, does not recite any of the 
growids listed in section 6068, subdivision ( o )(2), i.e., 
civil action for fraud, misrepresentation, breach of 
fiduciary duty or gross negligence committed in a 

• professional capacity. 

Respondenfs arguments are not well taken. 
First ofall, we assume that respondent's reference to 
"transci:ipt of the default hearing" refers to findings 
and conclusions of law issued by the court. Code of 
Civil Procedure section 632 provides in essence that 
written findings of fact and conclusions oflaw are not 
required upon trial by the court and that upon request 
ofanypartyappearingatthe trial, the court shall issue 
a statement of decision explaining the factual and 
legal basis for its decision. Respondent al.lowed this 
matter to proceed by way of default and therefore is 
not entitled tofindingsandconclusionsoflaw.Hehas 
not offered any supporting legal authority for his 
position. He was aware of the complaint at all 
materiartimes. 

On the other hand, if respondent is referring to 
the reporter's transcript, it would have been his 
responsibility to obtain the transcript ifthere had been 
a reporter in attendance at the default hearing. 

As to respondent's argument that the judgment 
is not reportable- because the judgment was for 
money·toaned, we review the Complaint For Dam­
ages filed by the Hensons in the matter of George 
Henson and Myrtle Henson vs. William B. Peavey, 
Jr., case no. CV 005180. We find the causes of 
action pleaded to be: Breach of Promissory Note, 
Failure to Provide Accounting in a Limited Partner­
ship, Fraud and Breach ofFiduciary Duty based on an 
attorney-client relationship and a limited partnership. 
The prayer in the complaint included punitive dam­
ages. In Fitzgerald v. Herzer (1947) 78 Cal.App.2d 
127, 131-132, the court held: "By permitting his 
default to be entered he confessed the truth of all the 
material allegations in the complaint [citations J .. .. 

of judgment against the attorney in any civil action for fraud, 
misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, or gross negli­
gence committed in a professional capacity." 
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[Citation.} A judgment by default isas conclusive as 
to the issues tendered by the complaint as if it had 
been rendered after answer filed and trial had on 
allegations denied by the answer. [Citations.}" Re• 
spondent argues that the court had no authority to 
include punitive damages in the judgment. However, 
he was on notice that punitive damages were sought 
in the prayer of the complaint. After the judgment 
was awarded to the Hensons, respondent filed a 
motion to set aside the default and default judgment, 
in which he argued that default punitive damages may 
not be awarded without prior notice of the amount 
sought. 6 Jnstead of pursuing the motion, respondent 
then (according to respondent) requested the court to 
withhold a ruling pending payment. Payment has not 
been made, a ruling on the motion has not been made, 
and therefore, we find the judgment still stands. We 
do not rule on the validity of the judgment. The hearing 
judge properly found a violation of section 6068, 
subdivision ( o )(2). 

Jla] Respondent claims that the Hensons were 
not clients and therefore there was no attorney.client 
relationship. He points to the fact that he had not 
represented the Hensons after Mr. Henson's per• 
sonal injury matter in 1988 and that was the last 
matter for which he had been compensated.The 
Hensons testified to an ongoing relationship with 
respondent since the 1970' s, when respondent repre• 
sented Myrtle Henson -in an employment matter. 
They sought his assistance and advice in 1981, 1988, 
1994, 1995 and 1996. In the 1994matter,Mr. Henson 
sought the advice of respondent regarding his pickup 
truck. Respondent assisted Mr. Henson with some 
small claims papers. Mr. Henson testified that he had 
only a seventh grade education and his reading and 
writing skills are poor. In 1996,Mr. Henson had areal 
property problem, but after seeking the advice of 
respondent, Mr. Henson decided not to pursue the 
real property matter any further. " 'When a party 
seeking legal advice consults an attorney at law and 
secures that advice, the reiation of attorney and client 
is established prima facie.' [Citation.]" (Beery v. 

6. Respondent argues in his brief that OCTC has not produced 
any authority supporting the court's award of punitive dam­
ages. He mistakenly places the burden on OCTC when it was 
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StateBar ( 198 7)43 Cal.3d 802, 811 -812.) During this 
period, the Hensons, who had the highest regard for 
respondent as their attorney, referred their friends 
and family to respondent for legal work. 

[lb] In the case ofColstadv. Levine(1954)243 
Minn.279, 287·288 [67N.W. 2d648, 654-655},on the 
issue of cessation of fiduciary duty between the 
attorney and the client, the Supreme Court ofMinne­
sota stated: "Since the duty of fidelity and good faith 
arising out of the confidential relation ofattomey and 
client is founded, not on the professional relation per 
se, but on the influence which the relation creates, 
such duty does not always cease immediately upon 
the termination of the relation but continues as long as 
the influence therefrom exists." It was during this 
period of influence in 1994 that respondent borrowed 
$25,000 at 10 percent per annum interest from the 
Hensons for the publication of his book. Based on the 
promise of full repayment in six months and the 
promise that Mr. Henson would never have to work 
again, the Hensons borrowed the funds to loan to 
respondent from Mr. Henson's credit union at 12 
percent per annum interest. 

(le] Under these circumstances, we find, as did 
the hearing judge, that an attomey•clientrelationship 
existed between respondent and the Hensons at the 
time of the loan and that the loan was unsecured, 
indicating that the loan was not fair and reasonable. 
The burden is on the attorney to demonstrate that the 
dealings with the client were fair and reasonable. 
(Hunniecutt v. State Bar (1988)44 Cal.3d 362,372. 
373.) Respondent failed to meet his burden. The 
hearing judge also properly found, and we also find, 
that respondent failed to advise the Hensons in 
writing to seek the advice of independent counsel and 
the Hensons did not consent in writing to the transac• 
tion, in violation of rule 3-300. "All business dealings 
between an attorney and client in which the attorney 
benefits are closely scrutinized for unfairness on the 
attorney's part [citations] and attorneys have been 
disciplined for inducing clients to invest in enterprises 

incumbent on respondent to litigate this matter in the San 
Joachin Superior Court. 
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without fully apprising them of the risks. [Citations. J" 
(Yokozekiv. StateBar(1974) 11 Cal.3d436,445, fn. 
4.) "The relation between an attorney and his client is 
a fiduciary one of the highest trust and confidence 
and, as long as the relationship or the influence 
thereof exists, requires the attorney to observe the 
utmost good faith and candor and not to allow his 
private interest to conflict with those of his client." 
( Colstad v. Levine, supra, 67 N.W.2d at p. 654, fns. 
omitted.) It is clear that respondent took advantage of 
the Hensons' trust and confidence in him in persuad­
ing them to loan him $25,000. 

[2a} During this period, the record shows that 
respondent made many misrepresentations and broke 
many promises to the Hensons in reference to repay­
ment on the note: e.g.; when he sold the books, he 
would give them their money back; if they wanted to, 
they could "go partners"; "You don't have to worry 
because you 're getting your money back either way"; 
"It's getting close. It'll be any day"; "It's getting 
close. I'll have it on Friday"; "I'll have itin two weeks. 
I'll ca11 you when I get it"; "The money, the check is 
in Los Angeles." (Respondent allegedly sent some­
one to Los Angeles to pick up the check.); "The guy 
went to Vegas with the check. I'Il call you Monday." 
Mr. Henson testified that it was at this point that his 
trust of respondent broke down. These placating 
assurances continued through the years. At one point 
in time, a Reverend Jefferson called the Hensons on 
behalf of respondent and told them that respondent 
was involved in another project for which about a 
mil lion dollars was in the Bank of America, that it was 
respondent's intention that the Hensons be paid first 
from this fund when he received it and that respon­
dent had signed the authorization to pay the Hensons 
first. No payment was made. 

( 2b] In 1996, respondent wrote to the H ensons 
from the Philippines that "this trip is a culmination of 
my project. I have tied up the printing endorsements, 
marketing and distribution of the book here. And the 
response has been very positive." At the hearing of 
this matter, respondent admitted that he had basically 
agreed in principle with Adams Publishing (in the 
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Philippines) that they would consider distributing his 
first book, if he wrote a second book. He acknowl­
edged that there was no written contract, only a 
conversation. 

(2c] On November 24, 1997, in response to a 
letter from the Hensons' attorney, respondent wrote 
to the Hensons that he considered the Hensons as 
partners in the book venture and laid out a payment 
plan including the repayment of the $25,000, interest 
on the $25,000, repayment of costs for raising the 
$25,000 and,profitfromthe venture anticipated to be 
another $25,000. Respondent anticipated full pay­
ment by the end of the year. No payment was made. 
We note thatthe option to convert was kept open until 
November 1, 1994, and the Hensons had not exer­
cised their option. Respondent also stated that "I am 
in the process of completing the financing for release 
of the book in the Philippines." In reference to this 
statement, respondent testified that he had decided to 
finance the printing of the book in the Philippines 
himself because he hadn't finished his second book. 
(At this time, he still owed the vanity press approxi­
mately $30,000 for the first printing, and at least half 
of the books were held in storage. The final payment 
was not made until April 20, 1999, after a lawsuit, at 
which time the hooks were released to respondent by 
the vanity press.) 

[2d] On August 5, 1999, respondent wrote to the 
Hen sons ( the default judgment had been obtained by 
the Hensons on November 13, 1998, and respondent 
has stipulated that he was aware, at all times, of the 
default judgment) stating, "I want to thank you for 
staying in touch with me as! move our business venture 
closer to realizing a profit. As [sic] this time we should 
finalize our agreement for the payment of your 
interest in the project." Respondent refers to his letter 
of November 24, 1997, and implies that he has been 
waiting for input from the Hensons to his payment 
proposal and to the amount they would accept. 

(2e] From 1994 to the present, it is abundantly 
clear that respondent was well aware of his financial 
status, 7 that he could not or did not have the means to 

7. The record reveals outstanding tax liens, both federal and 
state, during the period of 1992 to 2000. 
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repay the Hensons. Yet, he continued to assure them 
that payment was forthcoming, when it wasn't, and 
that the book venture was a success, when it wasn't. 
He failed to inform them of the true status of the book 
venture, but instead told them glowingly of the coming 
printing in the Philippines. The attorney-client rela­
tionship is a fiduciary relation of the very highest 
character imposing on the attorney a duty to commu­
nicate to the client whatever information he has or 
may acquire in relation to the subject matter of the 
transaction. (Neel v. Magana, Olney, Levy, 
Cathcart & Gelfand (1971) 6 Cal.3d 176, 189-190.) 
Although the Hensons did not opt for partnership, and 
there was no partnership agreement, respondent 
testified that he treated the Hensons as partners 
because he wanted them to make money. Yet, in his 
sworn declaration filed in the Henson v. Peavey 
matter, he declared: "Plaintiffs never elected to 
become limited partners," Respondent totally ignored 
the fact that the Hensons elected to collect on their 
loan by bringing a lawsuit. The Hensons obtained a 
judgment for a sum certain, and yet respondent 
insisted that he was waiting for a sum certain that the 
Hensons would accept. He places the burden on the 
Hensons to clarify the tenns of the loan, when the 
terms of the loan should have been clearly set out by 
respondent in writing in 1994. 

[2f] As the hearing judge noted, a profit was not 
going to be realized from the first printing of the book 
because even ifrespondent had sold all 5,000 copies 
ofhis book at $1 7. 95, the cost of publishing would not 
be met. Respondent argues that inability to pay does 
not constitute "acts of baseness, vileness or deprav­
ity." Respondent may be correct, exceptthat continued 
misrepresentations since 1994 to the Hensons of the 
status of the book venture, of imminent payments 
which never materialized, of the contracts and funds 
that never materialized, and ofreferring to the Hensons 
as partners when no partnership agreement existed 
do rise to "acts of dishonesty in wilful violation of 
section 6106." As held in Coppock v. State Bar 
(I 988)44 Cal.3d665, 679, "an act by an attorney for 
the purpose of concealment or other deception is 
dishonest and involves moral turpitude under section 
6106." This was a situation of "now you see it and 
now you don't." 
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We also agree with the hearing judge that count 
four, charging a violation of the laws of this state 
under section 6068, subdivision (a), due to a violation 
of a fiduciary duty, is duplicative of the rule 3:..300 
charge and therefore will not be given any weight or 
further consideration. 

DISCUSSION - THE CHAMBERLAIN 
MATTER 

Respondent has stipulated that there was an 
ongoing attorney-clientrelationship and that based on 
the trust and confidence Chamberlain held for re­
spondent, Chamberlain was induced to loan respondent 
$25,000onJuly 1, 1996,payableintheswnof$30,000 
plus interest on January 1, 1997. This loan was 
unsecured, and Chamberlain was not advised to seek 
the advice of an independent attorney in reference to 
this transaction, nor did Chamberlain consent to the 
transaction in writing. Respondent admitted that he 
was in violation of rule 3-300, failure to advise a client 
regarding an adverse interest. The hearingjudge so 
found and we agree. 

We also agree with respondent and the hearing 
judge that the charge of a violation of section 6068, 
subdivision (a) in count two is duplicative of the rule 
3-300 charge, and therefore no weight will be given 
to this charge in consideration of discipline. 

Respondent argues that his conduct in this mat­
ter falls far short of moral turpitude. He describes the 
loan as a long overdue obligation for which he takes 
full responsibility and which he is committed to 
paying. 

Chamberlain's testimony is that respondent had 
given him a copy of Dignity of the Soul about a year 
before the loan. Then respondent requested the loan 
for a second printing of the book, explaining that he 
could have gotten the funds from the bank, but 
instead, borrowed the money from Chamberlain to 
help them (Chamberlain and his wife). Chamberlain 
assumed that the first printing must have been a 
success. In 1999, when payment had not been made, 
and Chamberlain continued to request payment, re­
spondent told him that payment was forthcoming, that 
respondent had money due from various sources and 
that it was a matter of days, or that it was just at the 
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end of the week or the next week. Each time 
Chamberlain contacted respondent, payment was 
just around the comer, or a personal injury case was 
just about to be settled. In March of 2000, Chamber­
lain wanted to purchase a car and was told by 
respondent to "[g]o ahead and make plans on it." 
Based on this, Chamberlain ordered a new vehicle. 
Payment still was not forthcoming, and Chamberlain 
had to borrow the funds from his family. Respondent 
argues that this was not misrepresentation because 
he consistently agreed to repay the subject loan with 
no strings attached. 

Respondent's conduct demonstrates the ease 
with which respondent continued to mislead Cham­
berlain that payment was imminent when he knew 
that he still owed Waller Press $30,000, and he knew 
that he could not meet his obligation to Chamberlain. 
This conduct has continued since January t 997. This 
was not an isolated incident. We concur with the 
hearing judge that this conduct rises to conduct 
involving moral turpitude and dishonesty. (Hallinan 
v. State Bar (1948) 33 Cal.2d 246.) At the time of 
trial, respondent had not paid the judgment of 
$43,794.89.8 

DISCUSSION - TI-IE HERGER MA TIER 

[3a] OCTC presented the testimony of Donald 
Herger (Herger) who had played softball with re­
spondent for about 20 to 25 years. Respondent had 
also represented Herger on two occasions. 

f3b) In May l 994, Herger loaned respondent 
$25,000, and in July 1995 gave respondent another 
loan in the sum of$12,500, for research and publica­
tion of Dignity of the Soul. Respondent gave Herger 
a promissory note in return for the $25,000. The 
record is unclear whether another promissory note 
was provided for the $12,500. The debt was not 
secured. Subsequently, after many broken promises, 

8. Respondent states in his rebuttal brief that he has fully paid 
the Chamberlain obligation since the filing ofhisOpening Brief. 
However, he has failed to attach any evidence to support his 
allegation. r n any event, the pattern of misrepresentation to 
Chamberlain, which occurred over a 12-month period, consti­
tutes moral turyitude even if repayment has now been made. 
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Herger obtained a judgment against respondent for 
the amount owed plus interest.9 

[3c) However, since this matter is an uncharged 
act of misconduct, we cannot consider this as an 
independent basis of discipline· but may consider it 
when it is otherwise relevant to an issue in the 
proceeding. (Edwards v. State Bar ( 1990) 52 Cal.3d 
28, 35-36.) When the evidence at the hearing dis• 
closes misconduct not charged in the original NDC, 
OC'TC may move to amend the NDC to conform to 
the proof, but ifOCTC fails to do so, the attorney may 
be disciplined only for the misconduct alleged in the 
original NDC. (Id. atp. 35.) Here, respondent did not 
object to the testimony ofHerger. Respondent testi­
fied that the loan from Herger was simply a loan, no 
strings attached. "We conclude that absent an appro­
priate objection to the introduction of evidence of 
misconduct other than that charged, such evidence 
may, when appropriate, be used as an aggravating 
factor in disciplinary matters. (In the Matter of 
Dixon (Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 23, 40--41.) The hearing judge properly consid­
ered failure to repay Herger as a circumstance in 
aggravation. 

DEGREE OF DISCIPLINE 

In mitigation, the hearing judge gave significant 
weight to respondent's record of 21 years of practice 
without prior discipline and to his extensive pro hono 
work. Bis pro bono work consists of work in the 
Filipino community; work with the government of the 
Philippines; work as general counsel of the National 
Association of Letter Carriers, Branch 214; work as 
a coach of Little League since 1985; and work as 
president of South San Francisco Sister City Com­
mission from 1996 to the present. As to the character 
witnesses, the hearingj udge found they lacked under­
standing or knowledge of the charges against 
respondent and gave their testimony only some weight. 

9. Respondent states in his rebuttal brief that he has paid Herger 
$1 8,000 to date. However, he has failed to attach any evidence 
to support his allegation. 
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We summarize their testimony as follows: 

Denny Roja, a lawyer and venture capitalist, 
testified that he holds respondent in high esteem. He 
is aware of respondent's involvement in the Filipino 
community and of his expertise in personal injury 
matters. As to Roja' s knowledge of the charges in 
these proceedings, he was aware that respondent had 
business dealings with an alleged client, a partnership 
dealing in an investment type of a project. He under­
stood that this was a violation of therulesof professional 
responsibility. His opinion did not change after read­
ing the stipulation. 

Herbert Mitchell is a client and a letter carrier for 
the Postal Service. Respondent is the legal advisor for 
the National Association of Letter Carriers and 
serves pro bono. Mitchell's opinion of respondent is 
that he is very truthful and up-front with "us union 
members." Mitchell understands thatthis proceeding 
could affect respondent's standing as an attorney. 
However, he knows nothing about respondent bor­
rowing money from clients or any misrepresentation. 

Charles Bridges, a business partner ofrespon­
dent, is in the insurance business and is a financial 
consultant with Financial Link in Oakland. He is 
working with respondent on several projects. These 
are humanitarian projects with the Elder Jefferson's 
group covering the last four or five years. He stated 
that within the next 30 to 60 days, they should see 
funding start to flow on a project geared to helping 
people in underdeveloped and needy places. They 
have evaluated approximately 50 projects. He con­
firmed that respondent is comrni tted to repaying his 
creditors. 

Michael Comfort is an attorney. He has known 
respondent for about seven years and attests that 
respondent's reputation is very high as to honesty and 
truthfulness. He has never heard a negative comment 
about respondent. Respondent informed him that the 
present proceeding involved a "lack of following 
proper procedures under the State Bar rules in 
engaging in business with clients" and that respon­
dent was invo I ved in a business relationship with three 
individuals who were impatient about receiving some 
money from the business ventures. As a result, the 
clients submitted a complaint to the State Bar. 
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Comfort's opinion would not change after reading the 
stipulation. 

Horatio Candia,a client, specializes in loan mort­
gages. He is licensed with the National Association of 
Securities Dealers and is licensed by the Department 
of Insurance (life and disability). Respondent has 
served his family and friends in a good faith capacity 
in every single aspect. Candia has no specific knowl­
edge of charges against respondent, only that 
respondent conducted some type of business outside 
ofhis attorney-clientrelationship. 

Maria Bell Goldstein •. is a client. Respondent 
represented her, pro bono, after she shot and killed 
her abusive step-father. She was placed in the Youth 
Guidance Center, where respondent assisted her in 
reuniting with her mother. She is still in contact with 
respondent, as are her mother and her brother. 

We concur with the hearing judge that some 
weight should be given the character witnesses' 
testimony. 

The aggravating factors were multiple acts of 
wrongdoing by repeatedly misrepresenting to the 
Hensons and Chamberlain that payment was immi­
nent and by failing to disclose the true status of the 
book venture. (Std. l.2(b)(ii)). There is harm to the 
Hensons who took a loan at 12 percent interest per 
annum, based on respondent's promise to repay in six 
months, in order to make the loan to respondent at I 0 
percent interest per annum. Respondent also prom­
ised to pay the Hensons the cost of their 
12-percent-interest loan, which has not been paid. 
The Hensons were forced to seek legal counsel 
before the statute of limitations ran out. George 
Henson could not retire at age 65 as planned, because 
he is still paying on the loan, at age 71. The Chamber­
lains have not been able to purchase a home, and they 
had to borrow funds to buy a vehicle. They were 
forced to seek legal counsel to preserve their claim. 
Herger testified that the money he loaned to respon­
dent was his retirement money and he is now retired 
without his funds. (Std. l.2(b)(iv)). Respondent has 
shown indifference toward rectification of or atone­
ment for the consequences of his misconduct by 
continuing to profess no wrongdoing and continuing to 
promise payment soon, despite numerous failures to 
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follow through. (Std. l.2(b)(v)). We agree with the 
hearing judge's findings as to these aggravating 
factors. 

The hearing judge found, and we also find, that 
respondent breached his fiduciary duties to the Hensons 
and Chamberlain and abused their trust in him as their 
attorney. Respondent continued to exploit their trust 
for years by promising payment as soon as the funds 
came in from one project or another. 

Respondent's position is that because he has 
always acknowledged his obligation, has always 
intended to repay the loans and has always acted in 
good faith, he did not violate any rules of professional 
conduct except that charged in count one in the Kevin 
Chamberlain matter. His conduct belies his professed 
intent to pay. 

Acknowledgment of obligations or repeated 
promises to repay does not exonerate respondent 
from his misconduct. This is not a simple collection 
case as respondent suggests, but the overreaching by 
respondent in taking advantage of the clients' trust in 
him as their attorney and capitalizing on their confi­
dence and trust to obtain an interest adverse to them. 
He promised full payment in five to six months 
knowing that he was not in a position to honor that 
promise. He then promisedpayment"anytimenow," 
which never happened. He failed to disclose that the 
books were in storage, and instead spoke of books 
being sold throughout the United States. He failed to 
disclose that he owed money to the vanity press 
(Waller Press) for the first printing, and instead spoke 
of the second printing in the Philippines. He failed to 
disclose that he needed funds to finance his other 
ventures, consulting or otherwise, and instead spoke 
ofimminent funding for his other ventures from which 
he would repay the loan. He continued to present his 
ventures in the most favorable light to induce the 
clients to wait for payment. Respondent's conduct 
was wilful, dishonest and deliberate. In Levin v. State 
Bar(1989)47Cal.3d 1140, 1147, theSi.lpremeCourt 
in discussing acts of dishonesty violating the high 
ethical standards that members of the bar are ex­
pected to maintain stated that acts of dishonesty 
"manifest an' abiding disregard of" 'the fundamental 
rule of ethics - that of common honesty - without 

IN THE MATTER OF PEA VEY 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 483 

which the profession is worse than valueless in the 
place it holds in the administration of justice.' " 
[Citation.]' [Citations.]" 

It is troubling that respondent glibly rationalized 
that the Hensons were neither unsophisticated (in 
spite of Mr. Henson's seventh grade education) nor 
harmed because they were property holders and they 
testified that the money would be used to remodel 
theirrentals so that they could rent them. Respondent 
concluded that the nonpaymentwas only delaying the 
Hensons' investment plan. As to Chamberlain, re­
spondent argued that he was not harmed because 
when he is paid by respondent, the housing market 
might be favorable and he'll have his home. 

• Respondent has shown no remorse, nor has he 
accepted responsibility for the harm caused by his 
misconduct. Instead, he accused the Hensons of 
going to the State Bar to collect a debt for them. His 
attitude shows a serious lack of insight into the 
wrongfulness of his conduct as found by the hearing 
judge, and we also so find. 

Respondent directs our attention to Rose v. 
State Bar ( 1989) 49 Cal.3d 646 in support of his 
contention that two years' actual suspension is ex­
cessive. Rose was found culpable of, among other 
things, failure to return client's file upon termination, 
improper solicitation, improper transaction of busi­
ness with a client and failure to account. The Supreme 
Court imposed two years' actual suspension upon a 
finding that although the acts of misconduct were 
numerous, there was substantial mitigation and upon 
an important finding of no moral turpitude in the 
misconduct uni ike in this matter. 

The following case law was appropriately relied 
on by the hearingj udge to determine discipline: 

In Krieger v. State Bar (1954) 43 Cal.2d 604, 
the Supreme Court found that the attorney affirma­
tively misrepresented and concealed the true condition 
of a partnership in order to induce a client to invest 
$10,000 in the partnership. Upon the client's request 
for a return of funds, the attorney promised to repay 
at various times, but failed to do so. The Supreme 
Court suspended the attorney for two years. 
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In Beery v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 802, the 
attorney solicited and obtained a loan from his client 
for a venture in which attorney was involved. The 
attorney did not fully disclose his involvement with the 
venture, nor did he disclose that the venture had 
almost no capital and that funds were unobtainable 
from commercial lenders. He further failed to dis­
close that although he had guaranteed the note, he had 
no funds to make good on the guarantee. The Su­
preme Court found this was not an arm's length 
business deal and found misconduct involving moral 
turpitude and dishonesty. The Court also held that 
increased discipline is warranted by an attorney's" 
'apparent lack of insight into the wrongfulness of his 
actions' ... • ." and imposed two years' actual 
suspension. (Id. at p. 816, citation omitted.) 

In Rodgers v. State Bar (1989) 48 Cal.3d 300, 
the attorney persuaded his client, a conservator, to 
loan money from the estate to an ex-client and former 
business partner, who owed him legal fees. The 
attorney failed to disclose his professional relation­
ship with his ex-client and then deceived opposing 
counsel (for the conservatee) and deceived the pro­
bate court. The attorney was found to have wilfully 
violated court orders in several instances and was 
found to have commingled client funds with his own. 
The Supreme Court imposed two years' actual sus­
pension. 

We also consider In the Matter of Johnson 
(Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 233, 
in which the attorney was found culpable of, inter alia, 
breaching her fiduciary duty to a client and entering 
into an improper business transaction with a client by 
borrowing the bulk of settlement funds from a vulner­
able relative whom· she represented in a personal 
injury action. The unsecured loan of approximately 
S20,000 was found to be unfair and unreasonable to 
the client. The review department found that the 
conduct involved moral turpitude and recommended 
that the attorney be placed on actual suspension for 
two years and until she provided proof of completed 
restitution. 

Standard 2.3 provides in pertinent part: "Culpa­
bility of a member of an act of moral turpitude, fraud, 
or intentional dishonesty ... or of concealment of a 
material fact to a court, client or another person shall 
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result in actual suspension or disbarment depending 
upon the extent to which the victim of the misconduct 
is harmed or misled . . . . " 

We have independently reviewed and consid­
ered the evidence, balanced the mitigating factors 
against the aggravating factors and considered the 
standards for attorney sanctions for professional 
misconduct applicable to this matter. Bearing in mind 
the protection of the public, the preservation of 
confidence in the legal profession and the mainte­
nance of the highest possible professional standard 
for attorneys ( Connor v. State Bar (1990) 50 Cal.3d 
104 7, I 055), we believe that the recommendation of 
the hearing judge of two years' actual suspension 
with restitution is appropriate. 

FORMAL RECOMMENDATION 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that 
respondent William Benson Peavey, Jr., be sus­
pended from the practice oflaw in California for three 
years, that execution of that suspension be stayed, 
and that respondent be placed on probation for three 
years, with the following conditions: 

l. Respondent shall be actually suspended 
from the practice of law for the first two years of 
probation and until he pays restitution to George and 
Myrtle Henson (or the Client Security Fund, ifit has 
already paid) in the amount of$124, 188.33, pursuant 
to the judgment in Henson v. Peavey, San Joaquin 
County Superior Court, case no. CV005 I 80, plus 10 
percent simple interest per annum from the date of 
the judgment until paid, and provides satisfactory 
proof thereof to the Probation Unit unless, on motion 
of respondent, he submits satisfactory proof to the 
State Bar Court that the judgment has been modified; 
and until he pays restitution to Kevin Chamberlain ( or 
the Client Security Fund, ifit has already paid) in the 
amount of $43,794.89, pursuant to the judgment in 
Chamberlain v. Peavey, San Francisco County 
Superior Court, case no. 314414, plus 10 percent 
simple interest per annum from the date of the 
judgment until paid, and provides satisfactory proof 
thereof to the Probation Unit; and until he has shown 
proof satisfactory to the State Bar Court of his 
rehabilitation, present fitness to practice and present 
learning and ability in the general law pursuant to 
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standard l.4(c)(ii) of the Standards for Attorney 
Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. 

2. During the three years of probation, re­
spondent shall comply with the State Bar Act and the 
Rules of Professional Conduct. 

3. Respondent shall submit written quarterly 
reports to the Probation Unit on each January 10, • 
April 10, July 10 and October 10 of the period of 
probation. Under penalty of perjury, respondent shall 
state whether respondent has complied with the State 
Bar Act, the Rules of Professional Conduct, and all 
conditions of probation during the preceding calendar 
quarter. If the first report will cover less than thirty 
(30) days, that report shall be submitted on the next 
fo1lowing quarter date, and cover the extended pe­
riod. In addition to aU quarterlyreports, a final report, 
containing the same information, is due no earlier than 
twenty (20) days before the last day of the probation 
period and no later than the last day of the probation 
period. 

4. Subject to the assertion of applicable 
privileges, respondent shall answer fully, promptly 
and truthfully, any inquiries of the Probation Unit of 
the Office of the Chief Trial Counsel, which are 
directed to respondent personally or in writing, relat­
ing to whether respondent is complying or has com­
plied with theconditionscontained herein. 

5. Within ten ( l 0) days of any change, re­
spondent shall report to the Membership Records 
Office of the State Bar, 180 Howard Street, San 
Francisco, California, 94105-163 9, and to the Proba­
tion Unit, all changesofinf ormation, including current 
office address and telephone number, or if no office 
is maintained, the address to be used for State Bar 
purposes, as prescribed by section 6002.l of the 
Business and Professions Code. 

6. Within one (1) year of the effective date 
of the discipline herein, respondent shall provide to the 
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Probation Unit satisfactory proof of attendance at a 
session of the Ethics School, given periodically by the 
State Bar at either 180 Howard Street, San Fran­
cisco, California, 94105-1639, or 1149 South Hill 
Street, Los Angeles, California, 90015-2299, and 
passage of the test given at the end of that session. 
Arrangements to attend Ethics School must be made 
in advance by calling (213) 7 65-1287, and paying the 
required fee. This requirement is separate from any 
Minimum Continuing Legal Education Requirement 
(MCLE), and respondent shall not receive MCLE 
credit for attending Ethics School (Rule 3201, Rules 
of Procedure of the State Bar). 

7. The period of probation shall commence· 
on the effective date of the order of the Supreme 
Court imposing discipline in this matter. 

8. At the expiration of the period of this 
probation, if respondent has complied with all the 
tenns of probation, the order of the Supreme Court 
suspending respondent from the practice oflaw for 
three years shall be satisfied and that suspension shall 
be terminated. 

It is further recommended that respondent be 
ordered to comply with rule 955, California Rules of 
Court, and perform the acts specified in subdivisions 
(a) and(c)ofthatrule, within thirty(30)andforty(40) 
days, respectively, from the effective date of the 
Supreme Court order herein. Wilful failure to comply 
with the provisions of rule 955 may result in revoca­
tion of probation; suspension; disbarment; denial of 
reinstatement; conviction of contempt; or criminal 
conviction. 10 

It is further recommended that respondent take 
and pass theMultistate Professional Responsibility 
Examination (MPRE) administered by the National 
Conference of Bar Examiners, MPRE Application 
Department, P. 0. Box 4001, Iowa City, Iowa, 52243, 
(telephone (319) 337-1287) and provide proof of 
passage to the Probation Unit during the period of 

10. Respondent is required to file a California Rules ofCoun, rule 
955(c) affidavit even ifhe has no clients to notify. (Powers v. 
Staie Bar (1988)44 Cal.3d 337, 341.) 



IN THE MATTER OF PEAVEY 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 483 

actual suspension. Failure to pass the MPRE within 
the specified time results in actual suspension by the 
Review Department, without further hearing, until 
passage. But see rule .951 (b ), California Rules of 
Court, and rule 3 21 (a)( l) and (3), Rules of Procedure 
of the State Bar. 

COSTS 

It is further recommended that costs be awarded 
to the State Bar pursuant to Business and Professions 
Code section 6086. l 0, to be paid in accordance with 
section 6140.7 of that Code. 

We concur: 

STOVITZ, P. J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 
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STATE BAR COURT 

REVIEW DEPARTMENT 

In the Matter of 

JAMES ROBERT V ALINOTI 

A Member of the State Bar 

No. 96-0-08095 

Filed December 31, 2002 

SUMMARY 

The State Bar charged respondent with twenty-eight counts of misconduct in nine client matters in which 
respondent was the attorney ofrecord for one or more aliens with cases in the United States Immigration Court 
in Los Angeles. The hearingjudge found respondent culpable of misconduct in only seven of the client matters. 
Specifically, he found respondent culpable on a total of fourteen counts of charged misconduct and on eight 
counts of uncharged, but proved misconduct. The hearing judge found the eight counts of uncharged 
misconduct and six other factors to be aggravating circumstances warranting an increase in discipline. The 
hearing judge found three mitigating circumstances, but none of them was significant. The hearing judge 
recommended that respondent be placed on three years'. stayed suspension and three years; probation with 
conditions, including two years' actual suspension. (Hon. Carlos E. Velarde, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent appealed. And the review department consolidated his numerous arguments into five points 
of error: ( 1) that the hearing judge erred in refusing to evaluate respondent's conduct under the purported 
"practice standards" for immigration law; (2) that the hearing judge erred in refusing to evaluate respondent's 
conduct under the purported limited scope ofrespondent' s representation; (3) that almost all the hearingjudge 's 
misconduct findings were erroneous as they were based on unintentional acts and omissions that resulted from 
respondent's simple negligence or honest mistakes; ( 4) that the hearingj udge 's findings that respondent made 
misleading statements to an immigration court judge were not supported by the record; and ( 5) that the hearing 
judge's recommended two-year period of actual suspension was excessive. The State Bar argued that all of 
respondent's arguments were meri tless and urged the review department to adoptthe hearingjudge' s findings, 
conclusions, and discipline recommendation. 

The review department rejected all ofrespondent's points of error, primarily on the basis of controlling 
federal law not addressed by the parties. With various modifications, the review department adopted many of 
the hearing judge's findings and conclusions, but while the hearing judge found respondent culpable of 
misconduct in only seven client matters, the review department found him culpable in all nine. And, while the 
hearingj udge found respondent culpable on only 14 counts of charged misconduct, the review department found 
him culpable on 18. Moreover, afternotifying the parties and considering their supplemental briefing, the review 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 



IN THE MATTER OF V ALINOTI 499 
(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 4 98 

department independently found respondent culpable on five counts ofuncharged misconduct not found by the 
hearingj udge. The review department considered these five additional counts of uncharged misconduct to be 
additional aggravating circumstances. Based on the seriousness of the misconduct and aggravating circum• 
stance is, which included the intentional and reckless failure to competently perform legal services in all nine 
client matters, multiple client abandonments, multiple acts of moral turpitude, the repeated aiding and abetting 
ofnonattorney immigration services providers ( commonly ref erred to as visa consultants, notarios, or notarios 
pub ficos) to represent aliens in immigration cases in violation off ederal law and to engagein the unauthorized 
practice oflaw, and recklessly practice law, the review department increased the recommended discipline to 
five years' stayed suspension and five years' probation with conditions, including three years' actual suspension 
that will continue until respondent establishes his rehabilitation, fitness to practice law, and learning in the law. 
(Obrien, J ., filed a concurring and dissenting opinion.) 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: Allen Blumenthal 

For Respondent: R. Gerald Markle, Ellen A. Pansky 

HEAD NOTES 

(lJ 130 Procedure-Procedure on Review 
135. 70 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Review/Delegated Powers 
136.30 Procedure-Rules of Practice-Division m, Review Department 
When a party supports a statement in its brief with a reference to a finding or conclusion in the 
hearing judge's decision, party must also provide references to where the evidence supporting the 
hearing judge's finding or conclusion may be found in the record in order to comply with rules of 
procedure and rule of practice mandating that statements in briefs be supported with proper 
references to the record. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rules 302(a), 303(a); State Bar Ct. Rules of 
Prac., rule 1320.) 

f2] 169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
204.90 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
401 Common Law/Other Violations in General 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
Standards governing an attorney's ethical duties do not vary according to the many areas of practice, 
even in specialized areas such as immigration law. Nor do those standards vary according to 
whether the attorney practices alone or in a partnership, small law firm, large law firm, or corporate 
law department. 

(3J 159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
194 Statutes Outside State Bar Act 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
204.90 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
401 Common Law/Other Violations in General 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
In attorney discipline, ethical standards for attorneys are primarily established by State Bar Rules 
of Professional Conduct and State Bar Act. But, when an attorney practices in a specific area or 
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jurisdiction, those standards may be measured by reference to other relevant state and federal 
statutes, rules of court, regulations, and administrative rules. 

[4 a-c] 106.90 Procedure-Pleadings-Other Issues 
139 Procedure-MisceHaneous 
192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Respondent's testimony and arguments regarding his customary practices (1) to limit the scope of 
his representation of clients ref erred to him by nonattomey immigration senrices providers to that 
of an "appearance attorney," which respondent asserts is an attorney who appears in his clients' 
immigration cases only for the limited pUipose of making court appearances, and (2) to rely on or 
permit referring nonattomey immigration services providers to prepare and file immigration 
applications, pleadings, and other documents for his clients placed respondent's practices in issue 
so that any uncharged improprieties in them may appropriately be considered as aggravation 
warranting increased discipline. 

[5 a-h] 191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 

[6 a-j) 

194 Statutes Outside State Bar Act 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
401 Common Law/Other Violations in General 
430.00 Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
Under controlling federal regulation and Boardofhnmigration Appeals precedent, respondent could 
not properly limit the scope of his representation of clients referred to him by nonattomey 
immigration services providers to that of an "appearance attorney," which respondent asserts is an 
attorney who appears in his clients' immigration cases only for the limited purpose of making court 
appearances, and when respondent did so, he effectively provided those clients with no legal 
representation or services. 

106.90 Procedure-Pleadings-Other Issues 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
166 Independent Review of Record 
192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
194 Statutes Outside State Bar Act 
199 
221.19 
252.0.1 
401 

General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Section 6106-Gross Negliegence 
Rule 1-300(A) (former 3-l0l(A)] 
Common Law/Other Violations in General 

521 Aggravation-Multiple Acts-Found 
561 Aggravation-Uncharged Violations-Found 
Although not charged, record established that respondent repeatedly aided and abetted nonattomey 
immigration services providers to represent aliens in violation of federal law and to engage in the 
unauthorized practice oflaw by relying on orpenni tting nonattorney providers who ref erred clients 
to him to, inter alia, prepare and file immigration applications, pleadings, and other documents for 
his clients. Respondent's aiding and abetting nonattomeys' violation offederal law involved moral 
turpitude, while his aiding and abetting nonattomeys' unauthorized practice oflaw violated rule of 
professional conduct prohibiting such conduct and violation rose to a level involving moral turpitude. 
Since much of this misconduct was established by respondent's testimony and evidence, he had no 
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grounds to challenge review department's independent consideration ofit as uncharged misconduct 
aggravation warranting increased discipline. 

[7] 169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 

[8] 

[9a, b] 

199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
204,90 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
401 Common Law/Other Violations in General 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct · 
Facts clients referred to respondent by nonattorney immigration services providers might have had 
a cultural bias in favor the ref erringnonattorney immigratio~ services providers or that those clients 
might have viewed immigration attorneys, like respondent, as less important to their immigration 
cases than the referring nonattomey immigration services providers did not reduce or limit nature 
and scope ofrespondent's professional duties to his immigration clients. 

130 
139 

Procedure-Procedure on Review 
Procedure-Miscellaneous 

141 Evidence-Relevance 
146 Evidence-Judicial Note 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other . Proceedings 
194 Statutes Outside State Bar Act 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Because parties failed to address relevant immigration court and Board of Immigration Appeals 
rules and procedures that are set forth in the Code of Federal Re'gulation and have the force and 
effect oflaw, hearingj udge and review department were required to take and did take judicial notice 
of those rules and procedures sua sponte. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule214; Evid. Code, §§ 451, 
subd. (b), 459, subd. (a).) 

106.90 
139 
192 
199 

Procedure-Pleadings-Other Issues 
Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Due Process/Procedural Rights 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 

Respondent's arguments and testimony that almost all hearingj udge' s findings of misconduct are 
erroneous because they are based on unintentional acts and omissions that resulted from 
respondent's simple negligence or honest mistakes respondentmade in good faith as a product of 
trying to do too much, not too little, for his clients placed respondent's methods of practicing law in 
issue so that any uncharged impropriety in them may appropriately be considered as aggravation 
warranting increased discipline. 

(10 a-c] 106.90 Procedure-Pleadings-Other Issues 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
1 S9 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
162.20 Proof-Respondent's Burden 
163 Proof of Wilfulness 
164 Proof of Intent 
166 Independent Review of Record 
169 Standard of Proof or Review- Miscellaneous 
192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
204.10 Culpability-Wilfulness Requirement 
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204.20 Culpability-Intent Requirement 
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204.90 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
401 Common Law/Other Violations in General 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
521 Aggravation-Multiple Acts-Found 
S6l Aggravation-Uncharged Violations-Found 
715.50 Mitigation-Good Faith-Declined to Find 
Jndividuallyandcollectively,(l)hearingjudge'sfindingthatrespondentrepeatedlyanddeliberately 
abdicated his ethical duties to properly represent his immigration clients and to competently perform 
the legal services that he had a legal duty to perform, repeatedly accepted more immigration cases 
than he could properly handle, routinely placed his interests above those of his clieµts by permitting 
nonattomeys to prepare and file applications, pleadings, and other documents in his clients' 
immigration court cases, and consistently demonstrated a profound lack ofunderstanding ofbis duty 
of fidelity to his clients and (2) review department's independent finding of uncharged misconduct 
aggravation that respondent engaged in a course of practicing law that was reckless and involved 
gross carelessness not only negated respondent's claims that almost all the hearingjudge' s findings 
of misconduct were improperly baseq on unintentional acts and omissions that resulted from 
respondent's simple negligence or honest mistakes respondent made in good faith as a product of 
trying to do too much, not too little, for his clients, but they also precluded a finding of good faith 
mitigation. • 

(11 a-d) 106.90 Procedure-Pleadings-Other Issues 

[121 

139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
162.90 Quantum of Proof-Miscellaneous 
166 .Independent Review of Record 
192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
401 Common Law/Other Violations in General 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
521 Aggravation-Multiple Acts-Found 
561 Aggravation-Uncharged Violations-Found 
Although not charged, record established that respondent engaged in a course of practicing law that 
was reckless and involved gross carelessness and thereby engaged in acts of moral turpitude. Since 
much of respondent's recklessness and carelessness in his practice of law was established by 
respondent's testimony and evidence, he had no grounds to challenge review department's 
independent consideration of his recklessness and carelessness as uncharged misconduct aggra­
vation warranting increased discipline. 

)47 
159 
199 
401 
430.00 
490.00 

E vidence-Presum ptio os 
Evidence-Miscellaneous 
General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Common Law/Other Violations in General 
Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
Miscellaneous Misconduct 

Keeping proper non-financial client files and records is necessary for attorneys to be able to prove 
their honesty and fair dealings when their actions are called into question such that justice will not 
permit an attorneys to escape responsibility for his misconduct by simple act ofnotkeeping adequate 



IN THE MATTER OF V ALINOTI 503 
(Review Dept. ,2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 498 

non-financial client files and records from which his conduct may be reviewed and any misconduct 
proved. Thus, an attorney's failure to keep such adequate files and records is itself a suspicious 
circumstance. 

(13) 401 Common Law/Other Violations in General 
430.00 Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
Attorney's fiduciary duties to his clients require that he keep adequate non-financial client files and 
records. At a minimum, attorney must keep, for each client, an individual file that contains the client's 
name, address, and telephone number and all other items reasonably necessary to competently 
represent the client, such as written fee agreement, correspondence, pleadings, deposition 
transcripts, exhibits, physical evidence, and expert reports. 

[14] 270.30 Rule 3-llO(A) (former 6-lOl(A)(l)/(B)) 
401 Common Law/Other Violations in General 
430.00 Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
Attorney's fiduciary duties to his clients require that he develop and maintain adequate management 
and accounting procedures for the proper operation of his law office. At a minimum, attorney must 
develop and maintain procedures for proper maintenance and protection of client files; calendaring 
court hearings and filing deadlines; tracking court hearing dates and filing deadlines; tracking 
correspondence and client communications; proper handling and accurate accounting of client trust 
funds and other property. Attorney must also train his staff on those procedures and supervise staff 
to ensure that procedures are followed. 

{15) 199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
213.S0 State Bar Act-Section 6068(e) 
214.30 State Bar Act-Section 6068(m) 
270.30 Rule 3-ll0(A) [former 6-101(A)(2)/(B)J 
275.00 Rule 3-500 (no former rule) 
280.00 Rule 4-lOO(A) (former 8-lOl(A)] 
401 Common Law/Other Violations in General 
430.00 Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
Attorney's fiduciary duty to develop and maintain adequate management and accounting proce­
dures for proper operation ofhis law office is fundamental to fulfillment of multiple duties, including 
duties to competently perfonn legal services, adequately communicate with clients, protect client 
confidential information, and properly handle and account for client funds and other property. 

[16) 142 Evidence-Hearsay 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Because hearing judge admitted a paralegal 's business card, which also had name of respondent's 
law offices and insignia of a nonattorney immigration services providerpartnershipprinted on it, into 
evidence without limitation and without any hearsay objection from respondent, review department 
properly considered business card for the truth of the matter stated by relying on it as evidence that 
respondent employed the paralegal. 
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(17a, b] 106.90 Procedure-Pleadings-Other Issues 
130 Procedure-Procedure on Review 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
169 Standard of.Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
220.40 State Bar Act-Section 6105 
252.00 Rule 1-300(A) fformer 3-lOl(A)] 
253.10 Rule 1-400(D) [former 2-l0l(A)] 
525 Aggravation-Multiple Acts-Declined to Find 
565 Aggravation-Uncharged Violations-Declined to Find 
Even though respondent's uncharged acts of misconduct ( 1) in permitting name of his law offices 
to be printed on a paralegal' s business card that also had insignia of a nonattomey immigration 
services provider partnership printed on it and (2) in later posting name of his law offices and name 
of a nonattomey immigration services provider on the front door of small office space respondent 
shared with that nonattomey appear to have violated statute that prohibits attorneys from lending 
their names and titles for use bynonattorneys and might have violated Rule of Professional Conduct 
prohibiting attorney communications, including business cards, from containing any matter or 
presenting or arranging any matter in a manner or format that is false ordeceptiveor tends to confuse 
or mislead, review department did not consider these acts as uncharged misconduct aggravation 
warranting increased discipline because acts supported review department's conclusion that 
respondent aided and abetted nonattomey immigration services providers to engage in the 
unauthorized practice oflaw. 

[18] 142 Evidence-Hearsay 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Because transcript of immigration court hearing was admitted into evidence for all purposes and 
without any hearsay objection, review department properly considered it for the truth of the matter 
stated by relying on immigration judge's statements in it to support one of State Bar's witness's 
testimony and to contradict respondent's testimony in State Bar Court. 

[19a, b] 211.00 State Bar Act-Section 6002.1 
,214.00 State Bar Act-Section 6068(j) 
By maintaining a post office box as his State Bar address of record, respondent violated statute 
requiring attorneys to maintain, on the State Bar's official membership records, their current office 
addresses and telephone numbers. It is only when an attorney does not have offices that he is 
permitted to maintain some other address and telephone number as his official State Bar address. 

[20] 211.00 State Bar Act-Section 6002.1 
214.00 State Bar Act-Section 6068(j) 
In addition to multiple State Bar administrative and investigative purposes, purpose of statute and 
State Bar rules and regulations requiring attorneys to maintain their current office addresses and 
telephone numbers on State Bar's official membership records is to establish a bar-wide database 
of every attorney's office address and telephone number from which clients may locate their 
attorneys should they lose contact with them. 
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[21) 142 Evidence-Hearsay 
147 Evidence-Presumptions 
148 Evidence-Witnesses 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Because transcript of immigration court hearing was admitted into evidence for all purposes and 
without any hearsay objection, review department properly considered it for the truth of the matter 
stated by relying on the unswom statements of two attorneys contained in it to establish multiple 
relevant facts. Review department considered attorneys' unswom statements to be highly credible 
because they, like all attorneys, have a duty under State Bar Act and Rules of Professional Conduct 
to employ means only as are consistent with truth. 

[22) 106.30 Procedure-Pleadings-Duplicative Charges 
13 9 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
165 Adequacy of Bearing Decision 
214.30 State Bar Act-Section 6068(m) 
277.20 Rule 3-700(A)(2) (former 2-lll(A)(2)] 
Because review department relied on respondent's repeated and reckless failure to communicate 
with client to establish his culpability for violatingrule of professional conductprohibiting attorneys 
from abandoning clients and withdrawing from employment without taking adequate steps to protect 
their clients' interests, review department did not adopt hearing judge's finding that respondent 
violated statute requiring attorneys to adequately communicate with their clients, but dismissed 
charge with prejudice as being duplicative. 

[23 a-d] 161 
162.20 
163 
164 
169 
204.10 
204.90 
270.30 
490.00 

Duty to Present Evidence 
Proof-Respondent's Burden 
Proof of Wilfulness 
Proof of Intent 
Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
Culpability-Wilfulness Requirement 
Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
Rule 3-ll0(A) [former 6-10l(A)(2)/(B)I 
Miscellaneous Misconduct 

[24] 

Even if an attorney ofrecord did not have actual knowledge of a trial setting, if a notice oftrial setting 
was properly served on him. his failure to appear at trial will not be excused for State Bar disciplinary 
purposes unless he establishes that he had office procedures in place that, at a minimum, required 
his staff ( 1) to promptly inform him each time a notice of court or administrative trial or hearing is 
delivered to office, (2) to promptly record date of the trial or hearing in attorney's court calendaring 
system and in client's file, and (3) to promptly give client actual notice of date, time, and location 
of the trial or hearing. Respondent did not have any such proper office procedures in place. Thus, 
where record established that a notice of a hearing was properly served on him in an immigration 
court case in which he was attorney ofrecord for the alien, respondent's failures to inform client 
ofhearing, to prepare himself for the hearing, and to counsel and prepare client for the hearing could 
not be excused even if respondent did not learn of the hearing until the day of the hearing. 

162.20 
163 
164 
169 

Proof~Respondent's Burden 
Proof of Wilfulness 
Proof of Intent 
Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
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204.10 Culpability-Wilfulness Requirement 
204.20 Culpability-Intent Requirement 
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204.90 Culpability-General Substantive Issues 
270.30 Rule 3-llO(A) [former 6-10l(A)(2)/(B)] 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
Principle that, in the normal course of operation of a law office, an attorney should not be at risk of 
discipline for failure to have knowledge of every item of information that comes in his office is based 
on presumptions that the attorney has adequate office procedures in place for the proper operation 
of his office, trains his staff on those procedures; employs safeguards to insure that procedures are 
followed, and supervises staff to insure they perform their jobs. 

[25] 139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
162.90 Quantum of Proof-Miscellaneous 
J 6 3 Proof of Wilfulness 
164 Proof oflntent 
169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
204.10 Culpability-Wilfulness Requirement 
204.20 Culpability-Intent Requirement 

.270.30 Rule 3-ll0(A) [former 6-101(A)(2)/(B)] 
Even if respondent failed to appear at an immigration court hearing because he simply forgot to 
record the date of the hearing in his calendar, his failure to appear must be viewed in light of the 
record as a whole because, even if an attorney does not act intentionally or recklessly, he violates 
the rule of professional conduct regarding attorneys' duty to competently perform legal services if 
he repeatedly fails to competently perform. Respondent's failure to appear at the hearing could not 
be excused for disciplinary purposes because, wider record as a whole, his failure to appear was 
riot isolated, but one of many such failures. 

(26 a-c] 113 Procedure-Discovery 
213.90 State Bar Act-Section 6068(i) 
221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
610 Aggravation-Lack of candor/cooperatin with Bar (1.2(b)(vi)) 
Misrepresentations in an attorney's verified answers to interrogatories propounded to him by the 
State Bar, is a serious aggravation warranting increased discipline and might well constitute a 
greater offense than underlying misconduct. It is no defense that attorney's answers were prepared 
for him by his counsel. While it might be improper to penalize a lay client for not correcting mistakes 
that his counsel made in a pleading that the client verified, such reasoning carries little weight when 
the client is an attorney. 

[27] 113 Procedure-Discovery 
135.40 Procedure-Rules of Procedure-Division IV, Subpoenas and Discovery 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
213.90 State Bar Act-Section 6068(i) 
Under State Bar Act and disciplinary case law, respondent had affirmative duty to insure that his 
answers to interrogatories propounded to him by the State Bar were true and correct even ifhe had 
to refresh his recollection of the facts by going to the immigration court and reviewing the court file 
and listening to the tapes of all relevant court hearings in each client matter that was a subject of 
the interrogatories. 
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[28) 113 Procedure-Discovery 
135.40 Procedure-Rules of Procedure-Division IV, Subpoenas and Discovery 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
194 Statutes Outside State Bar Act 
UndeT Civil Discovery Act, respondent had affinnative duty to answer each of the State Bar's 
interrogatories as complete and straightforward as the information reasonably available to him 
permitted. 

[29 a-c] 120 Procedure-Conduct of Trial 
130 Procedure-Procedure on Review 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
l 59 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
161 Duty to Present Evidence 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
An offer of proofis a summary of proffered evidence excluded by a trialjudge, which is presented 
(1) to the trial judge to insure that he knows what evidence he has excluded and to provide him with 
an opportunity to reconsider his denial and permit the introduction of the evidence before the end 
of trial and (2) to an appellate court so that it may effectively review the trial judge's exclusion of 
the evidence. Thus, where respond!mt subpoenaed three immigration court judges to testify on his 
behalf in State Bar Court disciplinary proceeding, but U.S. Department of Justice greatly restricted 
the scope of the testimony one immigration court judge could give and refused to permit the other 
two judges to testify at all, the declaration regarding the immigration judges' testimonies that was 
executed by respondent's counsel and filed in hearing department was not an offer of proofbecause 
hearing judge did not restrict or excluded immigration court judges' testimonies, Department of 
Justice did, and State Bar Court lacked jurisdiction to review Department's actions. Accordingly, 
review department struck all statements in respondent's brief based on the declaration of 
respondent's attorney. 

[30] 199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
715.50 Mitigation-Good Faith-Declined to Find 
795 Mitigation-Other-Declined to Find 
An attorney's lack of experience is not a mitigating circumstance. It is when an attorney is newly 
licensed or begins t? practice in a new area of law that he should take proper steps necessary to 
learn governing law, rules, and regulations. 

Culpability 
Found 
213.41 
214.31 
221.11 
221.12 
221.19 
252.01 
270.31 
273.31 • 
277.21 
2n.s1 

Section 6068( d) 
Section 6068(m) 

ADD1TJONAL ANALYSIS 

Section 6106-Deliberate Dishonesty/Fraud 
Section 6106-Gross Negligence 
Section 6106-0ther Factual Basis 
Rule l-300(A) [former 3-I0l(A)] 
Rule 3-1 I0(A) [former 6-1 0l(A)(2)/(B)] 
Rule 3-310 [former4-101 & 5-102) 
Rule 3-700(A)(2) [former 2-11 l(A)(2)] 
Rule 3-700(D) [former 2-l 11(A)(2)] 
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NotFound 
214.35 
277.25 
277.55 
277.65 

Section 6068(m) 
Rule 3-700(A)(2) [former 2-111 (A)(2)] 
Rule 3-700(D)(l) [former 2-11 l(A)(2)] 
Rule 3-700(D)(2) [former 2-l 1 l(A)(3)] 

Aggravation 
FoW1d 
582. l 0 Hann to Client 
611 Lack of Candor-Bar 
621 Lack of Remorse 
Declined to Find 
535.90 Pattern 

Mitigation 
Found but Discounted 
740.33 Good Character 
Declined to Find 
720.50 Lack of Harm 
750.52 Rehabilitation 
750.59 Other Reason 

Standards 
802.30 
833.90 

Discipline 
1013.11 
1015.09 
1017.11 

Purposes of Sanctions 
Moral Turpitude-Suspension 

Stayed Suspension-5 Years 
Actual Suspension-3 Years 
Probation-5 Years 

Probation Conditions 
1022.10 Probation Monitor Appointed 
1024 Ethics Exam/School 
1025 Office Management 
I 029 Other Probation Conditions 
1030 Standard l .4(c)(ii) 

IN THE MATTER OF V ALINOTI 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 498 



IN THE MATTER OF V ALINOTI 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 498 

OPINION 

STOVm, P. J.: 

Respondent James Robert Valinoti1 seeks our 
review of ahearingjudgerecommendation that he be 
placed on three years' stayed suspension and on 
thre·e years' probation with conditions, including two 
years' actual suspension continuing until respondent 
establishes his rehabilitation, fitness to practice, and 
learning in the law in accordance with standard 
1.4( c )(ii) of the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for 
Professional Misconduct2 

In this proceeding the State Bar charged respon­
dent with a combined total of twenty-eight counts of 
professional misconduct in nine separate client mat­
ters. In each of the nine client matters, respondent 
was attorney of record for one or more aliens3 with 
cases pending in the United States Immigration Court 
in Los Angeles (hereafter immigration court). 

The hearingjudge did not find respondent cul­
pable of any misconduct in two of the nine client 
matters. However, in the remaining seven client 
matters, the hearingj udge found respondent culpable 
of fourteen counts of charged misconduct and on 
eight counts of uncharged, but proved misconduct. 
The hearingjudge did not consider the eight counts of 
uncharged misconduct to be independent grounds for 
discipline, but correctly considered them only for 
purposes of aggravation. 4 (See, e.g., Edwards v. State 
Bar( 1990) 52 Cal.3d28, 35-36 [ uncharged misconduct 
may not beusedas an independent ground of discipline, 

1. Respondent was admitted to the practice oflaw in the S1a1e 
of California on March 12, 1993, and has been a member of the 
State Bar since that time. He has no prior record of discipline. 

2. The standards are found in title JV of the Rules of Procedure 
of the State Bar. All "rurther references to standards are to this 
source. 

3. We use the tenn "alien" to describe "any person [who is] not 
acitizenornational ofthe United.States."(8 U.S.C. § 1101 (a)(3).) 

4. "Aggravation" or "aggravating circumstances" are circum­
stances or acts surrounding an attorney's misconduct which 
demonstrate that a greater degree of discipline than would 
otheTWise have been appropriate is necessary to adequately 
protect the public, the courts, and the legal profession. (Std. 
I .2(b).) 
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but may be considered, in appropriate circumstances, 
for other pU1pOses such as aggravation].) 

In addition to the aggravation based on the eight 
counts of uncharged misconduct, the hearing judge 
found six additional factors in aggravation. In contrast 
to this extensive misconduct and aggravation, the 
hearing judge found only three mitigating factors, 
none of which is significant. 

We consolidate respondent' snumerous, lengthy 
arguments on review into the following five points of 
error: ( 1) that the hearingj udge erroneously refused 
to evaluate respondent's conduct under what respon­
dent asserts are in effect the "practice standards" for 
immigration law; (2) that, in almost all the client 
matters in this proceeding, the hearing judge errone­
ously refused toevaluaterespondent' sconduct under 
what respondent asserts was the limited scope of his 
representation; (3) that almost all the hearingjudge' s 
findings of misconduct are erroneous because they 
are based on unintentional acts and omissions that 
resulted from respondent's simple negligence or 
honest mistakes he made in good faith; (4) that the 
hearing judge's findings that respondent made mis­
leading statements to an immigration court judge are 
not supported by the record; and ( 5) that the hearing 
judge's recommended two-year period of actual 
suspension is excessive and should be eliminated or, 
at least, substantially reduced to no more than a 
"modest" period. The State Bar argues that all of 
respondent's arguments are meritless. It urges us to 
adoptthe hearingjudge's findings, conclusions, and 
discipline recommendation. 5 ( l - see fn. SJ 

5. [JI Both parties have properfy supported many of the 
statements in their briefs on review with references to the 
record as expressly required by rules 302(a) and 30J(a) of the 
Rules orProcedure of the State Bar and rule 1320 of the Rules 
of Practice of the State Bar Court. However, a number of 
respondent's statements (I) are not supported by the required 
references to the record or (2) arc "supported" by record 
references that are inapposite or refer only to respondent's 
evidence and version of the events, which is often times 
contrary to the hearingjudge's express findings. Moreover, a 
number of respondent's statements find no support in the 
record. In addition, the State Bar supports many of its 
statements with references to the hearingj udge' s findings and 
conclusions set forth in his decision without providing the 
required references to where the evidence supporting those 
findings and conclusions maybe found in therecord. Although 
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After independently reviewing the record (Cal. 
Rules of Court, rule 951.5; Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
rule 305(a);lnreMorse(I995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207), 
we reject all of respondent's points of error. After 
making various modifications, we adopt many of the 
hearing judge's findings of fact and conclusions of 
law.6 However, while the hearing judge found re­
spondent culpable of misconduct in only seven of the 
nine client matters, we conclude that respondent is 
culpable of misconduct in all nine. Moreover, while 
the hearingj udge found respondent culpable of 14 of 
the 28 counts of charged misconduct, we conclude 
that he is culpable ofl 8. In addition, we independently 
conclude that respondent is culpable of five counts of 
serious uncharged, but proved misconduct, which 
were not found by the hearingjudge.7 Because these 
five counts were not charged, we consider them only 
for purposes of aggravation. (Edwards v. State Bar, 
supra, 52 Cal.3d at pp. 35-36.) Respondent commit­
ted all the found misconduct, charged and uncharged, 
over the two and one-half year period from mid-199 5 
to late 1997. 

Because the record establishes substantially more 
misconduct and aggravation than found by the hear­
ingjudge, we increase the recommended discipline to 
five years' stayed suspension and five years' proba­
tion with conditions, including three years' actual 
suspension, which will continueuntilrespondent makes 
an appropriate showing of rehabilitation, fitness to 
practice, and learning in the law in accordance with 
standard 1.4(c)(ii). 

the State Bar has properly identified a few instances when a 
hearingjudge finding conflicts with the undisputed evidence in 
the record, it has failed to do so in other instances in which it 
repeats the erroneous facts m its briefs as though they were 
true. 

6. On a posttrial motion of the State Bar, the hearing judge 
dismissed counts 6 and 7. We adopt those dismissals, but 
clarify that they are with prejudice (Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
rule 261 (a)). (See, e.g., In the Matter of Krojf(Review Dept. 
1998) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 838, 843 [the dismissal of a 
charge after a trial on the merits is with prejudice).) 

7. These additional acts of uncharged misconduct were not 
raised by the hcaringjudge orthe parties. Thus, we notified the 
parties, in an order filed May 6, 2002, that we were addressing 
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I. NATURE OF RESPONDENT'S 
PRACTICE OF LAW. 

When respondent began his legalcareer in 1993, 
he practiced primarily in the areas of construction 
defect and insurance defense matters. In mid-1995, 
he opened his own law office and began practicing 
immigration law by representing aliens with cases in 
the immigration court. Immigration courts are admin­
istrative trial courts that are part of the United States 
Department of Justice's Executive Office of hnmi­
gration Review (hereafter EOIR). Immigration court 
judges (hereafter Us) are administrative judges ap­
pointed by the United States Attorney General. (8 
U.S.C. § I I0I(b)(4); 8C.F.R. §§ 1.1(1),3.10 (2002).) 
Almost all IJ rulings may be appealed to the Board of 
Immigration Appeals (hereafter BIA). (8 C.F.R. 
§ 3.l(b) (2002).) The BIA, like the immigration 
courts, is part of the EOIR. 8 Published BIA decisions 
are binding precedent on all immigration courts and 
the United States Immigration and Naturalization 
Service (hereafter INS) unless the BIA, the Attorney 
General ora federal court modifies or overrules them. 
(8 C.F.R. § 3.l(g) (2002).) 

By early 1997, respondent's practice consisted 
almost entirely of immigration court matters. From 
mid-1995 through late 1997, respondent and his law 
office handled more than 2,720 immigration cases. 

these additional acts sua sponte and pennitted the parties to 
file supplemental briefs addressing these acts. (Rules Proc. of 
State Bar, rule 305(b ). ) Each party filed a supplemental brief, 
which we have considered. 

8. Congress has constitutionally delegated much of its author­
ity over immigration to the Attorney General of the United 
States, to whom it also granted the authority to establish such 
regulations as are appropriate for carrying out that delegated 
authority. (8 U.S.C. § l 103(a)(3).) In tuni, the Attorney 
General has lawfully delegated, to the immigration courts and 
the BIA, much of the authority to determine the immigration 
status of aliens as well as the discretion to grant or deny 
immigration relief to aliens ( e.g., naturalization, lawful penna­
nent residency in the United States) under the Immigration and 
Nationa!ityActofJune27, 1952,asamended(SU.S.C.§ I IOI 
et seq.) (hereafter INA). 
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IT. RESPONDENT'S FIR.ST POINT 
OF ERROR.. 

In his first point of error, respondent contends 
that the hearingjudge erroneously refused to evaluate 
respondent's conduct under what respondent asserts 
are the "practice standards" for immigration law and 
asserts that he may be disciplined only ifhis conduct 
violated those purported practice standards. Respon­
dent then argues that, except in a few isolated 
instances, none of his conduct in this proceeding 
violated those standards. Therefore, respondent con­
tends that, except in those few instances in which his 
conduct violated those standards, the hearingjudge' s 
findings of misconduct are erroneous and must be 
reversed. We disagree. 

(2) Admittedly, immigration law isa specialized 
area of practice. However, the standards governing 
an attorney's ethical duties do not vary according to 
the many areas of practice. Nor do they vary accord­
ing to whether an attorney practices alone or in a 
partnership, small law firm, large law finn, or corpo­
rate law department. (See, e.g., Truck Ins. 
Exchange v. Fireman 's Fund Ins. Co. (1992) 6 
Cal.App.4th 1050, 1059-1060.)[3) Furthermore, with 
respect to attorney discipline, the ethical standards 
for attorneys are primarily established by the State 
Bar Rules of Professional Conduct (Ames v. State 
Bar ( 1973) 8 Cal.3d 910, 917) and the State Bar Act 
(Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6000 et seq.).9 However, 
when an attorney practices in a specific area or 
jurisdiction, those ethical standards may be measured 
by reference to other relevant state and federal 
statutes, rules of court, regulations, and administra­
tive rules. None of the purported immigration law 
practice staridards identified by respondent fall within 
one of these categories. Therefore, we reject 
respondent's first point of error. 

9. Unless otherwise indicated, all further statutory references 
are to the Business and Professions Code. 

m. RESPONDENT'S SECOND POINT 
OF ERROR. 
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[4a] [ 5a J In his second point of error, respondent 
contends that, in seven of the nine client matters in this 
proceeding, the hearingj udge erroneouslyrefused to 
evaluate respondent's conduct under what respon­
dent asserts was the limited scope ofhis representation 
and . that this error caused the hearing judge to 
improperly find respondent culpable offailingto fulfill 
duties that he did not have and of failing to perform 
legal services that he never agreed to perform and for 
which he was never paid. Specifically, respondent 
contends that, as to those seven client matters, his 
representation was limited to that of whatrespondent 
refers to as an "appearance attorney.'' According to 
respondent, an "appearance attorney" appears in his 
clients' immigration cases only for the limited purpose 
of making court appearances; an "appearance attor­
ney" does not, inter alia, prepare and file his clients' 
immigration applications, pleadings, or other docu­
ments. Instead, respondent asserts, those items are 
properly prepared and filed bynonattorney immigra­
tion services providers. As respondent and his 
witnesses testified in the hearing department, these 
nonattomey immigration services providers ( 1) ad­
vise aliens on United States immigration law and 
procedures; (2) prepare and file immigration applica­
tions, pleadings, and other documents with the INS, 
the immigration court, and the BIA on behalf of their 
alien clients; and (3) refer their alien clients to 
immigration attorneys, such as respondent, when the 
aliens must appear in immigration court 

These nonattorney immigration services provid­
ers are commonly ref erred to as immigration 
consultants, visa consultants, and, in some Hispanic 
communities, notarios or notarios publicos. We, 
however, refer to them either as nonattorney immi­
gration services providers, immigration services 
providers, nonattomeyproviders, or providers.We do 
not use the term immigration consultant because, as 
discussed post, it is a statutorily defined term in this 
state and is inapplicable to the nonattorney providers 
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involved in this disciplinary proceeding. We do not use 
the terms visa consultants, notarios, and not arias 
publicos because they are deceptive, inappropriate 
terms. 

[4b] (5b] Of the more than 2,720 immigration 
cases that respondent and his law office handled 
between mid-1995 and late 1997, all but about 170 of 
them were referred to him by nonattomey immigra­
tion services providers, of which respondent estimates 
there are between 50 to 100 in Southern California. 
Since mid~ 1995, when representing clients referred 
to him by these nonattomey providers, it has been 
respondent's customary practice (1) to rely on or 
permit the referring immigration services providers 
to, inter alia, prepare and file the clients' immigration 
applications, pleadings, and other documents and (2) 
to represent the clients only as an "appearance 
attorney," often without telling the clients. Respon­
dent testified in the hearing department and has 
repeatedly argued in the hearing department and on 
review, that these customary practices of his were 
and are legal, appropriate, and in the interest of his 
cl.ients.10 (4c- see fn.10] Thus, respondent contends 
that each culpability finding by the hearing judge 
which is based on a failure to fulfill a duty or to 
perform a service that respondent asserts should 
have been fulfilled or performed by the referring 
nonattorney provider is erroneous and must be re­
versed. We disagree and reject respondent's second 
point of error. 

(6aJ First, under controlling federal law not 
addressed by the parties, nonattorney immigration 
services providers may not legally or appropriately 
prepare immigration applications, pleadings, or other 
documents for respondent's immigration clients. Nor 
may they legally advise aliens on immigration law and 
procedures or otherwise represent aliens in immigra­
tion cases. In fact, the first count of uncharged 
misconduct on which we independently conclude that 
respondent is culpable is that respondent repeatedly 
aided and abetted nonattorney immigration services 

10. 14c} Respondent's testimony and arguments place his cus­
tomary practices in issue so that any uncharged improprieties 
in them may appropriately be considered as aggravation in this 
proceeding. (SeeEdwardsv. State Bar, supra, 52 CalJdatpp. 
35-36.) 
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providers to represent aliens in violation of federal 
law and to engage in the unauthorized practice oflaw 
by relying on orpermitting the providers to, inter alia, 
prepare and file immigration applications, pleadings, 
and other documents for his clients. (Sc] Second, 
under controlling federal law not addressed by the 
parties, the scope ofrespondent' s representation was 
not limited to that of an "appearance attorney" in any 
client matter in which he or another attorney from his 
law office appeared in the client's immigration case 
as an attorney of record. 

Before we discuss the controlling federal law, 
we first summarize how, from at least rnid-1995 
through late 1997, aliens often initially retained 
nonattomey immigration services providers to handle 
their immigration cases to obtain workpennits, visas, 
or lawful immigration status for them and how those 
nonattomey providers ordinarily represented aliens 
and referred thousands of them to respondent. We 
then summarize how respondent customarily repre­
sented the clients the nonattorney providers referred 
to him. Not only do these summaries set forth the 
factual basis for our rejection ofrespondent' s conten­
tion that he properly limited the scope of his 
representation in seven of the nine client matters in 
this proceeding to that of an "appearance" attorney, 
they also set forth the facts establishing respondent's 
culpabilityfor aiding and abettingnonattorneyprovid­
ers to represent aliens in violation of federal law and 
to engage in the unauthorized practice oflaw. Much 
of this summary is based on respondent's evidence 
and on his statements and admissions in his pleadings 
in the hearing department and briefs on review.11 

A. How aliens hired nonattomey immigration 
services providers and how those providers 

represented them and referred many of them to 
respondent. 

Based on the record before us, it appears that 
instead ofretaining attorneys, many aliens, including 
the clients in at least eight of the matters in this 

11. Because this summary is based on the record in this proceed­
ing, it may not accurate !y reflect the practices o fall nonattorney 
immigration services providers or other attorneys who practice 
immigration law in Southern California. 
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proceeding, initially hire nonattorney immigration ser­
vices providers to handle their immigration cases. 
This may be explained in part because these 
nonattorneyproviders routinely ( l) hold themselves 
out as immigration law experts; (2) engage in "in­
person" solicitation ( either personally or through 
representatives) of aliens at INS offices and the 
immigration court; and (3) advertise their services to 
non-English speaking aliens in local newspapers, 
telephone books, and other publications that cater to 
various non-English speaking communities. (See, 
e.g., Cisneros, H.B. 2659: Notorious Notaries -
How Arizona is Curbing Notario Fraud in the 
Immigrant Community (Spring 2000) 32 Ariz. St. 
L.J. 287, 299-308 (hereafter Notorious Notaries).) 
It may also be explained in part by the common 
misconception among aliens that the providers are 
specialized attorneys: This misconception frequently 
arises because many immigration services providers 
deceptively advertise or refer to themselves as notary 
publics, notario publicos, or notarios. (See, e.g., 
Ashbrook, The Unauthorized Practice of Law in 
Immigration: Examining the Propriety of Non­
Lawyer Representation, (199 I) 5 Geo. J. • Legal 
Ethics 237,253 [hereafter Ashbrook].) Even though • 
the terms "notario publicos" and "notarios" are the 
Spanish translations for the English phrase "notary 
publics, " they are also titles of a selected class of 
"elite" attorneys in civil law countries such as Mexico 
and others in Central and South America. Accord­
ingly, we refer to notario publicos and notarios as 
Latin notaries to distinguish them from American 
notaries. 12 

There is no equivalent to the Latin notary in the 
United States. (Notorious Notaries, supra, 32 Ariz. 
St. L.J. at pp. 294-299.) In the United States, as in 
almost all Anglo based legal systems, the notary 
occupies a purely clerical position in which the notary 
is authorized to witness the signing of documents or 
administer a limited number of oaths.However, "[IJn 

12. in fact, because many individuals from civil law countries 
believe that American notaries are equivalent to Latin notaries, 
California all but prohibits .notaries from usmg the terms 
notariopublicoand notario. (Gov. Code,§ 8219.5,subd. (c).) 
Moreover, if a notary in California elects to hold himself out 
as an immigration service provider, he is expressly prohibited 
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contemporary Latin America, a lawyer fortunate 
enough to become a notario publico is a private legal 
professional of immense prestige who holds his or her 
office for life, as long he or she remains in good 
standing." (Notorious Notaries at p. 295.) Indeed, 
the Latin notary may be regarded somewhat akin to 
a judge who vouches for the validity of the entire 
transaction. (Notorious Notaries at p. 297.) 

(7) The foregoing facts lend support to 
respondent's contentions that many of his alien cli­
ents ( 1) have "a cultural bias in favorof 'the immigration 
services providers that they hire to handle their 
immigration matters, particularly when the providers 
are of the· same culture as the aliens (Ashbrook, 
supra, 5 Geo. J. Legal Ethics at p. 266), and (2) view 
immigration attorneys, like respondent, as less impor­
tantthan the immigration services providers they hire. 
Nonetheless, these factors do not, as respondent 
argues, reduce or limit the nature and scope of his 
professional duties towards his clients in any of the 
seven client matters in this proceeding in which he 
claims to have limited his represented to that of an 
"appearance" attorney. Nor would they reduce or 
limitthenature and scope ofhis duties towards any of 
his other immigration clients. 

When an alien retains a nonattomey immigration 
services provider to handle his immigration matter, he 
typically does so (1) in response to the provider's 
solicitations or advertisements or (2) on the referral 
from a friend, family member, or prior client of the 
provider. (Notorious Notaries

1 
supra, 32 Ariz. St. 

L.J. at pp. 301-302.) Most often, the immigration 
services provider tells the alien that he can obtain for 
the alien a work permit or a "green card" (i.e., an 
identification card issued only to aliens with lawful 
permanent resident status). The nonattomey pro­
vider usually charges aliens a flat fee ranging from 
$2,000to $4,000 for handling their cases and prepar­
ing all the necessary "paperwork. "13 

from advertising in any manner whatsoever that he is a notary. 
(Gov. Code,§ 8223, subd. (a).) 

13. The record suggests that this fee might be higher than an 
immigration attorney's fee would be for the same or similar 
services. 
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At least frommid-199 5 through late 1997, immi­
gration services providers customarily began 
representing alien clients by seeking political asylum 
for them. More specifically, when an alien retained an 
immigration services provider, the provider prepared, 
for the alien, an Application for Asylum and for 
Withholding of Deportation - INS Form 1-589 (Rev. 
l 1-16-94) (hereafter asylum application) (now an 
Application for Asylum and for Withholding of Re­
moval - INS Form 1-589 [Rev. 05-01-981), which 
was written in English,had to be completed in English, 
and had to be signed by the alien tmder penalty of 
perjury to certify that it and the supporting documen­
tary evidence accompanying it were all true and 
correct. After the provider completed the application 
and had the alien sign it under penalty of perjury, the 
provider ordinarily filed it with the INS.· 

Subject to multiple exceptions not relevant here, 
to qualify for asylum, an alien must prove ( 1) that he 
has been persecuted in the country of his nationality 
or last habitual residence on account of his race, 
religion, nationality, membership in a particular social 
group, or political opinion or (2) that he has a well­
founded fear of being persecuted in the future on one 
of the foregoing grounds if he is deported to the 
country ofhis nationality or last habitual residence. (8 
U.S.C. §§ 110I(a)(42), 1157, 1158.) However, the 
grant of asylum is discretionary, not mandatory. (8 
U.S.C. § l 158(b)(l).) When an alien is granted 
asylum, he is permitted to stay in the United States 
and, one year later, may applyto have his immigration 
status adjusted to that of a lawful permanent resident. 
(8 U.S.C. § 1159(b).) 

Respondent testified that it is extremely difficult 
for aliens from Mexico and many Central and South 
American countries to qualify for asylum because 
they cannot prove the requisite past persecution or 
wel 1-founded fear of future persecution. Respondent 
further testified that virtually every asylum appl ica­
tion prepared and filed by an immigration services 
provider was fraudulent because: (I) the alien clearly· 
did not qualify for asylum; (2) many of the facts the 
provider put in the application and its supporting 
documentary evidence were false; and (3) the pro­
vider knew (when he prepared the application, had 
the alien sign it wider penalty of perjury, and filed it 
with the INS) that the alien did not qualify for asylum 
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and that many of the facts he put in the application and 
its supporting evidence were false. As respondent 
explains, one principal reason immigration services 
providers routinely beganrepresenting aliens by pre­
paring and filing fraudulent asylwn applications was 
because the INS processed those applications much 
faster than most other types of immigration applica­
tions and because the aliens often received temporary 
work permits while their applications were pending. 
(Accord Assem. Com. on Public Safety, Analysis of 
Assem. Bill No. 2520 [ an act to amend Bus. & Prof. 
Code, § 22445 relating to immigration consultants J 
(1993-1994 Reg. Sess.) [dated Mar. 13, 1994] for 
Com. Hearing of Apr. 5, 1994.) 

Respondent asserts that many ofhis clients were 
willing participants in the immigration services pro­
viders' scheme offiling fraudulent asylum applications 
because they purportedly knew that they did not 
qualify for asylum and that there were false facts in 
their applications and supporting evidence. In addi­
tion, respondent asserts that many of his clients 
engaged in further fraudulent conduct because they 
( l) falsely declared, under oath to INS officials, that 
the facts in their asylum applications and supporting 
evidence were true and correct and (2) signed, under 
penalty of perjury, declarations in support of motions 
filed in their immigration cases when they knew the 
declarations contained false statements. Relying on 
these alleged fraudulent actions, respondent attacks 
the credibility of a number ofhis clients who testified 
against him in this disciplinary proceeding. We, like 
the hearingjudge, conclude that the record does not 
support respondent's assertions that his clients en­
gaged in such fraudulent conduct as to impeach their 
credibility as witnesses in this proceeding. 

First, as we noted ante, the asylum application 
was written in English and had to be completed in 
English. Several of respondent's clients credibly 
testified in the hearing department that they did not 
read English at the time they signed their completed 
applications, that the immigration services providers 
never read the completed applications to them in their 
native language before the providers instructed them 
to sign the completed applications, and either that the 
providers told them that their applications were "in 
order" or that they trusted the providers to prepare 
their applications properly. The clients' testimonies 
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are supported by the fact that none of the immigration 
services providers who prepared the asylum applica­
tions in this proceeding complied with the federal law 
mandating that anyone other than a member of an 
applicant's immediate family who prepares or assists 
in preparing an asylum application for an alien must 
sign the preparer's declaration at the end of the 
app Ii cation (I) to disclose the fact that he prepared or 
assisted in the preparation of the application and (2) 
to certify, under penalty of perjury, that he read the 
completed application to the alien in the alien' snative 
language for purposes of verification before the alien 
signed the application.14 (Former 8 C.F .R. 
§ 208.3(c)(4) (eff. Jan. 4, 1995 [59Fed.Reg. 62284, 
62298, Dec. 5, 1994] to Mar. 31, 1997); former 8 
C.F.R. § 208.3(c)(2)(eff. Apr. 1, 1997 [62 Fed.Reg. 
10312, 10338, Mar. 6, 1997] to Jan. 4, 2001 ); now 8 
C.F.R. § 208.3(c)(2) (eff. Jan. 5, 2001 [65 Fed.Reg. 
76121, 76131, Dec. 6,2000]).) 

Second, the hearing judge, who saw and heard 
the clients testify, found them to be credible witnesses 
notwithstanding respondent's allegations that they 
engaged in fraudulent conduct. We must give great 
weight to these credibility determinations. (See, e.g., 
Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a).) Finally, be­
cause respondent routinely accepted referrals from 
immigration services providers in cases in which 
respondent knew that the providers had prepared and 
filed fraudulent asylum applications without signing 
the preparer's declarations, respondent's attacks on 
the credibility ofhis own clients are disingenuous. 

After the immigration services provider filed the 
alien's completed asylum application, the INS inter­
viewed the alien on his asylum claim. The alien 
ordinarily went to the interview alone or with a family 
member. At or shortly after the interview, the INS 
almost always summarily denied the application be­
cause it was patently meritless. Thereafter, the INS 
initiated a deportation proceeding against the alien by 

14. A preparer's willful failure to disclose his assistance by not 
signing the preparer's declaration may result in an adverse 
ruling on the alien 'sasylumapplication. In addition,a preparer's 
willful failure to sign an application with knowledge or in 
re~klessdisregard of the fact that the application (I) contains 
a false, fictitious, fraudulent statement, or material misrepre­
sentation, (2) has no basis in law or fact, or (3) fails to state a 
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filing in the immigration court and serving on the alien 
an order to show cause (hereafter OSC or deporta­
tion OSC) ordering him to appear before an U in Los 
Angelesandshowwhyheshouldnotbedeportedfor, 
most often; having previously entered the United 
States without inspection by an immigration officer. 15 

Once the deportation proceeding was initiated, the 
immigration court obtained jurisdiction over both the 
issue of alien's deportability and the merits of his 
asylum application. Accordingly, when it initiated the 
deportation proceeding, the INS forwarded the alien's 
asylum application to the immigration court, where 
the alien could have it considered "de novo" by the U 
if he so desired. 

Understandably, the alien did not wantto appear 
in immigration court alone. Accordingly, the 
nonattorney provider then "referred" the alien to 
respondent, or another immigration attorney. The 
nonattorney providers usually referred their alien 
clients to immigration attorneys with whom they had 
a relationship; who the providers knew would "repre• 
sent" the alien clients only by appearing with them in 
court; and who the providers knew would not steal 
their clients by taking over the clients' cases and 
preparing and filing the clients' immigration applica­
tions, pleadings, and documents. In fact, as the 
hearing judge correctly found, respondent did not 
interfere with the nonattomey providers' relation­
ships with their clients or ordinarily assume 
responsibility for preparing and filing the applications, 
pleadings, and documents for the clients the providers 
referred to him because, had he done so, it would have 
reduced the number of referrals he would have 
received from the providers in the future. 

Often, immigration services providers waited 
until the day of the initial hearing in their alien clients' 
cases before they referred their clients to respondent, 
or another immigration attorney. In such a case, the 
immigration services provider walked the hallways 

material fact is a crime punishable by fine, imprisonment for 
not more than five years, or both. (8 U.S.C. § l 324c(e) & (f).) 

15. Deportation for entry without inspection (former 8 U.S.C. 
§ J251(a)(l){B)) has been replaced with removal for being 
present in the United States in violation of the INA or any other 
federal law(8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(l)(B)). 
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outside the immigration court courtrooms with the 
alien the day of the hearing looking for respondent. 
When the provider found respondent, he introduced 
the client to respondent, arranged for respondent to 
appear wi.th the client in court, and usually paid 
respondent a cash appearance fee. Regardless of 
whether the provider referred the client to respondent 
shortly before or well in advance of the initial hearing, 
respondent did not ordinarily meet with the client to 
review the client's case or otherwise obtain the facts 
necessary to properly represent the client at the initial 
hearing. 

B. How respondent's represented clients referred 
to him by immigration services providers. 

Respondent testified that the immigration ser­
vices provider, not he, set the fee that the provider or 
the client paid respondent for each court appearance 
respondent made. Respondent testified that he was 
paid as little as $50 per appearance and as much as 
$350 per appearance, but that he averaged $150 per 
appearance. By conservative extrapolation, based on 
the evidence, respondent earned more than $250,000 
in 1996 and again in 1997. 

[Sd] Before the initial hearing, respondent and 
the client executed a Notice of Entry of Appearance 
as Attorney or Representative - Form EOIR-28 
(Jan. 89) (hereafter Form EOIR-28) (now Notice of 
Entry of Appearance as Attorney or Representative 
- Form EOIR-28 [August 99]), which respondent 
then filed with the immigration court and served on 

16. 181 Because neither respondent nor the State Bar addressed 
8CodeofFederal Regulationspans3. \ 7 and292.4, the hearing 
judge sua sponte took judicial notice of them The rules and 
procedures for the immigration courts and the BIA established 
by the Attorney General and set forth in the Code ofFederal 
Regulations have the force and effect oflaw. ( United States ex 
rel. Accardiv. Shaughnessy(l 954)347 U.S: 260,265;/n re Sun 
Cha Tom (1968) 294 F.Supp. 791, 793.) Accordingly, the 
hearing judge correctly took judicial notice of parts 3. 17 and 
292.4. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 214; Evid. Code,§ 45 I, 
subd. (b); 44 U.S.C. §§ 1507, 1510; Philip Chang & Sons 
Associates v. La Casa Novato (1986) 177 Ca!.App.3d 159, 
171, fn. 4.) Like the hearingjudge, we are required to suaspontc 
take judicial notice ofparts3. J 7 and 292.4 as well as all other 
relevant parts of the Code ofF ederal Regulations. (Ibid.; Evid. 
Code,§ 459, subd. (a).) 
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the INS. Under 8 Code ofFederal Regulations parts 
3.I 7(a) and 292.4(a), neither attorneys nor other 
federally authorized representatives may represent 
aliens in immigration court until they execute, file, and 
serve Fonns EOIR-28,16 [8 - see fn. 16) and once 
they do so, they may not withdraw from representa­
tion or effectuate substitutions of attorney except on 
motions to the IJ to whom their clients' cases are 
assigned. (8 C.F.R. §§3.17(b), 292.4(a); accord 
Immig. Ct. L.A., San Pedro, and Lancaster, Local 
Operating Procedures, Proc. 4 (all future references 
to local operating procedures are to this source); cf; 
Rules Prof. Conduct, rule 3-700(A)(l) ["If permis­
sion for termination of employment is required by the 
rules of a tribunal, [ an attorney] shall not withdraw 
from employment in a proceeding before that tribunal 
without its permission."] .)'7 

When respondent first met the client, he typically 
told the client that, at the hearing, he would (I) 
withdraw the client's asylum application; (2) request 
suspension of deportation relief for the client; 18 and 
(3) alternatively request that the client be permitted to 
voluntarily depart from the United States in lieu of 
being deported should the client not be granted 
suspension of deportation and the client be found to be 
deportable. 19 At the hearing, respondent also ordi­
narily admitted the factual basis to the issue of 
deportability charged against the client in the depor­
tation OSC, or otherwise admitted to his client's 
deportability, and then designated the client' scountry 
of origin as the country of deportation. It is unclear 
whether respondent told his client of this practice 

17. A 11 forth er references to ru 1 es arc lo the Rules of Profession al 
Conduct unless otheiwise indicated. 

18. Respondent did not always request suspension of deporta­
tion relief; at times he sought other relief for the client. 

19. If an alien's application for suspension of deportation (or 
application for some form of primary relief) was denied, it was 
very important that the alien be allowed to depart the United 
States voluntarily and not be ordered deported because, if an 
alien was deported, he was ineligible to reenter the United 
States and seek most forms of immigration relief for five years 
unless the United States Attorney General consented other­
wise. 
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during their first meeting or whether he ever ex­
plained the implications of such an admission of 
deportability to the client. 

Ifrespondent'sc)ientwasgrantedsuspensionof 
deportation, he gained legal immigration status and, 
subjectto a limited number of exceptionsnotrelevant 
here, was permitted to remain in the United States 
permanently. However, to qualify for suspension of 
deportation relief, an alien had to prove several 
requirements, including ( 1) that he was of good moral 
character and (2) that his deportation would result in 
"extreme hardship" to hirnselfor an immediate family 
member who is a United States citizen or legal alien. 
(Former8U.S.C.§ 1254(a)[fonnerINA§ 244(a)(I) 
(suspension of deportation)], repealed by the Illegal 
Immigration Reform and lnimigrant Responsibility 
Act of 1996 (Pub. L. No. 104-208 (Sept. 30, 1996) 
110 Stat. 3009) (hereafter IIRA) § 308(b)(7), re­
placed by8U.S.C. § 1229b [INA§ 240A( cancellation 
ofremoval)].) 

Obviously, the filing of a frivolous or fraudulent 
asylumapplication could make establishing therequi­
si te good moral character extremely difficult. In 
addition, establishing the extreme hardship require­
ment could be very difficult. Moreover, even if the 
client carried his burden of proof and established each 
of tp.e requirements, the granting of suspension of 
deportation relief was wholly within the discretion of 
the U. (INS. v. Rios-Pineda (1985) 471 U.S. 444, 
446 [105 S.Ct. 2098, 85 L.Ed.2d 452]; see also 
Achacoso-Sanchez v. /NS(7th Cir. 1985) 779 F.2d 

20. Notwithstanding the notation "Expires 08/31/0 I" on current 
Form EOIR-40, it "continues to be the one and only valid 
version of the form." Presumably, form EOJR-40 will be 
"retired" because, under the IJRA, suspension of deportation 
proceedings have been replaced with cancellation ofremoval 
proceedings(8 U.S.C. § 1229b). 

21. Every notice of hearing sent out by the immigration court 
states that, if the alien is represented, his attorney must appear 
with himatthe noticed hearing"prepared to proceed." (Italics 
added.) 

22. "Exceptional circumstances" to support a motion to reopen 
are narrowly limited to those circumstances (such as serious 
illness of the alien or serious illness or death of an immediate 
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1260, 1264.) Thus, the timely and proper presentation 
oftheclient'scaseintheimmigrationcourtwasofthe 
utmost importance to the client. Likewise, if the U 
denied the client's application, it made the client's 
timely and proper appeal to the BIA of the utmost 
importance to the client. (See, e.g., INS v. Jong Ha 
Wang(1981)450U.S.139, 145 [101 S.Ct.1027,67 
L.Ed. 2d 123] [standard of judicial review ofBIA's 
denial of suspension of deportation relief is abuse of 
discretion].) 

After respondent admitted his client's deport­
ability, designated a country of deportation, withdrew 
the client's asylum application, and requested sus­
pension of deportation or voluntary departure in the 
alternative, the IJ set a deadline for filing the Applica­
tion for Suspension of Deportation-Fonn EOIR-40 
(Nov. 94)(now Application forSuspensionofDepor­
tation-FormEOIR-40 [Expires 08/31/01])20andset 
the case for hearing, which was often the merits 
hearing (i.e., the trial) on the client's application. The 
IJ also admonished the client of his absolute duty to 
timely file his application and to appear at the next 
hearing ready to proceed with his attomey21 or be 
subject to having his requests for relief deemed 
abandoned and being ordered deported in absentia, 
the order of which cannot be appealed, but only 
rescinded on a motion to reopen, which may be 
granted only under exceptional circumstances.22 

Respondent testified that, after the initial hear­
ing, he almost always spoke with the client in the 
hallway outside the courtroom, gave the client his 

relative of the alien, but not including less compelling circum­
stances) that are beyond 1he control of the alien. (8 U.S.C. 
§ l 229a(e)( l ).) Ineffective assistance of counsel is an "excep­
tional circumstance" provided the alien strictly complies with 
the procedural requirements. (Matter of Lozada (BIA 1988) 19 
J. & N. Dec. 637, 639-640; but see Castillo-Perez v. INS(9th 
Cir. 2000) 212 F.3d 5 J 8, 526 [procedural requircmems not 
strictly enforced when their purpose is served by other 
means].) However, bad advice, an error committed, or ineffec­
tive assistance by an immigration consultant rarely qualifies as 
an exceptional circumstance (Singh-Bhathal v. INS (9th 
Cir.1999) 170 F.3d 943, 946; but see Rodriguez-Lariz v. INS 
(9th Cir. 2002) 282 F.3d 1218, 1224) unless the consultant 
defrauded the alien into believing that he or she was an attorney 
(Lopez v. INS (9th Cir. 1999) 184 F.3d I 097, l J 00). 
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business card, and gave the client the option ofhaving 
either respondent or the ref erring immigration ser­
vices provider prepare the client's apphcation for 
suspension of deportation and its supporting docu­
mentary evidence and any other necessary pleadings 
or documents. According to respondent, the client 
ordinarily insisted on returning to the referring immi­
gration services provider and having the provider 
draft the "paperwork" because the client had already 
paid the provider to do so. Even though respondent's 
testimony was partially corroborated by secretary 
Lopez's testimony, the hearing judge not only re­
jected it, but he also expressly found, in a number of 
the client matters in this proceeding, that respondent 
did not meet with the client· or give the client his 
business card after the initial hearing. Furthermore, in 
at least two client matters, the hearing judge found 
that respondent (I} told his client that the referring 
immigration services provider was going to prepare 
the client's paperwork and (2) instructed the client 
return to the provider and to give the provider what­
ever information and documentation the provider 
needed to prepare the client's paperwork. We adopt 
the hearing judge's rejection of respondent's testi­
mony and his findings on respondent's conduct after 
the initial hearings. 

C. Respondent aided and abetted nonattomey 
providers to represent aliens in violation of 

federal law and to engage in the unauthorized 
practice of law when he relied on or 

permitted those providers to prepare and 
file client documents. 

(6bJ In his opening brief on review respondent 
supports his testimony and arguments that his cus­
tornarypractice of relyingon orpermittingnonattomey 
immigration services providers to prepare and file 
applications, pleadings, and documents for his clients 
is legal; appropriate, and in his clients' interest by 
stating that "immigration consultants or notarios are 

23. Respondent does, however, provide a reference to the record; 
but the evidence located at the record reference is inapposite, 
having nothing to do with the licensing of "immigration 
consultants or notarios." 
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licensed by the State of California to prepare petitions 
and applications for aliens ... "and that" { t]hepapers 
at issue in the instant [disciplinary] proceeding, e.g., 
applications for suspension of deportation, are rou­
tinelypreparedand filed by non-attorney consultants 
ornotarjos, who lawfully off er such services to aliens'. 
.. . "Respondent, however, does not cite to any legal 
authority to support his unequivocal statement that 
the State of California licenses "immigration consult­
ants or notarios."23 To the contrary, respondent's 
statement is inaccurate because California has never 
licensed "immigration consultants or notarios." It 
has, however, since 1983, regulated and placed re­
strictions on nonattorneys, other than those 
nonattomeys who are expressly authorized by fed­
eral law to represent aliens before the INS, the 
immigration courts, and the BIA, who provide nonle­
gal assistance and advice on immigration matters to 
others for compensation.(§ 22440 et seq. [hereafter 
California act regarding immigration consultants].) 
Such nonattorneys who provide nonlegal assistance 
and advice are referred to as immigration consult­
ants.(§ 22441, subd. (a).) California's regulation of 
immigration consultants attempts to create "a class of 
consultants to help [immigration] applicants fill out 
basic forms at minimal cost. "24 

( Unlawful practice 
hits vulnerable immigrants, Cal. St. B.J. (Nov. 
2001) pp. 1, 7, italics added.) Furthermore, respon­
dent doe snot cite any authority for his representation 
that "non-attorney consul tan ts ornotarios" may law­
fully prepare and file applications and petitions for 
aliens as they did in this proceeding. In fact, 
respondent's statement that they may is patently 
incorrect. 

[~c) Next, in his reply brief on review, respon­
dent supports his testimony and arguments by stating 
that, "[ a )sis theirprerogati ve, aliens frequently utilize 
the services of immigration consultants for prepara­
tion of paperwork, and f ederal law permits 
non-lawyer consultants to provide such services." 

24. For example, California law allows a notary public to 
complete government immigration fonns if the client provides 
the data to be entered and if the notary charges no more than 
$ IO per person for each set of forms completed. (Govt. Code, 
§ 8223, subd. (b).) 
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(Italics added.) Again, respondent cites no authority 
to support these unequivocal statements, which are 
additional misrepresentations oflaw to this court. 

[6dJ Finally, in his September 9, 2002, supple­
mental brief on review, which he filed in response to 
our May 6, 2002, order notifying the parties of our 
intent to address sua sponte the issue of whether the 
record contained clear and convincing evidence that 
respondent aided and abetted nonattorney immigra­
tion services providers to represent aliens in violation 
of federal law or to engage in the unauthorized 
practice of law, respondent states that "[a]s non­
attomeys, notarios are specifically pennitted to 
represent aliens in immigration proceeding pursuant 
to federal statute.[25] (8 C.F.R. § 292.1 et seq.) 
[Footnote omitted.] This is recognized by California 
Business and Professions Code, sections 22440-
22448." These are incorrect statements oflaw to this 
court. The supporting authorities cited by respondent 
are simply inapposite. Under 8 Code of Federal 
Regulations part 292. I, an authority cited by respon­
dent, there are only six categories of nonattorneys 
who may represent aliens in immigration cases with­
out violating federal law. (8 C.F.R. § 292. l(e); Opn. 
Gen. Counsel INS (June 9, 1992) 1992 WL 1369368 
(INS) Legal Opinion on the Role ofVisa Consultants 
in the Practice of Immigration Law [hereafter 1992 
Opn. Gen. Counsel INSJ;26 Ashbrook,supra, 5 Geo. 
J. Legal Ethics at p. 278.) Neither immigration con­
sultants, notarios, nor immigration services. providers 
fall within one of these six categories of federally 
authorized nonattomey representatives. 

[6e] Furthermore, based on the interplay of the 
regulatory definitions of case, representation, prac­
tice, and preparation as set forth in 8 Code ofFederal 
Regulations part 1.1 (g), (m), (i), (k),respectively, "the 
scope of the term 'representation' is a very broad 
one. It includes activities which range from inciden­
tally preparing papers for a person, to giving a person 

25. The intended reference is to federal regulation, not federal 
statute . . 

26. See UnitedSratesv. Larionojf(l 977)431 U.S. 864, 872-873 
(federal agency's interpretation ofits own regulations entitled 
to great deference}; Diaz v. /NS(E.D.Cal. I 986) 648 F.Supp. 
638, 645, citing Miller v. Youakim (1979)440 U.S. 125, 145, 
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advice about his or her case, to appearing before the 
Service on behalf of a person." (1992 Opn. Gen. 
Counsel INS; Opn. Gen. Counsel INS (Apr. 20, 
1993) 1993 WL 1503972 (INS) [hearafter 1993 Opn. 
Gen. Counsel INS], affirming 1992 Opn. Gen. Coun­
sel INS.) Therefore, any person who is not an 
attorney or one of the six federally authorized 
nonattorneyrepresentatives under 8 Code ofFederal 
Regulations part292 .1 may not engage in any activity 
falling within this verybroaddefinitionofrepresenta­
tion without violating federal law. (1992 Opn. Gen. 
Counsel INS; 1993 Opn. Gen. Counsel INS; 
Ashbrook, supra, 5 Geo. J. Legal Ethics at p. 242 
[there is a very "narrow domain, where non-lawyer 
work in immigration matters would not constitute the 
practice of immigration law"].) Concomitantly, a 
person who merely assists another in completing 
preprinted government immigration forms will not 
violate federal law so long as he does not receive 
more than nominal consideration for such assistance 
and does not hold himself out as qualified in legal 
matters or in the area of immigration and naturaliza­
tion law and procedures. (Ibid.) 

[6f] In this state," 'to practice as an attorney at 
law' means to do the work as a business which is 
commonly and usually done by lawyers in this coun­
try." (People v. Merchants Protective Corp. (1922) 
189 Cal. 531, 535, quoting People v. Aifani (1919) 
227N.Y. 334,339, 125 N.E. 671.)Thus, "the practice 
of the law is the doing and performing services in a 
court of justice in any matter depending therein 
throughout its various stages and in conformity with 
the adopted rules of procedure. But in a larger sense 
it [also] includes legal advice and counsel and the 
preparation of legal instruments and contracts by 
which legal rights are secured although such matter 
may or may not be depending in a court." (People v. 
Merchants Protective Corp., supra, 189 Cal. at p. 
535, quoting Eley v. Miller (1893) 7 Ind. App. 529, 
535, 34 N.E. 836, 837-838; Baron v. City of Los 

fu. 25 (formal interpretation dispensed by agency's general 
counsel that is intended to apply nationally constitutes an 
agency interpretation); see also Motion Picture Studio Teach­
ers & Welfare Workers v. Millan ( 1996) 5 l Cal.App.4th I 190, 
1195 (agency's interpretation of its regulation·s entitled to 
considerable judicial deference and generally controls unless 
clearly erroneous). 
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Angeles (1970) 2 Cal.3d 535; 542-543.) And, under 
the law of this state'" [ w]hether a person give advice 
as to [local] law, Federal law, the law of a sister State, 
or the law of a foreign country; he is giving legal 
advice ... .' [Citation.]" (Bluestein v. State Bar 
(1974) 13 Cal.3d 162, 173-174.) 

(6gJ We hold that the preparation and filing of 
immigration applications, pleadings, and documents 
by the nonattorney immigration services providers in 
this proceeding was the representation of aliens 
under federal law, that those nonattomey providers 
were not within one of the six categories of 
nonattomeys authorized under federal law to repre­
sent aliens in immigration cases, and that those 
nonattomey providers, therefore, represented aliens 
in violation offederal law. We further hold that the 
preparation and filing of immigration ·applications, 
pleadings, and documents by the nonattorney provid­
ers in this proceeding fall within California's definition 
of the unauthorized practice of law (accord Unau­
thorized Practice Committee, State Bar of Texas v. 
Cortez (Tex. 1985) 692 S.W.2d 47, 50; Oregon 
State Bar v. Ortiz (Or.Ct.App. 1986)713 P .2d l 068, 
1070) and that those nonattomey providers, there­
fore, engaged in the unauthorized practice of law. 
Finally, we hold that, byrelyingon or permitting those 
nonattorneyproviders to prepare and file immigration 
applications, pleadings, and other documents for his 
clients from at least mid-1995 through late 1997, 
respondent deliberately aided and abetted the provid­
ers to represent aliens in violation of federal law. In 
doing so, respondent engaged in acts of moral tu[]:!i­
tude in willful violation of section 6106. Moreover, in 
willful violation of rule 1-300( A), respondent deliber­
ately aided and abetted the providers to engage in the 
unauthorized practiceoflaw. Respondent's violation 
of rule l-300(A) rose to a level involving moral 
turpitude in violation of section 6106. 

27. Los Angeles County Bar Association Professional Respon­
sibility and Ethics Committee Formal Opinion 483 (Mar. 
1995) Limited Representation of in Pro Per Litigants; Los 
Angeles County Bar Association Professional Responsibility 
and Ethics Committee Fonnal Opinion 502 (Nov. 1999) 
Lawyers' Duties when Preparing Pleadings or Negotiating 
Settlement for in Pro Per Litigant; Zacharia.,, Limited Perfor-
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D. Respondent's representation was not limited 
to that of an "appearance attorney." 

[Se] To support his testimony and argument that 
his customary practice of limiting the scope of his 
representation of the clients referred to him by 
immigration services providers tothatofan "appear­
ance attorney" are legal, appropriate, and in his 
clients' interests, respondent cites and discusses two 
local bar association ethics opinions and a law review 
article.27 To support its contrary position, the State 
Bar cites to a number of cases setting forth an 
attorney's duties when representing a client in a 
judicial proceeding. Whether the scope of respondent's 
representation of his alien clients was or could have 
been properly limited to that of an "appearance 
attorney" is unquestionablyresolved against respon­
dent by controlling federal law, which was not 
addressed by the parties. Therefore, we need not and 
do not address the parties' cited authorities and 
arguments on this issue. 

(5fl As noted ante, an attorney, or federally 
authorized nonattorney representative, may not rep­
resent an alien iri an immigration case witil he executes 
and files a Form EOIR-28, and once he does so, he 
becomes the client's attorney of record and may not 
withdraw or substitute out of the case without the 
permission of the U. Since June 1972, 8 Code of 
Federal Regulations part 292.5(a) has definitively 
mandated that, whenever a party in an immigration 
case is required to give notice; serve any document, 
other than arrest warrants and subpoenas; make a 
motion; file or submit an application, pleading, or other 
docwnent; or perform or waive the performance of 
any act and the party is represented by an attorney, 
it is the duty of the party's attorney to give such riotice, 
serve the document, make the motion, file or submit 
the application, pleading, or other document, and 

ma nee Agreements: Should Clients Get What They Pay For? 
(1998) I I Geo. J. Legal Ethics 915; Limited Representation 
Committee ofthe California Commission on Access to Justice 
Report on Limited Scope Legal Assistance With Initial Recom­
mendations (Oct. 2001 [initial recommendations approved 
State Bar, Bd. of Gov., on Jul. 28, 2001]). 
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perfomi or waive the performance of the act. Ac­
cordingly, when respondent filed a F ormEOIR-28 in 
a client's immigration case, he had the duty to fully 
and competently represent the client before the 
immigration court and to properly prepare each and 
every application, pleading, and document necessary 
for the proper representation of that client. (8 C.F .R. 
§ 292.S(a); Matter of Velasquez (BIA 1986) 191. & 
N. Dec. 377, 384 ["there is no 'limited' appearance 
of counsel in immigration proceedings"]; Matter of 
N-K (BIA 1997) 21 I. & N. Dec. 879, 882, fn. 2, 880 
[it is a "well-settled principle" that "there is no 
'limited' appearance of counsel in immigration pro­
ceedings"].) Moreover, this duty to fully and 
competently represent an alien client may not be 
modified by an agreement between a client and his 
attorney even if the parties expressly note the limited 
scope of the attorney's representation on the Fonn 
EOIR.-28 filed with the immigration court. (Matter of 
N-K, supra, 21 I. & N. Dec. at pp. 879, 882, fn. 1.) 
In fact, since it was last revised in August 1 999, Form 
EOIR-28. has plainly stated: "Appearances - ... 
Please note that appearances for limited purposes are 
not permitted." Accordingly, respondent's testimony 
and repeated argument that he could legally and 
appropriately limit the scope of his representation to 
that of an "appearance attorney" are disingenuous. 

Moreover, respondent's unsupported assertion 
that his alien clients had the "prerogative" ofreturning 
to the ref erring immigration services providers for the 
preparation and filing of their applications, pleadings, 
or other documents is meritless and frivolous in light 
of the duties imposed on an attorney once he or she 
appears before the immigration court by filing a Form 
EOIR.-28. (8 CF.R. § 292.S(a); Matter of Velasquez, 
supra, 19 I. & N. Dec. at p. 3 84; Matter of N-K, supra, 
21 I. & N. Dec. at pp. 879, 882, fu. 2.) 

IV. RESPONDENT'S THIRD POINT 
OF ERROR. 

19a] llOa) In his third point of error, respondent 
contends that almost all the hearing judge's findings 

28. (9b] These arguments place respondent's methods ofprac• 
ticing law in issue so that any impropriety in them may 
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of misconduct are erroneous because they are based 
on unintentional acts and omissions that resulted from 
simple negligence or honest mistakes that respondent 
made in good faith as a "product of trying to do too 
much, not too little," for his clients.28 f9b-see fn. 28] 
We disagree and reject this point. 

[10b] First, the hearing judge correctly found 
that, from at least mid-1995 through late 1997, re­
spondent: (1) repeatedly and deliberately abdicated 
his ethical duties toproperlyrepresent his alien clients 
and to competently perform the legal services that he 
had a legal duty to perform; (2) repeatedly accepted 
more immigration cases than he and his law office 
could properly handle; (3) routinely "placed his inter­
ests above those of his clients" by permitting 
nonattomeys to prepare and file his clients' immigra­
tion applications, pleadings, and other documents with 
the immigration court and BIA; and ( 4) consistently 
"demonstrated a profound lack of understanding of 
his dutyoffidelity to his clients." 111 a) Second, as the 
second count of uncharged misconduct on which we 
independently conclude that respondent is culpable 
and consider as aggravation, we find that, from at 
least mid-1995 through late 1997, respondent en­
gaged in a course of practicing law that was reckJess 
and involved gross carelessness. [10c] The hearing 
judge's and our independent findings, individually and 
collectively, not only negate respondent's claims of 
unintentional acts and omissions, simple negligence, 
honest mistakes, and good faith, but also preclude a 
finding of good faith mitigation under standard 
1.2( e )(ii). 

[12] As the Supreme Court explained more than 
40 years ago with respect to the duty of attorneys to 
keep adequate records of client funds, " '[t]he pur­
pose of keeping proper books of account, vouchers, 
receipts, and checks is to be prepared to make proof 
of the honesty and fair dealing ofattomeys when their 
actions are called into question, whether in litigation 
with their clients or in disciplinary proceedings and it 
is a part of their duty which accompanies the relation 
of attorney and client. The failure to keep proper 

appropriately be considered as aggravation. (See Edwards v. 
Slate Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3d at pp. 35-36.) 
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books ... is in itself a suspicious circumstance. ' 
[Citations.]" (Clark v. State Bar (1952) 39 Cal.2d 
161, 174.)And,as~eSupremeCourtexplainedmore 
than 60 years ago with respect to keeping adequate 
financial records, it would be a distortion of justice to 
permit an attorney handling client funds to· escape 
responsibility for his misconduct by the simple act of 
not keeping any record or data from which an 
accounting might be made and themisconductproved. 
(Bruns v. State Bar (1941) 18 Cal.2d 667, 672.) By 
analogy, these principles are equally applicable with 
respect to the duty of an attorney to keep adequate 
non-financial client files and records so that an 
attorney's failure to keep such adequate files and 
records is in itself a suspicious circumstance and that 
justice will not permit an attorney to escape respon­
sibility for his misconduct by the simple act of not 
keeping adequate non-financial client files and records 
from which his conduct may be reviewed and any 
misconduct proved. (Accord In the Matter of Hanson 
(Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 703, 
715 [applyingprinciplesregardinganattomey'sduty 
to keep adequate financial records to an attorney's 
failure to use written fee agreements].) 

(13) In light of the foregoing Supreme Court 
authorities,respondent' s fiduciary duties to his clients 
unquestionably required that he keep adequate non­
financial client files and records. (Cf. Lewis v. State 
Bar (1973) 9 Cal.3d 704, 713.) At a minimum, 
respondent was required to keep, for each client, an 
individual file that not only contained the client's 
name, address, and telephone number, but also all 
other items reasonably necessary to competently 
represent the client, such as a written fee agreement, 
correspondence, pleadings, deposition transcripts, 
exhibits, physical evidence, and expert reports. (Cf. 
rule 3-700(D)(l).) As discussed post, respondent 

29. 115) Of course, respondent ·s development and maintenance 
of adeq uatc office management and accounting procedures are 
fundamental to his fulfillingmu!tip!eotherduties, including his 
duties to competently perform legal services (rule 3-11 0(A)), 
to adequately communicate with his clients (rule 3-500; § 6068, 
subd. (m)), to protect his clients' confidential information 
(§ 6068, subd. (e)), and to properly handle and account for 
client funds and other property (rule 4-100). 
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failed to keep non-financial client files and records 
that complied with these minimum requirements. 

(14) Without question, respondent's fiduciary 
duties to his clients also required that he develop and 
maintain adequate management and accounting pro­
cedures for the proper operation ofa law office. 29 [15 
: see fn. 29] (Cf. In the Matter of Respondent F 
(Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 17, 
26; In the Matter of Respondent E (Review Dept. 
1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 716, 726-727.) At a 
minimum, respondent was required to develop and 
maintain procedures for: the proper maintenance and 
protection of client files; calendaring court hearings 
and filing deadlines; tracking court hearing dates and 
filing deadlines to insure they are not missed; tracking 
correspondence and client communications; secure 
handling and accurate accounting of client trust funds 
and other property. (See State Bar Ct. Std. Condi­
tions of Probation, condition 19; 30 see also State Bar 
Trust Acct. Record Keeping Stds. ( adopted by Bd. of 
Governors, eff. Jan. 1, 1993, pursuant to rule 4-
IO0(C)).) In addition, respondent was required to 
train his staff with respect to these procedures and to 
employ adequate safeguards to insure that his staff 
actually followed the procedures. (Vaughn v. State 
Bar(l 972) 6 Cal.3d 847, 857-858.) In short, respon­
dentwas required to "accept responsibility to supervise 
the work of his staff." (Ibid.) As noted post, respon­
dent failed to fulfill any of these requirements. 

(llb] In short, the facts in this proceeding 
"disclose an habitual failure to givereasonableatten­
tion to the handling of the affairs ofhis clients rather 
than an isolated instance of carelessness followed by 
a firm determination to make amends.".(Waterman 
v. State Bar (1936) 8 Cal.2d 17, 2 L) Such reckless­
ness and gross carelessness, even if not deliberate or 

30. When used, standard condition 19 requires a disciplined 
attorney to develop an approved law office management plan 
which, at a minimum, "must include procedures to send 
periodic reports to c;lients, the documentation of telephone 
messages sent and received, file: maintenance:, the meeting of 
deadlines, the establishment of procedures to withdraw as 
attorney, whether of record or not, when clients cannot be 
contacted or located, _and for the training and supervision of 
support personnel." 
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dishonest, violate "the oath of an attorney to dis­
charge faithfully the duties of an attorney to the best 
of his knowledge and ability and involve moral turpi­
tude, in that they are a breach of the fiduciary relation 
which binds him to the most conscientious fidelity to 
his clients' interests. [Citations.]" (Simmons v. State 
Bar (1970) 2 Cal.3d 719, 729; accord Doyle v. State 
Bar(I 976) 15 Cal.3d 973,978, and cases there cited.) 
Even repeated acts of mere negligence and omission 
involve moral turpitude and "prove as great a lack of 
ft1ness to practice law as affirmative violations of 
duty." (Bruns v. State Bar, supra, 18 Cal.2d at p. 
672.) 

1. Respondent's excessive case load & 
inadequate support staff. 

a. 1995. 

Respondent handled approximately 20 immigra­
tion cases in 1995. Respondent employed a secretary 
for one or possibly two months in 1995. 

Even though respondent unequivocally testified 
that he did not employ a paralegal in 1995, the record 
establishes that he employed paralegal Victor M. 

31. While testifying in defense to misconduct charged in the 
Maya-Perez client matter, respondent testified that he had 
sufficientrecords to prove that the fee he charged and collected 
in that matter was reasonable. In describing the work that he 
and his law office perfonned to earn the fee, respondent 
unequivocally testified that, on November 8, 1995, when he 
and Maya-Perez met for the first time, they met at his law office 
for "[p Jrobably a little over an hour ... , and then she spent more 
time with my paralegal." (Italics added.) 

32. [ 16[ The hearing judge correctly admitted this business card 
into evidence over respondent's sole objection that the State 
Bar did not produce it during formal discovery. Moreover, 
because the hearingjudge admitted the business card without 
limitation and without any hearsay objection from respondent, 
we may and do consider it for the truth of the matter stated. 
(PeoplevSangani(1994)22Cal.App.4th 1120, I 142;Mosesia11 
v. Pennwalt Corp. (1987) 191 Cal.App.3d 851,865; see also 
In the Matter of Scapa & Brown (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Cl. Rptr. 635, 649.) 

33. Vicente Enriquez is the father of paralegal Enriquez. To 
distinguish between Vicente Enriquez and his son, paralegal 
Enriquez, we refer to Vicente Enriquez as Mr. Enriquez. 
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Enriquez (hereafter paralegal Enriquez) in 1995. 
First, respondent's unequivocal testimony that he did 
not employ a paralegal in 1995 is impeached by his 
own later testimony. 31 Second, paralegal Enriquez' s 
business card itself is documentary evidence that 
respondent employed a paralegal in 1995 .32 [16 - see 
fn. 32] Asthehearingjudgenoted, paralegal Enriquez 's 
business card has both the name "Law Offices of: 
James Robert Valinoti" and the insignia "N & 
Associates" printed at the top. According to respon­
dent, "N & Associates" (hereafter JV) isa partnership 
between Javier Nunez and Vicente Enriquez,33 who 
are both nonattomey immigration services providers 
who refer immigration clients to respondent. 34 [17a­
see fn. 34) On paralegal Enriquez's business card 
there is only one address. As discussed post, that 
address is the address of the offices that respondent 
shared with JV in 1995. 

b. 1996. 

In 1996, respondent employed Veronica Lopez 
(hereafter Lopez or secretary Lopez) as a full-time 
secretary from April 1996 until late November 1996. 
For approximately two weeks thereafter, Lopez did a 
very small amount of work for respondent. Lopez 

34. I 17a) By permitting the name and title of"Law Offices of: 
J arnes Robert Va lino ti" to be printed on the same business card 
bearing the insignia of the nonattomey partnership of"JV & 
Associates," respondent appears to have violated section 
6105, which proscribes an attorney from pennitting his name 
and title as attorney to be used by a nonattomey. Moreover, 
even assuming arguendo that respondent's testimony that he 
had no business relationship with JV other than accepting 
immigration matter referrals from JV is true, then paralegal 
Enriquez's business card (which clearly represents that re­
spondent and N had a business relationship and that they 
jointly employed paralegal Enriquez), would violate rule J -
400(D)(2)' s proscription against attorney communications, 
including business cards (rule l-400(A)(2)), containing any 
matter or presenting or arranging any matter in a manner or 
fonnat which, inter alia, is false or deceptive or tends to confuse 
or mislead. Because respondent's misconduct in pennitting his 
name and title to appear wilh JV's insignia on paralegal 
Enriquez's business card supports our conclusion that respon­
dent aided and abettednonattomeystoengage in the unauthorized 
practice oflaw, we do not separately consider it as additional 
uncharged misconduct aggravation. 
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spent each morning with respondent at the immigra­
tion court acting as his translator for his 
Spanish-speaking clients and spent each afternoon 
doing secretarial work in respondent's law office. 
The record does not establish whether anyone served 
as respondent's translator in the afternoons or in the 
mornings after Lopez quit in late November. 

From approximately March 1996 to late Novem­
ber 1996, respondent employed, as a "kind of part 
time" secretary, someone respondent testified was 
named Roxanne, but whom Lopez testified was 
named Rosanna (hereafter Rosanna). Even though 
respondent employed Rosanna for approximately 
nine months and presumably paid her (withholding, 
reporting, and paying her state and federal employ­
ment taxes) throughout those nine months, he could 
not remember her last name. 

1n either November or December 1996, respon­
dent hired Lupe Becerra as his full-time secretary. 
Becerra worked for respondent until June 1997. 
Respondent denied employing a paralegal in 1996. 

Respondent testified ( 1) that, from approximately 
February through August 1996, he employed, as an 
associate attorney, an attorney who we refer to as 
attorney Kazarian and (2) that, for a few months 
"sometime" during 1996, he employed, either as an 
associate attorney or an independent contractor, a 
second attorney who we refer to as attorney Peak. 
Respondent's testimony, however, is impeached by 
Lopez's credible, disinterested, and unchalJenged 
testimony that, while she worked for respondent in 
1996, she and Rosanna were respondent's only 
_employees. Lopez's testimony is consistent with the 
very limited office space respondent had for most of 
1996. 

Respondent's law _ office handled more than 
1,000 immigration cases in 1996. Respondent esti-

35. [181 Lopez's testimony is supported by the disinterested 
and credible statement Immigration Judge Ronald N. Ohata 
madc,duringa_November 1996 hearing in thelsrail matter, that 
respondent was making between six and ten appearance each 
morning in 1996. Because the transcript of that hearing ·was 
admitted for all purposes without any hearsay objection, we 
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mates that he was the attorney of record in at least 
400 or 500 of those cases. Presumably, other attor­
neys associated with respondent's office were the 
attorneys of record in the remaining cases. 

According to respondent he made an average of 
four -immigration court appearances each morning 
and four each afternoon in 1996. We accept 
respondent's testimony that he made an average of 
four appearances each afternoon in 1996, but. reject 
his testimony that the made an average of four 
appearance each morning because it is impeached by 
Lopez's credible, disinterested, and unchallenged 
_ testimony that, when she worked for respondent, he 
made betw_een five and seven appearances each 
morning. 35 [18 - see fn. 35] Lopez did not know how 
many appearances respondent made each afternoon 
because, as noted ante, she worked in respondent's 
law office in the afternoons and because she did not 
keep respondent's calendar. Respondent personally 
"kept" or "maintained" his own calendar. In conclu­
sion, we find that respondent made between five and 
seven court appearances each morning and that he 
made an average of four appearances each after­
noon in 1996. Moreover, the record suggests that 
respondent made at least this same number of ap­
pearances each day in 1997. 

C. ]997. 

Becerra was the only secretary respondent 
employed in 1997. And, as noted ante, sheworkedfor 
respondent until June 1997. In 1997, respondent 
employed a paralegal named Ezekiel Bahena, who 
was still working for respondent at the time of trial in 
the hearing department. _ 

In December 1997, respondent hired, as an 
independent contractor, an attorney we refer to as 
attorney Mehrpoo. When he hired her, attorney 
Mehrpoo had no immigration law experience; in fact, 

may and do consider it for the truth of the matters stated. (See 
foomate 32, a11te, page 26, and cases there cited.) We rely on 
Immigration Judge Ohata's statement to the extent that it 
supports Lopez's testimony and contradicts respondent's 
testimony. 
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she had just become a member of the State Bar. As 
the hearingjudge aptly noted with justifiable concern, 
respondent permitted attorney Mehrpoo to make 
court appearances by herselfin his immigration cases 
after giving her only three weeks of very informal 
training. She worked between 30 and 40 hours a 
week and made approximately four court appear­
ances a day. She worked for respondent until March 
1998. 

Even though respondent failed to disclose these 
facts when testifying in response to the State Bar's 
detailed questioning regarding his office staff, the 
record establishes that he employed an attorney who 
we refer to as attorney Hovsepian in March 1997 and 
an attorney who we refer to as attorney Arias in 
summer 1997. By 1997, respondent's law office had 
more than 1,700 immigration cases. Respondent 
estimates that he was the attorney of record in 1,000 
of those cases and that other attorneys associated 
with his law office were the attorneys of record in the 
remaining case. 

2. Respondent's many law offices. 

When respondent first opened his own law 
practice in 1995, he shared office space with Nat 
9452 Garvey Avenue, Suite D, El Monte, Califor­
nia. 36 Initially, respondent unequivocally testified in 

36. While testifying in the hearing department, respondent 
denied that he shared offices with JV. However, his denial was 
not clear nor unequivocal. Moreover, the hearingjudge made 
inconsistent findings on whether respondent shared an office 
with JV. Our finding that respondent shared offices with JV is 
supported by at least the following three factors. First, 
respondent specifically admitted that the building on Garvey 
Avenue was a small office building and that, as soon as you 
walked in the front door, there was a "shared" area for the 
offices, which respondent describes as a combined reception 
and hallway area. Second, respondent testified that his law 
office was in suite D of the building on Garvey Avenue, and 
suite Dis the same suite that is listed in the address on paralegal 
Enriquez' s business card. Third, as we discuss in further detail 
post, while in the offices on Garvey Avenue, Mr. Enriquez 
"pointed" respondent out to Rodolfo Baza-Salgado and iden­
tified him as an attorney associated with JV who would 
represent the Rodolfo Baza-Salgado and his wife in immigra­
tion court. 
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the hearing department that he maintained his law 
office on Garvey A venue until January 1996 when he 
moved it to 4605 Lankershim Boulevard, Suite 418, 
North Hollywood, Califomia.37 However, respon­
dent later impeached that unequivocal testimony by 
testifying later in the hearing that, from "December of 
'95 through part of January '96," his law office was 
located at 1543 West Olympic Boulevard and that he 
did not move his office to LankershimBouievard until 
either the end ofJ anuary or the beginning ofFebruary 
of 1996.38 Yet, all of respondent's testimony and 
credibility as to when and where he moved his office 
after he moved out of his Garvey A venue office are 
impeached by documentary evidence. First, respon­
dent listed his office address as 1306 Wilshire 
Boulevard, Suite 104, Los Angeles, California in ( 1) 
an immigration court pleading that he signed and filed 
in the Maya-Perez matter on January 16, 1996, and 
(2) the Form EOIR-28 that he signed and filed in the 
Padilla matter on February 2, 1996. Second, respon­
dent listed his office address as 124 West 2nd. Street, 
Los Angeles, California in an immigration court 
pleading that he signed and filed in the Calderon 
matter on January 22, .1996. 

Whenever respondent truly moved his office to 
Lankershim Boulevard, he sublet from and shared 
office space with Hratch Baliozian, who is a 
nonattorney immigration services provider who re-

37. Respondent admits that, for the more than 10 months that 
his office was on Lankershim Boulevard, his business cards 
incorrectly listed the office's address asbeingin Universal City 
instead of North Hollywood. 

38. Respondent's repeated inability to testify consistently as to 
the locations ofh is I aw offices not on I y highlights the difficulty 
that his alien clients (who did not understand English) had 
keeping up with and locating him, but it reflects adversely on 
his credibility as a witness in general, particularly in light of the 
fact that he testified that, before trial, he "checked about" all 
ofhis old office addresses at the request of his counsel in the 
hearing department. It is clear from his findings and culpability 
cone\ usions that the hearing judge repeatedly rejected 
respondent's testimony and determined that respondent sim­
ply was not a credible witness. Because the record clearly 
supports these repeated adverse credibility determinations, 
we give them great weight. (See Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
305(a).) 
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fers immigration clients to respondent. 39 Their office 
space consisted of a common reception area and two 
small offices. One of the offices was used by Baliozian 
and his staff, and the other one was used by respon­
dent and his staff. Respondent testified that both the 
names "Law Offices of James R. Valinoti" and 
"Hratch Baliozian" were on the front door leading 
into respondent's and Baliozian's shared office 
space.40 [17b - see fn. 40) 

The only furniture in respondent' s office was a 
desk, which respondent, Lopez, and the second sec­
retary shared; a credenza; and a shelf-type cabinet. 
There was no filing cabinet. Respondent kept all ofhis 
client files, which according to Lopez's and 
respondent's testimonies totaled no more than 200, in 
one or two boxes on the floor next to his desk. There 
wasnoofficeequipmentinrespondent'sofficeother 
than perhaps a telephone. However, in Baliozian's 
office, there was a computer and a printer, which 
respondent's secretaries were allowed to use for 
writing letters and drafting notices. Respondent might 
have owned the printer. 

Respondent continued sharing office space with 
Baliozian on Lankershim Boulevard until he and 
Baliozian were evicted in mid-November 1996 be­
cause Baliozian did not pay the rent. Contrary to 
respondent's testimony that he and Baliozian were 
evicted in October 1996, Lopez' s credible, unchal­
lenged testimony and the documentary evidence 
establish that they were evicted in mid-November 
1996. Respondent testified that, during November 
and December following his and Baliozian' s eviction, 
he (i.e., respondent) "was moving" his office to 3540 
Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 322, Los Angeles, Califor­
nia and that he maintained his office at that address 
on Wilshire Boulevard until July 1997. However, 
respondent's testimony and credibility are again im­
peached by the documentary evidence in the record 
in this proceeding. On December 16, 1996, the 

39. Respondenttestified that he obtained approximately 50alien 
client referrals from Baliozian. 

40. (17b] Respondent's posting ofhis law offices' name on the 
same door with Baliozian's name raises the same issues we 
discussed ante in footnote 34. 
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immigration court served a copy of an U' s order in the 
Gonzalez matter on respondent at 1543 West Olym­
pic Boulevard, Suite 231, Los Angeles, California, 
which was the office address that respondent then 
maintained with the immigration court. •1 

Respondenttestified that, in July 1997, he moved 
his office from3540 Wilshire Boulevard to 510 West 
Sixth Street, Suite 924, Los Angeles, California and 
that, in November 1997, he moved his office from 
suite 924 to suite 515 in the same building on West 
Sixth Street. 

3. Respondent failed to properly maintain bis 
official state bar address. 

(19a] Like the hearing judge, we take judicial 
notice of respondent's official State Bar membership 
records. As the hearing judge found, those records 
establish thatrespondentrepeatedly violated his duty, 
under section 6002.1 , subdivision (a), and Rules and 
Regulations of the State Bar, article I, section 1, to 
maintain, on the official membership records of the 
State Bar, his current office address and telephone 
number (hereafter official State Bar address). Re­
spondent nevernotified the State Barofthe addresses 
and telephone numbers of the offices he shared with 
Non Garvey A venue or of the offices he shared with 
Baliozian on LankershimBoulevard. Nor did respon­
dent ever notify .the State Bar of the offices he had on 
1306 Wilshire Boulevard, West 2nd Street, or West 
Olympic Boulevard. In fact, the first law office 
respondent ever notified the State Bar of was his 
office on 3540 Wilshire Boulevard and, even then, his 
notification was not timely. Furthermore, respondent 
never notified the State Bar of his office in suite 924 
at5 l O West Sixth Street.Finally, even though respon­
dent notified the State Bar ofhis office in suite 515 at 
510 West Sixth Street, he did not do so until after he 
had been there for one year. 

41. The copy of the notice is unclear; the street address may be 
1542 instead of 1543. 
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(19b] Respondent also violated section 6002.1 , 
subdivision (a), from July 1994 through March 1997 
because, throughout that time period, respondent 
maintained post office boxes as his official State Bar 
addresses. This authority expressly mandates that 
attorneys maintain their current office addresses and 
telephone numbers as their official State Bar ad­
dresses; it is only when an attorney does not have an 
office that he is permitted to maintain some other 
address and telephone number as his official State 
Bar address. (Accord In the Matter of Peti/la 
(Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 231, 
246, fu. 19.) (20) In addition to the multiple State Bar 
administrative and investigative purposes, attorneys 
must maintain their current office addresses and 
telephone numbers · as their official State Bar ad­
dresses to establish a bar-wide database of every 
attomey'sofficeaddress andtelephonenumberfrom 
which clients may locate their attorneys should they 
lose contact with them. The importance of such a 
listing is highlighted by the facts in this case, which 
showthatanumberofrespondent's clientscouldnot 
contact him about their cases because he repeatedly 
moved his law office without notifying them and his 
many other clients. 

4. Respondent failed to notify his clients, 
the immigration court and post.al service 

of his many changes of address. 

a. Respondent's clients. 

Respondent admits that he did not notify all ofhis 
clients each of the four times he moved his office 
between 1995 and 1997. He does, however, claim 
that he sent ·out "hundreds" of change of address 
notices to his clients with respect to one or maybe 
more of his moves, but he could not specify when the 
notices were mailed out or which move or moves they 
pertained to. Werejectrespondent's unsubstantiated 
claim. 

In addition, respondent testified that he kept the 
addresses of his clients in the notebook-size, yearly 
calendars that he carried with him to court each day 
and, for a very brief time period, in a "hand-held 
computer organizer." Respondent further testified 
that his "office did the best [it) could to send out 
notices to everybody" whose address was listed in 
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either his notebook-size calendars or his hand-held 
computer organizer. However, respondent also testi­
fied ( 1) that, in April 1996, someone broke into his car 
and stole his briefcase containing his 1996 calendar 
and (2) that, in June 1997. someone again broke into 
his car and stole his briefcase containing his 1997 
calendar and his hand-held computer organizer. Even 
if we were able to accept as credible respondent's 
testimony that he kept his clients ' names and ad­
dresses in his calendars and hand-held computer 
organiz.er, he couldnothavenotifi.ed the clients listed 
in his stolen 1996 calendar when he moved his office 
in late 1996 or January 1997. Likewise, he could not 
have notified the clients listed in either his stolen 1996 
calendar, his stolen 1997 calendar, or his stolen hand­
held computerorganizer when he moved his office in 
July 1997 or when he moved in November 1997. 

Moreover, as discussed in detail post, we not 
only reject respondent's testimony that he kept his 
clients' addresses in his calendars and hand-held 
computer organizer, but also find that he failed to keep 
any client records in all but a limited number of his 
cases. Thus, respondent could not have and did not 
sent out "hundreds" of change of address notices as 
he testified. 

b. The immigration court. 

Almost all the notices (e.g., notices of hearing 
dates, orders, and decisions) that the immigration 
court sends out each year are generated and ad­
dressed by the court's central computer system. The 
court' s central administrative office maintains a cen­
tralized computer data bank that contains, inter alia, 
the name and address of the attorney ofrecord for the 
alien in each case. When the court's computer 
system generates a notice, it automatically addresses 
the notice using the name and address of the alien's 
attorney ofrecord as contained in the centraliz.ed data 
bank. As a result, attorneys who move their offices 
are required to submit only a single change of address 
notice to the court's administration office, which 
promptly updates its centralized data bank. 

Even thoughrespondenttestified that he promptly 
notified the immigration court's central administra­
tive office each time he moved his office between 
mid-1995 and late 1997, he did not pro ff er a con-
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formed copy of any change of address notice to 
corroborate his testimony. Moreover, respondent's 
testimony is incorrect, at least, with respect to when 
he moved his office from 3 540 Wilshire Boulevard to 
510 West Sixth Street, Suite 924, in July 1997. On 
October 8, 1997, the immigration court served a 
computer-generated notice in the Ramirez matter on 
respondent at his o]d address on 3540 Wilshire Bou­
levard. Had respondent promptly notified the 
immigration court of this July 1997 move as he 
testified, the court would have updated its centralized 
data bank and served the notice on respondent at his 
new address on West Sixth Street address. (Evid. 
Code, § § 606, 664 [ in the absence of proof establish­
ing the contrary, official duties are presumed to have 
been regularly performed].) 

It is clear that, sometime after October 8, 1997, 
respondent notified the immigration court ofhis July 
1997 office move because, on December 23, 1997, 
the court served another computer-generated notice 
in the Ramirez matter on respondent at his office at 
510 West Sixth Street, Suite 924. Yet, because the 
court served that December 1997 notice on respon­
dent at his office in suite 924 in the building at 510 
West Sixth Street, it is clear that he failed to promptly 
notify the court when he moved his office from suite 
924 to suite 515 in that building in November 1997. 

c. The postal service. 

As far as he can recall, respondent thinks he 
notified and provided his new office address to the 
United.State Postal Service each of the four times he 
moved his office between 1995 and 1997. However, 
the failure of the postal service to forward a number 
of letters and court notices to respondent's new 
office addresses strongly suggests otherwise. Like­
wise, the fact that the postal service continued to 
deliverrespondent's mail to his old office addresses 

42. Respondent testified that he made the client files out of 
empty file folders he carried to court with him in his briefcase. 
Respondent claims that he did this on a regular basis, but the 
record strongly indicates that he did not. Respondent claim is 
clearly false at least with respect to rhe eight months' that 
Lopez worked for him in 1996. As noted ante, the testimony 
of respondent and Lopez establish that respondent had no 
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where it was accepted on respondent's behalf strongly 
suggests that respondent did not properly and timely 
notify the postal service of his changes of address. 
Thus, we find that respondent not only failed to 
properly and timely notify each of his clients and the 
immigration court ofhis four moves, but that he also 
failed to properly and timelynotify the postal service 
so that, ifnothing else, it could forward respondent's 
mail to his new offices. 

5. Respondent failed to maintain 
adequate client records. 

At least from rnid-1995 through late 1997, nei­
ther respondent nor his staff kept a listing of the 
names, addresses, and telephone numbers of 
respondent's thousands of clients. Nor did they keep 
a record of most of the legal fees respondent earned 
in his immigration cases even though they totaled in 
the hundreds of thousands of dollars each year and, 
according to respondent's testimony, were often paid 
to him in cash. Even though he had thousands of 
clients, the record establishes, at best, that he main• 
tained only the following limited files: (I) 200 client 
files that he kept in one or two boxes on the floor in 
his office on Lankershim Boulevard; (2) a small 
number of skeletal client files that he made while at 
the immigration court;42 and (3) limited client records 
respondent personally wrote in his notebook-size 
calendars and hand-held computer organizer. 

Respondent testified in the hearing department 
that, during the l O months that he shared office space 
with Baliozian in 1996, he maintained the following 
information for each of his immigration clients in the 
computer that respondent, Baliozian, and their staffs 
shared: (I) the client's name, address, and telephone 
number; (2) the next court hearing in the case; (3) the 
filing dates; and (4) "all the basic calendaring infor­
mation and - calendaring information slash client 

more than 200 client files in 1996. In any event, respondent 
admitted that the files he made at court were skeletal and almost 
always contained only (1) the clients' asylum applications and 
copies of the deportation OSC' s and (2) the clients' names, 
addresses, and telephone numbers. In sum, we reject 
respondent's claim that he made client files on a regular basis 
at the immigration court. 
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database." Respondent asserts that the computer 
was his. According to respondent, when he and 
Baliozian were evicted, Baliozian' s "people were 
there and they were basically walking out with files 
and my computer and printer" and he (i.e., respon­
dent) "was never able to recover [his] computer or 
[his] printer and some of [his] files." 

However, when viewed in light of the entire 
record, respondent's testimony was neither probative 
( e.g., respondent admitted that he did not "know how 
many clients were on that [purported] database at the 
time the computer was taken") nor believable. More­
over, it was impeached by his own inconsistent 
testimony in the hearing depa~cnt. Respondent 
unequivocally testified that, in June 1996, the only 
places he recorded "important dates" were (1) the 
notebook-size calender that he took with him to court 
each day and (2) his client files. In addition, 
respondent's testimony is inconsistent with Lopez's 
disinterested and credible testimony, which respon­
dent did not challenge, that no client information was 
stored in the computer and that respondent's staff 
used it only to draft letters and notices. 

Moreover, respondent did not proffer any evi­
dence on what steps he took to recover this pUJJ)ortedly 
stolen computer and printer. Specifically, respondent 
never testified that he reported it to the police as being 
stolen or that he even asked Baliozian to recover them 
for him. Even assuming that respondent owned the 
computer and that he did store important information 
regarding his clients in the computer, it would raise 
additional ethical concerns. It would be reckless for 
an attorney to store important client information on a 
computer that he shared with a nonattomey immigra­
tion services provider and that he stored in that 
provider' s separate office. 

Equally self-serving and unbelievable is 
respondent's testimony that, in his notebook-size 
calendars he maintained the following detailed infor­
mation for each of his thousands of immigration 
clients: (1) the client's name, address, and telephone 
number; (2) the. name of the IJ presiding over the 
client's case; (3) a description and the date and time 
of every hearing scheduled in the client's case; and 
(4) a notation of every filing deadline in the client's 
case. Moreover, in light of the record as a whole, his 
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failure to produce even one ofbis calendars to support 
his testimony is a strong evidence that it is not just 
implausible and unbelievable, but deliberately false. 
(See, e.g., Evid. Code,§§ 412,413; In the Matter of 
Bleecker (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 113, 122 [a witness's failure to produce cor­
roboratingdocumentaryevidence is an indication that 
the witness's testimony is not credible]; Breland v. 
Traylor Eng.etc., Co. (1942) 52 Cal.App.2d 415, 
426 [when a party fails to introduce evidence that 
would naturally have been produced, the trier of fact 
may properly infer that the evidence is adverse to the 
party].) 

6. Respondent failed to properly 
protect client records. 

From at least mid-1995 through late 1997, re­
spondent was reckless and _grossly careless in 
protecting his clients' records and files: He displayed 
very little regard for the 200 client files he kept in one 
or two boxes on the floor ofhis office on Lankershim 
Boulevard, his calendars, and his hand-held computer 
organizer. 

Secretary Lopez credibly testified as follows. 
When respondent and Baliozian were evicted from 
their office space on Lankershim Boulevard in mid­
November 1996, she was unable to promptly notify 
respondent of the eviction because respondent was 
outoftown. WhenshewenttotheofficetheSaturday 
morning following the eviction, almost everything 
was gone from the office space except respondent's 
200 client files. When she telephoned respondent at 
his home that Saturday morning and told him of the 
eviction, respondent told her that he did nbt want to go 
to the office and instructed her to "try to get as much 
as you can" and to bring the client files to him at his 
home. When she delivered the 200 client files to 
respondent at his home, respondent told her that he 
did not have room to keep them and instructed her to 
keep them. She kept all 200 files in her car for 
approximately one week. Thereafter, she gave them 
to a friend. That fri~d stored the files in her office 
until respondent claimed them approximately one 
week later. 

Lopez further credibly ·testified that none of 
respondent's files were stolen when respondent and 
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Baliozian were evicted. Respondent, however, testi­
fied (1) that the file in one or more of the nine client 
matters that are the subject of this disciplinary pro­
ceeding was stolen at the time of the eviction and (2) 
that the "stolen" file or files should contain proof that 
would exonerate him on some of the disciplinary 
charges. Respondent's testimony is speculative. When 
initially questioned in the hearing department, respon­
dent could not identify which or how many client files 
were purportedly stolen. Later, he testified that the 
file in the Padilla. matter was missing after the 
eviction. Even if he could identify which client files 
were stolen, it would still not justify his admitted 
failure to take any precaution whatsoever to prevent 
Baliozian, Baliozian' s staff, or the building's landlord 
from stealing his clients' files whether during the 
eviction process or otherwise. 

Moreover, respondent testified that, after the 
eviction, Lopez brought the files to his house, that he 
stored the files in his house, and that he did not see 
Lopez again for a couple of months. Respondent's 
testimony and credibility as a witness is again im­
peached by his own inconsistent statements. During 
a November 22, 1996, immigration court hearing in 
the Gonzalez matter, respondent made the following 
statements to the IJ: "My only concern is my office 
has been in somewhat of a disarray, as I previously 
told you. My lessor, from whom I used to sublease, 
apparently did not pay rent for approximately five or 
six months, and subsequently, all my files are pres­
ently in my secretary's home." (Italics added.) 

As noted ante, respondent testified that his 1996 
calendar was stolen out of his car in April 1996 and 
that his 1997 calendar and hand-held computer orga­
nizer were stolen out of his car in June 1997. 
Respondent admitted that, after his 1997 calendar 
was stolen, he purchased a new calendar for 1997. 
But when the hearingjudge asked respondent whether 
he still had that new calendar to show how respondent 
kept detailed client records in it, respondent answered 

43. Also troubling is respondent's admissions that, after his 
calendars were stolen, he obtained computer printouts from the 
immigration court's central admin is trati ve office that listed all 
of the scheduled hearings in each of his cases, but that he did 
not use those printouts to reconstruct replacement calendars 

IN THE MATTER OF V AUNOTI 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 498 

that he did not know whether he still had it. Respon­
dent never proffered his new 1997 calendar or any 
other calendar into evidence. Moreover, respondent 
offered no reason to justify his leaving what he 
asserts were his key client records in his car unat­
tended.43 

7. Respondent's repeated failures to properly 
file his clients' pleadings and to properly appear 

at his clients' immigration court hearings. 

. Respondent claims that he would record filing 
deadlines and hearing dates in his calendar by writing 
down the client's name and address, the name of the 
U, and the filing deadlines and hearing dates with 
descriptions as to what they were for. Even if 
accurate, this alleged practice of recording this cru­
cial information in his calendar proved effectively 
useless in light of the repeated theft of respondent's 
briefcase and calendars. 

Moreover, while respondent and secretary Lopez 
both testified that, as filing deadlines and as court 
appearance dates approached, they called the refer. 
ring immigration services providers and the alien 
clients to verify that the documents or pleadings were 
prepared and timely filed, the hearingj udge rejected 
this testimony, and so do we. Respondent's testimony 
on this issue is impeached by his own admissions in a 
number of the eight immigration services providers 
client matters that he did not take such actions. 

In sum, during much of the time period between 
mid-1995 and late 1997, respondent spent most days 
at the immigration court making his many appear­
ances. He spent little time at his law office. He 
routinely agreed to make multiple appearances in 
different cases even though the hearings in which he 
was to appear were set at the same time and before 
different IJs. At that time, there were at least 19Us 
in Los Angeles with courtrooms on various floors of 
either the Federal Building on North Los Angeles 

that accurately listed the dates and times ofa!l of the hearings 
in his cases. According to respondent, he did not use the 
printouts because they were too voluminous and were not in 
either alphabetical or date order. 
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Street or of the Roybal Center and Federal Building 
on East Temple Street. He also had multiple immigra­
tion court hearings and merits hearings (i.e., trials) set 
for the same time. He did not proffer an explanation 
as to how he could try more than one innnigration 
case at a time. 

Obviously, respondent "ran" from courtroom to 
courtroom looking for his clients (oftentimes having 
to also look for someone to translate for him so that 
he could communicate with his clients), checking in 
with the court clerks,44 and checking with the court 
clerks regarding the calendar placements for his 
hearings. It is not surprising that respondent was 
repeatedly late for and missed court appearances or 
that respondent had a well-lmown reputation for 
such. Respondent also repeatedly missed filing dead­
lines. And, as far as we· can determine, he never 
properly sought an extension of time or properly 
requested a continuance of a hearing. At the Novem­
ber 1996 hearing in the Israil case ref erred to ante, 
Immigration Judge Ohata admonished an attorney 
from respondent's law office: "Mr. Valinoti knows 
he's overbooked. Most attorneys have maybe one or 
two hearings set. He has anywhere from six to ten set 
each morning or afternoon, and he's all over this 
courthouse. The result is his clients are not repre­
sented in court." 

W enow consider the specific nine client matters 
forming the basis of the charges against respondent. 
We first consider the eight client matters that were 
ref erred to respondent by immigration services pro­
viders, and second consider the one client matter that 
may not have been referred to respondent by a 
provider. 

44. Although the testimony of one fJ indicates that respondent 
may not have always been checking in with a court clerk. 
According to that IJ, his clerk was in his courtroom only on 
master calendar days, and at least once, respondent improperly 
checked in with a court interpreter and then left to go to another 
courtroom. 
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V. THE NINE CLIENT MA TIERS. 

A. The eight client matters referred to 
respondent by immigration services providers. 

1. The Padilla matter. 

In response to a television advertisement for Cal 
State Legal Services (hereafter SIG), which is a 
nonattomey immigration services provider, Emilio 
Padilla hired SIG in August 1995 to get a green card 
for him. Padilla is a national ofMexico. Completion of 
the sixth grade was the extent of Padilla's fonnal 
education. From early 1993 throughJwie 1999, Padilla 
worked as a machine operator for the same Los 
Angeles area company. However, that company 
fired Padilla in June 1999 because his work permit 
expired and because he still had not obtained his green 
card. At all relevanttimes, Padilla did not speak, read, 
write, or understand English. 

When Padilla went to SIG, he dealt solely with a 
woman identified to him only as Veronica.45 SIG's 
fee was $2,000. By May 1996, Padilla had paid SIG 
$700, leaving Padilla owing a balance of $1,300. 

SIG prepared an asylum application for Padilla; 
in support of which, Padilla gave SIG a number of 
documents relating to his residency in the United 
States. Thereafter, Veronica met with Padilla in 
August 1995 and instructed him to sign the applica­
tion, which he did. As noted ante, by signing the 
app Ii cation, Padilla certified, under penalty of perjury, 
that the facts in it and its supporting documentary 
evidence were true and correct. Padilla admitted 
while testifying in the hearing that he did not read the 
asylum application before he signed it. However, he 
also credibly testified that he could not have read it 
before he signed it because it was written and 
answered entirely in English, which he did notread or 
understand. 

45. TheVeronicawhoworkedatSIGisnotVeronicaLopezwho 
worked for respondent in 1996. We refer to the Veronica who 
worked for SIG as Veronicaoras V eronicaatSIG. And,asnoted 
ante, we refer to the Veronica, who worked for respondent. by 
her last name of Lopez or by secretary Lopez. 
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In September 1995, SIG filed the application with 
the INS withoutsigningthepreparer's declaration to 
disclose that it prepared the application and to certify 
that it read the completed application to Padilla in 
Spanish for purposes of verification before he signed 
it. The INS interviewed Padilla on his asylum applica­
tion in December 1995. 

While testifying in the hearing department, Padilla 
admitted, thatduringthatDecember 1995 interview, 
he lied to an INS official by falsely telling the official 
that the facts in his application and supporting evi-

• dence were true and correct. Padilla is one of the 
witnesses whose credibility respondent attacks on 
the basis that Padilla signed his asylum application 
under penalty of perjury and then answered "yes" to 
the INS official 'squestion, at his asylum interview, as 
to whether the facts in his application and its support­
ing evidence were true when he knew that they were 
not. As we stated ante, we reject respondent's 
attacks on the credibility of his. clients. 

There is no evidence that indicates, much less 
establishes, that Padilla knew what facts were in his 
asylum application before he signed itorthatheknew 
that, by merely signing the application, he was certi­
fying, underpenaltyof perjury, that the facts in it were 
true and correct. Likewise, the evidence does not 
indicate, much less establish, that Padilla knew what 
facts were in his application and its supporting evi­
dence when he answered "yes" to the INS official •·s 
question at his asylum interview. In fact, the only 
evidence on the issue indicates that Padilla did not 
learn that there were false statements of fact in his 
application until sometime after his asylum interview. 
Furthermore, Padilla is one of the witnesses whom 

46. The parties, the hearing judge, and the reporter's transcript 
of this February 2, 1996, immigration court hearingrefertothe 
hearing as though ittook place on February 27, 1996. However. 
thedeportation OSC, theForrriEOIR-28thatrespondentfilcd, 
the IJ's ,vritten order filed after the hearing, and the reporter's 
transcript of the subsequent immigration court hearing on 
March 28, 1997, establish that the hearing was held on 
February 2, 1996. Accordingly, respondent's unequivocal 
testimony that he attended and appeared with Padilla at an 
immigration courthearingonFebruary27, 1996, when no such 
hearing ever occurred is yet another example of the evidence 
impeaching respondent's credibility and candor as a witness. 
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the hearingjudge expressly found to be credible in the 
face of respondent's attacks. Again, we must give 
that credibility detennination great weight. (Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a).) 

After Padilla's asylum interview, the INS denied 
Padilla's application and initiated a deportation pro­
ceeding against him by filing in the immigration court 
and serving on him an OSC ordering him to appear 
before an IJ in Los Angeles on February 2, 1996, and 
show cause why he should not be deported.Veronica 
at SIG made arrangements with respondent's secre­
tary Lopez for respondent to represent Padilla at this 
February 2, 1996, hearing.46 SIG paid respondent 
$100 for the appearance. 

Veronica at SIG gave respondent's name and 
physical description to Padilla and told Padilla to meet 
respondent outside of the immigration court shortly 
before the February 2, 1996, hearing. Respondent 
met briefly with Padilla before the hearing, but they 
did not discuss Padilla's case. Respondent and Padilla 
signedaFonnEOIR-28, whichrespondentfiled,and 
Padilla gave respondent various document$ regard­
ing Padilla's employment, taxes, andresidences in the 
United States. At the hearing, respondent admitted 
the factual basis on the issue orPadilla 's deportability 
and designated Mexico as Padilla's COlllltry of depor­
tation. Respondent did not tell the IJ that SIG had 
J)l'.epared Padilla' sasylumapplication without signing 
the preparer's declaration.47 He did, however, at 
least withdraw Padilla' sapplication. Respondent also 
requested suspension of deportation relief for Padilla 
and, in the alternative; voluntary departure in lieu of 
deportation. The IJ ordered Padilla's application for 
suspension of deportation be filed by April 1, 1996, 

47. We do not consider, as uncharged misconduct aggravation, 
respondent's failure to notify the lJ ofSJG's unlawful failure 
to sign the prcparer's declaration on Padilla's application 
because SIG failed to sign the application before respondent 
began representing Padilla and because Padilla might have 
conceivably, albeit very unlikely, pennitted SIG to file his 
application with the JNS without signing the preparer's 
declaration. (Cf.§ 6068, subd.(e).) 
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and set the application for a merits hearing on July 25, 
1996. Further, the IJ admonished Padilla to cooperate 
with his attorney (i.e., respondent) in preparing the 
application and to secure for respondent all the 
necessary documents. The IJ also instructed Padilla:· 
''Now, your attorney has a deadline for filing that 
application [ for suspension of deportation]. He must 
file it by a certain date, and he must have that 
documentation." (Italics added.) Even though re­
spondent heard the IJ give these instructions to 
Padilla and even though respondent knew that SIG, 
not he, would be preparing Padilla's application, 
respondent did not disclose this fact to the U, but 
instead permitted the D to believe that he (i.e., 
respondent) would be preparing and filing Padilla's 
application. 

In early summer 1996, the immigration court sua 
sponte continued Padilla's July 1996 merits hearing 
until March 28, 1997, at 1 :00 p.m. and properly 
notified respondent of the continuance. But respon­
dent never told Padilla. Nonetheless, in either late 
1996 or early 1997, Padilla somehow learned of the 
new hearing date. 

As the hearingjudge found, Padilla was unable 
to speak with respondent following the February 1996 
hearing and neither SIG nor respondent told Padilla 
how to contact respondent. Therefore, Padilla re­
turned to SIG' s office the next day, and Veronica told 
him that SIG would prepare all of the "papers" and 
give them to respondent in time for the "following 
court date." Yet, SIG did not do so. Moreover, 
respondent did not call SIG to verify whether it had 
prepared and filed Padilla's application for suspen­
sion of deportation nor did respondent prepare and file 
the application himselfbefore the filing deadline. We 
do not rely on respondent's failure to contact SIG to 
verify that it had prepared and filed Padilla's applica­
tion to support a finding of misconduct because, had 
respondent contacted SIG, he would have engaged in 
an additional act of aiding and abetting SIG to repre­
sent aliens in violation offederal law and to engage in 
the unauthorized practice oflaw. Nonetheless, we do 
consider respondent's failure to contact SIG as strong 
evidence of respondent's inability to understand his 
professional obligation to competentlyrepresent Padilla 
and to comprehend the extreme peril to which he 
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exposed Padilla by relying on and permitting SIG to 
prepare Padilla's application. 

Later, Padilla returned to SIG's office on a 
couple of occasions, but their office was not open. 
Eventual~y, Padilla learned that SIG's office was 
abandoned. Thus, he started looking for respondent, 
but could not find him. Padilla .ultimately got 
respondent's address and telephone number from 
either the INS or the immigration court and, thereaf­
ter, promptly spoke with respondent's office and 
made an appointment to meet with respondent. Even 
though respondent knew that Padilla's application 
was due by April 1, 1996, respondent did not meet 
with Padilla until May 8, 1996. 

Respondent and secretaty Lopez met with Padilia 
on May 8, 1996. At that meeting, respondent agreed 
to take over the preparation of Padilla's paperwork 
from SIG and to accept the $1,300 that Padilla owed 
SIG as his attorney's fee, Lopez gave Padilla her 
pager number, Padilla paid respondent $500, and 
Padilla gave respondent additional documents to 
support his application for suspension of deportation. 
Sometime before this meeting, SIG sent respondent, 
at least, some of the documents that Padilla had given 
to it earlier. 

In the hearing department, respondent admitted 
that he never spoke with Padilla after their May 1996 
meeting, but claimed that he later saw Padilla and 
Lopez meeting in his law office and that he presumed 
Lopez was working on Padilla's case. Respondent 
could not recall ifhe prepared Padilla's application for 
suspension of deportation, but claimed to have pre­
pared, in either August or September 1996, a motion 
for leave to file Padilla's application after the filing 
deadline. Respondent proffered no explanation to 
j ustifywaiting until August or September, more than 
five months after the filing deadline, to prepare a 
motion for late filing when his failure to timely file the 
application in the first instance alone could have 
constituted a complete waiver of Padilla's opportu­
nity to file the application. (8 C.F.R. § 3.3 l(c).) 

Respondent also testified in the hearing depart­
ment that Lopez was supposed to have filed the 
motion for late filingthathepurportedlyprepared, but 
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that Lopez failed to file it for some unknown reason. 
Respondent's testimony is impeached by Lopez's 
credible and unchallenged testimony that it would 
have been respondent's responsibility, not hers, to file 
the motion. In any event, even if respondent prepared 
a motion for late filing and instructed Lopez to file it, 
respondent's reckless manner of practicing law pre­
cludes him from claiming that Lopez's failure to file 
the motion was an inadvertent mistake for which he 
should not be held responsible. (Vaughn v. State 
Bar, supra, 6 Cal.3d at pp. 857-858.) 

When respondent did not contact him, Padilla 
attempted to contact respondent in late 1996. Padilla 
tried to telephone respondent, but respondent's tele­
phone had been disconnected apparently without a 
recorded notice of a new telephone number. When 
Padilla went to respondent's office on Lankershim 
Boulevard, he found that respondent was no longer 
there (as noted ante, respondent and Baliozian were 
evicted from that office in November 1996 for not 
paying rent). RespondentnevernotifiedPadilla when 
he moved his office to 3 540 Wilshire Boulevard after 
the eviction. 

In late November 1996, Lopez quit her job with 
respondent, began working as an independent immi­
gration services provider, and opened an office in 
Norwalk, California. Around that same time, Padilla 
was somehow able to contact Lopez either by paging 
her on her pager or by running into her at the 
immigration court. Lopez told Padilla that she did not 
know if respondent would appear with Padilla at the 
March 1997 merits hearing, but that she would try to 
get his file from respondent. Lopez obtained Padilla's 
file. 48 However, Padilla thereafter had difficulty con­
tacting Lopez. Therefore, at approximately 10:00 
a.m. on the morning of the March 1997 merits 
hearing, Padilla went to Lopez's office in Norwalk. 
At that time, Lopez rapidly prepared an application 
for suspension of deportation for Padilla, gave it to 

48. Respondent testified that, sometime after his evicli on, Padilla's 
file was missing, but respondent admitted that he did not know 
when the file disappeared or what happened to it, but specu­
lated that Lopez took it without his knowledge. Lopez, who 
testified after respondent, testified that, while she was storing 
re spondcnt' s client files after the eviction, respondent to Id her 
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him, and told him to take it with him to his hearing at 
I:00p.m. 

Even though Padilla appeared, respondent re­
mained his attorney of record. Accordingly, the U 
waited for respondent until 2:25 p.m. before she 
called Padilla's case. When the IJ called Padilla's 
case, she stated on the record that the hearing had 
been properly set and noticed for 1 :00 p.m., thatit was 
2:25 P:m., and that respondent had not come into the 
courtroom or otherwise notified the court that he was 
detained or unavailable for the hearing. Attorney 
Hovsepian from respondent's law office then walked 
into the courtroom and told the IJ that respondent sent 
her to appear on his behalf because he had been 
calledawayonafamilyemergency, whichHovsepian 
did not identify for the U. Attorney Hovsepian admit­
ted that she was late to the hearing because she was 
making a filing in federal court, a filing she presum­
ably could have made up lllltil the federal court's filing 
window closed later that afternoon or that an attorney 
filing service could have made for respondent. 

Even though attorney Hovsepian explained to 
the U that she had only been working for respondent 
for one week, the U admonished Hovsepian over the 
grave situation in which respondent's failures ( 1) to 
prepare and file Padilla's application for suspension 
of deportation and (2) to appear for the merits hearing 
had placed his client. The U also admonished 
Hovsepian that this was not the first application that 
respondent had failed to file in her court. Next, the 
INS attorney stated that the INS' s position was that 
Padilla's request for suspension of deportation relief 
should be deemed abandoned because respondent 
had not filed the application. That attorney further 
stated that the INS "holds the position that Mr. 
Valinotihas done this on numerous occasions, in front 
of numerous courts" and that he (i.e., the INS 
attorney) "can personally attest to the fact that [he 
has] seen at least four similar situations before other 

to give Che file to PadiUa.·However Lopez obtained Padilla's 
file, it is clear that she either (I) obtained it with respondent's 
pennission or (2) was able to improperly obtain it without 
respondent's knowledge because of respondent's reckless 
conduct and failure to adequately care for his client records. 
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judges."49 [21 - see fn. 49] Padilla then told the IJ 
that he no longerwantedrespondent to represent him. 
The IJ continued Padilla's merits hearing so that he 
could obtain competent counsel to represent him and 
informed Padilla ofhis right to file a complaint against 
respondent with the State Bar. Thereafter, Padilla 
hire new counsel and filed a complaint against re­
spondent with the Bar. 

In the hearing department, respondent could not 
identifywhatfamilyemergencycalledhimawayand 
justified his sending attorney Hovsepian to the merits 
hearing. Had there truly been a family emergency 
that would justify respondent's failure to appear 
without even notifying the court before the hearing, 
respondent certainly would have been able to recall it 
and recall it with at least some specificity.50 Accord­
ingly, we find that there wasno such family emergency 
and that respondent instructed Hovsepian to appear 
for him at the merits hearing because he had not filed 
Padilla's application or prepared for the hearing. 

We adopt the hearing judge's conclusion that 
respondentwillfullyviolatedrule 3.11 O(A)as charged 
in count 8 by repeatedly and recklessly failing to 
competently perform the legal services that he had a 
legal and professional duty to perform in Padilla's 
immigration case. Respondent did not meet with 
Padilla before the initial hearing in Padilla's case in 
February 1996 to review Padilla's case and obtain the 
relevant facts necessary to provide Padilla with legal 
representation at that hearing. Respondent never 
prepared and filed Padilla's application for suspen­
sion of deportation or a motion for late filing. 
Respondent did not prepare for the March 1997 

49. (21 / These facts were taken from the transcript of the March 
I 997hearing, which was admitted for all purposes without any 
hearsay objection and which we consider for the truth of the 
matters stated in it. (See footnote 32, ante, page 26, and cases 
there cited.) Moreover, we consider the unswom statements 
of the INS attorney and attorney Hovsepian in the transcript 
to be highly credible because, as attorneys, they have a 
professional duty to employ means only as are consistent with 
truth(§ 6068, subd. (d); rule5-200(A)), because they are both 
largely disinterested parties, and because Hovsepian made the 
statements within the course and scope of her employment as 
attorney in respondent's law office. 
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merits hearing; nor did he counsel and prepare Padilla 
for that hearing or otherwise tell Padilla what ques­
tions he was going to ask Padilla while Padilla was 
testifying at the merits hearing. Respondent failed to 
appear at the March 1997 merits hearing without 
notifying the court ofhis unavailability. Ev~ though 
respondent sent attorney Hovsepian (a new associ­
ate attorney employee who apparently did not have 
any immigration court training) to appear on his 
behalf, he failed to establish good cause for sending 
her; Padilla hired respondent, not Hovsepian; to 
represent him. Respondent instructed Hovsepian to 
tell the IJ that he had been called away on a family 
emergency when he had not, Hovsepian appeared 
more than one hour and twenty•five minutes late 
without good cause and without notifying the immi­
gration court ofherinability to appear by the 1 :00 p.m. 
hearing. Because ofhisreckless method of practicing 
law, respondent's is responsible for attorney 
Hovsepian's late .appearance, which the IJ judge 
refused to accept as an appearance. 

We also adopt the hearing judge's conclusion 
thatrespondentwillfullyviolatedrule 3-700(A)(2) as 
charged in count 9 by improperly withdrawing from 
employment and abandoning Padilla without taking 
steps to protect his cl~ent' s interests. "Whether ornot 
an attorney's ceasing to provide services amounts to 
an effective withdrawal depends on the surrounding 
circumstances. (In the Matter of Bach (Review 
Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 631, 641.) 
Moreover, "gross negligence in failing to communi­
cate with clients may be construed as abandonmenL 
[Citations.]" In the Matter of Hindin (Review Dept. 
1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 657, 680.) 

50. Respondent admitted, while testifying in the hearing depart­
ment, that he falsely answered, under penalty of perjury, the 
interrogatory Che State Bar propounded to him regarding 
Padilla's complaints by falsely answering '"that he was first 
consulted by Padilla in about 1996 after Padilla had already 
hired and paid another office to prepare and file his asylum 
application .. .. [Respondent] recalls making an appearance on 
behalf of Padilla, and going to court to attend a second hearing 
on behalf of Padilla, but not being able to locate Padilla in the 
courtroom on that date." Even though wedo not consider these 
acts of misrepresentation under penalty of perjury as un­
charged misconduct aggravation, we do consider them as 
further evidence significantly impeaching respondent's cred­
ibility and candor. 
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Even if respondent prepared, but did not file, a 
motion for late filing of Padilla's application, it is 
undisputed that respondent did not provide any legal 
services to Padilla after August or September 1996. 
At a minimum, respondent was reckless and grossly 
negligent in failing to communicate with Padilla. 
When respondent first appeared in court with Padilla 
in February 1996, he never told Padilla how he could 
be contacted. Respondent moved his law office 
withoutnotifyingPadilla. R.e~ndentnevertold Padilla 
that he did not prepare and file Padilla's application 
for suspension of deportation. Nor did he tell Padilla 
theJuly 1996meritshearinghadbeencontinuedunti1 
March 1997; the fact that Padilla somehow indepen­
dently learned of the continuance does not excuse 
respondent's· failure to tell Padilla of it in the first 
instance. Respondent's complete cessation of work 
on Padilla's case and respondent's repeated and 
reckless, if not deliberate, failure to communicate 
with Padilla establish respondent's culpability for 
violating rule 3-700(A)(2). (In the Matter of Bach, 
supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 641; In the 
Matter of Hindin, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
at p. 680.) 

[22] Because we rely on respondent's repeated 
and reckless failure to communicate with Padilla to 
establish respondent's culpability for violatingrule 3-
700( A)(2), we do not adopt the hearing judge's 
conclusion that respondent violated section 6068, 
subdivision (m), as charged in count 10, by not 
adequately communicating with Padilla; to do so 
would be duplicative. (Cf. In the Matter of Aguiluz 
(Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 32, 
43.) Accordingly, we reverse the hearing judge's 
culpability determination undercount 10 and dismiss 
that count with prejudice. 

Finally, based on Padilla's credible testimony, 
we adopt the hearing judge's finding that, after the 
March 1997 hearing, Padilla was unable to obtain 
from respondent all of the documents that SIG and he 
had given to respondent and that respondent's failure 
to return those documents to Padilla was a willful, but 
uncharged violation of rule 3-700(D)( I), which is an 
aggravating circumstance. An express element of a 
rule 3-700(D)(1) violation is that the client make a 
request on his fonner attorney for the return of his 
documents or other property. Even though Padilla 
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admitted that he never asked respondent to return all 
ofhis documents, he credibly testified that the reason 
he did not do so was that he could never find 
respondent after the March 1997 merits hearing and 
thatrespondenthad never informed him how he could 
contact respondent. Respondent may not avoid cul­
pability for not returning all of Padilla's important 
documents by failing to inform his clients of how to 
contact him. Normayrespondentavoid culpability for 
not returning all of Padilla's documents by claiming 
that Padilla's file was ''missing" or that Lopez lost 
those documents out of Padilla's file while she was 
storing it and respondent's other client files after the 
November 1996 eviction because respondent was 
reckless and grossly careless in his handling and 
protecting his client files. 

2. The . Gonzalez matter. 

On the recommendation of a friend, Calixto 
Gonzalez hired the nonattorneyimmigration services 
provider Consultorio Internacional (hereafter IC) in 
March 1996 to get a green card. Almost all Gonzalez's 
dealings were with the owner ofIC, who is identified 
in the record only as Gaston. IC agreed to handle 
Gonz.alez's case and to prepare his ''paperwork" for 
$1,500, which Gonzalez paid in installments; he made 
his final payment in September 1996. Gaston told 
Gonzalez that he had attorneys associated with him 
who would appear with Gonzalez in immigration court 
and that, each time one of his associate attorneys 
made an appearance, Gonzalez had to pay an addi­
tional $300 fee. 

Gonzalez is a national of Mexico. His highest 
level of education is one year of secondary school, 
which he completed.as a child in Mexico. At all 
relevant times, he did not speak, read, write, or 
understand English. During the seven years before he 
testified in the hearing department, he supported 
himself by selling corn in the streets. 

IC began representing Gonzalez by preparing an 
asylum application for him, which he signed under 
penalty of perjury and which IC later filed with the 
INS in May 1996 without signing the preparer'$ 
declaration to disclose that IC prepared the applica­
tion and to certify that it read the completed application 
to Gonzalez in Spanish for verification before he 
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signed it. Thereafter, the INS interviewed Gonzalez 
on his asylum application in June I 996. The INS 
denied Gonzalez's application and served a deporta­
tion OSC on Gonzalez ordering him to appear in 
immigration court on August 9, 1996. Thereafter, 
Gaston told Gonzalez to go to a lounge in the federal 
building on August 9, 1996, and to wait for the 
attorney who was going to represent Gonzalez in 
court. Gaston did not tell Gonzalez the attorney's 
name; instead, he told Gonzalez that the attorney 
would "call out" Gonzalez's name. 

As a "professional courtesy" to Gaston and IC, 
Rene Reyes, another nonattorney immigration ser­
vices provider who refers immigration clients to 
respondent and who often translates for respondent 
at the federal building, approached respondent in the 
federal building on the morning of August 9, 1996, and 
arranged for respondent to appear with Gonzalez at 
the.hearing that afternoon. Even though Gonzalez 
paid IC $300 as respondent's legal fee for appearing 
at the hearing, IC paid respondent only $100, which 
Reyes paid to respondent for IC. According to 
respondent, it is not unusual forrionattorneyproviders 
to assist each other in finding attorneys at the immi­
gration court to appear with their alien clients in court 
and in paying the attorneys for their appearances. 

Before the August 1996 hearing, respondent 
executed and filed a Form EOIR-28 in Gonzalez's 
case. Respondent spoke with Gonzalez right before 
the hearing, but did not discuss Gonzalez's case. At 
the hearing, respondent admitted the issue of 
Gonzalez's deportability and designated Mexico as 
Gonzalez's country of deportation. Respondent did 
not tell the IJ that IC had prepared Gonzalez's asylum 
application without signing the preparer's declara­
tion.51 Hedid,however, withdraw Gonzalez's asylum 
application, request suspension of deportation relief 
for Gonzalez, and request voluntary departure in the 
alternative. Respondent told the IJ that he had a 
hearing before the IJ in another case on the morning 
of October 11, 1996, and asked ifGonzalez'sapplica­
tion for suspension of deportation could be filed in 

SI. For the reasons stated in footnote 47, ante, page 24, we do 
not consider, as aggravation, respondent's failure to disclose to 
the IJ that IC did not sign the preparers declaration. 
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court on that same date. The IJ agreed and instructed 
Gonzalez that, ifhe did not appear on October 11, the 
IJ would order him deported. Implicit in the manner in 
which respondent asked the IJ to have until October 
11, 1996, to file Gonzalez's application was the 
representation that respondent, or perhaps 
respondent's law office, would be preparing 
Gonzalez's application. The representation was false 
because respondent knew that IC, not he, would be 
preparing Gonzalez's application. 

Contrary to respondent's testimony, but consis­
tent with Gonzalez's testimony, the hearing judge 
found that, after the August 1996, hearing, respon­
dent did not give Gonzalez his business card or 
otherwise tell Gonzalez how Gonzalez could contact 
him. Instead, respondent gave him a slip of paper with 
only the date of October 11, 1996, written on it and 
then instructed him to go back to Gaston. Gonzalez's 
testimony is consistent with respondent's admission 
that lC was going to prepare Gonzalez's application 
for suspension of deportation and respondent's as­
sertions that he never agreed to prepare Gonzalez's 
application for suspension of deportation and that the 
scope ofhis representation of Gonzalez was limited to 
that of an "appearance attorney." Respondent did not 
remember ifhe ever disclosed his purported "limited" 
legal representation to Gonzalez. The hearing judge 
correctly found that he did not. 

Shortly, before the October 11, 1996, hearing, 
Reyes gave respondent an application for suspension 
of deportation that IC had prepared for Gonzalez. 
Both respondent and Gonzalez appeared at the hear­
ing, but it was continued because the U was ill, The 
court clerk gave respondent and Gonzalez a notice 
stating that the hearing was reset for January I 7, 
l 997. Respondent did not file Gonzalez's application 
on October 11 because respondent recklessly as­
sumed that, because the hearing was continued, the 
filing deadline was extended. Gonzalez paid IC $300 
for respondent's October 1996 appearance, but the 
record does not indicate ifIC gave any portion of it to 
respondent. 
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[23a J Later in the day on October 11, 1996, the 
immigration court reset the hearing in Gonzalez's 
case again bymovingitup from January 17, 1997, to 
November 22, 1996. On October 11, 1996, the court 
properly served notice of the new November hearing 
date on respondent by certified mail to his law office 
on LankershimBoulevard. The return receipt for that 
notice establishes that the notice was actually deliv• 
ered to and signed for by respondent's law office on 
October 16, 1996.52 Respondent,however,nevertold 
Gonzalez of the November hearing date. 

[23b) Respondent appeared at the November 
hearing without Gonzalez and again without ever 
filing Gonzalez's application for suspension of depor• 
tation. 53 Respondent seeks to avoid responsibility for 
his failures to notify Gonzalez of the November 
hearing and to file Gonzalez's application by asserting 
that he did not receive the notice of hearing that the 
immigration court sent him. Respondent further as• 
serts that the only reason he learned of and attended 
that hearing was because he saw it listed on the daily 
docket sheet of hearings that the immigration court 
posted on November 22, 1996. Respondent testified 
that he checks the immigration court's posted docket 
sheet of hearings every day to make sure that he does 

• not miss any hearings in his cases. 

[23c] [24] We reject respondent's assertions 
and his testimony in support of them. First, 
respondent's claim that the did not receive the court's 
notice of the November hearing is belied by the fact 
that, on October 16, 1996, the court's notice was 
delivered to and signed for by respondent's law 
office. "In the normal course of the operation of a law 
office an attorney should not be atrisk of discipline for 
the failure to have knowledge of every item of 
infonnation that comes to the office." (In the Matter 
of Berg (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 725, 735.) However, this principle is based on 
the presumptions that the attorney has adequate 

S2. Respondent's contention that this return receipt is for the 
noticeofaDecember 13, 1996, hearing in the Gonzalez case is 
erroneous. 

53. The parties, the hearing judge, and the reporter's transcript 
refer to this November 22, 1996, hearing as being held on 
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office procedures in place for the proper operation of 
a law office (cf. In the Matter of Respondent F, 
supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 26; In the 
Matter of Respondent E, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. at pp. 726• 72 7); that the attorney has trained his 
staff with respect to those procedures; that the 
attorney employs adequate safeguards to insure that 
his staff actually follow the procedures; and that the 
attorney otherwise adequately supervises his staff to 
insure that they perform their jobs. To conclude 
otherwise would result in a distortion of justice. 

[23d] Where the record shows that a court has 
properly served· a notice of a trial setting on an 
attorney of record in a proceeding, the attorney's 
failure to appear will not be excused in a disciplinary 
proceeding even if the attorney credibly testifies that 
he did not have actual knowledge of the trial date 
unless the attorney also establishes that he had office 
procedures in place that, at a minimum, require his 
staff ( 1) to promptly inform him each time a notice of 
a court or administrative trial or hearing is delivered 
to his office, (2) to promptly record the date of the trial 
or hearing in his court calendaring system and in the 
client's file, and (3) to promptly give the client actual 
notice of the date, time, and location of the trial or 
hearing. (Cf. Bruns v. State Bar, supra, 18 Cal.2d at 
p. 672.) The record does not indicate, much less 
establish that respondent had any such office proce­
dures in place. In fact, as noted ante, the record 
clear I y and convincingly establishes that respondent 
did not have any such office procedures in place. 
Accordingly, he may not be excused from his failures 
to notify Gonzalez of the November 1996 hearing; to 
prepare for that hearing; and to counsel and prepare 
Gonzalez for that hearing. 

Second, at the November 1996 hearing, respon• 
dent did not claim that he did not receive the notice of 
that hearing that the court sent to him on October 11, 
1996. Nor did he claim that he just learned of the 

November 7, l 996. However, thecontentsoflhetranscriptand 
the immigration court's file clearly establish that the hearing 
was noticed for and held on November 22, 1996. Respondent's 
repeated testimony that he appeared at a November 7, 1996, 
hearing in Gonzalez's case, when it is clear that he did not, 
adversely reflects on respondent's credibility and candor. 
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hearing that day when he saw it on the immigration 
court's posted daily docket sheet. Instead, respon­
denttold the IJ (1) that he believed that Gonzalez was 
supposed to appear with him and to file his application 
for suspension of deportation that day, (2) that he did 
not know why Gonzalez was not at the hearing, and 
(3) that he did not know the status of Gonzalez's 
application because all of his client files, including 
Gonzalez's file, were at his secretary's home be­
cause he andBaliozian had just recently been evicted 
from their offices. 

At the November 1996 hearing, respondent asked 
the IJ for a short extension of time so that respondent 
could move into a new office, contact Gonzalez, and 
"prepare whatever needs to be prepared" for 
Gonzalez's case. The U offered "to cut [Gom:alez] 
some slack" and to continue the hearing until Decem­
ber 6, 1996. However, respondent pressed the IJ for 
additional time. After noting his displeasure over the 
fact that Gonzalez's application for suspension of 
deportation was not filed in October 1996 as it should 
have been and noting that respondent's conduct was 
"taxing the system," the IJ reluctantly agreed to give 
respondent additional time. The U continued the 
hearing until December 13, l 996, and expressly 
instructed respondent to give notice of the new 
hearing date to Gonzalez. Thereafter, the immigration 
court properly mailed written notice of the December 
13, 1996, hearing to respondent at his address on 
Lankershim Boulevard. That notice was mailed to 
respondent's Lankershim Boulevard office because, 
after the eviction, he did not promptly notify the 
immigration court's central administrative office or 
the Postal Service of his new office address.54 

Respondent never notified Gonzalez of the De­
cember hearing date, filed Gonzalez's application for 
suspension of deportation, or even attended the De-

54. Because respondent had actual knowledge of the December 
hearing, itis immaterial whether this notice was ever delivered 
to respondent's office or whether it was even mailed to him by 
the immigration court. 

55. In his decision, the hearing judge erroneously refers to this 
hearing as being held on December I 8, 1996. These clerical 
errors are not material to any issue on review. 
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cember 13, 1996, hearing.55 Because respondent 
neither appeared at the December 13, 1996, hearing 
nor filed Gonzalez's application, the U ruled that all of 
Gonzalez's applications were deemed abandoned 
and denied, found that Gonzalez was deportable,56 

and ordered Gonzalez deported in absentia. On De­
cember 16, 1996, the immigration court properly 
served a copy of the U's December 13, 1996, 
deportation order on respondent at his office at 1543 
West Olympic Boulevard, Suite 231, Los Angeles, 
California. Respondent, however, never notified his 
client of the deportation order. 

Respondent seeks to avoid responsibility for his 
failures to appear at the December 1996 hearing and 
to file Gonzalez's application by claiming, inter alia, 
that they were the results of a simple "calendaring 
error," which must have occurred because he forgot 
to record the new hearing date in his notebook-size 
calendar.57 We reject respondent's claim. First, as­
suming thatrespondentmissed the December hearing 
because he forgot to record it in his calendar and not 
because he had too many hearing schedule on the 
same day and recklessly overlooked Gonzalez' shear­
ing, we cannot view his purported failure to record the 
hearing in his calendar as a simple calendaring error 
because the setting was made in direct response to 
respondent's request for additional time to get pre­
pared, because the U instructed respondent to notify 
Gonzalez of the December hearing date, which re­
spondent did not do, and because respondent did not 
maintain an adequate calendaring system. Second, 
the immigration court properly mailed respondent 
notice of the December hearing date. [25] Third, 
even if respondent missed· the hearing because he 
simply forgot to record the hearing in his calendar, we 
must review his failure to appear atthe hearing in light 
of the record as a whole because, under the plain 
language of rule 3-l IO(A), even ifan attorney does 

56. According to IJ's deportation, his finding of deportability 
was based on evidence the government presented at the 
December 13, 1996, hearing and not on respondent's prior 
admission of Gonzalez's deportability. 

57. We note that respondent did not proffer any explanation as 
to why he did not learn of this hearing when he checked the 
immigration court •s·posted docket sheet ofhearings on Decem­
ber 13, 1996, in accordance with his purported daily practice. 
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not intentionally or recklessly fail to competently 
perform legal services, he violates the rule if he 
repeatedly fails to competently perform. The record 
establishes that respondent's failure to attend the 
December hearing was not an isolated "failure to 
appear" at an immigration court hearing, but was one 
of many such failures. 

Both respondent and Gonzalez appeared in court 
on January 17, 1997. Gonzalez appeared because he 
did not know that his hearing had been reset for 
November 1996 or that it had been reset for Decem­
ber 1996 at respondent's request. When Gonzalez 
appeared, he learned that he had been deported in 
absentia. Fortunately for Gonzalez, the IJ concluded 
that Gonzalez was not at fault for failing to appear at 
the two earlier hearings and even offered to let 
Gonzalez file a motion to reopen his case without 
having to pay a filing fee. Respondent and the State 
Bar agree that, on January 17, 1997, respondent told 
the IJ that he would prepare a motion to reopen and 
not charge Gonzalez. Respondent, however, never 
prepared or filed such a motion. 

Accepting Gonzalez's testimony and rejecting 
respondent's, the hearingj udge found that, even after 
the January 1997 appearance, neitherrespondent nor 
Gaston told Gonzalez how he could contact respon­
dent. The hearing judge also rejected respondent's 
testimony that respondent told Gonzalez to come to 
respondent's office so that he could prepare a motion 
to reopen. The hearing judge found respondent's 
testimony that he never prepared the motion because 
Gonzalez never came to his law office as respondent 
instructed was misleading and lacked candor.58 We 
agree. Respondent did not need Gonzalez's assis­
tance in preparing the motion. It was respondent, not 

58. Respondent admitted. while testifying in the hearing depart­
ment, that he falsely answered, under penalty of perjury, the 
interrogatory the State Bar propounded to him regarding 
Gonzalez's complaints by falsely answering that the immigra­
tion court had initially set the hearing in Gonzalez's case for 
January 17, l 997, but that "unbeknownst to Respondent, the 
Court on or about November 22, 1996, sent notice that it was 
arbitrarily moving up the hearing date from January 17, 1997, 
to December 13, 1996. Said notice was apparently mailed to 
Respondent at his office on 4605 Lankershim, but Respondent 
had just moved from that address and did not receive actual 
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Gonzalez, that had to execute a supporting declara­
tion that established that respondent never notified 
Gonzalez of the November or December 1996 hear­
ings. Moreover, even ifrespondentneeded Gonzalez's 
assistance, respondent had an affirmative duty to 
notify Gonzalez of that fact and give Gonzalez the 
address and telephone number of his law office, but 
he did not do so. 

The only person Gonzalez was able to contact 
after the January 1997 appearance was Gaston, and 
he told Gonzalez that there was an additional fee of 
$390 for the "attorney" (i.e., respondent) to prepare 
the motion to reopen. Gonzalez, believing that he had 
no other real alternative, paid Gaston an additional 
$3 90 in January 1997. Yet, even then respondent still 
did not prepare a motion. Because respondent never 
prepared and filed a motion to reopen, Gonzalez was 
forced to retain other counsel. 

We adopt the hearing judge's conclusion that 
respondent willfully violatedrule 3-110( A) as charged 
in count 11 by repeatedly and recklessly failing to 
competently perform the legal services that he had a 
legal and professional duty to perform in Gonzalez's 
immigration case. Respondent did not meet with 
Gonzalez before the initial hearing in August to 
review his case and obtain the relevant evidence. 
Respondent never prepared and filed Gonzalez's 
application for suspension of deportation or coun­
seled and prepared Gonzales for the November 1996 
hearing. Respondent appeared at the November 
hearing unprepared and, as the IJ aptly noted, his 
misconduct was "taxing the system." Respondent 
failed to prepare for or attend the December 1996 
hearing. 

notice of the new hearing date from the Court. Since Respon­
dent was unaware oftheadvanceddate, neither he nor the client 
appeared in December 1996. Respondent did appear in Court 
on behalfofGonzalezon January 17, 1997, the original hearing 
date set by the Court, and learned at that time, for the first time, 
that the case had been called in December 1996." The facts that 
we recited ante, establish that respondent's answers were 
clearly false. Even though wedo not consider these additional 
acts of misrepresentation under penalty of perjury as un­
charged misconduct aggravation, we do consider them as 
significantly impeaching respondent's credibility and candor. 



lNTHE MATTER OF V ALINOTI 

(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 498 

We also adopt the hearing judge's conclusion 
that respondent is culpable, as charged in count 12, of 
willfully violating his duty, under section 6068, subdi­
vision (m), to adequately communicate significant 
developments to Gonzalez by failing to communicate 
with Gonzalez after the January 1997 appearance. 
We also adopt the bearingjudge' s detennination that 
the following additional uncharged willful violations of 
section 6068, subdivision (m), are properly consid­
ered as aggravating circumstances. Respondent failed: 
to notify Gonzalez of respondent's addresses and 
telephone numbers; to contact Gonzalez between the 
October 11, 1996, and the January 1997 appearance; 
to notify Gonzalez of the November 1996 hearing; to 
notifyGonzalezoftheDecember l 996hearingasthe 
IJ instructed respondent to do; or to promptly notify 
Gonzalez of the U deportation order and explain to 
Gonzalez why he had been ordered deported. 

We adopt the hearing judge's conclusion that 
respondent willfully violated rule 3-700(A)(2) as 
charged in count 13 when he withdrew from employ­
ment without taking reasonable steps to protect 
Gonzalez's interest. Respondent's failure to take any 
steps to reopen Gonzalez's case and his failure to 
communicate or to attempt to communicate with 
Gonzalez after the January 1997 appearance estab­
lish respondent's culpability for violating rule 
3-700(A)(2). (In the Matter of Bach, supra, l Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 641; In the Matter of 
Hindin, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 680.) 
Even if we accepted respondent's argument that he 
was unable to prepare the motion because Gonzalez 
never contacted him after the January 1997 appear­
ance, "respondent could not simply let the months 
pass with no action. Respondent's choice was to 
either pursue [the motion to reopen that) was war­
ranted by the facts and law ... or to withdraw from 
[Gonzalez's] employment if and as appropriate under 
rule 3-700(C). [Citations.]" (In the Matter of Lantz 
(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 126, 
133.) 

3. The Salgado matter. 

In 1995, Rodolfo Baza-Salgado (hereafter 
Salgado) hired JV ( the nonattomey immigration ser­
vices provider that respondent shared offices with on 
Garvey A venue) to assist him and his wife, Paz 
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Reynoso (hereafter collectively the Salgados) to 
obtain visas for them. The Salgados are nationals of 
Mexico. Salgado has no formal education other than 
elementary and secondary school, which he com­
pleted as a child in Mexico. He works as a tree 
trimmer for a Los Angeles area school district. At all 
relevant times, be did not speak. read, write, or 
understand English. 

On October 27, 1995, Salgado met with Mr. 
Enriquez at N and respondent's Garvey Avenue 
offices. At that meeting, Mr. Enriquez told Salgado 
that N had a "good" attorney who would be repre­
senting the Salgados when they went to immigration 
court. Sometime shortly thereafter, Salgado was 
again in the Garvey A venue offices, and Mr. Enriquez 
pointed to respondent and told Salgado that respon­
dent as the attorney associated with N who would 
represent the Salgados in court. During one of his 
office visits, Salgado was given one of paralegal 
Enriquez's business cards, which as noted ante, has 
both the name "Law Offices of: James Robert 
Valinoti" and the insignia" N & Associates" printed 
at the top. 

The Salgados agreed to pay a $4,000 flat fee for 
both N's and respondent's services. That$4,000 fee 
was the combined total for handling both of the 
Salgados' cases. At the October 27, 1995, meeting, 
Salgado made a $300 payment on and agreed to make 
an additional paymentof$500 before JV would begin 
working on the Salgados' cases. Salgado agreed to 
paytheremainingbalanceinmorithlyinstallmentsof 
$125. 

N prepared asylwn applicationsforthe Salgados; 
had the Salgados sign them, and filed them without 
signing the preparer's declarations. Salgado did not, 
and could not have, read his asylumapplication before 
hesignedit;herelied.onNtoprepareithonestly. The 
INS denied the Sal_gados' applications and served 
them with deportation OSC's ordering them to ap­
pear in immigration court on June 12, 1996. 

Norma, Mr. Enriquez's wife, took the Salgados 
to immigration court on June 12, 1996. When they 
arrived, she introduced them to respondent and paid 
respondent a $300 cash fee. Respondent then ex­
ecuted and filed a "joint" Fonn EOIR-28 in the 



542 

Salgados' cases. At the hearing, respondent admitted 
the issues of the Salgados' deportability and desig• 
nated Mexico as their country of deportation. 
Respondent did not tell the IJ that N prepared and 
filed the Salgados' asylum applications without sign­
ing the preparer's declarations; however, he did 
withdraw the applications and request for suspension 
of deportation and voluntary departure in the alterna• 
tive. The U set the matter for merits hearings on 
October 8, 1996, at 1 :00 p.m. 

As of the June 1996 hearing, the only address 
and telephone number the Salgados had for respon­
dent were the address and telephone numbers of 'JV 
and respondent's Garvey Avenue offices. In the 
hearing department, respondent testified that, after 
the hearing, he instructed Salgado to come to his law 
office for help in preparing his paperwork or for him 
to review the Salgados' paperwork, but that Salgado 
told respondent that N was going to prepare the 
paperwork. However, consistent with Salgado 's cred• 
ible testimony, the hearing judge found ( 1) that, after 
the hearing, respondent instructed Salgado to return 
to JV and told him that N was going to be in charge 
of everything (i.e., preparing and filing the paper~ 
work) and (2) that respondent did not give the 
Salgados his business card or otherwise inform them 
how they could contact him. We adopt the hearing 
judge's findings .. 

After the June 1996 hearing, Salgado went to the 
Garvey A venue offices approximately eight times 
and made installment payments to N. He also made 
several attempts to speak with respondent, but either 
Mr. Enriquez or Norma told him that he could not do 
so and that he would have to speak with them about 
his and his wife's cases. N lied and told Salgado that 
their cases were going well. N was able to accom­
plish this because respondent failed to tell theSalgad9s 
how they could contact him. M9reover, respondent 
admits that he never told the Salgados that the scope 

"59. As in the Padilla matter, we do not rely on respondent's 
failure to call JV to verify that it had prepared and filed the 
Salgados' applications to support a finding of misconduct 
because, had respondent done so, he would have engaged in an 
additional act of aiding and abetting JV to represent aliens in 
violation of federal Jaw and to engage in the unauthorized 
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of his legal representation was limited to that of an 
"appearance attorney." He also admits that he never 
called or wrote the Salgados after the June 1996 
hearing. Moreover, respondent never called N to 
verify that it had prepared and filed Salgados' appli• 
cations for suspension of deportation before the filing 
deadline, nor did respondent prepare and file the 
applications himself. s9 

Respondent did not prepare for the October 8, 
1996, merits hearings in the Salgados' cases. Nor did 
he meet with, counsel and prepare the Salgados for 
those hearings. As respondent admits, by not prepar­
ing for the merits hearings, he did not know whether 

• the Salgados were even entitled to suspension of 
deportation relief or whether they were entitled to 
some other more favorable form ofrelief of which N 
was unaware. Shortly before the merits hearings, 
Salgado went to the Garvey Avenue offices and 
found that they had been closed. Salgado could not 
find N ' s new office. N never notified the Salgados 
when it moved its offices. Finally, the night before the 
merits hearings, Nonna telephoned Salgado and told 
him to come into N ' s new office the next morning 
with his wife and to bring $1,500 with him. 

The Salgados arrived at N ' s new office at 9:00 
a.m. the morning of October 8, 1996, and were told 
that their applications for suspension of deportation 
were not ready. In fact, the applications were not 
finished until 1 :05 p.m., at which time the Salgados 
and Heidi, a JV secretary, left for the immigration 
court. By the time they arrived, paid the applications' 
filing fees, and found respondent, their cases had 
already been called. Because they did not appear in 
court when their cases were called at 1 :20 p. rn., the 
IJ ruled that they abandoned their requests for relief 
and then, based on respondent's prior admissions of 
their deportabi Ii ty, ordered them deported in absentia. 
Understandably, Salgado became upset when he 
learned that he and his wife had been deported in 

practice of law. Nonetheless, we do consider respondent's° 
failure to contact N as strong evidence of his inability to 
understand his professional obligation to competently repre­
sent his immigration clients and to comprehend the extreme 
peril to which he exposed his clients by relying on and 
permining N to prepare his clients' applications. 
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absentia because he knew that deportation meant he 
would lose both his job and house. Accordingly, 
Salgado wanted to speak with the D and explain that 
it was not his or his wife's fault that they missed their 
hearings, but respondent did not even attempt to find 
the D for Salgado. Instead, respondent told Salgado 
that the Salgados • only option was to file motions to 
reopen their cases, gave the Salgados one of his 
business cards, and handed Heidi copies of the IJ's 
deportation orders. After they retained new counsel, 
the Salgados were eventually able to have their cases 
reopened on the grounds that respondent's represen­
tation of them was incompetent.60 

When the IJ called Salgados' cases at 1 :20 p.rn., 
the D asked respondent where his clients were, and 
respondent replied: "I have absolutely no idea where 
my clients are, your Honor. They never came into my 
office for preparation of the suspension application. I 
advised them they should make an appointment atmy 
office and either speak with me or one of my 
paralegals in my office so that we could assist in the 
preparation of their applications. [,] They never 
came to my office, and I have not had physical 
contact. I have not - they have not been in my 
presence since the last hearing." 

The IJ went on to state on the record that the 
Salgados had actual notice of the hearing and "also 
their failure to contact their attorney to file their 
applications for relief suggests their position with 
respect to these deportation proceedings. There cer­
tainly is no exceptional circumstances on this record 
for their failure to appear. [,r] And before [the 
SalgadosJ are ordered deported to Mexico and all 
applications for relief are deemed abandoned, I am 
serving the written orders in this case. [The Salgados] 
do not have a right to appeal the decision in their case. 
Their remedy is to reopen, if in fact there were 
exceptional circumstances for their failure to be 
here." Respondent then stated: "Your Honor, while 

60. Salgado is one of the clients whose credibility respondent 
attacks on the ground that Salgado signed fraudulent declaration 
that JV prepared in suppon of a motion to reopen Salgado's 
case. Salgado admitted, in the hearing department, that he knew 
!he declaration contained a false statement when he signed it, 
but explained that JV insisted that signing it was the only way 
he could have his case reopened and avoid being deported and 
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we are still on the record, as my clients had never 
come to my office subsequent to the last hearing, I 
would make a motion to withdraw as attorney of 
record, as they have not assisted me in the prepara­
tion of their cases. And I would also, if that is granted, 
I would request that the notice of being deported in 
absentia be mailed directly to them.;, The IJ promptly 
denied respondent's motion. 

The hearing judge found respondentmisled and 
misrepresented the truth to the D "by making it seem 
that [Salgado] did not want to contact Respondent or 
one ofhis paralegals for assistance in the preparation 
of his application .... " The hearing judge further 
found that respondent mislead the U into believing 
that the Salgados had abandoned their cases when 
respondent told the D ''that he had absolutelyno idea 
where his clients were." We agree and adopt the 
hearingjudge 's findings. Under section 6068, subdi­
vision (d), attorneys have a duty"[t]o employ, for the 
purpose of maintaining the causes confided to him or 
her those means only as are consistent with truth ... .'161 

That statute "requires an attorney to refrain from 
misleading and deceptive acts without qualification. 
[Citation.] It does not admit of any exceptions." 
(Rodgers v. State Bar (1989) 48 Cal.3d 300, 389.) 
"No distinction can therefore be drawn among con­
cealment, half-truth, and false statement of fact. 
[Citation.]" Grovev. StateBar(I 965) 63 Cal.2d 312, 
315.) "A member of the bar should not under any 
circumstances attempt to deceive another. [Cita­
tions.] 'An attorney's practice of deceit involves 
moral turpitude.' [Citation.]" (Segretti v. State Bar 
( 1976) 15 Cal.3d 878, 888.) In short, respondent had 
an affirmative duty to insure that all of his statements 
to the IJ were complete, true, and not misleading. 
With respect to his motion to withdraw as attorney of 
record, this duty required him to fully and completely 
disclose all relevant facts and circumstances to the IJ. 
(Cf. Di Sabatino v. State Bar (1980) 27 Cal.3d 159, 
163.) 

losing his job and house. ln light of Salgado' s testimony, the 
hearingjudge found that Salgado' s execution of the fraudulent 
declaration did not impeach his credibility. We agree. 

61. To the same effect is rule S-200(A). Additionally, section 
6128, subdivision (a), makes it a misdemeanor to intentionally 
deceive a court or a pany. 
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Contrary to respondent's statements to the IJ, 
respondent never told the Salgados to make an 
appointment at his office and to either speak with him 
or one of his paralegals so that he could assist them 
in preparing their applications. As noted ante, respon­
dent told Salgado something completely different. He 
told Salgado to return to N and that JV was going to 
be in charge of everything. Moreover, as note ante, 
respondent never even told the Salgados how to 
contact him after he appeared with them at the initial 
hearing in their cases; respondent moved out of the 
Garvey Avenue offices in late 1995 or early 1996. 
Moreover, respondent did not disclose to the U that he 
was relying on and permitting N to prepare and the 
Salgados' applications for suspension of deportation. 
We hold that respondent made the foregoing false 
statements to the U and that respondent failed to tell 
the IJ the foregoing facts, which were unquestionably 
relevant to respondent's motions to withdraw, with 
the intent of misleading the IJ and of securing a 
favorable ruling on his motions to withdraw. (Cf. 
Pickering v. State Bar (1944) 24 Cal.2d 141, 144; 
Davis v. State Bar (1983) 33 Cal.3d 231, 239-240.) 
Accordingly, we adopt the hearingj udge 's conclusion 
that respondent willfullyviolated section 6106 (moral 
turpitude) as charged in count 15 when respondent 
misled and misrepresented the truth to the IJ at the 
October 8, 1996, merits hearing. 

In addition, we adopt the hearingjudge' s conclu­
sion that respondent willfully violated rule 3-11 0(A) 
as charged in count 14 by repeatedly and recklessly 
failing to competently perform the legal services that 
he had a legal and professional duty to perform 
services in the Salgados' immigration proceedings as 
he did not meet and review the Salgados' case with 
them before the initial hearing in June 1996, and he 
never filed the Salgados' applications for suspension 
of deportation or prepared for the merits hearings on 
them. We also adopt the hearing judge's determina­
tions that the State Bar failed to prove the violations 
of rules 3-700(D)(l) and 3-700(A)(2) as charged in 
counts 16 and 17, respectively. Accordingly, we 
dismiss those counts with prejudice. 

Finally, weadoptthehearingjudge'sdetermina­
tions that respondent is culpable of two counts of 
uncharged misconduct in this client matter, which are 
appropriately considered as uncharged misconduct 
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aggravation. First, we adopt the hearing judge's 
determination that respondent willfully violated rule 
3-700(D)(l) by abandoning the Salgados after the 
October 8, 1996, merits hearings. Second, we adopt 
the hearing judge's determination that respondent 
willfully violated section 6068, subdivision (m), by 
failing to adequately communicate with the Salgados. 
Respondent never contacted the Salgados about 
filing motions to reopen their cases. 

4. The lsrail matter. 

In 1992, Amilie Israil, a national ofSyria, filed an 
application for asylum. At that time, she was wid­
owed, 68 years' old, and had lived in the United States 
for about 13 years with one of her sons and his wife, 
Arpine Misislyan. 

When she testified in the hearing department, 
Israil was 7 5 years' old. At all relevant times, she ( 1) 
did not speak, read, write, or understand English; (2) 
signed her name with an "x"; (3) suffered from high 
blood pressure; and( 4)hadlittle, if any, understanding 
ofUnited States immigration laws and procedures, of 
her State Bar disciplinary complaint against respon­
dent, orof these State Bar Courtproceedings. Because 
of these facts and because he concluded that Israil 
had a propensity to be led while being questioned, the 
hearingjudge found Israil 's testimony to be "suspect" 
and concluded that the State Bar failed to establish 
respondent's culpability on any of the misconduct 
charged in this matter. We, however, hold that 
respondent's culpability on two of the counts of 
misconduct charged in this matter is clearly estab­
lished by evidence independent oflsrail 's testimony. 

The INS denied Israil's asylum application in 
1994 and served a deportation OSC on her in Febru­
ary 1996. Soon thereafter, Misislyan saw one of 
Baliozian immigration services' advertisements on 
television. In February 1 996, Misislyan and Israil met 
with Baliozian at his and respondent's offices on 
Lankershim Boulevard. At that meeting, Baliozian 
was retained to obtain a green card for Israil, Misislyan 
paid Baliozian $500 in fees for Israil, and Misislyan 
took one ofrespondent' s business cards thatBaliozian 
had out on his (i.e., Baliozian's) desk Thereafter, 
Misislyan paid Baliozian an additional $1,000 in fees 
for Israil, and Baliozian referred Israil to his office­
mate, respondent. 
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On April 15, 1996, respondent filed a Form 
EOIR-28 in lsrail's case. On May 8, 1996, respon­
dent and Israil appeared at the initial hearing in Israil' s 
case, and respondent admitted to Israil 's deportabil­
ity, designating Syria as her country of deportation. 
Respondent then withdrew Israil's asylum applica­
tion and requested suspension of deportation and 
voluntary departure in the alternative. Next, respon­
dent told the IJ he intended to file, with the INS, an 
Application to Register Permanent Resident or Ad­
just Status (INS Form I-485 [Rev. 09/09/92]) 
(hereafter Form 1-485 application) seeking to have 
Israil 's immigration status adjusted to that ofa lawful 
permanent resident. Respondent further stated that 
he would seek such an adjustment for Israil on the 
"preferential" basis of Israil being a relative of a 
United States citizen, as two oflsrail' s children were 
soon to become naturalized citizens. To obtairt an 
adjustment on the basis ofbeing a relative of a citizen, 
the citizen relative must execute and file, with the 
INS, a Petition for Alien Relative (INS Form 1-130 
[Rev. 4/11/91]) (hereafter 1-130 petition). The IJ set 
a merits hearing in Israil 'scase for June 19, 1996, and 
ordered that Israil's application for suspension of 
deportation and the 1-130 petition be filed by that 
same day. 

lsrai I's daughter became a naturalized citizen on 
May 31, 1996, but respondent did not file the 1-130 
petition, or the Form 1-485 application, until the 
momingoftheJune 19, 1996,meritshearing.Bothof 
those documents where skeletal and supported with 
only limited documentation. Moreover, respondent 
never prepared an application for suspension of 
deportation for Israil. Instead, when he and lsrail 
appeared at the June 19, 1996, merits hearing, he 
withdrew Israil 's request for suspension of deporta­
tion and elected to pursue only her request to become 
a lawful permanent resident based on the citizenship 
of her daughter as set forth in the I-130 petition he 
filed with the INS earlierthat morning. Obviously, the 
INS had not adjudicated the I-130 petition at the time 
of the June merits hearing; accordingly, the U did not 

62. Local operating procedure I provides: "All matters shall 
proceed at the time and date scheduled for hearing. Parties shall 
be prepared to go forward with their cases at that time." Local 
operating procedure 5 requires that all requests for continuance 
ofindividual calendar hearings, such as a merits hearings, be in 
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have jurisdiction over it. In fact, if the INS granted the 
1-130 petition, Israil 's deportation proceeding would 
effectively be moot and the IJ could dismiss the case. 
To give the INS time to adjudicate thel-130petition, 
IJ rescheduled the hearing in lsrail' s case for Novem­
ber 14, 1996, at 8:30a.m. 

As of the November 1996 hearing date, the INS 
had still notadjudicated the 1-130 petition; yet, respon­
dent failed to file a motion to continue that hearing on 
that ground as required by the local operating proce­
dures. 62 Nor did respondent even appear at that 
hearing. Instead, he sent attorney Jensen from his law 
office in his place. Shortly before 8:30 a.m. on 
November 14, 1996, attorney Jensen filed a Form 
EOIR-28 with the clerk in the courtroom of the U 
presiding over Israil 's case, but Jensen then left the 
courtroom without telling anyone. 

Even though Israil was in the hallway outside of 
the courtroom no later than 8: 15 a.m. on November 
14, she did not go in the courtroom because she was 
waiting for respondent. Respondent never told her to 
go in even ifhe was not there. Israil's case was first 
called at 8:30 a.m., but no one appeared. Thus, the 
court's Arabic interpreter went out into the hallway 
and called Israil 's name, but she did not hear him ( she 
was 72 years old at the time). The U waited until 9 :05 
a.m. before he called Israil 's case a second time, and 
when no one appeared, he deemed all of Israil's 
requests for relief abandoned, found her deportable 
based on respondent's prior admission, and ordered 
her deported in absentia. 

Attorney Jensen returned to the courtroom at 
about 9:30 a.m. and learned that lsrail 's requests for 
relief were deemed abandoned and that she had been 
deported in absentia. The Utold attorney Jensen (I) 
that Jensen's early morning check-in with his court 
clerk was not an appearance for Israil because he left 
the courtroom without telling anyone and (2) that the 
first appearance in Israil's case was when Jensen 
returned to court at about 9:30 a.m., which was 25 

writing, filed no later than 14 days before the scheduled hearing, 
and supported by declarations setting forth in detail the nature 
of the request and the reasons for it. Procedure 5 provides: "The 
request will be rejected un I ess all required information is 
provided." 
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minutes after Israil's case had been called a second 
time and she had been ordered deported. Jensen 
asked the U to reopen Israil 's case, but the U refused 
to do so because, as the IJ stated, respondent repeat­
edly failed to appear for immigration court hearings 
and to file properly prepared documents for his 
clients. The U infonned Jensen that the pleading 
respondent had filed in Israi] 's case was "one of the 
shoddiest" he "had seen in a long time" and indicated 
that there was no evidence in the record on which he 
could grant Israil relief even if he reopened her case. 
Jensen claimed to have such evidence with him, but 
the U refused to accept it because, under the local 
operating procedures, respondent was required to 
have filed it at least two weeks before the November 
hearing. The U further noted that respondent rou­
tinely · failed to comply with the local operating 
procedures and that, therefore, "every case [ respon­
dent] has is a problem." 

The IJ reprimanded Jensen ( 1) for not knowing 
that the INS had still not adjudicated the I-130petition, 
which meant that the IJ could not have ruled on 
Israil 's request for legal permanent residency status 
even if Jensen had appeared with Israjl when her 
case was called, and (2) for not filing a motion for a 
continuance on that ground. 

Israil and Misislyan believe that they hired 
Baliozian and that Baliozian hired respondent to 
represent them in court. They do not know if or how 
much Baliozian paid respondent. Israil does not know 
what duties, if any, respondent owed her. She blames 
Baliozian, not respondent, for being ordered de­
ported. However, any confusion Israil and Misislyan 
have over the extent of respondent's duties or whom 
they blame for lsrail being ordered deported is imma­
terial. Once respondent filed the Form EOIR-28 in 
Israil 's case, he undertook the duties federal law 
places on him as an attorney of record to properly 
prepare and timely file all applications, pleadings, and 
other documents in his client's case and to timely 
appear at every hearing with his client ready to . 
proceed. 

We cone lude that respondent willfully violated 
rule 3-1 l0(A) as charged in count 18 birepeatedly 
and recklessly failing to competently perform the 
legal services that he had a legal and professional duty 
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to perform in lsrail's immigration case, and we 
reverse the hearing judge's conclusion to the con­
trary. Respondent failed to adequately prepare the 
1-130 petition and to support it with sufficient evi­
dence on which Israil could have prevailed, orwithat 
least the supporting evidence that Jensen claimed to 
have had with him when he appeared in court for 
Israil. Respondent failed to file a motion to continue 
the November 1996 hearing on the ground that the 
INS had not yet adjudicated I-130 petition. Respon­
dent did not appear at that hearing, but sent attorney 
Jensen in his place. Jensen did not properly and timely 
appear in respondent's place; Jensen was an hour 
late. Because respondent recklessly practiced law 
and failed to establish that he properly trained and 
supervised Jensen, he is ethically responsible for 
Jensen's failure to timely appear. 

We also hold that respondent willfully violated 
rule 3-700(A)(2) as charged in count 19 when he 
withdrew from employment without taking reason­
able steps to prot<:ct Israil 's interest, and we reverse 
the hearing judge's conclusion to the contrary. Re­
spondent withdrew his representation because he 
failed to properly prepare the 1-130 petition, failed to 
contact lsrail after the November 1996 hearing, and 
failed to take any steps to reopen Israil' s case. Before 
respondent withdrew, he did not take steps to avoid 
reasonably foreseeable prejudice to Israil's rights. 
Weagreewiththehearingjudge'sdeterminationthat 
the State Bar failed to establish that respondent 
violated section 6068, subdivision (m), as charged in 
count 20. Accordingly, we dismiss count 20 with 
prejudice. 

5. The Calderon matter. 

Francisco Calderon and his wife, Bertha Gordillo 
(hereafter individually Calderon and Gordillo, respec­
tively, and collectively the Calderons ), nationals of 
Guatemala, filed applications for asylum. At all rel­
evant times, the Calderons did not speak or have 
much, ifany, knowledge of English. When Calderon 
testified in the hearing department, he and Gordillo 
had lived in the United States for eight years, during 
most of which Calderon was a machine operator in a 
paper bag factory in the City of Industry, California. 
In Guatemala, Calderon was a grammar school. 
teacher. 
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The INS denied the Calderons' asylum applica­
tions in which the Calderons stated, that if they 
returned to Guatemala, they feared that they would 
be killed or jailed because of Calderon's activities as 
a student activist in Guatemala. After the INS served 
deportation OSC's on them, the Calderons hired the 
nonattorney immigration services provider INTI Im­
migration Service (hereafter IIS) to. handle their 
cases. They initially paid IIS $600. IIS hired respon­
dent to represent the Calderons in immigration court 
beginning with hearings set for January 22, 1996. 
Respondent filed Forms EOIR-28 in the Calderons' 
cases on January 22, 1996. 

Before the January 1996 hearings, Calderon 
gave respondent a folder containing extensive docu­
mentation ofhis life and activist activities in Guatemala. 
When respondent and the Calderons appeared at the 
hearing, respondent renewed the Calderons' asylum 
applications and requested voluntary departure in the 
alternative. The IJ was quite accommodating with 
respondent in setting the merits hearing on the 
Calderons' asylum applications. Only after discuss­
ingmultiple dates and times with respondent and after 
exacting an agreement from respondent that he 
would not have any conflicting court appearances 
and would be ready to proceed on the merits, did the 
IJ set the merits hearings for April 19, 1996, at 1 :00 
p.m. as an accommodation to respondent. 

The only way the Calderons knew to contact 
respondent was through IIS. After the January 1996 
hearing, respondent did not give the Calderons his 
business card. The Calderons were told to communi­
cate with IIS, not respondent. Respondent did not 
communicate with the Calderons between the Janu~ 
ary 1996 hearing and the April 1996 merits hearing. 
Nonetheless, respondent claims that he prepared for 
the April merits hearing by reviewing the Calderons' 
applications and supporting documents, but it is undis­
puted that he never counseled and prepared the 
Calderons for their merits hearings. 

Finally, respondent spoke with Calderon right 
before the April 1996 merits hearings outside of the 
immigration courtroom. Calderon gave respondent a 
note from Gordillo' s doctor stating that she was 
unable appear at the hearings because she had 
recently had a baby. Respondent checked in with the 
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clerk and told Calderon to wait for him in the court­
room. When the Calderons' cases were called, 
respondent was not there, and Calderon did not 
understand what was going on and became very 
confused. The IJ told Calderon to wait for respondent 
to return; however, respondent never returned be­
cause he went to appear in a hearing for another 
client. After all the other cases were called and after 
waiting for more than an hour1 the IJ told Calderon 
that he would not wait any longer. The D told 
Calderon that he would give the Calderons new 
hearing dates and send the notices of the new dates 
to respondent, but Calderon did not completely under­
stand what the IJ was doing or why. Accordingly, 
Calderon became more confused and upset, and he 
felt abandoned by respondent. Because respondent 
never contact them after the April 1996 hearing, the 
Calderons decided to hire a new attorney. 

When the Calderons attempted to obtain their 
client fi1es and all the documents that they gave to IIS 
and respondent to support their asylum claims, TIS 
told them that respondent had their files, but that it 
would try to get them from respondent. Calderon 
called IIS for the next two months, but never got the 
files or documents. Respondent's testimony as 
whether IlS ever gave him the Calderons' and as to 
what happened to the Calderons' files and documents 
is vague and evasive; yet, he claims to have reviewed 
them all during his preparation for the April 1996 
merits hearings. BeginninginJuly 1996, the Calderons' 
new attorney repeatedly asked respondent for the 
Calderons' files, but respondent informed the new 
attorney that IIS, not he, had them. Respondent never 
returned the Calderons' file or documents. We adopt 
the hearingjudge' s finding that respondent willfully 
violated section 6106 by misrepresenting to the 
Calderons, or to their new attorney, that he did not 
have their files and documents. However, because 
the State Bar failed to charge this violation, we 
consider it only for purposes ofaggravation as did the 
hearingj udge. 

We conclude that respondent willfully violated 
rule 3-1 lO(A) as charged in count 21 by repeatedly, 
recklessly, and intentionally failing to competently 
perform the legal services that he had a legal and 
professional duty to perform in the Calderons' cases, 
and we reverse the hearingjudge's conclusion to the 
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contrary. Respondent did not meet with, counsel, and 
prepare the Calderons for the April • 1996 merits 
hearings; nor was respondent even in the courtroom 
when the Calderons' cases were called for hearings; 
nor did he contact the Calderons after the April 1996 
merits hearings. Respondent intentionally failed to 
perform when he left Calderon in the immigration 
courtroom on April 19, 1996, and never returned. 

We adopt the hearing judge's conclusion that 
respondent willfully violated rule 3-700(D)(l) as 
chargedincowit23 by failing to return to theCalderons, 
or to their new attorney, their client files and docu­
ments notwithstanding their new attorney's repeated 
requests that he do so. Finally, we.agree with and 
adopt the hearing judge's determinations that the 
State Bar failed to establish respondent's culpability 
of the violations of rules 3-700(A )(2) and 3-700(D)(2) 
charged in counts 22 and 24, respectively. Accord­
ingly, we dismiss those counts with prejudice. 

6. The Guevara matter. 

In summer 1996, Ruben Torres-Guevara63 (here­
after Guevara) and his wife, Silvia Torres (hereafter 
Torres) retained A.P. & Sons, a nonattomey immi­
gration services firm owned by Alberto Perez 
(hereafter Perez), to obtain a workpennit for Guevara 
and to handle the Guevara's, Torres's, and their 
oldest son's (hereafter collectively the Guevaras) 
immigration cases. The Guevaras are nationals of 
Mexico. All of their dealings with AP. & Sons were 
through Perez. At all relevant times, Guevara spoke 
and read only a limited amount of Engl ish.64 When he 
testified in the hearing department, he had worked for 
11 years as an assembler in a factory in Moorpark, 
California. 

When the Guevaras hired Perez in I 996, Guevara 
had lived in the United States for thirteen years, and 

63. Torres-Guevara is another witness whom the hearing judge 
expressly found to be credible notwithstanding respondent's 
attacks on Torres-Guevara's credibility. Again, we adopt the 
hearingjudge 's credibility determination. • 

64. The record does not indicate Torres's educational level or 
whether she understood English. 
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Torres and their oldest son had lived in the United 
States for eight years. Perez charged Guevara $600 
or $700. Perez told Guevara that he had attomey_s 
associated with him who would appear in court with 
the Guevaras and that, each time one of his associate 
attorneys appeared in court, Guevara would have to 
pay an additional fee of$225 for the attorney. Perez 
prepared an asylum application for Guevara, had him 
sign it, and filed it without signing the preparer's 
• declaration.65 

During his asylum interview in August 1996, 
Guevara told an INS official that he was not seeking 
asylum in the United States, that he was not_ afraid of 
beingpersecutedifhereturnedtoMexico,butthathe 
was seeking a green card based on his living in the 
United States for more than seven years. Accord­
ingly, the INS denied Guevara's application and 
served a deportation OSC on htm setting his initial 
hearing for October 28, 1996, at 8: 30 a.m. (hereafter 
initial hearing). 

Perez referred Guevara to respondent. Respon­
dent filed ajointFormEOIR-28 in the Guevaras' case 
on October 28, 1996, before the initial hearing. Right 
before the hearing began, Perez paid respondent a 
$225 cash fee, and respondent met the Guevaras for 
the first time, but did not speak with them about their 
case. At the initial hearing, respondent admitted the 
Guevaras' deportability and designated Mexico as 
their country of deportation. Respondent did not tell 
the U that Perez had prepared Guevara's asylum 
application without signing the preparer's declara­
tion. He did, however, withdrawtheasylum application 
and request suspension of deportation relief for the 
Guevaras and voluntary departure in the alternative. 
The lJ ordered the applications for suspension of 
deportation filed by December 6, 1996, and set them 
for a joint merits hearing on July 1, 1997 (hereafter 
merits hearing). 

65. Many facts arc not clear from the State Bar's presentation 
of this client matter in the hearing department. For example, at 
times, Guevara's testimony implies that Perez represented 
only Guevara and that only one application for suspension of 
deportation was to be prepared when it is appears that an 
application should have been prepared for each Guevara. 
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The hearing judge (I) properly rejected 
respondent's testimony that, immediately after the 
initial hearing, he met with Guevara in the hallway 
outside the courtroom and warned Guevara that 
Perez was unreliable and known not to file applica­
tions for his alien clients. The hearing judge also 
properly found that, immediately after the hearing, 
respondent •'rushed off to another courtroom" with­
out giving Guevara any instructions about preparing 
the Guevaras' applications for suspension of deporta­
tion. 

Shortly after the initial hearing, Guevara gave ( 1) • 
Perez a $ 100 check for the filing fee for Guevara's 
application for suspension of deportation and (2) 
multiple documents supporting that application. 
Guevara thought Perez would be preparing his appli­
cation under respondent's direction and that 
respondent would be filing the application with the 
court. At one point, Perez lied and told Guevara that 
his application had been filed. Guevara was unable to 
verify Perez's statement with respondent because he 
did not know how to contact respondent. Neither 
Perez nor respondent prepared an application for any 
of the Guevaras before the expiration of the filing 
deadline. In fact, Perez prepared an application only 
for Guevara and even then waited untiIJune 30, 1997, 
which was the day before merits hearing, to prepare 
it. 

On either the day before oron the morning of the 
merits hearing, respondent or his law office discov• 
ered, purportedly for the first time, that Perez never 
prepared or filed the Guevaras' applications for 
suspension of deportation before the December 1996 
filing deadline, that the only person for whom Perez 
even prepared an application was Guevara, and that 
Perez had not filed the application he prepared for 
Guevara. Respondent did not appear at the merits 
hearing; instead, he sent attorney Arias, an experi­
enced immigration attorney from his law office, to 
appear in his place. When Arias and the Guevaras 
appeared at the hearing, the U properly required 

66. Thereponer'stranscriptofthishearing(StateBarexhibit54) 
incorrectly refers to attorney Arias as Mimi Juarez; while the 
reponer's transcript of the hearing in the immigration court's 
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attorney Arias to file a Form EOIR-28 before he 
would proceed.66 

After she filed a Form EOIR-28 and the hearing 
began, Arias attempted to file the application that 
Perez had prepared for Guevara the day before, but 
the U refused to accept it because it was untimely. 
Arias explained to the U that she had just recently 
started working for respondent and did not lmow why 
the applications were never timely filed. Accordingly, 
she requested a continuance so that respondent could 
appear and explain why the applications were never 
filed. However, after briefly questioning Guevara and 
learning that respondent never contacted the Guevaras 
after the initial hearing in October 1996; that Guevara 
was not able to communicate with respondent after 
the initial hearing; that respondent had done nothing to 
prepare the Guevaras' applications during the seven 
or eight months since initial hearing; and that the 
application that Arias attempted to file with the IJ was 
prepared by "notary" Perez, the IJ rejected Arias's 
request for a continuance. The IJ stated that he held 
Arias and respondent "responsible for what has 
occurred; complete irresponsibility in terms of what 
has been going on. This is not the first time that this 
has happened. This has happened before, within the 
last month, with Mr. Valinoti. Idonotlmowwhathis 
problem is." Arias agreed that it was respondent's 
responsibility to properly represent his clients and to 
prepare and timely file his clients' applications and 
other documents and that respondent's conduct was 
shameful. She advised the Guevaras to obtain new 
counsel and appropriately located new counsel for 
them. 

Because respondent failed to file the Guevaras' 
applications, the U ruled that the Guevaras' requests 
for relief were deemed abandoned and granted them 
voluntary departure, but ordered them deported if 
they did not voluntarily depart. Thereafter, the 
Guevaras • new counsel filed a motion to reopen their 
cases, but the IJ denied the Guevaras' motion. The 
Guevaras then appealed the IJ' s ruling to the BIA, but 

file (State Bar exhibit 56) refers co her as "Maria Zarios 
(phonetic sp. ). " 
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the BIA affirmed the U's order and dismissed the 
Guevaras' appeal67 Next, the Guevaras appealed the 
BIA' s decision to the United States Court of Appeals 
for the Ninth Circuit. In an unpublished opinion filed 
on June 29, 2000, the Ninth Circuit reversed the BIA 
and the U's rulings and remanded the cases for 
further proceedings.68 

We adopt the hearing judge's conclusion that 
respondentwillfullyviolatedrule 3-11 0(A) as charged 
in count25 by repeatedly, recklessly, and intentionally 
failing to competently perform the legal services that 
he had a legal and professional duty to perform in the 
Guevaras' immigration cases. Respondent did not 
meet with the Guevaras and review their case before 
the initial hearing in October 1996. Respondent failed 
to prepare and file an application for suspension of 
deportation for each of the three Guevaras before the 
December 1996 filing deadline. Respondent admits 
that he never intended to prepare and file the 
Guevaras' applications, but relied on Perez to do so. 
Respondent failed to prepare for the July 1997 merits 
hearing and could not have prepared for that hearing 
since he had not prepared the Guevaras' applications 
for suspension of deportation. Respondent failed to 
meet with, counsel, and prepare the Guevaras for the 
merits hearing. In addition, we adopt the hearing 
judge's determinations that respondent's failure to 

communicate with the Guevaras between the Octo­
ber 1996 hearing and the July 1997 merits hearing 
( § 6068, subd. (m) ), and gross negligence in handling 
the Guevaras' cases (rule 3-1 lO(A)), are both un­
charged acts of misconduct, which are appropriately 
considered for purposes of aggravation. 

7. The Jerez matter. 

In June 1992, Megaly Hernandez-Jerez (hereaf­
ter Jerez), a national of Nicaragua, filed an asylum 

67. The BIA ruled that: ''The record reflects that the Immigration 
Judge may have accepted the late-filed application of another 
alien who had been represented by [Valinoti]. However, the 
Immigration Judge chose not to accept [the Guevaras'] late­
filed application. There does not appear to be any invidious 
reason underlying the Immigration Judge's decision and we 
therefore find that she acted within the authority granted her 
by regulation. Accordingly, we dismiss the [Guevaras'] ap­
peal." 
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application. At all relevant times, she did not under­
stand English. After her asylum interview in February 
1996, the INS denied Jerez's application and served 
a deportation OCS on her setting her initial hearing for 
May IO, 1996, at 8:00 a.rn. Jerez appeared at that 
hearing in propria persona. The D continued the initial 
hearing until August 12, 1996, to allow her time to 
obtain an attorney. When Jerez was leaving the 
immigration court, nonattomey immigration services 
provider Isabel Bernal approached Jerez and gave 
Jerez a business card describing Bernal as a "Legal 
Assistant/Interpreter" and "A Professional Law 
Corporation [,i] Casos Legales/Immigraction En 
General. "69 

Thereafter, Jerez met with Bernal, at which time 
Bernal told Jerez that she and "her attorneys" could 
take care of Jerez' sand her pre-school age daughter's 
(hereafter collectively the Jerezes) immigration case. 
Jerez retained Bernal and paid her $500 in fees on 
August 5, 1996. Next, Bernal retained respondent to 
representthe Jerezes and at the initial hearing, which 
had been continued to August 12, 1996, hearing. 
Respondent did not appear at the hearing. Instead, he 
sent attorney Kazaryan from his law office, who filed 
a Form EOIR-28 in the Jerezes' case designating 
"James Robert Valinoti, [~] ... Kazaryan" as the 
Jerezes attorneys of record. At the hearing, attorney 
Kazaryan renewed and requested a de novo heari~g 
on the merits of Jerez's asylum. The IJ set such a 
hearing for January 14, 1997 (hereafter merits hear­
ing). 

Between the initial hearing in August 1996 and 
the merits hearing in January 1997, neither respon­
dent nor anyone from his law office communicated 
with Jerez. Respondent did not meet, counsel, or 
prepare Jerez for the merits hearing. More impor­
tantly, respondent did not meet with Jerez before the 

68. Even though the parties failed to call this opinion to our 
attention, we are required to take judicial noticeofitsua spontc. 
(Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 214; Evid. Code,§§ 451, subd. 
(a), 459, subd. (a).) 

69. Bernal's card was clearly deceptive because only attorneys 
(not legal assistants and nonattorney immigration service5 
providers) may forrn a professional law corporation in the State 
ofCalifomia. (§ 6165.) 
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merits hearing to determine whether her asylum 
application was fraudulent or meritorious or whether 
Jerez qualified for some other form of immigration 
relief. Had he done so, he would have learned that, 
since she filed her asylum application in June 1992, 
she had married a lawful permanent resident of the 
United States; had two daughters with her husband, 
who are both United States citizens by reason of their 
births in the United States; and had been physically 
and mentally abused by her husband, whi~h would 
have supported a claim for suspension of deportation 
relief based on spousal abuse. 

The day before the merits hearing, in response to 
a demand from Bernal, Jerez gave Bernal a $100 
check made payable to respondent as respondent's 
attorney• s fees. Bernal gave the check to respondent, 
and he cashed it. Respondent first met Jerez for the 
first time shortly before the merits hearing and, for the 
first time, asked her what evidence she had to support 
her claim for asylum. At that point, respondent 
detennined for the first time that Jerez did not have 
enough evidence to support her claim for asylum. 
Accordingly, he told Jerez that her evidence was 
insufficient and that the best thing she could do was 
topennit hlmto withdraw her asylum application and 
get voluntary departure for her and her alien daugh­
ter. In shock from respondent's advice, she agreed. 
At the merits hearing, respondent withdrew her 
asylum application and requested voluntary depar-· 
ture, which the IJ granted. 

Even after the merits hearing, respondent never 
communicated with Jerez or otherwise reviewed her 
case and determined whether she qualified for some 
form of relief other than asylum. Eventually, Jerez 
sought and obtained the assistance of Rosa Fregoso, 
an attorney with the Legal Aid Foundation of Los 
Angeles. Attorney Fregoso filed a motion to have the 

70. Immigration Judge Ohata, who presided in Ramirez's case, 
warned respondent in early 1997 that aliens were appearing in 
his court with Bell Service's busin~ss cards, on which Bell 
Service identified itself as an immigration and tax service and 
on which respondent's name and title ofattomey was printed. 
Respondent denied being the attorney for Bell Service. Judge 
Ohata warned respondent that pennitting Bell Service to put 
his name and title on its business cards could lead to serious 
problems and correctly "suggested" that respondent make sure 
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Jerezes' case reopened and the IJ's order of volun­
tary departure set aside based on respondent's 
incompetent representation, which the IJ granted. 
Thereafter, the Jerezes obtained legal permanent 
residency ,vithout their ever having to leave the 
United States under the IJ's order of voluntary 
departure, albeit under a law not in effect when 
respondent last represented the Jerezes in January 
1997. 

We conclude that respondent willfully violated 
rule 3-1 l 0(A) as charged in count 26 by repeatedly 
and recklessly failing to competently perform the 
legal services that he had a legal and professional duty 
to perform in the Jerezes' immigration case, and we 
reverse the hearing judge's conclusion to the con­
trary. Respondent recklessly failed to review Jerez' s 
case and determine whether her asylum claim was 
appropriate or whether she was entitled to seek some 
other form of relief, and he recklessly failed to 
prepare himself and Jerez for the merits hearing. The 
fact that the Jerezes were eventually able to have 
their case reopened strongly suggests that 
respondent's representation of them was not just 
reckless, but clearly incompetent. 

8. The Ramirez matter. 

Rosa hired Bell Service, an immigration services 
provider that is owned and operated by nonattomey 
Roberto Lemus, to help her obtain legal residency. 
Bell Service prepared an asylum application for 
Ramirez, had her sign it, and filed it without signing the 
preparer's declaration. The INS denied the applica­
tion and served a deportation OSC on Ramirez with 
the initial hearing set for November 13, 1996. _ 

Ramirez retained respondent through Bell Ser­
vice70 and paid $200 in advanced attorney's foes for 

that Bell Service removed his name from its business cards. 
Respondent did not do so, and six months later, aliens were. 
againappearinginJudgeOhata's·courtwitbBellService'scards 
with respondent's name and title of attorney on them. Judge 
Ohataagain suggested that respondent lake care of the problem 
and keep his name off Bell Service's business cards and told 
respondent that Bell Service might well be engaging in the 
unauthorized practice of law. 
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his appearance with her at the initial hearing. Right 
_ before the hearing, respondent met Ramirez for the 

first time and filed a Form EOIR-28. At the hearing, 
respondent did not infonn the U that Bell Service filed 
Ramirez's asylum application without signing the 
preparer' s declaration; nor did respondent withdraw 
Ramirez's asy }um application. Accordingly, the U set 
a merits hearing on theappltcation for May 20, 1997. 

It is undisputed that, at some point, the May 20, 
1997, merits hearing was continued twice. The sec­
ond time was on October 8, 1997, whentheimmigration 
court reset the hearing for November 28, 1997, and 
when the court properly mailed respondent notice of 
the November 1997 hearing date to his office address 
at 3540 Wilshire Boulevard, which was the address 
that court's central administrative office had on 
record for respondent. However, as note ante, re­
spondent moved his office to 510 West Sixth Street, 
Suite 924 in July 1997, without properlynotifying the 
immigration court's central administrative office until 
sometime after October 8, 1997. 

- Respondent admits that, for the year between 
November 1996 and November 1997, he did not 
speak with Ramirez. He also admits that he never 
prepared any documents to ~upport Ramirez's asy­
lum application and that he left all of the document 
preparation to Bell Services. In October 1997, Ramirez 
paid an additional $200 in fees for respondent's 
appearance at the November 1997 merits hearing. 

Respondent, however, did not attend that hear­
ing. Minutes before the hearing was scheduled to 
begin, respondent approached Ramirez in the hallway 
outside the courtroom and told her that he was not 
going to appear at the hearing in her case that day 
because Bell Service had not instructed him to do 
so.7 1 Accordingly, Ramirez appeared at the hearing 
alone and told the IJ, on the record, what respondent 
had just told her in the hallway. Very fortunately for 
Ramirez, the IJ did not require her to proceed with the 
merits hearing on her application in propria persona, 
but granted her a continuance so that she could obtain 

71. Ramirez did not testify in the hearing department, but the 
transcript of the November 1997 mcnts hearing was admitted 
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other counsel or assistance from the Legal Aid 
Foundation. The U also instructed Ramirez to advise 
the State Bar ofrespondent's nonperformance. The 
IJ later told respondent of Ramirez's statements and 
that, in response to them. he continu_ed Ramirez's 
merits hearing so that she could obtain new counsel. 
Respondent, however, never filed a motion to with­
draw as cOlmsel. Nor did he ever speak with Ramirez 
again. 

Like the hearing judge, we reject respondent's 
testimony that he did not see Ramirez at the immigra­
tion court on November 28, 1997. In addition, we 
reject his testimony that he failed to attend the 
November 1997 merits hearing because he did not 
receive the notice of that hearing date that the 
immigrationcourtsenthimonOctober 8, 1997. Even 
ifwe were to find respondent's testimony credible, 
his failure to attend the hearing would still not be 
excused because of his reckless practice oflaw, and 
we would question why he did not learn of the hearing 
when he checked the immigration court's posted 
docket sheet of hearings on November 28, 1997, in 
accordance with his purported daily practice. 

We adopt the hearing judge's conclusion that 
respond.entwillfullyvio]ated rule 3-1 1 O(A)as charged 
in count2 7 by repeatedly, recklessly, and intentionally 
failing to competently perform the legal services that 
he had a legal and professional duty to perform in the 
Ramirez's immigration case. Respondent failed to 
prepare for and intentionally failed to appear at the 
November 28, 1997, merits hearing in Ramirez's case 
without just cause. Respondent failed to meet with 
and prepare Ramirez for the November 28, 1997, 
merits hearing in her case. 

We also adopt the hearing judge's conclusion 
that respondent willfully violated rule 3-700(A)(2) as 
charged in court 28 by deliberately abandoning 
Ramirez immediately before the November 1997 
merits hearing without taking reasonable steps to 
avoid reasonably foreseeable prejudice to Ramirez's 
rights. 

into evidence without limitation. Like the hearingjudge, we rely 
on and find Ramirez's statements in that transcript credible. 
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B. The one client matter not referred to 
respondent by an immigration services 

provider - the Maya-Perez matter. 

Sometime in 1995, Maria Maya-Perez filed an 
application for asylum. While she was in the INS 
office in Anaheim, California for her asylum inter­
view, an unidentified woman approached her, gave 
her respondent's business card, and recommended 
respondent to her. Thereafter, the INS denied Maya­
Perez's asylum application and served a deportation 
OSC on her setting the initial hearing on November 
13, 1995. 

On November 8, 1995, Maya-Perez met with 
respondent at his and Baliozian's Garvey Avenue 
offices, during which an Wlidentified man arrived 
claiming to have referred her to respondent and 
acting as an interpreter for the meeting.72 At the 
meeting, Respondent agreed to represent Maya­
Perez for a flat fee of $2,900,73 which respondent 
agreed to let Maya-Perez pay in installments. The fee 
included all court and filing fees. Moreover, at this 
meeting, Maya-Perez made a $500 payment, and 
respondent told her that he could not appear at the 
initial hearing on November 13, 1995. He instructed 
her to go to the hearing and ask the IJ for a continu­
ance based on her havingj ust retained respondent to 
represent her. Maya-Perez did as respondent in­
structed and the IJ continued the initial hearing until 
January 16, 1996. 

When respondent and Maya-Perez appeared at 
the January 1996 initial hearing, respondent filed a 
Form EOIR-28 and an application for suspension of 
deportation that he had previously prepared for Maya­
Perez. The IJ set that application for a merits hearing 
on March 27, 1996. After the initial hearing, Maya­
Perez telephoned respondent's office and left 
messages for him about eight times regarding the 
preparation for the March merits hearing. Respon­
dent did not return any of her calls. Nor did he 
otherwise meet with or speak to with her again before 

72. The record strongly suggests that the unidentified woman 
and man were soliciting employment for respondent, but 
respondent was not charged with using runners and cappers. 
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the March hearing. In fact, respondent failed to 
appear for two scheduled appointments he had with 
Maya-Perez. 

During the March 1996 merits hearing, which 
respondent and Maya-Perez attended together, Maya­
Perez told the IJ that she lived with a man who is a 
permanent United States resident and that she had 
two children: one who is an American citizen by birth 
in the United States, and one, a daughter, who is an 
alien who would be eligible for legal residency status 
on June 13, 1996. The U told respondent that he did 
not want to hear Maya-Perez's case separately from 
that of her daughter's case and instructed him to join 
the daughter and to file an application for herno later 
than July 10, 1996. The IJ then reset the merits 
hearing for September 25, 1996, to giver respondent 
time to join the daughter and file her application and 
to give respondent additional time to request a crimi­
nal background check for Maya-Perez since he had 
failed to do so. 

After the March 1996 hearing, Maya-Perez 
telephoned respondent's office about 20 times about 
filing an application for her daughter and preparing for 
the September 1996 hearing, but respondent would 
not accept or return her calls. In addition, respondent 
missed an appointment he had scheduled with Maya­
Perez in April 1996. Finally, on June 13, 1996, 
respondent worked on the Maya-Perez case for the 
first time since the March hearing. Specifically, on 
June 13, respondent and Maya-Perez wentto the INS 
office and requested an interview for her daughter. 
Respondent claims that he thereafter repeatedly 
checked with "a woman at the INS office" to see if 
an interview had been scheduled for the daughter, but 
respondent could not identify this woman other than 
to suggest a first name. 

Respondent's next communication with Maya­
Perez was on August 21, 1996, when they met in his 
office and he demanded that Maya-Perez pay him an 
additional $1,650 before he would perform any fur-

73. Maya-Perez testified that the $2,900 fee was to represent 
both her and her daughter, but the hearing judge accepted 
respondent's contrary testimony and found that the $2,900 fee 
was for representing only Maya-Perez. We adopt that finding. 
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ther services for her. As of that date, Maya-Perez 
had paid respondent a total of$2,520 ofhis$2,900 flat 
fee in her case and, therefore, owed him only $380. 
Therefore, the difference of $1,270 ($1,650 less 
$380)waspresumablyrespondent'sfee for handling 
the daughter's case. All that Maya-Perez could pay 
respondent that day was $350, which respondent 
accepted. After this August 21 meeting, respondent 
did not return any of Maya~Perez's telephone calls 
about the up coming hearing on September 25. 

Even though the hearing judge did not find that 
respondent failed to appear at the September 25, 
1996,hearing, itis undisputed that respondent was not 
in the courtroom when Maya-Perez's case was 
called. Respondent asserts in his opening brief that he 
"appeared for the September 25, 1996, hearing on 
time; Perez was late .... After checking in twice, and 
Perez had still not arrived, [respondent] proceeded to 
another courtroom to make an appearance. While 
[respondent] was in the other courtroom, Perez 
arrived and requested a continuance from Judge 
Gordon, which he granted .... When [respondent] 
returned to Judge Gordon's courtroom, he was ad­
vised of the continuance. He was also told that Perez 
no longer wished to be represented by him." (Foot­
notes omitted.) 

Even accepting respondent's versions of the 
facts and ignoring Maya-Perez's contradicting testi­
mony on the issues, 74 we must reverse the hearing 
judge's finding ofno culpability of the charged viola­
tion of rule 3-ll0(A). We hold that respondent is 
culpable of willfully violatingrule 3-11 O(A) as charged 
in count I by repeatedly and recklessly failing to 
competently perform the legal services that he had a 
legal and professional duty to perform in Maya­
Perez's and her daughter's immigration case. 
Respondent failed to promptly file an application or 
request an INS interview for Maya-Perez's daugh­
ter. Respondent was not in the courtroom when 
Maya-Perez's case was called on September 25, 
1996, as required. Respondent's argument that, even 

74. Respondent's claims are inconsistent with Perez's un­
equivocal testimony (!)that, on September 25, 1996, she was 
not late for a pre-hearing meeting at the immigration court with 
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if he had been in the courtroom when the Maya­
Perez's case was called, the hearing would have 
been continued since the INS had still not interviewed 
Maya-Perez's daughter is meritless in light of the fact 
that he did not file a motion for continuance on that 
ground as required by the local operatingprocedures. 

We adopt the hearing judge's conclusion that 
respondentwillfullyviolated section 6068, subdivision 
(m), as charged in count 2 by failing to adequately 
communicate with Maya-Perez and failing to re­
spond to her reasonable status inquiries. Respondent 
failed to keep his appointments to meet with Maya­
Perez. He also failed to return her repeated calls 
without otherwise·adequately communicating with 
her. Moreover, we adopt the hearingjudge'sconclu­
sion thatrespondentwillfullyviolatedrule3-700{A)(2) 
as charged in count 3 by intentionally withdrawing 
from employment without taking reasonable steps to 
avoid reasonably foreseeable prejudice to the rights 
of Maya-Perez and her daughter. If respondent 
checked into the courtroom twice on September 25, 
1996, and saw that Maya-Perez and her daughter 
were not there, he should have remained in the 
courtroom so that, if their case was called before they 
did arrived, they would have been represented at the 
hearing by counsel. Instead, respondent abandoned 
Maya-Perez and her daughter and proceeded to 
another courtroom to generate fees in another ap­
pearance. 

Finally, we adopt the hearingj udge 's determina­
tions that the State Bar failed to prove that respondent 
willfully violated rules 3-700(D)(l) and 3-700(D)(2) 
as charged in counts 4 and 5, respectively. Accord­
ingly, we dismiss those counts with prejudice. 

respondent, (2) that she could not find respondent when she 
arrived atthe immigration court, (3) that she was not late to the 
hearing, and (4) that respondent was never in court with her. 
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VI. AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING 
CIRCUMSTANCES. 

A. Aggravating circumstances. 

1. Pattern of misconduct and multiple acts of 
wrongdoing. 

The hearingjudge determined that respondent's 
misconduct evidenced a pattern of failing to cornpe­
tentlyperfonnlegal services andofclient abandonment 
and that respondent's remaining misconduct evi­
denced multiple acts of wrongdoing. (Std. l .2(b )(ii).) 
Finding a pattern of misconduct or multiple acts of 
wrongdoing is not limited to the counts pleaded. (In 
the Matter of Robins (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 708, 714, citing Grim v. State Bar 
(1991) 53 Cal.3d 21, 34.) Yet, to be considered 
pattern-of-misconduct aggravation, an attorney's 
misconduct must ordinarily include not only the type 
of serious misconduct found against respondent in 
this proceeding, but it must also span over an ex­
tended period of time. (Levin v. State Bar (1989)47 
Cal.3d 1140, 1149-1150& 1150,fn.14.)Whetherthe 
two and one-half year span ofrespondent's miscon­
duct qualifies as an "extended period of time" to 
support determination of pattern of misconduct ag­
gravation is a close question because of the seriousness 
of respondent's misconduct and the extensive num­
ber of repeated charged and uncharged ethical 
violations found in this disciplinary proceeding. Re­
gardless of whether respondent's misconduct spanned 
the requisite "extended period of time," at the very 
least, his misconduct demonstrates repeated, similar 
acts of misconduct which we must consider to be 
serious aggravation. (Ibid.) 

[6h] [llc] Because respondent's own testi­
mony and the evidence establish his culpability on the 
counts of uncharged misconduct for aiding and abet­
ting immigration services providers to represent aliens 
in violation of federal law and to engage in the 
unauthorized practice oflaw; for engaging in a course 
of practicing lawthatwasrecklessand involved gross 
carelessness; for improperly accepting legal fees 
from third parties; and for lack of candor on which we 
independently find, he has no growtds to challenge our 
findings of aggravation based thereon. (In the Matter 
of Robins, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 
714.) 

555 

2. Aiding and abetting the representation of 
aliens in violation of federal law & the 
unauthorized practice of law. 

[6i] Without question, respondent's uncharged 
misconduct is aggravation for deliberately aiding and 
abetting nonattomeyimmigration services providers 
to represent aliens in immigration cases in violation of 
federal law and to engage in the unauthorized prac­
tice oflaw,fromat leastmid-1995 through late 1997. 
Relying on or permitting the providers to, inter alia, 
prepare and file immigration applications, pleadings, 
and other documents for his clients is extremely 
serious. There can be little doubt that the federal 
regulations precluding nonattorney providers from 
representing aliens in immigration cases are designed 
to protect aliens from the clear harm to their immigra­
tion cases that can result from inadequately or 
improperly completed immigration applications, plead­
ings, and other documents prepared and filed by 
nonattorneyproviders. 

"Deportation is often tantamount to exile, with 
consequences which affect family members as well 
as the individual himself. In the worst case, inappro­
priate deportation can lead to incarceration, torture, 
or death at the hands of a prosecutorial government 
from which the consumer sought refuge .... To the 
layman or [ even the] untrained attorney, immigration 
forms may appear to be simple biographic question­
naires; however the implications and possible pitfalls 
from their use or misuse are abundant . . . . " 
(Ashbrook, supra, 5 Geo. J. Legal Ethics at p. 252, 
quoting from comments oflmmigration Judge Dana 
MarksKeenermade in the Report of the Immigration 
Consulting Group, reprinted in Report of the State Bar 
of California Commission on Legal Technicians (July 
1990).) It is not just the omission or misstatement of 
a substantial relevant fact on an immigration applica­
tion, pleading, or docurnentthat can cause devastating 
and, at times, irreversible harm to an alien case. The 
failure to completely fill out the simplest of immigra­
tion forms can also cause such devastating harm, as 
well as the mere failure to timely file an immigration 
application, pleading, or other document. If an appli­
cation, pleading, or other document is not fiJed within 
the time set by an IJ, the alien's "opportunity to file 
that application or documents hall be deem waived." 
(8 C.F.R. § 3.3l(c) [italics added].) 
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F urtherrnore, a victim ofunlawful representation 
and unauthorized practice of law by nonattomey 
immigration services providers " 'may forfeit his 
place on the years-long INS waiting list for immigra­
tion through familymembers, or lose all rights to apply 
for relief .... Unscrupulous consultants write down 
false asylum stories without the clients' lrnowledge, 
which destroys the credibility of applicants who do 
have a strong asylum claim; charge money for non­
existent "amnesty" programs or for immigration 
programs that exist but do not apply to the clients; and 
persuade unsophisticated clients to commit fraud by 
telling them that this is how it is done in America.' 
[Citations.]" (Notorious Notaries, supra, 32 
Ariz.St.L.J. at p. 305, fn. 110.) 

[Sg) In sum, by improperly limiting the scope of 
his representation of the clients referred to him by 
immigration services providers to that of an "appear­
ance attorney ,"respondent effectivelyprovided them 
with no legal representation or services. 

3. Reckless and careless method of practicing 
law. 

flld) Respondent's uncharged misconduct ag­
gravation for engaging in a course of practicing law, 
from at least mid-1995 through late 1997, that was 
reckless and involved gross carelessness is also very 
serious aggravation. As noted ante, such reckless­
ness and gross carelessness involved moral turpitude. 
(Simmons v. State Bar, supra, 2 Cal.3d at p. 729.) 
The extent and duration of respondent's recklessness 
and gross carelessness clearly lend support to the 
hearingj udge 's conclusion that respondent "wanted 
to make as much money as possible by taking on more 
cases than he could properly handle." 

4. Improperly accepting payment of legal fees 
from third party. 

The third count of uncharged misconduct ag­
gravation that we independently find on review is 
respondent'srepeatedand deliberate violation of rule 
3-31 0(F), whichrosetoalevel involving moral turpi­
tude in violation of section 6106. Respondent violated 
rule 3-31 0(F) bypermittingthenonattorneyimmigra­
tion services providers who ref erred immigration 
clients to him to pay his attorney's fees forrepresent­
ing the clients they referred to him. 
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Under rule 3-3 I0(F), an attorney may accept 
payment of his legal fees from a third party only if 
there is no interference with independence of 
attorney's professional judgment or the attorney­
client relationship, information relating to the 
representation remain protected as client confidences 
and secrets, and the attorney obtains the clients' 
informed written consent. (See, generally, People 
v. Merchants Protective Corp., supra, 189 Cal. at 
p. 53 8 ["The essential relation of trust and confidence 
between attorney and client cannot be said to arise 
where the attorney is employed, not by the client, but 
by some corporation which has undertaken to furnish 
its members with legal advice, counsel, and profes­
sional services. The attorney in such a case owes his 
first allegiance to his immediate employer, the corpo­
ration, and owes, at most, but an incidental, secondary, 
and divided loyalty to the clientele of the corpora­
tion."]· 

The record clearly establishes that respondent 
permitted the referring immigration services provid­
ers who paid his legal fees for representing their 
clients in immigration court to interfere with his 
judgment, to restrict the nature and extent of the legal 
advice he provided to the alien clients, and to restrict 
the legal services he provided to the alien clients, all 
to the detriment of the clients. The record also clearly 
establishes that respondent did not obtain the clients' 
informed consent (oral or written) to permit the 
immigration services providers to pay his legal fees. 
Respondent did not have written fee agreements with 
his clients, much less written authorization to receive 
payment of his legal fees from the immigration 
services providers. 

5. Lack of candor. 

a. Respondent 's statements regarding 
IC & Gaston. 

The hearingj udge found that respondent's state­
ment that "I have absolutely no relationship with 
Consultorio Internacional," in a February 28, 1998, 
letter that respondent sent to a State Bar investigator, 
who was investigating Gonzalez's complaints against 
respondent, was misleading and lacked candor. 
Respondent's statement was misleading because 
respondent knew that IC is a "d/b/a" for Gaston and 
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because respondent admitted to taking at least two or 
three other referrals from Gaston.75 Furthermore, 
respondent's statement in that same February 28, 
1998, letter that "I am unaware of any monies that 
were paid to this 'Gaston' person" is also misleading 
becaµse it clearly indicates that respondent does not 
even know Gaston when the opposite is true. 

It is well established that, while "[a)n attorney 
has no obligation to produce incriminating evidence 
on his own initiative .... , he has an obligation to 
respond to the State Bar'.s inquiries in arnannerwhich 
is 'consistent with [the] truth' (see Bus. & Prof. 
Code, § 6068, subd. (d))." (Franklin v. State Bar 
(1986)41 Cal.3d700, 708-709.)lnsum,respondent's 
statements in his February 1998 letter were not 
consistent with the truth. 

b. Respondent's statements regarding 
IIS. 

As the hearing judge found, respondent's testi­
mony that he had no professional "association" with 
IlS is contradictory with respondent's admission that 
he had handled about 10 other cases for 11S. More­
over, it lacks candor because the address of 
respondent' s office in January 1996 was 124 West 
2nd Street, Los Angeles, California( see respondent's 
January 2, 1996, Form EOIR-28 in the Calderons' 
case), which was the same address ofIIS's office at 
that time (see respondent's exhibits BBB, DDD; 
State Bar exhibits 42, 44, 46). 

c. Misrepresentations to the State Bar. 

In March 1997. a State Bar investigator wrote 
respondent asking him to respond in writing to a 
complaint that Israil had filed against him with the 
Bar. Eleven months later, respondent finally re­
sponded to the investigators in a letter dated February 
28, 1998, letter. In that letter, respondent stated that 
Israil 's "allegations that I failed to appear at the 

75. Respondent'sstatemcntmightbetechnicallytrueinalimited­
sense because, by the time respondent wrote the February 28, 
1998, letter, Gaston had stopped making immigration case 
referrals to respondent and, therefore, as off ebruary 28, I 998, 
respondent had no relationship with JC. However, respondent 
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[November 14, 1996,) scheduled hearing are inaccu­
rate. On the morning in question, I checked into court 
to see if Ms. Israil, who is an elderly woman, was 
present. She was not. This was approximately 8:30 
a.m." 

[26a] Then, on January 22, 1999, 11 months 
later, respondent verified in his answers to the inter­
rogatories that the State Bar propounded on him in 
this proceeding to be true ofbis own knowledge under 
penalty of perjury. In his answer to the interrogatory 
regarding Israil's complaint, respondent stated that 
he "arrived at the courtroom on time that day, but did 
not see Israil in or near the courtroom. [He] made 
contact with the Judge's clerk, advised that his client 
was not there yet, and ]eft briefly to attend another 
matter. He returned to the courtroom without seeing 
lsrail anywhere inornearthecourtroom. lsrai1 's case 
was called and she was ordered deported. [He] saw 
Israil for the first time out in the hallway after her case 
had already been called." 

[26b] The record establishes that respondent's 
statements are false. As note ante, the only attorney 
who "appeared" for Israil on November 14, 1996, 
from respondent 'slaw office was attorney Jensen, 
and he was an hour late; by 8: 15 a.m. on the morning 
of November 14, 1996, Israil and Baliozian were 
outside the courtroom waiting for respondent who did 
not appear; and neither Israil nor any attorney from 
respondent's law office were in court when lsrail 's 
case was called shortly after 8:30 a.m. or when the 
case was called again at 9:05 a.m. By making these 
false statements in his letter to a State Bar investiga­
tor and in his verified answers to the State Bar's 
interrogatories, respondent engaged in acts involving 
moral turpitude in willful violation of section 6106. 
These two acts involving moral turpitude are the 
fourth and fifth counts of serious uncharged miscon­
duct that we independently find on review, which we 
consider only for purposes of aggravation because 
they were not charged. 

did not state that he no longer had any relationship with JC or 
that, as offebruary 28, 1998, he had so such relationship. In 
any event, when respondent's statement is considered in 
context, it is clearly misleading. 
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[26c) As we held more than 10 years ago, when 
an attorney makes misrepresentations in his verified 
answers to interrogatories propounded to him by the 
State Bar, it "is a serious factor in aggravation" and 
might well constitute a greater offense than the 
underlying misconduct. (In the Matter of Mitchell 
(Review Dept. 1991) l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 332, 
340.) Thus, we reject as meritless respondent's 
contention that he should not be held responsible for 
the misrepresentations in his verified answers to the 
State Bar's interrogatories because they were pre­
pared for him by his prior counsel in this proceeding 
and because he purportedly relied on her to prepare 
the answers for him. 76 While it might be improper to 
penalize a lay client for not correcting mistakes that 
his attorney made in a pleading that the client verified, 
such reasoning carries little weight when the client is 
also an attorney. (See Calaway v. State Bar (1986) 
41 Cal.3d 743, 754 (dis. opn. of Bird, C. J.) .) 

[27] We also reject as meritless respondent's 
contentions that he should not be held responsible for 
the misrepresentations in his interrogatory answers 
because they were the first interrogatories that he has 
ever answered and because, with respect to the nine 
client matters that are the subject of this disciplinary 
proceeding, he did not have adequate client files or 
complete copies of the immigration court files and 
transcripts of the immigration court hearings when he 
prepared his answers. Respondent had an affirma­
tive duty to insure that his answers to the State Bar's 
interrogatories were true and correct even ifhe had 
to refresh his recollection of the facts by going to the 
immigration court and reviewing the complete court 
files and listening to the tapes of the relevant court 
hearings in each of the nine client matters. (§ 6068, 
subd. (d); Franklin v. State Bar, supra, 41 Cal.3d at 
pp. 708-709; Rodgers v. State Bar, supra, 48 Cal. 3d 
at p. 3 8 9; Grove v. State Bar, supra, 63 Cal .2d at p. 
3 I 5.) [28) Of course, that affirmative duty is in 
addition to respondent's duty, under Code of Civil 
Procedure section 2030, subdivision ( f)( 1) ( Civil Dis-

76. Not only is this his contention meritless, it is irreconcilable 
with respondent's contention that we should rejectthe adverse 
testimony of his alien clients because they signed, under 
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covery Act), to answer each of the State Bar's 
interrogatories as complete and straightforward as 
the information reasonably available to him (e.g., the 
immigration court files and tapes of the court hear­
ings) permitted. (See Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
180 [Civil Discovery Act is applicable in State Bar 
Court proceedings except when modified by State 
Bar's Rules of Procedure].) 

Also, we reject as frivolous respondent's claim 
that he had Israil confused with another client. Re­
spondent took more than 11 months to respond to the 
State Bar investigator's letter. Thereafter, respon­
dent had an additional 11 months to continue 
investigating the facts before he answered and veri­
fied his answers to the State Bar's interrogatories. 
Finally, respondent never retracted his letter to the 
investigator nor, as far as the record indicates, did he 
ever amend the answers to his interrogatories. 

Finally, we reject respondent's statements that 
his interrogatories answers were incomplete and 
inaccurate because the infonnation needed to an­
swer the questions was stored in his computer, which 
he alleges was stolen out ofhis office by Baliozian 's 
staff when respondent and Baliozian were evicted 
from their offices on Lankershim Boulevard in late 
1996. The record herein clearly establishes that these 
statements, which are made in respondent's inter­
rogatory answers, are false. Respondent admitted in 
the hearing department that the only real client 
records he kept were in his notebook-size calendars, 
a hand-held computer organizer, and 200 client files. 
Secretary Lopez credibly testified that they did not 
maintain a master listofhis clients( either manually or 
on a computer), that respondent did not keep any 
client records on a computer, that respondent did not 
have a computer in his office on Lankershim Boule­
vard, but that Baliozian had one that respondent and 
his staff were allowed to use for drafting letters and 
notices. 

penalty of perjury, the "fraudulent" asylum applications that 
were prepared and filed with the INS for them by immigration 
services providers. 
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6. Substantial client harm. 

Respondent's repeated misconduct, particularly 
his failure to competently perform legal services, 
caused substantial harm to the Salgados, Gonzalez, 
the G~varas, and Ramirez. (Std. l.2(b)(iv); cf. 
Gadda v. State Bar ( 1990) 50 Cal.3d 344, 354-355 
[clientneglectinanimmigrationcasehas"potentially 
serious consequences"}.) Because respondent failed 
to compc;;tently represent the Salgados, Gonzalez, 
Israil, and the Guevaras, all had their applications for 
relief deemed abandoned and were either ordered 
deported or granted voluntary departure, which is 
effectively an order of deportation. They were all 
forced to hire new counsel to have their cases 
reopened, and having an immigration case reopened 
after an order of deportation in absentia is very 
difficult" 'because of the immigration service's ex­
tremely hard line position. ' " ( Gadd a v. State Bar, 
supra, 50 Cal.3datpp. 354-355 [quoting testimony of 
Immigration Judge Dana Marks Keener].) 

Having all of their requested relief deemed 
abandoned and being ordered deported not only 
delayed their immigration cases, but was personally 
devastating and stressful for all of the foregoing 
clients. In that regard, Salgado's testimony estab­
lishes that he suffered substantial anguish. He worried 
for months that he and his wife would be deported, he 
would lose his job, and they would lose their house 
through foreclosure because they could. not make 
theirmortgagepaymentsifSalgadodidnothaveajob 
in the United States. ltwasonlyafteronemotion, two 
appeals, and three years that the Guevaras' new 
counsel was able to remedy respondent's misconduct 
by getting their case reopened by the Ninth Circuit. 
The stress ofliving under an order granting voluntary_ 
departure (which, contrary to respondent's asser­
tions, is effectively an order of deportation) while 
their motion to reopen was denied by the IJ and their 

77. During the January I 6, 1996, hearing in the Maya-Perez 
matter, Immigration Judge Nathan W. Gordon admonished 
respondent that, as Maya-Perez's anomey of record, he was 
responsible for everything in her application. Likewise, Immi­
gration Judge Ohata admonished respondent on multiple 
occasions in spring and summer 1996. On one such occasion, 
in which which Judge Ohata spoke-to respondent at length 
about one of respondent 's cases that could not proceed to 
hearing because the client's documents were inadequate and 
contained what Judge Ohataconsidered to be "suspect" (i.e., 
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appeal to the BIA was rejected was certainly ex­
tremely difficult for the Guevaras. 

Similarly, there can be no question that it was 
emotionally very difficult on lsrail to have her request 
for relief denied and ordered deported to Syria when 
she was more than 70 years old and after she had 
lived with her immediate family in California for 17 
years. 

7. Lack of remorse and failure to accept 
responsibility for misconduct. 

We agree with the hearing judge's finding that 
respondent lacks remorse for his misconduct. He still 
refuses to accept responsibility for his misconduct 
blaming his clients and the referring immigration 
services providers for his failures to perform the 
legal services for which respondent had a duty to 
perform for his clients. When asked, in the hearing 
department, the extent to which he accepts responsi -
bilityforhisfailurestoproperlyprepareandtimelyfile 
his clients' immigration applications, pleadings, and 
other documents, respondent testified that he will not 
accept any responsibility because as he stated with­
out regret: "I never promised to do any paperwork 
and I never received money for paperwork." l6j] 
[5h] And, as noted ante, respondent persistently 
argues that his continuing customary practices of 
relying on or permitting referring immigration ser­
vices providers to, inter alia, prepare and file his 
clients' applications, pleadings, and other documents 
and of representing the clients they refer to him only 
as an "appearance attorney" are legal, appropriate, 
and in his clients' interests when the law is clearly to 
the contrary. In addition, he persists with his prac~ 
tices, notwithstanding the fact that at least two of the 
IJ's in the nine client matters in this proceeding 
admonished respondent that it was his duty to prop­
erlyprepareandtimelyfilehisclients' ''paperwork."77 

fraudulent) statements, respondent all but told Judge Ohata 
that he (i.e., respondent) was not responsible for the docu­
ments"ifltis clientgoesoffto see a notary after he leaves coun." 
Judge Ohata again clearly told respondent that, as the attorney 
of record, he was responsible for his clients' documents. 
Because respondent continued to disagree, Judge Ohata sug­
gested, as he "picked up" the telephone, that they call the State 
Barto get the issue resolved. Respondent declined to do so, and 
Judge Ohata hung the telephone up without calling the State 
Bar. 
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This is all strong evidence ofrespondent' s inability or 
WI willingness to fulfill his professional obligation to 
competently represent his immigration clients. 

B. Mitigating circumstances. 

1. Lack of harm. 

Respondent's claims that a number ofhis clients 
did not suffer any harm as a result of his misconduct 
because they were not deported, but were granted 
voluntary departure in lieu of deportation is disingenu­
ous and further evidence of his Wiwillingness to 
acknowledge or acceptresponsibility for his miscon­
duct. Whether respondent's client was deported or 
forced to leave the United States under an order of 
voluntary departure in lieu of deportation, the client 
still lost his right to remain in the United States. 
Respondent himself acknowledges that, if his client 
did not voluntarily depart in accordance with the 
terms of the IJ's order, the client was ordered 
deported. 

2. Good character evidence. 

Respondent presented testimony as to his good 
character and abilities as an attorney from Immigra­
tion Judge Stephen L. Sholomson, whose testimony 
we discuss post; four attorneys, one of which used to 
work for respondent and one of which still works for 
respondent; an immigration court clerk; and three 
former clients. Like the hearing judge, we give 
respondent nominal mitigating credit for this testi­
mony because it does not rise to the extraordinary 
demonstration of good character attested to by a wide 
range of references who are aware of the full extent 
of his misconduct as required under standard 
l.2(e)(vi). 

3. !Js' testimony. 

a. The State bar's motion to strike 
portions of respondent's brief 

[29a] In response to various statements respon~ 
dent made in his opening brief on review, the State 
Bar filed a motion to strike portions of respondent's 
brief, which we grant. In his opening brief, respondent 
recites that he subpoenaed Immigration Judges 
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Sholomson, Lawrence Burman, and Richard D. 
Walton to testify as to his good character and profes­
sional competence. Respondent, however, asserts 
that the United States Department of Justice (1) 
greatly restricted the scope of the testimony that 
Judge Sholomson could give and (2) refused to permit 
Judges Burman or Walton to testify at all. Respon­
dent argues that· this was not fair because the 
Department of Justice may not limit the scope of 
testimony that Immigration Judge Ohata could give as 
a witness for the State Bar and against respondent. In 
an attempt to "correct" this perceived W1fairness, 
respondent includes statements in his opening brief as 
to the favorable testimony he believes that Judge 
Sho]omson would have presented had the Depart­
ment of Justice not restricted his testimony and that 
Judges Burman and Walton would have given had 
they been permitted to testify. Respondent then 
appears to assert in his opening brief that we should 
consider these statements as evidence in this pro~ 
ceeding because the statements are supported by a 
declaration that his counsel executed and filed in the 
hearing department on February 1, 2000. Respondent 
argues that his counsel's declaration is, or.should be 
treated as, a formal offer of proof. The State Bar 
requests that we strike from respondent's brief all 
statements based on that February I, 2000, declara­
tion. 

[29b] Respondent fails to cite any authority, and 
we are unaware of any, to support his assertion that 
his counsel's declaration is an offer of proof. Again, 
the law is to the contrary. An offer of proof is a 
summary of proffered evidence that has been ex­
cluded by a trial judge, which is presented (1) to the 
trial judge to insure that he knows what evidence he 
has excluded and to provide him with an opportunity 
to reconsider his denial and permit the introduction of 
the evidence before the end of trial and (2) to an 
appellate court so that it may effectively review the 
trial judge's exclusion of the evidence. (Evid. Code, 
§ 354; People v. "Whitt ( I 990) 51 Cal.3d 620, 648.) 

[29c] Respondent cannot plausibly argue that 
the hearing judge excluded any portion of Judge 
Sholomson's testimony, excluded the testimony of 
either Judge Burman or Judge Walton, or otherwise 
precluded Judges Burman and Walton from testify­
ing. Judge Sholomson' s testimony was restricted by 
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the Department of Justice. And Judges Burman and 
Walton were prohibited from testifying by the De­
partment of Justice. We lack jurisdiction to review the 
Department of Justice's actions. In short, the decla­
ration ofrespondent's counsel filed on February 1, 
2000, is neither an offer of proof nor otherwise part 
of the evidentiary record in this proceeding. We, 
therefore, grant the State Bar's motion and deem all 
of the statements in respondent's opening brief that 
are based on the declaration filed on February 1, 2000, 
to be stricken. 

The State Bar also requests that we strike from 
respondent's opening brief the statement to the effect 
that Maya-Perez failed to appear for her deposition in 
this disciplinary proceeding without a valid excuse. 
According to the State Bar, the only thing in the 
record supporting that statement are the self-serving 
statements that respondent's counsel made "on the 
record" at Maya-Perez's deposition after she failed 
to appear. However, contrary to the State Bar's 
argument, the transcript ofMaya-Perez 's deposition 
was not admitted into evidence; accordingly, it is on 
that basis that we grant its request and must deem the 
statement in respondent's opening brief regarding 
Maya-Perez's failure to appear at her deposition to 
be stricken. 

b. Immigration Judge Sholomson 's testimony. 

Judge Sholomson testified that, between mid-
1995 through late 1997, respondent made too many 
immigration court appearances and had to go back 
and forth between courtrooms, but that, since that 
time, he believes that respondent has since greatly 
reduced his appearances to a more manageable level. 
which has greatly reduced the number of client and 
judicial complaints against respondent. Judge 
Sholomson also testified that it was his experience 
that respondent almost always filed the necessary 
applications and pleadings in his cases, but that 
respondent's filings were also often deficient and had 
to be supplemented or modified. According to Judge 
Sholomson, however, riiany of the applications and 
pleadings filed in his court by other immigration 
attorneys are deficient and have to be supplement or 
modified. We accept Judge Sholomson 's testimony 
as true, but are unable to consider it as substantial 
mitigation or as substantially rebutting the over-
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whelming adverse evidence in the record of 
respondent's incompetent, reckless, and grossly care­
less representation of his immigration clients or the 
extensive aggravating circumstances. 

4. Corrective measures. 

While respondent still refuses to accept respon­
sibility for his habitual, reckless, and intentional failures 
to competently perform legal services or his ethical 
obligations as the attorney of record in an immigration 
case, he has undertaken some corrective measures. 
Those measures include entering into a long-term 
lease for his law office, which is now located close to 
the immigration courts; hiring a full-time associate 
attorney; developing a method for tracking and meet­
ing filing deadlines and court appearances; reducing 
the number of his immigration court appearances; 
using written fee agreements; and, reducing the 
number ofreferrals he accepts from nonattomey immi­
gration services providers. We reject respondent's 
claim that his developing and using written disclosure 
forms of his limited scope of representation as an 
"appearance attorney" for the clients referred to him 
by immignition services providers as federal law 
clearly precludes such limited represention. 

Like the hearing judge, we conclude that the 
mitigating weight of respondent's corrective mea­
sures is nominal. Respondent obviously ignored the 
warnings and admonitions from multiple D's before 
whom he appeared regarding his incompetent repre­
sentations of his alien clients and failure to comply 
with applicable federal regulations and the immigra­
tion court's local operating procedures. Notably, 
almost all respondent's corrective measures were 
begun only after the State Bar undertook substantial 
involvement in response to numerous client com­
plaints made against respondent. 

Moreover, we decline to characterize respondent's 
use of written fee agreements as a corrective mea­
sure. Section 6148 has mandated the use of written 
fee agreements since 1994. Similarly, we decline to 
characterize respondent's reduction of the number of 
immigration case referrals he accepts from 
nonattomey immigration services providers as a cor­
rective measure. The terms and conditions under 
which respondent continues to accept referrals from 
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such providers still amount to the aiding and abetting 
of the representation of aliens in immigration cases in 
violation of federal law and of the unauthorized 
practice oflaw in this state. Respondent's continued 
acceptance of any referrals from immigration ser­
vices providers under the terms and conditions 
illustrated in this proceeding is an aggravating circum­
stance, not a mitigating circumstance. 

VII. DEGREE OF DISCIPLINE DISCUSSION. 

In determining the appropriate level of discipline, 
we first look to the standards for guidance. (Drociak 
v. State Bar (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1095, 1090; In the 
Matter of Koehler (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 615, 628.) Standard 1.3 provides that 
the primary purposes of discipline are to protect the 
public, the courts, and the legal profession; to maintain 
the highest possible professional standards for attor­
neys; and to preserve public confidence in the legal 
profession. (See also Chadwick v. State Bar ( 1989) 
49 Cal.3d 103,111 .) 

The applicable sanction in this proceeding is 
f mmd in standard2.3, which provides that an attorney's 
culpability of an act of moral turpitude shall result in 
actual suspension or disbarment depending upon the 
extent of harm, the magnitude of the act, and the 
degree to which it relates to the attorney's practice o.f 
law: In the present proceeding, the magnitude of the 
misconduct is substantial. Thus, significant discipline 
is warranted under standard 2.3. 

In the time period covered by this proceeding of 
more than two years (i.e., from mid-1995 through late 
1997), respondent intentionally and recklessly failed 
to competently perform legal services in each of the 
nine different client matters and intentionally aban­
doned his client Ramirez minutes before the merits 
hearing was scheduled to begin on her application for 
asylum. " 'Asylum cases are probably the most 
sensitive cases that the field of immigration deals 
with. They are like death penalty cases.'" (Gadda 
v. State Bar, supra, 50 Cal.3d at pp. 354-355.) 
Respondent's misconduct not only presented the 
possibility of serious consequences, but actually re­
sulted in substantial harm to many of his clients. In 
addition, respondent aided and abetted immigration 
services providers ( 1) in representing aliens in immi-
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gration cases in violation of federal law and (2) in 
engaging in the unauthorized practice oflaw in this 
state. He also improperly accepted his legal fees from 
the immigration services providers who referred 
cases to him and allowed, at least, two of them to put 
his name and title of attorney at law on their business 
cards. 

Respondent continues to remain content to abdi­
cate his role of attorney and officer of the court to 
nonattorney immigration services providers who re­
fer clients to him regardless of the risks and dangers 
to the clients. Moreover, he continues to remain 
content to appear in immigration court proceedings 
seeking relief for his clients based on what could be 
fraudulent applications forrelief. Respondent cannot 
plausibly deny that such a scenario is a real possibility 
in light of his knowledge that immigration services 
providers routinely prepare and file fraudulent appli­
cations for asylum. Respondent's actions involve 
moral turpitude in violation of section 6106. (In the 
Matter of Bragg (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 615, 627.) 

In addition, respondent failed to notify thou­
sands ofhis clients when he moved his offices; failed 
to maintain his current office address with the State 
Bar and the immigration court; failed to maintain any 
real records regarding his clients and their names, 
addresses, and telephone numbers; and, failed to 
exercise any care for the important documents that 
were given to him by his clients. 

He also misled and misrepresented the truth to 
the IJ during the October 1996 hearing in the Salgado 
matter. Respondent intentionally attempted to de­
ceive that IJ into granting respondent's motion to 
withdraw as the Salgados' attorney of record. Next, 
respondent misrepresented facts to State Bar inves­
tigator Doukakis in response to Doukakis 's inquiry as 
to the complaints made against him by Israil. Then, 
respondent repeated these false statements in his 
answers to the State Bar's interro_~atories. 

Furthermore, respondent committed the forego­
ing misconduct while practicing law in a such a 
reckless and careless manner that additional miscon­
duct and serious client harm were not just likely, but 
inevitable. What is more, even after the admonitions 
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of at least two experienced IJ' s, respondent contin­
ued to violate the federal regulations (1) requiring a 
party's attorney of record to prepare and file all 
applications, pleadings, or other documents in the 
party's case and (2) proscribing the preparation of 
immigration applications, pleadings, and other docu­
ments bynonattomey immigration services providers. 
(Compare In re Morse, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 209 
[where Court held that attorney's "seeming unwill­
ingness even to consider the appropriateness of his 
statutory interpretation or to aclmowledge that at 
some point his position was meritless or even wrong 
to any extent . . . went beyond tenacity to trucu­
lence"].) 

[30) Respondent seeks to ameliorate the nature 
and extent of his misconduct by arguing that he 
committed his misconduct shortly after his admission 
to the bar and when he had little experience in 
immigration law. We reject respondent's argument. 
It is when an attorney is newly licensed or when an 
attorney begins to practice in a new area of the law 
that he should take the proper steps necessary to 
learn the governing law, rules, and regulations in that 
area of practice. (Rule 3-110( C) [ if an attorney "does 
not have sufficient learning and skill when the legal 
service is undertaken, the [attorney] may nonetheless 
perform such services competently ... by acquiring 
sufficient learning and skill before performance is 
required" or by associating with counsel who is 
competent].) 

Next, we look to decisional law for guidance. 
(See Snyder v. State Bar (1990) 49 Cal.3d 1302, 
1310-1311; In the Matter of Taylor (Review Dept. 
1991) l Cal. StateBarCt. Rptr.563, 580.)Theparties 
have not cited any prior case dealing with substan­
tially similar misconduct as that present in this 
proceeding. There are only a few Supreme Court 
opinions and one review department opinion involving 
attorney misconduct in the area ofimmigration law. 

In Gadda v. State Bar, supra, 50 Cal.3d 344 the 
misconduct included neglecting two immigration 
matters, instructing a client to lie to a government 
official, failing to properly supervise an associate 
attorney, and mailing between 500 and 800 letters 
falsely adverting his ability to provide legal services 
under a new immigration law that had not yet been 
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passed by Congress. In aggravation, the attorney 
failed to recognize the seriousness of his misconduct 
and to accept responsibility for his wrongdoing. In 
mitigation, he had substantial pro bono work. The 
discipline was two years' stayed suspension and 
three years' probation on conditions including six 
months' actual suspension and until restitution. Even 
though the misconduct in Gadda involved false 
advertising letters, "the discipline rested mainly on the 
attorney's [immigration law] misconduct." (In re 
Morse, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 208.) 

In Gadda the attorney's failure to perform in the 
two immigration matters was less serious than 
respondent's and did not involve the numerous fail­
ures to appear for immigration court hearing that are 
present in this case; yet, the Supreme Court imposed 
six months' actual suspension on the attorney. ( Gadda 
v. State Bar, supra, 50 Cal.3d at pp. 356-357.) 

While the misconduct in In re Aquino (1989) 49 
Cal.3d 1122, which led to disbarment, also involved 
the practice of immigration law, the attorney there 
was convicted in federal court on some 13 felony 
counts, each of which involved intentional dishonesty 
and fraudulent conduct. (Id. at pp. 112-1128.) In 
addition, the attorney there "not only countenanced 
perjury; he affirmatively and repeatedly counseled 
his clients to perjure themselves before the I.N.S." 
(Id. at p. 1130.) Even though respondent's miscon• 
duct also involves fraudulent and deceptive conduct, 
it does not rise to the level of that in Aquino. 
Accordingly, we cannot rely on Aquino as supporting 
a disbarment recommendation in this proceeding. 

Finally, the misconduct in In the Matter of 
Gadda (Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 416 (hereafter Gadda II), which led to disbar­
ment, also involved the practice of immigration law. 
Like respondent, the attorney in Gadda II was 
culpable of engaging in misconduct in nine immigra­
tion client matters. Even though the attorney in 
Gadda II was found culpable on 16 counts of 
charged misconduct and respondent is culpable on 18 
counts of charged misconduct and 15 counts of 
uncharged misconduct, the attorney in Gadd a JI had 
a prior record of discipline involving similar miscon· 
duct (Gadda v. State Bar, supra, 50 Cal.3d 344), 
and respondent has no prior record of discipline. 
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Even though respondent has no priorrecord, his 
misconduct is extensive and repeated. It clearly 
mandates substantial discipline for the protection of 
the public, the profession, and the courts. We con­
clude that the appropriate level of discipline is five 
years' stayed suspension and five years' probation 
with extensive rehabilitative and supervisory proba­
tion conditions, including at base, a three-year period 
of actual suspension. 

VIlI. RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE. 

We recommend that respondent James Robert 
Valinoti be suspended from the practice oflaw in the 
State of California for a period of five years; that 
execution of the five-year period of suspension be 
stayed; and that he be placed on probation for a period 
of five years on the following conditions. 

1. Respondent shall be actually suspended 
from the practice of law in the State of California 
during the first three years of this probation and until 
he shows proof satisfactory to the State Bar Court of 
his rehabilitation,. present fitness to practice, and 
present learning and ability in the general law in 
accordance with standard 1.4( c )(ii) of the Standards 
for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. 

2. Respondent must comply with the provi­
sions of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the State Bar of California, and all the 
conditions of this probation. 

3. The State Bar's Probation Unit shall 
promptly assign a probation monitor referee to re­
spondent. Respondent must promptly review the 
terms and conditions of this probation with the proba­
tion monitor referee and establish a manner and 
schedule of compliance with them. Such manner and 
schedule of compliance must, of course, be consistent 
with the terms and conditions of probation. Respon­
dent must furnish such reports concerning 
respondent's compliance as may be requested by the 
probation monitor referee. Respondent must cooper­
ate fully with the probation monitorreferee to enable 
the referee to discharge the referee's duties. (See 
Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 2702 [duties of proba­
tion monitor referees].) 
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4. Subject to the assertion of any applicable 
privilege, respondent must fully, promptly, and truth­
fully answer all inquiries of the State Bar's Probation 
Unit and his assigned probation monitor referee that 
are directed to respondent, whether orally or in 
writing, relating to whether respondent is complying 
or has complied with the conditions of this probation. 

5. • Respondentmustreport, in writing, to the 
State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles and his 
assigned probation monitor no later than January 10, 
April 10,July lOand October t0ofeachyearorpart 
thereof in which respondent is on probation (''report­
ing dates''). However, if respondent's probation be­
gins less than 30 days before a reporting date, 
respondent may submit the first report no later than 
the second reporting date after the beginning of 
respondent's probation. In e~ch report, respondent 
must state that it covers the preceding calendar 
quarter or applicable portion thereof and certify by 
affidavit or under penalty of perj uryunder the laws of 
the State of California as follows: 

(a) in the first report, whether respondent has 
complied with all the provisions of the State Bar Act, 
Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar, and 
other terms and conditions of probation since the 
beginning of this probation; and 

(b) in each subsequent report, whether 
respondent has complied with all the provisions of the 
State Bar Act, Rules of Professional Conduct of the 
State Bar, and other terms and conditions of probation 
during the period. 

During 'the last 20 days of this probation, 
respondent must s~bmit a final report covering any 
period of probation remaining after and not covered 
by the last quarterly report required under this proba­
tion condition. In this final report, respondent must 
certify to the matters set forth in subparagraph (b) of 
this probation condition by affidavit or under penalty 
of perjury under the laws of the State of California. 

6. In addition to maintaining an official ad­
dress for State Bar purposes with the State Bar's 
Membership Records Office as required by section 
6002.1 of the Business and Professions Code, re­
spondent must maintain that official address with the 
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State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles and his 
assigned probation monitor, In addition, respondent 
must maintain with the Probation Unit in Los Angeles 
and his assigned probation monitor, a current office 
address and telephone number or, ifrespondent does 
not have an office, a current home address and 
telephone number. Respondent must promptly, but in 
no event later than 10 days after a change, report any 
changes in this information to the Membership Records 
Office, the Probation Unit, and his assigned probation 
monitor. 

7. Within the period ofhis actual suspension, 
respondent must: (1) attend and satisfactorily com­
plete the State Bar' s Ethics School; and (2) provide 
satisfactory pro.of of completion of the school to the 
State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles. This 
condition of probation is separate and apart from 
respondent's California Minimum Continuing Legal 
Education (MCLE) requirements; accordingly, re­
spondent is ordered not to claim any MCLE credit for 
attending and completing this course. (Accord Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, rule 3201.) 

8. Each year of his probation, respondent 
must attend in person and complete a course on law 
office management that qualifies for at least eight 
MCLE credit hours and that meets with the prior 
approval ofhis assigned probation monitor. Each year 
respondent must provide satisfactory proof of his 
completion of such a course to his assigned probation 
monitor. In addition, each year, respondent must 
provide satisfactory proof of the prior approval and 
completion of such a course to the State Bar's 
Probation Unit in Los Angeles. This condition of 
probation is separate and apart from Respondent's 
MCLE requirements; accordingly, respondent is or~ 
derednottoclaimanyMCLEcredit forattendingand 
completing these courses. (Cf. Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, rule 3201.) 

9. Within the period of his actual suspension, 
respondent must develop an extensive law office 
management/organization plan that meets with the 
approval of his assigned probation monitor. At a 
minimum, the plan must include procedures to send 
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periodic status reports to clients; the documentation 
of telephone messages received and sent; file main­
tenance; the meeting of deadlines; calendaring of 
court appearance dates; withdrawing as attorney, 
whether of record or not, when clients cannot be 
contacted or located; and the training and supervision 
of support personnel. This condition of probation is 
separate and apart from respondent's MCLE re­
quirements; accordingly, respondent is ordered not to 
claim any MCLE credit for developing this plan. (Cf. 
Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 3201.) 

10. Respondent's probation shall commence 
on the effective date of the Supreme Court order in 
this matter. And, at the end of the probationary term, 
ifhe has complied with the terms and conditions of 
probation, the Supreme Court order suspending him 
from the practice of law for five years shall be 
satisfied, and the suspension shall terminate. 

IX. PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
EXAMINATION, RULE 955, AND COSTS. 

We further recommend that Respondent be 
ordered to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional ConferenceofBar Examiners within the period 
of his actual suspension and to provide satisfactory 
proof of his passage of that examination to the State 
Bar's Probation Uni t in Los Angeles and his assigned 
probation monitor within that same time period. Ad­
ditionally, we recommend that Respondent be ordered 
to comply with the provisions of rule 955 ~f the 
California: Rules of Court and to perform the acts 
specified in subdivisions ( a) and ( c )of that rule within 
30 and 40 calendar days, respectively, after the 
effective date of the Supreme Court order in this 
matter. Finally, we recommend that the costs in­
curred by the State Bar in this matter be awarded to 
the State Bar in accordance with Business and 
Professions Code section 6086.10 and that such costs 
be payable in accordance with Business and Profes­
sions Code section 6140.7. 

I concur: 
BACIGALUPO, J."' 

*Hearing Judge of the State Bar Court designated by the 
Presiding Judge pursuant to rule 305(e) of the Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar. 
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CONCURRJNG AND DISSENTING OPINION 
OF OBRIEN, J. 

I concur fully with the majority's findings and 
conclusions of respondent's culpability and its analy­
sis regarding mitigating and aggravating circumstances 
except in the two instances involving aggravating 
circumstances, which I discuss below. However, I 
dissent from the recommended level of discipline 
based on my conclusion that the appropriate level of 
discipline to recommend to the Supreme Court in this 
proceeding is disbarment. 

I concur with the majority's conclusion that 
respondent's misconduct demonstrates repeated, simi­
lar acts of misconduct, which must be considered as 
serious aggravation. But, unlike themajority, Ifurther 
conclude that respondent's misconduct evidences a 
pattern of misconduct, which is egregious aggrava­
tion onder standard 1.2(b)(ii) of the Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct (here­
after standards). Notwithstanding the facts, interalia, . 
that multiple immigration judges (hereafter IJ' s) re­
peatedly reminded respondent of his duty to fully 
represent each immigration client for which he was 
the attorney ofrecord and that his clients' ca~es were 
repeatedly being dismissed because of his miscon­
duct, respondent began and continued a course of 
extensive misconduct that rises to the level of a 
"serious pattern of misconduct involving recurring 
types of wrongdoing." (Garlow v. State Bar (1988) 
44 Cal.3d 689, 711; In the Matter of Berg (Review 
Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 725, 737.) In 
that regard, when an attorney commits multiple acts 
of similarmisconductorrecurring typesofwrongdo­
ing, as respondent did in the present proceeding, the 
gravity of each successive violation incre~ses. (Cf. 
In the Matter of Tiernan (Review Dept. 1996) 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 523, 531.) 

IN THE MATTER OF V ALINOTI 

(Review Dept. 2002)4Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 498 

Moreover, I concur with the majority's conclu­
sion that respondent's misconduct caused substantial 
hann in at least five of the nine client matters in this 
disciplinaryproceeding, which must be considered as 
aggravation: However, I further note that, although 
none ofrespondent 's clients suffered any irreparable 
harm because of his misconduct, it was only because 
the clients were eventually able to obtain relief from 
the adverse consequences of respondent's miscon­
duct from either the immigration court or the United 
States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. Thus, 
I conclude that respondent's misconduct harmed not 
only his clients, but also the administration of justice, 
which is additional aggravation under standard 
l.2(b )(iv). 

Furthermore, the Supreme Court has repeatedly 
stated: "'willful failure to perform legal services for 
which an attorney has been retained in itself warrants 
disciplinary action, constituting a breach of the good 
faith and fiduciary duty owed by the attorney to his 
clients. [Citations.]' [Citation.] Moreover, habitual 
disregard by an .attorney of the interests of his or her 
clients combined with failure to communicate with 
such clients constitute acts of moral turpitude justify­
ing disbarment. [Citations.]" (McMorris v. State 
Bar(l 983) 35 Cal.3d 77, 85.) In the present proceed­
ing, not only do respondent's repeated failures to 
perform the legal services for which he was retained 
andhadalegaldutytoperform, failures to communi­
cate with his clients, and client abandonment constitute 
such acts of moral turpitude, his misleading state­
ments to an lJ and misrepresentations to the State Bar 
also constitute acts of moral turpitude. Respondent 
did not establish any compelling mitigation, nor did he 
establish any meaningful reform. Accordingly, I would 
recommend thatrespondent be disbarred and that his 
name be stricken from the roll of attorneys admitted 
to practice in this state. 

OBRIEN, J.* 

•Judge Pro Tern of the State Bar Court appointed by the State 
Bar BoardofGovernorsunderrule 14ofthe Rulesof Procedure 
of the State Bar. 
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In this probation revocation proceeding, respondent admitted to violating his probation by failing to 
complete restitution timely and by failing to attend the State Bar's Ethics School by the deadline. Those two 
probation conditions were imposed on respondent as part of the stipulated disposition in a prior disciplinary 
proceeding. Even though the hearing judge found multiple mitigating circumstances, she found only one 
aggravating circumstance (i.e., respondent's prior record of discipline). The hearingj udge recommended two 
years' stayed suspension and two years' probation, but no actual suspension. (Hon. Patrice E. McElroy, 
Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar requested review and contended that the hearing judge erred by not recommending a pc1iod 
of actual suspension of at least 90 days. The review department adopted the hearing judge's culpability and 
aggravation finding. However, it also independently made two additional aggravation findings (i.e., that 
respondent completed restitution only after repeated reminders and pressure from State Bar's Probation Unit 
and that respondent repeatedly listed, in caption on his pleadings, his public employer, the Yolo County District 
Attorney's Office when that office had no role in representing respondent in this proceeding). Moreover, even 
though the review department adopted some of the hearing judge's mitigation findings, it concluded that she 
gave them more weight than was appropriate on the record. The revie,v department adopted the hearing 
judge's recommended two years' probation, but added, as a condition, 30 days' actual suspension. 

For State Bar: Donald R. Steedman 

For Respondent: Robert Aaron Gorman, in pro. per. 

HEAD NOTES 

1712 Probation Cases-Wilfulness 
Neither bad purpose nor intentional evil is required to establish willful violations of disciplinary 
probation. 

Editor's note: The summary, head notes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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[2] 735.30 Mitigation-Candor-Bar-Found but Discounted 
735,50 Mitigation-Candor-Bar-Declined to Find 
1719 Probation Cases-Miscellaneous 
In probation revocation proceeding, while attorney's cooperation in stipulating to facts warranted 
some mitigative consideration, such consideration is not extended to either attorney's participation 
in prior disciplinary proceeding or in probation revocation proceeding, in which he had a statutory 
duty to participate. 

(3] 1714 Probation Cases-Degree of Discipline 

[4] 

Even if attorney had properly supported claim that he would lose his employment as deputy district 
attorney if he were actually suspended for probation revocation, it would not have excused a 
different degree of discipline than that which would have otherwise been warranted. 

691 
1719 

Aggravation-Other-Found 
Probation Cases-Miscellaneous 

In probation revocation proceeding, repeated reminders and pressure from State Bar needed to 
secure respondent's completion ofrestitution in accordance with the stipulated discipline imposed 
on attorney in prior disciplinary proceeding were aggravating factors and inconsistent with the self­
governing nature of probation as a rehabilitative part of attorney discipline system. 

[51 691 Aggravation-Other-Found 
1719 Probation Cases-Miscellaneous 
Attorney's injection of the district attorney's office in which he worked into the defense in his 
disciplinary probation revocation proceeding, by using its name in caption ofhis pleadings, when that 
office had no role in his defense was, at very least, a misrepresentation of that office's official 
participation and an aggravating circumstance. 

(6 a,.bJ 1 714 Probation Cases-Degree of Discipline 
More serious sanctions are assigned to probation violations closely related to reasons for imposition 
of previous discipline or to rehabilitation. Attorney's probation violation for not timely completing 
restitution to client was both centrally related to trust account violations underlying attorney's prior 
discipline and closely related to rehabilitation. 

[7] 1 714 Probation Cases-Degree of Discipline 
Discipline for willful violation of disciplinary probation often calls for actual suspension to reflect 
seriousness with which compliance with probation duties is held. Attorney who willfully violates a 
significant probation condition, such as restitution, can anticipate actual suspension in absence of 
compelling mitigating circumstances. 

[8] 1714 Probation Cases-Degree of Discipline 
Where probation conditions in prior disciplinary proceeding were imposed as part of a stipulated 
disposition, appropriate level of discipline in probation revocation proceeding for respondent's 
admitted failure to complete restitution payments until nine months past the deadline and to complete 
ethics school until six weeks past the deadline included a 30-day period of actual suspension in 
addition to a period of stayed suspension and an extension of probation as the hearing judge 
recommended. 
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[9) 1711 Probation Cases-Special Procedural Issues 
The review department reduced hearing judge's recommended two-year stayed suspension to one 
year in view of the limits of suspension contained in rule 562, Rules of Procedure of the State Bar. 

Aggravation 
Found 
511 

Mitigation 

AnnmoNAL ANALYSIS 

Aggravation-Prior Record-Found 

Found but Discounted 

Other 

715.30 Good Faith 
725.31 
725.32 
725.39 

1751 
1813.06 
1815.01 

Disability/Illness 
Disability/Illness 
Disability/Illness 

Probation Cases-Probation Revoked 
Stayed Suspension- I Year 
Actual Suspension-I Month 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P. J.: 

In this case, there is no dispute that respondent 
Robert Aaron Gorman wilfully failed to comply timely 
with two conditions of his disciplinary probation: 
making restitution and enrolhnent in the State Bar's 
Ethics School. The sole issue in this review, brought 
by the State Bar's Office of Chief Trial Counsel, is 
whether the hearing judge erred when she recom­
mended only stayed suspension for respondent's 
violations of probation. The State Bar seeks at least 
a 90-day actual suspension from practice as appropri­
ate discipline, and respondent urges that we adopt the 
hearing judge's recommendation. 

Independently reviewing the record (Cal. Rules 
of Court, rule 951.5; Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
30S(a); In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 207), we 
conclude that, in view of respondent's undeniably 
wilful violations of probation, particularly of the duty 
to timely make complete restitution, a 30-day actual 
suspension recommendation is now warranted as a 
part of extended probation. 

I. FACTS AND FINDINGS BELOW. 

A. Introduction and prior stayed suspension. 

Respondent was admitted to practice law in 
California in 1995. The facts of his prior discipline 
rested on a stipulated disposition. Moreover, the key 
facts surrounding this probation revocation proceed­
ing rested either on stipulated facts or were not 
disputed. 

Effective January 2001 respondent was placed 
by the Supreme Court on stayed suspension for one 
year and probation for two years. This discipline was 
based on respondent's failure during 1996 to maintain 
trust funds in his trust account. As a result, a trust 
account check respondent issued for $620 to a 
medical provider ofhis client was dishonored. In 1997 
and during part ofl 998, respondent also failed to keep 
a current office address on the State Bar's official 
records as required by the Business and Professions 
Code. 
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In aggravation, the hearing judge considered that 
trust funds were involved in respondent's 1996 viola­
tion. In mitigation, respondent offered to show that he 
had opened the trust account at issue to protect his 
client from a previous problematic trust account and 
that he had instructed his office staff to deposit 
adequate funds in the account. At about the time of 
his misconduct, respondent closed his practice and 
moved his practice records to his garage. A suspi­
cious fire broke out in his garage and these events 
added to respondent's inattention to his trust account 
recordkeeping and State Bar obligations. 

The stayed suspension required that respondent 
make restitution to the provider or his client of$620, 
plus 10 percent interest from June 26, 1996, and 
furnish satisfactory evidence of this payment to the 
State Bar's Probation Unit. The deadline for these 
restitution duties was April 7, 2001, ninety days from 
the effective date of the Supreme Court's order. 

During respondent's probation, he was required 
to file quarterly reports of his probation compliance 
and idcnti:f'.y restitution payments. By January 7, 2002, 
respondent was required to complete the State Bar's 
Ethics School and by the same date, he had to pass the 
professional responsibility examination. 

B. Respondent's compliance and probation 
violations. 

There is no dispute that respondent timely passed 
the professional responsibility examination and made 
timely quarterly probation reports. However, it is also 
undisputed that respondent did not complete the State 
Bar's Ethics School until February 21, 2002, about six 
weeks late. Also, respondent did not complete restitu­
tion payments until January 7, 2002, nine months late. 

The record shows that respondent paid the 
principal sum of restitution, $620, sometime in June 
2001. He reported incorrectly on July 6,200 I, that he 
had satisfied his restitution duties. However, the State 
Bar had learned from respondent's former client that 
she had not received the interest due on the principal 
amount. Thereafter, the State Bar tried repeatedly to 
have respondent complete his restitution or provide 
proof of having done so. A State Bar Probation Unit 
deputy, Lydia Dineros, left phone messages twice in 
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(9) 1711 Probation Cases-Special Procedural Issues 
The review department reduced hearingjudge's recommended two-year stayed suspension to one 
year in view of the limits of suspension contained in rule 562, Rules of Procedure of the State Bar. 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P. J. : 

In this case, there is no dispute that respondent 
Robert Aaron Gorman wilfully failed to comply timely 
with two conditions of his disciplinary probation: 
making restitution and enrolhnent in the S tatc Bar's 
Ethics School. The sole issue in th.is review, brought 
by the State Bar's Office of Chief Trial Counsel, is 
whether the hearing judge erred when she recom­
mended only stayed suspension for respondent's 
violations of probation. The State Bar seeks at least 
a 90-day actual suspension from practice as appropri­
ate discipline, and respondent urges that we adopt the 
hearing judge's recommendation. 

Independently reviewing the record (Cal. Rules 
of Court, rule 9 51.5; Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
305(a); In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207), we 
conclude that, in view of respondent's undeniably 
wilful violations of probation, pa1ticularly of the duty 
to timely make complete restitution, a 30-day actual 
suspension recommendation is now warranted as a 
part of extended probation. 

I. FACTS AND FINDINGS BELOW. 

A. Introduction and prior stayed suspension. 

Respondent was admitted to practice law in 
California in 1995. The facts of his prior discipline 
rested on a stipulated disposition. Moreover, the key 
facts surrounding this probation revocation proceed­
ing rested either on stipulated facts or were not 
disputed. 

Effective January 200 l respondent was placed 
by the Supreme Court on stayed suspension for one 
year and probation for two years. This discipline was 
based on respondent's failure during 1996 to maintain 
trust funds in his trust account. As a result, a trust 
account check respondent issued for $620 to a 
medical provider ofhis client was dishonored. In 199 7 
and during part ofl 998, respondent also failed to keep 
a current office address on the State Bar's official 
records as required by the Business and Professions 
Code. 
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In aggravation, the hearing judge considered that 
trust funds were involved in respondent's 1996 viola­
tion. In mitigation, respondent offered toshowthathe 
had opened the trust account at issue to protect his 
client from a previous problematic trust account and 
that he had instructed his office staff to deposit 
adequate funds in the account. At about the time of 
his misconduct, respondent closed his practice and 
moved his practice records to his garage. A suspi­
cious fire broke out in his garage and these events 
added to respondent's inattention to his trust account 
recordkeeping and State Bar obligations. 

The stayed suspension required that respondent 
make restitution to the provider or his client of $620, 
plus 10 percent interest from June 26, 1996, and 
furnish satisfactory evidence of this payment to the 
State Bar's Probation Unit. The deadline for these 
restitution duties was April 7, 2001, ninety days from 
the effective date of the Supreme Court's order. 

During respondent's probation, he was required 
to file quarterly reports of his probation compliance 
and identify restitution payments. By January 7, 2002, 
respondent was requircdto complete the State Bar's 
Ethics School and by the same date, he had to pass the 
professional responsibility examination. 

B. Respondent's compliance and probation 
violations. 

There is no dispute that respondent timely passed 
the professional responsibility examination and made 
timely quarterly probation reports. However, it is also 
undisputed that respondent did not complete the State 
Bar's Ethics School until February 21, 2002, about six 
\Veeks late. Also, respondent did not complete restitu­
tion payments until January 7, 2002, nine months late. 

The record shows that respondent paid the 
principal sum of restitution, $620, sometime in June 
2001. He reported incorrectly on July 6, 2001, that he 
had satisfied his restitution duties. However, the State 
Bar had learned from respondent's former client that 
she had not received the interest due on the principal 
amount. Thereafter, the State Bar tried repeatedly to 
have respondent complete his restitution or provide 
proof of having done so. A State Bar Probation Unit 
deputy, Lydia Dineros, left phone messages twice in 
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June 200 l with respondent to obtain information 
about his making of restitution. She also reminded him 
in an August 200 I letter of his restitution requirement. 
She did speak to respondent in December when he 
called her to report passage of the professional 
responsibility examination. In that call, she reminded 
respondenttoregisterfortheJanuary 17, 2002, ethics 
school class. The record further shows that in No­
vember 2001, a State Bar attorney wrote to respondent 
reminding him that he had failed to make $330 of 
required restitution; and, that unless he confirmed 
pa)'1TI.ent by December 5, 2001, the State Bar attor­
ney would move to revoke his probation. In a 
declaration Respondent filed in March 2002 opposing 
the State Bar's motion to revoke probation, he stated 
that he understood that if the State Bar received his 
payment by January 8, 2002, it would not seek 
probation revocation. In his testimony, he stated that 
he had informed the State Bar attorney that he could 
not make the pa)'1TI.ent until he received his salary in 
January. Even assuming arguendo that a State Bar 
attorney could grant respondent an extension of time 
to comply with a Supreme Court disciplinary order, 
the record shows no written grant by the State Bar 
attorney to respondent of an extension to January to 
complete restitution. As noted, not until January 7, 
2 002; did respondent complete restitution. 

Finally, the record shows that when this proba­
tion revocation proceeding arose, respondent 
repeatedly used the pleading caption of his public 
office of emplo)'1TI.ent, the Yolo County District 

• Attorney's Office, when appearing, although that 
office had no role in his probation compliance.1 

At the formal hearing, respondent openly and 
repeatedly admitted his probation violations. When he 
entered into the 2000 stipulation for his prior disci­
pline, he was aware of the conditions he had to meet 
and their deadlines. He testified as to the pressures of 
the death of his father in October 2000 after nearly l 2 

1. During the proceedings below, the State Bar moved to clarify 
the record by striking references to the Yolo County District 
Attorney's Office as the appearing attorney in the case. The 
hearingjudge granted the motion. 
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months of attempts to get proper diagnosis and 
treatment for his father's brain tumor; and the birth of 
his first child also in October 2000. He also had to pay 
about $4,000 in the costs of disciplinary proceedings 
which was a sum far in excess of what he thought he 
would have to pay. His testimony suggested that he 
did not have immediate funds to pay the interest 
po1tion of the restitution when it was due. His primary 
resource at the time was his modest salary as a 
deputy district attorney. He asserted that he could 
continue his employment provided he would not 
receive any actual suspension. 

C. The hearing judge's findings and conclusions. 

The hearing judge found that the State Bar 
proved by a preponderance of the evidence2 that 
respondent wilfully violated the restitution and Ethics 
School completion conditions ofhis probation. The 
hearing judge found respondent's prior stayed sus­
pension as the sole factor in aggravation. She found 
many factors in mitigation: his participation in the 
previous disciplinary and present revocation pro­
ceedings; his remorse and display of candor and 
cooperation at trial; the absence of any bad faith, 
coupled with his belief that he was making good faith 
efforts to make restitution; and the effect of the illness 
and subsequent death ofrespondent' s father, yielding 
mental and emotional exhaustion. After reviewing 
several probation revocation decisions in past cases, 
the hearing judge deemed the 90-day actual suspenw 
sion recommended by the State Bar to be unduly 
harsh, considering the confluence of mitigating fac­
tors found and that respondent would lose his 
employment if actually suspended. Concluding that 
the State Bar had not adequately shown a need for 
actual suspension and that the public would be pro­
tected by extending respondent's probation with only 
stayed suspension, the hearing judge recommended 
only stayed suspension. The State Bar then requested 
review. 

2. We view the hearingj udge' s reference to the preponderance 
standard as not an asse$Smcnt of the relative strength of the 
evidence adduced but rather as a refer~nce to the lower proof 
standard required for probation revocation. (See Bus. & Prof. 
Code,§ 6093, subd. (c); Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 561.) 
Indeed, the hearing judge recited that the respondent admitted 
his violations. 
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II. DISCUSSION. 

A Culpability. 

We uphold the hearing judge's decision finding 
that respondent wilfully breached probation terms. 
[11 As the judge stated correctly, the law does not 
require bad purpose or intentional evil to support a 
wilful violation of probation conditions. (In the Mat­
ter of Po tack (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 525, 536.) Here, respondent openly admit­
ted his failures to complete restitution timely and 
attend the State Bar's Ethics School by the due date. 
Not until January 2002, did he provide proof that he 
paid the interest due his client. 

B. Degree of discipline. 

The State Bar urges that we increase the disci­
pline for respondent's violations, pointing to alleged 
error by the hearing judge in weighing mitigation 
excessively and in devaluing aggravation inappropri -
ately. As the State Bar contends, respondent did not 
display mitigating candor and cooperation, he did not 
show good faith, did not demonstrate extreme emo­
tional problems caused by the death of his father, did 
not prove that his feared loss of his job would be a 
mitigating circumstance and demonstrated more ag­
gravation than found by the hearing judge. According 
to the State Bar, comparable probation cases warrant 
at least a 90-day actual suspension. Respondent 
argues that the hcaringjudge 's discipline recommen­
dation is correct because he did show his candor and 
cooperation, he proved emotional difficulties linked to 
his father's death, and he acted in good faith because 
he was unable to pay restitution timely. 

We agree with some of the mitigating factors 
found below, but we nevertheless conclude that the 
hearing judge weighed them somewhat heavier than 
is appropriate on this record in view of aggravating 
factors. 

(2} Although we agree that respondent's coop­
eration in stipulating to facts in this matter warrants 
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some mitigative consideration, we do not extend that 
treatment to his participation in the past case (see In 
the Matter of Stewart (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 52, 61),oreveninthiscase. Itwas 
respondent's statutory duty to participate in these 
proceedings (Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 6068, subd. (i))3, 
just as it was his duty to comply with the conditions of 
his probation(§ 6068, subd. (k)). 

We acknowledge that respondent's testimony of 
his steps to make restitution and comply with proba­
tion appears sincere. That warrants some, but not 
extensive mitigation since the record shows consider­
able effort and even pressure on the part of the State 
Bar to effect respondent's completion of restitution. 
Respondent was never confused as to his probation­
ary duties nor the deadlines for compliance; and he 
discharged several of his other duties timely, including 
paying a significant assessment of costs, in order to 
continue to keep his license in good standing. HowR 
ever, ifhe did not complete restitution earlier because 
of lack of funds, he never explained that to the 
probation unit nor did he seek an extension of time 
based on that reason. In our view, this history under­
cuts notably, respondent's claim of credit for good 
faith action. 

[3] We are sympathetic with respondent's claim 
that he will be able to continue in employment if he is 
not suspended actually from practice. However, we 
note that respondent gave no details supporting this 
claim. Even if he had done so, that would not excuse 
a degree of discipline that is otherwise warranted. If 
avoidance of actual suspension were a prerequisite 
for respondent's continued-employment, it would 
have been appropriate for respondent to have re­
solved his restitution obligation when the State Bar 
gave him ample opportunity to do so to avoid this very 
proceeding. 

Although we do not minimize the trauma associ­
ated with the death of respondent's father after a 
period of illness, that event appeared separated by a 
significant time from the deadlines of respondent's 
restitution and his ethics school compliance. Absent 

3. Unless noted otherwise, all references lo sections arc to the 
provisions of the Busine~s and Professions Code. 
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either ex.pert evidence or more detailed evidence 
from respondent, as to specifically how his father's 
death affected his lack of compliance, we cannot 
consider it weighty in mitigation. We note that during 
this same time, respondent timely provided quarterly 
reports and passed the professional responsibility 
examination - accomplishments which collectively re­
quire a certain concentration, focus and organization. 

[4] We find two aggravating factors of note, in 
addition to the one of respondent's prior record found 
by the hearing judge. We consider the repeated 
reminders and pressure needed by the State Bar for 
respondent to complete restitution to be aggravating. 
These were not one or two routine reminders, but 
continued past his deadline for restitution, and even 
these were not enough to secure respondent's comple­
tion of restitution by the deadline set forth. Indeed, 
even his payment of the principal amount of restitu­
tion was late. In short, the repeated need of the State 
Bar to intervene actively to seek respondent's com­
pliance with duties he voluntarily undertook was 
inconsistent withthe self-governing nature of proba­
tion as a rehabilitative part of the attorney disciplinary 
system. 

[5] Finally, we are concerned by respondent's 
injection of his public employer, the Yolo County 
District A ttomey' s Office, into the defense of this 
matter in which it had no role. Respondent's use of his 
agency name in pleadings in this court when probation 
revocation proceedings commenced, defies under­
standing. We have no proof and make no finding that 
this was respondent's inappropriate attempt to influ­
ence the State Bar Probation Unit or this court4

. 

Whatever its reason, at the very least, it was a 
misrepresentation by respondent of official participa­
tion in these proceedings and we hold it to be an 
aggravating circumstance. 

As the decision in In the Matter of Potack, 
. supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 525, 540 teaches, 
there has been a wide range of discipline imposed for 

4. However, in view of the mutual duties of cooperation found 
in statute in certain matters between the State Bar and criminal 
prosecution agencies (see §§ 6044.5, 6054), this potential 
concern is not solely academic. 
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probation violations from merely extending probation, 
as the hearing judge here recommended, to a revoca­
tion of the full amount of the stayed suspension and 
imposition of that amount as an actual suspension. 
[6a) Further, as we discussed in Potack, more 
serious sanctions should be assigned to those proba­
tion violations closely related to the reasons for 
imposing the previous discipline or closely related to 
rehabilitation, (Ibid.) Also to be weighed, per Potack, 
is the total length of stayed suspension which could be 
imposed as an actual suspension and the total length 
of actual suspension imposed earlier as a condition of 
probation. (Ibid.) Potack preceded the Supreme 
Court's opinion in Potack v. State Bar (1991) 54 
Cal.3d 132 in which the Court imposed a two-year 
actual suspension, based on Potack' s failure to timely 
file probation reports and that one was incomplete 
when filed. In aggravation, the Court found that 
Potack had failed to make restitution timely as or­
dered by his probation. (Id. at pp. 138-139.) 

Although the hearing judge distinguished cases 
cited by the State Bar, as calling for excessive 
discipline here, other than In the Matter of Potack, 
supra, I Cal. State Bar Ct Rptr. 525, she did not 
discuss cases in which the primary probation violation 
found was, as here, the failure to make timely resti­
tution. 

We have reviewed all of our reported decisions 
since 198 9 in which probation revocation for failure to 
make restitution was the sole or significant factor in 
the case and find 11?-at although they resulted in actual 
suspension of six months or longer, they are also more 
serious than the present case. 

In the Matter of Taggart (Review Dept. 2001) 
4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 302 was clearly a more 
serious case than this one. Taggart ha_d two previous 
suspensions, and he had failed to make any of the 
restitution of $1,528 plus interest due three years 
earlier. We held that Taggart had wilfully breached 
his restitution duty and found insufficient evidence of 
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mitigating circumstances. We noted that the record 
lacked evidence that Taggart had failed to comply 
with any other conditions of his probation. On our 
recommendation, the Supreme Court suspended 
Taggart for six months actual and until he completed 
restitution, as part of a longer stayed suspension. 

In the Matter of Broderick (Review Dept. 
1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138 is also more 
serious than the present one. Broderick had failed to 
make any of the required restitution of $4,666 plus 
interest, had filed no quarterly reports and failed to 
obtain required psychological counseling. We also 
found Broderick culpable of misconduct in an original 
disciplinary proceeding as well. We gave several 
mitigating circumstances considerable weight but 
also considered hvo aggravating ones. For the proba­
tion violations, the Supreme Court imposed a one-year 
actual suspension. 

We also deem more serious than the present 
matter, the case of In the Matter of Hunter (Review 
Dept.1994)3Cal.StateBarCt. Rptr. 81.Hunterwas 
found to have violated one of the quarterly-reporting 
conditions ofhis probation as well as to have failed to 
make about $1,166.50 of required restitution in the 
total amount of $1,766.50. Further defects in his 
probation reports were considered aggravating as 
was his uncooperative conduct in the hearing below. 
We considered the aggravating circumstances to 
outweigh the few mitigating ones, which consisted of 
emotional difficulties experienced by Hunter and 
favorable character evidence.· We recommended, 
and the Supreme Comt imposed, actual suspension of 
one year and until Hunter provided proof of restitu­
tion. 

[6b] In this case, respondent's primary proba­
tion violation of failure to make restitution timely to his 
client, was centrally related to the trust account 
violation underlying respondent's prior discipline. As 
we have observed, the Supreme Court and our court 
have underscored the important functions of restitu­
tion in attorney discipline: "Requiring restitution serves 

5. [9) The hearingjudge had recommended that respondent be 
suspended for two years, with execution stayed.In viewofthe 
limits of suspension contained in rule 562, Rules of Procedure 
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the rehabilitative and public protection goals of disci­
plinary probation by forcing attorneys to confront in 
concrete terms the consequences of the attorney's 
misconduct." (In the Matter of Taggart, supra, 4 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 312, citing Brookman 
v. State Bar (1988) 46 Cal.3d 1004, 1009 and In the 
Matter of Potack, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
atp. 537.) 

(7] We also consider that discipline imposed for 
the wilful violation of probation often calls for actual 
suspension as a reflection of the seriousness with 
which compliance with probationary duties is held. 
Just as a wilful violation of an attorney's duties under 
California Rules of Court, rnlc 955 usually results in 
disbrument (e.g., Bercovich v. State Bar (1990) 50 
Cal.3d 116, 131, and cases there cited), an attorney 
who wilfully violates a significant condition of proba­
tion, such as restitution, can anticipate actual suspension 
as the expected result, absent compelling mitigating 
circumstances. 

[81 Balancing all relevant facts and circum­
stances to reach the appropriate recommendation of 
degree of discipline (e.g., Gary v. State Bar (1988) 
44 Cal.3d 820, 828), we conclude that aggravating 
circumstances weigh more than the hearing judge 
assessed and mitigating ones weigh less. Even con­
sidering fully the mitigating circumstances in this 
proceeding, we determine that a 30-day actual sus­
pension is called for as a condition of a stayed 
suspension and the extension of probation recom­
mended by the hearing judge.5 [9 - see fn. 5] 

III. RECOMMENDATION. 

For the reasons set forth, we reconunend that 
the stay of suspension previously ordered in Supreme 
Court case number S091756 (State Bar Court case 
nwnbers 96-0-06517; 96-0-08074; 97-O-l 1026(con­
solidated)) be revoked and set aside, that the 
respondent, Robert A. Gorman, be suspended for one 
year, that execution of such suspension be stayed and 
that respondent be placed on probation for two years 

of the State Bar, we shall reduce the stayed suspension in this 
case to one year. 
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on the conditions recommended by the hearing judge 
in her order granting motion to revoke probation filed 
June 17, 2002, with the added condition that respon­
dent be actually suspended from the practice oflaw 
in California for the firstthirty(30) days of the period 
of probation. 

In view of respondent's passage of the profes­
sional responsibility examination and his ultimate 
completion of the State Bar's Ethics School, we do 
not recommend that he be required to recomplete 
those requirements. 

We do recommend that the State Bar be awarded 
costs in accordance with the provisions of section 
6086.10 and that such costs be payable in accordance 
with section 6140.7. 

We concur: 
WATAI, J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 
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SUMMARY 

Respondent became involved.in serious intra-corporate dispute over the control of a joint venture 
corporation by filing a petition for Chapter l l bankruptcy petition with the authorization of only the corporation's 
president, who was one of the corporation's four directors. The State Bar charged respondent with misconduct 
with respect to his handling of the proceeds of a $79,875.89 insurance settlement check which was made 
payable to his corporate client and that the corporation president permitted respondent to deposit into his client 
trust account without the know ledge or consent of the remaining three directors. The hearing judge found that 
respondent willfully failed maintain trust funds in his clienttrust account, willfully failed to account for the trust 
funds, and willfully misappropriated, as his attorney's fees, $29,875.89 of the settlement funds from his trust 
account because of his grossly negligent misreading of the facts and incorrect interpretation of the law. In 
mitigation, respondent had no prior record of discipline in 12 years' practice, good character testimony, and 
community service. In aggravation, respondent's misconduct caused significant client hann and was 
surrounded by overreaching, indifference towards atonement for misconduct, numerous conflicts of interest, 
and multiple acts of uncharged but proved misconduct. The hearing judge recommended four years' stayed 
suspension and four years' probation on conditions including a two year period of actual suspension which will 
continue until respondent pays restitution and establishes his rehabilitation, fitness to practice, and learning in 
the law. (Hon. Michael D. Marcus, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent requested review, denying any culpability for misconduct and arguing that the hcaringjudge' s 
discipline recommendation is excessive. The State Bar urged the review department to adopt the hearing 
judge's findings and discipline recommendation. The review department adopted the hearing judge's 
detcnninations that respondent failed to maintain trust funds in his client trust account and failed to account for 
trust funds. Even though review department adopted the hearing judge's finding that respondent misappropri­
ated his client's funds, it did so only with respect to its dctcnnination that respondent disbursed settlement funds 
to the corporation's president in his individual capacity without the knowledge or consent or the remaining three 
directors. The review department also concluded that respondent knowingly and intentionally misappropriated 
$29,875.89 for his own use and benefit. With various modifications, the review department adopted many of 
the hearingjudge' s mitigation and aggravation findings. The department adopted the hearing judge's discipline 
recommendation after increasing the amount of recommended restitution. 

Editor'8 note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text ofthc Review Department's 

opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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Ih:ADNOTES 

[1] 2 76.00 Rule 3-600 (no former rule) 
280.00 Rule 4-l00(A) [former 8-l0l(A)] 
401 Common Law/Other Violations in General 
430,00 Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
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Because insurance· settlement check that respondent deposited into his client trust account was 
made payable to his corporate client, he became a fiduciary of all members of corporation's board 
of directors who asserted a claim to those funds on corporation's behalf, and he owed those directors 
the same high duty of honestly and obedience to fiduciary duty as if he were their attorney. 
Respondent breached that duty when he distributed $50,000 of settlement funds to corporation's 
president, who was one ofcorporation' s four directors, in the president's individual capacity without 
knowledge or consent of remaining three directors because he knew that president and other three 
directors were in intractable dispute over control of corporation and that corporation's board had 
suspended president and denied him access to corporation's funds. 

[2] 276.00 Rule 3-600 (no former rule) 
280.00 Rule 4-lO0(A) [former 8-l0l(A)] 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
Where respondent had certain knowledge of dispute over his fees and where respondent ignored 
explicit directive of board majority to immediately cease representing corporation, respondent 
violated rule of professional conduct requiring disputed funds to be held in trust when he withdrew 
$29,875.89 of corporate client's funds from his trust account as his attorney's fees. 

[3 a-c] 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
276,00 Rule 3-600 (no former rule) 
420.00 Misappropriation 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
Once respondent deposited insurance settlement check that was made payable to his corporate 
client into his client trust account, he had a fiduciary duty to protect the settlement funds on behalf 
of all the members of the corporation's board of directors regardless of whether he considered them 
authorized to act on corporation's behalf. Respondent willfully misappropriated $50,000 of those 
funds when he disbursed $50,000 to corporation's president, who was one of corporation's four 
directors, in president's individual capacity without knowledge or consent of corporation's 
remaining three directors as he knew of intractable dispute between president and other three 
directors over control of the corporation and corporation• s board had suspended president and 
denied him access to corporation's funds. Respondent's misappropriation involved moral turpitude. 
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[4 a-d] 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
276.00 Rule 3-600 (no former rule) 
420.00 Misappropriation 
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When respondent, without the knowledge or consent of all of the directors, withdrew $29,875.89 
of corporate settlement funds as his attorney's fees for representing the corporation in bankruptcy 
proceeding, he knowingly and intentionally misappropriated the $29,875.89 for his own purpose 
,vithout an honest belief in his right to those funds because ( l) he knew a majority of directors 
vigorously disputed his right to represent corporation and to incur legal fees; (2) he knew president 
could authorize payment of only $100 of respondent's fees; (3) he acknowledged, under penalty of 
perjury in a bankruptcy court declaration, he did not have right to withdraw fees from trust account 
\Vithout court's approval; yet, there is no evidence respondent ever obtained such court approval 
before paying himself; (4) he deceived and misled corporation's chairman and his legal counsel 
about existence and location of insurance settlement funds; (5) he refused to provide records of 
settlement check and funds to State Bar. Respondent's knowing and intentional misappropriation 
of$29, 8 7 5: 89 involved moral turpitude in violation of statute prohibiting acts of moral turpitude and 
dishonesty. 

[5] 213.30 State Bar Act-Section 6068(c) 
271.00 Rule 3-200 (former 2-110) 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
Even though attorneys have duty to zealously represent their clients and assert unpopular position 
in advancing clients' legitimate objectives, attorneys, as officers of the court, have duty.to judicial 
system to assert only legal claims or defenses warranted by law or supported by good faith belief 
in correctness. 

[61 273.30 Rule 3-310 [former 4-101 & 5-1021 
276.00 Rule 3-600 (no former rule) 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
A corporation's attorney must abstain from taking part in controversies amount corporation's 
directors and shareholders to avoid being placed in a position requiring attorney to choose between 
conflicting duties or to reconcile conflicting interests. As attorney for corporation, respondent's 
professional obligations were to corporation; not its officers, directors, or shareholders whether in 
their representative or individual capacities. 

[7 a, b) 273.30 Rule 3-310 [former 4-101 & 5-102] 
276.00 Rule 3-600 (no former rnle) 
A corporation is a statutory person that.can speak only through its constituent officers, directors, 
shareholders, and agents. Faced with dispute over who was authorized to speak for corporate client, 
respondent should have first looked at corporation's organizational documents and other pertinent 
agreements. 

[8 a-c] 273.30 Rule 3-310 [former 4-101 & 5-102} 
276.00 Rule 3-600 (no former rule) 
2 77. 40 Rule 3-700( c) (former 2-111 ( C)] 
560 Aggravation-Other uncharged violations (l.2(b)(iii)) 
Because there was an actual conflict in intractable dispute between corporation's president, who 
was one of corporation's four directors, and corporation's remaining three directors over control 
of the corporation, respondent's proper course of conduct in representing corporation was to obtain 
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informed written consent of each of board member or to withdraw from representation if he could 
not do so. But respondent did not do so; he chose to join the fray asserting only the president's interest 
while representing the corporation. Because of respondent's multiple conflicts, he lost any 
objectivity or neutrality and gravely compromised his duty of loyalty to corporate client, which is a 
serious aggravating circumstance as uncharged, but proved misconduct under aggravation standard 
for attorney sanctions for professional misconduct with respect to surrounding violations of State 
Bar Act or Rules of Professional Conduct. 

(9 a-d] 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
276.00 Rule 3-600 (no former rule) 
280.00 Rule 4-l00(A) [former 8-lOl(A)] 
280.40 Rule 4-100(B)(3) [former 8-101(8)(3)] 
420.00 Misappropriation 
430.00 Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
822 Standards-(a) Sanctions for misappropriation 
1091 Substantive Issues re Discipline-Proportionality 
1099 Substantive Issues re Discipline-Miscellaneous 
Where respondent misappropriated $50,000 of$79,875 .89 insurance settlement funds he held in his 
trust account for his corporate client by disbursing $50,000 to corporation's president, who was one 
of corporation's four directors, in president's individual capacity without knowledge or consent of 
corporation's remaining three directors; where respondent violated his fiduciary duty to remaining 
three directors by disbursing.the $50,000 to president without their knowledge or consent; where 
respondent knowingly and intentionally misappropriated remaining $29,875.89 of settlement funds 
for his o·wn use and benefit by withdrawing them from his trust account as attorney's fees without 
the knowledge and consent of remaining three directors; where respondent violated rule of 
professional conduct requiring disputed funds to be held in trust by withdrawing $29,875.89 in fees 
from his trust account when his right to collect fees was disputed; where respondent repeatedly 
refused to account for proceeds of insurance settlement check in accordance with requests of 
chairman of corporations board of directors; where there was extensive aggravation, including 
concealment, overreaching, and failure to make restitution, with mitigation for strong good character 
testimony, extensive community service, no prior record of discipline, and lack of additional 
misconduct in more than five years; and where misconduct involved only a single client matter; and 
even though standard for attorney sanctions for professional misconduct for willful misappropriation 
called for and Supreme Court has repeatedly held that usual discipline for willfully misappropriation 
of client funds is disbarment, appropriate discipline recommendation was not disbarment, but four 
years' stayed suspension, four years' probation on conditions, which included two years' actual 
suspension continuing until respondent pays restitution of $29,875 . 8 9 with interest. 

(10 a-bl 171 
276,00 
280.00 
401 

Discipline-Restitution 
Rule 3-600 (no former rule) 
Rule 4-lO0(A) [former 8-lOl(A)] 
Common Law/Other Violations in General 

490.00 Miscellaneous Misconduct 
Attorneys cannot recover for services rendered if services are rendered in contradiction of attorney 
professional responsibility. And where attorney improperly withdraws fees from a trust account, 
restitution to client or client's estate is appropriate. Thus, where respondent withdrew $29,875 from 
his client trust account as his attorney's fees without his corporate client's authorization, respondent 
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should make restitution of $29,875 plus interest to either corporate client, its successor, appropriate 
recipient of its assets after its dissolution, or if such successor or recipient of assets after dissolution 
cannot be identified, the Client Security Fund. 

Culpability 
Found 
221.l l 
221.12 
280.01 
280.41 
420.11 
420.12 
430.01 
490.01 

Aggravation 
Found 
551 
561 
582.10 
591 

Mitigation 
710.10 
720.50 
740.10 
791 

Standards 
822.55 
822.59 
831.90 

Discipline 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Section 6106-Dcliberate Dishonesty/Fraud 
Section 6106-Gross N egligcncc 
Rule 4-l00(A) [former 8-l0I(A)] 
Rule 4-100(B)(3) [former 8-10l(B)(3)] 
Misappropriation-Deliberate Theft/Dishonesty 
Misappropriation-Gross Negligence 
Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
Miscellaneous Misconduct 

Overreaching 
Aggravation-Uncharged Violations-Found 
Hann to Client 
Indifference 

No Prior Record 
Lack of Harm 
Good Character 
Other 

Misappropriation-Deel ined to Apply 
Misappropriation-Declined to Apply 
Moral Turpitude-Disbarment 

lO 13 .10 Stayed Suspension-4 Years 
1015.08 Actual Suspension-2 Years 
lO I 7. IO Probation-4 years 
Probation Conditions 

1021 Restitution 
1022.50 Probation Monitor Not Appointed 
I 024 Ethics Exam/School 
1026 Trust Account Auditing 
1029 Other Probation Conditions 
1030 Standard l.4(c)(ii) 
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OPINION 

EPSTEIN, J.: 

This matter presents an unfortunate example of 
an attorney who disregarded his ethical duties in the 
course of representing a corporate client. Respon­
dent, James Steven Davis, who was admitted to the 
practice oflaw in 1984, seeks our review of a hearing 
judge's decision finding him culpable, inter alia, of 
acts of moral turpitude because he misappropriated 
with gross negligence the proceeds of a $79,875.89 
insurance settlement check issued to his client Ther­
mal Remediation Corporation (TRC). The judge also 
found respondent failed to account for the proceeds 
to TRC 's Chairman of the Board. Respondent denies 
culpability and appeals the recommendation of the 
hearing judge that respondent be placed on four 
years' stayed suspension, with two years' actual 
suspension, which will continue until respondent pays 
restitution of$14,938 together with interest thereon 
and until respondent establishes his rehabilitation, 
fitness to practice and learning in the law in accor­
dance with standard 1.4(c)(ii) of the Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct.1 

We have independently reviewed the record (In 
re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 207), although we 
give great weight to the hearing _judge's factual 
findings that resolve issues pertaining to the credibility 
of the witnesses. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
305(a); In re Menna (1995) 11 Cal.4th 975, 985.) 
Accordingly, we adopt many of the hearing judge's 
culpability determinations, as well as aggravation and 
mitigation findings, as modified post. Also, for the 
reasons discussed herein, we adoptthe hearing judge's 
disciplinary recommendations, with the exception of 
the amount of restitution to be paid by respondent, 
which we recommend should equal the $29,875.89 in 
legalfees (plus interest thereon) that respondent paid 
himself from the client trust account while these fees 
were in dispute. 

1. The standards are found in title IV of the Rules of Procedure 
of the State Bar. Al! further references to standard8 are to this 
source. 

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL 
BACKGROUND 
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The charges against respondent arose in the 
context of his representation of TRC, which was a 
joint venture corporation comprised of two 50 percent 
shareholders: Robert Ruppert, and a corporate share­
holder, CERT Environmental Corporation (CERT). 
A review· of the acrimonious history of TRC is 
necessary to understand the nature of the misconduct 
in this case. 

A. Formation of the Joint Venture and Its 
Structure and Operation. 

In February 1994, Ruppert and CERT, a wholly­
owned subsidiary of the Union Oil Company of 
California (Unocal), formed TRC to operate a busi­
ness that specialized in cleaning contaminated soil 
using a remediation process which Ruppert devcl• 
oped. TRC was a Delaware corporation, with its 
principal office in Fullerton, California and its soil 
remediation facility in San Bernardino, California. 

At the beginning of the joint venture, Ruppert and 
CERT entered into several agreements, including a 
Shareholders Agreement, which restricted their rights 
to sell or transfer their TRC stock and included a 
mandatory buy-out provision in case of a deadlock 
between the shareholders. The Shareholders Agree­
ment also provided CERT with three seats on the 
Board of Directors and gave Ruppert one seat on the 
board. CERT elected David Dassler, James Ellis, and 
Brian Kelly to the board, each of whom were employ­
ees of Unocal. Dassler served as Chairman of the 
Board; Ruppert elected himself to the board. Also, in 
February 1994, TRCex.ecutedanEmploymentAgree­
mentwithRuppertemployinghimas its president and 
chief operating officer for three years, and specifying 
various restrictions on his authority to act on behalf of 
the corporation. Article 2. l of the Employment Agree­
ment stated that the president was subject to the 
direction and control of the board. Article 2.3(a) 
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limited Ruppert's power to bind TRC in the absence 
of a board resolution or approved budget. 

Unocal funded the joint venture with a loan of 
$3 .405 million to TRC, secured by liens on the two soil 
remediation units. Unocal also provided operating 
loans to TRC totaling more than $630,000. In addition 
to its extensive funding, in April 1994, Unocal con­
tracted with TRC for soil remediation services over 
a period of four years, which could have resulted in 
gross revenues to TRC in excess of$3.5 million. 

In 1995, TRC iliscovered that Ruppert had en­
gaged in several instances of financial impropriety 
and had repeatedly exceeded his spending authority. 
Accordingly, at its August 3, 1995 board meeting, 
TRC's directors voted to reduce Ruppert's spending 
authority from $25,000 to $100 per transaction except 
for routine operating expenses. 

B. Dissolution of the Joint Venture 

TRC was unable to operate at a profit or to repay 
its loans, and by fall 1995 CERT had lost faith in 
Ruppert'sabilitytooperatethecompany. CERTthus 
decided to sell its 50 percent interest and notified 
Ruppert ohhis fact in a letter dated September 12, 
1995. Ruppert wanted to purchase CERT's half 
interest, but he and CERT were unable to reach 
agreement, and CERT was unable to locate any other 
suitable buyer. Accordingly, CERT decided to dis­
solve TRC, and advised Ruppert of its intention to do 
so in December 1995. Ruppert opposed ilissolution of 
the joint venture, but CERT decided to proceed 
without his approval, which·it was entitled to do as a 
shareholder under the Delaware General Corpora­
tion Law.2 TRC's board passed a resolution at its 
December 6, 1995 meeting to wind up TRC's opera­
tions and instructed Ruppert to effectuate the winding 
up process. On December 7, 1995, CERT served 
Ruppert with a copy of its petition to dissolve TRC, 

2. Delaware Code, title 8, section 273, provides for "a 
stockholder's right lo protect his investment in a [joint venture] 
corporation, the operations of which have become paralyzed 
by corporate deadlock." (!n re English Seafood (USA) Inc. 
(D.Del. 1990)743 !•.Supp 281,286.)"[A] shareholder in such 
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which it filed the next day in the Delaware Court of 
Chancery. Initially, Ruppert cooperated with the 
board in winding up TRC' s operations. For example, 
Ruppert signed a form letter dated February 8, 1996, 
addressed to all of TRC' s vendors notifying them 
that, effective January 15, 1996, TRC had closed its 
operations and instructing them to submit their final 
invoices to TRC for payment as soon as possible. 
However, at some point, Ruppert decided not to coop­
erate, but never informed the board of his decision. 

C. Respondent's Involvement with 
Ruppert and TRC 

Concerned about how he could protect Unocal' s 
four-year soil remediation contract with TRC, Ruppert 
met with respondent on February 8, 1996. Respon­
dent had been in practice for 12 years and was an 
experienced insolvency, bankruptcy and corporate 
attorney. At the initial meeting, Ruppert advised 
respondent that he was the president of TRC, a 50 
percent shareholder, and a member of the board. 
Ruppert also advised respondent about his serious 
disagreements with the other three members of 
TRC 's board over the dissolution of the corporation. 
Based on this conversation, respondent concluded 
"Unocal was trying to dodge the $3,000,000.00 [soil 
remeiliation] contract it had with TRC, and that the 
reason it was bying to destroy TRC was to dodge that 
liability." Respondent advised Ruppert "that the best 
way to stop Unocal and [CERT] from destroying 
TRC was -- and primarily breaching the contracts, 
was to file a Chapter 11 bankruptcy petition." 

Ruppert hired respondent to file the bankruptcy 
petition without the knowledge and approval of the 
other three members of the board. Respondent nev­
ertheless signed a fee agreement on February 16 
(which Ruppert had previously signed) expressly 
designating TRC as respondent's client and authoriz­
ing him to act as "corporate counsel." Pursuant to the 

an evenly-divided corporation has the right to assert control 
over the disposition of his investment in the assets of that 
corporation without the agreement of the other shareholder." 
(Id. at p. 288, italics added.) 
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fee agreement, respondent required $20,000 as a 
deposit against his future legal fees.3 Respondent 
accepted two personal checks from Ruppert: a $5,000 
check'. which respondent promptly deposited into his 
office operating bank account, and a $15,000 check, 
which respondent did not deposit, knowing that it was 
insufficiently funded. Respondent agreed to go for­
ward with his representation without cashing Ruppert's 
$15,000 check, because Ruppert said he would pay 
the legal fees from an insurance settlement check 
that was to arrive shortly arising from damage to one 
of the remediation units. 

Prior to filing the bankruptcy petition, respondent 
reviewed TRC's Articles oflncorporation, Bylaws, 
Minutes.of the directors' meetings, and the various 
corporate and shareholder agreements, as well as the 
applicable federal and state law.Notwithstanding the 
express restrictions on Ruppert's authority to act for 
TRC contained in the corporate documents, respon­
dent filed the Chapter 11 petition on behalf of TRC on 
February 12, 1996. Neither respondent nor Ruppert 
notified the other members of the board of their 
intentions before filing the petition. Indeed, the three 
board members did not learn that Ruppert had even 
consulted with respondent until after the petition was 
filed. Respondent's explanation for proceeding with~ 
out the authorization or knowledge of the other three 
board members was that, in his opinion, those mem­
bers were "hopelessly conflicted" over the bankruptcy 

• matter because they were employees of Unocal, 
which was both a creditor and debtor of TRC. In 
respondent's view, only Ruppert could speak for the 
corporation because Ruppert was the least conflicted 
member of the board since he was not an employee 
of a creditor. 

3. The fee agreement uses the terms "deposit" and "retainer" 
interchangeably, but it was not intended as a classic 
"true"retainer agreement whereby "a sum of money paid by a 
client [is intended] to secure an attorney's availability over a 
given period of time. , . _ [S]uch a fee is earned by the attorney 
when paid .... " (Baranowski v. State Bar ( 1979) 24 Ca!.3d 153, 
164, fn. 4.)Rather, the fee agreement in this casewasmtended 
as an arrangement whereby the fees would be bi!ledagainst the 
$20,000 deposit as the services were performed. Respondent's 
invoices to TRC conformed with this fee arrangement. 
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The reaction by the other three TRC board 
members to the filing of the bankruptcy petitionwas 
swift and unequivocal. On February 121\ at a sched­
uled and noticed meeting of TRC's board (which 
Ruppert chose not to attend}, Ruppert was suspended 
as president, he was removed as a signatory on all 
TRC accounts, and his authority to· sign payroll 
checks was revoked. Two days after the filing of the 
petition, on February 14, 1996, Robert Kehr, an 
attorney who represented CERT' s interest in TRC as 
a 5 0 percent shareholder, faxed a letter to respondent, 
which respondent received the same day, notifying 
him that the board had suspended Ruppert as TRC' s 
president and "revoked any authority that he might 
otherwise have had to represent, speak for, or act for 
TRC in any way." Kehr's letter also advised respon­
dent that "any commitment [Ruppert] might purported 
to have made on behalf ofTRC to pay your fees and 
costs also was in excess of his spending authority 
which was limited to $100 .... " KeJu further advised 
respondent that CERT intended to file a motion to 
dismiss the bankruptcy proceedings as soon as pos­
sible, and until then Kehr demanded that respondent 
"cease and desist from any attempt to represent TRC 
or to act contrary to the instructions of the TRC Board 
ofDirectors. "4 Finally, Kehr requested "the promptest 
possible dismissal of the bankruptcy petition." 

CERT' s newly hired bankruptcy attorney, Mark 
Fields, followed the next day with another faxed letter 
to respondent, reiterating the demands of attorney 
Kehr. Respondent was undeterred by Kehr's or 
Fields' demands. To the contrary, respondentimme­
diately sent a return letter to Kehr, advising that he 
would seek injunctive relief "to stop all unlawful 
interference with the reorganization effort." Respon­
dent also sent a letter to attorney Fields threatening to 
file a federal RICO action against the three TRC 

4. The hearing judge found that respondent received notice of 
Ruppert's suspension on February 14, 1996. We adopt this 
finding and also find that as of this date, respondent had notice 
that the majority oflhe board objected to his representation of 
TRC and had limited Ruppert's spending authority to $100, 
effective August 3, 1995. Accordingly, as of February 14, 
1996, respondent had knowledge that his status as corporate 
counsel and his right to incur fees in excess of SI 00 were in 
serious question. 
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directors individually and CERT and Unocal, as well 
as sue the attorneys, for wire fraud and mail fraud if 
they continued to oppose the bankruptcy proceeding. 

D. Respondent Obtains Possession 
of the Insurance Check 

On February 14th
, without the knowledge of the 

other three TRC board members, Ruppert picked up 
the settlement check from the insurance company 
and gave it to respondent. The check was in the 
amountof$79,875.89,dated February 13, 1996, and 
made payable to "Thermal Remediation Corp." 
Ruppert endorsed the check, signing it as "President 
TRC." Even though respondent knew that "Ruppert 
did not have access to corporate funds at the time, as 
the [three other] directors had denied him access;" 
respondent deposited the settlement check immedi­
ately into his client trust account, 5 and his office 
manager, Mr. Brayshaw, returned Ruppert's 
uncashed $15,000 personal check to him. On Febru­
ary 20, 1996, when the settlement check cleared and 
the $79,875.89 was deposited in his trust account, 
respondent instructed his office manager to sign and 
deliver a $50,000 check made out to Ruppert, indi­
vidually, drawn against respondent's trust account.6 

Ruppert, in tum, deposited the $50,000 check in a 
bankruptcy debtor-in-possession bank account, which 
respondent claimed he instructed Ruppert to do.7 

The next day, February 21 '1, the TRC board held 
a duly noticed meeting. Both respondent and Ruppert 
attended this meeting, but neither one told the other 
TRC board members at the meeting about· the 
$79,875.89 insurance check or that respondent had 
already disbursed $50,000 of the proceeds to Ruppert 
from his trust account.8 At this meeting, the board 

5. When the bank was advised by respondent of the dispute 
over control of TRC, the bank agreed to accept TRC's 
settlement check only if respondent deposited the check into 
his client trust account. 

6. Respondent testified that he instructed Brayshaw to make 
the SS0,000 check payable to TRC, but Brayshawtcstified that 
respondent instructed him to make it payable to Ruppert. The 
hearing judge expressly found Brayshaw's testimony more 
believable than respondent's testimony. We adoptthc hearing 
judge's credibility determination in favor ofBrayshaw (Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a).) 
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passed a resolution closing the Fullerton office and 
ordering Ruppert to immediately cease and desist all 
ofhis business management responsibilities. Also, at 
the meeting Chairman Dassler once again advised 
respondent that he was not authorized to act as the 
attorney for TRC and demanded that he withdraw. 
The same demands to cease his representation were 
reiterated in a letter from Dassler to respondent on 
February 26th

. Respondent nevertheless continued to 
disregard the directions of the majority of the board, 
again relying on his theory. that the three board 
members were disabled from acting for the corpora­
tion due to their conflict as employees of Unocal. 

Chairman Dassler discovered that Ruppert had 
intercepted the settlement check five weeks after it 
was deposited into respondent's client trust account. 
Dassler wrote to respondent demanding an account­
ing on behalf ofTRC. Attorney Kehr also wrote to 
respondent in April, demanding an accounting and 
notifying respondent that Unocal had a lien on all of 
TRC's assets, including the insurance proceeds. 
Kehr also asked that the balance of the insurance 
funds remaining in the client trust account be returned 
to TRC. Respondent refused to accede to these 
demands. In addition, Chairman Dassler wrote to 
respondent's bank, requesting information about the 
insurance proceeds. This elicited a scathing letter 
from respondent to Dassler on June 4, 1996, threat­
ening that "any further attempts to obtain infonnation 
will result in immediate suit and injunction being filed 
against you .... [B]y implication,YOU are accusing me 
offelony bank fraud and interfering with my relation­
ship with my bank. This constitutes libel, slander and 
interference with a business relationship. I will happily 
sue you immediately if you make any further allegations 
of this type to anyone .... " Dasslcr responded by letter 

7. Ruppert quickly disbursed almost all the SS0,000 without 
the consent or knowledge ofTRC's board, with much of the 
funds going to himself and family members as payroll or as 
reimbursement for expenses. 

8. The following day, February 22, 1996, respondent wrote to 
attorney Kehr, misrepresentmg that Ruppert, not TRC, had 
paid his retaintir. 
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on June 18th, asking again for an accounting of all of 
TRC' s funds that had come into respondent's posses­
sion. Once again, respondent ignored Dassler' s request. 

On numerous other occasions, respondent was 
equally unresponsive to Dassler' s requests for an 
accounting and return of the insurance proceeds, 
resorting instead to playing "hide and seek" with the 
insurance proceeds. For example, respondent di­
rected Dassler to make his inquiries about the check 
to Ruppert even though respondent knew Dassler 
could not locate Ruppert, who had moved out of the 
state. Respondent also obfuscated his receipt of the 
insurance proceeds by noting them as a credit on his 
billing statement without explanation, and he dis­
guised the disbursement of the proceeds to Ruppert 
by listing them in his statement as "out of pocket 
expenses for retainer refund." To further exacerbate 
the situation, he sent his billing statements to TRC's 
Fullerton office after he knew it had been closed. 

E. Dismissal of Bankruptcy Petition and Sanctions 
Award Against Respondent 

CERT obtained a dismissal of the bankruptcy 
petition one month after it was filed, on March 11, 
1996. The court also granted leave to CERT to file a 
motion for sanctions against respondent and Ruppert 
for bringing a frivolous action. On September 30, 
1996, the bankruptcy court imposed $5,000 in sanc­
tions against respondent and Ruppert, with each liable 
for one-half of the amount, finding that respondent's 
petition was frivolous because it "was not warranted 
by existing law or by a good faith argument for the 

9. Notwithstanding the Dissolution Order, Respondent at­
tempted lo prove al trial in this case that TRC was still a viable 
corporation because of its regi strati on as a foreign corporation 
in California. Such a registration could not breathe life into TRC 
once it was dissolved, since TRC was strictly a statutory 
creation of the laws of Delaware, which controlled its very 
existence as a corporation. 

10. Unless otherwise indicated, all further references to rules arc 
to these Rules of Professional Conduct. 

11. Unless otherwise indicated, all further statutory references 
are to the Business and Professions Code. 

12. In the Notice ofDisciplinary Charges the State Bar charged 
respondent with three additional counts of professional mis-
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extension, modification, or reversal of existing law" 
within the meaning of the Federal Rules of Bank­
ruptcy Procedure, rule 9011 (FRBP). Respondent 
failed to perfect his appeal, and the order became 
final and binding. There is evidence that respondent 
paid the sanctions to CERT. 

Subsequent to the dismissal of the bankruptcy 
case, TRC was dissolved by order of the Delaware 
Court on May 29, 1996.9 In spite of the sanctions 
order and the order of dissolution ofTRC, respondent 
continued to incur legal fees on behalf of TRC and to 
send his billing statements to the corporation for two 
more years. 

F. Proceedings in the State Bar Court 

Dassler filed a complaint with the State Bar, and 
after an investigation, a Notice ofDisciplinary Charges 
(NDC) was filed on November 16, 1999. An eight­
day trial was held over an extended period of months 
and concluded on March 2 9, 2001. The hearingj udge 
filed his decision on July 19, 2001, finding that respon­
dent wilfully violated rule 4-1 00(A) of the Rules of 
Professional Conduct of the State Bar of California 10 

by improperly disbursing the proceeds from the irumr­
ance check to himself as attorneys fees; wilfully 
violated rule 4-100(B)(3) by failing to properly ac­
count to TRC' s Board of Directors in spite of their 
demands for such an accounting; and committed acts 
of moral turpitude in violation ofBusiness and Profes­
sions Code section 61 0611 by misappropriating, through 
gross negligence, the $29,875.89 in proceeds that 
respondent disbursed to himself as attorneys fees .12 

conduct with respect to the sa~e chent: count I alleged a 
violation of rule 3-600(A) [failure to represent an organization 
through its highest body]; count 2 alleged a violation of section 
6104 [appearing without authority of a party]; and count 6 
alleged a violation of rule 3-700(B)(2) [ failure to withdraw from 
employment]. Two weeks before trial, the State Bar moved to 
dismiss counts 1,2, and 6 in the interests of justice as authorized 
by rule 262(e) of the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar. 
Respondent filed a statement of non-opposition to the motion 
to dismis~, and the hearing judge granted the motion and 
dismissed the three counts, provisionally without prejudice. In 
his decision afier trial, the hearing judge modified his pnor 
dismissal so that the three counts were dismissed with preju­
dice. The dismissal of these counts has noi been raised as an 
issue on appeal, and we adopt the recommendation of the 
hearingjudge in this regard. 
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The hearing judge also found serious aggrava­
tion surrounding the charged misconduct. Specifically, 
the judge found that respondent was culpable of 
harminghisclient(std. l .2(b)(iv));overreaching (std. 
l.2(b)(iii)); and indifference towards atonement or 
rectification (std. l .2(b)(v)). In addition, the hearing 
judge found numerous counts ofuncharged but proved 
misconduct as further aggravation. On appeal, re­
spondent urges us to exonerate him of all misconduct 
or, in the alternative, to recommend "the mildest form 
[of discipline] available." The State Bar asks us to 
adopt the hearing judge's findings, conclusions and 
discipline recommendations. 

JI. CULPABILITY 

The underpinning of the misconduct in this case 
is best described by the hearing judge, who observed 
that respondent "acted with unabashed hubris in 
assuming that he was the appointed guardian of 
TRC's best interests .... " Respondent concedes that 
TRC was his client, yet from the very outset of his 
retention as "corporate counsel"he dealt with Ruppert 
as his client and considered the three-person majority 
of the board, led by Chairman Dassler, as "the 
enemy." (See post, p. 14.} As a consequence, the 
hearing judge found that respondent refused "to give 
the TRC board majority its due or to recognize its 
directives." Respondent thus arrogated to himself the 
authority to choose sides between the Board's com­
peting factions, and in the course of his single-minded 
prosecution of the bankruptcy proceeding on behalf 
of Ruppert, he utterly failed to consider, much less 
protect, the interests ofTRC as expressed through a 
majority of the board. 

A. Failure to Maintain Client Funds in Trust 
Account (Rule 4-I00(A)) 

At its essence, rule 4-1 00(A) requires that "{a]ll 
funds received or held for the benefit of clients by a 
member [of the State Bar] or law firm, including 
advances for costs and expenses, shall be deposited 
in one or more identifiable bank accounts labeled 
'Trust Account,' 'Client's Funds Account' or words 

13. Respondent cites no cases demonstrating that the board 
maJority was without authority to decide that respondent 
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of similar import." Rule 4-100 "is violated where the 
attorney commingles funds or fails to deposit or 
manage the funds in the manner designated by the 
rule, even if no person is injured. [Citations.]" ( Guzzetta 
v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 962, 976.) The rule 
"leaves no room for inquiry into attorney intent. [Cita­
tion.]" (Ibid )Accordingly, good faith is not a defense 
to a rule 4-100 violation. (Ibid; In the Matter of Klein 
(Review Dept. 1994)3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 1, 9-11.) 

[1] When respondent deposited TRC's insur­
ance check into his trust account, he knew of the 
intractable dispute between Ruppert and the board 
over control ofTRC and even advised the bank about 
it. When he in turn distributed the $50,000to Ruppert 
individually, he also knew that: I) the settlement 
check was payable to TRC; 2) TRC's board had 
suspended Ruppert; and 3) the board had denied 
Ruppert access to TRC' s funds. Since the settlement 
check was payable to TRC, respondent became a 
fiduciary of all of the members ofTRC's board who 
were asserting a claim to the insurance funds on 
behalf of the corporation. (See Silver v. State Bar 
(1974) 13 Cal.3d 134, 142; cf. Palomo v. State Bar 
(1984) 36 Cal.3d 785, 795; see also .Johnstone v. 
State Bar(l966) 64 Cal.2d 153, 155-156.) Respon­
dent therefore owed the other board members "the 
same high duty of honesty and obedience to fiduciary 
duty as if he were acting as their attorney. [Cita~ 
tions .]" (In the Matter of Wyshak (Review Dept. 
1999) 4 Cal. State Bar CtRptr. 70, 80.) Respondent 
utterly failed to exercise this duty when he distributed 
the insurance proceeds to Ruppert without the knowl ~ 
edge or consent of the other three board members. 

[2] Moreover, respondent was expressly re­
quired by rule 4- l 00(A)(2) not to withdraw the 
remaining $29,875.89 from the trust account as, his 
legal fees until the dispute over his fees was resolved. 
Yet in the face ofhis certain knowledge of the dispute 
over his fees, respondent distributed $29,875.89 to 
himself. He also ignored the exp licit directives of the 
board majority to immediately cease his representa­
tion ofTRC, claiming that he had the ability to decide 
who could act as TRC's corporate counsel.13 Rule 4-

should cease his representation ofTRC. l n fact, it has long been 
settled th al "[ a In attorney has no general authority to act for 
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lO0(A)(2) requires that "when the right of the mem­
ber or law firm to receive a portion of trust funds is 
disputed by the client, the disputed portion shall not be 
withdrawn until the dispute is finally resolved." Faced 
with the intractable dispute among the Board of 
Directors, respondent could have interpled the funds 
in the bankruptcy action or asked the bankruptcy 
court or the Delaware Chancery Court to appoint a 
trustee over a separate trust account and the debtor­
in-possession (DIP) account. (See In the Matter of 
Feldsott (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 754.) Accordingly, we find on this record that 
there is clear and convincing evidence that respon­
dent wilfully violated rule 4-l 00(A) as charged in 
count 3 of the NDC when he withdrew the disputed 
funds as his attorney's fees. 

B. Failure to Account (Rule 4-IO0(B)(3)) 

It is an attorney's fiduciary duty to properly 
account for trust funds. (See Lipson v. State Bar 
(l991)53Cal.3d 1010, 1020-1021.)Rule4-LO0(B)(3) 
expressly requires an attorney "to maintain complete 
records of al 1 funds ... coming into the possession of 
the member or law firm and render appropriate 
accounts to the client regarding them .... " Respon­
dent utterly ignored this duty. The record establishes 
that respondent violated rule 4-100(8)(3) when he 
failed to accede to Chairman Dassler's repeated 
demands for an accounting of the proceeds of the 
insurance settlement check, and instead, responded 
with: 1) evasion by directing Dassler to ask Ruppert 
about the whereabouts of the check when respondent 
knew that Dassler did not know where to reach 
Ruppert; 2) deceit in stating that Ruppert had paid his 
fees personally; 3) obfuscation by using his billing 
statements to conceal the insurance proceeds and the 
disbursement to Ruppert; and 4) intimidation and 
threats oflawsuits against the directors and attorneys 
individually because ofDassler' s efforts to locate the 
records of the check and the proceeds. Respondent 
testified at trial that he was unwilling to disclose the 
records of the $79,875.89 insurance proceeds and the 

his client." (Woerner v. Woerner (1915) 171 Cal. 298, 299.) 
Nor can the attorney make unilateral decisions that affect his 
clients' substantive rights. (Blanton v. Womancare.Inc, ( 1985) 
38 Cal.3d 396, 403-407 .) Thus, "[t]he board of directors, not 
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disbursements to Ruppert and himself because he 
regarded Dassler as. "the enemy" and he ''thought to 
[himself], why would the enemy want to see the fee 
statement. And I came to the conclusion that they 
want to know how long we can fight, that it was a 
tactic on their behalf to attempt to see could we afford 
the battle, and that is the only reason why they'd want 
to know." 

The record amply supports a finding that respon­
dent wilfully failed to account for the insurance 
proceeds in violation of rule 4w 1 00(B )(3) as charged 
in count 4 of the NDC. (Cf. Chefsky v. State Bar 
(1984) 36 Cal.3d 116, 123-124;Jackson v. State Bar 
(1979) 23 Cal.3d509, 513; Brodyv. StateBar(l974) 
l1 Cal.3d 347, 350.) 

C. Misappropriation; Moral Turpitude 
(Section 6106) 

(3a) The hearing judge found that respondent 
"misappropriated corporate funds because of his 
grossly negligent misreading of the facts and incor­
rect interpretation of the law." We agree with this 
finding as it applies to the distribution of the $50,000 
to Ruppert. Although we are troubled by the evidence 
that respondent instructed his office manager to 
disburse the proceeds to Ruppert personally rather 
than to TRC, on the day respondent distributed the 
money, Ruppert still was president ofTRC (although 
suspended from his duties). As such, Ruppert argu­
ably had a colorable(althoughhighly disputed) claim 
to act on behalf ofTRC as of that date. The fact that 
Ruppert subsequently deposited the $50,000 into a 
DIP bank account for TRC corroborates respondent's 
testimony that he instructed Ruppert to do so. But, this 
does not alter our finding of respondent's grossly 
negligent misappropriation. 

(3 b I Respondent had a fiduciary duty to protect 
the funds in the client trust account on behalf of all of 
TRC's board members, regardless of whether he 
considered them as authorized to act for TRC. (Cf. 

corporate counsel, has the right to control the affairs of the 
corporation. [Citations]" (Goldstein v. Lees (1975) 46 
Cal.App.3d 614, 623.) "The board of directors thus has the 
power to retain and discharge corporate counsel." (Ibid) 
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Coppock v. State Bar (1988) 44 Cal.3d 665, 680.) 
Almost immediately after Ruppert deposited the 
funds in the DIP account, he depleted the account 
without the knowledge or approval of the majority of 
the board, disbursing much of the $50,000 to himself 
and his family as payroll and expenses.11 "With 
proper supervision of the operation of [his clienttrust] 
account, petitioner would have been able to monitor 
... the use of account funds, and been able to guard 
against misuse of those funds." (Ibid.) Accordingly, 
we find there is clear and convincing evidence in the 
record that respondent wilfully misappropriated 
$50,000 of the insurance proceeds in his trust account 
by his gross negligence because he "was responsible 
for the funds in that account, and it was a breach of 
his professional duties to give complete control of the 
account to [Ruppert]." (lbid.)15 

[3c} Not every misappropriation that is wilful is 
equally culpable. (Lawhorn v. State Bar (1987) 43 
Cal.3d 1357, 1367.) This court often uses the tenn to 
describe acts involving moral turpitude or dishonesty 
(see, e.g., In the Matter of Respondent F (Review 
Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 17, 26; accord 
Resner v. State Bar (1960) 53 Cal.2d 605, 612), 
especially when, as here, the misappropriation is the 
result of gross carelessness in handling and account­
ing of the trust funds. (Lipson v. State Bar, supra, 53 
Cal.3d 10 IO, 1020-1021; see also Simmons v. State 
Bar (1970) 2 Cal.3d 719, 729 [an attorney's gross 
carelessness and negligence in performing fiduciary 
duties involves moral turpitude even in the absence of 
evil intent].) Respondent's gross negligence violated 
his "personal obligation ofreasonable care to comply 
with the critically important rules for the safekeeping 
and disposition of client funds. [Citations.]" (Palomo 
v. State Bar, supra, 36 Cal.3d at p. 795.) We 
therefore find there is clear and convincing evidence 
that respondent's conduct in distributing $50,000 to 

14. We are unable to determine from our independent review 
whether the disbursements from the DIP account were in 
satiRfaction of valid claims against thecorporation,even though 
Ruppert's authority to sign payroll checks had been revoked 
at the time he withdrew the funds. This does not affect our 
finding of grossly negligent misappropriation by respondent, 
but does afTect our computation of restitution, as we discuss, 
post 
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Ruppert involved moral turpitude in violation of sec­
tion 6106 as charged in count 5 of the NDC. 

I4a) As to the remaining $29,875.89, we find 
there is clear and convincing evidence that respon­
dent misappropriated these funds knowingly and 
intentionally. Respondent knew with a certainty at the 
time he withdrew the funds from the trust account as 
his attorney's fees that Ruppert could authorize only 
$ I 00 of respondent's legal fees. He also knew that his 
right to represent TRC and to incur legal fees on the 
corporation's behalf was vigorously disputed by a 
m~jority of the board. "An attorney may not unilater­
ally determine his own fee and withhold trust funds to 
satisfy it even though he may be entitled to reimburse­
ment for his services. [Citation.]" (Crooks v. State 
Bar (1970) 3 Cal.3d 346, 358; accord, Jackson v. 
State Bar (1979) 25 Cal.3d 398,404; Brody v. State 
Bar, supra, 11 Cal.3d 347, 350, fu. 5.) 

[4b) Not only was respondent aware of the 
board majority's opposition to the payment ofhis fees, 
he acknowledged under penalty of perjury that he did 
not have the right to withdraw his fees without the 
approval of the bankruptcy court, whose very juris­
diction he had invoked. In his Declaration in Support 
of Debtor's Application for Appointment of Attor­
ney, filed on March 5, 1996, respondent attested that 
he had placed TRC 's "retainer" which was to be used 
to "guarantee payment of the Firm's services" in an 
"interest bearing client trust account, [\-vhich] will be 
applied to fees and costs only upon approval of the 
Court, (Italics added.)" Respondent further attested 
that at the conclusion of the bankruptcy proceedings 
he would "file an appropriate application seeking 
allowance of all fees and costs, regardless of whether· 
interim compensation has been paid." There is no 
evidence that respondent ever obtained court ap­
proval prior to paying himself his attorneys fees. 16 

15. To be deemed a wilful misappropriation, "all that is required 
is 'a general purposeorwillingncsstocommittheactor permit 
thi:: omission.' [Citation.]" (Edwards v. State Bar ( 1990) 52 
Cal.3d 28,37.) 

16. Respondent's first billing statement was issued onApri! I 0, 
I 996, five days after he submitted his Fees Declaration to the 
bankruptcy court. As of April 23, 1996, respondent had hilled 
$28,939.60 in fees and expenses 



IN THE MATTER OF DAVIS 

(Review Dept. 2003) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 576 

[4c) Moreover, respondent's acts of deceit in 
misleading TRC' s chairman and his legal counsel 
about the existence and whereabouts of the insur­
ance • proceeds arc evidence that his misconduct 
involved moral turpitude. Respondent committed ad­
ditional acts of concealment when he refused to 
provide his records of the insurance check and 
proceeds to the State Bar investigator in July 1996, 
and again in August 1997.17 These acts are persua­
sive evidence of a lack of honest belief in his right to 
the funds and "justify attorney discipline as conduct 
involving moral turpitude. . . . " (In the Matter of 
Wyshak, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 70, 80; In 
the Matter of Hertz (Review Dept. 1991) l Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 456, 462-467, 469-471.) 

[4d) Although an attorney's honest belief, even 
if mistaken and unreasonable, that he has a right to 
entrusted funds may be asserted as a defense to a 
charge of misappropriation involving moral turpitude 
or dishonesty (In the Matter of Tindall (Review 
Dept. 1991) l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 652, 662.), we 
are unable to find on our independent review of the 
record any basis to conclude that respondent held 
such an honest belief. To the contrary, this record 
amply demonstrates that respondent intentionally 
misappropriated $29,875.89 for his own purposes, 
and that these actions involved moral turpitude. 
(McKnight v. State Bar (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1025, 
1033-1034; Bate v. State Bar (1983) 34 Cal.3d 920, 
923.); Grim v. State Bar (1991) 53 CaJ.3d 21, 30.) 
Notwithstanding respondent's "'disavowal of any 
dishonest intent' ... 'the means used by [respondent] 
to further his position were dishonest and involved 
moral turpitude within the meaning of .. section 6106 
.... " ( Coppock v. State Bar, supra, 44 Cal. 3 d 665, 
679.) 

17. Respondent used the State Bar investigation as another 
opportunity to threaten Da,rnler with d1Te legal consequences. 
In a letter to the State Bar in l\ugust 18, 1997, he said: "When 
this matter is concluded and it is detennined that the "Com­
plaint" filed against me is false, the State Bar will bring criminal 
charges against Mr. Dassler. ... In another letter to a State Bar 
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III. MITIGATION 

A. Good Faith (Std. l.2(e)(ii),) 

Respondent asserts in his defense and as mitiga­
tion that he acted reasonably and in good faith. (std. 
l .2(e)(ii).) Respondent contends that. even if his 
analysis of the facts and the law in this matter are 
'"without merit, or even frivolous ... lawyers must be 
free to assert unpopular positions on behalf of their 
clients if they believe in good faith they are correct." 
Based on the record, we find his contention is implau­
sible at best, and disingenuous at worst "In order to 
establish good faith as a mitigating circumstance, an 
attorney must prove that his or her beliefs were both 
honestly held and reasonable. [Citation.]" (In the 
Matter of Rose (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct Rptr. 646, 653, italics added.) To conclude 
otherwise would reward an attorney for his unrea­
sonable beliefs and "for his ignorance of his ethical 
responsibilities." (In the Matter of McKiernan (Re­
view Dept 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 420, 427.) 
Our previous finding of lack of honest belief alone 
vitiates respondent's assertion that he acted in good 
faith. But we also find no basis in this record to 
conclude that respondent's conduct was reasonable. 

Respondent argues that the testimony of his 
expert, James Bovitz, a certified bankruptcy special­
ist, provided uncontradicted evidence that respondent's 
conduct in representing TRC was within the standard 
of care of a bankruptcy practitioner and therefore 
reasonable. We disagree. As a bankruptcy expert, 
Bovitz may well have been qualified to opine on the 
ultimate issues within his expertise (In the Matter of 
Hamey (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 266,277, fu. 7), but respondent failed to estab­
lish that Bovitz had any special knowledge of or 
experience with State Bar disciplinary matters, or the 
rules and regulations governing professional respon­
sibility. Accordingly, we give Bovitz 's testimony 

deputy trial counsel, dated February 28, 1 998, respondent 
reiterated his "demand" that the State Bar"acttohave [Dassler] 
prosecuted ... ." We consider these threats to be evidence of 
overreaching which we address post in our discussion of 
aggravation. 
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minimal weight, particularly since this case does not 
involve the standard of care of bankruptcy practitio­
ners, but rather involves the failure to adhere to the 
ethical duties and fiduciary obligations to maintain 
client trust funds under the rules and statutes govern­
ing professional conduct. "The purposes of a 
disciplinary proceeding are quite different from those 
of a civil proceeding (see, e.g., In the Matter of 
Applicant A (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 3 l 8, 327), and the body oflaw is accordingly 
different." (In the Matter of Lais (Review Dept. 
2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 112, 117.) 

Moreover, much ofBovitz' s testimony was con­
tradicted by the findings and conclusions of the 
bankruptcy court in its sanctions order. While not 
dispositive, the court's findings and conclusions are 
entitled to· a strong presumption of validity if sup­
ported by substantial evidence. (In the Matter of 
Lais, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 117 .)18 

The court's conclusion that the filing of the petition 
was frivolous and "was not warranted by existing law 
or by a good faith argument for the extension, 
modification, of reversal of existing law" (italics 
added) was based on an objective standard of reason­
ableness. Indeed, the bankruptcy court went beyond 
its finding of frivolousness with respect to the filing of 
the petition, and made specific findings r~jecting the 
very same legal theories that respondent asserts here 
to establish the reasonableness of his conduct. 

The court dismissed respondent's argument that 
Ruppert was the only director without a conflict and 
therefore the only one authorized to act for the 
corporation. The bankruptcy judge stated that this 
theory made "no sense" because Ruppert could not 
act unilaterally for TRC in the absence of a decision 
by a majority vote of the directors taken at a meeting 
or a fully executed unanimous written directors' 
consent.19 The judge thus applied a basic rule of 

18. The bankruptcy judge's imposition of ~anctions required an 
extremely high showing. (FRBP 9011.) Rule 90 l 1 sanctions are 
warranted only when'" it is clear that: (1 )areasonabfe inquiry 
nitothe basis fora pleading has not been made; (2) underexisting 
precedents there is no chance of success; and (3) no reasonable 
argument has been advanced to extend, modify or reverse the 
law as it stand~.' [Citations.]" (In re Frankel (S .D.N. Y. 1995) 
I 9 I B.R. 564, 575, italics added ) 
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corporate law: "[11he board of directors acting as a 
board must be recognized as the only group autho­
rized to speak for 'management'. in the sense that 
under [8 Del. C. § 14l(a)] they are responsible for 
the management of the corporation." (Campbell v. 
Loew 's, Inc. (Del.Ch. 1957) 134 A.2d 852, 862, 
italics added.) Thus, directors have no power as 
individuals. "Their power is collective only." (Practis­
ing Law Institute, Corporate Law and Practice (2d 
ed. 1999) [hereafter Corporate Law and Practice], 
§ 8: 3, p. 15 5.) "The theory behind the traditional rule 
that directors may act only as a group, and only while 
assembled at a meeting, is that the give and take of a 
group discussion will help ensure the best corporate 
decisions." (Corporate Law and Practice,§ 8:3.) In 
fact, any action taken by directors at a board meeting 
without a quorum being present would be void even 
if the meeting were duly noticed. (Drob v. National 
Memorial Park, Inc. (Del.Ch. 1945) 41 A.2d 589, 
595-596; Olinc,y v. Merle Norman Cosmetics, Inc. 
(1962) 200 Cal.App.2d 260, 273.) 

Directors who are disqualified from voting on a 
matter due to a conflict of interest are nevertheless 
counted in determining the presence of a quorum at 
any meeting of the board called to authorize corporate 
action. (8 Dcl.C. § 144(b); Cal. Corp. Code,§ 310, 
subd. (c).) What is more, the fact that there was a 
struggle for control of the corporation "must not 
obscure the real principle that the actions of the board 
of directors, speaking through the majority of its 
members, must be recognized no matter \.Vhich par­
ticular faction may be in control." (Empire Southern 
Gas Co. v. Gray (Del.Ch. 1946) 46 A.2d 741, 748, 
italics added.) 

The bankruptcy judge also rejected respondent's 
interpretation of section 4 .3 of the Shareholders 
Agreement as precluding the three directors from 
voting on the filing of the petition as a "transaction" 

19. Article 6 of the Bylaws provided that the corporation could 
only act through a decision of a ma1ority of a quorum of the 
board. In the absence of such a meeting, corporate action could 
only be taken by unanimous written consent of the board. 
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between TRC and any person which was an affiliate 
of CERT. The court found that "the filing of the 
Petition does not involve a transaction let alone a 
transaction covered by section 4.3. Any argument to 
the contrary is frivolous. "20 

Finally, the judge refused to adopt respondent's 
legal theory under Delaware's conflict of interest 
laws as precluding any action by the three board 
members because of their employment by Unocal, 
which was a creditor ofTRC. The bankruptcy judge 
characterized this legal theory as "absurd" because, 
"if [respondent's] interpretation of the law is correct, 
it would likewise preclude Ruppert from voting on the 
issue because he ·would also be affected by the 
bankruptcy filing. Additionally . . . [TRC] would 
never be able to avail itself of the bankruptcy laws." 

(5] We agree with respondent that attorneys 
have a duty to zealously represent their clients and 
assert unpopular positions in advancing their clients' 
legitimate objectives. However, as officers of the 
court, attorneys also have a duty to the judicial system 
to assert only legal claims or defenses that arc 
warranted by the law or are supported by a good faith 
belief in their correctness. (Rule 3-200(B).) We are 
persuaded that the ba~ruptcy court's findings, and 
the applicable Delaware law, ·vitiates respondent's 
assertion that his conduct was reasonable and there­
fore taken in good faith. 

B. Absence of Prior Discipline (Std. l.2(e)(i).) 

The hearing judge found that respondent prac­
ticed law for 12 years with no prior disciplinary 
record, and gave weight to this factor as mitigation. 
We agree. (Std. l.2(e)(i).) Although the present 
misconduct is serious, the lack of a prior record of 
discipline may be considered as a mitigating factor. 
(In the Matter of Stamper (Review Dept. 1990) 1 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 96, 106, fn. 13 [many years 
of practice without a prior record may be considered 

20. Respondent has cited no case, and we are aware of none, 
applying the term "transaction" under Delaware Code, title 8, 
section 144 to the filing of a bankruptcy petition. Rather this 
tenn has been applied to business or financial transactions 
between a corporation and its directors. (See, e.g.,Marcianov. 
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as a mitigating circumstance even if the present 
misconduct is serious].) 

C. Good Character Testimony (Std. l.2(e)(vi).) 

The hearing judge also found the testimony of 
respondent's good character witnesses as a mitigat­
ing factor, but did not ascribe it "significant" weight 
because there were only three witnesses and they did 
not reflect "a wide range of references in the legal 
and general communities." (Std. l .2(e)(vi).) We are 
inclined to give greater weight to the good character 
testimony. Each of the witnesses had a basic under­
standing of the charges against respondent and the 
hearing judge's tentative culpability determination.s. 
Attorney Sylvia Paoli had known respondent for 
approximately 10 years. They met each other while 
they were serving in the Judge Advocate Group 
(JAG) to the California Civil Air Patrol (CCAP). 
Eventually, Paoli became the chiefJAGofficer in the 
CCAP, and she selected respondent to serve as her 
chief deputy. Paoli spoke with respondent on the 
telephone intennittently and saw him at weekly CCAP 
meetings. Paoli testified that respondent "is incredibly 
honest, totally moral, and has an integrity that- as a 
matter of fact, those characters are basically why I 
chose him as my chief deputy, because I had seen that 
throughout my close association with him and cvery­
thi ng that we did.'' 

Attorney Stephen Stewart testified that he and 
respondent were law partners for about one year 
from 198 5 to 1986 and had worked together since 
then "off and on over the years." In addition, they 
worked together with the Fraternal Order of Police, 
since Stewart was the state counsel and respondent 
was the assistant state counsel. During the five years 
prior to his appearance in the hearing department, 
Stewart spoke with respondent over the telephone on 
a weekly basis, and thus "would have lunch together 
just socially to discuss cases about every month or 
so." Stewart opined that respondent's skills as an 

Nakash (Del. 1987) 535 A.2d 400 [loans to a corporation by 
interested directors]; Parfi Holding AB v. Mirror Image 
Internet. Inc. (Del.Ch. 2001) 794 A.2d 1211 [stock subscrip· 
tion and preferred stock offered by interested directors] revd. 
on other grounds (Del 2002) 817 A.2d 149.) 
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attorney were superb and that respondent's moral 
character, honesty, integrity, trustworthiness, and 
candor were very high. Stewart would trust respon­
dent with his money and with his life as a fellow peace 
officer. 

Finally, Tom Wilson, who is apart-time assistant 
fire • chiefi'fire marshal at Barstow Fire Protection 
District, a retired fire chief of the Manhattan Beach 
Fire Department, and a former reservist with the San 
Bernardino CoWlty Sheriffs Department, testified 
on respondent's behalf. Wilson met respondent in 
198 5 when respondent applied to be a reservist with 
the San Bernardino County Sheriff's Department in 
the arson/bomb unit. Wilson conducted respondent's 
"background check." After respondent joined the 
arson/bomb wtit, he and Wilson "became good :friends 
and close working associates." Respondent also 
employed Wilson as an expert witness and investiga­
tor in four or five cases involving police or fire issues. 
At the time of trial, Wilson saw respondent about 
once or twice a week. Wilson trusted respondent 
implicitly and very much admired him. The testimony 
of acquaintances, neighbors, friends, associates, 
employers, and family members on the issue of good 
character, with reference to their observation of the 
respondent's daily conduct and mode of living, is 
entitled to great weight. (Cf. In re Andreani (1939) 
14 Cal.2d 736, 749-750.) While not an extraordinary 
showing of good character (In the Matter of Ike 
(Review Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 483, 
490), we accord significant weight to respondent's 
character witnesses, due to their familiarity with him 
and their knowledge of his good character, work 
habits and professional skills. 

D. Community Service 

Respondent presented evidence of extensive 
community service, which the hearingjudge found to 
be a strong mitigating factor. (Rose v. State Bar 
(1989) 49 Cal.3d 646, 667; In the Matter of Spaith 
(Review Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 511, 
521.) In addition to the community activities, which 

21. The record discloses that at various limes (and sometimes 
simultaneously) respondent represented TRC; Ruppert, indi­
vidually; two other individuals (Graham and Muni) who were 
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we previously discussed, respondent served as re­
servist in the Barstow Fire Protection District until he 
was placed on retired status because of physical 
injuries. We find that respondent's significant com~ 
munity service "is a mitigating factor that is entitled to 
'consid~rablc weight.' " ( Calvert v. State Bar ( 1991) 
54 Cal.3d 765, 785, quoting Schneider v. State Bar 
( 1987) 43 Cal.3d 784, 799 .) 

IV. AGGRAVATION 

In aggravation, the hearing judge found that 
respondent harmed his client, TRC (std. l .2(b )(iv)); 
that his misconduct was surrounded by overreaching 
(std. l .2(b)(iii)); and that he was indifferent towards 
atonement for the consequences of his misconduct 
(std. l.2(b)(v)). We adopt these findings in aggrava­
tion, But first and foremost, we find as additional 
uncharged but proved misconduct, that respondent's 
representation ofTRC involved multiple conflicts of 
interest which is an additional aggravating factor. 
(Std. l.2(b)(iii); Edwards v. State Bar, supra, 52 
Cal.3d28, 35-36 [unchargcdmisconductmaynotbe 
used as an independent ground of discipline, but may 
be considered, in appropriate circumstances, for 
othe~ purposes such as aggravation].) 

A Multiple Conflicts of Interest 

While condemning the Dassler-led faction of the 
board as "hopelessly conflicted," respondent stead­
fastly failed to recognize his o\vn serious conflicts.21 
[61 A corporation's legal advisor must abstain from 
taking part in controversies among the corporation's 
directors and shareholders "to avoid placing the ... 
practitioner in a position where he may be required to 
choose between conflicting duties or attempt to 
reconcile conflicting interests. [Citations.]" (Woods 
v. Superior Court (1983) 149 Cal.App.3d 931, 936.) 
Without question, respondent o\ved a duty of undi­
vided loyalty to his client, TRC, which was sadly 
lacking in this case. As corporate counsel to TRC, 
respondent's professional obligations were to the 
entity and not to its officers, directors, or shareholders 

interested in buying the assets ofTRC; and his own interests 
in defending himself against the sanctions order and the State 
Bar complaint. 
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in their representative or individual capacities. (Rule 
3-600(A); Brooklyn Navy Yard Cogeneration 
Partners v. Superior Court (1997) 60 Cal.App.4th 
248, 254.) [7a] That being said, a corporation is a 
statutory person that can speak only through its 
constituent officers, directors, shareholders and 
agents. 

{7b] Faced with a dispute over who was autho­
rized to speak for TRC, respondent should have first 
looked to the corporation's organizational documents 
and other pertinent agreements. (See, e.g., ResUd 
Law Governing Lawyers, § 96, subd. (l)(a) ["the 
lawyer represents the interests of the organization as 
defined by its responsible agents acting pursuant to 
the organization's decision-making procedures." 
(italics added)].) Respondent testified this is precisely 
what he did. That being the case, respondent cannot 
now reasonably claim that he relied on Ruppert's 
implied powers as president of TRC since Ruppert's 
powers were expressly limited by the Articles of 
Incorporation, Bylaws, Shareholder Agreement, and 
Employment Contract. Ruppert clearly did not posses 
the ostensible authority that corporate presjdents 
ordinarily possess, much less the express authority to 
retain legal counsel and authorize the filing of the 
bankruptcy?2 (Snukal v. Flightways Manufactur­
ing, Inc. (2000) 23 Cal.4th 754, 779-780, 783.) 

[Ba) From the outset, respondent's proper course 
of conduct was to obtain the infonned written con­
sents of each of the board members. (Rule 3-3 IO(B) 
& (C).) Moreover, given that there was an actual 
conflict, as opposed to a potential conflict, respondent 

22. Even though "the office of president carries with it certain 
implied powers of an agency .... without special authority or 
explicitly delegated power he may [only]. .. enter into a contract 
and bind his corporation in matters arising from and concerning 
the usual course of the corporation's business." (Joseph 
Greenspon 's Sons Iron & Steel Co. v. Pecos Valley Gas Co., 
(Del.Super.Ct. 1931) 156 A. 350, 352.) 

23. Parenthetically, several alternatives could have been pre­
sented lo the board, which were designed lo break the 
intra-corporate deadlock. (See, e.g., 8 Dcl.C. § 226(a)(2) 
[providing for the appointment of a custodian or receiver upon 
the application of any shareholder when "the directors are so 
divided respecting the management of the affairs of the corpo­
ration that the required vote for action by the board of directors 
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was obliged to withdraw from his representation of 
the corporation if he was unsuccessful in obtaining 
the informed consent of the board. (Rule 3-700(C) .)23 

The Supreme Court many years ago articulated 
the policy which widerlies the proscription against 
representation of adverse interests found in rule 3-
3 l 0: "By virtue of this rule an attorney is precluded 
from assuming any relation which would prevent him 
from devoting his entire energies to his client's 
interests. Nor does it matter that the intention and 
motives of the attorney are honest. The rule is 
designed not alone to prevent the dishonest practitio­
ner from fraudulent conduct, but as well to preclude 
the honest practitioner from putting himself in a 
position where he may be required to choose between 
conflicting duties, or be led to an attempt to reconcile 
conflicting interests, rather than to enforce to their full 
extent the rights of the interest which he should alone 
represent. [Citation]." (Anderson v. Eaton (1930) 
211 Cal. 113, 116.) 

[8b] To here condone respondent's conduct 
would greatly diminish this important policy. Respon­
dent should not have represented the corporation 
without first obtaining the infonned written consent of 
all ofthe directors. (Rule 3-310(B) & (C).) Instead, 
respondent chose to join the fray, asserting only 
Ruppert's interests, which were antithetical to the 
business judgement of the remaining board members. 
Moreover, in his rush to file the Chapter 11 petition as 
directed by Ruppert, respondent ignored the specific 
procedures which TRC had put into place to deal with 
shareholder and board disputes. Article II of the 

cannot be obtained."]; Campbell v. Penm.ylvania lndu~'lries, 
Inc. CD.Del. 1951) 99 F.Supp. 199 and Drob v. National 
Memorial Park, Inc., supra, 41 A.2d 5 89 [ dissolution by 
courts in equity as the result of intra-corporate dissension or 
business paralysis]; Giuricichv.Emtro/Corp. (Del. 1982)449 
A.2d 232 [appointment of a temporary cu.~todian or manager 
of the corporate assets to run the business as a going concern]; 
In re North European Oil Corp. (Del.Ch. 1957) 129 A.2d 259 
[new corporation fonned where majority of stockholders could 
not be located]; sec generally, Annot., Relief Other Than by 
Dissolution in Cases ofintracorporate Deadlock or Dissension 
(1984) 34 A.L.R.4th 13; Anno\., Dissolution of Corporation 
on Ground ofrntracorporate Deadlock or Dissension (1978) 
83 A.L.R.3d 458.) 
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Shareholder Agreement expressly provided proce­
dures for a mandatory buyout "in the event of an 
irreconcilable dispute between the parties ... to 
minimize the business disruption," and there was a 
mandatory obligation to arbitrate all claims and con­
troversies by Ruppert against TRC found in the 
Employment Agreement "whether or not related to 
his employment." 

[Sc) As a consequence of his multiple conflicts, 
respondent lost any claim to objectivity or neutrality, 
and in so doing he gravely compromised his duty of 
loyalty to TRC, which we consider to be a serious 
aggravating circumstance. The hearing judge found 
that respondent's conflicts of interest resulted in 
numerous violations of rule 3-310. 24 While we agree 
that respondent had numerous conflicts of interest, 
we do not believe that each of the violations of rule 3-
3 l 0 should be considered as a separate and independent 
basis of aggravation since, to a great extent, all of the 
violations arise out of the same misconduct, and 
therefore are duplicative. The appropriate level of 
discipline• does not depend on how many rules of 
professional misconduct or statutes proscribe the 
same misconduct. (In the Matter o,(Torres (Review 
Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138, 148.) 

B. Hann to Client (Std. l.2(b)(iv).) 

The hearing judge found that respondent's mis­
conduct caused significant client harm. (Std. 
l.2(b)(iv).) We agree. Respondent's misappropria­
tion of $79,875.89 of the insurance proceeds 
• significantly harmed TRC, which was the payee of 
the settlement check, and also hanned a third party, 
Unocal, which had a lien on the insurance proceeds. 
In addition, CERT was significantly harmed because. 
it was required to retain bankruptcy counsel to obtain 
the dismissal of the Chapter 11 petition. (In the 
Matter of Layton (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 366, 379.) lnthedeclarationofAttomey 

24. The judge found respondent violated: 1) rule 3-310(F)(3) 
because he accepted personal checks from Ruppert without his 
informed consent; 2) rule 3-31 O(B)( 1) and (3) arising from his 
failure to disclose his financial and professional relationship 
with Ruppert to TRC; 3) rule 3-3 l O(C)(l) because o[hisfuilurc 
to obtain the informed consents of Ruppert and TRC to 
respondent's representation of their conflicting objectives; 4} 
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Fields filed in the bankruptcy court in support of 
CERT'smotionforsanctions,heaverredthatCERT's 
attorney's fees were at least $8,125 in obtaining the 
dismissal of the petition. The $5,000 sanction award 
thus would not fully compensate CERT for the harm 
directly caused by respondent's misconduct. 

C. Overreaching (Std. l.2(b)(iii).) 

In further aggravation, the hearing judge found 
that respondent's misconduct was surrounded by 
overreaching. (Std. 1.2(6 )(iii).) Again, we agree, and 
view as evidence of respondent's overreaching his 
abusive and threatening letters to Chairman Dassler, 
as well as those to Attorneys Kehr and Fields. 
Respondent's billing statements to TRC are addi­
tional evidence of overreaching; since he improperly 
charged TRC for legal services that he provided to 
himself in appealing the sanctions order, responding 
to the State Bar's investigation, and conducting legal 
research in response to the State Bar complaint 
against him. He also billed TRC for the legal services 
he provided to two acquaintances of Ruppert, Mr. 
Graham and Mr. Muni, who consulted respondent 
about buying the assets of TRC. 

D. Indifference to"vards atonement or 
rectification (Std.1.2(b )(v).) 

The hearing judge correctly found that 
respondent's "continued claim, in the face of over­
whelming facts and legal authority, that his conduct 
was justified demonstrates an indifference toward 
rectification or atonement for the consequences of 
his misconduct." (Std.l.2(b)(v).) We agree and find 
this is additional aggravation. (In re Morse, supra, 11 
Cal.4th 184, 197-198, 206, 209.) Respondent refuses 
to accept the findings and conclusions of the bank­
ruptcy court, even though those findings are final and 
binding on him. (Sec Maltaman v. State Bar (1987) 
43 Cal.3d 924, 958 [Meritless defenses show lack of 

rule 3-31 O(C)(2) because of respondent' sfailurc to obtain TRC 
and Ruppert'~ informed consent to his continued representa­
tion after he received the insurance $etllcmentcheck; and 5) rule 
3-310 (B)(l )and (3)and (C) because ofrespondent'srcprcscn­
tation of TRC, Mr. Poole, Ruppert and TRC's unsecured 
creditors. without obtaining their informed consents to hisjoint 
representation of all of these divergent interests. 
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insight in the wrongfulness of one's actions].) "The 
law does not require false penitence. [Citation.] But 
it does require thatthe respondent accept responsibil­
ity for his acts and come to grips with his culpability. 
[Citation.]" (In the Matter of Katz (Review Dept. 
1991) l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 502, 511.) 

Respondent's acts of defiance against the board's 
authority, even after Ruppert had long been termi­
nated and the corporation dissolved, are additional 
evidence ofh.is lack of insight into his misconduct. As 
late as June 2000 at the trial in the Hearing Depart­
ment, respondent testified that he need not accede to 
the requests of the three board members to step down 
as legal counsel to TRC because he "felt it was not in 
the best interests of TRC for me to follow the 
instructions of the usurpers, especially in light of their 
failure to follow my advice." 

Respondent, "like any attorney accused of mis­
conduct, had the right to defend himself vigorously." 
(In re Morse, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 209 .) However, 
his conduct, "reflects a seeming unwillingness even to 
consider the appropriateness ofhis [legal analysis] or 
to acknowledge that at some point his position was 
meritless or even wrong to arty extent. Put simply, 
[respondent] went beyond tenacity to truculence." 
(Ibid.) His demonstrated lack of insight into the 
seriousness of his misconduct is particularly troubling 
to this court because it suggests that it may reoccur. 
(Blair v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 762, 781-782.) 
Accordingly, we find that the record amply estab­
lishes respondent's failure to understand the nature of 
his wrongdoing, which is a serious aggravating factor. 

E. Additional Uncharged Misconduct 
(Std. l.2(b)(iii).) 

The hearingjudge found respondent culpable of 
additional acts of uncharged but proved misconduct, 
which he also considered for purposes of establishing 
aggravation under standard l .2(b )(iii) . Specifically, 
the hearing judge found that respondent: 1) violated 
rule 4-1 OO(B)( 1) by failing to advise the TRC board 
for more than two months of his receipt of the 
insurance check; 2) violated rule 4-100(B)(4) when 
he failed to return the proceeds after Dassler re­
quested them; and, 3) violated rule 3-600(E) by 
improperly representing the corporation. We do not 
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adopt these findings of aggravation. Although the 
evidence is clear and convincing as to the violations 
of rule 4-lOO(B)(l) and rule 4-100(B)(4), these vio­
lations arise out of the same misconduct that provided 
the bases for our culpability determinations with 
respect to the charged misconduct. Accordingly, we 
give no additional weight as aggravation in determin­
ing discipline. (In the Matter of Burns (Review 
Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 406, 411; see 
In the Matter of Katz (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 430, 435, fn. 4.) We also do not 
adopt the hearing judge's finding of a violation of rule 
3-600(E) as aggravation, although this violation is 
supported by clear and convincing evidence. As we 
noted ante at footnote 12, the State Bar moved to 
dismiss the charges relating to respondent's improper 
representation ofTRC as an organization in violation 
of rule 3-600(A), and at the outset of the trial the State 
Bar represented to the hearing judge that it did not 
intend to assert the dismissed charges as uncharged 
aggravation. Therefore, we find it would be unfair to 
now look to evidence of the same misconduct alleged 
in count one of the NDC as a violation of rule 3-600 
in support of a finding in aggravation since respondent 
may well have relied on the State Bar's representa­
tion to the hearing judge. 

V. DISCIPLINE DISCUSSION 

[9a] The hearing judge recommended that re­
spondent be actually suspended from the practice of 
law for two years, and the State Bar asks us to adopt 
this discipline recommendation. We are mindful that 
the Supreme Court has repeatedly held that the 
"usual" discipline for wilfully misappropriating client 
funds is disbarment. (Edwards v. State Bar, supra, 
52 CalJd 28, 37; Howard v. State Bar (1990) 51 
Cal.3d 215,221; sec also Kelly v. State Bar (1988) 
45 Cal.3d 649,656 [intentional misappropriation gen­
erally warrants disbarment}; Friedman v. State Bar 
(1990) 50 Cal.3d235, 244-245 [disbarment generally 
is warranted].) Wilful misappropriation "covers a 
broad range of conduct varying significantly in the 
degree of culpability." (Edwards v. State Bar, su­
pra, 52 Cal.3d at p. 38.) We find respondent's 
conduct to be on the more serious end of the con­
tinuum. "An attorney who deliberately takes a client's 
funds, intending to keep them pennanently, and an­
swers the client's inquiries with lies and evasions, is 
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deserving of more severe discipline than an attorney 
who has acted negligently, without intent to deprive 
and \.Vithout acts of deception." (Ibid.) 

. [9b] Standard2.2(a)provides for disbarment for 
wilful misappropriation of trust funds unless the 
amount of the funds involved is insignificant or com­
pelling mitigating circumstances clearly predominate. 
The amount here in question is substantial and 
respondent's mitigation evidence is outweighed by 
serious aggravating circumstances. We are particu­
larly troubled by his failure to make any restitution. 
The significance of restitution is its probative value as 
evidence of rehabilitation, not the repayment of the 
underlying obligation. (In the Matter of Taggart 
(Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr, 302, 
312.) 

Finally, respondent's various acts of conceal­
ment and duplicity offend "the fundamental rule of 
[legal} ethics - that of common honesty - without 
which the profession is worse than valueless . . . . 
[Citation.]" (Borre v. State Bar (1991) 52 Cal.3d 
1047, 1053.)Standard2.3provides: "Culpabilityofa 
member of an act of moral turpitude, fraud, or 
intentional dishonesty toward ... a client or another 
person or of concealment of a material fact to ... a 
client or another person shall result in actual suspenM 
sion or disbarment ... depending upon the magnitude 
of the act of misconduct and the degree to which it 
relates to the member's acts within the practice of 
law." Respondent's misconduct was closely aligned 
with his practice. 

[9cJ In spite of the cases that impose disbarment 
for intentional misappropriation, we do not believe 
such severe discipline is needed in this case. Each 
case should be resolved on its own facts (In re Young 
(1989) 49 Cal.3d 257, 268), and the standards are to 
be used as guidelines rather than as "mandatory" 
sentences. (Gary v. State Bar (1988) 44 Cal.3d 820, 
828.) Respondent's misconduct was serious, but it 
was directed towards a single client and respondent 
has no other record of discipline. (Boehme v. State 
Bar (1988) 47 Cal.3d 448, 451-452; Edwards v. 
State Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3dat pp. 36-37, 39.) Weare 
also impressed with the strength of his good character 
testimony and his extensive community service. We 
note, too, that the misconduct occurred more than five 
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years ago without any evidence of additional miscon­
duct, which may be considered as a factor in deciding 
the appropriate discipline. (Chefsky v. State Bar, 
supra, 36 Cal.3d 116, 132.) 

In addition to the standards, we look to the 
decisional law for guidance. (In re Morse, supra, 11 
Cal.4th 184, 207.) There is precedent under these 
circumstances for actual suspension of two years, 
which we here recommend. A comparable case is In 
the Matter o_(McCarthy (Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 364, which involved the grossly 
negligent and/orintentionalmisappropriaticin of$20, 000 
where mitigating circumstances did not clearly pre­
dominate. In McCarthy, we were troubled, as we are 
here, "by respondent's lack ofrecognition of wrong­
doing, lack of remorse, and failure to make any 
restitution .... " (Id. at p. 385.) Nonetheless, we 
rejected disbannent and instead recommended two 
years' actual suspension because the misconduct 
appeared to be "aberrational." (Jb;d.) We also fo­
cused on the evidence of good character and the 
attorney's community service in arriving at its disci­
plinary recommendation. 

We also consider as apt the case of In the 
Matter of Hertz, supra, l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
456. In Hertz, the attorney was found culpable of 
disbursing without authorization$ l 5,000, which was 
to be held in trust for his client and the client's ex­
spouse. Respondent disbursed $10,000 to the client 
for paying community debts and he took $5,000 for his 
own fees, without the knowledge or consent of the 
exMspouse or her attorney .. (Id. at p. 462.) Hertz 
involved a single client matter, but there was pro­
tracted deceit perpetrated against opposing counsel 
and the courts as to the whereabouts of the funds. 
There was also substantial mitigation evidence in the 
form of six character witnesses (including three 
judges) who attested to his high standing in the 
community, his diligence, and his substantial commuM 
nity service and pro bona activities. (Id. atpp. 467, 
4 71.) This court imposed a two-year actual suspen­
sion even though 1) the funds paid to the client were 
later determined to have b~n properly reimbursable; 
2) he later replaced the funds he had withdrawn as his 
fee; and, 3) there was a finding of acts of moral 
turpitude based only on Hertz's misrepresentations. 
(Id. at pp. 462, 471.) 
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In Lipson v. State Bar, supra, 53 Cal.3d 1010, 
the court imposed two years' actual suspension for 
wilful misappropriation involving acts of moral turpi­
tude based on gross negligence. The attorney had an 
unblemished record of 42 years of practice and there 
was no evidence in aggravation. (Id. at p. 1021.) The 
court found "two years' actual suspension takes into 
account both the serious nature of [the] misconduct 
and the substantial evidence in mitigation." (Id. at 
p.1022.) 

We also find the case of Most v. State Bar 
(1967) 67 Cal.2d 589 to be instructive. In that case, 
the attorney failed to advise his client of the receipt of 
a settlement check for more than $30,000, and he 
unilaterally took his legal fees from the insurance 
proceeds in his client trust account. He also refused 
to account for the funds in spite of repeated requests 
by his client. Although finding the attorney culpable of 
intentional misappropriation, the court imposed two 
years' actual suspension. (Id. atp. 599 .) Finally, in the 
case of Doyle v. State Bar (1982) 32 Cal.3d 12, 22-
23, the Supreme Court imposed two years' actual 
suspension when the attorney commingled client 
funds in violation of the trust accounting rules, and 
also deliberately and dishonestly misappropriated 
more than $20,000 in settlement proceeds that he held 
in trust for a client. Doyle misappropriated the funds 
for his personal use for about 10 months and did not 
remit them to his client until after the client retained 
a second attorney who made repeated demands for 
the funds and after the client filed a complaint with the 
State Bar. (Id. at pp. 1 7, 24.) Unlike respondent in the 
instant case, Doyle had a prior disciplinary record for 
misappropriation. (Ibid.) But there were also mitigat­
ing circumstances in Doyle not present here in that 
the attorney suffered severe financial and family 
problems during the time period in question and, most 
importantly, he remitted the misappropriated funds 
before the disciplinary proceeding actually began. 
(Ibid.) [9d] We therefore conclude after our de 
novo review of the record, that the two-year actual 
suspension recommended by the hearing judge will 
adequately serve the discipline goals of the protection 
of the public, the courts and the profession provided 
in standard l.3. 

[10a) However, we believe the hearing judge's 
decision falls short in his recommendation of the 
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amount ofrestitution. Many of the Supreme Court's 
cases require restitution when a matter involves 
misuse of client funds and unearned fees (Sorensen 
v. State Bar (1991) 52 Ca1.3d l036, 1044). In 
Sorensen, the Supreme Court extended the protec­
tive and rehabilitative principles of restitution to cover 
specific out-of-pocket losses directly resulting from 
an attorney's violation of his duties. (Sorensen v. 
State Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3d atp. 1044.) In the instant 
case, the judge determined that $14,938 plus interest 
was the appropriate amount of restitution by dividing 
by one-half the $29,785.89 in fees respondent im­
properly paid to himself, based on CERT's fifty 
percent ownership of TRC (the other fifty percent 
having been owned by Ruppert). The judge did not 
,vi.sh to enrich Ruppert's estate, due to his unclean 
hands. But we believe the judge's calculation of 
restitution unjustly enriches respondent. "[ A ]n attor­
ney may not recover for services rendered if those 
services are rendered in contradiction to the require­
ments of professional responsibility .... " (Goldstein 
v. Lees, supra, 46 Cal.App.3d 614,618) Moreover, 
the funds from the insurance settlement belonged to 
TRC, not its individual shareholders, and therefore 
any repayment should be made to the successor in 
interest of TRC in the manner discussed below. 
Where an attorney improperly withdraws fees from 
a trust account, restitution to the client or the client's 
estate is appropriate. (See In the Matter of Fonte 
(Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 752, 
765.) 

We agree with the hearing judge in not recom­
mending as restitution the $50,000 that respondent 
distributed from his client trust account to Ruppert 
personally, notwithstanding our finding of clear and 
convincing evidence that respondent misappropri­
ated by gross negligence these additional funds when 
he ceded dominion .and control over them. But we 
cannot ascertain from this record if the $50,000 was 
used to satisfy legitimate corporate claims after it was 
placed in the DIP account by Ruppert, and therefore 
we are unable to conclude whether or not lRC was 
denied the benefit of these funds. 

[1 Ob] Accordingly, we recommend that respon­
dent make restitution to the successor ofTRC in the 
amount of $29,875, which equals the entire amount he 
improperly withdrew from his trust account as his 



598 

fees without client authorization. (In the Matter of 
Hagen (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 153, 168.) Payment of the restitution should be 
made to the successor in interest to TRC and in 
accordance with the final Order of Dissolution of the 
Delaware Chancery Court, or, if distribution of the 
restitution is not provided for in that order, pursuant to 
a new order of the chancery court upon application of 
CERT or its successor. If the successor in interest to 
TRC or the appropriate recipients of the assets 
cannot be identified pursuant to an order of the 
Delaware Chancery Court, then such restitution shall 
be paid to the State Bar Client Security Fund. (In the 
Matter of Harris (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 219, 231.) 

_ .. W c further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass a Professional Responsibility 
Examination, that he be ordered to comply with the 
provisions of rule 9 5 5 of the California Rules of Court 
and that he be ordered to pay the costs incurred by the 
State Bar in this matter. 

Vl DISCIPLINE RECOMMENDATIONS 

From the inception of his representation ofTRC, 
respondent knew of the serious intra-corporate dis­
pute.Yet he argues that faced with "battling factions," 
he made the best call he could "on the front line." He 
asserts that to now. discipline him, post facto, will · 
send an ominous message to attorneys who represent 
corporate clients that they proceed at their peril 
whenever they are called upon to make a judgement 
call among competing claimants in the heat of battle. 
We disagree. This was a protracted matter which 
afforded respondent numerous warnings that he was 
in deeply conflicted territory. Nevertheless, he re­
peatedly and resolutely refused to heed these dire 
warnings, including those provided to him by the 
United States Bankruptcy Comt, opposing counsel 
and the various members of the Board of Directors, 
who acted with notable restraint. The hearing judge 
found, "Respondent's refusal to recognize his mul­
tiple conflicts led to his remaining in the fray rather 
than withdrawing, as he should have done." In so 
doing, respondent seriously compromised the inter­
ests of his client, TRC. 

IN THE MATTER OF DAVIS 

(Review Dept. 2003) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 576 

Accordingly, we recommend that respondent 
James Steven Davis be suspended from the practice 
oflaw in the State of California for a period of four 
years; that execution of the· four-year period. of 
suspension be stayed; and that he be placed on 
probation for a period of four years on the following 
conditions: 

1. Respondent shall be actually suspended from 
the practice of law in the State of California 
during the first two years of this probation and (1) 
until he makes restitution to Thennal Remediation 
Corporation, or its successor in interest, in accor­
dance with ai1 order of the Delaware Chancery 
Court or, if no order is obtained, to the Client 
Security Fund, in the amount of $29,875 plus 
interest thereon at the rate of IO percent simple 
interest per annum from February 14,1996, until 
paid; and provides satisfactory proof of payment 
of such restitution amounts to the State Bar's 
Probation Unit in Los Angeles and (2) until he 
shows proof satisfactory to the State Bar Court 
of his rehabilitation, present fitness to practice, 
and present learning and ability in the general law 
in accordance with standard 1.4( c )(ii) . of the 
Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Profes­
sional Misconduct. 

2. Respondent must comply with the provisions 
of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the State Bar of California, and all the 
conditions of this probation. 

3. Subject to the assertion of any applicable 
privilege, respondent must fully, promptly, and 
truthfully answer all inquiries of the State Bar's 
Probation Unit that are directed to respondent, 
whether orally or in writing, relating to whether 
respondent is complying or has complied with the 
conditions of this probation. 

4. Respondent must report, in writing, to the State 
Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles no later than 
January 10, April 10, July 10 and October 10 of 
each year or part thereof in which respondent is 
on probation ("reporting dates"). However, if 
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respondent's probation begins less than 30 days 
before a reporting date, respondent may submit 
the first report no later than the second reporting 
date after the begirming of respondent's proba­
tion. In each report, respondent must state that it 
covers the preceding calendar quarter or appli­
cable portion thereof and certify by affidavit or 
under· penalty of perjury under the laws of the 
State of California as follows: 

(a) in the first report, whether respondent has 
complied with all the provisions of the State 
Bar Act, Rules of Professional Conduct of 
the State Bar, and other terms and conditions 
of probation since the beginning of this 
probation; and 

(b) in each subsequent report, whether 
respondent has complied with all the provisions 
of the State Bar Act, Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the State Bar, and other terms 
and conditions of probation during the period. 

During the last 20 days of this probation, 
respondent must submit a final report covering 
any period of probation remaining after and 
not covered by the last quarterly report 
required under this probation condition. In 
this final report, respondent must certify to 
the matters set forth in subparagraph (b) of 
this probation condition by affidavit or under 
penalty of perjury under the laws of the State 
of California. 

5. During each calendar quarter in which respon­
dent receives, possesses, or otherwise handles 
client funds or property in any manner, respon­
dent must submit, to the State Bar's Probation 
Unit in Los Angeles with the probation report for 
that quarter, a certificate from a Certified Public 
Accountant certifying: 

(a) whether respondent has maintained a 
bank accom1t that is designated as a "Trust 
Account," "Clients' Funds Account," or 
words of similar import in a bank in the State 
of California or, with the written consent of 
the client, in any other jurisdiction where 
there is a substantial relationship between 
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the client or the client's business and the 
other jurisdiction; 

(b) whether respondent has, from the date of 
receipt of client funds through the period 
ending five years from the date of appropriate 
disbursement of such funds, maintained: 

(l) a written ledger for each client on 
whose behalf funds are held that sets 
forth: 

(a) the name of such client, 

(b) the date, amount, and source of 
all funds received on behalf of such 
client, 

(c) the date, amount, payee, and 
purpose of each disbursement made 
on behalf of such client, and 

(d) the current balance for such cli­
ent; 

(2) a written journal for each bank ac­
count that sets forth: 

(a) the name of such account, 

(b) the date, amom1t, and client af­
fected by each debit and credit, and 

(c) the current balance in such ac­
count; 

(3) all bank statements and cancelled 
checks for each bank account, and 

( 4) each monthly reconciliation (balanc­
ing) of(l), (2), and (3); and 

(5) whether respondent has, from the 
date of receipt of all securities and other 
prope1ties held for the benefit of client 
through the period ending five years 
from the date of appropriate disburse­
ment of such securities and other 
properties, maintained a written journal 
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that specifies each itetn of security and 
property held; the person on whose be­
half the security or property is held; the 
date of receipt of the security or prop­
erty; the date of distribution of the security 
or property; and, the person to whom the 
security or property was distributed. If 
respondent does not possess any client 
funds, property or securities during the 
entire period covered by a report, re­
spondent must so state under penalty of 
perjury in the report filed with the Proba­
tion Unit for that reporting period. In this 
circumstance, respondent need not file 
the accountant's certificate described 
above. 

6. Respondent must maintain, with the State 
Bar's Membership Records Office and the State 
Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles, his current 
office address and telephone number or, if no 
office ;s maintained, an address to be used for 
State Bar purposes. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 
6002.1, subd. (a).) Respondent must also main­
tain, with the State Bar's Membership Records 
Office and the State Bar's Probation Unit in Los 
Angeles, his current home address and telephone 
number. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, 6002.1, subd. 
(a)(5).) Respondent's home address and tele­
phone number shall not be made available to the 
general public. (Bus. & Prof. Code, 6002.1, subd. 
(d).) Respondent must notify the Membership 
Records Office and the Probation Unit of any 
change in any of this information no later than l 0 
days after the change. 

7. Within the period of his actual suspension, 
respondent must: (1) attend and satisfactorily 
complete the State Bar's Ethics School; and (2) 
provide satisfactory proof of completion of the 
school to the State Bar's Probation Unit in Los 
Angeles. This condition of probation is separate 
and apart from respondent's California Minimum 
Continuing Legal Education (MCLE) require­
ments; accordingly, respondent is ordered not to 
claim any MCLE credit for attending and com­
pleting this course. (Accord, Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, rule 3201.) 
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8. Within the period of his actual suspension, 
respondent must: (1) attend and satisfactorily 
complete the State Bar's Client Trust Account­
ing and Record Keeping Course; and (2) provide 
satisfactory proof of completion of the school to 
the State Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles. 
This condition of probation is separate and apart 
from.respondent's MCLE requirements; accord­
ingly, respondent is ordered not to claim any 
MCLE credit for attending and completing this 
course. (Accord, Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
3201.) • 

9. Respondent's probation shall commence on 
the effective date of the Supreme Court order in 
this matter. And, at the end of the probationary 
term, if he has complied with the terms and 
conditions of probation, the Supreme Court order 
suspending him from the practice of law for four 
years shall be satisfied, and the suspension shall 
te1minate. 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
EXAMINATION, RULE 955 AND COSTS. 

.We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional Conference of Bar Examiners within the period 
of his actual suspension and to provide satisfactory 
proof of his passage of that examination to the State 
Bar's Probation Unit in Los Angeles within that same 
time period. Additionally, we recommend that re­
spondent be ordered to comply with the provisions of 
rule 955 of the California Rules of Court and to 
perform the acts specified in subdivisions (a) and ( c) 
of that rule within 30 and 40 calendar days, respec­
tively, after the effective date of the Supreme Court 
order in this matter. Finally, we recommend that the 
costs incurred by the State Bar in this matter be 
awarded to the State Bar in accordance with Busi­
ness and Professions Code section 6086.10 and that 
such costs be payable in accordance with Business 
and Professions Code section 6 l 40. 7 . 

We Concur: 

STOVITZ, P. J. 
WATAI, J. 
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Respondent moved to dismiss a disciplinary proceeding pending against him arising out of his federal court 
conviction in 2002 of conspiracy to violate federal law prohibiting structuring financial transactions in order to 
evade currency reporting requirements. The grounds for respondent's motion to dismiss were re~ judicata, 
collateral estoppel, and/or due process. Respondent asserted that the same facts were tried against him in a 
previous original disciplinary proceeding in the State Bar Court in 1997. 

The review department concluded that bringing a conviction proceeding is not barred as a result of the 
proceeding arising from underlying facts which were the subject of an earlier original proceeding. The review 
department also adopted several factors to be considered, except in proceedings eligible for summary 
disbannent, in recommending the degree of discipline to be imposed should a basis for discipline appear. 
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HEADNOTES 

[1] 102,90 Procedure-Improper Prosecutorial Conduct-Other 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
1699 Conviction Cases-Miscellaneous Issues 
The State Bar is required by statute to disclose to criminal investigatory agencies certain 
incriminating information discovered about an attorney as a result of an investigation or formal 
proceeding. The State Bar also is obligated by statute to refer all convictions to the State Bar Court. 
Where it appeared that the State Bar complied with these statutory duties by disclosing infonnation 
to federal authorities well before the start of trial in an earlier original proceeding and by notifying 
the State Bar Court after respondent sustained a federal conviction, there was no evidence that the 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience ofthe reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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subsequent State Bar Court conviction proceeding was the product of vindictive prosecution tactics 

of the State Bar. 

[2 a-g] 159 Evidence-Mis eel laneo us 
169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
1699 Conviction Cases-Miscellaneous Issues 
A disciplinary proceeding arising from conviction of a crime is fundamentally different from and a 
complete alternative to an original proceeding brought under Business and Professions Code section 
6075 et seq. The streamlined procedures following an attorney's conviction of a crime rest on 
proceedings in the criminal courts in which the burden is proof beyond a reasonable doubt. These 
procedures recognize that the basis for attorney discipline is not the provable violation of a rule of 
professional conduct but the mere existence of a certified copy of an attorney's record of conviction. 
Only convictions which do not inherently involve moral turpitude are referred for an evidentiary 
hearing to detennine whether there is a legal basis for imposing discipline, but even in these cases 
guilt is conclusively established by the record of conviction and is not subject to collateral attack. 
Thus, where a conviction proceeding was commenced in the State Bar Court, which proceeding 
arose from the same underlying facts as an earlier original proceeding in thr;: State Bar Court, neither 
res judicata nor collateral estoppel acted as a bar to the conviction proceeding, since neither the 
issues nor the causes of action in the two types of proceedings are the same. 

[3 a, b] 191 
1699 

Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
Conviction Cases-Miscellaneous Issues 

Except in conviction proceedings eligible for summary disbarment, in determining the degree of 
discipline to be imposed in a conviction proceeding where an earlier original proceeding rested on 
the same underlying facts, a court should take into consideration any discipline imposed in the earlier 
original proceeding. To assess the appropriate discipline in the conviction proceeding, and to ensure 
fundamental fairness, a court should consider: (1) whether discipline in the conviction proceeding 
is needed to protect the public or the courts or to maintain the integrity of the administration of justice; 
(2) the extent to which the hearing judge or the parties in the original proceeding addressed the 
underlying facts supporting the criminal conviction which forms the basis for the subsequent 
conviction proceeding; (3) whether the criminal conviction yielded any relevant information that was 
not considered by the hearing judge in the original proceeding; ( 4) whether the discipline imposed 
in the conviction proceeding would unfairly duplicate any discipline actually imposed in the original 
proceeding, or would othenvise be unfair to the respondent; and (5) the extent to which the public 
policy sought to be protected in the original proceeding relates to the public policy sought to be 
protected in the criminal conviction which forms the basis for the conviction proceeding. 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P. J.: 

In this first impression case, we must decide 
whether a disciplinary proceeding initiated after an 
attorney's conviction of a crime may proceed, al­
though it rests on the same essential under lying facts 
as an original disciplinary proceeding tried earlier in 
our court against the same California attorney. 

Respondent, Alan W. Curtis, has a pending 
disciplinary proceeding against him arising out ofhis 
federal court conviction in 2002 of conspiracy to violate 
federal law prohibiting structuring :financial transactions 
in order to evade currency reporting requirements. ( 18 
U.S.C. § 371; 31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(3).) Respondent 
moved to dismiss this proceeding on the grounds of 
res judicata, collateral estoppel, and/or due process 
because the same facts were tried against him in a 
previous original disciplinary proceeding in this Court 
in 1997 (Case No. 95-0-18504).1 The State Bar's 
Office of Chief Trial Counsel (State Bar) contends 
that respondent has offered no good reason to dismiss 
this conviction proceeding. 

Because of the issues in this first impression 
case, we invited briefs from the parties and heard oral 
argument on the motion. We shall conclude that the 
conviction referral proceeding may continue. How­
ever, as we discuss below, should the hearing judge 
find a basis to recommend discipline, the judge should 
consider the factors we set forth, post. 

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

We set forth the factual background of the two 
State Bar Court proceedings at issue. 

1. For convenience, the present proceeding, arising under Busi­
ness and Professions Codc scctions6101-6102 and rule 951{a), 
California Rules of Court, will be referred to as the "conviction 
proceeding."The 1997 original proceeding, arising under sec­
tion 607 5 et. seq. of the Business and Professions Code, will 
be referred to as the" 1997 proceeding." 
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A. The 1997 Proceeding. 

As pertinent here, the 1997 proceeding charged 
respondent with acts of moral turpitude, dishonesty or 
corruption in wilful violation of Business and Profes• 
sions Code section 6106~ and with violating federal 
law in wilful violation of section 6068, subdivision (a). 
The State Bar alleged that in 1994, respondent's 
client, Mark Bailey, and a corporate party, agreed 
with a development company to form a venture to 
acquire the master lease to property in Southern 
California. In June 1994, thedevelopment company, 
Bailey and respondent agreed that respondent hold 
$310,000 of Bailey's funds in trust for the benefit of 
Bailey and the development company to purchase the 
master Lease. Less than two weeks later, respondent 
opened a trust bank account but never deposited 
more than $100,000 in the account. The State Bar 
also charged that when respondent received $310,000 
from Bailey, respondent failed to file with the Internal 
Revenue Service a required cash transaction receipt 
report under title 26 United States Code section 
6050I. The State Bar further charged respondent 
with misrepresenting, including to a banlauptcy judge, 
thatheheld$310,000 in trust when he did not, and with 
placing the $310,000 in a safe deposit box which did 
not meet the requirements of rule 4· l 0O(A), Rules of 
Professional Conduct. 3 

During the State Bar Court trial in the l 997 
proceeding, the State Bar devoted two pages in its 
trial brief to the federal currency reporting require­
ments the State Bar claimed that respondent breached. 
The State Bar contended that not only did respondent 
fail to report the $310,000 from Bailey, but that 
"respondent and Bailey illegally structured the pur­
chase transaction to avoid the bank's reporting 
requirement [for cash transactions in excess of 
$10,000]." Footnote six of the State Bar's brief 
pointed out that although respondent was not charged 

2. Unless noted otherwise, all references to sections are to the 
Business and Professions Code. 

3. The 1997 proceeding also charged other misconduct as to 
another client matter. As that matter is not alleged to be 
involved in the conviction proceeding, we do not discuss it. 
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with acting with Bailey to illegally structure the funds 
transactions, "it can be considered in aggravation." 

The hearing judge made detailed findings of fact 
in the Bailey matter. As pertinent to this case, she 
found that in June 1994, Bailey gave respondent 
$3 IO, 000 in cash which respondent placed in a safety 
deposit box, not labeled ·with trust or escrow status. 
Although respondent opened a trust account for the 
Bailey property transaction, he did not place any of 
the cash from Bailey therein. Respondent did not 
report receipt of the cash to the Internal Revenue 
Service. Respondent contended that, as an escrow 
holder, he was exempt from filing such a report and 
that the State Bar did not show clearly that the tax law 
applied to respondent The hearing judge concluded 
that the State Bar did not prove by clear and convinc· 
ing evidence that respondent violated the Internal 
Revenue Code provision requiring a cash receipt 
report. She also found, however, respondent culpable 
of violating the trust account provision of the Rules of 
Professional Conduct in the Bailey matter and other 
misconduct in another charged matter. She did not 
make any findings in aggravation regarding 
respondent's charged conduct with Bailey in struc­
turing the cash transactions. The hearing judge 
recommended 60 days' actual suspension as part of 
a stayed suspension. This decision was not appealed 
to us, and, effective July 22, l 999, the Supreme Court 
imposed the recommended discipline. 

B. Conviction proceeding. 

In late I 997, prior to the State Bar Court trial in 
the 1997 proceeding, the State Bar reported 
respondent's conduct in the Bailey matter to the 
Internal Revenue Service's Criminal Investigation 
Division. 

In January 2002, federal criminal charges were 
filed4 against respondent and Bailey. Respondent 
was accused of conspiring with Bailey and others to 
structure currency transactions to evade federal 
currency reporting requirements. (18 US.C. § 371 

4. The record of conviction shows that criminal proceedings on 
this and other charges commenced against respondent and 
Bailey as early as 1998. 
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( conspiracyto violate 31 U.S. C. § 5 324(a)(3) ). ) Charged 
as the sole object of the conspiracy, was the same 
$3 l 0, 000 transaction between respondent and Bailey 
as was the subject of part of the 1997 proceeding. In 
particular, the United States charged that of the 
$310,000 respondent received from Bailey, respon· 
dent knowingly structured $34,000 in currency to 
evade reporting requirements by having that money 
deposited in a bank in increments ofless than $1 0, 000. 

In February 2002 respondent pled guilty to the 
charge and he was sentenced on September 30, 2002. 

The conviction proceeding was initiated in our 
Court in February 2003 when the State Bar filed the 
record ofrespondent' s criminal conviction. The State 
Bar asserted that it was a crime involving moral 
turpitude and that it would seek respondent's sum­
mary disbarment when the conviction became final. 
(§ 6102, subd.(c).) 

We disagreed with the State Bar's claim that 
respondent was convicted of a crime of moral turpi­
tude; and, following precedent for similar currency 
reporting offenses, but unaware of the factual simi­
larity with the 1997 proceeding, we classified it as a 
crime which may or may not involve moral turpitude 
or misconduct warranting discipline. Since respon­
dent was convicted of a felony, however, we ordered 
his interim suspension.(§ 6102, subd. (a); Cal. Rules 
of Court, rule 95l(a).) 

In February 2003, respondent filed the current 
motion to dismiss the conviction proceeding and to 
stay the interim suspension. We stayed the interim 
suspension and, as noted, invited briefs from both 
parties on the issues raised by the motion to dismiss. 

Respondent urges that the conviction proceed­
ing is barred by the final decision of the hearing judge 
in the 1997 proceeding because the respondent's 
failure to file cash transaction reports and the manner 
in which he handled Bailey's $310,000 was fully 
litigated in the 1997 proceeding. He also urges that the 
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initiation of these conviction referral proceedings was 
an act of vindictive prosecution by the State Bar and 
that this deprived respondent of due process. 

The State Bar contends that neither the doctrine 
of res judicata nor collateral estoppel applies to bar 
the conviction proceeding, that the issue of summary 
disbarment is not yet ripe for decision, that respondent's 
claim that the conviction was the result of vindictive 
prosecution is frivolous and that respondent has not 
established any due process violation. 

II. DISCUSSION. 

A. Respondent's contention ofprosecutorial 
misconduct. 

[1] At the outset, we dispose of respondent's 
contention that the conviction proceeding is the prod­
uct of vindictive prosecution tactics of the State Bar. 
The State Bar is required by statute to disclose to 
criminal investigatory agencies the type of informa­
tion it disclosed here as a result of an investigation or 
formal proceeding.(§ 6044.5.) The State Bar also is 
obligated by statute to refer all convictions to this 
court.(§ 6101, subd. (c).) There is no evidence that 
the State Bar acted inappropriately and it appears that 
the State Barnotified federal authorities, well before 
thestartoftrialin the 1997 proceeding, ofinfonnation 
in fulfillmentofits statutory duty. Respondent's claim 
is without merit. 

B. The unique nature of attorney disciplinary 
proceedings. 

Neither party has cited and we are unaware of 
any California attorney disciplinary opinion which 
squarely addresses the ability to prosecute a later 
disciplinary proceeding involving the same facts as an 
earlier one. The closest expression we can find is a 
very brief reference in Urbano v. State Bar ( 1977) 
19Cal.3d 16, 20, acasewhichisdissimilartothis one. 
Urbano had been suspended in 1975, In its 1977 
opinion, the Supreme Court noted Urbano's claim 
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that it was a due process violation to prosecute him a 
second time for the single cours.e of conduct which 
was involved both in the 197 5 matter and in the later 
proceeding then before the Supreme Court. The 
Supreme Court rejected Urbano's argument noting 
that the two proceedings "involve different acts of 
misconduct, different clients and different dates. 
Nothing in the record shows that bringing the instant 
proceeding violated due process." (Ibid.) 

There are several principles pertinent to this 
motion. The first is that attorney disciplinary proceed­
ings are unique. They are neither purely civil, criminal 
or even administrative in nature. (E.g., Brotsky v. 
State Bar (1962) 57 Cal.2d 287, 300-302.) The 
reason for the uniqueness of these proceedings is that 
they are conducted within the inherent authority of 
the Supreme Court to regulate the legal profession. 
(In re Paguirigan (2001) 25 Cal.4th I, 7, and cases 
there cited.) Accordingly, many rules invoked in 
criminal proceedings are. generally inapplicable in 
State Bar proceedings, such as the constitutional 
prohibition against multiple prosecutions in criminal 
cases (Urbano v State Bar, supra, 19 Cal.3d at p. 
20), or the exclusionary rules (Emslie v. State Bar 
(1974) l l Cal.3d210, 226-229).5 Moreover, whether 
civil, criminal or unique rules apply, State Bar Court 
proceedings must afford the accused adequate ad­
ministrative due process. (Emslie v. State Bar, 
supra, 11 Cal. 3 d at pp. 22 6, 229, citing In re Ruffalo 
(1968) 390 U.S. 544, 550-551; see also Urbano v. 
State Bar, supra, 9 Cal.3d at p. 20.) As our Supreme 
Court observed in Emslie, "[tjhe Rules of Procedure 
enacted by the State Bar provide • a wide array of 
procedural safeguards in addition to those otherwise 
provided by statute or the courts." (Emslie v. State 
Bar, supra, 11 Cal.3d at p. 226.) 

The Supreme Court has also long recognized 
that acquittal or dismissal of criminal charges does not 
bar institution of a later disciplinary proceeding on the 
same acts charged in the criminal action. (Wong v. 
State Bar (1975) 15 Cal.3d 528, 531-532; Emslie v. 
State Bar, supra, 11 Cal.3d at p. 224.) 

5. However, the Supreme Court has applied the doctrine of 
entrapment to medical disciplinary proceedings. (Patty v. 
Board of Medical Examiners (1973) 9 Cal.3d 356.) 
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C. Disciplinary proceedings arising after conviction 
of crime contrasted with original discip Ji nary 

proceedings. 

(2a] In our view, and what most influences our 
decision of this motion, is that disciplinary proceed­
ings arising from conviction ofa crime ( § § 6101-6102) 
are fundamentally different from original proceed­
ings brought under section 6075 et seq. 

1. Original proceedings. 

[2b] Respondent's 1997 proceeding was an 
original disciplinary proceeding authorized by article 
5 of the State Bar Act(§ 6075 et seq.). As section 
6075 declares, it is a complete alternative to convic­
tion referral proceedings under article 6 of the State 
Bar Act(§ 6100 et seq.) (hereafter article 6), dis­
cussed,post. Together with implementing procedural 
rules adopted by the Board of Governors of the State 
Bar pursuant to section 6086, original proceedings 
require an investigation by the State Bar's Office of 
ChiefT rial Counsel, the filing in this Court ofa Notice 
ofDisciplinary Charges, or a stipulated disposition in 
lieu of those charges, and a formal evidentiary hear­
ing or stipulated disposition.(§§ 6085, 6085.5; Rules 
Proc. ofState Bar, rules 101, 134-135.) If the matter 
proceeds by way of trial, the respondent is afforded 
the right to introduce evidence in defense of the 
charges, to examine and cross-examine witnesses, to 
issue subpoenas, to be represented by counsel, to 
receive exculpatory evidence possessed by the State 
Bar, to exercise constitutional rights and to engage in 
specified discovery. (§ 6085; e.g., Rules Proc. of 
State Bar, rules 150-189, 214,219; Brotsky v. State 
Bar, supra, 57 Cal.2d at pp. 300-302.) Charges in 
original proceedings must be proven by clear and 
convincing evidence. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
213; e.g., Himmel v. State Bar (l 971) 4 Cal.3d 786, 
794.) 

2. Conviction proceedings. 

[2c] Conviction proceedings, such as respondent's 
present proceeding, are authorized by article 6 (§§ 
6101-6102). They are considerably streamlined over 
original proceedings, recognizing that they rest on 
proceedings in the criminal courts in which the burden 
is proof beyond a reasonable doubt. 
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In a seminal 1970 report which studied lawyer 
disciplinary systems nationwide, the American Bar 
Association Special Committee on Evaluation of 
Disciplinary Enforcement, chaired by retired United 
States Supreme Court Justice Tom C. Clark, con­
cluded that "no single facet of disciplinary enforcement 
is more to blame for any lack of public confidence in 
the integrity of the bar than the policy that permits a 
convicted attorney to continue to practice while 
apparently enjoying immunity from discipline." (ABA 
Special Committee on Evaluation of Disciplinary 
Enforcement, Problems and Recommendations in 
Disciplinary Enforcement (June 1970) Problem 22, 
p. 124.) Thus, in California streamlined conviction 
referral proceedings aid the maintenance of public 
confidence in the legal profession. (In re Lesansky 
(2001) 25 Cal.4th 11, 17.) 

[2d} The procedures following an attorney's 
conviction of a crime recognize that the basis for 
attorney discipline is not the provable violation of a 
rule of professional conduct but the mere existence of 
a certified copy of a record of conviction of an 
attorney of a crime involving moral turpitude. ( § 6101 
subd. (a); Cal. Rules of Court, rule 951(a).) The 
record of conviction of the crime is conclusive cvi:... 
dcnce of guilt ofthe crime(§ 6101, subd. (a)), and 
such evidence of guilt may not be the subject of a 
collateral attack (In re Prantil (1989) 48 Cal.3d 227, 
231-32.) Upon a conviction ofamoral turpitude crime 
or upon any felony conviction, an attorney is subject 
to prompt interim suspension. (§ 6102 subd. (a).) 
When an attorney's conviction of a crime, which 
inherently involves moral turpitude, becomes final, 
the attorney is subject to summary disbarment with­
out any hearing to decide whether lesser discipline 
should be imposed.(§ 6102,subd. (c);InrePaguirigan, 
supra, 25 Cal.4th at pp. 7, 9.) 

[2e] Only convictions which do not inherently 
involve moral turpitude are referred for an eviden­
tiary hearing to detennine whether there is a legal 
basis for imposing discipline under article 6. (E.g., In 
re Strick (1983) 34 Cal.3d 891, 897.) Even under 
those convictions that "may•or-may-not" involve 
moral turpitude or other misconduct warranting disci­
pline, the attorney's guilt of the convicted crime is 
conclusively established and the attorney is subject to 
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interim suspension if the conviction was a felony. 
(§§ 6101, subd. (a); 6102, subd. (a).) 

D. Discussion of appropriate principles. 

(2fJ California has no express authority directing 
the effect of an earlier original proceeding on a later 
conviction proceeding resting on the same facts.6 

Since res judicata is designed to prevent relitigation of 
the same cause of action in a later suit between the 
same parties and collateral estoppel exists to prevent 
relitigation of the same issues when decided in prior 
actions (e.g.,Mycogen Corp. v. Monsanto Co. (2002) 
28 Cal.4th 888, 896), neither doctrine applies to this 
case. This is so because neither the issues nor 
"causes of action" are the same when the conviction 
proceeding is based on the mere existence of a 
criminal conviction, rather than a corpus of proven 
facts as in the original proceeding. 

We are guided by two decisions of supreme 
courts of other states which involve situations similar 
to the case before us. (Florida Bar v. Hochman (Fla. 
2002) 815 So.2d 624 and Matter of Chastain (2000) 
340 S.C. 356 [532 S.E.2d 264].) 

In Florida Bar v. Hochman, supra, the attor­
ney was earlier found culpable of ethical misconduct 
in an original proceeding arising from an agreed 
disposition, He admitted in that proceeding that he 
had misappropriated client trust funds resulting from 
addiction to drugs. The Florida Supreme Court sus­
pended Hochman for three years. (Florida Bar v. 
Hochman(Fla.1998) 717 So.2d539,)In 1999,Hochman 
pied no contest to felony grand theft charges based on 
the same facts underlying his earlier misappropria­
tion; and, in 2000, the Florida Bar requested the state 
Supreme Court to suspend Hochman for three years 
on account of his criminal conviction. Hochman 
sought review bythe Florida court on various grounds 
including that the earlier discipline was a bar to the 

6. We believe that the question would be easier if the facts were 
different and if both the 1997 and present proceedings \Vere 
original proceeding~ based on the same facts and ethical rule 
allegations. In that case, if the earlier proceeding had been 
dismissed with prejudice, it would have been a bar to commenc­
ing a "new proceeding based on the same transaction or 
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second suspension since he was being disciplined 
twice for the same misconduct. 

After reviewing a referee's report, which re­
jected Hochman' s claims, the Florida Supreme Court 
concluded that a three year suspension reverting 
back to the date of his earlier suspension, was 
warranted as the discipline in the conviction case. 
(Florida Bar v. Hochman, supra, 815 So.2d at p. 
626.) The Florida court did not expressly discuss 
Hochman' s claims below that the discipline in the first 
proceeding barred the conduct of the second one. 
However, in imposing the suspension in the convic­
tion proceeding that was coextensive with his earlier 
suspension, the Florida court noted "that both suspen­
sions were ultimately based on the same underlying 
misconduct." (Id. at p. 626.) Finally, the court pointed 
out that Hochman' s offenses of misappropriation of 
trust funds and felonies "typical! y resulted in dis bar­
ment." (Id. at p. 627.) The court stated that it would 
have imposed more severe discipline in both proceed­
ings had Hochman not taken responsibility promptly 
for his acts and "doggedly pursued meaningful reha­
bilitation." (Ibid.) 

Matter of Chastain, supra, presented a similar 
situation: an original proceeding which resulted in 
Chastain' s two-year suspension for misconduct in six 
client matters, followed by a conviction proceeding 
arising from some of the same facts as in the original 
proceeding. Chastain' s misconduct in the original 
proceeding was found to have involved neglect of 
client matters, failure to refund unused attorney fees 
and failure to reply to inquiries during the attorney 
discipline investigation. (Matter of Chastain ( 1994) 
316 S.C. 438 [450 S.E.2d 578].) 

In 1995, one year after Chastain was disciplined 
in the original proceeding, he was convicted of one 
count of breach of trust with fraudulent intent for 
failing to return the unearned fee to one of the clients 

oc-:urrence." (Rules Proc. ofStateBar, rule 26 l(b ). )Moreover, 
principles of res judicata could be invoked to effect such a bar 
to commencing a new original proceeding, ifthe 1997 proceed­
ing were a final determination on the merits. (Cf. In the Matter 
of Respondent V(Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct Rptr. 
442, 447.-448.) 
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i.nvolved in the original proceeding. In 1998, formal 
proceedings were brought against Chastain based on 
his conviction. Chastain objected on double jeopardy 
grounds as he was already disciplined for the under­
lying misconduct in 1994. The state's Commission on 
Lawyer Discipline concluded that Chastain' s convic­
tion was an independent ground for discipline but 
recommended that no added discipline be imposed in 
view of the 1994 discipline. The South Carolina court 
held that Chastain' s claim of a double jeopardy bar 
was without merit (Matter of Chastain, supra, 532 
S.E.2d at pp. 268-269.) 

In its analysis, the South Carolina court reviewed 
the scope of the double jeopardy clause, concluding 
that its application is limited to criminal proceedings. 
(Matter of Chastain, supra, 532 S.E.2d at p. 266.) 
It then reviewed the different labels applied to attor­
ney disciplinary proceedings by different states, noting 
that they are either classed as civ1l in nature; or quasi 
criminal; or, as classified in California and other 
states, as unique, sui generis or special. (Id. at pp. 
267-268.) Since the court concluded that disciplinary 
proceedings are not criminal in nature and do not have 
punishment as a purpose, it concluded that the double 
jeopardy provision did not bar imposing added disci­
pline. Finally, the court stated that Chastain' s "criminal 
conviction which followed a disciplinary proceeding 
in which he was sanctioned, provides a separate basis 
for an additional sanction. [Citations.}" (Id. at p. 269.) 

Turning to the appropriate degree of discipline, 
the court determined that added discipline was not 
required in every case and the court stated it would 
review each case before deciding whether to impose 
an added sanction. It also identified seven relevant 
factors in assisting it to decide whether it would 

7. In substance, the seven factors set forth in Chastain arc: 
whether an added sanction was needed to (I) protectthe public 
or(2) protect the integrity of the legal system or the adminis­
tration of justice; (3) whether the conviction proceeding 
yielded information not considered during the previous pro­
ceeding; (4) whether the attorney was unable to practice due 
to criminal sanctions such 8.'l incarceration; (5) whether the 
disciplinary or criminal processes had been manipulated to 
harass the lawyer; (6) whether an added sanction would be 
unfair to the lawyer; and (7) any other factor deemed re!evan t. 
(Matter of Chastain, supra, 532 S.E.2d at p. 269.) 
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impose added discipline.7 In this case, the Court 
concluded that imposing an added sanction would be 
unnecessary. (/1,fatterofChastain,supra, 532 S.E.2d 
at p. 269.) 

[2g} We are persuaded to follow the analy_sis in 
Chastain and the result inH ochman that the bringing 
of a conviction proceeding is not barred because it 
arose from underlying facts which were the subject 
of an earlier original proceeding. We stress that the 
situation before us is extremely rare. Indeed we 
believe it is the only such proceeding to arise in the 
nearly 75-year history of State Bar proceedings.8 

Nevertheless, for those expectedly rare cases that 
may arise, we believe that our conclusion provides the 
correct result under California law. Moreover, it 
recognizes that underlying issues in criminal referral 
cases differ from the issues in original disciplinary 
proceedings. In addition, recognizing that a later 
conviction proceeding is not barred because of the 
pursuit of an earlier original proceeding allows the 
statutory standard for summary disbarment to be 
recommended to the Supreme Court in eligible cases. 
(See In re Paguirigan, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 9.) 
Finally, our conclusion recognizes and reinforces the 
goals ofattomey discipline- protection of the public, 
the courts and the integrity of the legal profession -
which are strong public policy considerations in this 
state. (In the Matter of Taggart {Review Dept. 
2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 302, 309.) 

[3a] However, we share the concerns found in 
Chastain; and, at least implicitly, in Hochman, that, 
except for proceedings eligible for summary disbar­
ment, the degree of discipline to be imposed in the 
later conviction proceeding should take into consider­
ation any discipline imposed in the earlier original 

8. But compare ,vith Shaferv. State Bar ( 1932) 215 Cal .706 in 
which a suspension recommendation was made in an original 
proceeding after the attorney was convicted of a felony for 
failing to account for trust funds involved in the original 
proceeding, but before the conviction became final. The court 
chose to impose the suspension recommended in the original 
proceeding. At the time. had Shafer' sconviction become final; 
he would have been automatically disbarred. (See In re 
Paguirigan, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p.5.) 



IN THE MATTER OF CURTIS 

(Review Dept. 2003) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 60 I 

proceeding. This also comports ,vith the earlier-cited 
requirements of due process in these proceedings. 

[3b) For the purpose of assessing the appropri­
ate discipline in the conviction proceeding, and to 
ensure fundamental fairness, we adopt the following 
factors: (I) whether discipline in the conviction pro­
ceeding is needed to protect the public or the courts 
or to maintain the integrity of the administration of 
justice; (2) the extent to which the hearingjudge or the 
parties in the original proceeding addressed the un­
derlying facts suppmting the criminal conviction which 
fonns the basis for the subsequent conviction pro­
ceeding; (3) whether the criminal conviction yielded 
any relevant information that was not considered by 
the hearing judge in the original proceeding; ( 4) 
whether the discipline imposed in the conviction 
proceeding would unfairly duplicate any discipline 
a.ctually imposed in the original proceeding, or would 
otherwise be unfair to the respondent; and, (5) the 
extent to which the public policy sought to be pro­
tected in the original proceeding relates to the public 
policy sought to be protected in the criminal convic­
tion which forms the basis for the conviction 
proceeding. 
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Since this conviction is now final, we shall refer 
it to the hearing judge as set forth below. If the judge 
so assigned finds a basis for imposition of discipline, 
we direct that the assigned judge consider the opera­
tion of the five factors set forth ante in determining 
the appropriate degree of discipline. 

III. CONCLUSION AND ORDERS. 

For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that this 
conviction proceeding, 02-C-15210, may proceed. 
As respondent's conviction is now final, this proceed­
ing is referred to the Hearing Department under the 
authority of subdivision (a) of rule 951, California 
Rules of Court, for a hearing and decision recom­
mending the discipline to be imposed in the event that 
the Hearing Department finds that the facts and 
circumstances surrouncting the violation of title 18 
United States Code section 3 71, of which respondent 
was convicted, involved moral turpitude or other 
misconduct warranting discipline. Should the hearing 
judge find a basis for recommending discipline, the 
judge shall consider the five factors we set forth ante 
before making a discipline recommendation. 

We concur: 
EPSTEIN1 J. 
HONN, J.* 

* (Judge ofthe Hearing Dcpartmcnt,silling by designation under 
rule 305(t:), Rules of Procedure of the State Bar) 
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Upon a nolo contendere plea, respondent was convicted of a felony violation of Penal Code section 245, 
subdivision (a)(l}, assault with a deadly weapon or by means likely to produce great bodily harm. After her 
conviction, the criminal court reduced the crime to a misdemeanor and granted her summary probation. After 
the State Bar filed a certified copy of respondent's conviction with the State Bar Court, the review department 
referred the matter to the hearing department to detem1inc whether there was a basis for discipline, and if so, 
what discipline was appropriate. On referral, the hearing judge determined that respondent's crime was a 
misdemeanor rather than a felony for State Bar disciplinary purposes. (Hon Alban I. Niles, Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar sought interlocutory review. The revie,v department determined that under controlling 
sections of the State Bar Act, respondent ,vas convicted of a felony despite the criminal court's reduction of 
the crime to a misdemeanor at the time it granted her probation. 

COUNSEL FOR PAR'i'IES 

For State Bar: Erin M. Joyce and Kristin L. Ritscma 

Michael G. Gerner For Respondent: 

lla-cJ 191 
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ffEADNOTES 

Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
Statutes Outside State Bar Act 

1691 Conviction Cases-Record in Criminal Proceeding 
When an attorney pleads nolo contendere to a felony wobbler, i.e., a crime that may be charged or 
judged either as a felony or misdemeanor, and that offense is declared to be a misdemeanor at 
sentencing or at the imposition of probation under Penal Code section J 7, subdivision (b ), the 
Legislature made it clear that it remains a felony for State Bar Act purposes even ifit is later declared 

Editor's nok The summary, headnoles an<l addillonal analysis section arc not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the StateBarCourtforthc co11v1.mience ofthc reader. Only the actual text ofthc Review Department's 
opinion may be uilcd onclicd upon as pn:cedent. 
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a misdemeanor in postconviction proceedings, including proceedings resulting in punishment or 
probation. This does not mean that an attorney's conviction of a wobbler will always be of a felony. 
If the attorney's plea of guilty or nolo contendere or the verdict of guilty is to a misdemeanor charge, 
including a felony reduced to a misdemeanor at the time of the plea or verdict, the conviction will 
be of a misdemeanor. 

169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
1699 Conviction Cases-Miscellaneous Issues 
To the extent that the grade of a crime, i.e., felony or misdemeanor, would influence the most 
significant actions following criminal conviction - eligibility for interim suspension, or summary 
disbarment - those issues are reserved to the review department rather than the hearing department. 

[3J 159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
1699 Conviction Cases-Miscellaneous Issues 
The primary consequence of an order determining the grade of a crime for State Bar disciplinary 
purposes would be as to the evidence presented on the question of degree of discipline to recommend 
or impose should moral turpitude or misconduct warranting discipline be found. On the issue of 
degree of discipline, the ultimate grade of a crime, together with other mitigating evidence, could bear 
on the ultimate result. 

Discipline 
1541.10 
1543 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Conviction Matters-Interim Suspension-Ordered 
Conviction Matters-Interim Suspension-Vacated 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P. J.: 

Respondent Jasmin Jackson was admitted to 
practice law in California in December 1996 and was 
convicted, on her nolo contendere plea, of a felony 
violation of Penal Code section 245, subdivision 
(a)(I ), assault with a deadly weapon or by means 
likely to produce great bodily harm. (Bus. & Prof. 
Code,§§ 6101, subd. (e), 6102, subds. (a)-(b).) After 
her conviction, the c1iminal court reduced the crime 
to a misdemeanor and granted her summary proba­
tion. (Pen. Code, § 17, subd. (b )(3).) Pursuant to well 
established practice in such cases, after respondent's 
conviction, we referred the matter to the State Bar 
Court hearing department to determine whether there 
was a basis for lawyer discipline and if so, for a 
decision as to the discipline to impose. (Cal. Rules of 
Court, rule 95 l(a).) On referral, the assigned hearing 
judge determined that respondent's crime was a 
misdemeanor and that she had not been convicted of 
a felony for State Bar disciplinary purposes. The 
State Bar sought our interlocutory review from this 
decision. 

Primarily because this issue could recur in State 
• Bar Court proceedings, we granted interlocutory 
review and invited briefs from the parties. After 
considering the briefs, record and applicable law, we 
determine that under controlling sections of the State 
Bar Act, discussed below, respondent was convicted 
of a felony although the criminal court reduced it to a 
misdemeanor at the time it granted her probation. 
Accordingly, we shall reverse the contrary finding of 
the hearing judge. 

I. BACKGROUND. 

A. The criminal proceedings, 

In November 2000, the San Bernardino County 
District Attorney's office filed in superior court a 

1. Although the superior court j udgc did not cite the speci fie 
subdivision of Penal Code section 17, subdivision (b) under 
which he reduced respondent's crime to a misdemeanor, it 
appears that it was section l 7, subdivision (b )(3 ). Rt:fercnc.::s 
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"felony complaint" charging respondent with the 
felony offense of Penal Code section 24 5, subdivision 
(a}(l), assault with a deadly weapon by means likely 
to produce great bodily harm. After a preliminary 
hearing, respondent was held to answer and the case 
was set for jury trial. On June 11, 2002, the first day 
of trial, respondentplednolo contendere to the charge. 
The superior court judge accepting the plea made it 
clear to respondent that she was charged with and 
pleading nolo contendere to a felony crime. He stated 
that based on the information he was privy to at the 
time of plea, he would probably reduce "this case to 
a misdemeanor on [respondent's] motion at the time 
of sentencing." But the judge made it expressly clear 
that he was neither promising to reduce the conviction 
to a misdemeanor, nor was he obligated to do so. 

On June 17, 2002, respondent appeared in supe­
rior court for sentencing. The parties waived their 
rights to a probation report and formal sentence 
recommendation. Although the district attorney's 
office objected, the court reduced respondent's crime 
to a misdemeanor pursuant to Penal Code section I 7, 
subdivision (b) and immediately admitted respondent 
to summary probation, without imposing sentence.1 

B. The State Bar Court proceedings. 

This State Bar Court proceeding started in July 
2002, when the State Bar filed with us the certified 
copy of respondent's conviction. Because of our 
detennination that respondent had been convicted of 
a felony (Bus. &Prof. Code,§§ 6101, subd. (e), 6102, 
subds. (a), (b)), ,.vc placed respondent on interim 
suspension effective August 29, 2002. A fow days 
later, we referred this matter to the hearing depart­
ment of our court for a hearing and decision as to 
whether respondent's felony offense involved moral 
turpitude or other misconduct warranting disciphne; 
and if so, for a decision or recommendation of the 
degree of discipline. 

by the hearing judge and parties to the reduction having been 
pursuant lo section 17,subdivision (h)(l), arc an insignificant 
error as our later discussion will sh ow. 
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In early March 2003, respondent moved to set 
aside her interim suspension. She claimed that the 
felony basis of that suspension was nullified when her 
conviction was reduced to a misdemeanor at the time 
of sentencing. The State Bar did not object to setting 
aside respondent's suspension on the sole ground that 
it was likely that the period of the interim suspension 
would exceed the degree of discipline recommended 
for respondent's conviction. (See In the Matter of 
Respondent M (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 465.) On March 21, 2003, we granted 
respondent's petition to set aside the interim suspen­
sion, but we did not decide whether the reduction of 
respondent's conviction to a misdemeanor made it 
such within the meaning of the State Bar Act. 

In early April 2003, respondent made an oral 
motion to the assigned hearingjudge for an order that 
her conviction be treated as a misdemeanor for State 
Bar purposes. The State Bar opposed the motion but 
on April 30, 2003, the hearing department made a 
verbal order detennining that respondent stood con­
victed of a misdemeanor. The State Bar objected and 
sought reconsideration. OnMay30, 2003, the hearing 
judge filed a two-page order denying reconsideration. 
He took issue with the State Bar's view that respon­
dent had been convicted of a felony. In the hearing 
judge's view, respondent had never been convicted 
of a felony. Since, in his view, the conviction did not 
occur until sentencing, the hearing judge determined 
that respondent had been convicted only of a misde­
meanor and it was a misdemeanor for all purposes, 
including State Bar purposes. As trial has not yet been 
held, the State Bar's interlocutory petition to us 
followed. 

II. DISCUSSION. 

We start by recognizing that the consequences 
of a conviction of a crime may be quite different 
based on particular statutes than under the substan­
tive criminal law and that a "conviction" has varying 
meanings under different statutes. (Truchon v. 
Toomey (1953) 116 Cal.App.2d 736, 738-740.) 

Many C alifomia crimes are referred to colloqui­
ally as "wobblers." They may be charged or judged 
either as felonies or misdemeanors. (See Pen. Code, 
§ 17.) Petitioner's assault crime is such an offense. 
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(Pen. Code, § 245, subd. (a)(l).) The criminal law 
recognizes that if so charged, the crime exists as a 
felony, at least until at a later time when it is reduced 
to a misdemeanor. (People v. Banks (1959) 53 
Cal.2d 370, 380-383.) However, for at least the 
purposes of the three strikes law, it has been recog­
nized that the grade of the wobbler is not determined 
until the court imposes sentence. (People v. Supe­
rior Court (Alvarez) (1997) 14 Cal.4th 968, 975.) 

[1aJ Notwithstanding criminal law provisions, 
the State Bar Act provides that what happened in 
respondent's case resulted in her conviction of a 
felony for State Bar purposes at the time she entered 
her plea of nolo contendere. Business and Profes­
sions Code section 610 I, subdivision ( e) provides that 
she was convicted when she pled nolo contenderc. 
Business and Professions Code section 6102, subdi­
vision (b) provides that an attorney is convicted of a 
felony either if it is declared to be so or declared a 
felony as defined in Penal Code section 17, subdivi­
sion (a). As noted, respondent's crime was charged 
as a felony and the superior court judge declared that 
respondent had pied to a felony. The Legislature 
expressly dealt with the situation before us. When an 
attorney pleads nolo contendcre to a felony wobbler 
and that offense is declared to be a misdemeanor at 
sentencing or at the imposition of probation under 
Penal Code section 17, subdivision (b), the Legisla­
ture made it clear that it remains a felony for State Bar 
Act purposes even if it is later declared a misdemeanor 
in postconviction proceedings "including proceedings 
resulting in punishment or probation set forth in para­
graph (1) or (3) of [Penal Code section 17, subdivision 
(b)]." (Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 6102, subd. (b).) 

This result may be seen in past cases \vhcre 
attorneys were convicted of ,vobblers as felonies and 
their convictions were later reduced to misdemean­
ors per Penal Code section l 7. (In the Matter of 
Burns (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 406, 409-41 l { felony assault conviction]; In the 
Matter of Respondent M, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. at pp. 468, 470-471 [felony driving under 
influence conviction] . ) Moreover, it is consistent with 
the long history by the Supreme Court of upholding 
the State Bar Act's declared consequences of crimi­
nal convictions. (Most recently, seeJn re Paguirigan 
(2001) 25 Cal.4th 1, 9-10). 
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[lb) This does not mean that an attorney's 
conviction of a wobbler will always be of a felony. If 
the attorney's plea of guilty or nolo contenderc or the 
verdict of guilty is to a misdemeanor charge, including 
a felony reduced to a misdemeanor at the ti me of the 
plea or verdict, the conviction \\-ill be of a misde­
meanor. (Bus. & Prof Code, § 6102, subd. (b).) 

[2] The hearing judge's decision in this case 
appears to be of limited effect. To the extent that the 
grade of the crime would influence the most signifi­
cantactions following criminal conviction-eligibility 
for interim suspension, or summary disbarment -
those issues are reserved to us. (Rule 320, Rules 
Proc. of State Bar; In re Pagwrigan, supra, 25 
Cal.4th at p. 3, fn. l; In reLesanslcy (2001) 25 Cal.4th 
I l, I 3, fn. l.) [3] The primary consequence of the 
hearing judge's order here would be as to the evi­
dence presented on the question of degree of discipline 
to recommend or impose should moral turpitude or 
misconduct warranting discipline be found. On the 
issue of degree of discipline, the ultimate grade of a 
crime, together with other mitigating evidence, could 
bear on the ultimate result. (In the Matter ~f Re­
spondent I (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 260, 271, fn. 11.) We express no view on the 
merits of the latter issue. [le} However, since the 
hearing judge determined that respondent's convic­
tion was a misdemeanor for all State Bar purposes, 
we reverse that determination. Since we reserved in 
a previous order the detennination of whether re­
spondent was convicted of a felony or misdemeanor, 
we determine that she was convicted of a felony 
within the meaning of the State Bar Act. 

III. DISPOSITION. 

For the foregoing reasons, the detennination of 
the hearing judge that respondent was convicted of a 
misdemeanor for State Bar purposes is reversed. 
Consistent with this opinion, the hearing judge may 
resume the conduct of the conviction proceeding 
earlier referred to him. 

We concur: 

WATAI, J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 
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The hearing judge found respondent culpable of several serious violations of Rules of Professional 
Conduct, rule 3-3 00 as a result of respondent entering into a business transaction with a client who lost her life 
savings in the transaction. The hearing judge also found respondent culpable of acts of moral turpitude while 
engaged in this business transaction and culpable of failing to report a civil judgment for fraud to the State Bar. 
The hearing judge recommended disbarment. (Hon. Robert M. Talcott, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent requested review, pressing a variety of substantive and procedural attacks on the findings. 
The review department upheld the hearing judge's findings and conclusions of culpability but determined that 
the appropriate discipline was five years' stayed suspension, five years' probation, and three years' actual 
suspension, 
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HEADNOTES 

130 Prncedure-Procedure on Review 
169 Standard of Proof or Review-Miscellaneous 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
After a review department opinion remanding a case to the hearing department for a new trial had 
become final, respondent could not, on a subsequent review following the new trial, continue to 
attack the findings and conclusions set forth in that opinion. 

120 
130 

Procedure-Conduct of Trial 
Procedure-Procedure on Review 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenienceofthe reader. Onlythe actual text oflhe Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as pn:ccdcnt. 
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161 Duty to Present Evidence 
162.20 Proof-Respondent's Burden 
192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
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After the hearing judge gave respondent the express opportunity to present his evidence, 
respondent's unpersuasive reasons for failing to do so could not be the basis of any claim of error 
on review. 

[3 a-g] 221.11 Section 6106-Deliberate Dishonesty/Fraud 
221.19 Section 6106-Gross Negligence 
273.00 Rule 3-300 [former 5-101] 
1013.11 Stayed Suspension-5 Years 
1015.09 Actual Suspension-3 Years 
Review department recommended five years' stayed suspension and three years' actual suspen­
sion where, in a single client matter, ( 1) respondent committed multiple violations of Rules of 
Professional Conduct, rule 3-300; (2) respondent engaged in acts involving moral turpitude by 
concealing important information about a business transaction from his client and by overreaching 
his client; (3) respondent failed to report a civil fraud judgment to the State Bar; and ( 4) there were 
several factors in aggravation and two factors in mitigation, including respondent's long years of 
practice without prior discipline. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

214 .51 Section 6068( o) ( comply ,vith reporting requirements) 
Aggravation 

Found 
521 Multiple Acts 
541 Bad Faith-Dishonesty 
582.10 Harm to Client 
591 Indifference 
621 Lack of Remorse 
691 Other 

Mitigation 
Found 

710.10 No Prior Record 
765.10 Pro Bono Work 

Found but Discounted 
740.31 Good Character 
740.39 Other 

Discipline 
1017.11 Probation-5 Years 

Probation Conditions 
1021 Restitution 
l 024 Ethics Exam/School 
1030 Standard l.4(c)(ii) 

Other 
102.90 Procedure-Improper Prosecutorial Conduct-Other 
159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
171 Discipline--Restitution 
193 Constitutional Issues 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P. J.: 

Respondent, Bolden Bruce Kittrell, sought our 
review from a hearing judge's recommendation that 
he be disbarred. Respondent was admitted to prac­
tice in 1967 and has no prior record of discipline. The 
hearing judge found that respondent committed sev­
eral serious violations of rule 3-300 of the Rules of 
Professional Conduct1 regulating an attorney's con­
duct in a business transaction with an unsophisticated 
client who lost her life savings she had earmarked to 
use to buy a home. Fallowing our earlieropinionin this 
proceeding (see post), the hearingj~dge also found 
respondent culpable of acts of moral turpitude while 
engaged in this business transaction proscribed by 
Business and Professions Code section 6106.2 After 
respondent's client won a civil fraud judgment against 
him, respondent was found to have violated section 
6068, subdivision (o)(2) by failing to timely report 
entry of this judgment to the State Bar. Respondent 
has pressed a variety of substantive and procedural 
attacks on the findings. The State Bar urges that we 
adopt the hearing judge's decision and disbarment 
recommendation. Upon our independent review of 
the record (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 951.5; Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a); In re Morse (l 995) 
11 Cal.4th 184, 207), we uphold the hearing judge's 
findings and conclusions but recommend suspension, 
which we believe better comports with the discipline 
imposed in similar cases, while recognizing the seri­
ous. evidence of aggravating circumstances in this 
case. 

I. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND_ 

This is the second plenary review we have 
conducted in this proceeding. In In the Matter of 

1. Unless notedotherwise,all references torulesaretothe Rules 
of Professional Conduct of the State Bar. The version of rule 
3-300 at issue here is that in effect between May 27, 1989,and 
September 13, 1992. 

2. Unless noted otherwise, all references to sections are to the 
Business and Professions Code. 
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Kittrell (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 195 (Kittrell I), we upheld the hearingjudge's 
conclusions, applying principles of collateral estoppel, 
that respondent committed acts of moral turpitude 
(§ 6106) but remanded that matter to the hearing 
judge3 to determine the nature and extent of those 
acts. We also adopted the hearing judge's conclusion 
that respondent violated section 6068, subdivision 
( o )(2) by failing to timely notify the State Bar of the 
entry ofafraudjudgment in a civil suit brought by his 
fonner client. We noted that respondent did not 
challenge earlier this conclusion or the factual find­
ings supporting it. (Kittrell I, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. at p. 210.). We also concluded that the 
application of collateral estoppel did not establish the 
elements of a violation offonner rule 3-300, and we 
remanded this case to the hearing judge to make 
necessary findings of fact. Finally, we rejected the 
hearing judge's findings in mitigation and aggravation 
and remanded for the making of new findings and an 
appropriate reconunendation of discipline. 4 Although 
we remanded this matter, we rejected respondent's 
argument that it was inappropriate to apply principles 
of collateral cstoppel and his claim that the hearing 
judge was not impartial. 

On remand, we authorized the use of the evi­
dence already made a part of the record but required 
that respondent be given an oppo1tunity to "contra­
dict, temper, or explain" that evidence. 

In July 200 l the hearing judge conducted the 
remand hearing. The State Bar argued that the 
evidence already adduced proved the charges and 
chose to introduce no additional evidence. The hear­
ing judge gave respondent ample and repeated 
opportunities to temper or explain the evidence and to 
present evidence favorable to him concerning the 
charges. Respondent declined to do so giving two 

3. On remand, the case was assigned to a different trial judge than 
heard the matter originally. 

4. The hearingjudge inKillrell/had recommended that respon­
dent be suspended for five years, stayed, on conditions of 
probation including three years' actual suspension and until 
respondent established his entitlement to be returned 'to law 
practice. 
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reasons: that he did not want to waive any rights he 
had in view of a pending appeal before the Supreme 
Court of the United States and the evidence in Kittrell 
I already contained the evidence he would offer. 
After concluding that respondent was culpable of 
violations of the State Bar Act and fonner rule 3-
300(A) and (B), and that evidence of aggravating 
circumstances outweighed evidence in mitigation, the 
hearingjudge recommended disbannent. Respondent's 
current appeal followed. 

IL FINDINGS AND LEGAL CONCLUSIONS 
OF CULPABILITY. 

Unlike in Kittrell I, the current findings of the 
hearing judge do not rest on application of collateral 
estoppel. Rather, the judge independently used the 
evidence adduced in the civil trial brought by 
respondent's client to prove the charges. We summa­
rize the hearing judge's factual findings. Despite the 
extensive evidence, the essential facts are simple and 
not the subject of any reasonable dispute based on the 
record. 

At the pertinent time, 1991, Czarine Hope J runes 
,vas a 55-year-old naturalized United States citizen 
who had completed the equivalent of the 12tl' grade in 
Jamaica. She had done computer data entry work, but 
in 1991 was employed as a clerk in a public storage 
facility earning about $6 per hour. She had minimal 
prior investment experience. She desired to purchase 
a condominium and ,vas looking for an investment for 
her life savings of$68,000.-5 James's friend, Johnnie 
Maxey, had invested earlier with respondent and 
recommended him to James. 

In addition to being an attorney, respondent 
owned Bolden Group and Bolden Realty. As he 
conceded, Bolden Group was the same as respondent 
in identity. Respondent ust:d Bolden Realty to do 
business with equity holders in real estate who could 
not qualify for conventional bank loans. Respondent 
testified that none of his investors lost money in 12 to 
l 5 years until the recession of 1 992 to 19 93, when he 

5. James also had retirement accounts totaling about $12,000. 
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experienced problems with trust deeds. His own 
home of 17 years was foreclosed and sold in 1994. 

In late November 1991,James met respondent in 
his law office. He gave James his law office's 
business card, mentioned he was an attorney but did 
not mention his ownership of Bolden Realty. At this 
time, James had asked respondent for legal advice 
about the tax consequences of her family law settle­
ment. Respondent advised her at a later time after 
reviewing her documents. 

Also, at this November 1991 meeting, respon~ 
dent offered James an investment in a trust deed in 
Moro Landis Studios, commercial property in Studio 
City, which was principally used as a dance studio. At 
the time, respondent had no written appraisal of the 
property. However, he had invested in this property 
earlier, raising $600,000 from investors. He was 
aware that the property needed considerable im­
provements and that it was encumbered with first and 
second trust deed balances totaling $895,000. To­
gether with the third trust deed balance held by 
respondent's realty group, the encumbrances on 
Moro Landis Studios totaled nearly $1. 5 million. In 
contrast, the annual income of the property was 
$70,000 and the annual debt service on just the first 
and second trust deeds was $100,000. 

In 1990 respondent listed Moro Landis Studios 
for$ l . 9 5 million but only received one offer below $1 
million. He tried unsuccessfully to refinance the 
property in 1990 and 199 l . 

To obtain funds to service the debt on Moro 
Landis Studios, in March 1990 respondent issued a 
new third trust deed for$450,000. When the $450,000 
note became due, and respondent was unable to 
refinance or sell the property for an adequate amount, 
he extt:nded the note's due date to March 1993 and 
increased the note's amountto $550,000. To finance 
this note, he sought James' s investment. A month 
before Jamcs's first meeting with respondent, the 
holder of the first trnst deed on Moro Landis Studios, 
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Pacific Lighting Company, filed a notice of default on 
the property. 

Between 1991 and 1993, respondent earned at 
least $244,000 in commissions and management fees 
from the Moro Landis Studios. 

When respondent offered James an investment 
in the Moro Landis Studios in November 1991, he told 
her that it would pay 14 percent interest, that there 
would be monthly payments and that her principal 
would be repaid in 3 to 4 months. Although respon­
dent told James that anything can happen, he also 
assured her that the Moro Landis Studios invesbnent 
was a good one and that she could not lose money. 
Respondent did not consider James a sophisticated 
investor when he met her. Respondent did not inform 
James that the debt service on the Moro Landis 
Studios exceeded its income and that he had no 
current written appraisal on the property.6 At this 
meeting, respondent did not give James any Writing 
concerning her investment, nor did he inform her that 
she could seek the advice of independent counsel. 

Within a week of her meeting respondent, James 
sent him $61,000 for her investment in the Moro 
Landis Studios. At respondent's request, James made 
the funds payable to Bolden Realty, but respondent 
did not infonn James that he was Bolden Realty. 

By early January 1992, respondent had sent 
James her first monthly payment, and on January 9, 
he sent her a trust declaration and beneficiary agree­
ment to sign and return. These papers failed to 
mention that James's investment was in a third trust 
deed, did not recite the risks of the transaction and 
misstated that the note amount was $450,000 rather 
than $550,000. They also set the due date for return 
ofJames'sprincipalasMarch 1, 1993,ratherthanthe 
March 1992 date James had llllderstood. When 
James called respondent about this, he assured her 
that she would have her funds back in April or May 

6. At the time he met with James, re8pondent had hvo apprais­
als on Moro Landis Studios. Om: was four years old ($2.2 
million appraised value) and the other three years old (S2.25 
million appraised value). Based on an appraiser's testimony, 
the hearing Judge found that as of November 1991, the 
property's fair market value \Vas 8725,000. 
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of 1992, and that the 1993 date was for convenience 
in case she wanted to reinvest her funds. Relying on 
respondent's statements, James signed the agree­
ment; but she did not fully understand the nature of 
her investment or with whom it was placed. 

By late February 1992, James had decided to 
purchase a condominium. Respondent told her that 
she would have her funds soon and James opened an 
escrow to buy the condominium. However, respon­
dent did not return James's funds and her intended 
purchase of the condominium fell out of escrow. 
Again, relying on respondent's promise that he would 
return her investment soon, James opened a second 
escrow in summer 1992. Again, James's purchase 
was frustrated when respondent failed to return her 
funds and escrow had to be cancelled. The same 
thing happened a third time in fall 1992 when James 
opened an escrow to buy a home in a senior citizen 
community. By this time, respondent had ceased 
making interest payments to James. Respondent 
made 11 interest payments to James totaling $7,333. 

Because of the three failed escrows, James 
spent $2,300 on escrow fees and had to pay storage 
charges for her personal property. The experience 
also caused James stress. As a result of losing her 
investment, James was forced to rent a room in a 
friend's home. 

fu April 1993, James sued respondent in Superior 
Court, Orange County, for several causes of action, 
including breach of fiduciary duty and fraud. After 
jury verdict, the court awarded James compensatory 
damages of $217,235, plus interest and costs and 
exemplary damages of$6 l, 000. The verdict found by 
clear and convincing evidence that respondent's 
conducttoward James involved malice, oppression or 
fraud. The judgment on the verdict was affirmed by 
the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, in an 
unpublished opinion. (James v. Kittrell (Oct. 16, 
1996, G0l 7179).)7 

7. Although the opinion of th~ Court of Appeal is not for 
publication, it may be cited in this disciplinary proceeding. 
(Cal. Rules ofComt, rule 977(b)(2).) 
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On appeal, the only issue respondent raised was 
the sufficiency of evidence to support the judgment. 
The appellate court found substantial evidence to 
support the judgment. Supporting the award of exem­
plary damages was evidence showing that respondent 
had sizeable personal assets.8 

The Supreme Courts of California and of the 
United States each denied respondent's requests to 
file late petitions for review. 

Respondent told the attorney who represented 
J amcs in the civil litigation, Evan Borges, that he had 
no intention of paying James the judgment. Borges 
served pro bono for James, both defending 
respondent's attempts to defeat the judgment in 
bankruptcy proceedings and attempting unsuccess­
fully to collect for James on the judgment. When 
Borges tried to reach respondent's Arizona ranch, 
respondent transferred it to an entity owned by his 
wife. Borges did not have funds to continue to collect 
on the judgment. 

Despite Borges's pro bona help to James, she 
was required to pay about$ l 0,000 for the costs of the 
superior court and other actions. In 1994 James 
received about $27,000 from respondent's former 

• law partners and $31,000 from the State Bar's Client 
Security Fund (CSF), In addition to the financial 
burdens, James' s health suffered from her loss of 
funds. She broke out in a severe rash, and suffered 
dental problems which she could not afford to rem­
edy. This caused gum problems and loss of several 
teeth. She also suffered from varying blood pressure, 
hair loss and depression. 

Respondent contended that his assets have been 
foreclosed or sold in bankruptcy and his lifestyle is far 
more modest than before. His only income is from his 
law practice which had yielded about $100,000 in both 

8. As the Court of Appeal, in it~ opinion, summarized 
respondent's !t:stimony in the punitive damage phase of the 
civil trial, respondent owned and lived in an eight-acre eques­
trian estate in Rollmg Hills which incl oded a "main house, one 
bedroom guest house, swimming pool, tennis court, a six-stall 
barn and groom's quarters." This estate had been appraised at 
$2. 9 million a~ of June, 1992. He also owned an airplane wo1th 
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1996 and 1997. He claims that he had paid James 
$18,200 and offered to pay her an additional $17,400 
but did not have those funds available. He also 
contends that his insurer had paid James. Respondent 
believed that he did not owe James any additional 
sums since she has recovered more than her original 
investment from him and from CSF. 

From these findings, the hearingjudgc concluded 
that respondent wilfully violated rule 3-300(A) and 
(B), by, respectively, entering into a business transac­
tion with James which was not fair and reasonable 
and was not fully disclosed to James and failing to 
advise James in writing that she could consult inde­
pendent counsel of her choice. In so concluding, the 
hcaringjudge determined that an attorney-client rela­
tionship existed between respondent and James in 
order to trigger rule 3-300 requirements and that the 
Moro Landis Studios transaction placed respondent 
in a position adverse to James. 

The hearing judge also concluded that the moral 
turpitude which we had previously determined in 
Kittrell I respondent had committed, was evident in 
respondent's concealment to James, whom he knew 
to be an unsophisticated investor, of the risks of her 
investment in the Moro Landis Studios and in his self­
dealing with that investment and failing to honor his 
commitment to repay James within three to four 
months. 

Finally, the hearing judge incorporated in his 
decision our earlier dismissal in Kittrell I of the 
charge that respondent violated section 6068, subdi­
vision ( o )( 1) and our earlier conclusion that respondent 
violated section 6068, subdivision ( o )(2) by failing to 
report to the State Bar the judgment for fraud ob­
tained by James. 

S 125,000, owned anArizonaranch worth $700,000, and leased 
1991 Mercedes and Lincoln cam. During the three years prior 
to the civil trial, respondent conceded that he had made several 
hundred thousand dollars of deposits into his bank account. 
Respondent testified that his assds were encumbered for more 
than their va!uc and he invested his deposits in other property 
(James v. Kittrell, .supra, (typescript opn.), p. 4.) 
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III. EVIDENCE IN AGGRAVATION AND 
MITIGATION AND HEARING JUDGE'S 

RECOMMENDATION. 

Respondent had been admitted to practice for 24 
years before the start of misconduct. The hearing 
judge gave this factor weight in mitigation. 

Respondent presented testimony of two charac­
ter witnesses. Gary W. Stephens, the acting director 
of corporate security of Sempra Energy, a large 
public utility, knew respondent for about 50 years in 
a business and personal relationship and considered 
him one of his closest mends. Stephens had a favor­
able opinion ofrespondent' s character and considered 
him honest, generous and a person of integrity. 
Stephens had not heard of any State Bar proceedings 
concerning respondent but, based on information 
from respondent, was generally familiar with the civil 
law suit brought against respondent by James. Stephens' s 
mother had invested in the Moro Landis Studios and 
had lost money in that investment. Stephens and 
respondent loaned each other money over the years 
and respondent owed Stephens about $15,000. 

Alex Dugally, retired at the time ofhis testimony, 
had been a deputy clerk of the Los Angeles Superior 
Court for 30 years and had known respondent as a 
friend and an attorney for between 25 and 30 years. 
As did Stephens, Dugally enjoyed a close social 
relationship with respondent. Dugally had a favorable 
opinion of respondent's character, terming respon­
dent a person of high integrity. 

The hearing judge gave this character evidence 
little weight for failing to meet the element in standard 
1.2( e)(vi), Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Pro­
fessional Misconduct,9 that the evidence show an 
extraordinary demonstration of positive character by 
a ·wide range of legal and general references. 

The hearing judge found many factors to be 
aggravating on the issue of degree of discipline. 
These included the multiple acts of ,vrongdoing to-

9. Unless noted otherwise, all references to "standar<ls" are to 
these Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Mis-
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ward his client ( std. l .2(b )(ii)), his significant harm to 
James ( std. 1. 2(b )(iv)), his indifference to remedying 
the consequences of his misconduct (std l.2(b)(v)), 
his continued assertion of contrary facts to those 
found by trial and appellate courts and that his 
misconduct was surrounded by dishonesty and con­
cealment (std. 1.2(b )(iii)). 

After weighing factors deemed appropriate and 
after reviewing other cases of attorneys' involve­
ment with unfair business transactions with their 
clients, the hearing judge recommended disbarment. 

IV. DISCUSSION. 

A. Respondent's claims. 

Respondent levies a number of attacks on the 
recommendation and proceedings below, some of them 
reminiscent of his previous argwnents in Kittrell I. 

We shall group them into two broad categories; 
claims attacking the procedures utilized and those 
attacking the substantive findings and the recom­
mendation. 

1. Procedural attacks. 

(la] We begin with respondent's attack on the 
use of collateral estoppcl. Our opinion in Kittrell I, 
determined that respondent's culpability of moral 
turpitude was established by application of the doc­
trine of collateral cstoppel, but that the charged 
violations of rule 3-300 were not. ( 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. at pp. 208-2 l 0.) That opinion has become final 
and respondent cannot continue to attack our earlier 
holding regarding the doctrine of collateral estoppel. 
Moreover, it is clear from the record of this proceed­
ing, tbat the hearingjudge did not rely on that doctrine 
to establish respondent's misconduct under rule 3-
300, but used the evidence in the record to make 
independent and detailed findings. We have indepen­
dently reviewed the record and, as we shall discuss 
post, in resolving respondent's attack on the su bstan-

conduct,found in titleIV oflhcRules ofProcedurcoftheStatc 
Bar. 
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tive findings, those findings rest on clear and convinc­
ing evidence. Most of the findings are undisputed and 
rest on respondent's own testimony. 

[lb] Also rendered final in Kittrell I is our 
finding, adopted by the hcaringjudge in Kittrell ll, that 
respondent violated section 6068, subdivision ( o )(2 ), 
by failing to report timely to the State Bar the entry of 
the fraud judgment against him in the civil action 
brought by James. Having failed to challenge this 
finding in his review ofKitlrell I and we having 
sustained that finding on an independent review, 
respondent cannot now seek to reopen the matter as 
he urges us to do. (Compare In the Matter ofFreydl 
(Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal State Bar Ct. Rptr. 349, 
357.) 

[2] Respondent argues that he was denied the 
right to present evidence or cross-examine witnesses 
in the first and second State Bar Court trials. Al­
though our concern that respondent did not have an 
opportunity in the hearing below in Kittrell I to temper 
the evidence led to our remand to the hearing depart­
ment in that first proceeding, there is absolutely no 
doubt that respondent received every reasonable 
opportunity to introduce evidence favorable to him in 
Kittrell II. The hearing judge extended repeated 
invitations to respondent to present his evidence. 
Except for very brief testimony or argument and the 
testimony of two character witnesses, respondent 
deliberately declined to offer further evidence. One 
of his grounds for declining was his incredulous 
assertion that any new evidence he offered would be 
redundant. His other reason for declining was also 
unmeritorious, that the United States Supreme Court 
was considering a pending appeal. In sum, having 
given respondent the express opportunity to present 
his evidence, his unpersuasive reasons for failing to 
do so cannot now be the basis of any claim oferror.10 

10. Respondent's claim that he was not given sullicientlytimely 
information as to whether the State Bar would call certain 
witnesses and the location of those wilneHses, even if estab­
lished, did not obviate respondent from calling these witnes8e8 
on his ov.-n based on his own investigation of their whereabouts, 
if he wished to elicit their testimony. 
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2. Substantive attacks. 

We have carefully reviewed respondent's sub­
stantive attacks on the findings and conclude that they 
are ,;i.ithout merit. 

[le] Respondent's contention that the finding 
that he engaged in moral turpitude in violation of 
section 6106 is impermissibly vague echoes the belat­
edness of some ofhis procedural claims. Our decision 
in Kittrell I noted that respondent had made the same 
claim on review in that case. We resolved it against 
respondent ( 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 209) and 
that determination has long since become final.11 

Respondent argucsthat the civil action brought 
by James did not establish or present the issue of 
whether respondent wilfully violated rule 3-300. We 
agree that the purpose of the James civil action was 
to resolve civil causes of action, and not to decide 
whether the California Rules of Professional Con­
duct were violated to warrant discipline. But that does 
not serve to exonerate respondent, as the evidence 
introduced in that civil action, together with other 
evidence, did serve to establish clearly and convinc­
ingly that respondent wilfully violated the rule. A 
related claim by respondent, that the findings of the 
hearingjudge are not supported by clear and convinc­
ing evidence, also is not meritorious. 

B. Evidence and culpability conclusions. 

(3a} There was ample clear and convincing 
evidence that respondent knew of the limited sophis­
tication and educational level of his client, James, that 
he knew of her goal to use the principal invested to 
secure her mvn residence, that he knew of the 
distressed financial history of the Moro Landis Stu­
dios and still respondent recommended that James 
invest in a third trust deed as a "can't lose" investment 
maturing in just a few months. Respondent's admit­
ted conduct proved clearly that he violated theprovisions 

11. In Kittrell I, we cited eight decisiom defining the term "moral 
turpitude" or appl)"ing it to specific alleged conduct. (4 Ca!. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 208.) 
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of rule 3-300. There is no dispute that respondent failed 
to give James an adequate v.Ti.tten description of the 
transaction and its essential tenns necessary for her to 
be informed of the risks inherent in the junior trust deed 
in which she was investing. By his own testimony, 
respondent never informed James that she had an 
opportunity to seek the advice of independent counsel. 
James relied on respondent as her attorney and she :first 
consulted him as her attomey. 1

~ 

In addition to respondent's utter failure to present 
James with a writing of the basic tenns of the 
transaction, the transaction was neither fair nor 
reasonable to James. 

Cases of business transactions between attor­
ney and client which failed to comply with rule 3-300 
or its predecessor, rnle 5-101 are regrettably abun­
dant. (See, e.g., In the Matter of Peavey (Review 
Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 483, 494-495; 
ln the Matter of Johnson (Review Dept. 1995) 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 233, 243-244.) From these 
cases, it is clear that, among the purposes the rule 
serves, it is designed to recognize the very high level 
of trust a client reposes in his or her attorney and to 
ensure that that trust is not misplaced. (Sec Rose v. 
State Bar ( 1989) 49 Cal .3 d 646, 662; Beery v. State 
Bar, supra, 43 Cal.3d 802, & 12-813). 

[3b] Sadly, thiscasestandswithtoomanyothers 
as an example of an attorney's preference of his 
personal interests in manifest disregard of the inter­
ests of his client. (E.g., In the Matter of Pnamos 
(Review Dept. 1998) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 824, 
829-830.) Without doubt, respondent's wilful viola­
tions of rule 3-300 were multiple and significant and 
we uphold the hearing judge's findings and conclu­
sions as to rule 3~300. 

[3c] Although our conclusion that respondent en­
gaged in acts of moral turpitude is final, the record on 
remand shows two bases for that conclusion: first, 
respondent concealed material facts and known risks 
from James about the Moro Landis Studios investment 

12. Al though the existence of an attorney-client relationship is 
not disputed, one clearly existed in order to invoke the rule's 
requirements (See Beery v. State Har (l 987) 43 Cal.3d 802, 
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(See Rodgers v. State Bar (1989) 48 Cal.3d 300, 315.) 
Specifically, respondent concealed that encumbrances 
on the property were greater than its market value, that 
respondent had no currentappraisal on the property, that 
the property's debt service exceeded its income, that 
recent attempts to refinance or sell the property were 
unavailing and that the property had a history of defaults 
and foreclosure actions. Additionally respondent over­
reached James, knowing that James was respondent's 
client; had limited income, education and experience in 
investing; and was depending on the promised prompt 
return ofher principal to use for housing. (Compare In 
the Matter of Johnson, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 233, 242-244.) Given the :financially distressed 
history of the Moro Landis property, there was no 
reasonable way that the investment offered James was 
appropriate for either a sophisticated investor seeking to 
preserve principal, orfor James who expected her funds 
to be returned shortly so that she could purchase a home. 
(See Rose v. State Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d 646, 662-663.) 
We cannot escape the conclusion that these aspects of 
the transaction represent moral turpitude in violation of 
section 6106, under any of the definitions of moral 
turpitude adopted by the Supreme Court. (See Kittrell 
l, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 208.) 

C. Degree of discipline. 

Past cases which involved centrally the entry 
into a business transaction with a client which either 
failed to comply with the applicable rule of profes­
sional conduct or breached the attorney's fiduciary 
duty to the client have ranged widely from disbar­
ment (In the Matter of Priamos, supra, 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 824) to reproval. (See cases discussed 
in Rodgers v. State Bar, supra, 48 Cal.3d at p. 318, 
and In the Matter <!f Hultman (Review Dept. 1995) 
3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 297, 308.) 

[3d] Here respondent's misconduct extended be­
yond rule 3-300 offenses and into statutory violations, 
including moral turpitude. Accordingly, we must look 
to cases that reflect misconduct beyond violations of 
the Rules of Professional Conduct for fair guidance. 

811-812 (attorney-client relationship existed when clien I con­
sulted attorney about preparation of a will at the same time that 
attorney in<lu'-'ed client's entry into bu~iness transaction).) 
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In that light, we see as more comparable, Rose v. 
State Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d 646; Beery v. State Bar, 
supra, 43 Cal.3d 802; In the Matter of Peavey, supra, 
4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 483; and In the Matter of 
Johnson, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 233. 

Rose induced a widow with two children to 
invest $70,000 in a restaurant equipment business in 
which Rose was involved financially. The client had 
almost no business experience and limited resources, 
except for settlement funds which Rose had obtained 
for this client. Rose was found to have failed to disclose 
the significant risks of this investment with his client and 
failed to advise her to seek the advice of independent 
counsel. The Supreme Court found Rose culpable of 
misconduct in four other matters but also considered 
mitigating evidence in Rose's favor. It ordered a two­
year actual suspension as a condition of probation. 

Beery persuaded a severely injured client for 
whom he had recovered damages to invest $35,000 in 
a venture that would provide satellite television ser­
vice to hotels and businesses. Beery failed to disclose 
his financial condition or his connection with the 
satellite venture; nor did he advise his client to seek 
the advice of independent counsel on the investment. 
When the satellite business became unsuccessful, 
Beery defaulted on h_is personal guarantee to repay 
the loan. The Supreme Court found that Beery had 
concealed material facts and had abused the trust 
placed in him by his client. As in Rose, the Supreme 
Court suspended Beery for two years actual as a 
condition of probation. 

A two-year actual suspension was also imposed 
inPeavey. There, the attorney solicited $25,000 loans 
or investments from each of two different clients in 
order to publish a book Peavey was writing. Peavey 
failed to disclose known risks and facts about the 
book venture and we found that he wilfully violated 
rule 3-300 in several respects in these transactions. 
Moreover, he failed to honor any part of civil judg­
ments obtained by both clients against him; and 
similar to the present case, failed to report timely to 
the State Bar that one of the judgments was for fraud 
or intentional breach of fiduciary duty. 

Finally, in Johnson, we found the attorney cul­
pable of breaching her fiduciary duty to her 
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sister-in-law who was also a client, represented by 
Johnson in recovering damages for personal injuries. 
We found that Johnson's unsecured loan of$20,000 
was neither fair nor reasonable to her client who was 
in fragile health and unsophisticated in business mat­
ters, and we also found that Johnson had engaged in 
acts of moral turpitude by overreaching her client. 

In their briefs on review, neither party cites 
cases guiding on the degree of discipline to recom­
mend. However, at oral argument the State Bar 
suggested that the cases of In the Matter of Priamos, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 824, and In the 
Matter of Wyshak (Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 70, should guide us to recommend 
disbarment. We disagree as both cases involve decid­
edly more serious misconduct than presented here. 
Wyshak involved serious misconduct in a total of four 
matters including t\vo acts of defrauding sellers of 
real estate of hundreds of thousands of dollars in 
consideration in escrows Wyshak was administering. 
Priamos involved an attorney's repeated acts of self­
dealing over a seven-year period in over $500,000 of 
the client's property coupled with Priamos's unilat­
eral appropriation of$4 50,000 of his client's property 
for management fees. 

[3e] We must also weigh 1nitigating and aggra­
vating circumstances to achieve a balanced 
recommendation. (E.g, Gary v. State Bar (1988) 44 
Cal.3d 820, 828.) Weassignmoreweightinmitigation 
than the hearing judge to respondent's long years of 
practice ·without prior discipline (In the Matter (~{ 
Jeffers (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 211, 225; Drociak v. State Bar (1991) 52 
Cal.3d l085, 1090-1091) and we note with favor 
respondent's community service activities (/ n the 
Matter of Spaith (Review Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 511,521). Hmvever, we agree with the 
hearingjudge that respondent's character evidence is 
entitled to little weight as the two witnesses ,vcrc 
social friends who hardly represented a broad show­
ing contemplated by standard l.2(e)(vi). (In the 
Matter of Hagen (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 153, 171.) 

[3f] We agree with the hearing judge's assess­
ment of aggravating circumstances. We arc most 
concerned ,vith the multiple offenses; and, as the 
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hearing judge observed in his decision, with 
respondent's "lack of insight, recognition or remorse 
for any of his wrongdoing." Respondent has still 
failed to reimburse the CSF for its payment to J runes 
on account of respondent's dishonest acts. We also 
share the judge's concern over respondent's litigation 
of this matter. Having won a remand from us to allow 
him an opportunity to present the evidence he claimed 
he was precluded from presenting in Kittrell I, 
respondent refused to present any evidence inKittrell 
II. On review after remand, he insists on relitigating 
some claims which were, long ago, finally resolved 
against him. On this record, it is difficult to avoid 
concluding that respondent's strategy has not been in 
good faith but primarily for delay. 

[3g) Despite our sharing so many of the con­
cerns of the hearing judge regarding respondent's 
offenses and its surrounding circumstances, we have 
concluded that disbarment is excessive, although we 
can appreciate many of the considerations which led 
the hearing judge to recommend it. At bottom, this 
transaction involved a single client. It appears most 
comparable to Beery and Peavey.Yet the confluence 
of aggravating circumstances we have cited, which 
we deem more serious than in either Beery or 
Peavey, particularly respondent's protracted indif­
ference to making amends and his abiding lack of 
appreciation for bis wrongdoing, cause us to conclude 
that the appropriate degree of discipline is suspension 
for five years, stayed, on conditions including a three­
year actual suspension and until restitution is made13 

and proof of rehabilitation, fitness to practice and 
present learning and ability are established (see std. 
1.4 (c)(ii)). 

V. FORMAL RECOMMENDATION. 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that 
respondent, Bolden Bruce Kittrell, be suspended 
from the practice of law in California for five (5) 
years, that execution of that suspension be stayed and 
that respondent be placed on probation for a period of 
five (5) years on the following conditions: 

13. As to our recommendation to award restitution of the civil 
J udgmcnt won by respondent's client, as a condition of 
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1. That respondent be actually suspended from 
the practice of law for the first three (3) years of 
probation and until_ he has: a) made restitution to 
the State Bar's Client Security Fund in the sum of 
$31,000, plus interest thereon at the rate of 10 
percent simple interest per annum from the date 
of the payment by the Fund until repayment by 
respondent and statutory processing costs, rep­
resenting the Fund's reimbursement of Czarine 
Hope James on account of the losses caused dishon­
estly by respondent; b) made restitution to Czarine 
Hope James in the sum of$22 l ,5 l 6 .41, plus interest 
thereon at the rate of l O percent simple interest per 
annum from November 21, 1994, until paid in full 
and provides satisfactory proofof payment of such 
restitution to the State Bar's Office of Probation in 
Los Angeles and c) shown proof satisfactory to the 
State Bar Court of his rehabilitation, present fitness 
to practice, and present learning and ability in the 
general law in accordance with standard 1.4( c)(ii) of 
the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Profcs­
sionalMisconduct. 

2. Respondent must comply with the provisions of 
the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the State Bar of California, and all the 
conditions of this probation. 

3. Subject to the proper assertion of any applicable 
privilege, respondent must fully, promptly, and 
truthfully answer all inquiries of the State Bar's 
Office of Probation that arc directed to respon­
dent, whether orally or in writing, relating to 
whether respondent is complying or has complied 
with the conditions oftliis probation. 

4. Respondent must report, in writing, to the State 
Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles no later 
than January 10, April 10, July lO and October 10 
of each year or part thereof in which respondent 
is on probation ("reporting dates"). However, if 
respondent's probation begins less than 30 days 
before a reporting date, respondent may submit 
the first report no later than the second reporting 
date after the beginning of respondent's proba-

probation, see_, e.g.,Jn theMalterof Peavey,supra,4 Cal. State 
Bar Cl. Rplr. al page 495. 
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tion. In each report, respondent must state that it 
covers the preceding calendar quarter or appli­
cable portion thereof and certify by affidavit or 
under penalty of perjury under the laws of the 
State of California as follows: 

(a) in the first report, whether respondent has 
complied with all the provisions of the State Bar 
Act, Rules of Professional Conduct of the State 
Bar, and other terms and conditions of probation 
since the beginning of this probation; and 

(b) in each subsequent report, whether 
respondent has complied w-ithall the provisions 
of the State Bar Act, Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the State Bar, and other terms and 
conditions of probation during the period. 

During the last 20 days of this probation, 
respondentinust submit a final report covering 
any period of probation remaining after and not 
covered by the last quarterly report required 
under this probation condition. In this final 
report, respondent must ce1tify to the matters 
set forth in subparagraph (b) of this probation 
condition by affidavit or under penalty of perjury 
under the laws of the State of California. 

S. Respondent must maintain, with the State 
Bar's Membership Records Office and the State 
Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles, his 
current office address and telephone number or, 
if no office is maintained, an address to be used 
for State Bar purposes. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 
6002.1, subd. (a).) Respondent must also main­
tain, with the State Bar's Membership Records 
Office and the State Bar's Office of Probation in 
Los Angeles, his current home address and tele­
phone number. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, 6002.1, 
subd. (a)(S).) Respondent's home address and 
telephone number shall not be made available to 
the general public. (Bus. & Prof Code, 6002.1, 
subd. (d).) Respondent must notify the Member­
ship Records Office and the Office of Probation 
of any change in any of this information no later 
than IO days after the change. 
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6. Within the period ofhis actual suspension, respon­
dent must: ( 1) attend and satisfactorily complete the 
State Bar's Ethics School; and (2) provide satisfuc­
tOl)' proof of completion of the school to the State 
Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles. This 
condition of probation is separate and apart from 
respondent's California Minimum Continuing Legal 
Education (MCLE) requirements; accordingly, re­
spondent is ordered not to claim any MCLE credit 
for attending and completing this course. (Accord, 
Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 3201.) 

7. Respondent's probation shall commence on the 
effective date of the Supreme Court order in this 
matter. And, at the end of the probationary term, 
ifhe has complied with the terms and conditions 
of probation, the Supreme Court order suspending 
him from the practice oflaw for five years shall be 
satisfied, and the suspension shall terminate. 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistatc Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional Conference ofBar Examiners within the period 
of his actual suspension and to pro'.'-idc satisfactory 
proof of his passage of that examination to the State 
Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles within that 
same time period. 

In addition, we recommend that respondent be 
ordered to comply with rule 95 S of the California 
Rules of Court and to perform the acts specified in 
subdivisions (a) and (c) of that rule within 30 and 40 
calendar days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court order in this matter. 

Finally, ,vc recommend that costs incurred by 
the State Bar in this matter be awarded to the State 
Bar in accordance with Business and Professions 
Code section 6086. l 0 and that such costs be payable 
in accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6140.7. 

We concur: 
WATAI, J. 
McELROY, J.* 

*Hon. Patrice Mcillroy, Hearing Department Judge, sitting by 
designation, pursuant to the provisions of mlc 305( e), Rules 
of Procetlurc of the State Bar. 
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The hearing judge found that respondent abdicated her responsibility as an attorney to properly supervise 
her client trust account, which consequently enabled her non-attorney office staff to steal $1 . 7 million from the 
trust account over a period of approximately one and one-half years. The hearing judge also found that 
respondent failed to render a timely accounting to three clients and failed to pay those three clients promptly 
their share ofa settlement; and in a final matter, that respondent threatened to present criminal charges to obtain 
an advantage in a civil dispute. The hearing judge recommended that respondent be disbarred. (Hon. Stanford 
E. Reichert, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent requested review, arguing that the State Bar did not prove any of the charges by clear and 
convincing evidence and that, even if the review department concluded that she was culpable, the hearing 
judge's disbannent recommendation was excessive. The review department adopted some, but not all, of the 
hearing judge's factual findings and culpability conclusions. The review department agreed with the hearing 
j udgc that respondent's gross inattention to one of the most fundamental duties of an attorney, safeguarding 
client funds, along with her other misconduct, was serious and required significant discipline. However, the 
review department concluded that the very limited record in the proceeding and analogous case law did not 
support disbarment, and instead recommended that respondent be suspended from the practice oflaw for five 
years, that execution of that suspension be stayed, and that she be placed on probation for five years on 
conditions, including that she be actually suspended from the practice of law for eighteen months. 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: Larry DeSha 

For Respondent: Edward O. Lear; Robert N. Treiman 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotcs and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenienceofthereader. Only the actual tcxiofthe Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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IIEADNOTES 
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[1] 270.30 Rule 3-llO(A) [former 6-101(A)(2)/(B)] 
Rule 3-11 O(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct includes the duty to supervise the work of 
attorney and non-attorney staff. Respondent operated a high volume personal injury practice vvith 
multiple financial transactions occurring on a regular basis and that the office procedures she had 
in place were so lax that she could not possibly ensure the integrity ofher clients' funds. Respondent 
did not sign checks drawn on her business or trust accounts. Instead, she authorized her staff to 
do so using a rubber stamp ofher signature. Having delegated this significant authority to her staff, 
respondent had no procedures in place to ensure that client funds were protected. She did not 
regularly review these accounts, she did not review any trust account bank statement herself, she 
never compared the settlement checks she received with the deposits in the trust account, she never 
reconciled the trust account, nor did she review any of the cancelled checks for any of her accounts. 
The review department concluded that clear and convincing evidence was presented shov,ing that 
respondent failed to supervise her non-attorney staff and thereby wilfully violated rule 3- l l O(A). 

{2a, b] 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 

{3] 

15a-e] 

An attorney has a personal obligation of reasonable care to comply with the critically important rules 
for the safekeeping and disposition of client funds. This duty is nondelegable. The law is clear that 
where an attorney's fiduciary obligations are involved, particularly trust account duties, a finding of 
gross negligence will support a charge of violating section 6106 of the Business and Professions 
Code. Respondent gave control of her trust account to her bookkeeper and then failed to supervise 
the manage,ment of the account or to examine the bank statements or other records. The result was 
the theft of $1. 7 million. Any procedure so lax as to produce that result ,vas grossly negligent. 

14 7 Evidence-Presumptions 
16 2 .11 Proof-State Bar's Burder-Clear and Convincing 
280.00 Rule 4-lO0(A) [former 8-101(A)l 
The review department found no merit to the State Bar's argument that money in a client trust 
account is presumed to belong to the clients and that it was respondent's burden to prove otherwise. 
The State Bar alleged in the notice of disciplinary charges that client money was stolen and it had 
the burden to present clear and convincing evidence proving that allegation. 

159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
162.11 Proof-State Bar's Burder-Clear and Convincing 
Regardless of what inferences that may be dra""n from an attorney's failure to keep proper books 
of accoW1t or records in an appropriate case, the review department must ultimately recognize that 
the State Bar's burden requires it to present proof in the form of stipulated facts or admissible 
evidence to support each of the clements of its disciplinary case. Considering that the State Bar 
alleged that $1. 7 mi Ilion of trust funds ,vas lost, the State Bar failed to present expected probative 
testimonial or documentary evidence, choosing to rest solely on respondent's testimony and then 
criticizing respondent for not having presented records listing her clients and detailing payments to 
them. 

162.11 Proof-State Bar's Burder-Clear and Convincing 
280.50 Rule 4-100(B)(4) {former 8-101(B)(4)] 
Rule 4-l OO(B)( 4) of the Rules of Professional Conduct requires that an attorney promptly pay or 
deliver ciient money in possession of the member. By its terms, the important date for purposes of 
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this rule is when respondent received the settlement money, not the date that clients signed releases 
or the date cases settled. Where no evidence was presented showing when respondent received 
settlement money, the review department, resolving all reasonable doubts in respondent's favor, 
concluded that the rule 4-1 00(B}( 4} charges were not sustained by convincing proof to a reasonable 
certainty. 

{6a, b) 300.00 Rule 5-100 (former 7-104) 
In response to a debt collector's collection efforts, respondent wrote him a letter stating that the 
collector's clients were wider criminal investigation and that if collector attempted to damage 
respondent's credit or garnish her wages, she would make the collector's conduct part of the 
investigation by the District Attorney and the Federal Bureau of Investigation. Respondent also 
stated that if the collector did not cease further action, she would tum over the collector's name and 
company information to the Federal Bureau of Investigation. The letter indicated that a copy of the 
letter was sent to various state and federal agencies. The review department concluded that viewed 
from the perspective of the collection agent and in context, respondent's letter, with the notations 
that copies were being sent to the various agencies, was quite reasonably construed as a threat to 
present criminal, administrative, or disciplinary charges against the collection agent in order to gain 
an advantage in a civil dispute in violation of rule 5-1 00(A) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. 

[7] 521 Aggravation-Multiple Acts-Found 

Mitigation 

531 Aggravation-Pattern-Found 
The review department agreed with the hearing judge that respondents multiple acts of wrongdoing 
were an aggravating circumstance. The review department also viewed respondent's continuous 
disregard ofher trust account duties over the approximately one and one-half years as demonstrat­
ing a pattern of misconduct. However, for the purposes of determining aggravation the result is the 
same whether respondent's conduct is characterized as multiple acts of wrongdoing or as a pattern 
of misconduct. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 
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740.10 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P. J.: 

Respondent Monica Malek-Yonan requests our 
review of the hearingjudge' s decision recommending 
that she be disbarred from the practice of law in 
California. The hearing judge found that respondent 
abdicated her responsibility as an attorney to properly 
supervise her client trust account, which conse-
• quently enabled her non-attorney office staff to steal 
$1. 7 million from the trust account over a period of 
approximately one and one-half years. The hearing 
judge also found that respondent failed to render a 
timely accounting to three clients and failed to pay 
those three clients promptly their share of a settle­
ment; and in a final matter, that respondent threatened 
to present criminal charges to obtain an advantage in 
a civil dispute. 

Upon independently reviewing the record (Cal. 
Rules of Court, rule 951.5; In re Morse (1995) 11 
Cal.4th 184, 207), we adopt some, but not all, of the 
heari ngjudge 's factual findings and culpability con­
clusions. While we agree with the hearing judge that 
respondent's gross inattention to one of the most 
fundamental duties ofan attorney, safeguarding cli­
ent funds, along with her other misconduct, is serious 
and requires significant discipline, the very limited 
record in this proceeding and analogous case law do 
not support disbarment. We shall instead recommend 
that respondent be suspended from the practice of 
law for five years, that execution of that suspension 
be stayed, and that she be placed on probation for five 
years on conditions, including that she be actually 
suspended from the practice of law for eighteen 
months. 

l. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS1 

The notice of disciplinary charges in tllis matter 
charged 25 counts of misconduct. At trial, but prior to 

L Respondent was the only witness to tcstifYin the culpability 
portion ofthis matter The hearing Judge found her testimony 
to be "self-serving and inconsistent." Yet, respondent's tes­
timony was the only evidence supporting many of the hearing 
judge·~ factual findi1lgH. Tiu: hearing judge implicitly found 
respondent's testimony to be credible at !east in part. [n 
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the presentation of evidence, the State Bar moved to 
dismiss 19 of the counts based on insufficient evi­
dence. The hearing judge granted the motion. The 
hearing judge found respondent culpable of all of the 
charged misconduct in five of the remaining six 
counts and not culpable in one (count 21). Little 
evidence was presented at trial regarding count 21 
and the State Bar does not contest and has not briefed 
the hearing judge's conclusion regarding this count. 
Accordingly, the record before us contains evidence 
relating to five of the counts in the notice of disciplin­
ary charges and our review is necessarily limited to 
those counts. 

As indicated above, we have independently re­
viewed the record, and we adopt the following findings 
of fact regarding culpability. 

A. Counts 1 and 2. 

Respondent was admitted to the practice of law 
in California in December 1986 and has no prior 
record of discipline. She has always been a solo 
practitioner and the majority of her experience has 
been in personal injury cases. The events in question 
in this proceeding occurred in 1997 through 1999. 
During this time respondent had an office in her home 
in Glendale, where she resides with her parents, and 
an office in Orange County, which she opened in 1997 
and closed in 1999. While open, the Orange County 
office handled a large number of personal injury 
cases, about 500 files which represented between 
1,800 and 1,900 individuals. Respondent would nor­
mally spend three days a week in her Orange County 
office and the n:maindcr of the week either in her 
Glendale office, appearing in court, or attending 
depositions. The misconduct in this proceeding oc­
curred as a result of the activities that occurred in the 
Orange County office. 

The employees in the Orange County office 
were Ali Hashemi ("Ali"), the bookkeeper; Ken 

addition, some of the hearingjudgc' s "findings" are a recital of 
witnesskstimony. (SeeGuzzettav. State Bar (1987)43 Cal.3d 
962, %8-969, fn 2 ) Further, upon our independent review of 
the record. Wt: have not found clear and convincing evidenct: 
supporting some of the hearing judge's factual findings. 
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T aghizadeh ("Ken"); respondent's assistant ( and Ken's 
wife),Veronica Perez-Taghizadeh ("Veronica"); the 
office manager; and two secretaries and a reception­
ist. Although the circumstances surrounding the 
formation of the Orange County office are not very 
clear, it appears that respondent hired all of the 
employees. Ali and Ken were recommended to 
respondent, by a distant cousin. Respondent found 
out after the events in question here that Ken had 
served two terms in prison, one for 18 months for drug 
trafficking. Prior to being hired by respondent Ali and 
Ken worked for a personal injury attorney who was 
moving out of state. Respondent agreed to review the 
cases he was leaving behind and ended up taking 
some, but not all, of them. 

Respondent would pay herself from her Orange 
County practice whenever she needed money. She 
had no need for a regular salary or "draw" because 
she did not have regular bills as she was living at 

home. If she wanted to get paid, she would ask Ali if 
she could take out a certain sum from the general 
business account. Ali would then issue her a check. 
She did not know the maximum amount of money that 
she had in the general business account during 1997 
and 1998. 

Respondent did not sign the checks on her 
general business account or client trust account. 
Instead, she authorized Ali to sign the checks using a 
rubber stamp of her signature. Respondent did not 
personally review any of the bank statements from 
her Orange County client trust account. She never 
compared the settlement checks she received with 
the deposits in the trust account nor did she look at any 
of the cancelled checks for any of her accounts. She 
never checked or reconciled the trust account. Re­
spondent asked Ali for the bank statements for the 
trust account, but Ali would make excuses such as 
that they \vere at the accountant's. Another time, 
respondent was scheduled to go over the bank state­
ments with Ali ,vhen her office was burglarized and 
the bank statements were stolen. Respondent did 
nothing more to obtain or review the bank statements. 

Respondent personally negotiated the settle­
ments with the insurance adjusters for all her clients 
and negotiated reductions in medical provider lien 
claims in some of the cases. In other cases, Ken and 
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Ali negotiated the reduction of medical provider liens. 
When a case settled and the settlement money was 
received, respondent would deterntine the amounts to 
be disbursed and direct Ali to prepare disbursement 
checks in the appropriate amounts. She would then 
review the file and the actual disbursement checks 
before she authorized her staff to send the checks 
out. Only later did she learn that the checks she 
reviewed were not actually sent as she had in­
structed. 

Around the second week of August 1998, re­
spondent was in her Orange County office. Veronica 
usually opened the mail, but on this occasion respon­
dent happened to do so. One letter was from an 
attorney of a former client and it indicated that the 
client did not receive all of the settlement money that 
she should have. Respondent knew she had autho­
rized the disbursement of the settlement checks in this 
case and she became suspicious. She asked Ken and 
Ali about the matter and was told that they delayed 
sending the checks to the client because they had 
negotiated reductions of the medical liens and the 
client was going to get more money. Respondent 
found this explanation reasonable but nevertheless 
was suspicious, so she instructed the bank manager 
to call her in the future whenever someone attempted 
to cash checks drawn on her trust accom1t. 

On Friday, August 28, 1998, respondent re­
ceived a call from the bank manager informing her 
that there ,vere three people who were trying to cash 
settlement checks drawn on her trust account. Re­
spondent did not recognize the names of the payees 
on the checks as her clients, and her secretary 
confirmed that they were not her clients. Respondent 
called the bank manager and told him not to cash the 
checks. While respondent was on the phone with the 
bank and her secretary, Ali paged respondent repeat­
edly. When respondent called Ali back, he told her 
that they had several clients at the bank trying to cash 
settlement checks and the bank refused to do so. Ali 
asked respondent to call the bank and instruct them to 
cash the checks. Respondent told him she was in 
court and would have to handle the matter later. 

The next day respondent called the Glendale 
Police Department. Respondent was told that she 
needed to talk to a detective in Orange County during 
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business hours on Monday. On Sunday, respondent's 
secretary called respondent and told her that Ali had 
called and had instructed her (the secretary) not to go 
into the office on Monday because the office would 
be closed. Respondent went to her Orange County 
office early that Monday morning and found that the 
office was empty, and almost all of her client files 
were gone. She left the office and called the police. 
When the police arrived they went back to the office 
and found Ali and Veronica gathering up the last of 
the files. Over the next several hours respondent was 
able to retrieve, with police help, some, but not all, of 
her files back from Ken, Ali and Veronica. 

In Ali's briefcase respondent found about $4,000 
in cash, a number of settlement checks, checks 
payable to doctors, and her rubber signature stamp. 
The brief case also contained some documents to 
make wire transfers to Swiss bank accounts. Re­
spondent also asked Ali for her laptop computer, 
which contained a back-up list of all of her clients. 
When Ali returned the laptop to her, the hard drive 
'\Vas smashed. Respondent fired Ali, Veronica, and 
Ken that Monday. 

Respondent first saw the monthly statements for 
her client trust account after she fired the three. By 
then a number of checks and bank statements were 
missing so she obtained them from her bank. Respon­
dent believes that Ali, Ken and Veronica took money 
from her client trust account and general account and 
transferred it to Swiss bank accounts. She believes 
that the three accomplished this by issuing checks to 
bogus clients, who would cash the checks and return 
the money to Ali, Ken and Veronica. Respondent 
attempted to freeze the Swiss accounts but was 
unable to do so for more than three months. Respon­
dent thinks that Ali's father-in-law was involved 
because Ali transferred money from a Swiss bank 
account to the father-in-law's account in England. 

According to respondent, there were more than 
200 bogus checks generated and the total amount of 
the money taken by respondent's employees was 
about $1 . 7 million. Respondent arrived at this figure 

2. All further references to rules are to the Rulesof Prnfossional 
Conduct unless otherwise indicated. 

IN THF. MATTER OF MALEK-YONAN 

(Review Dept. 2003) 4Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 627 

by totaling all of the checks written to bogus clients. 
Respondent does not know when her employees 
started to embezzle the money. She does not know 
how much was actually deposited into her trust 
account during this period of time. She does not know 
what percentage of the deposits were stolen from 
her. She does not know how much of the stolen $1.7 
million belonged to her for fees, how much belonged 
to her clients, or how much belonged to medical care 
providers. 

Respondent filed for bankruptcy in July 1999. In 
January 2000, respondent's bankruptcy case was 
converted from a Chapter 7 to a Chapter 11 bank­
ruptcy. The bankruptcy case was stiH pending at the 
time of her State Bar Court trial. Respondent filed 
lawsuits against Ali, Veronica, and Ken in the United 
States as well as in Switzerland and England attempt­
ing to recover the embezzled money. It is not clear 
how much money respondent was eventually able to 
recover. 

Respondent went through all of the client files 
she was able to recover to make sure the . clients, 
medical providers and others were paid. If they had 
not been, she paid them. Most of respondent's clients 
were Spanish speaking and she placed advertise­
ments regarding her bankruptcy in Spanish language 
magazines and newspapers, but she had very few 
clients file claims. Respondent was named as a 
defendant in approximately 185 small claims actions 
filed by medical providers. Those actions were all 
resolved through respondent's bankruptcy, either by 
payments or dismissals. 

The hearing judge found respondent culpable of 
failing to perform legal services competently in viola­
tion of mie 3-11 0(A) of the Rules of Professional 
Conduct2 in that respondent abrogated her responsi­
bility to manage her office and her trust account and 
thereby cheated her clients; and culpable of engaging 
in conduct involving moral turpitude in violation of 
section 6106 of the Business and Professions Code3 

in that respondent breached her fiduciary duty by 
abdicating her responsibility to manage her office and 

3. All further statutory references are to the Business and 
Professions Code unless otherwise indicated. 
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her client trust account which caused the loss of$ I. 7 
million in client funds. 

B. Counts 17 and 18. 

In September 1997, Porfirio Antonio, Ramon 
Antonio and Araceli Figueroa hired respondent to 
prosecute their claims for damages payable under the 
uninsured motorist provisions of an automobile insur w 

ance policy. The claims of these three clients were 
later settled. At that time respondent reviewed the 
files for the clients; determined the amounts that were 
to be distributed to the clients, the medical care 
providers and herself; and instructed her staff to issue 
checks in those amounts. 

Some time after respondent found out that her 
employees had embezzled money from her she went 
through the files of these three clients (as well as the 
files of other clients) and determined that despite her 
instructions, the clients had been paid less than they 
should have been. In October 1998, respondent wrote 
a letter to each of the three clients in which she 
informed them that they had been paid less than they 
were owed, provided them an accounting of the 
settlement money she received for their claims, and 
enclosed checks for the difference between what she 
had previously paid them and the correct amount that 
they were owed ($975 to Porfirio, $911 for Ramon, 
and$!, 175 for Araceli). Shealsoinfonnedtheclients 
in these letters that she would pay them additional 
sums if she was able to negotiate a reduction of the 
medical provider claims. The record does not indicate 
whether respondent negotiated a reduction in the 
medical liens or paid the clients any additional sums as 
a result. 

The three clients were apparently advised by 
their new attorney not to cash the October 1998 
checks. The clients eventually filed claims in 
respondent's bankruptcy. The claims were settled 
with the approval of the bankruptcy court and respon­
dent sent the clients' new attorney a check for $5,248 
in July 200 I, which sum included the amounts of the 
three earlier uncashcd checks plus an additional 
amount. 

The hearingjudge found respondent culpable of 
failing to render an accounting of client funds to the 
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three clients in violation of rule 4-1 00(B)(3) in that the 
accounting was not furnished until October 1998 and 
should have been provided in March 1998; and 
culpable of failing to pay client funds promptly in 
violation of rule 4-1 00(B)( 4) in that respondent failed 
to pay the three clients their share of the settlement 
proceeds until October l 998 and failed to pay them 
their full share of the settlement money until July 
2001, and failed to pay the medical liens. 

C. Count 24. 

John Leland was employed by several medical 
lienholders to collect money from respondent. In 
response to Leland's collection efforts, respondent 
wrote him a letter in February 1999 stating that 
Leland's clients were under criminal investigation 
and that if Leland attempted to damage her credit or 
garnish her wages, she would make Lelarid' s conduct 
"part of the investigation by the District Attorney and 
the F. B .I." She also stated that if Leland did not cease 
further action, she would turn over Leland's name 
and company information to the "F.B.I." The letter 
indicated that a copy of the letter was sent to the 
Federal Bureau of Investigation, the District 
Attorney's Fraud Investigation Unit, the U.S. 
Attorney's Office, the Department of Insurance, the 
Board of· Chiropractic Examiners, the California 
ChiropracticAssociati on, and the Chiropractic Board 
of California. 

The hearing judge found that by sending the 
letter respondent threatened to present criminal 
charges to obtain an advantage in a civil dispute in 
violation of rule 5-1 00(A). 

D. Aggravating and mitigating circumstances. 

The hearing judge found in aggravation that 
respondent committed multiple acts of wrongdoing 
and that her violations demonstrated a pattern of 
misconduct (std. l .2(b )(ii}, Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
tit. IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct 
(stds.)); respondent was unable to account to the 
clients for their stolen trust funds (std. J .2(b)(iii)); 
respondent's misconduct harmed significantly a large 
and undetenninable number of clients, the public and 
the administration ofjustice (std. l .2(b )(iv)); respon­
dent demonstrated indifference toward rectification 
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of or atonement for the consequences of her miscon­
duct in that she failed to identify all the clients she 
harmed, failed to account for the funds stolen and 
failed to repay the clients' losses (std. 1.2(b)(v)); and 
respondent displayed a lack of cooperation to the 
State Bar during its investigation by not identifying the 
clients and their losses (std. 1.2(b )(vi)). 

The hearing judge found in mitigation that re­
spondent did not have a record of discipline in her 10 
years of practice before the present misconduct. 
(Std. l .2(e)(i).) Six character witnesses testified on 
respondent's behalf. (Std. l.2(e)(vi).) They were an 
environmental consultant and his wife, a minister, a 
dental assistant/lab technician, a . car dealer, and 
respondent's sister. All of the witnesses had known 
respondent for many years and believed that she was 
honest. In addition, the witnesses testified that re­
spondent performed significant pro bona services for 
them and for the Assyrian community. The hearing 
judge concluded that the character witnesses "did not 
provide an extraordinary demonstration of good char­
acter, other than [ for respondent's] pro bono work." 

II. DISCUSSION 

As indicated above, respondent requested re­
view. She argues that the State Bar did not prove any 
of the charges by clear and convincing evidence and 
that, even if the review department concludes that 
she is culpable, the hearing judge's disbarment rec­
ommendation is excessive. The State Bar asserts that 
the hearing judge's culpability conclusions and dis­
barment recommendation arc supported by the 
record.4 

A. Counts l and 2. 

Respondent advances several arguments in sup­
port of her claim that the charges in counts 1- and 2 
were not proven. Central to many of these assertions 
is respondent's claim that rule 3-11 O(A) "is intended 
to address the incompetent performance of legal 
services" and not the failure to prevent employee 

4. The Stale Bar argued before the hcaring_judgt: that respondent 
should bt: suspended for three years, stayed, with three years' 
probation and hvo years' actual su~pension. 
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misuse of the attorney's client trust account. Respon­
dent cites no authority for this proposition. 

We first note that this argument misapprehends 
the nature of the charges in this case. Respondent 
was not charged with, nor found culpable of, failing to 
prevent her employees' theft of trust account money. 
Rather, the gravamen of this case is respondent's 
complete failure to have adequate office procedures 
in place to protect client funds and to adequately 
supervise her subordinate staff to ensure that those 
procedures were followed. The misconduct here 
involves respondent's actions and inactions, not those 
of her staff. 

[1] The comments in the Discussion of rule 3-
11 O(A) make clear that the rule is intended to include 
the duty to supervise the work of attorney and non­
attorney staff. The Supreme Court has recognized 
this duty in numerous cases. (See e.g., Trousil v. 
State Bar (1985) 38 Cal.3d337, 342;Palomov. State 
Bar (1984) 36 Cal.3d 785, 795-796.) Respondent's 
own testimony establishes that she operated a high 
volume personal injury practice with multiple finan­
cial transactions occurring on a regular basis and that 
the office procedures she had in place were so lax 
that she could not possibly ensure the integrity of her 
clients' funds. Respondent did not sign checks drawn 
on her business or trust accounts. Instead, she autho­
rized her staff to do so using a rubber stamp of her 
signature. Having delegated this significant authority 
to her staff, respondent had no procedures in place to 
ensure that client funds were protected. She did not 
regularly review these accounts, she did not review 

-any trust account bank statement herself, she never 
compared the settlement checks she received with 
the deposits in the trust account, she never reconciled 
the trust account, nor did she review any of the 
cancelled checks for any of her accounts. She does 
not know to this day how much was actually depos­
ited into her trust account. We conclude that clear and 
convincing evidence was presented shm.ving that 
respondent failed to supervise her non-attorney staff 
and thereby wilfully violated rule 3-11 O(A). 
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[2a] The only argument offered by respondent in 
support of her claim that she is not also culpable of 
violating section 6106 is that the cases cited by the 
hearing judge are distinguishable from hers.5 We 
need not address this contention. An attorney has a 
''personal obligation of reasonable care to comply 
with the critically important rules for the safekeeping 
and disposition of client funds." (Palomo v. State 
Bar, supra, 36 Ca1.3d at p. 795.) This duty is 
nondelegable. (Coppock v. State Bar (1988} 44 
Cal.3d 665, 6&0.) As we noted in In the Matter of 
Blum (Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
403, 410, "the law is clear that where an attorney's 
fiduciary obligations are involved, particularly trust 
account duties, a finding of gross negligence will 
support" a charge of violating section 6 I 06. (See also 
Giovanazzi v. State Bar (19&0) 28 Cal.3d 465, 475.) 

(lb] In the present case, respondent gave con­
trol of her trust account to her bookkeeper and then 
failed to supervise the management of the account or 
to examine the bank statements or other records. The 
result was the theft of $1. 7 million. "Any procedure 
so lax as to produce that result was grossly negli­
gent." (Palomo v. State Bar, supra, 36 Cal.3d at p. 
796, fn. 8.) We conclude based on the above that 
respondent is culpable of engaging in acts of moral 
turpitude in violation of section 6 I 06 by breaching her 
fiduciary duty to safeguard client funds. 

Although we find that respondent is culpabk: of 
the above violations, we agree with her argumcntthat 
there is no clear and convincing evidence establishing 
how much of the stolen money belonged to clients. As 
we noted, respondent was the only live witness. Her 
testimony was equivocal and contradictory. She tes­
tified that she does not know how much of the $ ·1 . 7 
million belonged to her for fees, how much belonged 
to her clients, or how much belonged to medical care 
providers. She also testified that she believed that the 
money was taken from attorney fees that she was 
owed or from amounts that resulted from negotiated 

5, The hearing judge cited In the Matter of Sampson (Review 
Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 119, and In the Mutter 
of Jones (Review Dept 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 411. 

6. The State Bar's failure to offer important evidence is most 
glaring when; in this case alleging .,uch significant trust account 
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reductions in medical liens. Respondent told the three 
clients involved in counts 17 and 18 that her ex­
employees had stolen money "belonging to me and to 
my clients." Respondent also testified that the trustee 
in her bankruptcy was unable to determine the own­
ers of the stolen money after an extensive and 
expensive investigation. 

[3] We find no meritto the State Bar's argument 
that money in a client trust account is presumed to 
belong to the clients and that it was respondent's 
burden to prove otherwise. The State Bar cites no 
authority for this proposition and we are aware of 
none. The State Bar alleged in the notice of disciplin­
ary charges that client money was stolen and it had 
the burden to present clear and convincing evidence 
proving that allegation. (Rule 213, Rules Proc. of 
State Bar; Himmel v. State Bar (I 971) 4 Cal. 3d 786, 
794.) The State Bar failed to do so. 

[4] Underlying much of the State Bar's position 
in this case is its possible confusion between the duty 
of an attorney to keep proper books and records of 
client funds in the attorney's possession (e.g., 
Fitzsimmonsv. State Bar (1983) 34 Cal.3d327, 332), 
and its own duty to prove its case by clear and 
convincing evidence. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
213.) Regardless of what inferences we may draw 
from an attorney's failure to keep proper books of 
account or records in an appropriate case, we must 
ultimately recognize that the State Bar's burden 
requires it to present proof in the fonn of stipulated 
facts or admissible evidence to support each of the 
elements of its disciplinary case. (Cf. In the Matter 
of Heiser (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 47, 54.) In this case, there is no stipulation of 
facts obviating proof. Moreover, considering that the 
State Bat has alleged respondent's $1. 7 million loss of 
trust funds, the State Bar has failed to present 
expected probative testimonial or docwnentary cvi~ 
dcnce, 6 choosing to rest solely on respondent's 
testimony and then criticizing respondent for not 

losses, the record contains not a single trust account bank 
statement or records of any items deposited into or paid out 
of respondent's trust account. Although the State Bar has 
discretion to prove its case by its choice of relevant evidence, 
it cannot prevail by advocating a view of the record unsup­
ported by evidence fundamental to a case such as this. 
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having presented records listing her clients and detail­
ing payments to them. 

On the other hand, we also do not find clear and 
convincing evidence supporting respondent's claim 
that the stolen money belonged to her for her attorney's 
fees. The record before us simply does not clearly 
and convincingly pcnn.it us to allocate the stolen 
money between respondent, her clients or their medi­
cal providers. 

Finally, respondent claims, again without citation 
to any legal authority, that she should not be found 
culpable because the notice of disciplinary charges 
alleged that specific consequences resulted from her 
failure to supervise her client trust account and none 
of those specific consequences were proven. We 
find no merit to this argument. The notice charged 
that respondent failed to supervise her non-attorney 
staff and the State Bar proved that charge. 

B. Counts 17 and I 8. 

The hearing judge found that the three clients 
(Porfirio Antonio, Ramon Antonio and Araceli 
Figueroa) signed releases in settlement of their cases 
in March 1998 andthatrespondcntdidnotprovidethe 
clients with an accounting until October 199 8, did not 
pay them their initial share of the settlement money 
until October 1998, did not paythem their full share of 
the settlement money until July 2001, and did not pay 
the outstanding medical liens. The hearing judge 
concluded that in failing to provide an accounting to 
her clients until October 1998, respondent failed to 
render appropriate accounts io violation of rnle 4-
100(B)(3); and that in failing to pay her clients 
promptly their share of settlement money and failing 
to pay the medical liens, respondent violated rule 4-
100(B)( 4). 

The evidence introduced in connection with 
th est: counts consisted of respondent's October 1998 
letters to the three clients, copies of the checks sent 
to the clients, and respondent's brief testimony. 
Contrary to the hearingj udge' s finding, there was no 
evidence introduced indicating that the clients signed 
releases in March 1998 or any other time, nor was 
there any other evidence introduced showing when 
the cases settled. 
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The State Bar argues that respondent did not 
provide the clients with an accounting when she first 
sent them money. The State Bar's brief does not 
include record references to support this factual 
claim. Respondent testified that her practice was to 
prepare an accounting and have the client approve it 
prior to settlement of a case; but there is no evidence 
indicating whether or not that practice was followed 
\Vith regard to the three clients involved in these 
counts. Respondent's October 1998 letters to the 
three clients informed them that they had been paid 
less than they were owed, provided them an account­
ing of the settlement money she received for their 
claims, and enclosed checks for the difference be­
tween what she had previously paid them and the 
correct amount that they were owed. The letters thus 
indicated that settlement money had been previously 
paid to the clients, but did not indicate whether or not 
an accounting had been previously provided. We find 
no direct factual support for the State Bar's claim. 

(Sa) Rule 4- lO0(B)( 4) requires that an attorney 
promptly pay or deliver client money "in possession of 
the member." By its terms, the important date for 
purposes of this rule is when respondent received the 
settlement money, not the date the clients signed 
releases or the date the cases settled. No evidence 
was presented showing when respondent received 
the settlement money. At most, the record shows that 
respondent received the settlement money at some 
point in time, paid the clients, and then in October 1998 
paid the clients an additional sum because she had 
determined after reviewing their files that they had 
been paid less than they should have. 

[Sb] Although not entirely clear, the State Bar 
seems to argue that the October 1998 accounting and 
payment of additional sums inferentially shows that 
any original accounting provided was inaccurate and 
that the original payment was insufficient. However, 
in ,~cw of respondent's testimony that there may 
have been ongoing negotiations to reduce the medical 
liens, it is entirely plausible that more money was 
owed to the clients because medical liens were 
reduced after the initial payment. Thus, any initial 
accounting may have been accurate at the time it was 
provided, and the initial sum paid to the clients may 
have been payment of all the client funds in 
respondent's possession at the time of the disburse-
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ment. Because of the lack of evidence presented on 
this issue, we are left to speculate as to when 
respondent received the settlement money and why 
additional amounts were paid to the clients. 

[5c] We also do not know whether the additional 
amounts paid in July 200 I represented client funds in 
possession of respondent that should have been paid 
previously. 1bis payment was made as the result of 
anegotiated settlement of claims filed in respondent's 
bankruptcy. Respondent testified that the clients' 
bankruptcy claims were made for the full amount of 
the settlement, which would have included the amounts 
respondent was owed for her fees, and that the extra 
amount paid in July 2001 "would have come from 
l her J attorney's fees." The State Bar did not present 
any contrary evidence. (Cf. In the Matter of Heiser, 
supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 54.) 

[5d] The evidence presented regarding whether 
the medical liens had been paid was equally unclear. 
First, we do not know when respondent received the 
settlement money. In addition, respondent stated in 
her October 1998 letters to the clients that she would 
"return any swns to you that I am able to negotiate 
with the doctor." Respondent testified at trial that she 
did not know if the medical providers had been paid 
and that she would "imagine" that this statement in 
the letters indicated that she was "still negotiating 
with the doctors." No evidence was presented show­
ing whether respondent paid the medical providers 
after October 1998. Thus, the record shows that 
respondent received settlement money at some point 
in time and was possibly still negotiating with the 
medical providers in October 1998. We do not find 
this evidence to clearly and convincingly establish 
that respondent did not pay the medical liens. 

[Se] Resolving all reasonable doubts in 
respondent's favor, as we must, we conclude that the 
charges in counts 17 and 18 arc not "sustained by 
convincing proof to a reasonable certainty." (McCray 
v. State Bar (1985) 38 Cal3d 257, 263.) 

C. Count 24. 

[6a] Respondent asserts on review that she is 
not culpable of threatening to present a criminal 
charge to gain an advantage in a civil dispute in 
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violation of rule 5-1 0O(A) because she did not threaten 
to file a criminal complaint in her February 1999 letter; 
she merely stated her intention to bring the conduct of 
the collection agent to the attention of various pros­
ecuting agencies. In Crane v. State Bar (1981) 30 
Cal.3d 117, the attorney wrote a letter demanding that 
the recipients pay money that the attorney believed 
was owed in a civil dispute and the attorney stated in 
the letter that if the money was not received within 
five days, the attorney would commence an action to 
recover the money and would "request" a specified 
state regulatory agency and the state attorney gen­
eral to"' assist us in solution."' The letter also indicated 
that copies were sent to the director of the regulatory 
agency and to a named deputy attorney general. The 
Supreme Court concluded that viewed from the 
perspective of the recipients and in context, the letter 
with the notations that it was being sent to official 
agencies, "could quite reasonably be construed as 
violative of [the rule.]" (Id. at p. 123.) 

[6b] The letter respondent sent in the present 
case asserted that the collection agent's clients were 
engaging in criminal activity and threatened to make 
the collection agent's conduct "part of an ongoing 
investigation by the District Attorney and the F .BJ." 
Further, the letter indicated that copies were sent to 
the Federal Bureau oflnvestigation, the United States 
Attorney's Office and the District Attorney as well 
as several state regulatory agencies. There is little 
qualitative difference behveen the letter respondent 
sent and the letter sent in Crane. Neither letter 
specifically stated that the author was going to file 
criminal charges. If anything, respondent's threat to 
make the collection agent's conduct "part of' an 
ongoing criminal investigation is a more direct threat 
to present criminal charges. We conclude that viewed 
from the perspective of the collection agent and in 
context, respondent's letter, with the notations that 
copies were being sent to the various agencies, is 
quite reasonably construed as a threat to present 
criminal, administrative, or disciplinary charges against 
the collection agent in order to gain an advantage in 
a civil dispute in violation of rule 5-1 00(A). We agree 
with and adopt thehearingjudgc's conclusion to this 
effect. 
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D. Aggravating and mitigating circumstances. 

Although the parties do not contest the aggravat­
ing circumstances found by the hearing judge, we 
note that many of them are based on the hearing 
judge's conclusion that client funds were stolen. As 
indicated above, we find no clear and convincing 
evidence to support this conclusion and therefore do 
not find clear and convincing evidence supporting the 
aggravating circumstances based on it. 

[7] We agree with the hearing judge that respon­
dent committed multiple acts of-wrongdoing. However, 
we also view respondent's continuous disregard of 
her trust account duties over the approximately one 
and one-half years as demonstrating a pattern of 
misconduct. Yet, we note that "for the purposes of 
determining aggravation the result is the same whether 
[respondent's] conduct is characterized as multiple 
acts of wrongdoing or as a pattern of misconduct." 
(Levin v. State Bar (1989) 47 Cal.3d 1140, ll49-
1150, fn. 14.) 

We agree with the mitigating circumstances 
found by the hearing judge. We also agree that the 
good character evidence docs not meet the standard 
which requires an extraordinary demonstration of 
good character attested to by a wide range of refer­
ences in the legal and general communities. (Std. 
l.2(c)(vi).) Nevertheless, the witnesses had known 
respondent for many years and attested to her hon­
esty, and we give some weight in mitigation to this 
evidence. We also consider mitigating the evidence 
of respondent's pro bono work for her church and 
community. Although not found by the hearing judge, 
we note that respondent testified regarding her pro 
bono activities, which included her volunteer work as 
a settlement judge for one week a year for several 
years. We consider this a mitigating circumstance as 
well. 

Respondent argues that her prompt reporting of 
her employees to the police and the significant ex­
pense she incurred in pursuing them in order to 
recover the stolen money should be considered miti­
gating. We do accord some weight in mitigation to 
respondent's prompt action once she learned of 
evidence that her employees were engaged in wrong­
doing. We also credit the steps she has taken to make 
amends to clients she was able to identify. 
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III. DISCIPLINE 

In summary, we have found respondent culpable 
of failing to perform legal services competently in 
violation of rule 3-11 0(A) in that respondent abro­
gated her responsibility for one and one-half years to 
manage her office and her trust account; of engaging 
in conduct involving moral turpitude in violation of 
section 6106 in that respondent breached her fidu" 
ciary duty to safeguard client funds; and of threatening 
to present criminal, administrative, or disciplinary 
charges in order to gain an advantage in a civil dispute 
in violation of rule 5-1 00(A}. In mitigation, we find 
that respondent does not have a record of prior 
discipline. We also give some mitigating weight to 
respondent's good character evidence, her pro bono 
activities and remedial steps. 

The appropriate discipline to be imposed in a 
given case is not derived from any fixed formula; 
rather it is determined from a balanced consideration 
of all relevant factors. (McCray v. State Bar, supra, 
38 Cal.3d at p. 273.) The discipline imposed in past 
similar cases provides guidance but is not binding. 
(Levin v. State Bar,supra, 47 Cal.3datp. 1150.) The 
hearing judge considered In the Matter of Sampson, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 119, In the Matter 
of Jones, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 411, and 
In the Matter of Steele (Review Dept; 1997) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 708. The parties also cite to these 
cases to support their respective positions regarding 
discipline. 

Sampson involved an attorney who failed to 
supervise his personal injury practice and recklessly 
disregarded his trust account duties for almost a year. 
The resulting chaos led to shortfalls in his trust 
account which in turn led to misappropriation of client 
funds and to the failure to pay medical providers. 
Sampson also failed to perform services competently 
in other matters and failed to notify a client of the 
receiptofsettlemcntmoney. In aggravation, Sampson 
committed multiple acts of misconduct and signifi­
cantly harmed a medical provider. In mitigation, 
Sampson had no record of discipline in l 5 years of 
practice. Sampson was suspended for three years, 
stayed,. vdth three years' probation and l 8 months' 
actual suspension. 
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Jones involved an attorney who allowed a non­
attorney to conduct a large scale personal injury 
practice involving capping, forgery and other fraudu­
lent practices in the attorney's name. The 
non-attorney handled all aspects of the personal 
injury practice without any supervision from Jones. 
Nearly $60,000 withheld from client settlements was 
misused. In mitigation, Jones turned the non-attorney 
in to the police and cooperated with the authorities, 
established his good character and community activi­
ties and paid nearly $57,000 of his own money to 
medical providers to remedy the non-attorney's 
misconduct. In aggravation, Jones committed mul­
tiple acts of misconduct and caused considerable 
harm to medical providers. Jones was suspended for 
three years, stayed, with three years' probation and 
tvio years' actual suspension. 

Steele involved an attorney who for more than 
two years allowed his office manager, a non-lawyer, 
to run his practice, sign client trust account checks 
and handle all financial transactions without supervi­
sion. Despite evidence that the non-attorney was 
telling clients that he was Steele's partner and evi­
dence that the non-attorney was embezzling funds, 
Steele did nothing to prevent further theft of client 
funds. Steele also personally committed other acts of 
dishonesty. In aggravation, Steele lacked candor 
during the disciplinary proceeding and committed 
multiple acts of misconduct. V cry little mitigation was 
found. Steele was disbarred. 

In Palomo v. State Bar, supra, 36 Cal.3d 785, 
the attorney gave control of his client trust account to 
his office manager and then failed to examine the 
records or bank statements, which permitted a $3,000 
client check to be deposited into the attorney's payroll 
account. Palomo made restitution to the client with 
interest before any State Bar involvement. He was 
suspended for one year, stayed, ,vith one year proba­
tion and no actual suspension. 

In In the Matter of Blum, supra, 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 403, the attorney and her then attorney 
husband were partners and both were signatories on 
the client trust account Because of her work load, 
Blum's husband managed the day to day operations 
of the law office, including the trust account. The 
husband grossly mismanaged the :financial aspects of 
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the practice, which resulted in the misappropriation of 
client funds in two matters. Blum also was found 
culpableofcharging an illegal fee. Inmitigation, Blum 
had no record of prior discipline in 14 years of 
practice, suffered from extreme emotional difficul­
ties, was candid and cooperative in the disciplinary 
proceeding, changed her office procedures to take 
full charge of all aspects of her practice including the 
handling of the finances and her trust account, and 
established her good character. In aggravation, Blum 
engaged in multiple acts of misconduct and signifi­
cantly harmed her clients. She was suspended for 
three years, stayed, with two years' probation and 30 
days' actual suspension. 

In Coppockv. State Bar, supra, 44 Cal.3d 665, 
the attorney opened a client trust account for the 
purpose of sheltering a client's assets from creditors 
and thereafter relinquished all control of the account 
to the client, which allowed the client to use the 
account to defraud a business partnerout of $10,000. 
In mitigation, the attorney cooperated with the State 
Bar and was remorseful. Coppo~k was suspended 
for two years, stayed, with two years' probation and 
90 days' actual suspension. 

In Gassman v. State Bar (1976) 18 Cal.3d 125, 
the attorney delegated responsibility to manage his 
trust account to his secretary and then failed to 
supervise the secretary. Client funds in a single 
matter were deposited into a commercial account and 
were used to pay Gassman's office expenses. 
Gassman also failed to perfonn services competently 
in two other matters and entered into an illegal fee 
splitting agreement with the secretary. The Supreme 
Court imposed one year actual suspension. 

We see the present case as less serious than 
Steele, more serious than Gassman, and as reason­
ably comparable to Jones. Both respondent and 
Jones engaged in prolonged and gross neglect of the 
most fundamental duties of an attorney and thereby 
created situations that permitted non-attorneys to 
have virtually unlimited control over the financial 
aspects of their law practices. As in .Jones, the full 
extent of the harm that resulted from respondent's 
extreme neglect of her trust account duties may 
never be known. A key factor in this case, as in 
Jones, is the magnitude of the potential harm to 
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clients. Even if a relatively small portion of the $1. 7 
million stolen by respondent's employees was trust· 
funds, the risk created by respondent's inattention 
was enonnous. That all of the stolen money was not 
client money was simply fortuitous. 

Most troubling in this case, as in Jones, is the lack 
of evidence showing respondent's belated under­
standing ofher trust account duties and shO\-ving what 
changes, if any, respondent has made to her office 
procedures. Based on the record before us, we have 
little confidence that respondent knows and under­
stands the importance of her strict adherence to her 
nondelagable trust account obligations, and knows 
and understands the many trust account related tasks, 
such as maintaining client ledgers and reconciling the 
tmst account, that must be performed on a routine 
basis in order to safeguard client funds. Absent this 
understanding, there is a risk of future misconduct. 

As we noted in Jones, the "protection of the 
public is the key reason for imposing attorney disci­
pline." (In the Matter of Jones, supra, 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 42 l.) We conclude based on a 
balanced consideration of the seriousness of the 
misconduct as well as the mitigating and aggravating 
circumstances, that eighteen months' actual suspen­
sion retroactive to the date of respondent's inactive 
enrollment is adequate to protect the public. We shall 
accordingly terminate, effective upon the filing of this 
opinion, the order of inactive enrollment filed in this 
case pursuant to section, subdivision 6007(c)(4). 

IV. FORMAL RECOMMENDATION 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that 
respondent Monica Malek-Yonan be suspended from 
the practice of law for a period of five years, that 
execution of suspension be stayed and that respon­
dent be placed on probation for a period of five years 
on the following conditions: 

1. That Respondent be actually suspended from 
the practice oflaw for eighteen months retroac­
tive to May 26, 2002, the date of respondent's 
inactive enrollment. 

2. Respondent must comply with the provisions 
of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
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Conduct of the State Barof California, and all the 
conditions of this probation. 

3. Subject to the proper assertion of any appli­
cable privilege, respondent must fully, promptly, 
and truthfully answer all inquiries of the State 
Bar's Office of Probation that are directed to 
respondent, whether orally or in writing, relating 
to whether respondent is complying or has com­
plied with the conditions of this probation. 

4. Respondent must report, in writing, to the State 
Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles no later 
than January lO, April 10, July l0andOctober 10 
of each year or part thereof in which respondent 
is on probation ("reporting dates"). However, if 
respondent's probation begins less than 30 days 
before a reporting date, respondent may submit 
the first report no later than the second reporting 
date after the beginning of respondent's proba­
tion. In each report, respondent must state that it 
covers the preceding calendar quarter or appli­
cable portion thereof and certify by affidavit or 
under penalty of perjury under the laws of the 
State of California as follows: 

(a) in the first report, whctherrespondenthas 
complied with all the provisions of the State 
Bar Act, Rules of Professional Conduct of 
the State Bar, and other tcnns and conditions 
of probation since the beginning of this 
probation; and 

(b) • in each subsequent report, whether 
respondent has complied with all the provisions 
of the State Bar Act, Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the State Bar, and other terms 
and conditions of probation during the period. 

During the last 20 days of this probation, 
respondent must submit a final report covering 
any period of probation remaining after and 
not covered by the last quarterly report 
required under this probation condition. In 
this final report, respondent must certify to 
the matters set forth in subparagraph (b) of 
this probation condition by affidavit or under 
penalty of perjury under the laws of the State 
of California. 
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5. If respondent possesses client funds at any 
time during the period covered by a required 
quarterly report, respondent shall file with each 
required report a certificate from respondent and 
a certified public accountant or other financial 
professional approved by the State Bar's Office 
of Probation in Los Angeles, certifying that: 
respondent hc.tS maintained a bank account in a 
bank authorized to do business in the State of 
California, at a branch located within the State of 
California, and that such account is designated as 
a "Trust Account" or "Client's Funds Account"; 
and respondent has kept and maintained the 
following: • 

i. a written ledger for each client on whose 
behalf funds are held that sets forth: 

1. the name of such client, 

2. the date, amount, and source of all 
funds received on behalf of such client, 

3. the date, amount, payee and purpose 
of each disbursement made on behalf of 
such client, and 

4. the current balance for such client; 

ii. a written journal for each client trust fund 
account that sets forth: 

1. the name of such account, 

2. the date, amount, and client affected 
by each debit and credit, and 

3. the current balance in such account. 

iii. all bank statements and canceled checks 
for each client trust account; and 

iv. each monthly reconciliation (balancing) of 
(i), (ii), and (iii) above, and if there are any 
differences between the monthly total 
balances reflected in (i), (ii), and (iii) above, 
the reason for the differences, and that 
respondent has maintained a written journal 
of securities or other properties held for a 
client that specifies: 
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1. each item of security and property 
held; 

2. the person on whose behalf the security 
or property is held; 

3. the date of receipt of the security or 
property; 

4. the date of distribution of the security 
or property; and 

5. the person to whom the security or 
property was distributed. 

If respondent does not possess any client funds, 
property or securities during the entire period 
covered by a report, respondent must so state 
under penalty of perjury in the report filed with 
the State Bar's Office of Probation for that 
reporting period. In this circumstance, respon­
dent need not file the accountant's certificate 
described above. 

The requirements of this condition are in addition 
to those set forth in rule 4-100, Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct. 

6. Respondent must maintain, with the State 
Bar's Membership Records Office and the State 
Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles, her 
current office address and telephone number or, 
if no office is maintained, an address to be used 
for State Bar purposes. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 
6002.1, subd. (a).) Respondent must also main­
tain, with the State Bar's Office of Probation in 
Los Angeles, her current home address and 
telephone number. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, § 
6002.1, subd. (a)(5).) Respondent's home ad­
dress and telephone number shall not be made 
available to the general public. (Bus. & Prof. 
Code, § 6002.1, subd. (d).) Respondent must 
notify the Membership Records Office and the 
Office of Probation ofany change in any of this 
infonnation no later than l O days after the change. 

7. Within one ( 1) year after the effective date of 
the Supreme Court order in this matter, respon­
dent must ( 1) attend and satisfactorily complete 
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the State Bar's Ethics School; and (2) provide 
satisfactory proof of completion of the school to 
the State Bar's Office of Probation in Los Ange­
les. This condition of probation is separate and 
apart from respondent's California Minimum 
Continuing Legal Education (MCLE) require­
ments; accordingly, respondent is ordered not to 
claim any MCLE credit for attending and com­
pleting this course. (Accord, Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, rule 3201.) 

8. Within one (l) year after the effective date of 
the Supreme Court order in this matter, respon­
dent shall supply to the State Bar's Office of 
Probation in Los Angeles satisfactory proof of 
attendance at a session of the Ethics School 
Client Trust Accounting School, within the same 

. period of time, given periodically by the State Bar 
at either 180 Howard Street, San Francisco, 
California, 94105-1639, or 1149 Sou1hHill Street, 
Los Angeles, California, 90015-2212, and pas­
sage of the test given at the end of that session. 
Arrangements to attend Ethics School Client 
Trust Accounting School must be made in ad­
vance by calling (213) 765-1287, and paying the 
required fee. This requirement is separate from 
any Minimwn Continuing Legal Education Re­
quirement (MCLE), and Respondent shall not 
receive MCLE credit for attending Trust Ac­
counting School. (Rule 3 20 1, Rules Proc. of State 
Bar.) 

9. Respondent's probation shall commence on 
the effective date of the Supreme Court order in 
this matter. And, at the end of the probationary 
term, if she has complied with the terms and 
conditions of probation, the Supreme Court order 
suspending her from the practice oflaw for five 
years shall be satisfied, and the suspension shall 
terminate, 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistatc Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional Conference of Bar Examiners within one ( 1) 
year of the after the effective date of the Supreme 
Court order in this matter and to provide satisfactory 
proof of her passage of that examination to the State 
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Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles within that 
same time period. 

As our recommendation provides for no pro­
spective actual suspension, we decline to recommend 
that respondent be ordered to comply with rule 955 of 
the California Rules of Court and to perform the acts 
specified in subdivisions (a) and ( c) of that rule within 
30 and 40 calendar days, respectively, after the 
effective date of the Supreme Court order in this 
matter. 

We also recommend that costs incurred by the 
State Bar in this matter be awarded to the State Bar 
in accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6086.10 and that such costs be payable in 
accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6140.7. 

Finally, upon the filing of this opinion, we termi­
nate the order of inactive enrollment entered by the 
hearing judge, pursuant to Business and Professions 
Code section 6007, subdivision ( c )( 4). 

We concur: 

WATAI, J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 
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SUMMARY 

The hearing judge imposed a public reproval upon determining that respondent failed prompt] y to refund 
$5,000 in unearned fees to a client at the termination of respondent's employment. The hearing judge based 
his determination on the decision of a municipal court judge in a civil case filed by the client to obtain a refund 
of fees paid in advance. The municipal court judge concluded that, because respondent had not obtained a 
written modification as required by the contingency fee agreement, respondent was not entitled to, and thus 
had not earned, an additional $5,000 nonrefundable retainer fee. (Stanford E. Reichert, Hearing Judge.) 

The review department adopted the hearing judge's conclusion that because respondent had failed to 
execute a valid modification of the written fee agreement, he had not earned the additional $5,000 fee and had 
failed to refund unearned fees paid in advance promptly upon termination of employment. The review 
department also adopted the hearing judge's conclusion that a public reproval was warranted. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

COUNSEL l<'OR PARTIES 

Kevin B. Taylor 

Michael G. Gerner 

IIEADNOTF,,S 

[1] 125 Procedure-Post-Trial Motions 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
199 General Issues-Miscellaneous 
Once the hearing judge who tried this case left the State Bar Court, he became ineligible to take any 
further action in the case. Of necessity, that judge was unavailable to consider respondent's post­
trial motions. 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the StateBarCourt for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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There was sufficient evidence to find that respondent failed to refund an unearned fee promptly upon 
the termination of employment where: the fee agreement provided for a fixed nonrefundable 
retainer fee and a contingent fee and provided that any modifications to the agreement had to be 
in writing and signed by both parties; respondent orally requested and received another $5,000 from 
the client above the amom1t called for in the written fee agreement; there was never a written 
modification to the fee agreement, such thatrespondentneverearned the additional $5,000 fee; and 
respondent refused for approximately six months after the client obtained a judgment against him 
to refund the $5,000. The review department concluded thatit could not consider whether the value 
of respondent's services exceeded the price for which he had agreed to perform them, since 
respondent would have been entitled to the entire fee set forth in the agreement if the services had 
been worth less than the price set forth in the fee agreement. Further, because respondent drafted 
the fee agreement, any ambiguities should be interpreted against him. The fiduciary relationship 
between an attorney and a client is of the very highest character, and transactions between them 
which are beneficial to the attorney are closely scrutinized for unfairness. 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P. J.: 

A State Bar Court hearing judge found respon­
dent Roger M. Lind.mark culpable of professional 
misconduct in failing to promptly return to his former 
client an unearned fee paid in advance. (Rules Prof. 
Conduct, rule 3-700(D)(2).)1 The hearing judge im­
posed a public reproval and respondent seeks our 
review, claiming that he is innocent of wrongdoing. 
Respondent also claims procedural error and com­
plains that the State Bar's Office of Chief Trial 
Counsel (State Bar) engaged in irresponsible pros­
ecution tactics. Respondent urges that we dismiss the 
charges or grant him a new trial. At most, he contends 
that an admonition is warranted. 

On our independent review of the record (Cal. 
Rules of Court, rule 951.5; Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
rule305(a);lnreMorse(l995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207), 
we uphold the hearing judge's findings, reject 
respondent's claims of error and determine that 
public reproval is warranted. 

I. FACTS AND FINDINGS 

Respondent was admitted to practice law in the 
State of California on June 8, 1992. He has no prior 
record of State Bar discipline. 

The charges against respondent arose in the 
context of his representation of Walter Barach 
("Baroch") in a wrongful discharge case against 
Baroch's former employer, funovative Solutions. 
Three other lawsuits involving respondent andBaroch 
as parties are also involved. We examine these suits 
briefly in order to assess the nature and extent of the 
charged misconduct. The underlying case giving rise 
to the relationship between respondent and Barach 
was Barach v. Crispin et al. 

1. Unless noted otherwise, all references to rules are to the 
Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar. 
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In May 1998, Baroch employed respondent to 
represent him in a civil claim against his former 
employer Innovative Solutions for, among other things, 
wrongful termination and for monies owed for sales 
commissions. Baro ch signed a retainer and fee agree­
ment that provided that respondent would receive a 
50 percent fee of any amount recovered irrespective 
of the status of the case at the time of recovery. 
Respondent also received a $2,000 non-refundable 
retainer, an additional $2,000 in legal fees and $500 
for costs pursuant to the retainer and fee agreement. 2 

Additionally, the agreement provided. that Baroch 
would deposit $3,000 to cover costs with respondent 
at least ninety days before the first day set for trial. 
The relationship behveen the $500 actually paid for 
costs and the $3,000 as provided in the retainer 
agreement to cover costs, is unclear. Finally, para­
graph 27 of the agreement stated "this agreement 
may be modified by subsequent agreement of the 
parties only by an instrument in writing signed by both 
or all parties. Oral modifications of this agreement are 
void." 

In September 1998, respondent wrote to Baroch 
confirming that Barach had read the complaint, that 
the infonnation contained in it was correct and that 
Barach would forward a check to respondent for 
$5,000 for depositions and costs after the defendant 
responded to the complaint. Baroch agreed to this in 
writing on October 14, 1 ~98. 

On October 19, 1998, respondent filed Barach 
v. Crispin et al., against Baroch' s former employer. 
The defendants filed an answer and a cross-com­
plaint against Baroch, alleging contractual violations 
and tortious conduct. 

Through the extensive discovery process, re­
spondent concluded thatBaroch and another employee 
were planning to leave the employer to begin a 
competing business. Respondent also believed that 
Baroch had used assets of his employer, without 

2. The retainer agreement also provided that should Baroch 
discharge respondent or prevent the action from being pros­
ecuted or completed, he would be liable to respondent for any 
fees incurred at a rate of$350 per hour. 
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authority, and that Baroch's termination from Inno­
vative Solutions was not wrongful. 

As a result of the information uncovered during 
discovery, the relationship between respondent and 
Barach deteriorated. Respondent believed that his 
clienthadnot been forthcoming about his termination 
from employment. Respondent discussed withBaroch 
the potential downside to his case, including his 
liability to the defendant if they were to prevail on their 
cross-complaint. Respondent further advised Baroch 
to consider authorizing respondent to negotiate a 
"walk-away" settlement. 

In a letter dated December 12, 1998, respondent 
wrote to Baroch confirming a meeting of the previous 
day in which Baroch gave respondent a check for 
additional non-refundable fees, which they had nego­
tiated at $5,000,3 for respondent's depositions and 
ongoing discovery, including the production of docu­
ments. The hearing judge found, and we agree, that 
the $5,000 was for attorney fees. Respondent how­
ever, never modified his fee agreement with Baroch 
to cover the $5,000 in added fees he claimed Baroch 
agreed to pay. 

In the December 12 letter, respondent further 
explained that the case was not going to be easy or 
inexpensive and that there were many downside risks 
that put respondent's contingency fee at risk and that 
was why he sought the additional f!On-refundable 
retainer. Additionally, respondent asked for another 
$5,000 for the costs of a court reporter for the 
depositions of the defendants and other witnesses 
which Baroch promised to send under their original 
agreement. 

On February 17, 1999, respondent again wrote to 
Barach confirming that Baroch had either agreed to 
pay respondent additional money, find a new attor­
ney, or substitute himself in pro. per. In response to 
Baroch's written request of the previous day that 
respondent return the $9,000 in advance fees, respon-

3. At about this time, respondent pressed Baroch for an 
additional $25,000 in advance fees but agreed to accept the 
additional $5,000 amount. 
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dent refused to return any of the $9,000 in fees as he 
considered them a non-refundable retainer and re­
spondent had invested more than 200 hours in the 
case. This included the initial $500 advanced for costs 
because he had incurred $298.63 more in costs than 
theinitial $500. The hearingjudge found that respon­
dent conducted substantial discovery in the case. 

The relationship between respondentand Baroch 
became even more strained and on February 22, 
1999, respondent moved to be relieved as Barach' s 
attorney. The court granted the motion in March 
1999. Attorney David Cooper (Cooper) ultimately 
became Baroch's attorney of record in Baroch v. 
Crispin. The case ended when the defendant went 
bankrupt. 

A. Small Claims Case 

OnJune 15, 1999,respondentfiledasmallclaims 
case against Barach for costs associated with his 
representation of Barach in Baroch v. Crispin. 
Respondent secured a judgment against Barach for 
$593.94. After an appeal, the judgment for $614.94, 
including costs, became final and was paid by Barach 
shortly thereafter. 

B. Municipal Court Case 

On June 14, 1999, Barach sued respondent in 
Beverly Hills Municipal Court for the return of the 
$5,000 that Baro ch paid respondent pursuant to their 
agreement. Baroch's principal contention was that 
the money was for depositions that were never taken 
and not for an additional retainer fee. 

The case went to trial December 10, 1999. The 
court issued a written Statement of Decision that the 
$5,000 check was given in payment for additional 
retainer fees and not for unused deposition costs. 
However, the court awarded Baroch judgment be­
cause of the lack of a requisite written agreement to 
modify the original fee agreement. The decision was 
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not based on respondent's failure to demonstrate that 
he performed sufficient services to justify charging 
the fee. The court also found that Baroch presented 
an altered check as evidence in the case. The judge 
concluded that Baroch had altered the $5,000 check, 
after it was cleared, so that it read "depo exp." in the 
memo line. 

Respondent appealed the municipal court judg­
ment but later failed to perfect the appeal. The 
hearing judge found that respondent allowed the 
appeal to go into default because he did not want to 
invest any more time in the case and he was dis­
gusted, depressed, and experiencing severe financial 
problems which would only be made worse by devot­
ing more time to the appeal of the municipal court 
case. 

On June 19, 2000 Baroch, listing himself in pro. 
per. obtained from the clerk of the court an Order of 
Appearance of Judgment Debtor ("ORAP") to be 
heldJuly20,2000.0nJuly 10,2000,respondentfiled 
an objection to the ORAP on the basis that Baroch • s 
request for the ORAP was improper because it listed 
Baroch as being in pro. per. when Cooper was listed 
as his attorney of record. 

OnJuly20, 2000,thecourtcontinued the ORAP 
to August 3, 2000, and issued a bench warrant against 
respondent for his failure to appear. The bench 
warrant was issued as a result of the court overlook­
ing respondent's objection to the ORAP. On August 
3, 2000, Baroch substituted himselfin pro. per. On the 
same day, respondent again failed to appear for the 
ORAP and the court issued a bench warrant. 

On September 6, 2000, while respondent was in 
another division of the Beverly Hills Court on an 
unrelated matter, he discovered the issuance of the 
bench warrant. He then went to the court that issued 
the warrant and, after explaining that he filed his 
objection July 10, 2000, the commissioner recalled 
and quashed the bench warrant and ordered Baroch 
to obtain a new ORAP date. Later on that same day, 
Baroch went to the courtroom of the presiding judge 
and tried, unsuccessfully, to have the ruling reversed. 

Between June 9, 2000, when respondent's ap­
peal was dismissed, and December 2000, respondent 
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failed to pay the judgment to Baroch or to Baroch' s 
attorney David Cooper. Nonetheless, respondent 
sent a letter to Cooper with an acknowledgment of 
full satisfaction of the judgment. Cooper informed 
respondent that he would not sign the acknowledg­
ment until he received the money. 

In December 2000, Baroch caused to be served 
a Writ of Execution in the amount of $5,104 on 
respondent's personal bank account. Respondent 
had just made a deposit into this bank account from a 
credit card cash advance, thus providing sufficient 
funds to satisfy the writ. Respondent allowed the 
judgment to be satisfied by his bank thereby enabling 
Baroch to collect on his judgment. 

C. Superior Court Case 

Respondent provided Baroch with a Notice of 
Client's Right to Arbitrate dated October 13, 1999. 
(Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6201, subd. (a).) In a complaint 
filed November 9, 1999, respondent sued Baroch for 
respondent's $63,000 unrecovered fees in the Baroch 
v. Crispin matter. The matter was designated 
Lindmark v. Barach. The complaint alleged the 
following causes of action: 1) breach of written 
contract; 2) reasonable value of services rendered 
(quantum meruit); 3) wilful misconduct; and 4) en­
forcement of equitable lien for fees. 

On January 11, 2000,respondentfiledaRequest 
to Enter Default, which the clerk accepted, since 
Baroch did not file an answer to the complaint. On 
January 14, 2000, respondent lodged the required 
documents with the default clerk to have the judg­
ment entered by the court. Respondent waited for the 
court to enter judgment and send him a conformed 
copy. 

When respondent did not hear from the court as 
to the status of the default judgment, he telephoned 
the clerk in the assigned courtroom, the court's 
research attorney, and the calendar clerk in an 
attempt to discern the status of the entry of default. 
After the court personnel searched the computerized 
records, they discovered, and informed respondent, 
that Baroch had reserved February 22, 2000 for a 
motion to strike, but the court never received any 
moving papers for filing from Baroch. 
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Given the lack of information surrounding the 
status of the default judgment, respondent continued 
to inquire about his entry of judgment against Baroch 
from late February through April of 2000. Respon~ 
dent wrote to the research attorney and called her as 
well as the clerks in an effort to ascertain the status 
of his request for entry of judgment after default. 

In the interim and unknown to respondent, 
Baroch's motion to strikewasfiledJanuary7, 2000, 
and a hearing was set for February 22, 2000. On the 
date set for the hearing, the matter was continued. On 
March 1 7, 2000, the date set for the continuance, the 
court vacated Baroch's default and continued the 
motion to strike to April 10, 2000, because the default 
was entered in error by the clerk's office since 
Barach had timely filed a motion to strike. On April 
10, 2000, Baroch's motion to strike was heard and 
granted and respondent's complaint was dismissed 
due to his failure to file an opposition or to appear at 
the hearing. 

On May 9, 2000, respondent went to the court 
and examined the court file. At that time respondent 
discovered that on January 7, 2000, Barach filed a 
Motion to Strike the Complaint which was granted 
April 10, 2000, dismissing the complaint since respon­
dent failed to file an opposition. 

On May 18, 2000, respondent filed a motion to 
set aside dismissal based on inadvertence, surprise, or 
excusable neglect, claiming that he had no notice of 
the hearing on the motion to strike or the court's order 
dismissing the complaint. On June 14, 2000, the court 
denied respondent's motion to set aside the dismissal 
of his complaint. After respondent's motion was 
denied, he took no ftuther action with respect to the 
complaint against Baroch. 

4. The State Bar has not appealed from the dismissal of these 
charges. 

5. The State Bar's evidence was a letter from respondent to 
Cooper and Baro ch, one copy of which was sent directly to 
Baro ch, concerning a global settlement ofrespondent's supe­
rior court suit for attorney fees and Baroch's municipal court 
suit for the return of the $5,000 fee retainer. At the time of the 
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A four-day trial was held between April 29, 
2002, and May 7, 2002. The hearing judge filed his 
decision on May 22, 2002, finding that respondent 
wilfullyviolatedrule 3-700(D )(2) by failing to promptly 
refund unearned fees once the municipal court action 
against respondent became final. 

The hearing judge based his predicate finding, 
thatthe fee was unearned, on the decision of the judge 
in the municipal court proceeding of Baroch v. 
Lindmark. The municipal court found that pursuant 
to the contingency fee agreement, respondent was 
not entitled to, and thus had not earned, the additional 
$5,000 attorney fee paid by Baroch. From that find­
ing, the hearing judge concluded that there was no 
other basis to support a finding that the $5,000 
attorney fee was earned by respondent. The hearing 
judge further found that it was unreasonable for 
respondent to delay in returning Baroch's $5,000 
from June 8, 2000 (the date of the dismissal of the 
municipal court judgment appeal), until December 
2000 ( whenBarochlevied the fi.mds from respondent's 
bank account). While the hearingjudge sympathized 
with respondent's belief that he was entitled to the 
fees and that, based on the unique circumstances of 
the matter, respondent may not have had sufficient 
funds available to return the unearned fees immedi­
ately, it was nonetheless his duty to arrive at some 
arrangement for payment. 

The hearingjudge found respondent not culpable 
of three additional charges and granted respondent's 
motion to dismiss the other three counts charged:4

. 

communication with a represented party (rule 2~ 
100);5 failure to maintain respect for the court (Bus. 

letter, Barach represented himself in the superior court case and 
was represented by Cooper in the municipal court case. The 
hearing judge found that respondent wrote to Baroch in 
Baroch's capacity as both party and attorney and wrote to 
Cooper in his capacity as Baroch's attorney. Therefore, the 
hearing judge concluded that respondent did not improperly 
communicate with a represented party and dismissed the count 
with prejudice. 
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& Prof. Code, §6068, subd. (b));6 and improper 
communication with a judge (rule 5-300(B)).7Upon 
ouritidependentreview(seeante,p. l)weupholdthe 
hearingjudge' s dismissals. 

After the hearing judge issued his decision, 
respondent sought reconsideration. Since at the time 
of reconsideration the hearing judge who tried the 
case no longer sat on the State Bar Court,respondent' s 
motion was ruled on by another hearing judge. That 
judge denied respondent's motion and this review 
followed. 

2. Mitigating and Aggravating Circumstances 

The hearing judge found, as some evidence in 
mitigation, thatrespondent had practiced law for eight 
years without being disciplined. However, the judge 
noted that this period of practice was not entitled to 
significant weight. Four witnesses testified on 
respondent's behalf in support of his good character, 
including a physician and three attorneys. All of the 
witnesses were reasonably familiar with the charges 
brought against respondent and all believed him to be 
a truthful, honest and ethical individual in addition to 
being a very capable attorney. The hearing judge 
noted that this character evidence was less weighty, 
given the few witnesses. (Cf. Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, tit. IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. 
Misconduct, std. l.2(e)(vi).) 

6. There were several events cited by the State Bar to support 
the charge. First was respondent's failure to file a mandatory 
cross-complaint in the municipal court case and then filing suit 
against Barach for attorneys' fees in superior court. The 
hearingjudgefound that the retainer and fee agreement provided 
that the proper venue for any dispute was within the jmisdic­
tion of the Los Angeles Superior Court so that the suit for 
attorneys' fees was properly within the superior court's 

jurisdiction. The second action which the State B~ alleged 
demonstrated disrespect for the court was when respondent 
stated that he did not receive notice ofBaroch 's motion to strike 
in his motion to set aside the dismissal of his complaint in the 
superior court case. The hearingj udge found that the superior 
court was merely unconvinced that respondent did not receive 
the notices, and made no mention that the motion was frivolous. 
The third act which the State Bar alleged demonstrated disre­
spect for the court was when respondent failed to appear for 
the judgment debtor exam. The court found that respondent's 
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The hearingj udge also found evidence in aggra­
vation. Specifically, the judge found that respondent 
impededBaroch's efforts to obtain the money that he 
was awarded after the judgment entered in Baroch' s 
favor became final. He also sent a letter to Cooper 
with an acknowledgment of full satisfaction of the 
judgment de.spite failing to pay any portion of the 
judgment. Furthermore, respondent made it clear that 
he was unwilling to return the money because of the 
circumstances surrounding the case. 

IL DISCUSSION 

A. Procedural claims 

[l] Respondent advances ~vo claims of proce­
dural error. Citing no legal authority, except for a 
general point as to the required standard of evidence, 
he first argues that it was error to deny his motion for 
reconsideration or to reopen the record and for a 
judge other than the one who heard the evidence to 
rule on those motions. We disagree with respondent's 
claim. Once the hearing judge who tried this case left 
this court, he became ineligible to take any further 
action in the case. Of necessity, that judge was 
unavailable to consider respondent's motions. (See 
International Ins. Co. v. Superior Court (1998) 62 
Cal.App. 4th 784, 786, fn. 2.) Moreover, respondent 
has made no showing persuading us that the judge 
who ruled on his motions committed error. 

written objection filed with the court constituted a sufficient 
response as evidenced by the municipal court quashing the 
bench warrant after the objection was discovered by the court. 
The final act which the State Bar alleged demonstrated disre­
spect for the court were the letters which respondent wrote to 
the research attorney and the clerks of the court inquiring about 
his notice of entry of default. The hearing judge found these 
letters to be both courteous and polite and therefore showed 
no disrespect for the court. 

7. The basis of this allegation was respondent's communica­
tions with the superior court judge's research attorney. The 
hearing judge found that the communications were proper 
under the circumstances because respondent had a default 
entered. With the entry of default, Baroch had not appeared; 
therefore, no notice needed to be served on him. As a result, 
respondent's ex parte contact with the court was permissible. 
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Respondent also contends that the State Bar's 
prosecution of the case against him was irresponsible 
and vexatious. To explain his claim, respondent ar­
gues that he was deprived of an opportunity to 
respond to the State Bar's investigation. Finally, 
respondent argues that the State Bar never corrected 
the charges in light of evidence presented at trial that 
showed that respondent engaged in substantial dis­
covery for Baroch. Respondent's claims are without 
merit as it appears that respondent was notified by the 
State Bar in writing about the nature of the complaint 
before fonnal charges were filed and that respondent 
had a year and four months from that notice to 
marshal any evidence he wished to introduce in his 
defense. We see no evidence of procedural unfair­
ness. 

B. Culpability 

Respondent contends that there is insufficient 
evidence in the record to support a finding of a wilful 
violation of rule 3-700(D)(2). Specifically, respon­
dent claims that the hearing judge incorrectly relied on 
the municipal court ruling, holding Baroch was en­
titled to the $5,000 due to respondent's failure to 
properly modify the retainer agreement, to conclude 
that respondent failed to earn the fee. He argues that, 
although he was not entitled to the fee pursuant to the 
retainer agreement because it was not modified in 
writing, he nonetheless earned the fee on a quantum 
meruitbasisduetoallofthetimeandworkheputinto 
the case. Respondent requests dismissal. The State 
Bar contends that the hearing judge's findings, con­
clusions, and disciplinerecommendationaresupported 
by the record and should be adopted. 

(2a] We first address respondent's argument 
thatthere is insufficient evidence to support finding a 
violation of rule 3-700(D)(2). Given the significance 
of the fee agreement in this case, we are guided by 
previous decisions that deal with the effect ofa failure 
to modify a fee agreement. Grossman v. State Bar 
(1983)34Cal.3d 73,is guidingalthoughitis factually 
distinct and deals with misappropriation of client 
funds. In Grossman, the respondent negotiated a fee 
agreement with aclientwhichprovided that Grossman 
would receive 3 3 1/3 percent of all amounts received 
if the action was settled at least 30 days prior to the 
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original trial date and 40 percent of all amounts 
received thereafter. After settlement was reached, 
more than 30 days before the original trial date, 
respondent unilaterally decided that a 40 percent fee 
was more appropriate than the 33 1/3 percent fee 
originally agreed upon. In finding against respondent, 
the Supreme Court held that "under a fixed fee 
contract, an attorney may not take compensation 
over the fixed fee without the client's consent to a 
renegotiated fee agreement . . . even if the work 
becomes more onerous than originally anticipated. 
[Citations.]" (Grossman v. State Bar, supra, 34 
CaL3d at p. 78.) 

[2bJ.As noted above, respondent drafted a very 
specific and detailed fee agreement which set forth 
the duties of the parties and which contained a 
significant fixed-fee component. Specifically, it pro­
vided that respondent would receive a 50 percent 
contingency fee, a $2,000 non-refundableretainer, an 
additional $2,000 upon filing the complaint and a 
$3,000 cost advance. Moreover, the agreement pro­
vided that any modifications to the agreement had to 
be in writing and signed by both parties and the 
agreement was never so modified. Nowhere in the 
agreement did it provide that respondent is entitled to 
an additional $5,000 non-refundable retainernor was 
there any evidence of a subsequent written agree­
ment to that effect. Cases cited by respondent not 
involving fees charged under a written fee agreement 
are inapposite. 

[2c] Accordingly, wholly apart from the policy 
reasons for not allowing recovery of a fee absent a 
modification of the retainer agreement, as the court 
observed in Reynolds v. Sorosis Fruit Co. (1901) 
133 Cal. 625, 628, "the fact that the services per­
formed byplaintiff[ attorney J werereasonablyworth 
more than the price for which he agreed to perform 
them cannot be considered. If the services had 
proven to be much less than the parties had in mind, 
and had only been worth ten dollars, the defendant 
[ client] would have been bound by its contract, and 
would have been liable for the four hundred dollars. 
The fact that plaintiff [attorney] made a bad bargain, 
and was compelled_ to do more than four hundred 
dollars' worth of labor, cannot relieve him of his 
contract. He is in precisely the same position that any 
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otherpartywouldbe, who, havingmadeacontractfor 
a certain sum to do a certain thing, finds by experience 
that the sum is not adequate compensation." 

We have also considered, sua sponte, the opinion 
of the Supreme Cowt in Huskinson & Brown v. 
Wolf(2004) 32 Cal.4th 453, which did not preclude 
quantum meruit recovery to a law firm in the division 
of fees among lawyers which did not complywi th the 
applicable rule of professional conduct. We consider 
Huskinson & Brown distinguishable from the case 
before us for several reasons. First, the Supreme 
Court was dealing with apportionment of compensa­
tion between attorneys in a civil case and not the 
determination of culpability in a disciplinary context 
for failure to return to the client unearned fees paid in. 
advance. Second, the court in Huskinson & Brown 
made clear that its decision did not increase the 
attorney fees paid or owed by the client. Third, in our 
case, the fee issue was actually litigated in civil court 
and became final on appeal. 

(2d] Furthermore, it is well established that any 
ambiguities in attorney-client fee agreements are 
construed in the client's favor and against the attor­
ney. (Hollingsworth v. Lewis (1928) 93 Cal.App. 
526, 528.) In addition, the rule that ambiguities in a 
contract should be interpreted against the drafter 
applies with extra force when the contract has been 
drafted by the attorney. (Mayhew v. Benninghojf 
(1997) 53 Cal.App.4th 1365, 1370.) This is because, 
as occurred here, the attorney as the drafter of the fee 
agreement, is deemed to have superior knowledge in 
such matters. 

[2e] It is also true that the relationship between 
the attorney and the client is a fiduciary relationship 
of the very highest character. (Neel v. Magana, 
Olney, Levy, Cathcart & Gelfand (1971) 6 CaL3d 
176, 189.) As such, any attorney-client transactions 
that are "'beneficial to the attorney will be closely 
scrutinized with the utmost strictness for any unfair­
ness."' (Hunniecutt v. State Bar (1988) 44 Cal.3d 
362,372, citing Clancyv. StateBar(1969) 71 Cal.2d 
140, 146.) Moreover, when there is a transaction 
between the attorney and the client, it is the attorney 
who has the burden of demonstrating that the dealings 
between the parties were "fair and reasonable and 
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were fully known and understood by the client. 
[Citation.]" (Hunniecutt v. State Bar, supra, 44 
CaL3d at pp. 372-373.) 

{2f} Respondent had a duty to execute the 
modification as prescribed by the agreement if he 
wished to earn extra sums as fees. Proper modifica­
tion would have avoided any ambiguity and perhaps 
even the litigation surrounding the fee agreement and 
this disciplinary proceeding. 

[2g] Accordingly, respondent was not legally or 
ethically entitled to retain the additional $5,000 paid by 
Baroch. As the hearing judge correctly noted, re­
spondent had not earned the additional fee. We find 
thatrespondent invested a significant amount of time 
and effort into the case and acted competently in his 
representation of his client.We nonetheless find that 
in the absence of a valid modification of the fee 
agreement, respondent did not earn the $5,000 fee. 
Therefore, we uphold the hearingjudge' s conclusion 
that respondent willfullyviolatedRule3-700(D)(2) by 
failing to promptly return unearned fees paid in 
advance. 

C. Degree of Discipline 

The hearing judge saw In the Matter of Hanson 
(Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 703 
as instructive. We agree and also believe that it 
represents a typical case revealing culpability of 
failme to return promptly unearned fees and also in 
the same client matter of failing to avoid prejudice to 
his client after discharge. Hanson refunded the un­
earned advanced fees about 15 months after he was 
discharged and after the State Bar intervened. We 
found no mitigating circumstances in that case. We 
found that Hanson had been privately reproved but it 
was remote in time and did not therefore weigh 
significantly as aggravation. In Hanson, we re­
viewed a number of other cases involving generally 
similartypes of misconduct and found the discipline in 
those cases ranging between private reproval and 
stayed suspension. (In the Matter of Hanson, su­
pra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 703, 713.) 

Looking at the few cases involving discipline 
solely for offenses involving attorney fees, Hulland 
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v. State Bar (1972) 8 Cal.3d 440 offers some guid­
ance. There, the attorney wilfully failed to render 
legal services for which his client hired him and used 
a confession of judgment in an "overreaching at­
tempt" to collect unearned fees. (Id. at p. 448.) The 
Supreme Court imposed public reprovaL. 

We are mindful that, as to degree of discipline, 
each case must be assessed on its own facts as well 
as on the balance of aggravating and mitigating 
evidence. (E.g., Rodgers v. State Bar (1989) 48 
Cal.3d 300, 316.) We determine that, despite the 
differences among cases, the public reproval im­
posed in Hanson and Hulland guide us that public 
reproval is appropriate as discipline here. 

III. DISPOSITION 

For the foregoing reasons, respondent Roger M. 
Lindmark is herebypubliclyreproved. Pursuant to the 
provisions of California Rules of Court, rule 95 6, we 
adopt and attach to this reproval the conditions 
recommended by the hearing judge in his decision and 
also include the notice as required by rule 956(a); 
California Rules of Court as to compliance with the 
conditions. 

We also adopt the order of the hearing judge that 
the State Bar be awarded costs in accordance with 
the provisions of section 6086.10 and that such costs 
be payable in accordance with section 6140.7. 

We concur: 
WATAI, J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 
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Respondent sought review arguing that the late restitution payments were the result of financial hardship 
rather than his failure to appreciate the importance of his probation conditions. He urged reduction of the 
discipline to 30 days' suspension. The review department adopted the hearing judge's recommendation of 90 
days' actual suspension, but added the condition that the suspension will remain in place until restitution is paid 
in full to respondent's client. 
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[1] 511 Aggravation-Prior Record-Found 
1714 Probation Cases-Degree of Discipline 
The hearing judge gave little weighttorespondent' sprior discipline because he found that the nature 
of the violations in this matter did not raise a serious concern about public protection or demonstrate 
that respondent had failed to undertake steps towards rehabilitation. The review department 
disagreed. This was the third matter that had been brought by the State Bar as the result of 
respondent's failure to make timely restitution to his client. Atthispoint, respondent should have had 
a heightened awareness ofhisneed for strict compliance with his reporting and payment obligations. 
The fact that his presentprobati on violations were closelyrelated to his past disciplinary infractions 
raised concerns about respondent's rehabilitation. Ordinarily, when there is a close nexus between 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Onlythe actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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previous misconduct and the present probation violation, a substantially greater degree of discipline 
is needed than would otherwise be necessary. The review department assigned significant weight 
in aggravation because of respondent's prior disciplinary record. 

[2] 582.50 Aggravation-Harm to Client-Declined to Find 
586.50 Aggravation-Harm to Administration of Justice-Declined to Find 
The State Bar's argument that respondent significantly harmed his client each time he failed to make 
timely restitution payments and caused harm to the administration of justice each time he violated 
his probation was rejected. Although respondent's failures to timely make restitution were 
numerous, they should not be considered as separate and independent bases of aggravation since, 
to a great extent, the harm was inherent in the probation violations and therefore would be 
duplicative. 

[3] 171 Discipline-Restitution 
1714 Probation Cases-Degree of Discipline 
Although the review department was sympathetic with respondent's claim that ifhe was actually 
suspended from practice for an extended period he would be unable to make timely restitution 
payments, it could not excuse a degree of discipline that was otherwise warranted. If avoidance of 
actual suspension were a prerequisite for respondent's continued restitution payments, it would have 
been more appropriate for respondent to have resolved his restitution obligation, thereby obviating 
this very proceeding. 

[4 a, b] 171 Discipline-Restitution 

Other 

1714 Probation Cases-Degree of Discipline 
Protection of the public and rehabilitation of the attorney are the primary aims of disciplinary 
probation. It is f orthis reason that discipline imposed for the wilful violation of probation often calls 
for substantial discipline as a reflection of the seriousness with which compliance with probationary 
duties is held. An attorney who wilfully violates a significant condition of probation, such as 
restitution, can anticipate actual suspension as the expected result, absent compelling mitigating 
circumstances. Here, respondent should have recognized the serious consequences of his failures 
to time I y pay restitution and file quarterly reports because of his previous encounters with the State 
Bar disciplinary system. Furthermore, when, as here, an attorney commits multiple violations of the 
same probation condition, the gravity of each successive violation increases, resulting in more severe 
discipline. Balancing all relevant facts and circumstances, the review department determined that 
the 90-day actual suspension recommended by the hearingj udge was sufficient to achieve the goals 
of attorney disciplinary probation, but that an additional condition should be added that requires 
respondent's continued actual suspension until restitution was fully paid to his client. This was 
intended as an incentive to respondent to be pro-active in his efforts to satisfy his restitution 
obligations and bring to a conclusion this 10-year saga with the State Bar, and was necessary to 
ensure respondent's timely and full comp I iance. In reaching this conclusion, the review department 
took into account respondent's belated but complete satisfaction of his restitution and reporting 
conditions in the face of ongoing financial difficulties, the fact that all of the violations related to one 
client matter, and that the client testified that respondent had shown concern about his inability to 
pay and exhibited courteousness towards her. The need to protect the public by imposing a 
significantly longer period of stayed suspension was therefore diminished. 

1751 
1815.03 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Probation Cases-Probation Revoked 
Actual Suspension-3 Months 
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OPINION 

EPSTEIN, J.: 

In this probation revocation proceeding, respon­
dent Richard M. Laden seeks review of the hearing 
judge's decision recommending a 90-day actual sus­
pension for his numerous untimelyrestitutionpayments 
to a single client and several delinquent quarterly 
probation reports. Respondent argues that the late 
restitution payments were the result of financial hard­
ship rather than his failure to appreciate the importance 
ofhis probation conditions. He urges reduction of the 
discipline to 30 days' suspension. The State Bar 
allows that the 90-day actual suspension from prac­
tice is the minimum appropriate discipline to ensure 
protection of the public and the profession, but asks 
that we consider increasing the actual suspension. 

Having independentlyreviewed the record ( Cal. 
Rules of Court, rule 951.5; Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
rule 305(a);InreMorse(l995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207), 
we adopt the hearing judge's recommendation of 90 
days' actual suspension, but add the condition that the 
suspension will remain in place until restitution is paid 
in full to respondent's client, June Allen (Allen). In our 
view, it is necessary to add this condition because of 
respondent's extensive prior record of discipline, 
which is closely related to his current misconduct, 
• together with the number of late payments and 
untimelyprobationreports. W ereitnot for respondent's 
mitigation evidence, including his belated full and 
complete compliance with the conditions ofhis proba• 
tion (In the Matter of Broderick (Review Dept. 
1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138, 150), we would 
find warranted a greater level of discipline. 

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL 
BACKGROUND 

The key facts underlying the hearing judge's 
finding ofculpability forprobation violations are subject 
either to stipulation by the parties or are not here 
disputed. Respondent has been a sole practitioner in the 
area of personal injury and workers' compensation 

1. Recently, respondent has undertaken defense work on an 
hourly fee basis to help alleviate his cash flow problems. 
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law since he was admitted to practice in California on 
November 29, 1978. Until recently, his sole source of 
legal fees has been contingency arrangements, with 
attendant uneven cash flow. 1 His law practice has 
provided respondent with only a modest income, and 
at times he has had difficulty making rent payments 
for his residence and meeting his daughter's college 
expenses. His wife occasionally works for him in his 
office, which is in their home. Because of their limited 
financial resources, respondent and his wife have not 
taken a vacation in several years. 

Respondent's disciplinary history began with his 
mishandling of a wrongful death lawsuit on behalf of 
hisclient,Allen(CaseNo. 91-O-02467),arisingfrom 
the death of her husband. Upon stipulation, which 
became effective May 1992 by Supreme Court order, 
respondent was privately reproved and agreed to 
submit to binding arbitration of Allen's malpractice 
claim, and within two years of the effective date, 
provide proof of compliance with the arbitration 
award. Ms. Allen obtained an award of$21,349 .90 in 
December of 1993. Thereafter, respondent sought 
and obtained from the State Bar a modification of the 
conditions ofhis reproval to allow an additional two 
years, until May 1996, to complete restitution to Allen 
and submit proof thereof. 

A second case (Case No. 91-0-09064), involv­
ing a different client, arose as theresultof respondent's 
failure to pay a medical provider and trust account 
violations. In this second matter, respondent stipu­
lated to culpability and discipline, including actual 
suspension for 75 days. 

Respondent did not timely satisfy his restitution 
obligations to Allen, and, accordingly, he was disci­
plined for failure to comply with conditions of probation 
in 1998 (Case No. 97-0-11079) including 30 days' 
actual suspension, and again in 2000 (Case No. 99-0-
10434 ), including two years' suspension and until he 
provided proofofhis fitness to practice in accordance 
with standard 1.4( c )(ii) of the Standards for Attorney 
Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, 2 which was 
stayed. Respondent also agreed, inter alia, to make 

2. The Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
Misconduct are found in title IV of the Rules of Procedure of 
the State Bar. All further references to standards are to this 
source. 
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restitution to Allen in the amount of $9,910.07 in 
monthly payments of $300, plus 10 percent interest 
per year from August 12, 1996, and to submit quar­
terlyreports to the Probation Unit of the State Bar. In 
both of these matters, respondent admitted to his 
probation violations and stipulated to the additional 
discipline. The parties further stipulated to mitigating 
circumstances including respondent's candor and 
cooperation with the State Bar and his severe finan­
cial distress. 

In Case No. 99-0-10434, the Supreme Court's 
order (No. S089894) was filed on September 20, 
2000, imposing the agreed-upon discipline. During the 
two-year period after the court's order, respondent 
was late with his monthly restitution payments on 19 
of27 occasions. 3 The payments were between 3 and 
160 days late with the majority being about 30 days 
late. Many were Wt timely because respondent would 
make a lump sum payment for two to three months as 
he was able to accrue enough cash to bring himself 
current. In addition, he was delinquent with his 
quarterly reports 7 out of 9 times.4 Respondent 
delayed the filing of many ofhis probation reports until 
he brought himself current with his restitution pay• 
ments. Even though he was having difficulty complying 
with his payment schedule, respondent did not seek a 
modification of the conditions ofhis discipline; yet, he 
had previously done so in a prior disciplinary matter. 

On September 23, 2002, the State Bar filed a 
Motion to Revoke Probation pursuant to Business 

3. The State Bar's Motion To Revoke Probation charged 
respondent with five late payments, from May through 
September 2002. The hearing judge, without explanation, did 
not find that the May2002 payment was late as charged. Upon 
our independent review of the record we find the State Bar 
proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the payment 
was not timely. ln addition, the hearing judge found that the 
June 2002 payment was uncharged but proven to be untimely. 
Our review of the record indicates the untimely June payment 
was charged in the State Bar's Motion to Revoke and therefore 
we consider it as part of our culpability determination. The 
remaining 14 late payments were properly considered as 
uncharged but proven misconduct by the hearing judge. 
(Edwards v. State Bar (1990) 52 Cal.3d 28, 35-36.) Our 
recommendation of discipline,post, is not materially affected 
by these discrepancies. 
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and Professions Code section 6093, subdivisions (b) 
and ( c) and Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, rules 
560 et seq. Respondent filed his response on N ovem­
ber 15, 2002. A Partial Stipulation As to Facts ·was 
filed on January 24, 2003, prior to the probation 
revocation hearing, which was held on January 28, 
2003. In his testimony in the hearing below, resp on• 
dentadmitted that many ofhis payments and quarterly 
reports were late. Respondent further testified about 
his understanding of the importance of making timely. 
restitution payments, but explained he simply did not 
have the funds to do so on a regular basis. On 
occasion, respondent telephoned Allen to explain 
why his payments were late, and Allen, by way of a 
declaration admitted into evidence, confirmed these 
conversations.5 Respondent's wife presented testi­
mony corroborating their ongoing financial difficulties. 
At the time of the hearing below, respondent was 
current with his restitution payments and quarterly 
reports and had timely passed the professional re­
sponsibilityexamination. 

The State Bar presented no evidence to contro­
vertrespondent' s showing offinancial hardship. The 
Bar submitted a declaration in lieu of testimony of 
ShWltinee Brinson, a probatioi:i deputy, authenticating 
numerous exhibits, which confirmed that the State 
Bar had properly notified respondent of his probation 
duties and that it made numerous contacts with 
respondent to obtain his compliance with his payment 
obligations. 

4. The hearingjudge found only one late quarterlyreport, which 
was due July 2002, for purposes of determining culpability 
because it was identified in the Motion to Revoke Probation. 
The judge found seven late filings in aggravation as proven but 
uncharged misconduct. Our independent review of the record 
confirms that there were only six other late reports in addition 
to the one charged in the State Bar's Motion to Revoke. 

5. Allen stated that respondent was always courteous when he 
called to explain his financial difficulties, and she requested 
leniency for respondent because she believed a prolonged 
suspension would interfere with her ability to receive her 
payments, She con finned that as of January 29, 2003, respon­
dent still owed her $7,600. 
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The hearing judge found that the State Bar 
proved by a preponderance of the evidence6 that 
respondent wilfully violated the conditions of his 
probation in that he failed to make timely restitution 
payments on three occasions and failed to timely file 
one quarterly report.7 The judge also found the 
following factors in aggravation: respondent's prior 
record of discipline ( std. l .2(b )(i) ); multiple acts of 
misconduct (std. l.2(b)(ii); and uncharged miscon­
duct arising from the additional late restitution 
payments and quarterly reports not identified in the 
Motion to Revoke Probation (std. l.2(b)(iii)). The 
judge found the following factors in mitigation: 
respondent's financial hardship; his remorse and 
recognition of his wrongdoing; his candor and coop­
eration with Allen; and the absence of any bad faith, 
coupled with his good faith efforts to make restitution. 

The hearing judge deemed the discipline re­
quested by the State Bar to be unduly harsh, 8 after 
considering the mitigating factors. He recommended 
that respondent's probation imposed by Supreme 
Court order (No. SO89894) dated September 20, 
2000, be revoked, that the stay of execution of 
suspension be lifted, and that in its place, respondent 
be suspended for two years and until he provided 
proof of his rehabilitation and fitness to practice in 
accordance with standard l.4(c)(ii) and until he 
completed restitution to Allen in accordance with the 
order of the Supreme Court in Case No. 99-0-10434 
and continued to submit quarterly reports to the State 
Bar. The court further recormnended, inter aha, that 
the two-year suspension be stayed and respondent be 
placed on four years' probation on conditions includ• 
ing90 days' actual suspension. Respondent requested 
review, seeking a reduction of the recommended 90 
days to 30 days' actual suspension. 

6. The "preponderance" standard is what is required for pro­
bation revocati,;m. (Sec Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6093, subd. ( c ); 
Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 561.) 

7. See, footnotes 2 and 3 ante, pages 3 and 4. 
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Il. DISCUSSION 

A. Culpability 

On appeal, respondent does not dispute that 
there were many late payments and delinquent pro­
bation reports, nor does he deny that he was aware of 
his obligations to timelypayrestitution and submit the 
quarterly reports. He asserts that in good faith he 
intended to timely make payments and file his reports, 
but he simply could not do so because of his financial 
difficulties resulting from his contingency fee cases. 
In the past few years he has made an effort to achieve 
greater financial stability by attracting more clients on 
an hourly fee basis. 

We cannot emphasize enough the importance of 
timely restitution payments as central to the rehabili­
tative process. As we said in In the Matter of 
Taggart (Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 302, 312: "Requiring restitution serves the 
rehabilitative and public protection goals of disciplin­
ary probation by forcing attorneys to confront in 
concrete terms the consequences of the attorney's 
misconduct. [Citations.] Thus, a probationer's atti­
tude toward the restitution is a significant factor to be 
weighed." We consider in mitigation, post, 
respondent's successful, albeit untimely, efforts to 
keep currentwithhisrestitutionandreporting obliga­
tions as evidence of good faith. However, the law 
does not require a bad purpose or evil intent to support 
a wilful violation of probation conditions. (In the 
Matter of Po tack (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 525, 536.) Indeed, "[w]ilfulness for 
purposes of probation revocation ( and other disciplin• 
ary) proceedings is simply a general purpose or 
willingness to commit an act or to make an omission; 
it does not require any intent to violate . . . the 
probation condition and does notnecessarily involve 
bad faith." (In the Matter of Taggart, supra, 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. atp. 309.) Respondent admits his 

8. The State Bar requested in its Motion to Revoke Probation 
that respondent be actually suspended from the practice oflaw 
for two years, which equaled the entire suspension stayed by 
the September 20, .2000 Supreme Court order, and that he be 
placed on involuntary inactive enrollment pursuant to Busi­
ness and Professions Code section 6007, subdivision ( d). 
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untimely payments and probation reports and the 
evidence in the record supports these were purpose­
ful acts. Accordingly, we affirm the hearingjudge's 
culpability finding that respondent ·wilfully breached 
the terms of his probation. 

B. Aggravation 

In analyzing aggravating circumstances, we take 
into account the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for 
Professional Misconduct, recognizing that they are to 
be considered as guidelines and construed in light of 
the decisional law. (In the Matter of Respondent F 
(Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 17, 
30.) 

1. Prior Record of Discipline 

(1] The hearing judge gave little weight to 
respondent's prior discipline because he found that 
"the nature of the violations in this matter do not raise 
a serious concern about public protection or demon­
strate that Respondent has failed to undertake steps 
towards rehabilitation." We disagree. This is the third 
matter that has been brought by the State Bar as the 
result of respondent's failure to make timely restitu­
tion to Allen. 9 At this point, respondent should have a 
heightened awareness of his need for strict compli­
ance with his reporting and payment obligations. The 
fact that his present probation violations are closely 
related to his past disciplinary infractions raises con­
cerns about respondent's rehabilitation. (In the 
Matter of Broderick, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 138, 151.) Ordinarily, when there is a close 
nexus between previous misconduct and the present 
probation violation, a substantially greater degree of 
discipline is needed than would otherwise be neces­
sary. (In the Matter of Tiernan (Review Dept. 
1996) 3 Cal. StateBarCt.Rptr. 523, 528.)Moreover, 
respondent's failure to seek a modification of his 
restitution obligations when his financial difficulties 
continued to plague him is inexplicable, since he 
previously sought a modification of the payment 

9. This is the fifth disciplinary matter involving respondent, 
taking into accountthe original proceedings involvingAllcn and 
the other client matter involving trust account violations. 
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terms in an earlier proceeding. We assign significant 
weight in aggravation because ofrespondent's prior 
disciplinary record. (Std. l .2(b )(i).) 

2. Multiple Acts of Misconduct, Including 
Uncharged Misconduct 

We agree with the hearing judge's finding in 
aggravation that respondent committed multiple acts 
of charged and uncharged misconduct. (Std. 
1.2(b)(ii).) We simply cannot ignore the proven 
charges that he was late in his payments on five 
occasions and with one of his probation reports. In 
addition, we consider in aggravation the 14 late 
payments and 6 untimely quarterly reports, which 
were proven by a preponderance of the evidence 
below as uncharged probation violations. (Edwards 
v. State Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3d at pp. 35-36.) As a 
consequence of these multiple violations, the State 
Bar was required on at least seven occasions to 
contact respondent. The repeated need of the State 
Bar to intervene in order "to seek respondent's 
• compliance with duties he voluntarilyundertook was 
inconsistent with the self-governing nature of proba­
tion as a rehabilitative part of the attorney disciplinary 
system." (In the Matter of Gorman (Review Dept. 
2003) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 567, 573.) 

3. Additional Aggravating Circumstances 

We agree with the hearing judge, who rejected 
the State Bar's claim as aggravation the uncharged 
misconduct of a trust account violation arising from a 
trust account check issued to Allen for $600 for a 
restitution payment. The· State Bar offered no evi­
dence to rebut respondent's testimony that the funds 
that were withdrawn to pay Allen were his fees and 
not funds owed to clients. 

We alsodonotgive any weight in aggravation to 
the State Bar's claim of acts of moral turpitude when 
respondent signed under penalty of perjury nine 
quarterly reports attesting to the timely payment of 
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restitution when he knew the payments had been paid 
late. At the time he signed the reports, respondent 
was current with his payments and he therefore 
believed he could attest to his compliance with his 
probation conditions. [2] The State Bar also asserts 
as aggravation that pursuant to standard 1.2(b)(iv) 
respondent significantly harmed his client each time 
he failed to make timely restitution payments and 
causedhann to the administration of justice each time 
he violated his probation and required additional 
efforts by the State Bar to obtain his compliance. 
While we agree that respondent's failures to timely 
make restitution were numerous, we do not believe 
that these failures should be considered as separate 
and independent bases of aggravation since, to a 
great extent, the harm was inherent in the probation 
violations and therefore is duplicative. (In the Matter 
of Hunter (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 63, 76.) The appropriate level of discipline 
should not depend on howmanyrulesofprofessional 
misconduct or statutes proscribe the same miscon­
duct. (In the Matter of Davis (Review Dept. 2003) 
4 Cal State Bar Ct. Rptr. 576, 594; In the Matter of 
Torres (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 138, 148.) 

Finally, the State Bar asserts as an aggravating 
circumstance that respondent lacked candor in ac­
cordance with standard l.2(b)(vi), when he testified 
that he believed he had to be in ful) compliance before 
he could file a probation report. Although the hearing 
judge stated that "the Court is not convinced as to the 
accuracy ofRespondent' s statements in this regard," 
he did not make a finding that respondent lacked 
candor. We are not inclined to substitute our own 
credibility determination on this record. (See Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a).) 

C. Mitigation 

I. Financial Hardship and Good Faith Efforts 

We agree that the hearingjudge properly consid­
ered in nutigation respondent's prolonged financial 
problems, which interfered with his ability to make 
timely payments. We further adopt the judge's find­
ing that respondent made a good faith effort to meet 
his restitution obligations when he was able. (Std. 
1.2(e)(ii); In the Matter of Lybbert (Review Dept. 
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1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 297, 304; In the 
Matter of Mapps (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. l, 13.) As evidence of his good faith 
effort to comply with his restitution obligations, we 
consider that respondent in fact brought himself 
current with all of his probation conditions. (In the 
Matter of Broderick, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 138,150.) We find his successful struggle to 
ultimately meet his obligations in spite of substantial 
fmancial hardship reflects a positive attitude toward 
his probation and demonstrates his understanding of 
the rehabilitative and public policy goals of disciplin­
ary probation. (In the Matter of Taggart, supra, 4 
Cal State Bar Ct. Rptr. 302, 312.) We therefore 
assign weight in mitigation to respondent's belated, 
but complete compliance with his probation condi­
tions. Nevertheless, we discount this additional 
evidence in mitigation to some extent because on 
several occasions respondent brought himself cur­
rent only after being notified by the probation unit of 
his delinquencies. (In the Matter of Rose (Review 
Dept. 1997)3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 646, 659;/nthe 
Matter of Tieman, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
523,530) 

2. Candor and Cooperation with Victim 

The hearingjudge also found as mitigating cir­
cumstances that respondent kept in contact with 
Allen and displayed cooperation and candor with her 
abouthisrepaymentdifficulties.(Std. l.2(e)(v).)Ms. 
Allen stated that she was aware of the financial 
constraints respondent faced because he had called 
her "a few times over that past several years" about 
his inability to make a payment and that he always 
was courteous when he called. But the record also 
shows that there were times when Allen called the 
State Bar to enlist assistance with timely payments. 
We accordingly give only slight mitigation for 
respondent's sporadic cooperation and candor with 
the victim. 

3. Recognition of the Seriousness of 
Wrongdoing 

The hearing judge found in mitigation that re­
spondent recognized his wrongdoing and was 
remorseful. (Std. 1.2( e )( vii).) We question the depth 
of respondent's understanding of the seriousness of 

f _; 
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his misconduct. When asked ifit was importantto him 
if he kept current with his restitution payments, he 
testified: "[O]ften I am confronted with a difficult 
decision about where to allocate the available re­
sources. And sometimes I've had to make a very 
difficult choice. And June Allen has unfortunately 
had to wait a couple of - a few times." [Emphasis 
added.] There is an element of denial in this testi­
mony. In contrast to his characterization of a ''few'' 
late payments, the evidence in this probation revoca­
tion proceeding disclosed respondent was late at least 
19 times. Counterbalancing our concern is evidence 
that in spite of numerous lapses in respondent's timely 
compliance, in no instance did respondent ignore or 
disavow his obligations, and indeed in each and every 
instance of the 27 payments due to Allen and the 
various late probation reports, respondent ultimately 
brought himself current once he was able to do so. 
Additional evidence of respondent's recognition of 
his problems was his affirmative efforts to remedy his 
"roller coaster" financial situation by actively seeking 
clients who will retain him on an hourly basis. On 
balance, there is sufficient evidence to find slight 
mitigation because o fhis appreciation of the nature of 
his misconduct. 

4. Community Service 

The hearingjudge also gave respondent mitiga­
tive credit for his contributions to the community in the 
form of volunteer work at a veteran's center and his 
assistance to an elderly widow. He also noted 
respondent's regular attendance at his synagogue. 
We also give some weightto his community contribu­
tions in mitigation. (Std. 1.2(e)(vi).) 

D. Level ofDiscipline 

(3) As sympathetic as we can be with respondent's 
claim that ifhe is actually suspended from practice for 
an extended period, he will be unable to make timely 
restitution payments, we cannot excuse a degree of 
discipline thatis othernise warranted. If avoidance of 
actual suspension were a prerequisite for respondent's 
continued payment, it would have been more appro­
priate for respondent to have resolved his restitution 
obligation at a time when the State Bar gave him 
ample opportunity to do so, thereby obviating this very 
proceeding. 
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According to the State Bar, comparable proba­
tion cases warrant more than a 90-day actual 
suspension. In the absence of the mitigation evidence, 
we would agree. "[TJhere has been a wide range of 
discipline imposed for probation violations frommerely 
extending probation ... to a revocation of the full 
amount of the stayed suspension and imposition of 
that amount as an actual suspension." (In the Matter 
of Gorman, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 567, 
573 .) In determining the appropriate level of disci­
pline, we look to the decisional law for guidance. (In 
re Morse, supra, 11 Cal.4th 184,207 .) At one end of 
the disciplinary spectrum is our recent decision in In 
the Matter of Gorman, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 567. In that case, Gorman was two months late 
in making his restitution payment of the principal 
which amounted to a total of $620, and he was nine 
months late in making the 10 percent interest pay­
ment. He also did not timely attend the State Bar's 
Ethics School.We recommended that 30 days' actual 
suspension be added as a condition to the hearing 
judge's recommendation of a two- year probation 
period, because we found additional aggravation in 
the fact that repeated reminders and pressure from 
the State Bar were necessary to ensure completion of 
restitution and also that the attorney improperly listed 
the Yolo County District Attorney's Office in the 
pleadings' caption ( where Gorman was a deputy 
district attorney) when that office was not a party to 
the proceedings. (Id. at pp. 573-574.) 

In the Matter of Howard (Review Dept. 1993) 
2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 445, another probation 
revocation matter, also is instructive. In that case the 
hearing judge imposed 90 days' actual suspension 
because the respondent failed to submit quarterly 
probation reports and to timely deliver certain finan­
cial records pertaining to a former client to her 
accountant. Howard failed to answer the notice to 
show cause and his default was entered. We found 
culpability based on the failure to deliver the client's 
financial records and the failure to file two quarterly 
reports, and we concluded that one year actual 
suspension was appropriate and imposed a standard 
1.4( c )( ii) requirement before his resumption of prac­
tice. (Id. atpp. 451 A53.) An important concern to us 
in Howard -not present in the instant case- was the 
attorney's utter lack of cooperation with the State 
Bar, as evidenced by his default and his failure to turn 
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over financial records, which prevented the accoun­
tant from assessing whether disciplinary restitution 
was appropriate. (Id. at pp. 451-452.) 

In the Matter of Tiernan, supra, 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 523, is illustrative of the cases that have 
imposed one year actual suspension. In Tiernan, the 
attorney was on disciplinary probation and the State 
Bar sought revocation on the grounds that he wilfully 
failed to cooperate with his probation monitor and 
failed to submit two quarterly reports. The hearing 
judge recommended, inter alia, the attorney be actu­
ally suspended for six months. We found as aggravation 
Tieman's record of four prior discipline matters, 
including an earlier probation revocation matter be­
cause of his failure to file his probation reports. (Id. 
atp. 528.) We also found as aggravation six multiple 
acts of misconduct: four untimely probation reports 
(including two late probation reports that were not 
charged but were proven at the hearing); one act of 
failing to cooperate with his probation monitor; and 
the filing of a quarterly report that was defective. (Id. 
atpp. 529-530.) Weconcludedthatsixmonths actual 
suspension was inadequate and instead recommended 
one year actual suspension ( including the time spent 
on involuntary inactive enrollment) because of the 
aggravating circumstances and lack of mitigation. 
(Id. at pp. 527, 531.) The violations in Tiernan are 
similar to the ones we have in the instant case and 
similar aggravation was present (i.e., multiple viola­
tions of the same probations conditions, and prior 
misconduct that was the same or similar to the 
present misconduct). A major distinction, however, is 
there was no mitigation evidence in Tiernan (Id. atp. 
527), whereas thereis some mitigation in this matter. 

The case of In the Matter of Hunter (Review 
Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 81, is distin­
guishable from this case because Hunter failed to 
make about $1,166.50 ofrequired restitution in the 
total amountof$1,766. He also failed to timely submit 
a quarterly report. Further defects in his probation 
reports were considered aggravating as was his 
uncooperative conduct in the hearing below. We 
considered the aggravating circumstances to out­
weigh the few mitigating ones, which consisted of 
emotional difficulties experienced. by Hunter and 
favorable character evidence. We recommended, 
and the Supreme Court imposed, actual suspension of 
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one year and until Hunter provided proof of restitu­
tion. 

In the Matter of Broderick, supra, 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 13 8 is also more serious than the present 
case. Broderick failed to make any of the required 
restitution of $4,466.50 plus interest and filed no 
quarterly reports.We also found Broderick culpable 
of misconduct in an original disciplinaryproceeding as 
well. We gave several mi ti gating circumstances conw 
siderableweight but also considered three aggravating 
ones, including the failure to obtain required psycho­
logical counseling. For the probation violations, the 
Supreme Court imposed a one-year actual suspen­
sion. 

Finally, In the Matter of Taggart, supra, 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 302 is a more serious probation 
revocation case. Attorney Taggart had two previous 
suspensions and was required to pay $1,528 plus 
interest arising from discovery sanctions the attorney 
was ordered to pay. The attorney failed to make any 
of the restitution payments over a three-year period. 
Indeed, four days before the Supreme Court's disci­
plinary order became effective, Taggart filed a chapter 
7 bankruptcy petition and sought to have the restitu­
tion obligation discharged. We were unwilling to 
consider his financial difficulties as mitigation be­
cause the evidence did not satisfy the evidentiary 
standard. (Id. at p. 311.) In aggravation, we consid­
ered his prior record of discipline. (Ibid.) We 
reconnnended six months' actual suspension. 

III. RECOMMENDATION. 

[4a) Protection of the public and rehabilitation of 
the attorney are the primary aims of disciplinary 
probation. (In the Matter of Broderick, supra, 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138, 151.) Itis for this reason 
that discipline imposed for the wilful violation of 
probation often calls for substantial discipline as a 
reflection of the seriousness with which compliance 
with probationary duties is held. An attorney who 
wilfully vi.olates a signi fie ant condition of probation, 
such as restitution, can anticipate actual suspension 
as the expected result, absent compelling mitigating 
circumstances. Here, respondent should have recog­
nized the serious consequences of his failures to 
timely pay restitution and file quarterly reports be-
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cause of his previous encounters with the State Bar 
disciplinary system. We are thus constrained to 
assign serious sanctions to respondent's numerous 
probation violations. (In the Matter of Tieman, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 523, 530-531.) 
Furthermore, when, as here, an attorney commits 
multiple violations of the same probation condition, 
the gravity of each successive violation increases, 
resulting in more severe discipline. (Id. at p. 5 31.) 

[4b] Balancing all relevant facts and circum­
stances to reach the appropriate recommendation of 
degree of discipline (e.g., Gary v. State Bar (1988) 
44 Cal.3d 820, 828), we find that the 90-day actual 
suspension recommended by the hearing judge is 
sufficient to achieve the goals of attorney disciplinary 
probation, but that the recommendation of the hearing 
judge should be modified to include an additional 
condition that requires respondent's continued actual 
suspension until restitution is fully paid to Allen. This 
is intended as an incentive to respondent to be pro­
active in his efforts to satisfy his restitution obligations 
to Allen and bring to a conclusion this 10-year saga 
with the State Bar. We also believe the added 
condition of90 days' actual suspension and until full 
restitution is paid is necessary in recognition of the 
past efforts by the State Bar that were needed to 
ensure respondent's timely and full compliance. In 
reaching this conclusion, we take into account 
respondent's belated but complete satisfaction of his 
restitution and reporting conditions in the face of 
ongoing financial difficulties, the fact that all of the 
violations relate to one client matter, and that the 
client has represented respondent has shown con­
cern about his inability to pay and exhibited 
courteousness towards her. The need to protect the 
public by imposing a significantly longer period of 
stayed suspension is therefore diminished. 

We, accordingly, recommend that the stay of 
suspension previously ordered in Supreme Court 
case number SO89894 should be set aside, and in its 
place a new order should be issued by the Court 
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directing that respondent be suspended for 90 days 
and until restitution is fully paid as set forth in the 
Court's order, and further until he furnishes satisfac­
tory proof to the State Bar's Office of Probation of 
full satisfaction ofhis restitution obligations. Should 
respondent's actual suspension exceed two years, he 
shall provide proof ofhis rehabilitation and fitness to 
practice in accordance with standard 1.4( c )(ii). Ad­
ditionally, we recommend that respondent be ordered 
to comply with the provisions of rule 955 of the 
California Rules of Court and to perform the acts 
specified in subdivisions (a) and ( c) of that rule within 
30 and 40 calendar days, respectively, after the 
effective date of the Supreme Court order in this 
matter. 

In view of respondent's passage of the profes­
sional responsibility examination and his ultimate 
completion of the State Bar's Ethics School, we do 
not recommend that he be required to again complete 
those requirements. We do recommend that the State 
Bar be awarded costs in accordance with the provi­
sions of Business and Professions Code section 
6086. l0andthatsuchcostsbepayableinaccordance 
with Business and Professions Code section 6140. 7. 

We concur: 
STOVITZ, P. J. 
REMKE,J.* 

* Hon. Joann Remke, Hearing Department Judge, sitting by 
designation, pursuant to the provisions ofrule 305(c), Rules 
of Procedure of the State Bar. 
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HEADNOTES 

[1] 511 Aggravation-Prior Record-Found 

(2 a-d] 

Contrary to the hearingjudge 's conclusion, the weight to be accorded to respondent' sprior discipline 
should not be diminished. Although the prior discipline was remote in time it was serious in nature, 
and respondent's prior discipline was properly be considered in circumstances where an attorney 
has been disbarred, reinstated, and committed further misconduct 

1010 Disbarment 
Even though many years have passed since respondent's first discipline case, it was apparent that 
the discipline that was administered to him over the course of the many years, which included the 
ultimate sanction of disbarment, did not suc_ceed in imparting to him an understanding of the duties 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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of an attorney to his clients and to the public. Six years after being reinstated to the practice oflaw 
following his disbarment, respondent again engaged in serious wrongdoing that caused considerable 
hann to his clients. He repeatedly failed to file necessary documents for his clients, failed to appear 
at numerous scheduled hearings, failed to comply with several colll1 orders, failed to return his 
clients' files and money, avoided his clients' attempts to communicate with him, and then, when he 
did speak to his clients, misled them as to the status of their affairs. Further, respondent failed to 
cooperate with the State Bar and failed to participate in the State Bar Court disciplinaryproceedings. 
Under the circumstances, the risk of respondent repeating his misconduct would be considerable 
ifhe was merely, once again, suspended from the practice of law. The purpose of a disciplinary 
proceeding is not punitive but to inquire into the fitness of an attorney to continue in that capacity 
for the protection of the public, the colll1s and the legal profession. The combined record of 
respondent's past and present misconduct amply demonstrated his unfitness to continue to practice. 
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270.31 
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OPINION 

WATAI,J.: 

The State Bar requests review of a decision 
recommending that respondent Alvin Gilbert Tenner 
be actually suspended from the practice of law for 
two years. Respondent did not file responses to the 
notices of disciplinary charges in this proceeding and 
his default was entered. He was found culpable of2 l 
counts of misconduct involving four client matters. 
The misconduct included the failure to perform legal 
services competently, failure to communicate, im­
proper withdrawal, failure to release client files, 
failure to maintain respect for the courts, failure to 
report judicial sanctions, failure to cooperate with the 
State Bar, failure to return unearned fees, and con­
duct involving moral turpitude. 

Respondent was admitted to the practice oflaw 
in 1965, was disbarred in 19 86, and was reinstated to 
the practice of law in 1992. The misconduct in the 
present case occurred between 1998 and 2001. The 
State Bar argues on review that respondent should be 
dis barred for a second time. We have independently 
reviewed the record (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 951.5; 
Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a); In re Morse 
(1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 207), and we agree. 

FINDINGS OF FACTS AND 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

The State Bar does not contest the hearing 
judge's findings of fact and conclusions oflaw. Based 
on our independent review of the record, we adopt 
them, and briefly summarize them as follows: 

A. The Sampo Matter 

In November 1997, Tony Sampo employed re­
spondent to represent him in a civil action against an 
auto dealer and a bank. Respondent received $1,000 
as a non-refundable retainer with the remaining fees 
to be paid out of any settlement or award received in 
the case. In September 1998, respondent filed a 
lawsuit on behalf of Sampo against the defendants. A 
trial date in September 1999 was eventually set. 

IN THE MATTER OF TENNER 

(Review Dept. 2004) 4Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 688 

In July 1999, the defendants filed and served on 
respondent motions for summary judgment Respon­
dent did not file any opposition to the motions or 
appear at the hearing. The motions were granted and 
the trial date was vacated. 

Copies of the proposed summary judgments 
were served on respondent, but he did not respond. 
Respondent was served with notices of entry of 
judgment, but took no action to set aside the judg­
ments within the six-month period permitted by statute. 

In September 1999, the defendants filed and 
served on respondent memoranda of costs and attor­
ney fees. Respondent did not file an opposition or 
appear at the hearing. The court awarded costs and 
fees totaling $28,610. Respondent was served with 
the court's ruling, but took no action. 

Respondent did not inform Sampo that summary 
judgments were granted, that the trial date was 
vacated and that Sampo was liable to the defendants 
for the payment of costs and attorney fees. In 
September 1999, Sampo's son, Robert, telephoned 
respondent on behalf of Sampo to confirm the trial 
date. Respondent told Robert that the trial had been 
continued and a new date had not been set. In 
October 1999, respondent told Robert that the trial 
had been rescheduled by the judge to April 2000. 

In November 1999, Sampo received notice that 
an abstract of judgment had been filed against his 
property. Robert contacted respondent on behalf of 
his father. Respondent told Robert that he was 
unaware of a judgment and that he would check into 
the matter and get back to him. In the following two 
months, Robert made numerous attempts to contact 
respondent by telephone and letter. Respondent did 
not return Robert's calls or otherwise communicate 
with Sampo or Robert. 

When respondent did not respond to Sampo's 
inquiries, Sampo hired attorney Vic Rodriguez 
(Rodriguez) to assist him in determining what had 
occurred. In early February 2000, Rodriguez wrote to 
respondent, advising him to immediately file a motion 
to setasidethejudgments or else Rodriguez would do 
so and seek costs and sanctions against respondent. 
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Respondent delayed until the end ofFebruary 2000 to 
file the motion. The court denied the motion. 

Rodriguez thereafter filed a motion to vacate the 
judgments based upon respondent's misconduct. 
Rodriguez notified respondent by mail to appear at the 
hearing on the matter and requested that respondent 
immediatelyfile oppositions to the summary judgment 
motions. Respondent did not file the oppositions, nor 
did he appear at the hearing. 

In March 2000, the court granted the motion and 
set aside the judgments. Due to respondent's failure 
to appear at the hearing, the court dismissed respon• 
dent as Sampo' s attorney and substituted Rodriguez 
in his place. The court also ordered respondent to pay 
$3,500 to the bank and $1,400 to the auto dealer for 
their attorneys' fees. 

In April 2000, Rodriguez requested that respon• 
dent return Sampo' s file. Thereafter, Rodriguez made 
additional requests for the file, but to no avail. 

Respondent did not comply with the court's 
order to pay the attorneys' fees. The auto dealer filed 
an application for issuance of an order to show cause 
against respondent, which was set for hearing in 
August 2000. Respondent did not appear at the 
hearing nor did he pay the attorneys' fees, resulting in 
the court's issuance of an order for respondent to 
appear in September 2000. Respondent was served 
with the court's order. Respondent did not appear at 
the hearing and the court ordered respondent to pay 
the auto dealer's counsel additional fees of $1,103 
and sanctions of $1,000. The court also issued an 
attachment for defaulter. Four days latterrespondent 
appeared in court, the attachment was recalled, and 
the sanctions were increased to $1,500. At no time did 
respondent notify the court that he would not appear 
at the scheduled court hearings. Respondent did not 
report the sanctions imposed against him to the State 
Bar of California. 

1. A 11 further references to rules are to these Rules unless 
otherwise noted. 
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On September 7, October 13, and October 26, 
2000; and August 8, 2001, a State Bar investigator 
wrote to respondent regarding the Sampo matter and 
requested a written reply. Although respondent con• 
tacted the State Bar and sought additional time to 
respond to the letters, he never did. 

The hearing judge concluded that respondent 
was culpable of: (1) failing to perform legal services 
competently in violation of rule 3• l l 0(A) of the Rules 
of Professional Conduct1 by failing to respond to the 
SlllTllllary judgment motions and cost memoranda or 
appear at numerous court hearings; (2) failing to 
communicate with his client in violation of section 
6068, subdivision (m), of the Business and Profes. 
sions Code2 by failing to inform Sampo that the 
defendants obtained summary judgments against 
Sampo, that Sampo' s trial had been vacated, and that 
Sampo was liable for the payment of costs and 
attorney fees, and by failing to return Robert's nu• 
merous telephone calls; (3) improperly withdrawing 
from employment in violation of rule 3. 700(A)(2) by, 
in effect, withdrawing from Sampo' s case in or about 
July 1999 when he ceased responding to motions filed 
against his client and attending court hearings in the 
matter; ( 4) failing to promptly return his client's file in 
violation of rule 3.;.700(D)(l) by failing to return 
Sampo' s file as requested; ( 5) failing to maintain the 
respect due to the courts in violation of section 6068, 
subdivision (b ), by repeatedly failing to appear at 
numerouscourthearingsandbyfailingtocomplywith 
various court orders requiring respondent to reim~ 
burse the defendants' fees; ( 6) failing to obey a court 
order in violation of section 6103 by failing to comply 
with the court orders to pay fees to the defendants 
and by failing to appear at the order to show cause 
hearings; (7) engaging in acts of moral turpitude in 
violation of section 6106 by misrepresenting to Sampo 
and Robert that the trial in the matter had been 
continued when in factitwas vacated, and by denying 
that he had any knowledge of the summary judgments 
against Sampo; (8) failing to report sanctions in 
violation of section 6068, subdivision ( o )(3), by failing 

2. All further references to sections are to this Code unless 
otherwise noted. 

1 
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to report to the State Bar the $1,500 sanctions 
imposed against him; and (9) failing to cooperate with 
the State Barin violation of section 6068, subdivision 
(i), by failing to respond to the State Bar's foUT letters 
or participate in the investigation of the Sampo matter. 

B. The Sirney Matter 

fu March 1997, Jon and Nancy Sirney hired 
respondent to prepare an action in a civil case. 
Respondent filed a complain tin July 1998, but did not 
perform discovery or prosecute the matter further. In 
November 1998, the coUTt issued an order to show 
cause for the failure to prosecute the case. Respon­
dent did not appear at the hearing and the court 
dismissed the case. Respondent was later able to 
have the case reinstated. fu December 1998, the 
defendant filed a motion to strike and a demurrer to 
the complaint. Respondent filed an opposition to the 
demurrer, but did not cite any case law or authorities. 
The demurrer was granted withprejudicein April 1999. 

During the time he represented the Sirneys, 
respondent communicated with them on only two 
occasions. In February and June 1998, respondent 
sent the Simeys drafts of the complaint he proposed 
to file. Respondentnever advised the Sirneys that the 
demurrer was granted or that their complaint was 
dismissed. 

The hearing judge concluded that respondent 
was culpable of: ( l) failing to perform legal services 
competentlyinviolationofrule3~1 IO(A)byfailingto 
conduct discovery or pursue the Simeys' case and by 
failing to cite any case law or authorities to support his 
opposition to the demurrer; and (2) failing to commu­
nicate with his client in violation of section 6068, 
subdivision (m), by failing to advise his clients of the 
demurrer and dismissal. 

C. The Baker Matter 

h1 April 1998, Eugenia Baker hired respondent to 
represent her in a civil matter. Baker paid Respon­
dent $1,000 as a non-refundable retainer. In April 
1999, respondent filed a complaint and continued to 
perform services for Baker until October 1999, when 
the defendants filed cross-complaints against Baker. 
Respondent did not file any response to the cross-
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complaints and did not cooperate with the discovery 
proceedings. In February 2000, the court issued an 
order compelling discovery. Respondent did not com­
ply with the discovery order norinformBaker of the 
order. The court dismissed Baker's complaint and 
entered default judgments against Baker in the sum of 
$61,512 in June and July 2000. 

In March 200 l, respondent advised Baker that 
the complaint had been dismissed and that he would 
take action to set aside the default judgments; but he 
didnotdoso,nordidheevertellhertheamountofthe 
default judgments that had been entered against her. 
In March2001, Bakerrequested the return of her file, 
but respondent failed to do so. 

In July and August 2001, a State Bar investigator 
wrote to respondent regarding the Baker matter and 
requested a written reply. The State Bar requested 
the same during telephone conversations with re­
spondent on four separate occasions in August and 
November 2001, and March 2002. Respondent ac­
knowledged receiving the State Bar's letters and 
promised that he would send a response, but he never 
did. 

The hearingjudge found respondent culpable of: 
(1) failing to perform legal services competently in 
violation of rule 3-11 O(A) by failing to respond to the 
cross-complaints, failing to cooperate with discovery 
and failing to set aside the defaultjudgments; (2) 
failing to connnunicate with his client in violation of 
section 6068, subdivision ( m), by failing to inform his 
client that discovery was ordered, that the complaint 
was dismissed and that default judgments had been 
entered against her; (3) failing to promptly return his 
client's file in violation of rule 3-700(0)(1) by failing 
to return Baker's file as requested by Baker; and ( 4) 
failing to cooperate with the State Bar in violation of 
section 6068, subdivision (i), by failing to reply to the 
State Bar's investigatory letters or participate in the 
investigation of the matter. 

D. The Chapin Matter 

In June 1998, Kathleen Chapin hired respondent 
to represent her in a civil action. Chapin paid respon­
dent $300 as a retainer. Respondent did not perform 
any services on her behalf. Chapin telephoned respon-
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dent on numerous occasions to inquire about the 
status of her case. Respondent did not return her 
telephone calls. In March 2000, Chapin requested the 
return of the unearned fees and her file so that she 
could hire new counsel. She repeated her request in 
August 2000. Respondent did not return her file or fees. 

In June and August 2000, a State Bar investiga­
tor requested that respondent file a written response 
to Chapin's complaint. In September 2000, respon­
dent contacted the State Bar, acknowledged receipt 
of the letters and promised to respond within a week. 
The State Bar requested that respondent file a reply 
on three separate occasions. Finally, in May 2001, 
respondent filed a response. 

The hearing judge concluded that respondent 
was culpable of: (1) failing to perform legal services 
competently in violationofrule3-11 0(A) by failing to 
perform any services for which he was employed; (2) 
failing to communicate with his client in violation of 
section 6068, subdivision ( m), by failing to respond to 
Chapin' snwnerous calls; (3) improperly withdrawing 
from employment in violation of rule 3. 700(A)(2) by, 
in effect, withdrawing from the case when he ceased 
to provide services to Chapin; (4) failing to return 
unearned fees in violation of rule 3-700(D)(2) by 
failing to return Chapin' s retainer; ( 5) failing to return 
his client's file in violation of rule 3-700(D)(l) by 
failing to return Chapin' s file upon her request; and 
( 6) failing to cooperate with the State Bar in violation 
of section 6068, subdivision (i), by failing to timely 
reply to State Bar's investigatory inquiries. 

E. Mitigating and Aggravating Circumstances 

No mitigating factors were found in this default 
proceeding. In aggravation, the hearing judge found 
that respondent had a record of prior discipline. (Std. 
1.2(b)(i), Rules Proc. of State Bar, tit. IV, Stds. for 
Atty. Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct [hereafter 

3. (1 J As we find this issue dispositive, we do not address the 
State Bar's remaining contentions. We note, however, that we 
find no support for the hearing judge's conclusion that the 
weight ofrespondent' s prior discipline should be diminished. 
Although the priordiscipline was remote in time it was serious 
in nature (In the Matter of Hanson (Review Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. 
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"stds."].) In Tenner v. State Bar (1978) 20 Cal.3d 
878, respondent was suspended for three years, 
stayed, and placed on probation for three years, for 
client abandonmentand misrepresentation. In Tenner 
v. State Bar (1980) 28 Cal.3d 202, respondent was 
suspended for four years, stayed, and placed on 
probation forfouryears fornrisappropriation, misrep­
resentation and forgery. In Bar Misc. 4835, filed 
December 19, 1984, respondent was suspended for 
five years, stayed, and placed on probation for five 
years with three years actual suspension for failure to 
pay client funds and conuningling in 1982. In Bar 
Misc. 5104, filed April 16,1986, respondent was 
disbarred for endorsement of checks without consent 
and acts of moral turpitude. 

The hearingjudge concluded, however, that the 
aggravating weight of this prior discipline should be 
diminished because the misconduct underlying the 
prior discipline occurred in the 1970's and early 
1980's and therefore was remote in time, and be­
cause the prior discipline had already been considered 
as aggravation in respondent's prior discipline cases. 

Other aggravating circumstances found by the 
hearing judge were that respondent committed mul­
tiple acts of wrongdoing ( std. 1.2(b )(ii)); significantly 
harmed his clients (std. l.2(b)(iv)); demonstrated 
indifference toward rectification of or atonement for 
the consequences of his misconduct (std. l.2(b)(v)); 
and failed to participate in this disciplinary matter 
before the entry of his default (std. l .2(b)(vi)). 

DISCUSSION 

The State Bar advances several arguments on 
review in support of its assertion that respondent 
should be disbarred. Chief among them is its argu­
ment that, in view of respondent's past and present 
misconduct, disbarment is warranted. We agree. 3 

State Bar Ct. Rptr. 703,713), andrespondent'spriordisciplinc 
may properly be considered in circumstances such as the 
present where an attorney has been disbarred, reinstated, and 
committed further misconduct (Eschwig v. State Bar ( 1969) 
I Cal.3d 8, 18-19; Pearlin v. State Bar (1963) 59 Cal.2d 834, 
834-835). 
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Respondent's first prior disciplinary matter in­
volved misconduct in three client matters. In each 
matter, respondent was hired to represent the client 
ina civil matter and then failed to perform the services 
for which he was hired. In one of the cases, respon­
dent failed to appear at numerous court hearings, 
which resulted in the dismissal of the case, and in 
another, respondent failed to file an answer for his 
clientwhichresultedinadefaultjudgmentagainsthis 
client. Further, respondent failed to communicate in 
all three matters and made misrepresentations to the 
clients in two of the cases and to the State Bar 
regarding one. The misconduct occurred between 
1972 and 1975. Effective in April 1978, respondent 
was suspended for three years, stayed, and placed on 
probation for three years. Respondent asserted that 
his alcoholism affected him and the Supreme Court 
imposed probation conditions to address that condi­
tion. (Tenner v. State Bar, supra, 20 Cal.3d 878.) 

In his second prior disciplinary matter, respon­
dent settled his clients' tort case in one matter, 
received a settlement draft of $8,000, forged his 
clients' signatures, negotiated the draft, and thereaf­
ter misappropriated a substantial part of the money. 
For fouryears thereafter, respondent misrepresented 
the status of the case to the clients, and after the 
clients found out that the case had settled, falsely 
accused another attorney of forging the check In 
another group of matters, respondent represented six 
clients in civil matters, each of whom had executed 
medical liens, exceeding $3,000 in the aggregate. 
Respondent settled the cases, withheld sums to pay 
the liens, failed to pay them, and misappropriated the 
money for his own use. The misconduct occurred in 
1972-1976. Effective in November 1980, respondent 
was suspended for four years, stayed, and placed on 
probation for four years. Respondent's alcoholism 
was again found to be a factor. The Supreme Court 
observed that the misconduct "would readily warrant 
his disbarment" · but that respondent had demon­
strated strenuous rehabilitative efforts over a 
substantial period of time, including that he had 

4. By request of the State Bar, we take judicial notice under 
Evidence Code sections 452, subdivision (d), and 459 of the 
State Bar Court's decision in respondent's reinstatement case, 
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stopped drinking. (Tenner v. State Bar, supra, 28 
Cal.3d at p. 207.) 

In his third prior disciplinary matter, respondent 
again settled a case, received the settlement funds, 
withheld $2,840 to pay a medical lien, failed to pay the 
medical provider, and misappropriated the money to 
his own use. Respondent also misled the medical 
provider regarding the payment. The misconduct 
occurred in 1980·1982. Effective in January 1985, 
respondent was suspended for five years, stayed, and 
placed on probation for five years with three years' 
actual suspension. (Bar Misc. 4835, filed December 
19, 1984.) 

In his fourth prior disciplinary matter, respondent 
received five checks totaling $2,393 which were 
made payable to himself and a non-client payee, 
signed the name of the other payee without his 
consent, and cashed the checks. The misconduct 
occurred in 19 81. During oral argument to the review 
department in this proceeding in November 1995, 
respondent admitted that he had earlier misled the 
review department as to his rehabilitation from alco­
hol abuse and admitted facts showing clear violations 
of the terms and conditions of his prior discipline. 
Effective in May 1986, respondent was disbarred. 
(Bar Misc. 5104, filed April 16, 1986.) 

In 1992, during the trial ofrespondent' s petition 
for reinstatement, he admitted that he continued to 
drink alcohol until 1985, which was in violation of the 
terms ofhi s prior disciplinary probation, and that he 
had failed to comply timely with rule 955 of the 
California Rules of Court, which was in violation of 
the Supreme Court's order in his prior disciplinary 
matter. Therule 955compliancewasduein 1985 and 
not completed until 1990.4 

Respondent was reinstated to the practice oflaw 
in July 1992. Approximately six years latter he began 
committing the misconduct involved in the present 
case. 

lntheMatterofAlvin G. Tenner, casenumber91-R-03842, filed 
April 6, 1992. We direct our Clerk to make that decision a part 
of the record of this proceeding. 
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[2a] Thus, respondent's past and present disci­
plinaryrecord shows that while acting as an attorney 
respondent failed to perform the legal services for 
which he was hired in at least seven client matters, 
which resulted in the dismissals of his clients' cases 
and judgments against his clients; failed to appear on 
behalfofhis clients at numerous court hearings; failed 
to communicate with his clients; misrepresented the 
status of his clients' cases to lus clients and to the 
State Bar; abandoned his clients; forged signatures 
on checks; falsely accused another attorney of mis­
conduct; misappropriated money belonging to his 
clients and to medical providers; failed to return client 
files; failed to re tum unearned fees; failed to comply 
with numerous court orders, including Supreme Court 
disciplinary orders; failed to report sanctions to the 
State Bar; and failed to cooperate with the State Bar. 

In Twohy v. State Bar ( 1989) 48 Cal .3d 502, the 
attorney's past and then present record of miscon­
duct showed that he had failed to perform services for 
his clients; made false representations to his clients 
regarding settlement of their cases; failed to commu­
nicate with his clients; failed to return unearned fees; 
commingled client funds; failed to return client files; 
failed to appear in court, which resulted in prejudice 
to his client; failed to comply with a court order; and 
failed to cooperate and participate in the State Bar 
disciplinary proceeding. The court found that Twohy' s 
record showed a serious pattern of misconduct in­
volving recurring types of wrongdoing which clearly 
warranted disbarment in the absence of compelling 
mitigating circumstances. (Id. at p. 513.) No such 
circumstances were found and Twohy was dis­
barred. 

Other cases in which an attorney's combined 
record of past and then present misconduct showed 
a similarlywiderange of misdeeds involving recurring 
types of wrongdoing have also resulted in disbarment. 
(See e.g., McMorris v. State Bar (1983) 35 Cal.3d 
77 [failure to perform legal services and failure to 
comrnunicat'e with the clients in five client matters; 
four prior suspensions, which included four instances 
of failure to perform legal services, failure to return an 
advanced fee, misappropriation of$40, and failure to 
comply with the Supreme Court's disciplinary order 
to take and pass the Professional Responsibility 
Examination]; Marcus v. State Bar (1980) 27 Cal.3d 
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199 [ failure to use reasonable diligence on behalf of 
a client in one matter, and failure to perform legal 
services for another, with 12 similar prior acts or 
courses of misconduct; two suspensions from prac­
tice for other types of misconduct]; Grove v. State 
Bar (1967) 66 Cal.2d 680 [ten counts of unprofes­
sional conduct over a period of four years, including 
failure to file or defend suits, retaining fees for 
services not performed, failure to report money 
collected for clients, false representation, and pur­
poseful evasion ofconununication with clients; failure 
to appear at local administrative committee hearing; 
one prior suspension for nonpayment of dues and one 
prior reprimand]; Schullman v. State Bar (1976) 16 
Cal.3d 631 [ abandonment of clients in two instances; 
five prior suspensions over an eleven-year period, 
three for abandoning clients, one for misappropriating 
clients' funds, and one for appearing at legal proceed­
ings while under suspension]; Ridley v. State Bar 
(1972) 6 Cal.3d 551 [over a four-year period, four 
instances of failure to perform services or return fees, 
two instances of failure to file or prosecute actions, 
and making false statements to clients and to the State 
Bar]; Simmons v. State Bar (1970) 2 Cal.3d 719 
[three instances of wilful abandonment of clients 
resulting in harm to them; two prior suspensions for 
misappropriating clients' funds].) 

(2b) The Supreme Court has repeatedly held 
that the habitual disregard by an attorney of the 
interests of his clients combined with the failure to 
communicate with such clients constitute acts of 
moral turpitude justifying disbarment. (McM orri.s v. 
State Bar, supra, 35 Cal.3d at p. 85, and cases cited 
therein.) Respondent's past and present misconduct 
shows an extensive and broad range of misdeeds 
involving recurring types of misconduct, which we 
conclude demonstrate his habitual disregard for the 
interests of his clients and which warrant disbannent 
in the absence of compellingmitigating circumstances. 
Respondent did not participate in this proceeding and 
no mitigating circumstances Were presented or are 
evident from the record before us. 

[2c] We recognize that many years have passed 
since respondent's first discipline case. Neverthe­
less, it is apparent that the discipline that has been 
administered to respondent over the course of these 
many years, which included the ultimate sanction of 
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disbarment, "did not succeed in imparting to him an 
understanding of the duties of an attorney to his 
clients and to the public." (Bruns v. StateBar(l941) 
18 Cal.2d 667, 673; see also Eschwig v. State Bar, 
supra, 1 Cal.3d at p. 19.) Six years after being 
reinstated to the practice oflaw following his disbar­
ment, respondent again engaged in serious wrongdoing 
that caused considerable harm to his clients. He 
repeatedly failed to file necessary documents for his 
clients, failed to appear at numerous scheduled hear­
ings, failed to comply with several court orders, failed 
to return his clients' files and money, avoided his 
clients' attempts to communicate with him, and then, 
when he did speak to his clients, misled themas to the 
status of their affairs. Further, respondent failed to 
cooperate with the State Bar in its investigation of the 
present matters and failed to participate in the State 
Bar Court disciplinary proceedings. Under the cir­
cumstances, we believe that the risk of respondent 
repeating his misconduct would be considerable ifhe 
was merely, once again, suspended from the practice 
of law. 

[2d} As the Supreme Court has held, the "pur­
pose of adisciplinaryproceeding is not punitive but to 
inquire into the fitness of an attorney to continue in 
that capacity for the protection of the public, the 
courts and the legal profession." (Marcus v. State 
Bar, supra, 27 Cal.3d at p. 202.) The combined 
record before us of respondent's past and present 
misconduct amply demonstrates his unfitness to con­
tinue to practice. 

DISCIPLINE 

We therefore recommend that respondent Alvin 
Gilbert Tenner be disb:med from the practice oflaw 
in this state and that his name be stricken from therol 1 
of attorneys licensed to practice. We further recom­
mend that he be ordered to comply with the provisions 
of rule 955 of the California Rules of Court and 

. perform the acts specified in subdivisions (a) and ( c) 
of that rule within 30 and 40 days, respectively, after 
the effective date of the Supreme Court's order in this 
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matter. We further recommend that the State Bar be 
awarded costs pursuant to section 6086. l O of the 
Business and Professions Code and that such costs 
be payable in accordance with section 6140.7 of the 
Business and Professions Code. 

ORDER OF INACTIVE ENROLLMENT 

In view of our disbarment recommendation, it is 
ordered that respondent be enrolled as an inactive 
member of the State Bar. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 
6007, subd. (c)(4).) The inactive enrollment is effec­
tive three days after service of this opinion. (Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, rule 220(c).) 

We concur: 
EPSTEIN, J. 
HONN, J.* 

* Hon. Richard A. Honn, Hearing Judge, sitting by designation 
pursuant to rule 305(e), Rules of Procedure of the State Bar. 

-./ 
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Respondent cooperated with the State Bar' s investigation ofa complaint that one ofhis clients filed against 
him, but the matter was not resolved. Thereafter, the State Bar sent respondent a letter notice of intent to file 
notice of disciplinary charges, which respondent did not receive because his staff made a typographical error 
in the address change notice that he sent to the State Bar when he moved his office earlier that same year. 
Then, the State Bar initiated this original disciplinary proceeding by filing and serving a notice of disciplinary 
charges (NDC). Even though the copy of the NDC that the State Bar served on respondent by mail was 
incorrectly addressed, it was somehow delivered to respondent's new office. 

After retaining counsel, respondent learned that the State Bar had mailed the letter notice of intent to file 
notice of disciplinary charges and that the letter identified two opportunities for him to meet with the State Bar 
in an attempt to resolve the matter before the filing of the NDC. First, he could have meet with the State Bar 
prosecutor 20 days before the filing ofNDC. Second, he could have requested an early neutral evaluation 
conference before a State Bar Court judge. Respondent testified that, ifhe had timely learned of these two 
opportunities, he would have availed himself of them both, and because the State Bar would not recall the NDC 
to provide him with the opportunities to do so, respondent filed a motion to dismiss the proceeding. Later, the 
case was ultimately dismissed without prejudice in the furtherance ofj ustice on the motion of the hearingj udge. 
(Hon. Patrice E. McElroy, State Bar Court Judge.) 

The State Bar sought interlocutory review, contending that the hearing judge erred in dismissing the 
proceeding. The review department denied the State Bar's petition seeking review of the hearing judge's 
dismissal order because it held that the hearingjudge did not abuse her discretion or commit legal error. 

For State Bar: 
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Maria Oropeza 

Michael E. Wine 
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Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the OfficeoftheState Bar Court forthe convenienceofthereader. Onlytheactual textoftheReview Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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lIEADNOTES 
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[1 a-fl 119 Procedure-Other Pretrial Matters 
139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
When significant procedural opportunities are denied a litigant by steps taken during investigation 
before the filing of disciplinary charges, which place a litigant at a substantive disadvantage in the 
ensuing disciplinary proceeding, it is appropriate for State Bar Court to exercise its jurisdiction to 
review those steps after the proceeding is filed. The deprivation of the opportunities (1) for 
respondent to meet with the State Bar prosecuting attorney 20 days before disciplinary charges 
were filed against respondent, which opportunity the State Bar routinely extends as a matter of 
policy, and (2) for respondent to request, in accordance with State Bar Rule of Procedure 75, an 
early neutral evaluation conference with a State Bar Court judge before disciplinary charges were 
filed are both significantprocedural opportunities that the State Bar Courtmayreview upon the filing 
of the formal notice of disciplinary charges. Accordingly, the State Bar Court had the authority to 
assess whether respondent was deprived of these pre~filing opportunities and, if so, to fashion an 
appropriate remedy. 

[2 a-c] 117 Procedure-Dismissal 
135.60 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Dispositions and Costs 
139 . Procedure-Miscellaneous 
165 Adequacy of Hearing Decision 
Rule of Procedure ofStateBar 262, which authorizes proceedings to be dismissed in the furtherance 
ofjustice, is construed in the State Bar Court in the same manner as its analog Penal Code section 
1385 is construed in criminal proceedings. State Bar rule does not permit respondents to make 
motions. Motions may be made only by the State Bar as theprosecutoror a dismissal may be entered 
on State Bar Court's own motion after taking required steps. Hearing judge's dismissal of 
proceeding comported with those required pre-dismissal steps because she issued an order to show 
cause to the parties, allowed for responses from them, considered all appropriate interests, and 
stated in detail her reason for dismissal, and since the hearing judge acted promptly after the 
proceeding was filed and since the dismissal was expressly without prejudice to refiling, review 
department saw no prejudice to the State Bar. 

[3 a-e] 117 Procedure-Dismissal 
135.60 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Dispositions and Costs 
167 Abuse of Discretion 
Hearingj udge did not abuse her discretion in ordering the dismissal of proceeding without prejudice 
in furtherance of justice on her own motion under Rule of Procedure of State Bar 262 as an 
appropriate remedy for the deprivation of the.opportunities (1) for respondent to meet and attempt 
to resolve the matter with the State Bar prosecuting attorney 20 days before any disciplinary charges 
were filed and (2) for respondent to request an early neutral evaluation conference with a State Bar 
Court judge before disciplinary charges were filed because the deprivation of the opportunities 
occurred when, as a consequence of respondent's prior incorrect change of address submission to 
the State Bar, respondent did not receive State Bar's letter notice of intent to file notice of 
disciplinarychargesinfonninghim ofthesepre-filingopportunities. Oncethehearingjudge contemplated 
dismissal under rule 262 and once theuncontrovertedevidence emerged asto how respondent' schange 
of address was mistakenly composed on the change of address form and mistakenly approved by 
respondent ( essentially a typographical error), the hearingjudge was justified in considering the mistake 
to come within the ambit of rule 262 and did not abuse her discretion in ordering dismissal. 
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[4] 119 
139 
194 

Procedure-Other Pretrial Matters 
Procedure-Miscellaneous 
Statutes Outside State Bar Act 
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In absence of specific statute or rule of procedure directing a specified mode of proceeding, it is not 
wrreasonable or arbitrary for a hearing judge to utilize analogous civil procedures to resolve motions. 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P.J.: 

Titis interlocutory review "arises out of a typo." 
(Zamora v. Clayborn Contracting Group, Inc. 
(2002) 28 Cal.4th 249,252.) Shortly after the filing of 
this formal di scipJinaryproceeding by the State Bar's 
Office ofChiefTrial Counsel (State Bar), respondent 
AA 1 moved to dismiss it on the ground that, due to an 
inadvertent error made by his paralegal and respon­
dent in informing the State Bar of his change of 
address, respondent did not receive notices from the 
State Bar that he could participate in certain proce­
dures that could have obviated the filing of formal 
charges. After notice to the parties and an opportu­
nity to brief the issues, thehearingjudgedismissed the 
proceeding in the furtherance of justice, without 
prejudice to the proceeding being refiled. (Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, rule 262(e)(2).)2 The State Bar 
has sought our review, claiming that the hearingjudge 
erred by dismissing the proceeding. 

We hold that the hearing judge did not abuse her 
discretion nor did she commit legal error. The proce­
dural opportunities denied respondent prior to the 
filing of the formal charges were significant, including 
the right to request an "Early Neutral Evaluation 
Conference" (ENE) conducted by a State Bar Court 
judge, pursuant to rule 7 5. Accordingly, we apply our 
decision in In the Matter of Respondent Q (Review 
Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 18 to warrant 
oversight of the State Bar's actions in denying re­
spondent the opportunity to request an early neutral 

1. Because there might not be a pending public proceeding 
involving respondent should our opinion become final, we 
follow our practice in similar matters of omitting respondent's 
name in this published opinion. (E.g., In the Matter of Respon­
dent V (Review Dept. L 995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct Rptr. 442,444, 
fu. L) 

2. Unless noted otherwise, all future references to "rules" are 
to the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar. 

3. Business and Professions Code section 6002.1, subdivision 
(a) requires that members of the State Bar maintain on the 
official records of the State Bar a current office address, in 
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evaluation in this case where the State Bar had 
invoked our Court's jurisdiction by filing formal 
charges. We also hold that the hearing judge neither 
erred nor abused her discretion in dismissing the 
proceeding without prejudice in the furtherance of 
justice as a remedy for what the undisputed evidence 
showed was a typographical error by respondent and 
his staff in the course ofreporting his address change. 

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The essential facts important to this proceeding 
are undisputed, although the parties see the effect of 
some of those facts differently. 

Respondent was admitted to practice over 30 
years ago and has no record of prior discipline. Prior 
to December 2001, the State Bar commenced a 
disciplinary investigation as to whether in a one---client 
matter, respondent wilfully failed to act with the 
ethically required standard of competence or wilfully 
failed to follow legal duties in communicating with his 
client. Between December 200 l and April 2002, 
respondent communicated with a State Bar com­
plaint analyst and a State Bar investigator about the 
matter but it was not resolved at that time. 

According to respondent, in about April 2003, he 
moved offices to a different city in Northern Califor­
nia. He directed his paralegal to prepare address 
change notices to his clients and to the State Bar,3 

This paralegal mistakenly listed the name of 
respondent's city in place of the name of the street on 
which his law office was sited.4 Although respondent 

addition to other information, and that changes to the office 
address be reported to the State Bar within 30 days of the 
change. Unless noted otherwise, all references to sections are 
to the provisions of the Business and Professions Code. 

4. Moreover, the first letter of respondent's office's city 
matched the first letter of the name of the street on which the 
office was located and the city contained a street bearing the 
city's name. By way of example, ifrespondcnt's office were 
located at 9903 Charles St., Cupertino, California, the change 
of address notice to the State Bar incorrectly reported the 
address as "9903 Cupertino St., Cupertino, California." 
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signed the change of address notice to the State Bar, 
he did not detect the error.5 He heard nothing more 
about the Bar's investigation until in December 2003, 
when he received a notice of disciplinary charges 
(NDC)6 which, though addressed certified mail to the 
incorrect street listed on the State Bar's records, 
found its way to respondent's office. As soon as 
respondent received the misaddressed NDC, he 
contacted the State Bar attorney assigned to the case 
and on December 15, 2003, corrected his office 
address on the State Bar's official records. That 
same day, he hired his current counsel who advised 
him of two opportunities in a disciplinary case prior to 
the filing of the NDC, a "20-day meeting" with the 
State Bar and an ENE under rule 7 5. Before that time, 
respondent did not receive notice of either of these 
opportunities, but he alleged that he cooperated fully 
in the investigation process and would have partici­
pated in both the 20---day meeting and the ENE if he 
had received timely notice of those opportunities. 

The record shows that on September 30, 2003, 
the State Bar sent a letter "Notice of Intent to File 
Noti_ce of Disciplinary Charges" to respondent at his 
incorrectly-entered address of record summarizing 
the disciplinary investigation to date, including 
respondent's previous reply to the nature of the 
investigation and stating that, "unless a pre-filing 
settlement" was reached, the State Bar intended to 
file a NDC. This letter stated that the Bar was 
"interested in resolving this matter before filing" the 
NDC and invited respondent to meet within 20 days 
with the State Bar attorney assigned to prosecute the 
case. The letter further stated that, if the planned 
meeting were unsuccessful in reaching a settlement, 
either party may request an ENE conducted by a 
State Bar Court judge per rule 75. This letter notice 
was returned undelivered to the State Bar because of 
the incorrect address. 

S. The record includes a declaration by respondent stating in 
part that his paralegal mistakenly completed his change of 
address fonn to the State Bar and that, although respondent 
signed the incorrect form, he did so inadvertently due to his 
failure to review the form carefully. The record also includes 
a declaration by the paralegal attesting to his incorrect comple­
tion of this change of address form, to his presentation of it to 
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Since the State Bar was unwilling to recall the 
NDC and afford respondent the opportunities of a 
20-day meeting and an ENE based on what respon­
dent claimed was a purely inadvertenterrorin changing 
his address of record, he moved to dismiss under rule 
262( d) 7 on the ground that the proceeding was barred 
by other rules. 

The State Bar opposed this motion on two 
primary grounds: that our court had no power to 
require a 20-day meeting or ENE as those steps exist 
only prior to the filing of an NDC and thus prior to the 
start of our jurisdiction over State Bar Court proceed­
ings; and that rule 262(d) did not apply as no rule 
barred the bringing of the NDC in this matter and that 
respondent had a duty to maintain a correct address 
of record on the State Bar's official records. The 
State Bar offered to reconsider its position if it could 
be shown that respondent was not responsible for the 
incorrect address. When the State Bar researched 
the change of address filed by respondent in April 
2003, it determined that respondent had signed the 
form showing the incorrect address. The State Bar 
accordingly deemed that respondent was responsible 
for the error and refused to afford him an opportunity 
to participate in a 20-day meeting or an ENE. 

On January 30, 2004, the State Bar Court hear­
ing judge assigned to this proceeding issued an order 
to show cause stating her intent to dismiss the NDC, 
under rule 262(e)(2), in the furtherance of justice 
without prejudice to its refiling, based on the inadvert­
ence, mistake or excusable neglect of respondent as 
to the reasons he did not receive his pre-NDC 
opportunities. Per rule 262( e )(3), the hearing judge 
invited responses from the parties. The State Bar 
replied that the principles of mistake, inadvertence 
and excusable neglect did not apply to the relief 
sought by respondent. Respondent reiterated why he 

respondent for signature and~ respondent's signature of it 
without any mention of any error. 

6. The NDC is the initial pleading which starts most public State 
Bar Court disciplinary proceedings. (Rules 2.64, 20, IOI(a).) 

7. Rule 262(d) provides: "A proceeding may be dismissed on 
the ground that it is barred by any applicable statute or rule." 
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believed that he was entitled to an opportunity to a 
20-day meeting and an ENE. 

On February 25, 2004, the hearing judge dis­
missed this proceeding without prejudice in the 
furtherance of justice. She gave as her reasons that, 
solely due to respondent's mistake, surprise, excus­
able neglect or inadvertence, he did not learn of his 
prefiling opportunities and was unable to seek to 
resolve the proceeding before the NDC was filed. 
The judge stated that she had considered the provi­
sions of section 473 of the Code of Civil Procedure, 
the facts set forth by respondent and that no prejudice 
would resul tto the State Bar from a dismissal without 
prejudice. According to the hearing judge, her dis­
missal would allow respondent the possibility of an 
opportunity to resolve this matter before the filing of 
formal proceedings; however, her order did not re­
quire that the parties engage in such proceedings. 
This interlocutoryreview followed. 

On review, the State Bar repeats its contentions 
made below, especially that inadvertence and mis­
take do not support this dismissal in the furtherance of 
justice. 

We invited the respondent's reply to the State 
Bar's position, and because of the importance of 
deciding several issues, including the scope of our 
decision in In the Matter of Respondent Q, supra, 
3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 18, we set this matter for 
oral argument. 

JI. DISCUSSION 

A. The State Bar Court's oversight authority over 
pre-NDC steps. 

We review the hearing judge's order under 
interlocutory review. (Rule 300.) Accordingly, our 
review is limited to deciding whether the hearing 
judge committed legal error or abused her discretion. 
(Rule 300(k); In the Matter of Sheppard (Review 
Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 91, 94, citing 
former rule 3 OOU ), now rule 300(k).) 

In In the Matter of Respondent Q, supra, 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pages 22 to 23 we held that, 
except for our adjudication of a motion to quash an 
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investigation subpoena under section 6051.1, our 
court had no jurisdiction over the State Bar's actions 
taken during an investigation prior to the commence­
ment of formal charges. However, Respondent Q 
arose much differently than did the present case. In 
Respondent Q, there were no formal disciplinary 
proceedings pending before our court. Rather, the 
attorney under State Bar investigation sought a pro­
tective order from a State Bar Court judge. When the 
judge granted one aspect of the relief sought by that 
attorney, the State Bar filed a motion for emergency 
relief before us. We concluded that the State Bar's 
motion warranted our review, and we also concluded 
that, except for the judging of a motion to quash a 
subpoena issued duringinvestigation, no legal author­
ity gave us jurisdiction "over State Bar disciplinary 
complaints prior to the filing of formal charges by 
the" State Bar. (Id. at pp. 21-22, italics added.) 

[la] The current case arose after the State Bar 
filed itsNDC starting this proceeding in our court. As 
has been the well-established rule in other proceed­
ings, "When the jurisdiction of a court has been 
properly invoked by the filing of a ... charge,·the 
disposition of that charge becomes a judicial respon­
sibility. [Citations.]" (People v. Superior Court 
(Romero) (1996) 13 Cal.4th 497, 517; People v. 
Roman (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 141, 145.) The impor­
tant policy of separation between prosecution and 
adjudication functions, consistent with our deci­
sion in Respondent Q, would advise us to eschew 
reviewing the particular steps by which the State Bar 
chose to conduct its investigation, such as the num­
ber, type and nature of witnesses interviewed or 
documents examined. Nevertheless, we also con­
clude that when significant procedural opportunities 
are deprived a litigant by steps taken during investi­
gation, which placed the litigant at a substantive 
disadvantage in the ensuing disciplinary proceeding, 
that is an appropriate subject for our exercise of 
jurisdiction, once a proceeding has been filed. Since 
the State Bar invoked our Court's jurisdiction by 
filing the NDC in this matter in November 2003, our 
court's hearing department had the jurisdiction to 
review those steps taken in the investigation which 
involved deprivation of significant procedural oppor­
tunities, thereby placing the attorney litigant in this 
proceeding at a substantive disadvantage in the 
ensuing proceeding. 
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[ 1 b J In our view and. for the reasons we shall 
discuss post, both the deprivation of the opportunity 
for a 20--day meeting and an ENE are significant 
procedural opportunities which our courtmayreview 
in an appropriate way, upon the filing of formal 
charges. 

[1 c] The opportunity ofrespondent to meet with 
the State Bar's prosecuting attorney 20 days prior to 
the issuance of the NOC in order to explore resolution 
of the matter in lieu of issuance of an NOC is not 
contained in the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar. 
However, it is considered a significant step by the 
State Bar and at oral argument we were advised that 
it is extended routinely, as a matter of policy, in State 
Bar disciplinary cases. The State Bar's September 
2003 letter to respondent expressly offered this meet­
ing based on the State Bar's claim that it was 
interested in resolving this matter before filing. Of 
course, there is no guarantee that a prefiling resolu­
tion would succeed, but it is enough of a significant 
procedural opportunity in an appropriate case and has 
become an ordinary step utilized by the State Bar, that 
it warranted the hearing judge's scrutiny when re­
spondent was deprived of the opportunity in a case 
identified by the State Bar as eligible for the meeting. 

[1 dJ Respondent was deprived of an even greater 
opportunity when not afforded an opportunity to 
request an ENE before our court. Rule 75, in effect 
since February 1999, applies when a resolution be­
tween the State Bar and the respondent does not 
occur prior to filing of the NDC. In that case, either 
party may request an ENE before a State Bar Court 
judge which will result in an oral neutral evaluation of 
the alleged facts, charges and possibilities for a 
degree of discipline. The rule clearly contemplates 
that a resolution of the matter may occur before the 
NOC is filed, for it is titled "Pre-Filing, Early Neutral 
Evaluation Conference"8 and provides that, if court 

8. Even though the title of a rule is ordinarily not part of the rule, 
we consider it relevant in the present situation. 

9. Our research shows that for the years 2002 and 2003 
combined, ENE conferences were conducted by this Court's 
hearingjudgesin a total of248 cases. A resolution was reached 
in the State Bar Court, or outsideofthecourt, in 128 of the cases 
- representingjust over a 50 percent resolution rate. 
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approval is required ofan agreed-upon resolution, it 
shall be documented by the State Bar and submitted 
to the Early Neutral Evaluation judge before whom 
the matter is pending for approval or rejection. (Rule 
75(b).) 

In recent practice, State Bar Court ENE's have 
resolved ultimately half ofpendingmatters.9 A funda­
mental difference between the 20-day meeting and 
the ENE is that the latter is conducted by this court 
and the conference and any resolution calling for 
discipline is subject to this court's express oversight. 
(Rule 75(b).) Further, ENE's generally are seen as 
important tools of effective court administration. 10 

However, the ENE's conducted by our hearing 
department operate differently from those conducted 
by federal and state courts. Our ENE's occur before 
formal charges are issued, as one of the key aims of 
this process is to offer both sides an objective view of 
the consequences offilingthose charges. Becallileno 
formal charges have issued, our court is unaware of 
the cases which are eligible for the ENE until one is 
requested by one or both of the litigants.For practical 
purposes, therefore, the State Barprovides the notice 
to the respondent of the ENE to be conducted by our 
court. 

[le] Collectively, the 20--day meeting and the 
ENE offer several significant benefits to the litigants 
should a resolution be reached at either of those 
stages. First, theypermitappropriateresolutionsofa 
case before the matter becomes public by the filing of 
formal charges. This, itself, is often a key motivator 
propellingresolution. Next, theypennitthe litigants to 
avoid the extra work and expense of drafting and 
defending, respectively, the NDC; and they save the 
State Bar Court time otherwise needed to conduct a 
series of status and pretrial conferences and oversee 
discovery and related matters. Finally, even if public 

1 O. As a magistrate judge of the United States District Court, 
Northern District of California noted, in part, ENE's impor­
tantly position a case "as efficiently as possible for fair 
disposition by settlement or trial." (GTE Directories Services, 
Corp. v. Pacific Bell Directory (N.D.Cal. 1991) 135 F.R.D. 
187, 190, fh. 1.) 
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discipline is reached as a resolution, the costs to be 
paid by respondent under section 6086.10 are more 
than $300 lower contrasted to such results reached 
after an NDC issues: 11 

[1 fJ Any deprivation of the opportunity of either 
party to request a 20-day meeting or an ENE should 
be subject to the court's scrutiny in an appropriate 
manner. For the foregoing reasons, the State Bar 
Court did have the authority to assess whether 
respondent was deprived of these pre filing opportu­
nities and, if so, to fashion an appropriate remedy. 

B. Propriety of the order of dismissal in the 
furtherance of justice. 

I2a) Since the September 1, 2002, effective date 
of subdivision ( e )(2) of rule 262( e) authorizing pro­
ceedings to be dismissed in the furtherance of justice 
on the motion of the court, this is the first appeal 
raising questions about the subdivision's use. It is 
clear from the history of the adoption of rule 262( e) 
that it is designed to be construed in our court in the 
same manner as its analog, Penal Code section 13 85, 
is construed in criminal proceedings. 12 Parallel to 
Penal Code section 1385, rule 262( e) does not permit 
a motion to dismiss in furtherance of justice to be 
made by the respondent. The motion may be made 
only by the State Bar, as the prosecutor, or a dismissal 
may be entered on the court's own motion. (Rule 
262(e)(l), (2); see, as to Pen. Code,§ 1385,People 
v. Hernandez (2000) 22 Cal.4th 512, 521-522.) 

[2b] As the Supreme Court has observed in the 
criminal law, there has been a "long history in this 
state ·or dismissals in furtherance of justice, which 
have been authorized since 1850" and construed in 
many decisions. (People v. Superior Court 
(Romero), supra, 13 Cal.4th at p. 520, and cases 

11. According to the costs formula adopted by the State Bar 
Board of Governors effective January I, 2003, the costs for an 
original proceeding imposing publicdisciplineare $1,983 plus 
a charge per investigation matter if the case is resolved before 
filing in the State Bar Court and $2,296, plus the investigation 
matter charge, if the case is resolved within four months after 
filing in the State Bar Court. 
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there cited.) As the many cases show, a court has 
broad power to dismiss in the furtherance of justice, 
but that power is not absolute or limitless. (E.g., 
People v. Orin (1975) 13 Cal.3d 937, 945.) Under 
case law, a court considering a dismissal in the 
"furtherance of justice" must consider the rights both 
of the defendant and the prosecution, representing 
society. (Ibid.) Actions may not be dismissed under 
Penal Code section 1385 solely for the benefit of 
"judicial convenience or for reasons external to the 
case." (People v. Hernandez, supra, 22 Cal.4th at 
p. 525.) The liberality in favorofthepowertodismiss 
must be tempered in cases where probable cause 
exists that a conviction under the charges is war­
ranted. (People v. Orin, supra, 13 Cal.3d atp. 947.) 
Yet, it is also clear that dismissals under Penal Code 
section 1385 may be ordered before, during or after 
trial. (People v. Hatch (2000) 22 Cal.4th 260, 268, 
quoting People v. Orin, supra, at p. 946.)13 Prior to 
ordering dismissal the judge must comply with the 
Penal Code duties to set forth the reason for the 
dismissal. (Pen. Code, § 1385(a); People v. Orin, 
supra, 13 Cal.3d at pp. 943-944.) The State Bar 
Court analog, rule 262( e )(2), (3), requires a judge to 
take added steps before ordering dismissal on her 
own motion, including invoking an order-to--show­
cause procedure. 

12c] Viewing the criminal law principles sur­
rounding Penal Code section 1385, and the tenns of 
rule 262(e)(2), (3), we hold that the judge's action 
here comported fully with applicable requirements. 
She issued an order to show cause to the parties, 
allowed for responses from them, considered all 
appropriate interests and stated in detail her reason 
for dismissal. (Rule 262(e)(2), (3).) Since she acted 
promptly after the proceeding was filed and since the 
dismissal was expressly without prejudice to refiling, 
we see no prejudice to the State Bar. 

12. However, this comparison is not meant to suggest that State 
Bar Court proceedings are themselves comparable to criminal 
proceedings. (E.g., Brotsky v. State Bar(l 962)57 Cal.2d287, 
301-302.) 

13. People v. Orin, supra, 13 Cal.3d at page 946, notes that 
pretrial dismissals have been upheld for specified reasons, but 
we do not view such reasons as exhaustive of the permissible 
grounds of dismissals in the furtherance of justice. 
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[3a] Finally, we must decide whether the hearing 
judge abused her discretion in concluding that the 
circumstances surrounding respondent's mistaken 
substitution of his city for the street name on his 
change of address form warranted the dismissal, 
without prejudice. We conclude that no abuse of 
discretion is shown. 

[3bJ By citing generally our decision in In the 
Matter of Navqrro (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 192, the State Bar claims that it 
"indicates" that the application of Code of Civil 
Procedure section 4 73 is limited to cases in which a 
respondent seeks to set aside the entry of his default. 
However the State Bar does not direct our attention 
to any specific language in Navarro and nothing in 
our reading of Navarro supports the State Bar's 
claimed limit. Indeed the legislature has not limited 
Code of Civil Procedure section 473 to setting aside 
defaults, for the plain text of the law allows a court to 
relieve a party from "a judgment, order, or other 
proceeding taken against him through his mistake, 
inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect." (Italics 
added.) (See also Zamora v. Clayborn Contracting 
Group, Inc., supra, 28 Cal.4th at pp. 254-255.) [4] 
Moreover, in the absence ofa specific statute or rule 
of procedure directing a specified mode of proceed­
ing, it is not unreasonable or arbitrary for a hearing 
judge to utilize analogous civil procedures to resolve 
motions.14 In In the Matter of Marone (Review 
Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 207, 214-215, 
we reviewed some of the key legal authorities con­
struing Code of Civil Procedure section 4 73, noting 
that inexcusable neglect bars relief but that, in gen­
eral, the law is construed liberally in favor of the party 
seeking relief. (See also Pearson v. Continental 
Airlines (1970) 11 Cal.App.3d 613, 618-619.) 

[3c] In Zamora v. Clayborn Contracting 
Group, Inc., supra, 28 Cal.4th 249, in preparing an 

14. In addition to default procedures, several other significant 
procedures used in State Bar Court proceedings follow appli­
cable California civil procedure, including disqualification of 
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offer to compromise a civil action (Code Civ. Proc., 
§ 998), an attorney's legal assistant mistyped the 
word "against" instead of the words "in favor of." 
Consequently, the offer sent to the opposing counsel 
purported to agree to entry of a judgment against, 
rather than in favor of the propounding party. The 
Supreme Court determined that a party propounding 
an off er to compromise could avail itself of Code of 
Civil Procedure section 473 relief. In affirming the 
Court of Appeal's agreement with the trial court's 
granting of relief under Code of Civil Procedme 
section 473, the Supreme Court noted that the moving 
party was diligent in seeking relief and that the 
opponent suffered no apparent prejudice. Further, the 
court concluded that the mistaken word usage was 
the type of mistake eligible forreliefunder Code of 
Civil Procedure section 4 73. The key factors existing 
in Zamora are also found in this case: respondent's 
diligence in seeking relief, the lack of prejudice to the 
opposing party and the nature of the mistake. 

[3d] The State Bar may have concluded reason­
ably at the time it issued the NDCthatrespondent had 
no reason to be excu.sed from the consequences of an 
incorrect change of address submission. However, 
once the hearingjudge contemplated dismissal under 
rule 262( e )(2) and once the uncontroverted evidence 
emerged as to how respondent's change of address 
was mistakenly composed on the change of address 
fonn, and mistakenly approved by respondent-es­
sentially a typographical error-the hearingjudge was 
justified in considering the mistake to come within the 
ambit of rule 262(e). 

[3e] Indeed, given the uncontroverted evidence 
befor.e the hearing judge, and the type of mistake 
made-confusing the actual city ofrespondent's law 
office for the name of its street address when both 
start with the same letter-we cannot conclude that 
the hearingj udge abused her discretion. This is hardly 

State BarCourtjudges(rulel 06), discovery(rule 150, et. seq.) 
and rules of evidence(rule 214). 
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the case of a respondent's deliberate inattention to 
investigative steps or requirements, or even, in our 
view' inattention rising to gross negligence.15 We 
conclude that the hearing judge did not abuse her 
discretion in ordering the dismissal based on the 
evidence before her. 

ill. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, we deny the petition 
seeking review of the hearing judge's order dismiss­
ing this matter, without prejudice, in the furtherance 
of justice. 

We concur: 

WATAI, J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 

IS. At oral argument, the State Bar urged that upholding of the 
hearingjudge' s decision would place an administrative burden 
on the State Bar to take extra steps to communicate with 
attorneys under investigation, given the many investigations it 
conducts annually. However, the case before us is surely 
atypical. As we have noted, the attorney participated in the 
early stage of the investigation and promptly participated 
when he received the NOC. There is no evidence that, but for 
the mistaken address change, respondent would not have 
responded promptly to the Bar's September 30, 2003, letter 
notice. 
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The California Board of Legal Specialization denied re-certification to Applicant B as a specialist in 
taxation and estate planning, based in part on applicant's previous disciplinary record. Applicant appealed the 
Board's denial to the hearing department. The hearing judge granted the Board's motion to dismiss these 
proceedings for lack of jurisdiction pursuant to rule 15.2 of the Rules Governing the State Bar Program for 
Certifying Legal Specialists. (Hon. Robert M. Talcott, Hearing Judge.) 

Applicant sought review, asserting that his prior discipline was void on its face and that he was denied his 
due process rights by the Board. The review department held that it did not have the authority to set the Supreme 
Court's order disciplining applicant and that the Rules Governing the State Bar Program for Certifying Legal 
Specialists express I y deprives the State Bar Court of jurisdiction to consider applicant's procedural due process 
challenge to the decision of the Board denying him re-certification. 
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constitutional infirmities. The review department simply does not have the authority to set aside the 
Supreme Court's order. Once the record in applicant's previous disciplinary cases was transmitted 
to the Supreme Court, the review department no longer retained jurisdiction over the matter. 
Accordingly, the review department declined to consider applicant's collateral attack on his prior 
discipline. 

[2a-f] 101 Procedure-Jurisdiction 
11 7 Procedure-Dismissal 
2901 Legal Specialization Proceedings-Procedural Issues 
2990 Legal Specialization Proceedings-Miscellaneous 
Rule 15 .2 of the Rules Governing the State Bar Program for Certifying Legal Specialists provides 
that a denial, suspension, or revocation of certification or re-certification by the Board of Legal 
Specialization based on a final disciplinary action by the Supreme Court, the State Bar Court, or any 
body authorized to impose professional discipline, shall be final and shall not be subject to further 
review. The legislative history of rule 15 .2 made it abundantly clear that the State Bar proposed the 
adoption of this rule to the Supreme Courtwith the specific intent of divesting previously disciplined 
applicants of their right of appeal to the State Bar Court. Thus, the rule expressly deprived the State 
Bar Court of jurisdiction to consider applicant's procedural due process challenge. Accordingly, the 
review department was compelled to agree with the hearing judge, who correctly dismissed the 
matter for lack of jurisdiction. Although the State Bar Court lacked jurisdiction in this case, the 
review department construed rule 15 .2 to mean that the decision of the Board denying applicantre­
certification was subject to review by the Supreme Court. 
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OPINION 

EPSTEIN, J.: 

The California Board of Legal Specializ.ation 
(Board) denied recertification to Applicant B1 as a 
specialist in taxation and estate planning in 2003, 
based in part on applicant's previous disciplinary 
record. 2 The Board issued a tentative decision to 
deny re-certification on February 29, 2003, after it 
reviewed his application, supplemental materials and 
considered his responses during an oral interview 
held on May 17, 2002. On June 10, 2003, the Board 
affirmed its tentative decision after considering addi­
tional written information submitted by applicant, 
although.rejecting his request for an additional inter­
view. In addition to citing his prior discipline as a basis 
for denial, the Board denied recertification because 
of applicant's lack of competence in his specialty 
areas and his lack of candor on his application form. 

Applicant appealed the Board's denial to the 
Hearing Department pursuant to rule 15 .1, and on 
November 3, 2003, the hearing judge granted the 
Board's Motion to Dismiss these proceedings for 
lack of jurisdiction pursuantto rule 15 .2. The hearing 
judge denied applicant's motion for reconsideration 
of the order dismissing the proceedings on November 
24, 2003. Applicant here seeks review of the hearing 
judge's order of dismissal. 

1. Because this case raises important issues of first impression, 
we have deemed it appropriate for publication. (Rules of 
Practice of the State Bar Court, rule 1340(b )(3).) However, all 
heatings on denial of certification and recertification are confi­
dential unless waived by both parties under rule 15.1 of the 
Rules Governing the State Bar Program for Certifying Legal 
Specialists, and applicant bas not waived confidentiality. To 
preserve the confidential nature of these proceedings, we have 
omitted the identification of applicant by name as well as 
certain specific facts which might disclose applicant's identity. 
Unless otherwise expressly stated, all references herein to 
"rule" or "rules" refer to the Rules Governing the State Bar 
Program for Certifying Legal Specialists. 

2. In 1998, applicant stipulated to discipline, including 60days' 
actual suspension, based on the failure to perform competently 
in one client matter in violation of the Rules of Professional 
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[1] Applicant asserts that the Supreme Court's 
Order in his previous disciplinary matter, filed in 1998, 
is void on its face because ofnumerous constitutional 
infirmities. Indeed, the vast majority of applicant's 
brief on review is devoted to legal and factual argu­
ments in support of his effort to re-open his previous 
stipulated discipline. In spite ofapplicant' s herculean 
efforts to re-litigate his prior discipline,3 this court 
simply does not have the authority to set aside the 
Order of the Supreme Court, which is final. (Cal. 
Rules of Court, rule 951; In reRose(2000) 22 Cal.4th 
430, 441--442; In re Attorney Discipline System 
(1998) 19 Cal.4th 582, 592; In the Matter of Pyle 
(Review Dept. 1998) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 929; 
In the Matter of Respondent B (Review Dept. 
1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 424,433, fn. 11.) 
Once the record in applicant's previous disciplinary 
cases was transmitted to the Supreme Court, we no 
longer retained jurisdiction over the matter. (In the 
Matter of Peterson (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 83, 85.) Thus, we decline to 
consider those issues raised by applicant as a collat­
eral attack on his prior discipline. 

However, applicant raises an important question 
that is ancillary to, yet independent of, his attack on his 
prior discipline, which the Board has put at issue in its 
brief on review. Applicant complains that the Board's 
actions in considering his application were "designed 
to avoid meeting with applicant" so that he was 
denied a reasonable or meaningful opportunity to 

Conduct, rule 3-11 0(A), and in another client matter for the 
failure to keep complete and accurate trust account records in 
violation of the fonner Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 8-
l0 l (B)(3) and current Rules of Professional Conduct rule 
4--100(8)(3). 

3. Applicant filed no less than 18 pleadings in the Hearing 
Department, the Review Department and the Supreme Court, 
in support of his effort to set aside the 1998 Stipulation and 
to re-open his prior disciplinary proceedings. As late as two 
weeks before oral argument, applicant filed a Brief on Oral 
Argument, a Motion to. Re-open Record and to Present 
Additional Evidence, and a Joint Application re Stipulated 
Decision re Dismissal (which was opposed by the Board). We 
rejected these documents at oral argument as untimely and 
without good cause shown. 
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explain the nature of his prior discipline and the 
mitigating factors involved. Applicant asserts this 
resulted in a denial of his due process rights by the 
Board. In response, the Board asserts that rule 15.2 
divests this court of jurisdiction to review any deci­
sion of the Board to deny certification, as long as the 
denial is based on a final disciplinary order. Indeed, 
the Board's corollaryposition is equally unequivocal: 
pursuant to rule 15 .2, "this Court cannot address any 
claims of due process violations by the rules govern­
ing the legal specialization program, including the 
[Board's] procedures." 

Without question, we have jurisdiction to deter­
mine the jurisdictional issue here presented. (Rescue 
Anny v. Municipal Court ( 1946) 28 Cal.2d 460,464; 
Ziller Electronics Lab GmbH v. Superior Court 
(1988) 206 Cal.App.3d 1222, 1228.) Moreover, we 
frequently consider due process challenges to an 
attorney's discipline. (See, e.g., In the Matter of 
Acuna (Review Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 495, 500--503; Roser,,thal v. State Bar (1987) 
43 Cal.3d 612, Emslie v. State Bar(l974) 11 Cal.3d 
21 0; In the Matter of Respondent B, supra, 1 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 424; In the Matter of Taggart 
(Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 302; 
In the Matter of Hindin (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 657, 679-680 & fn. 7.) [2a] 
Although we have serious reservations about rule 
15.2, which we discuss below, we ultimately agree 
with the Board that rule 15.2 expressly deprives the 
State Bar Courtofjurisdiction to consider applicant's 
procedural due process cha-llenge to the decision of 
the Board denying him recertification. 

[2b) Rule 15.2 provides in relevant part: "[A] 
denial, suspension, or revocation [of certification or 
recertification] by the Board based on a final disciplinary 
action by the Supreme Court, the State Bar Court, or any 
body authorized to impose professional discipline, shall 
be final and shall not be subject to further review.''4 

4. Rule 15 .2 also specifies there is no right ofreview if the 
Board's denial is based on the failure to pass the legal special­
ization examination. However, there is no evidence in the record 
that applicant failed his exams and therefore this issue is not 
before us. 

IN THE MATTER OF APPLICANT B 
(ReviewDept.2004) 4Cal. StateBarCt.Rptr. 731 

[2c] The legi.slati ve history of rule 15 .2 makes it 
abundantly clear that the State Bar proposed the 
adoption of this rule to the Supreme Court ,vith the 
specific intent of divesting previously disciplined ap­
plicants of their right of appeal to this court.5 In 
October 1994, the Office of Certification of the State 
Bar prepared on behalf of the Board of Governors of 
the State Bar a detailed document entitled "Request 
that the Supreme Court of California Adopt Proposed 
Rule 983.5, California Rules of Court; [Certifying 
Legal Specialists], and Repeal the State Bar of 
California Program for Certifying Legal Specialists, 
and Memorandum and Supporting Documents in 
Explanation" ("Request"). In the Request, the State 
Bar explained the many changes to the legal special­
ization regulatory structure that would accompany 
the adoption of the implementing statute, proposed 
rule 983.5 of the California Rules of Court. 

[2d] With respect to rule 15 .2, the State Bar 
explained: "Currently, the Rules do not limit an 
applicant's or specialist's rightto appeal a decision of 
the Board to deny, suspend or revoke [certification] 
based on a previous discipline .... [,r] This amend­
ment is proposed to clarify the longstanding belief of 
the [Board] that the public expects that certification 
as a specialist is not available to a member of the 
State Bar previously subject to substantial disci­
pline." (Emphasis added.) (Request, at Enclosure 
11, p. 9; see also Request at pp. 15-16.) The Board 
gave the same explanation of the legislative intent for 
rule 15 .2 in its 8th Annual Report of the California 
Board of Legal Specialization of the State Bar of 
California ( 1995) pages 10-11 ("Report"). 

[2e] Notwithstanding this legislative history, we 
may properly interpret the absolute language of rule 
15.2 in light of existing law. (In the Matter of 
Respondent B, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 
433, fn.11.) Inso doing, we construe rule 15.2 to mean 
that the decisions of the Board denying certification 

S. The implementation of rule 15.2 was part of a complete 
overhaul of the regulatory scheme for legal specialization, 
which the Board proposed "to streamline and standardize what 
had become an overly complex certification process." (I ?fl,, 

Annual Report ofthe California Board of Legal Specialization 
of the State BarofCalifomia(2004) p. 3.) 
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orrecertification based on a prior final discipline shall 
not be subject to further review by the State Bar 
Court, butshallbesubjecttoreviewbythe Supreme 
Courtinaccordancewithrule952( d) of the California 
Rules of Court. We believe this construction of rule 
15 .2 is dictated by the implementing legislation for the 
Specialization Program found in California Rules of • 
Court, rule 983.S(f), adopted by the Supreme Court 
on May 11, 1995, and effective January 1, 1996, 
which provides "Nothing in these rules shall be 
construed as affecting the power of the Supreme 
Court to exercise its inherent jurisdiction over the 
practice of law."6 

Our interpretation of rule 15 .2 also is prescribed 
by the State Bar Act, Business and Professions Code 
section 6087, which states: "Notwithstanding any 
other provision oflaw, the Supreme Court may by rule 
authorize the State Bar to take any action otherwise 
reserved to the Supreme Court in any matter arising 
under [ the State Bar Act] or initiated by the Supreme 
Court; provided, that any such action by the State 
Bar shall be reviewable by the Supreme Court 
pursuant to such rules as the Supreme Court may 
prescribe." (Emphasis added.) 

Finally, our construction of rule 15 .2 is consistent 
with the decisional law. In Pinsker v. Pacific Coast 
Soc. of Orthodontists (1969) I Cal.3d 160, 166 
(Pinsker I), the Supreme Court held that "an appli­
cant for membership [ in a professional organization J 
has ajudiciallyenforceablerightto have his applica­
tion considered in a manner comporting with the 
fundamentals of due process .... " (See also Marin 
County Bd. of Realtors, Inc. v. Palsson (1976) 16 
Cal.3d 920,938 ["when membership in an association 
is a practical economic necessity, judicial review is 
available to examine bases for exclusion from mem­
bership." (Citations omitted.)]; Pinsker v. Pacific 
Coast Society of Orthodontists (1974) 12 Cal.3d 
541, 550 (Pinsker II) [decision to deny applicant 
membership in a professional organization must be 
"both substanti velyrational and procedurally fair."].) 

6. The inherent supervisory powers of the Supreme Court have 
in the past been utilized "to apply procedural rules which will 
guarantee a 'fair hearing.' [Citation.)" (Smith v.State Bar(l 985) 
3 8 Cal.3d 525, 532.) 
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As noted ante, we are greatly troubled by the 
legislative history of rule 15 .2 because it discloses that 
the State Bar's promulgation of the rule was specifi­
cally intended to divest applicants, who had been 
previously disciplined, of their right of appeal based on 
the Board's "longstanding belief ... that the public 
expects that certification" would not be made avail­
ableto any applicant with a prior substantial discipline. 
(Request at pp. 15-16; Report at pp. 10-11.) The 
legislative intent of the State Bar in promulgating rule 
15.2 is thus directly at odds with our expressed 
concerns in In the Matter of Mudge (Review Dept. 
1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 536, 542) about the 
preclusive effect ofa prior discipline on an attorney's 
right to become certified as a legal specialist in 
California. At oral argument in Mudge, the State Bar 
took the position that "prior discipline is a 'threshold 
criterion' for specialist certification." (Ibid.) We 
disagreed with that position, findingthat"[n ]either the 
Supreme Court, which retains the inherent authority 
to regulate attorneys, nor the Legislature has indi­
cated that prior discipline is such a bar. [Citations.]" 
(Ibid.) The preclusion of attorneys from legal spe­
cialization based on prior discipline also is at odds with 
the well settled law in other areas of attorney regula­
tion that favors rehabilitation (In the Matter of 
Brown (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 309, 316), and which permits reinstatement of 
those individuals with serious prior disciplinary histo­
ries, provided they can demonstrate a sufficient 
passage of time and rehabilitation. (Ibid.; see also In 
the Matter of Miller (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 423 and cases cited therein at pp. 
437-438.) 

Moreover, an applicant for certification as a 
legal specialist is entitled to have his or her application 
decided in accordance with the requirements of the 
common law right of fair procedure, and that right 
includes the ''meaningful opportunity to be heard in his 
own defense. [Citation]" (In the Matter of Mudge, 
supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 543-544.) The 
denial of this right is the very issue presented here by 

( 
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applicant that we are prevented from considering by 
rule 15.2. 

Were it not for the procedural safety net pro­
vided by the right of review to the Supreme Court 
found in California Rules of Court, rule 952(d), the 
unconditional language of rule 15.2 denying review by 
this court would in our view constitute an abrogation 
of applicant's common law right to fair procedure. 7 

The right to fair procedure would be an empty one 
indeed without the opportunity for review, since the 
Board would be immunized from any challenge to its 
decision-making process by an applicant with a 
previous disciplinary history ,no matter how remote in 
time or unrelated to the field of specialization for 
which certification is sought. 8 

Unfortunately, it appears that applicant did not 
timely avail himself of the avenue ofrelief provided to 
him by California Rules of Court, rule 952(d).9 Be­
cause we have been divested of jurisdiction to review 
applicant's appeal, we must leave foranother day and 
a timely petition the Supreme Court's consideration 
of whether rule 15.2 satisfies the due process or fair 
procedure claims of disciplined attorneys who are 
denied certification as a legal specialist by the Board 
because of a prior discipline. I2fI As sympathetic as 
we can be to applicant's claim, we are compelled to 

7. We furthernote that rule 15.2 effectively divests applicants 
with a prior discipline of the many procedural protections 
available to all other applicants who are challenging the Board's 
actions with respect to their certification as specialists. For 
example, rule 15.5 provides for a noticed hearing; rule 15.6 
provides for a written Statement of Issues and a written 
Response, and for good cause, additional witnesses may be 
called and additional evidence may adduced; rule 15. 8 applies 
the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar; rule 15. 9 provides for 
an appeal of the hearing judge's decision to the Review 
Department; rule 15. IO provides for review by the Supreme 
Court. Although not expressly provided, the applicant is not 
proscribed from representation by counsel in the proceedings 
in the State Bar Court and the Supreme Court, whereas the right 
to counsel is expressly denied in the informal and formal oral 
interviews with the Board. (Rules 9.4 and 9.6.) 

IN THE MATTER OF APPLICANT B 

(Review Dept. 2004) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 731 

agree with the hearing judge below, who correctly 
dismissed this matter for lack of jurisdiction. 

We concur: 
STOVITZ, P. J. 
McELROY, J.* 

8. We note that applicant's misconduct occurred in 1994, that 
before that he had practiced without incident for many years, 
and that the State Bar stipulated in the prior disciplinary 
proceedingthathe had demonstrated candor, remorse, and good 
faith and had fully cooperated with the investigation and 
prosecution of the matter. Further, applicant voluntarily paid 
most of the restitution to his client upon discovery of the loss 
to his client. 

9. Parenthetically, applicant presently may re-apply to the 
Board for recertification (rule 16.1 ), and if denied, timely 
petition the Supreme Court directly. 

* Hon. Patrice E. McElroy, Hearing Judge, sitting by designa­
tion pursuant to rule 305(c), Rules of Procedure of the State 
Bar. 
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In 2002, respondent was suspended from the practice of law by the Supreme Court for three years, 
execution was stayed, and he was placed on five years' probation with conditions. In this 2003 probation 
revocation proceeding, the hearing judge found that respondent violated the terms of his probation and 
recommended that the probation be revoked, that the stay of execution of the three-year suspension be lifted 
and that respondent be actually suspended from the practice of law for thirty months, and until he had shown 
proof satisfactory to the State Bar Court pursuant to standard 1.4(c)(ii), Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, 
title IV, Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. However, as the State Bar Court rules 
of procedure limit the amount of actual suspension that may be imposed in a probation revocation proceeding 
to the amount of stayed suspension originally imposed, the hearingj udge limited respondent' sactual suspension 
byre commending that it shall not exceed three years, which was the total length of stayed suspension originally 
imposed. (Hon. Robert M. Talcott, Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar sought review, arguing that the hearing judge had the authority to impose an actual 
suspension that included a standard 1.4( c )(ii) showing which could extend the length of the actual suspension 
beyond the length of the originally imposed stayed suspension. The review department agreed and so modified 
the recommended discipline in this case. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

Kimberly G. Anderson 

No appearance 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared bythe OfficeoftheState Bar Court forthe convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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HEAD NOTES 
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[la, b] 135.86 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Division VIII-Standard 1.4(c)(ii) 
176 Discipline-Standard 1.4(c)(ii) 
A showing under standard 1.4(c)(ii), Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title N, Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, is normally required when an attorney is actually 
suspended for two or more years. Proof satisfactory to the State Bar Court of the member's 
rehabilitation, present fitness to practice and present learning and ability in the general law are 
required by a preponderance of the evidence before the member is to be relieved of actual 
suspension. The purpose of staying the execution of a suspension and ordering probation with an 
actual suspension and a required showing under standard 1.4(c)(ii) is for public protection and 
attorney rehabilitation. Although all fonns of attorney discipline have the key purpose of protecting 
the public, the legal commwiity and the maintenance of high professional standards, a standard 
1 .4( c )(ii) requirement offers public protection in a formal, although expedited proceeding which 
ensures moral fitness and legal learning before an attorney, suspended for over two years, is 
pennitted to return to the practice oflaw. 

[2a-c] 135.82 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Division VIII-Probation 

Other 

135.86 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Division VIII-Standard 1.4(c)(ii) 
176 Discipline-Standard 1,4(c)(ii) 
1714 Probation Cases-Degree of Discipline 
In order to make a showing under standard 1.4(c)(ii), Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title N, 
Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, and be relieved from suspension, 
an attorney can petition as early as six months before the earliest date that the actual suspension 
may terminate. Also, since these proceedings are expedited, an attorney could demonstrate 
rehabilitation, fitness to practice law and present learning and ability in the general law without 
necessarily extending his or her actual suspension period. In probation revocation proceedings, the 
rules of procedure limit the actual suspension that can be imposed to the total amount of stayed 
execution originally imposed. However, a standard 1.4( c )(ii) condition does not necessarily extend 
the actual suspension of a respondent where a showing can be made within the period of actual 
suspension. Therefore, the review department concluded that the State Bar Court was not 
prohibited from recommending such a condition in a probation revocation proceeding even though 
the condition could result in an actual suspension that exceeded the length of the originally imposed 
stayed suspension. To do otherwise would permit respondent to violate probation and resume the 
practice oflaw after being suspended for over five years, without ever making a showing of his 
rehabilitation, fitness to practice law or his learning and ability in the general law, thus def eating the 
important level of public protection regularly recommended in lengthy suspensions. 

ADDITTONAL ANALYSIS 

1751 Probation Cases-Probation Revoked 
1815.09 Actual Suspension-3 Years 
1830 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P.J.: 

In reconunending revocation of attorney disci­
plinary probation and imposition of a three-year 
actual suspension, we must decide whether the State 
Bar Court may also recommend that a previously 
disciplined attorney, respondent Rolando M. Luis, be 
required to make a showing of rehabilitation, fitness 
and learning, under Rules of Procedure of the State 
Bar, title N, Standards for Attorney Sanctions for 
Professional Misconduct, 1 standard 1.4( c )( ii) ( stan­
dard 1.4( c )(ii)), although respondent's underlying 
stayed suspension did not contain a requirement for 
that showing. 

For the reasons we discuss post, we hold that a 
member of the State Bar who is recommended for an 
actual suspension of two years or more as a sanction 
for revocation of probation, may also be required to 
comply with the requirements of standard 1.4( c )(ii) 
even ifthat requirement was not included in the initial 
stayed suspension. Moreover, we detennine that if 
the member fails to apply to return to good standing 
or fails to make the required showing under standard 
1.4( c )( ii) prior to the expiration of the total period of 
stayed suspension, the member's actual suspension 
may be recommended to continue until the required 
showing is established. 

In this case, we note, as al so discussed post, that 
although respondent's initial stayed suspension omit­
ted a standard 1.4( c )(ii) requirement, it was contained 
in his conditions of probation. 

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Background 

Respondent was admitted to practice law in 
California on May 31, 1989. On September 1, 2001, 
the State Bar placed respondent on administrative 
inactive membership status for noncompliance with 

1, Unless noted otherwise, all further references to standards 
are to the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title IV, Standards 
for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. 
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the State Bar's Minimum Continuing Legal Educa­
tion (MCLE) requirements as required by section 
6070, subdivision (a) of the Business and Professions 
Code, rule 958(d) of the California Rules of Court, 
and sections 13.1 and 13.2 of the State Bar MCLE 
Rules and Regulations. 2 Respondent was actually 
suspended on September 16, 2003, for failure to pay 
bar membership fees pursuant to section 6143, and 
remains suspended for that reason. 

B. 2002 Original Disciplinary Proceeding, State 
Bar Court Case No. 01-0----00318 (Luis I) 

Pursuant to stipulation, respondent admitted that 
in 2000 and 2001 he conspired to commit insurance 
fraud, shared legal fees with anon-lawyer, and made 
misrepresentations to the State Bar regarding his 
association with a non-lawyer contractor and his 
representation of clients (Luis I). Aggravating cir­
cumstances included that respondent's misconduct 
was surrounded and followed by bad faith, dishon­
esty, concealment and overreaching. In mitigation, 
after the initial exchanges ofcorrespondence, respon­
dent displayed spontaneous candor and cooperation 
with the State Bar during disciplinary proceedings. 

Effective April 3, 2002, respondent was sus­
pended from the practice of law by the Supreme 
Court for three years, execution was stayed, and he 
was placed on five years' probation with conditions 
including I) a two-year actual suspension and until a 
required showing was made under standard 1.4( c )(ii), 
2) submission of quarterly reports stating compliance 
with the State Bar Act and Rules of Professional 
Conduct, and 3) successful completion of Ethics 
School within one year of the effective date of 
discipline. 

Although the two-year actual suspension con­
ditionrequired a showing satisfactory to the State_Bar 
Court of respondent's rehabilitation, fitness to prac­
tice law, and learning and ability in the general law 
pursuant to standard 1.4( c )(ii) before the respondent 
would be permitted to resume the practice oflaw, the 

2. Unless noted otherwise, all further references to sections are 
to the provisions of the Business and Professions Code. 
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three-year stayed suspension did not require such a 
showing.3 

As of the date of this opinion, approximately two 
and one-half years have passed since the effective 
date of the two-year actual suspension, and respon­
dent has not petitioned our court to have his actual 
suspension tenninated, although he has been eligible 
for almost a year to file such a petition. (Rule 632, 
Rules Proc. of State Bar.)4 

C. 2003 Probation Revocation Proceeding, State 
Bar Court Case No. 03-PM--03298 (Luis II) 

On September 8, 2003, the State Bar filed a 
motion with our court's hearing department to revoke 
respondent's probation (Luis If). Respondent did not 
participate in these proceedings and, on January 13, 
2004, the State Bar Court found by a preponderance 
of the evidence (rule 561) that respondent failed to 
comply with the terms of his probation by failing to 
submit quarterly reports for the April 2003 and July 
2003 quarters and by failing to submit proof of 
successful Ethics School completion by April 3, 2003. 

The State Bar Court recommended that the 
respondent's probation be revoked, that the stay of 
execution of the three-year suspension be lifted and 
that respondent actually be suspended from the 
practice of law for thirty months, and until he has 
shown proof satisfactory to the State Bar Court 
pursuant to standard l.4(c)(ii). However, the State 
Bar Court then limited the actual suspension by 
stating that it "shall not exceed three years, which is 
the total length of stayed suspension originally im­
posed." 

On January 30, 2004, the State Bar sought 
clarification or reconsideration of the State Bar 
Court's decision. Specifically, the State Bar re­
quested clarification as to why the State Bar Court 
imposed a thirty-month actual suspension with a 

J. The form of stipulated disposition used by the parties 
provided the opportunity to choose a standard 1.4( c )(ii) 
requirement to attach to the three year stayed suspension, but 
neither party chose it, and it was approved in that manner by 
thehearingjudge. 

IN THE MATTER OF LUIS 

(ReviewDept.2004)4Cal. StateBarCt.Rptr. 737 

1.4( c )(ii) showing which was not to exceed three 
years actual suspension. The State Bar further in­
quired whether the Court found the discipline of thirty 
months' of actual suspension more appropriate or if 
the Court believed that it lacked the authority to 
impose an actual suspension of three years and a 
standard 1.4( c )(ii) requirement since it might exceed 
the total length of stayed suspension originally im­
posed. 

On March 15, 2004, the hearing judge issued an 
order clarifying his decision, stating that pursuant to 
rule 562, any actual suspension recommended could 
not exceed the three-year period of stayed suspen­
sion in the underlying disciplinary matter. While the 
hearing judge agreed that respondent should be re­
quired to comply with standard 1.4( c )(ii) before he is 
permitted to practice law again, the judge stated that 
attaching that requirement to the actual suspension 
would be meaningless because it must terminate at 
the end of the three-year period. On April 8, 2004, the 
State Bar filed a request for summary review pursu­
ant to rule 308, not requesting oral argument, and we 
submitted the matter without argument. 

II. DISCUSSION 

In a probation revocation proceeding, as a gen­
eral rule, the hearingjudge is limited by rule 562 and 
may not recommend an actual suspension as a 
sanction for probation revocation that exceeds the 
originally stayed suspension. The issue here is whether 
the hearing judge had the authority to impose an 
actual sentence that includes a standard l.4(c)(ii) 
showing which may extend the length of stayed 
suspension beyond that originally imposed. 

The original discipline recommended in Luis I 
required respondent as a condition of probation to 
make a standard l.4(c)(ii) showing before he could 
resume the practice of law. Thus, the respondent's 
suspension could continue indefinitely, even after the 

4. Unless noted otherwise, all further references to rules are to 
the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar of California. 
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period of actual suspension had expired. At first 
glance, this indefinite suspension appears to moot the 
issue on review. However, by recommending a full 
revocation of probation, the effect of the hearing 
judge's decision effectively eliminates all of the 
conditions of probation, including the showing under 
standard 1.4( c )(ii) that imposed the potentially indefi­
nite suspension in the original proceeding. 

Although State Bar Court proceedings are unique 
and not strictly civil, criminal or administrative in 
nature (e.g., Brotsky v. State Bar (1962) 57 Cal.2d 
287, 300-302), we have looked at criminal procedure 
in evaluating some probation revocation issues. (See, 
e.g., In the Matter of Potack (Review Dept. 1991) 
1 Cal.StateBarCt.Rptr. 525,536.) Under California 
criminal procedure, when a court revokes a 
defendant's felony probation, it has the "option of 
either placing defendant on probation once again, on 
the same or modified conditions, or terminating pro­
bation and sentencing defendant to state prison. 
[Citations.]" (People v. Hawthorne (1991) 226 
Cal.App.3d 789, 792). Although the criminal courts 
have discretion in imposing probation with modified 
conditions orterminatingprobation, once probation is 
terminated, if the judgment has been pronowiced and 
its execution stay~d, the court does not have discre­
tion and must order thatthe judgment be imposed in 
full force and effect. (People v. Howard (1997) 16 
Cal.4th. 1081, 108 8, citing Pen. Code, § 1203 .2, subd. 
(c)5

; Cal. Rules of Court, rule 435(b)(2) (now rule 
4.435(b)(2)).) Nevertheless, once probation is re­
voked, the conditions of that probation are also 
revoked. (See, e.g., People v. Young (1995) 38 
Cal.App.4th 560, 562.) 

5. Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (c) provides in 
relevant part, "Upon any revocation and termination of pro­
bation the court may, if the sentence has been suspended, 
pronounce judgment for any time within the longest period for 
which the person might have been sentenced. However, if the 
judgment has been pronounced and the ex:ecution thereofhas 
been suspended, the court may revoke the suspension and 
order that the judgment shall be in full force and effect." 
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A. The State Bar's Contentions 

The State Bar presents four arguments in this 
case. First, it argues that the hearing department is not 
limited by rule 562 in recommending the fu]l amount 
of stayed suspension originally imposed and a show­
ing under standard 1.4( c )(ii). Second, the State Bar 
argues that rule 562 does not preclude the hearing 
department from imposing a standard 1.4( c )(ii) show­
ing, even when the discipline in Luis I did not expressly 
include such a showing as a condition of the stayed 
suspension. Third, the State Bar argues that the 
purpose of imposing a standard 1.4( c )(ii) showing is 
not to extend the respondent's actual suspension 
period, but rather to protect the public. Fourth, the 
State Bar contends that the hearing department's 
decision in Luis II which terminates the respondent's 
actual suspension at the end of three years, effec­
tively eliminates a showing under standard t .4( c )(ii), 
thus depriving the public of needed protection. 

B. Howard and Hunter 

We have decided two cases that shed limited 
light on this matter: In the Matter of Howard 
(Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal State Bar Ct. Rptr. 445 
(Howard) and In the Matter of Hunter (Review 
Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 81 (Hunter).6 

Although wehavenever expressly articulated whether 
rule 5 62 allows a standard 1.4( c )(ii) showing that may 
extend the actual suspension beyond the stayed 
suspension originally imposed, we have implicitly 
authorized itin Howard. Also, in Hunter we required 
a restitution requirement before the respondent in that 
case was permitted to resume the practice of law, 
and, if respondent was to be actually suspended for 

6. We have also discussed briefly in In the Matter of Dahlz 
(Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar a. Rptr. 269, 286 
(Dahlz) the addition in an original disciplinary proceeding of 
a standard 1.4(c)(ii)requirement as partofastayed suspension. 
However, in Dahlz, our briefreference to standard 1.4(c)(ii) 
was merely designed to show that its provisions there would 
become effective only upon the setting aside of the stayed 
suspension. (Ibid.) Moreover, Dahlz identified that if proba­
tion were subsequently revoked, no issue would be raised, as 
is now before us, as to the court's ability to require compliance 
with standard 1.4(c)(ii). (Ibid.) 
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more than two years, we recommended a showing 
under standard 1.4( c )(ii), even though such condi­
tions were not part of the original discipline. 

In Howard, the Supreme Court suspended the 
attorney from the practice of law for three years, 
stayed the execution of the suspension and placed 
him on probation for three years, subject to certain 
conditions including a thirty-day actual suspension. 
The original disciplinary suspension did not include a 
standard 1.4( c )(ii) requirement. When Howard failed 
to meet the conditions of prnbation and defaulted in 
the proceedings, his probation was revoked and the 
hearing judge recommended an actual suspension of 
90 days. The State Bar requested review regarding 
the degree of discipline, arguing that the recom­
mended discipline be increased to two years and 
include a required showing under standard 1.4( c )(ii). 
On review, we recommended that the degree of 
discipline be increased to a one-year actual suspen• 
sion and until Howard had satisfied the requirements 
under standard 1 .4( c )(ii). In doing so, we noted that 
Howard had already been inactively enrolled continu­
ously for over one year and, cumulatively, the inactive 
enrollment and the one-year actual suspension had 
rendered Howard ineligible to practice law for over 
two years. 

In Hunter, the Supreme Court suspended the 
attorney from the practice oflaw for one year, stayed 
the execution of that suspension and placed him on 
probation for three years with a thirty-day actual 
suspension and imposed other conditions, including 
restitution. When Hunter later via lated probation, the 
hearing judge recommended that his probation be 
revoked and he be actually suspended for one year 
and until he made the restitution ordered in his 
underlying suspension. We adopted theheaiingjudge' s 
recommendation by recommending that Hunter be 
actually suspended for one year and until he provided 
proof of restitution as ordered in his underlying 
suspension. We therefore recommended restitution 
in a probation revocation proceeding where such a 
condition could extend the attorney's periodofactual 
suspension. In addition, we recommended that if 
Hunter's actual suspension were to last longer than 
two years, a showing under standard 1.4( c )( ii) would 
be required. A requirement under standard 1.4( c )(ii) 
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was added since Hunter's suspension would last 
longer than originally imposed. Lastly, in a footnote in 
Hunter we stated that the condition of restitution 
does not extend the period of suspension where a 
respondent may satisfy these conditions during the 
period of actual suspension. (Hunter, supra, 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 87, fn. 4.) 

In both Howard and Hunter, we recommended 
a standard 1.4( c )(ii) requirement after the revocation 
of probation where such a requirement was not a part 
of the originally imposed sentence and where it would 
not necessarily extend the suspension beyond that 
imposed in the original proceeding, providing thatthe 
attorney complied with the respective duties within 
the original period of the actual suspension. In each 
case, the Supreme Court adopted our recommenda• 
tion. 

C. Policy Underlying Standard 1 .4( c )(ii) 

[la] A showing under standard l.4(c)(ii) is 
normally required when an attorney is actually sus­
pended for two or more years. Proof satisfactory to 
the State Bar Court of the member's rehabilitation, 
present fitness to practice and present learning and 
ability in the general law are required by a preponder­
ance of the evidence before the member is to be 
relieved of actual suspension. (Rule 634.) 

(lb] The purpose of staying the execution of a 
suspension and ordering probation with an actual 
suspension and a required showing under standard 
1.4( c )( ii) is for public protection and attomeyrehabili. 
tation. (See In the Matter of Marsh (Review Dept. 
1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 291, 298-299; see 
also std. 1.3; std. l.4(c)(ii).) Although all forms of 
attorney discipline have the key purpose of protecting 
the public, the legal community and the maintenance 
of high professional standards (std. 1.3; Chadwick v. 
State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 103, 111; Rodgers v. State 
Bar (1989) 48 Cal.3d 300, 318; In re Nevill ( 1985) 39 
Cal.3d 729, 734; In the Matter of Murphy (Review 
Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 571, 580 
(Murphy)), a standard l .4(c)(ii) requirement offers 
public protection in a speciallyneeded area: a formal, 
although expedited and simpler proceeding than a 
formal reinstatement proceeding, which normally 
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ensures moral fitness and legal learning before an 
attorney, suspended for over two years, is permitted 
to return to the practice oflaw.7 

Looking at criminal law analogously, in People 
v. Young, supra, 38 Cal.App.4th at page 565, the 
court suspended the defendant's sentence and placed 
him on probation with the condition that the defendant 
pay restitution to the crime victim. The defendant 
violated probation and argued that restitution could 
not be ordered when probation is revoked if the 
originally suspended sentence did not include an order 
of victim restitution. (Ibid.) The court disagreed with 
the defendant, stating that it would be absurd to 
interpret the statute limiting probation revocation 
sentencingas requiring victimrestitution when proba­
tion is granted and when probation is denied but not 
when probation is revoked. (Id. at p. 566.) The court 
further noted that the defendant's claim would allow 
the defendant to accept probation and violate it the 
next day and thereby avoid making restitution to the 
victim. (Ibid.) The court in Young stated that the 
intent of the statute would prevail over the literal 
construction and concluded that "victim restitution 
does not constitute an increase in punishment where 
itwasaconditionofprobationandiscontinuedaspart 
of a sentence following revocation of probation." 
(Ibid.) 

7. [211.] In order to make a showing under standard 1.4( c )(ii) and 
be relieved from suspension, an attorney can petition as early 
as six months before the ear Ii est date that the actual suspension 
maytenninate. (Rule 632.) Also, since these proceedings are 
expedited (rule 630(b )), a petitioner could demonstrate reha­
bilitation, fitness to practice law and present learning and 
ability in the general law without necessarily extending his or 
her actual suspension period. 

8. ABA/BNA Lawyers' Manual on Professional Conduct at 
page 101 :3006. The rules of at least 18 other states require 
reinstatement for suspensions varying from over sixty days in 
some states to suspensions of over one year in others. 

Fora state requiring reinstatement after suspensions of sixty 
days, see Iowa Court Rules, rule 35 .12 (2). 

For states requiring reinstatement after suspensions of 
ninety days, see RulesRegulatingtheFloridaBar, rule 3-5. 1 ( e ); 
Minnesota Rules on Professional Responsibility, rule 18. 

For states requiring reinstatement after suspensions of six 
months, see Arizona Rule of the Supreme Court 64(c); Dela­
ware Lawyers' Rules of Disciplinary Procedure, rule 22(a); 
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We discuss Murphy, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. at page 579 and In the Matter of Terrones 
(Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr, 289, 
299) (Terrones) to distinguish those cases from the 
present one. In Murphy, which was followed by 
Terrones, we rejected the distinction that a standard 
1.4( c )(ii) proceeding is regulatory rather than disci­
plinary in nature. Murphy and Terrones were both 
cases in which a suspended attorney sought relief 
from suspension bypetitioningthe court for a hearing 
to establish the requisite showing under standard 
1.4( c )(ii), In both cases, the hearingjudge granted the 
petition and permitted the disciplined attorney to 
resume the practice of law. The State Bar sought 
reviewinMwphyandarguedthatastandard l.4(c)(ii) 
proceeding was regulatory for the purposes of pro­
tecting the public and not disciplinary in nature. We 
rejected the distinction that a standard l.4(c)(ii) 
proceeding was purely regulatory, and held instead 
that it was disciplinary, and that decision was later 
followed in Terrones. Nothing in Murphy and 
Terrones militates against our holding here. 

In many other states, attorneys who are sus­
pended actually must petition for reinstatement or 
establish rehabilitation and fitness before being per­
mitted to practice law after the basic period of 
suspension. 8 This requirement translates into an in­
definite suspension for attorneys who choose not to 

Illinois Supreme Court Rule 764; Indiana Rules for Admission 
to the Bar and the Disciplineof Attorneys, rule 23, sections 3(a) 
and 4( a), ( c) ( requiring reinstatement for indefinite suspensions 
as well as definite suspensions exceeding six months); Ken­
tucky Rules of the Supreme Court, rule 3.510 (1); Maryland 
Rules, rule 16-7 81 ( d)( l ) (requiring reinstatement for indefinite 
suspensions and suspensions for more than six months); Rules 
of Discipline for the Mississippi State Bar, rule 12; Ohio 
Supreme Court Rules for the Government of the Bar of Ohio, 
Rule V, section 1 0(A), (C) (requiring reinstatement for indefi­
nite suspensions as well as definite suspensions ofsix months 
or more); Oregon State Bar Rules of Procedure, rule 8.1 (a). 

For states requiring reinstatement after suspensions of one 
year, see Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure, rule 25 l.29(b ); 
Pennsylvania Rules ofDisciplinary Enforcement, rule 21 S(a); 
Tennessee Supreme Court Rule 9, section 4.2. 

Finally, for a state that requires reinstatement for any 
suspension other than for nonpayment of membership fees, 
see West V irginiaRules ofl.awyer Disciplinary Procedure, rule 
3.30. 
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petition or fail to make the necessary showing. 
California, by contrast, is more lenient than many 
other states in not ordinarily requiring a showing of 
rehabilitation unless the actual suspension is two or 
more years. Also, the American Bar Association 
Model Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary Enforcement 
recommend that attorneys suspended for more than 
six months should be required to petition for reinstate­
ment to protect the public and that reinstatement is 
appropriate upon a showing of rehabilitation. (ABA 
Model Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary Enforcement, 
rule 25; see also ABA Stds. for Imposing Lawyer 
Sanctions, std. 2.3 .)9 In other states, the purpose of 
requiring reinstatement after a lengthy suspension is 
also to protect the public. (See, e.g., Driscoll v. 
People (Colo. O.P.D.J. 2003) 77 P.3d 471, 477; 
Matter of Reinstatement of Page 2004 Ok 49, 1 3 
[94 P.3d 80, 82];/n re Starr(2000) 330 Or. 385,389 
[9 P.3d 700, 704]; Matter of Bucci (R.I. 1994) 643 
A.2d 192, 193-194; State ex rel. Florida Bar v. 
Hogsten (Fla. 1961) 12 7 So.2d 668, 670; Matter of 
Woolbert (Ind. 1996) 6 72 N .E.2d 412, 417.) 

D. Effect of Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Does Not 
Necessarily Extend Suspension Period 

[2b] Imposing a condition under standard 
I .4( c )(ii) does not necessarily extend the actual 
suspension. As we noted in Hunter, the respondent 
could satisfy the condition before the period of actual 
suspension terminates. (Std. 1.4( c )(ii); Hunter, su­
pra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 87, fn. 4.) Here, 
respondent had notice ofhisprobation and the condi­
tions, including the standard 1.4( c )(ii) condition, and 
not only did he violate probation, but he did not 
participate in these proceedings.10 

[2c] In probation revocation proceedings, rule 
562 limits the recommended actual suspension to the 
total amount of stayed execution originally imposed. 
However, a standard l.4(c)(ii) condition does not 

9. ABA standard 2.3 states, in part, that "Procedures should be 
established to allow a suspended lawyer to apply for reinstate­
ment, hut a lawyer who has been suspended should not be 
pennitted to return to practice until he has completed a 
reinstatement process demonstrating rehabilitation, compli­
ance with all applicable discipline or disability orders and rule, 
and fitness to practice law." ABA standard 2.3 advocates 
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necessarily extend the actual suspension ofarespon­
dent where a showing can be made within the period 
of actual suspension. Therefore, although a standard 
1.4( c )(ii) requirement was not attached to the three.-­
yearstayed suspension, following the implicit authority 
to do so in Hunter, and persuaded by the analogy in 
People v. Young, supra, 38 Cal.App.4th 560 we are 
not prohibited from recommending such a condition in 
a probation revocation proceeding. To do otherwise 
would permit respondent to violate probation and 
resume the practice oflaw after being suspended for 
over five years, without ever making a showing of his 
rehabilitation, fitness to practice law or his learning 
and ability in the general law, thus defeating the 
important level of public protection regularlyrecom­
mended in lengthy suspensions, which was imposed 
as a condition of probation. 

ill. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, we find that rule 562 
does not limit the State Bar Court's authority to 
impose a standard 1.4( c )(ii) requirement in a proba­
tion revocation recommendation, even where the 
originally stayed suspension did not include such a 
requirement or where the recommendation for actual 
suspension as a form of discipline will exceed two 
years. 

The hearing judge in Luis II recommended a 
thirty-month suspension with a showing under stan­
dard 1.4( c )(ii) for only six months as an incentive for 
respondent to end his suspension within three years 
by making a satisfactory showing of rehabilitation. 
The hearing judge agreed that the respondent should 
be required to demonstrate his rehabilitation before 
being permitted to return to the practice of law, to 
afford protection to the public. However, the hearing 
judge limited the total period of suspension to three 
years pursuant to rule 562. Although the hearing 
judge was correct in not recommending an actual 

reinstatement for all suspensions since it also recommends that 
suspensions be of six months or greater. 

10. We offer no opinion in this case as to whether or not 
respondent has made the requisite showing under standard 
1.4(c)(ii) should he petition to terminate his actual suspension. 

' j " t . 
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suspension that necessarily exceeded the stayed 
suspension in the underlying disciplinary matter, he 
incorrectly concluded that a standard 1 .4( c )( ii) show­
ing was not available unless it were limited to a 
duration of six months. 

IV. FORMAL RECOMMENDATIONS 

For the reasons stated, we recommend to the 
Supreme Court that respondent Rolando M. Luis's 
probation in Supreme Court matter S102790 (State 
Bar Court case no. 01-0-00318) be revoked; that 
the stay of execution of the previous suspension be 
lifted; and that respondent be actually suspended 
from the practice oflaw for three years11 and until he 
has shown proof satisfactory to the State Bar Court 
of his rehabilitation, fitness to practice law, and 
learning and ability in the general law pursuant to 
standard 1.4(c)(ii) of the Standards for Attorney 
Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. We also 
recommend that the State Bar be awarded costs in 
this matter pursuant to section 6068.10 of the Busi­
ness and Professions Code and that those costs be 
payable in accordance with section 6140.7 of the 
Business and Professions Code. 

Since respondent is already under a duty to pass 
the Multistate Professional Responsibility Examina­
tion in Luis I, we do not again recommend that he be 
required to take and pass the examination. We are not 
recommending that respondent be ordered to comply 
with the requirements of rule 955 of the California 
Rules of Court, since respondent was already or­
dered to comply with these requirements incident to 
his actual suspension in Luis I. 

We concur: 

WATAI, J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 

11. The hearingjudge in Luis flwouldhaverecomrnendedathree--­
year actual suspension when revoking probation, but also 
wanted to recommcnr.l a standard 1.4( c )(ii) requirement and he 
.believed he was limitcdtothreeyears for all recommendations 
per rule 562. Thus, we regard our recommendation of three 
years' actual suspension and until a t .4(c)(ii) requirement as 
essentially consistent with the hearing judge's overall aim in 
recommending discipl inc. 
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DEMETRA PASYANOS 

A Member of the State Bar 

No. 02---0-11558 

Filed January 13, 2005 

SUMMARY 

After respondent's admission to practice, the State Bar brought an original disciplinary proceeding based 
on respondent's pre-admission failure to update her moral character application to disclose a misdemeanor 
complaint charging battery and disobedience of a restraining order. The hearing judge found that respondent 
knowingly failed to disclose a material fact on her moral character application in violation of Rules of 
Professional Conduct, rnle l-200(A). However, because the hearing judge found no intent to conceal the 
misdemeanor complaint or to mislead the Committee of Bar Examiners, finding instead an oversight or innocent 
mistake, the hearing judge declined to conclude that respondent's omission involved moral turpitude. The 
hearingj udge forth er determined that cancel 1 ation ofrespondent' slaw license would be grossly excessive and 
instead recommended public reproval. (Hon. Patrice McElroy, Hearing Judge.) 

On review, the State Bar urged that respondent's license to practice law be canceled and that her 
admission to the practice of law be revoked, contending that the Committee of Bar Examiners was denied the 
right to make a full and informed evaluation of respondent while a candidate for admission and that respondent 
should be placed in the same position in which she would have been had she disclosed the misdemeanor 
complaint. The State Bar also contended that respondent's failure to update her application to disclose the 
criminal charges was an act of moral turpitude. The review department rejected these contentions, cone luding 
that this was an appropriate case in which to recommend discipline, rather than license cancellation, and 
adopted the hearing judge's pub I ic reproval recommendation. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

Kevin B. Taylor 

Erica Tabachnick 

CotJNSEL FOR PAliTU-:S 

Editor's note: The summary, hcadnotcs and additional analysis section are not part of the opm1on of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State BarCmut fo1· the convenience of the reader. On] y Lhe actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may b(: cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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IIEADNOTES 

[la-d] 139 Procedure-Miscellaneous 
191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
Whenamemberofthe State Bar has committed misconduct prior to admission to practice law, the 
State Bar may seek the attorney's discipline or seek to recommend the cancellation or revocation 
of the member's law license. Depending on the balance of facts and circwnstances unique to each 
case, either or both alternatives could be considered in appropriate cases. It appears that the 
Supreme Court considers cancellation the appropriate step when an applicant has wrongfully 
obtained the benefits of admission such as by intentional misrepresentation which prevents the 
Committee of Bar Examiners from adequately considering the applicant's fitness to practice. 
Al though respondent should have timely updated her application to disclose to the Committee of Bar 
Examiners misdemeanor charges against her, as she had a duty to do so under the Rules Regulating 
Admission to Practice Law and it bore upon her application to practice law, the nondisclosure was 
not intended to and did not result in wrongfully conferring on respondent the benefit o flaw Ii censure. 
Given the formal record of the events surrounding respondent's misdemeanor charges before the 
review department, the Committee of Bar Examiners was not deprived of the opportunity to 
adequately consider respondent's fitness to practice such that respondent wrongfully obtained the 
benefit of law licensure. Therefore, the review department did not recommend cancellation of 
respondent's law license. 

[2a, bl 251.30 Rule 1-200(A) (no former rule] 
Respondent stipulated that she did not disclose to the Committee of Bar Examiners pending 
misdemeanor charges against her, nor did she disclose to the State Bar after her admission to 
practice law her conviction of challenginganotherperson in a public place to fight. When respondent 
was charged criminally, there was no formal record of those events before the Committee of Bar 
Examiners. It was therefore incumbent on respondent to timely and candidly disclose the charges 
and her later conviction so that the Committee of Bar Examiners could make adequate inquiry. The 
criminal charges and subsequent convictions were "material facts" within the meaning ofRules of 
Professional Conduct, rule 1-200(A). "Materiality" used in the context of this rule is a substantial 
likelihood that a reasonable person would consider it important in evaluating whether an applicant 
for admission to the practice oflaw is ofrequisite good moral character. Materiality for purposes 
of this rule does not mean facts that are necessari 1 y outcome--determinati ve of a finding of moral 
character. fuformation is material for purposes of the rule when it is specifically required to be 
disclosed on the application for admission or is ofthenature that it comes within the continuing duty 
to update the application. The information regarding respondent's criminal charges, when taken in 
the context of respondent's application for admission, would have been considered by the 
Committee of Bar Examiners as relevant to its determination of respondent's moral fitness or 
capacity to practice law and was therefore material, even though the information in all likelihood 
would not have affected the ultimate detennination of moral fitness to practice law. 

[3a-cl 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
The review department concluded that respondent's failure to update her moral character 
application to disclose misdemeanor charges did not involve moral turpitude where (I) the hearing 
judge ( and review department) gave credi bi Ii ty to respondent's testimony of innocent mistake and 
no intent to mislead the Committee of Bar Examiners; (2) respondent disclo;;ed other litigated 
matters, including those involving her former husband; (3) the non-disclosed charges took place 10 
or 11 months after the submission of the moral character application; and (4) the review department 
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agreed with the hearingjudge that respondent could not have reasonably believed that the disclosure 
of the misdemeanor charges of a domestic dispute, combined with all other information in the 
application, was crucial and would adversely affect her admission to practice law. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

251.31 Rule l-200(A) [no former rule] 
Not Found 

221.50 Section 6106 
Discipline 

1041 Public Reproval-With Conditions 
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OPINION 

BY THE COURT1: 

The principal question presented in this matter is: 
whether respondent Demetra Pasyanos's failure to 
update an Application for Determination of Moral 
Character submitted to the Committee of Bar Exam• 
iners (CBE) in order to disclose a 2001 misdemeanor 
complaint charging battery and disobedience of a 
restraining order warrants cancel1ation of 
respondent's Bar license or, alternatively, discipline. 

In an original disciplinary proceeding brought 
after respondent's admission to practice, based on 
the foregoing, the hearing judge found that respon• 
dent knowingly failed to disclose a material fact in 
violation of rule 1-200(A) of the Rules of Profes. 
sional Conduct2 in connection with her application for 
admission. The judge found no intentofrespondentto 
conceal or to mislead the CBE, but rather found an 
oversight or innocent mistake on the part of respon­
dent. Asaresult, thehearingjudge found no violation 
of section 6106 of the Business and Professions 
Code.3 She determined that cancellation of 
respondent's law license "would be grossly exces• 
sive" and recommended public reproval. 

The State Bar urges cancellationofrespondent' s 
license to practice law and the revocation of her 
admission to the practice oflaw, contending that the 
CBE was denied the right to make a ful 1 and informed 
evaluation o frespondent while a candidate for admis­
sion to the State Bar and that respondent should be 
placed in the same position she would have been in 
had she disclosed the misdemeanor complaint against 
her. According to the State Bar, respondent's failure 
to update her application to disclose the criminal 
charges was an act of moral turpitude. 

Respondent points to her testimony that her 
failure to report the charges to the CBE orto the State 
Bar was inadvertent and an oversight, done without 

I. Before Stovitz, P. J., Watai, J. and Epstein, J. 

2. Unless noted othc1wisc, all further references 1·0 rules are to 
these Rules of Professional. Conduct. 
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any intent to mislead the CBE. She contends that the 
oversight was not of a material fact. She does not 
dispute the public reproval recommended below. 

On review, we granted a motion to augment the 
record submitted by the State Bar, reserving consid­
eration and weight to be given to this additional 
evidence which documented respondent's criminal 
court sentencing. We find that this evidence, which 
was not before the hearingj udge, bears only remotely 
on the issues before us, therefore justifying only 
negligible weight. 

After independently reviewing the record (Cal. 
Rules of Court, rule 951.5; Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
rule 305(a);/n re Morse (1995) 1 I Cal.4th 184,207), 
we conclude that this is an appropriate case in which 
to recommend discipline, rather than license cancel~ 
lation. We shall adopt the hearingj udge' s findings and 
her recommendation as to discipline and impose 
public reproval on respondent on the conditions set 
forth in the hearing judge's decision. 

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL 
BACKGROUND 

The pertinent events are not disputed and may be 
summarized partly in tabular form as follows: 

Mar. 2000 
Respondent filed her Application for Detennination 
of Moral Character. 

Feb.26,2001 
Misdemeanor Complaint charging violation of Penal 
Code sections 243, subdivision ( e )(1) and 166, subdi­
vision (a)( 4) was filed. The charges were not reported 
to the CBE. 

Mar. 28 to Nov. 16, 2001 
Respondent personally appeared ins uperior court on 
the charges. 

3. Un less noted otherwise, al I further reforences to sections arc 
to the Business and Professions Code. 
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Nov. 19,2001 
Respondent was admitted to the practice of law in 
California. 

Jan. l 8, 2002 
During an appearance on the criminal charges, re­
spondent disclosed to the superior court that she was 
an attorney. 

Feb. 1, 2002 
The criminal charges were amended to charge re­
spondent with one misdemeanor count ofPenal Code 
section 415, subdivision (I) ( challenging another per­
son in a public place to fight). Respondent pleaded 
nolo contendere to the charge and all other charges 
were dismissed. Respondent was released on her 
own recognizance on the condition that she comply 
with five specified conditions. Sentencing was con­
tinued to February 2004, at which time, ifrespondent 
had complied with the conditions ofherrelease and if 
she could establish her rehabilitation, she would be 
able to seek an order dismissing the conviction or 
reducing it to an infraction. The conviction was not 
reported to the CBE or any other office of the State 
Bar. 

JulylS,2002 
Notice of disciplinary charges (NOC) was filed by 
the State Bar charging rule l-200(A) (false state­
ment regarding admission) and section 6106 ( acts of 
moral turpitude, dishonesty or corruption). 

Dec. 1 7, 2002 
Respondent and the State Bar entered into a partial 
stipulation of facts. 

May8,2003 
Hearing judge's decision filed with the finding of 
culpability of rule l-200(A) in count I, knowingly 
failing todiscloscamaterial fact in connection with an 
appfo;ation for admission to the State Bar. She found 
no culpability of section 6106 in count 2, commission 
of any act involving moral turpitude. 

Respondent stipulated that she failed to update 
her application for admission. She testifiedthat she 
had no intention to mislead the CBE and that the non­
disclosurn was an innocent oversight. She pointed to 
the fact that she had disclosed al least ten litigated 
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matters, including three matters between herself and 
David Yardley, the victim of her criminal conviction 
at issue here. Respondent and Yardley have an 
extensive history of a continuing feud, as supported 
by the many incidents and restraining orders between 
them. William J. Hardy, an attorney for whom re­
spondent worked for about six months and who 
represented her in the underlying criminal incident, 
testified that Yardley and respondent have joint 
custody of their son and that their relationship has 
been contentious. He further testified that charges of 
battery and vandalism have been directed at each 
other and Yardley has been arrested and prosecuted 
and respondent has been arrested and prosecuted for 
these charges. 

As to the particular incident in question, respon­
dent testified that she had arranged with Yardley to 
obtain $20 from him. He instructed her to meet him at 
a theater. When she approached him, he took the bill 
out of his wallet and offered it to her, but wouldn't 
release it when she grasped it. They struggled over 
the money and fell to the ground with respondent on 
top. She left the theater without the money. Yardley 
filed a criminal complaint against her and she ulti­
matclypleaded nolo contendereto violation of Penal 
Code section 415, subdivision ( 1 ), making a challenge 
to fight in public. All other charges were dismissed. 
Sentence was deferred to February 2004, and re­
spondent was released on her own recognizance with 
conditions. 

Respondent presented seven character wit­
nesses, including two attorneys and five lay persons, 
who attested to her honesty and trustworthiness. 
They also agreed, unequivocally, as a general matter 
that the CBE should be given all pertinent information 
for proper evaluation but that respondent did not 
demonstrate dishonesty in not revealing the misde­
meanor charges. Respondent testified about her pro 
bono work through law school and continuing today. 

No evidence was presented to contradict this 
character evidence, and the hearing judge found no 
aggravating circumstances. At oral argument, the 
State Bar stated that it was not seeking to discipline 
respondent in this proceeding for any misconduct 
surrounding the incident with Yardley, other than for 
her non-disclosure of it to the CBE. 
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DISCUSSION 

[la) When a member of the Bar is alleged to 
have committed misconduct prior to admission to 
practice law, the decisional law offers two alterna­
tives: the State Bar may undertake an original 
disciplinaryproceeding as occurred here and seek the 
attorney's discipline (Stratmore v. State Bar(1975) 
14 Cal. 3d 8 87, 890-891; see also In re Bogart ( 1973) 
9Cal.3d 743,749), oritmayseektorecommendthat 
the Supreme Court cancel or revoke the law license 
previously issued (e.g., Goldstein v. StateBar(l 989) 
47 Cal.3d 937; StateBarv. Langert(1954)43 Cal.2d 
63 6,· In the Matter of Ike (Review Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 483 ). Although these two altema­
ti ves exist, it appears, as we shall note, that the 
Supreme Court considers cancellation, rather than 
discipline, the appropriate step when an applicant has 
wrongfully obtained the benefits of admission such as 
by intentional misrepresentation which prevents the 
CBE from adequately considering the applicant's 
fitness to practice. 

jlbl Prior to considering each alternative, we 
have concluded that respondent should have dis­
closed timely to the CBE, by updating her application, 
her arrest and ultimate conviction of the misde­
meanor offense. She had a duty to do so under the 
CBE rules4 and it bore upon her application to 
practice law even though, as we shall conclude, her 
non--disc losure was not intended to and did not in this 
case result in conferring wrongfully on respondent 
the benefit oflaw licensure. 

License cancellation. 

W c review first the al temative o fl icense cancel­
lation as urged here by the State Bar. 

The State Bar cites State Bar v. Langer!, 
supra, 43 Cal.2d 636, to support its argument to 

4. Ru le VI, section 7, of the Rules Rcgul ati ng Admission to 
Practice Law in California, in effect during the pendency of 
respondent's application, read~ a~ follows: "Until they have 
been admitted, applicants arc under a continuing obi igation to 
keep their applications current and must update responses 
whenever there is an addition to or a change to in formation 
previously furnished the Committee. Applicants sha11 anmmll y 
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justify revoking the order admitting respondent to 
practice in California. We do not agree with the State 
Bar's reading of the case. 

In State Bar v. Langert, supra, 43 Cal.2d 636, 
there was a deliberate concealment of material facts 
in a verified application to the CBE in 1944. Langert 
stated in his application that he had never held a 
license; that he had never been reprimanded, cen­
sured or otherwise disciplined as an attorney; that no 
charges had ever been made or filed against him; that 
he had worked in several capacities, none of which 
was the practice of law; and he gave his Illinois 
addresses in Chicago, Peoria, and Henry. It was then 
learned that Langert had been admitted to the Bar in 
lllinois, had practiced law in Rock Island, Illinois, for 
his entire legal practice from 1927to 1938,hadbeen 
charged with unprofessional conduct and, after a 
hearing in 1941, there was a recommendation that 
Langert be disbarred. The Supreme Court held that it 
was Langert's duty to truly answer the questions 
asked by the CBE and that the facts with respect to 
his prior conduct in the practice of the la win Illinois 
might have justified an order refusing to allow him to 
take the bar examination in this State. The court 
concluded that the CBE's approval of Langert was 
based on the admitted false answers in his applica­
tion. Thus, the Supreme Court vacated its order 
admitting Langert and cancelled his license to prac­
tice law. 

We are also directed to Goldstein v. State Bar, 
supra, 47 Cal.3d 937. Goldstein had been denied 
admission to the State Bar in 1983 because he did not 
possess the requisite moral character and had been 
allowed to re .. ·apply after three years. He re-applied 
after only two years in 1985 and failed to disclose that 
he had been denied admission once before. His failure 
to disc lose this prior denial of admission was found to 
be willful, and he was found to have been admitted to 
the State Bar without adequate consideration of his 

file during the month of their birth a statement made under 
penalty of perjury that there have been no changes to the 
information provided in their previously filed application orif 
then; have been changes, the natureo fthe changes. The annual 
filing shall not be required of an applicant until at least twelve 
(12) months have elapsed since the filing of his or her Appli­
cation for Determination of Moral Character." 
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moral character. His law license was cancelled. The 
court considered the State Bar's suggestion that it 
disbar Goldstein but determined that the appropriate 
step, as in State Bar v. Langert, supra, 43 Cal.2d 
636, was to withdraw from him the benefits he 
obtained wrongfully by his dishonesty. 

In In the Matter of Ike, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 483, a conviction referral matter, Ike had 
been admitted to the practice of law after eight 
unsuccessful attempts at taking the examination. He 
concealedfromtheCBE, bynotupdatinghisapplica­
tion form, his arrest and pending trial on 11 felony 
charges, including conspiracy to commit theft, grand 
theft of more than $25,000 and forgery. After admis­
sion to the practice oflaw, he pleaded to two of the 
felony charges. He, then, notified the State Bar ofhis 
guiltypleas. Ike's non---disclosure of the felony charges 
was found to be wi 11 ful, especially in light ofhis eight 
separate applications filed with the CBE in which he 
was reminded that disclosure or update was required. 
We considered the facts and circumstances of Ike's 
convictions of theft and conspiracy to commit theft 
and determined that Ike lacked the essential qualities 
of honesty and trustworthiness and was unfit to 
practice law. We held that" 'whereanattomeyatthe 
time ofhis application for admission has made a false 
affidavit, lmowing it to be untrue, the fraud of the 
attorney has been cs tab! ishcd and his license ( is to be] 
revoked. [Citations.]' [Citation.]" (Id. at p. 492.) We 
recommended that the Supreme Court vacate its 
order admitting Ike to the practice of law or in the 
alternative recommended that he be disbarred. 

Summarizing these cases cited above, Langert 
failed to disclose his background as an attorney who 
had been disbarred; Goldstein failed to disclose the 
fact that he had been found not morally fit to practice 
law two years before; and Ike failed to disclose 11 
felony charges of conspiracy to commit theft, grand 
theft and forgery. The facts and circumstances 
surrounding their undisclosed matters clearly estab­
lished that they intentionally concealed material facts 
which deprived the CBE from any reasonable ability 
to-assess these applicants' moral fitness. 
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Attorney discipline. 

The lead precedent involving attorney discipline 
for pre-admission misconduct is Stratmore v. State 
Bar, supra, 14 Cal.3d 887. Stratmore was admitted 
to the Bar in 1972. He was ordered to show cause 
why the order admitting him to the practice of law 
should not be revoked for his misconduct comrni tted 
about a year before his admission to the practice of 
law. He was charged with knowingly making false 
representations in 1971 to 11 New York law firms 
regarding his job interview expenses with the intent to 
deceive and wrongfully obtain money. The Supreme 
Court found that it was irrelevant that Stratmore's 
misconduct preceded his admission to practice and 
noted that the court's concern lies in protecting the 
public's 1;ght to representation by attorneys who are 
worthy of trust. The court held that under its inherent 
power, it could "discipline an attorney for conduct 
'either in or out of [his] profession' which shows him 
to be unfit to practice (The People v. Turner [(1850)] 
1 Cal. 143, 150) ... . "(Id.at p. 890.) Stratmore was 
suspended from the practice of law for two years, 
execution stayed, and placed on probation for two 
years on condition that he was actually suspended for 
the first nine months. Although the court noted at the 
outset that the proceeding had sought Stratmore's 
license cancellation, in deciding the case, it discussed 
only la\.\o'y'er discipline. 

In In the Matter of Ike, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. at page 494, we discussed the basis for our 
altcrnativcrccomrnendation of disbarment for Ike's 
conviction of crimes inherently involving moral turpi­
tude arisingprior to his admission to practice law, and 
undisclosed to the CBE. As noted, ante, the Supreme 
Court chose to cancel Ike's license rather than to 
discipline him. 

Comparison of the two alternatives and 
applicability to this case. 

[le] In Goldstein v. State Bar, supra, 47 
Cal.3d 937, and State Bar v. Langert, supra, 43 
Cal.2d 636, the Supreme Court expressly chose 
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license cancellation over discipline. In Stratmore v. 
State Bar, supra, 14 Cal.3 d 887, the court discussed 
only discipline. This does not necessarily create only 
one appropriate course for all cases of pre-admission 
misconduct or failure to disclose material facts on an 
application for admission. Depending on the balance 
of facts and circumstances unique to each case, 
either or both alternatives could be considered in 
appropriate cases. (See In the Matter of Ike, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 483.) In this case, 
we conclude, as did the hearing judge, and as the 
Supreme Court concluded in Stratmore, supra, 14 
Cal.3d 8 87, that attorney di sci pl ine is the appropriate 
resolution. 

[ld] There is no evidence that respondent's 
non--<lisclosure was intended to thwart the CBE's 
consideration of her moral fitness, and she revealed 
to the CBE other matters involving Yardley. Given 
the formal record of the events surrounding 
respondent's misdemeanor charges now before us, 
we cannot agree with the State Bar's position that the 
CBE was deprived of the opportunity to adequately 
consider respondent's fitness to practice so that 
respondent wrongfully obtained the benefit of law 
licensure. For this reason, we do not recommend 
cancellation of her license. However, we cannot 
condone respondent's failure to disclose the misde­
meanor charges in a timely manner, which, as we 
discuss below, constituted a breach of the duties 
prescribed by rule 1-200(A). We therefore consider 
the alternative of attorney discipline and, by indepen­
dently reviewing the record, determine whether the 
State Bar proved by clear and convincing evidence 
grounds for respondent's discipline, based on her 
non-disclosure. 

Attorney discipline: rule l-200(A) and 
section 6106. 

r2a1 Rule l-200(A) prohibits a member from 
knowingly making a false statement regarding a 
material fact or knowingly omitting a material fact in 
connection with an application for admission to the 
State Bar. The hearing judge found that respondent 
knowingly failed to disclose a material fact to the 
CBE in violation of rule l-200(A). We agree. Re­
spondent stipulated that she did not disclose to the 
CBE the pending misdemeanor charges against her, 
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nor did she disclose to the State Bar ( after admission 
to the practice oflaw) her conviction of Penal Code 
section 415, subdivision (1 ). In these circumstances, 
we find respondent satisfied the lmowledge require­
ment of rule 1-200(A) as she was well aware that 
these charges were the type to be disclosed timely to 
the CBE, since she had disclosed other, similar 
information concerning her contacts with Yardley on 
her application to the CBE. (See, e.g., King v. State 
Bar(1990) 52 Cal.3d307, 313-314 [establishing the 
level of lmowledge for a violation of the Rules of 
Professional Conduct].) 

[2b) At the time that respondent was charged 
criminally, there was no formal record of those events 
before the CBE. It was therefore incumbent on 
respondent to timely and candidly disclose the charges 
and her later conviction so that the CBE could make 
adequate inquiry. Accordingly, we consider the crimi­
nal charges and subsequent convictions to be ''material 
facts" within the meaning of rule l-200(A). Adapting 
the Supreme Court's definition of materialty for a 
perjury conviction based on failure to comply with 
disclosure requirements of the Political Reform Act 
(Gov. Code,§ 8100 et. seq.); (People v. Hedgecock 
(1990) 51 Cal.3d395,406--407), we conclude that an 
apt definition of"materiality" used in the context of 
rule l-200(A) is a "substantial likelihood that a 
reasonable person would consider it important in 
evaluating" whether an applicant for admission to the 
practice of law is of requisite good moral character 
(Hedgecock, at p. 406). We wish to make clear that 
materiality for the purposes of rule 1-200 does not 
mean facts that are necessarily outcome--<letennina­
tive of a finding of moral character. Information is 
material for purposes of rule 1-200 when it is specifi­
cally required to be disclosed on the application for 
admission or is of the nature that it comes within the 
continuing duty to update the application. The ap­
plication for admission expressly required respondent 
to disclose the charges and conviction arising out of 
the incident with Yardley. We have no doubt as well 
that this information, when taken in the context of 
respondent's application for admission, would have 
been considered by the CBE as relevant to its 
determination of respondent's moral fitness or ca­
pacity to practice law. We therefore find the 
non-disclosed information to be material, even though 
the surrounding infonnation, when developed, in all 
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likelihood wouldnothaveaffected the ultimate deter­
mination of her moral fitness to practice law.5 

[3a] We further note that the hearingjudge gave 
credibility to respondent's testimony ofinnocent mis­
take and no intent to mislead the CBE. As stated, 
ante, respondent disclosed other litigated matters, 
including those involving Yardley, and also noted that 
the non-disclosed charges took place ten or eleven 
months after the submission of her application. The 
hearing judge determined that respondent could not 
have reasonably believed that the disclosure of the 
misdemeanor charges of a domestic dispute, com­
bined withall of the other information in the application 
for admission, was crucial and would adversely 
affect her admission to the practice oflaw. We agree. 
We find no evidence to refute this.We properly defer 
to the hearing judge's credibility finding also, since 
she was in the best position to observe respondent's 
demeanor while testifying. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
rule 305(a); see Connors v. State Bar (1990) 50 
Cal.3d 1047, 1056.) 

[3b] The hearing judge did not find respondent 
culpable of violating section 6106, since she did not 
find by clear and convincing evidence that respondent 
intended to mislead the CBE or the State Bar. She 
found respondent credible when she testified that her 
failure to disclose was an oversight and a mistake. 

[3c] Section 6106 prohibits "[t ]he commission of 
any act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty or cor­
ruption, whether the act is committed in the course of 
his relations as an attorney or otherwise, and 
whether the act is a felony or misdemeanor or not. 
... " "Moral turpitude" has been defined as"'" 
everything done contrary to justice, honesty, mod­
esty, or good morals" [citationsj and as "[aJn act of 
baseness, vileness or depravity in the private and 
social duties which a man owes to his fellow men or 
to society in general, conlrary to the accepted and 
customary rule of right and duty between man and 
man" [citations].' [Citation.]" (Hallinan v. Cmnmit­
tee of Bar Examiners, supra, 65 Cal.2d. 447, 452, 

5. As noted in Hallinan v. Commilfee of Har Examiners ( 1966) 
65 Cal.2d 447, 459, not every intentional violation or law, 
standing alone, is grounds for exclusion from law Ii censure. 
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fn. 4.) "It has been described as any crime or 
misconduct without excuse [citation] or any dishon­
est or immoral act. The meaning and test is the same 
whether the dishonest or immoral act is a felony, 
misdemeanor, or no crime at all. [Citation.]" 
(Chadwick v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d l 03, l 10.) 
As broad as these definitions are, they are not without 
the requirement of, at the very least, gross neglect or 
recklessness. (E.g., Baker v. State Bar (1989) 49 
Cal.3d 804, 815-816; Lipson v. State Bar (1991) 53 
Cal.3d 1010, 1020--1021.) Having adopted the hear­
ingjudge' s factual findings, we agree With the hearing 
judge's decision finding no violation of section 6106, 

Degree of discipline. 

Our independent review and the foregoing rea­
sons lead us to the conclusion that some discipline is 
warranted for the protection of the public and the 
maintenance of the integrity of the legal profession. 

In the area of an attorney's isolated misrepre­
sentation to, false testimony before, or concealment 
of a material fact from a court, public reproval has 
been imposed in the appropriate cases. (See, e.g., 
DiSabatino v. State Bar (1980) 27 Cal.3d 159; 
Mushrush v. State Bar (1976) 17 CaL3d 487; 
Mosesian v. State Bar (1972) 8 Cal.3d 60; In re 
Cooper (1971) 5 Cal.3d 256.) 

We conclude that the hearing judge's recom­
mendation also forpublic reproval should be adopted. 

ORDER 

It is ordered that respondent Demetra Pasyanos 
is hereby publicly reproved, effective when this 
decision becomes final (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
2 70( a)). Finding that the protection of the pub\ ic and 
the interests of respondent will b~ served thereby, we 
adopt and we incorporate in this decision, the condi­
tions attached by the hearing judge to the public 
reproval. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 956(a).) 
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COSTS 

It is further ordered that respondent pay costs to 
the State Bar in accordance with Business and 
Professions Code section 6086.10 and that such costs 
are payable in accordance with Business and Profes­
sions Code section 6140.7. 

NOTICE PURSUANT TO RULE 956 

Pursuant to the provision of rule 956(a) of the 
Cal ifomia Rules of Court, respondent is hereby noti­
fied that "An attorney's failure to comply with 
conditions attached to a public or private reproval 
may constitute cause for a separate proceeding for 
willful breach of rule 1-110, Rules of Professional 
Conduct'' (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 956(b)). 
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SUMMARY 

Respondents became involved in an intra-tribal power struggle when they advised a dissident tribal faction 
in its efforts to dispossess a parent tribe of its governing authority. The Superior Court sanctioned respondents 
for their egregious conduct arising from their surreptitious attempt to perpetrate a fraud upon the court and 
opposing counsel while representing a defendant which the parent tribe sued for employment harassment. The 
hearingjudgc found that respondents committed acts of moral turpitude and wilfully failed to obey a sanctions 
order but dismissed as duplicative the charge that respondents violated their duty never to seek to mislead a 
judge or other judicial officer. In mitigation, the respondent who was a senior partner had no prior record of 
discipline in 31 years of practice and demonstrated good character. In aggravation, both respondents displayed 
lack ofcandor during trial, and their misconduct interfered with the proper administration of justice. The hearing 
judge afforded no weight to the finding that respondents' misconduct was surrounded by overreaching, 
determining that the evidence was duplicative of the misconduct supporting the charge that respondents 
committed acts of moral turpitude. The hearing judge recommended two years' probation with con di ti ons for 
both respondents, including actual suspension of 45 days for the senior partner and actual suspension of90 days 
for the associate. (Hon. Patrice McElroy, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondents sought review requesting they be exonerated of all charges. The State Bar urged the review 
department to adopt the hearing judge's findings of culpability and most of the factors in aggravation and 
mitigation and sought a six-month actual suspension for both respondents. 

The review department adopted the hearing judge's culpability finding that respondents committed acts 
of moral turpitude and agreed that the charge that respondents violated their duty never to seek to mislead a 
judge or other judicial officer should be dismissed as duplicative but recommended that the charge that 
respondents wilfully failed to obey a sanction order be dismissed with prejudice since there was not clear and 
convincing evidence in the record that respondents knew there was a final, binding court order. The review 
department found good character testimony to be compelling as to both respondents and found additional 
factors in aggravation includingthatthe misconductwascompriscdofmultiple acts, that respondents displayed 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotcs and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared bytheOfficeofthe State Bar Court fortheconve11icnceofthereader. Onlytheaetua\ textofthe Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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indifference towards atonement or rectification, that respondents committed uncharged misconduct, and that 
the !)enior partner's misconduct Wll!i surrounded by overreaching1 The review department found the associate 
less culpable than the senior pa , recomrt1ended that respondents be suspended for one year, stayed, 
that they be placed on probation for. . . . : ,, ·~ mi the qondition_that the senior partner be actually suspended 
for 90 days and that the associate be actualiy-~®Ped f?r 60 days. 

Coy'il!SEL FOR p ARTIES • 

For State Bar: ... 
-:- ~ . ; 

For Respondent: ~':~onatlian 1. Arohs · 

,;,;_'.t·.}:~:>?:\·~A •• ' (j'E5. • 

• '~. ·.':" ... ' 

[1 a-c) 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 

[2) 

[3] 

[4a, b) 

Respondents committed acts of moral turpitude b . . . . . ingly making repeated misrepresentations 
to the Superior Court wh~n they submi.ttednumerous pfoadir1gsfor filing that were permeated with 
half-truths, omission~, and outright _misstatements of fact iuiilaw: Respondents' misconduct was 
compounded by the factthat they signed .,. of their pleadings under penalty of perjury which 
should have put reasonable persons on noti~ ®lsure their pleadings were accurate, complete and 
true. Because respondents' misleading statements tci the court were not the result of mere 
carelessness but were intend\!1 t6),,ecure. an advantage in litigation, respondents· ·misconduct 
reflecte~ ~ -~isregard oft~~ fu.,:r 't-0 adhere t~ the req~irements of the la"." and professional 
respons1b1hhes as officers ~'be oourt and constituted evtdence of moral turpitude. 

106.30 Procedure-Pleading~D11plicatl.v~ Charges 
213.40 State Bar 'Act-Section 6'068(d) 
Dismissal of duplicative violations is appropriate where misconduct establishing respondent 
culpability for violating theirdutyneverto se~ to mis_lead a judge or other judicial offer by an artifice 
or false statement oflaw or fac;_tis covered by t,~isconductestablishing culpability for committing 
acts of moral turpitude whiclilupports identicalor greater discipline . 

• ·?;.. • • • 

220.00 State Bar Act-Section ~103, clause 1. . 
Where the record concerning respondents' knowledge of the import of the Superior Court's 
sanctions decision is confusing at best,there is not clear and convincing evidence that respondents 
knew there was a final, binding court order and respondents were therefore not culpable of violating 
their duty not to disobey or violate an order of the court since knowledge is an essential element to 
establishing such a violation. 

715.50 Mitigation-Good Faith-Declined to Find . . 
Al though attorneys have a duty to zealously represent their clients and assert unpopular and novel 
positions in advancing their clients' legitimate objectives, they also ha vea duty to the judicial system 
to assert only legal claims or defenses that are warranted by the law or are supportcti by a good faith 
belief in their correctness. Thus, in order to establish good faith as a mitigating circumstance, an 
attorney must prove that his or her beliefs were both honestly held and reasonable. Even though 
respondents and the State Bar stipulated that respondents had researched the law and believed a · 
tribal election was valid, that stipulation does not establish good faith mitigation since respondents' 
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misrepresentations of fact and law went far beyond the specific issue of the validity of the election 
results. 

[5) 561 Aggravation-Uncharged Violations-Found 
Where respondents chose to conceal the full and complete factual circumstances surrounding a 
disputed tribal election as well as the novelty of the legal theories and authorities upon which they 
were seeking to induce the Superior Court to dismiss a case and where the record is replete with 
additional pleadings and verbal statements which were rife with material omissions and express 
misstatements of fact and law not identified in the notice of disciplinary charges, such uncharged 
but proven misconduct is properly considered for purposes of aggravation. 

[.6] 551 Aggravation-Overreaching-Found 
Wh~e respondent wrote letter to a bank asserting a rival tribal faction had unconditional authority 
to dispossess another tribe of its property when respondent knew that the results of a tribal election 
were only preliminary, respondent's action was evidence of overreaching and considered in 
aggravation. 

[7 a-c] 611 Aggravation-Lack of Candor-Bar-Found 
Where the record is at complete odds with respondents' testimony in the hearing department and 
respondents' testimony is evasive, inconsistent and replete with convenient memory lapses, 
respondents' lack of candor constitutes a strong aggravating circumstance. 

[8] 586.10 Aggravation-Harm to Administration of Justice-Found. 
Where respondents' conduct required an opposing party to perform substantial additional work and 
incur additional expense and resulted in a court order for additional monetary sanctions against 
respondents because of the burden respondents imposed on the court, such actions threatened the 
efficient administration of justice and improperly burdened the court system constituting an 
aggravating circumstance. 

(9] 521 Aggravation-Multiple Acts-Found 
Where respondents' misconduct was comprised of multiple acts committed in concert with each 
other over a three-month period and where respondents chose to expressly or impliedly create a 
false picture of the lnte state of affairs and ignore contrary facts and legal position and where 
respondents had numerous opportunities to correct their misleading statements but chose not to do 
so, respondents' repeated acts of misconduct demonstrated a pattern of disrespect for professional 
norms and was considered an aggravating factor. 

[10] 591 Aggravation-Indifference-Found 
Respondents went beyond tenacity to truculence when they continued to claim in the face of 
overwhelming facts and legal authority that their conduct was justified which demonstrates an 
indifference toward rectification of or atonement for the consequences of their misconduct. 

Ill a, b) 691 Aggravation-Other-Found 
Respondents' efforts to simultaneously represent opposing parties in a harassment lawsuit where 
an actual conflict existed was considered an aggravating factor. 
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(12 a-d) 1015.02 Discipline-Actual Suspension-2 Months 
1015.03 Discipline-Actual Suspension-3 Months 
Where respondents committed acts of moral turpitude by knowingly making repeated misrepresen­
tations to the Superior Court, where there was extensive aggravation including uncharged 
misconduct, lack of candor, harm to the administration of justice, multiple acts of misconduct 
demonstrating a pattern of disrespect for professional norms, indifference towards atonement or 
rectification, with mitigation for strong good character testimony, extensive community service, and 
no prior record for respondent who was supervising counsel, and where respondent who was 
inexperienced associate had only practiced law in California for less than three years prior to 
misconduct and was not culpable of overreaching, appropriate discipline recommendation was one 
year stayed suspension, two years' probation on conditions, which included 90 days actual 
suspension for respondent who was partner in charge and 60 days actual suspension for respondent 
who was associate. 

ADDlTIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

221.11 Section 6106--Deliberate Dishonesty/Fraud 
Not Found 

213.45 Section6068(d) 
214.55 Section 6068( o) 
220.05 Section 6103, clause 1 

Mitigation 
Found 

710.10 No Prior Record 
740.10 Good Character 
765.10 Pro Bono Work 

Declined to Find 
710.53 No Prior Record 

Standards 
833.90 Moral Turpitude-Suspension 

Discipline 

Other 

1013.06 Stayed Suspension-I Year 
1017 .08 Probation--2 Years 

175 Discipline-Rule 955 
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OPINION 

EPSTEIN, J.: 

This case illustrates how over-zealous advo­
cacy compromised the ethical obligations of 
respondents Patrick J. Maloney Jr. and Thomas 
Virsik to the courts and the legal system. Respondent 
Maloney was admitted to practice in 1969 and has no 
prior disciplinary record. Respondent Virsik, who 
. worked as an associate for Maloney, was admitted in 
1997 and has no prior discipline. Respondents repre-
sented the Round Valley Nation (RVN), a dissident 
faction of the Round Valley Indian Reservation, 
which was engaged in an intra-tribal power struggle 

. _J_ith the Round Valley Indian Tribes (RVIT). Re­
•• ·w _rondents advised R VN in their efforts to dispossess 
.I?! RVIT of its governing authority. Respondents also 

• • • "·: represented Carlino Bettega, who was sued by R VIT 
~remployment harassment, in a case entitled Round 
fljValley Indian Tribes v. Bettega (Bettega). During 

•• -~-·.the·course of that litigation, the Mendocino County 
• Superior Court (Superior Court) imposed sanctions 

against respondents pursuant to Code of Civil Proce­
dure section 128.7 for their "egregious conduct" 
arising from the "surreptitious attempt by counsel 
Maloney and Virsek [sic] ... to dismiss the action 
and to perpetrate a fraud upon the court and opposing 
counsel. ... " 

The hearing judge below found, inter alia, that 
respondents were culpable of acts of misrepresenta­
tion to the Superior Court constituting moral turpitude 
in violation ofBusincss and Professions Code section 
6106 and the failure to obey the Superior Court's 
sanction order in wilful violation of Business and 
Professions Code section 6103. The hearing judge 
recommended that respondent Maloney be placed on 
probation for two years with conditions, including 
actual suspension of 45 days and that respondent 
Virsik be placed on two years' probation with condi­
tions, including 90 days' actual suspension. 
Respondents and the State Bar here appeal. 

I. The 1994 Constitution enabled the BIA to maintain a 
government-to-government relationship with R VIT. 
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Upon our de novo review of the record (In re 
Morse(1995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207), we adopt some of 
the hearing judge's culpability findings and reject 
others, as discussed more fully below. We also re­
weigh some of the aggravating and mitigating factors 
considered by the hearingjudge and find substantial 
additional aggravating circumstances, including nu­
merous acts of uncharged but proven misconduct. 
We ultimately recommend that respondents be sus­
pended for one year, stayed, on the condition that 
respondent Maloney receive 90 days' actual suspen­
sion and respondent Virsik receive 60 days' actual 
suspension. 

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL 
BACKGROUND 

A. Respondents Assist RVN with Attempted 
Tribal Coup 

. RVIT is orga~ized unde~ the Indian Reorganr~,_, ·.· 
hon Act of 1934, title 25 Umted States Code sectlo'fi"' · · • 
461 et seq., pursuant to a Constitution, which was: 
adopted in its revised form in 1994, pursuantto title 25 : •· 
United States Code section 4 76, and approved by the 
Deputy Commissioner of Indian Affairs of the Bu­
reauoflndian Affairs of the United States Department 
of the Interior (BIA). 1 For many years RVIT and 
R VN have been engaged in a wide-ranging dispute 
over RVIT's governing authority and its conduct of 
tribal business. 

Respondents were retained by R VN in February 
2000 to advise about a strategy to effect a bloodless 
"coup." On February 10, 2000, RVN held a meeting 
of its supporters to consider the formation of a new 
tribal government and to elect an "Interim Tribal 
Council." A "Declaration of Independence" was 
signed by forty-four individuals on February 16, 
2000. The election procedures required by the 1994 
Constitution and title 25 United States Code section 
476(a) were not followed, and instead respondents 
fashioned a novel election approach to W1seat the 
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govemingcouncilofRVIT.2 RVNheldanelectionon 
April 14-16, 2000. It has never been determined if 
those who voted were qualified voters, but those who 
did paiticipate voted overwhelmingly to adopt a new 
constitution and to elect a new government to replace 
RVIT. RVN then unilaterally declared an election 
"victory." 

The governing council of RVIT publicly re­
pudiated the election, calling it a "sham" and disavowed 
the legitimacy ofR VN' s Interim Tribal Council. The 
BIA also rejected R VN' s claim of victory after it was 
notified by RVN on May 8, 2000, of the outcome of 
the election.3 Similarly, the Office of Self-Govern­
ment of the United States Department of Interior 
(OSG) declined a request from RVN that it be 
allowed to participate in the Self-Government Pro­
gram on March 30, 2000, because it found that RVN 
was "not from the tribal governing authority recognized 
by the BIA." 

Respondents now concede on appeal that the 
determination of the election outcome was "prelimi­
nary." Nevertheless, immediately after the April 
14--16 election, RVN set about to appropriate the 
rights and privileges of R VIT as the governing au­
thority. On April 17, 2000, the Chairperson of the 
Interim Council of RVN, Janice Freeman, made 
written demands to "all banks transacting business in 
Mendocino County" instructing that "any and all 
accounts, credit cards, line of credit, or other institu­
tional relationships between your institution and 
the ... R VIT ... are no longer authorized." A few 
days later, RVN notified RVIT's Tribal Council that 
all of the current employees ofRVIT' s governmental 
administration were de facto fired and must meet 
with RVN representatives if they had an interest in 

2. Respondents argue that they were prevented from following 
the election procedures required by the 1994 Constitution 
because the BIA never provided them with a list of qualified 
voters. 

3. Respondents appealed to the BIA' s Central California 
Superintendent, which issued a decision on November 11, 
2000, declining to recognize R VN and continuing to recognize 
RVIT as the official tribal government. Respondents then 
appealed to the United States Department of Jnterior, Office 
of Hearings and Appeals, Interior Board of Indian Appeals 
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being re-hired by RVN's newly elected governing 
body. Similarly, R VN notified the Commissioners of 
the Round Valley Housing Authority that R VN was 
terminating their authority "effective immediately." 
(Emphasis in the original.) Finally, RVN wrote to 
Stephen Quesenberry of the California Indian Legal 
Services, which had represented RVIT for nearly 30 
years, advising him that R VN was terminating their 
legal services. 

Respondents actively participated in these ef-
forts to perfect the coup. For example, respondent 
Maloney assisted RVN in its efforts to appropriate 
RVIT's funds and bank accounts. On April 28, 2000, 
he sent a letter on his law firm letterhead to the 
General Counsel of Tri Counties Bank, John Dunlop, 
enclosing a "Resolution" by RVN attesting that the 
April 14-16 election had dissolved RVIT and estab. 
lished RVN "as the official and legal Tribal 
Government." The enclosed Resolution also speci-
fied Freeman and Dolores Bettega "as the only 
persons with the authority to withdraw and transfer 
funds or sign check(s) on behalf of [RVNJ.~e . 
time of this written communication tithe biiltk\fri~;,~ : ; 
structing them to transfer RVIT' s ass~tll~d acco~ntt·,) :f \ 
to RVN, Maloney lmew that R VN' s claigi of victory ..• ' 
was in dispute,. because he sent a second letter to • 
Dunlop on the same day, enclosing two newspaper 
articles from The Round Valley News. One of the 
articles reported that the BIA 's Agency Superinten-
dent had reaffirmed "its exclusive recognition and 
support of the existing tribal government [RVIT]," 
and the other article reported that R VITviewed R VN 
asan "outlaw group" whose attempted overthrow of the 
government was "a fraud on the law abiding tribal 
members of the Round Valley Tribes .... " Maloney 
commented about these articles in his cover letter to 

(!BIA), which affirmed the BIA's decision on January 29, 
2003. In its Order, IBIA held that R VIT's 1994 Constitution 
provided for the proper procedures for recall elections and 
amendments to the Constitution itself. "Rather than attempt­
ing to change the 1994 constitution through the established 
procedures, [R VN) decided to circumvent those proce­
dures .... Therefore. their election was invalid . ... " (Emphasis 
added.) (IBIA' S Order Affirming the BIA Decision was made 
part of this record upon order of this court on August 15, 2003, 
grantingrespondents' Motion to Augment the Record, filed on 
June 16, 2003.) 
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Dunlop, saying "this will give you som [sic] idea of 
where the new government is headed.''4 The bank's 
attorney refused to accede to Maloney's directions, 
telling him in a letter dated May 1, 2000, that both the 
BIA and the attorneys for RVIT had advised the bank 
"that this new organization does not have proper tribal 
authority to take control of the accounts on deposit 
with Tri Countie's Bank." Maloney confirmed his 
receipt of this letter on May 3, 2000. 

·-· '-il: Respondents' Involvement with the Bettega 
Lawsuit 

As part of the internecine power struggle be­
tween RVN and RVIT, respondents attempted on 
several occasions to obtain a dismissal of RVIT's 
lawsuit against Bettega (who was a member of 
RVN) using a variety of procedural maneuvers.5 

Maloney supervised Virsik in the preparation of most 
of the pleadings, although at times Virsik prepared 
certain documents without Maloney's review, even 
signing Maloney's name to the documents. 

1. February 16th Request for Dismissal 

The day after the adoption of the Declaration of 
Independence, and two months before RVN held its 
election, Maloney appeared at a hearing on February 
17,2000, intheBettegalawsuitonamotiontomodify 
the restraining order against Bettega. Atthat hearing, 
and prior to consideration of the motion, Maloney 
submitted to the judge a Request for Dismissal, dated 
February 16, 2000 (February 16th RFD)6

, which was 
signed by respondent's client, Freeman, who pur~ 
ported to be making the request for dismissal on 

4. Maloney disingenuously testified in the hearing below that 
be had not read these articles, even though he forwarded them 
to Dunlop and referenced their contents in his cover letter. 
Virsik testified at trial that he (Virsik) knew about the articles 
around the time they were published. 

5. As noted ante, Carlino Bettega, a member ofR VN, was sued 
for workplace harassment of RVIT's employees. Thereafter, 
Bettega filed a cross-complaint against RVJT in which he 
sought affinnativc relief from RVIT and restraining orders 
against 23 ofR VJT' s employees. Quesenberry and the Califor­
nia Indian Legal Services represented RVIT in the Bettega 
lawsuit, and respondents represented the defendant and cross­
complainant, Bettega. 
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behalf of RVIT in pro per.7 The February 16th RFD 
misrepresented that Freeman had the authority on 
behalf of the plaintiff, RVIT, to request the dismissal 
of the case with prejudice. Quesenberry, the attorney 
for RVIT, was given no prior notice of the February 
16th RFD. Although Maloney claimed to the Superior 
Court that he did "not know the significance of [the 
dismissal request]," he nevertheless signed it as the 
attorney for the defendant Bettega and argued in 
supportofthedismissalrequest, claiming''Ms. Freeman's 
power is based on the Declaration of Independence 
and the establishment of an interim government." 

Maloney failed to disclose to the Superior Court 
that Ms. Freeman and RVN were his clients, and he 
falsely implied that the February l 611t RFD was a legally 
sufficient and enforceable document by signing it on 
behalf ofBettega and attesting that "consent to the 
... dismissal is hereby given." The Superior Court 
refused to file the February 16th RFD. 

2. May 7th Request for Dismissal 

Undaunted, respondents submitted a second 
Request for Dismissal, dated May 7, 2000 (May 7th 

RFD), to the clerk of the Superior Court. Virsik 
prepared the May 7t1i RFD at Maloney' s direction, 
and Maloney signed it as the attorney of record for 
and on behalf of the plaintiff, RVIT, even though he 
also was the attorney of record for the defendant 
Bettega. Maloney and Virsik also were identified on 
the May 7r1t RFD as the attorneys for RVN' s "Interim 
Tribal Counsel." Maloney personally submitted the 
May 7tl, RFD to the Superior Court clerk for filing, but 
the clerk did not file it, apparently because it had 

6. For purposes of consistency, unless otherwise stated, we 
refer to the pleadings by the dates they were signed because not 
all of the pleadings that respondents submitted to the Superior 
Court were actually filed by the court 

7, The February 16,. RFD and the two other requests for 
- dismissal respondents submitted for filing in the Bellega 

lawsuit were prepared on a Judicial Counci I ofCalifornia form 
Request for Dismissal (Judicial Council F onns, form 982( a)(5) ), 
That form permits the clerk of the court to dismiss an action 
with or without prejudicewithoutjudicia! oversight orpartici­
pation (Code Civ. Proc.,§ 581 ), and its use is mandatory(div. 
Ill, Appendix to Cal. Rules ofCourt) except when a party seeks 
the dismissal of a proceeding by filing a motion to dismiss, 
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become separated from two other supporting docu­
ments. Respondents misrepresented on the May 7th 

RFD that they were the attorneys for RVIT and as 
such were authorized to seek a dismissal of the 
Bettega lawsuit when they knew that RVIT was 
represented by Quesenberry and the California Indian 
Legal Services, and that RVIT and Quesenberry had 
not agreed to a substitution of counsel or the dismissal 
of the case. They also misrepresented that RVN had 
standing to file pleadings and to intervene. 

3. May 81h Declaration of Maloney 

A Declaration In Support of Dismissal of Action, 
dated May 8th (May 8th Declaration) was filed in the 
Superior Court at the same time that respondents 
submitted the May 7th RFD. Respondents Virsik and 
Maloney were identified on the May 8th Declaration 
as the attorneys for Bettega and the Interim Tribal 
Counsel [ ofR VN], and Maloney signed the pleading 
as the declarant. ln the May 8th Declaration, Maloney 
described in some detail the "Constitutional election," 
as a conclusive and uncontested victory for RVN. 
Maloney attested that "[n]o Tribal member (or any­
one else) has to date challenged the election ... " and 
that, under the 1994 Constitution, any such challenge 
was required to have been made within three days 
after the election. 

When they filed the May 8th Declaration, re­
spondents knew that the election outcome was only 
preliminary and was contested by RVIT, the BIA and 
the OSG, which had expressly refused to recognize 
RVN as the legally constituted governing body. 
Respondents did not advise the Superior Court of 
these facts. Also, in the May 8th Declaration respon­
dents affirmatively misrepresented thatR VNhad the 
authority to and in fact did terminate the services of 
R VIT 's attorney, Stephen Quesenberry, and to direct 
him to dismiss the Bettega lawsuit when they knew 
that Quesenberry had not withdrawn from his repre-

8. RVJT's first Motion for Sanctions was based on the filing by 
·RVN ofan alleged frivolous cross-petition. 

9. The record discloses that Virsik prepared the documents that 
accompanied his transmittal letter of May 11.., without 
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sentation ofRVIT, and thatRVIThadneitheragreed 
to substitute respondents as their counsel nor to 
terminate the Bettega lawsuit. 

4. May 8'h Opposition to First Motion for 
Sanctions 

On May 91h, Maloney also filed an Opposition to 
R VIT 's first Motion for Sanctions, which he signed 
on May 8th, as attorney for the defendant, Bettega 
(May 8th Opposition).8 In the May 8th Opposition, 
respondents averred, inter alia, that RVIT's first 
Motion for Sanctions was moot because "the form of 
the government oftheplaintiffhas changed since the 
motion was filed and the governing body has since 
dismissed the action." (Emphasis added.) Respon­
dents misrepresented that "The Interim Tribal Council, 
which is now the governing body of the Tribal 
members, has dismissed Mr. Quesenberry, directing 
him to dismiss the instant action which apparently 
was not done. The Interim Tribal Council now stands 
in the shoes of the prior employer-plaintiff[RVIT]. 
. . . [T]he Interim Tribal Council has directed its 
replacement counsel [respondents] to file a dismissal. 
. . . As the action has been dismissed by the 
original plaintiff-employer's successor as a mat­
ter of political process, the motion for sanctions is 
moot. ... " (Emphasis added.) 

5. May I 1th Request For Dismissal and Letter to 
the Court Clerk 

In response to a telephone conversation with the 
clerk's office of the Superior Court, Virsikprepared 
and submitted yet a third Request for Dismissal, 
dated May 11, 2000 (May 11th RFD), together with 
a transmittal letter advising: "You may disregard the 
prior [May 7t1, RFD] and file the enclosed one in its 
stead. "9 Respondents were denorni nated on the 
May 11th RFD as attorneys for "Round Valley 
Nation f/k/a Round Valley Indian Tribes." Virsik 

Maloney's review. Nevertheless, "[aJnattomey is responsible 
for the work product of his employees which is perfonned 
pursuant lo his direction and authority." ( Crane v. State Bar 
(1981) 30Cal.3d 117, 123.) 
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signed Maloney's name on the May 11 m RFD twice 
- as the attorney for the plaintiff RVIT and for the 
defendant and cross---complainant Bettega.10 

J. 

Respondents again misrepresented in the May 
11th RFD that they were attorneys for the plaintiff 
RVIT in the Bettega matter, and as such they were 
authorized to seek dismissal of the entire action with 
prejudice. They also misrepresented that RVN was 
formerly known as RVIT. 

6. Notice of Name Change 

In addition to the May 11th RFD, respondents 
filed a Notice of Change of Name (Notice) which 
identified them as attorneys for the "defendant [sic] 
Round Valley Nation f/k/a Round Valley Indian 
Tribes." This document, which was signed by Virsik 
using Maloney's name, averred that the plaintiff 
RVIT had changed its name to RVN as the result of 
the April "constitutional election" which had caused 
a change in the "form of governance." This was a 
stealth attempt to substitute RVN for RVIT as the 
plaintiff in the Bettega case, in order to effect a dismissal 
of the Bettega case without authorization by RVTT' or 
the intervention of the Superior Court. Respondents 
knew wh~~ they filed the Notice that RVIT had not 
changed its name to R VN and had not consented to the 
substitution ofRVN asa party/plaintiff. 

7. Bettega 's Reply to RV/T's Opposition to 
Strike or Tax Costs 

Finally, on May 11th, respondents filed a Reply 
to RVIT' s Opposition to Motion to Strike or Tax 
Costs (Reply) on behalf of Bettega. Respondents 
again wore multiple legal hats when filing this 
pleading. Instead of appearing as the attorneys for 
R VN and/or the Interim Tribal Council, they ap­
peared on behalf of defendant Bettega and also as the 
"newly retained counsel" for the plaintiff, RVIT.11 

Respondents represented unconditionally that 

10. The record shows that as of May I It!, respondents claimed 
to be the attorneys for the defendant and cross-<:omplainant, 
Bettega,and for R VN and RVIT. As we discuss in aggravation, 
post, the simultaneous representation of a!l throe parties in the 
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"plaintiff Round Valley Indian Tribes has been 
replaced in a constitutional election by the Round 
Valley Nation .... '' Respondents further stated in the 
Reply they were "filing the dismissal, as the record 
reflects. Thus, the issues of costs are moot." Finally, 
they misrepresented as a fait accompli that R VN 
was "the successor of the plaintiff ... [ and] has in fact 
dismissed [ the case J itself' and that the issue of costs 
accordingly was moot. 

On May 12, 2000, RVIT' s attorney, Quesenberry, 
responded vigorously to respondents' various tactics 
in a Declaration in Opposition to Defense Counsel's 
Fraudulent Attempts to Dismiss Action. He attested 
that Maloney had filed various pleadings and taken 
action "without any authorization of [RVIT], with full 
knowledge that his other client [R VN] had no lawful 
authority to act on [RVIT's] behalt: and without 
informing the Court ... in fact, that the United States 
government has reaffirmed that the duly authorized 
and recognized governing body of the Tribes is the 
Tribal Council [of RVIT]." Quesenberry further 
averred that Maloney and RVN's actions were 
intended "to convert [the Bettega] case of workplace 
harassment into an expanded and unwarranted in­
quiry into the laws and internal affairs of the Round 
Valley Indian Tribes." 

The Superior Court responded on May 15, 2000, 
and ordered sua sponte the clerk not to file either the 
May 7th RFD or May 11th RFD, but merely to lodge 
the documents in the file. In its order, the Superior 
Court specifically found that Maloney "is not the 
attorney for the plaintiff named in this action. Interim 
Tribal Council is not a party to this action. [RVN] is 
not a party to this action." 

C. Respondents Sanctioned for Attempted Fraud 
on the Court 

Undeterred by the Superior Court's findings in 
its May 15th order, respondents filed three more 

Bellega lawsuit constituted a non-waivable conl1 iet ofintcrest. 
(Rules Prof. Conduct, rules 3-700(c) & 3-310.) 

11. See footnote I 0, ante, regarding a non-waivablc conflict of 
interest. 
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pleadings, each containing additional misrepresenta­
tions. 

1. May 15th Supplemental Declaration 

Respondents filed a Supplemental Declaration in 
Support ofDismissal of Action, dated May 15, 2000 
(May 1511t Declaration). Attached to this Declaration 
as an exhibit was a May l 011, letter "from an uniden­
tified employee of the BIA" stating that the BIA "did 
not recognize the political faction known as the 
[RVN]." By way ofexcuse, Maloney averred that he 
received this letter after he filed his May 8th Decla­
ration. Maloneyneverthelessmisled the Superior Court 
as to the import and relevance of the BIA letter. The 
"unidentified employee of the BIA" who signed the 
letter was Dale Risling, Sr., who respondents knew 
was the Superintendent at the California BIA be­
cause they had previously contacted him on several 
occasions on behalf of RVN to deal with tribal 
governance issues. 

In this May 8th Declaration, Maloney also admit­
ted that he knew of the BIA's opposition to RVN's 
victory claim at least as early as April 15, 2000, 
because of the newspaper article published in The 
Round Valley Times. However, he attempted to 
minimize the significanceof this knowledge by averring 
that the effect of the "Constitutional election" was "to 
divorce the Tribes from the BIA and instead proceed 
under a set f-govemance program of the Department 
of the Interior." Maloney again misled the Superior 
Court because he failed to disclose that as early as 
March 30, 2000, his client, Freeman, wrote to the BIA 
on behalf of RVN seeking the BIA's assistance in 
"effecting the orderly transfer of accounts, resources 
and responsibilities to the new [R VN] government." 
Maloney also failed to disclose that RVN had been 
denied participation in theself-govemanceprogram 
by the Director of the OSG because R VN did not 
meet the criteria and because the request was "not 
from the tribal governing body recognized by the 
[BIA]," 
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Maloney did not recant or correct his previous 
misstatements about the election outcome. He also did 
not recant his previous misrepresentation about his 
status as attorney for RVIT or his authority and 
standing to seek a dismissal of the Bettega case on 
RVIT's behalf. 

2. May J 61
h Supplemental Opposition to 

Sanctions 

Even though the Superior Court ruled on May 
15th that neither the Interim Tribal Cowicil nor R VN 
was a party to the Bettega action, on May 16, 2000, 
respondents filed a Supplemental Opposition to Sanc­
tions and appeared as attorneys, not only for Bettega, 
but on behalf ofRVN and the Interim Tribal Counsel. 
In the Opposition, respondents again stated that the 
"constitutional" election had resulted in a change in 
governance, and that "the new sovereign [R VN] has 
retained other counsel to dismiss this action." Re­
spondents thus refused to adopt or adhere to the 
previous factual and legal determinations of the 
Superior Court. 

3. RVIT files a Second Sanctions Motion 
Against Respondents 

Asa resultofrespondents' efforts to dismiss the 
Bettega case, on May 12, 2000, Quesenberry filed a 
second Motion for Sanctions12 pursuant to Code of 
Civil Procedure section 128. 7. The hearing on the 
second Motion for Sanctions was set for June 23, 
2000. On June 8, 2000, the Superior Court filed its 
Decision on Motion to Tax Costs and Decision on 
Motions for Sanctions (June 8th Decision). The 
Superior Court deniedRVIT' s first sanctions motion, 
arising from the filing of the cross-petition, but 
granted RVIT's second sanctions motion relating to 
the attempted fraud on the Superior Court, finding 
that but for the diligence of R VIT' s counsel and the 
clerk, the "surreptitious attempt by cowisel Maloney 
and Virsek [sic] ... to dismiss the action and to 
perpetrate a fraud upon the court and opposing 

12. As noted in footnote 8,ante. Quesenberry filed RVIT'sfirst 
Motion for Sanctions in response lo an alleged frivolous cross­
petition fifed by Bettega. 
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counsel ... " would have gone undetected. Further­
more, the Superior Court found respondents had 
"clearly represented to the court that they repre­
sented the plaintiff [RVIT] in the [ Bettega] matter," 
which was untrue because RVIT' s legal counsel had 
not "consented to a substitution of counsel and ... 
R VIT itselfhad not applied to the court for an order 
of the court substituting counsel, and ... no notice was 
given by the plaintiff [RVIT] or its counsel of record 
... of an intent to substitute counsel." The Superior 
Court noted that "no argument has been advanced by 
[respondents] that their action was inadvertent or that 
it was the result of a failure to understand the 
applicable law." 

The Superior Court accordingly imposed sanc­
tions on Bettega and respondents jointly and severally 
in the amount of $1,500, payable to RVIT and an 
additional $500, payable to the court.13 

4. June 121h Opposition to Sanctions 

Even though the Superior Court ordered sanctions 
on June 81h, respondents filedan Opposition to Sanctions 
on behalf ofBettega, dated June 12, 2000 (June 12m 
Opposition), because respondents asserted they under­
stood the June gm Decision to be a tentative ruling since 
it was made before Bettega' sandMaloney' s opposition 
was due and before the scheduled June 23, 2000, 
hearing on the second sanctions motion. In the June 12m 
Opposition, respondents continued to assert that 
Quesenberry had been properly dismissed as legal 
counsel for RVIT and that their client, RVN, had the 
authority to retain new legal counsel on RVIT' s behalf. 

13. Respondents did not appeal this sanctions order, which is 
final and binding on them. However, respondents appealed the 
imposition of the restraining order on behalf ofBcttcga, which 
the California Court of Appeal for the First District affirmed 
in an unpublished opinion on July 27, 200 I. Among the issues 
raised in the appeal was whether the Superior Court improp­
erly refused to enter the dismissal of the Bettega case proffered 
by respondents. The Court of Appeal found the Superior 
Court proper\ y rejected the request for dismissal because it was 
filed without authorization ofR VIT. In respondents' Brief to 
the Court of Appeal, they conceded that Bettega was not 
appealing the sanctions order, although they gratuitously 
raised the issue "as a matter of caution." The Court of Appeal 
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5. Plaintiff's Withdrawal of Second Sanctions 
Motion 

On June 19, 2000, Quesenberry filed a pleading for 
R VIT entitled Withdrawal oflnadvertently Filed Notice 
of Motion and Motion for Sanctions (Withdrawal) 
because RVIT's second motion for sanctions was 
filed in violation of Code of Civil Procedure section 
128.7(c)(l).14 Quesenberryincluded with the With­
drawal a letter dated June 15, 2000, asking that the 
hearing on the second sanctions motion be removed 
from the June 23'11 calendar and stating that he 
disagreed with respondents' statement that the June 
8th Decision was a tentative ruling. On June 21, 2000, 
Virsik sent the Superior Court a letter stating that 
Bettega had no objection to the Withdrawal of the 
Second Motion for Sanctions. The next day, Virsik 
sent the Superior Court another letter confirming 
Bettega' s understanding that the June 23rd hearing on 
the Second Motion for Sanctions had been taken off 
calendar in accordance with Quesenberry's request. 
Respondents thereafter verified that the matter had 
been taken off calendar, and the Superior Court's 
docket entry confirms that the second motion for 
sanctions was removed from the calendar, stating: 
"Matter dropped." 

Quesenberry sent the Superior Court a letter in 
response to Virsik's June 21 st letter to the Superior 
Court, reiterating his understanding thatthe Superior 
Court's June sm Decision imposing monetary sanc­
tions was final because "the Court has authority 
under the California Rules of Court and the Local 
Rules to impose sanctions on its own initiative ... . " 

responded, in dicta, that "plainly it was misconduct for counsel 
to purport to represent both sides in seeking a dismissal, 
without having secured a proper substitution of counsel for 
[RVIT]." 

14. The version of Code of Civil Procedure section I 28.7(c)(I) 
in effect in 2000 mandates that a motion for sanctions under 
section 128. 7 must be served on opposing counsel, but must 
not be filed or otherwise presented to the court for at least 30 
days after service so as to provide the opposing counsel with 
at least a 30-day"safe harbor" in which he or she may withdraw 
or correct the alleged offending pleading without penalty. 
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6. Order to Show Cause Re: Respondents ' 
Failure to Pay Sanctions 

Some six months later, in early January 2001, 
Quesenberry sent respondents a letter about their 
failure to pay RVIT the $2,000 in sanctions. 
Quesenberry sent a copy of his letter to the Superior 
Court, and relying on that letter, the Superior Court 
issued an order to show cause (OSC) on January 10, 
2001, directing respondents and Bettega to show why 
further sanctions should not be imposed on them for 
not paying the earlier sanctions. Respondents replied 
to the OSC, setting forth their position that the June 81h 
Decision was void on due process grounds because 
the sanctions were imposed before respondents were 
given the opportunity to be heard. In addition, respon­
dents noted that the Superior Court had previously 
advised counsel at an earlier hearing on the first 
sanctions motion that it would "see you folks on June 
23 [ for a hearing on the second sanctions motion]," 
Nevertheless, respondents tendered two cashier's 
checks to the clerk of the Superior Court, payable to 
RVIT and the Superior Court if the court determined 
that such payment was warranted. The Superior 
Court ordered the cashier's checks to be delivered to 
RVIT and the Superior Court, but it did not impose 
additional sanctions. 

D. State Bar Proceedings 

On November 20, 2000, the State Bar filed and 
served Notices of Disciplinary Charges (NDCs) on 
respondents, which were amended and filed on July 
23, 2002. Respondents were charged with misrepre­
sentations constituting moral turpitude under Business 
and Professions Code section 6106 (Count One);15 

seeking to mislead a judicial officer in violation of 
section 6068, subdivision ( d) (Count Two); failing to 
obey a court orderunder section 6 I 03 (Count Three); 
and failing to report sanctions under section 6068, 
subdivision (o)(3) (Count Four). Upon the filing of the 
NDCs, a vigorous discovery battle ensued, culminating 

15. Unless otherwise indicated, all further statutory references 
are to the Business and Professions Code, 

16. In her decision, the hearingjudge found that respondents were 
not candid or cooperative during discovery, having redacted 
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in an order of the hearing judge granting the State 
Bar's Motion to Compel on April 5, 2002, after she 
considered and rejected in part respondents' assertion 
of the attomey---dient privilege on behalf of Bettega, 
R VN, and R VN' s Interim Tribal Council.16 

On August 6, 2002, the first day of a five-day 
trial, respondents' Partial Stipulations were filed. On 
December 13, 2002, the hearing judge issued her 
decision, finding respondents culpable on Counts One 
and Three. With respect to Count Two, the hearing 
judge found clearand convincingevidence thatrespon~ 
dents deliberately sought to mislead the Superior 
Court judge in violation of section 6068, subdivision 
( d), but she nevertheless dismissed Count Two as 
duplicative of the misconduct alleged in Count One. 
After trial, the hearing judge dismissed Collllt Four, 
upon request of the State Bar in its Closing Brief. 
After weighing mitigating and aggravating factors, 
the hearing judge imposed discipline of one year's 
suspension, stayed, and two years' probation with 
conditions, including an actual suspension of 45 days 
for respondent Maloney and 90 days for respondent 
Virsik. 

Respondents and the State Bar seek review in this 
court. Respondents ask that they be exonerated of all 
charges, or in the alternative, that we remand this 
matter for a full hearing to enable them to present 
witnesses and evidence for which they asserted the 
attorney-dient and/ or work product privileges in the 
trial below. The State Bar asks us to affirm the 
hearingjudge' s findings of culpability and most of the 
factors in aggravation and mitigation, but the Bar 
seeks six months' actual suspension for both respon­
dents. 

II. DISCUSSION 

On appeal, respondents raise myriad issues that 
ultimately are not relevant to our consideration of the 
decision below. As to those arguments not expressly 

documents that were not privileged and claiming that their 
privileged materials comprised seven linear feet, then subse­
quently submitting only six inches of documents to the court. 
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addressed herein, we have considered and rejected 
them as unmeritorious. The issues that are material 
are relatively straightforward: 1) Did respondents 
commit acts of moral turpitude in the course of 
litigating the Bettega case; and 2) Did respondents 
disobey the Superior Court's sanction order in viola­
tion of section 6103. 

A. Count One; Misrepresentation; Moral Turpitude 
(Section 6106) 

[laJ We agree with the hearing judge's finding 
that respondents committed acts of moral turpitude 
in wilful violation of section 6106 by knowingly 
making repeated misrepresentations to the Superior 
Court. It is well established that acts of moral turpi­
tude include an attorney's false or misleading 
statements to a court or tribunal. (Bach v. State Bar 
(1987) 43 Cal.3d 848, 855; Chefsky v. State Bar 
(1984) 36 Cal.3d 116, 124.) The actual intent to 
deceive is not necessary; a finding of gross negli­
gence in creating a false impression is sufficient for 
violation of section 6106. (In the Matter of Moriarty 
(Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 9, 15; 
In the Matter of Wyrick (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 83, 90-91.) Acts of moral turpi­
tude include concealment as well as affirmative 
misrepresentations. ( Grove v. State Bar ( 1965) 63 
Cal.2d 312, 315 .) Indeed," '[n]o distinction can ... 
be drawn among concealment, half-truth, and false 
statement of fact. [Citation.]' [Citation.]" (In the 
Matter of Chesnut (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 166, 174.) Also, it is not necessary that 
respondents actually succeeded in perpetrating a 
fraud on the court. (See, e.g., Bach v. State Bar, 
supra, 43 Cal.3d 848, 852-853, 855 [attorney vio­
lated section 6106 even though he did not succeed in 
committing fraud on the court due to intervention of 
opposing counsel].) 

(1 b J The misconduct alleged in Count One 
involved numerous pleadings submitted by respon­
dents to the Superior Court for filing in the Bettega 
matter .17 These pleadings were permeated with ha! f-

17, The following pleadings were identified in Count One: I) 
May 7"' Request for Dismissal; 2) May 8"' Declaration of 
Maloney; 3) Notice of Change of Name; 4) May l 1th Request 
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truths, omissions, and outright misstatements of fact 
and law. The Supreme Court "has denounced such 
misleading conduct and has not hesitated to impose 
discipline in such cases. [Citations.]" (Rodgers v. 
State Bar(1989) 48 Cal.3d 300, 316.) Respondents' 
misconduct was compounded when they signed many 
of their pleadings under penalty of perjury, which 
gave the additional imprimatur of veracity to their 
misstatements and should have put reasonable per­
sons on notice to take care that their pleadings were 
accurate, complete and true. 

(le) The hearing judge found that "Respon~ 
dents' statements to the [Superior] court were made 
with an intent to secure an advantage, which was to 
dismiss the lawsuit against their client Bettega." We 
agree. Their deception thus was not the result of mere 
carelessness; rather, respondents intentionally wove 
a tapestry of deception in their over-zealous efforts 
to effectuate a legal strategy. Taken as a whole, 
respondents' conduct reflects an indifferent disreM 
gard of their duty to adhere to the requirements of the 
law and their professional responsibilities as officers 
of the court, which is additional evidence of moral 
turpitude. In re Caldwell (l 975) 15 Cal.3d 762, 772; 
In the Matter of Snyder (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 593, 600.) 

B. Count Two: Misleading a Judge or Judicial 
Officer (Section 6068( d)) 

(21 lbe hearing judge found that respondents' 
repeated misrepresentations to the Superior Court 
were sufficient to establish respondents' culpability 
as charged in Count Two for violation of their duty 
under section 6068, subdivision ( d), never to seek to 
mislead a judge or other judicial officer by an artifice 
or false statement of law or fact. However, she 
further found that "the misconduct underlying the 
section 6068, subdivision ( d) charge is covered by the 
section 6106 charge, which supports identical or 
greater discipline .... " We agree, and accordingly 
recommend that Count Two should be dismissed as 
duplicative of Count One. (In the Matter of Torres 

for Dismissal; and S) Reply to Opposition to Motion to Strike 
or Tax Costs. 
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(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138, 
148.) 

C. Count Three: Failure to Obey a Court Order 
(Section 6103) 

The hearingj udge found that respondents wilfully 
violated section 6103 by failing to pay sanctions totaling 
$2,000 as ordered by the Superior Court. As we 
discuss below, we do not adopt this culpability finding, 
and we therefore recommend Count Three be dis­
missed with prejudice. 

Before an attorney may be disciplined under 
section 6103, the State Bar must prove by clear and 
convincing evidence that the attorney wilfully dis­
obeyed or violated a court order. (In the Matter of 
Respondent X (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 592, 603.) Generally, the level of wilfulness 
required for acts of professional misconduct is estab­
lished by a showing that the attorney merely acted 
purposefully (i.e., the attorney knew what she or he 
was doing and intended either to commit the act or 
abstain from committing it). (King v. State Bar 
(1990) 52 Cal.3d 307, 313-314.) Section 6103 re­
quires a somewhat more precise level of wilfulness. 
(In the Matter of Respondent X, supra, 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 603.) 

At a minimwn, it must be established that an 
attorney"' "knew what he was doingornot doing and 
that he intended either to commit the act or to abstain 
from committing it." [Citations.]' " (King v. State 
Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3d at p. 314, emphasis added.) 
The record here concerning respondents' knowledge 
of the import of the Superior Court's sanctions 
decision of June 8, 2000, is confusing at best. The 
Superior Court filed its decision without receiving a 
response or opposition from Bettega or respondents, 
which they understood they would be entitled to under 
Code of Civil Procedure section 128.7, subdivision 
( c ). Furthermore, a hearing on the second motion was 
set for June 23, 2000, fifteen days after the Superior 
Court issued its decision, and the Superior Court even 
reminded the parties at the May 19th hearing that it 
would see the attorneys at the June 23, 2000 hearing. 
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Respondents therefore believeditwas a tentative ruling, 
and accordingly, on June 13,2000, Uled an opposition to 
the second sanctions motion, referencing the hearing 
set for June 23, 2000. Thereafter, in a letter dated 
June 15, 2000, RVIT's attorney asked the clerk to 
take the June 23rd hearing off calendar. He also filed 
a pleading entitled "Withdrawal oflnadvertently Filed 
NoticeofMotion and [Second] Motion for Sanctions." 
Respondents then wrote to the Superior Court on 
June 21, 2000, statingthattheydidnotopposeRVIT's 
withdrawal of the second sanctions motion, and doing 
so would render the premature rulings in the June 8 
decision moot. Finally, before the June 23, 2000 
hearing, respondents called the Superior Court and 
were told that RVIT's motion had been "dropped." 
This was corroborated by the Superior Court's docket 
sheet stating "Matter dropped." 

[3) Accordingly, we find that there is not clear 
and convincing evidence in the record that respon­
dents knew there was a final, binding court order. 
Such knowledge is an essential element to establishing 
that an attomey wilfully disobeyed or violated it in 
violation of section 6103. (In the Matter of Hindin 
(Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 657, 
666 [review department adopted hearing judge's 
finding that attorney's failure to obey court order did 
not violate section 6103 because attorney did not 
receive notice of the order in time to comply with it]; 
In the Matter of Respondent Y (Review Dept. 1998) 
3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 862, 867-868 [review 
department agreed with hearing judge that, because 
attorney clearly knew of the relevant court order, the 
only issue regarding the charged violation of section 
6103 was whether attorney had a reasonable time to 
comply with the order]; see also, In the Matter of 
Whitehead (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 354,367 [knowledge of a courtordernecessary 
to establish culpability under section 6068, subdivision 
(b) for failure to obey the order]; In the Matter of 
Boyne (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 389, 403-404 [attorney's lack of knowledge 
defense to charged violations of section 6068, subdi­
vision (b) and section 6103 for failure to obey court 
orders rejected because attorney was present when 
the orders were issued and because the opposing 
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party sent attorney written requests for compliance 
with the orders].)18 Neither do we find sufficient 
evidence that they intended to disobey the court's 
decision, and accordingly, we reconnnend that Count 
Three should be dismissed with prejudice. 

D. Count Four: Failure to Report Sanctions 
(Section 6068( o )(3)) 

As we noted ante, the State Bar moved, in the 
interests of justice, to dismiss the charges relating to 
respondents' alleged violations of section 6068, subdivi­
sion (o)(3) by not reporting to the Bar the sanctions 
imposed on them in the Superior Court's June 8, 2000 
Decision. The State Bar does not here contest the action 
of the hearingjudge, who dismissed Cm.mtFour. We have 
concluded that there is insufficient evidence of respon­
dents' lmow ledge ofa final, binding sanctions order, and 
therefore, it would be improperto now find a violation of 
section 6068, subdivision ( o )(3). Accordingly, we adopt 
the hearing judge's dismissal of Count Four. 

III. DISCIPLINE 

To properly assess the degree of recommended 
discipline, we consider each case on its own facts, as 
well as the evidence in mitigation and in aggravation. (See, 
e.g., Rodgers v. State Bar, supra, 48 Cal.3d 300, 316.) 

A. Mitigation 

l. Good Faith (Std. J.2(e)(ii))1 9 

[4aj Respondents assert as mitigation that they 
acted reasonably and in good faith. (Std. l .2(e)(ii).) 
They contend that even if their analysis of the facts 

18. Our conclusion is expressly limited to section 6103 viola­
tions and does not modify prior holdings thatthe wilfulness of 
an attorney's violation of a rule of the Rules of Professional 
Conduct is not dependent upon the attorney's knowledge of 
theru!e(Ki11gv. State Bar, supra,52 Cal.3datp. 314; Gassman 
v. State Bar( 1976) 18 Cal.3d 125,131); nordocsitmodifythe 
holding that, in the context of rule 955 of the California Rules 
of Court, wi!fu!ncss requires "[oJnly a general purpose or 
willingness to commit the act or permit the omission." (Durbin 
v. State Bar ( 1979) 23 Cal.3d 461, 467.) 

19. This reference and all further references to standards are 
to the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title rv, 
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and the law in this matter are without merit, lawyers 
must be free to assert unpopular positions on behalf 
of their clients if they believe in good faith they are 
correct. We agree with respondents that attorneys 
have a duty to zealously represent their clients and assert 
unpopular and novel positions in advancing their clients' 
legitimate objectives. However, as officers of the 
court, attorneys also have a duty to the judicial system 
to assert only legal claims or. defenses that are 
warranted by the law or are supported by a good faith 
belief in their correctness. (Rules Prof. Conduct, rule 
3-200(B).) "In order to establish good faith as a 
mitigating circumstance, an attorney must prove that 
his or her beliefs were both honestly held and 
reasonable. [Citation.]" (In the Matter of Rose 
(Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 646, 
653, italics added.) To conclude otherwise would 
reward an attorney for his unreasonable beliefs and 
"for his ignorance of his ethical responsibilities." (In 
the Matter of McKiernan (Review Dept. 1995) 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 420, 427.) 

[4b J Even though respondents and the State Bar 
stipulated that respondents had researched the law 
and on that basis believed the election was valid, that 
stipulation does not establish good faith mitigation. 
Their misrepresentations of fact and law went far 
beyond the specific issue ofthe validity of the election 
results. For example, respondents misrepresented 
that RVIT had fired its legal counsel and that they 
were authorized to substitute themselves as RVIT's 
counsel of record in the Bettega litigation. They 
further misrepresented that they were authorized by 
RVIT to dismiss the Bettega lawsuit, that RVN was 
a party/plaintiff with standing to dismiss the lawsuit, 
and that RVIT had changed its name to RVN.20 

Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Mis­
conduct. 

20. Respondents contend on appeal that their good faith defense 
was compromised by their assertion of the attorney-client 
privilege, because they were unable to disclose privileged 
documents and communications with their clients as well as 
various statements by federal government officials assuring 
them that they need not rely on the BIA recognition of the R VN 
prior to asserting the R VN' s rights. However, this purportedly 
privileged evidence would not establish a good faith beliefin the 
numerous misrepresentations described above unrelated to the 
validity of the election outcome. 
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Moreover, the stipulation as to their belief in the 
validity of the election does not address respondents' 
failure to disclose to the Superior Court the nature and 
extent of the various challenges to the legitimacy of 
the election. "Whether ornot [respondents] believed 
[they] had colorable arguments .. , [they were] duty 
bound not to mislead or attempt to mislead the court 
.... " (Bach v. State Bar, supra, 43 Cal.3d at p. 855.) 

The Superior Court's finding that respondents' 
conduct was "egregious," is further evidence that they 
did not act reasonably.21 Given the magnitude of their 
deception and the breadth of their actual knowledge 
about the true state of affairs surrounding the intra­
tribal battle, we find no basis on this record to cone lude 
that respondents had anhonestorreasonable beliefin 
the truth and accuracy of their statements to the 
Superior Court. Indeed, respondents' misconduct 
"exceeds the bounds of zealous advocacy. It cannot 
be condoned." (Davisv.StateBar(l 983)33 Cal.3d231, 
239.) We therefore give no mitigative weight to their 
assertion of a good faith belief in the election outcome. 

2. Absence of Prior Discipline (Std. l.2(e}(i)) 

The hearingj udge found that respondent Maloney 
practiced law for 31 years with no prior disciplinary 
record, and gave weight to this factor as mitigation. 
We agree. (Std. 1.2(e)(i).) Although the present 
misconduct is serious, the lack of a prior record of 
discipline may be considered as a mitigating factor. 
(In the Matter of Stamper (Review Dept. 1990) 1 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 96, l 06, fn. 13 [many years 
of practice without a prior record may be considered 
as a mitigating circumstance even if the present 
misconduct is serious].) Respondent Virsikhad only 
practiced law in California for less than 3 years prior 
to his misconduct, which is not a sufficienttime period 
for mitigative evidence. (In the Matter of Hertz 
(Review Dept. 199 l) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 456; 
Std. l .2(e)(i).) 

21. While not dispositive, the Superior Court decision and its 
findings and conclusions are entitled to a strong presumption 
of validity if supported by substantial evidence. (ln the Maller 

.of Lais (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 112, 
117.)WenotethatunderCodeofCivil Procedure section 128.7 
the Superior Court's imposition of sanctions required an 

789 

3. Good Character Testimony and Community 
Service 

The hearing judge gave the testimony of the 
character witnesses "significant" mitigative weight, 
but she did so only as to Maloney. We find the good 
character testimony to be compelling as to both 
respondents. A total of thirteen witnesses testified in 
this matter; six witnesses testified on behalf of both 
Maloney and Virsik, and Virsik presented three 
additional witnesses who spoke only on his behalf.22 

(Maloney also presented four other character wit­
nesses who testified exclusively on his behalf.) All of 
the witnesses were reasonably informed about re­
spondents' misconduct and all testified that their 
opinion ofMaloney or Virsik would not change if the 
misconduct were found to be true. The overwhelming 
theme of the character testimony was respondents' 
sincere and substantial commitment to using their 
professional skills on behalf of the under-served, and 
to do good works within the community. The charac­
ter testimony goes a long way towards explaining 
respondents' belief, albeit misguided, that their litiga­
tion strategy would right the perceived wrongs of the 
downtrodden RVN faction. 

Maloney's character witnesses testified that he 
is an honest person who has provided extensive 
contributions to society, including extensive pro bono 
work. His commitment to the practice ofla w is often 
selfless and sometimes to his personal detriment, but 
he nevertheless is motivated to do the right thing for 
the ends of social justice. Maloney presented five 
attorney witnesses, all with many years of practice, 
who believed he had excellent character and a 
reputation for honesty in the community. 

V irsik' s character witnesses inc I uded four attor­
neys. These character witnesses testified to their 
personal knowledge of his honesty and competence, 
but they were unable to comment on his reputation in 

extremely high showing of bad faith, frivolous tactics or 
intention to cause delay. 

22. The hearingjudge only considered the three witnesses who 
testified solely for Virsik and in so doing, she found that they 
did not re fleet "a wide range of references in the legal and general 
communities." (Std. l.2(e)(vi).) 
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the community since Virsik had been practicing law 
for only a short period. Virsik's character witnesses 
testified that Virsik is a respectful and considerate 
person who helps others and devotes time to pro bono 
work and community services. 

A sampling of the 13 witnesses is instructive. 
Elihu Harris, an attorney for almost 30 years, was the 
former mayor of Oakland and former chair of the 
Judiciary Committee in the State Assembly for 12 
years. Harris has known Maloney for 20 years, and 
met with him regarding his representation ofRVN. 
Harris testified that Maloney is absolute in his connnit­
mentto professionalismand to social justice on behalf 
of his clients and that he is honest, very frank, and has 
a finn sense of right and wrong. Harris stated that 
Maloney's involvement in the community included 
helping abused women and the homeless, including 
raising money for a women's shelter in Oakland. 
Harris has known Virsik for 10 years and thinks of 
him as a man of few words. Harris believed Virsik 
has a reputation for honesty and professionalism in 
his work. Harris further testified that respondents' 
motivation to represent the R VN was not for financial 
gain since they absorbed significant costs and time to 
help them. 

• Janet Clinton, an attorney for 22 years and co-­
owner of their office building with Maloney, has 
known Maloney for 20 years and has had contact 
with him four or five times a week for the last five 
years. Clinton testified that Maloney has a firm belief 
in social justice, has a sterling character and is 
committed to helping young people. She helped 
represent Maloney in a dispute concerning a mobile 
home park for low income seniors that Maloney owns 
where Maloney spent tens of thousands of dollars to 
protect the residents of the mobile home park from a 
disadvantageous agreement, which was against his 
own self-interest. Clinton also has known Virsik for 
the past 10 years and sees him three to four times a 
week. Her opinion is that he is an upright, honest 
person and is extremely sincere. Virsik also partici­
pated in Leukemia walk-a-thons. 

Several impressive witnesses testified on behalf 
of Maloney only. Kathy Neal was a business owner 
for I 3 years and a former member of the State Bar 
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Board of Governors. Neal has known Maloney for 20 
years, and has known him well for 10 years, because 
he and Neal have taught continuing legal education 
classes together and served on volunteer boards, 
including a women's shelter in Oakland. She testified 
he is an exceptional person and she respects his 
honesty and integrity as well as his commitment to 
law and justice. Neal finds that Maloney is a unique 
individual with a strong belief in the basic rights for 
everyone and has used his education and know ledge 
to argue vociferously for the interests of justice. 

John Macmeeken is a retired attorney who 
practiced for 45 years. He was a member and then 
chairman of the disciplinary committee of the State 
Bar for 12 years. Macmeeken has known Maloney 
for 16 years through the Outlook Club of California, 
where they met twice a month. Macmeeken under­
stands the charges against Maloney, but this did not 
detract from his opinion that Maloney has an excellent 
character and is concerned about the administration 
of justice. Macmeeken believes Maloney is a fair, 
thoughtful person whose word is unimpeachable and 
that he has a reputation as a straight shooter and as 
a reliable and conscientious lawyer who serves his 
clients well. 

Virsik's three other witnesses testified as to his 
honesty, diligence and professionalism. They all knew 
him well because of their personal relationships with 
him as a sister, friend and girlfriend. However, their 
objectivity may well have been affected by their 
personal relationships with him. Because Virsik had 
been in practice for only a few years, he did not have 
the opportunity to develop as widespread a reputation 
among the community or to perform as extensive pro 
bono activities as Maloney. But, both respondents 
demonstrated their significant commitment to pro 
bono work and community service, which "is a 
mitigating factor that is entitled to 'considerable 
weight."' ( Calvertv. StateBar(l 991)54Cal.3d765, 785, 
quotingSchneiderv. State Bar( 1987) 43 Cal .3d 784, 799.) 

B. Aggravation 

We must balance the strong evidence in mitiga­
tion against the substantial evidence in aggravation as 
reflected in this record. 
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1. Uncharged But Proven Misconduct (Std. 
l .2(b)(iii)) 

[SJ The record contains clear and convincing 
evidence of numerous acts of uncharged but proven 
misconduct, which we here consider for purposes of 
establishing aggravation under standard l.2(b)(iii). 
(Edwards v. State Bar (1990) 52 Cal.3d 28, 35-36.) 
Specifically, we find that respondents wilfully made 
additional misrepresentations to the Superior Court in 
the following instances: 1) the February 16th Request 
for Dismissal; 2) Maloney's oral statements to the 
Superior Court at the February 17th Hearing; 3) the 
May 9th Opposition for Sanctions; 4) the May 13th 

Opposition to Motion for Sanctions; 5) the May 16th 

Supplemental Opposition to Motion for Sanctions; 
and, 6) the May 16th Supplemental Declaration by 
Maloney. 

"[T]he filing of false or misleading pleadings or 
documents is ground for discipline." (Davis v. State 
Bar, supra, 33 Cal.3d at p. 239.) As discussed in 
detail ante, the record is replete with additional 
pleadings and verbal statements, not identified in the 
NDC, which were rife with material omissions and 
express misstatements of fact and law. The high 
degree of integrity, frankness and truthfulness re­
quired of respondents as officers of the court cannot 
be underestimated. (Spears v. The State Bar (1930) 
211 Cal. 183, 187.) Moreover, respondents had an 
unconditional and continuing duty to make full disclo­
sure to the Superior Court (Cf. In the Matter of Ike 
(Review Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 483, 
493; Rules Regulating Admission to Practice Law, 
rule VI, § 7); nevertheless, they chose to conceal the 
full and complete factual circumstances surrounding 
the disputed tribal election, as well as the novelty of 
the legal theories and authorities upon which they 
were seeking to induce the Superior Court to dismiss 
the Bettega case. We consider this in aggravation. 

2. Overreaching (Std. l.2(b)(iii)) 

[6] The hearingjudge found in aggravation that 
respondents' misconduct was surrounded by dis­
honesty, concealment and overreaching (std. 
1.2(b )(iii)), but she gave this no weight because she 
found this evidence was duplicative of the miscon­
duct in Count One. We agree, insofar as the aggravating 
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circumstances apply to respondents' attempted fraud 
on the SuperiorCourt. However, we find thatMaloney' s 
conduct in writing on his letterhead stationery to the 
Tri-Counties Bank instructing the bank to transfer 
RVIT's accounts and assets to RVN constitutes 
overreaching and is an aggravating factor. When he 
wrote the letter to the bank, Maloney knew that the 
results of the election were only "preliminary," and 
yet respondent asserted the authority of RVN as 
unconditional in order to dispossess RVIT of its 
property. Maloney' s misuse ofhis professional status 
in this context was clearly improper. This evidence of 
overreaching is not duplicative of the misconduct 
charged in Count One, and we find this is aggravation 
with respect to Maloney. (Std. 1.2(6 )(iii).) 

3. Lack of Candor in the State Bar Court 
(Std. l .2(b)(vi)) 

The hearingjudge found some of respondents' 
testimony in the proceeding below was not credible 
and that they lacked candor as well. Great weight is 
given to the hearing judge's findings on credibility 
(i.e., believability) and candor (truthfulness). (In the 
Matter of Dahlz (Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 269, 282.) However, it is still our 
responsibility to independently examine the record. 

Upon our de novo review, we find clear and 
convincing evidence that some of respondents' testi­
mony was neither believable nor truthful. An example 
of respondents' lack of candor is their testimony 
before the hearing judge about the BIA's position 
with respect to RVN's constitution. At their August 
2002 trial, Maloney testified: "I don't know of any 
BIA disapproval of the constitution." Similarly, V irsik 
testified that the BIA had approved R VN' s constitu­
tion as "a matter of the administrative law standard, 
failing to act, they approved it [the constitution.]'' Yet, 
two years prior to this testimony, respondents had 
appealed the BIA' s Pacific Regional Director's written 
decision ofNovember6, 2000, declining to recognize 
R VN' s constitution. 

(7a) Equally questionable is respondents' testi­
mony that they never intended to "file'' the various 
requests for dismissal in the Bettega matter and that 
theymerely intended to "lodge" the documents with the 
Superior Court for its further consideration and action. 
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Not only did Virsik specifically instruct the clerk of 
the Superior Court in writing to "file" the May l I th 

RFD, but respondents stated in several of their 
pleadings that the requests for dismissal were being 
submitted for filing or had already been filed. Further, 
Virsik in his oral argument in the Superior Court on 
May 19, 2000, expresslyrepresented that"the [RVN] 
has in factfi/ed a dismissal of this action as successor 
of what was the [RVIT] as the plaintiff. ... " 
(Emphasis added.) The record thus is at complete odds 
with respondents' testimony in the hearing department. 
(See Franklin v. StateBar(I986) 41 Cal.3d 700, 708.) 

[7b I Much of respondents' testimony also was 
evasive and inconsistent, and replete withconvenient 
memory lapses. (See, e.g., In the Matter of Chesnut, 
supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 166, 172.) More­
over, when asked about various questionable legal 
positions that he asserted in the Superior Court in the 
Bettega litigation, Maloney repeatedly deflected re­
sponsibility for his actions to his clients. For example, 
Maloney was asked "was it your position ... that the 
BIA was not authorized to speak on behalf of the 
Interim Tribal Council or the council membership?" 
He responded: "That was my client's position. I 
shouldn't be saying it's my position." Again, when 
asked "didn't [you] care what California Indian Legal 
Services had to say about the validity of the election?" 
he responded "My client did not care what California 
Indian Legal Services did." 

{7 c] Respondents' testimonywentbeyond equivo­
cation; it was disingenuous and dishonest. The 
Supreme Court has on several occasions stated 
" 'that deception of the State Bar may constitute an 
even more serious offense than the conduct being 
investigated.' " (In the Matter of Dahlz, supra, 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 282, citing Franklin v. State 
Bar, supra, 41 Cal.3d 700, 712 (dis. opn. of Lucas, J.), 
italics omitted.) We accordingly find respondents' lack 
of candor to be a strong aggravating circumstance. (In 
the Matter of Dahlz, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. at p. 282; In the Matter of Kaplan (Review 
Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 509, 522.) 
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4. Hann to the Administration of Justice (Std. 
1. 2(b)(iv)) 

(8) We agree with the hearing judge's finding in 
aggravation that respondents' conduct interfered with 
the proper administration of justice. (In the Matter of 
Mason (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
639, 642.) Respondents assert that no harm occurred 
because "everyone" knew about the on-going battle 
forpower, andthereforenoonewasdeceived. They are 
wrong. The SuperiorCourtspecifically found in its June 
8th Decision that "[ a ]s a result of [respondents'] action 
California Indian Legal Services was required to per­
fonn substantial additional work and its client Round 
Valley Indian Tribes incurred additional expense." The 
judge ordered additional monetary sanctions against 
respondents because of the burden respondents had 
imposed on the court. The record clearly establishes 
that respondents' actions threatened the efficient 
administration of justice and improperly burdened 
the court system and RVIT's attorneys, which we 
find is an aggravating circumstance. (Std. 
1.2(b )(iv).) 

5. Multiple Acts of Misconduct (Std. l.2(b)(ii)) 

(9] Additionally we find in aggravation that 
respondents committed multiple acts of misconduct. 
(Std. l.2(b)(ii).) This was not a case of one or two 
inadvertent or even negligent misrepresentations to 
the Superior Court. Respondents• misconduct was 
comprised of multiple acts which were committed in 
concert with each other over a three-month period. 
(Rodgers v. State Bar, supra, 48 Cal.3d 300, 317 .) 
Time and again, respondents chose to expressly or 
impliedly create a false picture of the true state of 
affairs and to ignore contrary facts and legal position. 
Respondents had numerous opportunities to correct 
their misleading statements, and yet they chose not to 
do so. By their repeated acts of misconduct, respon­
dents have demonstrated a pattern of disrespect for 
professional nonns, which we find as additional 
aggravation. (In the Matter of Babero (Review 
Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 322, 334.) 
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6. Indifference Towards Atonement or 
Rectification (Std. l .2(b)(v)) 

[10] Respondents' demonstrated lack of insight 
into the seriousness of their misconduct is particularly 
troubling to this court. They continue to claim in the 
face of overwhelming facts and legal authority that 
their conduct was justified, which demonstrates an 
indifference toward rectification of or atonement for 
the consequences of their misconduct, and we find 
this is an additional aggravating circumstance. (Std. 
l.2(b)(v);JnreMorse,supra, 11 Cal.4th 184, 197-198, 
206, 209.) Respondents' conduct "reflects a seeming 
unwillingness even to consider the appropriateness of 
[ their legal strategy] or to acknowledge that at some 
point {their] position was meritless or even wrong to 
any extent. Put simply, [respondents] went beyond 
tenacity to truculence." (Id. at p. 209; see also 
Maltaman v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 924, 958 
[ meritless defenses show lack of insight in the wrong• 
fulness of one's actions].) 

7. Conflicts of Interest 

[lla] Jn their single-minded effort to effect a 
political upheaval, respondents steadfastly failed to 
recognize their serious conflicts ofinterest.23 Without 
question, attorneys owe a duty ofundi vided loyalty to 
their clients. Respondents ignored this duty and in• 
stead purported to represent R VIT' s interests in the 
Bettega harassment lawsuit while simultaneously 
advancing Bettega' sand R VN' s litigation and politi• 
cal strategies. Given there was an actual conflict, as 
opposed toa potential conflict, respondents could not 
represent the various entities and individuals they 
asserted were their clients in the absence of obtaining 
their written, informed consent. (Rules Prof. Con­
duct, rules 3- 700( c) & 3-310.) They claimed that the 
"appropriate" conflicts waivers had been obtained 
when they had not. 

[1 lb] The Supreme Court explained the policy 
that underlies rule 3-310 in Anderson v. Eaton 
( 1930) 21 l Cal. 113, 116: "The rule is designed not 

23. The record discloses that in theBellega litigation respondents 
claimed to simultaneously represent the plaintiff, RVIT, the 
defendant, Bettega and the "cross-claimant" RVN. 
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alone to prevent the dishonest practitioner from 
fraudulent conduct, but as well to preclude the honest 
practitioner from putting himselfin a position where 
he may be required to choose between conflicting 
duties, or be led to an attempt to reconcile conflicting 
interests, rather than to enforce to their full extent the 
rights of the interest which he should alone represent. 
[Citation]." To here overlook respondents' conduct 
in purportedly representing multiple parties in the 
same lawsuit would greatly diminish this important 
policy. Accordingly, we find their efforts to simulta­
neously represent all three parties in the Bettega case 
to be aggravating conduct. 

C. Level of discipline 

[12a) The Standards for Attorney Sanctions for 
Professional Misconduct provide us with guidelines in 
determining the appropriate degree of discipline to be 
recommended. (In the Matter of Taylor (Review 
Dept. 1991) I Cal. State Bara. Rptr. 563, 580.)The 
gravamen ofrespondents' misconduct is their multiple 
misrepresentations to the Superior Court. Standard 2.3 
provides: "Culpability of a member of an act of moral 
turpitude, fraud, or intentional dishonesty toward a ... 
client oranotherperson orof concealment ofa material 
fact to a ... client or another person shall result in actual 
suspension or disbarment . . . depending upon the 
magnitude of the act of misconduct and the degree to 
which it relates to the member' sacts within the practice 
of law." We note that respondents' misconduct was 
closely aligned with theirpracticc. 

The standards are to be construed in light of the 
decisional law (In the Matter of Respondent F 
(Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 17, 
30), although we find few analogous cases because 
respondents' misconduct is unusual in its duration and 
varied procedural contexts. In cases involving fraud 
on the court, the discipline imposed ranges from 
stayed suspension to 6 months' actual suspension. At 
one end of the disciplinary spectrum are cases such 
as Sullins v. State Bar ( 197 5) 15 Cal. 3 d 609, and In 
the Matter of Jeffers (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. 
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State Bar Ct. Rptr. 211, where no actual suspension 
was imposed on attorneys who misled or misrepre­
sented facts to the court. In Sullins, the Supreme 
Court ordered public reproval of an attorney found to 
have committed moral turpitude by failing to disclose 
to the court a letter he received while representing the 
executor in a probate case. The letter was from the 
decedent's nephew disclaiming any interest in the 
property under his aunt's will. (Sullins v. State Bar, 
supra, 15 Cal.3d at p. 615.) Sullins requested an 
increase in his contingency fee, from 33 and 1/3 
percent to 50 percent, arguing the matter had been 
and would be "fiercely contested." (Id. at. p. 616.) 
The court noted that in analogous cases the discipline 
imposed was more severe, but considered Sullins's 
45 years of practicing law without blemish and 
adopted the disciplinary board's recornmendati on of 
public reproval. 

In In the Matter of Jeffers, supra, 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 226, we recommended a one-year 
suspension, stayed, and two years' probation.Jeffers 
failed to disclose to a superior court judge that his 
client had died, in spite of repeated questions by the 
judge that should have elicited this information. (Id. at 
pp. 21 7-218.)Jeffers also had written numerous letters 
to other counsel involved in the matter and failed to 
advise them of his client's death. (Id. at p. 218.) 
Jeffers was sanctioned for failing to appear as or­
dered at a mandatory settlement conference. We 
determined that there was insufficient evidence in the 
record to give weight in aggravation to a prior out-of­
state discipline, but we gave significant weight in 
mitigation because several character witnesses tes­
tified for Jeffers, Jeffers had practiced law in excess 
of 30 years before the prior disciplinary matter, and 
participated in many civic and pro bono activities. 

The misconduct in the present case is similar to 
Sullins and Jeffers, but it is more far-reaching since it 
involves numerous pleadings and appearances over a 
four-month time period. There also is substantial 
aggravation in the instant case where none was found 
in Sullins and Jeffers. But here, the mitigation 
evidence to some extent offsets the evidence in 
aggravation. On balance, more serious discipline is 
warranted here than in those cases where no actual 
suspension was imposed. 

INTHE MATTER OF MALONEY AND VmsIK. 
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In the middle of the disciplinary spectrum is 
McMahon v. StateBar(l952) 39 Cal.2d367, where 
the Supreme Court suspended McMahon for sixty 
days for making misrepresentations in an effort to 
mislead the court. McMahon alleged the deceased died 
intestate in order to appoint his client as administrator in 
the probate proceeding. However, McMahon had 
information regarding the existence of a will which he 
failed to disclose. McMahon is similar to the case at 
hand in that the attorneys ignored the information 
available to them and proceeded with legal action 
which misrepresented facts to the court in an effort 
to mislead. But the extent of the deception is far more 
limited in the McMahon case and the court there did 
not address aggravation or mitigation evidence. 

Also falling somewhere in the middle of the 
spectrum is Bach v. State Bar, supra, 43 Cal.3d 848, 
wherein an attorney intentionally misled a judge that 
he had not been ordered to produce his client at a child 
custody mediation, or in the alternative that he had not 
been served with such an order. However, the 
evidence showed that Bach was informed of the 
order both orally and in writing. The Supreme Court 
found that this conduct was serious and involved 
moral turpitude and was the kind of behavior "that 
threatens the public and undermines its confidence in 
the legal profession." (Id. at p. 857.) In ordering a 
one-year stayed suspension, with a three-year pro­
bation and 60 days' actual suspension, the court noted 
there was no mitigation evidence. (Ibid.) Moreover, 
the attorney in Bach had previously been publicly 
reproved for communicating with an adverse party 
represented by counsel, which was found to be an 
aggravating circumstance. Here, the misrepresenta­
tions were more numerous and there were significantly 
more aggravating factors, but here also is strong 
mitigation evidence, which was absent in Bach. Also, 
Bach had a previous disciplinary record, which is not 
a factor in the present case. 

On the higher end of the discipline spectrum are 
the cases of In the Matter of Chesnut, supra, 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 166, In the Matter of Farrell 
(Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 490, 
and Levin v. State Bar(l989) 47 Cal.3d 1140, where 
attorneys who made misrepresentations were actually 
suspended for six months. In the case of In the Matter 
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of Chesnut, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 166, we 
recommended six months' actual suspension for an 
attorney who falsely represented to two judges that 
he had personally served papers on an opposing 
party. (Id. at pp. 171-175, 177.) As in the instant 
case, we found in mitigation that the attorney's eight 
witnesses demonstrated good character and that the 
attorney engaged in pro bono activities. (Id. at pp. 
175-177 .) In Chesnut, like this case, we found in 
aggravation the attorney did not admit to any wrong­
doing and the testimony in the State Bar Court lacked 
candor. However, in Chesnut, our key concerns 
were the attorney's prior disciplinary record and the 
fact that the attorney had been in practice for less 
than five years at the time of his second discipline, 
which we found "requires strong prophylactic mea­
sures." (Id. at p. 178.) Here, although respondents' 
conduct is more egregious, there is no other evidence 
of misconduct having occurred either before or after 
this matter. 

We also consider In the Matter of Farrell, 
supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 490, wherein an 
attorney was suspended for two years, stayed, and 
placed on six months' actual suspension. Farrell was 
found culpable of violating section 6106 because he 
falsely stated to a trial judge that a witness had been 
subpoenaed and he failed to cooperate with the State 
Bar. (Id. atp. 497 .) In mitigation, Farrell believed that 
the subpoena had actually been sent by a member of 
his staff, but had no basis to believe it had been 
served. In aggravation, he had a prior record of 
discipline in two client matters resulting in 90 days' 
actual suspension. The misconduct here is far more 
serious, but Farrell's prior discipline is a significant 
distinguishing factor. 

Lastly, in Levin v. State Bar, supra, 47 Cal.3d 
1140, an attorney misrepresented to opposing counsel 
that he had the authority to settle the case as an 
officer of his incorporated client. (Id. at p. 1143.) 
Levin was not an officer, but under this guise, he also 
tried, on numerous occasions, to communicate with 
the adverse litigant despite the opposing counsel's 
letters that Levin stop these communications. (Ibid.) 
In the same disciplinary proceeding, but in a different 
client matter, Levin settled a personal injury claim 
without the client's consent and failed to inform her 
of the settlement. Instead, Levin paid himself his fees 
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and then gave the remaining settlement proceeds to 
the client's cousin, who gave the client only a part of 
the money, claiming the rest was payment for a debt 
owed. The client then requested an accounting from 
Levin, which he failed to deliver. (Id. atp. 1145 .) The 
court found that Levin's acts of dishonesty were the 
most reprehensible of his misconduct. (Id. at p. 
114 7.) The misconduct in Levin, while more varied, 
is perhaps the closest in scope to the case at hand. 

Mitigating weight was given due to Levin's 18 
years of practice without prior discipline and his 
unblemished conduct subsequent to the State Bar 
investigation, as well as for his candor and coopera­
tion with the State Bar. Nevertheless, the court found 
this evidence was outweighed by aggravating evi­
dence of Levin's attempts to conceal his dishonest 
acts, and that his dishonesty while not actually consti­
tuting a pattern of wrongdoing, "at the very least ... 
demonstrate[ d] repeated, similar acts of misconduct" 
which merited six. months' actual suspension. (Id. at 
pp.1149-1150.) 

[12b] The primary purposes of the disciplin­
ary proceedings are the protection of the public, 
the courts, and the legal profession; the mainte­
nance ofhigh professional standards by attorneys; 
and the preservation of public confidence in the 
legal profession. (Std. 1.3; In re Morse, supra, 11 
Cal.4thatp. 205.) But, no fixed formula applies in 
determining the appropriate level of discipline. (In 
the Matter of Brimberry (Review Dept. 1995) 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 390, 403.) Instead, we 
determine the appropriate discipline in light of all 
relevant circumstances. ( Gary v. State Bar ( 1988) 
44 Cal.3d 820, 828.) In the instant case, we have 
found less culpability and more mitigation, but we also 
have found considerably more aggravation than the 
hearing judge. Respondents clearly lost their way 
when they abandoned any notion of objectivity and 
professional responsibility in their effort to co-opt the 
litigation process for the benefit of their client, R VN. 
Given that they had ample time over a four-month 
period to reflect on what they were doing, we are 
concerned that respondents' serious ethical lapses 
may not be aberrational. (See Mosesian v. State Bar 
(1972) 8 Cal.3d 60, 65.) The aggregate number of 
their misrepresentations also raises concerns over 
whether the misconduct was aberrant. (In the Mat-
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ter of Kueker (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 583, 594.) 

[12c] Militating in favor of respondents is their 
strong character evidence demonstrating their com­
mitment to community service and social justice, their 
reputation for honesty and diligence, and their un­
blemished record save for their unfortunate foray into 
spurious litigation tactics. Also, while respondents' 
misconduct is serious and repeated, it occurred in a 
single client matter. Moreover, while not attempting to 
minimize the gravity of theirmisconduct, it was the result 
of over-zealous representation of their client and not 
for personal gain. Thus, even though the seriousness 
of the misconduct in this case appears to be most like 
those cases imposing six months actual suspension, 
we do not believe such severe discipline is needed 
here. 

(12d] Although the hearing judge viewed the 
respective culpability of each respondent as similar, 
and found more mitigation evidence for Maloney, we 
conclude that respondent Maloney' s actions warrant 
greater discipline than those of respondent Virsik. 
We find Virsik to be less culpable than Maloney since 
he did not appear or make misrepresentations at the 
February 16th hearing in the Superior Court, and there 
is no evidence he prepared the misleading February 
16th RFD, which Maloney submitted to the Superior 
Court. Also we find that Virsik is not culpable of 
overreaching in aggravation, because there is no 
evidence he prepared the misleading letters to the 
bank demanding that RVIT's accounts be trans­
ferred to R VN. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, 
as the State Bar points out in its brief on appeal, and 
as Maloney has so stipulated, he was the partner in 
charge of the Ii tigation tactics here in question, and he 
had more than 30 years' experience, while V irsik was 
a relatively inexperienced associate. As such 
Maloney must bear more responsibility than Virsik. 
Regrettably, Maloney's "lengthy practice and profes­
sional achievements did not aid [either] respondent in 
avoiding basic violations of the Rules of Professional 
Conduct." (In the Matter of Fonte (Review Dept. 
1994) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 752, 765 .) Accordingly 
we recommend 90 days' actual suspension for Maloney 
on the conditions stated below, and we find the appro­
priate discipline for V irsikto be 60 days' actual suspension 
on the conditions stated below. 
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IV. FORMAL RECOMMENDATION 

We recommend that respondents Patrick J, 
Maloney and Thomas S. Virsik be suspended from 
the practice of law in the State of California for one 
year, that execution of this suspension be stayed, and 
that respondents be placed on probation for two years 
on the following conditions: 

1. Respondent Maloney be actually suspended 
from the practice of law in the State of California 
during the first 90 days of probation; and respondent 
Virsik be actually suspended from the practiceoflaw 
in the State of California during the first 60 days of 
probation. 

2. Respondents must comply with the provi­
sions of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the State Bar of California, and all the 
terms and conditions of this probation. 

3. Respondents must maintain, with the State 
Bar's Membership Records Office and the State 
Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles, his current 
office address and telephone number or, if no office 
is maintained, an address to be used for State Bar 
purposes. (Bus. &Prof. Code,§ 6002.1, subd. (a)(l).) 
Respondents must also maintain, with the State Bar's 
Membership Records Office and the State Bar's 
Office of Probation in Los Angeles, his current home 
address and telephone number. (See Bus. & Prof. 
Code,§ 6002.1, subd. (a)(5).) Respondents' home 
addresses and telephone numbers will not be made 
available to the general public. (Bus. & Prof. Code, 
§ 6002 .1, subd. ( d).) Respondents must notify the 
Membership Records Office and the Office of Pro~ 
bation of any change in any of this information no later 
than 10 days after the change. 

4. Respondents must report, in writing, to the 
State Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles no 
later than January 10, April IO, July 10 and October 
10 of each year or part thereof in which respondents 
are on probation ( reporting dates). However, if respon­
dents' probation begins less than 30 days before a 
reporting date, respondents may submit the first 
report no later than the second reporting date after the 
beginning of probation. In each report, respondents 
must state that it covers the preceding calendar 
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quarter or applicable portion thereof and certify by 
affidavit or under penalty of perjury under the laws of 
the State of California as follows: 

(a) in the first report, whether 
respondents have complied with all the 
provisions of the State Bar Act, the Rules of 
Professional Conduct of the State Bar, and 
all other terms and conditions of probation 
since the beginning of probation; and 

(b) in each subsequent report, whether 
respondents have complied with all the 
provisions of the State Bar Act, the Rules of 
Professional Conduct of the State Bar, and 
all other terms and conditions of probation 
during that period. 

During the last 20 days of this probation, 
respondents must submit a final report 
covering any period of probation remaining 
after and not covered by the last quarterly 
report required under this probation condition. 
In this final report, respondents must certify 
to the matters set forth in subparagraph (b) of 
this probation condition by affidavit or under 
penalty of perjury under the laws of the State 
of California. 

5. Subject to the proper or good faith assertion 
of any applicable privilege, respondents must fully, 
promptly, and truthfully answer any inquiries of the 
State Bar's Office of Probation that are directed to 
respondents, whether orally or in writing, relating to 
whether respondents are complying or have complied 
with the terms and conditions of this probation. 

6. Within one year after the effective date of 
the Supreme Court order in this matter, respondents 
must attend and satisfactorily complete the State 
Bar's Ethics School and provide satisfactory proof of 
such completion to the State Bar's Office of Proba­
tion in Los Angeles. This condition of probation is 
separate and apart from respondents' California 
Minimum Continuing Legal Education (MCLE) 
requirements; accordingly, respondents are ordered 
not to claim any MCLE credit for attending and 
completing this course. (Accord Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, rule 320 I.) 
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7. Respondents' probation will commence on 
the effective date of the Supreme Court order in this 
matter. And, at the end of the probationary term, if 
respondents have complied with the terms and condi­
tions of probation, the Supreme Court order suspending 
respondents from the practice oflaw for one year will 
be satisfied, and the suspension will be terminated. 

V. PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
EXAMINATION 

We further recommend that respondents be 
ordered to take and pass the Multistate Prof es­
sional Responsibility Examination administered by 
the National Conference of Bar Examiners within 
one year after the effective date of the Supreme 
Court order in this matter and to provide satisfactory 
proof of such passage to the State Bar's Office of 
Probation in Los Angeles within the same period. 

VI. RULE 955 

We further recommend thatrespondentMaloney 
be ordered to comply with rule 955 of the California 
Rules of Court and to perform the acts specified in 
subdivisions (a) and (c) of that rule within 30 and40 
calendar days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court order in this matter. 

VII. COSTS 

We further recommend that the costs incurred 
by the State Bar in this matter be awarded to the State 
Bar in accordance with Business and Professions 
Code section 6086.10 and that such costs be payable 
in accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6140. 7. 

We concur: 

STOVITZ, P. J. 
WATAI, J. 
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SUMMARY 

While representing tenants in a negligence lawsuit against an apartment owner arising from an arson fire, 
respondent used his status as an attorney to gain access to the individual incarcerated for setting the fire. 
Respondent took advantage of the individual's vulnerability and exacerbated the individual's dissatisfaction 
with his attorneys and offered to represent the individual at his parole hearing ifhe would sign an incriminating 
declaration. The hearing judge found respondent culpable of improperly communicating with a represented 
party, committing acts of moral turpitude, and breach ofafiduciary duty owed to a non--clien.t and recommended 
four months' actual suspension. 

The review department concluded that respondent was not culpable for his communications with the 
incarcerated individual but otherwise adopted the hearingjudge' s findings and conclusions with respect to moral 
turpitude and breach of fiduciary duty. The review department recommended that respondent be suspended 
forone year, stayed, that he be placed on probation for two years on the condition that he be actually suspended 
for four months. 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: Robin B. Haffner 

For Petitioner: Jerome Fishkin 

HEADNOTES 

(1 a, b] 257.00 Rule 2-100 (former 7-103) 
257.05 Rule 2-100 (former 7-103)-Not Found 
Where respondent, who represented tenants in a negligence lawsuit against an apartment owner, 
communicated with an incarcerated individual, who was not a party to the negligence lawsuit but 
was nevertheless represented by counsel, such communications are not in violation of rule 2-100. 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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[21 159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 

(3) 

Although the discussion accompanying a rule of professional conduct can be considered as an 
interpretive aid, it cannot add an independent basis for imposing discipline. 

159 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
Under the rules of statutory construction, significance should be given to every word, phrase, 
sentence and part of an act in pursuance of the legislative purpose if possible. Statutes are to be given 
effect according to the usual, ordinary import of the language employed in framing them. 

[41 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
221.12 Gross negligence-Found 
Where respondent elicited an incriminating statement from an individual who was incarcerated and 
awaiting the appeal of his confession to the police and where respondent was an experienced 
criminal attorney who knew that the incriminating statement could be used as evidence at re-trial, 
respondent's overreaching was the height of irresponsibility and constituted at least gross neglect 
establishing a basis for a finding of moral turpitude. 

[SJ 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
221.19 Other factual basis-Found 
Where respondent was aware that a witness's attorneys objected to his cooperation with 
respondent, where respondent circumvented their objections and ultimately convinced the witness 
to reject his attorneys' advice, and where there is no evidence that the witness gave a lmowing and 
intelligent waiver ofhis right to counsel, respondent committed misconduct involving moral turpitude 
by allowing the witness to act as his own counsel. 

[6] 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
221.12 Gross negligence-Found 
Respondent was culpable of moral turpitude when he made misleading statements in order to induce 
a witness to sign a confession. Respondent was, at best, grossly negligent in not fully explaining to 
a witness the consequences of his cooperation. A finding of gross negligence in creating a false 
impression is sufficient for violation of section 6106. Acts of moral turpitude include concealment 
as well as affinnative misrepresentations and no distinction can be drawn among concealment, half­
truth, and false statement of fact. 

[7 a-c] 213,10 State Bar Act-Section 6068(a) 
213.11 State Bar Act-Section 6068(a)-Found 
430.00 Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
430.01 Breach of Fiduciary Duty-Found 
Where the record contains clear and convincing evidence that respondent led a witness to believe 
they had a special relationship of trust and confidence and that his interests would be protected by 
respondent, respondent assumed a fiduciary duty towards the witness, who was a vulnerable 
criminal defendant, when he used his superior knowledge and position as an attorney to create a 
confidential relationship of trust and dependency. In so doing, respondent caused the witness to 
reject his attorney's advice and accede to respondent's wishes thereby breaching his common law 
fiduciary duty to the witness in wilful violation of section 6068, subdivision (a). 
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(8 a, b] 430.00 Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
430.01 Breach of Fiduciary Duty-Found 
Respondent owed an incarcerated witness the same high duty of honesty and obedience to fiduciary 
duty as ifhe were acting as his attorney. An attorney's violation of the duty arising in a fiduciary 
or confidential relationship warrants discipline even in the absence of an attomey-clientrelationship. 

(9] 555 Aggravation-Overreaching-Declined to Find 
Although respondent's misconduct was surrounded by concealment and overreaching, it was 
appropriate not to consider this as a -factor in aggravation since it would be duplicative of the 
misconduct comprising acts of moral turpitude for which respondent was found culpable. 

(10] 586.10 • Aggravation-Harm to administration of justice-Found 
Where respondent's conduct undermined a witness's relationship with his attorneys and compro­
mised the witness's Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights, such conduct significantly harmed the 
administration of justice and is properly considered as a factor in aggravation. 

(11] 1015.03 Disciplin~Actual Suspension-3 Months 
Where respondent committed multiple acts involving moral turpitude and breached an implied 
fiduciary duty in violation of section 6068(a), where there was mitigation for good character and 
entering into a compn:hensive stipulation of facts, and where there was aggravation due to multiple 
acts of wrongdoing, significant harm to the administration of justice, and a failure to recognize the 
serious consequences of his behavior, the appropriate disciplinary recommendation was one year 
stayed suspension, two years of probation on conditions which included four months actual 
suspension. 
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OPINION 

EPSTEIN, J.: 

Respondent, Joshua M. Dale, compromised the 
integrity of the criminal justice system when he 
systematically befriended and then cajoled Darryl 
Geyer, an incarcerated 22-year-old with a 10th grade 
education, into giving a confession about an arson fire 
at an apartment building. Geyer had previously con­
fessed to the policeaboutthe fire, and the voluntariness 
of that confession was the key issue upon which he 
was appealing his second degree murder conviction. 
Respondent, who was representing the tenants in a 
negligence lawsuit against the apartment owner aris­
ing from the same fire and was facing the owner's 
summary judgement motion, needed Geyer' s state­
ment about the condition of the premises when he set 
the fire. 

Respondent lmew that the declaration he ob­
tained from Geyer could be used as evidence at 
Geyer's re-trial if his conviction were reversed on 
appeal. Geyer' s trial and appellate attorneys refused 
respondent's requests to contact Geyer, and they 
advised Geyer not to speak with respondent. Never­
theless, respondent intentionally used his status as an 
attorney to gain access to Geyer while he was in jail 
and to meet with him in private. He skillfully took 
advantage of Geyer's vulnerability and exacerbated 
Geyer's dissatisfaction with his attorneys. Respon­
dent offered his services to represent Geyer at his 
parole hearing if he would sign the incriminating 
declaration, and Geyer acquiesced. Even after ob­
taining the declaration, respondent continued to curry 
favor with Geyer so that he would make himself 
available as a percipient witness at the civil trial. 
Respondent ultimately obtained a $400,000 settle­
ment in his civil case. 

The hearingjudge found respondent culpable of 
violating rule 2-100 of the Rules of Professional 
Conduct1 by improperly communicating with a repre­
sented party; committing acts of moral turpitude in 
violation of Business and Professions Code section 

t. All further references to "rule~ are to the Rules of Prof es• 
sional conduct, unless otherwise noted. 
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6106;2 and breach of a fiduciary duty owed to a non­
client in violation ofsection 6068, subdivision ( a). She 
recommended, interalia, four months' actual suspen­
sion. For the reasons set forth below, we modify her 
culpability determinations, but we nevertheless adopt 
herdisciplinaryrecommendations. 

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACK­
GROUND 

The essential facts material to our decision are 
the subject of a Joint Stipulation in the disciplinary 
proceedings below. We nevertheless independently 
review the record (In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 
184, 207), and accordingly our findings are based on 
our de novo review of the evidence adduced at the 
hearing below as well as the Joint Stipulation. 

Darryl Geyer confessed to the police that he set 
several fires, including a fire to an apartment building 
at 1011 Bush Street, San Francisco on June 11, 1996. 
One of the occupants died in the fire, several were 
injured and many suffered property damage. Attor­
ney Kenneth Quigley was appointed to represent 
Geyer in the criminal matter (People v. Geyer) on 
June 28, 1996. In July 1996, William Burke and 
several of the tenants at 1011 Bush Street asked 
respondent to represent them in a suit for personal 
injuries (Burke v. Chen) against the owner of the 
apartment building, Grace Chen, based on allegations 
that the premises were maintained negligently, which 
contributed to the fire. Geyer was not named in the 
suit, but he was a percipient witness to the condition 
of the building at the time he set fire to it. 

Geyer was indicted on 13 counts of arson (Penal 
Code section 451) one count of auto theft (Vehicle 
Code section 10851) and one count of murder with 
arson special circumstances (Penal Code sections 
187 and 190.2, subd.(a)(I 7)(H)). His criminal trial 
commencedonJuly23, 1999,andlasted until July 27, 
1999, when Geyer withdrew his not guilty plea and 
submitted a guilty plea to six counts of arson. The 
homicide charge was submitted to the judge who 
found Geyer guilty of second-degree murder. How-

2. All further references to "section" are to the Business and 
Professions Code, unless otherwise noted. 
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ever, in a carefully crafted plea agreement, Geyer 
retained his rightto appeal the homicide conviction on 
the grounds of an illegal confession. 

Meanwhile, respondent, who was admitted in 
1994 and was inexperienced as a ci vii lawyer, 3 was 
facing a motion for summary judgement by the 
owner's attorneys. Respondent believed that Geyer' s 
declaration about his involvement in setting the fire at 
IO 11 Bush Street, and his observations about the 
condition of the premises at the time he set the fire, 
were vital to his ability to defeat the summary judge­
ment motion. Sometime during the pendency of the 
case, and while Geyer was incarcerated, respondent 
con!acted Quigley and asked him if he could inter­
view Geyer in connection with his civil suit. Quigley 
refused to give his permission. Nevertheless, on at 
least three occasions respondent waited in the hall­
way at the Hall of Justice where inmates were kept 
while they were awaiting court proceedings, specifi­
cally to observe Geyer and make contact with him. 
The only persons with access to this area were court 
personnel and attorneys. Respondent succeeded in 
exchanging nods with Geyer, and on one occasion 
spoke to him, saying in effect "we are going to have 
to talk someday." 

On July 30, 1999,aftertheconclusionofthetrial, 
but prior to Geyer's sentencing, respondent visited 
Geyer in the San Francisco County Jail. During this 
visit respondent gained direct access to Geyer by 
using the entrance and the procedures reserved for 
attorneys rather than regular visitors, thus enabling 
respondent to speak to Geyer face-to----face and in 
private, rather than through a glass partition in the 
public reception area. He told Geyer he would need 
his statement about the 1011 Bush Street fire for his 
civil trial. Geyer said he wanted to speak with his 
attorney before he would agree to give a statement, 
and he followed up with a letter to respondent on 
August 5, 1999, stating: "I have been unable to 
contact my attorney Kenneth M. Quigley about 
giving you a deposition on the events that took place 
at 1011 Bush Street. ... I will be unable to respond 

3. Respondent is a criminal defenseattorneywho is experienced 
in representing individuals charged with driving under the 
influence. He has no prior record of discipline. 
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to questions in regards to 1011 Bush Street. I'm sure 
that you understand." Respondent persisted with five 
more visits to the county jail, all of which were prior 
to Geyer'ssentencing and while Quigley was Geyer' s 
counsel of record. Each time respondent had face­
to--faceconversations with Geyer in private by utilizing 
the special procedures reserved for attorneys. The 
purpose of these visits was to befriend Geyer in order 
to cultivate him as a favorable witness inrespondent' s 
personal injury case. During these visits, they dis­
cussedcurrentevents, the challenges oflife in jail and 
Geyer' s hopes and dreams, in addition to his involve­
ment as a witness in the Chen case. 

On August 25, 1999, Geyer told Quigley that he 
was dissatisfied with him and that he wanted to fire 
him and employ new counsel. However, Geyer did 
not succeed in replacing Quigley, who remained his 
court appointed attorney at the time of the trial in the 
hearing department below. On September 28, 1999, 
Geyer was sentenced to 20 years to life, with the 
possibility of parole, at the earliest, in 2013. On 
September 30, 1999, Quigley signed and filed a notice 
of appeal, which was lodged in the Court of Appeal 
on October 29, 1999. Geyer was listed on the Notice 
of Appeal as representing himself in pro per. 

Meanwhile, on October 21, 1999, respondent 
again visited Geyer, who by this time had been 
transferred to San Quentin prison. Respondent brought 
with him a letter agreement, typed on his letterhead, 
which stated: 

"Pursuant to our many conversations, I off er you 
the below contract between the two of us. [~] If 
you date and sign the enclosed declaration, under 
penalty of perjury, I will do what I can to assist 
you when you come up for parole, including but 
not limited to, being your attorney if you choose, 
or your witness. [~] As your witness at any 
hearing, I would tell how you took responsibility 
early on .... I will also encourage the tenants of 
1011 Bush Street to do the same, and some are 
willing only if you take the first step by telling the 
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truth about the fire, howyou entered the building, 
and what else occurred in the basement of that 
building on June 11, 1996. [,0 The declaration is 
made up of the facts your (sic] told in your video 
taped confession to the police." 

Geyer testified that he was grateful for respondent's 
offer oflegal assistance with his parole hearing since 
he had no confidence in Quigley and could not afford 
to hire other counsel.With this contract as an induce­
ment, Geyer acquiesced to signing the declaration, 
which respondent had prepared and brought with him 
to San Quentin. The declaration stated, in part: 

"In the early morning hours of June 11, 1996, I 
was walking in the vicinity of Bush Street and 
Jones with a friend, Gabriel Cano. ('II] As I 
walked along Jones Street, I noticed an empty 
door. I entered through thatdoorand found itlead 
[sic] to a basement area. !later found outthat this 
was the basement of 1011 Bush Street. ... While 
in the basement of 1011 Bush Street I noticed a 
large amount of paper and cardboard. I also 
noticed that the walls of the basement were made 
of exposed wood. Mr. Cano and I stayed in the 
basement for approximately ten minutes before 
deciding to leave. Just before Heft the basement, 
I lit a single match and threw it in some of the 
paper and cardboard I had seen in the basement 
area." 

However, before Geyer would sign this statement, he 
insisted that respondent add the following, which was 
inserted in respondent's handwriting: 

"Addendum: I have been assured by Joshua M. 
Dale, Esq., that this document cannot and will not 
be used or effect [sic] my appeal of my convic­
tion in the San Francisco Superior court matter." 

Afterrespondent signed the addendum, Geyer signed 
the declaration under penalty of perjury. 

The one area where there is conflicting evidence 
relates to the nature of respondent's verbal assur-

4. The D.A. disputed that he had such a conversation with 
respondent. 
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ances to Geyer at the time he signed the above 
statement. Respondent asserts that he assured Geyer 
that his declaration would not harm his appeal, but that 
he also discussed how Geyer' s statement could be 
used against him at re-trial if he won his appeal. 
Geyer testified that he was not advised of the full 
importofhis declaration, and that respondent told him 
repeatedly that the statement could not hurt him in any 
respect, but would only help him with his eventual 
parole hearing. Geyer explained: "My primary inten­
tion was to make right what I had done to the tenants 
butl wouldn 'thavedoneitifl thoughtitwouldhurt me." 

Respondent filed the declaration in the superior 
court in theBurkev. Chen case on October 23, 1999. 
When Quigley found out about the declaration he was 
furious and demanded that respondent withdraw it. In 
a letter dated October 25, 1999, to respondent, Quigley 
stated that respondent had "used [his] status as an 
attorney to get in the San Francisco County Jail and 
interview Mr. Geyer, who is still my client. ... the 
result of that interview is that you have obtained a 
declaration that contains admissions by Mr. Geyer 
that are devastating to his criminal case .... [ and] so 
destructive of Mr. Geyer' s interest that it could result 
in hi~spending his life in a small cage. "The following 
day, respondent attempted to head-off any fallout 
from Quigley' s anger by writing to Geyer: "Kenneth 
Quigley is trying to get my law license for talking to 
you even though you'd fired him, and he wasn't even 
your attorney after sentencing. I'd say you should 
expect a visit or letter from him, or his representative, 
soon .... I'll write to you soon regarding all the 
commotion that your declaration has created. I again . 
think that your telling the truth is the best thing you 
could have done." In that same letter, he infonned 
Geyer that he had talked with the district attorney 
(D.A.) about his appeal and parole, and that the D.A. 
had told him if Geyer won his appeal, he would only 
serve eight years. Respondent also advised that the 
D.A. "agrees that you should do your best to make 
your first parole hearing count."4 

Respondent communicated with Geyer by mail 
on at least three other occasions for the purpose of 



804 

currying his favor as a witness at the upcoming civil 
trial. For example, one letter, dated November 3, 
1999, said, "Your declaration saved the tenants' 
case. Thank you. Your letter of apology is spectacu­
lar, and the tenant will, and some have already, 
forgive [sic] you for the disruption to their lives. You 
have much to be proud of and Ilookforward to visiting 
soon .... you are a special person on earth .... 
[Emphasis in the original.]" 

John Jordan was appointed as Geyer' s appellate 
counsel of record on January 18, 2000. Nevertheless, 
respondent continued to communicate with Geyer. 
Thus, on January 28, 2000, respondent wrote to 
Geyer, warning him: 'Td really be careful with any 
promises if they've seen you. They are the ones that 
got you convicted, remember?" In the same letter, 
respondent persisted with his cultivation of Geyer' s 
friendship, stating: "I'm enclosing some things for you 
like before. I've talked with several of the people at 
your new location. There are many things that you 
may do there .... I'll beableto do more down the road 
if you begin to send me promising things about you." 
Three days later, respondent filed a motion in the civil 
case to obtain a court order to produce Geyer at the 
trial. Respondent did not serve the notice on Jordan or 
otherwise notify him and no attorney appeared for 
Geyer. The motion was granted on February 10, 
2000. Respondent settled the Chen case in mid­
February 2000 for $400,000. He never again 
communicated with Geyer, and he provided no fur­
ther legal assistance to him. Geyer lost his appeal, 
although his declaration did not affect the outcome. 

Geyer filed a complaint with the State Bar on 
May 3, 2000. After an investigation by the State Bar, 
a three-count Notice ofDisciplinary Charges (NDC) 
was filed on April 3, 2002, alleging respondent vio-

5. Prior to trial, Geyer's video deposition was taken, and the 
parties stipulated that the videotape and transcript could be 
used at trial in lieu of his personal appearance, subject to valid 
objections. 

6. Versions of this "no contact" rule are in effect in all fifty 
states. Twenty-seven states use the term "party" in their 
analogous rules to rule 2-100. Of those, eighteen states 
(Alabama, Arkansas, Arizona, Colorado, Connecticut, Indi­
ana, Kansas, Kentucky, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, 
Missouri, New Mexico, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, West 
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lated rule 2-100 by improperly communicating with a 
represented party; committed acts of moral turpitude 
in violation ofBusiness andProfessions Code section 
6106; and violatedsection 6068 subdivision ( a) arising 
from a breach of a fiduciary duty owed to a non­
client. A three-day trial was held in the hearing 
department commencing on April 22, 2003. Kenneth 
Quigley, Geyer's trial attorney, and John Jordan, 
Geyer's appeals attorney, offered testimony, and the 
videotape testimony of Geyer also was admitted in 
evidence. 5 Seven good character witnesses testified 
on behalf ofrespondent. 

The hearingjudge found respondent culpable of 
all three counts, and she recommended that respon­
dent be suspended for one year, stayed, and placed on 
probation for two years, with conditions, including 
four months' actual suspension. As we discuss in 
detail below, we do not agree with hearing judge's 
findingofculpabilityundenule2-100, butadopther 
findings and con cl us ions with respect to moral turpi­
tude and breach of fiduciary duty. We also adopt her 
disciplinaryrecommendations. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. Count One: Communication with a Represented 
Party (Rule 2-l00(A)) 

Respondent was charged in Count One of the 
NDC with communicating with a represented party in 
violation of rule 2-1 00(A). Theruleprovides: "While 
representing a client, a member shall not communi­
cate directly or indirectly about the subject of the 
representation with a party the member knows to be 
represented by another lawyer in the matter, unless 
the member has the consent of the other lawyer. "6 

Virginia, Wisconsin, and Wyoming) have provided drafter's 
Commentary to expressly clarify that the rule covers any 
person whether or not a party to a formal proceeding. Twenty-­
two states use the word "person" and clearly intend the rule 
to prohibit communications with any person who is repre­
sented by counsel, whether or -not a party in a proceeding 
(Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Louisiana, Mary­
land, Massachusetts, Montana, Nebraska, New Hampshire, 
New Jersey, North Carolina, North Dakota, Oregon, Okla­
homa, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Virginia, and 
Vermont). 
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Respondent argues that he did not violate rule 2-
100 because: l) Geyer was not represented by an 
attorney at the time respondent obtained his declara­
tion; and 2) Geyer was not a party to the civil case, 
Burke v. Chen. 

We can readily dispose of respondent's first 
contention. Respondent stipulated that his meeting 
with Geyer on October 21, 1999, when he obtained 
Geyer's declaration, was the culmination of at least 
five previous meetings, all of which took place while 
Geyer was awaiting sentencing and was represented 
by Quigley. Additionally, respondent communicated 
with Geyer at least two more times while Geyer was 
represented by appellate counsel, John Jordan. From 
the outset, respondent's communications were di­
rected at securing Geyer' s declaration and, ultimately, 
his testimony at trial about his involvement with the 
arson fire - the very facts that were the crux of 
Geyer' s defense at his murdertrial and were the basis 
of his appeal. 

[la) Respondent's second contention that rule 
2-100 is inapplicable because Geyer was not a 
represented ''party" in the Burke v. Chen personal 
injury suit is not so readily disposed of. Geyer's 
involvement with the civil suit was only as a witness. 
Thus, in order to find a violation of rule 2-100, we 
must construe the proscription against communicat­
ing with a represented "party" to mean represented 
"person.'' This was the approach taken by the hearing 
judge below, but we find very limited support for this 
broad interpretation of rule 2-100. 

[2] There is one California case which, in dicta, 
interpreted the tenn "party" to mean "person." In 
Jackson v. Ingersoll-Rand Co. (1996) 42 Cal.App. 
4th 1163, 1167, the appellants sought review of an 

7. See Request That the Supreme Court ofCalifomia Approve 
Amendments to the Rules of Professional Conduct of the State 
Bar of California, and Memorandum and Supporting Docu­
ments in Explanation (Dec. 1987) Office of Professional 
Standards of the State Bar of California, pp. 24-26. 

8. The term "party'' was carried over from the earlier California 
rule 7-103 and its predecessor rule 12, both of which were 
patterned on American Bar Association (ABA) Model Code 
DR 7-104. The current version of ABA Model Rules of 
Professional Conduct, rule4.2 (Model Rule 4.2) was amended 
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order disqualifying defense counsel pursuant to rule 
• 2-100 because the attorney communicated with the 

former wife of a co-plaintiff in a personal injury case. 
The former wife had been dismissed because she no 
longer had a claim for loss of consortium. In reversing 
the order of disqualification, the Court of Appeal 
asked: "Was Ms. Jackson a represented party? [Fn. 
omitted.] Under Rule 2-100, 'party' broadly denotes 
person, and is not limited to litigants, so Ms. Jackson's 
dismissal from the case does not conclusively settle 
the question. (Drafter's notes, Rule 2-100.)" The 
court nonetheless found rule 2-100 was not appli­
cable because, even if the ex-wife was represented 
by counsel, the defendant's counsel had no knowl­
edge of her prior representation by the plaintiff's 
counsel. (Ibid.) We find some additional support for 
the hearing judge's interpretation in the drafter's 
Discussion section that follows the rule. It states: 
"Rule 2-100 is intended to control communications 
between a member and persons the member knows 
to be represented by counsel unless a statutory 
scheme or case law will override the rule. [Emphasis 
added.]" Although we may look to the Discussion 
accompanying the rule as an interpretative aid, it 
cannot add an independent basis for imposing disci­
pline. (Rule 1-lO0(C).) 

We find scant authority in the drafting history of 
rule 2-100, the rules of statutory construction, and the 
decisional law for construing rule 2-100 so as to 
prohibit contacts with a non-party. Indeed, the draft­
ing history of rule 2-100 provides us with precious 
little guidance. 7 When the rule was adopted by the 
Supreme Court in 1988, changes were made to the 
predecessor rule 7-103, which were directed at 
contacts with cotporate parties. No consideration 
was given to the usage of the term "party" or whether 
non-parties were to be included within the definiticn.s 

in 1995 to substitute the word "person" for "party" specifi­
cally to clarify that the rule applies to non-parties. (See 
drafter's commentto Rule4.2.) In its currentfonn Model Rule 
4.2 provides: "In representing a client, a lawyer shall not 
communicate about the subject of the representation with a 
person the lawyer knows to be represented by another lawyer 
in the matter, unless the lawyer has the consent of the other 
lawyer or is authorized to do so by law or a court order." 
(Emphasis added.) Many states have followed suit and simi­
larly amended theirno contact rules to applytopcrsons instead 
of parties. (See fn. 7 ante.) 
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[3 J Turning to rules of statutory construction, we 
note thatthe language of rule 2-100 specifically uses 
the term ''person" within its own definition of''party. "9 

We therefore must presume that the drafters were 
aware of the distinction between ''party" and ''per­
son" when they simultaneously used both terms in the 
very same statutory definition."' "If possible, signifi­
cance should be given to every word, phrase, sentence 
and part of an act in pursuance of the legislative 
purpose." [Citation.]' " ' (Renee J. v. Superior 
Court (2001) 26 Cal.4th 735, 743.) Moreover, ' " 
' [ w ]e are required to give effect to statutes "accord­
ing to the usual, ordinary import of the language 
employed in framing them." [Citations.]' " ' (Ibid.) 

The few cases that have interpreted rule 2-100 
have given it a narrow construction, albeit while 
focusing on different provisions of the rule than those 
of concern here. Thus, in Jorgensen v. Taco Bell 
Corp. ( 1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 13 98, 1401, the Court of 
Appeal expressly rejected Taco Bell's assertion that 
the rule should be construed broadly, finding instead 
that "Rule 2~100 should be given a reasonable, 
commonsense interpretation, and should not be given 
a 'broad or liberal interpretation' which would stretch 
the rule so as to cover situations which were not 
contemplated by the rule." ( Citing Continental Ins. Co. 
v. SuperiorCourt(l995)32Ca1.App.41ll94, 120--121.) 

Discipline has been imposed under rule 2-100 
and its predecessors only in those instances when a 
member made an ex parte communication with an 
opposing party.10 (See, e.g., Crane v. State Bar 
( 1981) 30 Cal.3 d 117 [ attorney communicated di­
rectly with opposing party]; Mitton v. State Bar, 
(1969), 71 Cal.2d 525 [attorney for the plaintiff 
communicated with defendant]; Turner v. State Bar 
( 195 0) 36 Cal.2d 15 5 [ attorney culpable when he had 
opposing party sign settlement papers]; 

9. Specilically, rule 2-100 (B) states: "For purposes of this 
rule, a 'party' includes: (2) An association member or an 
employee of an association, corporation, or partnership, if the 
subject of the communication is any act or omission of such 
person in connection with the matter which may be binding 
upon or imputed to the organization .... (Emphasis added.]" 
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Chronometrics, Inc., v. Sysgen, Inc. (1980) 110 
Cal .App.3d 597 [ tp.ember disqualified for communi­
cating with a represented cross-defendant in a civil 
action]; In the Matter of Wyshak (Review Dept. 
1999)4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 70 [attorney commu­
nicated directly with opposing party whom he knew 
to be represented by counsel during litigation].) 

Finding no rule of construction or persuasive 
legal precedent to support a broad interpretation, we 
conclude we are not at liberty to re-write rule 2-100, 
which by its plain language is limited to a represented 
"party." We recognize that a strict construction of the 
rule, limiting its applicability only to represented par­
ties to litigation or to a transactionll could, as in this 
case, defeat the importantpublic policy underlying the 
rule, which was described in United States v. Lopez, 
supra, 4 F.3d 1455, 1458-1459: "The rule against 
communicating with a represented party without the 
consent of that party's counsel shields a party's 
substantive interests against encroachment by op­
posing counsel .... [T]he trust necessary for a 
successful attorney-client relationship is eviscerated 
when the client is lured into clandestine meetings with 
the lawyer for the opposition." Our Supreme Court 
echoed this same assessment in Mitton v. State Bar, 
supra, 71 Cal.2d 524, 534: "[The no contact rule] 
shields the opposing party not only from an attorney's 
approaches which are intentionally improper, but, in 
addition, from approaches which are well intended 
but misguided. [,J] The rule was designed to permit an 
attorney to function adequately in his proper role and 
to prevent the opposing attorney from impeding his 
performance in such role. If a party's counsel is 
present when an opposing attorney communicates 
with a party, counsel can easily correct any element 
of error in the communication or correct the effect of 
the communication by calling attention to counteract­
ing elements which may exist." 

IO. Several cases have considered the application of the no 
contact rule to individuals in the dual role of witness/party. 
(Sec, e.g., Mills Land & Water Co. v. Golden WestRefiningCo. 
( 1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 116, 126-128; United States v. Talao 
(9"'Cir. 2000)222 F.3d 1133, 1140; UnitedStatesv. Lopez(9th 

Cir. 1993) 4 F.3d 1455.) 

1 I. The Discussion accompanying rule 2-100 makes clear that 
it is not limited to a litigation context. 
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( 1 b] The instant case illustrates how the concern 
about interference with the attorney-client relation­
ship as expressed by the Ninth Circuit Court of 
Appeals and the Supreme Court is equally relevant 
when the represented individual is not a party to the 
proceedings. But we defer to the Board of Governors 
and the Supreme Court for any curative efforts 
should they determine that the purpose of rule 2-100 
is ill-served by its present language. We therefore 
are compelled to conclude that respondent is not 
culpable for his communications with Geyer under 
rule 2-100 because Geyer was not a represented 
party in the Burke v. Chen lawsuit, and we dismiss 
Count One with prejudice. 

B. Count Two: Moral Turpitude (Section 6106) 

[4) Our exposition of rule 2-100 does not ab­
solve respondent of culpability. On the contrary, the 
same misconduct that is alleged to be the basis of a 
rule 2-100 violation also is alleged in Count Two of 
the NDC to constitute acts involving moral turpitude 
in violation of section 6106. The appropriate resolu­
tion of this case does not depend on how many rules 
of professional conduct or statutes proscribe the 
same conduct. (In the Matter of Torres (Review 
Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138, 148.) 
Indeed, as we discuss below, the moral tull'itude 
allegations provide the underpinnings to our analysis 
of respondent's misconduct. 

Respondent was so focused on avoiding the 
technical prohibitions of rule 2-100, he was blinded to 
the larger issue of the overreaching inherent in the 
circumstances surrounding his relationship with Geyer. 
Eliciting the incriminating statement from Geyer while 
he was incarcerated and awaiting the appeal of his 
confession to the police was the height of irresponsi­
bility and constituted at least gross neglect. Gross 
negligence is a well established basis for a finding of 
moral turpitude. (See Gendron v. State Bar (1983) 
35 Cal.3d 409, 425; In the Matter of Moriarty 
(Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 9; In 

12. Geyer was a product of numerous foster care families, had 
been physically and sexually abused, and had been in the 
juvenile justice system for years. 

807 

the Matter of Hultman (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 297.) Respondent's conduct is 
particularly egregious because he was an experi­
enced criminal attorney who lmew that Geyer's 
declaration could be used as evidence to convict 
Geyer at a re-trial.· 

We are equally troubled that respondent's con­
duct was surrounded by overreaching because he 
took advantage ofGeyer's vulnerability as an incar­
cerated young man with a 10th grade education. He 
plied Geyer with small gifts such as magazines and 
stamps, and wrote: "you have much to be proud of' 
and that he was "a special person on earth." He also 
took advantage of the county jail procedures reserved 
for attorneys in order to meet with Geyer in private, 
and he used these opportunities to systematically 
befriend him. Respondent then leveraged this friend­
ship to drive a wedge between Geyer and his attorneys, 
by writing, for example, "Remember, they are the 
ones who got you convicted."12 He intentionally 
waited until after sentencing to take advantage of the 
window of time when respondent believed Geyer 
was acting in pro per to extract Geyer's written 
confession. 

[5] Respondent was not free to unilaterally 
determine that Geyer was without representation and 
therefore available to communicate with respondent; 
he was obliged to either confirm the status of Geyer' s 
representation with Quigley or at a minimum seek 
authorization from the criminal court with jurisdiction 
over Geyer's case. (Jackson v. Ingersoll-Rand 
Co., supra, 42 Cal.App. 4th at p. 1168.) Even 
assuming, arguendo, that respondent had a reason­
able belief that Geyer was unrepresented by counsel 
when he met with him at San Quentin on October 21, 
1999, we are compelled to conclude that respondent 
was culpable of misconduct involving moral turpitude 
by allowing Geyer to act as his own counsel. Respon­
dent was well a ware that Geyer' s attorneys objected 
to his cooperation with respondent, yet he circum­
vented their obj cctions and ultimately convinced Geyer 
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to reject his attorneys' advice.13 In so doing, respon­
dent improperly saddled Geyer with the responsibility 
of representing himself in his negotiations with re­
spondent. 

Given the intellectual inequality between respon­
dent and Geyer and Geyer's comparative inexperience 
with legal matters, we are struck by the utter disparity 
in their respective bargaining power. "When the 
accused assumes functions that are at the core of the 
lawyer's traditional role ... he will often undermine 
his own defense. Because he has a constitutional 
right to have his lawyer perform core functions, he 
must lmowingly and intelligently waive that right." 
(United States v. Kimmel (9th Cir. 1982) 672 F.2d 
720, 721.) We find no evidence in this record that 
Geyer gave a knowing and intelligent waiver of his 
right to counsel at the time that respondent motivated 
him to embark on his perilous journey to promised 
salvation. Respondent thus subverted Geyer's right 
to the protections of the criminal justice system to 
respondent's own selfish ends. Accordingly, we find 
respondent committed additional misconduct involv­
ing moral turpitude. 

Based on the foregoing acts involving over­
reaching, the additional allegations in Count Two 
concerning respondent's false and misleading state­
ments to induce Geyer to sign a confession are not 
essential to our culpability determination. But these 
allegations are additive_, and therefore we address 
them here. Respondent contends that he truthfully 
represented to Geyer that his appeal would not be 
affected by his confession, which ultimately was not 
considered by the court in denying his appeal. Jn 
reality, respondent's explanation to Geyer was only a 
half-truth. The unvarnished truth was that if Geyer 
succeeded on- appeal, his declaration would have 
provided the crucial evidence to convict hi mat his re­
trial. Respondent also testified he made Geyer aware 
of the countervailing considerations in signing the 
declaration and that Geyer had given up on his appeal 

13. Respondent led Geyer to believe that respondent was being 
honest and had Geyer's best interests at heart, while his 
attorneys were inept and dishonest. He caused Geyer to second 
guess and ultimately disregard Quigley's advice. In Geyer's 
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because he thought he would not win. The hearing 
judge found respondent's testimony in this regard 
was not credible and we agree. Geyer testified "I 
wouldn't have [ signed the declaration] ifl thought it 
would hurt me." Even though Geyer was an admitted 
perjurer, the overwhelming evidence supports his 
testimony. Geyer's insistence on the hand written 
addendum to his declaration stating that he had "been 
assured by Joshua M. Dale, Esq., that this [declara­
tion] cannot and will not be used or affect my appeal 
of my conviction in the San Francisco Superior court 
matter" makes no sense ifhe were willing to forfeit 
the benefits of his appeal on re-trial. It also does not 
follow that Geyer, who was highly motivated to obtain 
early parole, would at the same time be willing to do 
somethingthatcould result in receiving a life sentence 
without the possibility of parole. 

[6] The fundamental illogic of this situation 
compels the conclusion that, at best, respondent was 
grossly negligent in not fully explaining the conse­
quences of Geyer's cooperation, or at worst, that 
respondent intentionally misrepresented the legal ef­
fect of his second confession. A finding of gross 
negligence in creating a false impression is sufficient 
for violation of section 6106. (In the Matter of 
Moriarty, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rph·. 9, 15; In 
the Matter of Wyrick (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 83, 90-91.) Acts of moral turpi­
tude include concealment as well as affirmative 
misrepresentations. ( Grove v. State Bar (1965) 63 
Cal .2d 312, 315; In the Mauer of Hamey (Review 
Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 266.) Further­
more, " '[n]o distinction can ... be drawn among 
concealment, half-truth, and false statement of fact. 
[Citation.]' [Citation.]" (In the Matter of Chesnut 
(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 166, 
174.) We thus conclude that in addition to gross 
neglect accompanied by overreaching, respondent is 
culpable of moral turpitude as charged for making 
misleading statements in order to induce Geyerto sign 
a confession. 

words: "One [attorney] got me believing one way and then 
another one got me believing the other way. It was kind of a 
push/pul! thing .... And Mr. Dale was the one! was having the 
most contact with at the time." 
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C. Count Three: Fiduciary Duty to a Non-client 
(Section 6068, subd.(a)) 

(7 c J Count Three of the NDC incorporates by 
reference the misconduct alleged in Counts One and 
Two and further alleges that respondent breached his 
common law fiduciary duty to Geyer, thereby willfully 
violating section 6068, subdivision(a), when he of­
fered to represent Geyer at his parole hearing and 
gave him advice about his criminal appeal and parole 
while at the same time representing the conflicting 
interests of the tenants who needed Geyer's confes­
sion to "save" their case. Respondent argues that this 
case in essence is about his right to interview wit­
nesses in his zealous representation of the victims of 
the fire and that he owed no fiduciary duty to Geyer, 
even if Geyer' s testimony resulted in further criminal 
prosecution, citing De Luca v. Whatley (1974) 42 
Cal.App.3d 574, 576. 

[7a] We believe the instant matter implicates 
vastly different issues than the mere interviewing of 
third party witnesses as discussed in De Luca. The 
record contains clear and convincing evidence that 
respondent led Geyer to believe they had a special 
relationship of trust and confidence and that his 
interests would be protected by respondent. 
Respondent's written communications with Geyer 
were on his letterhead and were signed "Joshua M. 
Dale, Esq." Each of respondent's letters was de­
noted as "confidential le gal correspondence." 
Respondent even admonished Geyer in a I etter dated 
January 28, 2000: "I was quite surprised to see that 
you may have threatened our confidentiality by sub­
mitting your letter to the general mail at San Quentin." 
Respondent even offered a written "contract" for 
services, promising to help Geyer as his attorney or as 
a witness at his parole hearing if Geyer signed the 
declaration (which he did). In a letter dated Novem­
ber 3, 1999, respondent confirmed: "I've made you a 
promise and I'll do what ever is legal and possible to 
help you like I promised .... " In response, Geyer 
wrote: "I promise to follow through with my word and 
come to [ testify at] your trial." 

Respondent also provided legal advice to Geyer 
in the November 3d letter: "I've prepared some 
research on your parole hearing already, and included 
it with this letter. As you can see, there are many 
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factors that you'll be reviewed on then." In yet 
another letter, respondent advised Geyer: "I've talked 
with several of the people at [San Quentin}. Here are 
many things that you may do there. , .. I'll be able to 
do more for you down the road if you begin to send me 
promising things about you." He also informed Geyer 
that he had consulted with the D.A. about the effect 
of his appeal on the length of his sentence, and 
advised Geyer that the D.A. "agrees that you should 
do your best to make your first parole hearing count." 
Geyer expressed his gratitude for their relationship in 
a letter to respondent: "It means a lot to me to have 
someone believe in me and to give me hope for the 
future." 

Respondent succeeded in supplanting Geyer's 
relationship with his attorney, Quigley, and instilled in 
Geyer the belief that he - not Quigley-had Geyer' s 
best interests at heart. Geyer testified that he believed 
that respondent "was a good person and I thought he 
was looking out for me." He also thought that respon­
dent was "just being nicer than Mr. Quigley was ... 
whichledmetobelievethathewasprobablythemore 
honest one atthetime."Hefurther testified, "And he, 
you know, make it sound peachy like everything was 
going to be great, and that ifl did this, it was good for 
me." 

[7b) "'Theessenceofa fiduciary or confidential 
relationship is that the parties do not deal on equal 
terms, because the person in whom trust and confi­
dence is reposed and who accepts that trust and 
confidence is in a superior position to exert unique 
influenceoverthedependentparty.' [citation.]"(Bee,y 
v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 802, 813.) Respondent 
assumed a fiduciary duty towards Geyer, a vulner­
able criminal defendant, when he used his superior 
knowledge and position as an attorney to create a 
confidential relationship of trust and dependancy. In 
so doing, he caused Geyer to reject his attorneys' 
advice and accede to respondent's wishes. 

[8a] Having assumed a fiduciary duty, respon­
dent owed Geyer "the same high duty of honesty and 
obedience to fiduciary duty as if he were acting as 
[his] attorney. [Citations.]" (In the MatteroJWyshak, 
supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 70, 80; see also 
Guzzetta v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 962, 979.) 
This duty of honesty and obedience required that 
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respondent ensure that all of the risks and conse­
quences of Geyer's actions were fully known and 
understood by him. (In the Matter of Johnson 
(Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 233, 
242.) This duty also required that respondent ensure 
that Geyer's interests were fully protected and that 
the disparity in bargaining power be equalized. This 
clearly is not what happened in this case. 

(Sb] "[W]hen an attorney assumes a fiduciary 
relationship and violates his duty in a manner that 
would justify disciplinary action if the relationship had 
been that of attorney and client, he may properly be 
disciplined for his misconduct. ( Clark v. State Bar 
[1952] 39 Cal.2d [161,] 166)." (In the Matter of 
McCarthy (Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 364, 384; accord, In the Matter of Hultman, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 297, 307.) The 
Supreme Court reaffirmed this position in Beery v. 
State Bar, supra, 43 Cal.3d at p. 813: "An attorney's 
violation of the duty arising in a fiduciary or confiden­
tial relationship warrants discipline even in the absence 
of an attorney-client relationship." (Accord, Galardi 
v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 683, 691; Worth v. 
State Bar (1976) 17 Cal.3d 337,341; Lewis v. State 
Bar(l 973) 9 Cal.3d 704, 713.)Accordingly, we find 
respondent culpable as charged in Count Three of 
breaching his fiduciary duty to Geyer, thereby violat­
ing section 6068, subdivision( a). 

III. DISCIPLINE DISCUSSION 

To properly assess the degree of recommended 
discipline, we first consider each case on its own facts 
as well as the evidence in mitigation and in aggrava­
tion. (See, e.g., Rodgers v. State Bar (1989) 48 
Cal.3d 300, 316.) 

A. Mitigation 

The hearingjudge found that respondent's five 
years of practice without a history of discipline was 
too short a time period to constitute mitigation. We 
agree. (In the Matter of Hertz (Review Dept. 1991) 
1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 456, 473; Rules Proc. of 
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State Bar, tit. IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. 
Misconduct, std. L2(e)(i).)14 

Respondent presented seven character wit­
nesses, who testified that he is honest and forthright. 
Among these witnesses were three attorneys who all 
worked with respondent and had opportunity to ob­
serve respondent's interactions with his clients. (Std. 
1.2(e)(vi).) 

Howard Spector, an attorney for nine years, 
specializes in personal injury and workers' compen­
sation cases. Spector met respondent while attending 
the same law school, and they shared space in the 
same office suite. Spector testified that respondent is 
professional with his clients and that he is an ex­
tremely moral and honest person and an attorney of 
the highest caliber. Spector was aware of the charges 
against respondent and was of the opinion that re­
spondent would never intentionally violate a rule of 
professional conduct. 

Alexander Perez, an attorney for ten years, is 
admitted to practice in California, New Jersey, and 
New York. Perez also met respondent while attend­
ing the same law school and they shared office space. 
Perez remained friends with respondent while prac­
ticing law in Los Angeles and after returning to the 
Bay Area, Perez had almost daily contact with 
respondent. He had great admiration for respondent 
and testified that he was one of the most honest 
people Perez knew. Perez also testified that respon­
dent was very hardworking and served the legal 
community bypublishing and maintaining the Califor­
nia Drunk Driving treatise. 

David Uthman, an attorney for eight years, 
initially met respondent at the police academy over 
twenty years ago. The two men have a professional 
as well as personal relationship. Respondent helped 
Uthman establish a law practice when he was first 
admitted, they previously shared office space, and 
they have had at least monthly contact with each 
other over the last five years. Uthman testified that 
the respondent is an honest, earnest, and zealous 

14. All further references to standards are to these Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. 
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attorney. He further stated that he has never ob­
served respondent to lie to other people, and that it 
was his opinion that it was not within respondent's 
character to lie in order to induce a client to sign a 
confession. 

David Hunt, a general contractor for twenty----six 
years, has known respondent since 1997, when he 
retained respondent as his attorney. They developed 
a friendship and Hunt provided construction services 
to respondent. Hunt testified that over the years he 
asked respondent for legal advice and respondent 
was always very forthright and that he trusted 
respondent's opinions. 

Mary Clark, a retired pension analyst, has known 
respondent for eight years and considers him to be a 
very good friend. Clark testified that respondent is 
very kind, a noble man, a gentleman and that he was 
incapable of making false and misleading statements. 

John Newmeyer, an epidemiologist for thirty­
three years, holds a Ph.D. from Harvard University. 
The two men had known each other for five years and 
were house mates atthetime of the hearing. Newmeyer 
testified that respondent is a man of great trustwor~ 
thiness and that he has never witnessed respondent 
misleading anyone that they have mutually known. 

Finally, Dale Fisher, who is a customer relations 
person for a hardware company, met respondent 
when he was working as a bartender while attending 
law school. Fisher and respondent have remained 
friends for twelve years, and they speak with each 
other two to three times a week. Fisher testified that 
respondent is a very honest and loving person and that 
he would go outofbis way to help anybody. He based 
his opinion on past help respondent has given him and 
other friends throughout the years. Fisher further 
testified that respondent had never lied to him and 
was always honest and up-front. 

These character witnesses not only knew re­
spondent well, they came from a wide arena within 
the community. Accordingly, we give greatweightto 
this testimony. 

Respondent cooperated with the State Bar by 
entering into a comprehensive stipulation of facts, 
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which is deserving of significant mitigation credit. 
(Std. l.2(e)(v).) 

B. Aggravation 

The hearing judge found respondent committed 
multiple acts of wrongdoing. (Std. 1.2(b)(ii).) We 
agree. Respondent communicated with Geyer over 
the express objections of his attorneys, not once or 
twice, but repeatedly. These were not innocuous 
conversations, but were purposely designed to groom 
Geyer as a witness for respondent's trial. 

[9) Although respondent's misconduct was sur­
rounded by concealment and overreaching (std. 
l .2(b )( iii)), the hearingjudge did not consider this in 
aggravation because such a finding would be duplica­
tive of the misconduct comprising acts of moral 
turpitude. We agree and do not consider this in 
aggravation. 

Weadoptthehearingjudge'sfindinginaggrava­
tion thatrespondent' s misconduct significantly harmed 
the administration of justice. (Std. 1.2(b)(iv).) In 
actuality, his conduct undermined Geyer's relation­
ship with his attorneys and compromised his Fifth and 
Sixth Amendment rights. 

[l OJ Lastly, the hearingj udge found as aggrava­
tion that respondent demonstrated indifference toward 
rectification of or atonement for the consequences of 
his misconduct. (Std. 1.2(b)(v).) We would charac­
terize respondent's attitude towards his conduct not 
as indifference, butrather a failure to recognize the 
serious consequences ofhis misbehavior, which we find 
to be an aggravating circumstance. (Std. l.2(b)(v).) 

C. Degree of Discipline 

The hearing judge's analysis of the appropriate 
discipline relied on cases involvingrule 2-100 viola­
tions, which range. from reproval to ninety days' 
actual suspension. (Abeles v State Bar (l 973) 9 
Cal.3d 603; Turner v. State Bar, supra, 36 Cal.2d 
155; Carpenter v. State Bar (1930) 210 Cal. 520; 
Mitton v. State Bar, supra, 71 Cal.2d 525.) How­
ever, as we discussed ante, the focus of this case is 
on respondent's misconduct involving moral turpi­
tude and breach of fiduciary duty. 
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Under standard 2.3 (moral turpitude) discipline 
can range from actual suspension to disbarment. 
Standard 2.3 provides: "Culpability of a member of an 
act of moral turpitude, fraud, or intentional dishonesty 
toward a ... client or another person or of conceal­
ment of a material fact to a ... client or another person 
shall result in actual suspension or disbarment ... 
depending upon the magnitude of the act of miscon­
duct and the degree to which itrelates to the member's 
acts within the practice oflaw." Respondent's mis­
conduct involved concealment, overreaching and it 
was closely aligned with his practice. Since the 
standards are to be construed in light of decisional law 
(In the Matter of Respondent F (Review Dept. 
1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 17, 30), we look to 
those cases involving overreaching resulting in prej u­
dice to a vulnerable client or third party. 

Although we uncovered no cases setting forth 
facts similar. to the instant case, we found two cases 
where attorney misconduct constituting moral turpi­
tude resulted in the compromise of the rights of 
criminal defendants. In both instances the attorney 
involved was a prosecutor. In Price v. State Bar 
(1982) 30 Cal.3d 537, a prosecutor with nearly 12 
years' experience, received two years' actual sus­
pension for committing acts of moral turpitude 
involving his alteration of exculpatory evidence in a 
trial of a defendant charged with two murders. The 
defendant ultimately was convicted ofsecond degree 
murder. Without either the knowledge or consent of 
the defendant's counsel, the prosecutor visited the 
defendant in jail to obtain a promise from him that he 
would not pursue an appeal in exchange for a lighter 
sentence. His sole motivation was to keep the issue 
of his alteration of the evidence from being revealed 
on appeal. When the prosecutor's superiorlearned of 
the incident, he reported the misconduct. 

In rejecting the Review Department's recom­
mendation of disbarment, the court considered in 

1 s. Justice Richardson, dissenting, urged disbarment. Joined by 
Justices Bird and Kaus, the dissent echoed the concerns present 
in the instant matter: "The setting in which petitioner's 
misbehavior occurred was the prosecution of a defendant 
charged with multiple murders, the most serious of criminal 
offenses." (Price v. State Har, supra, 3 Cal Jd at p. 551.) The 
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mitigation the prosecutor's cooperation with the State 
Bar investigators, his stipulation to the essential facts, 
his emotional stress due to a heavy workload, and that 
he was remorseful Additionally, the court considered 
the testimony of seven witnesses who attested to the 
petitioner's integrity. 15 

The other case, Noland v. State Bar (1965) 63 
Cal.2d 298, involved prosecutorial misconduct that 
prejudiced the rights of criminal defendants in a more 
general sense. In Noland, the State Bar recom­
mended public reproval of an assistant district attorney 
who conspired with a clerk of the court to remove 65 
names of pro-defense jurors from a list of prospec­
tive jurors. By tampering with the selection of potential 
jurors to gain advantage at subsequent trials, the 
prosecutor compromised the basic Sixth Amendment 
guarantee ofa trial by an impartial jury. (Id. at p. 302.) 
His misconduct thus constituted a calculated interfer­
ence with the administration of justice amounting to 
moral turpitude. (Ibid.) The Supreme Court in reject­
ing the recommended discipline, imposed 30 days' 
actual suspension because of the prosecutor's "dis­
maying lack of appreciation of the impartiality required 
in our traditional jury system." (Id. at p. 303.) Such 
discipline was deemed minimally necessary because 
"As an active prosecutor, he must be discouraged 
from attempting any further zealous abuses ofj udicial 
administration." (Ibid.) 

In the remaining cases, an attorney was found 
culpable of overreaching involving vulnerable indi­
viduals, butthe misconduct arose in a civil context. In 
In the Matter of Johnson, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 233, we imposed two years' actual suspen~ 
sion as the result of an attorney who exploited her 
superior lmowledge and position of trust to the detri ~ 
ment of a vulnerable relative by borrowing funds from 
the relative's personal injury settlement and not 
repaying them. In addition to moral turpitude, we 
found a violation of former rule 8-101 for the failure 

dissent concluded that it was "self evident" that the misconduct 
"strikes directly at the very integrity of the judicial process. 
Such conduct is so violative of every sense of duty and honor 
as to justify amply the State Bar's recommendation of disbar­
ment." (Ibid.) 



IN THE MATTER OF DALE 

(Review Dept. 2005) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 798 

to place the settlement funds in a trust account and 
pay the remainder promptly. In mitigation we found 
she had 11 years of practice without discipline and the 
lack of any other charges filed since the inception of 
the matter. In aggravation we found multiple acts of 
wrongdoing that significantly hatmed her client. Fur­
ther aggravation was the attorney's indifference 
towards rectification or atonement and her failure to 
make restitution. 

In Glickman v. State Bar (1973) 9 Cal.3d 179, 
an attorney was given five years' suspension, stayed, 
five years' probation, and one year actual suspension 
for taking advantage of a client for financial gain and 
committing an act involving moral turpitude. The 
attorney offered a client a one-half interest in three 
lots located in San Francisco. This was done to obtain 
funds that the petitioner needed to purchase an 
apartment building. The attorney told the client that 
the lots were unencumbered but he subsequently 
obtained a loan using the lots as security. Eventually 
the attorney defaulted on his loan payments and the 
lots were foreclosed causing injury to the client. The 
court concluded that the petitioner intentionally de­
ceived his client and abused the trust and confidence 
his client placed in him in order to gain a financial 
advantage. 

In the case of In the Matter of Gillis (Review 
Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 387, an 
attorney sold his residential property to his client in 
exchange for a potiion of settlement proceeds re­
spondent had obtained for that client as the result of 
a settlement of a claim for the wrongful death of the 
client's son. We imposed six months' actual suspen­
sion for culpability in a single client matter under rule 
3-300 arising out of his failure to disclose the many 
potential problems and risks inherent in the sale and 
the circumstances of the sale which were unfair and 
partially for his own benefit, thereby involving a 
breach of fiduciary duty and acts of moral turpitude. 
We found an additional act of moral turpitude be­
cause Gillis deliberately attempted to mislead the 
State Bar investigator, and a violation of section 6068, 
subdivision (e) (failing to maintain a client's confi­
dences). Gillis' acts were not intentional, ( except for 
misleading State Bar investigation) but we did find 
gross negligence. In aggravation we found multiple 
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acts of misconduct. We gave mitigative weight to the 
respondent's 26 years of practice without prior disci­
pline. 

We find the Price and the Noland cases to be 
the most comparable, indicating a broad range of 
possible discipline from two years' to 30 days' actual 
suspension. The civil cases such as Johnson and 
Gillis reflect an equally wide range of possible 
discipline. Respondent's misconduct was serious, but 
itwas directed towards a single individual and respon­
dent has no other record of discipline. (Boehme v. 
State Bar (1988) 47 Cal.3d 448, 451-452; Edwards 
v. StateBar(l990) 52 Cal.3d28, 36--37, 39.)We are 
also impressed with the strength ofhis good character 
testimony and his cooperation with the State Bar in 
entering into a broad Stipulation of Facts. Also, his 
misconduct occurred more than five years ago with­
out any evidence of additional misconduct, which 
may be considered as a factor in deciding the appro­
priate discipline. (Chefsfy v. State Bar (1984) 36 
Cal.3d 116, 132.) 

Nonetheless, respondent's failure to understand 
how severely he compromised Geyer's rights and 
how seriously he subverted the interests of justice 
cause us serious concern. The primary purposes of 
the disciplinary proceedings are the protection of the 
public, the courts, and the legal profession; the main­
tenance of high professional standards by attorneys; 
and the preservation of public confidence in the legal 
profession. (Std. 1.3; In re Morse, supra, 11 Cal.4th 
at p. 205.) In view of his lack ofrecognition of the 
serious nature of his ,vrongdoing, there is a risk that 
he may again commit similar misconduct. Were it not 
for his mitigation evidence, and in particular his 
character witnesses and his cooperation with the 
State Bar, we would recommend at least six months' 
actual suspension for the misconduct that occurred 
here. We adopt the discipline recommended by the 
hearing judge of four months' actual suspension as 
both necessary and appropriate in this case. 

IV. RECOMMENDATION 

[ 11] We recommend that respondent Joshua M. 
Dale be suspended from the practice of law in the 
State of California for one year, that execution of this 
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suspension be stayed, and that respondent be placed 
on probation for two years on the following condi­
tions: 

1. That respondent be actually suspended 
from the practice oflaw in the State of California 
during the first four months of probation. 

2. Respondent must comply with the provi­
sions of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct, and all the conditions of this 
probation. 

3. Respondentmustmaintain, with the State 
Bar's Membership Records Office and the State 
Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles, his 
current office address and telephone number or, 
if no office is maintained, an address to be used 
for State Bar purposes. (Bus. & Prof. Code, 
§ 6002.1,subd. (a).)Respondentmustalsornain­
tain, with the State Bar's Membership Records 
Office and the State Bar's Office of Probation 
in Los Angeles, his current home address and 
telephone number. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, § 
6002.1, subd. (a)(5).) Respondent's home ad­
dress and telephone number will not be made 
available to the general public. (Bus. & Prof. 
Code,§ 6002.1, subd. (d).) Respondent must 
notify the Membership Records Office and the 
Office of Probation of any change in any of this 
information no later than 10 days after the change. 

4. Respondentmustreport, in writing, to the 
State Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles 
no later than January 10, April 10, July 10 and 
October 10 of each year or part thereof in which 
respondent is on probation (reporting dates). 
However, if respondent's probation begins less 
than 30 days before a reporting date, respondent 
may submit the first report no later than the 
second reporting date after the beginning of his 
probation. In each report, respondent must state 
that it covers the preceding calendar quarter or 
applicableporti on thereofand certify by affidavit 
or under penalty of perjury under the laws of the 
State of California as follows: 

(a) inthefirstreport, whetherrespondent 
has complied with all the provisions of the 
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State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct, and all other conditions of probation 
since the beginning of probation; and 

(b) in each subsequent report, whether 
respondenthascomplied with all the provisions 
of the State Bar Act, the Rules orProfessional 
Conduct, and all other conditions of probation 
during that period. 

During the last20 days of this probation, respon­
dent must submit a final· report covering any 
period of probation remaining after and not cov­
ered by the last quarterly report required under 
this probation condition. In this final report, re­
spondent must certify to the matters set forth in 
subparagraph (b) of this probation condition by 
affidavit or under penalty of perjury under the 
laws of the State of California. 

5. Subject to the proper or good faith asser­
tion of any applicable privilege, respondent must 
fully, promptly, and truthfully answer any inquir­
ies of the State Bar's Office of Probation that are 
directed to respondent, whether orally or in writ­
ing, relating to whetherrcspondentis complying 
or has comp! ied with the conditions of this proba­
tion. 

6. Withinoneyearaftertheeffectivedateof 
the Supreme Court order in this matter, respon­
dent must attend and satisfactorily complete the 
State Bar's Ethics School and provide satisfac­
tory proof of such completion to the State Bar's 
Office of Probation in Los Angeles. This condi­
tion of probation is separate and apart from 
respondent's California Minimum Continuing 
Legal Education (MCLE)requirements; accord­
ingly, respondent is ordered not to claim any 

• MCLE credit for attending and completing this 
course. (Accord, Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
3201.) 

7. Respondent's probation will commence 
on the effective date of the Supreme Court order 
imposing discipline in this matter. And, at the end 
of the probationary term, if respondent has com­
plied with the conditions of probation, the Su­
preme Court order suspending respondent from 
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the practice oflaw for one year will be satisfied, 
and the suspension will be terminated. 

V. PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
EXAMINATION 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional Conference of Bar Examiners within one year 
after the effective date of the Supreme Court order 
in this matter and to provide satisfactory proof of such 
passage to the State Bar's Office of Probation in Los 
Angeles within the same period. 

VI. RULE 955 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to comply with rule 95 5 of the California Rules 
of Court and to perform the acts specified in subdivi­
sions (a) and (c )of that rule within 30 and40 calendar 
days, respectively, after the effective date of the 
Supreme Court order in this matter. 

VII. COSTS 

We further recommend that the costs incurred 
by the State Bar in this matter be awarded to the State 
Bar in accordance with Business and Professions 
Code section 6086. l O and that such costs be payable 
in accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section6140.7. 

We concur: 

STOVITZ, P. J. 
WATAI, J . 
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MARK HAMILTON SALYER 

Petitioner for Reinstatement 

No. 02-R-15797 

Filed May 6, 2005 

SUMMARY 

Following a felony conviction forpossession of methamphetamine and revocation of probation stemming 
from a f elonyembezzlement conviction, peti tionerresi gned with charges pending in 1987. In December 2002, 
petitioner sought reinstatement, and the hearing judge recommended that the petition for reinstatement be 
granted. 

The State Bar sought review contending that petitioner failed to establish his rehabilitation from 
methamphetamine addiction, failed to make timely restitution, and failed to comply with rule 955 of the 
California Rules of Court. The State Bar also maintained that the hearing judge erred in denying the State Bar's 
motion to have petitioner submit to an independent medical evaluation. 

The review department rejected the State Bar's contentions and recommended that the petition for 
reinstatement be granted. 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: Wonder J. Liang 

Mark H. Salyer For Petitioner: 

l I l 148 
2504 

HEADNOTES 

Evidence-Witness 
Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 

Since petitioner presented no medical or expert evidence supporting his course of recovery and the 
State Barnffered expert testimony in rebuttal, the credibility determinations of the hearingjudge are 
particularly important because reformation is a state of mind which may be difficult to establish 
affirmatively and maynot be disclosed by any certain or unmistakable outward sign. Where there 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared bytheOffice of the State Bar Court forthcconvcnicncc of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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is not sufficient basis to overturn the hearingjudge' s findings of fact with respect to the testimonial 
evidence offered by petitioner, the question upon independent review is to determine if the quality 
and quantity of petitioner's evidence are sufficient to meet his heavy burden of proof. 

[2 a, b] 148 Evidence-Witness 
2509 Reinstatement-Procedural Issues 
Where character witnesses, who had long-term as well as current knowledge of petitioner, 
uniformly attested to petitioner's good character and honesty and gave specific, convincing reasons 
for holding favorable opinions of petitioner's rehabilitation orpresentmoral fitness, their testimony 
is heavily weighed as evidence of petitioner's rehabilitation and good moral character. 

[31 148 Evidence-Witness 
2509 Reinstatement-Procedural Issues 
Significant weight is given to the testimony of judges and officers of the court because these 
witnesses have a strong interest in maintaining the honest administration of justice. 

(4 a, b) 2504 Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 

[5] 

2510 Reinstatement Granted 
Where petitioner's testimony thathe had not used methamphetamine for over seventeen years was 
uncontroverted and where there was no evidence that petitioner's weekly drink of alcohol led to 
alcohol abuse or ever caused him to relapse into methamphetamine use and where petitioner 
participated in a professional in-house substance abuse treatment program, participated in after­
care group therapy, maintained ongoing participation in A.A. and supplemented his showing of 
recovery with favorable testimony from several, critical character witnesses, petitioner established 
his rehabilitation from his methamphetamine addiction. 

2504 
2510 

Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
Reinstatement Granted 

Petitioner's acknowledgment of his drug abuse, his commitment to abstinence, and his active and 
regular participation in his personal recovery program positivelyreflecthissustained rehabilitation. 
Petitioner's nontraditional recovery program and the absence of independent medical or psycho­
logical evidence regarding petitioner's recovery from metharnphetamine addiction do not outweigh 
petitioner's clear and convincing proof of rehabilitation and sustained exemplary conduct over an 
extended period of time. 

[6] 2590 Reinstatement-Miscellaneous 
Restitution is neithermandatory, nor in and of itself determinative of rehabilitation. Applicants for 
reinstatement are to be judged not solely on the ability to make restitution, but by their attitude toward 
payment to the victim. 

(7) 2510 Reinstatement Granted 
Although petitioner's noncompliance with rule 955 was wilful, this fact alone would not require 
denial ofhis reinstatement. Given the other strong evidence ofrehabilitation, petitioner's noncom­
pliance with rule 95 5 is not determinative of petitioner's rehabilitation where the violation occurred 
over 18 years ago, petitioner had only two cases pending and made arrangements for other attorneys 
to take over the cases, and there is no evidence that the violation either injured clients or impaired 
any disciplinary proceedings against petitioner. 
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[8 a, b] 113 Procedure-Discovery 

[9] 

[10] 

2590 Reinstatement-Miscellaneous 
Generally the standard to apply to the review of a discovery order on appeal is abuse of discretion. 
There was no abuse of discretion in denying the State Bar's request that the hearing judge order 
petitionerto submit to an independent medical examination because petitioner continues to consume 
alcohol when there is no evidence that petitioner presently abuses alcohol or suffered from a 
previous alcohol addiction or that petitioner's present consumption of alcohol caused any relapse 
into drug use. 

2504 Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
Since petitioners have the heavy burden of proof in reinstatement proceedings they are looked upon 
to amass and present the evidence necessary to sustain their evidentiary burden. Thus petitioners 
failing to introduce expert evidence or an independent evaluation, when it appears to be important, 
bear the risk of failing to sustain their evidentiary burden. 

2510 Reinstatement Granted 
Although the record contains an infirmity due to petitioner's noncompliance with rule 955, 
reinstatement has been recommended in other cases where there have been similar, isolated 
weaknesses in the evidentiary showings. Petitioner offered impressive evidence ofhis rehabilitation 
and present moral character sufficient to warrant reinstatement. 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P.J. : 

The State Bar asks us to review the decision of 
a hearing judge recommending the reinstatement of 
petitionerMarkH. Salyer, whoresignedwithcharges 
pending in 1987. The State Bar contends that peti­
tioner has not established his rehabilitation from the 
misconduct related to his methamphetamine addic­
tion. The State Bar also asserts that petitioner has not 
made timely restitution and thatpetitioner' s failure to 
comply with rule 955 of the California Rules of Court 
should preclude his reinstatement. Finally, the State 
Bar maintains that the hearingj udge erred in denying 
the State Bar's motion to have petitioner submit to an 
independent medical examination. 

Our independent review of the record estab­
lishes that although petitioner's self-created recovery 
program is untraditional, it has nevertheless given 
petitioner the ability to abstain from methamphet­
amine use for over seventeen years. We further note 
petitioner's record of rehabilitation is not a perfect 
one; however, perfection is not what is required for 
reinstatement. (In the Matter of Brown (Review 
Dept. l 993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 309,315 .) With 
minor modifications, we adopt the hearing judge's 
factual findings and endorse her recommendation that 
petitioner be reinstated to practice law in California. 

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACK­
GROUND 

A. Petitioner's Background and History of Sub­
stance Abuse 

Petitioner was admitted to the practice oflaw in 
California on April 13, 1978, and had a general 
practice as a solo practitioner from 1978 through 
1985 in the small, close-knit legal community sur­
roundingMarysville, California. Petitioner also worked 
with the Yuba County Public Defender's Office on 
a part-time basis beginning in 1985. 

1. Petitioner's behavior was abrasive and he would become 
irritable for no apparent reason. During a criminal trial, peti­
tioner was unable to ask focused questions germane to the 
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Petitioner has a long history of substance abuse 
beginning as early as 1966 when he started smoking 
marijuana recreationally in high school. In 1967 he 
used physician-prescribed amphetamines for the 
purpose of weight loss and began using non-prescrip­
tion amphetamines in 1969 while attending jm1ior 
college. Petitioner's use ofnon-prescription amphet­
amine continued through college and law school. 

In 1980 petitioner began using methamphet­
amine as a means of coping with self-esteem issues, 
and as his practice grew, methamphetamine became 
his drug of choice when dealing with the stress of 
operating his practice and meeting responsibilities to 
his six children and spouse. As his use increased, 
petitioner came to believe that he lacked the ability to 
be a successful husband, father, and lawyer without 
the methamphetamine. 

Petitioner hid his drug use from his spouse and 
children, but by 1982 petitioner realized he was 
addicted to methamphetamine. Petitioner confessed 
his addiction to his wife and repeatedly attempted to 
stop his drug use but could not do so for longer than 
a few months before resuming use. By 1984 peti­
tioner was using an eighth of an ounce of 
methamphetamine daily in conj W1ction with alcohol 
which he used to "take the edge off' the drug. After 
several unsuccessful attempts to terminate use on his· 
own, petitioner admitted himself to an in-patient 
chemical abuse treatment center in June 1985. 

B. Petitioner's Misconduct 

We must examine petitioner's current evidence 
of rehabilitation in lightofthemisconductwhichled to 
his resignation. (Tardiff v. State Bar (1980) 27 
Cal. 3d 395,403.) Within a few years of his introduc­
tion to methamphetamine, petitioner's use had 
progressed to the point that it seriously affected his 
demeanor and ability to practice law. 1 By August 
1982 petitioner's need for the drug was so out of 
control that he began diverting funds from a client 
account to finance his methamphetamine addic-

proceedings and was observed making facial expressions un­
controllably, \eadingthetrialjudge to comment that he believed 
petitioner was taking drugs. 
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tion.2 By November 1983 petitioner depleted the 
acc.ount after misappropriating $52,430.46. In order 
to hide his wrongdoing, petitioner used his own funds 
topaythe client's expenses, but by March 1984, after 
depleting his personal funds, petitioner informed the 
client's conservator that there were no more funds in 
the account due to his mismanagement. 

In July 1985, petitioner sent a letter to the State 
Bar admitting to ethical violations regarding his rep­
resentation in the client matter. 

Petitioner was charged and pledguilty to a felony 
violation of Penal Code section 506 (embezzlement). 
In O(?tober 1986, the superior court suspended impo­
sition of a two-year prison term and placed petitioner 
on probation for five years with conditions including, 
inter alia, restitution in the amount of $26,236.89,3 

prohibition of possession or use of any controlled 
substances not prescribed by a physician, and sub­
mission to chemical testing for the detection of 
alcohol/drug use.4 

Three months into his probationary term, peti­
tioner suffered a relapse, and on January 15, 1987, 
submitted a urine sample which tested positive for the 
presence of methamphetamine. A week later law 
enforcement personnel arrested petitioner at his home, 
and, after conducting a search of the premises, seized 
1. 8 grams ofa white powder from petitioner's bedroom 
which was later determined to be methamphetamine. 

Petitioner tendered his resignation with charges 
pending which the Supreme Court accepted, effec-

2. [n March 1982 petitioner successfully negotiated a pol icy 
limit settlement for Bryan Poe who was severely brain­
damageddue to an automobile accident. A conservatorshipwas 
established for Bryan, with his mother, Jeanne Poe, appointed 
as conservator and petitioner named as attorney of record for 
the conservatorship. Jeanne Poe requested that petitioner 
administer the remaining settlement proceeds in order to pay 
Bryan's recurring monthly medical bills and the funds were 
placed in an unblocked trust account with petitioner solely 
authorized to make withdrawals. 

3. This figure ($22,341.47 + $3,895.42) represents the net 
amount in principal and interest petitioner owed the conserva­
torship ofBryan Poe after crediting petitioner $30,088.99 in 
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tive February 20, 1987. He had no prior record of 
discipline at that time. 

Petitioner was charged with and pled guilty to a 
felony violation of Health and Safety Code section 
11377 (possession of methamphetamine) and his 
probation was revoked in the embezzlement matter. 
In March 1987 petitioner was sentenced to two years 
in state prison on the original embezzlement charge as. 
well as two years in state prison on the possession 
conviction to run concurrently with the sentence 
imposed in the embezzlement matter. 

C. Petitioner's Rehabilitation 

As noted ante, in June 1985 petitioner voluntarily 
admitted himself into a drug rehabilitation program. 
Specifically, peti tionerparticipated in a month-long 
in-patient treatment plan at Starting Point rehabilita­
tion center in Orangevale, California. Following 
in-patient treatment, petitioner attended weekly meet­
ings for approximately six months as part of Starting 
Point's after-care program consisting of group coun­
seling based on the twelve-step principles of 
Alcoholics Anonymous (A.A.).5 

Petitioner last used methamphetamine in Janu­
ary 1987. Notwithstanding petitioner's participation 
in Starting Point in 1985, it was not until petitioner's 
incarceration in March 1987, that his rehabilitation 
program began in earnest. While in county jail await­
ing transport to state prison, petitioner began a physical 
fitness program involving, walk:ing,j ogging, and weight 
lifting. Petitioner continued this physical fitness pro-

conservatorship expenses which petitioner paid with his own 
funds. 

4. Although petitioner was required to submit to alcohol/drug 
testing, petitioner's probation condi lions did not proscribe his 
use of alcohol or require him to stay away from places or 
persons serving alcohol. 

5. Alcoholics Anonymous is a fellowship of men and women 
who assist one another to stay sober. Members arc encouraged 
to follow the ''Twelve Steps" to recovery which suggest ideas 
and actions intended to assist members in developing healthy 
emotions in order to remain sober. 
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gram during his imprisonment and thereafter upon his 
release.6 

After his release from prison in 198 8, petitioner 
once again participated in Starting Point's after-care 
program, attending weekly meetings for approxi­
mately six weeks. At this time, petitioner also began 
attending A.A. meetings. Petitioner consumes an 
alcoholic beverage approximately once a week and 
emphasizes that his attendance at A.A. meetings is 
not due to any problem with alcohol. Rather, peti­
tioner attends A.A. meetings because he is a 
recovering methamphetamine addict who finds a 
level of wisdom in A.A. meetings, especially with his 
home group in Marysville, that provides a greater 
benefit to him than Narcotics Anonymous (N.A.) 
meetings do.7 

Petitioner'srecoveryprograminvolvesnotonly 
his physical fitness regimen, which he continues to the 
present, but also includes components of the A.A. 
twelve steps which petitioner incorporates into his 
daily life. Petitionerno longerregularly attends A.A. 
meetings but will occasionally attend such meetings 
monthly or every two months as a "refresher course" 
so that he can continue to maintain a way of life in 
which methamphetamine is not desirable to him. 
Petitioner's A.A. at1endance might also increase 
after experiencing stressful triggers in life.8 

Petitioner has been employed as a law clerk, 
contract paralegal and administrative manager since 
his prison release, and his performance of these 
services has been excellent according to the attor­
neys and colleagues who worked with him on a 
regular basis. Petitioner tookreasonab le steps to fully 

6. Petitioner was placed on parole for three years after his 
release from prison in February 1988 and was randomly tested 
at least twice monthly for controlled substances during the first 
year of parole. All tests were negative, and petitioner was 
discharged from parole after the first year due to good behavior. 

7. Petitioner attended two Narcotics Anonymous meetings 
after release from prison but did not continue because the 
participants had not attained a length of sobriety which assured 
petitioner that continued attendance would benefit him. In 
contrast, attendees of A.A. meetings had lengths of sobriety 
spanning 20 to 35 years. 
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pay restitution he owed and made amends to his 
family,9 which continues to be supportive and a 
mainstay in his life. Presently, petitioner is active in 
community service, exercises regularly, and con­
ducts a daily self-evaluation in order to maintain a 
frame of mind less susceptible to relapse. 

D. Reinstatement Proceedings 

Petitioner filed his petition for reinstatement on 
December 4, 2002. A three day hearing commenced 
on December 9, 2003. Petitioner and nine witnesses, 
including a superior court judge and several attorneys, 
testified on petitioner's behalf. In addition, petitioner 
submitted 19 good character letters from attorneys, 
former employers, friends, and petitioner's spouse 
and children. In rebuttal, the State Bar presented an 
addiction expert who, while not permitted to examine­
petitioner, testified that petitioner is in relapse and not 
in recovery due to his use of alcohol. Petitioner 
presented no medical evidence, expert or otherwise, 
attesting to his prospect of recovery from metham­
phetamine addiction and his risk for relapse. Instead, 
petitioner relied solely on his selfassessment and the 
observations of his character witnesses. 

The hearingj udge filed her decision on February 
25, 2004, finding that petitioner's personal recovery 
program was successful in keeping him off of drugs 
for more than seventeen years and that his use of 
alcohol did not cause him to suffer any drug relapse. 
Concluding that petitioner had demonstrated by clear 
and convincing evidence that he was rehabilitated, 
that he possessed the present moral qualifications for 
readmission, and that he had the requisite learning and 
ability in the general law, the hearing judge recom-

8. Afterpetitioner'sdaughterdied in an automobile accident in 
1995 and while petitioner's cmploymcntrcquiredhimtoreside 
away from his family in Marysville, petitioner regularly 
attended A.A. meetings to relieve his sense ofisolation and to 
share with members ofthe group the feelings tie was experienc­
ing. 

9. As will be discussed in greater detail, post, petitioner's wife 
divorced him after learning ofhisdrug addiction but remarried 
him approximately six years later after petitioner's release 
from prison. 
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mended petitioner's reinstatement to the practice of 
law. The State Bar here seeks review of that decision 
and recommendation. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. Requirements for Reinstatement 

Although petitioner resigned with disciplinary 
charges pending, he must meet the same require­
ments for readmission as if he were disbarred. 
(Hippardv. StateBar(1989)49Cal.3d 1084, 1092.) 
In order to be reinstated, petitioners must pass a 
professional responsibility examination, establish 
present ability and learning in the law, and demon­
strate their rehabilitation and present moral 
qualifications. (In the Matter of Distefano (Review 
Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 668, 673.) To 
prove rehabilitation, "a petitioner needs to show a 
recognition of his or her wrongdoing .... "(id.at p. 
67 4), as well as proofof sustained exemplary conduct 
since his resignation. (In the Matter of Bodell 
(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 459, 
468.) 

B. Learning and Legal Ability 

It is undisputed that petitioner satisfied in No­
vember 2002 the requirement that he pass a 
professional responsibility exam. The parties stipu­
lated, and thehearingjudge found, that petitioner has 
demonstrated requisite learning and ability in the law. 
Based on our review of the record, we adopt the 
hearingjudge' s fmding. 

C. Petitioner's Burden of Proof Regarding 
Rehabilitation and Moral Qualifications 

Petitioner bears a heavy burden of proving his 
rehabilitation and fitness for practice. (Hippard v. 
State Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d at p. 1092 [a petitioner 
"must show by the most clear and convincing evi­
dence that efforts made towards rehabilitation have 
been successful."]; Feinstein v. State Bar(l952) 39 
Cal.2d 541, 547 [" ' "[O]verwhelming, proof of 
reform" ' " is required].) Moreover, petitioner's 
evidence of present character must be considered in 
the light of his prior misconduct, which in this case 
was very serious. (Tardiff v. State Bar, supra, 27 
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Cal.3d at p. 403; In the Matter of Rudman (Review 
Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 546, 553.) 
However, the law favors rehabilitation, and even 
egregious past misconduct does not preclude rein­
statement. (In the Matter of Brown, supra, 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 316.) 

( l IW e have independently reviewed the record, 
and reweighed the evidence in order to pass on its 
sufficiency. (In the Matter of Brown, supra, 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 315.) Nevertheless, we have 
given the hearingjudge's determinations of testimo­
nial credibility great weight because she saw the 
witnesses and observed their demeanor. (Ibid.) Since 
petitioner presented no medical or ex.pert evidence 
supporting his course of recovery and the State Bar 
offered expert testimony in rebuttal, the credibility 
determinations of the hearing judge are particularly 
important in this case because "[r]eformation is a 
state of mind which 'may be difficult to establish 
affirmatively' and 'may not be disclosed by any 
certain or wunistakable outward sign.' [Citation.]" 
(Ibid.) The hearingjudge clearly believed petitioner's 
testimony and found that the testimony of critical 
character witnesses corroborated his testimony. On 
this record, we are not presented with a sufficient 
basis to overturn the hearing judge's findings of fact 
with respect to the testimonial evidence offered by 
petitioner. That leaves us with the task of determining 
if the quality and quantity of petitioner's evidence are 
sufficient to meet his heavy burden of proof. (Ibid.) 

D. Petitioner's Evidence 

1. Good Character Witnesses 

[2aJ The hearingjudge found petitioner's favor­
able character witnesses "demonstrate Petitioner's 
rehabilitation and good moral character." We agree. 
Although " 'character testimony, however lauda­
tory,' does not alone establish the requisite good 
character" (Seide v. Committee of Bar Examiners 
(1989) 49 Cal.3d 933, 939), we have nevertheless 
observed that "in determining whether an erring 
attorney has proved rehabilitation and present moral 
qualifications, the California Supreme Court has heavily 
weighed 'the favorable testimony of acquaintances, 
neighbors, friends, associates and employers with 
reference to their observation of the daily conduct 
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and mode ofliving' of such an attorney. [Citations.]" 
(In the Matter of Brown, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. atpp. 317-318.) 

(2b J Nine character witnesses testified on 
petitioner's behalf. All were aware of the serious 
nature of petitioner's misconduct, his imprisonment 
and his underlying substance abuse. They uniformly 
attested to petitioner's good character and honesty. 
Most of these witnesses "gave specific, convincing 
reasons for holding favorable opinions of petitioner's 
rehabilitation or present moral fitness." (In the Mat­
ter of Bodell, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 
465.) Manyofthewitnesseshad long-term as well as 
current knowledge of petitioner. For example, 
Frederick Schroeder, who was the District Attorney 
for Yuba County who filed the charges resulting in 
petitioner's imprisonment and is currently the assis­
tant district attorney for Sutter County assigned to 
drug court cases, has known petitioner for approxi­
mately 25 years. He tried a number of cases against 
petitioner and found him to be an excellent attorney, 
albeit surly and abrasive. After petitioner's release 
from prison, Mr. Schroeder repeatedly interacted 
with petitioner at the local grocery and at social 
occasions and was struck by the stark change in 
petitioner who was no longer hostile but very pleasant 
instead. Mr. Schroeder testified that as a prosecutor 
for twenty-nine years, he has observed that approxi­
mately 95 percent of those committed to prison from 
his area are drug users addicted to methamphetamine 
and that the recidivism rate is very high. He has sent 
friends to jail and noticed that, for some, incarceration 
has not changed them at all. Mr. Schroeder does not 
believe that petitioner falls into that category of 
individuals and truly believes petitioner learned from 
his prison experience and has changed to become an 
individual of good moral character who no longer 
takes illegal drugs. 

Steven Roper, the Chief Probation Officer for 
Yuba County who approved the probation 
department's prison recommendation for petitioner's 
embezzlement conviction, has known petitioner for 
25 years, interacting with petitioner professionally 
when petitioner's clients were being investigated and 
socially at PT A meetings, school plays and little 
league events. Between 1988 and 1993 Mr. Roper 
would see petitioner a minimum of one night per 
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week. Like Mr. Schroeder, Mr. Roper has firsthand 
knowledge of the facts surrounding petitioner's 
misconduct and imprisonment. Although he firmly 
believes petitioner deserved to be imprisoned for his 
embezzlement and probation violation, he acknowl­
edges that petitioner has taken full responsibility for 
his misdeeds. Based on his observations of petitioner, 
Mr. Roper believes that, since his release from prison, 
petitioner is on the path to recovery and has not 
relapsed. 

Kathleen Burgess is ChieilleputyCounty Coun­
sel for Yuba County and petitioner's wife. Ms. 
Burgess married petitioner in 1976, but separated 
fromhimin 1986andeventuallydivorcedhimin 1987. 
She is intimately familiar with petitioner's misconduct 
and has experienced firsthand the suffering caused 
by petitioner's drug addiction. After petitioner con­
fessed to her that he was a drug addict, she was able 
to associate his behavioral traits such as his short­
temper with the children, unreliability, and volatile 
irritability with his use of controlled substances. 
Because of their shared custody of the children, Ms. 
Burgess has continually observed petitioner since his 
prison release and believes petitioner is a changed 
man. Unlike his behavior before imprisonment, she 
noticed that petitioner is now reliable, sensitive to 
others, engaging and funny, and able to discuss issues 
calmly. Since his release from prison, she has not 
noticed any behavior of petitioner that would indicate 
to her that he was using drugs. She remarried peti­
tioner in 1993 and testified that she would not have 
done so if she had any suspicion that petitioner was 
using drugs or in danger of relapsing. She believes 
petitioner to be a moral person and is convinced that 
his problem with drugs is a thing of the past. 

The Honorable James L. Curry, the Presiding 
Judge of the Yuba County Superior Court, has known 
petitioner for over 20 years. Judge Curry has been on 
the bench since January 1997 primarily handling 
criminal cases. Before becoming an attorney, he was 
a probation officer. Early in their legal careers, Judge 
Cuny would see petitioner at least once weekly due 
to their res pee ti ve criminal law matters.Judge Curry 
is familiar with petitioner's substance abuse and 
subsequent misconduct. After petitioner's release 
from prison, Judge Curry became reacquainted with 
petitioner through petitioner's volunteer work with 



824 

little league and juvenile hall. He has observed peti­
tioner candidly discuss with at~riskyouth his former 
drugproblem,histheftofclientfundsandsubsequent 
imprisonment and recognizes the difficulty involved in 
openly discussing such matters. Judge Curry believes 
that over the years he has developed the experience 
to observe signs indicative of drug abuse and based on 
his observations believes that petitioner is no longer 
engaged in such conduct. He would not support 
petitioner's reinstatement ifhe thought it was likely 
that petitioner would do anything to embarrass the 
local bar again. 

Petitioner's current and former employers, three 
of whom were attorneys, attested to petitioner's 
excellent workhabits. None of them observed behav­
ior in petitioner that they would associate with drug 
use or alcohol abuse. One employer found petitioner 
so trustworthy that he provided petitioner an office 
key within two months of hiring petitioner; and an­
other employer entrusted petitioner with fiduciary 
responsibilities. 10 Although evidence that petitioner 
occupied positions of trust is not a requirement of 
reinstatement, where evidence about the manner in 
which a petitioner has handled positions of trust is 
available, such evidence is of probative value. (In the 
Matter of Brown, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
atp. 319.) 

(3] Favorable testimony from members of the 
bar and members of the public held in high regard is 
entitled to considerable weight. (In the Matter of 
Miller (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 423, 431.) Accordingly, we give significant 
weight to the testimony of judges and officers of the 
court because "[t]hese witnesses have a strong 
interest in maintaining the honest administration of 
justice." (In the Matter of Brown, supra, 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 319 .) The State Bar did not 
present rebuttal evidence to the favorable good char­
acter references. But, as noted ante, even this quality 
and quantity of favorable character evidence is not 
itself determinative of petitioner's rehabilitation. (In 

IO. Craig Thurber, the fom,er Cali fomia operations manager for 
Menasha Corporation testified that, as an administrative 
manager between 1996 to 200 I, petitioner was responsible for 
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the Matter of Sa/ant (Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. 
StateBarCt. Rptr._ 1,5.) Weaccordinglylooktoother 
factors as indicia of petitioner's rehabilitation and 
present moral character. 

2. Community Service 

We agree with the hearingjudge's findings that 
petitioner has engaged in community service activi­
ties which aid his rehabilitative showing. Petitioner 
has devoted significant time volunteering his services 
to the youth of his community· and has worked 
extensively with the Marysville Little League from 
1988 through 1993. Additionally, since 2002, peti­
tioner has led and coordinated guest speakers for 
weekly discussions designed to steer at-risk juvenile 
offenders away from further criminal conduct. At 
these weekly sessions petitioner candidly discusses 
the fact that he is a felon who stole money from a 
client to support a drug habit which resulted in his 
imprisonment. 

3. Recovery from Substance Abuse 

[4a] The State Bar argues that petitioner failed 
to establish his rehabilitation from his methamphet­
amine addiction. We disagree.Petitioner's testimony 
that he has not used methamphetamine since January 
1987 was uncontroverted. Without hesitation, peti­
tioner acknowledged his methamphetamine abuse, 
which he has worked diligently to overcome. Al­
though petitioner suffered a relapse after initially 
completing a drug rehabilitation program in early 
1987, prior to imprisonment; he has since adhered to 
a personally developed recovery program which 
combines exercise with elements of A.A. 's "Twelve 
Steps" to recovery and A.A. attendance as needed. 
This program has successfully prevented any further 
drug relapse for over seventeen years. Although 
petitioner readily admits that he continues to drink 
alcohol once a week, there is no evidence that such 
use has ever caused petitioner to relapse into meth­
amphetamine use or that petitioner abuses alcohol. 11 

the company's accounts receivable and accounts payable and 
had sole responsibility to authorize payments for the 
company's California operation. 
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[4b J The State Bar relies on In the Matter of 
Kirwan (Review Dept. 1994) 2 CaLState Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 692 to support its argument that petitioner's 
failure to off er any medical or other expert opinion 
attesting to his recovery and prognosis necessarily 
renders petitioner's evidence ofrehabilitation insuffi­
cient. In Kirwan, the petitioner's showingofrecovery 
from a history of alcohol abuse persisting since 
adolescence rested entirely on his own efforts at 
abstinence for approximately seven years as supple­
mented by the favorable testimony of only a few 
favorable character witnesses. Further, the petitioner 
never participated in any professional substance 
abuse treatment program or any supporting recovery 
program since he felt he did not need any therapy or 
outside program to refrain from drinking. (Id. at pp. 
698-700.) We believe petitioner's facts are substan­
tially distinguishable from those in Kirwan. Unlike 
Kin-van, petitioner has participated in a professional 
in-house substance abuse treatment program, has 
participated in after-<:are group therapy before and 
after his incarceration, has maintained ongoing, al­
though sporadic, participation in A.A., and 
supplemented his showing ofrecoverywith favorable 
testimony from several, critical character witnesses. 
Importantly, unlike the petitioner in Kirwan, peti­
tioner did not downplay the importance that therapy 
plays in a successful recovery program or indicate 
thathedidnotneedanytherapyoranoutsideprogram 
to control his substance abuse. For these reasons as 
well as others discussed, post, the State Bar's reli­
ance on Kinvan is unpersuasive. 

Petitioner's dedication to his personalized recov­
ery program has given him the ability to competently 
and punctually complete his work, manage financial 
and other fiduciary duties as an administrative man­
ager, take care of his health and foster his personal 
relationships, all of which suffered due to his drug 

11. Witnesses who have observed petitioner drink stated that 
they have never seen petitioner inebriated. In fact one witness 
testified that at a Super Bowl party where each table had a keg 
of beer, petitioner was the only person the witness observed 
abstaining from alcohol and drinking onlybottled water. On the 
other hand, the State Bar presented no evidence that petitioner 
suffered any criminal arrest, conviction, job loss, marital 
dissolution, or other negative consequence associated with 
petitioner's alcohol consumption. 
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abuse. These fundamental changes in his values and 
life-style have allowed petitioner to deal with stresses 
in life, such as the loss of his daughter, and minimize 
the risk of relapse. 

The State Bar also argues on review that its 
expert witness rebutted petitioner's showing ofreha­
bilitation. We disagree. Prior to trial, the State Bar's 
expert in the area of addiction medicine and addiction 
recovery reviewed petitioner's deposition and a crimi­
nal probation report but never evaluated petitioner .12 

The State Bar's expert did not specifically testify as 
to whether petitioner's behavior with alcohol was 
addictive or whether petitioner is still suffering from 
drug addiction. Despite the absence of an evaluation, 
the State Bar's expert opined that petitioner is not in 
the process of recovery from the point of view of a 
12-step recovery program because petitioner does 
not attend N.A. meetings and continues to drink 
alcohol. He also believes petitioner is actually in 
relapse due to his use of alcohol, a mood-altering 
substance. 

Weare not inclined to adopt such a broad definition 
of relapse particularly since there is no evidence that 
petitioner has a history of alcohol abuse. Furthermore, 
such a broad definition would be oflittle assistance in 
the context of reinstatement proceedings because a 
recovering substance abuser petitioning for reinstate­
ment would always be in relapse, for example, ifhe 
continued to smoke cigarettes or drink coffee -
habits which involve ingesting the mood-altering 
substances of nicotine and caffeine. Since we find no 
evidence in the record that petitioner expressed disdain 
of, or unwillingness to pursue a more traditional program 
of recovery, 13 we do not conclude that his decision to 
forego N.A. meetings detracts from his overall showing 
of rehabilitation and find credible his rationale for 
attending A.A. meetings instead. 

12. W c shall discuss,post, the State Bar's motion for an indepen­
dent medical evaluation of petitioner. 

13. On the other hand, it appears that petitioner's development 
of his own recovery program stems from the fact that he was 
incarcerated atthe time he initiated it and only had gym facilities 
and his prior knowledge of the 12 steps at his disposal. 
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Rather than lower the persuasiveness of 
petitioner's evidence, we find that the expert's testi­
mony aids petitioner's showingofrehabilitation. The 
State Bar's expert testified that there are several 
ways of recovering from a drug or alcohol problem, 
and, theoretically, an individual could personally de­
velop a completely eccentric fonnofrecoveryprogram 
which successfully allows the person to recover from 
substance abuse. In situations involving such self­
help recovery programs, the State Bar's expert 
believed that others should be able to test the program 
to ascertain whether it truly is working. The State 
Bar's expert further testified that recovery can be 
achieved by involvement in a program that requires 
honesty, self-disc lo sure, reality checking with peers 
and self-evaluation of character flaws. We find that 
petitioner's personal recovery programsatisfies these 
requirements since he has disclosed the details of his 
misconduct to multiple employers and continues to 
candidly disclose, on a weekly basis, the detailsofhis 
drug abuse, theft, and incarceration to juvenile of­
fenders. Petitioner has a means of reality checking 
through his wife and family as well as the group 
members who attend A.A. in Marysville. Addition* 
ally, petitioner has completed a moral inventory and 
self-evaluation on a daily basis. These facts com­
bined with petitioner's nearly 17-year abstinence 
from methamphetamine use are sufficient to over­
comeany concern raised by the absence ofindependent 
medical orpsychological testimonyregardingpetitioner' s 
recovery frommethamphetamine addiction. 

The State Bar's concerns over the uniqueness of 
petitioner's recovery efforts would be more persua­
sive in a case where only a few years had passed 
after disbarment or resignation. In this case, how* 
ever, the State Bar's persistent refusal to acknowledge 
the adequacy of petitioner's efforts atrehabilitation is 
not only unmeritorious but fails to recognize the 
diversity of human experience tested by the critical 
witnesses in this case. 

(5) Indeed, the State Bar's expert stated that a 
methamphetamine addict is less likely to relapse after 
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16 years of abstinence than after five years of 
abstinence and acknowledged that petitioner's ex­
tended period of abstinence from methamphetamine 
use, the absence of subsequent misconduct, and 
continued gainful employment all evidence rehabilita­
tion. We agree. The passage of an appreciable period 
of time is an appropriate consideration in determining 
whether a petitioner for reinstatement has made 
sufficient progress towards rehabilitation. (In the 
Matter of Brown, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
atp. 316.) Moreover, we are particularly mindful of 
the fact that petitioner's sustained period of exem­
plary conduct and abstinence from drugs exceeds by 
eightfold the benchmark period of two years' absti­
nence used by behavioral professionals as a persuasive 
indicator ofrecovery. (In re Leardo (1991) 53 Cal .3d 
1, 7-8.) 14 Furthermore, petitioner's acknowledgment 
ofhis drug abuse, his commitment to abstinence, and 
his active and regular participation in his personal 
recovery program that incorporates tenets of A.A. 's 
"Twelve Steps" to recovery coupled with occasional 
A.A. attendance positively reflect his sustained reha­
bilitation. (See In re Billings (1990) 50 Cal.3d 358, 
368.) We conclude that petitioner's nontraditional 
recovery program and the absence of independent 
medical or psychological evidence regarding 
petitioner's recovery from methamphctamine addic­
tion donot outweigh petitioner's clear and convincing 
proof of rehabilitation and sustained exemplary con­
duct over an extended period of time. 

4. Restitution 

The State Bar argues that petitioner had the 
financial means to pay the Client Security Fund (CSF) 
muchearlierthanfourmonths before filing his petition 
for reinstatement and that this evidences petitioner's 
lack ofrehabilitation. We disagree. The parties stipu­
lated, and the hearing judge found, that in February 
1989 the Client Security Fund was directed to reim­
burse $22,341.47 to the conservator for Bryan T. 
Poe.InApril 1989thatamountwasreducedto$9,833.42 
in recognition of petitioner's restitution of$12,508.05 to 
the conservator. Petitioner paid all sums owed to the 

14. This is not to say that a future petitioner recovering from 
substance abuse need only surpass this benchmark, with 
evidence of nothing more, in order to establish rehabilitation. 
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CSFinAugust2002,almostfourmonths before filing his 
petition for reinstatement. We adopt the hearingjudge' s 
findings and note that at trial the State Bar did not 
develop any evidence regarding petitioner's ability to 
payrestitution after his prisonrel~ase but instead merely 
argues on appeal that petitioner's gainful employment 
and his joint tax returns clearly show he had the ability 
to pay CSF as early as 1999. 

(6) "[R]estitution is neither mandatory, nor in and 
ofitself detenninativeofrehabilitation. [Citation.] Appli­
cants for reinstatement are to be judged not solely on the 
ability to make restitution, but by their attitude toward 
payment to the victim. [Citations.]" (In the Matter of 
Distefano, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct Rptr. at p. 674.) 
Although we cannot determine from this record whether 
petitionertruly had the financial means topayCSF much 
earlier, the record is far more clear and convincing with 
respect to petitioner's attitude toward the importance of 
restitution. Even before CSF was ordered to pay the 
conservator, petitioner had already reduced the amount 
owed by$12,508.05. This, coupled with petitioner's full 
reimbursement to CSF for the claim it paid to his client, 
adequately demonstrates a proper attitude and sincerity 
toward restitution. (In reAndreani (1939) 14 Cal.2d 736, 
750.) 

5. Noncompliance with Rule 955 

Effective December 19, 1986, the Supreme Court 
ordered petitioner to comply with rule 955 of the 
California Rules of Court.15 At the time, petitioner had 
only two clients and arranged for other attorneys to 
handle the clients' matters; however, petitioner never 
filed a 955 affidavit. Petitioner's non-compliance is 
problematic since the failure to comply with rule 955 
may be a ground for denial of reinstatement. (In the 
Matter of Wright (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 219,227.)Rule955(d)provides"Adisbarred 
or resigned member's willful failure to comply with the 
provisions of this rule constitutes a ground for denying 
his or her application f orreinstatementorreadrnission." 

1 S. Unless otherwise noted, all further references to "rule 95 5" 
are to rule 955 of the California Rules of Court. 

827 

The hearingjudge excused petitioner's noncom­
pliance with rule 955 without explanation. Other than 
petitioner's belief that he might have been incarcer­
ated at the time he was required to comply with rule 
955, his testimony offers little insight as to why he 
continued to fail to file a rule 955 affidavit. 

[71 Although the record indicates that petitioner's 
noncompliance with rule 955 was wilful, this fact 
alone would not require denial of his reinstatement. 
As the Supreme Court has observed, to so conclude 
"would effectively foreclose petitioner from ever 
being readmitted regardless of the showing of reha­
bilitation otherwise made. The violation occurred 
more than 10 years ago, and does not appear to have 
caused any injury to clients or to have significantly 
impaired the State Bar's disciplinary proceedings 
against petitioner." (Hippard v. State Bar, supra, 
49 Cal.3d at pp. 1096-1097 [ denying reinstatement 
on other grounds].) Similarly under petitioner's facts, 
the rule 955 violation occurred over 18 years ago, 
petitioner had only two cases pending at the time of 
his resignation, he made arrangements for other 
attorneys to take over the clients' matters, and there 
is no evidence that the violation either injured clients 
or impaired any disciplinary proceedings against pe­
titioner. Given the other strong evidence of 
rehabilitation, we find that noncompliance with rule 
955 under these facts is not determinative of 
petitioner's rehabilitation. 

E. The Hearing Judge Did Not Err in Denying the 
State Bar's Request for an Independent Medical 

Examination 

[8a] The State Bar requested the hearing judge 
to order petitioner to submit to an independent medi­
cal examination by a physician certified in addiction 
medicine to evaluate whether petitioner has any 
current unresolved addictions or whether there was 
any likelihood of relapse. The State Bar cited as good 
cause for its requestthe fact that petitioner continues to 
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consume alcohol.16 Finding that the State Bar's evi­
dence was insufficient to require such an examination, 
the hearing judge denied the State Bar's request.. 

[8b) Generally, the standard to apply to the 
review of a discovery order on appeal is abuse of 
discretion. (In the Matter of Aulakh (Review Dept. 
1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 690, 695.) As 
mentioned, ante, our review of the record reveals no 
evidence that petitioner presently abuses alcohol, or 
suffered from a previous alcohol addiction. Further, 
there is no evidence that petitioner used any illicit drug 
since January 1987 or that his present consumption of 
alcohol caused any relapse into drug use. Accord­
ingly, we conclude that the hearing judge did not 
abuse her discretion in denying the State Bar's request. 

[9) Moreover, although the State Bar may seek 
an independent medical examination in reinstatement 
proceedings, it is important to recall, as we noted 
ante, that petitioner has the burden of proving by clear 
and convincing evidence that he meets all the require­
ments for readmission to the practice of law. This 
contrasts with a disciplinary proceeding in which the 
State Bar bears the burden of proof. Since petitioners 
have the heavy burden of proof in reinstatement 
proceedings, they are looked upon to amass and 
present the evidence necessary to sustain their evi­
dentiary burden. Thus, petitioners failing to introduce 
expert evidence or an independent evaluation, when 
it appears to be important, bear the risk of failing to 
sustain their evidentiary burden. 

Ill CONCLUSION 

(10) Having viewed the evidence in its totality, we 
conclude that petitioner's showing is sufficientto war­
rant reinstatement by the Supreme Court. Petitioner 
offered impressive evidence of his rehabilitation and 
present moral character. The evidence of his present 
ability to practice law is equally impressive. Moreover, 

16. Rule l84(b) of the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar of 
California provides in part: "'In any proceeding in which the 
mental or physical condition ofa member is at issue, and to the 
extent that discovery is permitted by rule or orderof thc Court: 
[1] (\) The State Bar may move for an order requiring the 
member who is the subject of the proceeding to undergo a 
mental and/or physical examination pursuant to Business and 
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"[ a ]bundant critical witnesses established petitioner's 
success in overcoming the weaknesses that led to his 
earlier ... behavior and showed his success in establish­
ing himself ... " as a competent paralegal, caring 
husband and father and as an important contributor to his 
community. (In the Matter of Bodell, supra, 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 468.) Although the record 
contains an infinnity due to petitioner' snoncompliance 
with rule 955, we have recommended reinstatement in 
other cases where there have been similar, isolated 
wealmesses in the evidentiary showings. (Cf. In the 
Matter of Salant, supra, 4 Cal State Bar Ct. Rptr.1 
[failure to comply with rule 955 until seven years after 
disbannent not a bar to reinstatement]; In the Matter of 
Miller, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr.423 [petitioner's 
failure to be forthcoming with his clients about the 
circumstances ofhisresignation, suggesting to them that 
he was retiring and concealing his discipline was not a 
bar to reinstatement]; In the Matter of Rudman, supra, 
2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 546 (DUI conviction after 
resignation not a bar to reinstatement].) 

The hearingj udge whopresidedoverthe trial in this 
proceeding concluded that petitioner had made the very 
high showing whichreinstatementdemands. We agree. 

IV. RECOMMENDATION 

For the foregoing reasons, we therefore recom­
mend that Mark Hamilton Salyer's petition for 
reinstatement be granted and that he be reinstated as 
an active member of the State Bar of California upon 
his paying the required fees (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 
6063) and upon his taking the oath of an attorney at 
law. (Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 6067). 

We Concur: 

EPSTEIN, J. 
WATAI, J. 

Professions Code section 6053. The motion and supporting 
evidence must demonstrate that there is good cause to require 
the examination .... (ii] . ... ['Ill ( d) The Court may hold a hearing 
to determine whether the need for the examination outweighs 
the member's rightto privacy. If so, appropriate limitations or 
conditions should be included in the order so as to minimize the 
intrusiveness of the examination . . .. " 



IN THE MATTER OF SHALANT 829 
(Review Dept. 2005) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 829 

STATE BAR COURT 

REVIEW DEPARTMENT 
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JOSEPH LEIB SHALANT 

A Member of the State Bar 

No. 01-0--04627 

Filed May 18, 2005; reconsideration denied June 27, 2005. 

SuMMAR.v 

Respondent was found culpable ofcharging and collecting an illegal fee during his representation ofa client 
in a medical malpractice case and of committing an act involving moral turpitude by demanding in an abusive 
manner a modification of the original fee agreement with the client. The hearing judge recommended a five-­
year stayed suspension, a four-year probation, and a two-year actual suspension. (Hon. Alban I. Niles, 
Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent requested review. The review department agreed with the hearing judge that respondent 
committed an act involving moral turpitude and entered into an agreement for, charged, and collected an illegal 
fee. Upon considering all of the relevant factors, particularly the fact that this was respondent's fifth disciplinary 
proceeding, the review department recommended that respondent be disbarred. 

COUNSEL FOR p ARTIES 

For State Bar: Alan B. Gordon 

For Respondent: Joseph Leib Shalant, in pro. per. 

{la-c] 

HEADNOTES 

290,00 Rule 4-200 [former 2-107] 
Where respondent entered into a contingent fee agreement in a medical malpractice case for the 
maximum fee allowed under Business and Professions Code section 6146, subsequently modified 
that fee agreement to require an additional non-refundable minimum $25,000 fee, which would 
constitute credit againstthe contingent fee, and collected the $25,000 portion of the fee, respondent 
entered into an agreement for, charged and collected an illegal fee. 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience ofthereader. Only the actual text ofthe Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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[2a-d] 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
Where respondent demanded a modification of an oral contingent fee agreement in a manner that 
was abusive ofhis client due to the timing of and circumstances surrounding the demand, the demand 
of a modification constituted a coercive act involving moral turpitude. Moreover, moral turpitude 
was involved even if respondent did not intend the demand to be abusive, since respondent was at 
least grossly negligent in timing the demand and respondent's fiduciary duties to a client were 
involved. 

(3] 525 Aggravation-Multiple Acts-Declined to Find 
Where misconduct involved only two counts, and both counts arose from a single transaction of 
modifying a contingent fee agreement with a client, review department did not find aggravation on 
account of multiple acts of misconduct. 

(4a-e] 806,10 Standards-Disbarment After Two Priors 
Where respondent had four prior disciplinary proceedings, his involvement with the disciplinary 
system had spanned every decade over nearly 3 0 years, and all of his prior and current misconduct 
reflected an inability to fully appreciate the fiduciary nature ofhis relationship with clients, there was 
a grave risk that additional harm would result to clients. In view of the substance and nature of 
respondent's disciplinary history as well as the facts and circumstances of the current misconduct, 
the review department recommended disbarment. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

221.12 Section 61 OCr-Gross Negligence 
221.19 Section 6106-0ther Factual Basis 
290.01 Rule 4-200 {former 2-107] 

Aggravation 
Found 

511 Prior Record 
582.10 Hann to Client 
591 Indifference 

Declined to Find 
545 Bad Faith, Dishonesty 
565 Uncharged Violations 

Mitigation 
Found but Discounted 

765 .31 Pro Bono Work 
Declined to Find 

740.51 Good Character 
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OPINION 

WATAI,J.: 

Respondent Joseph Leib Shalant has requested 
review of a hearing judge's decision recommending 
a five- year stayed suspension, a four-year proba­
tion, and a two-year actual suspension. The hearing 
judge found respondent culpable of charging and 
collecting an illegal fee (Rules Prof. Conduct, rule 4-
200(A))l and committing an act involving moral 
turpitude (Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 6106).2 

Upon our independent review (Cal. Rules of 
Court, rule 951.5; Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
305(a); In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207), we 
agree that respondent was culpable of committing an 
act involving moral turpitude as well as entering into 
an agreement for, charging, and collecting an illegal 
fee. Nevertheless, upon considering all of the rel­
evant factors, including the fact that this is respondent's 
fifth disciplinary proceeding, we do not adopt the 
hearing judge's disciplinary recommendation, but 
instead recommend that respondent be disbarred as 
necessary to adequately protect the public and the 
courts. 

FACTS 

Respondent was admitted to the practice of law 
in California in June 1967 and has been a member 
since that time. As we discuss post, respondent 
previously has been disciplined four times. 

Stuart Smith is a retired businessman who re­
sides in Indian Wells, California. Sometime in early 
1998, a neighbor who was a former Olympic cham­
pion, ref erred him to respondent regarding a possible 
medical malpractice action against Smith's doctors. 
Smith met with respondent, who told Smith that for a 
fee of $5,000, respondent would spend four or five 
months researching the case to see whether or not 

I. All further references to rules are to the Rules ofProfessional 
Conduct unless otherwise indicated. 

2. All further statutory references are to the Business and 
Professions Code unless otherwise indicated. 
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Smith had a viable case. At that time, Smith asked 
respondent whatwouldhappen ifrespondent decided 
to take the case, and respondent replied that if he 
decided the case was meritorious, he would take the 
case on a contingency fee basis. 

Smith returned to his home and discussed the 
matter with his wife, and within approximately a 
week sent respondent a check for $5,000. On Febru­
ary 18, 1998, respondent and Smith signed a written 
agreement providing for respondent to research the 
case in exchange for $5,000.3 

Without first discussing it with Smith, on June 23, 
1998, respondent sent a document entitled Notice of 
Claim for Medical Malpractice (notice) to Dr. Robert 
W. Murphy and Dr. Donald Drew, notifying them 
that respondent was representing Smith for damages 
sustained as a result of their negligent practice of 
medicine. The notice specified that Dr. Murphy 
negligently prescribed an intrathecal injection of 
Depo-Medrol for Smith's low back condition and 
that Dr. Drew negligently administered the intrathe­
cal injection. The notice furtherstated that Smith was 
seeking damages against both doctors in the amount 
often million dollars. 

Also without first discussing it with Smith, on 
August 31, 1998, respondent filed a complaint for 
medical malpractice and lack of informed consent in 
the Riverside County Superior Court on behalf of 
Smith against Drs. Murphy and Drew. 

Respondent testified at trial in this matter that he 
served the notice and filed the lawsuit only to protect 
Smith's case against the running of the statute of 
limitations and that he had not at thatpointdetennined 
whether Smith's case was meritorious or whether he 
would be willing to represent Smith in the case. Smith, 
on the other hand, testified thatrespondent called him 
in August 199 8 and informed him thatrespondent had 
concluded that the case was meritorious and had 

3. Wenotethatno claim has been madethatthisagreementwas 
improper. 
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served the notice and filed the lawsuit against the 
doctors. Smith testified that he was uneasy with the 
fact that respondent had sought ten million dollars in 
Smith's name without first discussing the matter with 
Smith, as Smith lived in a small community and felt 
that he would look, within his community, like he "was 
shooting for the lottery." Contrary to respondent's 
testimony, Smith further testified that atthattime, he 
asked respondent to explain the fee basis for 
respondent's services in representing him in the 
medical malpractice case, and respondent informed 
Smith that he would represent Smith in the case on a 
contingency basis. According to Smith, respondent 
orally explained the contingent fee at some length, 
including the limits placed upon this type of fee by 
section 6146.4 As Smith testified, this oral agreement 
was never reduced to writing. In his decision in this 
matter, the hearingj udge explicitly found that Smith's 
version of the facts surrounding the filing of the 
lawsuit was credible. We give great weight to this 
credibility determination. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, 
rule 305(a) [review department gives great weight to 
hearingjudge' s findings resolving issues of credibil­
ity]; Franklin v. State Bar (1986) 41 Cal.3d 700, 
708.) 

In December 1998, Smith received a letter from 
respondentquestioning whether Smith had the condi­
tion, arachnoiditis, which Smith claimed he had as a 
result of the allegedlynegligent acts ofhis doctors and 
whether the lawsuit should proceed. In response, 
Smith spent over a month researching medical trea­
tises and sent to respondent his research results as 
well as a history of Smith's illness in an attempt to 
verify Smith's claims regarding his illness and the 
cause of it. 

After several continuances, Smith's deposition 
was scheduled for Tuesday, June 22, 1999. On 
Friday, June 18, 1999, three business days before his 
deposition, Smith received a faxed letter from respon­
dent informing Smith that, based upon respondent's 
interpretation of Smith's medical records, "it appears 
that you may have an impossible time attributing any 

4. Section 6146 is part of the Medical Injury Compensation 
Reform Act, often known, and sometimes referred to herein, 
as MJCRA. 
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meaningful physical symptoms to the intrathecal 
injection ofDepo-Medrol." The letter requested that 
Smith carefully consider, in consultation with Smith's 
new doctor, Dr. Byrd, whether the case should be 
·dismissed. The letter also stated that respondent and 
Smith had previously entered into an agreement only 
for respondent to investigate the case in exchange for 
$5,000, and that respondent had performed well 
beyond the investigation, such that "additional ar­
rangements are necessary if I am to continue being 
your attorney." Respondent continued in his letter by 
stating that "I am obviously more flexible and respon­
sive to your wishes if my time is being paid for, as 
compared to proceeding on a contingency basis 
where the merits of your case are less than clear." 
Respondentrequested Smith to call him to discuss this 
issue of respondent's compensation and ended the 
letter with this post-script: "As you know, your 
deposition is scheduled for next Tuesday at 10:00 
a.m. It is important, therefore, that we resolve these 
aforementioned issues today if possible." 

On Monday, June 21, 1999, Smithfaxedaletterto 
respondent in response, noting that respondent ''would 
prefer to change the fee agreement that you and I 
agreed to at the time ofourinitial consultation, and, more 
importantly, last summer when you decided that the 
case had merit and you subsequently filed suit." Smith 
objected to respondent's letter on the ground that it was 
an "inappropriately late" date forrespondentto question 
the merits of the lawsuit and request a modification of 
the fee agreement, giving them "only one working day 
until { my] deposition" to resolve the issues raised in the 
letter. Smith stated that he did not intend to submit to 
changes in the fee agreement, questioned whether 
respondent was prepared to represent him in his depo­
sition because neither respondent nor anyone in 
respondent's office had spoken with Dr. Byrd, and 
requested 1hatrespondentpostpone the deposition sched­
uled for the following day. However, Smith spoke with 
someone in respondent's office that day who informed 
Smith that it would be impossible to postpone the 
deposition in that "there were a lot of costs, [a] lot of 
lawyers involved." 
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The deposition went forward as scheduled, and 
respondent represented Smith at the deposition. At 
lunch on the day of the deposition and during the next 
few days, respondent and Smith discussed the fee 
agreement. Respondent insisted that Smith pay re• 
spondent an additional $25,000 nonrefundable fee, 
which would be credited against the contingent fee 
should Smith prevail in the case, as well as $10,000 for 
costs. Respondent told Smith that if Smith did not pay 
the $25,000, respondent would ask to be relieved as 
counsel in the case. Although Smith's wife wanted to 
fire respondent, Smith was worried about his health, 
so he initially attempted to reach a compromise with 
respondent. On June 24, I 999, Smith sent respondent 
a letter asking respondent to accept a nonrefundable 
fee of$12,S00 and a greater percentage as a contin· 
gent fee. Smith also requested that respondent evenly 
share the cost of the defense's experts ifSmith should 
lose the case and be required to pay defense costs. 
Respondent turned down Smith's offer. 

Also on June 24, 1999, respondent sent a partly 
handwritten letter/retainer agreement to Smith. That 
letter/retainer agreement spelled out respondent's 
modifications to the original oral contingent fee agree­
ment, specifically that Smith would "pay $25,000 
towards what is otherwise a contingent fee - as set 
forth in the also inclosed retainer agreement, as 
modified. This will be non-refundable and will cover 
all services through trial (if the case goes that far) and 
also defending an appeal should we win and then they 
appeal."The last paragraph on page 3 of the June 24, 
1999, letter/retainer agreement stated that ''(t]his 
memo will become part of the retainer agreement. 
See said document included herein." The document 
which forms the fourth page of the letter/retainer 
agreement was entitled Medical Malpractice-Modi­
fied Contingency Retainer Agreement. The letter/ 
retainer agreement required Smith's signature to 
indicate his acceptance of the terms. Smith did not 
sign these documents. 

At the end of June 1999, Smith and his wife went 
to stay with Smith's brother in northern Virginia so 
that Smith could obtain medical treatment from Dr. 
Donion Long, a neurosurgeon at Johns Hopkins 
University Hospital in Maryland. It had taken Smith 
fourmonthstoobtaintheappointmentwithDr.Long, 
and Smith was to be in that area for six to eight weeks 
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. fortreatment. On July 1, 1999,Smithandhiswifesent 
respondent the $25,000 respondent was requesting, 
and respondent received their check and deposited 
the funds into his general account. 

On July 13, 1999, Smithfaxedalettertorespon• 
dent seeking clarification regarding the partly 
handwritten letter/retainer agreement. On August 
11, 1999, respondent sent Smith a letter in reply, 
stating that the $25,000 check would "constitute 
credit against the contingent legal fee, on the ass ump• 
tion that we prevail. If we do not prevail, it will have, 
nonetheless, paid for my services through trial and for 
an appeal if we win and the other side appeals." 
Respondent also enclosed a typed version of the 
partly handwritten retainer agreement ( slightly modi­
fied from the partly handwritten version sent June 24, 
1999) entitled Retainer Agreement and a Modified 
Proposal dated June 24, 1999, both of which the 
parties signed on September 1, 1999. The agreement, 
like the earlierpartly handwritten letter/retainer agree­
ment, provided for the maximum contingent fee 
allowed under section 6146 as well as a nonrefund­
able feeof$25,000. ThenewestRetainer Agreement 
contained the following fee provision: "Except as set 
forth in the Modified Proposal attached hereto as 
Exhibit' A,' the attorney shall receive in consideration 
for such professional services 40% of the first 
$50,000.00recovered, 33 1/3% of the next 50,000.00 
recovered, 25% of the next $500,000.00 recovered 
and 15% of any amount recovered in excess of 
$600,000.00. Fee is based on the total sum recovered. 
This fee has been negotiated and agreed to by the 
parties hereto. IF NO RECOVERY IS OBTAINED, 
NO FEE IS PAYABLE TO THE ATTORNEY, 
Should the law change with respect to attorney's 
fees, the fee shall be adjusted upward so as to be in 
compliance with the maximum fee permitted at that 
time. However, the fee shall not under any circum­
stances exceed 40% of the gross recovery obtained 
at trial or arbitration. Credit is to be allowed for all 
payments by Client made pursuant to the Modified 
Proposal attached hereto as Exhibit 'A.' ['fil Not 
included in the above fee schedule are appeals, for 
which this law firm shall not be responsible, except 
as set forth in the Modified Proposal attached 
hereto as Exhibit' A.' The attorney will, however, 
if requested by client assist in the retention of 
appellate counsel at client's expense. Any appel-
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late costs or fees will be separate and in addition to 
the fees described herein to and including the trial 
level." The Modified Proposal stated as to fees (as 
opposed to costs) that "You will pay $25,000 towards 
what is otherwise a contingent fee-as set forth in the 
also enclosed Retainer Agreement, as modified. This 
will be non-refundable and will cover all services 
through trial (if the case goes that far) and also 
defending an appeal should we win and then they 
appeal." 

• In December 2000, Smith called respondent to 
find out about the trial date. During that phone call, 
respondent put Smith on hold several times and 
shouted at him. Smith decided to terminate 
respondent's services and to that end had an attorney 
write a letter to respondent asking him to turn over 
Smith's file. Respondent replied to the letter by faxing 
a letter and a substitution of attorney form to Smith. 
In that letter, dated December 20, 2000, respondent 
stated that Smith would "owe me no more money for 
services rendered." A substitution of attorney form 
was filed January 2, 2001, substituting Smith in 
propria persona in the placeofrespondent as attorney 
of record. 

On March 6, 2001, Attorney Steven Weinberg 
sent respondent a letter on Smith's behalf in which 
Weinberg asserted that respondent's modified re­
tainer agreement with Smith signed September 1, 
1999, violated MICRA limits. Weinberg demanded 
that respondent return the $25,000 retainer he had 
collected from Smith. However, respondent refused 
to return the $25,000 and to date has not returned any 
portion of the fee Smith paid. Ina responsive letter to 
Weinberg dated March 15, 2001, respondent as­
serted that his fee did not run afoul of the applicable 
MICRAlimits. 

Weinberg referred Smith to Attorney Robert 
Warford. On March 8, 2001, Warford substituted into 
the case as Smith's counsel. During the time Warford 
was handling Smith's case, Warford had no contact 

5. The amount of the settlement is set forth in the State Bar's 
Voluntary Settlement Conference Statement, admitted as part 
of the State Bar's exhibit 36 at trial in this case. Because the 
hearingjudgeadmitted this exhibit without !imitation, we may 
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with respondent. He saw no reason to contact re­
spondent, in that he saw no claim of an attorney lien 
on behalf of respondent in the file. In early 2002, 
Warford decided to cease his relationship with his 
firm, and since he was the only lawyer in the finn 
handling medical malpractice cases, he substituted 
out of all of the cases he was handling. 

On March 6, 2002, Richard Booth substituted 
into the case as Smith's counsel. On June 2, 2002, 
Booth settled Smith's case for $500,000.5 On De­
cember 17, 2002, respondent wrote to Booth 
demanding additional attorney fees and costs in 
connection with Smith's case. 

On September 25, 2002, the State Bar filed a 
two-count notice of disciplinary charges (NDC) in 
the instant case. In this NDC, the State Bar charged 
respondent with (1) entering into an agreement for, 
charging, and collecting an illegal an4_ unconscionable 
fee; and (2) committing an act involving moral turpi­
tude, dishonesty, or corruption. 

On February 11, 2003, respondent wrote directly 
to Smith demanding that Smith and his lawyers agree 
to arbitrate respondent's claimed quantum meruitfee 
entitlement. The offer to arbitrate was not accepted. 

CULPABILITY 

Count One - Rule 4-200(A) - Illegal or Uncon­
scionable Fee 

Rule 4-200(A) provides that"[ a] member shall 
not enter into an agreement for, charge, or collect an 
illegal or unconscionable fee." 

The hearing judge concluded that respondent 
was culpable of charging and collecting a fee which 
was illegal because it was in excess of the MICRA 
limits set forth in section 6146. Respondent contends 
on review that section 6146 applies by its terms only 
to contingent fees and therefore does not applyto, and 

and do consider it for the truth of the matter stated. (See In the 
Matter of Valinoti (Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 498, 523, fn, 32 and cases discussed therein.) 
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does not prohibit, the flat fee portion of his contract 
with Smith. The State Bar asserts that the intent of 
section 6146 is to prohibit, in amedi cal malpractice 
case involving a contingent fee, the charging of 
any fee in excess of the limits set forth in that 
section and that respondent's flat fee in addition to 
a contingent fee was an illegal attempt to evade 
those limits. 

[la] We must first clarify respondent's fee 
agreement in order to determine whether that fee is 
prohibited by section 6146. As previously stated, in 
about August 1998, respondent initially entered into 
an oral agreement to represent Smith in the malprac­
tice case for a contingent fee within the MICRA 
limits.6 Subsequently, in June 1999, approximately ten 
months after Smith's complaint was filed, respondent 
informed Smith that he required a nonrefundable 
$25,000 fee in addition to the contingent fee. In 
August 1999, respondent clarified in writing that 
Smith would receive a credit for the $25,000 nonre­
fundable fee against the contingent fee if Smith 
prevailed in his case. The Retainer Agreement itself 
provides for a contingent fee equal to the maximum 
allowed under MICRA "[ e ]xcept as set forth in the 
Modified Proposal attached hereto as Exhibit "A." 
The Modified Proposal attached to the retainer agree­
ment provides in part that Smith would "pay $25,000 
towards what is otherwise a contingent fee - as set 
forth in the also enclosed Retainer Agreement, as 
modified. This will be non-refundable and will cover 
all services through trial (if the case goes that far) and 
also defending an appeal should we win and then they 
appeal." The $25,000 was thus included within the 
contingent fee. We agree with the hearing judge's 
determination that there is clear and convincing 
evidence that respondent undertook representation 
of Smith in a medical malpractice case and entered 
into a contingent fee agreement subject to maximum 
MICRA limits. 

"Contingent fees are dependent upon the result 
achieved in the matter (i.e., the attorney's right to a 
specified fee is contingent on obtaining a successful 

6. We note that section 6147 requires, among otherthings, that 
a contingency fee contract be in writing. 
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result for the client) and the agreed-upon percentage 
or contingency factor. If the attorney is unsuccessful 
or there is no recovery, no attorney fee is payable. 
[Citation.]" (Vapnek et al., Cal. Practice Guide: 
Professional Responsibility (The Rutter Group 2004) 
,i 5:77, p. 5-10.) 

Section 6146, subdivision (a) provides as rel­
evant that "[a]n attorney shall not contract for or 
collect a contingency fee for representing any person 
seeking damages in connection with an action for 
injury or damage against a health care provider based 
upon such person's aUeged professional negligence in 
excess of the following limits: [',r) ( 1) F ortypercent of 
the first fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) recovered. 
[,] (2) Thirty-three and one-third percent of the next 
fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) recovered. [,U (3) 
Twenty-five percent of the next five hundred thou­
sand dollars ($500,000) recovered. [,r] ( 4) Fifteen 
percent of any amount on which the recovery ex­
ceeds six hundred thousand dollars ($600,000)." 
(Italics added.) 

As was the hearing judge, we are guided by 
Yates v. Law Offices of Samuel Shore (1991) 229 
Cal.App.3d 583 (Yates). There, in a medical mal­
practice wrongful death case, Shore entered into a 
contingent retainer fee with his clients, the plaintiffs. 
Among other things, the fee agreement provided that 
the contingent fee did not include any services in 
connection with any appeal in the case. Upon the 
plaintiffs' success in the case, Shore deducted from 
the judgment funds paid to an outside attorney en­
gaged by Shore to handle the appeal at an hourlyrate. 
(Id. at pp. 585-587.) The appellate court noted that 
the statutory language ofMICRA limited the contin­
gent fee chargeable in an action and that Code of Civil 
Procedure section 1049 deemed an action to be 
pending from its commencement until the final deter­
mination on appeal. The court therefore determined 
"that Shore was limited to the section 6146 contingent 
fee for the entire case [including appeals]. He could 
not enhance that fee by truncating his contingent 
representation at the appellate threshold and charging 
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additional, ostensibly noncontingent amounts for the 
appeal."(Jd. atp. 591 .)7 "lnsum,section6146didnot 
permit Shore to charge additional fees for the appeal, 
either for himself or for his chosen associated coun -
sel." (Id. at p. S92.)8 

[lb] Similarly, we conclude in the present case 
that, in view of the determination that respondent 
entered into a contingent fee agreement which was 
subject to MICRA limits, respondent's modification 
of that fee agreement providing for an amount above 
those limits clearly violated section 6146. That sec• 
tion specifies the maximum fees to which an attorney 
is entitled under a medical malpractice contingent fee 
agreement depending on the amount recovered, and 
we hold that an attorney cannot evade the limitations 
of that section by contracting for a non-refundable 
minimum fee or a flat fee in addition to the 
statutory maximum contingent fee. Such a con-

7. We note that the Retainer Agreement signed on September 
I, 1999, expressly excluded appeals from the services covered 
by the fee schedule, which is directly contrary to the holding 
in Yates interpreting section 6146. (Id. at pp. 591-592.) The 
Retainer Agreement also required attorney fees to be calculated 
on the "total sum recovered," contrary to the plain language of 
section 6 I 46, subdivision ( c )(I) which requires that fees be 
calculated based on "the net swn recovered after deducting any 
disbursements or costs incurred in connection with prosecu­
tion or settlement of the claim." However, the parties have 
raised no issues regarding these provisions, and we need not and 
do not discuss the provisions further. 

8. Because Yates held that an attorney cannot charge another fee 
in addition to the section 6146 contingent fee in a medical 
malpractice case, we reject respondent's assertion that, be­
cause the law in this area is unsettled, it would violate due 
process to findhimculpableof charging an illegal fee in this case. 
We also reject respondent's invitation for us to be guided by 
the comment accompanying Florida's ru!e of professional 
conduct limiting contingent fees in personal injury and other 
tort cases, apparently including medical malpractice cases. 
First, we note that the ru!e to which respondent refers in his 
briefs docs not provide for a strict !imit on contingent fees, as 
does section 6146, but rather provides for a rebuttable pre­
sumption that a contingentfee exceeding the standards set forth 
in the rule is excessive. Second, we find the comment to which 
respondent refers to be ambiguous, and in any event, absent a 
similar comment accompanying section 6146 or other legisla­
tive history indicating that section 6146 is to be interpreted in 
the same manner as Florida's rule, we detennine that Florida ·s 
rule is irrelevant lo the interpretation of section 6146. 
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tract provides for a total fee in excess of the 
statutory maximu~.9 

[l c) While respondent claims that it would have 
been impossible for Smith to have recovered less 
than $60,000, such that respondent's total fee would 
have been in compliance with section 6146, we 
conclude that the fee was· illegal at the time he 
entered into it simply because section 6146 does not 
allow a contingent fee agreement in a medical mal­
practice case to provide for a non-refundable flat fee 
in addition to the statutory maximum contingent 
fee. 10 Even if an attorney's total fee at the conclusion 
of a case may not constitute an illegal amount, that 
fact would not prevent the contract from being illegal 
at the time it is entered into. We conclude, as did the 
hearing judge, that under the facts of this case 
respondent violated rule 4-200( A) by entering into an 
agreement for, charging, and collecting an illegal fee. 

9. In an order dated August 16, 2004, we granted respondent's 
motion to augment the record with the legislative history of 
section 6146, reserving consideration of the issue ofthe weight 
that maybe accorded the additional evidence. Because respon­
dent had not attached the legislative history to his motion to 
augment, in an order dated January 4, 2005, we ordered 
respondent to lodge the legislative history with this court. 

Upon this court's examination of the documents respondent 
lodged with this court, the documents appear to be in complete 
disarray. The original document contains slightly over 200 
pages, while at !east one oftheeopies appears to contain over 
300 pages. Additionally, a comparison ofthe original Wlth one 
of the copies yielded the discovery that the Bates stamp 
numbers on the pages do not match; for example, page 175 of 
the original is not the same as page 175 of the copy which we 
examined. Further, the Bates stamp page numbers in the copy 
are themselves out of order, requiring a search through the 
document for consecutive pages as the document is read. 
Because respondent failed to lodge an original and two exact, 
comprehensible copies with this court pursuant to this court's 
order of January 4, 2005, we give no weight to the legislative 
history documents which respondent lodged with the court. 

Moreover, in view ofour independent detenninations regard­
ing respondent's motions to augment the record in the review 
department, respondent's assertion that the hearing judge 
abused his discretion in refusing to reopen the record in the 
hearing department is moot (See ln the Matter of Gadda 
(Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 416, 436.) 

10. We are not presented in this case with, and therefore do not 
address, the issue of whether an attorney could legally charge 
a fee in addition to a contingent fee less than the statutory 
maximum. where the total feedidnot exceed the M[CRA limits. 
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Count Two - Section 6106 - Moral Turpitude 

Section 6106 provides inrelevant part that" [ t]he 
commission of any act involving moral turpitude, 
dishonesty or corruption, whether the act is commit­
ted in the course of his relations as an attorney or 
otherwise, and whether the act is a felony or misde­
meanor or not, constitutes a cause for disbarment or 
suspension." 

In count two of the complaint, respondent was 
charged with committing an act involving moral 
turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption by insisting on 
modifying the oral contingent fee agreement to in­
clude a $25,000 nonrefundable fee ten months after 
the case had been filed and only three business days 
before Smith's deposition, and threatening to with­
draw if Smith did not pay this additional fee. 

In In the Matter of Johnson (Review Dept. 
1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 23 3, this court found 
an attorney culpable of violating section 6106 in part 
due to the attorney's acts of exploiting her "position 
of trust to the detriment of her vulnerable client." (Id. 
at p. 244.) There, the client, Johnson's sister-in-law, 
was severely injured when a hair spray product she 
was using ignited while she was cooking. (Id. at p. 
238.) After settling the personal injury suit on her 
client's behalf, Johnson had the funds electronically 
transferred to her personal account, then borrowed 
almost the entire settlement proceeds from her client. 
The terms of the loan agreement were unfair to the 
client, and the testimony of the client's daughter 
indicated that the client was in need of the settlement 
funds. (Id. at pp. 238-240.) The review department 
there agreed with the hearing department's conclu­
sion that Johnson "obtained the loan in a manner 'so 
egregious and so abusive of her obviously vulnerable 
client as to constitute moral turpitude.' '' (Id. at p. 
242.) 

[2a) Similarly, we conclude in the present case 
that respondent obtained the modification of the 
original oral contingent fee agreement in a manner 
that was abusive of his client. Respondent waited 
until the Friday before Smith's deposition, to be held 
the following Tuesday, to fax Smith a letter informing 
Smith that they needed to work out a new fee 
agreement before the deposition. Moreover, respon-
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dent stated in the letter that "I am obviously more 
flexible and responsive to your wishes if my time is 
being paid for, as compared to proceeding on a 
contingency basis where the merits of your case are 
less than clear,'' implying that Smith would not re­
ceive respondent's best efforts on Smith's case if 
Smith did not agree to modify the oral contingent fee 
agreement. Additionally, because Smith spoke with 
someone in respondent's office that day who told 
Smith that it would be impossible to postpone the 
deposition, Smith was under pressure to make a 
decision quickly. 

[2b] Although respondent represented Smith at 
his deposition without having first obtained additional 
funds, on the day of the deposition and for several 
days thereafterrespondentinsisted that Smith pay an 
additional $25,000nonrefundable fee, to be credited 
against the contingent fee should Smith prevail in the 
case, and conditioned respondent's continued repre­
sentation of Smith on payment of this amount. 

(2c] Importantly, all of these discussions took 
place approximately one week before Smith was to 
leave California to stay in Virginia with his brother for 
a six-to eight-week period to obtain treatment at 
Johns Hopkins University Hospital. Because it had 
taken Smith four months to obtain the appointment 
with the neurosurgeon at this hospital, it appeared that 
rescheduling the treatment would be extremely diffi­
cult. As Smith testified during respondent's 
cross-examination of him, if he did not accede to 
respondent's demands, "my case would be in abey­
ance for two months while I worried back there 
about, one, my progressive spinal disease, and two, 
trying to find another attorney." 

[2d) In view of all of these circumstances 
surrounding respondent's demand for the additional 
$25,000 fee from Smith, we conclude that the demand 
was abusive of Smith and constituted a coercive act 
involvingmoralturpitude. Although we agree with the 
hearing judge's assessment that respondent inten­
tionally timed the demand for an additional fee in 
order to force his client's compliance, we note that, 
even assuming that respondent did not intend to place 
his client in adifficultposition as a resultofthe timing 
of respondent's demand, it is well established that 
when an attorney's fiduciary duties are involved, a 
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finding of gross negligence will support a moral 
turpitude charge. (In the Matter of Blum (Review 
Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 403, 410.) 
Here, respondent was at least grossly negligent in 
waiting to demand additional fees until just before 
Smith's deposition and soon before Smith was to be 
out of the state for medical treatment. We therefore 
conclude that these facts present a clear violation of 
section 6106. 

LEVEL OF DISCIPLINE 

Aggravation 

The hearingj udge found four factors in aggrava­
tion: a prior disciplinary record; multiple acts of 
wrongdoing; significant harm to respondent's client; 
and indifference toward rectification ofor atonement 
for the consequences of his misconduct. In its respon­
sive brief on review, the State Bar asserts that this 
court should additionally find that respondent's mis­
conduct was surrounded by bad faith, dishonesty, 
concealment, overreaching, and uncharged acts of 
misconduct. 

Respondent has been the subject of four prior 
disciplinaryproceedings during his legal career (Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, tit. IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions 
for Prof. Misconduct, std. l .2(b)(i)), 11 a factor which 
weighs heavily in aggravation. 

In January 1979, respondent was privately re­
proved for failing to perform all services for which he 
was retained and for failing to use reasonable dili­
gence and his bestj udgmentin an effort to accomplish, 
with reasonable speed, the purpose for which he was 
employed. The hearing panel in that matter found 
that, in the course ofrepresenting a couple and their 
minor children in a personal in jury matter, respondent 
obtained a settlement on their behalf. However, after 
the couple refused to sign the releases sent by the 
defense, respondent failed to take further action in the 
case, including failing to appear orto notify the clients 
to appear at an order to show cause re dismissal. As 

11. All further references to standards arc to these Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct unless oth­
erwise indicated. 
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a result, the action was dismissed for failure to 
prosecute; however, the hearing panel determined 
that there was no financial loss in that the clients 
received a good settlement. 

In February 1983, the Supreme Court publicly 
reproved respondent for failing to communicate with 
a clientandindirectlycommunicatingwithan oppos­
ing party represented by counsel. There, respondent 
failed to inform a personal injury client that the client's 
former attorney had sued both respondent and the 
client for the former attorney's claimed fee. The 
client did not learn of the lawsuit until she was 
personally served a year after respondent learned of 
the suit. Subsequently, the client retained other coun­
sel to represent her in the fee dispute with former 
counsel. Knowing that the client was now repre­
sented by other counsel, respondent suggested to the 
client's father, while meeting with him concerning 
other matters, that the father have the client meet 
with him to resolve issues in the case of the fee 
dispute with the former attorney. 

In August 1994, in a six-dient matter, the Su­
preme Court ordered a two-year stayed suspension, 
and a two-year probationary period with no actual 
suspension based on a stipulation. In one count, 
respondent advanced funds to a client directly from 
respondent's trust account. The stipulation specified 
that respondent had recently earned these funds as 
fees in other cases but had not yet withdrawn them 
from the trust account and that the advance of these 
funds from the trust account constituted commingling 
of funds. In a second com1t, while respondent repre­
sented a client in a bad faith lawsuit against Farmer's 
Insurance Group, respondent conversed about the 
case with an individual he knew to be a claims 
manager with the insurance company, thereby com­
municating with a represented party. In a third count, 
respondent represented a client in an application for 
workers' compensation benefits but failed to reply to 
a request from the State Compensation Insurance 
Fund that respondent designate an Agreed Medical 
Examiner, thereby failing to perform legal services 
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competently. In the fourth, fifth, and sixth counts, 
respondent settled clients' personal injury cases after 
the client was deceased. In the fourth count, respon­
dent witnessed the client's signature on the release 
without informing the defense of the death of the 
plaintiff, thereby failing to employ only means consis­
tent with truth. In the fifth count, respondent disbursed 
settlement funds to the daughter of his deceased 
client without verifying she was entitled to received 
the funds, thereby failing to perform legal services 
competently, and in the sixth count, respondent dis­
bursed settlement funds without verifying the 
appropriate identity of the recipient of the funds, 
thereby failing to perform legal services competently. 

In May 2000, respondent was pri vatelyreproved 
based on a stipulation. There, respondent settled the 
personal injury claims of three minors and dismissed 
their complaints without obtaining required court 
approval of the settlement and payment of all liens, 
thereby violating section 6 l 03. 

(3) We disagree with the hearingjudge's deter­
mination that respondent engaged in multiple acts of 
wrongdoing. (Std. l .2(b )(ii).) Respondent has been 
found culpable of entering into an agreement for, 
charging and collecting an illegal fee and committing 
acts involving moral turpitude. This misconduct in­
volved only two counts, and both counts arose from 
the one transaction ofrespondent's modification of 
the contingent fee agreement with Smith. Under 
these circumstances, we do not find aggravation on 
account of multiple acts of misconduct. (See In the 
Matter of Blum (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr.170 [misappropriation,failuretopayout 
client's funds upon request, and entering into an 
improper business transaction with a client in a one­
client matter coupled with failure to timely report 
court-ordered sanctions to the State Bar in another 
matter; court did not see case as "strongly presenting 
aggravation on account of multiple acts of miscon­
duct"].) 

We agree with the hearing judge's finding that 
respondent's client was harmed in this case (std. 
1.2(b)(iv)), in that Smith forfeited $25,000 in fees 
which were in excess of the MICRA limits. (Cf. In 
the Matter of Spaith (Review Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 511, 518 [harm to client resulted 
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both from loss of use of $3,000 for over a year and 
from the emotional distress caused by not having the 
money during the time when client's husband had 
died and her two children were seriously injured].) 

We agree with the hearing judge's finding that 
respondent showed indifference toward rectification 
of or atonement for the consequences of his miscon­
duct ( std. l .2(b )( v) ), as respondent showed a lack of 
remorse and indifference toward atonement for the 
consequences of his acts involving moral turpitude. 
Respondent implied in cross-examining Smith attrial 
that Smith could have simply fired respondent if Smith 
did not want to modify the contingent fee contract. 
Further, respondent testified that, at the time respon­
dent charged the $25,000, respondent knew that 
Smith was a successful businessman and felt that 
Smith could "well afford" the $25,000 up-front fee. 
We determine that this implication and testimony 
shows respondent's indifference toward the dilemma 
in which he placed Smith and toward the difficulties 
Smith faced at the time respondent- demanded the 
modification. 

We reject the State Bar's assertion that 
respondent's misconduct was surrounded by bad 
faith, dishonesty, concealment, overreaching ( other 
than the overreaching we relied upon in finding a 
moral turpitude violation), or other uncharged mis­
conduct. (Std. l.2(b)(iii).) The State Bar contends 
that these factors were present in (1) respondent's 
failure to inform Smith that the modified fee agree­
ment was, or might be, illegal and (2) respondent's 
suggestion to Smith in his letter of August 11, 1999, 
that he had the right to keep sanctions imposed 
against the defense in Smith's malpractice case. 

As to the first contention, the State Bar relies 
upon In the Matter of Harney (Review Dept. 1995) 
3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 266,283. We view Harney 
as distinguishable, since Hamey was "self-described 
as the top medical malpractice attorney" in the United 
States, was a recognized expert in medical malprac­
tice cases, had "testified before the California 
Legislature in 197 5 during its committee hearings on 
[MICRA]" and had "filed a number of amicus curiae 
briefs unsuccessfully challenging the constitutionality 
of[MICRA]" (Id. atpp. 273-274.) We there specifi­
cally relied upon Hamey's recognized expertise when 
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we rejected his claim that he was not obligated to 
discuss "every law ... with his client and the judge." 
(Id. atp. 283.)Here, in contrast, although respondent 
has extensive experience in the practice of law and, 
as we have noted, some experience in medical 
malpractice litigation, we have no evidence before us 
that respondent was an expert in medical malpractice 
law, or had nearly as great knowledge ofMICRA, as 
did Harney. We therefore decline to find as additional 
aggravation respondent's failure to inform his client 
that the modified fee agreement was, or might be, 
illegal. 

As to the second contention, it appears that the 
State Bar is asserting that we should find culpability 
ofuncharged misconduct due to respondent's reten­
tion of the sanctions imposed against the defense in 
Smith's medical malpractice case. Evidence of un­
charged misconduct may be considered in aggravation 
where the evidence is elicited for a relevant purpose 
and where the determination of uncharged miscon­
duct is based on the attorney's own evidence. 
(Edwards v. State Bar (1990) 52 Cal.3d 28, 35-36.) 
Here, the evidence ofrespondent' s retention of fees 
apparently awarded to Smith in the medical malprac­
tice case is based on the State Bar's exhibit. If the 
State Bar wished to penalize respondent for improp­
erly retaining money awarded to Smith, the correct 
procedure would have been for the State Bar to 
charge respondent with an additional violation based 
on respondent's statements in this letter. However,in 
view of the State Bar's failure to charge respondent 
with an additional violation, or even to raise the issue 
during trial to afford respondent the opportunity to 
explain or justify his statements in the letter, we 
decline to use the evidence at this point in the 
proceedings as a basis for enhanced discipline. 

Mitigation 

The hearing judge found minimal evidence of 
mitigation resulting from respondent's characterwit­
nesses and respondent's community service. 

We agree with the State Bar's assertion in its 
brief on review that the testimony of respondent's 
two witnesses (his secretary, Leslie Flowers, and an 
associate attorney in his office, Ronald Cher) did not 
constitute evidence of respondent's good character. 
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Rather, these two witnesses merely rebutted Smith's 
testimony that respondent had yelled at or had been 
verbally abusive to Smith. Moreover, even if these 
two witnesses had testified as to respondent's good 
character, their testimony would not constitute an 
extraordinary demonstration ofrespondent's good 
character from a wide range of references in the legal 
and general communities. (Std. l.2(e)(vi); In the 
Matter of Sampson (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 119, 133.) 

We agree with the hearingjudge' s detennination 
that respondent presented some evidence, via his 
own testimony, as to his community service. Such 
evidence is entitled to some weight in mitigation, 
al though the weight of the evidence is limited because 
respondent's testimony was the only evidence on the 
subject, and therefore the extent of respondent's 
service is unclear. (See In the Matter of Bach 
• (Review Dept. 1991) l Cal. .State Bar Ct. Rptr. 631, 
647-648; In the Matter of Crane and DePew 
(Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 139, 
158 & fn. 22.) 

Discussion 

The primary purposes of the disciplinary pro­
ceedings are the protection of the public, the courts, 
and the legal profession; the maintenance of high 
professional standards by attorneys; and the preser­
vation of public confidence in the legal profession. 
(Std. 1.3; In re Morse, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 205.) 
No fixed formula applies in determining the appropri­
ate level of discipline. (In the Matter of Brimbeny 
(Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 390, 
403.) Instead, we determine the appropriate disci­
pline in light of al I relevant circumstances. ( Gary v. 
State Bar (1988) 44 Cal.3d 820, 828.) 

The Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Pro­
fessional Misconduct provide us with guidelines in 
determining the appropriate degree of discipline to be 
recommended. (In the Matter of Taylor (Review 
Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 563, 580.) 
When, as here, there are two or more acts of 
misconduct in one proceeding, the sanction shall be 
the most severe of the applicable sanctions. (Std. 
1.6(a).) We have foundrespondentculpableofviola­
tions of rule 4-200( A) ( illegal fee) and section 6106 
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(moral turpitude), and of the two acts of misconduct, 
standard 2.3, which applies to moral turpitude, is the 
more serious, with sanctions ranging from actual 
suspension to disbarment. However, standard 2.3, 
and the cases applying this standard, must be consid­
ered in conjunction with standard 1. 7(b ), which under 
the facts and circumstances of this case provides the 
focus of our discipline analysis. 

[4a] Standard 1.7(b) states that where an attor­
ney who is found culpable of disciplinable misconduct 
"has a record of two prior impositions of discipline . 
.. , the degree of discipline in the current proceeding 
shall be disbarment unless the most compelling miti­
gating circumstances clearly predominate." 
Respondent's fourpriordisciplinaryproceedings con­
stitute serious aggravation to the misconduct present 
in this case. We are mindful that "under guiding case 
law, we look to the standardsnotreflexively, but, with 
regard to standard 1.7, with an eye to the nature and 
extent of the prior record." (In the Matter of Ander­
son (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
208, 217 .) In that regard, we note that although 
respondent has been disciplined on four previous 
occasions, he received no actual suspension, but only 
a two-year stayed suspension, together with a two­
yearprobationaryperiod, in addition to various private 
and public reprovals. But, when we view the course 
of his previous misconduct in toto, we find that 
respondent's involvement with the disciplinary sys­
tem has spanned every decade over nearly thirty 
years, beginning in early 1976, and that his past 
disciplinary proceedings involved 9 separate matters 
where at least 13 clients were adversely affected, of 
whom at least 5 were minor children. Put another 
way, respondent has been involved with the State 
Bar's disciplinary process for 28 of his 38 years of 
practice. 

In our search to recommend the proper disci­
pline, we also consider prior decisions imposing 
discipline based on similar facts. (In re Morse, 
supra, 11 Cal.4th at pp. 206-207; In the Matter of 
Taylor, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr.at p.580.) 

[4b] Looking to the case law, we find that when 
considering the applicability of standard l .7(b), the 
Supreme Court has placed great weight on whether 
or not there is a "common thread" among the various 
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prior disciplinaryproceedings or a 'habitual course of 
conduct' whichjustifies disbarment. (Arm v. State 
Bar (1990) SO Cal.3d 763, 780 (Arm).) Here 
respondent's prior record of four disciplines estab­
lishes a disturbing repetitive theme. In particular, the 
misconduct for which he was disciplined in 1979, 
1983, 1994, and 2000 reflects a continuing inability to 
fully appreciate the fiduciarynature ofhis relationship 
with his clients in view ofhis continuing failure to fully 
perform his duties toward his clients. In the present 
case respondent has once again demonstrated his 
inability to recognize his duties, this time by placing his 
own interests above those of his client. Most of his 
prior misconduct was fee-related. 

[4c] In one instance, when the clients refused to 
sign the releases upon a settlement of the case, 
respondent failed to take any further action in the 
case and it was dismissed. In another instance, 
respondent failed to inform his client that he and his 
client had been sued by the client's former attorney 
for attorney fees. In other instances, respondent 
settled cases of deceased clients, in one matter 
witnessing the signature of a deceased client on a 
release without informing the opposition of the client's 
death. In still other matters, respondent distributed 
deceased clients' funds without verifying the proper 
recipients of the funds, which action implies that 
respondent received his attorney fees in the distribu­
tion. In the most recent prior discipline, respondent 
settled a case and distributed funds on behalf of three 
minors without obtaining court approval of the settle­
ment. In the instant case, respondent again viewed his 
interest in his fees as paramount, taking advantage of 
his client, a retired businessman, at a time when the 
client had neither the opportunity nor the stamina to 
resist respondent's· overreaching. Respondent has 
had every opportunity during the last 28 years to learn 
from his past mistakes, and yet he has failed to do so. 
Either he fails to understand his professional duties or 
his prior discipline fails to impress upon him the 
importance of compliance with these duties. 

The instant case thus is distinguishable from 
Arm, where the Supreme Court rejected a recom­
mendation of disbarment pursuant to standard 1. 7 (b) 
even though Arm had been involved in three prior 
disciplinary proceedings in his 22 years of practice. 
(Id. atpp. 769-770, 778, 780.) But in Arm the court 
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found no common thread and no evidence that Arm 
had engaged in' a repetition of offenses' for which he 
had previously been disciplined. (Id. at p. 780. ) 
Furthermore, although Arm was found culpable of 
misleading a judge by failing to disclose his upcoming 
60-day suspension, which misconductinvolved moral 
turpitude, and commingling client and attorney funds 
( id. at pp. 77 4-777), the court found in mitigation a 
lackofsignifi.cantharmresultingfromAnn'smiscon­
duct and the absence ofbad faith. (Id. atpp. 779-780.) 
The Supreme Court determined that an 18-month 
actual suspension was necessary to protect the courts, 
the public, and the legal profession. (Id. at pp. 768, 
781.) Here, in contrast, there is minimal mitigation, 
significant client hann, and, most importantly, a dis­
turbing continuation of the kind of misconduct for 
which respondent has been repeatedly disciplined. 

We also are guided by Morgan v. State Bar 
( 1990) 51 Cal. 3d 598, wherein attorney Morgan was 
found culpable of one count of practicing law while on 
suspension and one count of entering into an unfair 
business transaction with a client pursuant to former 
rule 5-101. Although the attorney in Morgan re­
ceived more serious prior discipline than respondent, 
the actual history of misconduct was similar to that of 
the instant case. Morgan was initially suspended for 
six months for misappropriation, and then for two 
more years, stayed, for engaging in the unauthorized 
practice oflaw while under suspension. He was given 
one more year of actual suspension when he settled 
two personal injury cases without the consent of his 
clients and misappropriated client trust funds. He 
again misappropriated funds in a personal injury 
matter, and in another matter he failed to communi­
cate with a client and to performservicescompetently. 
Morgan offered more mitigation evidence than in the 
instant case, including five good character witnesses. 
In addition the attorney presented evidence that he 
was a founder of the Challengers Boys' Club and 
served on its board of directors. Finally, he contrib­
uted pro bono legal services to the Boys' Club and to 
the Youth Intervention Program, and he periodically 
spoke to children who were placed in that program. 
There also was evidence that the last instance of 
unauthorized practice was an isolated incident during 
his suspension. 
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Nevertheless, the Supreme Court concluded 
that disbarment was appropriate under standard 1. 7(b) 
because the attorney had been found culpable in four 
prior disciplinary proceedings. In so concluding, the 
court found, "petitioner's behavior demonstrates a 
pattern of professional misconduct and an indiffer­
ence to this court's disciplinary orders .... "(Morgan 
v. State Bar, supra, 51 Cal.3d at p. 607.) 

[4d] Respondent's extended history of inatten­
tion to his fiduciary responsibilities to his clients, 
together with his failure to learn from his past mis­
deeds, creates a grave risk that additional harm will 
resultto his clients. Furthermore, respondent's mani­
fest indifference to the consequences of his actions 
and the absence of any significant mitigation evi­
dence compel us to conclude that the t\vo years' 
actual suspension and four years' probation recom­
mended by the hearingj udge is inadequate to protect 
the courts, the profession, and most importantly in this 
case, the public. 

[4e] We therefore recommend disbarment as 
necessary to best serve the goals of attorney disci­
pline in this case. We wish to emphasize that we did 
not arrive at our recommendation of disbarment 
based solely on the mere number ofrespondent' s past 
disciplinary proceedings, but only after a careful 
examination of the substance and nature of his 
disciplinary history and with due regard to the facts 
and circumstances of his present misconduct. 

RECOMMENDATION 

We recommend that respondent Joseph Leib 
Shalant be disbarred and his name stricken from the 
roll of attorneys. 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to comply with the provisions of California 
Rules of Court, rule 955 and to perform the acts 
specified in paragraphs (a) and ( c) of that rule within 
30 and 40 days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court's order in this matter. We 
further recommend that the State Bar be awarded 
costs in accordance with Business and Professions 
Code section 6086.10 and that such costs be payable 
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in accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section6140.7. 

ORDER OF INACTIVE ENROLLMENT 

Pursuant to the provisions of Business and Pro­
fessions Code section 6007, subdivision (c)(4) and 
Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, rule 220( c ), 
respondent is ordered enrolled inactive upon personal 
service of this opinion or three days after service by 
mail, whichever is earlier. 

We concur: 

STOVITZ, P. J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 
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SUMMARY 

Respondent represented two clients whose unsuccessful claims of slander resulted in multiple awards for 
costs and attorney fees against respondent and his clients. Contrary to his clients' wishes, respondent pursued 
an appeal. The hearing judge found that respondent made appearances without authority, committed acts of 
moral turpitude, failed to communicate with his clients and failed to return their file upon request. In mitigation, 
respondent had no prior record of discipline in 17 years of practice. In aggravation, respondent committed 
multiple acts of misconduct, made disparaging remarks about his clients in his pleadings, and caused his clients 
undue stress. The hearing judge recommended two years' probation with conditions, including actual 
suspension of75 days. (Hon. Robert M. Talcott, Hearing Judge.) 

Respondent sought review con tending that the State Bar failed to provide clear and convincing evidence 
of the asserted charges. 

The review department adopted the hearing judge's culpability findings and found additional aggravation 
due to respondent's indiff ercncc toward rectification. The review department al so adopted the hearingj udge' s 
disciplinary recommendation but added a recommendation that respondent be ordered to comply with 
California Rules of Court, rule 955. 

COUNSEL FOR p ARTIES 

For State Bar: Kevin B. Taylor 

For Respondent: James C. Regan, in pro. per. 

Editur's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opiniun may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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IIEADNOTES 

[1] 220.30 State Bar Act-Section 6104 
Filing a complaint with a superior court constitutes an appearance within the meaning ofBusiness 
and Professions Code section 6104. Similarly, respondent's filing of a notice of appeal initiated an 
appellate proceeding in the same way a complaint would initiate litigation. Furthermore, respondent's 
numerous extension requests to file an opening brief were associated with the perfection of the filing 
of an appeal, and each request constituted an appearance before the court. 

[2 a-cl 220.30 State Bar Act-Section 6104 
Where respondent's clients decisively tenninated his authority to pursue an appeal by expressly 
telling him in correspondence thatthey no longer wished the appeal pursued and where respondent 
thereafter filed requests for extensions and an appellate opening brief, the fact that respondent 
initially received authorization to initiate the appellate action did not insulate him from culpability for 
violating Business and Professions Code section 6104. 

[3] 220.30 State Bar Act-Section 6104 
277.20 Rule 3-700(A)(2) [former 2-lll(A)(2)] 
Respondent's duty under Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, rule 3-700(A)(2) to not withdraw 
from employment until reasonable steps are taken to avoid foreseeable client prejudice did not 
exonerate respondent from culpability under Business and Professions Code section 6104 for his 
continued appearances on behalf of his clients after the clients had discharged him. 

[4 a, b] 214.30 State Bar Act-Section 6068(m) 
Filing extensions and an opening appellate brief docs not constitute a response to several letters from 
respondent's clients in which they expressly asked to be informed of respondent's intentions 
regarding his continued pursuit of an appeal. Where the clients' requests were reasonable given the 
perception that respondent was acting against their wishes and where there is no evidence that 
respondent made any communication as an answer to his clients' requests, respondent violated 
Business and Professions Code section 6068, subdivision (m). 

rs a, b] 277.50 Rule 3-700(D)(l) rrormer 2-111(A)(2)] 
A client's file, absent uncommunicatcd attorney work product, is the property of the client and must 
be surrendered to the c Ii ent promptly upon request once the representation has been terminated. An 
express element ofa Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 3-700(D)(l) violation is the client's 
request for return of the property. Where a client requested a case file approximately eight months 
before respondent's services were terminated, and where there was no request for the client file 
made after the date of termination, respondent was still obligated to follow the directives ofrulc 3-
700(D)( 1) because it is unnecessary for a client who has already requested return of papers and 
property prior to an attorney's discharge to be required to repeat that request after discharge occurs. 

[6 a---c) 213.40 State Bar Act-Section 6068(d) 
221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
Where respondent filed a motion with the Court of Appeal misrepresenting that his clients wanted 
to pursue an appeal and where respondent failed to disclose to the Court of Appeal that he had been 
fired, respondent's actions violated Business and Professions Code section 6068, subdivision ( d) as 
well as section 6106. 



846 IN THE MATTER OF REGAN 

(Review Dept. 2005) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 844 

[7] 103 Procedure-Disqualification/Bias of Judge 

[81 

The burden of showing a claim of bias or prejudice rests on the complaining party. Respondent's 
assertion that the hearingjudge made numerous legal errors to support his allegation ofj udicial bias 
was without merit because even if a judge makes numerous mistakes as to questions of law, that 
does not form a ground for a charge of bias and prejudice. 

142 
159 

Evidence-Hearsay 
Evidence-Miscellaneous 

Where respondent did not object to the admission of evidence, it is well settled that any objection 
on thatpointhas been waived. Therefore, respondent's assertion that the hearingjudge erroneously 
admitted hearsay evidence was not well taken because respondent failed to object to the admission 
ofall but one of the objectionable items of evidence. 

[91 540 Aggravation-Bad faith, dishonesty, concealment (1.2(b)(iii)) 
Where respondent made unsupported claims that his clients were mentally ill and senile, respondent's 
disparaging remarks were made in bad faith and were appropriately considered an aggravating 
factor. 

[10] 175 Discipline-Rule 955 
1015.02 Actual Suspension-2 Months 
Where respondent made appearances without authority, committed acts of moral turpitude, failed 
to communicate with his clients and failed to return their file upon request, where there was 
aggravation inclucling multiple acts of misconduct, bad faith, significant client harm, and indifference 
towards atonement or rectification, and where there was mitigation for no prior record in over 17 
years of practice, the appropriate discipline recommendation was two years' stayed suspension and 
two years' probation on conditions, which included 7 5 days' actual suspension and compliance with 
rule 955. 

Culpability 
Found 

213.41 
214.3 l 
220.31 
221.10 
277.51 

Aggravation 
Found 

521 
541 
582.10 
591 

Mitigation 
Found 

710.10 

Section 6068( d) 
Section 6068(m) 
Section 6104 
Section 6106 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Rule 3-700(0)(1) [former 2-l ll(A)(2)] 

Multiple Acts 
Bad Faith, Dishonesty 
Harm to Client 
Indifference 

No Prior Record-Found 
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Standards 
802.61 Appropriate Sanction 
833.90 Moral Turpitude-Suspension 
863.90 Standard 2.6-Suspension 
905.10 Miscellaneous Violations-Disbarment 

Discipline 

Other 

1013.08 Stayed Suspension-2 Years 
1017.08 Probation-2 Years 

178.10 Costs-Imposed 

847 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P.J.: 

A State Bar Court hearingjudge recommended 
that Respondent, James Carlisle Regan, be sus­
pended from the practice ofl aw for two years, stayed 
on conditions including a seventy-five day actual 
suspension. The judge found respondent culpable of 
pursuing an appeal contrary to the wishes of his 
clients, misleading the appellate court about his cli­
ents' wishes, failing to communicate with his clients 
and failing to return his client's file upon request. 

On appeal, respondent contends that the Hear­
ing Judge erroneously found culpability because the 
State Bar did not provide clear and convincing evi­
dence to establish that he violated any of the asserted 
charges. Upon our de novo review of the record (In 
reMorse(1995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207) we adopt all of 
the Hearing Judge's findings with respect to culpabil­
ity. We also find additional aggravation above that of 
the Hearing Judge. For the reasons below, we adopt 
the findings of culpability and adopt the Hearing 
Judge's disciplinary recommendation, adding a rec­
ommendation that respondent be ordered to comply 
with California Rules of Court, rule 955. 

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL 
BACKGROUND 

Respondent has practiced law in California since 
1981, and he has no prior record of discipline. He has 
had varied civil practice experience. His past work 
included general corporate work, labor law, creditor's 
rights, bankruptcy, international law, litigation, real 
estate, and some "film finance work." Over his legal 
career, respondent had the opportunity to work with 
many different clients. 

Elodic McKee and Don Porco hired respondent 
to represent them in a claim against the City of 

1. There is no evidence before us to suggest that Don Brown 
operated the hotline for any purpose other than as an outlet for 
persona! political views. 

2. The record is unclear whether McKee and Porco signed an 
earlier fee agreement letter. 
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Burbank (Burbank) and several Doe defendants in 
August 1997. Initially, McKee was the one who 
sought out respondent because he was a semi­
prominent attorney in the Glendale and Burbank area. 
McKee was also aware of his work as the chairman 
of the Glendal~Burbank Republican committee. 
McKee believed she had a negligence and slander 
claim againstBurbank. After discussing the merits of 
her claim, McKee introduced respondent to Porco. 
Porco had been active in appearing before the Burbank 
City Council to protest different acts by city officials. 
McKee believed that respondent could help Porco 
with a similar slander claim that he wanted to bring 
against Burbank and several individuals. Respondent 
undertook the representation believing his connec­
tions with the Burbank city council members would 
help the case come to an early settlement. 

The main action arose from remarks made on a 
telephone hotline allegedly organized by a Burbank 
Police Lieutenant, Don Brown, designed to comment on 
local politics.1 The hotline telephone number was pub­
licized in the local press. Disparaging remarks concerning 
Porco's character were broadcast on the hotline, and 
respondent combined Porco' s complaint with the sepa­
rate negligence complaintMeKce had against Burbank:, 
making them oo----plaintiffs in the same action. McKee 
and Porco sought damages for violations of their civil 
rights, defamation, conspiracy, negligence, and inten­
tional infliction of emotional distress. 

Porco and McKee signed respondent's contin­
gency fee agreement letter on June 9, 1998, in which 
respondent outlined the percentages of any potential 
award to be paid to him as his fce.2 The letter also set 
forth an hourly rate of $200 to be paid for any work 
related to an appeal. ConcW1·ent with that letter, respon­
dent had McKee and Porco sign a conflict of interest 
waivcr.3 

Respondent filed the initial complaint on Septem­
ber 12, 1997, which was amended on October 19, 

3. Respondent failed to outline any "actual and reasonably 
foreseeable adverse consequences" of a potential future con­
flict as required by California Rules of Professional Conduct, 
rule 3-31 O(A)( I )-{A)(2) and (C). 



IN THE MATTER OF REGAN 

(Review Dept. 2005) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 844 

1998. The amended complaint substituted Don Brown 
and Charles Lombardo for the Doe defendants. After 
being named defendants, Brown andLombardo moved 
to strike the amend.cd complaint on the ground that it 
was a strategic lawsuit against public participation 
(SLAPP) by McKee and Porco.4 The court granted 
the Brown and Lombardo motion to strike, as McKee 
and Porco had not met their burden to produce 
competent evidence that the statements made on the 
hotline were defamatory or othenvise actionable. An 
attorney fee award of$ l 5,662.50 was entered against 
McKee and Porco. After the SLAPP award, Burbank 
filed a summary judgment motion to dismiss the 
original lawsuit filed by McKee and Porco, based on 
a lack of any causal connection between the alleged 
acts and conduct for which Burbank was legally 
responsible. Burbank's motion was granted on Janu~ 
ary20, 1999. 

Following the SLAPP award, but before the 
summary judgment that dismissed the original lawsuit 
was granted, McKee and Porco met with respondent 
on January 16, 1999. At this meeting, both McKee 
and Porco wrote a check to respondent in.the amount 
of $250. Porco's check was delivered with the 
notation "Don Porco-Appeal" on the memo line, and 
McKee's check stated "For Appeal" on the memo 
line. The purpose of these checks was the subject of 
considcrablcdisputeatrespondent'sdisciplinaryhear­
ing. McKee and Porco both testified that the checks 
were written as a loan to respondent because he was 
having diffieul ty paying his home mortgage. Respon­
dent testified that the checks were delivered as 
payment for fees associated with filing the appeal that 
his clients wanted to pursue.s The Hearing Judge 
resolved this issue in favor of respondent. Respon­
dent also testified that he intended to use at least one 
of the checks for the filing fees associated with 
appealing the SLAPP award. The other check was to 
cover costs associated with appealing the subsequent 
summary judgment motion, which respondent be-

4. See e.g., Equilon Enterprises v. Consumer Cause, Inc. (2002) 
29 Cal.4th 53, 57, 59-60, for the origin of the acronym SLAPP 
and the public policy involved in California's anti-SLA PP law 
invoked by those resisting SLAPP suits they deem chilling of 
their exercise of constitutional speech or petition rights. 
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lieved was coming. Respondent testified that the 
checks were deposited into his client trust account 
and that the money was used to file the appeal and the 
supplemental notice of appeal. 

No contact occurred between respondent and 
his clients for approximately one month after their 
January meeting. On February 18, 1999, McKee 
placed three telephone calls to respondent and testi­
fied that respondent hung-up on her several times 
after she informed mm, during the initial call, that she 
and Porco did not want an appeal. McKee testified 
that when she telephoned respondent she said "Jim, 
we need to talk. Don and I don't want an appeal," and 
upon hearing that, respondent immediately hm1g-up 
thetelephone.6Thefollowingday,February 19, 1999, 
respondent filed a Notice of Appeal on behalf of 
McKee and Porco appealing the SLAPP award. 

Respondent conceded that he did not inform 
Porco or McKee in writing of his filing an appeal on 
their behalf, testifying that"! don 'tknowthatit's wise 
to put so many things in writing." Porco testified that 
he learned from respondent in a February 24, 1999, 
phone call that the appeal had been filed. Upon 
learning that infonnation, Porco insisted that his name 
be withdrawn from the appeal. At respondent's 
disciplinary hearing, Porco testified that during this 
conversation he stated that"I told [respondent] to get 
my name off ofit. ldidn' t wantthat appeal. ltold him 
take my name off it." Porco also testified that 
respondent never had his approval to file an appeal on 
his behalf. 

McKee filed a notice of substitution of attorney 
on March 1, 1999, in the Los Angeles Superior Court, 
which had jurisdiction over the original, and continu­
ing, Burbank lawsuit. Her intention was to fire 
respondent and substitute herself in pro. per. Al­
though the reason is unclear, the court continued to 
recognize respondent as the attorney of record. 

5. The local filing fee:: for an appeal during this time period was 
$250. 

6. Telephone records indicated that three calls were placed by 
McKee to respondent of\ess then one minute in duration on 
that date. 
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A hearing was held on March 5, 1999, to deter­
mine the amount of the award for costs and fees 
relating to the summary judgment granted on behalf 
of Burbank. Respondent had been served papers 
regarding the hearing, but testified that he failed to 
appear because Porco had told him the hearing had 
been removed from the calender. McKee repre­
sented herself as a pro se litigant and was the only 
person to appear at the hearing. McKee indicated to 
the judge that respondent had abandoned her case 
and failed to communicate with his clients. Because 
respondent was still the attorney of record, the 
hearing was postponed unti 1 April 15, 1999. 

Respondent and Porco appeared without McKee 
atthcsubscqucnthearingonApril 15, 1999. The court 
questioned respondent regarding his status as 
McKee's attorney. Respondent represented to the 
court that he had sent McKee a substitution of 
attorney form, but that she had failed to return the 
form. Respondent further explained to the court that 
he was making a special appearance on her behalf. 
The court indicated that it was going to enforce any 
judgment on behalf of Burbank against respondent as 
well as his two clients. Respondent unsuccessfully 
protested that decision, and the ultimate result of the 
hearing was an award for attorney's fees in the 
amount of $62,928.38, against Porco, McKee, and 
respondent, j o inti y and several 1 y. 

Immediately following the hearing, Porco and 
respondent discussed the judgment outside the court­
room. Respondent testified at his disciplinary hearing 
that this conversation was the relevant conversation 
regarding their pursuit of the appeal. Respondent 
claimed that he explained to Porco how the judgment 
against them would actually help them on appeal, and 
that at no time did Porco state he did not want to be 
a part of the appeal. Also, respondent testified that he 
did not ask McKee and Porco to sign a new conflict 
ofinterest letter once they all bccan1c responsible for 
the judgment in favor of Burbank although, at that 
time, respondent understood that an actual conflict 
could exist between Porco and McKee. 

Porco' srccollcction of the conversation on April 
15, 1999, differed from that of respondent. Porco 
testified that, during this conversation, respondent 
stated he would not pay the judgment and instead 
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would declare bankruptcy. Porco also testified that 
he requested his case file fromrespondent during this 
conversation. Respondent never complied with that 
request. 

On April 30, 1999, respondent filed a supplemen­
tal notice of appeal on behalf of McKee, Porco, and 
himself to include the $62,928.38 award against all 
three parties. This was the same day the judgment 
awarding the attorneys fees to Burbank was entered. 
On May 6, 1999, the Notice of Entry ofJudgment was 
filed regarding the awarded fees. 

On May 6, 1999, McKee and Porco sent a 
certified letter to respondent, which he received on 
May 10, 1999, that expressed their disappointment 
with how respondent handled their case. McKee and 
Porco complained that respondent did not communi­
cate with them, allow them to make the ultimate 
decisions regarding their case, or honor Porco's 
request to return their case file. Additionally, the letter 
stated that respondent never had his clients' express 
approval to pursue an appeal on their behalf. At the 
conclusion of the letter, McKee and Porco stated 
they would not interfere with a personal appeal by 
respondent in order to protect his own interests. 
Porco also stated that "as far as I am concerned [the 
Burbank lawsuit] was finalized on April 15, 1999 [sic] 
by Judge Ouderkirk." Further, McKee and Porco 
requested respondent notify them of his intentions as 
soon as possible. 

Respondent never replied to this letter, and 
continued throughout 1999 to file several applications 
for an extension of time in which to file the Appel­
lants' Opening Brief. McKee and Porco were named 
as appellants on each application, and respondent 
never notified either party that he had sought the 
extensions. 

After several months without any contact from 
respondent, on November 17, 1999, Porco sent re­
spondent a letter in which he reiterated that respondent 
did not have authority to file an appeal on behalf of 
himself or McKee. Porco also complained of 
respondent's failure to communicate, claiming he had 
not been contacted by respondent for seven months. 
On December _7, 1999, McKee sent respondent a 
similar letter, and on the same date McKee and Porco 
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also filed a motion in the Court of Appeal to dismiss 
respondent as the attorney of record along with a 

motion to dismiss the appeal. 

Respondent did not contact his clients after 
receiving their letters; instead, he proceeded to file 
the appellant's opening brief on behalf of McKee, 
Porco, and himself on December 15, 1999. On 
December 23, 1999, McKee and Porco sent respon­
dent a letter that uncqui vocally dischargedrespondent 
for failing to communicate. 7 The letter also requested 
that respondent sign and return a substitution of 
attorney form, which respondent did not complete or 
return. 

On January 5, 2000, the Cowt of Appeal granted 
McKee and Porco's December 7, 1999, motion and 
issued an order dismissing the February 19, and April 
30, 1999 appeals. 

Respondent then filed a motion to vacate" 'Order 
Dismissing Appeal;' To Reinstate Appeal; To Strike 
'Motion' Filed by Individual Plaintiffs-Appellants 'In 
Propria Persona;' " on January 20, 1999, on behalf of 
himself, McKee, and Porco. In the motion to vacate, 
respondent stated that McKee was mentally ill, and 
Porco was senile. 8 Respondent stated that McKee 
"imagines that she is a lawyer" and Porco "has no 
idcaofwhatishappening [ and} is under Ms. McKee's 
influence." Throughout the motion, respondent made 
repeated references to McKee's mental incompe­
tence and stated that "[n]either Mr. Porco nor Ms. 
McKee actually want the appeal dismissed." (Em­
phasis in original.) Respondent also stated that 
"{McKee and Porco] specifically requested that 
counsel undertake these appeals." (Emphasis in origi­
nal.) Respondent did not attempt to contact McKee 
or Porco regarding his written representations or their 
motion dismissing the appeals. McKee and Porco 
subsequently filed on January 25, 2000, a "Letter of 

7, This letter read in pertinent part as follows: "Today we 
learned that you filed an appendix and opening brief with the 
Second Appeal [sic] Court, and it should have been clear to you 
from the December 7, 1999 motions we filed to dismiss both 
you and the appeals that we sent you, and again you did not 
phone us or write to us what you were doing behind our backs 
and without our knowledge, that we want nothing more to do 
with you and your financial ham1 that you are continuing to try 
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Opposition" to respondent's January 20, 2000, motion 
with the Court of Appeal. 

Respondent sent Porco a letter on January 28, 
2000, urging him to continue with the appeal. So far 
as the record shows, this was the first communication 
made by respondent to either party since the April 15, 
1999 conversation with Porco in the courtroom hall­
way. In the letter, respondent advised Porco that 
McKee was not acting in his best interests by at­
tempting to dismiss the appeal, and that Porco should 
not have any further contact withher, and should only 
discuss the matter directly with respondent. 

On February 4, 2000, Porco sent respondent a -
letter, in which he again stated that he did not want an 
appeal and that he was not acting under anyone's 
influence. Porco repeated that he no longer wanted 
representation by respondent, and that Porco had 
never given respondent express verbal or written 
consent to pursue an appeal. Porco made another 
request for respondent to sign a substitution of attor­
ney fonn. McKee also sent a letter to respondent 
dated February 4, 2000, in which she reiterated that 
respondent had been terminated, that she did not want 
an appeal, and requested he sign and return the 
substitution of attorney form sent to him on Decem­
ber 23, 1999. Again, respondent failed tocomplywith 
that request. 

Respondent did not make any attempt to com­
municate with either Porco or McKee following the 
February 4, 2000, letters. On that same date, and on 
behalf of himself, Porco, and McKee, respondent 
filed in the Court of Appeal a declaration in response 
to the "Letter of Opposition" that had been filed by 
McKee and Porco on January 25, 2000, and re­
quested it be stricken. In this filing, respondent 
represented to the court that "Mr. Porco has never 
requested that his appeal be dismissed." Respondent 

to cause us with your actions .... You are fired Mr, Regan and 
we told you in our previous correspondence that we did not 
want any more financial debt incurred to us with an appeal, and 
you never phoned us nor wrote to us as we asked you to do." 

8. The record below reflects that, at the time of the State Bar 
Court hearing, Porco was elderly and his hearing was impaired. 
McKee also testified at the hearing that she was dyslexic. 
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also stated that the first time he became aware 
McKee might want the appeal dismissed was in 
December 1999, when he was preparing the Appel­
lants' Opening Brief. 

Also on February 4, 2000, the Court of Appeal 
issued an "Order Reinstating the Appeal of James C. 
Regan." That order vacated the order issued January 
5, 2000, that had dismissed the entire appeal, but did 
notvacatetheorderdismissingMcKee'sandPorco's 
appeal. The court noted that because respondent was 
a named appellant, and was personal I y liable for the 
award against him, he should be permitted to pursue 
his own appeal. The Court of Appeal allowed respon­
dent, within 30 days, to submit another brief on his 
behalf, as the previous brief presented issues that also 
pertained to McKee and Porco. 

Subsequent to that order, Porco and McKee 
filed "Protest Letters" with the Court of Appeal on 
February 7, 2000, requesting the court to honor the 
December 7, 1999, motion to dismiss the appeal filed 
on February 19, 1999, and the supplemental notice of 
appeal filed April 30, 1999; which the court granted. 
McKee also sent a letter to respondent on February 
21, 2000, in which she repeated her request for 
respondent to return a substitution ofattorney form, 
and emphasized that she and Porco had fired respon­
dent. 

On February 22, 2000, respondent filed a Motion 
to Reinstate, Sever and Stay the appeals of appellants 
Porco and McKee. In the motion, respondent again 
stated that neither Porco nor McKee wanted the 
appeal dismissed and made further comments on 
McKee's mental capacity. In his declaration to this 
motion, respondent stated that he "honestly [did] not 
believe they want their appeals dismissed." Respon­
dent did not notify either client that the motion had 
been filed, or attempt to make any contact with either 
party. At the State Bar Court hearing below, respon­
dent continued to assert that he pursued the appeal on 
behalf of McKee and Porco because he believed it to 
be in the best interests of his clients. 

9. Unless noted otherwise, all further references to sections 
refer to provisions of the California Business an<l Professions 
Code. 
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Respondent had previously made attempts to 
collect his legal fees from Porco's insurance com­
pany for the work he conducted regarding the appeal. 
On March 24, 1999, respondent contacted Allstate 
Insurance regarding a new claim on behalf of Poreo. 
Allstate informed respondent that he needed to for -
ward a letter of representation to them, as well as a 
copy of the lawsuit and judgment. Respondent never 
complied with that request. In January 2000, an 
associate from respondent's office forwarded a let­
ter to Allstate requesting payment for legal fees that 
had accrued in connection with the work conducted 
regarding Porco's appeal. In response, Allstate noti­
fied Porco that respondent never sent the letter of 
representation, and that it had not had any contact 
from respondent since the March 1999 request for 
payment. 

Porco and McKee filed a complaint with the 
• State Bar on January 12, 2000. After an investigation 
by the State Bar, a five-count Notice of Disciplinary 
Charges (NDC) was filed on March 20, 2002, alleg­
ing that respondent violatcdBusiness and Professions 
Code section 61049 by appearing for a party without 
authority when he pursued an appeal after being 
advised by his clients to cease pursuing the appeal on 
their behalf; that he violated section 6068, subdivision 
( m) when he failed to respond to his clients' inquiries 
regarding his pursuit of the unwanted appeal from 
May 6, 1999, until February 4, 2000, and failed to 
in form his clients that he requested numerous exten­
sions of time to file the appeal, and the ultimate filing 
of the Appellants' Opening Brief; that he failed to 
release his clients' file upon termination of employ­
ment violating Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 
3-700(D )( l ); 10 that he violated section 6068, subdivi­
sion (d) by employing means inconsistent with the 
truth, and sought to mislead a judge when he stated in 
dcclarati ons, under penalty of perjury, that his clients 
wanted to pursue the appeal, and that he failed to 
advise the Court of Appeal that his clients had 
attempted to substitute him out of their lawsuit; and 
finally, that he violated section 6106 by committing an 
act involving moral turpitude when he falsely repre-

10. Unless otherwise noted, all further references to rules refer 
to provisions of the California Rules of Professional Conduct. 
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sented to the Court of Appeal that he had authority to 
pursue the appeal. 

Both McKee and Porco testified at respondent's 
disciplinary hearing. Respondent was the only wit­
ness who testified on his behalf, and no evidence of 
any mitigating circumstances was offered at the time 
of the hearing. The Hearing Judge did consider in 
mitigation respondent's 17 years of practice free of 
any discipline. In aggravation, the Hearing Judge 
considered that respondent engaged in multiple counts 
of misconduct and that respondent had made dispar­
aging remarks about his clients in his pleadings to the 
State Bar Court. The stress respondent caused to his 
clients by his misconduct was also considered. 

The Hearing Judge found respondent culpable of 
all five counts and recommended that respondent be 
suspended for two years, stayed, and placed on 
probation for two years, with conditions, including 
seventy-five days of actual suspension. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. Count One: Appearing for Party without 
Authority (Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 6104) 

Respondent was charged in count one of the 
NOC with appearing for a party in the Court of 
Appeal without authority in violation ofsection 6104. 
The section provides: "Corruptly or wilfully and 
without authority appearing as attorney for a party to 
an action or proceeding constitutes a cause for 
disbarment or suspension." 

Respondent argues that he did not violate section 
6104 because I) filing notices of appeal, requests for 
extensions, motions, and the Appellants' Opening 
Brief are not appearances; and 2) he had express 
authority to pursue the appeal on behalf of Porco and 
McKee. 

Respondent claims that an "appearance" con­
sists solely of answering, demurring, moving to strike 
or transfer, giving written notice of appearance, 
participating in a trial or hearing, or an order to show 
cause. Respondent cites to In the Matter of Lais 
(Review Dept. 1998) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 907, 
as support that the above list is exhaustive, and 
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therefore the filing of an appeal cannot be considered 
an appearance. However, the above list refers to 
actions that are considered appearances by a defen­
dant. (See Lyons v. State of California (1885) 67 
Cal. 380, 384.) Further, it is not exhaustive of what 
may constitute an appearance for either a defendant 
or a plaintiff. 

An "appearance" is not limited to standing in 
front of a judge. (Lyons v. State of California, 
supra, at p. 384.) "A general appearance occurs 
where a party, either directly or through counsel, 
participates in an action in some manner which 
recognizes the authority of the court to proceed. It 
does not require any formal or technical act. [Cita­
tions.]" (Mansour v. Superior Court (1995) 38 
Cal.App.4th 1750, 1756.) 

[l] It is settled that filing a complaint with a 
superior court constitutes an appearance within the 
meaning of section 6104. (In the Matter of Taylor 
(Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 563, 
577.) Here, respondent filed a notice of appeal, 
initiating an appellate proceeding in the same way a 
complaint would initiate litigation. After initiating that 
process, respondent filed numerous extension re~ 
quests, eventually leading to the filing of the Appellants' 
Opening Brief. Each request for an extension of time 
in which to file the Appellants' Opening Brief was 
associated with the perfection of the filing of an 
appeal and constituted an appearance before the 
court. 

Respondent's second contention is that he had 
express authority to file and pursue the appeal. 
Respondent argues that the checks delivered to him 
by Porco and McKee with "For Appeal" on the 
memo line is prima facie evidence that he had his 
clients' approval to initiate and continue to pursue the 
appeal. 

[2a] The Hearing Judge resolved the issue of 
credibility regarding the purpose of the checks in 
favor of respondent. The Hearing Judge was in the 
best position to determine witness credibility and 
great weight is given to his findings on this subject. 
(Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a); In the Matter 
of Torres (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 138, 143, fn. 7.) We agree with the judge's 
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finding on this issue. The explanation that Porco and 
McKee offered the checks as a loan to aid respon­
dent with his mortgage is unlikely. The notations on 
the checks, the timing of the checks following the 
SLAPP suit award, and the fact that they were 
written for the exact amount of the filing fees, lead us 
to believe that Porco and McKee initially gave re­
spondent authority to pursue the appeal. However, it 
is also clear that the clients terminated that authority 
and did so decisively. 

We have the duty to independently review the 
record to make findings of fact and conclusions of 
law. (In the Matter of Respondent K (Review Dept. 
1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 335, 346-347.) 
AlthoughtheHearingJudgeconcludedthatMcKee's 
and Porco' s testimony regarding initiating the appeal 
was· not credible, he found clear and convincing 
evidence to establish that respondent had been noti­
fied to stop pursuing the appeal on behalf of his 
clients. We agree with the judge's assessment. 

(2b) Receiving authorization to initiate an action 
does not insulate from culpability an attorney who 
continues to pursue the claim against a client's 
wishes. (In the Matter of Phillips (Review Dept. 
2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 315, 339.) McKee 
testi fled that she told respondent, during a phone call 
on February 18, 1999, that she did not want to pursue 
the appeal. While this conversation might not stand on 
its own, we find clear and convincing evidence to 
support that neither client wanted to continue pursu­
ing the appeal. 

[2c) On May 6, 1999, McKee and Porco wrote 
a letter to respondent in which they expressly told him 
they did not want to pursue the appeal. Respondent 
continued to file four requests for anextcnsionoftimc 
though October 29, 1999. On November 17, I 999, 
Porco sent another letter stating he did not want to 
pursue an appeal. McKee followed with a similar 
letter to respondent on December 7, I 999. After 
receiving clear notification from his clients that they 
did not want to pursue the appeal, respondent filed the 
Opening Appellants' Brief on December 15, 1999. 

[ 3) Respondent claims that he was bound by the 
prescripts set forth in rule 3-700( A )(2 ), and therefore 
is not culpable for continuing to make appearances on 
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behalf of his clients. Rule 3-700( A )(2) requires that 
an attorney "shall not withdraw from employment 
until the member has taken reasonable steps to avoid 
reasonably foreseeable prejudice to the rights of the 
client." It is settled that an attorney's obligation to 
avoid prejudice also extends to an attorney who has 
been tenninated. (In the Matter of Myrdal/ (Review 
Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 363, 374.) Itis 
also settled that an attorney has the duty to avoid 
foreseeable prejudice to the client's interest until a 
substitution of counsel is filed. (In the Matter of 
Dahlz (Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 269,280.) Once respondent was discharged on 
December 23, 1999,hisdutyunderrule 3-700{A)(2) 
was to properly remove himself as attorney of record 
as it was clear that his clients wanted to abandon their 
legal claim. Instead, he actively worked against the 
direction of his clients by attempting to have the 
appeal reinstated with his clients as named parties. 

The right to pursue an appeal rests entirely with 
the client, and where it is shown that the attorney 
acted without authority, the appeal will be dismissed. 
{See Title Ins. & Trust Co. v. California Develop­
ment Co. (1914) 168 Cal. 397, 401.) Porco and 
McKee made numerous express statements that 
they wanted no part of an appeal, yet respondent 
claims he pursued the appeal because he believed 
that, despite their express direction to the contrary, 
they really wanted to pursue the appeal. Porco and 
McKee had the prerogative to stop pursuing their 
appeal foranyreason, including the desire to minimiz.e 
their financial cost, whether or not respondent be­
lieved it to be in their best interests. By respondent's 
reasoning, no client would have the ultimate right to 
dismiss an attorney with or without cause as estab-
1 ished by Fracassev. Brent (1972) 6 Cal.3d 784, 790. 
Extending his reasoning further, an attorney would be 
allowed to pursue legal claims over a client's objec­
tion if the attorney believed the client's reason to stop 
the claim was not legitimate.Manifestly, existing law 
fails to support such a position. 

Moreover, this record shows by respondent's 
own testimony, his recognition in hindsight, that, at 
least, an ambiguity arose as to his authority to pursue 
the appeal for Porco and McKee and that he failed to 
timely resolve that ambiguity. However, this was not 
an ambiguity but was the express direction by 
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. respondent's clients to cease pursuit of the appeal on 
their behalf. 

We find clear and convincing evidence that 
respondent continued to pursue an appeal on behalfof 
clients who had expressly asked him to stop. Respon­
dent is therefore culpable for violating section 6104. 

B. Count Two: Failure to Communicate (Bus. & 
Prof. Code, § 6068, subd. (m)) 

Section 6068, subdivision (m) states that an 
attorncymust"respond promptly to reasonable status 
inquiries of clients and to keep clients reasonably 
informed of significant developments in matters with 
regard to which the attorney has agreed to provide 
legal services." 

[4a] Respondent violated this section when he 
failed to respond to several letters from his clients in 
which they expressly asked to be informed of their 
attorney's intentions regarding his continued pursuit 
of the appeal. Each letter reflected Porco's and 
McKee's increased frustration with their attorney 
regarding his actions and lack of communication. 
Their requests were reasonable, given the continued 
perception that their attorney was acting against their 
wishes. (Cf. In the Matter of Kaplan (Review Dept. 
1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 509, 519.) 

[4b] Respondent contends that he did respond to 
those status inquiries by filing extensions and the 
Appellants' Opening Brief. This is without merit. 
Each letter respondent received from his clients 
specifically requested respondent to inform them of 
his actions. There is no evidence that documents any 
communication made by respondent as an answer to 
his clients' requests. 

Further, respondent undercuts his position as to 
this count by asserting that he continued pursuing the 
appeal because he believed that was what his clients 
really wanted, even though he had received several 
express and written demands to stop the appeal. 
Assuming, arguendo, that to be the case, then 
respondent had all the more reason to inform his 
clients' that he intended to continue to pursue the 
appeal on their behalf. 
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If respondent was concerned that his clients 
were incapable of making infonned decisions be­
cause of alleged mental challenges, that alone should 
have provided additional incentive to respondent to 
maintain regularized, documented communications 
with his clients. Respondent made no attempt to 
discuss with his clients why it would be in their 
interests to continue the appeal, or to find out why 
they wanted the process stopped until theJ anuary28, 
2000, letter to Porco, over ten months after their 
April 15, 1999, conversation. 

We agree with the Hearing Judge's conclusion 
that respondent violated section 6068, subdivision 
(m). 

C. Count Three; Failure to Return Clients' 
Property (Rule 3-700(0)(1)) 

Rule 3-700(0)( l )provides thatan attomey''whose 
employment has terminated shall ... [,0 ... promptly 
release to the client, at the request of the client, all the 
client papers and property." (Emphasis added.) Re­
spondent asserts that he was under no obligation to 
return the file to his clients until he received notice that 
he was terminated on December 23, 1999, and that no 
culpability can be found because the charge against 
him was based on Porco' s request for the file on April 
15, 1999. We disagree. 

[Sa) A client's file, absent uncommunicated 
attorney work product, is the property of the client 
and must be surrendered to the client promptly upon 
request once the representation has been terminated. 
(Rose v. State Bar (l 989) 49 Cal.3d 646, 655.) Porco 
testified that he requested the case file on April 15, 
1999, and both Porco and McKee requested the file 
in subsequent letters before they fired respondent. 
An express element of a rule 3-700(D )( 1) violation is 
the client's making of a request for the return of the 
property. (In the Matter of Valinoti (Review Dept. 
2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 498, 536.) 

[Sb] Porco and McKee were clearly dissatisfied 
with respondent, and McKee had made an attempt to 
substitute herself in pro. per. as early as March I, 
1999. While it is conceivable that respondent frus­
trated the attempts by his clients to substitute him out 
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as their attorney by ignoring their requests, we find 
that the evidence supports that respondent's services 
were tenninated on December 23, 1999. Although no 
request for the clients' file was made after that date, 
respondent was obligated to follow the directives of 
rule3-700(D)(I) on and after December 23, 1999. It 
should be unnecessary for a client who has already 
requested return of papers and property prior to the 
attorney's discharge to be required to repeat that 
request after discharge in circumstances such as the 
ones before us. Accordingly, we uphold the hearing 
judge's conclusion that respondent is culpable of a 
wilful violation ofrule 3-700(D)(l ). 

D. Counts Four and Five: Employing Means 
Inconsistent with the Truth; Misleading a Judge 

(Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 6068, subd. (d)), and 
Connnission of Act Involving Moral Turpitude 

(Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6106) 

Respondent was charged in count four of em­
ployingmeans inconsistentwith thetruthandseeking 
to mislead a j udgc in violation of section 6068, subdi­
vision ( d), and he was charged in count five of 
connnitting an act involving moral turpitude in viola­
tion of section 6106. Section 6068, subdivision ( d) 
provides: "To employ, forthc purpose of maintaining 
the causes confided to him or her those means only as 
are consistent with truth, and never to seek to mislead 
the judge or any judicial officer by an artifice or false 
statement of fact or law." We agree with the Hearing 
Judge's conclusion that respondent violated section 
6068, subdivision ( d). 

Respondent's violation of section 6068, subdivi­
sion ( d) provides the basis for his culpability regarding 
section 6106. (ln the Matter of Chesnut (Review 
Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 166, 174.) 
Section 6106 is violated when an attorney commits 
"any act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty or 
corruption, whether the act is committed in the course 
of his relations as an attorney or otherwise, and 
whether the act is a felony or misdemeanor or not." 

[6a] The presentation to a court of a statement of 
fact !mown to be false "presumes an intent to secure a 
determination" based upon the statement and is a 
violation of this section. (Davis v. State Bar ( 1983) 33 
Cal.3d 231, 239-240; citing Pickering v. State Bar 
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(1944) 24 Cal.2d 141, 144.) Here, respondent made a 
representation in his motion to vacate filed on January 
20, 2000, that Porco and McKee did not actually want 
the appeal dismissed. By that date, respondent had 
received written con:finnation that his clients did not 
want to pursue an appeal, and that they had terminated 
his services as of December 23, 1999. In spite of that 
knowledge, respondent proceeded to file the motion 
with the intention to have the appeal reinstated. 

In addition, respondent stated to the Court of 
Appeal in his February 4, 2000, declaration that"Mr. 
Porco has never requested that his appeal be dis­
missed." Clearly, respondent intended the court to 
CQnsider the assertion that his clients wanted to 
pursue the appeal, and that Porco had never asked the 
appeal to be dismissed, in making its decision whether 
or not the appeal should be reinstated. Respondent's 
representations to the Court of Appeal that his clients 
wanted to pursue the appeal are, at a minimum, 
deceptive. A member of the State Bar "should not 
under any circumstances attempt to deceive another 
person," whether or not any harm is done, and an 
attorney's practice of deceit involves moral turpitude. 
( Cutler v. State Bar ( 1969) 71 Cal .2d 241, 252-253.) 

[6b] Respondent also failed to disclose to the 
court that he had been fired as of December 23, 1999, 
making a further false representation to the appellate 
court. (Sec Franklin v. State Bar (1986) 41 Cal.3d 
700,709 [concealment of a material fact misleads a 
judge just as effectively as a false statement].) 

Respondent contends that, because the Hearing 
Judge found respondent's actions were misguided, 
and that he did not pursue the appeal with malicious 
intent, he cannot be found culpable for violating 
section 6016. Respondent asserts that a finding of 
good faith cannot co--exist with moral turpitude. 

The Hearing Judge concluded that respondent 
honestly believed he was acting in his clients' best 
interests. However, the Hearing Judge also con­
cluded that respondent's honest belief was 
unreasonable and "clouded'' his conduct regarding 
his role as an attorney. An attorney who makes a 
false statement to a judge is not exculpated based 
merely on an intuitive belief that he is acting in his 
clients' best interest. 
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We acknowledge that the nature and scope of 
the representation undertaken by respondent drasti­
cally changed. We also acknowledge that Porco and 
McKee were difficult clients. However, we find that 
respondent did not act in good faith when he at­
tempted to have Porco' s and McKee's appeal 
reinstated after he was allowed to pursue the appeal 
on his own behalf. At that point, the only legitimate 
reason respondent could have had to include Porco 
and McKee in the appeal was to reduce respondent's 
financial burden ofresponsibility for the judgment and 
to offset the costs associated with the appeal. This is 
demonstrated by respondent's attempt to recover the 
costs from Porco's insurance company as late as 
January 4, 2000. Respondent had already been fired, 
and had been directed to stop pursuing the appeal on 
behalf of his clients as of May 6, 1999, because they 
did not want to bear any of the costs associated with 
an appeal. 

[ 6c] We find clear and convincing evidence that 
respondent violated sections 6068, subdivision ( d) and 
6106. Although the facts are the same supporting the 
section 6068, subdivision ( d) and section 6106 (In the 
Matter of Jeffers (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 211, 221) we will not ascribe additional 
discipline based on respondent's section 6106 viola­
tion. 

E. Respondent's Claim of Judicial Misconduct 

Respondent claims that the Hearing Judge was 
tainted by bias and participated in an ex partc commu­
nication with the State Bar's trial attorneys. 
Respondent contends that this misconduct resulted in 
a denial of due process. 

[7] Respondent has offered no evidence and 
hardly any specifics to support his allegations ofbias. 
The burden of showing a claim of bias or prejudice 
rests on the complaining party. (Ryan v. Welte(l948) 
87 Cal.App.2d 888, 893; cf. In the Matter of Harris 
(Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 219, 
228-229.) Further, respondent asserts that the Hear-
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ingJudge made numerous errors oflaw based on this 
alleged bias. This is without merit. Even if a judge 
makes numerous mistakes as to questions oflaw, that 
docs not form a ground for a charge of bias and 
prejudice. (Ryan v. Welte, supra, 87 Cal.App.2d at 
p. 893.) 

[8] Respondent also asserts that the Hearing 
Judge erroneously admitted hearsay evidence and 
relied on false statements contained within that evi­
dence to make his findings of fact. Respondent has 
not identified what evidence was admitted as hearsay 
over his objections. Upon our review of the record, 
we find respondent failed to object to the admission of 
all but one of the letters written to him by Porco or 
McKee. Where respondent did not object to the 
admission of evidence, it is well settled that any 
objection on that point has been waived. (In the 
Matter of Kaplan, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
at p. 522.) Porco's November 17, 1999, letter to 
respondent was admitted for all purposes over 
respondent's objection. However, we do not find the 
admission of this letter to be erroneous. Porco iden­
tified himself as the author of that letter. Further, 
Porco testified at length on direct and cross examina­
tion regarding the contents of all his letters, including 
the November 17, 1999, letter. (See Evid. Code,§ 
1237, subd. (a) [pastrecollectionrecordedex.ception 
to hearsay rule].) 

III. DISCUSSION OF DISCIPLINE 

A. Levels ofDiscipline 

In making a recommendation of discipline, our 
primary concern is the protection of the public and 
maintai ninghigh professional standards by attorneys 
(King v. State Bar(l990) 52 Cal.3d 307,315; Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, tit. IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions 
for Prof. Misconduct, std. 1.3.)11 We look to the 
Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
Misconduct and relevant case law for guidance in 
determining the appropriate level of discipline. (Snyder 
v. StateBar(l990)49 Cal.3d 1302, 1310-1311.)The 

11. Unless otherwise noted, all fmthcr references to standards 
refer to provisions of the Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
Misconduct. 
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standards are guidelines which must be construed in 
relation to decisional law. (Greenbaum v. State Bar 
(1987)43 Cal.3d 543, 550.) The standards applicable 
to the culpability found in this case are standards 
2.3 12

, 2.613
, and 2.1014

• These standards provide for 
a range of misconduct from reproval to disbannent. 
However, standard 1.6(a) provides in part that "[i]f 
two or more acts of professional misconduct are 
found ... and different sanctions arc prescribed ... 
the sanction imposed shall be the more or most severe 
of the different applicable sanctions." Thus, stan• 
dards 2.3 and 2.6, providing for suspension or 
disbarment, shouldbe applied in this case. 

The gravamen ofrespondent' s misconduct is his 
repeated appearances on behalf ofhis clients without 
their authority and respondent's attempts to mislead 
a judge. Standard 2.6 provides: "Culpability of a 
member of a violation of[ sections 6068, subdivision 
( d) and 6104] shall result in disbarment or suspension 
depending on the gravity of the offense or the harm, 
if any, to the victim .... " 

In the following cases of an isolated false state· 
mcnt or misrepresentation to a court, prior to the 
adoption of the Standards, public rcproval has been 
imposed. 

In Mushrush v. State Bar ( 1976) 17 Cal.3d 487, 
the attorney had no prior record of discipline. He 
made false statements during a bankruptcy proceed­
ing when he failed to inform the bankruptcy court 
regarding the amount of a payment made to a debtor 
from the sale ofrcal property. The court concluded 
that the attorney's denial of knowledge of the size of 
the check involved moral turpitude. 

In Di Sabatino v. State Bar (1980) 27 Cal.3d 
159, the attorney misled a bai 1 commissioner by failing 

12. Standard 2.3 provides in relevant part: "Culpability of a 
member of an act of moral turpitude, fraud, or intentional 
di~honesty toward a court, client or another person or of 
concealment of a material fact tu a court, client or another 
person shall result in actual suspension or disbanncnt depend­
ing upon the extent to which the victim of the misconduct is 
harmed or misled and dependingupon the magnitude of the act 
. of misconduct and the degree to which it relate~ to the member's 
acts within the practice of\aw." 
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to disclose the facts surrounding his attempts to obtain 
bail for a client in a criminal case. The court con­
cluded that the concealment of a material fact was as 
misleading as explicit false statements and required 
discipline; however, the court considered that the 
attorney had no prior record of discipline in mitigation. 

mMosesian v. StateBar(l972) 8 Cal.3d60, the 
attorney knowingly made false statements during his 
testimony as a witness ina civil action regarding the 
general reputation of his aunt. He named several 
people with whom he allegedly had discussions about 
his aunt as the basis for his testimony, which was later 
controverted by every person he identified. While the 
court only imposed a public reproval, ittookparticular 
notice of the heightened duty of an attorney to be 
candid and never seek to mislead. (Id. at p. 66.) 

Finally, in Grove v. State Bar ( 1965) 63 Cal.2d 
312, an attorney concealed fromajudge, in court, that 
the absent opposing attorney had requested a con• 
tinuance. The court found that the concealment of the 
request was a violation ofscctions 6068, subdivision 
(d) and 6106, because it misled the judge just as 
effectively as a false statement conveying that there 
was no request for a continuance would have done. 
However, the court did not find that the attorney 
planned to mislead the judge and it appeared that 
Grove's conduct may have been spur of the moment 
and overzealous. 

Other cases of misrepresentation have resulted 
in greater discipline. 

In Drociak v. State Bar (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1085, 
the Supreme Court imposed an actual suspension of 
thirty days for violating sections 6068, subdivision ( d) 
and 6106. In Drociak, an attorney was hired in 
March 1985 to represent a woman in a personal injury 

13. Standard 2.6 provides that violations of sections 6068 and 
6104 "shall result in disbarment or suspension depending on 
thcgravityofthe offense or the harm, ifany, to the victim, with 
due regard lo the purposes of imposing disciplim: .... " 

14. Standard2. l 0, which applies to violations of rule 3-700(0)(1 ), 
provides for "reproval or suspension according to the gravity 
of the offense ortheham1, ifany, tothcvictim, with due regard 
to the purposes of imposing discipline . . . . " 
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action. The attorney had the client sign undated and 
blank verification forms. During 1986, the defendant 
sought discovery through interrogatories. After a 
long period without contact with his client, the attor­
ney answered the interrogatories himselfand attached 
one of the pre-signed verifications. The suit was 
dismissed in November 1986. When the client's 
husband inquired as to the status of the lawsuit in late 
1986orearly 1987, the attorneyinformcdhimthesuit 
had been dismissed because of his wife's failure to 
cooperate. The attorney was then informed that his 
client had been dead since October 1985. In aggrava­
tion, the court considered the attorney's practice of 
having other clients sign blank verifications and that 
his use of pre-signed verifications posed a threat to 
the administration of justice. The court also consid­
ered the attorney's lack of remorse for his actions. In 
mitigation, the court considered the attorney's twenty­
five years of practice free of discipline. 

In In the Matter of Farrell (Review Dept. 
1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 490, we recom­
mended two years' suspension, stayed, on conditions 
including six months' actual suspension. In Farrell, 
the attorney, inter alia, wilfully misled a judge by 
stating that a witness had been subpoenaed to appear 
when the witness, in fact, had not yet been subpoe­
naed. We considered the attorney's prior act of 
misconduct in aggravation, which involved appearing 
without authority on behalf of a client, in making our 
recommendation. 

Increased discipline was imposed on an attorney 
who violated sections 6068, subdivision ( d) and 6106, 
among other violations, in Levin v. State Bar ( l 989) 
4 7 Cal.3d 1140. In Levin, while attempting to settle a 
lawsuit, an attorney made false statements of fact to 
an opposing counsel, settled a second lawsuit without 
his client's pennission, and failed to deliver the 
settlement funds to the client. In making its recommen­
dation, the court considered that Levin's multiple acts of 
misconduct outweighed the mitigating effect of his 
eighteen years of practice prior to discipline and war­
rantedhigherdiscipline. The SupremeCourtofCalifomia 
placed the attorney on three-years' suspension, stayed, 
and imposed six months' actual suspension. 

Past cases finding a violation of section 6104 
have resulted in disbarment, as the past cases here 
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involved other misconduct which was extremely 
serious and often aggravated. (See, e.g., In the 
Matter of Phil lips (Review Dept. 200 I) 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 315 [attorney culpable of thirteen 
counts of aggravated misconduct over a four year 
period which began less than two years after admit­
ted to practice law and involved considerable 
dishonesty and overreaching]; In the Matter of 
Brimberry (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 390 [attorney engaged in multiple acts of 
aggravated dishonest misconduct over a several­
year period startingjust four years after her admission 
to the State Bar]; In the Matter of Shinn (Review 
Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 96 [attorney's 
misconduct included a misappropriation of a large 
amount of funds and had a prior suspension for trust 
account misconduct]; In the Matter of Taylor, 
supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 563 [attorney's 
misconduct included misconduct in four matters and 
concealment from clients that he was not entitled to 
practice law; attorney defaulted and pending disci­
plinary proceedings resulting in disbarment rendered 
our disbannent recommendation moot].) Although 
the above cases all involve a violation of section 6104, 
they also involve other acts of far more serious 
misconduct with more egregious aggravation than 
respondent's conduct in the present case. 

B. Mitigation 

In order to assess the degree of discipline, we 
cannot rely on a fixed formula. ( Connor v. State Bar 
(1990)50Cal.3d 1047, 1055.) Wcmustconsidereach 
case on its own facts as well as the evidence in 
mitigation and aggravation. (Doyle v. State Bar 
(1982) 32 Cal.3d 12, 24.) The Hearing Judge found 
respondent's 1 7 years of practice without discipline in 
mitigation of his conduct. W c agree. (Hawes v. State 
Bar (1990) 51 Cal.3d 587, 596 [over ten years of 
practice before first act of misconduct given signifi­
cant weight]; std. l .2(e)(i).) Respondent offered no 
other mitigating evidence. 

C. Aggravation 

In aggravation, we find that respondent commit­
ted multiple acts of wrongdoing. (Std. l .2(b)(ii); sec 
Davis v. State Bar (1983) 33 Cal.3d 231, 241.) 
Respondent, in furtherance of pursuing the appeal, 
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made numerous appearances on behalf of his clients 
without their authority, and at the same time failed to 
respond to his clients' reasonable status inquires. 
Under any version of the facts, respondent's miscon­
duct was not isolated. 

{9] We also find that respondent engaged in bad 
faith tactics by making disparaging remarks about his 
clients in his pleadings to the Hearing Department. 
(Std. l .2(b )(iii).) Respondent made unsupported claims 
that his clients were mentally ill and senile. 
Respondent's unsupported assertions demonstrate a 
lackofapprcciationforhisconductandobligationsas 
an attorney. (See In the Matter of Bach (Review 
Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 631, 647.) 

We also find that respondent's conduct signifi­
cantly harmed his clients. (Std. l.2 (b)(iv).) 
Respondent's persistence in pursuing an unwanted 
claim created a situation in which his clients were 
unduly burdened emotionally by the fear ofincreased 
costs connected with an appeal that they did not want 
to pursue. 

In addition, respondent has demonstrated a lack 
of insight regarding the seriousness of his miscon­
duct. (Std. l .2(b )(v).) Respondent continues to claim 
that he pursued the appeal because he knew what 
was best for his clients despite express demands by 
his clients to stop. Respondent has also failed to 
understand that filing requests for an extension of 
time to file the appeal without notification to his clients 
was not an appropriate response to his clients' rc­
q uests to inform them of his actions. 

llOJ In severity, the present case is in between 
the isolated false statement reproval cases and the 
six-month actual suspension cases of Levin and 
Farrell, discussed, ante. We agree with the Hearing 
Judge that 75 days' actual suspension on the condi­
tions stated below is adequate and appropriate to 
impress upon respondent the seriousness of his ac­
tions. Accordingly, we adopt the Hearing 
Depa1tment's recommendation, although we addi­
tionally recommend compliance with the provisions 
of rule 955, California Rules of Court. 
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IV. FORMAL RECOMMENDATION 

We recommend that respondent J runes Carlisle 
Regan be suspended from the practice of law in the 
State of California for two years, that execution of 
this suspension be stayed, and that respondent be 
placed on probation for two years on the following 
conditions: that he be actually suspended forthe first 
seventy-five (75) days of the period ofhis probation 
and comply with the remaining conditions of proba­
tion adopted by the hearingjudge in his decision. 

V. PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
EXAMINATION 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistatc Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional Conference of Bar Examiners within one year 
after the effective date of the Supreme Court order 
in this matter and to provide satisfactoryproofof such 
passage to the S tatc Bar's Office of Probation within 
the same period. 

VI. RULE 955 

We recommend that respondent be required to 
comply with the provisions of California Rules of 
Court, rule 955 and to perform the acts specified in 
paragraphs (a) and (c) of that rule within 30 and 40 
calendar days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court order in this matter. 

VII. COSTS 

We further recommend that the costs incurred 
by the State Bar in this matter be awarded to the State 
Bar in accordance with Business and Professions 
Code section 6086 .10 and that such costs be payable 
in accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section6140.7. 

We concur: 

WATAI, J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 
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REVIEW DEPARTMENT 

In the Matter of 

LISA D, COPREN 

A Member of the State Bar 
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Filed August 31, 2005 

SUMMARY 
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Respondent, who had failed to appear in the State Bar Court proceedings and whose default had been 
entered, was found culpable in a single clicntmatteroffailingto perform legal services competently, committing 
an act of moral turpitude, improper solicitation of a prospective client, failure to return $7 50 in unearned fees, 
and failure to cooperate with the S tatc Bar. The hearingjudge recommended, among other things, a one-year 
stayed suspension and an actual suspension of 60 days and until respondent made restitution of unearned fees 
and until the State Bar Court granted respondent's motion to terminate her actual suspension under Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar, rule 205. (Hon. Patrice E. McElroy, Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar sought summary review of the hearing judge's recommendation. The review department 
granted summary review and agreed with the State Bar's contention that the State Bar Court should additionally 
recommend that respondent be ordered to comply with the provisions of California Rules of Court, rule 955 
if her actual suspension exceeded 90 days. 

COUNSEL FOR PARTIES 

For State Bar: Donald R. Steedman 

For Respondent: Lisa D. Copren, in pro. per. 

HEAD NOTES 

[la, b] 175 Discipline-Rule 955 
California Rules of Court, rule 955 performs the critical prophylactic function of ensuring that all 
concerned parties learn about an attorney's discipline and keeps the disciplinary authorities apprised 
ofthe location of the attorney subject to discipline. While in isolated cases compliance with this rule 
has not been recommended for an attorney actually suspended for 90 days or more, the rule does 
not require a minimum actual suspension before recommending that an attorney comply with it, and 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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it has on occasion been ordered by the Supreme Court in cases of 60 days' actual suspension; thus, 
judges have discretion to recommend compliance with the rule. 

[2a, b) 107 Procedure-Def a ult/Relief from Default 
135.50 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Division V-Defaults and Trials 
171 Discipline-Restitution 
175 Discipline-Rule 955 
Where the hearingjudge recommended for a defaulting attorney, among other things, an actual 
suspension of 60 days and until the attorney made restitution of unearned fees and until the State 
Bar Court granted the attorney's motion to tenninate her actual suspension under Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar, rule 205, the hearingjudgc should also have recommended compliance 
with paragraphs(a)and(c) of California Rules ofCourt,rule955 if the actual suspension exceeded 
90 days. 

Culpability 
Found 

213.91 
221.10 
270.31 
277.61 
490.01 

Aggravation 
Found 

521 
S82.10 
591 
611 

Mitigation 
Found 

Section 6068(i) 
Section 6106 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Rule 3-1 lO(A) [former 6-IOl(A)(2)/(B)] 
Rule 3-700(D)(2) [former 2-l l l(A)(3)] 
Miscellaneous Misconduct 

Multiple Acts 
Harm to Client 
Indifference 
Lack of Candor-Bar 

710. IO No Prior Record 
Discipline 

1013.06 Stayed Suspension-I Year 
l 015.02 Actual Suspension-2 Months 

Probation Conditions 
1021 Restitution 
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OPINION 

THE COURT:* 

The State Bar seeks summary review of a single 
issue regarding the hearingjudge 's discipline recom­
mendation in this case. Respondent Lisa D, Copren 
did not file a response to the notice of disciplinary 
charges, her default was entered, and she has not 
participated in this proceeding in either the hearing or 
review departments. 

The hearingjudge found respondent culpable in 
a single client matter of failing to perform legal 
services competently, committing an act of moral 
turpitude, improper solicitation of a prospective client, 
failure to return $7 50 in unearned fees and failure to 
cooperate with the State Bar. The hearing judge 
recommended, inter alia, that respondent be actually 
suspended for 60 days and until she made restitution 
of the unearned fees and until the State Bar Court 
granted her motion to terminate her actual suspension 
pursuant to rule 205 of the Rules of Procedure of the 
State Bar. 

The State Bar contends only that the discipline 
recommendation should include a requirement that 
respondent be ordered to comply with the provisions 
of rule 955 of the California Rules of Court if her 
actual suspension exceeds 90 days.1 We agree and 
will so modify the discipline recommendation. 

FACTS, FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

Briefly, the facts of this case are as follows. In 
April 2003, respondent sent an "Advisory Letter," 
addressed to "Dear Homeowner," to Barbara Swing, 
offering assistance to stop the foreclosure process of 

* Stovitz, P. J., Watai, J., and Epstein, J., participating. 

I. We granted the State Bar's request to designate this matter 
for summary review pursuant to rule 308 of the Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar. That rule provides that upon 
request the review department may summarily review matters 
raising limited issues which can be decided without a transcript 
of the hearing department proceedings. Matters eligible for 
summary review include cases were there is no challenge to the 
hearingjudge's material findings offactand the issues on review 
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her property by filing a Chapter 13 banlauptcy peti­
tion. The letter contained numerous guarantees, 
warranties and predictions regarding the result of any 
representation by respondent. After receiving the 
letter, Swing hired respondent and paid her $750 as 
advanced attorney fees. Swing was given a package 
of documents, which included a blank bankruptcy 
court amendment cover sheet and an undated bank­
ruptcy petition, to be signed and returned to 
respondent's office as soon as possible. Two days 
later, Swing returned the signed documents as in­
structed. In July 2003, respondent filed Swing's 
bankruptcy petition and schedules without verifying 
the accuracy of the factual information contained in 
them with Swing. They contained inaccurate· infor­
mation regarding Swing's income and expenses. 

The bankruptcy trustee filed a motion to dismiss 
Swing' s bankruptcy because respondent did not file 
a completed "Class 1 Checklist" form. A hearing on 
the motion was set for September 2003. Swing 
attended the hearing; respondent did not.2 Respon­
dent also never provided to Swing a required 
authorization form which was to have been signed by 
Swing and given directly to the trustee. 

In September 2003, Swing sent respondent a 
certified letter terminating her services. In October 
2003, Swing sent respondent a certified letter re­
questing the refund of her legal fees. Respondent did 
not respond to the letter orrefund any of the advanced 
legal fees. Respondent performed work that had no 
value to Swing. 

In January and March 20-04, a State Bar investiga­
torwrote to respondent regarding the Swing matter and 
requested a written reply. Respondent did not respond 
to the letters. In March 2004, the State Bar investigator 

are contentions that the facts support conclusions of law 
di ffcrcnt from those reached by the hearingjudge, or disagree­
ment as to the appropriate discipline, or other questions oflaw. 
The very limited contention raised by the State Bar falls 
squarely within the pardmctcrs of rule 308. 

2. Swing eventually hired new counsel. The trustee later with­
drew the motion to dismiss as a result of the efforts ofSwing's 
new counsel. 
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telephoned respondent to remind herto respond to the 
January letter. Respondent told the investigator that 
she would send a response, but she did not do so. 

The hearingjudgc found respondent culpable of: 
(I) failing to perform legal services competently in 
violation of rule 3-1 IO(A) of the Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct,3 in that respondent failed to file the 
required "Class 1 Checklist" form, failed to provide 
Swing with the required authorization form, failed to 
appear at the dismissal hearing, and failed to verify 
with Swing the accuracy of the infonnation in the 
bankruptcypetitionbeforefilingit;(2)committingan 
act of moral turpitude in violation of section 6106 of 
the Business and Professions Codc4 in that respon­
dent had Swing sign a blank bankruptcy petition form 
and then completed and filed the petition without first 
confirming with Swing the accuracy of the informa­
tion; (3) improperly soliciting Swing in violation of rule 
1--400(E)( 1) in that respondent's advisory letter to 
Swing promised her that the foreclosure process 
could be stopped, that the Chapter 13 plan would 
allow Swing to keep her home, that the Chapter 13 
bankruptcy would create an automatic stay, and that 
the garnishment of Swing's wages, if any, would 
automatically stop; ( 4) failing to return unearned fees 
in violation of rule 3-700(0)(2) in that respondent 
failed to refund the $750 advanced fees; and (5) 
failing to cooperate with the State Bar in violation of 
section 6068, subdivision (i) in that respondentfai led 
to respond to the State Bar's letters or participate in 
the investigation of the Swing matter. 

The hcaringjudgc found that respondent's lack 
of a prior record of discipline in nine years of practice 
was a mitigating factor. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, tit. 
IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct, 
std. l.2(e)(i).)5 In aggravation, the hearing judge 
found that respondent committed multiple acts of 
wrongdoing ( std. I .2(b )(ii)); that respondent harmed 
her client by depriving her ofhcr funds ( std. 1.2(6 )(iv)); 
that respondent's failure to return unearned fees 

J. All further references to rules are to these Rules unless 
othc1wisc noted. 

4. All further references to sections are to this Code unless 
otherwise noted. 
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demonstrated indifference toward rectification of or 
atonement for the consequences of her misconduct 
( std. 1. 2(b )( v) ); and that respondent failed to partici­
pate in this disciplinary matter before the entty ofher 
default(std. l.2(b)(vi)). 

After considering the discipline provided for by 
the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Profes­
sional Misconduct and relevant case law, the hearing 
judge recommended that respondent be suspended 
from the practice oflaw for one year, that execution 
of that suspension be stayed, and that respondent be 
actually suspended for 60 days and until she made 
restitution in the amount of$7 50to Swing and until the 
State Bar Court granted her motion to terminate her 
actual suspension if it exceeded two years. Without 
explanation, the hearing judge did not recommend 
that respondent be ordered comply with rule 955 of 
the California Rules of Court if the actual suspension 
exceeded 90 days. The State Bar sought reconsid­
eration of the hearingjudge's decision, arguing that 
respondent should be required to comply with rule 95 5 
if the actual suspension exceeded 90 days. The 
hcaringjudge denied the motion without explanation. 

DISCUSSION 

Rule 955 requires, among other things, that the 
suspended or disbarred attorney notify his or her 
clients, co-counsel, opposing counsel, or, in the ab­
sence of counsel, adverse parties, and any court 
where litigation is pending of the attorney's suspen­
sion and consequent inability to act in the matters, 
return client papers and property as well as any 
unearned legal fees, and file an affidavit with the 
State Bar Court showing compliance with the rule. 
The affidavit must also set forth an address where 
communications with the suspended or disbarred 
attorney may thereafter be directed. 

( laJ As the Supreme Court has noted, "rule 955 
performs the critical prophylactic function of ensur-

5. Al I further references to the Standards arc to these Standards 
unless otherwise noted. 
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ing that all concerned parties - including clients, 
cocounsel, opposing counsel or adverse parties, and 
any tribunal in which litigation is pending-learn about 
an attorney's discipline." (Lydon v. State Bar ( 1988) 
45 Cal.3dl181, 1187.)Therulealso functions to keep 
the disciplinary authorities apprised of the location of 
the attorneys subject to discipline. (Ibid.) In this latter 
regard, the rule is also critical to the administration of 
disciplinary proceedings, proceedings which are de­
signed to protect the public, courts and legal profession. 
(Cf. Durbin v. State Bar (1979)23 Cal.3d461, 468.) 

The importance of rule 955 to the over-all goal 
of the discipline system is reflected in the discipline 
imposed for an attorney's failure to comply with its 
provisions. "[D ]isbannent is generally the appropri­
ate sanction for a willful violation of rule 955." 
(Bercovich v. State Bar (1990) 50 Cal.3d 116, 131.) 
Furthermore, an attorney's failure to comply may 
also be punished as a contempt or a crime. (Cal. Rules 
of Court, rule 955(d); Lydon v. State Bar, supra, 45 
Cal.3d at p. 1187.) The criminal punishment for a 
violation of the rule is imprisonment in the state prison 
or county jail. (§ 6126, subd. (c).) 

[2a] Ordinarily, compliance with rule 955 is 
ordered where the period of actual suspension is 90 
days or more. (In the Matter of Mitchell (Review 
Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 332, 341.) The 
hearingjudge in the present case recommended that 
respondent be actually suspended for 60 days and 
until she made restitution and until the State Bar Court 
granted her motion to terminate her actual suspension 
pursuant to rule 205 of the Rules of Procedure of the 
State Bar. In view of respondent's failure to partici­
pate in this proceeding, respondent may not timely 
pay the restitution or file her Rules of Procedure of 
the State Bar, rule 205 motion. Thus, her actual 
suspension may very well exceed 90 days. The 
hearingj udge apparently recognized this possibility as 
she recommended that i frespondent' s actual suspen­
sion exceeded two years, respondent be ordered to 
demonstrate her fitness to resume the practice oflaw 
pursuant to the provisions of standard l .4(c)(ii). 

6. For practical reasons, compliance with rule 955 is not 
typically recommended for actual suspensions of\ess than 60 
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(2b] As the State Bar has pointed out, in isolated 
cases, we have in the past not recommended to the 
Supreme Court that an attorney suspended for 90 
daysormorebcorderedtocomplywithru.le955,(see, 
e.g., In the Matter of Crane & DePew (Review 
Dept. 1990) I Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 139, 161 
[ attorney had not lived in the state for several years 
and did not practice lawJ; In the Matter of Carr 
(Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 108 
[ attorney continuously suspended for approximately 
5 years prior to current proceeding].) However, none 
of the factors involved in those prior cases are present 
here. On the other hand, rule 955 of the California 
Rules of Court does not require a minimum actual 
suspension before recommending that an attorney 
comply with it, 6 and it has on occasion been ordered 
by the Supreme Court in cases of 60 days' actual 
suspension (e.g., Conroy v. State Bar (1990) 51 
Cal.3d 799,806). Thus, thehearingjudgewouldbave 
had discretion to recommend respondent's compli­
ance with rule 955 of the California Rules of Court, 
without regard to restitution. 

The hearing judge did not explain why she 
declined to recommend that respondent be ordered to 
comply with California Rules of Court, rule 955 if the 
actual suspension exceeded 90 days. She may have 
believed that imposing this condition would have been 
at odds with the purpose ofRules of Procedure of the 
State Bar, rule 205, which we have observed "is to 
eliminate the necessity of multiple proceedings against 
an attorney who is unwilling to participate in the 
disciplinary process and evidences no interest in 
maintaining his or hermembership in the bar." (In the 
Matter of Stansbury (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 103, 110.) As we explained in 
Stansbury, the "frequent scenario of a defaulting 
attorney in a case not involving serious misconduct, 
prior to the adoption of rule 205, was suspended 
suspension conditioned on the attorney complying 
with modest conditions of probation. Upon the 
attorney's failure to comply with those conditions of 
probation, a second separate proceeding based on the 
failure to comply with the conditions of probation 

days. (But see Wren v. State Bar(1983) 34 Cal.3d 81, 83, 90---
91 [45 day actual suspension].) 
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frequently resulted in discipline requiring actual sus­
pension and a requirement that the disciplinedattorney 
notifyhisorherclientsofthatdisciplineunderrule955 
of the California Rules of Court. Upon the attorney's 
failure to comp lywith California Rules of Court, rule 
955, a third additional separate proceeding com­
menced, frequently resulting in disbannent for that 
failure." (Id. at p. 110, fn. 9.) 

[1 b] Ordering respondent to comply with Cali­
fornia Rules of Court, rule 9 5 5 in this proceeding in 
which she has not participated could result in a 
subsequent disciplinary proceeding based on alleged 
failure to comply. Nevertheless, we believe that the 
importance of California Rules of Court, rule955 to 
the goals of attorney discipline far outweighs these 
considerations. For the protection of the public, courts 
and legal profession, we must ensure that all con­
cerned courts and parties arc apprised of respondent's 
suspension and are thereby afforded an opportunity 
to take steps to protect their respective interests. We 
find no discemable reason on this record to not 
incl udc this critical requirement. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons we modify the hearing 
judge's discipline recommendation to add the follow­
ing to page l 0ofherdecision: "Jfrespondcnt remains 
actually suspended for 90 days or more, it is further 
recommended that respond be ordered to comply 
with rule 95 5, California Rules of Court, and perform 
the acts specified in subdivisions (a) and (c) of that 
rule, within one hundred twenty (I 20) and one hun­
dred tllirty (130) days, respectivcl y, from the effective 
date of the Supreme Court order herein." With this 
modification, the hearingjudge' s decision is the final 
decision of the State Bar Court in this matter. (See 
Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 308(c).) 

IN THE MATTER OF COPREN 
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In an earlier case, the attorney had stipulated to an 18-month actual suspension and until compliance with 
standard 1.4( c )(ii) of the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. This discipline was 
due fo the attorney's misconduct involving four clients, which misconduct included, among other things, failing 
to provide legal services competently, failing to comply with court orders, improperly withdrawing from legal 
representation, and cornmi ttingan act involving moral turpitude. Upon the attorney's filing ofa petition for relief 
from the actual suspension, the hearingjudge determined that he had demonstrated by a preponderance of the 
evidence his rehabilitation, present fitness to practice, and present learning and ability in the general law as 
required by standard 1.4(c)(ii) of the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. (Hon. 
Robert M. Talcott, Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar requested review. The review department determined that the record contained insufficient 
evidence of the attorney's rehabilitation, fitness to practice, and learning and ability in the general law and 
reversed the decision granting the petition for relief from actual suspension. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

COUNSEL FOR p ARTIES 

Alan B. Gordon, Gordon L. Grenier 

David Alan Clare 

HE.ADNO-rES 

[la, b) 2451 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Suspension Not Lifted-Rehabilitation 
In a proceeding to be relieved of actual suspension, in view of the hearingj udge' s findings that the 
attorney had engaged in an objectively unsupportable crusade to discredit State Bar employees, 
consciously embarked on a baseless campaign against the State Bar Court's jurisdiction, and 
asserted numerous other meritless challenges to the disciplinary process, it was an abuse of 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court fort he convenience ofthe reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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discretion for the hearing judge to find that the attorney's conduct was exemplary. Because the 
attorney's prior misconduct involved pursuing meritless claims and showing disrespect for the 
interests of his clients and the judicial system by filing frivolous objections and appeals and 
disregarding lawful court orders, the attorney's actions since the imposition of discipline showed that 
the attorney's conduct was not aberrational. 

(2) 2402 Standard l.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Burden of Proof 
2451 Standard .1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Suspension Not Lifted-Rehabilitation 
In a proceeding to be relieved of actual suspension, the numerous declarations presented by the 
attorney from his family, friends, and colleagues attesting to his good character and exemplary 
conduct were insufficient as a matter of law to establish rehabilitation. While many of the 
declarations contained laudatory descriptions of the attorney's capabilities and effectiveness in 
resolving difficult problems, a close reading of the declarations showed that with few exceptions, 
the declarants were unaware of the specific nature of the attorney's wrongdoing, and almost all 
were under the misapprehension that the attorney's tumor operation in 1996-1997 was the cause 
of his misconduct resulting in prior discipline. Therefore, the declarations did not constitute 
substantial evidence to support the finding of exemplary conduct. 

[Ja- c] 2451 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Suspension Not Lifted- Rehabilitation 
In a proceeding for relief from actual suspension, where (I) the attorney continued to reject the truth 
of the facts and legal conclusions contained in his stipulation in a prior disciplinary case, claiming that 
trial counsel had illega1tycoerced him to sign it; (2)theattomey had testified recently ina deposition 
that he was not culpable of prior misconduct because an illness precluded a finding that he had acted 
wil I fully, although much of his wrongdoing either pre-dated or post-dated his health problems; and 
(3) there was no basis for the attorney's. assertion of a good faith belief in his innocence, the attorney 
showed an unwillingness to accept responsibility for his prior misconduct that rendered unreason­
able a finding that he was rehabilitated. The attorney's ongoing lack of accountability for his previous 
wrongdoing was particular! y troubling because it mirrored the aggravating circumstances found in 
prior disciplinary proceedings that he was indifferent toward the consequences of his misconduct. 

[4a- d] 2452 Standard l.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Suspension Not Lift_ed-Fitness to Practice 
In a proceeding for relief from actual suspension, where the attorney mounted a relentless and 
meritless offensive against certain State.Bar employees, indiscriminately making baseless charges 
againstthem in letters, e-mails, facsimiles, pleadings filed with the Supreme Court and the State Bar 
Court, and telephone calls to various individuals and departments of the State Bar, his behavior rose 
to the level of harassment and was indicative of his lack of respect for State Bar employees and 
for the disciplinary process. Moreover, the attorney's censure of the State Bar extended beyond 
specific employees to the judicial branch itself. These actions demonstrated that the attorney was 
unable or unwilling to conduct himselfina manner consistent with the settled definition of good moral 
character. Under these facts, the hearing judge abused his discretion when he found that the 
attorney established by a preponderance of the evidence his present fitness to practice. 

[Sa- tl 2453 Standard l.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Suspension Not Lifted- Learning in Law 
Where the attorney (1) repeatedly attempted to challenge. his membership status; (2) repeatedly 
challenged the constitutionality of Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, 
standard 1.4(c )(ii) proceedings based on his faulty legal analysis ofhis own membership status; (3) 
made jurisdictional challenges first to the Supreme Court and then to the State Bar Court on the same 
grounds; and (4) made meritless attempts to remove his disciplinary record from the State Bar's 
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[6a, b) 

[7] 

website, his behavior demonstrated an inability to evaluate facts and the law competently and to 
draw appropriate inferences and conclusions from them. In view of these facts, despite the 
attorney's having completed more than 100 hours of continuing legal education, the hearingj udge 
abused his discretion when he found that the attorney possessed learning and ability in the general 
law. 

2509 Reinstatement-Procedural Issues 
In a proceeding for relief from actual suspension, in taking into account the attorney's prior 
misconduct, the hearing judge erroneously discounted the aggravating factor of dishonesty as 
duplicative and added mitigation where there had been none; however, the error was harmless 
because it was appropriate for the hearing judge to consider aggravating factors in considering the 
amount and nature of the evidence required to justify terminating suspension and to consider 
stipulated facts ihat may have shed light on the cause of misconduct, even if identified as other 
circumstances, in assessing the likelihood that misconduct could recur. 

147 Evidence-Presumptions 
2402 Standard 1.4(c)(ii) Proceedings-Burden of Proof 
In proceedings for relief from actual suspension, an attorney's compliance with the terms of 
suspension and conditions of probation does not create a presumption of the attorney's rehabilitation; 
instead, in addition to such comp! iance, the attorney must show by a preponderance of the evidence 
his rehabilitation, present fitness to practice, and present learning and ability in the general law to 
b~ relieved of actual suspension under Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
· Misconduct, standard 1.4( c )(ii). 
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OPINION 

BY THE COURT:* 

The State Bar seeks review of a decision of a 
hearing judge granting petitioner Bradford E. 
Henschel's petition for relief from 18 months of 
actual suspension pursuantto Standards for Attorney 
Sanctions for Professional Misconduct,. standard 
1 .4( c )(ii). 1 Petitioner was admitted to practice in 
November 198 9. Beginning in 1993, petitioner com­
mitted serious misconduct in four client matters 
resulting in 1997 in a stipulated four-month actual 
suspension (Henschel l). While on probation, peti­
tioner committed additional misconduct in 2003 in 
four client matters, resulting in a second stipulated 
discipline of 18 months' suspension (Henschel fl). 
Bothdisciplinaryproceedings involved, interalia, the 
repeated failure to perform competently, failure to 
obey court orders, failure to cooperate with the State 
Bar and a demonstrated indifference to atoning for 
the consequences of his misconduct. 

Ourprcvious concerns with petitioner's compe­
tence and ability to handle serious legal matters in a 
reasoned and reasonable manner, as well as with his 
capacity to understand the duties owed to the courts, 
the public and his clients, remain of equal importance 
today. We are particularly troubled by the hearing 
judge's finding that "shortly after Petitioner filed his 
petition for relief from actual suspension, Petitioner 
consciously embarked on a course of action in which 
he repeatedly made meritless challenges to this Court's 
jurisdiction and authority to adjudicate his petition ... 
." We also are concerned with petitioner's relentless 
letter writing and e-mail campaign challenging the 
State Bar's description ofhis status as "not entitled to 
practice" on its website and in his membership 
records, which the hearingjudge found was "meritless, 
incorrect and misguided." Perhaps most troubling is 

* 8eforc Stovil7,, P. J., Watai, J. and Epstein, J. 

I. The standards arc found in title IV of the Rules of Procedure 
of the State Bar of California. Al I further references to standards 
arc to this source. 
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petitioner's protracted campaign to disparage various 
trial counsel and other State Bar employees involved 
with his disciplinary proceedings, accusing them of 
criminal misconduct, conspiracy and other acts of 
moral turpitude, which the hearing judge found was 
based upon "meritless legal arguments and objec­
tively unsuppmtable allegations .... " 

These findings by the hearing judge, as well as 
additional evidence in the record, compel the conclu­
sion that petitioner has not sustained his burden of 
proving his rehabilitation, present fitness to practice, 
and present learning and ability in the general law. 
Accordingly, we conclude the hearing judge abused 
his discretion when he granted the petition for relief 
from actual suspension, and we reverse his decision. 

I. PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL HISTORY 

A. Petitioner's Prior Misconduct 

I. Henschel I 

Effective October 3, 1997, petitioner was placed 
on three years' probation and suspended from the 
practice oflaw for 18 months, siaycd upon conditions 
including a 120-<lay actual suspension for ethical 
misconduct involving four client matters.2 

Petitioner stipulated that while representing a 
client in a family law matter in 1993, a trial court 
sanctioned petitioner for filing frivolous objections. 
Petitionerappealed, and the Court of Appeal not only 
affirmed the sanction award but also sanctioned 
petitioner forfilingafrivolousappcal. Petitioner failed 
to pay any of the sanctions. Petitioner stipulated that 
he presented a claim not warranted under existing 
law in violation of rule 3-200(B) of the Rules of 
Professional Conduct, ,1 failed to obey court orders in 
violation of Business and Professions Code section 

2. !naccordance with Evidence Codcscction 452, subdivision ( e ), 
we take judicial noticeofpctitioner's prior record of discipline. 

3. Un less otherwise noted, all further references to "rule" refer 
to the Ru \cs of Professional Conduct. 
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6103,4 and failed to cooperate with the State Bar's 
investigation in violation of section 6068, subdivi­
sion (i). 

In another matter, petitioner failed to perform 
work for and communicate with a client who em­
ployed him with regard to a marital dissolution and 
income tax matter in 1995. Petitioner did not keep the 
client apprised of developments in the case and due 
to his neglect, default was entered against the client. 
Petitioner failed to return unearned fees to the client 
even after a fee arbitrator ruled against petitioner. 
Petitioner agreed that he failed to perform compe­
tently in violation of rule 3-1 I0(A), failed to 
communicate significant information to the client in 
violation of section 6068, subdivision (m), failed to 
return client papers in violation of rule 3-700(D )( 1 ), 
failed to refund unearned fees in violation of rule 3-
700(D)(2), and failed to cooperate with the State 
Bar's investigation in violation of section 6068, subdi­
vision ( i). 

In a third matter, petitioner neglected to file an 
amended petition resulting in dismissal of the client's 
bankruptcy matter that same year. In January 1996, 
a court ordered petitioner to pay sanctions to the client 
in the amount of $300, which he did not pay, thereby 
failing to obey a court order in violation of section 
6103. 

Finally, while representing clients in a civil matter 
in 1995, petitioner failed to appear at a scheduled 
court hearing, failed to file a timely answer on behalf 
ofhis clients resulting in entry of default, and failed to 
inform his clients that default had been entered 
against them. Petitioner stipulated that he failed to 
perform competently in violation of rule 3-11 O(A). 

Petitioner's misconduct was aggravated because 
he demonstrated indifference toward rectification of 
or atonement for the consequences of his miscon­
duct, he displayed a lack of candor and cooperation, 
and his misconduct caused significant harm. 

4. Unless otherwise noted, all further references to "section" 
refer to the Business and Professions Code. 
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2. Henschel II 

On February 26, 2002, petitioner stipulated to 
several acts of misconduct involving four clients. He 
agreed to five years' probation and an 18-month 
actual suspension that would continue until he showed 
satisfactory proof to the State Bar Court of his 
rehabilitation, fitness to practice, and present learning 
and ability in the general law pursuant to standard 
l.4(c)(ii). 

All but one of petitioner's acts of misconduct in 
Henschel II occurred while petitioner was either 
subject to disciplinary proceedings or on probation in 
Henschel I. In June 1997, petitioner filed a bank­
ruptcy petition for Robbie Peron that was dismissed 
the following month due to failure to file required 
schedules. The dismissal order barred Peron from 
filing another banlauptcypetition untilJ anuary 1998. 
Nevertheless, petitioner filed a second bankruptcy 
petition on Peron's behalfin October 1997. Petitioner 
stipulated that by doing so, he committed acts invo lv­
ingmoral turpitude, dishonesty or cormption in violation 
of section 6106. Additionally, while petitioner was 
suspended from the practice of law in October 1997, 
he negotiated a claim with one of Peron's creditors 
without informing the creditor that he was suspended 
from the practice oflaw, there by unlawfully holding 
himself out as practicing or entitled to practice law 
when he was not permitted to do so. 

Between September 1996 and January 1997, 
petitioner violated rule 3-L IO(A) when he failed to 
appear at four separate bankruptcy hearings on 
behalf of Victor Merhaut. The bankruptcy court 
ordered petitioner to disgorge the advanced fees 
Merhaut paid him, but he failed to comply with the 
order in violation of section 6103. 

In September 1995, petitioner violated rule 3-
11 0(A) when he failed to file a timely opposition to a 
summary judgment motion, failed to appear at the 
he.aring of said motion, and failed to appear at a 
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pretrial conference while representing Elias and 
Shahrzad Rohbani in a civil proceeding. In early 1996, 
the Rohbanis requested that petitioner return their 
client file but peti ti onerrefused, claiming he was too 
busy. Almost two years later, petitioner's wife ex­
plained to the Rohbanis that petitioner could neither 
locate their file nor afford to return it. Petitioner 
stipulated he violated rule 3-·700(D)(l) and section 
6103 since he was required to comply with rule 955s 
of the California Rules of Court as a result of a 
California Supreme Court order suspending peti­
tioner from the practice oflaw. 

In October 1999, Blanca Echeverria employed 
petitioner to represent her and her son in a personal 
injury matter resulting from an automobile accident. 
In February 2000, petitioner misrepresented to a 
clinic providing treatment to Echeverria and her son 
that their injuries were not the result of the automobile 
accident. In March 2000, petitioner's paralegal in­
formed Echeverria that pcti tionerwithdrew from the 
case. Petitioner agreed that he improperly withdrew 
from representation in violation of rule 3-700(A)(2 ). 

Petitioner further stipulated his misconduct was 
aggravated because he had a prior record of disci­
pline (Henschel I), he demonstrated indifference 
toward rectification of or atonement for the conse­
quences of his misconduct, he displayed a lack of 
candor and cooperation, he committed multiple acts 
of wrongdoing, and his misconduct caused significant 
harm and was surrounded by dishonesty. The parties 
did not stipulate to any mitigating circumstances but 
in a section designated "OTHER CIRCUM­
STANCES" they noted that petitioner "suffered 
severe depression" as a result of events occurring in 
1996 and 1997 including a car accident, nose surgery, 
his wife's job loss, and his reduced income due to his 
actual suspension in October 1997. The parties also 
acknowledged that petitioner implemented changes 
in his office practices by regularly meeting with 
clients, utilizing a new tickler system, and changing 
the type of cases he accepted from bankruptcy and 
personal injury to criminal defense. 

5. Th is rule required petitioner to, inter alia, deli vcr any papers 
or other property to all cl ienls he represented in matters 
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B. Petitioner's Post-Stipulation Actions 

1. Disavowal of Stipulation 

Almost immediately after petitioner signed the 
stipulation in Henschel II, he sought to set it aside, 
asserting that it was an illegal adhesion contract 
containing as many as 32 errors. The Supreme Court 
denied review and filed its order in case No. S 108 811 
on November 13, 2002, imposing the stipulated disci­
pline. Petitioner requested rehearing, asking the court 
to consider his charges of criminal conduct by the 
prosecuting attorneys during the proceedings in 
Henschel II. Rehearing was denied by the Supreme 
Court on January 15, 2003, and his actual suspension 
began on that date. 

2. Claims of State Bar Misconduct 

a. Charges of criminal conduct by 
deputy trial counsel 

Less than one month after the Supreme Court 
denied review ofhis petition, petitioner commenced a 
protracted crusade against the prosecutors and other 
State Bar employees who were involved in his disci­
plinary proceedings. Between December 2002 and 
January 2004, petitioner telephoned and wrote nu­
merous letters and e-mails to various State Bar 
employees, department heads and the Office of Chief 
Trial Counsel asserting that trial counsel suborned the 
perjury of a witness and withheld evidence of the 
felonyarrestandconvictionofanotherwitnessduring 
the proceedings in Henschel IT. Petitioner further 
claimed that deputy trial counsel committed criminal 
acts of moral turpitude when they "coerced" him to 
enter into a stipulation. 

Jn one letter to the State Bar Membership Billing 
Services, petitioner noted his annual dues were erro­
neous! y computed and then, as a completely unrelated 
subject matter, he repeated the above-described 
complaints, concluding: "Dishonesty by State Bar 
Prosecutors constitutes MOR AL TURPITUDE. The 

pending at the time of his suspension, or to notify the clients 
where the papers and property could be obtained. 
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State Bar is charged with keeping the public safe 
from acts of Moral Turpitude by lawyers. In this 
case the State Bar has used Moral Turpitude as a 
trial tactic to win a case they should have never 
filed." Petitioner indicated that he was "preparing 
a bar complaint against [the State Bar prosecu­
tors], and I am also preparing a criminal complaint 
againstthern for the crimes they committed against 
me during the State Bar Court hearing .... "5 

After a member of the State Bar Intake Unit 
notified petitioner in writing on September 16, 
2003 that there was no evidence to support his 
charges against the State Bar attorneys, petitioner 
wrote as follows: "I do not consider Jayne Kim's 
using perjury, su horning perjury, concealing mate­
rial evidence, or inducing [my attorney] to not 
prepare a rebuttal witness, or having Ms. Kim 
'instructing' official State Bar letters to be sentto 
me, threatening probation violation enforcement. 
.. to be a vendetta against me. I simply consider 
her actions to be dishonest, criminal, unethical, and 
a clear violation of her duties as a prosecutor in 
State Bar Proceedings." 

In January of 2004, petitioner sent an e--mail 
to employees at the State Bar and the State Bar 
Court, asking to address the Regulation, Admis­
sions and Di sci p Ii ne Oversight Committee (RAD) 
of the State Bar's Board of Governors on a 
number of topics, including, "Whether or not the 
use of perjury and subordination of perjury in my 
2001 discipline case, by State Bar Prosecutors 
Kimberly Anderson and Jayne Kim, is a recurrent 

6, Although unrelated to his allegations of prosecutorial mis­
conduct, petitioner al ,o repeatedly asserted in his 
correspondence to the State Bar that it vi olatcd federal postal 
laws and regulations with respect to its useofa mailing permi I. 

7. The stipulation petitioner executed in Henschel //required 
petitioner to "obtain psychiatric or psychological help/ treat­
ment from a duly licensed psychiatrist, psychologist or 
clinical social worker at [petitioner's] own expense a minimum 
of 1 times [sic] per month and. , . furnish evidence to the 
Probation Unit that [petitioner] is so complying with each 
quarterly report." 
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circumstance, tactics used by the State Bar disci­
pline system .... " 

b. Charges of criminal com,piracy by 
deputy trial counsel 

Between August 30 and September 19, 2003, 
petitioner wrote at least six more letters of com­
plaint to the State Bar regarding one of the same 
State Bar prosecutors, this time accusing her in 
her capacity as supervising attorney of the Office 
of Probation of"making a false threat ofadminis­
trative enforcement and offering false evidence, 
preparing false evidence, or attempting to commit 
those crimes" because he maintained she inten­
tionally directed a probation deputy to falsely 
notify petitioner that he was not in compliance with 
his probation conditions. The State Bar's notice 
had erroneously advised petitioner that he had 
failed to timely file a monthly, as opposed to a 
quarterly, report confirming his monthly visits to 
a licensed psychiatrist, psychologist, or clinical 
social worker.7 Petitioner also made numerous 
telephone calls to various State Bar personnel, 
including the Chief Trial Counsel and the State Bar 
president, John Van de Kamp, to discuss the 
"misconduct" of the State Bar prosecutor. 

Even after the supervising attorney informed 
petitioner that he was in compliance with his 
probation conditions, petitioner continued to write 
numerous letters to various State Bar personnel, 
accusing the supervising attorney of behaving 
dishonestly and committing a crime by falsely 

The probation deputy's notice, dated August 27, 2003, 
advised pcliti oner that"the Office of Probation did not receive 
a mental health report which was due on August l , 2003. Please 
submit the required documentation immediately. [~] Further, 
under advisement of my supervisor, Ms. Jayne Kim, I have 
been instructed to inform you that you are required to continue 
submitting these reports until the court has made its ruling on 
your motion .... [UThc Office of Probation docs not have the 
authority to extend comp I iancc dates or modify the terms and 
conditions of the discipline order. Failure to timely submit 
reports or any other proof of compliance will result in a 
non-compliance referral to the Enforcement Unit, Office 
of the Chief Trial Counsel." (Emphasis in original.) 
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threatening administrative action against him as 
part of a criminal conspiracy. Indeed, the super­
vising attorney's letter clarifying petitioner's 
probation status only served to exacerbate his ire.8 

c. Challenge to his membership status 

Petitioner took on a new challenge to the State 
Bar when he wrote 12 letters in rapid succession to 
the State Bar's Membership Records department on 
August 27, August 31, September 5, September 6, 
September 7, September 16, September 19, Septem­
ber 25, September 30, October 2, and October 4, 
2003, claiming that his "membership record is incor­
rect and needs to be changed" because he was listed 
as "not entitled" when in fact he maintained he was 
an "inactive member. "Typical of these is the letterof 
October 4th to the State Bar's executive director and 
Membership Records office asserting that "[t]here is 
no State Bar membership status, known as NOT 
ENTffLED TO PRACTICE." He continued: "Your 
on line State Barrecords for me state I am not entitled 
to practice as my status .... This is a false statement. 
I am an inactive member of the state bar and I should 
be listed that way in your records." He further 
complained that the Records department "appears to 
be prejudiced in the manner in which you display 
members records for the public to access" comparing 
his 1 is ting to that of James Heiting ( currentlypresi dent 
of the State Bar). He closed with a warning: "[I]f my 
State Bar records remain erroneous I will bring this 
matter before the State Bar Court Hearing Depart­
ment to obtain an order, requiring you to change my 
status to inactive .... Please take notice that State 
Bar Court orders are enforceable in the Superior 
Court of Los Angeles County." 

fn October 2003, the Chief Assistant General 
Counsel for the State Bar wrote to petitioner, giving 

8. The supervising attorney wrote on August 28, 2003: "This 
letter confirms our telephone conversation this afternoon in 
which you advised me that you had ~ubrnilted a menial heal th 
report to Probation Deputy Shuntince Brinson for the month 
of August 2003. As I infonncd you this afiernoon, I spoke to 
Ms. Brinson regarding your August 2003, mental health report, 
after rccci vi ng a message from you earlier today. Ms. Brinson 
advised me that upon further review of your file she did have 
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him a detailed explanation of the various membership 
status designations of the State Bar. He explained: 
"Whether a member is active or inactive, he or she 
may be 'suspended from practice' or 'suspended 
from membership.' A member who is suspended is 
not entitled to practice law. (See Bus. & Prof. Code 
sec. 6126(b).) Therefore, the term 'Not entitled to 
Practice' correctly identifies your status as a member 
who is not entitled to practice law in California. (See 
e.g., Bus. &Prof. Code sec. 6006 [Inactive members 
are not entitled to practice law J. "In January 2004, the 
State Bar wrote to petitioner again advising him that 
describing himself as an inactive member of the State 
Bar was an inaccurate characterization of his mem­
bership status. 

Notwithstanding this explanation, petitioner con­
tinued his quarrel with his status as "not entitled to 
practice." In a letter dated July 26, 2004, to a deputy 
trial counsel notifying the Bar of a change in his 
address, he listed himself as "Not a member of the 
State Bar." By way of explanation, he stated: "The 
law on State Bar membership clearly states that there 
are only two categories of State Bar membership, 
ACTIVE AND INACTNE. Since I am not an 
active member of the State Bar Association due to 
my suspension from membership, and I am not an 
inactive member of the State Bar, I therefore am not 
a member of the State Bar of California." He contin­
ued: "As for my suspension from membership in the 
State Bar, while there is no State Bar membership 
status, known as NOT ENTITLED TO PRACTICE 
the State Bar General Counsel told me that the State 
can [ sic 1 is not limited in anyway in categorizing people, 
even those you [ sic J are not members of the State Bar 
where for the long term or the short term. Since 
everyone in the world, who are [sic] not active members 
of the State Bar are NOT ENTITLED TO PRAC­
TICE LAW IN CALIFORNIA, this designation is not 

a mental health report from Dr, [sic] Steven Schenkel, M.D. for 
the month of August 2003. As such, you arc currently in 
compliance with the conditions of probation, including the 
mental health condition." Petitioner interpreted her letter as 
intending to mislead him "that I was required to report 
monthly, [ which was] a false ~tatemenL ... " He then wrote 
several more letters of complaint to the State Bar about the 
purporti:d!y misleading statements made by the auomey in her 
i\ ugust 28, 2003 letter. 
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only false and misleading but is so vague as to be 
meaningless. [Para.]. .. By withholding from the 
public, in mypublished profile, thatlamnotamember 
of the State Bar, the public is being misled and my 
profile appears to show that I AM A MEMBER of 
the State Bar when I am not during my suspen­
sion!!!!" 

d. Charges of violations of Rules of 
Confidentiality by State Bar 

In July 2004, petitioner wrote two letters to the 
State Bar's Director of Membership Records de­
manding that all references to his disciplinary record 
be removed from the State Bar's website, claiming 
that section 6002.1 9 forbids the State Bar from 
making his di sci pl ine records available to the general 
public unless required to do so by a condition of 
probation. Petitioner stated that"ifmyprofilerecords 
are not changed ... to eliminate all references to 
discipline which are now unlawfully available to the 
general public, I will seek a writ of mandate from the 
Supreme Court of California ordering those records 
be kept from the general public in compliance with 
the law." 

e. Charges of deceit by deputy trial 
counsel 

As recently as February 14, 2005, in connection 
with the instant proceedings, petitioner wrote letters 
to State Bar President Van de Kamp and the Acting 

9. Section 6002.1 requires membcrsofthe State Barto maintain, 
among other things, a current office address and telephone 
number with the membership records office of the State Bar. 
Subdivision (a)(S) ofthatsection requires members Lo maintain 
on the official membership records "Such other information as 
may be required by agreement with or by conditions of probation 
imposed by the agency charged with attomcy discipline," but 
section6002. l subdivision (d)statesthat"Thc StatcBarshall not 
rnakc available to the gcncn1l public the infonnation specified in 
paragraph (5) of subdivision (a) unless required to be made so 
available by a condition of probation ... " 

I 0. The deposition questioning at issue is as follows: "Q Now, 
you said you had a home office at your house; correct? ii A Yes. 
I did say that. ii Q Why don't you list this as your official bar 
mcmbcr,hip? ~ A Why don't [?,Q Yes. "l" A I like my privacy. 
. . ~ ... 1 Q Okay. You' re familiar, though, with Rusincss and 
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Chief Trial Counsel, accusing three named deputy 
trial counsel of"further acts of misconduct" involving 
criminal acts of deceit. Petitioner claimed that three 
State Bar prosecutors made "false and frivolous 
accusations" against him in this matter when they 
"falsely asserted that I violated B&P 6002.1 by 
maintaining a PO box as my current bar address." 
According to petitioner, the trial counsel made this 
"direct accusation" while conducting his .deposi­
tion."10 Petitioner further stated in his letters that he 
had a written opinion from the State Bar that he could 
use a PO box as his official address, thereby "making 
the fa) se assertions [by deputy trial counsel] a deceit 
and crime under B&P 6128, because the deceit was 
made to a party, me. I request that you look into this 
unethical conduct by your subordinates." 

C. Commencement of Std. l.4(c)(ii) Proceedings 

1. Petitioner's Jurisdictional Challenges and 
Ejf orts to Transfer Proceedings 

On June 24, 2004, petitioner filed his verified 
petition for relief from actual suspension in the State 
Bar Court pursuant to standard 1.4(c)(ii) and in 
accordance with Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, 
rules 630 and 631 (Petition). One month later, in July 
2004, petitioner challenged thi scourt' s jurisdiction to 
hear this matter in his Initial Status Conference 
Memorandum (Memorandum), even though he had 
earlier invoked the jurisdiction of the court when he 
initiated these proceedings. 11 

Professions Code 6002.1 (a) I? I see you have your rules book 
in front of you. So you can take a look at it., Affyou'reasking 
mcifl'mfamiliarwith 1t, I have heard ofit, and I couldn't recite 
it to you. 600 - what was that? i: Q 6002.1, Section (a)l? ii A 
Yeah. ii Q So you have an office, but you're not listing it on the 
records; is that correct?, A That's not corrcct. The office that 
I have in the back of my house is a room that I had bui It that 
I usetodosomework. lt'snotanofficial office. I call itan office. 
I could call 'it a den ... , 1 ... , Q Do you feel that that rule that 
we just cited, Rule 6002.1 does not apply to you? ii A I have 
been in compliance with this rule." 

11. Petitioner attached several irrelevant exhibits to th is pleading 
such as a newspaper article regarding a lawsuit against the State 
Bar by a Fonner deputy trial counsel, petitioner's deposition 
notice, and substitution and association of counsel notices filed 
in this proceeding. 
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In support of his jurisdictional argument, peti­
tioner asserted in his Memorandum, as he had 
repeatedly done in the past, that he was not a member 
of the State Bar due to his actual suspension. He 
maintained the proceedings were reinstatement pro­
ceedings and cited provisions govemingreinstatement. 
He thus argued: "Since petitioner Henschel is NOT 
A MEMBER of the State Bar Rule [sic] 1.4 sanctions 
don't apply to him .... He won't be a member until he 
is re-admitted and his actual suspension from mem­
bership ends. But when his suspension from 
membership ends Rule [sic] l.4(c)(ii)wouldhaveno 
practical or legal effect." Petitioner further argued 
that State Bar Court judges . were referees, not 
judges, and therefore could not hear his Petition 
without his consent. 12 He also asserted that standard 
1.4 was ''unintelligibl e"and ''unconstitutionally vague, 
ambiguous to the point of absurdity." He argued: 
"The Rule [standard l .4(c)(ii)] doesn't make sense, 
was written by the State Bar ... and because it is 
nonsense shows the public that the bar does not have 
sufficient competence to write a non-ambiguous 
rule." 

Finally, petitioner argued that the State Bar had 
a long history of harm to the public and the legal 
profession, citing as examples a civil rights lawsuit 
(since dismissed by the federal court) by a former 
prosecutor, an "illegal lobbying contract giving a 
bonus to their lobbyist" and previous regulations 
governing attorney advertising (which were elimi­
natcdin 1977).Heargued: "Byenactingandenforcing 
these unconstitutional Ru \es against Attorneys to the 
detrimcn to flegal consumers in California the Bar has 
shown a past History of not knowing what laws are 
proper and what laws are unconstitutional." He 
added: "Since the State Bar is an arm of the Supreme 
Court, these dishonest and unlawful acts reflect badly 
on the State Supreme Court's ability to supervise the 
State Bar of California from violating the political 
laws of the State." He thus questioned: "How can the 
public have confidence in a Supreme Court which 
unconstitutionally abdicates its judicial authority and 
violates the rights of a party?" 

12. On July 26, 2004, petitioner filed a Notice of Non-Consent 
to have a hcaringJudgc (i.e., "referee") hc.ir his case. In that 
pleading as well as in a "N oticc ofDiscovery Objection "he filed 
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On September 3, 2004, petitioner filed with the 
California Supreme Court a "Motion to Transfer 
Readmission Petition from the State Bar Court to the 
California Supreme Court for Good Cause" (Motion 
to Transfer) raising the same arguments that he 
asserted in his Memorandum with respect to the 
unconstitutional vagueness of standard 1.4( c )( ii), lack 
of jurisdiction of the State Bar Court because be was 
not a member of the State Bar, and the absence of 
authority of State Bar "referees" (judges) to hear his 
case without his consent. He thus asserted: "{B]ecause 
of several and many improper actions by the State 
Bar, including but not limited to violating State Politi­
cal Laws and forcing their Prosecutor to violate the 
Rules of Professional conduct. .. I do not consent to 
the use of general reference referees, commissioners 
or temporary judges, used in the State Bar Court. 
That leaves this court as the only forum remaining to 
hear a rule [sic ]l .4(c )(ii) readmission petition." The 
Supreme Court denied petitioner's Motion to Trans­
fer on November 10, 2004. 

On November 30, 2004, less than three weeks 
after the Supreme Court denied his Motion to Trans­
fer, petitioner filed in this court a second motion to 
transfer the case to the Supreme Court (Second 
Motion to Transfer). Although he referenced the 
Motion to Transfer filed in the Supreme Court, 
petitioner did not advise this court that the Supreme 
Court had denied his previous Motion to Transfer. He 
again asserted essentially the same grounds for 
transferring the case to the Supreme Court: "( 1) The 
State Bar Court cannot act without the direct consent 
of all parties ... , (2) [he was not a member of the State 
Bar and therefore] the Rule [sic] 1.4 (c)(ii) proceed­
ings are unconstitutional; and (3) The State Bar has 
committed acts, that if done by an attorney would be 
the basis of disbannent and that they refuse to 
concede that petitioner Henschel has complied with 
the order of this comt and the State Bar probation 
unit." 

Petitioner concurrently filed a separate motion 
requestingj udicial notice (Motion for Judicial Notice) 

with the State Bar Court on July 26, 2004, petitioner made 
addition al references to himself as "not a member of the state 
bar" and to the hearing judge as a "referee." 
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seeking mandatory judicial notice of various facts 
outside the ambit of Evidence Code section 451 such 
as "Petitioner Henschel is neither an active nor 
inactive member of the State Bar," and "Petitioner 
Henschel is not an attorney and cannot hold himself 
out as an attorney under penalty of committing a 
felony."13 

On January 5, 2005, the hearing judge denied 
petitioner's Second Motion to Transfer and his Mo­
tion for Judicial Notice. 

At his deposition taken in this matter in January 
2005, petitioner testified that with respect to Henschel 
II, he did not intend to stipulate to the truth of the facts 
and legal conclusions contained in the stipulation but 
merely agreed to end the proceedings as criminal 
defendants do under People v. West and that the 
hearing judge acknowledged this.14 When asked 
whether he did anything wrong in the underlying 
disciplinary matter, petitionerreplied that because he 
was sick, he did not believe he was acting willfully. 
Petitioner also contended that his rights were violated 
in J Jenschel If and that he was compelled to sign the 
stipulation because the State Bar withheld evidence 
and because the State Bar was "willing to put on 
somebody and allow them to petjure themselves." 

2. Petitioner's Evidence of Rehabilitation, 
Present Fitness to Practice, and Present Learn­
ing and Ability in the General Law 

Petitioner submitted unrebutted evidence that he 
comp lied with the conditions of his probation, includ­
ing satisfactory completion of the State Bar's Ethics 
School and completion of continuing legal education 
(CLE) in the areas of law office management and 
client relations. In fact, petitioner completed more 
than 100 hours of CLE between March 2003 and 

13. In virtually all ofhis pleadings filed in the Supreme Court and 
in this court petitioner denominated himself as a "former 
rncnibcr of the State Bar." 

14. People v. West ( 1970) 3 Cal.3<l 595, 604, recognized that a 
plea of guilty or nolo coritendere is not rendered involuntary 
merely because it is the product ofa plea bargain. Petitioner's 
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June 2004. Petitioner also volunteered in mock trial 
competitions for middle and high school students and 
at two law schools. He donated computers to the Los 
Angeles Free Clinic, and gave presentations as a 
speaker for an environmental organization. Petitioner 
provided declarations from two psychiatrists who 
reported in May and August 2003 that petitioner did 
not at that time suffer from a significant mental 
disorder. (In 2003, petitioner obtained an order termi­
nating a probation condition that required him to 
obtain psychiatric treatment.) 

Petitioner also provided declarations from 28 
individuals, including four attorneys, generally attest­
ing to petitioner's good character, learning and ability 
in the law, and rehabilitation. Many declarants pro­
vided compelling descriptions of how petitioner's 
legal service was invaluable to them because it saved 
their business or home or kept them or a family 
memberoutofjail. Many also indicated that petitioner 
provided service free of charge or for a nominal fee. 
However, none of these declarations described the 
nature of petitioner's wrongdoing; rather, the vast 
majority of them contained the following formulaic 
language: "I am fully a ware of Mr. Henschel' s tumor 
operation in 1996--1997 that led to his discipline of 4 
months and his recent discipline of I 8 months. He 
informed me of these events." Virtually all of 
petitioner's misconduct in Henschel I occurred be­
tween 1993 and 199S before his tumor operation, and 
some of the misconduct in Henschel II occurred 
between 1999 and 2000, which was well after his 
health problems. 

Between March to December 2003, petitioner 
worked as an office manager and paralegal for 
attorney Harry Pike. From January 2004 to the 
present, petitioner has been working as a paralegal 
for the Law Office of Frank Williams, Jr. 

reliance on this case is misplaced since attorney disciplinary 
proccedingsarcuniqucand not governed by the rules of criminal 
procedure. (Walkerv. State Bar( 1989)49 Cal.3d 1107, 1115; 
Brotskyv. StateBar(I 962)57Cal.2d287, 300--302.)Contrary 
to petitioner's assertion, we find no evidence that the State 13ar 
Court judge who approved the stipulation in Henschel II 
acknowledged or referenced People v. West. Furthermore, 
petitioner did not enter a nolo contendere pica in Henschel If. 



878 

3. The State Bar's Opposition to Rehabilitation 
and Fitness to Practice 

On February 22, 2005, the State Bar filed an 
opposition (Opposition) to petitioner's request to be 
relieved of actual suspension contending that peti­
tioner failed to establish his rehabilitation and failed to 
show that he possesses present learning and ability in 
the general law. In supportofits Opposition, the State 
Bar included, among other things, pleadings petitioner 
filed in connection with this proceeding, correspon­
dence and e-mail messages petitioner authored, a 
transcriptofpetitioner'sdepositiontakenonJanuary27, 
2005, and multiple declarations includingthatofNicole 
Young, an attorney who averred that in November 
2003 while petitioner was suspended from the prac­
ticeoflaw, she discussed the possibility of settlement 
of a case with petitioner, who advised her about the 
legal aspects of the case. 

4. Hearing Judge 's Determinations 

After the parties agreed to waive a hearing and 
submit the matter for decision based upon documen­
tary evidence and 'NTitten briefing, the hearingjudge 
took the matter under submission on May 17, 2005. 
On June 2, 2005, the hearingj udge filed his decision, 
granting petitioner's petition for relief from actual 
suspension, finding that petitioner demonstrated by a 
preponderance of the evidence his rehabilitation, 
present fitness to practice, and present learning and 
ability in the general law as required by standard 
1.4(c)(ii). 

On June 22, 2005, the State Bar filed a Petition 
for Review and Request for Oral Argument. 

15. In adopting the abuse of discretion standard of review, we 
reject the State Bar' sa~senion that tile hearingjudgc abused his 
discretion when he did not find petitioner held himself out as 
entitled to practice and engaged in the unauthori:rcd practice of 
law(UPL)whilcsuspcndcd. Thchearingj udge found petitioner's 
dcclarati on to be credible and accepted his version ofthc facts 
a[Jt)ut his mvolvcmcnt in the Garcia lawsuit even though the 
dee laration conflicted with the declarations or the Garcias 
(whose statcmcnt5 he found not to be credible) and Nicole 
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II. DISCUSSION 

In proceedings conducted pursuant to Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar, rule 630 et seq., the 
standard of review is abuse of discretion. (In the 
Matter of Murphy (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 571, 577.)Accordingly, we review the 
decision of the hearingjudge '"not with an intention of 
substituting the view of this court for that of the 
hearing judge, but rather with the intention of 
"employ[ing] the equivalent of the substantial evi­
dence test by accepting the trial court's resolution of 
credibility and conflicting substantial evidence, and its 
choice of possible reasonable inferences [ citations 
omittedJ."' (In the Matter of Murphy (Review 
Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 571, 577-
578.)" (In the Matter of Terrones (Review Dept. 
2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 289, 293.)15 We also 
review the record to determine if any errors of law 
have been committed. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
300(k).) 

Standard 1.4( c )(ii) requires thatpeti ti oner estab­
lish by a preponderance of the evidence his 
rehabilitation, present fitness to practice, and present 
learning and ability in the general law. Moreover, 
petitioner must show, at a minimum, strict compliance 
with the terms of probation, exemplary conduct from 
the time of the imposition of the prior discipline, and 
the unlikelihood that the conduct leading to the prior 
discipline would be repeated. (In the Matter of 
Murphy, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. atp. 581.) 

We agree with the hearing judge's finding that 
petitioner strictly complied with the conditions of his 
probation and satisfied the terms of his actual 

Young, who was opposing counsel in the Garcia matter. As 
noted above, in these proceedings, we may not reweigh the 
evidence, but rather we must accept the hearing judge's 
resolution of credibility and conflicting evidence. (ln the Maller 
ofTerrones, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. atp. 293.) In the 
absence of reweighing this evidence, we simply do not find in 
the record that there is a preponderance ofcvidenceestablishing 
either UPL or that petitioner held himself out to the Garcias as 
entitled to practice. 
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suspension. However, several of the hearingjudge's 
other findings, discussed below, are at odds with his 
cone \us ion that petitioner has satisfied the additional 
requirements of standard 1.4( c )(ii). 

A. Rehabilitation 

We consider petitioner's actions since his last 
discipline "and determine whether they, in light of all 
of his prior misconduct, sufficiently demonstrateh~s 
rehabilitation by a preponderance of the evidence." 
(In the Matter of Murphy, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar _ 
Ct. Rptr. at p. 581.) 

1. Absence of Exemplary Conduct 

[laJ In finding exemplary conduct, the hearing 
judgefocusedonpetitioner'scommunityserviceand 
his excellent work record as an office manager and 
paralegal, but he ignored the totality of petitioner's 
actions since his last discipline. Indeed, in view of the 
hearingjudge' sown findings that petitioner engaged 
in an "objectively unsupportable" crusade to discredit 
State Bar employees, "consciously embarked" on a 
baseless campaign against this court's jurisdiction 
and asserted numerous other meritless challenges to 
the disciplinary process, we conclude it was an abuse 
of discretion to find that petitioner's conduct was 
exemplary. (See, e.g., In the Matter of Giddens 
(Review Dept. 1990) l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 25, 
35-36 [petitioner who failed to show justification of 
lawsuit he filed for punitive damages failed to sustain 
burden of showing exemplary conduct].) 

[lb J Petitioner must establish "that the conduct 
evidencing rehabilitation is such that the court may 
make a determination that the conduct leading to the 
discipline ... is not likely to be repeated." (In the 
Matter of Murphy, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
at p. 581.) Petitioner's prior misconduct involved 
pursuing meri tl ess claims and showing disrespect for 
the interests of his clients and the judicial system hy 
filing frivolous objections and appeals and disregard­
ing la wfulcourt orders. His conduct since the imposition 
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of his actual suspension in Henschel II replicates 
some of this previous misconduct. Thus, petitioner's 
actions since the imposition of discipline should have 
put the hearingj udge "on notice that the conduct was 
not aberrational, and that the problems were deeply 
rooted." (In the Matter of Murphy, supra, 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 583.) 

(2) The hearingjudge also erred in his consider­
ation of the numerous declarations attesting to 
petitioner's good character and exemplary conduct. 
These declarations from family, friends and col­
leagues are insufficient as a matter oflaw to establish 
rehabilitation. To be sure, many of the declarations 
contained laudatory descriptions of petitioner's capa­
bilities and effectiveness in resolving difficultproblerns. 
But a close reading of these declarations shows that 
with few exceptions, the declarants were unaware of 
the specific nature of petitioner's wrongdoing, and 
almost all were under the misapprehension that his 
tumor operation in 1996-1997 was the cause of his 
misconduct in Henschel I and JI. As such, we find 
these declarations do not constitute substantial evi­
dence to support the hearing judge's finding of 
exemplary conduct. (Std. 1.2(e)(vi); In re Ford 
(1988)44 CaL3d 810,818; seealsoSeidev. Commit­
tee of Bar Examiners (1989) 49 Cal.3d 933, 939.) 

2. Lack of Remorse 

[3a) We also look for evidence that petitioner 
understands the nature of his misconduct. (In the 
Matter of Miller (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct Rptr. 423, 431.)16 Petitioner continues to 
reject the truth of the facts and legal conclusions 
contained in his stipulation in Henschel II, claiming 
that trial counsel illegally coerced him to sign it Al so, 
as recently as January 2005, during his deposition, 
petitioner testified that he was not culpable ofhis prior 
ethical misconduct because his illnesses precluded a 
finding that he had acted wi If ully. The hearingj udge 
excused petitioner's lack of accountability because it 
was "based on an erroneous belief that lpetitioner] is 
somehow not responsible for his conduct because of 

16. Although the standard of proof is higher in reinstatement 
proceedings, we consider to be instructive reinstatement cases 
which address the issue of rehabilitation. 
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his various illnesses which affected his memory and 
judgment in 1996 and 1997 .... " Petitioner's belief 
that he is not· culpable of misconduct is indeed 
"erroneous" since much of his wrongdoing either 
pre---<lated or post---<lated his health problems. In In 
the Matter of Ainsworth (Review Dept. 1998) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 894, 899, we held that the attorney 
had not shown rehabilitation because he continued to 
minimize and deny his serious wrongdoing. 

[3b] Petitioner argues that his absence of re­
morse does not undermine his showing of rehabilitation 
but instead reinforces his showing of good character· 
because he is unwilling to perform an artificial act of 
contrition, citing Hall v. Committee of Bar Examin­
ers (1979) 25 Cal.3d 730. However, in Hall. the 
Supreme Court found that Hal! had offered evidence 
of a good faith basis for his assertion of innocence. 
We find no such basis here for the assertion of a good 
faith belief. "'The law does not require false peni­
tence. [Citation.] But it does require that the [ attorney] 
accept responsibility for his acts and come to grips 
with his culpability. [Citation.]' [Citation.]" (In the 
Matter ofDavL~ (Review Dept. 2003) 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 576, 595.) 

[3c] In view of petitioner's unwillingness to 
accept responsibility for his prior misconduct, we 
conclude it was unreasonable for the hcaringjudgeto 
find thatpetitioneris rehabilitated. Petitioner's ongo­
ing lack of accountability for his previous wrongdoing 
is particularly troubling to us since it mirrors the 
aggravating circumstances of indifference toward 
the consequences of his misconduct, which were 
present in both Henschel I and Henschel II. 

B. Petitioner's Fitness to Practice Law 

[4a] Petitioner is further obligated to prove by a 
preponderance of the evidence his present fitness to 
practice law. (Std. 1.4(c)(ii); Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, mle 634.) Accordingly, petitioner must show that 
he possesses the requisite good moral character to 
practice law in this state. (In re Gossage (2000) 23 
Cal.4th 1080, 1095.) Such a showing includes a 
demonstration that petitioner possesses the traits of 
"honesty, fairness, candor, trustworthiness, obser­
vance of fiduciary responsibility, respect for and 
obedience to the laws of the state and the nation and 
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respect for the rights of others and for the judicial 
process." (Rules Regulating Admission to Practice 
Law, rule X, § l.) 

[4b] We are unable to find on this record sub­
stantial evidence of petitioner's respect for the rights 
of others or for the judicial process. On the contrary, 
petitioner mounted a relentless and meritless offen­
sive against certain State Bar prosecutors and other 
personnel, accusing them of suborning perjury, coer­
cion, criminal acts of moral turpitude, making "false 
and frivolous accusations" against him, falsely threat­
ening administrative action, falsely notifying him that 
he was not in compliance with his probation condi­
tions, withholding evidence, and criminal acts of 
deceit. He indiscriminately made these baseless 
charges in letters, e-mails, facsimiles, in pleadings 
filed in the Supreme Court and in this court, and in a 
multitude oftelephone calls to various individuals and 
departments of the State Bar, including the Office of 
the ChiefTrial CoW1sel, the President of the Board of 
Governors, the Office of Probation, the Records 
Department and various staff attorneys. This was not 
merely an offhand comment by an attorney who was 
disgruntled with the outcome ofhis disciplinary pro­
ceeding. This was a protracted campaign between 
December 2002 and February 2005 that was tanta­
mount to a vendetta. Such behavior rises to the level 
ofharassment and is indicative of petitioner's lack of 
respect for the employees of the State Bar and of the 
discip Ii nary process. 

[4c} Petitioner's censure of the State Bar ex­
tended beyond specific employees and to the judicial 
branch itself. For example, he asserted in pleadings 
filed in the Supreme Court that the State Bar was an 
organization that had a "history of not knowing what 
laws are proper and what laws are unconsti tutiona 1." 
He added: "Since the State Bar is an arm of the 
Supreme Court, these dishonest and unlawful acts 
reflect badly on the State Supreme Court's ability to 
supervise the State Bar of California from violating 
the political laws of the State." 

[4d] The record clearly demonstrates that peti­
tioner is unable or unwilling to conduct himself in a 
manner consistent with the settled definition of good 
moral character. Therefore, we find that the hearing 
judge abused his discretion when he found that 
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petitioner established by a preponderance of the 
evidence his present fitness to practice. 

C. Petitioner's Learning and Ability in the General 
Law 

[Sa] Petitioner must also prove by a preponder­
ance of the evidence that he possesses present 
learning and ability in the general law. (Std. 1.4( c )(ii); 
Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 634.) The hearingjudge 
concluded that petitioner's repeated assertions of 
"meritless legal arguments and objectively unsupport­
able allegations" did not adversely reflect on his legal 
abilities. We find this conclusion to be unreasonable. 

[Sb) Petitioner was given a specific explanation 
of and the legal authority for the State Bar's member­
ship status designations by the Bar's Chief Assistant 
General Counsel, who wrote to petitioner in October 
2003. Shortly thereafter, the State Bar again advised 
petitioner that describing himselfas an inactive mem­
ber of the State Bar was incorrect. Nonetheless, 
petitioner ignored that advice and persisted in identi­
fying himself as "inactive" or as "not a member" or 
a "former member" of the State Bar in all correspon­
dence and on al I pleadings he filed in the proceedings 
below and in the Supreme Court. Petitioner also 
repeatedly challenged the constitutionality of stan~ 
dard 1.4( c )(ii) proceedings based on his faulty legal 
analysis ofhis own membership status. 

{ Sc] The hearingj udge characterized petitioner's 
futile attempts to protest his membership status as 
"meritlcss, incorrect, and misguided" and further 
found that "any representation or suggestion that 
Petitioner is an inactive member of the State Bar is 
false." But the hearing judge failed to take into 
account the length of time and the number of separate 
instances when petitioner continued to challenge his 
membership status. 

{SdJ Petitioner's jurisdictional challenges also 
call into question his legal abi Ji ties.Within one month 

17. The Supreme Court and this court have rejected petitioner's 
jurisdictional argument that we are not acting as judges but 
merely as referees who may not hear his case without his 
consent. Nevertheless, in September 2004, in connection with 

881 

after the California Supreme Court denied petitioner's 
request to assume jurisdiction, he sought the same 
relief from this court on the same grounds.17 

[Se] Petitioner further manifested unsound legal 
judgment with his meritless attempts to remove his 
disciplinary record from the State Bar's website, 
claiming that section 6002.1 prohibited the State Bar 
from disclosing his records to the public "unless 
required to be made so available by a condition of 
probation." In yet another letter-writing crusade, he 
repeatedly criticized the State Bar's website descrip­
tion of a State Bar Governor's disciplinary history, 
arguing that the Bar's failure to specify the Governor's 
criminal history was discriminatory because 
petitioner's discipline was described in some detail. 

We find a strong similarity with the misconduct 
in In the Matter of Lais (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 112. As in Lais, petitioner sought 
a retletennination of issues previously decided by a 
binding court authority, and his support for hisj urisdic­
tional argument was untenable. Furthermore, as in 
Lais, petitioner imposed on the court's time by "greatly 
delay[ing] the adjudication of Petitioner's petition," 
and burdened the court with pointless review of his 
voluminous pleadings, reflecting his lack of respect 
for the judicial process. Petitioner's conduct also is 
suggestivcofln reMorse(l 995) 11 Cal.4th 184,209, 
wherein the Supreme Court observed: "Morse, like 
any attorney accused of misconduct, had the right to 
defend himself vigorously. Morse's conduct, how• 
ever, reflects a seeming unwillingness even to consider 
the appropriateness ofhis statutory interpretation or 
to acknowledge that at some point his position was 
meritless or even wrong to any extent. Put simply, 
Morse went beyond tenacity to truculence." 

[Sfj Despite the fact that petitioner completed 
more than I00hoursofCLE, we havepreviouslyheld 
that an increased knowledge ofthc law is not suffi­
cient to satisfy the requirement that an attorney 
possess present learning and ability in the general 

a class he presented entitled ''Legal Ethics 101," petitioner 
di stributcd an MCLE course outline stating "Bar Court Judges 
not Judges, general referees." 
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law. Petitioner must prove not only that he knows the 
law but also that he is able in it. (In the Matter of 
Ainsworth, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 
901.) Viewed in its entirety, petitioner's behavior 
demonstrates an inability to evaluate facts and the 
law competently and to draw appropriate inferences 
and conclusions from them. Thus, the hearing judge 
abused his discretion when he found that petitioner 
possessed learning and ability in the general law. 

D. Legal Errors 

[6a) The parties stipulated in Henschel II to six 
aggravating circumstances, including dishonesty. The 
hearing judge deemed this aggravating factor to be 
duplicative of petitioner's substantive offenses and 
therefore gave it only "nominal weight." Further­
more, the hearing judge treated as mitigation certain 
health and other problems described in the portion of 
the stipulation designated as "other circumstances." 
In so doing, the hearingjudge gave "some mitigating 
weight" to these pro blcms, even though he found "no 
real nexus was drawn between Petitioner's pro bl ems 
and his misconduct." 

(6b] The State Bar correctly argues that the 
hearing judge committed legal error when he dis­
counted the aggravating factor of dishonesty as 
duplicative and when he added mitigation where 
there had been none. "LT jhe discip 1 i ne there ordered 
[ in the prior proceedings] should not be reviewed or 
reconsidered . . . . [G]reat care must be taken to 
ensure that no part of the determination of rehabi lita • 
tion and present fitness to practice is based on either 
an actual or an implied reevaluation of the discipline 
imposed in the prior disciplinary proceedings." (Tn the 
Matter of Murphy, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct Rptr. 
at p. 578.) Nevertheless, we find these errors to be 
harmless. It was appropriate for the hearingjudge to 
consider the aggravating factors in determining the 
amount and nature of the evidence required to justify 
terminating suspension. (Id. at p. 578.) In assessing 

l 8. We find without merit the State Bar's additional point oflegal 
error that the organi1.ation of the hearing judge's decision 
neccssari ly indicates in what sequence the hearing judge re­
viewed the evidence and fonned his conclusions. We deem as 
pure conjecture the State Bar's assertion that the form of the 
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the likelihood that misconduct could recur, it was also 
appropriate for the hearing judge to consider stipu­
lated facts that may have shed light on the cause of 
petitioner's misconduct, even if identified as "other 
circumstances." (Id. at p. 580.)18 

[7] We also find the hearing judge eomrni tted 
legal error when he found "the attorney's compliance 
with the terms of the suspension and the conditions of 
probation will presumptively effectuate the attorney's 
rehabilitation .... "(Italics added.) The hearingj udge 
thus incorrectly created a presumption ofrehabilita­
tion arising from petitioner's compliance with his 
probation, when in fact "in addition to compliance 
with petitioner's actual suspension and the terms of 
his probation, petitioner must affirmatively show, by 
a preponderance of the evidence ... his 'rehabilita­
tion, present fitness to practice and present learning 
and ability in the general law before (he] shall be 
relieved of the actual suspension.'" (In the Matter of 
Murphy, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 578 
(italics added).) We do not further consider the impli­
cations of the erroneous introduction of a presumption 
in this case because we have already concluded there 
is not substantial evidence that petitioner has satisfied 
the requirements of standard 1 .4( c )(ii). 

III. CONCLUSION 

Since his prior discipline, petitioner has under­
taken steps to improve his professional conduct. 
Regrettably, petitioner's progress towards rehabilita­
tion is undermined by a continuing course of conduct 
that is both unreasoned and unreasonable. We there­
fore conclude that the hearing judge abused his 
discretion in finding thatpetitioner satisfied the show­
ing required by standard l.4(c)(ii) because there is 
not substantial evidence in this record of petitioner's 
rehabi 1 i tation, fitness to practice andpresent learning 
and ability in the law. Accordingly, the hcaringjudge' s 
decision granting the petition for relief from actual 
suspension is reversed. 

decision is indicative that the hcaringJudge failed to consider 
the totality of the evidence before reaching any legal conclu­
sions. We also do not find meritto the State Bar's argument that 
a typographical error in the dcci5ion below as lo the termination 
date of petitioner's actual suspension was a material error. 
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Within a few years of becoming a licensed attorney, petitioner repeatedly failed to perform competently 
for clients, misled them, ignored court orders and misappropriated entrusted funds resulting in his resignation 
with charges pending in September 1993. In September 2003, petitioner sought reinstatement, and the hearing 
judge recommended that the petition for reinstatement be granted. (Hon. Patrice E. Mc Elroy, Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar sought review contending that petitioner failed to establish his rehabilitation from his alcohol 
and gambling addictions, failed to make timely restitution, and failed to comply with rule 95 5 of the Cali fomia 
Rules of Court. 

The review department rejected most of the State Bar's contentions but concluded that petitioner's period 
of exemplary conduct was insufficient to establish his overall rehabilitation and recommended that the petition 
for reinstatement be denied. 

COUN"SEL FOR p ARTIES 

For State Bar: Donald R. Steedman 

For Petitioner: JeromeFishkin 

[1) 148 
2504 

HEADNOTES 

Evidence-Witnesses 
Rcinstatcment~Burdcn of Proof 

The fact that pretrial statements and a stipulation were used to apprise petitioner's character 
witnesses of the acts that led to his resignation is not a basis for discounting the weight given to the 
testimony of such witnesses, particularly when no formal charges were ever filed against petitioner. 

Editor's note: The summary, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared bytheOfficeofthe State Bar Court forthcconvenienceofthereader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be ellcd or relied upon as precedent. 
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[2) 148 
2504 

Evidence-Witnesses 
Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
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The fact that petitioner's character witnesses did not know petitioner before he entered recovery 
from his alcoholism was not a reason to discount the weight given to their testimony because they 
all had recent, close contact with petitioner which qualifies them to reflect on his present moral 
qualifications. 

[3a, b) 191 Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 

[4] 

[5] 

(6a, b) 

2504 Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
2 590 Reinstatement-Miscellaneous 
The fact that petitioner waited almost ten years after he resigned before he made restitution did not 
detract from petitioner's showing ofrehabilitation since he demonstrated a proper attitude and 
sincerity toward restitution by voluntarily choosing not to discharge debts owed to creditors who 
were former clients or lienholders and by fully reimbursing all but one of his victims. 

2504 Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
Where petitioner completed a structured recovery program, increased his self-esteem, terminated 
friendships with others who drink, and led a stable life since entering sobriety evidenced by 
consistent employment, the purchase of a new home and reconciliation with his wife and parents, 
and where the State Bar's and petitioner's experts both testified that petitioner's addictions are in 
sustained full remission, there is a substantial likelihood thatpetitioner' s sobriety from his alcohol and 
gambling addictions will continue. 

2504 Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
2551 Reinstatement Not Granted-Rehabilitation 
Since petitioner's post-resignation misconduct related to his gambling and alcohol abuse negatively 
reflected on his moral character, petitioner's first day of sobriety is the point when he began his 
rehabilitation in earnest insofar as the practice of law is concerned. It is from this point that 
petitioner's overal 1 rehabilitation in light ofhis past wrongdoing is measured. Therefore the question 
was not whether the passage of time since petitioner failed to file a rule 9 5 5 affidavit after resignation 
should be considered in establishing his rchabil itation but whether petitioner's 3 9-month period of 
sustained exemplary conduct from the date of sobriety to the date of trial is sufficient to demonstrate 
his overall rehabilitation given the seriousness of his past misconduct. 

2504 
2551 

Reinstatement-Burden of Proof 
Reinstatement Not Granted-Rehabilitation 

Where petitioner's gambling and alcoholism resulted in ethical breaches that involved misappropria­
tion of entrusted funds, multiple acts of deceit which continued post-resignation, and repeated 
disregard for court orders, including one from the Supreme Court, and that caused harm to mu! tip le 
clients due to incompetent perfonnance or abandonment, petitioner's period of exemplary conduct 
was insufficient to establish his overall rehabilitation given the extent of his prior wrongdoing and 
addictions. 
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OPINION 

WATAI,J: 

The State Bar asks us to review the decision of 
a hearing judge recommending the reinstatement of 
petitioner Samuel C. Bellicini, who resigned with 
charges pending effective January 6, 1994, as a result 
of misconduct that occurred while he was addicted to 
alcohol. The State Bar contends that petitioner has 
neither demonstrated a meaningful recovery from 
alcoholism and gambling addiction nor establ ishedhis 
rehabilitation in light ofhis past misconduct. Further­
more, the State Bar asserts that petitioner has not 
made timelyrestitution and that petitioner's failure to 
comply with California Rules of Court, rule 9S5, 
should preclude his reinstatement. 

We commend petitioner's efforts since 2001 in 
making amends for his prior misconduct as well as his 
continued participation inAlcoholicsAnonymous, the 
Other Bar, and other group therapy which has al­
lowed him to remain in full remission from his alcohol 
addiction and gambling problem. Our independent 
review of the record (In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 
184, 207) establishes that although petitioner is in 
recovery from the addictions that caused his ethical 
violations, petitioner's period of sustained exemplary 
conduct is insufficient to demonstrate his overall 
rehabilitation from his past misconduct. Therefore, 
we reverse the decision of the hearing judge recom­
mending petitioner be reinstated to the practiceoflaw 
in California. 

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL 
BACKGROUND 

A Petitioner's Background and History of 
Substance Abuse 

Petitioner was admitted to the practice oflaw on 
May 7, 1991. For a brief period, he worked as an 
associate for a law firm until his alcoholism caused 
him to be dismissed. Petitioner then established his 
o•vvn practice as a solo practitioner. Due to his 
unabated heavy drinking, he abandoned his law prac­
tice by October 1992. Thereafter, petitioner processed 
unlawful detainer matters as an independent contrac­
tor until he was dismissed again as a result of his 
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alcoholism. By the time petitioner tendered his resig­
nation with charges pending on September 28, I 993, 
his alcoholism had caused him to suffer unemploy­
ment, eviction, and homelessness. 

Petitioner was not always disabled by alcohol­
ism. During high school, petitioner excelled 
scholastically, winning numerous scholarships and 
public speaking awards. He also balanced school 
with work, initially as an assistant manager of a 
restaurant and thereafter as a file clerk with a small 
law firm in Oakland. But by the age of nineteen, 
petitioner began drinking. 

While attending college, he would drink socially 
on a regular basis and noticed that he was able to drink 
substantially more liquor than his friends before 
getting drunk. Although petitioner's drinking resulted 
in hangovers, missed classes and missed days at 
work, it did not prevent him from obtaining a degree 
from the University of California at Berkeley and 
gaining admission to University of San Francisco 
School of Law. 

While attending law school, petitioner developed 
friendships with individuals who drank as heavily as 
he did, further exacerbating his problem with alcohol. 
Al though he performed well on his exams dcspi te his 
hangovers and failure to attend classes, it was during 
law school that petitioner first began to suffer nega­
tive consequences due to his inability to control his 
drinking. These consequences included petitioner's 
increased belligerence with others, his increased 
financial recklessness to support a lifestyle that re­
volved around drinking, and his dismissal from law 
review because his drinking caused him to miss 
deadlines. The negative consequences of petitioner's 
alcoholism accelerated after he graduated from law 
school. 

Petitioner practiced law for only a brief period 
before his alcoholism caused him to commit multiple 
ethical violations, which ultimately led him to resign 
with disciplinary charges pending. We discuss in 
greaterdetail,pust, petitioner's specific ethical mis­
conduct. According to petitioner: "The State Bar had 
continued to seek me out to have me answer to the 
charges that my former clients and other profession­
als had filed against me. I had ignored these requests 
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until, I believe, I received a notice in September 1993, 
stating something to the effect that I was either to 
appear and speak to the State Bar investigator, or the 
charges leveled against me would become the subject 
of a formal disciplinary proceeding. On Tuesday, 
September 28, 1993, I met with the State Bar inves­
tigator, and at that meeting I became convinced to 
resign from the State Bar. I signed the resignation he 
gave me that day." 

Despite experiencing an event as significant as 
his resignation, petitioner still could not escape the 
grip of his alcoholism and continued to convince 
himself that he was not an alcoholic. He obtained 
temporary employment with a law firm as a calendar 
c !erk, but his drinking led to absenteeism, and he was 
let go. Although he obtained other temporary employ­
ment as a calendar clerk, petitioner had begun gambling 
and was "entrenched in the ritual of getting drunk and 
losing what money [he] earned at the card tables, 
instead of paying rent." By the end of 1994, petitioner 
was penniless and living on the street. 

Petitioner's parents allowed him to move in with 
them but only if he agreed to attend. Gamblers 
Anonymous. Although petitioner attended Gamblers 
Anonymous meetings, they provided little benefit 
because petitioner continued to drink. Petitioner then 
moved out of his parents' home and began renting a 
room ina house. By March 1996, petitioner obtained 
permanent employment as a calendar clerk for a 
smal I law firm in San Francisco, but he quit that job by 
the end of the year for a higher-paying job as a 
paralegal. Petitioner also realized he did not have 
much time left with the law finn because, according 
to petitioner, "my attendance was increasingly poor 
as adircctresultofmy alcohol abuse, andllied to the 
office manager when confronted about my past as an 
attorney, a fact I did not disclose in applying for that 
job, but which was later discovered by an associate of 
the firm." 

Jn February 1997, shortly after beginning work 
as a paralegal, petitioner married his girlfriend, who 
was pregnant with his child. Petitioner continued to 
drink and gamble and also began drinking during 
1 unch. Petitioner's dai 1 y drinking ad vcrscl y aff cctcd 
hisjobperformance and he was dismissed in January 
1998. During this year, petitioner filed for bankruptcy, 
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but he did not include as dischargeable debts money 
he owed to former clients and lien holders because he 
intended at some point in the future to compensate 
them. 

Petitioner took teinporary jobs for over two 
years before a recruiter successfully placed him as 
executive assistant to the legal department of an 
internet company in September 2000. At this time, 
petitioner's alcoholism reached a new plateau and he 
required at least one pint ofhard liquor in order to get 
drunk. He became insubordinate on the job and his 
attendance and work performance deteriorated. By 
March 2001, general counsel for the company fired 
petitioner. 

Rather than use this period ofunemployment as 
an opportunity to address his alcoholism, petitioner 
began drinking in the mornings and throughout the 
day. During this time, petitioner drank between a pint 
and a quart of hard liquor daily. Since his wife 
remained employed, petitioner did not face the typical 
repercussions his alcoholism often caused, such as 
hunger, eviction or homelessness. Petitioner contin~ 
ucd to ignore his drinking problem until his wife 
threatened to leave him and take their son. 

To avoid abandoning his wife and child as he had 
abandoned his legal career, petitioner finally decided 
to seek counseling to combat his alcoholism. He took 
his last drink on May 14, 2001, and after many years 
of succumbing to his alcoholism, petitioner finally 
experienced his first full day of sobriety on May 15, 
2001. 

B. Petitioner's Misconduct 

We must examine petitioner's evidence of reha-. 
bilitation in light of the misconduct which led to his 
resignation. (Tardiff v. State Bar ( 1980) 27 Cal.3d 
395, 403.) Petitioner is an admitted, though recover­
ing, alcoho Ii c, who, within a few years of becoming a 
licensed attorney, repeatedly failed to perform com­
petently for his clients, misled his clients and others, 
ignored court orders and misappropriated entrusted 
funds. Due to petitioner's resignation, he was never 
formally charged or foundculpableof ethical wrong­
doing. The parties executed a "First Stipulation of 
Facts" which provided many of the details of the 
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matters under investigation at the time petitioner 
resigned. The hearing judge made several factual 
findings and conclusions regarding petitioner's un~ 
derlying misconduct, and we adopt, with modification, 
those findings and conclusions. 

1. Client matters 

In one matter, after petitioner retained $2,962.20 
in client funds for payment to a client's doctor, 
petitioner failed to make that payment and instead 
used the funds to gamble and purchase alcohol. 
Thereafter, in order to postpone a lawsuit, he repeat­
edly misrepresented to the client's doctor that he 
intended to provide payment. fu another case, peti­
tioner failed to perform any work, resulting in the 
entry of default against his client. Petitioner also 
failed to refund $200 in advanced attorney fees and 
misrepresented to the client that he would seek to set 
aside the default and pay any associated costs. In a 
thirdmatter,petitioneragainfailedtoperfonncompe­
tcntly, resulting in entry of default against another of 
his clients. In a fourth matter, petitioner improperly 
withdrew from employment when he abandoned a 
client. In a fifth matter, petitioner failed to promptly 
pay $3 5 8 to a client's doctor and converted the funds 
for his own personal use. Thereafter, petitioner mis­
represented to the client's doctor that he had mailed 
the funds. In a sixth matter, petitioner failed to 
perform competently, resulting in a small claims 
judgment against his client. Peti tionerthen lied to the 
client about pursuing an appeal of the judgment and 
thereafter abandoned the client. Petitioner also failed 
to cooperate with the State Bar when he did not 
respond to several letters the Client Security Fund 
sent him asking for a response to the client's claim. 
Finally, in a seventh matter, petitioner failed to comply 
with court orders requiring him to pay sanctions. 

2. Noncompliance with Rule 955 

On December 7, 1993, the Supreme Court filed 
an order1 accepting petitioner's resignation and or-

I. In accordance with Evidence Code section 452, subdivision 
(d), we lake judicial notice of the Supreme Court's order. 
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dered him to comply with California Rules of Court, 
rule955.2 Petitioner did not file a rule 955 affidavit by 
the required date. He described this point in his life as 
having "bottomed out" due to his alcoholism. Peti­
tioner expressed regret for not having filed a rule 955 
affidavit. He explained that because he had been 
evicted from his home and had relinquished the legal 
career he had worked several years to obtain, he 
found himself in a state of hopelessness and despair. 
According to petitioner, his only desire at this point in 
his life was to forget the past. At the time, petitioner 
neither had any clients nor possessed any client 
property. At oral argument, petitioner contended that 
his failure to file a rule 95 5 affidavit is not fatal to his 
petition for reinstatement. Nevertheless, it is troubling 
that petitioner still has not filed the 955 affidavit in 
compliance with the Supreme Court order. 

C. Petitioner's Rehabilitation 

Petitioner accepted full responsibility for the 
ethical misconduct he committed prior to his resigna­
tion and expressed remorse for the harm he caused 
his former clients as a result of his inability to 
represent them properly. When petitioner committed 
the misconduct that led to his resignation, he was 
suffering from the effects ofhis active alcoholism. As 
previously noted, petitioner stopped drinking alcohol 
and experienced his first day of sobriety on May 15, 
2001, almost eight years after he tendered his resig­
nation and after his wife threatened to leave with their 
son. Three days later, petitioner enrolled in a two. 
year Chemical Dependency Recovery Program 
(CDRP) offered through Kaiser Permanente. While 
participating in CDRP, petitioner received intensive 
education on the physiological and emotional bases of 
alcoholism and attended almost daily group therapy 
sessions and weekly individual visits with a psycholo­
gist in order to refrain from drinking. 

Two months into treatment, petitioner' swifeand 
son were away on vacation and the stress of being 
alone made petitioner want to begin drinking again. 

2. Unless otherwise noted, all further references to "rule 955" 
arc to California Rules of Court, rule 955. Subdivision ( c) ofth is 
rule provides "the member shall file with the Clerk oft he State 
Bar Court an affidavit showing that he or she has fully complied 
with those provisions of the order entered pursuant to this rule." 
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He attended his scheduled session with his therapist 
that day and confided that he felt helpless to stop 
himself from binge drinking. That day, petitioner's 
therapist ref erred him to Alcoholics Anonymous 
(AA), a fellowship of men and women who assist one 
another to stay sober. Petitioner attended AA, and 
through the support of group members found the 
strength to avoid taking a drink that day. 

During the summer of2001, petitionerregularl y 
attended AA meetings seven to fourteen times per 
week in addition to his CORP sessions. By fall 200 I, 
petitioner fuliy acknowledged he was an alcoholic 
and began reaching out to members of his AA home 
group. For approximately one year thereafter, peti­
tionerwas unemployed but continued to attend CDRP 
and AA meetings regular I y. Petitioner also served as 
a secretary and treasurer for his AA home group, 
which required him to account for cash contributed 
during meetings and to distribute those funds to pay 
for expenses such as refreshments and rent for the 
group's meeting room. In May 2002, petitioner also 
began attending weekly meetings of the Other Bar, 
an organization of recovering lawyers and judges 
providing support to membersofthe legal profession 
with substance abuse problems. 

By fall of 2002, pcti ti oner's wife separated from 
him. Despite this stressful event, petitioner did not 
relapse and drink alcohol. Instead, peti ti onersuccess­
fully lived on his o\Vll, remained gainfully employed, 
paid his bills, and provided child support. Petitioner 
testified that this was a turning point for him because 
he realized he could maintain responsibilities tooth­
ers, he was less concerned of what others thought 
about him and he began developing friendships based 
on enjoying someone's company rather than for the 
purpose of drinking. 

Petitioner has had two jobs since he and his wife 
reconciled in April 2003. The_ first was as an execu­
tive assistant to general counsel with DIIL. The 
company relocated out of state and petitioner chose 
not to fol low. Currently petitioner works with the law 
department at the U.S. Postal Service and shortly 
before trial in this matter, he was promoted to para­
legal. Petitioner describes his relationship with his 
wife as stable, as evidenced by the fact that they 
purchased their first home together and opened their 
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first joint checking account. Petitioner has also made 
amends with his parents. According to petitioner, his 
parents enjoy having him around now because he no 
longer causes them pain or worry. Also, his parents 
gave him the money he needed to pay restitution. 

Presently, petitioner continues weekly therapy in 
an alumni group for graduates of CDRP. He also 
volunteers monthly to discuss with newly-sober pa­
tients in CDRP how he successfully maintains sobriety. 
Petitioner also attends weekly meetings of the Other 
Bar and AA. Additionally, petitioner is sponsoring 
someone in his AA home group and volunteers 
monthly with AA teleservice, an answering service 
that provides limited consultation and information 
regarding AA. 

In July 2003, with money given to him by his 
parents, petitioner paid restitution to the doctors who 
remained unpaid for services provided to petitioner's 
clients, refunded advanced fees, paid sanctions im­
posed due to his misconduct, and reimbursed CSF. 
Petitioner's efforts to locateoneofhis former clients 
in order to refund unearned fees have to date been 
unsuccessful. 

D. Reinstatement Proceedings 

Petitioner filed his petition for reinstatement on 
September 17, 2003. A multi-day hearing com­
menced on August 24, 2004. Petitioner and eight 
witnesses, including his treating physician and three 
attorneys, testified on his behalf. 

Dr. Kate Riley is a clinical psychologist and 
petitioner's treating medical professional. She has 
worked with petitioner since May 2001 as an addic­
tion counselor through CORP. She testified that 
when petitioner initially met with her, he was arrogant 
and defensive because he was convinced he did not 
have an alcohol problem and therefore was not 
receptive to help. She observed that when petitioner 
initially came in for treatment, he had a fantasy about 
being a sophisticated, debonair person who drank and 
smoked. However, his actual image ofhimsel f did not 
fit his fantasy, causing conflict in his work and 
personal life. Petitioner made a breakthrough when, 
shortly after beginning treatment, he acknowledged 
he was an alcoholic and began seeking treatment for 
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"everything." Dr. Riley observed that through the 
course of two years of treatment, petitioner became 
less reliant on external sources of self-esteem, re­
placing them with internal or interpersonal sources. 
This allowed petitioner to develop an image ofhimself 
more congruentwi th who he actually is. After comple­
tion of the two-year program, she observed a major 
character shift in petitioner, noting that he is honest, 
willing to apply self-scrutiny, wil lingto ask for help, 
and willing to take suggestions and advice from others. 

Dr. Riley explained that individuals who are in 
recovery for under two years are in partial remission. 
She further explained that after two years, if CORP 
participants have experienced signi fie ant changes in 
their interpersonal and occupational function as well 
as their leisure activities and family relationships, they 
are in full sustained remission. She observed that 
petitioner is capable of having fun and relaxing now, 
which indicates he has replaced chemical pleasures 
with clean and sober life pleasures. According to Dr. 
Riley, petitioner is a model patient who experienced 
no relapses and is in full sustained remission. She 
stated that he is not disabled by alcohol dependency, 
pathological gambling, or lower-grade depression 
( dysthymia). She stated petitioner has a good progno­
sis for continued sobriety even if he experiences 
significant stressors because he is more stable and 
has taken an active role in his recovery by participat­
ing in AA and the Other Bar and by developing close 
friendships with other recovering individuals. 

In rebuttal, the State Bar presented Dr. James R. 
Westphal, an expert in addiction psychiatry, who in 
the Last four to five years has been working with 
patients exhibiting psychiatric problems combined 
with substance abuse. He examined petitioner to 
evaluate any psychiatric and substance use disorders 
in relation to petitioner's ability to practice law. 
According to his report, petitioner's pathological 
gamblingandalcohol dependency are in sustained full 
remission and petitioner's dysthymia is in remission. 
He further reported that petitioner is not currently 
disabled by his alcohol dependency, pathological 
gambling or dysthymia. 

Dr. Westphal testified that for individuals who 
are alcohol dependent, studies have shown that five 
years of sobriety is the point where recovery is 
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considered solid because ifa person achieves sobri­
ety for that length of time, he is more likely to remain 
sober than not. He testified that in a case where there 
are multi-impulsive disorders, such as petitioner's 
gambling and alcohol addiction, he believes there is a 
greater risk of relapse but he could not quantify that 
risk. For this reason, he recommended that petitioner 
"will need sobriety support and monitoring forrelapse 
of his alcohol dependency and pathological gambling 
for several more years." 

Despite this recommendation, Dr. Westphal tes­
tified that petitioner has done a good job in his 
recovery and has accomplished what is necessary in 
terms of recovery. Furthermore, he acknowledged 
several factors existing in petitioner's case that would 
reduce his risk of relapse, such as active participation 
in M, participation in the Other Bar, decreased 
resistance to treatment, increased level of self­
esteem, and termination of friendships with drinkers. 
He also acknowledged that petitioner's handling of 
other people's money and his continued sobriety 
despite his marital separation are indicators of 
petitioner's decreased risk ofrelapse. 

The hearingjudge filed her decision on Decem­
ber 21, 2004, concluding that petitioner had 
demonstrated by clear and convincing evidence that 
he was rehabi Ii tated, that he had the rcq uisite ability 
and learning in the general law and that he possessed 
the moral qualifications for reinstatement to the 
practice oflaw, which the judge recommended. The 
State Bar here seeks review of that decision and 
recommendation. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. Requirements for Reinstatement 

Although petitioner resigned with disciplinary 
charges pending, he must meet the same require­
ments for readmission as ifhe were disbarred. (In the 
Matter of Rudman (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 546, 552.) In order to be reinstated, 
petitioner must pass a professional responsibility 
examination, demonstrate rehabilitation and present 
moral qualifications and establish presentabili ty and 
learning in the general law. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 
9S 1 (f).) Furthermore, to prove rehabilitation, "a 
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petitioner needs to show a recognition of his or her 
wrongdoing .... " (In the Matter of Distefano 
(Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 668, 
674.) Ultimately, our decision must turn on whether 
petitioner has shown proof of "sustained exemplary 
conduct over an extended period of time." (In re 
Petty (1981) 29 Cal.3d 356,362) Although petitioner 
resigned in 1993, he continued to drink alcohol until he 
enrolled in a recoveryprogram in 2001. As discussed 
in greater detail,past, we measure petitioner's reha­
bilitation from this point. 

B. Present Ability and Learning in the General Law 

. The hearing judge found that petitioner had 
demonstrated by clear and convincing evidence that 
he possesses the requisite ability and learning in the 
general law. Petitioner passed the Professional Re­
sponsibility Examination in August 2003, he recently 
completed approximately 24 hours of continuing legal 
education covering a wide variety of topics such as 
business law, employment law ,jury instructions, and 
client trust accounting, and he subscribed to a legal 
newspaper. The State Bar does not contestpetitioner' s 
present ability and learning in the general law, and 
upon our independent review of the record, we find no 
reason to question his legal abilities. 

C. Petitioner's Burden of Proof Regarding 
Rehabilitation 

Petitioner bears a heavy burden of proving his 
rehabilitation. (flippard v. State Bar (1989) 49 
Cal.3d 1084, 1091.)Moreover, petitioner's evidence 
of present good character must be considered in the 
light of his prior misconduct, which in this case was 
very serious. (In the Matter of Rudman, supra, 2 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 553 .) However, the law 
favors rehabilitation, and even egregious past mis­
conduct does not preclude reinstatement. (In the 
Matter of Brown (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 309, 316.) 

D. Petitioner's Evidence 

I. Good character witnesses 

The hcaringjudge found" Petitioner's character 
witnesses al so help demonstrate Petitioner's rchabili-
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tation and good moral character." We agree. 
"' [C]haracter testimony, however laudatory' does 
not alone establish the requisite good character." 
(Seide v. Committee of Bar Examiners (1989) 49 
Cal.3d 933, 939.) We have nevertheless observed 
that "in determining whether an erring attorney has 
proved rehabilitation and present moral qualifications, 
the California Supreme Court has heavily weighed 
'the favorable testimony of acquaintances, neigh­
bors, friends, associates and employers with reference 
to their observation of the daily conduct and mode of 
living' of such an attorney. [Citations.]" (In the 
Matter of Brown, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
atpp. 317-318.) 

Seven character witnesses testified on petitioner's 
behalf, including three attorneys. Most were aware 
of the serious nature of petitioner's misconduct, by 
virtue of reading the pretrial statements of the parties 
and the "First Stipulation of Facts." All of these 
witnesses have known petitioner only since he en­
tered recovery and arc acquainted with him through 
AA, the Other Bar or CDRP. They uniformly at­
tested to petitioner's good character and honesty. 
Most of these witnesses "gave specific, convincing 
reasons for holding favorable opinions of petitioner's 
rehabilitation or present moral fitness." (In the Mat­
ter of Bode/ I (Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 459,465.) For instance, Gilbert Kirwin, an attorney 
who has been practicing law for 38 years and who has 
been involved with the Other Bar for 27 years, has met 
many alcoholics in various stages of recovery and 
believes petitiom,'T is fit to resume the practice of law 
primarily because of the humility petitioner displays. 
Edwin T. Caldwell, an attorney for almost 40 years 
who is on the state oversight committee for the 
Lawyers Assistance Program, has been observing 
alcoholic lawyers for 26 years and considers peti­
tioner to be one of the great examples of a person who 
has reversed his life in all aspects and has a character 
that is above reproach. And Robert Resner is an 
attorney and independent consultant for the Other 
Bar who has observed several thousand alcoholics in 
recovery. Hebel ieves petitioner truly wants recovery 
because he is open and honest about what he has 
done in his past, expressed regret about it, and is doing 
what he can to make amends for it in order to lead a 
better life. He has also observed that petitioner's 
relationship with his family has improved substantially. 
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Favorable testimony from members of the bar 
and members of the public ofhigh repute is entitled to 
considerable weight. (In the Matter of Miller (Re­
view Dept. 1993)2Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 423, 431.) 
Accordingly, we give significant weight to the testi­
mony of judges and officers of the court because 
"These witnesses have a strong interest in maintain­
ing the honest administration of justice." (In the 
Matter of Brown, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
at p. 319.) 

[1] The State Bar argues that petitioner's char­
acter evidence should be discounted since his 
witnesses do not constitute a wide range of refer­
ences necessary to establish rehabilitation, none knew 
petitioner before he entered recovery from his alco­
holism, and they were not familiar with the extent of 
petitioner's misconduct. We reject the State Bar's 
last contention as unsupported by the record. We see 
no shortcoming in using the parties' pretrial state­
ments and stipulation to apprise the character 
witnesses of petitioner's acts that led to his resigna­
tion, particularly when no formal charges were ever 
filed against petitioner. 

[2] "It is the cumulative effect of a cross-section 
of witnesses with varying relationships to the peti­
tioner that paints a picture ofhis present character." 
(In the Matter of Brown, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. at p. 319.) We do not agree with the State Bar 
that such evidence should be discounted. The ab­
sence of character testimony or reference letters 
from petitioner's family members or employers is 
unfortunate, but it does not reduce the importance of 
the attorneys who testified on his behalf and whose 
character testimony is significant in reinstatement 
proceedings and entitled to considerable weight. (/ d. 
at p. 318.) We also sec no reason to discount the 
weight given to petitioner's remainingcharacterwit­
nesses since they all had recent, close contact with 
petitioner which qualifies them to reflect on his 
present moral qualifications. (Sec In the Matter of 
Miller, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 431-
432.) 

The Stat<: I3ar did not present rebuttal evidence 
to the favorable character references. But cwn this 
quality and quantity of favorable character evidence 
are not determinative of petitioner's rehabilitation. 
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(In the Matter of Sal ant (Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. 
StateBarCt.Rptr. 1, 5.) Weaccordinglylooktoother 
factors as indicia of petitioner's rehabilitation and 
present moral character. 

2. Community service 

We agree with the hearing judge's finding that 
petitioner's charitable work is a factor supporting his 
reinstatement. Although the hearingjudge only noted 
that petitioner volunteers monthly to discuss with 
newly-sober patients in recovery how to maintain 
sobriety, we find that petitioner's work through AA in 
sponsoring a recovering alcoholic and volunteering 
monthly with AA teleservice also aid his rehabilitative 
showing. 

3. Restitution 

(3 a] Unquestionably, we consider evidence of 
restitution for "its probative value as an indicator of 
rehabilitation .... " (Hippard v. State Bar, supra, 49 
Cal.3d 1084, 1093.) The State Bar takes issue with 
the fact that petitioner waited almost ten years after 
he resigned before he made restitution and that he 
made no restitution during the first two years he was 
in recovery. We do not find that such facts detract 
from petitioner's showing of rehabilitation, since 
petitioner continued to suffer from alcoholism for 
more than eight years after he resigned and was 
unemployed for approximately one year after he 
entered recovery. 

The State Bar argues that petitioner merely 
provided restitution in anticipation ofreinstatement 
contending that he ''has been able to make restitution 
for a long time." Although it is clear that petitioner 
immediately embarked on his restitution efforts once 
his parents provided him the funds to do so, there is no 
evidence in the record that petitioner actually had the 
means to provide restitution any sooner than July 
2003. We note that the Supreme Court has given 
favorable consideration to res ti tu tion even in circum­
stances involving external pressures to pay such as 
court orders and agreements with victims. (In the 
Matter of Miller, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
at pp. 429-30, and cases cited therein.) Moreover, 
reinstatement has been granted in cases where there 
has not been full and complete restitution, provided a 
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petitioner has demonstrated an attitude of earnest­
ness and sincerity. (Resner v. State Bar (1967) 67 
Cal.2d 799.) 

13 b)"[R]estitution is neither mandatory, nor in 
and of itself determinative of rehabilitation. [Cita­
tion.] Applicants for reinstatement are to be judged 
not solely on the ability to make restitution, but by their 
attitude toward payment to the victim. [Citations.]" 
(In the Matter of Distefano, supra, I Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. at p. 674.) Although we cannot determine 
from this record whether petitioner truly had the 
financial means to pay restitution much earlier, the 
record is far more clear and convincing with respect 
to petitioner's attitude toward the importance of 
restitution. When petitioner dee lared bankruptcy, he 
voluntarily chose not to discharge debts owed to 
creditors who were former clients or lienholders in 
client matters. This, coupled with petitioner's full 
reimbursement to all but one of his victims, who 
cannot be presently located, adequately demonstrates 
a proper attitude and sincerity toward restitution. (In 
re Andreani (1939) 14 Cal.2d 736, 750.) Therefore, 
we do not find that the timing of petitioner's restitution 
detracts from his rehabilitative showing. 

4. Recovery from alcohol and gambling addic­
tions 

Because petitioner has been drinking since age 
nineteen and has multiple addictions which led to 
serious misconduct, the State Bar contends that 
petitioner must show a lengthy recovery period greater 
than the 3 9 months of sobriety he has maintained from 
May 15, 2001, to the time of trial on August 24, 2004. 
The State Bar therefore argues petitioner has not 
demonstrated a meaningful and sustained recovery 
from his alcoholism and gambling. As the Supreme 
Court held in Gary v. State Bar(l 988) 44Cal.3d 820, 
828, in establishing rehabilitation fromhis addictions, 
petitioner must give us strong "assurance that his 
longstanding addiction[s] [are] pennancntly under 
control .... " Furthermore, we recognize that where 
alcohol abuse was addictive in nature and causally 
contributed to professional misconduct, "the rcq uisitc 
length of time to show 'meaningful and sustained' 
rehabilitation will vary from case to case." (In re 
Billings ( 1990) 50 Cal.3d 358, 368.) 
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As previously noted, the State Bar's expert 
testified that for individuals dependent on alcohol 
alone, the risk ofrelapse becomes relatively minimal 
at five years, but for individuals with alcohol depen­
dency and pathological gambling, he believed there is 
a greater risk of relapse which he could not quantify. 
Beyond referring to its expert's testimony, the State 
Bar provides no authority as to what period of 
sobriety would be sufficient for petitioner to establish 
rehabilitation from his alcoholism and gamblingprob­
lem. Our review of case authority reveals but one 
case, In the Matter of Kirwan (Review Dept. 1994) 
2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 692 (Kirwan), which 
addressed the issue of rehabilitation from alcohol 
abuse within the context of a reinstatement proceed­
ing. (Cf. In the Matter of Salyer (Review Dept. 
2005) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 816 [Reinstatement 
granted where petitioner, who resigned with charges 
pending after felony embezzlement conviction attrib­
utable to methamphetamine addiction, established 
17-year abstinence from methamphetamine use}.) 
We did not address whether Kirwan had been sober 
for a sufficiently long period. Instead, the issue in 
Kirwan was whether we could be confident that his 
seven years of sobriety would continue absent any 
ongoing participation in a recovery program or psy­
chological counseling. Here, in contrast, petitioner 
presented evidenceofhis ongoing, extensive involve­
ment with and participation in AA, the Other Bar, and 
the CORP alumni group, all of which provide addi­
tional outside support to assist petitioner with his 
efforts to maintain sobriety. Thus, the question in the 
present matter is one not addressed in Kirwan -
whether the length of time of petitioner's sobriety is 
sufficient for us to be very confident that his sobriety 
will continue. 

(4] In considering this issue, we observe that 
petitioner has completed a structured recovery pro­
gramandhas led a stable and productive life evidenced 
by his consistent employment since entering sobriety 
as well as the successful purchase of his first home 
and reconciliation with his wife and parents. Several 
other factors - such as petitioner's increased level of 
self-esteem, his termination of friendships with oth­
ers who drink, his failure to relapse despite a marital 
separation, and his honest handling of money- also 
militate in favor of petitioner's continued sobriety. 



IN THE MATTER OF BELLI CINI 

(Review Dept. 2006) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 8 83 

Even more compelling is the fact that both experts 
testified that petitioner's addictions are in sustained 
full remission with one expert further opining that 
petitioner has a good prognosis for continued sobriety 
even if he experiences significant stressors in the 
future. For these reasons, there is substantial likeli­
hood that petitioner's sobriety will continue. 

5. Petitioner's overall rehabilitation 

The State Bar contends that in light of petitioner's 
past wrongdoing, he failed to demonstrate exemplary 
conduct over an extended period of time. We agree. 
Although we find that petitioner is in recovery from 
alcoholism and gambling, on this record we do not fmd 
that petitioner"demonstrated his overall rehabilitation 
by clear and convincing evidence." (See Inre Menna 
(1995) 11 Cal.4th975,988 [whenweighedagainstthe 
enormity of past misconduct, recovery from gambling 
addiction did not necessarily justify admission].) In 
seven client matters over approximately a two-year 
period, petitionerrepeatedly failed to perform compe­
tently, abandoned clients, failed to distribute client 
funds promptly, made mi srepresentatioru; to clients or 
lienholders, and misappropriated $3,320.20 in en­
trusted funds in order to gamble and purchase alcohol . 
Furthermore, he failed to refund unearned fees, 
disobeyed court orders, and failed to cooperate with 
CSF. After resigning, he failed to comply with the 
Supreme Court's order to file a 955 affidavit. Ap­
proximately three years after resigning, petitioner 
admittedly 1 i ed to a fonner employer about his past as 
an attorney. Not until mid-May 2001, almost eight 
years after he tendered his resignation, did petitioner 
begin to seriously address his addictions so that he 
could take responsibility for his misconduct and hold 
himself accountable to those he had harmed. 

[5) The hearing judge found that petitioner's 
misconduct occurred more than ten years ago and 
concluded that petitioner was rehabilitated from his 
past wrongdoing based on the passage of an appre­
ciable period of time. We do not adopt this finding 
since it fails to account for petitioner's continued 
alcohol and gambling related misbehavior that con­
tinued until at least May 2001. Since petitioner's 
continued misconduct related to his abuse of alcohol 
and his gambling negatively reflected on his moral 
character, we find, instead, that petitioner's first day 
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of sobriety is the point when petitioner began his 
rehabilitation in earnest insofar as the practice oflaw 
is concerned. It is from this point that we measure his 
overall rehabilitation in light ofhis past wrongdoing. 
Thus, the question before us is not whether the 
passage of time since petitioner failed to file a rule 95 5 
affidavit should be considered in establishing his 
rehabilitation but whether petitioner's 3 9-month pe­
riod of sustained exemplary conduct from mid-May 
200 I to the date of trial in this matter is sufficient to 
demonstrate his overall rehabilitation given the seri­
ousness of his past misconduct. For the reasons 
described below, we conclude it is not. 

As we previously noted, to establish rehabilita­
tion, petitioner must show by clear and convincing 
evidence "sustained exemplary conduct over an ex­
tended period of time." (In re Petty, supra, 29 
Cal.3 d atp. 362, italics added.) Petitioner erroneously 
relies on the fact that his "misconduct is over IO years 
old" to support the assertion that his demonstrated 
period of sustained exemplary conduct sufficiently 
establishes rehabilitation from his prior wrongdoing. 
Petitioner cites no authority in which reinstatement 
was granted to a petitioner who demonstrated only 
approximately three years of exemplary conduct but 
argues that reported cases which require longer 
periods ofrehabilitation involved misconduct far more 
serious than his own. 

Our holding in In the Matter of Miller, supra, 
2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 423 (Miller) contradicts 
petitioner's contention. Miller resigned after he mis­
appropriated more than $86,000 from an estate over 
a six-year period. After resigning, Miller completed 
some pro bono and volunteer work and occupied 
positions of fiduciary trust as an estate administrator 
and trustee, all without impropriety. He also provided 
compiete restitution prior to filing his petition. We 
cone\ uded that the evidence in Miller suggested that 
his misconduct was aberrational because Mi lier prac­
ticed law without misconduct for at least 37 years, 
and it was undisputed that he provided extensive pro 
bono work during his legal career. Evidence of 
rehabilitation also included four letters ofreference 
and the testimony of five favorable character wit­
nesses consisting of three attorneys, a municipal 
court judge, and a state appellate justice. We recom­
mended M ii ler' s re instatement after concluding that 
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his five and one-half years of sustained exemplary 
conduct between the time the Supreme Court ac­
cepted his resignation and the time he filed his petition 
for re instatement was sufficient to establish his reha­
bilitation. 

[6 a] As in Miller, petitioner has paid or at­
tempted to pay restitution, has completed some 
volunteer work and has successfully occupied a 
position of trust without incident. He has also pre­
sented favorable character witnesses as evidence of 
his rehabilitation. Similarly, petitioner's misconduct 
involves the misappropriation of entrusted funds. 
Although petitioner's misappropriations do not ap­
proach the magnitude of that in Miller, we consider 
petitioner's misconduct just as serious, if not more so, 
due to the extent of his ethical breaches, his multiple 
acts of deceit which continued post-resignation, his 
repeated disregard for court orders, including one 
from our Supreme Court, and the numberofclients he 
harmed through incompetentperfonnance or outright 
abandonment. 

Even though Miller's misconduct was not the 
result ofan addiction, Miller's 37-year legal career 
without prior misconduct and his extensive pro bono 
work were strong evidence that his misconduct was 
aberrational. Because petitioner practiced law for 
only 28 months before resigning and because he 
suffered multiple addictions during his entire legal 
career, we cannot conclude, as we did in Miller, that 
petitioner's misconduct is aberrational. Given the 
facts that petitioner's misconduct is as serious as that 
in Miller and that we cannot conclude that his 
misconduct was aberrational, we believe that 
petitioner's period of sustained exemplary conduct 
should, at a minimum, match that in Miller. 

Because of the paucity of reinstatement cases 
addressing the issue at hand, we also consider pub­
lished reinstatement dee i si ons from other jurisdictions 
involvingmisconductre!ated to alcohol abuse. All of 
these cases support our conclusion tha tpeti ti oner has 
not shown sustained exemplary conduct over an 
extended period of time sufficient to establish his 
rehabilitation. One such case is In re Moynihan 
(1989) 113 Wash.2d 219 [778 P.2d 521] which 
involved an attomeyw ho was d isbaJTed for neglect of 
client matters, misappropriation of client funds total-
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ing approximately $5,100 and failure to cooperate 
with the disciplinary investigation. Moynihan' s mis­
conduct was attributed to his excessive alcohol use 
which began at age 14 and continued throughout 
college, law school and his practice. Moynihan com­
pleted in-patient treatment for his alcoholism, and 
attended weekly AA meetings as well as weekly 
meetings with recovering alcoholic attorneys and 
judges. When Moynihan petitioned forreinstatement, 
he had been disbarred for approximately seven years 
and had abstained from alcohol for almost eight 
years. The Washington Supreme Court concluded 
that Moynihan clearly and convincingly demonstrated 
his rehabilitation worthy ofreinstatement. 

Inre Chantry (1974) 84 Wash.2d 153 [524P.2d 
909] involved an attorney who was disbarred for 
misappropriating approximately $1100 in client funds 
and abandoning another client. Restitution was made 
shortly after disbarment. The attorney was deeply 
involved in marital and alcohol problems in the years 
prior to and during his disbarment. Like petitioner, 
Chantry did not immediately enter sobriety after 
losing his right to practice law. At the time the 
Washington Supreme Court granted Chantry's peti­
tion for reinstatement, almost nine years had elapsed 
since his disbarment, and he had been sober for over 
six years. 

In In re McDonnell (1980) 82 Ill.2d 481 [413 
N.E.2d 375], McDonnell agreed to have his name 
stricken from the roll of attorneys following his 
convictions for conspiracy to transpmt stolen securi­
ties and failure to file income tax returns. When the 
criminal offenses occurred, McDonnel 1 had a serious 
drinking problem and gambled. Approximately three 
years after his name was removed from the roll of 
attorneys, McDonnell filed a motion for reinstatc­
mentwhich was denied. Nine years following removal 
of his name from the roll of attorneys, McDonnell 
again petitioned for reinstatement. This time, based 
on petitioner's regular attendance at AA meetings 
and the testimonyofhis treatingphysician, the fllinois 
SupremeCourtdetc1mined that McDonnell had pro­
videdclearandconvincingevidenceofhisrehabilitation 
and fitness to practice law. 

ln Matter of Reinstatement of Pierce (1996) 
1996 OK 65 [919 P.2d 422],an attorney who resigned 
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with charges pending after pleading guilty to eleven 
drug-related felony charges petitioned for reinstate­
ment six years later. Despite having been sober from 
drugs and alcohol for over six years, the Oklahoma 
Supreme court found that the petitioner failed to 
pre~ent clear and convincing evidence of rehabilita­
tion in light of the seriousness of the underlying 
misconduct, and denied the petition. 

[6 b] In Matter of the Reinstatement of Hanlon 
(1993) 1993 OK 159 [865 P.2d 1228], an attorney 
who was disbarred due to a drug conviction applied 
for reinstatement ten years later. The attorney as­
serted that his problems stemmed from alcohol abuse, 
but despite four years of sobriety, his petition was 
denied due to inadequate evidence showing rehabili­
tation. (See also Petition of Trygstad (S.D. 1989) 
435 N. W .2d 723 [ where attorney led exemplary life 
and abstained from use of alcohol and drugs for a 
period of five years since release from prison after 
being disbarred for conviction of conspiracy to dis­
tribute cocaine, and where misconduct was related to 
substance abuse, reinstatement denied because re­
habilitative effort was insufficient to re-establish 
good moral character in light of gravity of miscon­
duct]; In re Batali (1983) 98 Wash.2q 610 [657 P.2d 
775] [petition for reinstatement granted approxi­
mately eight years after disbarment for significant 
client misappropriations stemming from petitioner's 
abuse of alcohol]; Application of Gavin (1979) 415 
N.Y.S.2d 1020 [petition for reinstatement granted 
seven years after petitioner was disbarred for mis­
conduct committed while petitioner was suffering 
from acute alcoholism.]; In re Johnson (1979) 92 
Wash.2d 349 [597 P.2d 113] [petition for reinstate­
ment granted eleven years after disbarment for 
conviction of grand larceny arising out of mishandling 
of a guardianship estate which was primarily caused 
by petitioner's alcoholism that was successfully con­
tro Jled for approximately five years at time of 
reinstatement].) As these cases reveal, when serious 
ethical misconduct is attributable to alcoholism, the 
period of exemplary conduct necessary to suffi­
cientlyestablish rehabilitation exceeds the 39-month 
period petitioner has maintained. Given the extent of 
his prior wrongdoing and addictions, we find that 
petitioner's period of exemplary conduct is insuffi­
cient to establish his overall rehabilitation. 
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6. Compliance with Rule 955 

The State Bar also argues that petitioner should 
be denied reinstatement because of his ongoing 
failure to comply with rule 955. Without diminishing 
the importance of compliance with rule 95 5 (See, e.g. 
In the Matter of Wright (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 219, 227), because we have 
decided not to recommend petitioner's reinstatement 
based on an insufficient period of sustained exem­
plary conduct, we need not reach the rule 955 issue. 

ill. CONCLUSION 

Wccommendpetitioner'seffortsinovercoming 
his addictions that caused him to commit serious 
ethical violations early in his legal career and which 
plagued him for many years thereafter. Having viewed 
the evidence in its totality, we conclude thatpetitioner' s 
rehabilitative showing is insufficient at this time to 
establish his overall rehabilitation from his past mis­
conduct over an extended period of time. 
Nevertheless, we find petitioner's significant efforts 
to rehabilitate himself constitute good cause within 
the meaning of Rules of Procedure of the State Bar 
of California, rule 662( d) and accordingly order that 
a subsequent petition may be filed one year after the 
effective date of this opinion. The hearing judge's 
dee is ion recommending that petitioner be reinstated 
to the practice of law in the State of California is 
hereby reversed, and the petition for reinstatement is 
denied. 

We concur: 
STOVITZ, P. J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 
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SUMMARY 

While residing in South Carolina, respondent represented two clients with their respective employment 
discrimination cases even though respondent was not admitted as an attorney in that state. The hearing judge 
found respondent culpable of the unauthorized practice oflaw in another jurisdiction, charging an illegal fee, 
failing to return unearned fees, failing to maintain funds in trust, and committing acts of moral turpitude and 
recommended six months' actual suspension. (Hon. Joann M. Remke, Hearing Judge.) 

The review department cone luded that respondent was not culpable of moral turpitude in connection with 
her unauthorized practice of law, that this was insufficient to prove good faith mitigation, that the fees she 
charged and collected were not only illegal but also unconscionable, and that respondent was additionally 
culpable of moral turpitude during a conversation with a South Carolina deputy solicitor. The review department 
adopted all other findings and conclusions of the hearingjudge and recommended thatrespondent be suspended 
for two years, stayed, that she be placed on probation for two years on the condition that she be actually 
suspended for six months and until she paid restitution. 

COUNSEL FOR p ARTIES 

For State Bar: Alan B. Gordon 

For Petitioner: WilliamM. Balin 

(la, b) 

HEAllNOTt:S 

252. 10 Rule 1-300(8) !former 3-l0l(B)] 
Where rcsponden t' s representation of a c 1 ient was not con fined exc 1 us i vel y to the practice ofl aw 
in federal court or before the EEOC but also included resolving the client's state tort claims as we! I 
as pro vi ding lega I advice and counse 1 regarding the South Carolina Human Affairs Commission, the 
doctrine of federal preemption did not preclude a finding of culpability for the unauthorized practice 
of law. 

Editor's note: The summary, headnoles and addilional analysis section are nol part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bw Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent 
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[2] 252.10 Rule l-300(B) [former 3-lOl(B)] 
Where respondent stated on much of her correspondence and her business card that she was 
licensed in California and was of counsel to the law office of a South Carolina attorney and 
designated her South Carolina office as an out of state administrative office and where respondent 
failed to advise clients that she was licensed only in California or that she was unlicensed in South 
Carolina, respondent held herself out as entitled to practice law. 

(3] 290.00 Rule 4-200 [former 2-107] 
Since respondent was not entitled to charge or collect her fees for those services that constituted 
the unauthorized practice oflaw and since respondent was not allowed quantum meruit recovery 
for services rendered under a fee contract that was unenforceable as illegal or against public policy, 
the fees respondent charged constituted an illegal fee under rule 4-200(A). 

[4) 290.00 Rule 4-200 [former 2-107] 
Where respondent collected fees and costs almost three times the amount her client agreed to pay, 
the fees and costs respondent wrongfully collected were so wholly disproportionate to what the 
client agreed to as to shock the conscience and were thus unconscionable under rule 4-200(A). 

[Sa, b) 290.00 Rule 4-200 [former 2-107) 
Where respondent unilaterally collected over 43 percent of a client's gross recovery and where 
there was no evidence that the client agreed to such a fee, respondent's fees were unconscionable. 

[6] 221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 

[71 

Moral turpitude includes creating a false impression by concealment as well as affirmative 
misrepresentations. 

101 Procedure-Jurisdiction 
A disciplinary action may be maintained even though the attorney has been acquitted of criminal 
charges that have been dismissed based on the same facts. Moreover, the State Bar Court has 
jurisdiction to regulate misconduct even when it occurred in another state and did not result in an 
out-of-state criminal conviction. 

181 162.19 Proof-State Bar's Burden-Other/General 
192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
252.10 Rule 1-300(B) [former 3-l0l(B)] 
Ordinari 1 yin disciplinary proceedings culpabi I ity must be established by convincing proof and to a 
reasonable certainty. However, this standard docs not apply where otherwise provided by law. 
Therefore in finding a violation of rule 1-300, proof beyond a reasonable doubt is constitutionally 
required because the applicable South Carolina statute regulating the profession makes the 
unauthorized practice oflaw a crime. 

[9) 192 Due Process/Procedural Rights 
Respondent's Sixth Amendment claim to a jury trial does not attach to disciplinary proceedings in 
Cali fomia bee a use sue h proceedings arc not governed by the rules of procedure governing criminal 
litigation. 
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[10] 588.10 Aggravation-Harm-Generally-Found 
Where respondent collected illegal and unconscionable fees and interfered with the investigations 
by the California State Bar and the State of South Carolina by giving false and misleading 
information, such conduct significantly harmed the public, administration of justice and her clients 
and is properly considered as a factor in aggravation. 

(l I] 591 Aggravation-Indifference-Found 
Since as of the date of the hearing respondent hadnotyetrefunded the fees and costs she wrongfully 
collected, such conduct demonstrated indifference towards the consequences of her misconduct. 

[12] 1015.04 Discipline-Actual Suspension-Six Months 
Where respondent engaged in the unauthorized practice oflaw in another jurisdiction, charged and 
collected illegal and unconscionable fees, failed to return unearned fees, failed to maintain funds in 
trust, and committed multiple acts involvingrnoral turpitude, where there was mitigation for extreme 
emotional distress, good character, and entering into a stipulation of material facts, and where there 
was aggravation due to one prior record of discipline, multiple acts of wrongdoing, significant harm 
to clients, the public, and the administration of justice, and indifference towards the consequences 
ofhermisconduct, the appropriate disciplinary recommendation was a two-year stayed suspension 
and two years of probation on conditions which included six months' actual suspension and until 
restitution is paid. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

221.11 
252. l l 
277.61 
280.01 

Section 6106---Deliberate Dishonesty/Fraud 
Rule 1-300(B) [former 3-l0l(B)] 

Not Found 

Rule 3-700(D)(2) [former 2-l l l(A)(3)] 
Rule 4-IO0(A) [former 8-lOI(A)] 

221.50 Section 6106 
Aggravation 

Found 
511 
521 

Mitigation 
Found 

725. l l 
735. IO 
740.10 

Prior Record 
Multiple Acts 

Disabil ity/lllness 
Candor-Bar 
Good Character 

Declined to }'ind 
715.50 GoodFaith 

Standards 
871 Unconscionable F ee-6 Months Minimum 

Discipline 
1013.08 Stayed Suspension-2 Years 
1017.08 Probation-2 Years 

Probation Conditions 
1021 Restitution 
1024 Ethics Exam/School 
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OPINION 

EPSTEIN', J: 

Respondent, Stephine M. Wells, was admitted to 
the practice of law in California in 1984. In 1996, 
respondent moved to South Carolina, and while a 
resident there, she practiced law without a license. 
Although respondent's unauthorized practice ofla w 
is of serious concern, we are perhaps even more 
concerned with her overreaching of her clients and 
her dishonesty with officials in both California and 
South Carolina, who were responsible for investigat­
ing her misconduct. 

The hearing judge found clear and convincing 
evidence that respondent was culpable of two counts 
of violating California Rules ofFrofessional Conduct, 
rule 1-300(B ), which prohibits the practice ofla win 
another jurisdiction where to do so would be in 
violation of that jurisdiction's regulation oftheprofes­
sion. 1 In addition, the hearing judge determined that 
respondent was culpable of charging an illegal fee, 
failing to return unearned fees, failing to maintain 
funds in a trust account, and three acts of misconduct 
involving moral turpitude. The hearingjudge recom­
mended that respondent be placed on probation for 
two years, with conditions, including six months' 
actual suspension. Both respondent and the State Bar 
appeal. 

We review the record de novo (In re Morse 
(1995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207), although we give great 
weight to the credibility detem1inations made by the 
hearingjudge, who saw and heard the parties testify. 
(Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a); Franklin v. 
State Bar (1986) 41 Cal.3d 700, 708.)2 Based upon 
the record, including the parties' stipulations, the 
exhibits and the testimony in the hearing below, we 
adopt most of the hearing judge's findings, with 
modifications that ultimately do not affect the degree 

l. South Carolina Code (SCC) section 40-5-310, which pro­
scribes the unauthorized practice oflaw, provides: "No person 
may practice or solicit the cause of another person in a court 
of this State unless he has been admitted and sworn as an 
attorney. A person who violates this section is guilty of a 
felony. . ." 
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of discipline recommended. Accordingly, we recom­
mend that respondent be suspended for two years, 
stayed, with two years' probation on the condition she 
be actually suspended for six months and until respon­
dent pays restitution equal to the amount of the fees 
collected, plus interest, for her unauthorized legal 
representation of Lance Amyotte and Hana Odeh in 
South Carolina.We be Ii eve this discipline is adequate 
to protect the public, the courts, and the profession. 

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL 
BACKGROUND 

Respondent has practiced law in California since 
1984. The focus of respondent's practice has been 
employment discrimination claims under Title Vil of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000e et 
seq.) (Title VII). Shehasonepriordisciplinein 1993, 
a private. reproval, for misconduct in a one-client 
matter involving commingling personal funds in a 
client trust account, and in a second matter where she 
represented a client without a retainer agreement, 
and failed to place a disputed fee in her client trust 
accounL 

In August of 1996, respondent moved to Lake 
Wylie, South Carolina, and bought a home after her 
marriage to Calvin Moragne. She considered Lake 
Wylie her "home base," although she spent a signifi­
cant amount of time commuting to San Francisco, 
where she continued to represent clients. 

After she moved to Lake Wylie, respondent 
practiced employment law from her home until it 
became too crowded for her to continue there. In 
June or July of 1999 she rented space in a building 
close to her home, which she claims she used only as 
her "administrative office." However, respondent 
and two clerical personnel used the office on a regular 
basis, and the two complaining witnesses testified 
they were in tcrviewed at I ength by respondent in this 

Z. The hcanngJ udge found that respondent, as well as the two 
complaining witnesses, Lance Amyotte and Ir ana Odeh, "were 
not entirely credible in their testimony." 
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office in connection with their respective employ­
ment discrimination cases. In addition to maintaining 
the Lake Wylie office, respondent 1 i sted herselfin the 
local phone book as "attny." and she printed a 
business card, which read: "Stephine M. Wells­
Moragne, Esquire, 4605 Charlotte Highway, Suites 
5--{i, Lake Wylie, South Carolina 29710." The busi­
ness card contained the following notation: "Member 
of the California Bar and of counsel for Mariano F. 
Cruz [ with local telephone and facsimile numbers]. "3 

In addition to her legal representation of the two 
complaining witness (see discussion below in Case 
No. 01-0-00379 and Case No. 01-0--00659), re­
spondent represented at least seven other clients in 
various matters in state and federal courts while she 
was a resident of South Carolina. 

Respondent closed her Lake Wylie office in 
early 2001, returned to California, re-established 
residency and divorced Moragne. Respondent was 
not admitted as an attorney in South Carolina during 
the entire time she resided there. 

The State Bar filed a 13--count Notice ofDisci­
plinary Charges (NDC) on September 25, 2002, and 
respondent filed an Answer on October 25, 2002. An 
Amended NDC was filed on April 7, 2003, and a 
response was filed by respondent on April 2 8, 2003. 
Two counts in the NDC alleging violations of 
Business and Professions Code section 6068, sub­
division (a),4 were dismissed by order of the court 
upon request of the State Bar at a pretrial conference. 
OnJunc24,2003, the parties entered into a Stipulation 
as to Facts and Admission of Documents ("Stipula­
tion"). A fi ve-<lay trial commenced on the same date, 
and the matter was submitted on December l 6, 2003. 
The hearing judge filed her decision on March 11, 
2004, finding respondent culpable of two counts of 
Unauthorized Practice of Law (UPL) in another 
jurisdiction, in violation of Rules of Professional 
Conduct, rule 1-300(B);5 and violations of rule 4-
200(A) [charging an illegal or unconscionable fee]; 

3. Mariano Cruz was an attorney with offices in Rock Hill, 
South Carolina, who briefly moved into respondent's office in 
Lake Wylie and worked with her on one case, as discussed 
below. 
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rule 3-700(D)(2) [failure to return unearned fees]; 
rule 4-lOO(A) [failure to maintain funds in trust 
account]; and section 6 I 06 as the result of ~ee 
separate acts of misconduct involving moral turpi­
tude. She recommended that respondent be suspended 
for two years, stayed, with an actual suspension of six 
months and that she pay restitution to the two clients 
for the fees she charged and collected. 

Respondent stipulated that she practiced law 
while she was a resident of South Carolina. Never­
theless, she argues on appeal that she is not culpable 
under rule 1-300(B) because she maintains her 
professional activities in South Carolina were con­
fined to federal employment discrimination claims. 
As such, she asserts state regulation of her law 
practice was preempted by federal law. Respondent 
also challenges this court's jurisdiction and further 
claims these proceedings violate her due process 
rights. Finally, respondent maintains that there was 
insufficient evidence ofUPL as to one client and that 
her actions did not constitute moral turpitude. Re­
spondent accordingly asks that we reverse the hearing 
judge's culpability detenninations, with the exception 
ofher failure to maintain a client trust account in one 
client matter, to which she stipulated; and remand this 
matter for a new discipline determination by the 
hearing department. The State Bar also is appealing 
from the decision below, seekingadditional culpability 
findings and asking for dis barrnent as the appropriate 
discipline. 

II. FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CULPABILITY 
DISCUSSION 

A. The Amyotte Matter (Case No. 01-0-00379) 

1. Factual Findings 

On January 22, 2000, Lance Amyotte, a resident 
of South Caro Jina, hired respondent to represent hi min 
a sexual harassment case arising from his employment 

4. All forth er references to "section" are to the Business and 
Professions Code, unless otherwise noted. 

S. All further references to "rule" are to the Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct, unless otherwise noted. 
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by Huddle House, Inc. in York, South Carolina. 
Amyotte worked as an assistant manager trainee in 
one of Huddle House's restaurants. He was referred 
to respondent by a local attorney, Mariano Cruz. On 
January 22, Amyotte signed a retainer agreement 
with respondent, which provided: "I have agreed to 
represent you in your claims against Huddle House, 
Inc .... as Pro Hae Vice Counsel with South Carolina 
Counsel, Mariano F. Cruz (attorneys). I am licensed 
to practice in California .... [ill Plaintiff ("the client"), 
by signing this agreement, retains The Law Offices of 
Stephine M. Wells-Moragne, as pro hac vice coun­
sel, and local counsel, Mariano Cruz, ("the attorneys"), 
to advise and represent the client in the client's 
case .... "6 During the entire time she represented 
Amyotte, respondent was not admitted or sworn as 
an attorney in South Carolina. The retainer agree­
ment specified a " 'Win or Lose' Retainer Fee," 
which would be "credited dollar for dollar against the 
recovery and refunded to the client." The agreement 
provided that Amyotte would pay $1,000 on signing, 
with the remaining $4,000 to be paid when he re­
ceived a settlement in an unrelated personal injury 
case, which was handled by the Philpot Law Firm. 
The retainer agreement also required an advance of 
$3,000 for out-nf-pocket expenses. The agreement 
further provided for a "standard" contingent fee of33 
percent of the recovery if the case settled before trial 
and 40 percent after the case was set for trial. 

Amyotte paid respondent $1,000 when he signed 
the retainer agreement on January 22.7 On August 1, 
2000, responden tand Cruz received and negotiated a 
check in the amount of$7,000 from the Philpot Law 
Firm to cover the non-refundable retainer fee and 

6. Respondent never was admitted pro hac vice in the Amyotte 
matter, norwassheeligible for pro hac vice status since she was 
a resident of South Caro Jina at the time of her representation 
of Amyotlc. South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, rule 
404(b) provides in relevant part: "An attorney may not appear 
pro hac vice if the attorney is a resident of South Carolina .. 
. or is regularly engaged in the practice of!aw .... "(See also, 
Un itcd States District Court for the District ofSouth Carolina, 
Rules By District Court, rnlc 83. l.05(C) limitingpro hac vice 
status to the "occasional" appearance m federal court.) As a 
resident, respondent was required to be a member in good 
standing of the South Carolina Bar in order to appear in federal 
court. (United States District Court for the District of South 
Carolina, Rules By District Court, rule 83.l.03(A).) 
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expense advance. Respondent has no records of the 
deposit or disbursement of this $7,000, which she 
claimed she split with Cruz, keeping $4,000 for herself 
andgivinghim$3,000. 

Beginning in January 2000 and concluding in 
February 2001, respondent stipulated that she "ac­
tively represented Mr. Amyotte" and that she 
"practiced law in Mr. Amyotte' s matter including, but 
not limited to, providing him legal advice, negotiating 
with and prop.osing settlement terms to the opposing 
party and its counsel, representing him at a mediation, 
and receiving and negotiating a settlement check on 
his behalf." She also corresponded with Amyotte, 
telling him where to file his charge with the South 
Carolina Human Affairs Commission (SHAC), and 
advising him about what he should tell SHAC in his 
complaint. OnJulyS,2000, withrespondent'scounsel 
and guidance, Amyotte filed a claim with the EEOC 
and with SHAC. In addition, respondent researched 
South Carolina law and drafted numerous letters, 
including a demand letter sent to the general counsel 
for Huddle House, citing South Carolina cases as 
precedent for the restaurant's liability, which she 
maintained "could reach monumental proportions," 
Respondent also corresponded with outside counsel 
for Huddle House, sending them a summary of 
witness statements. Most of her correspondence 
contained the letterhead "Law Offices of Stephine 
M. W ells-Moragne &Associates/William R. Hopkins 
IIl"8 and listed her Lake Wylie address as her "Out 
of State Administrative Office." There was no indi­
cation in any of the correspondence that she was not 
admitted to practice in South Carolina or that she was 
licensed only in Califomia.9 

7. On July 28, 2000, respondent sent an amended notice oflien 
to the Philpot Law Firm for S7,000 asserting that Amyotte 
agreed to pay her legal fees and costs from the settlement of a 
personal injury case handled by the Philpot Law Firm. 

8. William Hopkins III is respondent"s son, also a California­
licensed attorney. 

9. Someofhcr letters contained letterhead using her name only, 
followed by "Esquire" with the notation that she was a 
"Member of the Califon1ia Bar and of counsel for Law Office 
of Mariano F. Cruz." A few of her letters had no reference to 
her status as a California attorney. 



902 

Ultimately, Huddle House settled with Amyotte, 
who signed a settlement agreement on February 11, 
2001, pursuant to which he released Huddle House of 
all federal and state claims in exchange for $9,000 
payable to Amyotte "and his attorney, Stephine M. 
Wells-Moragne." The agreement recited that 
Amyotte had consulted with respondent before sign­
ing it. 

Respondent returned to California prior to re­
ceiving the settlement funds from Huddle House. She 
received the $9,000 check from Huddle House on 
February 15, 2001, and deposited it on Februaiy 20, 
200 I . The settlement funds were not placed into a 
client trust account. On February 22, 2001, she wired 
$4,000 to Amyotte' s checking account from the Bank 
of America account of her son, Hopkins, which was 
neither a client trust account nor the account into 
which she had deposited the settlement funds. Five 
days later, on February 27,2001, respondent issued a 
check in the amount of$7 50 from a personal checking 
account in her name and that of her husband at First 
Union National Bank, which was not the account into 
which she had deposited the settlement funds. On the 
same date she also paid Amyotte $650 in cash. Thus, 
from the Huddle House settlement proceeds respon­
dent distributed a total of$5 ,400 to Amyotte, and kept 
$3,000 as attorney's fees plus $605 as costs. Respon­
dent failed to credit Amyotte with either the $7,000 
lien payment she previously had received from the 
Philpot Law Firm <)r the $1,000 initially paid by 
Amyotte when he signed the retainer agreement. 
Accordingly, the total amount respondent obtained 
from Amyotte' s case was $11,605: $1,000 deposit+ 
$7,000 from Philpot lien + $3,605 from settlement 
proceeds. Respondent maintained no financial records 
for this matter, but in her fin a I "Settlement Disburse­
ment" sent to Amyotte, she stated her costs were 
$605 and her fee was $3,000 as one-third of the 
$9,000 settlement proceeds. 
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2. Culpability Discussion 

Respondent was charged with six counts of 
misconduct in connection with her representation of 
Amyotte. We discuss each count, with the exception 
of count 1 ( failure to support the U.S. Constitution and 
California law(§ 6068, subd. (a)), which, as noted 
ante, the judge dismissed upon the request of the 
State Bar. We adopt the dismissal of count 1. 

a. Unauthorized Practice of Law in 
Another Jurisdiction (Rule /-300(B)) 

[laJ The hearing judge found respondent cul­
pable of the unauthorized practice of law (UPL) in 
South Carolina pursuant to rule l-300(B).10 We 
agree. Respondent stipulated that while she resided in 
South Carolina "[b]etween January 2000 and Janu­
ary 2001, respondent actively represented Mr. 
Amyotte ... " and that she "practiced law in Mr. 
Amyotte's matter. ... "The record amply supports 
these stipulations. Nevertheless, respondent con­
tends on appeal that her practice oflaw was restricted 
exclusively to Amyotte's Title VII federal civil rights 
claim before the EEOC, and, accordingly, she argues 
that under Sperry v. Florida (1963) 373 U.S. 379; 
the doctrineoffederal preemption precludes a finding 
ofculpabilityfor UPL pursuant to SCC section40-5~ 
310 and rule 1-300. In Sperry v. Florida, supra, 373 
U.S. 379,404, the United States Supreme Court held 
that the preparation and prosecution of applications 
for letters patent before the United States Patent 
Office was expressly intended by Congress to be 
governed exclusively by federal law and therefore 
the practice by non-lawyers before the Patent Office 
could not be enjoined by the State of Florida as the 
unauthorized practice oflaw. 

{lb! Respondent's preemption argument is un­
availing in this case for the simple reason that the 

10. Ruic l-30O(B) provides: "A member shall not practice law 
in a jurisdiction where to do so would be in violation of 
regulations ofth1c profession in that jurisdiction." 
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record establishes beyond a reasonable doubt11 that 
respondent's representation of Amyotte was not 
confined exclusively to the practice oflaw in federal 
court or before the EEOC. Rather, respondent's 
activities also included resolving Amyotte' s state tort 
claims against Huddle House, as well as providing 
legal advice and counsel regardiµg SHAC. Indeed, in 
the course of her representation, respondent assisted 
Amyotte in the completion of two SHAC forms, the 
Initial Inquiry Questionnaire and the Charging Party 
Questionnaire. This assistance alone constituted the 
practice of law in South Carolina. (State of South 
Carolina v. McLauren (2002) 349 S.C. 488, 499 
[563 S.E.2d 346, 351]; State of South Carolina v. 
Despain (1995) 319 S.C. 317, 320 [460 S.E.2d 576, 
578].) But respondent also drafted various demand 
letters specifying federal and state law as the basis 
ofliability, and she negotiated a settlement on behalf 
of Amyotte which compromised his federal and state 
law claims against Huddle House. "Conduct consti­
tuting the practice of law includes a wide range of 
activities. [T]he practice oflaw is not limited to the 
conduct of cases in courts. According to the generally 
understood definition of the practice of law in this 
country, it embraces thcpreparationofpleadings and 
other papers incident to actions and special proceed­
ings and the management of such actions and 
proceedings on behalf of clients ... and in general all 
advice to clients and all action taken· for them in 
matters connected with the law." (The South Caro­
lina Medical Malpractice Joint Underwriting 
Association v. Froelich (1989) 297 S.C. 400, 402 
[377 S.E.2d 306, 307 .) Respondent's practice oflaw 
in the Amyotte matter extended beyond his EEOC 
claim and clearly falls within South Carolina's broad 
definition of the practice oflaw. 

I I. As noted in footnote 10, in order to establish respondent's 
culpab11ityundcrrulc 1-300(8), we 111ustfirstdetcrmine ifher 
conduct"would be in violation ofregulations of the profession 
in that jurisdiction'' i.e., in South Carolina, (Emphasis added.) 
sec section 40-5-3 IO is the only source cited and relied upon 
by the parties and the hearingjudge asrcgulatingrespondcnt's 
unauthorized practice in South Carolina, and this statute makes 
UJ>L a felony punishable by up to five years in prison and/or 
a $5,000 fine. The constitutionally required standard of proof 
for criminal violations, whether felonies or m1sdcmcanors, is 
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt (!11 re Winship( 1970) 397 U.S. 
358,364 ( due process clause of the United States Constitution 
requires that criminal conviction of an accused must be by 
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Moreover, we find there is evidence beyond a 
reasonable doubt that respondent held herself out as 
entitled to practice, which also is considered by the 
California Supreme Court and the South Carolina 
Supreme Court to constitute UPL. ( Crawford v. 
State Bar (1960) 54 Cal.2d 659,666 ["unauthorized 
practice of law includes the mere holding out by a 
layman that he is ... entitled to practice law"]; In re 
Cadwell (197 5) 15 Cal.3 d 7 62, 77 l, fn. 3 [implied 
representation of entitlement to practice constitutes 
UPL]; Bluestein v. State Bar(1974) 13 Cal.3d 162, 
l 75, fu. 13 [use oftenn "Of Counsel'' on letterhead 
to describe an unlicensed person constitutes UPL]; 
In the Matter of Clarkson (2004) S.C. LEXIS 131 
[representation by a disbarred attorney that he had 
graduated from law school constituted holding out in 
violation of SCC section 40-5-31 O].) 

[2J Here, respondent stated on much of her 
correspondence and her business card that she was 
licensed in California, was "of counsel to the Law 
Office of Mariano F. Cruz" and designated her office 
as an "Out of State Administrative Office, "12 but she 
failed to advise that she was licensed only in Califor­
nia or that she was unlicensed in South Carolina. In so 
doing, respondent held herself out as entitled to 
practice law. (In the Matter of Wyrick (Review 
Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 83, 91 
[ suspended attorney found to have created a false 
impression that he was currently able to practice by 
using the term "Member of the State Bar" and the 
honorific "ESQ." next to his signature on a job 
application]; The South Carolina Medical Mal­
practice Joint Underwriting Association v. 
Froelich, supra, 377 S.E.2d at p. 307 [attorney 
created false impression he was entitled to practice in 

"proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to 
constitute the crime with which he is charged."].) We arc 
persuaded th at th c record in this case satisfies the more stri ngen I 
cvidcntiary standard of beyond a reasonable doubt, particularly 
in view of the undisputed facts and respondent's Stipulation. 

12. We find that her designation of her Lake Wylie office as 
"lldministrativc" elevates fonn ovcrfunction. Amyotte and Odeh 
testified that they believed they were meeting in respondent's 
law office when they met with her to discuss their cases, In 
addition, for a period of time, attorney Cruz, with whom she 
a5sociatcdas "ofcounsel,"pmcticcdlawinthe Lake Wylieomce. 
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South Carolina because letterhead used a South Caro­
lina address and the words "licensed to practice" in 
another state, without specifying that he was licensed 
only in the other state, and not licensed in South 
Carolina].) One simply "cannot expressly or impliedly 
create or leave undisturbed the false impression that he 
or she has the present or future ability to practice Law" 
when in fact she is ineligible to practice. (In the Matter 
of Wyrick, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 91.) 
Thus, independent of her representation of Amyotte, 
respondent's actions inholdingherselfoutas entitled to 
practice constituted UPL in South Carolina and there­
fore violated SCC section 40-5-310. 13 

The hearing judge also rejected respondent's 
argument that her activities were permitted because 
they were merely preliminary to her appearance in 
the Amyotte case as pro hac vice counsel, and we 
reject this argument as well. As a resident of South 
Carolina, she did not qualify for this status. "Pro hac 
vice admission ... is not a vehicle by which a South 
Carolina resident, who is a member of an out-of­
state bar, may circumvent the rules of admission to 
practice in this State." (Tne South Carolina Medical 
Malpractice Joint Underwriting Association v. 
Froelich, supra, 377 S.E.2d at p. 308; see fn. 6 ante.) 

b. Illegal and Unconscionable Fee 
(Rule 4~200(A)) 

[3] Our conclusion that respondent isculpableof 
UPL compels the further conclusion that the fees 

13. Parenthetically, we uncovered no precedent or legislative 
historyestablishing that29 Code ofFederal Regulations(CFR) 
160 I. 7, sub.(a), cited by respondent as authority for her 
preemption argument, either authori7.es the practice of law 
before the EEOC by non-attorneys or is intended to pre- empt 
state law regulating UPL. The legislative powers oflhe states 
will not be superceded by federal law unless that is "the clear 
and manifest purpose ofCongres.s." (Jevne v. Superior Court 
(2005) 35 Cal.4th 935, 949, citing Cipollone v. Ligget Group 
Inc. (1992) 505 U.S. 504, 516.) Such a "clear and manifest 
purpose" is not evident in 29 crR I 601.7, which merely 
permits "any person, agencyurorgani:rntion" to make a dwrge 
of an unlawful employment practice under Title VI I on behalf 
ofan aggrieved imlivid ual with the EEOC. (Compare Sperry v. 

Fforida(l 963)373 U,S. 3 79 l express congressional authoriza­
tion for Commissioner of Patents to prescribe regulations 
al lowing the recognition of agents or other persons to practice 
before the Patent Office in patent cases].) Neither rule 1-300 
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respondent charged and collected from Amyotte 
were illegal under rule 4-200(A). Regardless of the 
fact that she was compensated pursuant to a con­
tract, respondent was not entitled to charge or collect 
her fees for those services that constituted UPL. 
(Birbrower, Montalbana, Condon and Frank v. 
Superior Court(l998) 17 Cal.4th 119, 136.)14 More­
over, when services are rendered under a fee contract 
that is unenforceable as illegal or againstpubl ic policy, 
quantum meruit recovery will not be allowed if the 
proscription is directed at "the very conduct for which 
compensation was sought. . . . " (Huskinson & 
Brown, LLP v. Wolf(2004) 32 Cal.4th 453,463; see 
also, Annot., Attorney's Recovery in Quantum Meruit 
for Legal Services Rendered Under a Contract 
Which is Illegal or Void as Against Public Policy 
(1965) 100 A.L.R.2d 1378.) We therefore agree with 
the hearing judge that respondent charged an illegal 
fee in violation of rule 4----200(A). 

[4] The hearing judge further found there was 
not clear and convincing evidence that the fee was 
unconscionable. The State Bar argues on appeal that 
the record supports a finding that the fees collected 
were unconscionable, and we agree. Pursuant to 
respondent's fee contract, Amyotte agreed to pay a 
33 percent contingency fee against any recovery, 
including a $5,000 non-refundable deposit that would 
be "credited dollar for do liar against the recovery and 
refunded to the client." The agreement also required 
$3,000 as an advance against costs, which Amyotte 
in fact paid. The record reflects that respondent 

nor SCC section 40-5-310 conflicts with the purpose and 
objectives of Title Vll (Jevne v. Superior Court, supra,35 
Cal.4th 949-950) since merely making a charge of unlawful 
employment practice with the EEOC would not, without 
more, constitute UPL. Furthermore, when acting in a dual 
capacity as an attorney and a lay person for a client, al 1 services 
pcrfo1med involvingtheprncticeoflaw are subject to the Rules 
of PtofoHsional Cunduet. (In the Matter of Layton (Review 
Dept, 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 366, 373.) 

14. Our conclusion comports with the general rule that attorneys 
who are not admilled to practice in the state where they 
performed the services arc not entitled to recover compcnsa" 
tion for such services even though admitted to practice in 

another state. (Sec Annot., Right of Attorney Admitted in One 
State to Recover Compensation for Services Rendered in 
Another State Where I-le Wa., Not Admitted to the Bar( 1967) 
11 A.L.R.3d 907.) 
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incun"ed $650 in costs. Respondent was entitled to 
retain only those costs she reasonably incurred; she 
was not entitled to profit from the $3,000 cost ad­
vance. (In the Matter of Kroff (Review Dept. 1998) 
3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 838, 851.) Nor was 
respondent entitled to charge more than was due her 
under her fee agreement. (Id. at p. 855 .) Respondent 
collected fees and costs equaling $11,650, which is 
almost three times the amount Amyotte agreed to pay 
her. The fees and costs respondent wrongfully col­
lected from Amyotte were so wholly disproportionate 
to what he agreed to pay as to shock the conscience. 
(Bushman v. State Bar (1974) 11 Cal.3d 558, 564; 
Herrscher v. State Bar (1935) 4 Cal.2d 399, 402-
403; see also rule 4-200(B)(l) [amount of fee in 
proportion to value of services considered in deter­
mining unconscionability].) We thusconc Jude that the 
fees and costs charged by respondent were both 
illegal and unconscionable llll.der rule 4-200(A). 

c. Failure to Refund Unearned Fee 
(Rule 3-700(D)(2)) 

The hearingjudge found respondent violated rule 
3-700(D )(2), which requires that when an attorney's 
employment is terminated, he or she must refund any 
portion of a fee paid in advance that has not been 
earned. We agree. Respondent retained a fee of 
$3,650 from the Huddle House settlement proceeds, 
which, as discussed above, was illegal and therefore 
unearned. Furthermore, respondent failed to refund 
the additional $8,000 in advance fees and costs she 
received from Amyotte and the Philpot Law Finn. 
Accordingly, the total amount of$1 l,000 should be 
refunded to Amyotte. 15 

d. Failure to Maintain Client Trust 
Account (Rule 4-100) 

Respondent stipulated she violated rule 4-100 
when she failed to deposit the funds she received for 

15. Respondent now maintains thatshcwasnotobliged to refund 
a!l of the fees since she claims that she gave $3,000 of these 
funds to the rcforring attorney, Cruz. There was no agreement 
with Amyotte al lowing respondent to split fees with Cruz, and 
therefore she was not authorized to do so. 
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the benefit of Amyotte into a client trust account and 
paid him the settlement funds from her personal 
accoW1ts. We therefore adopt the hearing judge's 
conclusion thatrespondentis culpable of a violation of 
rule4-100. 

e. Moral Turpitude (Section 6106) 

The hearing judge concluded that respondent 
wilfully violated section 6106 because "by holding 
herselfout as entitled to practice and actually practic­
ing law when she was not a member of the South 
Carolina Bar, when she was not admitted to practice 
before a federal agency under title 5 United States 
Code Annotated, section 500, and when she was not 
admitted as pro hac vice counsel, respondent com­
mitted acts of moral turpitude and dishonesty. "16 We 
believe a finding of moral turpitude is at odds with the 
hearingj udge 's factual findings in support of mitiga­
tion to the effect that"[ respondent] thought she was 
giving adequate notice to the public that she was not 
entitled to practice law in South Carolina by stating on 
her stationery 'Out of State Administrative Office' 
and 'Member of the California Bar.' She also told 
Amyotte that she was not admitted to [the] South 
Carolina Bar and associated herse If with local coun­
sel Cruz and Wall, thinking that such association 
would entitle her to practice." Although these actions 
were insufficient to protect respondent from a charge 
ofUPL, they do militate against a finding of clear and 
convincing evidence ofill will or dishonesty establish­
ing moral turpitude, and we therefore dismiss with 
count six charging a violation of section 6106. 

B. The Odeh Matter (Case No. 01-0-00659) 

I. Factual Findings 

Hana Odeh lived and worked in Charlotte, North 
Carolina. She was employed by American United Insur­
ance Agency (AUIA), a North Carolina subsidiary 

16. The hearing judge also relied on respondent's incorrect 
accounting and her fai I ure to credit Amyotte with the $8,000 
as a basis for her moral turpiiude finding. But, this specific 
conduct is the basis of our culpability determination underrule 
3-700(0)(2) and is therefore duplicative. (In the Matter of 
Sampson (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 119.) 
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of a South Carolina company, The Thaxton Group 
(Thaxton). On June 7, 2000, Odeh met respondent at 
her Lake Wylieofficethroughareferral from a North 
Carolina attorney, Melvin Wall Jr., who desired to 
associate with respondent because of her employ­
ment discrimination expertise. The purpose of the 
June 7 meeting was to discuss Odeh' s discrimination 
claim against AUWThaxton. At that time, Odeh 
gave respondent a check for $1,500 for legal fees. 17 

On May 23, 2000, prior to the meeting with respon­
dent, Odeh filed a Charge of Discrimination with the 
EEOC against AUIA!fhaxton, claiming that she was 
unfairly denied a promotion from assistant manager 
to manager based on her gender, religion and country 
of origin. At the meeting with respondent, Ms. Odeh 
completed a "Client Information" form which pro­
vided personal information. 

In the proceedings below, respondent stipulated 
that "[b]etween June 2000 and in or about August 
2000, respondent actively represented Ms. Odeh." 
She further stipulated that during the same time 
period she "practiced law in Ms. Odeh's matter 
including, butnot limited to, providing her legal advice, 
negotiating and proposing settlement terms to the 
opposing party and its counsel, representing her at 
mediation, and receiving a settlement check on her 
behalf." More specifically, on June 8, 2000, the day 
after their first meeting, respondent wrote to Bill 
Russell, Director of Human Resources for Thaxton, 
at its corporate offices in Lancaster, South Carolina, 
advising: "Ouroffice, along with local counsel Attor­
ney Melvin L. Wall, represents Hana Odeh." 
Respondent also notified Russell that it might be 
necessary to file a lawsuit to resolve Odeh' s employ­
ment dispute, indicating that "the recent adverse 
employment actions [by Thaxton] may derive from 
Ms. Odeh's status as a whistle-blower." She advised 
that the investigation was ongoing as to this issue. The 
letterhead on this correspondence stated: "Law Of­
fices of Stephine M. Wells-Moragne, Esquire" and 
listed her Lake Wylie, South Carolina address as her 
"Out of State Administrati vc Office." F o Bowing the 
word "Esquire" was the notation "Member of the 

17. On June 4, 2000, Odeh paid Wal!S250andon June 22, 2000, 
signed a retainer agreement with him, which provided for a 
contingency fee of 33 1/3 percent. There was no agreement 
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California Bar and Of Counsel for Law Office of 
Melvin Wall, Jr., 3115 Clearview Drive, Charlotte, 
North Carolina." There was no indication that re­
spondent could practice only in Cali fomia. 

On June 12, 2000, respondent sent a demand 
letter to Russell at Thaxton' s South Carolina office, 
proposing a settlementof$75,000 for "all claims" so 
that Thaxton could avoid a "long and expensive 
lawsuit." The June 12 lettercontainedextensive legal 
analysis to justify the settlement demand, including 
analyses of Odeh's EEOC claim and "the public 
policy issues [that] are not covered through EEOC," 
such as her claims of retaliation due to Odeh's 
whistle-blowing activities, as well as claims of fraud 
and misrepresentation arising out of alleged induce~ 
ments made to Odeh at the time of the acquisition of 
A UIA by Thaxton. Respondent indicated, however, 
that "there still may be a global settlement of all 
claims within that framework." In this letter, respon­
dent advised Russell "[s]incc my practice is in 
California . . . and I make appearances only if 
requested as pro hac vice counsel once a lawsuit is 
filed, you may want to communicate directlywith Mr. 
Wall, Ms. Odeh 's local counsel." 

On the same date that she sent the demand letter, 
respondent attempted to withdraw from the case 
because she was unwilling to accept a contingency 
fee instead of an hourly fee. Also, she felt she could 
not meet Odeh's demands for attention to her case. 
But on June 19 she had a change of heart and wrote 
to Odeh: "Mr. Wall requested thatl continue to assist 
him. Therefore as a favor to him, I wil 1." She indicated 
that Wal I would send Odeh a contingency agreement, 
and respondent enclosed an invoice for costs incurred 
and legal services rendered, which she billed at the 
rate of $1 7 5 per hour. 

Respondent continued settlement negotiations 
with Michael Carrouth, a South Carolina attorney to 
whom the matter had been referred by Thaxton. She 
wrote several letters to him, including a letter dated 
July 19, 2000, countering his settlement offer with a 

between Odeh and respondent or between Wal I and respondent 
allocating fees between them. 
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demand for$70,000, whichshejustifiedbasedonher 
analysis of the North Carolina unfair trade practices 
statute (North Carolina General Statue 58---63-15). 
Ultimately, Thaxton agreed to settle the matter for 
$15,000. On July 31, 2000, respondent advised 
Carrouth by letter that she had reviewed the draft 
release form and awaited the final version with the 
recommended revisions. 18 

Pursuant to the Settlement and Release Agree­
ment, which the parties signed on August 7, 2000, 
Thaxton agreed to pay Odeh $10,000 "less applicable 
deductions" and al so to pay respondent an additional 
$5,000 as attorney's fees and costs. Odeh agreed to 
dismiss the charges of cjiscrimination filed with the 

. EEOC, and released Thaxton/ AUIA from all statu­
tory, administrative, common law and state claims 
based on her claims of employment discrimination, 
fraud and misrepresentation. The Settlement and 
Release Agreement included a warranty by Odeh 
that respondent and Wall were her attorneys in this 
matter and that they had consulted with her before 
she signed the agreement. Finally, the Settlement and 
Release Agreement contained the following certifi­
cation by respondent: 

"I certify that I am licensed to practice law by the 
Supreme Court of a state other than North Carolina, 

. that I represent Ms. Odeh, that I have reviewed this 
document, and that 1 have given her the benefit of my 
professional advice." Respondent testified that she 
authorized Wal 1 to sign the agreement on her behalf. 

On August 21, 2000, Thaxton issued a check to 
Odeh in the amounfof$6,203 .40, which it computed 
as payment of her gross salary in the amount of 
$10,000, deducting payroll taxes. 19On the same date, 
Thaxton issued a $5,000 check in the name of 

18. Respondent used a di ffercnt letterhead template for this 
correspondence stating "Law Offices of Stephine M. Wells 
Moragne & Associates/William R. Hopkins III" again listing 
her Lake Wyl ic address as her "Out of State Adm in istrati ve 
Office" but also including Mariano F. Cruz "Attorney at Law" 
in the l isling at her office. TI1crc was no indication on the 
letterhead th al respondent was a Cali fornia-licenscd attorney 
or that she was not licensed in South Carolina. 
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respondent, with the notation "for legal fees." Re­
spondent delivered the $6,203.40 check to Odeh and 
negotiated the $5,000 check, splitting the fees equally 
with Wall.20 Respondent thus charged and received 
a total of$6,500 in fees ($1,500 from Odeh+ $5,000 
from Thaxton), which is 43 1/3 percent of the gross 
recovery. Respondent did not maintain any records of 
the funds received or disbursed, nor did she provide 
Odeh with an accounting of her fees. 

In February 2001, the State Bar of California 
commenced an investigation after receiving a com­
plaint by Odeh. In response to a letter from State Bar 
Investigator Lisa Edwards respondent wrote on De­
cember 11, 2001 : "Please be assured that I did not 
practice law in North Carolina or South Carolina 
without a license in those states. [,0 I was living 
briefly in Lake Wylie South Carolina because I had 
married [ Calvin Moragne J." In her letter, respondent 
further described herrelati onship with Odeh: " ... Ms. 
Odeh wanted me to represent her. I explained that I 
could not .... Ms. Odeh, is from the Middle East. She 
is extreme I y pushy and reacted to my firm responses 
that I did not and never had represented her with a 
great deal of eff01ts [sic] to manipulate me and 
disparage Mr. Wall. I would never have put myself in 
the position to be the subject of her boundless wrath." 
Three days later, respondent followed with another 
letter to Investigator Edwards, enclosing certain docu­
ments and reiterating: "Please note that my 
involvement(with Odeh] wasshorttenn as a prelimi­
nary evaluation to determine if I would apply to 
appear pro hac vice with Mr. Wall. I did not. ... " 

In February 2001, the Office of the Solicitor for 
the State of South Carolina, Sixteenth Judicial Dis­
trict, began its own investigation of respondent for 
charges ofUPL in violation ofSCC section 40--5-31 0. 

19. Odeh subsequently disputed the settlement amount, claim­
ing the payroll deductions were in e1Tor and that she was 
entitled to additional unemployment benefits. She sent a letter 
to respondent on November 10, 2000, complaining about the 
settlement and asking for assistance. Respondent did not 
respond to this letter. Wall unsuccessfully attempted 10 

recover the additional unemployment benefits for Odeh. 

20. Wall was in poor heal th and instructed Thaxton' s counsel to 
send the check for the attorneys' fees directly to respondent. 
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On February 9,2001, respondent spoke by telephone 
for approximately ten to fifteen minutes with deputy 
solicitor Kevin Brackett about her activities within 
that state. During the conversation, respondent stated 
she was handling three cases in South Carolina and 
would be returning to California within a month. 
Respondent testified that she thought Brackett wanted 
to know only about her current caseload and was in 
fact more interested in the whereabouts of Mariano 
Cruz, so she did not advise Brackett that she had 
actually worked on nine cases while in South Caro­
lina. Nor did respondent disclose to Brackett that she 
had an office in Lake Wylie and had been a 
resident of South Carolina for the past four and 
one half years. 

2. Culpability Discussion 

Respondent was charged with six counts of 
misconduct in connection with her representation of 
Odeh. The judge dismissed count 7 (failure to support 
the U.S. Constitution and California law (§ 6068, 
subd. (a)) upon the request of the State Bar. We 
adopt the dismissal of this count. 

a. Unauthorized Practice ofLaw in 
Another Jurisdiction (Rule 1-J00(B)) 

Respondent stipulated that she actively repre­
sented Odeh and practiced law on Odeh's behalf 
between June 2000 and August 2000, while she 
resided in South Carolina. But, respondent again 
asserts the federal pre-emption argument in her 
defense, which we again reject for the reasons 
discussed ante. Specifically, respondent did not limit 
her practice to prosecuting Odeh' s Title VII claim. 
Her settlement demands to Thaxton were based on 
federal and state law claims, including fraud, misrep­
resentation, unfair insurance practices and violation 
of public policy. Respondent's activitiesonbehalfof 
Odeh were conducted within South Carolina and her 
negotiations were with South Carolina attorneys, who 

21. We reject respondent's argument that lo the extent her 
representation exceeded the bounds of federal EEOC law, she 
still would not be culpable under rule 1-300(8) ror UPL in 
South Carolina because Odeh resided in North Carolina and her 
place of employment was in North Carolina. Not only did all 
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represented Thaxton, a South Carolina corporation. 21 

We thus conclude that respondent's legal represen­
tation of Odeh constitutes UPL within the ambit of 
SCC section 40-5-310. (The South Carolina Medi­
cal Malpractice Joint Underwriting Association 
v. Froelich, supra, 377 S.E.2d 306, 307.) 

Finally, the same facts which underlie our con­
clusion in the Amyotte case that respondent held 
herself out as entitled to practice law apply to this 
matter as well, including the use of stationery which 
identified her as an attorney with an office in South 
Carolina, her business card, telephone listing, etc., 
none of which advised that she was either licensed 
only in California or unlicensed in South Carolina. 
(The South Carolina Medical Malpractice Joint 
Underwriting Association v. Froelich, supra, 377 
S.E.2datp. 307 .) Such activities in holding herself out 
were independent of her purported practice before 
the EEOC and constituted UPL in violation ofSCC 
section 40-5-310. (In the Matter of Clarkson, 
supra, 2004 S.C. LEXIS 131.) We thus find respon­
dent violated rule 1-300 due to her legal representation 
of Odeh in South Carolina while she was unlicensed 
in that state. 

b. Illegal and Unconscionable Fee 
(Rule 4---200(A)) 

The hearingj udge found that the fees respondent 
received in the Odeh matter were illegal because she 
was not entitled to practice in South Carolina. We 
agree, and adopt her finding of culpabilityunderrule 
4-200(A). Respondent was not entitled to charge or 
collect fees for those services that constituted UPL. 
(Birbrower, Montalbana, Condon and Frank v. 
Superior Court, supra, 17 Cal.4th 119, 136.) 

15a] The hearing judge further found, without 
explanation, that the fees charged were not uncon­
scionable. However, we agree with the State Bar 
that there is clear and convincing evidence that 

of respondent's professional activities take place in South 
Carolina, she compromised Odeh's state law claims against 
Thaxton, which by tcnns of the Settlement and Release 
included claims under South Carolina law. 
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respondent collected an unconscionable fee from 
Odeh when she unilaterally determined to collect43 
percent of Odeh's gross recovery. We find no eviw 
dence in the record that Odeh ever agreed to this 
fee. 22 In the Matter of Kroff, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 838, is instructive to our analysis. InKrojf, 
we found two instances of unconscionable fees in 
violation of rule 4-200(A) where an attorney charged 
a mere $217 .18 without the agreement of the client 
(Id. atp. 851-852), and in another matter unilaterally 
increased fees and costs by $758.18 beyond the 
amount agreed to bya client. (Id. atp. 855.) We there 
said: "Dollar amounts are not the sole criteria in 
detennining unconscionable fees. Here, respondent 
did not have the informed consent of the client." (Id. 
at p. 851; see also In the Matter ofScapa & Brown 
(Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 635 
[unconscionable fees because of lack of informed 
consentofclients]; seealsorule4---200(B)(l l)[client's 
in formed consent to fee to be considered in detenninw 
ing unconscionability].) 

[Sb] As noted ante, Odeh had no fee agreement 
with respondent, although Odeh paid her $1,500 at 
their first meeting. When AUIA/Thaxton settled the 
matter for $15,000, it disbursed $6,203.40 to Odeh 
(reflecting $10,000 as gross salary minus applicable 
payroll taxes) and $5,000 to respondent as attorney's 
fees. In total, respondent unilaterally charged and 
collected $6,500 (43 1/3 percent of the gross recov­
ery) without the agreement or informed consent of 
Odeh. Accordingly, wc find the fees charged and 
collected are unconscionable. (In the Matter of 
Kroff, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 855.) 

c. Failure to Refund Unearned Fee 
(Rule 3-700(D)(2)) 

The hearing judge found respondent culpable 
under rule 3-700(D)(2). We agree. Since respondent's 

22, The only indicia of the fee Odeh agreed to pay for the 
prosecution ofhcr claim was in her contingency agreement with 
Wall, which stated that Wall would rcprcscnthcr"with regards 
to complaints of discrimination ... against [AUIA], including 
mediation ofrclatcd EEOC charges and, if necessary, litigation" 
for a contingency fee of 33 I /3 percent of the gross recovery. 
That agreement was not signed by respondent and did not 
provide for fee splitting. 
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fee was illegal, it was of necessity unearned. Once 
her services were terminated, respondent was re­
quired to refund the unearned $6,500 in fees she 
collected from Odeh and Thaxton for her illegal 
representation ofOdeh.B The fact that she gave half 
of the $5,000 she received from the settlement to Wall 
does not absolve respondent of responsibility for 
reimbursement of the entire $6,500 since Odeh did 
not agree to the fee split between Wall and responw 
dent. Accordingly, we recommend restitution in the 
amount of $6,500 plus interest be paid to Odeh. 

d. Moral Turpitude re Unauthorized 
Practice of Law (Section 6106) 

The hearingj udge found respondent culpable of 
moral turpitude under section 6106 on the basis ofher 
activities in holding herself out as entitled to practice 
and in actually practicing law in the Odeh matter. 
However, the evidence of respondent's efforts, albeit 
ineffectual, to alert opposing counsel and her clients 
about her status as a California attorney, as well as 
her belief that she was entitled to practice on a pro 
hac vice basis, militate against a finding of clear and 
convincing evidence of acts of moral turpitude in 
connection with respondent's UPL. We lherefore 
dismiss with prejudice count 11. 

e. Moral Turpitude re Response to State 
Bar (Section 6106) 

Respondent stipulated that during the time she 
resided in Lake Wylie, she actively practiced law on 
behalf of Odeh, and in fact, as of August 21, 2000, she 
had received $6,500 in fees for her representation of 
Odeh. Nevertheless, when respondent wrote to Lisa 
Edwards, the State Bar Investigator, on December 11, 
2001, she stated: "Please be assured that I did not 
practice la win North Carolina or South Carolina without 
a license in those states. [I I was Ii ving briefly in Lake 

23. As noted, ante, respondent may not be heard to claim that the 
fees were earned under a theory of quantum meruit, since 
quantum meruit recovery is not allowed where a violation of 
the rules ofprofcssional conduct "proscribe the very conduct 
for which compensation was sought .... " (lfuskinwn & 
Brown LLP v. Wofj, supra, 32 Cal.4th 453, 463.) 
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Wylie South Carolina because I had married [Calvin 
MoragneJ." (Italics added.) Respondent further de­
scribed her relationship with Odeh: " ... Ms. Odeh 
wanted me to represent her. I explained that I could 
not. ... I did not and never had represented her." 
(Italics added.) Respondent followed with another 
letter to Investigator Edwards enc losing certain docu­
ments and reiterating: "Please note that my 
involvement [with Odeh] was short term as a 
preliminary evaluation to determine if I would 
apply to appear pro hac vice with Mr. Wall. I did 
not. ... " 

[6] The hearingjudge found these misrepresen­
tations constituted moral turpitude under section 6106, 
and we agree. However else moral turpitude may be 
defined, it most assuredly includes creating a false 
impression by concealment as well as affirmative 
misrepresentations. In the Matter of Moriarty (Re­
view Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 9, 15; In 
the Matter of Wyrick, supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. at pp. 90-91; In the Matter of Harney (Re­
view Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 266.) 
Moreover, "'deception of the State Bar may consti­
tute an even more serious offense than the conduct 
being investigated.' [Citation.]" (In the Matter of 
Dahlz (Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 269, 282.) 

f Moral Turpitude re Response to 
Solicitor's Office (Section 6106) 

The hearing judge found there was insufficient 
evidence of moral twpitude arising from respondent's 
evasive responses during the telephone conversation 
on February 9, 2001, with Kevin Brackett, the South 
Carolina deputy solicitor. We respectfully disagree. 
Brackett testified that he specifically asked respon­
dent "what legal matters have you undertaken since 
you ha vc been in South Carolina." Respondent did not 
identify either the Amyotte or Odeh matters (and 
omitted five other matters that she now admits she 
worked on while in South Carolina), specifying just 
three cases in her conversation with Brackett. She 
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also misled Brackett about the length of her stay in 
South Caro Jina, telling Brackett that she was in South 
Carolina to resolve a family crisis and would be 
returning to California shortly. Respondent did not tell 
Brackett that she had been a resident of South 
Carolina for almost four and one-half years or that 
she had an office there (which Brackett then advised 
respondent he knew about). Respondent testified that 
she thought Brackett was focusing on the activities of 
Mario Cruz and was asking about her current caseload 
only. Brackett testified he made it clear during the 
conversation that he was investigatingpossible viola­
ti_ons of SCC section 40-5-310 by respondent and 
was inquiring about the scope of all ofher activities 
while she was in South Carolina. He testified: "And 
so I asked her were there any other cases [ other than 
the three she disclosed] that she was involved in any 
way, shape or form, and she assured me that no, that 
was the extent ofher practice in South Carolina." The 
substance of Brackett' s conversation was corrobo­
rated by his sworn affidavit, which was prepared 
shortly after the telephone call of February 9, 2001. 

We have reviewed the evidence de novo and 
find Brackett to be more credible than respondent, 
who gave disingenuous and inconsistent testimony 
about the telephone interview.24 For example, she 
testified she thought Brackett wanted to focus on 
Mario Cruz's activities rather than her own, which 
makes no sense in light of the specific questions 
Brackett asked her and the specific, albeit incom­
plete, responses she gave him. Furthermore, at the 
time she talked to Brackett, she was actively repre­
senting Amyotte and was in the process of negotiating 
a $9,000 settlement on his behalf. (The se.ttlement 
check arrived six days after Brackett's interview 
with her.) Even under her own claimed misunder­
standing of the nature of the tc lephone interview, she 
did not answer honestly as she was required to do. 

We cannot overstate the importance of the high 
degree of honesty that was required when the South 
Carolina deputy solicitor asked respondent to provide 
information relevant to the investigation ofherpossiblc 

24. The hearing judge did not make a credibility ruling as to 
Brackett, but she did rule that in general respondent was not 
cntirelycrcdihlc, 
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UPL activities. Respondent stipulated that Brackett 
advised her of the focus of his investigation, which 
should have put her on notice of the nature and import 
of their conversation. It matters not that the conversa­
tion lasted only ten or fifteen minutes; had respondent 
answered honestly and completely, we have no doubt 
that the conversation would have been lengthier and 
more substantive. We have said: "' No distinction can . 
.. be drawn among concealment, half-truth, and false 
statement of fact. [Citation.]' [Citation.]." (In the 
Matter of Chesnut (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 166, 174.) Accordingly, we find suffi­
ciently clear and convincing evidence of dishonesty 
duringrespondent' s telephone interview with the Office 
of the Solicitor for the State of South Carolina, Sixteenth 
Judicial District to constitute moral turpitude. 

C. Jurisdictional and Due Process Issues 

Before turning to the issue of the degree of 
discipline, we address two points raised by rcspon­
den t relating to our jurisdiction to hearth is matter and 
to certain due process claims. 

I. Jurisdiction 

Respondent argues that under the Sixth Amend­
ment to the United States Constitution, the State Bar 
Court has no jurisdiction to decide respondent's 
culpability for a felony violation ofSCC 40-5-310, 
which. "occurred entirely in South Carolina, and 
where· South Carolina has not first adjudicated the 
fact of her violation of that statute." 

[7] Respondent's jurisdictional argument lacks 
merit. A disciplinary action may be maintained even 
though the attorney has been acquitted of criminal 
charges that have been dismissed based on the same 
facts. (Wong v. State Bar (1975) 15 Cal.3d 528, 
531.) Moreover, we have jurisdiction to regulate 

25. (8]As discussed herein, we reject respondent's argument that 
she is entitled to the procedural protections in these d isciplin­
ary procec<li ngs that are afforded defendants in criminal trials. 
But, as noted in footnote 11, wedo agree with her assertion that 
in finding a violation ofrulc 1-300, thcevidentiary standard in 
the instant case is that of beyond a reasonable doubt because 
the appl icab!e South Carolina statute regulating the profes­
sions makes UP La crime. As such, proof beyond a rcasonab le 
doubt is constitutionally required. (In re Winship, supra, 397 
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misconduct even when that misconduct occurred in 
another state and did not result in an out-of-state 
criminal conviction. (Emslie v. State Bar (1974) 11 
Cal.3d 210.) "Although the State Bar has discretion 
whether to pursue allegations of alleged misconduct in 
other states, there is simplyno jurisdictional requirement 
that the alleged misconduct must occur in this state in 
order to be prosecuted by the State Bar of California." 
(In the Matter of Respondent V (Review Dept. 1995) 
3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 442,447; see also§ 6049.1, 
subd. ( e) permitting non-expedited disciplinary pro­
ceedings against a Cal~fomia attorney based on the 
attorney's conduct in anotherj urisdiction.) 

fuEmsliev. StateBar,supra, 11 Cal.3d210, the 
Supreme Court disbarred a California member for 
misconduct that occurred in Nevada even though the 
criminal charges were dismissed by the State of 
Nevada because of insufficient evidence. The Su­
preme Court found that the attorney "committed acts 
in the nature of burglary and grand theft, that the 
commission of these acts constitute[ d] moral turpi­
tude and dishonesty on his part, and that the protection 
of the courts and the integrity of the legal profession 
requires that he should be disbarred." (Id. at p. 230, 
italics added.) Similarly, as an arm of the Supreme 
Court, we have jurisdiction to determine whether 
respondent's unlicensed practice of law in South 
Carolina "would be" a violation of SCC 40-5-310, 
regardless of whether such charge has been adjudi­
cated in South Carolina. 

2. Due Process 

Respondent further argues that because SCC 
section 40-5-310 is a criminal statute, this court may 
not discipline her under the due process cl a uses of the 
United States and South Carolina constitutions in the 
absence of a trial by jury and conviction based on 
evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.25 The Supreme 

U.S. 358, 364.) We recognize that ordinarily in disciplinary 
proceedings "guilt need not be proved beyond a reasonable 
doubt [but] must be established by convincing proof and to a 
reasonable certainty .... " (F:ms/ie v. State Har,supra, 11 Cal.3d 
at pp. 225-226.) H owcvcr, this standard docs not apply where 
"otherwise provided by law." (111 the Mauer of Applicant A 
(Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 318, 327.) We 
have found that the evidence here sati sfics the higher standard 
of proof. 
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Court has previously rejected such broad due process 
challenges to our authority. (See, e.g., Van Sloten v. 
State Bar (1989) 48 Cal.3d 921, 928.) 

[9] Respondent's Sixth Amendment claim to a 
jury trial may be relevant to criminal proceedings in 
South Carolina, but such a right does not attach to 
thesedisciplinaryproceedings in California. It has oft 
been said" 'that the purposes of the two proceedings 
are vastly different. A criminal proceeding has for its 
purpose the punishment of the accused if he is found 
guilty. A disciplinary proceeding ... is not intended for 
his punishment, but is for the protection of the public, 
the courts, and the legal profession.'" (Wongv. State 
Bar, supra, 15 Cal.3d at pp. 531-532, citing Best v. 
StateBar(l962) 57 Cal.2d 633,637 .)For this reason 
these proceedings "are not governed by the rules of 
procedure governing . . . criminal litigation .... 
[Citation.]." (Emslie v. State Bar, supra, 11 Cal.3d 
at pp. 225-226.) Accordingly, we reject respondent's 
due process challenge. 

ill. DISCIPLINE 

A. Mitigation 

The hearing judge found clear and convincing 
evidence of "compelling mitigating factors." We 
consider respondent's mitigative evidence to be sig­
nificant, although we do not view it as compelling, 
particularly because we do not agree with the hearing 
judge's finding that respondent's conduct was sur­
rounded by good faith. (Rules Proc. of State Bar, tit. 
IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. Misconduct, 
std. 1. 2( e )(ii). )26 Respondent did in fact affirmatively 
disclose in her retainer agreement with Amyotte that 
she was licensed in California and would represent 
him in South Carolina on a pro hac vice basis along 
with local counsel Cruz. She further advised in a letter 
to opposing counsel in the Odeh case that her praclice 
was in Cali fomia and she made "appearances on! y if 
requested as pro hac vice counsel once a lawsuit is 
filed, r so I you may want to communicate dircctl y with 
Mr.Wall, Ms. Odeh' s local counse 1." On much of her 

26. All further references to standards arc to these Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. 

We take judicial notice oflhe official State 13ar Court records 
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stationery, business cards and similar documents, she 
identified herselfas licensed to practice in California, 
and denoted her office as an "Out of State Adminis­
trative Office." She also associated with local counsel 
in both the Amyotte and Odeh cases. 

Based on these facts, we found, ante, that 
respondent's UPL activities did not involve dishon­
esty amounting to moral turpitude. However, this 
evidence is not sufficient to prove good faith mitiga~ 
tion. The State Bar correctly argues that "In order to 
establish good faith as a mitigating circumstance, an 
attorney must prove that his or her beliefs were both 
honestly held and reasonable. [Citation.]" (In the 
Matter of Rose (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 646, 653, italics added.) Respondent 
may have honestly believed that she could practice in 
South Carolina on a pro hac vice basis, but as an 
experienced practitioner who litigated employment 
discrimination cases in various jurisdictions, we find it 
was unreasonable for her to proceed on this basis. As 
the hearingj udge acknowledged, "Respondent knew 
or should have known the properprocedures required 
to engage in multijurisdictional practice. Yet, she 
failed to comprehend the need to adhere to basic 
compliance with the South Carolina and federal 
procedures." We accordingly do not adopt the hear­
ing judge's finding in mitigation that respondent's 
conduct was surrounded by good faith. 

The hearingj udge further found that respondent 
suffered from extreme emotional distress due to 
serious marital problems and hostility and racism 
directed at her by some members of the local popu­
lation. ( Std. 1.2( e )(iv).) The testimony ofrespondent 
and her maniage counselor, Stephanie Rauch, estab­
lishes this mitigating factor. 

Respondent presented eight character witnesses, 
including a retired superior court judge and three 
attorneys. (Std. 1.2( e)(vi).) All of them testified as to 
her diligence, integrity, honesty and dedication to her 
clients. Five of the witnesses had kno'wn respondent 
foratleast 15 years, and most, although not all, of the 

pertaining to respondent", prior record or discipline under 
Evidence Code section 452. 
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witnesses were aware of the charges against her. 
The hearing judge gave this testimony mitigative 
weight, and so do we. 

We make the additional finding in mitigation that 
respondent cooperated with the State Bar by entering 
into a stipulation of material facts. (Std. 1.2(e)(v).) 

B. Aggravation 

We find respondent's strong showing of mitiga­
tion is balanced by the equally strong evidence in 
aggravation. The hearingjudge found in aggravation 
that respondent has a prior record of discipline. (Std. 
l .2(b )(i).) Respondent was privately reproved pursu­
ant to a stipulation filed on January 4, 1993, for trust 
account violations in two client matters. The prior 
misconduct is similar to some of the misconduct in the 
current proceedings, and we consider it as a signifi­
cant aggravating factor. (See In the Matter of 
Gadda (Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 416, 443-444.) 

We adopt the hearing judge's finding that re­
spondent committed multiple acts of wrongdoing 
based on our determination that respondent is cul­
pable of eleven separatecountsofmisconductin two 
client matters. (Std. l .2(b)(ii).) 

[10) We agree with the hearing judge that 
respondent's conduct significantly harmed the public, 
the administration of justice and her clients. (Std. 
1.2(b )(iv).) Respondent collected fees from two 
clients that were illegal and unconscionable. She also 
interfered with the investigations by the California 

27. Our findings in mitigation and aggravation differ somewhat 
with those ofthe hcaringjudgc, but on balance do not materially 
alTect our disciplinary recommendation. 

28. Standard 2.2(b) provides that violation of rule 4-100 which 
does not result in wilful misappropriation of entrusted funds 
"shall result in at least a three month actual suspension ... 
incspcctivc of mitigating circumstances." 

Standard 2.3 provides in relevant part "Culpahility of a 
member of an act of moral turpitude, fraud, or intentional 
dishonesty toward a court, client or another person or of 
concealment of a material fact to a court, client or another 
person shall result in actual suspension ordisbarmentdepend­
ing upon the extent to which the victim of the misconduct is 
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State Bar and the State of South Carolina by giving 
false and misleading information. 

[11) We also agree with the hearing judge that 
respondent demonstrated indifference towards the 
consequences of her misconduct (std. l.2(b)(v)) 
since, as of the date of the hearing below, she had not 
yet refunded the fees and costs she wrongfully 
collected. 

C. Level of Discipline 

In making her discipline recommendation, the 
hearingj udge focused on respondent's culpability for 
the unlicensed practice in South Carolina. We found 
additional culpabilityrelating to respondent's collec­
tion ofunconscionable fees on two occasions and her 
dishonesty in responding to the South Carolina deputy 
solicitor.27 We also declined to adopt the hearing 
judge's findings of moral turpitude in two counts 
alleging dishonesty surrounding respondent's unau­
thorized practice. We considcras applicable standards 
2.2, 2.3, 2.7 and 2.10.28 Thus, the suggested range of 
discipline is a minimum of six months under standard 
2.7 to disbarment under standard 2.3. 

We look to the standards for guidance (In re 
Young(l 989)49 Cal.3d257, 267, fn.11), butwcalso 
give due consideration to the decisional law. (In the 
Matter of Respondent F (Review Dept. 1992) 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 17, 30.) The hearing judge 
focused on cases involving UPL, including In the 
Matter of Trousil (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 229; In the Matter of Mason (Review 
Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 639; Chasteen 

harmed or misled and depending upon the magnitude of the act 
of misconduct and the degree to which it relates to the member's 
acts within the practice oflaw ." 

Standard 2. 7 provides in relevant part that culpability for 
"collecting an unconscionable fee for legal services shall result 
in at least a six month actual suspension ... irrespective of 
mitigating circumstances." 

Standard 2.1 0 provides in relevant part: ''Culpability of a 
member of any violation of any provision oft he Business and 
Professions Code not specified in these standards or of a wilful 
violation ofany Rule of Professional Conduct not specified in 
these standards shall result in reproval or suspension according 
to the gravity of the otTense or the harm, if any, to the victim, 
with due regard to the purposes of imposing discipline .. .. " 
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v. State Bar (1985) 40 Cal.3d 586; In the Matter of 
Johnston (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 585; and Farnham v. State Bar (1988) 47 
Cal.3d429. The discipline in those cases ranged from 
30 days' to six months' actual suspension. The 
hearing judge cited respondent's deception to the 
State Bar investigator as reason for her recommen• 
dation of six months' actual suspension, citing Olguin 
v. State Bar (1980) 28 Cal.3d 195, 200. 

However, the hearing judge did not consider 
discipline cases involving unconscionable fees. For 
example, in the case of Finch v. State Bar(l981) 28 
Cal.3d659, which involved misconduct in five client 
matters that was at least as serious as the instant 
case, the Supreme Court imposed six months' actual 
suspension. In addition to collecting an unconscio­
nable fee, Finch (1) misappropriated client funds in 
two matters totaling $5,750; (2) forged a client's 
signature on a settlement check; (3) failed to perform 
services in three matters; (4) failed to return un­
earned fees promptly; ( 5) failed to forward client files 
and documents to subsequent counsel; and (6) with­
drew from representation without protecting his 
client's interests. (Id. at pp. 664-665.) The Supreme 
Court acknowledged in mitigation that Finch was an 
alcoholic when the misconduct occurred and that he 
had since stopped drinking. (Id. atp. 665.) The court 
also favorably noted Finch's acknowledgment of 
wrongdoing and his cooperation with the proceed­
ings. (Id. at p. 666.) Finch had no prior disciplinary 
record, but this was given little weight in mitigation as 
he had only been practicing law for three years prior 
to his misconduct. (Id. atp. 666, fn. 3.) Similarly, the 
court ascribed little weight to Finch's payments of 
restitution because they had been made under pres­
sure. (Id. alp. 666.) 

The totality of the circumstances in Finch is 
more serious than in the instant case. The Supreme 
Court characterized the misconduct as "habitual" 
warranting "severe" discipline. (Id. at p. 665 .) But in 
mitigation, Finch acknow !edged his wrongdoing and 
was on a path towards rehabilitation, whereas re­
spondent has demonstrated an unwillingness to 
recognize the consequences of her misconduct. 

We also consickr In the Matter of Harney, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 266, where this 

IN THE MA TIER OF WELLS 

(Review Dept. 2006) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 896 

court placed an attorney on six months' actual sus­
pension because he concealed from his client and the 
court the statutory fee limit under the Medical Injury 
Compensation Reform Act (MICRA) and collected 
a fee that was $266,850 in excess of that limit. We 
noted that the "gravamen of this case is not simply 
respondent's collection of an illegal fee .... Rather, 
this case is about respondent's clear overreaching of 
his own client ... and profiting handsomely as a 
result." (Id. atp. 284.) We found additional, serious 
misconduct, including violations of sections 6068, 
subdivision (b ), 6068, subdivision( d), 6106 and rule 7-
105. (Id. at p. 283.) 

In mitigation, we found Harney had impressive 
character testimony reflecting a long history as an 
outstandingpractitioncrprior to his initial disciplinary 
encounter with the State Bar. (In the Matter of 
Harney, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 282.) 
We viewed as serious aggravation the fact that 
Harney had not gained any insight "into his duty to 
protect his client's entitlement to her full share of the 
recovery vis-a-vis his own self-interest in maximiz­
ing his fee." (Id. at p. 273.) Because of his 
intransigence, at least four clients were forced to sue 
him to obtain the fees he illegally collected. (Ibid.) 
We further considered as "very serious" aggravation 
Hamey's breach of his duty of good faith and fair 
dealing to his severely disabled client. (Id. at p. 284.) 
Also aggravating was Harney' slack of candor to this 
court, his prior pubhc reproval for similar misconduct 
in collecting fees in excess ofMICRA limits, as well 
as "significant" harm to the administration of justice 
and to his client. (Id. atp.283.) We concluded that six 
months' actual suspension was warranted because 
of our "grave concern" that he might continue to 
ignore the law and his duties to his clients. (Id. at p. 
285.) 

We consider Harney to be an apt comparison to 
the instant case, most significantly because the mis­
conduct involved the collection of an excessive fee 
accompanied by overreaching of clients, and misrep­
rcsentationsconstitutingmoral turpitude, whichcauscd 
harm to clients and the administration of justice. 
Harney and respondent had strong good character 
testimony, but both lacked insight into their wrongdo­
ing, having failed to return their ill-gotten fees. 
However, we view the circumstances in the aggre-
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gate to be more serious in Harney in that he displayed 
disdain for his client and the trial court, as well as lack 
of candor to this court.· (In the Matter of Harney, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. atp. 283.)Although 
the hearing judge found respondent's testimony was 
"not entirely credible,"we do not find on our indepen­
dent review of the record that respondent has 
demonstrated contempt for these proceedings. Fur­
thermore, we view Harney' s prior disciplinary record 
to be more aggravating than in this case because it 
mirrored themisconductthatwas of greatest concern 
in his second disciplinary proceeding, i.e., charging a 
fee that grossly exceeded the allowable MICRA 
limit. Finally, we consider the overreaching in Hamey 
as more oppressive, given the size of the fee and the 
severity of the client's disability. (Id. at p. 284.) 

We also look to In the Matter o/ Burckhardt 
(Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 343, 
where we recommended a one-year actual suspen­
sion for misconduct including the collection of an 
illegal fee for services not performed. Burckhardt 
also was found culpable of UPL as the result of his 
representation of a client in a criminal matter while he 
was on suspension, as well as his improper with­
drawal while representing a client, and acts of moral 
turpitude because he lied to his client on several 
occasions, telling him that he had filed a tort claim 
on. his behalf, when he had not. In addition, 
Burckhardt was found culpable of failure to coop­
erate .. with the State Bar because he did not 
respond in any way during the investigation and 
ultimately defaulted to the entire disciplinary pro­
ceeding. We found no evidence in mitigation other 
than Burckhardt's thirteen years of practice with­
out prior discipline. (Id. at p. 350.) 

The misconduct in Burckhardt reasonably ap­
proximates that which occurred in this case. But, in 
recommending a one-year actual suspension, we 
focused on Burckhardt's prior discipline, which in­
cluded a one--year actual suspension. (In the Matter 
of Burckhardt, supra, l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at 
p. 350.) We also emphasized that Burckhardt had 
utterly failed to cooperate, resulting in his dcfaull in 
the proceedings. (Id. atp. 351.) Burckhardt's serious 
prior discipline, which suggested a disciplinary floor 
of at least one year (see std. 1.7(a)), provides a 
significantdistinction to the instant case, as does his 
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default, which is to be contrasted with respondent's 
participation and cooperation in these proceedings. 

Finally, we consider In the Matter of Yagman 
(Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 788, 
wherein we recommended a three-year stayed sus­
pension and three years' probation, conditioned on a 
one--year actual suspension. Yagman was a well­
known civil rights attorney, who in one matter involving 
several clients, was found culpable of accepting an 
unconscionable fee of $378,175 awarded by the 
court, in addition to a $44,000 fee, representing 45 
percent of the recovery in the same case. (Each 
plaintiff received $810.) (Id. at p. 800.) We found 
moral turpitude because Yagman knowingly failed to 
disclose in his fee application to the court that he had 
a contingency agreement with his clients. (Id. at p. 
801.) He also was culpable of failing to communicate 
a settlement offer to his clients, commingling funds, 
failing to pay funds promptly and failing to account 
properly. Although we further found Yaginan cul­
pable of misappropriation, we did not give any material 
weight to this finding because of his honest but 
misplaced reliance on his fee agreement, which we 
found contained illegal restrictions on his clients' 
recovery. (Id. at p. 805.) 

The misconduct in Yagman is similar to that in 
the instant case, except that Yagman involves uncon~ 
scionable feesoffargreatcrmagnitude, i.e., $378,175 
awarded by the court,p/us a $44,000 contingent fee. 
The aggravating circumstances in Yagman included 
multiple acts of misconduct and significant harm to his 
clients. (In the Matter of Yagman, ssupra, 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. atp. 806.) In mitigation, we found 
"compelling" evidence of good character, candor in 
the proceedings, and cooperation in that he entered 
into stipulation of facts where appropriate. (Id. at p. 
807 .) Unlike respondent, and to Yaginan' s credit, he 
promptly took action to resolve the fee disputes with 
his clients, refunded the disputed fees, and accepted 
responsibility for his misconduct. (Ibid.) 

But, as with Burckhardt, our discipline recom­
mendation in Yagman was in large measure influenced 
by his p1iordiscipline, whichconsistedofsix months' 
actual suspension as the result of the collection of an 
unconscionable fee. (In the Matter of Yagman, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 807 .) We noted 
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"a disturbing similarity" to the misconduct that was 
then before us (ibid.), and that Yagman "was only 
recently free of probation from that prior case at the 
time he committed the offenses now before us." (Id. 
atp. 807.) We accordingly looked to standard l .7(a) 
as a basis for our recommendation of one-year actual 
suspension. (Id. at p. 808.) Standard 1.7(a) provides 
no such justification here for imposing a discipline 
significantly greater than that recommended by the 
hearingjudge since respondent's prior discipline was 
a private reproval. 

The State Bar cites two misappropriation cases, 
Worth v. State Bar (1978) 22 Cal.3d 707 and Chang 
v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 114, in support of 
disbarment. But, these cases involved neither UPL 
nor unconscionable fee cases and are not as persua­
sive as those relied upon by the hearingj udge or cited 
above. As we remarked in Yagman, "The gravamen 
of the case before us is not in the area of misappro­
priation, but rather in the area of . . . collecting 
unconscionable fees." (Id. at p. 809.) The State Bar 
also cites Barnum v. State Bar (1990) 52 Cal.3d 104, 
wherein the Supreme Court imposed disbarment for 
a wide range of misconduct including one count of 
charging an unconscionable fee. We do not believe 
the discipline analysis in that case is pertinent to the 
instant case, because in Barnum, the Supreme Court 
specifically found the attorney "[was] not a good 
candidate for suspension and/or probation" because 
the attorney had breached two tenns of the prior 
disciplinary order, defaulted in a prior proceeding and 
once again was in default in the proceedings before 
the court. (Id. at p. 106.) 

We conclude that the hearing judge's recom­
mended discipline was well within the appropriate 
range based on our analysis of the unconscionable fee 
cases discussed above, all of which involved substan­
tial additional misconduct. We are mindful that 
standard 2.7 expressly provides that culpability for 
charging an unconscionable fee "shall result in at least 

29. Mitigating circumstances arc balanced by aggravating cir­
cumstances in the instant case. Accordingly, we find no 
additional guidance in standards 1.2(b) and l .2(c), which in this 
matter are in equipoise, the one standard suggesting that "a 
greater degree of sanction ... for the particular act ofprofcs-
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a six month actual suspension ... irrespective of 
mitigating circumstances."29 But, we do not believe 
that the six-month minimum suggested by standard 
2. 7 is necessarily additive, i.e., that actual suspension 
of greater than six months is prescribed whenever, in 
addition to the unconscionable fee, there is further 
misconduct warranting actual suspension. 

Our conclusion is reinforced by the framework 
of the standards. Standard 1.6( a) provides in part that 
"[I]ftwo or more acts of professional misconduct are 
found ... and different sanctions are prescribed ... 
the sanction imposed shall be the more or most severe 
of the different applicable sanctions." The Board of 
Governors thus has expressly adopted a methodology 
for assessing the appropriate level of discipline in cases 
involving multiple acts of misconduct that directs us to 
calculate "the more or most severe of the different 
applicable sanctions." Had the Board of Governors 
intended that our discipline recommendations be based 
upon the mathematical product of each applicable 
standard, it presumably would have so stated. 

Ultimately, our discipline analysis is guided by 
the unique facts of this case. (In the Matter of 
Brimberry (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 390, 403.) Because each case is sui gcncris, the 
standards ofnecessity are not binding, although they 
are to be afforded great weight because "' they 
promote the consistent and uniform application of 
disciplinary measures.' (Citation.)." (In re Silverton 
(2005) 36 Cal.4th 81, 91.) 

The above discussion of cases involving uncon­
scionable fees is not intended to diminish the import of 
the hearing judge's analyses of those cases which 
focus on the unauthorized practice oflaw. Without 
question, respondent's UPL activities provided the 
underpinning to the misconduct that followed, includ­
ing the unconscionable fees and the misrepresentations 
to the State Bar and the deputy solicitor for South 
Carolina. We arc concerned that an experienced 

sional misconduct . .. isnccdcd"(std. I .2(b)), while the other 
suggesting "a more lenient degree of sanction than set fo1th in 
[the] standards for the particular act of professional miscon­
duct (std. I .2(e))." 
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practitioner such as respondent was ignorant of the 
most basic rules regarding her license to practice, and 
as a consequence, the South Carolina Supreme Court 
was deprived of the ability to ensure she would 
adhere to that state's standards of professional re­
sponsibility. We are equally troubled by respondent's 
overreaching and her seeming disregard of her obli­
gation to repay her clients. 

[12) In spite of these misgivings, in light of the 
totality of the misconduct that has occurred here, we 
adopt the hearing judge's recommendation of two 
years' suspension, stayed, with two years' probation 
on the condition of six months' actual suspension, and 
until restitution is paid. The Supreme Court and this 
court have addressed these very same concerns as 
well as additional misconduct raising other "grave" 
concerns in Finch v. State Bar, supra, 28 Cal.3d 659 
and In the Matter of Harney, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 266, and nevertheless concluded that six 
months' actual suspension was sufficient to protect 
the public, courts and legal profession. While we have 
carefully considered and followed the level of disci­
pline suggested by the relevant standards, including 
standard 2.7, we have also given appropriate defer­
ence to the decisional law, which provides substantial 
guidance under the facts of this case. Accordingly, 
we believe this recommendation appropriately satis­
fies the six-month minimum suggested by standard 
2.7, while giving due consideration to the level of 
discipline imposed in previous cases where the miscon­
duct ~as most similar to that which occurred here. 

IV. RECOMMENDATION 

We recommend that respondent Stephine M. 
Wells be suspended from the practice of law in the 
State of California for two years and until she shows 
proof satisfactory to the State Bar Court of her 
rehabilitation, present fitness to practice, and present 
learning and ability in the general law in accordance 
with standard l .4(c )(ii) of the Standards for Attorney 
Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, that execu­
tion of that suspension be stayed, and that respondent 
be placed on probation for two years on the following 
conditions; 

1. That respondent be actually suspended 
from the practice of law in the State of California 
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during the first six months of probation and until 
she has satisfied each of the conditions in this 
part 1: 

(a) pays restitution to Lance Amyotte, 
or the Client Security Fund if it has paid, in the 
amountof$l 1,000 plus simple interest thereon 
at the rate of 10 percent per annum from the 
dates respondent received the fees and costs 
from Amyotte, the Philpot Law Finn and 
Huddle House, until paid; 

(b) pays restitution to Hana Odeh, or the 
Client Security Fund if it has paid, in the 
amount of$6,500, plus simple interest thereon 
at the rate of 10 percent per annum from the 
dates respondent collected the fees and costs 
from Odeh and AUWThaxton, until paid; 

(c) provides satisfactory proof of all 
such restitution as prescribed above to the 
State Bar's Office of Probation in Los 
Angeles; and 

( d) further provided that if under this 
provision, respondent's actual suspension 
remains in effect for more than two years, it 
shall continue until she shows proof 
satisfactory to the State Bar Court of her 
rehabilitation, present fitness to practice, and 
present learning and ability in the general law 
in accordance with standard I .4(c)(ii) of the 
Standards for Attorney Sanctions for 
Professional Misconduct. 

2. Respondent must comply with the provi­
sions of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct, and all the conditions of this 
probation. 

3. Respondent must maintain, with the State 
Bar's Membership Records Office and the State 
Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles, her 
current office address and telephone number or, 
ij'no office is maintained, an address to be used 
for State Bar purposes. (Bus. & Prof. Code, 
§ 6002.1, subd. (a).)Rci,pondentmustalso main­
tain, with the State Bar's Membership Records 
Office and the State Bar's Office of Probation 
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in Los Angeles, her current home address and 
telephone number. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, § 
6002.1, subd. (a)(S).) Respondent's home ad­
dress and telephone number will not be made 
available to the general public. (Bus. & Prof. 
Code, § 6002.1, subd. (d).) Respondent must 
notify the Membership Records Office and the 
Office of Probation of any change in any of this 
information no later than IO days after the change. 

4. Respondent must report, in writing, to the 
State Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles 
no later than January 10, April 10, July IO and 
October IO of each year or part thereof in which 
respondent is on probation (reporting dates). 
However, ifrespondent's probation begins less 
than 30 days before a reporting date, respondent 
may submit the first report no later than the 
second reporting date after the beginning of her 
probation. In each report, respondent must state 
that it covers the preceding calendar quarter or 
applicable portion thereof and must certify by 
affidavit or under penalty of perjury under the 
laws of the State of California as follows: 

(a) in the first report, whcthcrrespondent 
has complied with all the provisions of the 
State Bar Act, the Rules ·of Professional 
Conduct, and all other conditions of probation 
since the beginning of probation; and 

(b) in each subsequent report, whether 
respondent has complied with all the provisions 
of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct, and all other conditions of probation 
during that period. 

During the last 20 days of this probation, respon­
dent must submit a final report covering any 
period of probation remainmg after and not cov­
ered by the last quarterly report required under 
this probation condition .. In this final report, re­
spondent must certify to the matters set forth in 
subparagraph (b) of this probation condition by 
affidavit or under penalty of perjury under the 
laws of the State of California. 

5. Subject to the proper or good faith asser­
tion of any applicable privilege, respondent must 
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fully, promptly, and truthfully answer any inquir­
ies of the State Bar's Office of Probation that are 
directed to respondent, whether orally or in writ­
ing, relating to whether respondent is complying 
or has complied with the conditions of this proba­
tion. 

6. Within one year after the effective date of 
the Supreme Court order in this matter, respon­
dent must attend and satisfactorily complete the 
State Bar's Ethics School and provide satisfac­
tory proof of such completion to the State Bar's 
Office of Probation in Los Angeles. This condi­
tion of probation is separate and apart from 
respondent's California Minimum Continuing 
Legal Education (MCLE) requirements; accord­
ingly, respondent is ordered not to claim any 
MCLE credit for attending and completing this 
course. (Accord, Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
3201.) 

7. Respondent's probation will commence 
on the effective date of the Supreme Court order 
imposi ngdisciplinc in this matter. And, at the end 
of the probationary term, if respondent has com­
plied with the conditions of probation, the Su­
preme Court order suspending respondent from 
the practice oflaw for two years wi 11 be satisfied, 
and the suspension will be terminated. 

V. PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
EXAMINATION 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional Conference of Bar Examiners within the longer 
of one year after the effective date of the discipline 
herein or <luring the period of her actual suspension 
and to provide satisfactory proof of such passage to 
the State Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles 
within the same period. 

VI. RULE 955 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to comply with rule 955 of the California Rules 
of Court and to perform the acts specified in para­
graphs (a) and (c) of that rule within 30 and 40 



IN THE l\1ATTER OF WELLS 

(Review Dept. 2006) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 896 

calendar days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court order in this matter. 

VII. COSTS 

We further recommend that the costs incurred 
by the State Bar in this matter be awarded to the State 
Bar in accordance with Business and Professions 
Code section 6086.10 and that such costs be enforce­
able both as provided in Business and Professions 
Code section 6140. 7 and as a money judgment. 

We Concur: 
STOVITZ, P. J . 
WATAI., J. 
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STATE BAR COURT 

REVIEW DEPARTMENT 

In the Matter of 

TAMIROHEB 

A Member of the State Bar 

No. 99-C-11161 

FiledApril27,2006 

SUMMARY 

Respondent was convicted of two felony counts of violating Penal Code section 549 for accepting referrals 
of personal injury clients with reckless disregard for whether the refening party or the referred clients intended 
to make false or fraudulent insurance claims. The hearing judge found that the circumstances surrounding 
respondent's crimes involved moral turpitude as well as violations of rules 1-311, l-320, and 4-I00(A) and 
recommended that respondent be placed on four years' stayed suspension and four years' probation with 
conditions, including two years' actual suspension. (Hon. Robert M. Talcott, Hearing Judge.) 

The State Bar sought review contending the summary disbannent statute applies to all felonies which 
involve moral turpitude in their surroundings facts and circumstances. 

The review department rejected some of the hearing judge's findings of misconduct, found additional 
misconduct, adopted the hcaringj udge' s conclusion that the facts and circumstances surrounding respondent's 
conviction involved moral turpitude based on different grounds, and recommended disbarment. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

COIJJ\St:I. FOR PARTll!:S 

Alan B. Gordon, Susan J. Jackson 

Tamir Oheb, in pro. per. 

IIEADNon:s 

11 a-el 1553.10 Conviction Matters-Standards-Enumerated Felonies-Summary Disbarment 
Cuncnt law does not provide for summary disbannent unless the clements of the conviction 
inherently in vol vc moral turpitude. Thus, the State Bar's argument that summary disbarment applies 
to all felonies which involve moral turpitude in their surrounding facts and circumstances cannot be 

Editor's note: The summary, hea<lnotcs and additional analysis section arc not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the011icc of the State Bar Court for the convenience of the reader. Only the actual text ofthe Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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supported as it is contrary to the uniform meaning and interpretation of over 70 years of summary 
provisions of the State Bar Act flowing from an attorney's criminal conviction. 

f2] 1512 Conviction Matters-Nature of Conviction-Theft Crimes 
1521 Conviction Matters-Moral Turpitude-'Per Se 
In order to warrant classification as a crime inherently involving moral turpitude, the least 
adjudicated elements of the crime must, as a matter oflaw, constitute moral turpitude no matter how 
the crime was committed. Given that either reckless disregard or knowledge of intent of another 
to commit insurance fraud is an element of respondent's violation of Penal Code section 549, this 
offense does not inherently involve moral turpitude, but rather is an offense for which there is 
probable cause to believe involves moral turpitude. 

• [3 a, b] 162.11 Proof-State Bar's Burden-Clear and Convincing 
Although the State Bar may prove an attorney's misconduct with clear and convincing circumstan• 
tial evidence, the fact that respondent knew his associate was buying personal inj urycases involving 
vehicles with multiple occupants, had resigned with disciplinary charges pending, had stolen and 
forged settlement checks from respondent, and had negotiated settlements in cases he referred to 
respondent, was not clear and convincing evidence that respondent knew of the staged accidents 
when he was representing the clients his associate referred to him. 

[4J 162.11 Proof-State Bar's Burden-Clear and Convincing 

[5] 

Where the record supports an inference beneficial to respondent as equally as it supports an 
inference adverse to respondent, the inference favoring the attorney must be accepted. 

191 
1512 

Effect/Relationship of Other Proceedings 
Conviction Matters-Nature of Conviction:.....Theft Crimes 

An attorney's conviction of a crime pursuant to a plea of nolo contendere is conclusive proof that 
the attorney committed all acts necessary to constitute the offense. Thus, respondent's convictions 
on two counts of violating Penal Code section 549 based on respondent's recklessness and not his 
actual knowledge conclusively establish that he acted in reckless disregard of the unlawful intentions 
of others. 

161 1523 Conviction Matters-Moral Turpitude-Facts and Circumstances 
Where respondent's convictions do not involve moral turpitude per se, the circumstances 
surroundingrespondent' s convictions are reviewed to determine whether they in fact involved moral 
turpitude or other misconduct warranting discipline. In reviewing the circumstances surrounding 
respondent's conviction, the fact finder is not restricted to examining the elements of the crime, but 
rather may look to the whole course of respondent's conduct which reflects upon his fitness to 
practice law because it is the misconduct underlying respondent's conviction, as opposed to the 
conviction itself, that warrants discipline. 

(71 15 9 Evidence-Miscellaneous 
162.20 Proof-Respondent's Burden 
Where respondent fai I ed to corroborate or substan tiatc his testimony with evidence that one would 
have expectedly produced, respondent's unexplained failure to produce such evidence is a strong 
indication that respondent's testimony is not credible. 
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[SJ 1523 Conviction Matters-Moral Turpitude---Facts and Circumstances 
Where respondent knew that his associate was buying cases, where respondent paid his associate 
for buying, referring, and working on referred cases, and where respondent split attorney's fees on 
the referred cases in violation of rule 1-310, the facts and circumstances of respondent's 
misconduct involved moral turpitude. 

[9 a, b] 1523 Conviction Matters-Moral Turpitude---Facts and Circumstances 
Where respondent entered into a business relationship with a resigned artomeywithout investigating 
him, where respondent knowingly permitted the resigned attorney to interview and sign up clients 
without respondent's knowledge or approval, and where respondent knowingly failed to monitorthe 
cases the resigned attorney referred to him, such conduct establishes an habitual failure to give 
reasonable attention to the handling of the affairs of his clients rather than an isolated instance of 
carelessness followed by a firm detennination to make amends. Respondent's manner and method 
of practicing law during his association with the resigned attorney and respondent's failure to protect 
himself from the actions of the resigned attorney were reckless and therefore involved moral 
turpitude. 

11 OJ 15 23 Conviction Matters-Moral Turpitude-Facts and Circumstances 
Respondent's misconduct in falsely recording in his financial and bank records the nature of his 
payments to a resigned attorney with the specific intent to conceal his improper fee splitting with 
a nonattomey from, inter alia, the State Bar involves moral turpitude. 

[ 11 I 1523 Conviction Matters-Moral Turpitude-Facts and Circumstances 
Where respondent learned that cases referred to him by a resigned attorney were based on staged 
accidents and thereafter failed to inform the clients in those cases that he had substantial information 
suggesting that the clients knowingly made a false claim based on a staged accident or give whatever 
legal counsel was appropriate, respondent's wholesale failure to competently represent these clients 
involves moral turpitude. 

(12 a, b] 1531 Conviction Matters-Other Misconduct Warranting Discipline-Found 
Although respondent's violations ofrules 1-311 and 4-1 OO(A) did not involve moral turpitude, they 
did constitute additional misconduct warranting discipline. 

[ 13 I 691 Aggravation-Other-Found 
The fact that respondent intentionally engaged in misconduct for personal gain and, in fact, 
personally profited from his misconduct are aggravating circumstances. 

I 14] 735.30 Mitigation-Candor-Bar-Found but Discounted 
Because respondent's admissions of culpability for violating rules 1-320 and 1-311 were easily 
provable violations, his cooperation during the disciplinary proceedings did not warrant significant 
mitigative weight. 

[lSJ 795 Mitigation-Other-Declined to Find 
Naivete had nothing to do with respondent's decision to enter into a business relationship with a 
resigned attorney that involved capping and fee splitting. Most importantly, naivete had little if 
anything to do with the criminal recklessness respondent engaged in which resulted in two felony 
convictions. 
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(16] 740.32 Mitigation-Good Character-Found but Discounted 
The fact that respondent's good character witnesses did not establish that they possessed adequate 
lmowledge ofrespondent' s convictions or of the facts and circwnstances surrounding them and the 
fact that at least two witnesses rarely saw or interacted with respondent reduced the mitigating 
weight given to their testimony. 

[17] 1610 Conviction Matters-Discipline-Disbarment 
Where the facts and circumstances underlying respondent's felony conviction involved moral 
turpitude due to respondent's capping, fee splitting, recklessness, deceit, and repeated failures to 
competently represent his clients, where the facts and circumstances involved additional miscon­
duct warranting discipline, where there was Ii ttle weight assigned to respondent's cooperation ,v:ith 
the State Bar and to his evidence of good character, and where respondent engaged in multiple acts 
of misconduct, profited from that misconduct, harmed clients and insurers and failed to complete 
restitution, the appropriate level of discipline was disbarment. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

252.21 Rule 1-310 [former 3-103] 
280.01 Rule 4-IO0(A) [former 8-l0l(A)] 
490.01 MiscellaneousMisconduct 

Not Found 
Aggravation 

Found 
521 
582.10 
588.10 
591 

Multiple Acts 
Harm to Client 
Hann-Generally 
Indifference 

Mitigation 
Found but Discounted 

710.33 No Prior Record 
740.33 Good Character 

Standards 
801.30 Effect as Guidelines 
801.45 Deviation From-NotJustified 

Discipline 

Other 
155 2 .10 Conviction Matters- Standards-Moral Turpitude-Disbarment 

135.84 Procedure-Revised Rules of Procedure-Division VIII, Specific Proceedings­
Conviction 
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OPINION 

STOVITZ, P. J.: 

In this conviction referral proceeding, the State 
Bar sought our review of a hearing judge's decision 
recommending that respondent, Tamir Oheb, be 
placed on four years' stayed suspension and on four 
years' probation with conditions, including two years' 
actual suspension. On July 16, 2004, we filed our 
opinion in this case, concluding that summary disbar­
ment was not authorized under Business and 
Professions Code section 6102, subdivision (c), but 
finding that the facts and circumstances surrounding 
the conviction ofrespondent, Tamir Oheb, of violation 
of Penal Code section 549 involved moral turpitude. 
We accordingly adopted the hearingjudge's recom­
mendation that respondent be suspended for four 
years, that execution be stayed and that respondent 
be actually suspended for two years, retroactive to 
October 1, 2001, the start of his interim suspension, 
and that his actual suspension should continue unti 1 he 
makes an acceptable showing under standard 
1.4( c )(ii), Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Pro­
fessional Misconduct, Rules of Procedure of the 
State Bar, title lV (Standards). 

The State Bar sought Supreme Court review of 
our decision, arguing that disbarment is the appropri­
ate discipline to recommend. In the alternative, the 

I. Because of the Supreme Court's remand order, and pending 
our further order, we dcpublished our earlier opinion in In the 
Maller ojDheb. (See 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rprr. 697.) For ease 
of reference, we rclcr to that opinion as our "2004 opinion." 
We have construed the Supreme Court's order thal we vacate 
our 2004 opinion as to our discussion and recommendation of 
the degree of discipline. (2004 typed opinion, Seclions VIL and 
VIJI., pp. 32 38.) We therefore re-adopt Sections I. through 
VI., pp. 3 - 32, of our 2004 opinion; and, according] y, republish 
our previous statement as lo procedural history, discussion of 
ineligibility oflhis ca.-;e for summary disbarment, findings of 
fact, conclusions of law and discussion of aggravating and 
mitigating circumstances. In order to restore !he portion5 of our 
2004 opinion which we re-adopt, we set them forth anew, 
uli lizing the same heading designations as in the earlier opinion. 

2. Penal Code section 549 provides: "Any firm, corporation, 
partnership, or association, or any person acting in his or her 
individual capacity, or in his or her capacity a:; a public or 
private employee, who solicits, accepts, or refers any business 
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Bar sought a remand to us to reconsider the degree 
of discipline. 

By order of June 15, 2005, the Supreme Court 
remanded the matter to us with directions to vacate 
our recommendation and reconsider it in light of 
standard 3.2. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 953.5.)1 

After an opportunity for the parties to brief the 
issue on remand, we have reconsidered our earlier 
discipline recommendation and now recommend, for 
the reasons stated, that respondent be disbarred. 

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY. 

In September 2000, after pleading nolo conten­
dere, respondent was convicted in the Los Angeles 
Superior Court on two felony counts of violating 
Penal Code section 549 for accepting referrals of 
personal injury clients with reckless disregard for 
whether the ref erring party or the referred clients 
intended to make false or fraudulent insurance claims. 2 

Once the State Bamotified us ofrespondent's con­
victions, we filed an order in August 200 l that placed 
respondent on interim suspension because 
respondent's convictions were for ( 1) felony crimes 
and (2) crimes which there is probable cause to 
believe involve moral turpitude. 3 (Bus. & Prof. Code, 
§ 6102, subd. (a); Cal. Rules of Court, rule 951(a); 
Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 320(a).) In that same 

to or from any individual or entity with the knowledge that, or 
with reckless disregard for whether, the individual or entity for 
or from whom the solicitation or referral is made, or the 
individual or entity who is solicited or referred, intends to 
violate Section 55 0 of this code or Section 1871 .4 of the 
Insurance Code [by making false or fraudulent insurance 
claims] is guilty of a crime, punishable .... " Respondent 
pleaded nolo contcndcre only to the "with reckless disregard" 
portion of section 549 and not to the "with the knowledge" 
portion. In light of respondent's plea agreement, the People 
found it unnecessary to rake a position on whether respondent 
had actual knowledge that his clients or the individual who 
referred lhc clients to him intended to make false or fraudulent 
ins uran cc claims. At lh e hearing on respondent's p 1 ea agreemen !, 

the People told the court, that it was leaving for the State Bar the 
issue of whether respondent had such actual knowledge. 

3. Either one of these grounds alone would authorize 
respondent"s interim suspension. (Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 6 I 02, 
subd. (a).) 
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August 2001 order, following the customary practice 
for such crimes, we also referred respondent's con­
victions to the hearing department for a trial on the 
issues of whether the facts and circumstances sur­
rounding the commission of the crimes involved moral 
turpitude (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 6101, 6102) or 
other misconduct warranting discipline ( see, e.g., In 
re Kelley (1990) 52 Cal.3d 487,494); and, if so, for 
a recommendation as to the discipline to be imposed. 
(Cal. Rules of Court, rule 951 (a); Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, rule 320(a).) 

After he was placed on interim suspension in 
California under our August 2001 order, respondent 
practiced law in Las Vegas until he was suspended in 
Nevada in February 2002, which was only about two 
months before the State Bar Court trial. The record 
does not indicate whether respondent was physically 
present in Las Vegas or anywhere else in Nevada 
when he practiced law after his interim suspension in 
California. 

After a trial of almost five days, the hearing judge 
found that the circumstances surroundingrespondent' s 
crimes involved moral turpitude because respondent 
accepted personal injury cases with knowledge that 
they were being purchased and took steps to conceal 
the fact that he was splitting attorney's fees with a 
nonattorney. The hearingj udge further found thatthe 
circumstances surrounding respondent's convictions 
also involvedrespondent' s ( 1) willful violation of rule 
1-311 of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the 
State Bar4 by employing a nonattomey whom respon­
dent knew had previously resigned from the State Bar 
with disciplinary charges pending without complying 
with the requirements of rule 1-311, (2) willful viola­
tionofrule 1-320 by improperly entering into financial 
arrangements with nonattomcys to obtain clients, and 
(3) willful violation of rule4-1 OO(A) by making certain 
improper deposits into and payments from his client 
trust account. 

After considering aggravating and mitigating 
evidence, which we discuss post, the hearing judge 
made his recommendation of four years' stayed 

4. A II further references to ml cs are to the Rules of Professional 
Conduct unless otherwise indicated. 
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suspension, four years' probation, and two years' 
actual suspension, and this appeal was filed by the 
State Bar. 

II. CURRENT LAW DOES NOT PROVIDE 
FOR SUMMARY DISBARMENT UNLESS 
THE ELEMENTS OF THE CONVICTION 

INHERENTLY INVOLVE MORAL TURPI­
TUDE. 

[la] At the outset, we discuss the State Bar's 
argument that the summary disbarment statute (Bus. 
& Prof. Code, § 6102, subd. ( c )5), applies to all 
felonies which involve moral turpitude in their sur­
rounding facts and circumstances and not just to 
those where the elements of the conviction involve 
moral turpitude per se. As we shall discuss, we 
disagree with the State Bar. In our view, the State 
Bar's position is contrary to the uni form meaning and 
interpretation ofover 70 years of summary provisions 
of the State Bar Act flowing from an attorney's 
conviction of crime. 

The State Bar offers several points in support of 
its argument. However, we have concluded that its 
points do not offer the support the State Bar claims. 

Prior to 1955, the State Bar Act and predecessor 
laws provided for automatic disbarment upon an 
attorney's final conviction of a crime involving moral 
turpitude. (E.g., In re Smith (1967) 67 Cal.2d 460, 
462;/n re Collins (1922) 188 Cal. 701, 707-708.) It 
is clear that under the pre-1955 law, automatic 
disbarment was reserved for only those crimes which 
inherently involved moral turpitude. The Supreme 
Court made this point succinctly in In re Hallinan 
(1954) 43 Cal.2d 243,248: "Moral turpitude must be 
inherent in the commission of the crime itself to 
warrant summary disbarment under [the State Bar 
Act]." Indeed, in those cases not inherently involving 
moral turpitude, before and after the earlier automatic 
disbarment law, the Supreme Court uniformly re­
ferred them to the StateBarnotonly for an evidentiary 
hearing on the question of whether the surrounding 
facts and circumstances involved moral turpitude or 

5. All further references lo scctlon(s) arc to the l:lusincss and 
Professions Code unless otherwise indicated. 
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misconduct warranting lawyer discipline, but also for 
a recommendation as to the degree of discipline to 
impose depending on what was shown by the sur­
rounding facts and circumstances. (In addition to In 
re Hallinan, supra, at pp. 253-254, see In re Kelley, 
supra, 52 Cal.3d 487, 492; In re Strick (1983) 34 
Cal.3d 891, 897; In re Higbie (1972) 6 Cal.3d 562, 
568-569; In reLangford(l 966) 64Cal.2d489,490.) 

Effective January 1, 1986, a summary disbar­
ment law was enacted in the State Bar Act. Although 
it is not the text of the law at issue here, its history is 
instructive to the issue in the 1996 law which is before 
us. The law between 1986 and 1997 provided for 
summary disbarment if"an element" of the convicted 
felony was the "specific intent to deceive, defraud, 
steal, or make or suborn a false statement." Other 
required elements not pertinent here were that the 
crime either occurred in the practice oflaw or such 
that the attorney's client was a victim. (See In re Utz 
( 1989) 48 Cal.3d 468, 482, fn. 10.) 

Although this law was cited by the Supreme 
Court in four decisions, none of these citations touch 
the issue under review. (See In re Ewaniszyk (1990) 
50 Cal.3d 543, 549-550 [retroactive applicability 
need not be decided as disbannent was warranted 
irrespective of the summary disbarment law]; In re 
Utz, supra, 48 Cal.Jd 468, 482-483 [insufficient 
basis to impose discipline under the 1985 summary 
disbarment law, as to the reg uirement that the offense 
occur in the practice of law]; In re Basinger (1988) 
45 Cal.3d 1348, 1358, fn. 3 r since, inter alia, the State 
Bar did not rely on summary disbarment statute 
below, its applicability need not be decided]; In re 
Ford (1988) 44 Cal.3d 810,816, fn. 6 [question of 
retroactive application of§ 6102, subd. ( c) need not 
be decidcd1.) 

Effective January l, 1997, the laweliminatcd the 
requirement that the crime had to have occurred in 
the practice oflaw or such that the attorney's client 
was a victim and, as pertinent here, provided for 
summary disbarment "if the offense is a felony under 
the laws of California, the United States, or any state 
or territory thereof, and an element of the offense is 
the specific intent to deceive, defraud, steal, or make 
or suborn a false statement, or involved moral turpi­
tude." 
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The State Bar maintains that whatever the vi­
ability of the Supreme Court's earlier requirement 
limitingsummarydisbannenttocrimesthatinherently 
involve moral turpitude, that limit did not survive the 
1996 amendments. We disagree. 

[1 b] The State Bar advances several arguments 
for its theory that a crime is eligible for summary 
disbarment even if it does not inherently invo Ive moral 
turpitude. First it contends that the plain language of 
the 1996 amendment to section 6102, subdivision ( c) 
demonstrates its applicability to crimes not inherently 
involving moral turpitude. But its explanation does not 
provide support for its argument. Indeed, we believe 
that the plain meaning of this provision, is to read the 
reference to moral turpitude as relating to "an ele­
ment of the offense" just as other factors included in 
the statute relate. That would make the statute fully 
compatible with the long-standingjudicial interpreta­
tion. 

[le] The State Bar also contends that the legis­
lati vehistoryofthe 1996 amendmentto section 6102, 
subdivision ( c) establishes its broader applicability of 
the law. According to the State Bar, the original form 
of this amendment contained the word "element" 
twice, in this array: "After the judgmentofconviction 
... has become final ... , the Supreme Court shall 
summarily disbar the attorney if the offense is a 
felony ... and an elementoftheoffcnse is the specific 
intent to deceive, defraud, steal, or make or suborn a 
false statement, or an element of the offense involved 
moral turpitude." The State Bar argues that this 
original draft of the bill made clear that the. moral 
turpitude element applied only to crimes inherently 
involving moral turpitude and that when the Legisla­
ture removed the second reference to "element of the 
offense" in the bill that that was a legislative intent 
that the provision relate to crimes not inherently 
involving moral turpitude. However, the State Bar 
concedes that there is no discussion by any legislator 
as to this subject and in our view, it is an equally 
reasonable conclusion that the deletion was made 
simply as a stylistic avoidance of redundancy. (Cf. 
Price v. State Bar (1982) 30 Cal.3d 537, 541 
[ Leg is laturc' s failure to remove a provision in section 
6131 was deemed an oversight].) Moreover, given 
the nature of the statutory amendments, the Legisla­
ture is assumed to be a ware of and to have acquiesced 
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in the lengthy, uniform history of the Supreme Court 
in requiring a crime inherently involving moral turpi­
tude before invoking summary disbarment procedures 
(see Marina Point Ltd. v. Wolfson (1982) 30 Cal.3d 
721, 734), and we see no evidence that the Legisla­
ture intended to alter this judicial construction. Indeed, 
any discussion that the State Bar does cite us to from 
the legislative history is merely explanatory and 
consistent with the long-standing interpretation that 
the crime must inherently involve moral turpitude as 
a precondition for summary disbarment. In that con­
nection, we find it significant that, when defining an 
out-of-state felony which would qualify under sec­
tion 6102 for either interim suspension or summary 
disbarment, the Legislature expressly referred to the 
"elements" of the offense.(§ 6102, subd. (d)(2).) 
Finally, we note that the legislative procedure for 
imposing final discipline after an attorney's criminal 
conviction for those offenses ineligible for summary 
disbarment, continues to recognize either crimes 
"involving" moral turpitude or, crimes in which the 
"circumstances" surrounding the commission involve 
moral turpitude.(§ 6102, subd. (e).) This is to us a 
strong legislative recognition thatthe tenn "invo Ive" 
or "involving" moral turpitude as used in section 6102 
means that the crime inherently involves moral turpi • 
tude as a matter oflaw,just as In re Hallinan, supra, 
43 Cal.2d243, contemplates. 

[ld] The State Bar's citation of Supreme Court 
decisional law to support its position is. similarly 
unavai 1 ing, for, if anything, In re Lesansky (2001) 25 
Cal.4th 11, 16, appears to us to be guidance that the 
Supreme Court interprets the 1996 summary disbar­
ment law in the same essential manner as the law 
prior to 1955, in requiring moral turpitude to be 
inherent in the criminal conviction as a prerequisite to 
summary disbarment. In Lesansky, the attorney 
claimed that his conviction of attempted chi Id moles­
tation under Penal Code sections 664 and 288, 
subdivision (c)(l), was not eligible for summary 
disbarment as it was not a crime inherently involving 
moral turpitude. The Supreme Court disagreed, stat­
ing that "An offense necessarily involves moral 
turpitude if the conviction would in every case 
evidence bad moral character. [Citing In re Hallinan, 
supra, 43 Cal.2d 243.J This is a question oflaw to be 
determined by this court. [Citation.]" (In re Lesansky, 
supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 16, original italics.) Although 
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Lesansky's crime had been classified as one which 
involves moral turpitude per se, unlike respondent's 
conviction of Penal Code section 549, if the Supreme 
Court determined that the 1996 summary disbarment 
law's "moral turpitude" element could be triggered by 
a lesser requirement than by a crime that inherently 
involved moral turpitude, itpresumablywouldhaveso 
indicated instead of following its long-standing ap­
proach. 

Similarly unavailing to the State Bar's argument 
is the State Bar's reliance on rule 606 of the Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar which allows us to refer 
a conviction to the hearing judge solely to resolve 
factual issues regarding whether the criteria are 
present for summary disbarment. As the history of 
that rule reveals, it was adopted solely in response to 
the legislative enactment of criteria that existed until 
January 1, 1997, that in order to be eligible for 
summary disbarment, a crime must have occurred in 
the practice of law or in a way that a client was a 
victim. Since the presence or absence of those 
elements were not always obvious from the bare 
record of conviction, we were given referral authority 
to ascertain whether the statutory elements existed. 
Rule 606 did not, however, change the type of crimes 
eligible for summary disbarment. 

[le) Finally, we cannot agree with the policy 
arguments the State Bar cites for reading section 
6102, subdivision ( c) as applicable to crimes not 
inherently involving the prescribed elements. We 
simply observe that the policy of limiting crimes 
eligible for summary disbarment under the 1996 law 
to those which inherently involve the statutory ele~ 
ments appears the far better policy, for those crimes 
then depend on a legal definition of the crime's 
elements and are uniformly applied to all such convic­
tions of the same crime, rather than turning on slight 
variations in facts and circumstances yielding varying 
moral turpitude outcomes forthesame conviction, as 
can occur in every crime of an attorney not involving 
per se the prescribed summary disbarment elements. 
(Among many such crimes which could have a 
varying outcome, see, e.g., ln re Higbie, supra, 6 
Cal.3d 562; In re Langford, supra, 64 Cal.2d 489.) 

{21 We have reviewed our order classifying this 
offense as one which there is probable cause to 
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believe involves moral turpitude, and we adhere to 
that classification. In order to warrant classification 
as a crime inherently involving moral turpitude, the 
least adjudicated elements of the crime must, as a 
matter oflaw, constitute moral turpitude no matter 
how the crime was committed. (Cf. Peoplev. Castro 
(1985) 3 8 Cal.3d 301, 317 [ classification of moral 
turpitude crimes for witness impeachment purposes].) 
Given that either reckless disregard or knowledge of 
intent of another to commit insurance fraud is an 
element of the offense - here respondent pied to the 
"reckless disregard" element-we cannot hold that 
Penal Code section 549 inherently involves moral 
turpitude. 

ill. FINDINGS OF FACT. 

Turning to the facts and circumstances sur­
rounding respondent's conviction, our independent 
review causes us to make the following findings of 
fact, which are established by clear and convincing 
evidence. 

A. Respondent's background. 

In 1982, when respondent was 17. his father had 
a severe stroke. The next year, respondent's family 
moved from New York to Tarzana, California, where 
they lived in an apartment near one of respondent's 
uncles. Respondent testified that, ever since his 
family moved to California in 1983, he has worked 
and provided 80 percent ofhis family's income. While 
respondentwent to law school at night, he worked 
full -time during the day and all but completely sup­
ported his sister when she was in college in the late 
1980's and early 1990's, paying for her food and 
college tuition, buying her a car, and paying for its 
insurance and related expenses. 

Sometime while in law schoo 1, respondent moved 
outofhis family's apartment and into a house that he 
purchased in the Northridge area. Thereafter, his 
parents purchased and moved into a house in or near 
Northridge. Respondent testified that, in addition to 
having to pay his monthly mortgage of about $2,000, 
he was responsible for his parents' mortgage. 

After respondent graduated from law school in 
May 1992, he took and passed the July 1992 Califor-
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nia General Bar Examination, was admitted to the 
practice oflaw in California on December 14, 1992, 
and has been a member of the State Bar since that 
time. Sometime thereafter, respondent was admitted 
to practice in Nevada. After his admission to practice, 
respondent received multiple job offers with salaries 
ranging from $25,000 to $30,000 a year. Respondent 
rejected each of those offers as insufficient to pay his 
living expenses and the financial assistance he gave 
his family. Respondent married in May 1995, and his 
first child was born in August 1996 and his second in 
July 1999. Respondent's wife did not work. 

B. Respondent's law practice. 

In early 1993, respondent opened his own law 
practice, which he limited almost exclusively to plain­
tiffs' personal injury. Except for the few months 
when he had a small office in Reseda, California, 
respondent practiced law out of his house. During 
that time, respondent had privileges in what is re­
ferred to as a "F egen Suite," a law office suite where 
attorneys paid for office privileges such as receiving 
mail, forwarding their telephone calls, and meeting 
with clients in a conference room. Then, in October 
1996, respondent moved into an office in Tarzana, 
California, which he thereafter maintained as his 
permanent and principal office. Over the years, 
respondent also opened "satellite" offices in a num­
ber of other cities such as Woodland Hills, California 
and Las Vegas, Nevada. Respondent testified that 
almost all ofhis satellite offices were open only for a 
short while because they were not profitable. 

Respondent personally kept his financial records, 
maintaining particularly meticulous bank records for 
each of his accounts, including his client trust ac­
count.For each bank account, he kept a file containing 
a copy of each check written on the account and 
another file containing a copy of each check depos­
ited into the account. Respondent was the only one 
who wrote or signed checks on his bank accounts. 

When a case settled, respondent personally pre­
pared the "settlement sheet," which set forth the 
division of the settlement proceeds, i.e., between the 
client, respondent, medical providers, and any other 
party entitled to a portion of the proceeds. The client 
had to approve division of the settlement proceeds 
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and sign the settlement sheet before respondent 
would pay out any proceeds. 

One morning in October 1997, chiropractor Ri­
chard Monos on telephoned respondent. Respondent 
had met and dealt with both Monoson and Jack 
Hannah, Monoson's office manager and only em­
ployee, some 10 years earlier while respondent was 
in law school and worked as a law clerk for an 
attorney who referred clients to Monoson. Over the 
years, Monoson befriended respondent and, inter alia, 
employed respondent for three or fourmonths in 1992 
while he waited for his bar results at a salary of either 
$200 or $300 per week and apparently even loaned 
respondent money. Respondent considered Monos on 
like a brother; believed thatMonosonsavedhis and his 
family's lives by employing him; and allegedly relied 
greatly on Monoson' s purported honesty, integrity, and 
good judgment. From the time he started practicing law 
in 1993 through mid-December 1998, respondent re­
ferred all of his clients to Monoson for treatment. 

When Monoson telephoned respondent that 
morning in October 1997, he asked respondent to 
come to his chiropractic office in Encino that after­
noon to meet Kenneth Gottlieb, whom Monoson 
described only as a former attorney who could 
increase respondent's practice. When respondent 
went to Monoson's office that afternoon, Monoson 
introduced him to Gottlieb as well as to Keith R. 
Ohanesian, a chiropractor with whom Monoson did 
business and who knew Gottlieb, and Tony Folgar, an 
investigator who worked with Gottlieb. 

At the meeting, no one told respondent that 
Gottlieb resigned with disciplinary charges pending in 
July 1992 or that G ottlicb had a criminal record. After 
the introductions were made that afternoon, the men 
met for about 30 minutes. At that meeting, respondent 
learned that Monoson just met Gottlieb the day 
before; that Gottlieb was working with Attorney 
Ronald Hettena inHettena 's personal injury practice, 
but that Gottlieb was looking for another attorney to 
work with bee a use H ettena was allegedly closing his 

6. In I 994, Gottlieb was again convicted of insurance fraud 
involving staged automobile accidents and of grand lheft. At 
that time, he was al so convicted of money laundering. Because 
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practice and moving out of state; and that Gottlieb 
was going to keep and to continue working out of an 
office inVan Nuys, California that he had shared with 
Hettena. In addition, respondent was told and be­
lieved that Gottlieb had been a very successful 
"attorney for 25 years plus, that [Gottlieb] was a 
litigator, [that Gottlieb] had worked for a number of 
famous attorneys," that Gottlieb had a "huge book of 
business" that he was willing to refer to respondent, 
and that he was willing to teach respondent how to 
litigate. 

Respondent soon learned of Gottlieb' s resigna­
tion when he looked Gottlieb' s membership status up 
on the State Bar's web site. Even though the State 
Bar's web site indicated that Gottlieb's resignation 
was with disciplinary charges pending, it did not 
identify the pending charges, and respondent never 
requested that information from the State Bar. The 
State Bar's official public records, although not then 
available on its web site, disclosed that Gottlieb had 
been publicly reproved in May 1986 and that the 
disciplinary charges pending against Gottlieb involved 
both Gottlieb's September 1991 convictions on two 
counts of insurance fraud, two counts of grand theft, 
and two counts of forgery, and Gottlieb's failure to 
comply with rule 955 of the California Rules of Court 
as directed in an order we filed in fall 1991 placing 
Gottlieb on interim suspension.6 

Respondent not only failed to seek additional 
information from the State Bar on Gott! icb 's resigna­
tion, he waited a number of weeks before he even 
asked Gottlieb for more information. Respondent 
testified that, when asked, Gottlieb explained "that he 
had some issue with the State Bar over some-a med 
-a med pay matter or lien of a doctor that took years 
and years to resolve and he finally just resigned." 
Respondent also testified that he believed Gottlieb' s 
explanation. White it is true that a number of 
respondent's witnesses corroborated respondent's 
testimony as to the basic contentofGottlicb's expla­
nation, they did not corroborate respondent's 
testimony that he believed the explanation. 

Gottlieb resigned in 1992, Gottlieb' s pub! ic records at the State 
Bar did not disclose his 1994 convictions. 
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As the hearing judge correctly found, the parties 
agreed atthemeetingthatGottlieb would transfer all of 
the personal injury cases that he had with Attorney 
Hettena to respondent, that respondent would be substi­
tuted in place of Hettena as the attorney of record in 
those cases, that Gottlieb would find and, when neces­
sary, buy new cases and refer them to respondent to be 
the attorney of record, that Gottlieb would work for 
respondent on the cases he referred to respondent, and 
that the clients would be sent to either Monoson or 
Ohanesian for treatment Moreover, as the hearing 
judge correctly fotu1d, respondent and Gottlieb agreed at 
the meeting to split the attorney's fees on each case 
Gottlieb referred to respondent: 25 percent to respon­
dent and 75 percent to Gottlieb whenever Gottlieb had 
to buy the case or otherwise had to pay money to 
someone in connection with the case, and 50 percent 
each whenever Gottlieb did not have to buy the case or 
otherwise have to pay for some expense related to the 
case or whenever Gottlieb bought the case from a 
specific individual who did not charge much for cases. 

Tn sum, by the end of this 30-minute meeting, 
respondent had entered into a business relationship with 
Gottlieb, whom he had j ustmet, in which Gottlieb would 
buy and ref er cases to respondent, work on those cases 
with respondent, and teach respondent how to litigate 
and in whichrespondentwas topayGottlieb, under their 
fee splitting agreement, either 75 or 50 percent of any 
attorney's fees recovered in each case Gottlieb brought 
into respondent's law office. Respondent did this even 
though he lmew that his fee splitting agreement with 
Gottlieb violated the Rules of Professional Conduct and 
that he viewed fee splitting agreements withnonattomeys 
as "not legal." However, respondent did testify that his 
law practice had slowed down considerably by October 
I 997, causing him severe financial difficulties, a great 
deal of anxiety, and to become very scared that he and 
his parents would lose their homes. Respondent and 
Gottlieb promptly began working together in mid­
October 1997 and stopped working together in 
mid-December 1998. 

7. However, Gott! ieb had already previously agreed to bring all 
the client files into respondent's Tar~ana office after the first 
couple ofn1onths and to work on them there under respondent's 
supervision. In any event, throughout his relationship with 
Gottlieb, respondent periodically permitted Gottlieb to take 
client files to Gottlicb's Van Nuys office and to work on them 
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Respondent admits that he agreed topermitGottlieb, 
for the first couple of months of their business relation­
ship, to operate his office in Van Nuys as an extension 
of respondent's law office and to work on the cases 
Gottlieb referred to him in that Van Nuys office without 
respondent's or anotherattomey' s supervision. In fact, 
as late as February or March 1998, the name "Law 
Offices ofTarnir Oheb" was still on the front door of 
Gottlieb's office and on the office building's central 
directory. About one month after the beginning of their 
relationship, i.e., about November 1997, and during the 
time Gottlieb was operating his Van Nuys office as an 
extension ofrespondent's law office, three settlement 
checks for clients Gottlieb refetTed to respondent were 
sent to Gottlieb's office. Gottlieb stole those checks, 
forged respondent's signature on them, and attempted 
to cash them, but was unable to do so. Respondent 
became very upset when he learned of Gottlieb' s theft 
and forgery. One Sunday in November 1997, respon­
dent, Gottlieb, Monoson, and Ohanesian met at 
Monoson' s home to discuss the matter. Respondent told 
Gottlieb" 'That's it. You know, you forged my check[ s]. 
J can't work with you. I mean, you're crazy.' " In 
addition, respondent toldMonoson that hewouldnever 
speak to or do business with him again ifhe kept doing 
business with Gottlieb. However, Monoson and Gottlieb 
quicklyconvincedrespondentnottoendhis and Gottlieb' s 
business relationship. 

Respondent testified that Gottlieb pleaded that he 
was desperate and that he had been pressured into 
stealing the checks, forging respondent's signature, and 
trying to cash them. However, neither respondent nor 
Gottlieb offered any details of this pressure. Respondent 
further testified that Gottlieb promised to move into 
respondent's law office, to be in respondent's office 
everyday from 9:00 a.m. to 5: 00 p.m., to have al 1 the files 
under respondent's nose "all the time,'' and to let 
respondent read and sign everything. 7 

Monoson pleaded that he had provided treat­
ments to and obtained x-rays on the clients in many 

there without attorney supervision. Gottlieb did not always 
return the files as he agreed, and respondent had to instruct him 
to go to his Van Nuys office and get the files and return them 
to respondent's office or had to have his secretary telephone 
Gottlieb and tell him to bringthefiles back to respondent's office. 
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of the cases that Gottlieb referred to respondent and 
that he, therefore, had a real financial interest in those 
cases, which would be jeopardized if respondent 
terminated his relationship with Gottlieb. Moreover, 
Mono son assured respondent that Gottlieb was " 'a 
good guy' "and promised to watch Gottlieb and to " 
'make sure that everything's good and everybody's 
treating' [fortheirinjuries]." 

Finally, at the meeting at Monoson's home, 
respondent asked Gott\ ieb to modify the fee splitting 
agreement to give respondent more than 25 percent 
of the recovered attorney's fees because it was 
respondent's law license. Gottlieb refused and again 
explained that he could not agree to give respondent 
anymore than 25 percent because Gottlieb had to pay 
for the cases out of his 75 percent share. 

In total, Gottlieb referred 50 to 60 automobile 
accident injury cases involving about 150plaintiffs to 
respondent. Virtually all of the Gottlieb referred 
cases were based on fraudulent insurance claims 
arising from staged automobile accidents under a 
sophisticated scheme involving, at least, Monoson, 
Ohanesian, Gottlieb, and possibly Folgar. In a typical 
case, Monoson and Ohanesian bought the cars that 
were involved in the staged accident, which were 
ordinarily older model cars, and fraudulently obtained 
and paid for insurance on the cars. The insurance 
they bought on these older cars very frequently 
included property damage coverage and, about 85 
percent ofthc time, included medical payment cover­
age ("med-pay"), which are both additional cost 
coverage items. Gottlieb and Folgar located the 
individuals to act as the fraudulent drivers and pas­
sengers, and F o \gar apparently staged the automobile 
accidents, which were done by crashing the cars in an 
empty parking garage without any of the fraudulent 
drivers and passenger actors being present. 

The hearing judge found that respondent's testi­
mony that he did not know about the staged accidents 
was credible and supported by Gottlieb 'sand Hannah's 
testimony, which the hearingjudge al so found credible, 
that they did not tell respondent about the staged 

/ 
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accidents because they were afraid that he would not 
participate in filing the insurance claims on the acci­
dents. For reasons we discuss post, we adopt this 
finding. 

Gottlieb first met with the fraudulent drivers and 
passengers, collected their personal infonnation, and 
had them sign medical records releases and contin­
gent fee agreements retaining respondent as their 
attorney. When Gottlieb signed these individuals up 
as respondent's clients, he virtually always did so 
outside of respondent's office and without 
respondent's supervision or even knowledge. Gottlieb 
told the clients the story ofhow the fake accident that 
they were "involved in" occurred and how they were 
supposed to have been injured in it. He also coached 
them to make sure that they remembered these 
necessary details before they met respondent, gave 
insurance statements, or had depositions taken. 

Once Gottlieb signed up a new client and set up 
the client's file, he took the file into respondent's 
Tarzana office and put it in the file cabinet drawers 
reserved for Gottlieb's referrals. Respondent testi­
fied that, at some point during his representation of 
each client, he reviewed the client's file in detail and 
never discovered anything that led him to believe that 
fraud might be involved in a case. 

More specifically, respondent testified that he 
reviewed every client file to, inter alia, make sure that 
it contained all the necessary documentation, 8 deter­
mined whether there was a limitations issue, reviewed 
how the accident happened and determined whether 
it made "sense," verified that the extent of the client's 
injuries were consistent with the property damage, 
determined whether he needed to research policy 
limits, and "see if everything is signed in the right 
place, if the dates are where they're supposed to be, 
if everything is in place." Respondent's testimony is 
corroborated by the credible testimony of David Loe, 
an attorney who referred between 10 and 20 personal 
injury cases to respondent between 1998 through 
respondent's interim suspension in 2001. Loe testi­
fied that respondent personally checked the validity 

8. Respondent did not specify what documentation he consid­
ered to be necessary. 
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of the cases he referred to respondent to determine 
whether they involved staged accidents by personally 
interviewing the prospective clients, reviewing the po­
lice reports, and questioning him in great detail about 
cases, seeking such information as to how Loe got the 
case. Loe also testified that respondent told him that 
respondent followed these extensivereview/investiga­
tive procedures every time respondent accepted a case 
that has been referred to him. 

Respondent admitted that he often did not even meet 
the clients in the Gottlieb referred cases until an insurance 
company or someone wanted to take the clien1s' state­
ments. However, respondent also admits that he was not 
always present when a client's statement was taken. 
Respondent explained that, whenever it was inconvenient 
for him to he present when a client's statement was taken, 
he sent Gottlieb to appear with the client. 

Respondent permitted Gottlieb to work on the 
cases Gottlieb brought into the office with very little 
supervision or instruction. In addition to having Gottlieb 
appear with clients when their statements were taken, 
respondenthadGottliebnegotiatethesettlements in the 
cases he brought in the office. Respondent asserts that 
he required Gottlieb to get his approval ofany settlement 
offer before Gottlieb accepted it; however, the hearing 
judge made no finding on this issue. Moreover, as the 
State Bar points out, respondent testified that, because 
he thought that Gottlieb was such a good negotiator, he 
had Gottlieb call the insurance adjustor in one of 
respondent's own cases and thatGottlieb quickly nego­
tiated a great settlement. 

During his 14-month association with Gottlieb, 
respondent's practice increased substantially. During 
that time, respondent had somewhere between two and 
six individuals,excludingGottlicb, working for him. Even 
though some of those individuals were independent 
contractors, others clearly were not. 

fn total, respondent paid Gottlieb about $148,300 
(about$7,500in 1997;about$127,000in 1998;andabout 

9. Gottlieb testified lhat in 99 percent of the cases he referred 
to respondent, there were either J or 4 people in the car. 
Hannah's testimony supported Gottlieb 's testimony. Re­
spondent contradicted Gottlieb' s testimony and testified that 
the cases were evenly divided between 2, 3, or4 people in the 
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$13,800 in 1999) as Gottlieb's 75 percent share of the 
attorney's fees recovered on the cases that he brought 
into respondent's office. Respondent paid Gottlieb as an 
independent contractor, and ordinarily paid him with 
checks that described the nature of the payment in the 
memo section of the checks by writing "independent 
contractor." However, respondent occasionally at­
tempted to conceal the true nature of his payments to 
Gottlieb by writing in the memo section of the check 
entries such as reimbursement of travel expenses, 
advance of wages, or new car. Moreover, respondent 
admits that, once or twice when he had a case with a 
particularly large settlement, he attempted to conceal 
the nature of his payment to Gottlieb by writing an 
incorrect description of the payment in the memo 
section with the intent to disguise or hide his fee splitting 
fromtheStateBar.Respondenttestifiedthat,otherthan 
keeping copies of the checks, he did not keep any 
records with respect to any of his payments to Gottlieb. 

On December 8, 1997, respondent, with Attorney 
Jeffery Sklan appearing with him, was interviewed 
about his relationship with Gottlieb by Kelly Mercer, a 
peace officer with the Insurance Fraud Division of the 
California Department oflnsurance. Because respon­
dent and Sklan refused to permit officer Mercer to 
record the interview, she had to prepare a written report 
and summary ofit shortly after it was over. There is no 
evidence in the record that indicates whether staged 
automobile accidents or any of Gott! ieb 's prior convic­
tions were mentioned or discussed. However, officer 
Mercer did ask respondent whether he notified the State 
Bar ofhis employment of Gottlieb as required by rule 1-
3 l 1. Respondent admits that he did not. 

Moreover, relying on the written report she 
prepared of her interview with respondent to refresh 
herrecollection, officer Mercer testified that respon­
dent told her at the interview that, in an automobile 
accident case, he considered it to be a "red flag" of 
insurance fraud if there were more than two people 
in the car9 and that respondent first told her that he 
paid Gottlieb by the hour and workload, but that 

car. The hearing Judge, however, found that there were typi­
cally 3 or 4 people in the cars; accordingly, it is clear that he 
rCJected, albeit implicitly, respondent's testimony in favor of 
Gottlieh's testimony. 
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respondent and Sklan went outside and, when they 
returned, he told her that Gottlieb was paid when the 
case was settled. When respondent testified he did 
not contradict Mercer's testimony. Instead, he merely 
testified that he doubted that he told Mercer that he 
considered more than two people in a car to be a red 
flag and thathereallydidn 'trecall whether he told her 
that he paid Gottlieb by the hour and workload. To 
conclude, we find officer Mercer's uncontradicted 
and unequivocal testimony to be true. 

In mid-December 1998, both Hannah and 
Gottlieb were arrested. Hannah was apparently re­
leased relatively soon, but Gottlieb remained in jail 
until sometime around February 24, 1999. Respon­
dent quickly learned of the arrests. It was not until 
after respondent learned that Gottlieb had been ar­
rested in mid-December 1998 that respondent 
retained Jeffery Sklan as his criminal attorney. At 
that time, Sklan advised respondent io end his rela­
tionship with Gottlieb and to change his office locks, 
which respondent did after Gottlieb was released 
fromjail. 

Even after Hannah and Gottlieb were arrested, 
and respondent was interviewed by investigator 
Mercer, respondent neither investigated the disciplin­
ary charges pending when Gottlieb resigned, e.g., by 
contacting the State Bar, nor investigated the extent 
and nature of the money laundering charge respon­
dentwas told was the basis of Gottlieb' s incarceration. 

In early 1999, the client or clients in the Deleon 
matter claimed that they had not been paid their share 
of the settlement proceeds in their case. When 
respondent pulled the Deleon matter file, there were 
copies of negotiated drafts in it. Respondent and 
Sklan met with Gottlieb in respondent's office on 
February 26, 1999, to confront Gottlieb on this pay­
ment problem. Gottlieb wore a "wire" so that officer 
Mercer could record the meeting. 10 It was at this 
meeting that Gottlieb first told respondent that all the 
cases he brought into respondent's office were based 
on staged accidents. 

10. The terms ofGottlieb's criminal probation required him to 
assist the Department of Insurance in its investigation of 
respondent. 
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Within a couple of days after this meeting, 
respondent's clientMaria Arroyo, who was a Gottlieb 
referral, went to respondent's office and claimed that 
she had never received the med-pay proceeds in her 
case. She gave respondent a letter stating that her 
case was based on a staged accident and that she 
would tell the authorities about it and other cases 
respondent handled that she said were based on 
staged accidents if respondent did not pay her the 
$35,000 in med-pay benefits she was purportedly 
entitled to. Respondent asserts that he thought that 
Arroyo was lying about the staged accidents in order 
to get him to give her $35,000. 

Both respondent and Sklan assert that, even 
after their February 26, 1999, meeting with Gottlieb 
and even after the Arroyo incident, they still had no 
knowledge of fraud in any Gottlieb referred case. To 
support this assertion, they contend that they did not 
know whether Gottlieb was telling the truth about 
staging accidents as they "felt that Gottlieb might be 
creating this in order to extort" money from respon­
dent. The hearing judge's decision does not discuss 
the issue of when respondent had knowledge of the 
staged accidents, and we decline to independently 
address the issue for reasons we discuss post. 

Even though respondent and Sklan claimed not 
to know whether cases referred to Gottlieb involved 
staged accidents, Sklan advised respondent, after the 
February 26, 1999, meeting "to get rid of any pending 
cases" referred to respondent by Gottlieb. By the end 
of March 1999, respondent had "dropped" all such 
pending cases. However, respondent did not return 
the client files to clients when he" dropped" them. In 
fact, as late as June 1999 other attorneys were 
requesting, from respondent, the client files in cases 
respondent dropped. 

Respondent was arrested on June 29, 1999, and 
charged with a total of 36 counts of making false 
insurance claims, conspiracy to commit grand theft, 
and capping. As noted ante, respondent pleaded nolo 
contendere to two felony counts of violating Penal 
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Code section 549 for accepting referrals of personal 
injury clients with reckless disregard for whether the 
referring party or the referred clients intended to 
make false or fraudulent insurance claims. One collllt 
involved respondent's reckless conduct in the Arroyo 
matter in November 1997, which caused Western 
United Insurance Company and Progressive Insur­
ance Company to pay a combined total of at least 
$130,000 to seven individuals on claims that were 
fraudulent and based on a staged accident. The other 
count involved respondent's reckless conduct in the 
Cowart matter in March 1998, which caused 20th 

Century Insurance Company and Financial Indem­
nity Company to pay a combined total of at least 
$25,000 to three people on claims that were fraudu­
lent and based on a staged accident. 

Even though respondent was sentenced to 364 
days in the county jail, 304 of those days were stayed, 
so respondent spent only 60 days in jail. Respondent 
was also put on three years' formal probation. In 
addition, his sentence included a $200 fine, 5 00 hours 
ofcommunity service, and$40,000 inrestitution, but 
did so only to the four insurance companies which 
paid out on the claims in the Arroyo and Cowart 
matters. Respondent left it up to the assistant district 
attorney to determine the amounts and the insurance 
companies to which he would be required to make 
restitution under his plea agreement. 

Respondent completed all the tem1s of his sen­
tence, and the superior court granted respondent's 
motion to reduce his convictions to misdemeanors, but 
it denied his motion to dismiss the case. In February 
2004, the superior court tenninated respondent's crimi­
nal probation, set aside his plea of guiltyandhis conviction, 
and dismissed the criminal proceedings in accordance 
with Penal Code section 1203.4. 

IV. THE RECORD DOES NOT ESTABLISH 
RESPONDENT KNEW OF STAGED 

ACCIDENTS. 

[3a) We reject the State Bar's contention that the 
hearingj u<lge erred in not finding that respondent knew 

11. We rcco gnizc that, at I imcs, the heari n gj udgc rqcctoo respondent's 
testimony, However, that fact docs not compel a n:vcrsal of the 

lNTHEMATTEROF0HEB 

(Review Dept. 2006) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 920 

of the staged accidents when he was representing the 
clientsGottliebreferredtohim..TheStateBarcontends 
that, based on the record as a whole, the evidence 
establishes that it is more likely to find that respondent 
knew of the staged accidents or intentionally insulated 
himself from the facts so that he could claim lack of 
knowledge ifthe insurance fraud was ever discovered. 
The State Bar argues that, inter alia, the following facts 
support itscontention: thatrespondentknewthatGottlieb 
was buying cases, that Gottlieb resigned with disciplin­
ary charges pending, that Gottlieb stole and forged three 
settlement checks; that Gottlieb's cases typically in­
volved three or fourpeople in the car, which respondent 
admitted is either a red flag or an issue of concern in 
insurance fraud and that respondent permitted Gottlieb to 
negotiate settlements in the cases Gottlieb referred to 
respondent. As the State Bar correctly notes, it may prove 
an attorney' smisconductwithclearandconvincing circum­
stantial evidence. (In the Matter of Petilla (Review Dept. 
2001 )4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 231,237).However, we are 
unable to fmd such clear and convincing circumstantial 
evidence in the record to support such a finding. 

[3b] As we discuss in detail post, these facts when 
viewed collectively and together with the remaining 
evidence unquestionably establish thatrespondentwas 
exceedingly reckless in entering into andmaintaininghis 
business relationship with Gottlieb and suggest that 
respondent lrnew of some impropriety in the Gottlieb 
referred cases. Nonetheless, we are unable to conclude 
that the evidence, when taken as a whole, constitutes 
clear circumstantial evidence that respondent knew that 
the accidents were staged. [4} First, in our view, the 
record supports the inference that respondent knew of 
the staged accidents as equally as it supports the 
inference that respondent did not know of them. In such 
a case, we must accept the inference favoring the 
attorney. (E.g., Himmel v. State Bar(] 971) 4 Cal.3d 786, 
793--794.) Second, the issue was litigated before the 
hearing judge in a multiple-day trial and was resolved 
against the State Bar. Because the hearing judge's 
finding was based on the credibility assessment of the 
witness, we properly give it great weight.11 (Rules Proc. 
of State Bar, rule 305(a); e.g., Maltaman v. State Bar 
(1987) 43 Cal.3d 924, 932.) 

hcarmgjudge 's finding on this i ssuc, (SeclntheMailero/Moriarty 
(Review Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 9, 19.) 
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V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW. 

(5] Under section 6101, subdivisions (a) and (e), 
''an attorney's conviction of a crime pursuant to a plea 
ofnolocontendere is' conclusive evidence of guilt of the 
crime' for the pwpose of disciplinary proceedings. 
[Citations.]" (In re Gross(1983) 33 Cal.3d 561, 567.) 
In other words, the criminal conviction "is conclusive 
proof that the attorney committed all acts necessary to 
constitute the offense. [Citation.]" (Chadwickv. State 
Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 103, 110.) Thus, respondent's 
convictions on two counts of violating Penal Code 
section 549, which are based on respondent's reckless­
ness and not his actual knowledge, conclusively estab1ish 
that he acted in reckless disregard12 of the unlawful 
intentions of others such as Gottlieb, Gottlieb referred 
clients, Monoson, Ohanesian, and Hannah. This is 
particularly troubling since respondent engaged in this 
criminally reckless misconduct in the course of his 
practice oflaw in November 1997, less titan one month 
after he entered into his improper business relationship 
with Gottlieb and then again only four months later in 
March 1998. If respondent had not repeatedly been 
criminallyreckless in his practice, he would have quickly 
discovered Gottlieb, Monoson, and Ohanesian' s fraud 
or, at least, would have had an opportunity to discover it. 

[6] As noted ante, because respondent's con• 
victions for violating Penal Code section 549 do not 
involve moral turpitude per se, we must review the 
circumstances surrounding respondent's convictions 
to determine whether they in fact involved moral 
turpitude or other misconduct warranting discipline. 
In reviewing the circumstances surrounding 
respondent's conviction, "we are not restricted to 

12. Jn this state the phrase "reckless disregard" is to be construed 
according to the Model Penal Code's definition of the tenn 
"recklessness," which is "A person acts recklessly with respect 
to a material clement of an offense when he consciouslydisregards 
asubstantialand unjustifiablerisk thatthematcrial element exists 
or will result from his conduct. The risk must be of such a nature 
and degree that, cans i dcrin g the nature and purpose of the actor' s 
conduct and the circumstances known to hirn, its disregard 
in volvcs a gross deviation from the standard of conduct that a law­
abiding person would observe in the actor's situation." (Model 
Pen. Code,§ 2.02, subd. (2)(c); In re Steven S. (1994) 25 
Cal.App.4th. 598, 615.) 

13. [71 It is particularly appropriate for us to adopt the hearing 
judge's finding hecause respondent's testimony, when viewed 
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examining the elements of the crime, but rather may 
look to the whole course of[respondent's] conduct 
which reflects upon his fitness to practice law. 
[Citations.]" (In re Hurwitz (1976) 17 Cal.3d 562, 
56 7.) That is because it is the misconduct underlying 
respondent's conviction, as opposed to the conviction 
itself, that warrants discipline. (In re Gross, supra, 
33 Cal.3d at p. 568.} 

Although we agree with and adopt the hearing 
judge's conclusion that the facts and circumstances 
surrounding respondent's conviction involved moral 
turpitude, we base our determination on somewhat 
different grounds in that we reject some of the hearing 
judge's findings of misconduct and find additional mis­
conduct which the hearing judge did not find. 

A. Respondent's involvement in capping and fee 
splitting involved moral turpitude. 

As we noted ante, the hearing judge correctly 
found that respondent knew Gottlieb was buying 
almost all, if not all, of the cases Gottlieb referred to 
respondent. It is true that respondent, when testifying 
in the hearing department, adamantly denied knowing 
that Gottlieb was buying cases or that Gottlieb was 
paying for them out of Gottlieb' s 7 5 percent share of 
the fees. However, Gottlieb unequivocally and cred­
ibly testified to the contrary. Thus, because the 
hearingj udge 's findings are consistent with Gottlieb' s 
testimony, it is clear that he rejected respondent's 
testimony implicitly. Furthermore, because the hear­
ingj udge' s .findingresolved issues ofcredibility of the 
witnesses, we give it great weight (Rules Proc. of 
State Bar, rule 305(a)), and we adopt that finding.13 

collectively, demonstrates that he was either unable or unwi !l­
ing to accurately recollect and communicate the events about 
which he testified, and at times, his testimony seemed 
confused. In addition, in a number of instances, respondent 
failed to corroborate or substantiate his testimony with 
evidence that one would have expectedly produced. 
Respondent's unexplained failure to produce such evidence 
is a strong indication that respondent's testimony is not 
credible. (Evid. Code,§§ 412, 413;/n the MatterofB/eecker 
(Review Dept. 1990) l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rp!r. 113, 122; 
Breland v. Traylor Engineering and Manufacturing Co. 
(1942) 52 Cal.App.2d 415, 426 [when a party fails to 
introduce evidence th.at would naturally have been produced, 
the trier of fact may properly in fer that the evidence is ad verse 
to the party].) 
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[SJ We conclude that the facts and circum­
stances of respondent's misconduct in !mowing that 
Gottlieb was buying cases, in paying Gottlieb for 
buying the cases, referring the cases to respondent's 
law office, coming into respondent's office "every­
day," and working on the referred cases by splitting 
any attorney's fees recovered on the referred cases 
in deliberate violation of rule 1-310, prohibiting fee 
splitting vritlmonattomcys, involved moral turpitude. 
What is more, respondent's misconduct in capping, 
under the facts of this case, involved moral turpitude. 
(See In the Matter of Scapa & Brown (Review 
Dept. 1993) 2Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 635, 652-653.) 

B. Respondent's many demonstrations of 
recklessness involved moral turpitude. 

(9a( Respondent was reckless in entering his 
business relationship with Gott! ieb without investigat­
ing him and in not seeking additional information on 
Gottlieb once he learned at the outset that Gottlieb 
resigned with disciplinary charges pending. At that 
point, respondent had a direct and easy opportunity to 
investigate Gottlieb' s background and, with the most 
minimal of effort, to learn of Gottlieb' s priorrecord of 
discipline and 1991 convictions for forgery, grand 
theft, and insurance fraud. 14 Respondent's tolerance 
for Gottlieb should have ended completely when 
respondent later learned that Gottlieb stole and forged 
the three settlement checks. 

[9b) Respondent lmowingly permitted Gottlieb 
to, inter alia, interview and sign up clients without his 
!mow ledge orapproval, and knowingly failed to moni­
tor the cases Gottlieb referred to him, e.g., he did not 
review each Gottlieb referral when Gottlieb first 
brought it into the office. "! 'his con duct establishes "an 
habitual failure to give reasonable attention to the 
handling of the affairs of his clients rather than an 
isolated instance of carelessness followed by a firm 
determination to make amends." (Waterman v. State 
Bar ( 193 6) 8 Cal .2d 17, 21.) Rec kl essncss and gross 
carelessness in the practice of law, even if not 

14. It is undisputed that respondent would have promptly 
obtained this infonnation from the State Bari fhe had requested 
it anytime except from the end of June 1 998 through early ! 999, 
when the State Bar had only a skeletal staffbeeause it laid-off 
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deliberate or dishonest, violate "the oath of an attor­
ney to discharge faithfully the duties of an attorney to 
the best of his knowledge and ability and involve 
moral turpitude, in that they are a breach of the 
fiduciaryrelation which binds him to the most consci­
entious fidelity to his clients' interests. [Citations. J" 
(Simmons v. State Bar (1970) 2 Cal.3d 719, 729; 
accord, Doyle v. State Bar (1976) 15 Cal.3d 973, 
978, and cases there cited.) Even repeated acts of 
mere negligence and omission can involve moral 
turpitude and "prove as great a lack of fitness to 
practice law as affirmative violations of duty. [Cita­
tions.)" (Bruns v. State Bar (1941) 18 Cal.2d 667, 
672.) 

[9c] We hold that respondent's manner and 
method of practicing law, at least, during his 14-
month association with Gottlieb, was reckless and, 
therefore, involved moral turpitude. Given the several 
opportunities respondent had to protect himself from 
Gottlieb early on, his failure to do so can only be seen 
as recklessness of the most acute nature. 

C. Respondent's deceit involved moral turpitude. 

[101 We also conclude that respondent's mis­
conduct in false! y recording in his financial and bank 
records the nature ofhis payments to Gott! ieb with the 
specific intent to conceal his improper fee splitting 
with a nonattomey from, inter alia, the State Bar 
involves moral turpitude." 'An attorney's practice of 
deceit involves moral turpitude.' [ Citations. J" (Segretti 
v. State Bar (1976) 15 Cal.3d 878, 888; see also In 
the Matter of Kreitenberg (Review Dept. 2002) 4 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 469, 474-475.) 

D. Respondent's repeated failures to competently 
represent his clients involved moral turpitude. 

[llj As noted ante, we do not address the issue 
of when respondent learned that the Gottlieb refeJTed 
cases were based on staged accidents because 
respondent should have proceeded as i fhe had !mown 

most of its employees after the governor vetoed the bar's 1998 
fee bill. (SeelnreA11orney /JisciplineSystem (1998) I 9Cal.4th 
582,589, 591.) 
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about the staged accidents no later than February 26, 
1999, when Gottlieb told him of the staged accidents. 
Respondent should have, at a minimum, met with 
each client referred to him by Gottlieb, whether their 
case was then pending or had already been settled, 
and told him or her that respondent had substantial 
information suggesting, inter alia, that the client 
lmowingly made a false claim based on a staged 
accident and on fraudulently obtained automobile 
insurance and then given him or her whatever legal 
counsel was appropriate, e.g., advising the client to 
seek advice from a criminal defense attorney. (Cf. 
Nichols v. Keller ( 1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 1672, 
16 84-1687 [ duty to competently perform requires 
attorneys to alert clients to all reasonably apparent 
legal prob ]ems even when they fall outside the scope 
of attorney's retention and to the possible need for 
other counsel to address those problems]; In the 
Matter of Respondent G (Review Dept. 1992) 2 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 175, 178-179 ["attorney's 
duty to the c Iient can extend beyond the closing of the 
file."]) Respondent, however, did not do so even 
though it was readily apparent that his clients might 
have been included in the Department of Insurance 
fraud invcsligation involving Gottlieb and prosecuted 
for client insurance fraud. In sum, respondent's 
wholesale failure to competently represent these 
clients by providing them with competent legal advice 
after the February 26, 1999, meeting also involves 
moral turpitude. 

We reject as meritlcss the contentions respon­
dent asserted while testifying that, to contact his 
clients and provide them such advice would have 
been improper because it would amount to accusing 
them of committing fraud, which Sklan advised him 
he could not do; and that, in any event, such advice 
was unnecessary with respect to the Gottlieb. re­
ferred cases that were already settled because the 
clients in those cases would have already signed 
some insurance company form of a fti davit or release, 

I 5. In lightofthis conclusion, we need not and do not address the 
State Bar's contention that respondent aided and abetted 
Gottlieb in the unauthoriicd practice of law because, if we 
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which all contain fraud warning language. That con. 
tention reflects a failure to appreciate the duties he 
owed to his clients. 

E. Additional facts and circumstances showing 
misconduct warranting discipline. 

[12a] Although the following acts of misconduct 
did not involve moral turpitude, we consider them in 
making our discipline recommendation for they show 
misconduct warranting discipline. Even though re­
spondent employed resigned member Gottlieb within 
the meaning of rule 1-31 l(A)(l) and(3), he willfully 
failed to notify the State Bar of Gottlieb's employ­
mentandterminationasrequiredunderrule 1-31 l(D) 
and (F). In addition, respondent willfully violated rule 
1-311(B)(3)and (4) becauseheknow:inglypermitted 
and instructed Gottlieb to appear with clients when 
they had their statements taken and to negotiate 
settlements for clients.15 Respondent is simply not 
excused of these serious acts of misconduct even if 
his testimony that he did not lmow about rule 1-311 is 
true. (E.g., Abeles v. State Bar ( 1973) 9 Cal.3d 603, 
610-611; Millsbergv. State Bar(l 971) 6 Cal.3d 65, 
75.) Moreover, respondent's admitted misconduct in 
not notifying the State Bar is exacerbated by his 
failure to have done so after officer Mercer expressly 
told respondent about that rule. 

[ 12b) Furthermore, respondent willfully violated 
rule 4-lO0(A) when he improperly deposited a 
$6,672.03 tax refund check of one ofhis employees 
into his client trust account. That check was given to 
respondent in repayment of a personal loan respon­
dentmade to the employee's life partner. Accordingly, 
when respondent deposited it into his trust account he 
improperly commingled his funds with those of his 
clients. "Commingling, like misappropriation ... , is a 
serious offense involving funds entrusted to an attor­
ney. [Citation.]" (Grim v. StateBar(I 991) 53 Cal.3d 
21,32.) 

concluded that respondent did aid and abet Gottlieb, it would 
be duplicative. (Cf. In the Maller of Hunter (Review Dept. 
1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 63, 76-77.) 



938 

VI. AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING 
·CIRCUMSTANCES. 

A. Aggravating circumstances. 

1. Multiple acts of wrongdoing. 

Respondent's misconduct involved numerous 
acts of misconduct. (Std. l .2(b )(ii).) 

2. Personal Gain. 

(13] The fact that respondent intentionally en­
gaged in the misconduct for personal gain and, in fact, 
personally profited from it arc aggravating circum­
stances. (In the Matter of Kreitenberg, supra, 4 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 469, 475.) 

3. Substantial Harm. 

Respondent's crimes caused the involved insur­
ance companies to suffer direct and substantial 
economic harm. (Std. 1.2(b)(iv).) 

In addition, respondent harmed his clients, to 
whom he owed a fiduciary duty (In the Matter of 
Feldsott (Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 754, 757, citing Cox v. Delmas (1893) 99 Cal. 
104, 123), and a duty as an attorney "[t]o counsel or 
maintain those actions, proceedings, or defenses only 
as appear to him or her legal or just .... " (§ 6068, 
subd. (c)). By his recklessness, he was furthering 
exposure of his clients to prosecution and other 
serious legal difficulties. (See ln the Matter of 
Kreitenherg, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 
475.) 

4. Failure to make complete restil.utiun. 

Even though respondent made $40,000 in resti­
tution to four insurance companies for the direct 

16. With respect to the $130,000 involved in Arroyo matter, 
respondent paid a total of $30,000 as foliows: $10,000 to 
Western United Insurance Company and $20,000 to Progres­
sive Insurance Company. This leaves$ l 00,000 unre1rnbursed 
in the Arroyo matter. However, the record docs not establish 
how much of this unrcimbursed $100,000 is attributed to 
Western United or Progressive Insurance losses. With respect 
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monetary hrum his crimes caused them, the miscon­
duct underlying his convictions directly caused those 
four insurance companies to pay out a total of 
$155,000 in fraudulent claims based on staged acci­
dents($l30,000in the Arroyo matter, and$25,000 in 
the Cowart matter). Respondent admits that he has 
not made restitution of the remaining $115,000 
($155,000 less $40,000). 16 In addition, respondent 
admits that, otherthan the $40,000restitution he paid 
to the four insurance companies, he has not made any 
restitution to the other insurance companies which 
suffered direct economic harm as a result of his 
misconduct. This is an aggravating circumstance 
because it demonstrates respondent's indifference to 
rectification for the consequences ofhis misconduct. 
(Std. 1.2(b )(v).) 

B. Mitigating circumstances. 

1. Cooperation. 

[14] We decline to place significant mitigative 
weight on respondent's cooperation during these 
proceedings (std. l.2(e)(v)) as found by the hearing 
judge, since respondent's admissions of culpability 
for violating rules 1-320 and 1-311 were easily prov­
able violations. 

2. Naivete and trust in others. 

We acknowledge that respondent testified and 
the hearing judge found that respondent is no longer 
the same person he was when he committed his 
misconduct, that respondent is contrite and has learned 
from this experience. However, other than the 
conclusory assertion that respondent is no longer the 
same person, the only specifics that respondent 
testified to support this assertion were generalizations 
such as "I'm going to be different ... a little more 
jaded now or llook at it with a jaundiced eye ... "; and 
"maybe a little more standoffish now than I was 

to the $25,000 involved in the Cowart matter, respondent paid 
a total of$ I 0, 000 as follows: $5,000 to 20th Century Insurance 
Company and $5,000 to Financial Indemnity Company. This 
leaves $15,000 unrei mburscd in the Cowart matter. However, 
the record does not establish how much of this unreimburscd 
$15,000 is attributed to 20th Century or Financial Indemnity 
losses. 
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before, more cautious." Similarly, none of 
respondent's character witnesses provided any sub­
stantial evidence as to how respondent has changed. 
Their testimony included such generalizations to the 
effect that respondent is more sophisticated now; that 
"he would take more care to investigate the back­
ground of the people that he was [ sic. J doing business 
with"; and that he is remorseful. However, in explain­
ing how respondent has changed, Attorney Loe 
testified that respondent is "remorseful for what 
happened. [But] as I said, I don't believe his charac­
ter is completely different." 

Second, even though respondent is contrite, 
" '[r Jemorse does not demonstrate rehabilitation.' " 
(In the Matter of Kreitenberg, supra, 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 4 77, quoting In re Conjlenti ( 19 81) 
29 €al.3d 120, 124.) 

[15) What is more, assuming, arguendo, that 
respondent was naive in business, it would not be a 
mitigating factor. Naivete had nothing to do with 
respondent's decision to enter into his business rela­
tionship with Gottlieb, involving capping and fee 
splitting, both of which respondent knew were im­
proper if not criminal. Most importantly, naivete had 
Ii ttle if anything to do with the criminal recklessness 
respondent engaged in his practice of law and for 
which he was convicted of two felonies. (Cf. In the 
Matter of Kreitenberg, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
.Rptr. at p. 479.) 

Respondent's reliance on the hearing judge's 
findings that he "accepted at face value Monoson's 
assurances that Gott! ieb was an all-right person with 
whom to work'' and that he "trusted Mono son imp] ic­
itly and, by association, Gottlieb" as mitigation is 
misplaced because, in our view, there is not clear and 
convincing evidence to support those findings. Re~ 
spondent knew that Monoson had no prior dealings 
with Gottlieb and that Monoson met Gottlieb only one 
day before respondent met him. Accordingly, respon­
dent was well aware that Monoson had no rational 
basis on which to make his generic assurance that 
Gottlieb was" 'a good guy.' "Any trust that respon­
dent may have had in Monoson and any reliance that 
respondent may have placed on Monoson's pur­
ported honesty, integrity, and good judgment, could 
not have plausibly or believably continued after the 
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October 1997 meeting at Monos on' s office at which 
respondent met Gottlieb and at which Monoson 
encouraged respondent to enter into a business rela­
tionship with Gottlieb that involved both capping and 
fee splitting. 

3. Good character evidence. 

{16] Respondent presented testimony as to his 
good character and abilities from five attorneys, one 
of whom is also a C.P .A., one who is a businessperson, 
one C .P.A. who is not an attorney, and an insurance 
adjustor. While we agree in substance with the 
hearingjudge' s summaries of their testimony, we are 
unable to give the witnesses' testimony as much 
mitigating weight as did the hearingjudge. First, in our 
view, the witnesses did not establish that they pos­
sessed adequate knowledge of respondent's 
convictions or of the facts and circumstances sur­
rounding them. This reduces mitigating weight we 
may give to this testimony. (Seide v. Committee of 
Bar Examiners (1989) 49 Cal.3d 933, 939-940.) At 
least two witnesses rarely saw or interacted with 
respondent. At least one attorney all but blamed 
Gottlieb and Monoson. 

vn. DEGREE OF DISCIPLINE DISCUSSION. 

Paramount in the Supreme Court's concern in 
remanding this matter to us is the issue of what is the 
proper function and role of the Standards, and in 
standard 3.2 in particular, in arriving ata recommen­
dation of discipline. 

A briefbackground summary will aid our discus­
sion. The Standards were adopted by the Board of 
Governors of the State Bar effective January I , 198 6. 
(Greenbaum v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 543, 
550.) At that time, the State Bar disciplinary system 
used about 300 volunteers who sat on local panels as 
referees to hear disciplinary cases. (See generally In 
re Rose (2000) 22 Cal.4th 430, 438.) These volun­
teers made recommendations to a State Bar 
Disciplinary Board (Review Department), itself com­
posed of 18 volunteers. Given the large number of 
volunteers and the decentralized nature of the disci­
plinary trial system, consistency ofrecommendation 
for similar offenses was a major concern. (See 
Introduction to Standards.) Supreme Court decisions 
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filed in the first few years after the adoption of the 
Standards described their function variously17 but 
made it clear that they neither were "talismanic" 
(Howard v. State Bar (1990) 51 Cal.3d 215, 221-
222), nor were they binding. (E.g., Boehme v. State 
Bar (1988) 47 Cal.3d 448, 454.) Thus, although the 
Standards were established as guidelines, ultimately, 
the proper recommendation of discipline rested on a 
balanced consideration of the unique factors in each 
case. (E.g., Connor v. State Bar (1990) 50 Cal.3d 
1047, 1059; Schneiderv. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 
784, 798.) 

Effective July l, 1989, adjudication ofattorney 
disciplinary matters was altered dramatically in Cali­
fornia as a small cadre of appointed professional 
State Bar Court judges displaced the work of the 
many volunteers. (E.g., in re Rose, supra, 22 Cal.4th 
at p. 438.) After 1989, discipline recommendations 
were made by a small number of pro temp ore judges, 
and therefore consistency appeared no longer to be 
as acute an issue.Following the change in the method 
of adjudicating disciplinary cases, the Supreme Court 
reduced substantially its issuance of written opinions 
in attorney disciplinary matters and also, as an exer­
cise of its inherent powers over the regulation of 
attorneys in the State, made the granting of review 
discretionary rather than as a matter of course. (Cal. 
Rules of Court, rule 954; In re Rose, supra, 22 
Cal.4th at pp. 440-441.) 

The Supreme Court has issued four opinions in 
attorney disciplinary cases arising from recommen­
dations of the current appointed State Bar Court. (!n 
re Silverton (2005) 36 Cal.4th 81; In re Rose, supra, 
22 Cal.4th 430;1n re Brown (1995) 12 Cal.4th 205; 
and In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184.) These 
opinions, which collectively span ten years, demon­
strate the significance that the court continues to 
place, in general, on the Standards as important and 
useful guide! ines for assessing the appropriate degree 
of discipline. 

17. Sec, e.g., Greenbaum v. State Bar, supra,43 Cal.3datp. 550 
(the Standards arc "simply guidelines"); Kapelus v. Stale Bar 
( 19 87) 44 Cal.Jd l 79, 198, fn. 14 (same); Ha wk v. State Bar 
( 1988) 45 Cal.Jd 589,602 (same); but sec Natali v. State Bar 
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In addition to their value in providing consistency, 
we view the Standards as useful today in serving 
added functions. First, they promote the achievement 
of fair and informed consensual dispositions by the 
parties in appropriate cases. (Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, rules 133-134.) Indeed, in recent years, about 
half of the formal charges filed in the State Bar Court 
have resulted in such consensual dispositions. These 
dispositions have expedited the resolution of cases 
noticeably, compared to cases which are tried. More­
over, the Standards provide a valuable educative 
function for California's sizeable legal profession, 
courts and public -just as when the Standards were 
first adopted - as to the appropriate factors for 
assessing the degree of discipline and how they may 
lead to an appropriate disciplinary result. However, in 
the final analysis, as the Supreme Court has made 
clear, our consideration of the Standards cannot yield 
a recommendation which, on the record, is arbitrary 
or rigid (see In re Nadrich (1988) 44 Cal.3d 271, 
277), or about which "grave doubts" exist as to the 
recommendation's propriety. (In re Young(1989)49 
Cal.3d 257, 268.) Moreover, the weight to be ac­
corded the Standards will depend on the degree to 
which they are apt to the case at bench. (In re Brown, 
supra, 12 Cal.4th at pp. 220-221 [but see discussion 
atp. 221 in which the court concluded that although 
the Standards were oflimited utility in the particular 
case, they did suggest that the level of discipline 
recommended by the review department was inad­
equate].) 

With this background, which makes clear the 
overall guiding value of the Standards, we re-state 
the initial points we made in discussing discipline in 
our 2004 opinion. In determining the appropriate level 
of discipline, we first look to the Standards for 
guidance. (Drociak v. State Bar (1991) 52 Cal.3d 
1085, 1090; Tn theMatterofKoehler(ReviewDept. 
1991) l Cal. S tatc Bar Ct. Rptr. 615, 628.) Standard 
1.3 provides that the primary purposes of discipline 
arc to protect the public, the courts, and the legal 

( 1988) 45 Cal.3d 456,468 (the Supreme Court will not reject 
a recommendation arising from application of the Standards 
unless it has "grave doubts as to the propriety of the recom­
mended discipline"). 
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profession; to maintain the highest possible profes­
sional standards for attorneys; and to preserve pub lie 
confidence in the legal profession. (See also Chadwick 
v. State Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d 103, 111.) The 
applicable sanction in this proceeding is found in 
standard 3 .2, which provides: "Final conviction of a 
member of a crime which involves moral turpitude, 
either inherently or in the facts and circumstances 
surrounding the crime's commission shall result in 
disbarment. Only if the most compelling mitigating 
circumstances clearly predominate, shall disbarment 
not be imposed. In those latter cases, the discipline 
shall not be less than a two-year actual suspension, 
prospective to any interim suspension imposed, irre­
spective of mitigating circumstances." 

Tn our 2004 opinion, we stated and re-state here 
that the Supreme Court has rejected the standard's 
mandate that any two-year actual suspension rec­
ommended must be prospective to the attorney's 
interim suspension. (In the Matter of Lybbert (Re­
view Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 297,307, 
citing In re Young (1989) 49 Cal.3d 257, 268.) 
However, we failed to state the role that standard3.2 
as a whole played in our ultimate recommendation, 
instead proceeding to review disciplinary decisions in 
other comparable cases. We now correct our mis­
take; and, when we do so, we must conclude that our 
2004 recommendation was inadequate. 

By its language quoted ante, standard 3 .2 guides 
strongly to disbarment for crimes which involve moral 
turpitude. We already have found moral turpitude 
surrounding respondent's conviction and those facts 
show that the acts of moral turpitude were repeated 
and had the potential to create serious harm. As we 
found in our 2004 opinion, respondent engaged in 
recklessness of the most acute nature. Respondent 
was recklessly indifferent to the clear potential of 
danger presented by Gottlieb and respondent's reck­
lessness commenced with his failure to take simple 
steps available to any citizen to asce1tain Gottlieb's 
criminal history when he should have been on notice 
to do so. It continued with respondent's intentional 
decision to act unethically by paying Gottlieb for 
cases brought to respondent's office and by splitting 
fees with him, knowing that Gottlieb was no longer a 
member of the State Bar. When respondent learned 
early-on in his relationship with Gottlieb that the latter 
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had stolen and forged three settlement drafts, respon­
dent did not cease dealing with Gottlieb. Rather, he 
was prevailed on to continue his relationship with 
Gottlieb. Finally, respondent accorded Gottlieb exten­
sive freedom to interview and retain clients for 
respondent without respondent's lmow ledge and ap­
proval, and respondent did not adequately monitor the 
cases which Gottlieb brought to the office. 

Wholly apart from the recklessness which re­
spondent demonstrated in his 14-monthrelationship 
with Gottlieb, we found that respondent engaged in 
moral turpitude by his illegal activities of furthering 
capping, Moreover, respondent's repeated failure to 
represent his clients competently involved moral 
turpitude, particularly after he learned in late Febru­
ary 1996 that the cases brought to the office by 
Gottlieb rested on staged accidents. 

Finally, respondent's practice of deceit by falsely 
recording in his records the nature ofhis payments to 
Gottlieb, in order to conceal their illegal or unethical 
purpose, unquestionably involved intentional acts of 
moral turpitude. 

When we review the numerous ways respon­
dentcommittedmoral turpitude, we can only conclude 
that his conviction for violating Penal Code section 
549 was most serious fordisciplinarypurposes, fully 
warranting following the guidance of standard 3 .2 for 
disbarment. Indeed, '""[DJisbarments, and not sus­
pensions, have been the rule rather than the exception 
in cases of serious crimes involving moral turpitude. 
[Citations.]"'" (In the Matter of Rech (Review 
Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 310, 317 .) 

Reviewing the balance of mitigating and aggra­
vating circumstances also supports a disbarment 
recommendation here. We have assigned little weight 
to respondent's cooperation with the State Bar and to 
the evidence offered as to his character. Also, 
respondent's misconduct commenced less than five 
years after his admission to practice so that his lack 
of prior discipline was not entitled to mitigating credit. 
(E.g., Amante v. State Bar (1990) 50 Cal.3d 247, 
255-256; Tn the Matter of Greenwood (Review 
Dept. 1998) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 831, 837.) In 
contrast, the weight of aggravating circumstances 
decisively predominates. As we found ante, respon-
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dent engaged in multiple acts of misconduct, he 
profited from that misconduct, his conduct harmed 
insurers and he either jeopardized legitimate clients or 
exposed persons engaged in potential or actual fraudu­
lent conduct to even greater civil or criminal liability. 
(Compare In the Matter of Kreitenberg, supra, 4 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 475). Moreover, 
respondent failed to complete restitution of losses 
resulting from his misdeeds. Thus, the record here 
docs not provide a basis to reject the guidance of 
disbarment in standard 3.2. 

Al though there have been no published decisions 
of disciplinary cases following an attorney's violation 
of Penal Code section 549, we have found persuasive 
opinions which recommend or impose discipline on 
account of the presence of moral turpitude to a 
serious degree similar to that found here. 

We start by reiterating, as we stated ante, that the 
usual discipline for an attorney's conviction of a crime 
which involves serious actsofmoral turpitude is disbar­
ment. This principle is well established in this state. (E.g., 
InreCrook.,(199O)51 Cal.3d 1090, ll0l;lnreBogart 
(1973) 9 Cal.3d 743, 748;1n re Smith (1967) 67 Cal.2d 
460, 462.) Indeed, had respondent been convicted ofa 
felonywhich, inter alia, inherently involved moral turpi­
tude, he would. have been subjected to summary 
disbarment. (§ 6102; In re Paguirigan (2001) 25 
Cal.4th 1, 8.) That respondent's offense did not inher­
ently involve moral turpitude does not immunize him 
from the appropriate discipline for the serious miscon­
duct surrounding his conviction. No intent to lower 
professional standards is evident in the procedures 
allowing for referral to the State Bar Court for hearing 
of attorney convictions not inherently involving moral 
turpitude. (E.g., In re Smith, supra, 67 Cal.2d atp. 462.) 

We deem the case of In the Matter of" 
Kreitenberg, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 469 
to be guiding. That case involved a conviction of 
conspiring to defraud the Internal Revenue Service 
(IRS), a crime which has been classified for moral 
turpitude purposes as one which does not inherently 
involve moral turpitude. (Id. at p. 474, fn. 3.) Never­
theless, we held that the facts and circumstances 
surrounding Kreitenberg's offense involved several 
aspects of moral turpitude. His acts, together with 
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those of his cousin, spanned six years, starting just 
about three years after his admission. He wrote over 
680 fraudulent checks totaling over $1.6 million in 
legal fees which were not reported to the IRS. Much 
of this money was used to pay cappers to bring more 
cases to the law office. We noted the positive aspects 
ofKrei ten berg's mitigating evidence, but weighed it 
less heavily than did the hearing judge. Among the 
several aggravating circumstances we found were 
that Krei ten berg's misconduct "touched on virtually 
every aspect ofhis law practice" and, in establishing 
a fraudulent check writing scheme, he jeopardized 
the names ofhis clients while seeking to conceal legal 
fees from the IRS and to conceal that capping also 
occurred. (Id. at pp. 475--476.) We also noted that 
Kreitenberg did not withdraw from the conspiracy 
and did not cooperate until the IRS had started an 
audit of him. We recommended, and the Supreme 
Court imposed, disbannent. Although acknowledging 
that respondent's misconduct occurred over less time 
and appeared of less seriousness, we find many 
similarities between Kreitenberg and this case. In 
particular, we note that in both, the attorneys realized 
from early on that misconduct was being committed; 
neither acted timely to stop the practices; in both 
cases, the attorneys' misconduct imbued most of the 
activities of their practices; and in both, their clients 
were jeopardized. Although Kreitenberg's miscon­
duct was arguably more serious, that does not 
demonstrate that disbannent is excessive here. 

We have examined In re Arno.ff (1978) 22 
Cal.3d 740, in which the Supreme Court suspended 
the attorney for two years following his conviction of 
conspiracy to commit capping. A layperson effec­
tively controlled Arno ff' s law office and the 
relationship between that person and Amo ff lasted 
two years and involved about 500 cases. Amoff 
agreed to split fees with the layperson but there was 
insufficient evidence that Amoff knew that the lay­
person was making kickbacks to doctors for referrals 
to Amoff. However, in Arnoff, the Supreme Court 
considered a number of mitigating factors not present 
in the case before us, including heavy emotional 
duress and health pressures bearing on Am off during 
the time of his misconduct, favorable character evi­
dence, evidence of rehabilitative treatment and his 
record of20 years of practice without discipline. 
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Similarly, several original proceedings which had 
been decided over the years 18 resulting in suspension 
involved either less serious misconduct, more mitiga­
tion or both. Nevertheless, the Supreme Court did 
disbar an attorney found culpable of widespread 
capping violations over a three-year period. (Kitsisv. 
State Bar (1979) 23 Cal.3d 857.) In Kitsis, the 
attorney misled one of his cappers that her (the 
capper's) actions were legal. Kitsishad practiced for 
eight years when this misconduct started but he had 
been privately reproved earlier for improper payment 
of client expenses. Kitsis pled guilty to a misde­
meanor charge of capping and, in original disciplinary 
proceedings, had been found culpable of, inter alia, 
committing acts of moral turpitude. Kitsis presented 
19 favorable character reference letters from other 
attorneys, friends and clients but the Supreme Court 
noted that the letters did not demonstrate awareness 
of the extent ofKitsis's misconduct. (Id. at p. 867.) 

As noted in In re Young, supra, 49 Cal.Jd at p. 
268, the Supreme Court has not always imposed the 
degree of discipline called for in standard 3 .2 if it had 
"grave doubts as to the propriety ofthe recommended 
discipline." 

[17) In this case, we find no grave or even 
serious doubts as to the propriety of the recommen­
dation. It was purely fortuitous that more harm did not 
occur as a result of the facts and circumstances 
surrounding respondent's criminal offense, given es­
pecially that the accident claims pressed in the name 
of respondent's office appear to have arisen from 
fraud and that respondent's conduct was both grossly 
reckless in a number of ways and, by disguising 
financial entries, intentionally dishonest. As the over­
riding purposes ofla wyer discipline are to protect the 
pub lie, maintain high professional standards and pre­
serve the integrity of the legal profession (std. 1.3), 
disbarment is appropriate based on applying the 
Standards to this case and also appropriate when 
measured against decisional law. 

18. In 1he Matter of Km/f(Review Dept I 998) 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 838; In the Matier ofScapa & Brown, supra, 2 Cal. 
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VIII. FORMAL RECOMMENDATION. 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that 
respondent, Tamir Oheb, be disbarred from the prac­
tice oflaw in this state and that his name be stricken 
from the roll of attorneys licensed to practice in the 
state. We further recommend that respondent be 
ordered to comply with the provisions of rule 955, 
California Rules of Court, and perform the acts 
specified within subdivisions (a) and (c) of that rule 
within 30 and 40 days, respectively, after the effec­
tive date of the Supreme Court's order in this matter. 
We further recommend that the costs incurred by the 
State Bar in this matter be awarded to the State Bar 
in accordance with Business and Professions Code 
section 6086.10 and that such costs be enforceable as 
provided in Business and Professions Code, section 
6140.7 and as a money judgment. As respondent has 
been suspended continually by interim order follow­
ing his felony conviction, we do not impose an order 
of inactive enrollment incident to this recommenda­
tion. 

We concur: 

WATAI, J. 
EPSTEIN, J. 

State Bar Ct. Rptr. 635; and In the Matter of Jones (Review 
Dept. 1993) 2 Ca!. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 411 . 
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S1JMMARV 

While representing clients in four separate matters involving a personal injury lawsuit, traffic citati ans, and 
immigration matters, respondent required the clients to execute retainer agreements describing their advance 
payments as a "True Retainer Fee." Thereafter respondent repeatedly failed to perform and effectively 
abandoned his clients. The hearing judge found respondent culpable of four violations of failing to perfonn 
competently, four violations of improper withdrawal from employment, two violations of failing to render an 
accounting, and single violations of failing to respond toclient inquiries, failing to refund unearned fees, failing 
to return client files, and agreeing to withdraw a State Bar complaint. The hearing judge found in aggravation 
a prior record of discipline, multiple acts of wrongdoing, significant client harm and indifference toward 
rectification. In mitigation, the hearing judge assigned minimal weight to respondent's evidence of good 
character. The hearingj udge recommended respondent be actually suspended from the practice oflaw for one 
year: (Hon. Joann M. Remke, Hearing Judge.) 

The review department adopted the hearingjudgc's findings and conclusions regarding culpability and 
aggravation and also found additional uncharged misconduct in aggravation as the result of respondent's 
overreaching of his clients, constituting acts of moral turpitude in violation of section 6106. The review 
department did not adopt the hearingj udge 's finding in mitigation, determining instead that respondent failed 
to establish any mi ti gating circumstances. The review department recommended that respondent be suspended 
for five years, stayed, that he be placed on probation for five years on the condition that he be actually suspended 
for two years and until he complies with Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, 
standard 1.4(c)(ii). 

COI.JNSH fiOR p ARTIES 

For State Bar: Paul T . O'Brien 

For Respondent: David E. Brockway, in pro. per. 

Ediwr's note: The summary, hcadnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office oflhe State Bar Court for theconvcn icnce oft he reader. On)ythe actual text of the Review Department's· 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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[1] 270.30 Rule 3-ll0(A) (former 6--101(A)(2)/(B)] 
To find a violation of Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 3-11 O(A) due to respondent's failure to 
perform any service ofbenefit to his client, it must be determined that respondent acted in reckless 
disregard of his client's cause and not merely that respondent acted negligently. Where a client 
needed to urgentlyremedy her illegal immigration status, and where respondent waited at least nine 
months after being retained before completing meagerresearch on the client's behalf, respondent's 
conduct constituted a reckless failure to perform in violation of rule 3-11 O(A). 

(2 a-dJ 270.30 Rule 3-110(A) [former 6--101(A)(2)/(B)] 
Although respondent's contract for hire stated it was for "Purchase of Availability" and described 
his legal fee as a "True Retainer Fee,"such characterization did not determine the obligations of the 
parties. Where the contract did not define the term "True Retainer Fee" and did not expressly state 
that the fee was due and payable regardless of whether any professional services were actually 
rendered, where the contract did not require respondent to make any particular provision to allot or 
set aside blocks of time specifically devoted to pursuing the client's claims, where the contract did 
not set forth a specific period of time when respondent was obligated to tum away other business 
in order to proceed with the client's matter, and where the individual who paid the fee understood 
that the fee was an advance against respondent's future services, respondent had an obligation to 
take timely, substantive action on the client• s behalf rather than merely make himself available to 
the client. 

{3 a-c] 277 .20 Ruic 3-700(A)(2) [former 2-ll l(A)(2)] 
An attorney may effectively withdraw from a case without an intent to do so when the attorney 
virtually abandons a client and is grossly negligent in communicating with the client. If an attorney 
is essentially withdrawing from employment he or she is obligated to give due notice to the client. 
Whether or not an attorney's ceasing to provide services amounts to an effective withdrawal 
depends on the surrounding circumstances. Where respondent's strategy was to do nothing in 
anticipation that the immigration laws might be amended to be more favorable to his client, where 
respondent did not advise his client of his intention to adopt a wait-and-see approach, where 
respondent failed to communicate with his client for nearly one year, and where time was plainly 
of the essence to the services requested, respondent's failure to timely provide the necessary 
services constituted an effective withdrawal which prejudiced his client's ability to file a timely 
application for asylum in violation of Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 3-700(A)(2). 

[41 280.40 Rule 4-100(B)(3) (former 8-101(B)(3)] 
The obligation to render appropriate accounts to the client found in Rules of Pro fcssional Conduct, 
rule 4-lOO(B)(J) does not require as a predicate that the client demand such an accounting. 

[Sa, bJ 270.30 Rule 3-1 lO(A) [former 6--l0l(A)(2)/(B)J 
Where a client hiredrcspondentto resolve the client's traffic violations in Arizona so that they would 
not result in the loss of the client's California license, respondent's payment of the client's traffic 
fines without conducting research or doing any investigation of the relationship of Arizona and 
California motor vehicle laws and their effect on the client's status as a licensed dri vcr in California 
constituted a violation of Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 3-11 O(A). 
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[6] 

[7] 

[8] 

[9] 
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277 .50 Rule 3-700(D)(l) (former 2-lll(A)(2)) 
By waiting at least two months to send client files to the client's new attorney and by not providing 
the client files until after the client's new attorney sentthree additiona:1 requests, respondent violated 
Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 3-700(D)(l). 

221.00 State Bar Act-Section 6106 
560 Aggravation-Other uncharged violations (l.2(b)(iii)) 
Where respondent's clients had English language limitations and where respondent used technical 
legalese in his engagement agreements in an effort to exempt himself from providing any service 
of consequence to his clients, respondent's exploitation of his superior knowledge and position of 
trust to the detriment of his vulnerable clients was evidence of overreaching that constituted moral 
turpitude forming the basis for additional uncharged misconduct in aggravation. 

740.50 Mitigation-Good Character-Declined to find 
Respondent failed to establish mitigating circumstances by clear and convincing evidence, where 
respondent presented the testimony of only one character witness who had only limited knowledge 
of the disciplinary issues. The testimony of this witness does not constitute a broad range of 
references from the legal and general communities. 

1015.08 Discipline-Actual Suspension-2 years 
Where respondent abandoned four clients and failed to competently peiform, failed to communicate, 
failed to provide accountings, failed to refund unearned fees, failed to return client files, and 
improperly agreed to withdraw a State Bar complaint, and where there was no mitigation but 
aggravation due to a prior record of discipline, multiple acts of wrongdoing, significant client harm, 
a failure to atone for the consequences of his behavior, and additional uncharged misconduct 
involving an act of moral turpitude due to overreaching, the appropriate disciplinary recommendation 
was a five-year stayed suspension, five years of probation on conditions which included two years 
of actual suspension and until compliance with Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional 
Misconduct, standard 1.4( c )(ii). 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

218.01 Section6090.5 
221.19 Section 6106--0ther factual basis 
270.31 Rule 3-1 lO(A) [former 6-101(A)(2)/(B)] 
277.21 Ruk 3-700(A)(2) [ former 2-1 l l(A)(2)] 
277.51 Rule 3-700(D)(l) [fonncr 2-1 l l(A)(2)] 
277.61 Rule 3-700(D)(2) [former2-lll(A)(3)] 
280.41 Rule 4 ·100(8)(3) [former 8-101(B)(3)] 

Not Found 
214.31 Section6068(m) 

Aggravation 
Found 

511 
521 
561 
582.10 
591 

Prior Record 
Multiple Acts 
Uncharged Violations 
Harm to Client 
Indifference 
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Declined to Find 
535 .10 Pattern 

Mitigation 
Declined to Find 

Discipline 

740.51 Good Character 
740.52 Good Character 

1013.11 Stayed Suspension-5 Years 
1017.11 Probation-5 Years 
1030 Standard l .4(c)(ii) 
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OPINION 

EPSTEIN, J. : 

On four separate occasions, Asian immigrants, 
who spoke little or no English, sought the services of 
respondent, David Eric Brockway, to help them with 
pressing legal problems. In each instance, respondent 
accepted several thousand dollars in legal fees and 
then failed to perform the agreed-upon legal ser­
vices. 

The hearingjudge found respondent culpable of 
14 counts of misconduct in four clientmaiters, includ­
ing, inter alia, failure to perform services competently, 
improper withdrawal from employment, failure to 
render an accounting, failure to promptly return 
unearned fees, failure to communicate, and failure to 
release files. The hearing judge recommended that 
respondent be actually suspended from the practice 
oflaw for one year. 

Respondent is appealing the hearing judge's 
findings and the discipline recommendation, seeking 
dismissal of all charges against him. Respondent 
argues that he had no duty to perform the contem­
plated services, communicate with his clients or 
account for unearned foes because in each client 
matter he entered into a "true retainer" fee agree­
ment that secured only his availability, and not his 
sen,ices. According to respondent, the fees paid by 
the four clients were "earned upon receipt lo ensure 
my availability to these people for the resolution of a 
problem that will, in my opinion, arise in the future." 
His former clients testified that they hired respondent 
to resolve their immediate legal concerns, rather than 
merely to secure his availability for future inchoate 
problems, and that respondent abandoned their mat­
ters to their detriment. 

We review the record de novo (In re Morse 
(1995) 11 Cal.4th 184, 207),andinsodoing, we adopt 
the hearing Judge's findings and conclusions, as 

I. Thi sand all further references to "standards" are to the Rules 
of Procedure of the State Bar, title IV, Standards for Attorney 
Sandions for Professional Misconduct. 
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discussed more fully below. We find additional un­
charged misconduct as aggravation. (Edwards v. 
State Bar (1990) 52 Cal.3d 28, 35-36.) Based upon 
all relevant circumstances, as well as the standards 1 

and guiding case law, we conclude that the hearing 
judge's discipline recommendation is insufficient to 
protect the public, the courts and the profession, and 
instead we recommend respondent be suspended for 
five years, stayed, and placed on five years' probation 
on the condition that he be actually suspended for two 
years and until he has satisfied the requirements of 
standard 1.4(c)(ii). 

I. BACKGROUND 

Respondent was admitted to practice law in 
October 1977. He has onepriordiscipline resulting in 
a three-month actual suspension with two years' 
probation.,effectiveApril 17, 1991,forwilfullymisap­
propriating $500 from one client and improperly 
acquiring an adverse interest against a second client. 
(Brockway v. State Bar (1991) 53 Cal.3d 51.) 

The State Bar filed a Notice of Disciplinary 
Charges (NDC) on November 14, 2003, alleging 14 
counts of misconduct in four separate client matters 
(case numbers 01-0-03470; 01-0-04083; 01-0-
04120; 02--0-12367). OnJanuary7, 2004, respondent 
filed a response denying culpabi I ity. The parties filed 
a stipulation as to certain facts on August 13, 2004, 
which was the last day of the four-day trial. On 
November 16, 2004, the hearingjudge filed a decision 
finding culpability on all 14 counts, including four 
violations ofrule 3-1 l0(A) of the Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct2 (failure to perform competently), 
four violations of rule 3-700(A)(2) (improper with­
drawal from employment), one violation ofBusiness 
and Professions Code section 6068, subdivision (m)3 

(failure to respond to client inquiries), and two viola­
tions of rule 4-100(B)(3) (failure to render an 
accounting). The hearingjudge recommended a two­
year stayed suspension, a two-year probation, and a 
one year actual suspension. Respondent requested 

2. All further references to "rule" or "rules" are to these Rules 
of Professional Conduct, unless expressly noted. 

3. Unless otherwise noted, all further references to "section" 
refer to the Business and Professions Code. 
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review of this decision on December 15, 2004. The 
State Bar did not request review but is here seeking 
disbarment, as it did below. 

II. FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CULPABILITY 
DISCUSSION 

A. The Le Matter (Case No. 01-0-03470) 

1. Factual Findings 

Ly Thi Le (Le) hired respondent to obtain legal 
immigration status for her daughter-fa-law, Tran 
True Ly (Ly), who was living in the United States 
illegally. Attheir initial meeting on March 27, 2000, Le 
paid respondent $5,800 and signed a contract for legal 
services, which was written in English. The agree­
ment, entitled "Contract of Hire - Purchase of 
Availability," provided thatrespondentwould ''repre­
sent Tran True Ly, in the case of: INS Asylum."The 
agreement further provided that Le would pay a 
"True Retainer Fee" of$5,800 and that"therewill be 
attorneys' fees in addition to the Retainer Fee above. 
... [U]nless otherwise denoted, retainer fees are not 
refunded." Le, who is Vietnamese, did not speak or 
read English, but Robert Luu (Luu), an employee of 
respondent, acted as an interpreter at the meeting and 
translated the legal services agreement. Le testified 
that Luu described the "step by step" process respon­
dent would take "in order to ask INS for my 
[daughter-in-law] to be here." 

From the outset, respondent recogni7.ed that Ly 
was in grave danger of arrest and deportation. He 
testified: "[O]f course [Ly] was illegal so she was 
subject to arrest at any time day or night, with or 
without a warrant, with or without reasonable cause. 
She had no papers. She didn't speak English. She 
could be turned in by anybody at any time. A bus could 
be stopped and she could be taken off the bus and 
immediately be taken into custody." Nevertheless, 
respondent did not contact Le or Ly for nearly ten 
months after he was hired, despite the fact that Le 
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made three telephone calls to inquire about the status 
of the case. Each time, she left a message asking Luu 
to call her. Le made 18 more calls between April 2001 
and July 2001, and Luu occasionally returned some of 
those calls. 

Frustrated with respondent, Le and Ly sought 
new counsel, Van Thanh Do, to assist them. It is not 
clear whether Le and Ly intended to terminate 
respondent's services at this point, but on February 7, 
2001, Do notified respondent in \.Vriting that she had 
been retained to handle Ly's immigration matter and 
she requested Ly's entire file. Do enclosed a copy of 
a Notice of Entry of Appearance (INS Form G-8) on 
behalf of Ly. Do testified she did not receive a 
response from respondent for several months, and 
when she ultimately received the file, it consisted of 
only three pages of a partially-completed asylum 
application. 

In rebuttal, respondent offered into evidence a 
filepurportedly containing his work product for the Ly 
case, which he testified he prepared prior to receiving 
the February 7, 2001, letter from Do. This file con­
tained 7 5 pages ofrescarch and a partially-completed 
asylum application. Also included in this file were 
copies of Senate Bill 778 and House of Representa­
tives Bill 1615, authorizing certain changes in 
immigration status. Respondent testified that he de­
livered Le's file to Do no later than two or three 
weeks after he received her request. Of the 7 5 pages 
of work product in the file, 3 5 pages were a computer 
printout of the interim rule implementing section 1104 
of the Legal Immigration Family Equity (LIFE) Act 
from the Federal Register, volume 66, number 106, 
dated June 1, 2001, which was four months after Do 
sent her request for the file and three months after he 
testified he delivered the file to her. Also, the federal 
legislation in this file, Senate Bill 778 and House of 
Representatives B ii 11615, was dated April 26, 200 l , 
which was almost two and a half months after Do sent 
her letter to respondent.4 Respondent provided no other 
evidence of services performed on behalf of Ly. 

4. The remaining research in the file referenced the LfFE Act, 
and was dated December 26,2000andJanuary 16, 2001, which 
was nine months after Le hired respondent. 
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On July 16, 2001, Le requested an accounting in 
a letter to respondent that was written by an acquain­
tance. In this letter, she also asked for copies of the 
immigration documents prepared for Ly and a refund 
of the $5,800 fee, noting, "I called yournanytimes, left 
my number, and you never returned my calls." She 
further complained: "You missed the deadline of 
April 30, 2001 forthe final filing of forms to get legal 
status. I could have my [daughter-in-law] on the 
road to legal status now instead of uncertainty & 
worry. [Para.] You did nothing and still want to keep 
my hard earned money for doing nothing." Respon­
dent denied receiving this letter, but the hcaringj udge 
found his testimony to be not credible. 

Ly did in fact miss the April 30, 2001, filing 
deadline for an adjustment to her status under the 
LIFE Act, in part due to respondent's inaction and 
lack of cooperation with Do. Le sued respondent in 
Small Claims court forreturn of the legal fee she paid 
to respondent. He appealed the judgment, but after he 
failed to appear, a final judgment was entered on 
March 28, 2002, awarding $5,000.00 to Le. 
Respondent's motion to set aside the judgment was 
denied; and he then paid the $5,000.00 to her. 

2. Culpability Discussion 

Count One: Rule 3-ll0(A) - failure to 
perform with competence 

The hcaringjudge found respondent culpable of 
repeatedly failing to perform legal services compe­
tently in violation of rule 3-11 0(A) because he did not 
complete or file any documentation in the immigration 
matter and failed to perform any service ofbenefit to 
Ly. 

[11 To find a violation of rule 3-1 l0(A) in this 
context, we must determine that respondent acted 
'" in reckless disregard of a client's cause'" and not 
merely that respondent acted negligently. (In the 
Maller of Broderick (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138, 155, fn. 17.) We do indeed 
find that respondent's failure to perform was reck­
less. In view of Ly's illegal status and her urgent need 
to remedy her situation, respondent's most meager 
and incomplete effort to address the matter after 
nearly one year constituted a reckless failure to 
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perform. (See, e.g., In the Matter of Klein (Review 
Dept 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 1, 7 [ delay of 
six months in filing bankruptcy petition, despite need 
for prompt action to protect clients from creditors, is 
reckless failure to perform]; In the Matter of Bach 
(Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct Rptr. 631, 
641-642 [delay of over two months in obtaining 
temporary restraining order to protect client from 
stressful, harassing telephone calls constituted reck­
less failure to perform].) We do not find convincing 
respondent's evidence of work product he purport­
edly generated in Ly's case. Most of his research and 
documentation was dated several months after Do 
sent the request for the file and several weeks after 
he claimed he had delivered the file to Do. The only 
other research in his file was dated December 26, 
2000, and January 16, 2001, which was nine months 
after Le hired him. 

I2a] Respondent here argues that he had no 
obligation to provide any services to Ly and that his 
only duty was to be available to her because the 
Contract for Hire stated it was for "Purchase of 
Availability" and described his legal fee as a "True 
Retainer Fee." He cites to Baranowski v. State Bar 
(1979) 24 Cal.3d 153, 164, fn. 4, wherein the Supreme 
Court defined a true retainer as "a sum of money paid 
by a client to secure an attorney's availability over a 
given period of time. Thus, such a fee is earned by the 
attorney when paid since the attorney is entitled to the 
money regardless of whether he actually performs 
any services for the client." (Ibid.) 

[2b] Even though the fee was designated in the 
contract as a "True Retainer Fee," we look beyond 
this characterization to determine the obligations-of 
the parties. (In the Matter of Lais (Review Dept. 
1998) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 907,923 [character­
ization of a "non-refundable retaining fee" not 
determinative]; In the Matter of Fonte (Review 
Dept. 1994) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 752, 757 [fee 
not a true retainer because no provision to set aside 
available blocks oftime ]. ) Respondent's engagement 
agreement did not define the term "True Retainer 
Fee" and it did not expressly state that the fee was 
due and payable regardless of whether any profes­
sional services were actually rendered. Moreover, 
although the contract stated it was for "Purchase of 
Availability," it did not require that respondent make 
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"any particular provision to allot or set aside blocks of 
time specifically devoted to pursuing these clients' 
claims .... " (In the Matter of Fonte, supra, 2 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 757.) The contract also did 
not set forth a specific period of time when respon­
dent was obligated to turn away other business in 
order to proceed with the Le matter. (Ibid.) To the 
contrary, respondent testified he had as many as 600-
700 client matters in a year. 

[2cJ Generally, an engagement agreement be­
tween a client and an attorney is construed as a 
reasonable client would construe it. (Rest.3d Law 
Governing La,vyers §38, com. d; see also Lane v. 
Wilkins (1964) 229 Cal.App.2d 315,323 [in constru­
ing contracts between attorneys and clients concerning 
compensation, construction should be adopted that is 
most favorable to the client as to the intent of the 
parties].) Moreover, "it is well established that any 
ambiguities in attorney-client fee agreements are 
construed in the client's favot and against the attor­
ney." (In the Matter of Lindmark (Review Dept. 
2004) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 668, 676; see also 
S.E.C. v. Interlink Data Network of Los Angeles, 
Inc. (9th Cir. 1996) 77F.3d 1201, 1205.) Le testified 
that she understood that the fee she paid to respon­
dent was an advance against his future services for 
obtaining asylum for Ly. The hearing judge found 
Le's testimony credible. We give great deference to 
this credibility determination. (Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, rule 305(a); Franklin v. State Bar (1986) 41 
Cal.3d 700, 780.) 

Moreove~, the language of the contract supports 
Le's testimony. Itexpresslyprovided that respondent 
would "represent Tran True Ly, in the case of: fNS 
Asylum." Given the urgency and seriousness of the 
situation, we do nol believe a reason ab 1 e cl ien twould 
have understood that her payment of$5,800 merely 
assured her of respondent's "availability" and did not 
include respondent's actual performance of services. 
Furthermore, Le could not read the contract and 
instead reasonably relied on Luu's "step by step" 
description of the services respondent would provide. 
Le's repeated phone calls (numbering in excess of 
20), also are consistent with her expectation that 
respondent would take affirmative steps to rectify 
Ly's illegal status in a timely manner. 
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[2d] We accordingly reject respondent's argu­
ment that he had no obligation under the Contract for 
Hire to perform any services on behalf of Ly. Rather, 
we find that respondent had an "obligation to take 
timely, substantive action on the client's behalf' and 
he failed to do so. (In the Matter of Kaplan (Review 
Dept. 1996) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 547, 554.) We 
therefore adopt the hearing judge's finding that re­
spondent wilfully violated rule 3-11 0(A). 

Count Two: Rule 3-700(A){2) - im­
proper withdrawal from employment 

The hearing judge found that by failing to per­
formservicesofanybe11,efitto Lyforalmostoneyear 
and failing to communicate with her during this time, 
respondent "effectively withdrew from employment." 
The hearing judge further found that respondent 
withdrew without t.aking reasonable steps to avoid 
foreseeable prejudice to Ly, thereby vio latingrule 3-
700(A)(2 ). We agree. 

[3a] Respondent maintains he did not intend to 
withdraw from Ly's case and was in fact te1minatcd 
by her. However, an attorney may effectively with­
draw from a case without an intent to do so, when the 
attorney virtually abandons a client and is grossly 
negligent in communicating with the client. (Bakerv. 
State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 804, 816--817, fn. 5 
[ withdrawal occurs under former rule 2-111 (A)(2) 
when an attorney ceases coming to his office and 
cannot be reached by his clients, even absent an intent 
to withdraw]; Kapelus v. State Bar (1987) 44 Cal.3d 
179,187 [violationoffonnerrule2-l l l(A)(2)occurs 
when an attorney ceases to provide services and fails 
to inform client of adverse decision].) 

[3b] "It is misconduct for an attorney to wilfully 
fail to perform the legal services for which he or she 
has been retained, and to wilfully fail to communicate 
with acl i ent. If an attorney is essentiallywithdra wing 
from employment, he or she is obligated to give due 
notice to the client [citation]." (Lister v. State Bar 
(1990) 51 Cal.3d 1117, 1126.) Although respondent 
argues that his strategy was to do nothing in antici pa­
tion that the immigration laws might in the future be 
amended to be more favorable to Ly, "he did not 
clearly advise her of [his intention to adopt a wait-
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and-see approach] and obtain her consent to a 
strategy for handling the case. He neither sought to 
tenninate his employment nor aggressively pursued 
the matter." (In the Matter of Kaplan, supra, 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 557; sec also Bernstein v. 
State Bar (1990) 50 Cal.3d 221, 232.) Not only did 
respondent fail to communicate with Ly for nearly 
one year, he did nothing to advance her interests, and 
she was thereby prejudiced in her ability to file a 
timely application for asylum under the LIFE Act. 

(3cJ "Whether or not an attorney's ceasing to 
provide services amounts to an effective withdrawal 
depends on the surrounding circumstances .... The 
circumstances, however, were such that time was 
plainly of the essence to the services requested." (In 
the Matter of Bach, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
at pp. 641-642.) Under the exigent circumstances 
presented by the Ly matter, respondent's failure to 
timely provide the necessary services constituted an 
effective withdrawal. (Ibid.) We accordingly find 
that respondent prejudicially withdrew from employ­
ment in wilful violation ofrule 3-700(A)(2). 

Count Three: Section 6068, subdivision 
(m) - failure to respond to client inquiries 

In view of Le's testimony and her letter of July 
16, 2001, which establish that she called respondent's 
office frequently to check on the status of her 
daughter-in-law's case, and that most of these calls 
were not returned, we agree with the hearingj udgc 's 
conclusion that respondent wilfully violated section 
6068, subdivision (m).5 However, because culpability 
forth is violation is based on the same facts that support 
our culpability detem1inations for rule 3-110( A )and rule 
3-700(A)(2), we give no additional weight in determin­
ing the appropriate discipline. The appropriate level of 
discipline does not depend on how many rules of 
professional misconduct or statutes proscribe the same 
misconduct. (In the Matter of Torres (Review Dept. 
2000) 4 Cal. State Uar Ct. Rptr. 138, 148.) 

5. We arc deeplytroubled by respondent's attitude tow:trds his 
rcspons1b1lity to respond to reasonable status inquiries. In his 
brief on appeal, he stated "it real I y isn 'I necessary that every 
hysterical phone call from an annoying, molcstingnutcase of 
a difficult non-client concerned with 'her child' be taken . ... " 
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Count Four: Rule 4-J00(B)(3) - failure 
to render an accounting 

[4) Respondent argues on appeal that he had no 
obligation to account for the $5,800 fee he received 
from Le, again asserting it was a true retainer and 
therefore earned and accounted for upon receipt. As 
we discussed above, we find that Le paid the money 
as an advance against future services and not as a 
true retainer. As such, the accounting requirements 
of rule 4-100(8)(3) apply. (In the Matter of Fonte, 
supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 757-758.) 
Respondent's testimony that he did not receive Le's 
letter requesting an accounting was deemed not 
credible by thehearingjudge, and we again give great 
deference to this credibility determination. (Rules 
Proc. of State Bar, rule 305(a); Franklin v. State 
Bar, supra, 41 Cal.3d at p. 780.) Furthermore, the 
obligation to "render appropriate accounts to the 
client" found in rule 4-1 00(B )(3) does not require as 
a predicate that the client demand such an account­
ing. We therefore find respondent wilfully violated 
rule 4-100(B)(3) because he failed to render an 
accounting to Le or Ly. 

B. The Chen Matter (Case No. 01-0-04083) 

1. Factual Findings 

!Sal On September 13, 2000, You Zhong Chen 
(Chen) met with respondent's interpreter, Luu, who 
presented Chen with a "Contract for Hire,"6 which 
Chen signed. The contract was in English, although 
Chen did not speak or_ read English, and Luu did not 
explainortranslatethecontract. The next day, Septem­
ber 14, 2000, Chen met with respondent and Luu. Chen 
spoke to respondent in Mandarin Chinese, utilizing Luu 
as a translator. He advised respondent of his grave 
concerns about six traffic violations he had been cited 
foron September 8, 2000, whiledri ving a bus in Arizona 
for a tour operator. Chen emphasized that the citations 
were "a very big problem" because they could result in 

6. The Contract for Hire was identical in form to the contract 
described, ante, in the Le matter, and as such, it stated that it 
was for "Purchase of Availability" and that the $4,500 was a 
"True Retainer Fee." 
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traffic points on his driving record and the loss of his 
California driver's license. Chen testified: "I very 
clearly spoke to [respondent through Luu] and said 
the main thing that I want is I don't want any points 
because then I wouldn't have any work to do." 
Respondent testified Chen never told him about his 
concern with the traffic points. 

Chen paid respondent $4,500 at the September 
14th meeting. That was the last time Chen had any 
face-to-face communication with respondent. At 
the time he paid the money, Chen asked Luu why the 
legal fee was so high and was told that it would cover 
respondent's travel and living expenses while he was 
in Arizona taking care of Chen's traffic violations.7 

Respondent testified that he traveled to Arizona 
the very next day, which was Friday, September 15, 
2000, ten days before Chen was scheduled to appear 
in traffic court, and spoke to the court clerk, who 
advised him that he should pay the bail. He further 
testified: "I then returned to California, bought a 
postal money order and mailed the ticket money to the 
Court [on Monday, September 18,2000,]withacover 
letter and a brief message to the clerk. And that took 
care of the matter as far as l was concerned for Mr. 
Chen." Respondent provided no evidence of his 
travel to Arizona or his expenses incurred while he 
was there. 

Approximately six months later, Chen was driv­
ing for another tour bus company when he learned his 
California driver's license was suspended due to his 
violations in Arizona. Chen was surprised and upset 
because he thought respondent had resolved his 
Arizona citations favorably. Chen immediately called 
respondent's office and talked to Luu. Respondent 
then called the clerk of the traffic court in Arizona and 
asked if it were possible for Chen to go to traffic 
school in order to expunge the prior traffic citations, 
but he was advised it was too late. Chen thus lost his 
Job and was unemployed for the six months while his 
license was suspended. During this period, Chen 
testified he repeatedly cal led Luu, who either a voided 

7. The decision of the hearingjudge misstatesChen's testimony 
as questioning the reason for the $210 he paid to cover the cos/ 

ofthetrnffic ticket. In fact, Chen questioncdthchighfeecharged 
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his calls or hung up on him. Chen then followed up 
with a letter, dated July 27, 2001, addressed to Luu 
and "the attorneys" complaining that "we had come 
to an agreement that if I paid you $4,500, you would 
get rid of the points of the ticket. After I paid $4,500 
to you, youdidn'tdoanything,justtoldmetopaythe 
$210 ticket fine." Respondent responded to the July 
27 letter stating: "My original understanding was that 
you wanted your ticket to be taken care of without 
going back to Arizona. Frankly, I didn't !mow that 
Arizona ticket points would go against your California 
license." 

On April 11, 2002, Chen and respondent partici­
pated in a mediation over their fee dispute, which 
resulted in a written settlement agreement. By its 
tcnns, respondent agreed to refund $2,500 to Chen, 
and Chen agreed to withdraw his complaint to the 
State Bar against respondent 

2. Culpability Discussion 

Count Five: Rule 3-1 JO(A) - failure to 
peiform with competence 

We adopt the hearing judge's finding that re­
spondent is culpable of violating rule 3-l lO(A) by 
failing to perform legal services competently. We 
agree with the hearingjudgc that respondent's testi­
mony is highly suspect that he traveled to Arizona the 
day after he was retained by Chen merely to talk to 
the traffic court clerk in order to determine the best 
course of action, which was to pay the traffic fine of 
$210. The only evidence of any work performed on 
behalf of Chen is the postal order for payment of the 
fine, mailed from California and accompanied by a 
transmittal letter, dated September 18, 2000, ad­
dressed to the /\rizona Justice Court stating: "Please 
find enclosed the citation and the money order for Mr. 
Chen .... I hope this will take care of the matter." 
There was no reference in this transmittal letter to his 
supposed meeting and discussion with the court clerk 
on the previous Friday, September 15. Nor did re­
spondent recount any trip to Arizona or provide any 

by respondent. In his opening brief, respondent characterized 
the judge's de minimis error as "either an intentional lie or the 
hallucination of a very ii I person." 
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documentation of his travels in his letter to Chen of 
August 23,2001, responding to Chen's written demand 
thatrespondentprovide "evidence of yourefforttoward 
my case." 

[Sb] Even if we were to adopt respondent's 
version of the facts, we would find a wilful violation of 
rule 3-11 O(A). Respondent concedes that Chen hired 
him "to take care of[Chen' s J Arizona concerns, without 
[Chen] going to Arizona. "8 Respondent further ac­
knowledges that Chen hired him "to do his professional 
best in regard to Mr. Chen's problems in Arizona .... " 
Respondent admits that when he accepted Chen's case, 
respondent did not know about the relationship of 
Arizona and California motor vehicle laws and their 
effect on Chen's status as a licensed driver in California. 
Yet he did not research the law or do any investigation. 
Instead, respondent asserts that he immediately trav­
eled to Arizona and, on the basisofinfonnationrespondent 
received from a court clerk, simplypaidthe traffic fine, 
thereby compromising Chen's right to appeal the cita­
tions. As wc explained in In the Matter of Kaplan, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 557 with respect 
to an attorney's failure to properlyinvestigate an assault 
and battery case: "The matter thus required timely and 
substantive action, which it didnotreceivefromrespon­
dent. Although he took some steps, he did little to 
advance [his client's] interests .... "Respondent failed 
to make even the most "meager efforts to investigate the 
matter." (Ibid.) If respondent had conducted even a 
modest investigation, he would have learned what he 
admittedlydidnotknowand what Chen feared most: by 
paying the fine in Arizona, rather than contesting the 
matter, Chen's traffic citation in Arizona would cause 
him to lose his Cal ifomia driver's license and ultimately 
his job. 

Count Six: Rule 3-700(A}(2) -:- improper 
withdrawal from employment 

After Chen paid $4,500 to respondent, he did not 
hear from him again. Yet, much to Chen's surprise 

8. Respondent's adm1sston thal the funds were paid for the 
performance oflegal services vitiates his claim that the fee he 
received from Chen was a "true retainer." [ndccd, it is incon­
cci vablc that Chen would have paid respondent $4,500 to do 
no more than what Chen himself could have accomplished by 
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and chagrin, his California driver's license was sus­
pended six months later. It was only then, in response 
to Chen's repeated phone calls, that respondent 
called the Arizona traffic court clerk to ask about 
traffic school. By that time, it was too late for any 
corrective action. The circumstances in the Chen 
matter clearly required swift action by respondent, 
which he failed to take. "[T]ime was plainly of the 
essence to the services requested." (In the Matter of 
Bach, supra, l Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 641-
642.) Respondent thus effectively abandoned Chen 
and wilfully violated rule 3-700(A)(2) because he 
failed to communicate with Chen or take timely steps 
to protect foreseeable harm to Chen's interests. 
(Walker v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 1107, 1117 
[gross carelessness in failing to communicate or 
attend to needs of client is sufficient to establish 
abandonment]; Kapelus v. State Bar, supra, 44 
Cal.3d at p. 187:) 

Count Seven: Rule 4-J00(B)(3) -
failure to render an accounting 

Respondent concedes he did not render an ac­
counting to Chen, but heargues thatno suchaccounting 
is due since his fee was a true retainer. We have 
already addressed the issue of true retainer fees in 
footnote 8, ante, finding that the $4,500 fee paid by 
Chen was an advance payment for future services 
rather than a true retainer. Accordingly, the account­
ing requirements of rule 4-100(B)(3) apply, and 
respondent violated them by failing to account to 
Chen. (In the Matter of F ante, supra, 2 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 757-758.) 

Count Eight: Section 6090.5, subdivi­
sion (a)(l) - withdrawal of State Bar 
complaint 

Section 6090.5, subdivision (a)(2) prohibits an 
attorney from seeking an agreement by a complain­
ant to withdraw a disciplinary complaint pending 

simply mailing a check for $210 to the traffic court to pay the 
fine. We thus find that the $4,500fcc was a an advance payment 
against future services. (fn the Ma/fer ofFonle. supra, 2 Cal. 
Stale 13ar Ct Rpir. at p. 757.) 
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against the attorney with the State Bar. We agree 
with the hearing judge that respondent violated sec­
tion 6090 .5, sub di vision ( a)(2) when he entered into a 
Settlement Agreement with Chen on April 11, 2002, 
which provided that Chen "agreed to settle [ their fee] 
dispute and to withdraw the complaint pending before 
the State Bar, all in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement." 

C. The Sun Matter (Case No. 01-0--04120) 

1. Factual Findings 

Rui Fang Sun (Sun) first met with respondent's 
interpreter, Luu, on August 31, 2000, to discuss a 
matter involving an alleged rapist. Sun spoke Manda­
rin Chinese, but she did not speak or read English. 
Respondent was not at that meeting, although Sun 
asked to meet with him. Luu told her respondent was 
too busy. Sun met with respondent several weeks 
later, which was the only time they met during the 
entire time that he represented her.9 

Sun testified that at the August 31st meeting, Luu 
advised her that respondent could assist her with the 
criminal investigation, so therapist would be sent to 
jail, and that she could obtain $200,000 in "repara­
tions" against the rapist for the injuries she sustained. 
Sun further testified that Luu told her respondent 
would "help me find a very famous doctor to check 
me out. ... " Respondent testified that Sun retained 
him merely to facilitate the filing of a criminal com­
plaint and assess the viability of a civil suit. The 
hearingj udge found Luu and respondent's testimony 
not to be credible, and Sun's testimony to be credible. 
We give deference to this determination. 

At the meeting on August 31, 2000, Sun signed 
a "Contract of Hire-Purchase of Availability, "10 that 
was written in English, and she agreed to pay respon­
dent a total of$5 ,000, which she did in four installmentq 
between August 31, 2000, and November 13, 2000. 

9. Sun met with respondent one more time in August 2002, 
when she collected the refund of the fees she had paid to him. 

I 0. Luu signed the Contract ofH ire on behalfofrcspondent. The 
contract is identical in form to the contracts discussed ante, in 
the Le and Chen matters. 
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According to the Contract ofHire, respondent would 
"represent Sun in the case of: Rui Fang Sun vs [the 
alleged rapist]. "11 

Sun testified that during the two-year period 
after her first meeting with Luu, respondent never 
asked her to obtain a psychological or medical evalu­
ation and neveradvised her she would have to pay for 
a medical exam. She further testified respondent 
essentially "wasted my time and he cheated me" 
because he did not find a doctor for her and did 
nothing to assist with the criminal matter or the civil 
case. Respondent testified that during the 18 months 
following his retention by Sun, he spent about two 
hundred hours on her case, including contacting the 
sheriffs investigators, attempting to schedule a poly­
graph test and arranging for treatment at a free clinic, 
but Sun refused to take a polygraph test or sign a 
medical release. Luu testified that Sun called and 
spoke with him frequently. However, there is no 
documentary or other evidence in the record of any 
work perfonned on behalf of Sun. 

Frustrated with respondent's inaction, on Janu­
ary 17, 2002, Sun sent a letter, which was prepared by 
a friend, stating; "During the time I met you Robert 
Luu at the law office, I was promised that I have a 
case against [the alleged attacker] and be awarded 
$200,000.00 in compensation. !repeatedly communi­
cated with you forrefund to my best ability, and I even 
tried to contact with [respondent], but so far nothing 
was accomplished and the fee of $5,000.00 was a 
waste." Respondent responded five months later, on 
May 2, 2002, sending her a letter and enclosing a 
check for $4,000. He also enclosed a document 
entitled "Acknowledgment and Receipt" containing 
the following language: "I hereby release attorney 
David E. Brockway, and his Law Firm, from any and 
all] iabili ties" and a notification to the State Bar for her 
signature withdrawing her complaint. He requested 
in his letter that she sign the notification "only if you 
wish to withdraw your complaint." Sun did not cash 

11. There is no evidence in the record of a conviction of Sun's 
alleged attacker for rape or assault. While the absence of such 
evidence is not relevant to our analysis of the duties owed by 
respondent to Sun, under the circumstances, we decline to 
identify the alleged perpetrator. 
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the check at that time because she . felt she was 
entitled to a refund of her entire $5,000 payment. 
There is no evidence that Sun signed the letter 
withdrawing her complaint from the State Bar, but 
she did sign the Acknowledgment and Receipt on July 
9, 2002, andrespondentrefunded the additional $1,000 
by a check issued the same date. Sun then negotiated 
both checks. 

2. Culpability Discussion 

Count Nine: Rule 3-110( A) - failure to 
pe,form with competence 

1 be hearingj udge found respondent culpable of 
violating rule 3--11 O(A) for his failure to perform 
competently on behalf of Sun. Respondent testified 
that he performed approximately 200 hours of work 
in the Sun matter, but the hearing judge found this 
testimony to be "self-serving." Other than Luu's 
testimony about his numerous conversations with Sun 
concerning the emotional effects of her trauma, there 
is no evidence in the record, such as file notes, work 
product or other documentation, to establish that any 
work ,vas performed on behalf of Sun. Even if Luu 
assumed the task oflistening to Sun's complaints, it 
was respondent's duty to take substantive action on 
her behalf. Respondent met with Sun just once to 
discuss her case during the almost two years he 
represented her. The hearing judge found Sun's 
testimony about respondent's inac lion to be credible, 
and her testimony was corroborated by her letter to 
respondent, dated January 17, 2002, stating: "I was 
promised that I have a case against [the alleged 
rapistJ and be awarded of$200,000.00 in compensa­
tion .... [Nlothing was accomplished and the fee of 
$5,000.00 was a waste." The hearing judge found 
that respondent performed no work on behalf of Sun 
and provided no service of benefit to her. We adopt 
this finding and conclude that respondent wilfully 
violated rule 3-11 O(A). 

Count Ten: Rule 3-700(A)(2) - im­
proper withdrawal from employment 

The hearingjudge further found that respondent's 
failure to perform any serviccofbenefitto Sun and his 
failure to communicate with her for more than 18 
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months constituted an impermissible withdrawal un­
derrule 3-700(A)(2). We agree. "Gross carelessness 
and negligence in failing to communicate with clients 
or to attend to their needs may suffice" to establish 
that an attorney has improperly withdrawn from 
employment. (Walker v. State Bar, supra, 49 Cal.3d 
at p. 1117 .) Indeed, "[t]he requirement of rule 2-
111 (A)(2) [now rule 3-700(A)(2)] that requires an 
attorney to take steps to avoid prejudice to his client 
prior to withdrawing ... may reasonably be construed 
to apply when an attorney ceases to provide services, 
even absent formation of an intent to withdraw as 
counsel for the client." (Baker v. State Bar, supra, 
49 Cal.3datpp. 816-817, fn. 5.)Thereisno evidence 
respondent did anything to pursue the civil suit or 
facilitate the criminal investigation or perform any 
other service of consequence, and he failed to com­
municate the fact of his inaction to her. We therefore 
find respondent, in essence, abandoned Sun, and 
accordingly he is culpable of wilfullyviolatingrule 3-
700(A)(2). (In the Matter of Kaplan, supra, 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. at p. 554.) 

Count Eleven: Rule 3-700(D}(2) -
failure to refund unearned fees 

We adopt the hearing judge's conclusion that 
respondent failed to refund unearned fees promptly in 
violation of rule 3-700(D)(2). We find that the fee 
that Sun paid respondent pursuant to the Contract of 
Hire was an advance against future services and was 
not a true retainer, as respondent asserts, for the 
reasons discussed in the Le matter, ante. 
Respondent's own testimony of the "two hundred 
hours" of service he purportedly provided confirms 
that he did not believe that his fee was intended 
merely to secure his availability, but instead was 
intended as an advance for future services. Accord­
ingly, respondent was obligated to promptly return the 
unearned, advance fee. (in the Matter of Lais, 
supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct Rptr. at p. 923.) 

Sun repeated I y requested a refund of the $5,000 
fee from August through November of 2000, but it 
was only after January 2002, when Sun wrote to him 
and stated in her letter that she intended to refer the 
matter to the State Bar, that he finally agreed to return 
the fee. Even then, respondent waited six months, 
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untilJ uly 2002, to refund the fee in full. 12 Tbis six-month 
delay constituted a wilful violation ofrule 3-700(D )(2). 
(In the Matter of Lais, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
at p. 923 [two and one-half month delay in returning 
unearned fee violated rule 3-700(D)(2)J.) 

D. The Zhao Matter (Case No. 02-0-12367) 

1. Factual Findings 

Li Zhao (Zhao) and her husband, Qiang Liu(Liu) 
owned a small Chinese herb business. They received 
letters from the United States Department of Justice, 
Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS), dated 
April 25, 2000, advising them that their Petitions for 
Noni mmi grant Worker Status had been denied. Zhao 
and Liu had 3 0 days to appeal, and Zhao immediately 
sought the help ofrespondent, whom she me ton April 

• 28, 2000. At the initial meeting, which also was 
attended by the interpreter, Luu, Zhao advised re­
spondent of the urgent need to immediately appeal the 
denial of her LI visa renewal. Zhao, who signed a 
"Contract of Hire: Purchase of Availability"13 at the 
initial meeting, gave respondent a check for $6,500, 
believing that the fee was to take care of "my LI 
appeal and my husband's and myself's legal status 
changes." (The Contract of Hire referenced the case 
as an "LI INS Appeal.") Zhao and her husband 
spoke Chinese, and they had a very limited ability to 
speak or read English. However, Luu did not translate 

,, the contract for Zhao. 

Respondent clearly understood the urgency of 
Zhao's situation. He testified: "Zhao's status had 
expired and the INS had determined that she should 
be removed from the United States and she had been 
ordered to appear at the INS for deportation." In spite 
of her precarious situation, respondent testified that 
he told Zhao that she and her husband were not 
eligible for legal status and that she should wait a year 

12. Respondent improperly conditioned the return of the fees 
upon Sun' ssign ing a document cnlitlcd "Acknowledgment and 
Receipt" which released respondent "and his Law Firm, from 
any and al I I iabi lities." We discuss th is act of overreaching as 
aggravation,posl. 

13. The Contract for Hire was in English and the same form as 
respondent used in the other three matters discussed ante. 
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or two in order to prove to the INS her herb business 
was "a going concern" and profitable. 14 Respondent 
said he would then "resubmit the application kind of 
going through the back door rather than an appeal to 
a proper authority with the INS." The hearing judge 
found this testimony was not believable. 

Almost one year later, in February or March of 
2001, after respondent had taken no action, Zhao 
requested the return ofher files. She followed up with 
a letter on April 10, 2001, which was written by a 
friend pursuant to her instructions, demanding a 
refund of the $6,500 fee and the return of her 
"papers." In the letter, she complained that respon­
dent failed to provide any evidence that he had done 
any work on her or her husband's behalf. She wrote: 
"You and Mr. [Luu J not only have misled us. You and 
Mr. [Luu] have also failed to refund my money and 
all papers timely." 

Frustrated and fearful of possible deportation, 
Zhao hired another attorney, Frank Carleo. On April 
15, 2001, Carleo wrote to respondent demanding the 
return of the $6,500 and the entire file for Zhao and 
her husband Liu. 15 In the letter, Carleo stated that 
Zhao and Liu "signed a contract to have you repre­
sent them in their appeal and to otherwise apply, on 
their behalf for permanent residence status. You 
asked for them to pay a retainer of $6,500. They 
immediately gave you the requested sum. [Para.] 
The appeal had to be filed within 30 days. From April 
28, 2000, they heard nothing regarding your efforts. 
They contacted your offices many times asking if 
there was anything more for them to do. They could 
never reach anyone to discuss the progress of their 
appeal. ... It was not until March of2001 that they 
learned that you had not filed anything. Ms. Zhao and 
her husband Mr. Liu have been severely prejudiced 
by your inaction. They are now out-of-status and 
subject to incarceration at any time by the INS!" 

14. Respondent testified that the LI status was available for 
individuals who were "in a managerial position ofa foreign 
country operating a branch organization for the United States." 
According to respondent, it is essential the organization 
"employs iii I east ti ve citizens or pt:nnanent residents and 
essentially makes a profit." 

IS. Carleo sent a second, identical letter on April 25, 200 J . 
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When respondent finally returned the file in late 
April of2001, it contained nothing but the papers that 
Zhao initially had given to respondent. Ultimately, 
Zhao and her husband sued respondent for the return 
of the fee and for other damages. On June 4, 2002, 
respondent paid $12,500 by cashier's check issued to 
Carleo in settlement of the suit. 

2. Culpability Discussion 

Count Twelve: Rule 3-ll0(A) ·· failure 
to perform with competence 

The hearingjudge found respondent culpable of 
violating rule 3-110( A) by failing to file any papers or 
take any action on Zhao's behalf with respect to her 
appeal in the immigration matter. We agree. Addi­
tionally, we find that respondent's failure to perform 
was reckless given the urgency of the situation and 
the grave consequences attendant to Zhao's loss of 
status as an immigrant. We find respondent's expla­
nation highly implausible that he intended to build a 
case for Zhao and her husband over a one-- to two­
year period so that he could "resubmit the application 
kind of going through the back door rather than an 
appeal to a proper authority .... " 

Count Thirteen: Rule 3-700(A)(2) -
improper withdrawal from employment 

The hearing judge found that respondent's 
failure to perform any service of benefit to Zhao 
and his failure to inform her that he had basically 
abandoned her appeal was a violation of rule 3-
700(A)(2). We agree. (Walker v. State Bar. 
supra, 49 Cal.3d at p. 1117; Baker v. State Bar, 
supra, 49 Cal.3d at pp. 816-817, fn. 5.) The 30-
day time period needed to perfect Zhao's appeal 
required a rapid response. Respondent's failure to 
take action for one year under these circum­
stances constituted an effective withdrawal under 

16. The hearing judge noted in her decision that the NOC 
inconcctly numbered_ this count as "Thirteen" rather than 
"Fowteen." Her decision also inadvertently mislabeled Count 
Fourteen as ''Failure to Accounts Lsic] of Client." However, the 
hcari ng judge's analysis clearly addresses the substance of 
respondent's failure to timely return Zhao's file. 
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rule 3-700(A)(2). (In the Matter of Bach, su­
pra, I Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at pp. 641-642. 

Count Fourteen: Rule 3-700(D)(l) -
failing to return client file16 

16] Thehearingjudge found thatrespondentfailed 
to promptly release Zhao's file. We adopt this finding. 
Zhao made several verbal requests for the return of her 
"papers," but it was only after she and her new attorney, 
Carleo, followed up with three letters demanding the 
return of her file that respondent finally complied. By 
waiting at least two months to send Zhao' s files to her 
attorney,respondentwillfullyviolatedrule 3-700(D)(l). 
(In the Matter of Myrdal! (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 363, 377.) 

III. DISCIPLINE 

The primary purpose of these disciplinary pro­
ceedings is not to punish but to protect the pub lie, the 
courts, and the legal profession. (Std. 1.3; Bach v. 
State _Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 848, 856.) No fixed 
formula applies in determining the appropriate level of 
discipline. (In the Matter of Brimberry (Review 
Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 390, 403.) 
Rather, we determine the appropriate discipline in 
Ji ght of all relevant circumstances, including aggra­
vating and mitigating circumstances. ( Gary v. State 
Bar (1988) 44 Cal.3d 820, 828.) 

A. Aggravation 

We adopt all of the hearing judge's findings in 
aggravation, and also find acts of moral turpitude as 
uncharged misconduct consti tutingadditional aggra­
vation. 17 

Respondent has one prior record of discipline. 
(Std. 1.2(b)(i).) Effective April 1991, respondent was 
actually suspended for three months, with conditions, 

17. Although evidence of uncharged misconduct may not be used 
as an independent ground for di sciplinc, it may be considered 
in aggravation where appropriate. Here, the evidence of ovcr­
reach ing came from respondent's own testimony and that of 
the witnesses. (Edwards 1-·. State Bar. supra, 52 Cal.3d at pp. 
35-36.) 
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for wilfully misappropriating $500 from a client in 
19 81 and for acquiring an adverse interest against a 
client by accepting a quitclaim deed in 1982. 
(Brockway v. State Bar, supra, 53 Cal.3d 51, 58-
59, 64----{)5, 67 (Brockwayl).)Althoughthe gravamen 
of respondent's prior misconduct differs from the 
present misconduct, there are areas of common 
concern. The hearing judge found respondent to be 
not credible, and we also consider much of his 
testimony to be inherently improbable. So, too, the 
Supreme Court made the same finding in Brockway 
I (id. at p. 58), characterizing his testimony as "artful 
and hard to believe." (Id. at p. 66.) Also, in Brockway 
I, respondent utilized an ambiguous retainer agree­
ment with an incarcerated criminal defendant of 
questionable competence and failed to disclose the 
nature of the adverse property interest he was acquir­
ing from the defendant. (Id. at pp. 65, 67.) To some 
extent these facts mimic the misconduct in the instant 
case, and we accordingly ascribe moderate weight in 
aggravation because o frespondent' s prior discipline. 

Respondent committed multiple acts of wrong­
doing. (Std. l .2(b )(ii).) He is culpable ofl 4 counts of 
misconduct in four client matters. The State Bar 
argues this amounted to a pattern of client abandon­
ment. We disagree. Only the most serious instances 
of repeated misconduct over a prolonged period of 
time have been considered as evidence of a "pattern 
of misconduct." ( Young v. State Bar ( l 990) 50 
Cal.3d 1204, 12l?;Bledsoe v. State Bar (1991) 52 
Cal.3d 1074, 1079-1080.) 

We agree with the hcaringjudge's finding that 
respondent significantly harmed his clients (std. 
1.2(b )(iv)), because two clients were required to hire 
new counsel to recover fees and obtain their files and 
one client lost his job due to respondent's failure to 
perform. Indeed, all four of respondent's clients 
sought his professional help to remedy serious, press­
ing problems. Respondent not only failed to make 

18. Respondent's Opening Brief also contains comments that 
show disrespect towards the hearing judge. For example, he 
states: "[I]fthejudge wcrcn 'tso undereducated, inexperienced 
and ignorant of how real attorneys conduct their profession in 
an ethical manner, and was of course anything but arrogant, 
biased and unthinking; then a more correct finding of the fact 
and/or opinion wou Id have been forthcoming." 
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himself available to these clients, but his inaction 
exacerbated their desperate situations. 

Respondent has made no attempt to atone for the 
consequences of his misconduct. (Std. 1.2(b)(v).) 
His demonstrated indifference towards the plight of 
his clients is nothing less than astonishing. For ex­
ample, in his Opening Brief, respondent questions the 
relevance and import of Chen's loss of employment: 
"As far as Chen's job, well that is the way the cookie 
crumbles. Also what difference does Chen's 'con­
cerns' have on this case?" (See also footnote 5 
ante.)18 In fact, respondent repeatedly has attempted 
"to shunt the responsibility for his misconduct onto 
others, inc ludingthe very victims of that misconduct." 
(Bernstein v. State Bar, supra, 5 0 Cal. 3d 221, 23 2.) 
Accordingly, we assign substantial weight in aggra­
vation to respondent's indifference and failure to 
atone for his misconduct. 

[7] We find additional uncharged misconduct in 
aggravation as the result ofrespondent's overreach­
ing ofhis clients, constituting acts of moral turpitude 
in violation of section 6106. (Std. l .2(b )(iii).) Know­
ing of his clients' English language limitations, 
respondent nevertheless used technical legalese in 
his engagement agreements, such as the term "true 
retainer," in an effort to exempt himself from provid­
ing any service of consequence to them. Furthermore, 
respondent required one client to withdraw his com­
plaint to the State Bar as a condition of settlement, and 
another was required to sign a release as a condition 
of settlement, releasing respondent from all legal 
liability. 19 '"The essence of a fiduciary or confidential 
relationship is that the parties do not deal on equal 
terms, because the person in whom trust and confi­
dence is reposed ... is in a superior position to exert 
unique influence over the dependent party.'" (Beery 
v. State Bar(l 987) 43Cal.3d 802, 813.) Respondent's 
exploitation ofhis superior knowledge and position of 
trust to the detriment of his vulnerable clients clearly 

19. Respondent sent an "Acknowledgment and Receipt" with 
the refund of Sun ·s $4,000, which provided: "I hereby release 
attorney David E. Brockway, and the Law Firm, from any and 
al I liabilities." Sun thought she was merely signing a receipt for 
the money. Parenthetica!Iy, a release ofal I liabi I ities may well 
violate rule 3-400(A). 
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constituted moral turpitude within the meaning of 
section 6106. (In the Matter of Johnson (Review 
Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 233, 244.) 

B. Mitigation 

[SJ Respondent presented the testimony of one 
character witness, Rebecca Elayache. The testimony 
of this witness does not constitute a broad range of 
references from the legal and general communities. 
(See In the Matter of Myrdal!, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct. Rptr. 363,387 [three attorneys and three clients do 
not constitute a broad range of references from legal 
and general communities].) Moreover, the witness had 
only limited know ledge of the disciplinary issues in this 
proceeding. The hearingjudge assigned ''minimal weight" 
to respondent's evidence. (Std. 1.2(e)(vi)). We assign 
no weight in mitigation, as itwasrespondent' s burden to 
establish mitigating circumstances by clear and con~ 
vincing evidence, which he failed to do. (Std. 1.2( e ); In 
the Matter of Taggart (Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 302, 311.) 

C. Level of Discipline 

In detennining the appropriate level of discipline, 
we look to the applicable standards and case law for 
guidance. (In re Young ( 1989) 49 Cal.3d 257,267, fn. 
11.) Al though the standards are not binding, they are 
to he afforded great weight because "'they promote 
the consistent and uniform application of disciplinary 
measures.' [Citation.]" (In re Silverton (2005) 36 
Cal.4th 81, 91.) The hearing judge considered as 
applicable standards 1.6, 1.7(a), 2.2(b), 2.4(b), 2.6, 
and 2.10.20 Based on our additional finding of moral 

20. Standard J ,6 provides when there arc two or more acts of 
professional 1nisconduct in a single proceeding, the sanction 
imposed will be the more severe of the applicable standards. 

Standard 1. 7(a) provides that a greater degree of discipline 
should be imposed than was imposed in a prior disciplinary 
proceeding. 

Standard 2.2(b) provides for a 90-day actual suspension for 
a violation of rule 4-100 not involving a wilfu I misappropria­
tion. 
·• Standard 2.4(b) provides failure to perform services nol 

demonstrating a pattern of misconduct or culpability of a 
member of wilfully failing to communicate with a client shall 
result in rcproval or suspension depending upon the extent of 
the misconduct and the degree of harm to the diem. 
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turpitude as the result of respondent's overreaching, 
we add standard 2.3 to the discipline equation.21 Thus, 
standards 2.3 and 2.6, providing for suspension or 
disbarment, are the most relevant to this case. 

Our discipline analysis is tempered by the deci­
sional law, and a review of similar cases leads us to 
conclude that greater discipline than the one-year 
actual suspension recommended by the hearingj udge 
is required under the circumstances presented here. 
The range of discipline imposed in cases focusing on 
client abandonment and failure to communicate is 
extremely broad, ranging from six months' actual 
suspension to disbarment. In recommending one year 
actual suspension, the hearing judge considered In 
the Matter of Bach, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 631 and fn the Matter of Peterson (Review 
Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 73. These 
cases, however, involved less serious misconduct 
than that which occurred here. In the case of In the 
Matter of Bach, supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
631, we recommended nine months' actual suspen­
sion where the attorney abandoned two clients, who 
suffered only modest harm as the result of the 
attorney's inattention. In In the Matter of Peterson, 
supra, 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 73, we recom­
mended one year's actual suspension where the 
attorney abandoned three clients and the conse­
quences of the attorney's inattention were not serious. 
(See also, Lester v. State Bar ( 1976) 17 Cal.3d 547 
[ four instances of abandonment, six months' actual 
suspension]; In the Matter of Dahlz (Review Dept. 
2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 269 [ one-year actual 
suspension for failure to perform and improper with­
drawal in one client matter, plus an act involving 

Standard 2.6 provides for suspension ordisbanncnt, depend­
ing on the gravity of the offense, for violations of section 6068, 
subdivisions (i) and (m). 

Standard 2.10 provides reproval or suspension, depending 
on the gravity, for all other violations of the Business and 
Professions Code and rules not specifically addressed in the 
standards. 

21. Standard 2.3 provides in relevant part: "Culpability of a 
member of an act of moral turpitude ... shall result in actual 
suspension or disbam,ent depending upon the extent to which 
thcvictimofthemisconduct is ham,edormisled and depending 
upon the magnitude of the act of misconduct and the degree to 
which it relates to the member' sacts within the practice of law." 
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dishonesty and moral turpitude and a prior record of 
serious, but dissimilar, misconduct].) 

Generally, where four to six clients have been 
abandoned or suffered from incompetent representa­
tion, the discipline has included an actual suspension 
of two years. (cf. Martin v. State Bar (1978) 20 
Cal.3d 717 [ six instances ofabandonmentresulting in 
one year actual suspension].) Of the cases imposing 
two years' actual suspension, we consider as particu­
larly apt the cases of Bernstein v. State Bar, supra, 
50 Cal.3d 221, Nizinski v. State Bar( 1975) 14Cal.3d 
587 and In the Matter of Bailey (Review Dept. 
2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 220. 

In Bernstein v. -State Bar, supra, 50 Cal.3d 221, 
the Supreme Court imposed a five-year stayed 
suspension and five years' probation on the condition 
of two years' actual suspension, plus payment of 
restitution due to the attorney's failure to perform, 
return files and refund unearned fees to five clients in 
three separate matters. Many of Bernstein's clients 
were vulnerable, as were those of respondent. In one 
instance, Bernstein told one of his students in a class 
where he was a part-time instructor, that he was a 
highly sophisticated appellate practitioner. (Id. at p. 
225.) The student borrowed $2,500 to pay Bernstein to 
represent him in an appeal. Bernstein then failed to 
prosecute the appeal orrespond to the student's inquir­
ies. After he was fired, Bernstein refused to return the 
$2,500 fee or the student's file, and as a consequence, 
the student was unable to hire another attorney. 

In a second matter, another student of Bernstein 
and the student's husband hired him to represent 
them in litigation involving an automobile lease. 
(Bernstein v. State Bar, supra, 50 Cal.3d at p. 226.) 
They pa id $1,500 as advanced fees, but after Bernstein 
took no action, two default judgments were entered 
against them and they were required to pay the 
judgments, one of which was for the leasing company's 
attorney's fees. Their bank accounts were levied and 
their wages garnished. Bernstein refused to return 
the legal fees when the student demanded them. In a 
third matter, Bernstein was hired by an immigrant, 
who paid him $2,500 to obtain permanent residency 
status for himself and his wife. (Id. at p. 227.) 
Bernstein took no action, would not respond to client 
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inquiries, and as a consequence, the clients were 
forced to hire a notary in Mexico, who obtained legal 
residency status for them. As in the instant case, 
Bernstein attempted to exempt himself from respon­
sibility by hiding behind his retainer agreement, which 
referred to his corporate law firm and not to himself 
individually. The Supreme Court rejected this, stating 
"he cannot rely on the corporate veil to cloak his own 
professional lapses." (Id. at p. 231.) There was 
significant aggravation because the attorney failed to 
cooperate with the State Bar, was indifferent to the 
consequences of his misconduct, and lacked candor. 
Bernstein, like respondent, had a prior discipline 
resulting in thirty days' actual suspension for misap­
propriation· of a client's funds, and there was no 
mitigation evidence. 

In Nizinski v. State Bar, supra, 14 Cal.3d 587, 
the Supreme Court imposed two years' actual sus­
pension and until restitution was made, where an 
attorney failed to perform on behalf of four clients, 
several of whom were unsophisticated and at least 
one of whom did not speak English well. In one 
matter, Nizinski failed to prosecute a criminal appeal 
after he was paid a $1,000 fee by the client, who was 
incarcerated. (Id. at p. 5 89.) Nizinski never returned 
the fee. In a second matter, two individuals retained 
him and gave him $500 plus a ten percent contingency 
to represent them in a will contest. (Id. at p. 591.) 
Nizinski took no action on the clients' behalf in spite 
of repeated assurances to them that he was taking 
care of everything. (Ibid.) Instead, he claimed that 
the $500 was paid to represent the son of one of the 
clients, which was untrue. In another matter, Nizinski 
failed to pursue a criminal appeal on behalf of a client, 
and it was dismissed for want of prosecution. (Id. at 
p. 592.) The defendant's mother then paid Nizinski 
$500 to institute a habeas corpus proceeding. (Ibid.) 
Nizinski used the money for his own purposes and 
took no further action. The defendant ultimately was 
deported to Mexico. In addition, Nizinski was found 
culpable of acts· of moral turpitude for irnowingly 
misrepresenting to his clients the status of their cases, 
and in two instances, of accepting the clients' funds 
withoutusingthemfortheir intended purpose. Nizinski 
had a prior 30-day suspension involving failure to 
perform competently and making misrepresentations 
to his clients and the State Bar. 
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In the case of In the Matter of Bailey, supra, 
4 _Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 220, which was a default 
proceeding, the attorney was found culpable of aban­
donment and improper withdrawal in four client 
matters, as well as failure to perform competently, 
return files and respond to client inquiries. In one 
client matter, Bailey collected an illegal probate fee of 
$1,500 and demanded an additional fee to complete 
the probate, which Bailey never accomplished. (Id. at 
p. 224.) In a second probate matter, Bailey failed to 
prevent secured creditors from foreclosing on real 
property due to her inaction. (Ibid.) In yet another 
probate matter, Bailey collected $4,000 in advanced 
fees and then failed to provided any service, forcing 
the client to probate the estate herself. (Id. at pp. 
224- 225.) In the fourth matter, Bailey collected an 
advance fee of $1,990, then made several errors in 
the disposition of assets. (Id. at p. 225.) She de­
manded additional fees to correct the errors, then 
failed to take any action. Other than absence of a 
prior discipline, there was no mitigation. Aggravation 
included client harm, multiple acts of wrongdoing and 
lack of cooperation with the State Bar. Bailey re­
ceived a five-year stayed suspension with two years' 
actual suspension and until restitution was paid. (Id. 
at p. 230; see also, Bledsoe v. State Bar, supra, 52 
Cal.3d 1074 [two years' actual suspension where 
attorney with no prior record found culpable of failing 
to perform on behalfof four clients, failing to commu­
nicate, failing to foiward a client file and refund 
unearned fees, withdrawing without notice, and fail­
ing to cooperate with the State Bar].) 

The State Bar here asks for disbarment even 
though it did not appeal the hearingjudge' s decision. 
There are a number of cases where client inattention 
and/or abandonment have resulted in disbarment, but 
these cases generally have involved more instances 
of misconduct, such thatthe behavior was character­
ized as a habitual disregard of clients' interests or a 
pattern of misconduct under standard 2.4(a).22 (Sec 
e.g., Tn re Billings {1990) 50 Cal.3d 358 [ disbarment 
for 18 matters involving abandonment resulting in 
serious harm to clients, practicing law while on 
suspension and conviction for misdemeanor drunk 

22. Standard 2.4(a) provides: "Culpability of a member of a 
pattern of wilfully failing to perform services demonstrating 
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driving resulting in grave injuries to a passenger]; 
Farnham v. State Bar (1988) 47 Cal.3d 429 [seven 
instances of abandonment with prior disciplinary 
record, disbarment]; Slaten v. State Bar (1988) 46 
Cal.3d 48 [ disbarment because failed to perform for 
seven clients, commingled funds, advised client to act 
in violation of law and had an extensive discipline 
record]; McMorris v. State Bar (1983) 35 Cal:3d 77 
[ disbarment for habitual failure to perform in seven 
matters involving five clients, with two prior suspen­
sions for the same misconduct]; In the Matter of 
Gadda (Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 416 [ disbarment for 16 counts of misconduct in 
nine client matters and one non-client matter for 
failing to perform competently, to return a client's file 
promptly, to respond to client inquiries, and to notify 
clients of significant developments, plus commingling 
funds and an act of moral tuTJ)itude for issuing checks 
on account with insufficient funds, aggravated by 
prior six-month suspension for the same misconduct, 
multiple acts of misconduct, significant hann to cli­
ents and indifference toward rectification]; cf. Pineda 
v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 753 [although a 
common pattern of failure to perform, communicate 
and refund unearned fees, plus misconduct involving 
misrepresentation and misappropriation in seven cli­
ent matters, only two years' actual suspension 
warranted because of strong mitigative evidence].) 
As discussed ante, we do not find on this record clear 
and convincing evidence of a pattern of abandonment 
or habitual disregard of clients' interests mandating 
disbarment under standard 2.4( a). 

We recommended disbarment inln the Matter 
of Taylor (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 563, which involved misconduct in only three 
client matters, including the unauthorized practice of 
law, failure to keep clients reasonably informed of 
significant developments, failure to refund unearned 
fees and an act of moral turpitude arising from 
appearing on bchal f of a cl ientand using a pre-signed 
verification without the client's authority. However, 
our primary concern in that case was the attorney's 
failure to comply with the terms and conditions ofhis 
criminal probation by disobeying two child support 

the member's abandonment ofthecausesin which he orshcwas 
rct.i1 ncd shall result in disbannent." 
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orders and his failure to participate in his two disciplin­
ary proceedings. We thus concluded Taylor was not 
a good candidate for suspension and/or probation 
because of his "disdain and contempt for the orderly 
process and rule of law [that} clearly demonstrate 
that the risk of future misconduct is great." (Id. at p. 
581.) In contrast, respondent participated in the 
hearing below and in this appeal.23 His single prior 
record of discipline was remote in time, although his 
prior conduct is suggestive to some extent of the 
misconduct of concern here. 

In considering the appropriate discipline, we find 
respondent's overreaching of his clients to be of 
serious concern. But it does not approach the griev­
ous lack of client fidelity that occurred in In the 
Matter of Brimberry, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. at p. 405, where we recommended disbarment 
for an attorney who affirmatively disregarded her 
clients' instructions and "became an advocate against 
her client, unabashedly disregarding her clients' in­
structions in order to maximize her fees." Indeed, in 
Brimberry, we found the attorney's actions to be 
'"reprehensible, corrupt, [and] dishonest .... "' (Id. 
at p. 393.) 

Nor do respondent's actions approach the 
attorney's overreaching in In the Matter of Phillips 
(Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 315, 
wherein we recommended disbarment for an attor­
neywho "made a habitofignoringhis clients and their 
interests .... " (Id. at p. 346.) We found Phillips 
culpable of overreaching of several clients who 
"were of modest means and apparently modest 
education .... " (Id. at. p. 346.) In two matters, 
Phillips attempted to settle cases without client au­
thority, and in one matter without having met the 
client. He also filed a lawsuit on behalf of former 
clients against their wishes, spoke to his clients rudely 
and hung up on them, and ignored their correspon­
dence and telephone calls and those of other counsel. 
(Ibid.) Looking at the facts as a whole, we were 
compelled in Phillips to conclude that the attorney 

23. We agree with the Stale Bar that respondent's participation 
in these proceedings is marred by his testimony below, which 
the hearingj udgefound toa large extent was not credible, as well 
ash is hricfon appeal, which the State Bar asserts demonstrates 
a "manifest disrespect for the courts." Respondent's brief docs 
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had demonstrated "clear disrespect for his clients and a 
nearly complete lackofappreciation for his professional 
obligations." (Ibid.) In all, Phillips was culpable in seven 
separate matters involving five clients and two former 
clients ofrepeatedlyand intentionallyfailingtoperf onn 
services competently, failing to retwn files, charging an 
illegal fee, failing to return unearned fees, sharing fees 
with a non-lawyer, and fornring a law partnership with 
anon--lawyer. (Id. atp. 345.) In aggravation, we found 
Phillips' misconduct was surrounded by considerable 
dishonesty and concealment and that he "demonstrated 
a willingness to disregard the truth whenever the need 
arises .... "(Id.at p. 346.) 

[9] Based on the unique facts of the instant case, 
and looking to the dee isional law and the standards for 
guidance, we are persuaded that disbarment is too 
severe and is unnecessary to protect the public and 
the courts.Nevertheless, respondent's abandonment 
ofhis clients, together with his overreaching, militates 
in favor of a longer period of actual suspension than 
the one year recommended by the hearingj udge. We 
accordingly recommend a five-year suspension, 
stayed, and a five-year period of probation on the 
condition of two years' actual suspension and until 
respondent satisfies the requirements of standard 
1.4( c )( ii), which wi 11 carry with it the condition that 
respondent establish his re.habilitation, fitness to prac­
tice and learning and ability in the general law before 
being allowed to commence practice again. This 
requirement serves the important goal of public pro­
tection, especially necessary in this case in view of 
the absence of any recognition by respondent of the 
seriousness of his misconduct. 

IV. RECOMMENDATION 

We recommend that respondent David Eric 
Brockway be suspended from the practice oflaw in 
the State of California for five years, that execution 
of that suspension be stayed, and that respondent be 
placed on probation for five years on the following 
conditions: 

indeed contain several unfounded and inflammatory state­
ments, but we already have assigned weight in aggravation to 
these statements in finding respondent is indifferent towards 
rectification and is unwilling to alone for his misconduct. 
(Std. I .2(b)(v).) 
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l . That respondent be actually suspended 
from the practice oflaw in the State of California 
during the first two years of probation and until 
respondent shows proof satisfactory to the State 
Bar Court of his rehabilitation, present fitness to 
practice, and present learning and ability in the 
general law pursuant to standard 1 .4( c )( ii) of the 
Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Profes­
sional Misconduct. 

2. Respondent must comply with the provi­
sions of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Profes­
sional Conduct, and all the conditions of this 
probation. 

3. Respondent must maintain, with the State 
Bar's Membership Records Office and the State 
Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles, his 
current office address and telephone number or, 
if no office is maintained, an address to be used 
for State Bar purposes. (Bus. & Prof. Code, 
§ 6002.1, subd. (a).)Respondcntmustalsomain~ 
tain, with the State Bar's Membership Records 
Office and the State Bar's Office of Probation 
in Los Angeles, his current home address and 
telephone number. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, § 
6002.1, subd. (a)(5).) Respondent's home ad­
dress and telephone number will not be made 
available to the general public. (Bus. & Prof. 
Code, § 6002.1, subd. (d).) Respondent must 
notify the Membership Records Office and the 
Office of Probation of any change in any of this 
information no later than IO days after the change. 

4. Respondentmustreport, in writing, to the 
State Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles 
no later than January 10, April 10, July 10 and 
October 10 of each year or part thereof in which 
respondent is on probation (reporting dates). 
However, if respondent's probation begins less 
than 30 days before a reporting date, respondent 
may submit the first report no later than the 
second reporting date after the beginning of his 
probation. In each report, respondent must state 
that it covers the preceding calendar quarter or 
app 1 icab le portion thereof and certify by affidavit 
or under penalty of perjury under the laws of the 
State of California as follows: 
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(a) in the first report, whether respondent 
has complied with all the provisions of the 
State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct, and all other conditions of probation 
since the beginning of probation; and 

(b) in each subsequent report, whether 
respondent has complied with all the provisions 
of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct, and all other conditions of probation 
during that period. 

During the last 20 days of this probation, respon­
dent must submit a final report covering any 
period of probation remaining after and not cov­
ered by the last quarterly report required under 
this probation condition. In this final report, re­
spondent must certify to the matters set forth in 
subparagraph (b) of this probation condition by 
affidavit or under penalty of perjury under the 
laws of the State of California. 

5. Subject to the proper or good faith asser­
tion of any applicable privilege, respondent must 
fully, promptly, and truthfully answer any inquir­
ies of the State Bar's Office of Probation that are 
directed to respondent, whether orally or in writ­
ing, relating to whether respondent is complying 
or has complied with the conditions of this proba­
tion.· 

6. Within one year after the effective date of 
the Supreme Court order in this matter, respon­
dent must attend and satisfactorily complete the 
State Bar's Ethics School and provide satisfac­
tory proof of such completion to the State Bar's 
Office of Probation in Los Angeles. This condi­
tion of probation is separate and apart from 
respondent's California Minimum Continuing 
Legal Education (MCLE) requirements; accord­
ingly, respondent is ordered not to claim any 
MCLE credit for attending and completing this 
course. (Accord, Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
3201.) 

7. Respondent's probation will commence 
on the effective date of the Supreme Court order 
imposingdiscipline in this matter. And, attheend 
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of the probationary term, if respondent has com­
plied with the conditions of probation, the Su­
preme Court order suspending respondent from 
thepracticeoflaw for fiveyearswill be satisfied, 
and the suspension will be tenninated. 

V. PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
EXAMINATION 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional Conference ofBar Examiners during the period 
of his actual suspension and to provide satisfactory 
proof of such passage to the State Bar's Office of 
Probation in Los Angeles within the same period. 

VI. RULE 955 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to comply with rule 9 5 S of the Califomi a Rules 
of Court and to perform the acts specified in para­
graphs (a) and (c) of that rule within 30 and 40 
calendar days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the S uprerne Court order in this matter. 

VII. COSTS 

We further recommend that costs be awarded to 
the State Bar in accordance with Business and 
Professions Code section 6086.10 and are enforce­
able both as provided in Business and Professions 
Code section 6140.7 and as a money judgment. 

We concur: 

STOVITZ, P.J. 
WATAI, J. 
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STATE BAR COURT 

REVIEW DEPARTMENT 

In the Matter of 

THOMAS NEIL THOMSON 

A Member of the State Bar 

No. 02--0--0930; 03-0-02209 (Consolidated) 

Fi Jed July 12, 2006; reconsideration denied August 24, 2006. 

SUMMARY 

While representing a client in bankruptcy proceedings, respondent violated injunctions and was ordered 
to pay sanctions. In two other matters, respondent negotiated on behalf of clients while suspended from the 
practice oflaw. The hearingj udge found respondent culpable of disobeying court orders, failing to report judicial 
sanctions, engag'ing in the unauthorized practice of law, and failing to comply with probation conditions and 
recommended a four-year actual suspension. (Hon. Robert fyl. Talcott, Hearing Judge.) 

The review department concluded that the probation violations were duplicative of underlying charged 
misconduct and did not consider them in assessing the appropriate discipline. The review department adopted 
all other findings and conclusions of the hearingj udge but because of the repetitive nature ofrespondent' s four 
prior incidents of discipline, recommended that respondent be disbarred. 

For State Bar: 

For Respondent: 

COUNSEL .FOR p ARTIES 

Alan B. Gordon, Kimberly Anderson 

Thomas N. Thomson 

liEADNOTES 

fl a- c] 191 Effect of/Relationship to Other Proceedings 
220.00 Section 6103 . 
Where preliminary and permanent injunctions prohibited respondent's client and the agents of 
respondent's client from filing any actions relating to certain realty, respondent's filing of a quiet title 
action in superior court and recording of a !is pendens on behalf of a company the client owned 
violated Business and Professions Code section 6103 because respondent had actual knowledge of 
the restraints imposed by the injunctions and because respondent was acting as an agent of the client. 

Editor's note: The summary, hcadnotcs and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State BarCourt forthcconvenience of the reader. Only the actual text of the Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. • 
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[21 213.10 State Bar Act-Section 6068(a) 
230.00 State Bar Act-Section 6125 
231.00 State Bar Act-Section 6126 

Where respondent wrote letters to negotiate claims on behalf of clients while suspended from the 
practice oflaw, respondent was still culpable of engaging in the unauthorized practice oflaw despite 
having filed a motion to stay his suspension. 

[3 a, b] 715.50 Mitigation-Good Faith-Declined to find 
In order to establish good faith as a mitigating circumstance, an attorney must prove that his or her 
beliefs were both honestly held and reasonable. To conclude otherwise would reward an attorney 
for his unreasonable beliefs and for his ignorance of his ethical responsibi Ii ties. Where injunctions 
proscribed certain conduct, respondent's claim that he believed he was not subject to the injunctions 
was not reasonable, particularly because the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure made them binding 
onhim. 

[4] 806.10 Standards-Disbarment After Two Priors 

[5] 

When there is a repetition of offenses for which an attorney has previously been disciplined that 
demonstrates a pattern of professional misconduct, the Supreme Court and this court have found 
disbarment appropriate under Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, 
standard 1.7(b). 

1010 Discipline Imposed in Disciplinary Matters Generally-Disbarment 
Where respondent disobeyed court orders, failed to report judicial sanctions, engaged in the 
unauthorized practiceoflaw, failed to comply with probation conditions, and committed multiple acts 
of wrongdoing, surrounded by bad faith, dishonesty, and concealment, where respondent demon­
strated indifference toward rectification or acknowledgment of wrongdoing and had four prior 
incidents of discipline involving similar misconduct, and where there was no mitigation, the 
appropriate disciplinaryrecommendation was disbarment. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

213.11 
214.11 
214.51 
220.0l 
230.01 
231.01 

Aggravation 
Found 

511 
521 
541 
591 

Section 6068(a) 
Section 6068(k) 
Section 6068( o) 
Section6l03 
Section 6125 
Section6126 

Prior Record of Discipline 
Multi pie Acts of Misconduct 
Bath faith, dishonesty, concealment 
lndi ff erence to Rectification/ Atonement 
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106.30 Procedure-Pleadings-Duplicative Charges 
191 Effect of/Relationship to Other Proceedings 
204.10 Culpability-Willfulness Requirement 
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OPINION 

EPSTEIN, J.: 

A bankruptcy court issued preliminary and per­
manent injunctions enjoining a debtor, his agents, 
representatives and those acting in concert with him 
from bringing or maintaining any action affecting 
certain real property. Respondent, Thomas N. 
Thomson, who was the attorney for the debtor, his 
brother and a corporation co-owned by the debtor 
and the brother, commenced an action in state court 
on behalf of the corporation that adversely affected 
title to the real property. Respondent then filed and 
recorded a notice oflis pendens against the property. 
The bankruptcy court found the debtor, his brother 
and respondent in contempt of the injunctions and 
imposed sanctions on respondent in the amount of 
$46,359.72. Respondent did not report the sanctions 
order. 

Respondent appeals a hearing judge's decision 
finding him culpable of disobeying a court order, 
failing to report judicial sanctions, engaging in the 
unauthorized practice of law and failing to comply 
with probation conditions. The hearingjudge recom­
mended a five-year stayed suspension, a five-year 
probation, and a four-year actual suspension with 
conditions, including compliance with Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct, 
standard 1.4(c)(ii).1 

Upon our independent review (Cal.. Rules of 
Court, rule 951.5; Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 
305(a); In re Morse (1995) 11 Cal.4th 184,207), we 
adopt the findings and conclusions of the hearing 
judge with minor modification. However, inasmuch 
as this is the fifth time that respondent has been 
disciplined, and his misconduct in the present matter 
repeats much of the misconduct that gave rise to his 
prior discipline, we do not believe th~t the hearing 
judge's recommended discipline of four years' actual 
suspension is sufficient to protect the public, the 
courts and the profession. Instead, we look to In the 

I. All further references to "standards'' are to the Rules of 
Procedure of the State Bar, title IV; Standards for Attorney 
Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. 
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Matter of Sha/ant (Review Dept. 2005) 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 829 and standard 1.7(b) for guidance, 
and in so doing, we feel compelled to recommend that 
respondent be disbarred. 

I. .FACTS 

A. Background 

Respondent was admitted to practice in January 
1971. He has a record of discipline in four previous 
matters. Pursuant to Supreme Court Order S03 9144, 
effective July 17, 1994, respondent was placed on 
probation for three years and received a one-year 
stayed suspension for misconduct in two client mat- • 
ters (Thomson I). In one client matter in 1992, the 
superior court sanctioned respondent $12,667.40 due 
to his actions in maintaining a quiet title action involv­
ing questionable ownership interests of his clients in 
certain real property. The superior court found 
respondent's actions were in bad faith, frivolous and 
intended to cause unnecessary delay. Respondent 
failed to pay the sanctions or report them to the State 
Bar. Respondent stipulated to violationsofBusiness 
and Professions Code sections 6103, 6068, subdivi­
sions(a), (b), and (o)(3),2andrule 3-200 of the Rules 
of Professional Conduct.3 

In the other client matter, respondent was twice 
sanctioned by a superior court for failing to appear at 
two hearings. He failed to timely pay the two sanc­
tions as ordered. Thereafter, on October 13, 1992, the 
court imposed a further sanction of $1,000 as the 
result of respondent's pattern of failing to timely pay 
the two previous monetary sanctions and three other 
sanctions in unrelated matters. Respondent then 
failed to pay the October 1992 sanction, or report it to 
the State Bar. Respondent's multiple failures to 
comply with the court orders were deemed an aggra­
vating factor in Thomson I. 

In Thomson II (Supreme Court Case No. 
SO39144), effective March 1997, respondent's pro­
bation was extended for two years due to his failure 

2. Unless otherwise noted, all further references to "section" 
refer to the Business and Professions Code. 

3. All further references to "rule" or ''rules" are to the Rules of 
Professional Conduct, unless expressly noted. 
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to comply with a probation condition requiring comple­
tiqn of three hours of continuing legal education in law 
office managementby 1995. 

In Thomson III (Supreme Court Case No. 
SO59080), also effective March 1997, respondent 
was placed on probation for two years and received 
a 30-day actual suspension for commingling funds on 
multiple occasions between October and December 
1993 in violation of rule4-l 00(A) and engaging in the 
unauthorized practice of law in December 1995 in 
violation of section 6125. Respondent's unauthorized 
practice occurred when he filed a complaint, initiating 
a lawsuit in the superior court on behalf of a client 
while he was suspended from practice for failing to 
pay his State Bar dues. Respondent was ordered to 
pay$12,667.40inrestitution. 

Finally, in June 2001, pursuanttoSupreme Court 
Order S095884 (Thomson IV), respondent was 
placed on probation for three years and received a 
two--year stayed suspension forviolationsof sections 
6068, subdivision (k) and 6103 as the result of his 
failure to pay the restitution ordered in Thomson III. 

On July 1, 2003, the State Bar filed a Notice of 
Disciplinary Charges (NDC) in the proceeding we 
now review, alleging that respondent failed to obey a 
court order, failed to report judicial sanctions, en­
gaged in the unauthorized practice oflaw, and failed 
to comply with probation conditions imposed under 
Supreme· Court orders S039144, S059080, and 
S095884. On September 10,2003, the State Bar filed 
a second NDC alleging respondent engaged in the 
unauthorized practice of law in a second matter and 
committed an additional ·violation of his probation 
conditions imposed under Supreme Court order 
S095884. The matters were consolidated and a two­
day trial was held in the hearing department on 
February 23 and 24, 2004. On August 2, 2004, the 
hearing judge filed his decision, finding respondent 
culpable on all charged counts. 

4. Respondent testified atthe hearing below that Carlos Lamanna 
was a shareholder of Anniello, but he was not sure cif the 
remaining ownership of Anniello. However, in various plead­
fogs that he filed in state court, including an ex partc application 
for a temporary restraining order in a quiettirle action on behalf 
of Annicllo, which we discuss post, he averred that Prank 
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Respondent is appealing the hearing judge•s 
decision, claiming that there is no evidentiai-y or legal 
basis for finding that he wilfully violated either the 
preliminary or permanent injunctions that provide the 
basis for the section 6103 charge or that he willfully 
engaged in the unauthorized practice oflaw. He also 
contends that the hearing department's recommended 
discipline is excessive. The State Bar did not request 
review, but upon its consideration of disciplinary 
cases that were decided post- trial in this matter, the 
Bar is now seeking disbarment 

B. Lamanna Matter 

1. Findings 

For many years, respondent represented Frank 
and Carlos Lamanna as well as Anniello, Inc. 
(Anniello), a privately-held corporation co-owned 
by Frank and Carlos Lamanna.4 Carlos was the 
presidentofAnniello.Respondentwasthe incorpora­
tor of Anniello in 1989 and its designated agent for 
service of process until 1998. 

In January 1987, Frank and Carlos Lamanna 
became indebted to Security Pacific N~tional Bank 
(Bank)5 on a $1,110,000 note, secured by a deed of 
trust on property located at 8600 South Sepulveda 
Boulevard (Sepulveda Property). In October 1993, 
the Lamannas defaulted on the loan and the Bank 
filed a Notice of Default. In March 1994, respondent 
filed a lawsuit ·against the Bank in Los Angeles 
County Superfoi Court on behalf of Frank Lamanna 
to prevent the non-judicial foreclosure of the 
Sepulveda Property. In June 1994, before the Bank 
could foreclose on the Sepulveda Property, Frank 
Lamanna filed for relief under Chapter 13 of the 
Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy 
Court for the Central District of California, case 
number 94-33978-GM. The matter was con­
verted to a Chapter 7 proceeding upon motion of 
the Bank. 

Lamanna was a co-owner of Annie\lo. Prank Lamanria's 
declaration in support of that pleading was consistent with the 
representations made by respondent in the pleadings. 

s. Bank of America, N. T. & S. A. is successor-in-interest to 
Security Pacific N atiomil Bank. 
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In August 1995, the Lamannas and their wives, 
who shared ownership interests with others in the 
Sepulveda Property, entered into a general release 
and settlement agreement (Settlement Agreement) 
with the Bank resolving various disputed claims 
relating to the Sepulveda Property and other assets. 
The Settlement Agreement was complex, 33 pages 
long, and included, inter alia, an agreement by the 
Banknot to foreclose on the Sepulveda Property until 
after October 11, 1995. In exchange, the Lamannas 
were • given an option to purchase the Sepulveda 
Property by a certain date, and if they did not do so, 
they agreed to vacate the Sepulveda Property within 
90_ days of a timely foreclosure by the Bank. The 
Lamannas also agreed to dismiss a number ofother 
lawsuits against the Bank. They further agreed that 

•• the Settlement Agreement would be binding on "their 
_ family members, agents, employees, representative 
officers, directors, subsidiaries, affiliates, assigns, 
heirs, successors in interest and shareholders." The 
bankruptcy judge approved the Settlement Agree­
ment in September 1995. One month later, the 
Lamannas failed to meet a condition of the Settlement 
Agreement and the Bank foreclosed on the Sepulveda 
Prnperty on October 26, 1995. 

Initially, Frank Lamanna was represented in the 
bankruptcy proceedings by other counsel, but in 
February 1996, respondent appeared as counsel of 
record when he filed a motion to vacate the Settle­
ment Agreement on behalf of Lamanna, which the· 
bankruptcy judge denied on March 28, 1996. Not­
withstanding their ob 1 igation to vacate the Sepulveda 
Property, the Lamannas remained in possession after 
the Bank foreclosed. On April 17, 1996, the Bank 
filed an unlawful detainer complaint in Los Angeles 
Municipal Court of the West Los Angeles Judicial 
District, and in April 1996, respondent filed an answer 
to the complaint on behalf of Frank Lamanna. As a 
result of these actions by the Lamannas, on August 
16, 1996, the judge in the bankruptcy proceeding 
issued a preliminary injunction which ordered as 
follows: 

"[Frank] Lamanna, his agents, officers, employ­
ees and representatives and all persons acting in 

6. According to respondent's testimony, Anniel\o operated a 
restaurant on the Sepulveda Property and according todecla-
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concert with him, are hereby enjoined from 
commencing or continuing any judicial, adminis­
trative or other action or proceeding, relating to 
the SettlementAgreementoranyd.ispute, loan or 
obligation encompassed thereby, including, but 
not limited to, the real propert[y] located at ... 
8600 South Sepulveda Boulevard, Los Angeles, 
California, in any court other than this Court .... " 

Respondent was served with the preliminary 
injunction and was present at the hearing when it was 
issued. 

In spite of the preliminary injunction, in October 
1996 respondent filed a quiet title action with respect 
to the Sepulveda Property, suing the Bank in Los 
Angeles County Superior Court on behalf of Anniello 
( the Anniello Lawsuit). As discussed ante at footnote 
2, Frank and Carlos Lamanna were co-owners of 
Anniello, which was a privately-held corporation, 
and respondent was the initial incorporator and agent 
for service of process.6 Carlos Lamanna signed the 
verified complaint, as president of Anniello, · com­
mencing the Anniello Lawsuit. 

In November 1996, the banlauptcy court judge 
issued a permanent injunction enjoining Frank and 
Carlos Lamanna and "their agents" from committing 
any further breaches of the Settlement Agreement 
and from "filing any legal action or proceeding in any 
court of the United States or of the State of California, 
relating to the Settlement Agreement or any dispute, 
loan or obligation encompassed thereby, without first 
obt.aining an Order of this Court granting the Larnannas 
leave to file such an action . . . . " Respondent 
appeared on behalf ofthe La mannas at the hearing on 
the permanent injunction and subsequentlywas served 
with the court's injunctive order. 

Also 1n November 1996, Frank and Carlos 
Lamanna were cited for criminal contempt for their 
failure to comply with a bankruptcy court order 
compelling them to stipulate to a judgment in the 
unlawful detainer action. In its order, the bankruptcy 
court stated: "The court has been involved with one 
or more of the (Lamanri.a.s] since 1991 and is aware 

rations of Carlos and Frank Lamanna, Anniello owned an 
interest in the Sepulveda Property since 1993. 
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of their history of doing any and everything possible 
to.,, stay in possession of the Sepulveda Property 
withoutmakinganypayments to [the Bank] including 
filing multiple lawsuits to prevent the Bank from 
taking possession of the Sepulveda Property:'' Re-
• spondent represented both Frank and Carlos in the 
criminal contempt proceedings. 

After the issuance of the permanent injunction 
and the Lamannas' criminal contempt citations, re­
spondent continued to represent the Lamannas in 
actively litigating matters relating to the Sepulveda 
Property. For ex.ample, onJanuary24, 1997 ,respon­
dent filed an Ex Parte Application for a Temporary 
Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction against 
the Bank, which was denied. In September 1997, 
respondent recorded a "Notice of Pending Action" 
(Lis Peridens) with the Los Angeles County 
Recorder's office with respect to the Sepulveda 
Property. On December 1.1, 1997, respondentffled an 
opposition to the Bank's demurrer in the Anniello 
Lawsuit. On December 22, 1997, respondent filed a 
motion for reconsideration of the order sustaining the 
demurrer and a request for leave to file a second 
complaint. On January 8, 1998, respondent filed an 
opposition to the Bank' s motion to expunge the Lis 
Pendens and declared under penalty of perjury that 
"[t]here are no injunctive orders by the Bankruptcy 
Court or any other court oflaw enjoining, restraining 
or prohibiting the prosecution of this action by plain­
tiff," 

On January 23, 1998, the bankruptcy court is­
sued an order to show cause directed to the Lamannas 
and respondent regarding contempt of the injunc­
tions. Five days after _the order to show cause was 
issued, the bankruptcy court filed its Memorandum on 
Order to Show Cause re Contempt, making numer­
ous findings of fact, including: 1) that respondent was 

7. Respondent represented the Lamannas in several matters 
where the courts have ruled the matters were brought in bad 
faith. The Los Angeles Superior Court on two occasions ruled 
.Frank and Carlos vexatious litigants under California Code of 

'Civil Procedure section 39! , subdivisions (b)(I) and (2). In 
I 99 l , the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern 
District of Ohio, Eastern Division, dismissed a bankruptcy 
petition involving Frank Lamanna because the court was 
persuaded the matter was brought in bad faith in order to stay 
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acting as the agent of Frank Lamanna when he filed 
the Anniello Lawsuit; 2) that respondent was acting 
in concert with Frank Lamanna and his brother 
Carlos when respondenifiled the Lis Pendens; and 3) 
that these actions violated the preliminary injunction 
because they related "to a dispute, loan or obligation 
encompassed in the settlement agreement concern­
ing the [Sepulveda Property]." Also, because leave 
ofcourt was not obtained, the judge further found that 
respondent's recording of the Lis Pendens violated 
the permanent injunction. Undeterred by the order to 
show cause, on February 20, 1998, respondent filed a 
second compJ.aint in the Anniello Lawsuit on behalf of 
Anniello after the Bank's demurrer to the first com­
plaint was sustained. 

In June 1998, the bankruptcy judge found re­
spondent in civil contempt because he, together with 
Carlos Lamanna, acted as an agent of Prank Lamanna 
"and acted in concert with him to commence and 
continue [the Anniello Lawsuit]." The court further 
found respondent in contempt because, as counsel' for 
Carlos Lamanna and Anniello, he acted as an agent 
of and in concert with Frank Lamanna in causing the 
tis pendens to be recorded against the Sepulveda 
Property after the preliminary and permap.ent injunc­
tions were issued. Respondent attended the hearing 
on the contempt order and was served with a copy of 
the order. Nevertheless, respondent continued to 
litigate the Anniello Lawsuit until August 1998. The 
banlauptcy court ordered respondent to pay the Bank 
$46,359.72 in attorneys' fees. He did not report the 
court-ordered sanctions to the State Bar, although he 
knew of his obligation to do so. 

Respondent appealed the order finding him in 
contempt, and in December 1999, the United States 
Bankruptcy Appellate Panel of the Ninth Circuit 
affinned the contempt order. Respondent thereafter 

various lawsuits pending in California. The Ohio Bankruptcy 
Court found that respondent and Lamanna "were evasive and 
less-than-candid in their testimony" and indeed may have 
committed or assisted in committing a criminal ftaud in causing 
the petition to be filed. ft accordingly referred the matter to the 
United States A ttomey as well as'to the State Bar ofCa!ifomia 
"for its evaluation and review of Mr. Thomson." The record 
does not reflect the outcome of these investigations. 
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appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for 
the Ninth Circuit, and in November 2001, that court 
affirmed the contempt order, finding respondent had 
full knowledge of the injunctions and, as counsel for 
the Lamannas in the bankruptcy court, he was bound 
by the injunctions pursuant to Rule 65 of the Federal 
Rules of Civil Procedure. The Ninth Circuit further 

• found that respondent "as counsel for the Debtors, 
was the Debtor's agent. As such, he was restrained 
from commencing or continuing any action affecting 
title to the [Sepulveda] Property." The court con­
cluded respondent violated the injunctions when he 
filed the Anniello Lawsuit. Respondent did not pursue 
a further appeal. 

2. Discussion 

[la] The hearing judge concluded that respon­
dent failed to report judicial sanctions in violation of 
section 6068, subdivision ( o )(3) and that he wilfully 
disobeyed a court order when he filed the Anniello 
Lawsuit and Lis Pendens in violation of section 6103. 
Because respondent was on disciplinary probation 
when he committed these violations, the hearing 
judge also found respondent culpable of two counts of 
failing to comply with probation conditions(§ 6068, 
subd. (k)). 

Respondent does not dispute the finding that he 
failed to report the sanctions imposed by the bank­
ruptcy court and concedes he "has no excuse" for this 
misconduct.Given respondent's extensive history as 
a recipient of court-ordered sanctions and his prior 
discipline for failure to report the sanctions, we are 
compelled to conclude he wilfully violated section 
6068, subdivision ( o )(3 ). 

Respondent vigorously disputes that he wilfully 
disobeyed the orders of the bankruptcy court in 

8. ft is not clear from the decision of the hcaringjudge whether 
he applied the doctrine of collateral estoppcl. However, the 
hearing judge correctly noted that this may well be an appro­
priate case in which to apply that doctrine since the standard 
of proof in civil contempt proceedings in the Ninth Circuit is 
clear and convincing evidence (FTCv. Affordable Media (9th 
Cir. 1999) 179 F.3d 1228, 1239), andtheissuehereofthewilful 
violation of the bankruptcy judge's order is identical to the 
issue in the contempt proceedings. Respondent was a party to 
those contempt proceedings and unsuccessfully appealed the 
contempt order to the Bankruptcy Appel !ate Panel (Appellate 
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violation of section 6103. He argues that the bank­
ruptcy judge was in error when she found him in 
contempt ofhertwo injunctive orders, and other than 
the bankruptcy judge's incorrect findings and cone! u­
sions, according to respondent, there is no legal or 
factual basis for the hearingjudge' s finding of culpa­
bility under section 6103. Respondent further asserts 
that the hearing judge below improperly applied the 
doctrine of collateral estoppel in order to arrive at his 
culpability determination. 8 Based on our independent 
review of the record, we reject respondent's argu­
ments and find on this record clear and convincing 
evidence that respondent wilfully violated the bank­
ruptcy court's injunctive orders when he filed the 
lawsuit and Lis Pendens on behalf of Anniello which 
affected the title to the Sepulveda Property. 

Although respondent was not a signatory to the 
August 1995 Settlement Agreement, and he did not 
represent the Lamannas during the negotiations of 
that agreement, he was well aware of the specifics of 
the Settlement Agreement as the attorney of record 
who filed the motion to set aside the agreement well 
before the issuance of the preliminary injunction. He 
also represented Frank and Carlos in the criminal 
contempt proceedings wherein the court sanctioned 
the Lamannas for their failure to adhere to the terms 
of the Settlement Agreement. 

As a consequence of the Lamannas' unabated 
litigation efforts involving the Sepulveda Property, the 
bankruptcy court issued the preliminary injunction. 
Section 105 of the Bankruptcy Code (11 U.S.C. § 
105) authorizes the bankruptcy courts to enjoin pro­
ceedings in other forums and to enjoin parties from 
commencing litigation that is inconsistent with a 
settlement agreement. Indeed, it has been held that 
the bankruptcy courts have the inherent power to 
summarily enforce settlement agreements (In the 

Panel) and to the Ninth Circuit. That decision is now final. 
Because we find independent evidence in the record that 
provides clear and convincing support for the hearing judge's 
culpability detenninations, we need not address the applica­
bility of the collateral estoppcl doctrine to this case. Moreover, 
as the hearing judge also noted correctly, at a minimum, the 
findings of the bankruptcy judge in support of her civil 
contempt order are entitled to a strong presumption of validity. 
(ln the Matterof Lais(Review Dept. 2000)4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 112, 117.) 
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Matter of Springpark Assocs. (9th Cir. 1980) 623 
F.7d 1377, 1380), including the power to impose 
sanctions (In re Rainbow Magazine (9th Cir. 1996) 
77 F.3d 278, 283~285). 

{lb) Respondent's argument that he was not 
named in the injunctive orders and was not subject to 
the bankruptcy court's jurisdiction misses the point. 
As explained by the United States Supreme Court, "a 
decree of injunction notonly binds the parties defen­
dant but also those identified with them in interest, in 
'privity' with them, represented by themorsubjectto 
their control." (Regal Knitwear Co. J'. Nat. Lab. 
Relations Bd. (1945) 324 U.S. 9, 14.) Moreover, 
injunctions in banlauptcy adversary proceedings are 
governed by rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure, which "is a codification of the common­
law rule al lowing a non-party to be held in contempt 
for violating the terms of an injunction when a non­
party is legally identified with the defendant .... " 
(Illinois v. U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Sen,. 
(7th Cir. 1985) 772 F.2d . 329, 332.) Rule 65(d) 
expressly provides that it is binding upon the attorneys 
of enjoined parties who have actual notice of the 
order.9 (See also Iri. re D.H. Overmyer Telecasting 
Co. (Banlcr. N .D. Ohio 1983) 30 B.R. 755 .) Thus, the 
issue here is not whether respondent was named in 
the injunctions, but whether he had notice of the 
court's injunctive orders. (California v. Campbell 
(9th Cir. 1998) 138 F.3d 772, 783.) Without question, 
respondent had actual knowledge of the restraints 
imposed by the bankruptcy court pursuant to the 
preliminary and permanent injunctions. 

[Jc} Respondent also argues, as he did unsuc­
cessfully in the bankruptcy court, the Appellate Panel, 
the Ninth Circuit and atthe hearing below, that hewas 
not in contempt of the injunctive orders because he 
filed the quiet title action on behalfof Anniello, which 
was not named in the injunction or subject to the 
bankruptcy court's jurisdiction. Each of these courts 

~- Rule 65( d) provides: "Every order granting an injunction .. . 
.;s binding only upon the parties to the action, their officers, 
agents, servants, employees, and attorneys . .. who receive 
actual notice of the order by personal service or otherwise." 
( Italics added.) 
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rejected this argument, and so do we. The bankruptcy 
judge did not findAnniello was subject to the injunc­
tions, but rather respondent was bound by them.10 

The bankruptcy judge also explicitly found respon­
dent was acting as an agent of and in concert with the 
Lamannas in bringing the Anniello Lawsuit. The 
record here amply supports this finding. We further 
find that there is clear and convincing evidence in this 
record to conclude that respondent is culpable of 
wilful disobedience of the bankruptcycomt's injunc­
tive orders in violation of section 6103. 

Although we also adopt the hearing judge's 
conclusion that as a result of the violations of the 
injunctive orders and failure to report sanctions, 
respondent is culpable of two probation violations 
under section 6068, subdivision (k), we deem these 
violations to be essentially duplicative of the culpabil­
ity determinations under section 6103 and 6068, 
subdivision ( o )(3 ). We therefore ascribe no additional 
weight to these violations for purposes of our disci­
pline analysis. (See In the Matter of Hunter (Review 
Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 63, 76-77 
[ where the same misconduct forms the basis for a 
violation of probation as well as original discipline, it 
is inappropriate to discipline a respondent for both].) 

C. Zafran and PESH'A Matters 

I. Findings 

On June 24, 2002, the State Bar Membership 
Billing Services notified respondent that he had not 
fully paid his membership fees, penalties, or costs and 
that failure to correct the delinquency by August 24, 
2002, would result in the Board of Governors recom­
mending his suspension. Respondent failed to timely 
pay the outstanding funds, and accordingly, on Au­
gust 30, 2002, the Supreme Court filed an order 
suspending him from the practice of law effective 
September 16, 2002. 

IO. Parenthetically, Annicllo was a closely held corporation that 
·. could only act thiough its officers, directors, !~gal representa­
tives and agents. thus, Anniello was only able to commence 
and maintain the litigation affecting the Sepulveda Property 
through the overt, intentional acts of the Lamannas and 
respondent. 



r 

( 

L 

IN THE MATTER OF THOMSON 

(Review Dept. 2006) 4 Cal State Bar Ct. Rptr. 966 

On September 13, 2002, respondent filed a mo­
tion with the State Bar Court.to stay his suspension, 
but the court did not rule on the motion until October 
7, 2002, when it denied the motion. Thus, respondent's 
suspension commenced on September 16, 2002.11 

On September 24, 2002, while he was on suspen­
sion, respondent wrote a letter on his office letterhead 
to an insurance adjuster at Lancer Insurance Com­
pany in an effort to negotiate a settlement for a client. 
Respondent asserted in the letter that he was an 
attorney representing Claudine Zafran, that the 
insurer's $250 settlement offer was inadequate, and 
that he should be contacted to negotiate proper 
payment. Respondent wrote the adjuster again on 
October 10, 2002, asserting that failure to pay his 
client's claim would constitute bad faith and that his 
client would pursue her claim in court if necessary. 

On September 17 and 23, 2002, respondent 
wrote letters on his office letterhead to the president 
of Greenspan Company Adjusters asserting, inter 
aha, that he was an attorney representing PESH' A 
Corporation in its $30,000 claim against Greenspan 
and that a federal lawsuit would be filed if the matter 
was not resolved. 

In both the Zafran and PESH' A matters, the 
hearingj udge concluded that respondent engaged in 
the unauthorized practice of law in violation of sec­
tions 6125 and 6126 and thereby failed to support the 
Constitution or laws of the United States or California 
(§ 6068, subd. (a)). Because respondent was on 
disciplinary probation when he committed these vio­
lations, the hearing judge also found respondent 
culpable of two counts of failing to comply with 
probation conditions.(§ 6068, subd. (k).)12 

2. Discussion 

[2) Without question, the communications by 
respondent on his letterhead stationery, while he was 
suspended from practice, attempting to settle two 
matters constituted the unauthorized practice oflaw. 
As the Supreme Court explained in Morgan v. State 
Bar (I 990) 51 Cal.3d 598, 604: "[W]e conclude that 

1 I. Respondent's suspension continued until October 17, 2002, 
when he paid his outstanding fees. 
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engaging in negotiations with opposing counsel con­
cerning settlement ... constitutes the practice of 
law." Moreover, the unauthorized practice of law 
encompasses the holding out by the attorney that he 
or she is entitled to practice. (Bluestein v. State Bar 
(1974) 13 Cal.3d 162, 175, fn. 13 [use of term ''Of 
Counsel" on letterhead to describe an unlicenced 
person constitutes unauthorized practice]; In re Naney 
(1990) 51 Cal.3d 186 [suspended attorney implied to 
a prospective employer that he was entitled to prac­
tice taxation law by using his bar admission date on a 
resume].) Respondent, however, contends that the 
facts do not support a finding of wilfulness on his part 
because he believed his motion requesting a stay 
"protected him from the claim of unauthorized prac­
tice oflaw with respect to the four letters." Wilfulness 
for purposes of disciplinary "proceedings is simply a 
general purpose or willingness to commit an act or to 
make an omission .... [Citations.]" (In the Matter of 
Taggart (Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 302, 309; Zitny v. State Bar (1966) 64 Cal.2d 
787, 792.) This element is established here because 
there is clear and convincing evidence that respon­
dent acted purposely when he created the impression 
he was entitled to represent Zafran and PESH' A as 
their attorney. Moreover, respondent testified that he 
understood merely requesting a stay did not actually 
constitute a stay, and he admitted that he did not 
believe the stay was even in effect when he wrote the 
letters on behalf of Zafran and PESH' A. 

We accordingly adopt each ofthe hearingjudge' s 
conclusions regarding culpability in these matters but, 
as in the Lamanna matter, deem the section 6068, 
subdivision (k) violations to be duplicative of the 
section 6068, subdivision ( a) violations and therefore 
assign no weight to them for disciplinary purposes. 

II. EVIDENCE RE MITIGATION 
AND AGGRAVATION 

A. Mitigation 

(3a) The hearing judge found no mitigating fac­
tors, and properly rejected respondent's claim that he 

12. Between June 200 I and June 2004, respondent was on 
disciplinary probation. 
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acted in good faith. "In order to establish good faith as 
a .mitigating circumstance, an attorney must prove 
that his or her beliefs were both honestly held and 
reasonable. [Citation.]" (In the Matter of Rose 
(Review Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 646, 
653, italics added.) To conclude otherwise would 
reward an attorney for his unreasonable beliefs and 
"for his ignorance of_his ethical responsibilities." (In 
the Matter of McKiernan (Review Dept 1995) 3 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 420, 427.) 

[3b] Even if, arguendo, respondent honestly 
believed he was not subject to the preliminary and 
permanent injunctions, it was not reasonable for him 
to do so, particularly since rule 65(d) of the Federal 
Rules of Civil Procedure makes injunctions binding on 
the parties to the action and their attorneys. In view 
of respondent's representation of both Frank and 
Carlos Lamanna in the banlo:uptcy proceedings, his 
attempt to thread the ethical needle by filing a lawsuit 
and recording a lis pendens in the name of Atmiello is 
unavailing to this .court. 

B. Aggravation 

We agree with the hearing judge's finding in 
aggravation that respondent's misconduct involved 
multiple acts of wrongdoing. (Std. l.2(b)(ii).) Be­
cause respondent filed quarterly probation reports 
indicating he was in compliance with the State Bar 
Act and Rules of Professional Conduct and failing to 
disclose the 1998 order finding him in contempt and 
sanctioning him in the amount of $46,359.72, the 
hearing judge found that respondent's misconduct 
was surrounded or followed by bad faith, dishonesty, 
and concealment. (Std. 1.2(b)(iii).) We agree. The 
hearing judge also found in aggravation that respon­
denthasnotacceptedresponsibilityforhismisconduct, 
and "repeatedly made spurious arguments and ratio­
nalizations which showed a lack of appreciation for 
his misconduct." Respondent has continued to assert 
to this court the same baseless arguments rejected by 
three federal courts and the hearing judge. His 
truculence is reminiscent of that in In re Morse, 
supra, 11 Cal.4th at pag<, 209. 

I • . . . 

Moreover, he continues to demonstrate an utter 
lack of understanding of the consequences of his 
misconduct, maintaining that his unlawful practice of 
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law was minor and "hardly a reason for any disci­
pline." "[B]y implying ... that his ~i_sconduct 
constituted a mere technical lapse, [ respondent] evinces 
a lack of understanding of the gravity of his earlier 
misdeeds and the import of the State Bar's regulatory 
functions." (Conroy v. State Bar (1990) 51 Cal.3d 
799, 806.).We therefore adopt the hearing judge's 
finding of demonstrated indifference. (Std. l .2(b )( v).) 

We also adopt the hearing judge's finding that 
respondent's fourprior instances of discip 1 ine consti­
tute a significant aggravating factor. (Std. l .2(b )(i).) 
Respondent has been committing misconduct since 
1989 and has continuously been on probation and/or 
before this court since 1993. Respondent received a 
one-year stayed suspension in 1994 for miscon­
duct occurring between 1989 and 1992 involving 
two clients. Previously, respondent was sanc­
tioned $12,667.40 under circumstances remarkably 
similar to those in the instant case due to his bad 
faith actions in maintaining a frivolous quiet title 
action that was intended to cause unnecessary 
delay. In the past, respondent also has failed on 
numerous occasions to comply with court orders 
and failed to report court-ordered sanctions in 
violation of sections 6103 and 6068 ~ubdivisions 
(a), (b), and (o)(3). In March 1997, respondent's 
probation was extended for two years due to his 
failure tocomplywith a probation condition requiring 
completion by 1995 of continuing legal education. 
Also, in March 1997, respondent received a 30-<lay 
actual suspension for commingling funds and engag­
ing· in the unauthorized practice of law under 
circumstances very much the same as his unautho­
rized practice ofla w in the instant matter. Finally, in 
June 2001, respondent received a tw~year stayed 
suspension for failing to make court-ordered restitu­
tion imposed in a prior disciplinary proceeding. In fact, 
he was on probation when he committed the miscon­
duct that is before us now. 

ill. DEGREE OF DISCIPLINE 

Respondent asserts that the four- year actual 
suspension the hearingjudge recommended is exces­
sive and should be reduced to, at most, two months. 
The State Bar requested a two-year actual suspen­
sion at trial and did not request review in this matter. 
However, because of recent opinions issued after 
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respondent filed his opening brief, the State Bar has 
reconsidered its position and riowseeksrespondent' s 
disbarment. Although we discourage the practice of 
requesting, in a responsive brief, review of issues not 
raised by the appellant, our duty to conduct de novo 
review authorizes us to increase the discipline if we 
deem it appropriate regardless of whether the State 
Bar appealed. (In re Morse, supra, 11 Cal.4th 184, 
207; In the Matter of Brimberry (Review Dept. 
1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 390, 403.) 

The primary purposes of disciplinary proceed­
ings are the protection of the public, the courts and the 
legal profession, the maintenance ofhigh professional 
standards by attorneys, and the preservation of public 
confidence in the legal profession. (Std. 1.3.) In 
determining the recommended degree of discipline, 
we consider the standards, which serve as guidelines 
entitled to great weight, as well as prior decisions 
imposing discipline based on similar facts. (In the 
Matter of Taylor (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 563, 580.) When there are two or more 
acts of misconduct, the disciplinary sanction shall be 
the most severe sanction applicable. (Std. l.6(a).) 
Standard 2.6 applies to all of respondent's miscon­
duct and provides for sanctions ranging from 
suspension to disbarment depending on the gravity of 
the offense or the harm, if any, to the victim, with due 
regard to the purposes of imposing discipline. 

(4] Central to our disciplinary analysis is stan­
dard 1. 7 (b ), which, because ofrespondent' s extensive 
record of prior discipline, must be considered in 
conj unction with standard 2 .6. If an attorney has two 
or more prior offenses, standard l.7(b) provides for 
"disbarment unless the most compelling mitigating 
circumstances clearly predominate." However, rather 
than apply standard l .7(b) rigidly, we "consider the 
facts underlying the various [prior disciplinary] pro­
ceedings in arriving at the appropriate discipline." 
(Conroy v. State Bar (1991) 53 Cal.3d 495, 507.) 
When there is a repetition of offenses for which an 
attorney has previously been disciplined that "demon­
strates a pattern of professional misconduct," the 
Supreme Court and this court have found disbannent 
is appropriate under standard 1.7(b). (Morgan v. 
State Bar, supra, 5 l Cal.3d 598, 607; In the Matter 
of Shalant, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 829.) 
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When viewed in its totality, respondent's current 
offenses plainly e_cho his prior record of discipline and 
provide "a disturbing repetitive theme." (In the Mat­
ter of Sha/ant, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. at 
p. 841). The actions for which respondent was 
disciplined in 1994, 1997, and 200 l all involved a 
continued disregard of court orders. Rather than 
comply with several court orders requiring him to pay 
sanctions and with multiple Supreme Court orders 
suspending his right to practice law andrequiring him 
to comply with conditions of probation, respondent, 
irtstead, has simply ignored them. Respondent per­
sisted in such misconduct when he defied two 
bankruptcy court injunctions. We also note that 
respondent's failure to report court-ordered sanc­
tions and unauthorized practice of law are repeat 
offenses for which he was previously disciplined in 
1994and 1997. 

The State Bar relies on several cases in support 
of its argument that respondent should be disbarred. 
Most recent is the case of In the Matter ofShalant, 
supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 829, where we 
applied standard 1.7(b) and recommended disbar­
ment of an attorney who had been disciplined four 
times previously. We found Shalant culpable of com­
mitting an act involving moral turpitude and collecting 
an illegal fee which was aggravated by client harm 
and Shalant 's indifferencetowardrectification. Shalant 
was previously disciplined for trust account viola­
tions, failure to perform competently and to 
communicatewithclients, improper communication 
with represented parties, and violation of a court 
order. The centerpiece of our analysis in Sha/ant 
was the attorney's prior record of discipline, contrary 
to respondent's claim that "The 'common thread' 
argument [was] hardly the reason for the discipline 
ultimately handed out in Shalant." (Id. at p. 841.) 
Because Shalant's repeated misconduc~ was tem­
pered by only minimal mitigation in the form of 
community service, we applied standard l .7(b) and 
recommended disbarment. (Id. at pp. 841-842.) The 
Supreme Court adopted our recommendation and, 
effective January 13, 2006, Shalan twas disbarred by 
order of the Supreme Court. • 

In In the Matter of Hunter, supra, 3 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 63, we recommended disbarment ofan 
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attorney who had been disciplined once before for 
tru,staccount violations and the unauthorized practice 
of law. Thereafter, the attorney failed to perform 
competenily or to communicate with four clients and 
violated conditions of his disciplinary probation by 
failing to file his first quarterly report, failing to 
communicate with ltis probation monitor, and failing 
to notify the probation department of his change of 
address. We found no mitigating circumstances to 
counter the attorney's multiple acts of misconduct, 
failure to cooperate with the State Bar, significant 
harm to a client and significant harm to the adminis­
b-ation of justice. In applying standard l.7(b), we 
observed that the attorney committed misconduct in 
1985, 1987, 1988, 1991,and 1992andthatthematter.s 
under review represented the attorney's second and 
third disciplinary matters. Because the attorney's 
misconduct reflected his disdain for the rule oflaw 
and his inability to conform hi~ conduct to the most 
basic duties of an attorney, we concluded that disbar­
ment was appropriate. Because the risk of futuri:: 
misconduct was so great, the attorney was not a good 
candidate for probation and/or suspension. (Id. at p. 
79.) 

Although not discussed by either party, we fLnd 
instructive the cases of Morgan v. State Bar, supra, 
51 Cal.3d 598, and Barnum v. State Bar (1990) 52 
Cal.3d 104 (Barnum). The attorney in Morgan had 
four prior disciplinary proceedings for misconduct 
involving misappropriations, the unauthorized prac­
tice oflaw, settling cases without authorization, failing 
to perfonn competently, and failing to communicate 
with a client. The attorney was before the court for 
again engaging in the unauthorized practice of law 
and obtaining a pecuniary interest adverse to a client. 
Observing that "this is the second time that [the 
attorney] has been found culpable of practicing law 
while under suspension," the Supreme Court con­
cluded that "[the attorney's] behavior demonstrates 
a pattern of professional misconduct and an indiffer­
ence tothis court'sdisciplinaryorders." (Id. atp. 607, 
original italics.) Since the attorney's character evi­
dence and community service did not constitute 
compelling mitigating circumstances, the court ap­
pl'ied standard l .7(b) and disbarred the attorney. (Id. 
at pp. 607- 608.) 

In the Barnum case, the Supreme Court dis­
barred an attorney, finding that the risk of recurrence 
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of professional misconduct was high and the attorney 
was not a good candidate for s1,1spension and/or 
probation after he collected an unconscionable fee, 
disobeyed court orders compelling him to return the 
fee, and failed to cooperate with the State Bar's 
investigation. The attorneypreviously had been disci­
plined for failing to perform competently and failing to 
return unearned fees. He was then suspended for 
failing to timely pass the Professional Responsibility 
Examination. Thereafter, his probation was revoked 
and he was actually suspended for one year after 
failing to file probation reports. No mitigating circum­
stances were found and the court was greatly 
concerned with the attorney's wilful violation ofcourt 
orders stating that "( o ]ther than outright deceit, it is 
difficult 'to imagine conduct in the course of legal 
representation more unbefitting an attorney." (Id. at 
p. 112.) The Supreme Court observed that the attor• 
ney appeared unwilling or unable to learn from past 
professional mistakes because he repeated the same 
misconduct that gave rise to the prior disciplinary 
proceeding and because no compelling mitigating 
circumstances existed to preclude application of 
standard l.7(b). (Id. at pp-. 111, 113.) Following the 
holding in Barnum, we consider the risk of recur• 
rence of professional misconduct is high and therefore 
conclude that-respondent is not a good candidate for 
probation or suspension. 

We find the decision in Arm v. State Bar ( 1990) 
50 Cal.3d 763, distinguishable. In Arm, the Supreme 
Court declined to apply standard l.7(b)anddisbar an 
attorney who had been disciplined three times previ­
ously because "compelling mitigating circumstances 
clearly predominate[ d]." (Id. at p. 779 .) The attorney 
had commingled funds and committed an act of moral 
turpitude when he misled a court about an impending 
suspension from practice. The court found these acts 
of misconduct "quite different from the [prior miscon­
duct]." (Id. atp. 780.)Theattorneyhadbeenpreviously 
disciplined for giving false information to a police 
officer, accepting employment adverse to a former 
client without consent, filing a false dee Iara ti on, and 
improperly entering into a business transaction with a 
client. The Supreme Court thus rejected the State 
Bar's position that a "c·ommon thread" existed be­
tween the misconduct in the matter before the court 
and the· prior three disciplinary pr~ceedings. We 
accordingly consider Arm inapplicable to this pro­
ceeding since no mitigating circumstances exist in 
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respondent's case and because respondent's present 
misconduct is a repetition of prior ethical transgres­
sions for which he has been previously disciplined. 

IV. RECOMMENDATION 

[51 This matter represents respondent's fifth 
disciplinaryproceeding. He has been continuously on 
probation since 1994, yet he has repeatedly violated 
court orders, failed to report court sanctions, and 
engaged in the unauthorized practice oflaw. Aggra­
vating circumstances abound, untempered by any 
mitigating circumstances. Respondent has demon­
strated no meaningful appr.eciation of his ethical 
responsibilities and has established himselfas unsuit­
able to practice law and not amenable to efforts at 
reform. We therefore recommend that respondent 
Thomas Neil Thomson be disbarred and his name 
stricken from the roll of attorneys. 

We further recommend that respon<lent be or­
dered to comply with the provisions of California 
Rules of Court, rule 955 and to perform the acts 
specified in paragraphs (a) and ( c) of that rule within 
3 0 and 40 days, respectively, after the effective date 
of the Supreme Court's order in this matter. 

We further recommend that costs be awarded 
to the State Bar in accordance with Business and 
Prnfessions Code section 6086.10 and are en­
forceable both as provided in Business and 
Professions Code section 6140.7 and as a money 
judgment. 

ORDER OF INACTIVE ENROLLMENT 

Pursuant to the provisions of Business and Pro­
fessions Code section 6007, subdivision (c)(4) and 
Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, rule 220( c ), 
respondent is ordered emolled inactive upon personal 
service of this opinion or three days after service by 
mail, whichever is earlier. 

We concur: 
STOVITZ, P. J. 
WATAI., J. 
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No. 99-0-12923 

Filed August 24, 2006 

8uMMARY 

While representing a client in three separate matters involving a. personal injury lawsuit, a workers' 
compensation claim, and a fee dispute with the client's previous attorney, respondent required the client to 
execute a lien on her home as security for respondent's appearance fee and required the client to pay more 
than half of the settlement in the personal injury case in attorneys fees . The hearing judge found respondent 
culpable of charging and i:;ollectingan unconscionable fee, entering into an improper business transaction, failing 
to provide written disclosure of a financial interest in the subject matter of the representation, and intentionally 
or recklessly failing to represent the client competently. The hearing judge found in aggravation multiple acts 
of wrongdoing, significant client hann, indifference toward rectification, and overreaching and no circum­
stances in mitigation. The bearingj udge recommended respondent be suspended for one year stayed and that 
he be placed on probation for three years on condition of actual suspension for six months. (Hon. Patrice 
McElroy, Hearing Judge.) 

The review department found that respondent entered into an improper business transaction and charged 
or collected an ·unconscionable fee in only two of the five instances identified in the notice of disciplinary 
charges. The review department dismissed as duplicative the charge that respondent failed to competently 
perform and determined there was insufficient evidence to find that respondent failed to disclose a financial 
interest or that his misconduct rose to the level of acts involving dishonesty, corruption, or moral lurpitude. The 
review department disagreed with the hearing judge's findings of overreaching and indifference toward 
rectification and found additional factors in mitigation. The review department recommended that respondent 
be suspended for one year, stayed, and that he be placed on probation for two years on the condition that he 
be actually suspended for 30 days. 

The Supreme Court granted the State Bar's petition for writ of review and remanded the matter to the 
review department with specific directions to vacate the recommendation as to discipline. After considering 
the briefs on remand, the review department re-adopted those portions ofits prior opinion discussing underlying 
facts, culpability, aggravation, and mitigation, and recommended that respondent be suspended for one year, 
stayed, and that he be placed on probation for two years on the condition that he be actually suspended for 90 
days . 

Editor's note: The summai:y, headnotes and additional analysis section are not part of the opinion of the Review Department, but 
have been prepared by the Office of the State Bar Court for the convcnienceofthc reader. Only the actual textofthe Review Department's 
opinion may be cited or relied upon as precedent. 
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VickiL. Fullington 

HEAONOTlsS 

[1 a-d] 290.00 Rule 4-200 [former 2-107] 
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Respondent violated the unconscionable fee prohibitions in Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 4-
200 in connection with his client's personal injury case when he failed to disclose to the client that 
he intended his 35 percent contingency fee to be in addition to the fee earned by the client's 
previously discharged attorney. Respondent failed to disclose the true facts so that the fee charged 
under the circumstances constituted a practical appropriation of the client's funds under the guise 
of retaining them as fees. Respondent's written contingent fee agreement with his client was 
materially ambiguous resulting in his client's understanding that she would pay a total of3 5 percent 
of any settlement or judgment to both respondent and her previously discharged attorney. Since 
neither respondent nor the client knew that each of them had a different interpretation of the contract 
language, there was no meeting of the minds and thus no agreement as to fees. In the absence of 
a valid fee agreement, respondent's compensation is based on a theory of quantum meruit rather 
than the full contract price and the agreed upon contingent fee acts as an upper limit on the amount 
to be divided on a quantum meruit theoty between the discharged and retained attorneys hired on 
a contingency basis in the same case. 

[2 a-c] 290.00 Rule 4-200 [former 2-107] 
Where respondent charged a fee in a personal injury matter that was more than twice as much as 
his client agreed to and also double what he was entitled to under a quantum meruit theory, the 
charged fee was unconscionable. The fact that respondent's fee agreement in a personal injury 
matter contained two provisions that were void for public policy evidences respondent's overreach­
ing which in turn supports a finding that he charged and collected an unconscionable fee. 

[3} 290.00 Rule 4-200 [former 2-107] 
Where respondent collected a fee in a workers' compensation case in which the contingency for 
the fee did not occur and where the fee agreement contained provisions void for public policy 
evidencing respondent's overreaching, respondent collected an unauthorized fee in violation of the 
unconscionability provisions ofRules of Professional Conduct, rule 4-200. 

[4 a, b] 290.00 Rule 4-200 [former 2-107] 
Where respondent was not obliged to arbitrate a fee dispute between his client and the client's prior 
attorney, there is no basis to conclude that the fees respondent charged in preparing the client for 
the fee arbitration involving the client's prior attorney were unconscionable. 

[5 a, b] 273.30 Rule 3-310 [former 4-101 & 5-102) 
Where respondent believed that his contingency fee would be independent of the amount of fees 
his client was obligated to pay a prior attorney after fee arbitration, there is not clear and convincing 
evidence that respondent knew he had a financial interest in the outcome of the client's fee 
arbitration with the P!ior attorney and respondent was therefore not culpable of failing to disclose 
that interest to his client in writing before accepting or continuing his representation of the client. 
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1015.03 Discipline Imposed in Disciplinary Matters Generally-90 days 
Where respondent charged and collected unconscionable fees and improperly entered into a 
business transaction with a client, where there was aggravation including significant client harm and 
multiple acts of misconduct, and mitigation for community service and entering into a pretrial 
stipulation, appropriate discipline recommendation was one year stayed suspension and two years' 
probation on conditions which included 90 days' actual suspension. 

ADDITIONAL ANAl,YSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

221.50 
241.01 
242.01 
273.01 
290.01 

Not Found 

Section 6106 
Section6147 
Section6148 
Rule3- 300 
Rule4-200 

270.35. Rule 3- 1 l0(A) 
273 .3 5 Rule 3- 310 
290.05 Rule 4-200 

Aggravation 
Found 

582.10 Hann to Client 
Found but Discounted 

523 Multiple Acts of Misconduct 
Declined to Find 

555 Overreaching 
595.90 Indifference 

Mitigation 
Found 

735. lO Candor and cooperation 
Found but Discounted 

765.31 Substantial pro bono work 

Declined to Find 
710.53 Prior to commission of misconduct 
725.51 Lack of expert testimony 

Discipline 

Other 

1013.06 Stayed suspension- One Year 
1017.08 Probation- Two Years 

Probation Conditions 
1021 Restitution 

106.30 Duplicative Charges 
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IIEADNOTES 

[1 a-d] 290.00 Rule 4-200 [former 2-107] 
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Respondent violated the unconscionable fee prohibitions in Rules of Professional Conduct, rule 4-
200 in connection with his client's personal injury case when he failed to disclose to the client that 
he intended his 35 percent contingency fee to be in addition to the fee earned by the client's 
previously discharged attorney. Respondent failed to disclose the true facts so that the fee charged 
under the circumstances constituted a practical appropriation of the client's funds under the guise 
of retaining them as fees. Respondent's written contingent fee agreement with his client was 
materially ambiguous resulting in his client's understanding that she would pay a total of3 5 percent 
of any settlement or judgment to both respondent and her previously discharged attorney. Since 
neitherrespondent nor the client knew that each of them had a different interpretation of the contract 
language, there was no meeting of the minds and thus no agreement as to fees. In the absence of 
a valid fee agreement, respondent's compensation is based on a theory of quantum meruit rather 
than the full contract price and the agreed upon contingent fee acts as an upper 1 imit on the amount 
to be divided on a quantum meruit theory between the discharged and retained attorneys hired on 
a contingency basis in the same case. 

[2 a-c] 290.00 Rule 4-200 [former 2-107] 
Where respondent charged a fee in a personal injury matter that was more than twice as much as 
his client agreed to and also double what he was entitled to under a quantum meruit theory, the 
charged fee was unconscionable. The fact that respondent's fee agreement in a personal injury 
matter contained two provisions that were void for pub 1 ic policy evidences respondent's overreach­
ing which in turn supports a finding that he charged and collected an unconscionable fee. 

[3] 290.00 Rule 4-200 [former 2-107] 
Where respondent collected a fee in a workers' compensation case in which the contingency for 
the fee did not occur and where the fee agreement contained provisions void for public policy 
evidencing respondent's overreaching, respondent collected an unauthorized fee in violation of the 
unconscionabilityprovisions ofRules of Professional Conduct, rule 4-200. 

[4 a, b] 290.00 Rule 4-200 (former 2-1071 
Where respondent was not obliged to arbitrate a fee dispute between his client and the client's prior 
attorney, there is no basis to conclude that the fees respondent charged in preparing the client for 
the fee arbitration involving the client's prior attorney were unconscionable. 

[5 a, bJ 273.30 Rule 3-310 [former 4-101 & 5--102] 
Where respondent believed that his contingency fee would be independent of the amount of fees 
his client was obligated to pay a prior attorney after fee arbitration, there is notclear and convincing 
evidence that respondent knew he had a financial interest in the outcome of the client's fee 
arbitration with the p~ior attorney and respondent was therefore not culpable of failing to disclose 
that interest to his client in writing before accepting or continuing his representation of the client. 
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(61 1015.03 Discipline Imposed in Disciplinary Matters Generally-90 days 
Where respondent charged and collected unconscionable fees and improperly entered into a 
business transaction with a client, where there was aggravation including significant client harm and 
multiple acts of misconduct, and mitigation for community service and entering into a pretrial 
stipulation, appropriate discipline recommendation was one year stayed suspension and two years' 
probation on conditions which included 90 days' actual suspension. 

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Culpability 
Found 

221.50 Section6106 
241.01 Section6147 
242.01 Section 6148 
273.01 Rule3- 300 
290.01 Rule 4-200 

Not Found 
270.35 Rule 3- 1 lO(A) 
273 .35 Rule 3- 310 
290.05 Rule 4-200 

Aggravation 
Found 

582.10 Harm to Client 
Found but Discounted 

523 Multiple Acts of Misconduct 
Declined to Find 

555 Overreaching 
595.90 Indifference 

Mitigation 
Found 

735.10 Candor and cooperation 
Found but Discounted 

765 .31 Substantial pro bono work 

Declined to Find 
710.53 Prior to commission of misconduct 
725.5 J Lack of expert testimony 

Discipline 

Other 

1013.06 Stayed suspension-One Year 
1017.08 Probation-'fwo Years 

Probation Conditions 
1021 Restitution 

l06 . .30 Duplicative Charges 



( 

L 

IN THE MATTER OF VAN SICKLE 

(Review Dept. 2006) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 980 

OPINION 

EPSTEIN, J. 

In this original disciplinary proceeding, respon­
dent David M. Van Sickle requested review of a 
hearing judge's decision placing him on actual sus­
pension for six months. In a single client matter, the 
hearingj udge found respondent culpable of charging 
and collecting an unconscionable fee, entering into an 
improper business transaction, failing to provide writ­
ten disclosure of a financial interest in the subject 
matter of the representation, and intentionally or 
recklessly failing to represent the client competently. 

On February 8, 2005, we filed our opinion in this 
case, modifyingthehearingjudge 's culpability, miti­
gation and aggravation determinations and 
recommending that respondent be placed on one 
year's suspension, stayed, and two years' probation 
on various conditions, including 30 days' actual sus­
pensionandrestitution in the amount of$8, 124.99 plus 
interest. 

The State Bar sought review in the Supreme 
Court, and by order dated November 30, 2005, the 
court remanded the matter to us with directions to 
vacate our recommendation as to discipline. The 
Supreme Court specifically directed this court to 
consider the appropriate discipline in light of stan­
dards 1 1.6 and 2.7 and In re Silverton (2005) 36 
Cal.4th 81, 89-92, stating: "In reconsidering the 
degree of discipline, the State Bar Court Review 
Department shall consider the application of the 
Standards to setting an appropriate degree of disci­
P line in this proceeding, inc tu.ding any ground that may 
form a basis for an exception to their application." 

J. Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title IV, Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. All further 
references to standards are to this source. 

2. Because of the Supreme Court's remand order, and pending 
our further order, we depublished our earlier opinion in In the 
Matter of Van Sickle (4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 756.) For ease 
of reference, we refer to that opinion as our "2005 opinion." 
We have construed the Supreme Court's order to mean that we 
are to vacate our 2005 opinion as to our discussion and 
recommendation of the degree of discipline. (2005 typed 
opinion, Sections lll(C) and IV, pp. 27-34.) We here re-adopt 
Sections I through ll l(A-B) of our 2005 opinion, and, accord-
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After considering the briefs on remand and 
taking into account all relevant factors, including the·· 
applicable standards and case law, we have reconsid­
ered our earlier discipline recommendation and now 
recommend, for the reasons stated herein, that re­
spondent be suspended from the practice of law for 
a period of one year, stayed, and that he be placed on 
probation for a period of two years on the condition 
that he be actually suspended from the practice oflaw 
for three months. We further recommend that re­
spondent be ordered to comply with the provisions of 
rule 955 of the California Rules of Court, as more 
specifically set forth post. 2 

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Procedural Facts 

Respondent was admitted to practice law on 
December 13, 1993. He has no prior record of 
discipline. 

In a five-count notice of disciplinary charges 
(NDC) filed on January 2, 2002, involving one client 
matter, respondent was charged with violating Rules 
of Professional Conduct, rule ~2003 ( charging and 
collecting an unconscionable fee), rule 3-300 (ac­
quiring an interest adverse to a client), rule 
3-31 0(B)( 4) (accepting or continuing representation 
of a client without providing written disclosure to the 
client that the attorney has a financial interest in the 
subject of the representation), rule 3-11 O(A) (inten­
tionally, recklessly, or repeatedly failing to perform 
legal services competently), and Business and Pro­
fessions Code section 61064 ( committing acts involving 
moral turpitude by engaging in gross overreaching 
and coercion in representing a client). 

ingly, we republish pp. 2-26 of our 2005 opinion as to the 
factual and procedural history, our culpability discussion, and 
discussion of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. In 
order to restore the portions ofour 2005 opinion which were-­
adopt, we set them forth anew below, uti\izingthesame heading 
designations as in our 2005 opinion. 

3. All further references to rules are to the Ru Jes of Professional 
Conduct unless otherwise indicated. 

4. All. further statutory references are to the Business and 
Professions Code unless otherwise indicated. 
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Prior to the trial, respondent stipulated to many 
fapts and to his culpability for violating rule 3-300. 
After a two-oaytrial, the hearingjudge found culpa­
bility on all counts, with the exception of moral 
turpitude as alleged in count five of the NDC. The 
hearingjudgerecommendedrespondent be suspended 
for a period of one year, stayed and that he be placed 
on probation for a period of three years on the 
condition of six months' actual suspension. The court 
further recommended restitution of the excess attor­
ney fees to be paid within the period of his probation. 
Respondent filed a motion for reconsideration and a 
motion for a new trial, which were denied on March 
18, 2003. Respondent here appeals the deterrnina­
tfons of the hearing judge. 

B. Background 

In August 1994, Ivy Hei was involved in an 
automobile accident. At the time of the accident, Hei 
was delivering mail for the United States Postai 
Service, and her vehicle and two others, a car owned 
by Sukhbir Beasla and a truck owned by Corea 
Trucking, were involved in the crash. As a result of 
the accident, Hei suffered severe injuries and ulti­
mately lost two years of income. Hei was initially 
represented by Attorney John T. Nagel in a personal 
injury action to recover damages for her injuries. The 
contingent fee agreement between Hei and Nagel, 
dated September 1, 1994, called for Nagel to repre­
sent Hei in the personal injury action in exchange for 
one-third of any recovery. 

Nagel filed a lawsuit against Sukhbir Beasla and 
the driver of that vehicle, Kirpal Kaur Beasla (the 
Beasla defendants), in December 1994. This lawsuit 
did not include Corea Trucking or.the driver of the 
truck as defendants. Among other things, Nagel 
engaged in discovery on Hei' s behalf, including pre­
paring answers to form interrogatories. In May 1995, 
the insurance carrier for the Beasla defendants 
offered the policy limit of$50,000 in exchange for a 
release of all claims arising from the accident, incl ud­
ing all causes of action against all persons involved. 

5, Hei confinned in her testimony at trial that she was unhappy 
with Nagel because he would not proceed with a personal inj ury 
case against Corea Trucking, and she felt that he had not 
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Hei initially agreed to the settlement, and Nagel 
agreed to reduce his fee to 25 percent of the recov­
ery. However, in June 1995, Hei withdrew her 
acceptance of the offer. On J uly28, 1995, Nagel filed 
an amended complaint which included as defendants 
Corea Trucking and the driver of the truck, Shane 
Nelson Corea ( the Coreadef endants ). On August I 0, 
1995, Hei substituted herself in propria persona in 
placeofNagel.s AlsoonAugust 10, 1995,Nagelfiled 
a lien against any recovety in the case in the amount 
of$1,289.73 in costs plus one third of any recovery 
(rather than the 25 percent Nagel had agreed to take 
if Hei accepted the $50,000 settlement offer). In 
August 1995, Hei filed a personal injury suit against 
the Corea defendants which was separate from the 
personal injury suit previously filed by Nagel. 

C. Hei Retains Respondent 

From August through early October 1995, Hei 
saw two to three other attorneys before coming to 
respondent. She retained him to represent her in three 
separate matters, all relating to her 1994 accident 1) 
personal injury lawsuits against the Beasla and Corea 
defendants; 2) a workers' compensation claim; and 
3) a fee dispute with her first attorney, Nagel. 

1. Hei 's Personal Injury Case 

On October 5, ·1995, respondent entered into a 
written contingent fee agreement with Hei to repre­
sent her in the personal injury actions against the 
Beasla and the Corea defendants in exchange for an 
attorney fee .of 35 percent of any "settlement &/or 
judgement" plus costs. This written agreement made 
nomentionof:f{ei 'spriorrepresentation by Nagel, but 
according to respondent, Hei agreed to bear the full 
risk that she would be required to pay Nagel his fees 
in addition to her obligation to pay respondent's 35 
percent contingent fee if he would take her case. 
However, according to Hei, respondent never ex­
plained to her that she was required to assume the risk 
that she would have to pay both Nagel's and 
respondent's fees. 

petformed all oftheservices he was supposed to pcrfonn under 
her agreement with him. 
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OPINION 

EPSTEIN, J. 

In this original disciplinary proceeding, respon­
dent David M. Van Sickle requested review of a 
hearing judge's decision placing him on actual sus­
pension for six months. In a single client matter, the 
hearingjudge found respondent culpable of charging 
and collecting an W1conscionable fee, entering into an 
improper business transaction, failing to provide writ­
ten disclosure of a financial interest in the subject 
matter of the representation, and intentionally or 
recklessly failing to represent the client competently. 

On February 8, 2005, we filed our opinion in this 
case, modifying the hearingjudge 's culpability, miti­
gation and aggravation determinations and 
recommending that respondent be placed on one 
year's suspension, stayed, and two years' probation 
on various conditions, including 30 days' actual sus­
pension and restitution in the amount of$8, 124. 99 plus 
interest. 

The State Bar sought review in the Supreme 
Court, and by order dated November 30, 2005, the 
court remanded the matter to us with directions to 
vacate our recommendation as to discipline. The 
Supreme Court specifically directed this court to 
consider the appropriate discipline in light 9f stan­
dards1 1.6 and 2.7 and In re Silverton (2005) 36 
Cal.4th 81, 89-92, stating: "In reconsidering the 
degree of discipline, the State Bar Court Review 
Department shall consider the application of the 
Standards to setting an appropriate degree of disci­
pline in this proceeding, including any ground that may 
form a basis for an exception to their application." 

I. Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, title JV, Standards for 
Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. All further 
references to standards are to this source. 

2. Because of the Supreme Court's remand order, and pending 
our further order, we depublished our earlier opinion in In the 
Matter of Van Sick/e(4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr: 756.) For ease 
of reference, we refer to that opinion as our "2005 opinion." 
We have construed the Supreme Court's order to mean that we 
are to vacate our 2005 opinion as to our discussion and 
recommendation of the degree of discipline. (2005 typed 
opinion, Sections II l(C) and IV, pp. 2 7-34.) We here re-adopt 
Sections I through III(A-8) ofour 2005 opinion, and, accord-
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After considering the briefs on remand and 
taking into account all relevant factors, including the· 
applicable standards and case law, we have reconsid­
ered our earlier discipline recommendation and now 
recommend, for the reasons stated herein, that re­
spondent be suspended from the practice oflaw for 
a period of one year, stayed, and that he be placed on 
probation for a period of two years on the condition 
that he be actually suspended from the practice of law 
for three months. We further recommend that re­
spondent be ordered to comply with the provisions of 
rule 955 of the California Rules of Court, as more 
specifically set fot:hpost.2 

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Procedural Facts 

Respondent was admitted to practice law on 
December 13, 1993. He has no prior record of 
discipline. 

In a five--count notice of disciplinary charges 
(NDC) filed on January 2, 2002, involving one client 
matter, respondent was charged with violating Rules 
of Professional Conduct, rule 4-2003 (charging and 
collecting an unconscionable fee), rule 3-300 (ac­
quiring an interest adverse to a client), rule 
3-31 0(B)( 4) (accepting or continuing representation 
of a client without providing written disclosure to the 
client that the attorney has a financial interest in the 
subject of the representation), rule 3-11 0(A) (inten­
tionally, recklessly, or repeatedly failing to perform 
legal services competently), and Business and Pro­
fessionsCode section 61064 ( committing acts involving 
moral turpitude by engaging in gross overreaching 
and coercion in representing a client). 

ingly, we republish pp. 2~26 of our 2005 opinion as to the 
factual and procedural history, our culpability discussion, and 
discussion of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. In 
order to restore the portions of our 2005 opinion which we re­
adopt, we set them forth anew below, utilizing the same heading 
designations as in our 2005 opinion. 

3. All further references to rules arc to the Rules of Professional 
Conduct unless otherwise indicated. 

4. A 11 further statutory references are to the Business and 
Professions Code unless otherwise indicated. 
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Prior to the trial, respondent stipulated to many 
fa~ts and to hjs culpability for violating rule 3- 300. 
After a two-day trial, the hearing judge found culpa­
bility on all counts, with the exception of moral 
turpitude as alleged in count five of the NDC. The 
hearingjudge recommended respondent be suspended 
for a period of one year, stayed and that he be p1aced 
on probation for a period of three years on the 
condition of six months' actual suspension. The court 
further recommended restitution of the excess attor­
ney fees to be paid within the period of his probation. 
Respondent filed a motion for reconsideration and a 
motion for a new trial, which were denied on March 
18, 2003. Respondent here appeals the dete1mina­
tions of the hearing judge, 

B. Background 

In August 1994, Ivy Hei was involved in an 
automobile accident. At the time of the accident, Hei 
was delivering mail for the United States Postal 
Service, and her vehicle and two others, a car owned 
by Sukhbir Beasla and a truck owned by Corea 
Trucking, were involved in the crash. As a result of 
the accident, Hei suffered severe injuries and ulti­
mately lost two years of income. Hei was initially 
represented by Attorney John T. Nagel in a personal 
injury action to recover damages for her injuries. The 
contingent fee agreement between Hei and Nagel, 
dated September 1, 1994, called for Nagel to repre­
sent Hei in the personal injury action in exchange for 
one-third of any recovery. 

Na gel filed a lawsuit against Sukhbir Beasla and 
the driver of that vehicle, Kirpal Kaur Beasla (the 
Beasla defendants), in December 1994. This lawsuit 
did not include Corea Trucking or the driver of the 
truck as defendants. Among other things, Nagel 
engaged in discovery on Hei 's behalf, including pre­
paring answers to form interrogatories. In May 1995, 
the insurance carrier for the Beasla defendants 
offered the policy limit of $50,000 in exchange for a 
release of all claims arising from the accident, includ­
ing all causes of action against all persons involved. 

S. Hei confirmed in her testimony at trial that she was unhappy 
with Nagel because he would not proceed with a personal injury 
case against Corea Trucking, and she felt that he had not 
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Hei initially agreed to the settlement, and Nagel 
agreed to reduce his fee to 25 percent of the recov­
ery. However, in June 1995, 1Iei withdrew her 
acceptanceoftheoffer.OnJ_uly28, 1995,Nagelfiled 
an amended complaint which included as defendants 
Corea Trucking and the driver of the truck, Shane 
Nelson Corea ( the Corea defendants). On August I 0, 
1995, Hei substituted herself in propria persona in 
placeofNagel.5 Also on August 10, 1995,Nagel filed 
a lien against any recovery in the case in the amount 
of $1,289. 73· in costs plus one third of any recovery 
(rather than the 25 percent Nagel had agreed to talce 
if Hei accepted the $50,000 settlement offer). In 
August 1995, Hei filed a personal injury suit against 
the Corea defendants which was separate from the 
personal injury suit previously filed by Nagel. 

C. Hei Retains Respondent 

From August through early October 1995, Hei 
saw two to three other attorneys before coming to 
respondent She retained him to represent her in three 
separate matters, all relating to her 1994 accident: 1) 
personal injury lawsuits against the Beasla and Corea 
defendants; 2) a workers' compensation claim; and 
3) a fee dispute with her first attorney, Nagel. 

I. Hei 's Personal Injury Case 

On October 5, 1995, respondent entered into a 
written contingent fee agreement with Hei to repre­
sent her in the personal injury actions against the 
Beasla and the Corea defendants in exchange for an 
attorney fee-of 35 percent of any "settlement &/or 
judgement" plus costs. This written agreement made 
no mention ofHei 's priorrepresentation by Nagel, but 
according to respondent, Hei agreed to bear the full 
risk that she would be required to pay Nagel his fees 
in addition to her obligation to pay respondent's 35 
percent contingent fee if he would take her case. 
However, according to Hei, respondent never ex­
plained to her that she was required to assume the risk 
that she would have to pay both Nagel's and 
respondent's fees. 

performed all of the services he was supposed to perform under 
her agreement with him. 
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In December 1995, respondent obtained Hei's 
personal injury file from Nagel. Also in December 
1995, Hei agreed to accept a settlement in the action 
against the Beasla defendants for the policy limit of 
$50,000. Unlike the first settlement offer from the 
insurance carrier for the Beasla defendants, this 
settlement allowed Hei to proceed with her claims 
against the Corea defendants. At that time, as Hei 
informed respondent, Hei had a four-year---0ld son, 
Hei'sliousewasgoingintoforeclosure,andHei'scar 
was going to be repossessed. 

In early January 1996, respondent received three 
checks from the Beasla defendants' insurance car­
rier totaling $50,000: 1) a check in the amount of 
$6,327.26 payable jointly to respondent, the United 
States Department of Labor (USDOL) and Hei; 2) a 
checkinthearnountof$12,500payabletorespondent's 
trust account, Hei and Nagel's law firm; and 3) a 
check in the amount of$3 l, 172. 7 4, payable to respon­
dent and Hei. Respondent apparently piaced the 
$12,500 claimed by Nagel in respondent's trust ac­
count, pending resolution of the fee dispute. Shortly 
thereafter, respondentprovidedHei with the follow­
ing accounting ofhi s disbursements of the remaining 
$37,500: 1) a check for $6,327.26 to Hei for payment 
to the USDOL in satisfaction of its lien, from which 
the USDOL would return $2,230.296 to Hei to be paid 
to respondent as his 35 percent contingency fee (see 
discussion below); 2) a distribution to respondent of 
$1,250 as his fee for assisting Hei to prepare for the 
fee arbitration against Na gel ( see discussion below); 
3) a distribution to respondentof$10,910.45 in fees, 
representing approximately 3 5 percent of the remain­
ing settlementcheck for $31, l 72.74;7 and4)apayment 
to Hei of $19,019.92 as her share of the personal 
injury settlement. Accordingly, on January 15, 1996, 
respondentprovidedHei withacheckfor$19,0l 9.92, 
and he distributed $12,160.45 to himself ($1,250 as his 
fee for assisting Hci in preparing for the Nagel fee 
arbitration plus $10,910.45 as his 35 percent contin-

6. Respondent was mistaken as to the cx:act amount of the 
USDOL fee reimbursement, apparently because of a typo­
graphical error in respondent's accounting for the disbursement 
of the settlement proceeds. Therefore, respondent erroneously 
set forth the amount of the check payable to the USDOL as 
$6,372.26 and erroneously set forth the amount of the fee 
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gency fee for the personal injury case). Respondent 
later collected additional fees of$2,214.54 from the 
USDOL and $500 from Hei for his appearance at the 
Nagel fee arbitration. 

Sometime during the last six months of 1996, 
respondent preparedfor trial against the Corea de­
fendants. He investigatedHei 's allegations that Shane 
Corea had a bad driving record, consulted traffic and 
collision experts, prepared accident site schematics, 
and consulted with Hei 's doctors. The trial againstthe 
Corea defendants was initially scheduled for Decem­
ber 1996, but it was twice continued and finally held 
in early March 1997. Respondent represented Hei 
through this three-day trial. The jury in that case 
found for the Corea defendants, and therefore neither 
Hei nor respondent collected additional funds as a 
result of that case. 

2. Hei 's Workers' Compensation Claims 

As a result ofHei's employment by the United 
States Postal Service, she received federal workers' 
compensation medical benefitpayments of $6,327.27, 
which were apparently paid to Hei before she re­
tained respondent to represent her, and for which the 
USDOL filed a lien against any personal injury 
recovery obtained by Hei. 

On November 21, 199 5, respondent entered into 
a second contingent fee agreement with Hei to 
represent her in "enforcing a cause of action arising 
out of work related injury of 8/ 18/94 accident." This 
fee agreement provided that respondent would re­
ceive 25 percent of any "Benefits, settlement or 
judgment" relating to Hei 's claim for workers' com­
pensation benefits. 

Respondent testified that he and Hei initially 
signed this contingency fee agreement based upon his 
understanding of the California workers' compensation 

reimbursement as $2,230.29, when the correct amount was 
$2,214.54. 

7. Respondent did not include the $12,500 held in trust for the 
Nagel fee dispute or the amount of the USDOL medical 
reimbursement in the gross amount for purposes of computing 
his 3 5 percent contingency fee. 
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rules and before he realized that this was a federal 
workers' compensation case. Because of this miswi­
derstanding, in December 199 5, respondent and Hei 
also signed a California form entitled Notice of 
Attorney Representation and Disclosure Statement 
which stated that the normal range of fees for 
representation in a workers' compensation matter 
was between 9 and 12 percent of the benefits 
obtained.* He further testified that when he subse­
quently discovered that Hei had already filed a federal 
workers' compensation claim for benefits which had 
been denied, he realized that Hei was hiring him to file 
an appeal and a motion for reconsideration of the 
USDOL's denial ofHei's claim. Respondent accord­
ingly believed that a contingent fee agreement was 
inappropriate for his contemplated ~~rvices, and he 
testified that sometime during early 1996, he and Hei 
verbally modified the workers' compensation fee agree­
ment to provide (1) for a flat fee in the amowit of 
$2,214.54 for the appeal and rehearing of the denial of 
her claim and (2) that this fee would be taken from the 
personal injury settlement funds. 

Contrary to respondent's testimony, Hei testi­
fied that she never voided or canceled the written 
agreement which called for a 25 percent contingency 
fee for respondent's services in the workers' com­
pensation matter. A letter from her to respondent, 
datedJuly3 l, 1996, corroborated her testimony. Our 
de novo review confirms that respondent's arrange­
ment with Hei was for a contingency fee of 25 
percent in accordance with the terms of the written 
agreement, and not, as respondent asserted, a flat fee 
for the preparation of the appeal and motion for 
reconsideration. Nevertheless, respondent collected 
from Hei $2,214.54, which equaled 35 percent of the 
amount distributed to the USDOL.9 

Hei 's appeal and her motion for rehearing were 
ultimately denied and, she received no workers' 
compensation benefits other than the medical reim­
bursement she obtained prior to hiring respondent. 

8. Respondent testified below that the initial agreement called 
for a 12 and ·one half percent contingent foe, 'out the agreement 
itself did not reflect that amount. 

9. On February 7, 1996, respondent disbursed the check for 
$6,327.26 to the USDOL, and in March the USDOL sent a 
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3. Hei 's Fee Arbitration with Nagel 

• Hei did.not believe that Nagel was entitled to the 
$12,500 attorney fee he claimed. She therefore de­
cided to request a fee arbitration. In a letter to 
respondent dated November 22, 1995, Hei asked 
respondent to assist her with completing the fee 
arbitration forms, which respondent did. In January 
1996, respondent entered into an oral agreement with 
Hei for an initial retainer fee of$ l ,250 plus 25 percent 
of the recovery to prepare her for the Nagel fee 
arbitration, which she intended to conduct in propri'a 
persona.10 A hand-written document prepared by 
respondent that appears to have been signed by Hei 
on January 12, 1996, confirmed this fee arrangement. 
Furthermore, respondent again described the fee 
agreement of$1,250 plus 25 percent for the Nagel 
arbitration in his disbursement letter, which Hei ap­
pears to have signed on January 15, 1996. Nevertheless, 
Hei testified at trial that she never agreed to pay 
respondent anything for his assistance in preparing 
for the fee arbitration. 

Hei fikd the request for the arbitration with 
Nagel on March 28, 1996, and the matter was set 
for July 10, 1996. On the day before the arbitration, 
Hei wrote tQ respondent asking him to appear on 
her behalf at the arbitration and offered to pay him 
for his time. Respondent entered into a written 
agreement with Hei, charging $500 for bis appear~ 
ance, whichHei signed the day of the arbitration. 
Hei agreed to pay respondent $100 every two 
weeks. The agreement also provided that if Hei 
were more than three days late on a payment, the 
entire amount would be due and payable and that 
Hei granted respondent a lien on her home to 
secure the fee. Respondent admit~ that at the time 
he entered into the agreement to secure hi s fee 
with a lien on her home, he did not advise Hei to 
seek the advice of an independent attorney. (See 
Rule 3-300.) 

check in the amount of$2,2 I 4.54 to Hei, who endorsed it and 
forwarded it to respondent. 

10. It appears that in this context, "recovery"meant any amount 
by which Nagel's claim of$12,500 in fees could be·reduced 
through arbitration. 
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In July or Augustl 996, the fee arbitrator issued 
an award in Nagel's favor in the amount of $12,500. 
Respondent and the State Bar stipulated that Nagel 
was paid $12,500 for his representation ofHei in the 
Beas la litigation. 

4. Other Legal Services Provided to Hei 

According to respondent's testimony, on July 25 
and 31, 1996, Hei also requested additional assistance 
from respondent regarding seniority and benefit rights 
with her labor union and advice on injunction laws. 
The record discloses that respondent provided at 
least some additional counsel in regard to these 
issues, as evidenced by Hei's letter to respondent 
dated July 3 1, 1996, in which she thanked respondent 
"for notifying all persons involved ... concerning my 
[seniority] and my benefits." The record does not 
reflect any additional fees were paid by Hei for these 
services. 

In August 1997, respondent and Hei participated 
in a fee arbitration proceeding regarding respondent's 
fees charged to Hei. 

D. Summary of Disbursement of Funds 

In sum, from the $50,000 settlement of Hei's 
personal injury case against the Beasla defendants, 
Hei received $19,012.29; the USDOL retained 
.$4,112.72 out of the $6,327.26 in satisfaction of its 
lien; and the two attorneys together received 
$26,875.99 or 53.75 percent(respondent's fees were 
$10,910.45 + $1,250 + $2,214.54 for a total of 
$14,874.99, and Nagel was paid $12,500). Hei paid . 
respondent an additional $500 for his appearance at 
the fee arbitration. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. Count One: Unconscionable Fees (Rule 4-200) 

Rule 4-200(A) provides in relevant part that a 
member of the State Bar "shall not enter into an 
agreement for, charge, or collect an ... unconscio­
nable fee." In count one of the NDC, respondent was 
charged with violatingrule 4-200 in five instances: ( 1) 
the 35 percent contingency fee specified in the 
retainer agreement for the personal injury suit; (2) the 
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35 percent contingency fee to represent Hei in her 
workers' compensation suit; (3) the fee of$1,250 to 
assist Hei in preparing for the Nagel fee arbitration; 
( 4) the additional $500 fee charged and collected to 
appear at the Nagel fee arbitration; and (5) the 
imposition of a lien on Hei 's home as security for the 
$500 appearance fee. 

For the reasons set forth below, we conclude 
that respondent is culpable of charging and/or collect­
ing an unconscionable fee in only two of the five 
instances identified in the NDC: 1) the contingency 
fee he collected for the personal injury suit; and 2) the 
contingency fee he collected for Hei's workers' 
compensation claims. 

1. Contingent Fee for Personal Injury Cases 

Ordinarily, if an attorney charges a fee that is " 
'so exorbitant and wholly disproportionate to the 
services performed as to shock the conscience of 
those to whose attention it is called, such a case 
warrants disciplinary action .... '" (Herrscher v. 
StateBar(l 935) 4 Cal.2d399,402.) Nevertheless, "a 
contingent fee ' "may properly provide for a larger 
compensation than would otherwise be reasonable." 
' [Citations.] This is because a contingent fee in­
volves economic considerations separate and apart 
from the attorney's work on the case." (Cazares v. 
Saenz (1989) 208 Cal.App.3d 279, 287-288.) A 
contingent fee must take into account both the risk as 
to the ultimate success of the case and the risk as to 
the amount recovered. (Id. at p. 288.) Furthermore, 
"the lawyer under such an arrangement agrees to 
delay receiving his fee until the conclusion of the case, 
which is often years in the future. The lawyer in 
effect finances the case for the client during the 
pendency of the lawsuit. [Citation.)" (Ibid.) 

[la] We agree with the hearing judge that 
respondent violated the unconscionable fee prohibi­
tions in rule4-200 in connection with Hei 's personal 
injury case, but we emphasize that our determination 
of unconscionability is not based on his written 
agreement specifying a 35 percent contingency fee, 
since, as we explain below, we conclude there was no 
valid or enforceable fee agreement. Rather, our 
finding of unconscionability is based on the hearing 
judge· s finding that respondent failed to disclose to 
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Hei that he intended his 35 percent contingency fee 
to,be in addition to the fee earned by Nagel. Respon­
dent thus failed i'to disclose the true facts, so that the 
fee charged, under the circumstances, constituted a 
practical appropriationofthe client's funds under the 
guise of retaining them as fees. [Citations.]" 
(Herrscher v. State Bar, supra, 4 Cal.2d at p. 403.) 
As a consequence, Hei paid respondent far in excess 
of what she believed she had agreed to pay. 

(lb] As previously noted, respondent testified 
that he intended, in entering the fee agreement with 
Hei, that she "agreed to take the risk ... of [paying) 
Mr. [Nagers} fees. In fact, she agreed to as.sume the 
full risk of paying Mr. [Nagel's] fees in exchange for 
my taking the case." This was neither Hei's u11der­
standing nor her intent. She testified that "[n }othing 
like that was ever explained to me" in response to the 
prosecutor's question as to whether respondent-ever 
explained to her that she "would assume the risk that 
[she]-wouldhavetopayoutto [respondent] 35-percent 
of the [Beasla] settlement, and then on top of that pay 
out [to Nagel] at least 25- percent of the [Beasla] 
settlement for a total payout of 60-percent of the 
[settlement proceeds]." This testimonial dichotomy 
provides the evidentiary basis on which we also 
conclude that there was no agreement as to fees 
between Hei and respondent because there was no 
meeting of the minds." 'There is no manifestation of 
mutual assent to an exchange if the parties attach 
materially different meanings to their m.anif estations 
and [~] ( a) neither party km:>ws or has reason to know 
the meaning attached by the other .... ' [Citations.]" 
(Merced County Sheriff's Employees' Assn. v. 
County of Merced (1987) 188 Cal.App.3d 662,676 
(Merced).) In Merced, the court concluded that the 
firefighters' employees' association and the county 
had failed to enter into a contract due to (l) the 
ambiguity of material contract language, (2) the two 
differing interpretations each placed on the ambigu­
ous language, and (3)each party's lackofknowledge 
as to the interpretation placed on the ambiguous 
language by the other party. (Id. at pp. 674-676.) 

11. Under Fracasse v. Brent(1972) 6 Cal.3d 784, 790-791, an 
attorney such as Nagel, who is discharged before the contin­
gency occurs, and who was initially hired pursuant to a 
contingent fee contract, is entitled to be compensated on a 
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(1c] In the present case, respondent's written 
contingent fee agreement with Hei was_ materially 
ambiguous. it stated "Attorney shall receive as a fee: 
[,0 35% of settlement &/or judgment; total.'; (Em­
phasis added.) There was no explanation of the term 
"total" in the contract, and under the circumstances, 
it would be reasonable for Hei to understand, as she 
testified, that she agreed to a "total" of 35 percent of 
any settlement or judgment proceeds to be paid to 
both respondent and Nagel. Nothing in the record 
provides us with any basis for concluding that either 
respondent or Hei had any reason to know that each 
of them had a different interpretation of the contract 
language. Respondent testified that he explained his 
position to Hei, but she testified thatrespondentnever 
explained that to her. The hearingj udge found Hei' s 
testimony to be credible. We give great deference to 
this credibility determination (Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, rule 305(a); Franklin v. State Bar (1986) 41 
Cal .3d 700,780), and we adoptit. Thus, as in Merced, 
supr~, 188 Cal.App.3d at p. 676, we "have no 
alternative but to declare that the parties failed to 
reach a meeting of the minds .... " 

(ld) In the absence ofa valid fee agreement, we 
measure respondent's compensation _based on a 
theory of quantummeruit, rather than the full contract 
price. (Spires v. American Bus Lines (1984) 15 8 Cal 
App.3d 211, 216.) Here, as in Spires, we have 
successive attorneys, each of whom was retained for 
the same matter on a contingency basis and each with 
a quantum meruit claim.11 (Ibid.) Under such cir­
cumstances, where "the contingent fee is insufficient 
to meet the quantum meruit claims ofboth discharged 
and existing counsel, the proper application of the 
Fracasse rule[12] is to use an appropriate pro rata 
formula which distributes the contingent fee among 
all discharged and existing attorneys in proportion to 
the time spent on the case by each. Such a formula 
insures that each attorney is compensated in accor­
dance with work performed, as contemplated by 
Fracasse, while assuring that the client will not be 
forced to make a double payment offees." (Ibid.) It 

quantum meruit basis for the reasonable value of his or her 
services, rather than at the contract price. 

12. See "Fracasse rule" as discussed in footnote 9, ante. 
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should be noted that the agreed upon contingent fee 
acts as an upper limit on the amount to be divided on 
a quantum meruit theory between the discharged and 
retained attorneys hired on a contingency basis in the 
same case. (Cazares v. Saenz, supra, 208 
Cal.App.3d at p. 289,)13 Using the quantum meruit 
formula articulated in Spires and Cazares, we con­
elude that Nagel and respondent together were entitled 
to charge Hei a total fee of 35 percent of the gross 
recovery of$50 ,000, or $17,500. Since the reasonable 
value ofN age!' s services were determined in arbitra­
tion to be 25 percent of the recovery, or $12,500, the 
reasonable value of respondent's services was the 
remaining 10 percent of the gross recovery or $5,000. 
In fact,respondentretained$10,910.4S as his contin­
gency fee for his services related to the personal 
injury litigation. 

[2a] Fracasse, Spires and Cazares are not 
discipline cases; they involved civil claims forrecov­
ery ofattomey fees. Accordingly, these cases are not 
necess~lyprecedent for concludingthatrespondent' s 
fee was unconscionable under rule 4-200. But, we 
look to these cases as benchmarks for determining 
r~asonable compensation using a quantum meruit 
analysis. In so doing, we conclude that the fee 
charged by respondent to represent Hei in the per­
sonal injury suits was unconscionable since it was 
more than twice as much as his client agreed to and 
also double what he was enti tied to under a quantum 
meruit theory. 

13. We expressly reject the State Bar's reliance on Cazares v. 
Saenz, supra, 208 Cal.App. 3d at pp. 287-288 as authority for 
a per se rule of unconscionability under rule 4-200 in every 
instance where successive attorneys represent a client and the 
second attorney charges a contingency fee which, when added 
to the previous fee charged, exceeds 30 to 40 percent. Indeed, 
in its brief on review, the State Bar concedes - and we agree­
that a second contingency fee may be charged pursuant to a fee 
agreement, if the attorney fu II yd i sclo scs th c e ,c act nature ofhi s 
or her fees, i.e., that they are in addition to those charged by the 
first attorney, and the attorney has obtained the informed 
consent of the client. Under those circumstances (which were 
not present in the instant case) it is possible that the range of 
reasonable fees charged by the initial attorney and the succes­
sive attorney in total could exceed 30 to 40 percent, particularly 
when the case is more difficult than the first attorney initially 
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[2b] Our conclusion is reinforced by the lan­
guage of the written Attorney Client Retainer 
Agreement, which respondent prepared. Although 
void for lack of mutual assent, the agreement never­
theless is strong evidence of respondent's 
overreaching, since it contains express provisions 
that are anathema to respondent's fiduciary relation­
ship with his client, and indeed are against the public 
policy of this state. Specifically, the language of the 
agreement was intended to prohibit Hei from settling 
or dismissing her case unless respondent agreed. This 
has long been held to be an improper intrusion on the 
unilateral right of clients to control the outcome of 
their cases. (Hall v. Orlo.ff(1920) 49 Cal.App. 745, 
750.) The retainer agreement also expressly prohib­
ited Hei from substituting another attorney for 
respondent without cause unless respondent con­
sented. Such a provision also violates a fundamental 
public policy of California. "It has long been recog­
nized in this state that the client's power to discharge 
an attorney, with or without cause, is absolute (Cita­
tion)." (Fracasse v. Brent, supra, 6 Cal.3d at 
p.790.)14 In those cases where discipline has been 
imposed for excessive fees, "there has usually been 
present some element of fraud or overreaching on the 
attorney's part .... " (Herrscher v. State Bar, supra, 
4 Cal.2d at p. 403.) 

[2c] Thus, based on the amount charged and 
collected by respondent for the personal injury lawsuit, 
as well as the evidence ofrespondent's overreaching, 15 

anticipated, the case has been poorly investigated and/or 
prepared by the first attorney, trial is imminent, the case 
presents novel theories that had been unanticipated by the 
previous attorney, or other circumstances justify an enhanced 
contingency fee. 

14. We are troubled that these two provisions may be incorpo­
rated in respondent's standard fee agreement because he used 
virtuallythc identical language in his Attorney Client Retainer 
Agreement in connection with Hei's workers' compensation 
matter. 

15. The fact thatthe fee agreement contained two provisions that 
arc void for public.policy does not in this instance preclude a 
determination that respondent is entitled to recover his fee on 
a quantum meruit basis. (Huskinson & Brown v. Woif (2004) 
32 Cal.4th 453, 463.) 
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we conclude the contingency fee charged and col­
lefted by respondent in the personal injury cases was 
unconscionable in violation ofrule4-200. 

2. Contingent Fee for Hei 's Workers' Compen­
sation Case 

As noted a1ite, respondent and Hei entered into 
a second written Attorney Client Retainer Agree­
ment pursuant to which respondent would receive 
"25% ofbenefits/settlement/judgment'' arising from 
Hei's workers' compensation claim. Respondent 
testified that the parties orally modified the agree­
ment to provide fora flat fee for the appeal and motion 
for reconsideration, but Hei testified that she never 
voided or canceled the written 25 percent contin­
gency fee agreement. We agree with the hearing 
judge who resolved this conflicting evidence in favor 
ofHei, particularly in view of respondent's failure to 
correct her understanding of the 25 percent contin­
gency arrangementwhichHei confirmed ina letterof 
July31, 1996. 

(JJ We accordingly find respondent is not en­
titled to any contingent fee for his representation of 
Hei in her workers' compensation case, since the 
contingency did not occur, i.e., respondent failed to 
obtain any employment benefits for her from the 
USDOL. Hei only received the medical reimburse­
ment she had obtained herself prior to hjring 
respondent. Further, there was no provision in the 
agreement that authorized respondent to deduct his 
fees from Hei's recovery in her personal injury suit, 
and yet this is precisely what he did. 16 Respondent 
ultimately charged and collected from her personal 
injury settlement a fee of $2,215.49 (equaling 35 
percent of the $6,327.26paid to the USDOL). More­
over, like the personal injury contingent fee agreement, 
the workers' compensation fee agreement contained 
two provisions void for public policy, a provision 
prohibiting I-lei from settling the case without 
respondent's consent and a separate provision pro­
hibiting H ei from discharging respondent unless for 
cause or with respondent's consent. On the basis of 
the unauthorized $2,215.49 fee collected by respon-
. ! . ~. . . 

16. Respondent unequivocally testified that his fee for repre­
senting Hei in her workers' compensation matter was not part 
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dentin connection with Hei' s workers' compensation 
appeal, together with the evidence of respondent's 
overreaching, we conclude respondent violated the 
unconscionabilityprovisions of rule 4-200. 

3. The Fees Charged for the Arbitration of 
Nagel 's Fees 

{4a l The hearing judge detennined that respon­
dent charged and collected an unconscionable fee in 
charging $1,250 to assist Hei in preparing for the 
Nagel fee arbitration, plus an additional $500 to 
appear at the arbitration on her behalf. The hearing 
judge based this detennination on her finding that it 
was respondent's responsibility, notHei 's, to partici­
pate in the arbitration proceedings because the hearing 

. judge concluded that respondent was obliged to divide 
his contingency fee with Nagel. But, in order to adopt 
the hearingj udge' s determination, it would be neces­
sary to find thatrespondenthad a pre-existing duty to 
negotiate, arbitrate, or litigate Hei' s fees with Nagel, 
which we decline to do. Respondent was not a party 
to the retainer agreement between Hei and Nagel. 

(4b] We believe that it was unwise for respon­
dent to disregard Nagel' s claim of attorney fees when 
respondent was subsequently retained by Hei. (See 
Fishkin, Attorney Conduct: Resolving the Division 
of Fees Between Contingency Fee Attorneys (Aug./ 
Sept. 2000) 26 San Francisco Att'y 11 ["(T]he fee­
splitting argument can easily become a power battle 
.... There will be righteous disagreements."].) But, 
we can find no authority to establish that the wiser 
course of action amounted to a pre-existing duty of 
respondent to arbitrate Nagel's fee as a necessary 
-party. Since we do not find that respondent was 
obliged to arbitrate the fee dispute between Hei and 
Nagel, we find no basis to conclude that the fees 
charged for respondent's additional services in pre­
paring Hei for the Nagel fee arbitration were 
unconscionable. 

Again we determine the reasonableness of his 
fees in quantum mcruit and not on the basis of the 
contract_ price, because the fee agreement for the 

of the contingency fee he charged for representing Hei in her 
personal injury matter. 
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Nagel arbitration initially was not in writing as re­
quired by sections 6147, subdivision (a) and 6148, 
subdivision (a).17 Although the arrangement was 
subsequently confirmed twice by respondent in writ­
ing and signed by Hei, neither writing satisfied the 
relevant statutory requirements for fee agreements 
set forth in sections 6147, subdivision (a) and 6148, 
subdivision (a). Under section 6147, subdivision (b) 
and section 6148, subdivision ( c ), respondent's failure 
to comply with those requirements rendered the 
agreement voidable at Hei 's option. In view ofHei' s 
testimony disputing the existence of the agreement, 
we treat the agreement as void. 

Therefore, respondent was entitled to the rea­
sonable value of his services under the theory of 
quantum meruit. (Spires v. American Bus Lines, 
supra, 158 Cal.App.3d at pp. 216-217.) The record 
establishes that respondent assisted Hei with the 
arbitration for approximately four months. Respon­
dent and Nagel sent several letters to each other 
pertaining to the fees Nagel claimed for his services. 
From these letters, it appears that respondent ob­
tained and reviewed a detailed hourly billing record 
provided by Nagel in order to determine the reason­
ableness ofNagel's claimed fee. Respondent made 
a pre-arbitration settlement offer, which Nagel de­
clined. In addition, respondent assisted Hei with the 
paperwork required for the arbitration. Although the 
record does not reflect the amount of time respondent 
spenton these tasks, we cannot say on this record that 
compensation in the amount of $1,250 for these 
services was unreasonable, much less unconscio­
nable, and therefore we find he is entitled to this 
amount in quantum meruit. 

4. The Lien for Respondent's Fee on Hei 's 
Home 

The State Bar's final allegation in count one is that 
respondent charged Hei an lJllconscionable fee by 
requiringHei to grant him a lien on her home as security 
for the $500 appearance fee in the Nagel fee arbitration 
matter. However, respondent concedes that he willfully 

17, The agreement for respondent's services in connection with 
the fee dispute was in the nature of a retainer and contingency 
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violated rule 3-300 by requiring Hei to grant him a lien 
on her home as security for the $500 appearance fee 
without advising her to consult with an independent 
attorney or giving her an opportunity to do so, and, as we 
discuss below, we find him culpable as charged in count 
two. We decline to findadditional culpability for charg­
ing an unconscionabie fee based on the same facts, as 
such a finding would be duplicative of count two. (Cf. In 
the Matter of Valinoti (Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 498, 536.) 

B. Count Two: Acquiring an Adverse Interest 
(Rule 3-300) 

Rule 3-300 provides that"[ a 1 member shall not 
enter into a business transaction with a client; or 
lmowingly acquire an ownership, possessory, secu~ 
rity, or other pecuniary interest adverse to a client, 
unless each of the following requirements has been 
satisfied: [~1 ( A) The transaction or acquisition and its 
terms are fair and reasonable to the client and are 
fully disclosed and transmitted in writing to the client 
in a manner which should reasonably have been 
understood by the client; and [ill (B) The client is 
advised in writing that the client may seek the advice 
of an independent lawyer of the client's choice and is 
given a reasonable opportunity to seek that advice; 
and [,r.J (C) The client thereafter consents in writing 
to the terms of the transaction or the terms of the 
acquisition." 

. Aswepreviouslynoted, resporidentstipulated that 
he did not advise Hei in writing that she could seek the 
advice of an independent lawyer or give her a reason­
able opportunity to do so at the time he agreed to appear 
for her at the Nagel fee arbitration in exchange for a fee 
of$500 and a lien on Hei 's home to secure the $500 fee. 
Respondent concedes in his opening briefon review that 
he willfully violated rule 3-300, and we agree. (See 
Hawk v. State Bar(l 988) 45 Cal.3d 589 [attorney who 
secured payment off ee by acquiring note secured by 
deed of trust in client's real property was required to 
comply with former rule 5-1 O 1 regarding obtaining 
interest adverse to client].) 

fee agreement, and it was foreseeable the fee would exceed 
$ l ,OO0. Hence the applicability of sections 614 7 and 6148. 
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C. Count Three: Failing to Disclose a Financial 
Interest (Rufo 3-310(8)(4)) 

(5a) The NDC charged respondent in count 
three with willfulJy violating rule 3- 310(B)(4), 
which prohibits, inter alia, an attorney from ac­
cepting or continuing representation of a client 
without written disclosure where the attorney has 
a financial interest in the subject matter of the 
representation. The State Bar bases this charge on 
respondent's purported financial interest in the 
Nagel fee arbitration because, in the State Bar's 
view, respondent's entitlement to collect his own 
attorney fee was based on the amount of Nagel 's 
fee awarded in the arbitration. However, as we 
previously discussed, respondent believed ;;,md in­
deed expressly intended that his 35 percent 
contingency fee would be independent of the 
amount of the fees that Hei was obligated to pay 
Nagel. Our conclusion that respondent was re­
quired to share his contingent fee with Nagei 
based on a quantum meruit analysis does not alter 
the evidence that respondent believed at the time 
he was retained by Hei that she had assumed the 
risk of paying Nagel the additional 25 percent 
contingency fee. 

[Sb] "Wilful violation of the Rules of Prof es­
sional Conduct is established by a demonstration that 
the attorney ' "acted or omitted to act purposely, that 
is, that he knew what he was doing or not doing and 
that he intended either to commit the act orto abstain 
from committing it. [Citations,]" ' (Citations.]" 
(Phillips l!. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 944, 952-
953.)We do not find clear and convincing evidence 
that respondent knew he had a financial interest in the 
Nagel fee arbitration, and therefore he did not wi 1 fully 
fail to disclose that interest to Hei in writing before 
accepting or continuing his representation of Hei. 
(Compare Beery v, State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 802, 
815 [ where, in entering into business transaction with 
client, attorney concealed material facts from client 
and carefully presented transaction in most favorable 
I ight, attorney "knew what he was doing and intended 
to commit the acts"].) Under these circµmstances, 
we conclude that respondent is not culpable of will­
fully violating rule 3- 3 l 0(B)(4). 
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D. Count Four: Failure to Perform Competently 
(Rule 3-1 l0(A)) 

In count four of the NDC, respondent was 
charged with intentionally, recklessly or repeat­
edly failing to perform legal services competently 
in violation of rule 3- 1 lO(A). The NDC in count 
four incorporates by reference count one and adds 
the allegations that respondent faikd to properly 
disburse the settlement proceeds to Hei and that 
he should have been a party to the fee arbitration. 
We do not believe these additional allegations 
provide a sufficient basis to impose additional 
culpability, because the remaining facts alleged in 
count four are either duplicative of or intrinsic to 
our culpability detenninations in counts one through 
three. The appropriate resolution of this matter 
does not depend on how many rules of profes­
sional misconduct or statutes proscribe the same 
misconduct. (In the Matter of Torres (Review 
Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 138, 148.) 
We therefore dismiss count four as duplicative. 

E. Count Five: Moral Turpitude (Section 6106) 

· In count five of the NDC, respondent was 
charged with committing acts of moral turpitud~ in 
violation of section 6106 by gross overreaching in 
breach of his fiduciary duty to Hei by (1) charging 
and collecting a 35 percent contingency fee for 
Hei's personal injury matter in addition to the 25 
percent contingency fee Nagel was claiming; (2) 
requiring Hei, instead of respondent, to pursue the 
fee arbitration against Nagel; (3) charging Hei a 
35 percent contingency fee for the Nagel fee 
arbitration; ( 4) collecting $1,250 as a contingency 
fee for the Nagel fee arbitration before Hei re­
ceived any award in the Nagel fee arbitration; (5) 
requiring Hei to give respondent a I ien on her home 
on the day of the Nagel arbitration; and (6) charg­
ing Hei another $500 to appear on her behalf at the 
Nagel fee arbitration. The hearing judge deter­
mined, and we agree, that there was insufficient 
evidence to find that respondent's misconduct 
rose to the level of acts involving dishonesty, 
corruption, or moral turpitude. 
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Ill. DISCIPLINE 

A. Aggravation 

We agree with the hearingjudge' s determination 
that respondent engaged in multiple acts of wrongdo­
ing, but we give this little weight. (Rules Proc. of State 
Bar, tit. IV, Stds. for Atty. Sanctions for Prof. 
Misconduct (standards), std. 1.2(b )(ii).) Respondent 
charged Hei unconscionable fees in both her personal 
injury case and her workers' compensation case, and 
in addition admitted his culpability of entering into an 
improper business transaction with Hei. These three 
acts support a finding in aggravation thatrespondent 
engaged in multiple acts of misconduct. (See In the 
Matter of Malek-Yonan (Review Dept. 2003) 4 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 627 [ two violations of failure 
to supervise resulting in trust fund violations, plus 
improper threat to bring criminal action constituted 
multiple acts of wrongdoing in aggravation]; but see 
In the Matter of Blum (Review Dept. 1994) 3 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 170, 177 [ one client matter 
involving misappropriation, failure to promptly pay 
funds at client' srequest and failure to inform client of 
right to seek independent counsel, plus failure to 
report sanctions in another client matter were not 
viewed by this court "as strongly presenting aggrava­
tion on account of multiple acts of misconduct .... "].) 

We disagree with the hearingj udge 's finding of 
aggravation that respondent's misconduct was sur­
rounded byoverreaching(std. 1.2(b)(iii)), as we have 
already relied on respondent's overreaching as a 
partial basis for our findings ofunconscionable fees. 
(In the Matter of Chesnut (Review Dept. 2000) 4 
Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 166, 176.) 

We agree with the hearing judge's finding in 
aggravation that respondent's misconduct signifi­
cantly harmed Hei. (Std. 1.2(b)(iv).) The 
uncontroverted evidence established that respondent's 
misconduct deprived Hei of her funds at a time when 
she was in desperate need. 

18, From the hearingj udge' s decision, it appears thatthe hearing 
judge admitted and considered the c;:ontents of the letter from 
respondent's psychologist, which respondent attached to his 
Closing Trial Brief, over the objection of the State Bar in its 
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Finally, we disagree with the hearing judge's 
determination thatrespondentdemonstrated indiffer~ 
ence toward rectification of or atonement for the 
consequences of his misconduct. (Std. 1.2(b)(v).) 
Respondent readily stipulated to the charge of im­
proper business transaction. Moreover, we agree 
with some ofrespondent' s contentions which he has 
asserted in his own defense and have declined to 
adopt the degree ofculpabilityirnposed by the hearing 
judge. We therefore decline to attach aggravating 
weight to respondent's good faith defense of his 
actions. 

B. Mitigation 

The hearing judge found no circumstances in 
mitigation. 

We agree with the hearingjudge' s determination 
that respondent is not entitled to mitigation for his 
absence ofanyprior record of discipline ( std. 1.2( e )(i)) 
because he had only been admitted to practice law in 
California slightly more than two years before his 
misconduct began. (See In the Matter of Green­
wood (Review Dept. 1998) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 
831, 837.) We note, however, that since respondent 
wasrelativelynewtothe practice, he may have been 
inexperienced with the permutations of fee arrange­
ments that comport with the rules of professional 
conduct. 

We also agree with the hearingj udge 's determi­
nation that respondent is entitled to no mitigation for 
emotional difficulties since there was no expert evi­
dence to establish a causal connection between 
respondent's anxiety disorder and the misconduct at 
issue in this case. 18 (Std. l.2(e)(iv).) 

However, we believe there are mitigating factors 
in this case. We note that respondent entered into a 
pretrial stipulation as to facts pertaining to various 
charges of misconduct and as to culpability for the 
charge of entering into an improper business transaction 

Closing Reply Trial Brief. We need not and do not address the 
propriety of the hearing judge's admission of this additional 
evidence submitted after trial since the evidence did not result 
in additional mitigation in respondent's favor. 
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with a client, thus saving State Bar Court time and 
re.sources. Thiscondu.ctis entitl¢ tomitigatingweight. 
(Std. l .2(e)(v); see In the Matter of Johnson 
(Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 179, 
190.) 

In addition, respondent testified as to his pro bono 
and community service, both in California and in 
Minnesota. Such evidence is entitled to some weight 
in mitigation, although the weight of the evidence is 
somewhat·limited because respondent's testimony 
was the only evidence on the subject, and therefore 
the extent of respondent's service .is unclear. (See In 
the Matter of Bach (Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. 
State Bar Ct. Rptr. 631, 647-648; In the Matter of 
Crane and DePew (Review Dept. 1990) 1 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 139, 158 & fn. 22.) 

C. Level of Discipline 

As we previously noted, the Supreme Court has 
directed us on remand to reconsider the appropriate 
degree of discipline in light of the standards, and in so 
doing, to consider "any ground that may form a basis 
for an exception to the application [ of the stan­
dards] ." The State Bar .correctly notes in its brief on 

. remand that we did not explain in our 2005 opinion 
why we deviated from standard 2. 7, and it urges that 
we adopt the six months' actual suspension specified 
by that standard.19 We are obligated to afford "great 
weight" to the standards (In re Silverton, supra, 36 
Cal.4th 81, 89-92), although we believe that the 
standards do not mandate a specific discipline. In­
deed, if the Supreme Court were of the view that the 
standards provide for mandatory disciplinary out­
comes, it would have directed us to simply apply the 
specific discipline stated in the relevant standards 
including standard 2. 7, which it obviously did not. ' 

The court's order isconsistentwith its long- held 
position that it is "not bound to follow the standards in 
talismanic fashion. As the final and independent 
arbiter of attorney discipline, we are permitted to 

19. The State Bar also argues in its briefonremand thatthiscourt 
should find that respondent's failure to acknowledge his 
misconduct constitutes an additional factor in aggravation, 
justifyingagreaterdegree of discipline. However, in view oft he 
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temper the letter of the law with considerations 
peculiar to the offense and the offender." (Howard 
v. State Bar (1990) 51 Cal.3d 215, 221--:222; 
Greenbaum v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 543,550 
[the standards are "simply guidelines");· Boehme v. 
State Bar (1988) 47 Cal.3d 448, 454 [same); Hawk 
v. State Bar, supra, 45 Cal.3d at p. 602 [same].) 
Following the Supreme Court's lead, we recently 
observed in In the Malter of Oheb (Review Dept. 
2006) 4 Cal. State Bar Court Rptr. 920, 940, that 
"although the Standards were established as guide­
lines, ultimately, the proper recommendation of 
discipline rest[s] on a balanced consideration of the 
unique factors in each case. [Citations.]" 

Utilizing this background as guidance, we pro­
ceed to consider the relevant standards, as well as the 
facts and guiding case law. As a general principle, 
standard 1.3 provides thatthe primary purposes of the 
disciplinary proceedings are the protection of the 
public, the courts, and the legal profession; the main~ 
tenance ofhigh professional standards by attorneys; 
and the preservation of public confidence in the legal 
profession. (See also 1'1'! re Morse ( 1995) 11 Cal.4th 
184, 205 .) The other standards applicable to this case 
are standards 1.6(a), 2.7 and 2.8. Sta.ndard l.6(a) 
provides that if two or more acts of misconduct are 
found, the sanction imposed shall be the more severe 
of the applicable sanctions. We therefore focus on 
standard 2.7 because standard 2.8 provides that a 
violation of rule 3-300 [acquiring an.adverse interest] 
shall result in suspension unless the extent of the 
misconduct and harm to the client are minimal, 
whereas standard 2.7 is more specific and provides 
that a violation ofrule 4-200 [ entering into an agree­
ment for, charging, or collecting an unconscionable 
fee] "shall result in at least a six-month actual 
suspension from the practice oflaw, irrespective of 
mitigating circumstances." 

In view of the flexible nature of the standards, we 
must address the seemingly mandatory language of 
standard 2. 7. The only Supreme Court case referring to 

Supreme Court's order of remand directing us only to recon­
siderthe recommendation as to discipline, we do not reconsider 
our earlier findings of culpability, mitigation, or aggravation. 
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the application of standard 2. 7 cited to us by the State 
Bar is Barnum v. StateBar(I990) 52 Cal.3d 104. In 
the Barnum case, the attorney collected an uncon­
scionable fee, committed acts of moral turpitude, and, 
additionally, he willfully disobeyed four court orders 
and failed to cooperate with the State Bar's investi­
gation. (Id. at pp. 110-111.) The Supreme Court did 
not utilize or otherwise engage in an extensive analy­
sis of the application of standard 2.7 in Barnum; 
instead, the court relied upon Barnum's record of 
three prior disciplines in determining that the review 
department '.s disbarment recommendation was war­
ranted. (Id. atp. 113.) Because Barnum is factually 
distinguishable, in part due to the absence of a prior 
record in the instant case, and because the Supreme 
Court provided no guidance in Barnum as to the 
interpretation or application of the express langu!,lge 
of rule 2. 7, we do not find that case to be helpful. The 
fewremainingcases discussing standard 2. 7 similarly 
provide little guidance. 20 

For example, in In the Matter of Scapa and 
Brown (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. 
Rptr. 635, we stated that the attorneys' solicitation 
violations merited a one-year actual suspension and 
that "the remainder of respondents' offenses [ com­
pensating another for purpose of recommending the 
attorney's services, committing acts involving moral 
turpitude, sharing legal fees with nonattomeys, and 
charging unconscionable fees] ... deserve an addi­
tionalsix months [ of] actual suspension." (Id. at p. 
654.) Thus, although we noted that standard 2.7 
provided for a minimum six-month actual suspension 
for the unconscionable fee offense alone, we did not 
apply the standard. 

Similarly, in In the Matter of Yagman (Review 
Dept. 1997) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 788, we noted 
the minimum six-month actual suspension set forth in 

20. The vast majority of unconscionable fee cases were decided 
before the standards were implemented. As we discuss post, 
a wide range of discipline was imposed in those cases, from 
three months' suspension {see, e.g., Recht v.State Bar (1933) 
218 Cal. 352; In re Goldstone (193!) 214 Cal. 490) to 
disbannent (e.g., Dixon v. State Bar (I 985) 39 Ca!.3d 335; 
Tarver v. Stale Bar ( I 984) 37 Ca1.3d 122), • 
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standard 2.7, but we did not discuss or analyze the 
impact of that standard on our overall discipline 
recommendation. There, we recommended a one­
year actual suspension for numerous violations in 
addition to the unconscionable and illegal fee viola­
tions, i.e., failure to communicate a written settlement 
offer, failure to promptly pay out client funds, failure 
to render an appropriate accounting, and commin­
gling and misappropriating funds. (See also In the 
Matter of Wells (Review Dept. 2006) 4 Cal. State 
Bar Ct. Rptr. 896 [analysis confined to whether six 
months' actual suspension provided by standard 2. 7 
is additive when further misconduct warrants actual 
suspension]; In the Matter of Harney (Review 
Dept. 199 5) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 266 [ standard 
2. 7 used as guide I ine for level of discipline, but case 
involved an illegal fee rather than an unconscionable 
fee].) 

Because the above cases provide scant assis­
tance as to the proper interpretation of standard 2. 7, 
we look to Supreme Court cases applying standards 
2.2(a) and (b), both of which mirror the seemingly 
mandatory language of standard 2. 7 specifying a 
minimum period ofactual suspension "irrespective of 
mitigating circumstances. "21 

Edwards v. State Bar (1990) 52 Cal.3d 28, 
involved an attorney who was culpable of commin­
gling funds and wilful misappropriation. The Supreme 
Court declined to adopt this court's discipline recom­
mendation of two years' actual suspension finding it 
"excessive." (Id. at p. 39.) The Edwards decision is 
most useful to our analysis because there the Su­
preme Court expressly rejected an inflexible 
interpretation of the language of standard 2.2(a), 
which provides: "the discipline shall not be less than 
a one-year actual suspension, irrespective of mitigat­
ing circumstances." (This· language mimics the 

21. Standard 2.2(a) provides in relevant part that wilful misap­
propriation "shall result in disbarment" unless the amount 
involved is insignificant, in which case "the discipline shall not 
be less than a one-year actual suspension, irrespective of 
mitigating circumstances." Standard 2.2(b) provides in relevant 
part that commingling of funds or misappropriation not 
involving a wilful act "shall result in at least a three month actual 
suspension from the practice oflaw, irrespective of mitigating 
circumstances." • 
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provisions of standard 2;7.) The court adopted the 
following approach: ''This standard [2.2( a)] correctly 
r~ognizes that willful misappropriation is grave mis­
conduct for which disbarment is the usual form of 
discipline. In requiring that a minimum of one year of 
actual suspension invariably be imposed, however, 
the standard is not faithful to the teachings of this 
court's decisiof!-S. [Citation.] The standard's one­
year minimum should be regarded as a guideline, not 
an inflexible mandate." (Id. at p. 38.) 

Also, in Dudugjian v. State Bar (1991) 52 
Cal.3d 1092, the Supreme Court rejected the review 
department's application of standard 2.2(b) as requir­
ing three months' actual suspension. Even though the 
Supreme Court adopted the review department's 
detennination thatDudugjian was culpable of willful 
commingling and failing to promptly pay out client 
funds, the court concluded that public reproval was 
the appropriate discipline under the facts of the case. 
The cowi focused on Dudugjian's honest belief that 
the clients had given him permission to retain their 
settlement funds and rejected the review department's 
recommendation. 

In Howard v. State Bar, supra, 51 Cal.3d 215, 
the Supreme Court imposed a six-month actual 
suspension instead ofthe on~year actual suspension 
recommended by the review department and osten­
sibly mandated by the language of standard 2.2(a) 
stating that discipline for misappropriation of en­
trusted funds "shall not be less than a one-year actual 
suspension, irrespective of mitigating circumstances." 
Approximately two years after being admitted to 
practice law, Howard misappropriated approximately 
$1,300 from a client's personal injury settlement 
proceeds and failed to connnunicate with the client 
for approximately two months. Although the court 
acknowledged the mandatory language of standard 
2.2(a), it nevertheless dctcnnined that a six-month 
actual suspension was sufficient based upon Howard's 
evidence presented in mitigation that she had lifelong 
psychological problems leading to drug and alcohol 
abuse and that she had been sober for approximately 
two and one-half years at the time of trial. 

. . . . . 

In Brockway v. Staie Bar ( 1991) 53 Cal. 3 d 51, 
the Supreme Court imposed a three-month actual 
suspension notwithstanding the one-year suspension 
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seemingly required by standard 2.2(a). There, the 
attorney misappropriated $500 of client funds, failed 
to pay out client funds promptly upon request, and 
improperly acquired an interest adverse to his client. 
Although aggravating factors were present, the court 
focused on mitigating factors and determined that 
"the minimum one-year period suggested by Stan­
dard 2.2(a) would be unduly harsh" under all of the 
circumstances. (Id. at p. 66; see also Kelly v. State 
Bar(l991) 53 Cal.3d 509 [attorney failed to deposit 
client funds in trust, commi:ngled:funds, failed promptly 
to pay out client funds, and misappropriated $750 in 
client funds; court refused to apply standard 2.2(a) 
rigidly and, focusing on circumstances surrounding 
the misappropriation as well as mitigation evidence, 
determined that a 120-day actual suspension was 
appropriate]; Bates v. State Bar (1990) 51 Cal.3d 
1056 [ attorney culpable of misappropriating$1,229. 7 5 
and of misrepresenting status of funds; Supreme 
Court adopted review department recommendation 
of six-month actual suspension in view of mitigation 
evidence].) 

The foregoing cases make clear that, where 
appropriate, the Supreme Court will not hesitate to 
impose a level of discipline lower than that specified 
by a standard's seemingly mandatory language, even 
when the standard expressly provides fora minimum 
discipline "irrespective of mitigating circumstances." 

In our consideration of the appropriate level of 
discipline, we look to other cases involving unconscio­
nable fees. A survey of the unconscionability cases 
reveals that Recht v. State Bar, supra, 218 Cal. at 
page 352, and/n re Goldstone, supra, 214 Cal. 490, 
are at the lenient end of the disciplinary spectrum 
since both impose three months' actual suspension. 
In Recht v. State Bar, supra, 218 Cal. 352, an 
attorney who was found culpable of charging exorbi­
tant and unconscionable fees to two clients and 
making misrepresentations to induce them to employ 
him was actually suspended for three months. (Id. at 
p. 35 3.) The attorney represented an investment trust 
and thereby obtained confidential information which 
he used to his own advantage in soliciting employment 
from two investors in the trust. He did not reveal his 
professional relationship to the trust at the time the 
investors engaged his services and further made 
express false representations about the circumstances 
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ofhis representation of their interests in the trust. The 
court also found that Recht attempted to shift blame 
to a third party and noted that Recht had made no 
restitution to his clients and had made no attempt to do 
so until after the local administration committee 
suggested to Recht that their recommendation might 
be affected by restitution. (Id. at p. 354.) 

The conduct in Recht v. State Bar, supra, 218 
Cal. 352, was more serious than in this matter 
because it involved intentional misrepresentations, 
which the court found violated ''the very fundamen• 
tals of common honesty and fair dealing" (Id. at pp. 
354-355). However, in ordering that Recht be actu­
ally suspended from the practice oflaw for a period 
of three months rather than imposing a more serious 
discipline, the court seemingly gave significant weight 
to Recht's youth and inexperience. (Id. at 355.) 

In Goldstone v. State Bar, supra, 214 Cal. 490, 
a three-month suspension was imposed where an 
attorney was found culpable of one count of charging 
an unconscionable fee. The court found that in 
charging the fee, Goldstone performed rio service of 
value, which the court viewed as "a species of 
dishonesty which no court should condone." (Id. atp. 
497.) In the instant case, respondent performed the 
agreed-upon work in Hei' s personal injury and work­
ers' compensation cases. Respondent's 
transgressions were confined to one client, but he 
charged an unconscionable fee in two instances. 

The remaining cases, and certainly the more 
current ones, have imposed actual discipline from six 
months to disbarment. The State Bar urges a mini­
mum of six months' actual suspension as appropriate 
in this matter, but, in every case, except arguably 
Bushman v. State Bar (1974) 11 Cal.3d 558,22 there 
has been additional, serious misconduct associated 
with the charging of an unconscionable fee. (See, e.g. 
Barnum v. State Bar, supra, 52 Cal.3d 104 [ disbar­
ment for charging unconscionable fees plus violation 

22. In Bushman v. State Bar. supra, 11 Cal.3d 55 8, the court 
imposed a one--year suspension where the attorney was 
culpable of charging an unconscionable fee and soliciting 
professional employment by advertising in violation of the 
Rules of Professional Conduct then in effect. Three of the 
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of four court orders and extensive history of prior 
discipline]; In the Matter of Scapa and Brown, 
supra, 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 635 (one-year 
actual suspension for charging unconscionable fee 
plus numerous solicitation violations, acts of moral 
turpitude, and splitting legal fees with non-attorneys]; 
In the Matter of Yagman, supra, 3 Cal. State Bar 
Ct.Rptr. 788 [one-yearactualsuspensionforuncon· 
scionable fee of $378,175, plus, inter alia, acts of 
moral turpitude in misleading the court, commingling 
funds, misappropriation, failing to communicate a 
settlement offer, and failing to account and a prior 
discipline for charging unconscionable fee].) 

In our most recent case of In the Matter of 
Wells, supra, 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 896, we 
recommended six months' actual suspension23 where 
an attorney, in addition to charging unconscionable 
and illegal fees to two clients, was culpable of 
engaging in the unlawful practice of law in another 
state, committing acts of overreaching with her cli­
ents, giving false information to officials in California 
and South Carolina investigatingherlawpractice, and 
failing to return unearned fees or maintain a trust 
account. In aggravation, Wells was previously disci­
plined and she demonstrated indifference. In 
mitigation, Wells entered into an extensive stipulation 
of facts as to her culpability, suffered from extreme 
emotional distress, and presented eight character 
witnesses, including a retired superior court judge and 
three attorneys. Respondent's misconduct did not 
involve such wide-ranging misconduct and his ac­
tions were confined to one client. Whereas respondent 
had no prior record and indeed had only been practic­
ing law for two years at the time he was retained by 
Hei, Wells had practiced in California since 1984 and 
had a prior discipline record. In our view, the miscon­
duct in the Wells case clearly warranted greater 
discipline than in the instant case. 

The State Bar cites Finch v. State Bar (1981) 28 
Cal.3d 659, 664--665, wherein the Supreme Court 

four clients in the matter were on welfare, and one was a 
minor. 

23. By Supreme Court order dated June 14, 2006, in case no. 
S 140918, the court ordered the imposition of the recom­
mended discipline. 
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imposed six months' actual suspension as the result of 
·t11e collection of an unconscionable fee. But Finch 
admitted to many other acts of misconduct including 
that he: (1) misappropriated client funds in two mat­
ters, in the total amount of $5,750; (2) forged a 
client's sigoature on a settlement check; (3) failed to 
perform services in three matters·; ( 4) failed to return 
unearned fees promptly; (5) failed to forward client 
files and documents to subsequent counsel; and 
(6) withdrew from representing a client without tak­
ing reasonable steps to avoid foreseeable prejudice to 
the client. The court there considered in mitigation 
that Finch was a rehabilitated alcoholic, that he 
believed he had his client's authority to sign the 
client's name on the settlement check and that he 
acknowledged his wrongdoing. (Id. at pp. 665-666.) 
However, the court discounted the lack of a prior 
disciplinary record because the misconduct com­
menced I ess than three years after Finch's admission 
(id. at p. 666, fn. 3), and it also discounted the 
restitution paid to clients because it was made under 
pressure. (Id. at p. 666.) 

The totality of the circumstances is far more 
serious in Finch v. State Bar, supra, 28 Cal.3d 659, 
as that case involved misappropriation, failure to 
perform and forgery. In contrast to respondent's 
misconduct, which involved one client and in part was 
due to his inexperience, the Supreme Court charac­
terized the misconduct in Finch as "habitual," 
warranting a "severe" discipline of six months. (Id. at 
p. 665.) 

We find that the more lenient, older cases of 
Recht v. State Bar, supra, 218 Cal. 352, where the 
court seemingly gave significant weight to the 
attorney's youth and inexperience and In re Gold­
stone, supra, 214 Cal.490, which involved misconduct 
most commensurate with the present case, are most 
relevant to Ol,lrdisciplineanalysis. But, in view of the 
paucity of recent unconscionable fee cases having 
misconduct sirni lar to the instant case, we again turn 
our attention to the six- month minimum actual sus­
pension proposed by standard2.7, mindful that it must 
be given "great weight." (In re Silverton, supra, 36 
Cal.4th at p. 92.) In so doing, we have taken great 
.:care to consider the unique factors of this case that 
we conclude justify a departure and support our 
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conclusion that three months' actual suspension is 
appropriate under the circumstances. 

We found in this case that respondent is culpable 
of charging an unconscionable fee on two occasions 
and entering into a business transaction with his client 
without securing a waiver. Our finding ofunconscio­
nability is based on our detennioation that the fees 
charged by respondent should be measured in quan­
tum meruit since there was no meeting of the minds 
between respondentand his client as to the amount to 
be paid. The unconscionable fee violations thus are 
the result of respondent's erroneous conclusion that 
bis client agreed to pay bis contingency fees in 
addition to the fee she was obligated to pay her prior 
counsel. Moreover, respondent was relatively new to 
the practice when he accepted He_i as a client, and the 
fact that he charged the unconscionable fees was in 
large measure due to his inexperience rather than to 
any intent to injure his client or acquire an advantage. 

The fact that respondent may have intended no 
hann in charging the fees does not shield him from 
culpability (see Edwards v. State Bar, supra, 52 
Cal.3d at p. 38; see also In the Matter of Taggart 
(Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 302, 
309); but we may nevertheless consider this in deter­
mining the appropriate level of discipline. (E.g., Kelly 
v. State Bar, supra, 53 Cal.3d 509, 519-520.) Fur­
thermore, respondent did in fact perform substantial 
work for Hei in both cases, as he took the Corea 
defendants to trial in Hei's personal injury case and 
filed an· appeal and a rehearing motion in Hci's 
workers' compensation case. Additionally, we have 
found but one aggravating circwnstance of conse­
quence - harm to his client - as well as evidence of 
off-setting mitigation as the result of respondent's 
partial stipulation as to culpability before trial and his 
pro bono and community activities. 

[6] The hearing judge recommended that re­
spondent receive a one:....year stayed suspension, a 
three-year probationary period, and six months' 
actual suspension based on her assessment that 
respondent was culpable of four counts of miscon­
duct, as well as four factors in aggravation and no 
mitig•ation, We have found much \esscu'lpability and 
less aggravation than the hearing judge, and, in 
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addition, we have found evidence in mitigation, where 
the hearing judge found none. We thus conclude, in 
view of the unique circumstances of this case, the 
guiding standards and the relevant case law, that a 
one-year stayed suspension and a two-year period 
of probation with a period of three months' actual 
suspension on the conditions set forth below is suffi­
cient to serve the goals of these disciplinary 
proceedings. 

D. Restitution 

In view of our determination that respondent 
collected unconscionable fees with regard to Hei 's 
personal injury and workers' compensation cases, 
we also recommend that respondent should be re­
quired to pay restitution of any amounts in excess of 
reasonable compensation for these cases. As we 
earlier concluded, respondent was entitled, based on 
quantum meruit, to retain only l O percent of the total 
$50,000 settlement proceeds or $5,000 for Hei's 
personal injury case. He also was entitled, on a 
quantum meruit basis, to retain $1,250 for his prepaw 
ration for the Nagel fee arbitration and $500 for his 
appearance at that arbitration, for a total of$6, 750 in· 
fees .. Because respondent received a total of 
$14,874.99 in fees, he must make restitution in the 
amountof$8, 124.99 plus interest. Respondent must 
therefore refund to Hei $5,910.45 plus interest from 
the date of payment of the attorney fee by Hei to 
disgorge the unconscionable fees he charged in the 
persona! injury lawsuit, and $2,214.54 plus interest to 
the United States Department of Labor from the date 
of the attorney fee it paid in connection with his 
representation ofHei in the workers' compensation 
case. 

IV. RECOMMENDATION 

We recommend that respondent David M. Van 
Sickle be suspended from the practice of law in the 
State of California for one year, that execution ofthis 
suspension be stayed, and that respondent be placed 
on probation for two years on the following condi­
tions: 

I . That respondent be actually suspended 
from the practice oflaw in the State of California 
during the first three months of probation. 
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2. During the period of his probation, re­
spondent must make restitution to Ivy Hei in the 
amountof$5,91 0A5 pl us simple interestthereon 
at the rate of 10 percent per annum from the date 
of respondent's receipt of attorney fees in the 
Hei v, Beas/a suit (January 15, 1996) until paid 
(or to the Client Security Fund totheextentofany 
payment from the fund to Hei, plus interest and 
costs, in accordance with Business and Profes­
sions Code section 6140.5 ), and furnish satisfac­
tory proof of such restitution to the State Bar's 
Office of Probation. Any restitution to the Client 
Security Fund is enforceable as provided in 
Business and Professions Code section 6140.5, 
subdivisions ( c) and ( d). 

3. During the period of his probation, re­
spondent must make restitution to the United 
States Department of Labor (USDOL) in the 
amountof$2,2 l 4.54 plus simple interestthereon 
at the rate of 10 percent per annum from the date 
of respondent's r_eceipt of payment from the 
USDOL of attorney fees arising from Hei's 
workers' compensation matter until paid (or to 
the Client Security Fund to the extent of any 
payment from the fund to the USDOL, plus 
interest and costs, in accordance with Business 
and Professions Code section 6140.5) and furw 
nish satisfactory proof of such restitution to the 
State Bar's Office of Probation. Any restitution 
to the Client Security F1.:1nd is enforceable as 
provided in Business and Professions Code sec­
tion 6140.5, subdivisions (c) and (d). Within the 
first 90 days after the effective date of the 
Supreme Court order in this matter, the Office of 
Probation must determine the date respondent 
received payment from the USDOL. Respon­
dent must fully cooperate with and assist the 
Office of Probation in making this determination, 
which is subject to de novo review by the State 
Bar Court on motion of respondent or the State 
Bar. 

4. Respondent must comply with the proviw 
sions ofthe State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct, and all the conditions of this probation. 
Respondent mustmaintain, with the State Bar's 
Membership Records Office and the State Bar's 
Office of Probation in Los Angeles, his current 
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office address and telephone number or, if no 
office is maintained, an address to be used for 
State Bar purposes. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6002.1, 
subd. (a).) Respondent must also maintain, with 
the State Bar's Membership Records Office 
and the State Bar's Office of Probation in Los 
Angeles, his current home address and telephone 
number. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6002. l; subd. 
(a)(5).) Respondent's home address and tele­
phone number will not be made available to the 
general public. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6002.1, 
subd. (d).) Respondent must notify the Member­
ship Records Office and the Office of Probation 
of ariy change in any of this information no le1er 
than l 0 days after the change. 

5. Respondent must report, i_n writing,, to the 
State Bar's Office of Probation in Los Angeles 
no later than January I 0, April I 0, July 10 and 
October 10 of each year or part thereof in which 
respondent is on probation (reporting dates). 
However, if respondent's probation begins less 
than 30 days before a reporting date, respondent 
may submit the first report no later than the 
~econd reporting date after the beginning of his 
probation. In each report, respondent must state 
that it covers the preceding calendar quarter or 
applicable portion thereof and certify by affidavit 
or under penalty of perjury under the laws of the 
State of.California as follows: 

(a) in the first report, whether 
respondent has complied with all the provisions 
of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct, and all other conditions of probation 
si nee the beginning of probation; and 

(b) in each subsequent report, whether 
respondent has complied with all the provisions 
of the State Bar Act, the Rules of Professional 
Conduct, and all other conditions of probation 
during that period. 

During the last 20 days of this probation, respon­
dent must submit a final report covering any 
period of probation remaining after and not cov­
ered by the last quarterly report required under 
this probation condition. 1n this final report, re-
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spondent must certify to the matters set forth in 
subparagraph (b) of this probation condition by 
affidavit or under penalty of perjury under the 
laws of the State of California. 
6. Subject to the proper or good faith asser­
tion of any applicable privilege, respondent must 
fully, promptly, and truthfully answer any inql!ir­
ies of the State Bar's Office of Probation that are 
directed to respondent, whether orally or in writ­
ing, relating to whether respondent is complying 
or has complied with the conditions of this proba­
tion. 

7. Within one year after the effective date of 
the Supreme Court order in this matter, respon­
dent must attend and satisfactorily complete the 
State Bar's Ethics School and provide satisfac­
tory proof of such completion to the State Bar's 
Office of Probation in Los Angeles. This condi­
tion of probation is separate and apart from 
respondent's California Minimum Continui,ng 
Legal Education (MCLE) requirements; accord­
ingly, respondent is ordered not to claim any 
MCLE credit for attending and completing this 
course. (Accord, Rules Proc. of State Bar; rule 
3201.) 

8. Respondent's probation will commence 
on the effective date of the Supreme Court order 
imposing discipline in this matter. At the end of 
the probationary term, if respondent has com­
plied with the conditions of probation, the Su­
preme Court order suspending respondent from 
the practice oflaw for one year will be satisfied, 
and the suspension will be terminated. 

V. PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
EXAMJNATION 

We further recommend that respondent be or­
dered to take and pass the Multistate Professional 
Responsibility Examination administered by the Na­
tional Conference of Bar Examiners within one year 
after the effective date of the Supreme Court order 
in this matter and to provide satisfactory proof of such 
passage-to the State Bar's Office of Prob°ation in Los 
Angeles within the same period. 
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VI. RULE 955 

We further recommend that respondent be or• 
dered to comply with rule 955 of the California Rules 
of Court and to perform the acts specified in subdivi• 
sions ( a) and ( c) of that rule within 30 and 40 calendar 
days, respectively, after the effective date of the 
Supreme Court order in this matter. 

VII.COSTS 

We further recommend that costs be awarded to 
the State Bar in accordance with Business and 
Professions Code section 6086. 10 and are enforce• 
able both as provided in Business and Professions 
Code section 6140.7 and as a money judgment. 

We concur: 
ST OVITZ, P. J. 
WATAI, J. 
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